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INTRODUCTION 

The study of Indian history has had a new birth. It is no longer 

a mere repetition of something dead and gone, but the product of 

mighty forces stirred to original creativeness by a sincere and 

dispassionate admiration for the past. The new school of Indian 
historical scholarship trained in the scientific methods of the West, 

and equipped with its technique, aims at an objective analysis of 

documents and prescribes rigorous principles for the prosecution of 
historical research. That the need for a complete change in our methods 

of historical studies was imperatively necessary will be clear to all 

who have had to study the origins of our political and social life. 
Myths and fancies jostled incongruously with facts, and the student 

was constantly involved in a labyrinth of fantastic legends and morbid 
imagination. How different were the early historians with their solid, 

concrete, and clear expression, and their force and freshness of actual 

existence. The fantastic transmutations of a sober, simple and pure 
style, which was the pride and glory of early historians, had decayed 

into a truculent bravado, or pined away into pedantic purism. The 

chiselled phrases and perfect balance of a natural style gave way to 
the wayward fancies, dwindling vitality and flamboyant style of the 

middle period. A new spirit has now dawned upon India, and a new 

method of approach is necessary ; we must go back to the fount of our 
energy, and assimilate the masterpieces of individual energy and 

original invention which are stamped on the best product of western 

historiography. The new school aims at replacing the abstractions of 

the allegory by concrete fact, and subjecting the data to the canons of 

historical criticism. It takes out from the cupboard the memories of 

our greatness which had crumbled and sunk into dusk, dusts them clean 

and restores them to the family circle. 

Even songs and ballads may prove useful to the historian, for the 

strong vibrations of Kabir’s and Guru Nanak’s poems, the emotional 
fervour of Mahratta saints, and the mystical cravings of the Sufis can¬ 
not be dismissed by the modern historians as spasms of passionate 

enthusiasm. To the new school, they are of primary importance, as 

they measure the boundaries of the wonder land of fancy, bring mystery 
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within the sphere of definition, and limit the marvellous by reducing it 

to concrete actualities. Viewed from this point, Indian men and 

women of the past move in clear sun-light, disenchanted of gloom or 

glory, and break in upon us with the freshness of a smile or a 

sunbeam. Paradoxical as it may seem, the deep gulf that yawned 

between different castes in India did not prefent intellectual contact 

or cultural solidarity. A Sudra was denied equality of status, but this 

did not prevent him from enjoying the masterpieces of our Country. 
On the intellectual plane, there was greater solidarity and rapport 

between the classes and the masses than is generally understood. 

Indian history exhibits continuous reciprocity of feeling and solidarity 

of sentiment between the cultured classes and the masses, and Indian 

historical literature gives us a more complete embodiment of the 

national spirit than can be shown by any other nation in Asia. The 

Mahabharat and the Ramayan are known by heart throughout the 

length and breadth of this land. Firdausi’s Shahnama, the sayings of 

Akbar and Birbal, the history of I bn Batuta etc. have been eagerly 

appropriated by the people and this rapport, which purifies the tastes 

and instincts of the aristocracy and the populace, has penetrated and 

refined the whole nation. The deep social gulf, which has been the 

bane of medieval and modern India, did not check the vibrations of 

intellectual intercourse among different classes and castes. The new 

school takes into account the interplay of myriads of forces which 

have moulded Indian life and thought, and dissects with perfect 

impartiality the heroes of the Indian legend, and the foreign conquerors 

who injected powerful currents of energy in the eighteenth century. 

The rise of the new school of Indian history is the inevitable result of 

the resurgence of national spirit, the epic progress of the Indian 

Renaissance, the liberation of reason in science and conscience in 

religion, restoring culture to the intellect, and enunciating the principles 

of political freedom, and economic equality. Indian tradition and 

statesmanship have now recovered consciousness and the power of self- 

determination, and the social, political and religious movements in India 

have worked pari passu with a unity which has centralised and diffused 

energy throughout India. The constituent elements of the modern 

spirit have acquired separate personalities, and have operated with the 

swift genius of insight and resource in every sphere of our national 

activity. Our social and intellectual movements have purified the political 
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struggle, while the latter has acted with decisive effect in critical crises 

in our constitutional movement. The work started by Ram Mohan 
Roy has been extended and developed by a long line of brilliant 

reformers, who have given a new interpretation and a new orientation 
to his doctrines. The farsighted statesmanship of the great Sir Saiyed 

Ahmad Khan and the gnomic wisdom of Mian Sir Fazli Husain are 

reflected in the solid progress of the great community which they served. 
In the political field, the Indian National Congress, emerging slowly 

and painfully from a state of utter rawness, under the advice and 

guidance of a succession of able men, such "as Dadabhai Naoroji, 
Banerjie, Gokhale and Tilak, soon attained a position of primacy 

'among the political organisations of India. The early leaders of the' 
, Congress were men of vision and imagination and were inspired by 
lofty patriotism. Their intellectual equipment and the breadth, depth, and 

width of their statesmanship have hardly been surpassed. The Congress 
policy and programme represented the solid basis of national morality 
which grounds a policy and a programme firm upon the sympathies, 

interests and traditions of the people, and is the final outcome of a slow 
and deliberate accretion in the stages which they had traversed. The 
Congress advanced in constitutional development but it will be correct 
to state that till 1920, its supporters marched in single file and not in 
columns of four. The early pioneers carried on their work in a spirit 

of tremulous discipleship and paid homage to the genius of the English 
constitution with a fervour which Blackstone might have envied. 
However, a new spirit was pulsating the country. It was seething with 
discontent and had been stirred into vigorous activity by the world 
situation and the universal depression which necessarily flowed from 
the Great War. 

I cannot deal here with the development of Congress ideology, 
the growth of political consciousness among other classes and 

communities and the synthesis of clashing ideas and conflicting desires 
which tended to weaken the national will. It was a unity of federalised 

races and communities, organised in the hierarchy of mutually 

dependent communities and cemented by the bond of a common 
patriotism. 

I have dealt at length with this phenomenon as otherwise the vigour 
and growth of modern Indian historical scholarship would be inexplicable 
to us, The progress of historical studies in India has been unusually 
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rapid and every province is animated by a desire to interpret the lives 
and explain the policy of its government. For the scientific student 
of history India was a fallow field, behind which lay buried a civilisation 
and a culture which were to become the objects alike of admiration 
and respect. Behind stretched centuries of medievalism with its 

imperious self-assurance, its free virility and its overflowing vitality 
though it was destitute of intellectual freedom and civic rights. Amidst 
so much confusion and turmoil, it is clear that medieval India was 
living a vehemently active and self-conscious life, acknowledging no 
principle of stability in its constitution, suppressing with an iron hand 
all deviations from the norm, and checking the organic vitality of a 
great people through the discipline of tradition, religion and 
administration. Historians of medieval India may legitimately be 
asked whether they have a palate which can taste human history 
embalmed in perfect parody and presented with a sustained irony 
which has not been equalled since Swift wrote the “Tale of a Tub”. 
Yet this is precisely the impression which one forms after reading 
standard histories of the reign of Muhammad Tughlak. The Indian 
historian must, consequently, reach forth across the gulf of ages, and 
base hisiwork on the severe framework of abstract truth. His difficulties 
multiply when he approaches the modern period, for political theories 
and personal prejudices influence the judgment of the writer. An 
objective history of modern India is an extremely difficult task and 
the path of the modern historian of British India is beset by many 
obstacles. In modern India there are half a dozen political stresses, 
and most of them overlap into ramifying and interlaced sub-stresses. 
The greatest problem of modern Indian statesmen as well of Indian 
historians, is to melt and cast these varied strains into a single, 
solid ingot. Having dealt with the basic problems of Indian 
historiography, let me deal with the progress that has so far been 

made in the realm of historical scholarship. Everyone is acquainted 
with the pioneering work of the great Sir William Jones in the 
establishment of the Asiatic Society of Bengal and all students know 
with what sedulous care the great pro-consul Warren Hastings watched 
the progress of this body. The patronage of the governor-general 
and the enthusiasm of a few genuine devotees of Oriental learning 
built up a powerful movement in India for the cultivation of Indian 
classical languages and the advancement of Indian cqltqre, The 
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enlightened of the governors-general imparted to the movement 

a momentum and prestige which were most successful in preserving the 
clearness and light of the classics of Indian thought. They broke 
loose from the antique mode of presentation consecrated by devout 
tradition and familiarised Englishmen with the keenest intentions, the 

deepest thought, the strongest passion, the subtlest fancy and the 

loftiest imagination of our ancestors. To these pioneers are due the 
great strides which Europe and America have taken in the growth of 
Oriental studies, and the keen interest which they have maintained 

in the organisation of research. The history of this movement is so 
well known that it would be superfluous on my part to attempt even 

a sketch of its main currents. It is sufficient to state that India could 
not have attained her present level of historical scholarship without 
the inspirarion of their example. The Bengal Asiatic Society has 
rendered invaluable services to Indian scholarship by the publication 
of texts of standard histories of India by its 'numerous monographs, 
by the sustained energy of its workers, and the solid operative ideas 

which permeate its investigations. It would, however, be an affectation 
to deny that it has not kept up energy and youthful vigour, and has 
undoubtedly slackened its pace of late. The Bombay Branch of the 
Asiatic Society is also languishing, though its champions have collected 
centralised and diffused intelligence in the past, and have undertaken 
solid research throughout the Presidency in the days of its prime. 
It will be true to say that the Societies which had made their mark 
and established their position nearly a quarter of a century ago have 

not been able to maintain their old level in face of the vigorous activities 
of Indian Universities. Provincial Societies have done something. The 
U, P. Historical Society has made many important contributions, though 

the Punjab Historical Society has been absorbed by the University of 
the Punjab. The Behar Research Society did brilliant work in the past 
under the guidance of the late Dr. P. K. Jayaswal, but his death left a 
gap which has not yet been filled. The University of Calcutta claims 
supremacy among Indian Universities for the solid foundation of its 
ancient Indian History. The quality and quantity of original 
contributions on this subject, which its scholars have produced so far, 
bear an eloquent testimony to the vision and foresight of its pioneers. 
They cut ancient Indian history adrift from its theological moorings, 
andjaunched it on the waters of the Renaissance liberty. But Modern 
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Indian History, and particularly the history of modern and medieval 

Bengal, has been comparatively neglected, though Calcutta possesses 
unrebutted facilities for researches in modern history as in it are 

concentrated the archives of the Bengal Government and the invaluable 

records of the Imperial Record Office, which have now been transferred 
to Delhi. However, the university has made considerable progress in 

the development of a vigorous modern Indian history school, and it is 
bound to develop into a vigorous body. 

At Allahabad, the progress of the school of history has been 
unusually rapid. It has deliberately tried to avoid overlapping and 

duplication with other Universities, and has specialised in medieval and 
modern Indian history. It is not for me to assess the value of its 
researches, and its influence on the development of studies in the history 
of India in 1000-1900. 

The Madras University has infused new life and vigour into 
the study of ancient Indian history and the history of Southern India 
through the influence and ability of Professor Krishnaswamy Aiyangar, 

whose creative work and disciplined enthusiasm for the study of a 

subject to which he has devoted the best part of his life have won 
fame and recognition throughout the world of scholarship. What 
Dr. D. R. Bhandarkar, the president of the Indian History Congress, 
did for the Calcutta University, Dr. Aiyangar has achieved for Madras. 

Their methods and their ideals were alike simple and objective. They 

showed how to paint the ancient world as it is seen without fixed pre¬ 
judices and canned formulae which hide wishes. They, and others, who 

constitute the new school of scientific historians, had found their subject 
old, effete and overlaid with myth and legend. They have made it young 
and vigorous, while they themselves have grown old. They are not 

opportunists living on a thread of principle but men of lofty principles 

and inflexible character animated by a single desire to analyse, and 

anatomise the records of their country. This slight sketch of the 
chief institutions and personalities may be closed with a brief reference 
to the work of two other bodies which have given a new orientation to 

Indian historical scholarship. The first and most important of all, is 

the Bharat Itihas Mandal. The work of the Mandal is known to every 

child in the Maharashtra, and is part of a noble legacy which the 
devoted labours of its pioneers such as Rajwade bequeathed to 

the Mahrattas. The severe discipline of its early founders lifts its 
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published work above a mass of half- baked history and unbaked sociology 
in which the crude enthusiasm of mushroom organisations has 
sometimes expressed itself. We have had examples of movements 

and institutions in which emotions and feelings abandon sense, and 
leave the actual world behind to seek their freedom in a region of rnyth 
and imagination. This is mythology and not history. The Mahratta 

pioneers, being gifted with a keen sense of realism, broke loose from 
luxuriant waywardness of fancy and started their work in a spirit of piety 
and truth. They combined the scholastically frigid and cool spirit of 
a student with the keen enthusiasm of pioneers. The life history of 
these savants makes most interesting reading, and supplies an object 
lesson to the younger enquirers. I never knew the pervasive influence 
of this movement until I went to Poona in 1935 to preside over the 
inaugural session of this Congress. Nationalism and scholarship 
kissed each other and were fused into one. It was not the crude 
nationalism of the tub-thumper but the enlightened nationalism of 

a statesman and it derived its nourishment and vigour from the 
splendid researches of the Itihas Bharat Mandal. Disciplined by the 
study of the past, and trained alike in council chambers and in 

courts of law, they survey the records of their past from a higher plane, 
fortifying their judgments of men and events by a knowledge of the 
world and purifying their knowledge of the Peshwas with the varied 

experience of the present day. The early pioneers spared no efforts 
in collecting the smallest details, topographical, biographical or 
diplomatic, that may have the greatest value. Of the early pioneers 
it is sufficient to mention the name of the great Rajwade, whose efforts 
for the collection of materials in the lovely valleys and rugged hills 

of the Konkan are known to all. Of the later researches, I need only 
mention the work of Mr. Sardesai and Professor D. V. Potdar, the two 

pillars of the Maharashtra movement. Potdar’s work in the Deccan 

is known greatly and admired by all students of history, and to those 
who have the privilege of his friendship, it is a pleasure to discuss the 
glories of Maharashtra’s past and its brilliant future. He has been a 
tower of strength to the new movement and has developed and extended 
the activities of the Mandal in amazing ramifications. The other body 

to which some reference must be made is the Indian History Congress 

which was inaugurated by me at Poona, in June 1935. The inaugural 
session was attended by representatives of British provinces and Indian 



States, and was a unique success. Professor Bhuyan came all the way 
from Shillong to Poona ni the torrid heat of June to attend the session. 
The Government of India and provincial and state governments had 
also sent their representatives, and the discussions were conducted in 
an atmosphere of friendliness and good feeling. The second session 

of the Congress was held in the beginning of October 1938, at 
Allahabad, and an exhibition of historical paintings, documents and 
other relics was also held. The session was an unqualified success 

and was attended by delegates from leading Indian States, Universities, 
learned societies and provinces. The papers read at the meeting have 
been incorporated in these Proceedings. Indian history has become 
highly specialised and every period requires trained experts who have 

devoted their lives to the investigation of its problems. The Congress 
was able to enlist the support and cooperation of eminent historians 

for each section and their names will be found in the beginning of each 
section. The presidential addresses delivered by sectional presidents 

are a veritable storehouse of information for historical scholars, as they 
contain not merely a masterly survey of the period with which they 
deal but also a critical analysis of the main problems which await 

solution. It may be said without any exaggeration, that Indian 
historians met for the first time on a common platform and developed 
a corporate spirit and organic unity which had been hitherto lacking. 
Indian history has come to its own, and is no longer the Cindrella of 

conferences of learned societies. It had hitherto been cut into 
numerous fragments and divided among numerous bodies. Thus 
Ancient and Medieval Indian History is dealt with by the Oriental 

Conference and their bodies, while the Historical Record Commission 

deals with the history of British India. There was no association of 

All-India importance which dealt with the problems of Indian History 

as a whole. Indian history had, however, come to its own. The 

arrangements connected with the Congress worked with regularity and 

precision, and the session ended in an atmosphere of hope and 
expectation. The Calcutta University has invited the Congress to 

Calcutta, and the next session will be held this year from December 
15 onwards. Those who know the character and achievements of 
Bengal scholars have no doubt whatsoever that the December session 

of the Congress will be even more brilliant and successful than 

the last. 



IX 

1 shall now deal briefly with the papers included in these 
Proceedings. Dr, S. Krishnaswamy has dealt with an extremely important 
subject with his usual clarity. He starts with the thesis that, on a general 

view, Indian civilisation might well be said to be in a sense the result 
of a process of Aryanisation, notwithstanding the fact that large and 
important contributions have come from other sources, among them 
the Dravidian civilisation. Other papers by Professor Nilakanta Sastri, 
Raychaudhari, Altekar, Gulshan Rai and Dr, Rama Shankar Tripathi 
deserve attention, as they deal with subjects of great importance. 
Professor Altekar’s contention is that the Purda was confined to an 
infinitesimal section of the ruling classes in ancient India and he opines 
that the Purda system was practically non-existent in Hindu society 
down to the beginning of the eleventh century. “Women in ancient 
India could take a fair part in social life around them. In urban areas, 
they could go out to public parks for sport and recreation.” Dr, Rama 
Shanker Tripathi states that the Gupta age was essentially one of 
religious harmony and toleration. Dr. H. C. Seth deals with the 

question whether Poros won the battle of the Jhelum. Dr. Seth says 
that in spite of the efforts of European writers to make Alexander a 
hero and a victor in all his battles, it has been difficult to conceal the 
fact that his Indian campaign was a disastrous failure. Alexander 
received his first serious check in the battle of Jhelum. His conclusion 
is that the outcome of the battle of Jhelum does not appear to be what 
the traditional version will make us believe. It may be that Poros 

was the real victor and Alexander was the suppliant for peace, or it 
may be that the battle was decisively closed and Alexander, who was 
hard pressed throughout and who knew that the loss of the battle 
would mean complete annihilation, started negotiations for peace. True 
to the old Kshtriya tradition Poros did not like to smite a suppliant foe, 
and peace was made between him and Alexander. He quotes from 

the Ethiopic Text, edited and translated by E. A. W. Badge, in which 
Alexander exclaims to Poros, “O Poros, King of India, behold, I 
perceive and know thy strength and might, and moreover what thou 
doest iieth hard upon me, and my heart is aweary; and I have considered 
the fatigue whereby we all are perishing.” 

In the Archaeological section, Rao Bahadur K. N. Dikshit, the 

Director-General of Archaeology, gives a luminous account of the 
progress of archaeological studies in India, His survey of its present 

II 
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needs and future requirements is masterly. Mr. Dikshit opines that “the 
hopes entertained a few yeas ago, that a number of foreign societies, 
in particular from America, may be able to take up exploration work ^ 

on a large scale and stimulate Indian societies and organisations, has 
not been fulfilled. The American expedition under Dr. E. J.'H. 
Mackay, which excavated at Chanhudaro in Sind three years ago, did 

not return to India, and with the present financial stringencies affecting 
the Government of India, there is hardly any chance of extended 

activities on the part of Government in the near future. The interest 
taken by Indian Universities and societies does not augur an era of 
prosperity and we shall probably have to wait several years before any 
improvement can be effected.” Khan Bahadur M. Zafar Hasan, 
Superintendent, Archaeological society, Agra, contributes an able paper 
on an inscription of Mallu Iqbal Khan. The inscription is fixed on 

the southern bastion of an old Idgah at the village of Kharera near 
Delhi. The building is situated about a few furlongs to the east of 

the Delhi-Qutub road beyond the 9th mile-stone from Delhi. Mr. R.V. 

Poduval, Director of Archaeology, Travancore State, contributes an 
interesting paper on Archaeology in Travancore. Travancore is probably 

the only Indian State which has not been actually conquered by a 

foreign power. The conservation of ancient monuments in Travancore 
has received adequate attention from the government. The European 
monuments are by far the best preserved in the State. 

Early Medieval and Rajput History Section. 

Dr. S. N. Sen, the learned president of this section, deals 
comprehensively with the basic problems of this period. He cautions 

students of the period against accepting the facts recorded in the florid 

and flamboyant style of Persian historians. “The Hindus had 

apparently little interest in historical literature, and Sanskrit chronicles 
and biographies, that have luckily survived to our lives, can be counted 

on our fingers. A Persian poem with a historical theme, may reflect 
popular feelings of the time, but as historical material it cannot be 
classed higher than a Hindi or Marathi ballad. The chronicles were 
mainly, if not solely, interested in the military aristocracy. Some of 
them deliberately sought the patronage of the ruling Sultan and the 

principal nobles. The historian should not be influenced by Chauvinism 

but he should not confuse a chronicle with History.So far as. 
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they were concerned, the teeming millions might have been altogether 

non-existent.” This is an excellent summary of the difficult problems 
with which the historian of the medieval period is faced, and it must be 

confessed that the difficulties have not been removed by the publication 

of ponderous folios. No praise could be too high for the great work 
which the Cambridge History of India has done for the advancement 

of Indian scholarship, and for the scientific and dispassionate analysis 

of the political history of India. But in its treatment of this 
period, the general impression is that several most important aspects 

sucb as the revival of our spiritual energy, the religious revolution 

inaugurated by Chaitanya, the growth of Hindi language and literature 
and the development of Indian music are comparatively neglected. 

History is served in a tabloid form and the vibrations of our many-sided 
energy are ignored. I dealt with some of these problems in my 
inaugural address to the first session of the Indian History Congress 
in Poona in 1935 and readers who wish to pursue this subject further 
are referred to it for my criticism of medieval historiography. Here 

it is sufficient to state that, in medieval India, there are the inevitable 

alternations of wars and civil strife and it is only with great difficulty 
that we discern signs of progress. The learned president discusses 

the question of the origin of the I<ajputs and admits that unanimity 
has not been reached. The erudition of Professor D. R. Bhandarkar 

has fairly established that the Gahlauts, at least, were not directly 

descended from the Vedic Aryans. Aryan origin is also commonly 
denied to Gurjaras. The traditional view of purely Kshatriya origin 

'has been ably defended by Messrs. Gauri Shanker Ojha and C. Y. 
Vaidya. It is no disparagement of their scholarship or intellectual 
integrity to say ’that so far they have not succeeded in carrying 

conviction to the opposite camp. The late Dr. Cooke probably stated 

the case fairly when he said, “Some of the nobler Rajput sects are 

descended from Gurjaras or other foreigners while others are closely 
connected with the indigenous races.” 

Interesting papers on this section have been contributed by Dr. 
N. Venkataramanayya who writes on Dharamaraya and Vir Narsimgh 
Dr. D. C. Ganguly writes on a forgotten Muslim invasion and states 

that in the “course of a little more than hundred years from A. D. 725 
to A. D. 836 the Arabs of Sind made two attempts to establish their 
sway in Rajputana.” On both these occasions, their eftbrts were 
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frustrated by the vigilance and energy of rulers.” Dr, Dines Chandra 
Sarcar’s paper on Bengal and the Rajputs is of exceptional interest 
and will be widely studied. “During the early medieval period, when 
Bengal had to fight with many powers from different parts of I ndia, 
many adventurers settled in Bengal. The Palas themselves were 
possibly outsiders. Of other dynasties settled in Bengal during this 

period, the most important are the Candras of Rohitagiri, the Varmans 
of Simhapura and the Senas of Karnata. A standstill in the brisk 
relation of Bengal with the Rajputs followed the Muslim occupation 

of northern India, The relation was, however, revived at the time of 

the Moghul Emperors Akbar and Jahangir. Rajput generals like 

Todarmal and Mansingh were sent to suppress the rebellions in eastern 
India and Mansingh’s struggle with the so-called Bara-Bhunas is still 
remembered in Bengal.” Another paper which will be widely read 

is the fine analysis of the character and achievements of Rana Sanga 
of Mewar by Professor Anil Chandra Banerjee. The Rana’s vivid 
personality is portrayed in contemporary chronicles and the great Babur 

has described his fight against this lion-hearted king in passages of 
great beauty and feeling. Mr. Santimoy Banerji deals with the 

Ordeal of Kumarapala before accession, while Mr. Y. M. Kale discusses 

some theories about the Vakatakas and Mr. R. Subba Rao examines 
the eastern Ganga Era, its initial year. 

The Sultanate period 

Professor Sri Ram Sharnia’s paper on Feroz Shah’s regulations 
.contains a learned disquisition, the result of prolonged and fruitful 
research. Professor Sharma’s industry and energy are proverbial, and 
his recent work on the bibliography of Moghul India is an indication 

of his sustained interest in the subject. Mr. Gurty Venket Rao, 

formerly a research scholar and lecturer in the University History 

department, Allahabad, who is now a lecturer in the Andhra University, 
contributes a most interesting and original paper on the Bahmani- 
Vijayanagar relations. He analyses the causes of the conflict and states 

that besides other causes “there was an economic element in the 
struggle”. He comes to the conclusion that the “Bahmani-Vijayanagar 
Wars were not crusades, but secular exploits waged for the acquisition 

of wealth and territory”. Dr. Mehdi HasaQ’s paper on the Rihla of 

Ibn Battuta is a lucid analysis of one of our primary sources and 



supplements his researches on Muhammad Tughlak. He dissects 
various copies of the MSS of this work, and his comparative study of 

the MSS with different Arabic Texts is interesting. Mr. Abdul Majeed 

Siddiqi’s paper deals with Feroz Shah as a nation builder of the 
Deccan; while Shaikh Abdur Rashid of Muslim University, Aligarh, 
traces the origin of the Khilji Sultans of Delhi. Professor R. V. 

Oturkar discusses the origin of Gango Bahmani in an attempt to 

show that the efforts to discredit the Gango Brahmin connection of 
Hasan Shah and to trace him to the Persian origin are not often as 
conclusive as they are considered to be by men like Colonel Haig”. 
Mr. S. A. Halim discusses the character of Sultan Sikandar Lodi, 

while Mr. Ramachandraiya investigates the date of Yusuf Adil 
Shah’s death. 

Elliott and Dawson’s History of India is a classic and students of 
Medieval India are under a debt of gratitude to this work for transcripts 
from rare and valuable histories. The book, however, contained a num¬ 
ber of mistakes, due to faulty translation and misreading of the MSS. 

A new and revised edition of this work is essential for research, and 1 
made this suggestion in my inaugural address to the Indian History 
Congress at Poona in 1935. Professor Shapurshah Hormaji Hodivala 

has just published his Studies in Indo-Muslim History, containing a cri¬ 
tical commentary on Elliott and Dawson’s History. 

It is a monumental work, and is based on a thorough study of 

authorities. It supplies a long-felt want, and for students of this period 
it is essential. Professor Hodivala’s researches had placed his name 
among the forefront of Indian historians. His recent work will inspire a 
number of young Indians to prosecute their studies of the period with 

renewed vigour. 

Moghul India 
Professor R. P. Khosla’s presidential address on Moghul India 

is an exceedingly lucid and clear analysis of the chief features of Moghul 
administration. He points out aspects of the period which await scientific 

investigation. We have not yet attained scientific precision in these points 
and intensive investigation of the cultural and social history of the Moghuls 

is required. “Their standard of life and the mode of living, their festivals 
and their institutions are not yet fully known to us. We have not yet 

been admitted into their joys and sorrows. Their daily life is still a 
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mystery to us. Our knowledge is mostly confined to kings and courts 

and we hardly know anything about ordinary men and women.” 
Professor Khosla points out that “the Moghul period has special interest 

for us, as it is both medieval and modern.” He contends that the 

communal problem, which looms so large on our political horizon these 
days, was dealt with by some of the great Moghul Emperors more 
rationally and with better results than it has been by the present 
government and the political leaders of modern India. The problem of 
north-western frontiers was the same then as it is now. This problem 
also was better solved by the Moghul Emperors than by the present 
government. The grip of the great Moghul on the frontier province 

was as firm as on other parts of his empire.” These remarks are 
marked by an objective analysis and a dispassionate judgment, which 
are in striking contrast with the partial, incomplete and exaggerated 

accounts of this f)eriod by a section of writers. The Moghul period 
was preeminently a period of national consolidation and national unity. 

The spirit of the Moghuls, disciplined by scholarship, reawakened India 

to a sense of intellectual and political unity. The early Moghuls are 
popular because the rulers and the ruled reunited on a broader plane 
the ideas of Indian unity and solidarity. A common standard of taste, 

feeling and intelligence created a common consciousness. In a country 
of chronic and passionate dissentions they had a sense of the right 

limitations of religious and social uniformity. Nature had gifted 

them with a calm judgment and a refined mind, and their love 
of order and discipline, their insistence on rigid adherence to rules 

and regulations, have stamped them as consummate political architects 
in administration. They have bequeathed to posterity models of 

individual energy and original invention, which have stamped their 
personality on the land of their adoption more than any other 
dynasty in India. In architecture, too, we notice the same tendency. 

The splendour of the Taj Mahal, the perfect love of a great Emperor 

for his devoted wife wrought in eloquent marble, fairy-like beneath the 
moon and the stars, gazing at the silvery waters of the gentle Jumna 

across an arid plane, the gorgeous domes sharply cut against the clear 

blue sky of an Indian winter, produce an effect which is unparalleled 
in the world. 

The period of Moghul splendour was of a short duration and we 
notice a rapid decline in the middle of the 17th century. The history 
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of the decadent successors of the great Moghuls in the 18th century 

makes painful reading. We bid adieu to the comparative youth, 

the light steps, the leaping pulses and daemonic energy of the early 

Mughuls, and in the shapely body and fair face, and singular unity of 

look of Farrukhsiyar and his successors, we realise the miracle of the 

continued race, but the extinction of that spirit of adventure, enterprise 

and heroism, which had invariably crowned the Moghul arms with 

victory. Here is a picture of the emperor Shah Alam culled from 

Kaye’s Life of Metcalf. “The emperor Shah Alam, old, blind and 

infirm, still held the mockery of a court. The victories of the British 

army on the banks of the Jumna had rescued him from the thraldom 

of the Mahrattas only to impose upon him another yoke. In our hands 

he was as helpless, but less miserable. He was at the mercy of men 

who respected his fallen fortunes and desired that he should enjoy as 

much of the luxury and pomp of royalty as could be purchased for a 

certain sum of money to be appropriated to him out of the revenues of 

our new possessions.” It must be admitted that the spirit of their great 

ancestors had departed from the abodes of the later Mughals. Non* 

came to the Mughuls’ palace, except a few curious tourists and a host of 

flunkeys. It was dead; it lacked even the echo of a human voice; 

and the emperor’s room was empty of memories like his life. All the 

harvest of memories which other men gather in the course of life—the 

unexpected happenings, the happy or tragic loves, adventurous journeys, 

all the chances of a free exjstence, had passed from him. Days, weeks, 

months, seasons, years were all alike and each succeeded the other 

with pitiless monotony. The Moghul system, in its decline, degenerated 

into a Byzantine ceremonialism which was a fit subject of banter 

among the vigorous, bustling and enterprising officers of the East India 
Company, 

No person can go through the history of this gloom without pain 

and sorrow over the sordid intrigues and low vices of a succession of 

degenerate rulers. A race that had started with the dazzling exploits 

of Babur, ended with weaklings who were part women, part priests and 

part delicate boys who had never quite grown up. While the later 

Moghuls arouse only contempt, it is necessary that the chief Moghul 

institutions should be studied in their actual working in Northern India. 

Their administration, with all its faults, persisted in essentials throughout 

the 18th century and Warren Hastings’ mistakes in the formulation of 



his revenue policy were due to his ignorance of the indigenous 

S3rstem, which he had supplanted. The material on this aspect of 

Moghul administration, is voluminous, and the reports of Hastings’ 

Committees and other material incorporated in other parliamentary 

committees, contain a mass of information on the revenue system 

which is of priceless value to the historian. The Mughal machine 

worked creakily in the 18th century but the hierarchy of village 

officials, who were the pivot of the whole system, such as the Qanungo, 

were too powerful to be dislodged from their fastnesses. It was clear 

to the meanest intelligence that an entirely new system could not be 

planted in the country, and so the old Moghul system was shorn of its 

crudities and readjusted to suit changed times. The controversy over 

the permanent system yielded a rich harvest to studious investigations. 

The Moghul judicial system was medieval in outlook, unnecessarily 

severe in its operation and lacked the elasticity of a progressive 

administration. It was a relic of medievalism, and the Company 

wisely adopted a modern Code of Laws, which has served as an example 

t^ others. The fragments of Moghul administration were never 

completely destroyed and the process of assimilation went on for 

nearly a century after Plassey. Even now, we can detect the 

incongruous mixture of Moghul and European ceremonies on ceremonial 

occasions, while some of the pivotal officials of the modern time such 

as the Kotwal and the Qanungo are exercising their powers in a 

modified form to the present day. 

Having indicated the general features of the Mughul administration, 

let me now turn to the papers included in this volume. Professor 

Parmatma Saran gives a brilliant account of the political divisions of 

Sher Shah’s kingdom. Regarding the Jagir system. Professor 

Parmatma Saran says that “the Afghan policy was based on the 

conception of the kingdom being tribal property. From Bahlol Lodi 

down to Sher Shah and even Islam Shah, all had to invite their Afghan 

kinsmen, and, in recognition of their right to a share in the kingdom, 

to give them some part of its income either in the shape of cash or 

jagir. Besides, they had to divide almost the whole kingdom among 

the leaffing Afghan nobles or chiefs. This system was not in the least 

modified by Sher Shah.’’ Professor Saran controverts Professor 

Qanungo’s theory that Sher Shah abolished provinces in his system, 

and although he had nominally to retain some provinces, he 
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dispensed with them altogether so far as administrative purposes were 

concerned. According to this theory the largest political unit into 

which Sher Shah’s kingdom was divided was the Sarkar. Professor 

Saran terms this theory fantastic and attempts to refute it by citing 

authorities. The controversy is interesting and I hope workers will 

come forward and elucidate the point. Pandit Bisheshwar Nath Reu 

of Jodhpur quotes the letters exchanged between Aurangzeb and his 

son Akbar; while Professor T. L. Manghirmalani of Jammu discusses 

an eighteenth century passport. Dr. Abdulla Chaghtai deals with 

the claim of Ustad Isa to be the architect of the Taj; and Mr. Rama 

Shanker Avasthy contributes an original paper on Sher Shah. The 

brilliant paper by Dr. Banarsi Prasad Saksena on the Mansabdari 

system in the reign of Jahangir will be read with keen interest. 

The Sikh section 
Principal Sita Ram Kohli’s presidential address to this section 

is marked by judicious impartiality and balanced judgment. It reveals 

alike his genius for interpreting the Sikh movement, and his capacity 

for a new, clear and dispassionate analysis. Principal Kohli’s researches 

on the army of Maharaja Ranjit Singh initiated a movement for the 

revival of Sikh history which is now in full swing in the Punjab. I had 

the privilege of making his acquaintance in Lahore in 1922, when I 

suggested to him the desirability of his writing a series of articles 

on the army of Maharaja Ranjit Singh in the Journal of Indian 

History, which I had founded in that year. His first article on the 

subject appeared in the first number of the Journal, and from that time 

to the present day, the stream of brilliant contributions, on a subject 

to which he has devoted his life, has been perennial. He has 

reconstructed the history of a martial race with a scientific precision 

and disciplined enthusiasm, which make his writings a model for 

others, while his conclusions are based on a severe framework of 

fact. His presidential address contains a masterly analysis of the 

main stages in the development of the Khalsa. He has traced 

the rise of the Khalsa with great lucidity, and has given evidence 

of unwearied industry and pure productiveness. A great movement 

of political emancipation preceded the establishment of the Khalsa 

at the end of the eighteenth century and thousands of separate rills 

of doubt, criticism, protests and skirmishes, which had gathered 

in 
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volume for nearly a century, suddenly flowed together into a brawling 

river of revolt. The mailed manhood of this sturdy province, delighting 

in the glint of armour and the shock of speared warriors, organised a 

heroic resistance against the unworthy successors of the Great Moghuls. 

The dry upland air of the Punjab touches the worn fibres of our nerves 

with fingers that are subtly hypnotic. For a Sikh in the seventeenth 

century, to live was to spend himself, under the dreadful and despotic 

gaze of the Punjab sun. Roads are pulverised, rivers and canals dry up, 

and souls are consumed in burning ardour and sudden outburst and acts 

of exaltation. This accounts for their glorious propensity for heroism. 

How different is this from the low-keyed life, the repertory of small and 

elemental delights which can be stretched out to last throughout 

one’s existence. The Khalsa, agreeable to the temper and traditions of 

the Punjab Jats, and adapted to the long winters of the rigorous North 

infused into the new movement a dynamic energy which had been 

singularly lacking in that period of stagnation and decline. It found 

its most brilliant leader in Maharaja Ranjit Singh. An intellectual 

specialist in diplomacy, conquest and conciliation, Ranjit Singh welded 

a congeries of states, kingdom, Jagirs and feudalities into a solid 

framework of the Khalsa, which soon became the clearest interpreter of 

the animating impulse of the new movement. The barometer of Indian 

Military tradition, which had fallen to ruinous levels of indifference, 

now rose to an altitude of stable fervour. I may quote here a few passages 

from my Presidential address, delivered at the Maharaja Ranjit Singh 

Centenary Celebrations held at Cawnpore on June 27, 1939. “Ranjit 

was a man of a marvellous variety and range of mental power, and 

the secret of his success lay in his sympathy with the most diverse 

forms of life. He was equally at home in the camp, the Council 

Chamber, and the tournament. The delicate and rare pleasure-seekers 

knew in him the merry monarch who jousted with the boldest among 

generals. He passed for a consummate tactician who had led the Khalsa 

arms to victory, while the pious extolled him as a great King of the 

Khalsa whose humility and piety had won for him the favour even of 

the Akalis.’’ It may be said without exaggeration that he was the 

epitome of the most distinguished qualities of his race, and the rugged 

vigour of the Khalsa found in him its fullest incarnation. To organise 

the scattered fragments of his dominion into a compact bloc, to impart 

the sentiments of unity and solidarity to elements that had been cons- 
♦ 
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tantly at war for nearly a century, was the task of a Hercules. The 

intellectual and moral milieu created by a multitude of self-centered 

personalities developed a spirit of keen and elastic intelligence which 

Ranjit Singh displayed in abundance in his negotiations and wars with 

his adversaries; but it prevented the spontaneous growth of national 

sentiment among all classes which could act as a barrier to invasion. 

The different elements of the Punjab were not fused into a unity, and 

the distinction between the soldier and the civilian made itself felt at 

every step. His army developed an espirit de corps which, however 

admirable in itself, proved deterimental'to the safety and integrity of 

the Civil power. Ranjit alone could keep his soldiers and pro-consuls 

in order, and when he departed from the scene of his glory, the Civil 

Government was disintegrated, and was unable to control the Khalsa 

arms. Ranjit Singh had succeeded in taming the mo t powerful 

Jagirdars and princes into subjection, but he could not succeed in 

bringing his army under the direct cmtrol of Civil power, and the 

Punjab paid a heavy price for this neglect. It is true that the fervid 

spiritual energy of the Sikhs was transmuted into a martial spirit, 

which wrought striking changes in the material world. Feudalism 

passed by slow and imperceptible stages into a military autocracy, 

basing its foundation on the willing obedience of virile people and 

guarding itself with the shrewd instinct of a Jat peasant through a 

labyrinth of intrigue and confusion. If Ranjit Singh’s Empire toppled 

down like a house of cards immediately after his death, the blame for 

this must be laid on the shoulders of those who succeeded him. His 

supreme achievement consisted in the rousing among his followers a 

spirit, not merely of heroic resistance, but also of aggressive imperialism, 

which called into play the martial instincts of a rugged peasantry. He 

evolved a system of administration which served its purpose admirably 

but it lacked the flexibility and integrity of modern systems of adminis¬ 

tration, and was adopted haphazard. The Sikhs retained fragments 

of Mughal administration, which had survived the wreck and ruin of a 

century, and grafted upon it formulas which had been envolved in the 

course of their conquests. They were, however, unable to produce a 

single briliant administrator of towering personality and gifts. Dewan 

Sawan Mull was their ablest governor and Fakir Azizuddin showed his 

consummate ability as a diplomat by his experience and wisdom. In the 

army, the Khalsa threw up a succession of able generals whose names are a 



household word in the Punjab. The reason for this is to be found in the 

instability and insecurity of those stormy times. They had no breathing 

space for a definite policy. Ideas, aspirations, and ambitions rent the 

air, and the process of disintegration of the Sikh empire moved in an 

orderly fashion from the periphery to the centre. In the Frontier 

province it put on a clear, aggressive face, well muscled with rhetoric and 

enthusiasm. In Kashmir, a lovely country with an exhausted, suspi¬ 

cious people who had no confidence in themselves, and passively sub¬ 

mitted to alien wills for centuries, the process of secession was natural. 

Ranjit Singh has been subjected to serious criticism for his failure to 

achieve the unity and solidarity of the Punjab by annexing the Cis- 

Sutlej States and achieving for his dominions the natural frontiers of 

his province. A close study of his methods, and a thorough grasp of 

the situation in British India will convince every impartial historian 

that his natural caution and reserve in his dealings with the British 

were perfectly justified. His authority had not been securely estab¬ 

lished. The organic unity of his kingdom, to which some historians 

have referred, is a figment of their imagination for no empire was 

more varied in its population, its traditions, the temper of its intellect 

and its economic resources. Many of the discontented princes, who had 

found refuge in British territories, were pining for the recovery of their 

lost possessions, and weaving together a network of plots which would 

have been a source of the greatest difficulty and delicacy in the event 

of a rapture with the British. Had he risked a war with the Company, 

all the intrigues of desperate exiles, all the skill of disposessed princelings 

and princelets, all the cupidity of subordinate leaders, and all the 

ingenuity of fanatics, would have been brought simultaneously into 

play. Ranjit Singh rarely retreated from any position to which he had 

finally committed himself, and his greatness consists in his precise 

limitation of his own powers. Like a true political architect, he volun¬ 

tarily imposed limits on his own activity, refusing to trespass beyond 

a traced circle of acquisition or to aim at effects unrealisable by the 

nature of his resources and the character of his subjects. He shrunk 

instinctively from conquering Sind, as he knew that this would pre¬ 

cipitate a crisis. His relations with the Afghans varied with the 

waning and waxing power of the Afghan monarchy. The history of 

the Abdali dynasty shows a perpetually recurring process of composition, 

decomposition, and recomposition in different strains of the scattered 



elements of the Afghan Empire. Ranjit Singh’s diplomatic and military 

triumphs, against the Afghans, were the result of his patient and 

persevering efforts, and he showed consummate craft and supreme courage 

in exploiting the differences between Dost Mohammad and his brother. 

He won over his brother Mohammad, who went over to the 

Sikhs, and Dost Muhammad fled with precipitate haste in the darkness 

of the night, after waiting for seventeen days. Ran jit's victory was 

complete while Dost Mohammad’s prestige was shattered and his 

influence in his own kingdom was seriously undermined. 

Having dealt with the general features of the Sikh Administration 

under Ranjit Singh, let me now deal with the contributions on the 

subject. The place of honour must be assigned to the paper on Ahmad 

Shah Abdali and the Sikhs (1748-1765) contributed by Principal Sita 

Ram Kohli, president of the section. Principal Kohli states, “The 

prolonged persecution at the hands of the Mughal rulers of the day 

combined with their faith in the ultimate success of their cause had 

inured the Khalsa to hardships which would have broken the spirit of 

many others in similar circumstances. During all these years they had 

developed new traits of character which now stood them in good stead’’. 

He traces the progress of Sikh arms, and shows that dismemberment 

of the Mughal empire had already started and the Multan Division 

in the south and the Jullundhur Doab in the North-east broke away 

from the authority of the widow of Mir Manu. The entire machinery 

of government had collapsed and “Might was Right.’’ Principal 

Kohli quotes the Jangnatna, in his account of Ahmad Shah Abdali’s 

wars with the Sikhs. A recent article in the April number of 

the Journal of Indian History (1939) gives us detailed information 

on a few points on Ahmad Shah Abdali’s last invasion of India 

and is useful to students of this period. Sardar Ganda Singh 

of Khalsa College, Amritsar, discusses contemporary sources of Sikh 

history with great erudition and judgment; while Dr. H. R. Gupta 

describes the first Sikh coinage of Lahore in November 1761. 

The Sikhs performed a thanks-giving service at Amritsar on the 

occasion of the Diwali festival which fell on October 22, 1761, after 

their victories over Ahmad Shah Abdali’s forces and marched under 

their chief leader Jassa Singh Ahluwalia upon Lahore in a body.' 

The capture of the capital and the coining of money marked thej 

highest point in 1761 in the evolution of Sikh power. Dr. Gupta’s 
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theory of the minting of the first Sikh coin in 1761 is not accepted 

by scholars. Professor Pran Nath Khera deals with the development 

of British political agencies in the Punjab (1803-1849) in a very clear 

and lucid paper. 

Modem India. 

This is an extremely popular section and has yielded a 

rich harvest. The contributions on the subject are marked by 

considerable originality and deal with most interesting topics. 

The list is headed by Principal Bal Krishna, whose presidential 

address to the section contains most useful suggestions for the 

advancement of research in this period. His paper headed, “Was British 

Conquest of India accidental ?” opens new vistas, and controverts the 

traditional view, held by a succession of British historians, that the 

conquest of British India was accidental. “Nothing greater that has 

been done by Englishmen” says Professor Seeley, “was done so 

unintentionally, so accidentally as the conquest of India.” Dr. 

Bal Krishna attempts a refutation of this doctrine by pointing to the 

example of the Portuguese and the Dutch. “The Dutch invested 

their East India Company with the avowed object of conquest and 

Colonies, with authority to make peace or war with the Eastern 

princes, to erect forts, to choose its own governors” etc. He contends 

that the English were obliged to adopt the same system, and gives 

examples of the conquest of St. Helena by the English Company in 

their very first voyage. Other examples cited by him are the capture 

of Ormuz in 1622, the plans for the conquest of Bombay in 1626, 

when six English ships laid seige to Bombay, pillaged the town, set 

all the houses on fire, and returned. Dr. Bal Krishna also refers to 

the petition of the East India Company to Oliver Cromwell in which 

suggestions were made for the acquisition of Bombay and Bassein. 

He cites other examples pf the appetite and hunger of the Company 

for sovereignty in India, and concludes by referring to the secret 

scheme to conquer Bengal. “By the middle of the eighteenth century 

they (English) felt themselves strong enough to conquer Bengal from 

the Muslim forces. A confidential scheme for the conquest of Bengal 

was sent to the Company by Colonel Scott.” “Five hundred troops,” 

declares this eighteenth century Colonel Blimp, “might defend the pass 

against the whole power of Indostan and secure us from that quarter,” 
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In the gallant Colonel’s warm and vivid imagination, an annual 

supply from Europe of 2,000 men for three years would be sufficient 

to make the English conquest secure and lasting. 

Dr. Bal Krishna’s paper will be studied with great interest as it 

deals with a subject of perennial interest to students of British Indian 

history. The topic formed the focus of an acute controversy a few 

years ago, and he has now revived it by stating his views with great 

ability, lucidity and fairness. I feel, however, that the analogies 

adduced by him are inapt and inappropriate, for the Portuguese and 

Dutch empires in the east were built up on different principles and 

methods. The Portuguese failed in India precisely because they aimed 

at founding an empire and the reasons for their rapid deterioration 

are to be found in the curious mixture of piety and imperialism which 

they imported into the administration of their territories. They were 

poised midway, so to speak, between heaven and earth, and combined 

a burning love for the faith with a ruthless desire for domination in 

proportions which varied from time to time, and constantly disturbed 

their administrative arrangements. They were never able to make 

up their minds whether they would elect to rule as crusaders, or prefer 

to act as imperial and imperious administrators. When they decided 

to establish the Inquisition at Goa and organised a heresy hunt in their 

capital, their doom as possible conquerors of fragments of India was 

sealed. To the English merchants, with their supple minds and 

shrewd judgment, the Portuguese supplied not only an example, but 

a warning, and instead of following in their wake, and imitating 

their methods, the English merchants took particular care to 

avoid the entanglements which had brought the Portuguese into 

disrepute. With regard to the Dutch system, the English Company 

certainly imitated their system of fortified factories, but they did not 

follow their system of commercial monopoly and conquest. Why ? 

Simply because they were too shrewd not to know that it was much 

easier to reduce a congeries of petty, insignificant, timid and weak 

islanders in the South Seas than to array themselves against the 

organised resources and overwhelming strength of Moghul emperors. 

They ignored this advice when they launched their war, in a thoughtless 

moment, against Aurangzeb. Their defeat by the Moghul troops 

convinced them of the soundness of their original position as mere 

traders and they subsided into that position until the remorseless logic of 
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events compelled them to intervene in the affairs of the Carnatic. The 

projects mentioned by Dr. Bal Krishna did not pass beyond the chrysalis 

stage, and it would be perfectly easy to pick any number of such 

examples from the racial garden of humour. They are not of very 

great importance, for the simple reason that they were not incorporated 

in the mature and deliberate policy of the East India Company. 

On the whole, I am obliged to adhere to the views I propounded 

nearly seventeen years ago in my East India Trade in the Seventeenth 

Century, and to adopt the traditional account of British policy in India 

from 1600-1750. Before I discuss the valuable and original papers which 

are included in the Modern Indian History section, let me refer here to 

the basic problems with which students of British Indian history are 

constantly faced. I feel that it is sometimes necessary to cast a glance 

backward so as to gather the scattered material into one focus and thus 

get a true perspective of the period as a whole. The difficulties which 

beset a student of this period can be realised only by those who have 

waded through a mass of documents and assessed them at their 

proper value. Compared with the activities and influence of the Dutch 

East India Company, the English Company started with an incomplete 

organisation, an insufficient capital and inadequate support. By a 

process of trial and error they succeeded in consolidating their position 

in the reign of Charles II and giving to their organisation an element 

of energy and stability which had hitherto been lacking. Trade was 

the chief aim of the new enterprize, and it was upon trade that they 

concentrated from the outset. Men were not wanting, who foresaw 

trouble and confusion in the Mughal empire, and the great dictator of 

the Company, Sir Josiah Childe, prophesied this in no uncertain terms. 

The moral prestige of the Moghul government had been shattered by 

the brilliance of Shivaji and the national uprising of the Mahratta people 

though they were not yet strong enough to overthrow a government 

which had been highly centralised by the resources and character of the 

Moghuls in the XVII century. I will not discuss the Company’s war 

with Aurangzeb, which ended so disastrously and seriously affected 

its prestige in India. The seventeenth century has exercised a strange 

fascination on minds of historians and there is a succession of brilliant 

men who have devoted their lives to the elucidation of the Company’s 

policy and programme. 
I started my workmen the subject nearly 22 years ago and my 



interest in i^ is as fresh now as it was on the day I embarked on this 

enterprise. The work of Sir George Birdwood, Sir Richard Temple, 

Hunter, Love, Bruce, Rawlinson, Moreland, above all, Sir William Foster, 

is known and appreciated throughout the world of scholarship. The 

published work of Sir William Foster from whom I received my inspiration 

in 1916 is a noble monument to his industry, his amazing accuracy and 

precision and his unflagging enthusiasm. The stream of solid research, 

which has been poured forth in quick succession, embodying the results 

of a thorough and painstaking investigation into the records preserved 

in the India Office Records Department has not yet dried up, and the 

student of the period has now an amount of printed material at his 

disposal which makes it easy for him to reconstruct the history of 

the Company’s trade in India and its activies in England. The two 

series initiated by Sir Willian Foster, the Court minutes of the East 

India Company and the English Factories in India are a priceless 

possession and every student of the period is under a deep debt of gratitude 

for the services which Sir William Foster has rendered to historical 

scholarship. The broad lines of the Company’s activities in India are 

now sufficiently clear to the student of the period, as the scholars who 

have dealt with the period have been singularly free from the virus of 

partisanship and prejudice. We have objective and dispassionate 

monographs on almost every aspect of its trade, and the abundance of 

records makes it easy for a student to check gross errors of fact or thefr 

interpretation. Most of them conform to the norm of scholarship 

which have been so carefully maintained in the West. There are, 

however, some problems of this period which await investigation. 

Sir Charles Fawcett published a brilliant work on the first century of 

British Judiciary in India, and Madras can point to a number of devoted 

and conscientious scholars who have traced its history in the seventeenth 

century. Some problems seem however insoluble. Job Charnock’s 

personality baffles and not all the ingenuity and industry of Sir 

Willian Hunter and other historian has been successful in unravelling 

the tangled skein of his policy. Charnock seems to have been one of 

those eccentric characters whose long residence in the mofussil town makes 

them moody, queer and peevish. The other masterful personality no less 

elusive, is Sir Josiah Childe who lacks a competent biographer, though 

the material for a full length biography of this able director is ample. 

1 consulted his letters in the Bodleian Library, Oxford, which, will be 
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found in a volume of the RawHnson MSS. and found on comparing 

their style with the official despatches of the Company that they 

reproduced word for word more of his charateristic expressions and every 

mood of a strong personality is caught and fixed precisely in his letters 

and despatches. His masterful presonality, his steely persistence and 

unflagging vigour made him the object alike of adoration and detestation. 

During the days of his ascend tncy, it will be correct to state, that the 

East India Company was the lengthened shadow of an individual, 

and he left the impress of his vivid personality on everything he 

undertook. I wiil refer to a few other problems of seventeenth 

century history as briefly as possible. No attempt has yet been made 

to study the effects of the East India trade on the foreign 

policy of England. That the influence of the Company on Anglo- 

Dutch negotiations was considerable will be clear from my article 

in the Proceedings on “Sir George Downing and the East India 

Company.” The material on the subject is extensive but it has 

not yet been effectively employed. To take another instance, we 

need a serious and dispassionate account of the Company’s relations 

with the Parliament in the years 1688-1700. No historian has yet 

dealt on an ample scale with the mysterious influence which the Company 

exercised on members of Parliament and in the Court of William III. 

Macaulay gives a superficial and “cinematic” account of the enquiry 

into corruption and bribery which the Parliament conducted in 

1693, but the need of a scientific survey of the subject, and an objective 

presentation of facts is imperative. Unfortunately, no English historian 

lias attempted a detailed history of this period of English history 

since Macaulay’s time, and we must perforce rely for significant 

details on a narrative which is disfigured by his passionate likes and 

dislikes, and his pathetic belief in the infallibility of Whiggism. 

To mention another problem, we lack detailed histories of the 

Company’s factories in northern India and western India. Revd. 

Anderson’s account of the English factory at Surat ought to have 

been followed up by monographs on other factories in upper India, 

John Marshall, the Company’s factor in Patna, has given us a pen 

picture of Patna from 1668 onwards (See my John Marshall in India, 

1668-1672). He was the first Englishman who studied the Indian 

antiquities, and left behind a store of knowledge that will keep his 

memory fresh and greeii in the heart of all enquirers into Anglo-Indian 
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history. His tour through Bengal, which he has described in his 

inimitable style gives us a graphic account of some of the historic 

places of that province. We need full length biographies of men 

like Marshall, who passed the even tenor of their lives in India, in 

comparative obscurity and dependence. In his account of the famine 

in Patna, he has painted the sufferings of the people in simple though 

powerful words. 

I attempted a bibliography of seventeenth century British India 

in my Sources for the History of British India in the XVII Century 

in the leading British Archives published in 1926, but the work was 

incomplete as the material to be included in a work of this character is 

enormous. It is my earnest hope that some earnest Indian scholar will 

take up this work, and fill in the gaps. The India Office Library and 

Record Department, the British Museum and above all, the Public Record 

Office contain most valuable data which have not yet been fully utilised 

by students. Indian students, who pursue their researches in India in any 

period of British Indian history labour under serious disadvantages. It 

is impossible for any student to complete his researches without a visit 

to England and to other European capitals, such as the Hague and 

Lisbon, where important documents on the History of European 

Commerce and diplomacy in India are preserved. 

I shall now proceed with the examination of some problems of 

the eighteenth century. In a country of chronic and passionate 

dissensions, where a handful of bold and masterful adventurers drew the 

map of India with their boot-heels, it is inevitable that passion, prejudice 

and interest should exercise a baneful influence on the study of this 

period. Some of the persons who took part in these revolutions have 

described the tangled events of a specially drastic period in a language 

that is at once diffuse and lumbering. There are periods in Indian 

history which are characterised by an almost monstrous abundance 

of outstanding leaders, with a small and unruly mass behind them. 

India of the time of Akbur supplies a parallel with Spain in the 

sixteenth century, and Greece in the Periclean age. Indeed, there 

had been moments in her brilliant history when the Indian nation 

became like an industry which, instead of fixing a standard and 

turning out human merchandise to perfection, was entirely given 

over to the production of individual models. It may be argued that 

this was the real cause of her stability. In the eighteenth century^ 
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this position was completely reversed. India suffered from a serious 

lack of eminent personality. They were, it is true, Mahadjee Scindia 

and Nana Farnavis, Hyder Ali and Tipu Sultan in the South, but it 

may be said without exaggeration that the Indian nation was an 

enormous mass of people on top of which trembled a minute head. 

Some sort of leadership did exist in parts of India. A few men 

here and there just rose above grovelling mediocrity; but it was so 

insigniRcant in comparison with the vastness of the country and 

its amorphous reputation that it was never able to saturate the 

gigantic popular plasma with its organising influence. Our leadership 

in northern India proved effete, decadent, and the Subehdars of 

various provinces had lost the very qualities of excellence which 

had raised their ancestors to the rank of leaders. Hence they could not 

organise a state with a long stability, nor distil from emotion and 

intellect a harmonious culture. Again, the fusion of the rulers and 

the ruled in most provinces was not horizontal but vertical. It 

would be an interesting speculation to arrange the various races in 

the order of their historic vitality, and to estimate the relative 

importance of each race in the building up of New India. Such a 

task cannot be attempted here, it is sufficient to point to the appalling 

disintegration and particularism of India in the eighteenth century. 

The Central Government was torn into fragments; each province 

and each group revolved about each other like stellar worlds which 

naturally ignored each other’s existence. Society was reduced to its 

elements, and authority had shrivelled up. The sentiment of patriotism 

had been converted into a tepid feeling of personal loyalty to the chief, 

and unity in the times of the later Mughals seems to have operated 

like the injection of artificial energy, but the magnificent tremors of the 

Rajput wars in the sixteenth and local rebellions in the seventeenth 

century had given evidence of the stores of vitality which India had 

received from the early Mughals and kept intact. ' 

It is not my purpose here to give a complete psychological 

analysis of the eighteenth century and I will content myself with a 

brief sketch of the strong personalities that held sway in the Company’s 

headquarters in Bengal. In this period of confusion and disorder, 

there was no limit to the play of personality in action and we have 

natures, rich in many capacities and gifted with every kind of 

sensibility. India of the eighteenth century supplies a parallel to Italy 

I 
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in the fourteenth and France in the sixteenth century. We are all 

familiar with the dramatic incident on the battlefield of Plassey, 

the stormy debates in Warren Hastings’ Council Chamber, the 

fierce energy and ruthless antagonisms of his colleagues and the 

consummate ability with which this little man, with his determined 

chin and a somewhat unhappy mouth countered these moves and 

emerged triumphant after years of ^persistent criticism. It is a strife 

of living energies, and the momentum of the intense individualities 

of Philip Francis and General Clavering took the form and colour 

of their environments. While Warren Hastings impressed his own 

personality on the history of India, Philip Francis reflected the light 

and shade of his malicious nature in the record of his mysterious 

existence. He hovered like some strange-winged creature on the 

surface of human activity indulging in sensual pleasures, weaving 

countless petty intrigues, yielding himself to every impulse, and 

serving as the glass and mirror of a corrupt faction. The party strife 

in Hastings’ Council, while it disturbed its internal repose, sharpened 

the intellect and developed the personality of the great proconsul, 

while a large amount of material has been utilised by a succession of 

brilliant writers on every aspect of Hastings’ administration it cannot 

be said that all the data have been fully utilised. The Clive MSS., 

the Orme MSS., the Proceedings of the Bengal Council and'Select 

Committees have not yet been fully utilised. The works of Hill and 

Long and contemporary tracts, by Holwell, Ives, Caillaud, Scrafton, 

Verelst, Watts and others abound. On Hastings’ administration, a 

vast mass of literature has grown up, and the interest in his dynamic 

personality is unabated. Books on the subject have recently multiplied 

and the movement initiated by Sir George Forrest has been carried 

on by a select band of his admirers with great energy and exemplary 

industry. I will not discuss these works as this will take me too far 

afield. It is sufficient to refer here to the works of MM. Montgomery 

Martin, Marshman, Dodwell and Keene, I will content myself with a 

few general remarks on the nature of the material, and the persons 

who were engaged in this Drama. The pamphlets and other 

contemporary material are a most unsafe guide as they were written 

at a time of intense excitement and reveal not the dispassionate 

judgment and balanced views of scientific historians, but the warm 

partisanship of prejudiced authors, who had been engaged in the 
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(Conflicts which they describe with gusto. We are on safer ground 

when we deal with Janies Mill and the earlier historians. Mill is 

cold, pedantic, precise and logical and applies his Benthamite scissors 

with a curious compound of impartiality, prejudice and metaphysics 

which lift his history above the commonplace. Secluded from the 

warm air of the Indian sun and protected from the virus of superiority 

complex and “racial biology”, he wrote with a detachment and balance, 

which have yielded a clear though crabbed analysis of the movements 

and personalities of the period. Mill’s book suffers from an obvious 

drawback. He could not study the documents scattered in the different 

libraries and archives in England. His cold, pedantic and dull account 

lacks light and colour, while his pedestrian style meanders through a 

wilderness of chaotic details. Gevernments rise and fall during the 

period with the velocity of the Atlantic cyclones, but the fundamental 

Benthamism which permeates these massive and forbidding volumes 

remains as solidly fixed as the submarine gold vault of the Banque de 

France. His low-temperature philosophy, adapted to the rigours of a 

northern climate, seems inappropriate in its dissection of the vivid and 

intense life of an Indian camp, or the sombre realities of Hastings’ Council 

Chamber. His History lacks studies of separate characters, and picture 

galleries of pages in which Hyder Ali, Tippu Sultan, Mrs. Warren 

Hastiirgs breathe and move. While these defects are flagrant and 

palpable it must be admitted that the early historians, headed by Mill 

and followed by Marshman, Beveridge, Sir John Kaye and others, 

were more impartial and dispassionate in their judgment, and 

the simple, unvarnished accounts of some of them, such as Orme, 

have the flavour of a Herodotus. Later works by historians of British 

India were tinged by the prevailing theories of imperialism, 

and in some cases theyj tended to become purely propagandist 

publications in which everything done by their heroes was justified on 

the ground of differences in the latitude and longitude of the two 

countries. Their questionable dealings are explained away on the 

principle ot relativity of ethics, and a successful coup of a dashing 

adventurer is invariably applauded. The deification of Warren 

Hastings’ administration and policy became the fashion after the 

elaborate apologia of Sir George Forrest, and luminaries of greater 

and lesser brilliance descended upon us with a zeal which outran their 

learning and discretion. The subtle, penetrative and elastic spirit of 



Hastings would have laughed at this attempt by a gregarious band of 

organisers. Really, Hastings’ achievement in the United Provinces— 

Benares, Lucknow, Fyzabad, and Rohilkhand are as worthy of 

praise and admiration as the soil of Dacca is fit for the cultivation 

of pine-apples. Modern works on Hastings are enormous and interest 

in the mysterious personality and secret arrangements of the great 

pro-consul shows no signs of abatement. Besides Hickey’s gossip 

and the accounts of a host of travellers, we have standard works by 

Beveridge, Busteed, Lawson, Monckton Jones, P. E, Roberts, Stephen 

Weitzman, Strachey, Grier, etc. 

While Hastings’ career and achievements have attracted a number 

of brilliant writers, Edmund Burke’s noble work for the Indian people is 

dismissed as a classical example of his futility and vanity. The intellectual 

and moral milieu created by the brilliance and splendour of Burke’s 

genius was the motive force in the growth of English conservatism. 

It is however forgotten that Burke was the first great Englishman 

who broke loose from the fetters of tradition and prejudice, and devo.ed 

7 years of his noble life to the defence of a country which he had never 

visited, of a people whose ancient traditions and heroic valour had roused 

his warm imagination and keen sensibility to a height of unwonted 

enthusiasm. Though the despair of thwarted efforts was writ large and 

Burke knew that failure was certain, yet the rugged old man went on 

like a wild boar at bay. The verdict of the Lords shattered his hopes 

and the lonely old man worn out by incessant toil took shelter in the 

rural solitude of Beaconsfield. The quiet dignity and sustained energy 

of his modest account in his Letter to a Noble Lord reveals his failure 

in a ‘language of concentrated force and power. Burke remained a 

passionate fighter till the end of his life, and did not mellow in that 

soft autumn light in which a man of sixty looks back upon twenty 

five. Though the material on Burke’s life is immense, no detailed 

account of the last seven years of his struggle has yet been published. 

Morley, Prior, P. E. Roberts and others have discussed the trial 

and impeachment of Warren Hastings. But the subject is generally 

dismissed in a few pages. Roberts’ analysis of the trial is marked by 

thorough study and dispassionate judgment. Sir Philip Magnus’ recent 

work on Burke fills numerous gaps in our knowledge of this period, and 

his delineation of Burke’s character and achievement is remarkable for 

its vigour and impartiality. The most urgent need of his nature was 



always some great cause to serve, some monstrous injustice to repair. 

The appalling abandon with which he flung himself into such causes led 

him to surrender no inconsiderable part of his magnificent integrity of 

purpose. But the impression which is left in the mind by Burke’s 

career is not one of futility and vanity; it is rather an impression 

of wonder at the prodigality of his great gifts, of pity and awe for the 

manner in which those gifts were sometimes displayed, of pride in 

the mysterious and terrible potentialities of that human nature of which 

we all from a part, and which seems in many cases to be the more 

noble for being shared with him”. 

A healthy reaction has set in against the tendencies inherent in 

histories composed in the halcyon days of imperialism, and as the 

recent work of Dr. Davies on Clive, the History of India by Garrett 

and Thompson, the trained judgment and dispassionate analysis of 

Dodwell and P. E. Roperts, we see the beginnings of a school of history 

which is destined to leaven the mass. The works of Dodwell and 

Roberts have maintained the sound traditions of British historiography, 

and have inspired a number of Indian students with a noble resolve 

to pursue their studies in a spirit of impartiality and equity. Davies 

gives Clive credit for vigour, enterprise, confidence and enumerates 

his vices, which may be summe_d-up as unrestrained egotism, producing 

voracity for wealth, power and position,” “ the like of which has seldom 

been seen in English history”. Hastings, however, remains an 

enigmatic figure in Indian history. While Clive’s character throws an 

organic unity and a massive simplicity, which a historian can analyse 

and study with facility, Warren Hastings’ protean character has not yet 

been satisfactorily analysed. Like fossils in geological strata, the names 

of Nandkumar, Munni Begum and Wheler survive long after the stormy 

proceedings of his Council have been forgotten to perplex and confuse a 

student in search oF fresh avenues of approach. On the whole, it must be 

confessed that the entire administration of Hastings down to the 

minutest details bears the attributes of personality. With the stones 

of criticism and the sling of rhetoric, this David went up against the 

Goliath of his council and one by one he slew or subdued the Philes- 

tines. If we compare and contrast the mental capacities of the two 

great protagonists, we find that Hastings had a comprehensive mind 

and the intensity of its energy in one restricted sphere is less remarkable 

than its suitableness for all. He was sustained by the consciousness 
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of young and potent energy within him, Burke’s intellect was of a 

specific quality and was essentially plastic, and concentrated itself over 

one specific issue with appalling intensity and directness. I have dealt 

with the character and administration of the great Empire builders of 

the 18th century at considerable length as their work is still seen through 

spectacles made in London in 1910. The researches of Roberts have 

restored English historiography to the position it occupied in the 

first half of the 19th century. 

The 19th century need not detain us long. In the first place, 

it is impossible to pursue systematic research on the post mutiny 

period, as most of the documents are not accessible to the student. In 

the second place it is very difficult for a student to maintain a scientific 

spirit in the handling of a problem which may have been the focus 

of an acute controversy. Passion, 'racial prejudice, sectional views 

and ideological differences make it imposible for the most impartial 

scholar to maintain his balance and discuss a contemporary event 

with complete detachment. These remarks are confined to the post 

mutiny period, and the student who prosecutes his enquiry into the 

years 1786-1856 will gather a rich harvest. Cornwallis’ correspondence 

is not a substitute for a full length biography and this is a great 

desideratum. Ross’ Life is jejune and scanty, and a new biography 

is essential. Roberts’ Life of Wellesley is an able analysis of 

Wellesley’s policy but the material for the study of his administration 

is enormous, and we lack finished studies on his conquest of Marahttas, 

and parts of United Provinces. Reference may be made here to the 

creation of the Civil Service of India by the pioneers of British rule 

in Bengal. Warren Hastings, Clive and Wellesley must be given 

credit for organising a corps of Civil servants, when discipline took the 

place of the mutual repulsions, attractions and intrigues which had 

presided over the growth of the Company’s influence in Bengal in 

the eighteenth century. Of the eighteenth century, as a whole, we 

may conclude that it would be wise to cast a pall over a period in which 

personality was too exacting to admit of hesitation where instinct and 

appetite were concerned. 

On the nineteenth century the work of the first Lord Min to 

in India should be chronicled in a detailed biography, while Lord 

Hastings, a man of singularly calm and shrewd judgment, 

who rarely failed to achieve anything on which he had set his heart 

V 
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has formed the subject of a few monographs. Prinsep’s history, Grant 
Duff, Malcolm etc. are known to every student. Kaye and Thompson’s 
Lives of Metcalfe give us a pen picture of that great administrator 

which brings into one focus a tangled web of negotiations and alliances 
which defies analysis. In India, the impulse to the free play of 
individuality which her confused and disorganised state in the years 

1756-1856 communicated was enormous, and in contest of ability 
and character, the picked athletes came to the front. Metcalfe was 
one of them, and he justified his rise by refusing to listen to the 
hint and suggestions of Hastings over the sordid business of Palmer 
and Co. While Hastings’ reputation was besmirched by this affair, 

Metcalfe emerged from it with an unsullied character and untarnished 
name. Curiously enough, no detailed study of Bentinck’s exists 
though his administration offers unlimited scope for solid research 

into the social history of India. Auckland’s disastrous regime 
and Ellenborough’s bizarre personality have been rightly exposed to 
severe criticism, but a detailed study of these governors-general is 
imperatively needed. Sir John Kaye’s services to Indian historical 
scholarship have not yet been appreciated by historians of India. The 
more one studies his classical works on the first Afghan war and the 
Indian mutiny the greater is one’s impression that it is instinct with 
criticism and vital with experience. Kaye surveys his subject from a 
lofty vantage point, fortifies his historical researches by practical 
knowledge, and purifies his judgment of events with the philosophy 
of experience. Sind needs a comprehensive history and though 
Burton, Burnes, Outram, Pottinger and other have dealt with the pre- 
British period and the Ellenborough papers in India Office are a mine 
of information on the subject, the history of that outpost in the 
intervening period is little known. Sindhi scholars should wipe out this 
blot on their fair province and throw light on the relation of Sind with 

Persia, Afghanistan, the British and the Sikhs. Hardinge’s campaigns 
against the Sikhs have been discussed in excellent monographs and the 
literature on the period is substantial. Innes, Griffin, Smythes, Cunning¬ 

ham, the Lawrences and others have dealt with the subject. The post¬ 
mutiny period cannot be dealt with here, as the events that occurred 
then are too recent to enable even the most impartial student to 

prepare an objective history of these times. The era of peaceful 
prepress, which India has enjoyed since 1858 has been traced in 
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humerous Parliamentary papers and biographies. Northbrooke and 

Elgin, Dufferin and Lansdowne succceeded each other in an atmosphere 

of frigid tranquility and bucolic self-sufficiency. India, too, was 

marching with rapid strides and had assimilated the new thought of the 

West with amazing keenness and virility. She who had been the first 

among the nations was now the last. Disunited and disorganised she 

lay prostrate at the sacred gate she had unlocked. But her communities, 

classes, provinces, and states have memories of successful administration 

and imperious originality which blend' • with the impulse of a new 

and powerful life in an uninterrupted sequence of national consciousness 

and organic unity. She has achieved her indestructible unity under 

the aegis of the British Crown and has started her career of unimpeded 

progress in a spirit of virile self assurance. I cannot deal with 

contemporary India as it will entangle me in political controversies. 

I will now discuss very briefly some of the papers on Modern 

India. The paper by Nawabzada Abdul Ali on Mirza Najaf Khan 

incorporates considerable original research, and is a most valuable 

edition to our knowledge of the period ; Professor C. S. Srinivasachari 

has now securely established his position in India as a historian, 

and his paper on the Karnatic and Nasir Jung is a very good example 

of his methods of research. It is lucid, original and solid, and 

will be read with great interest by students of Anglo-French 

struggle in southern India. Mr. Ram Chandra Dikshitar’s paper on 

political conditions in Southern India supplies fresh facts and 

material, while Dr. N. K. Sinha’s able review of Hyder Ali’s relations 

with the British Government claims our attention. Mr. W. S. 

Desai traces the origins of the Indo British residency in Burma, 

while Dr. Bisheshwar Prasad’s luminous interpretation of Mayo’s 

resolution of 14th December, 1870, throws fresh light on an extremely 

ithportant document. Dr. Krishna deals with the memoirs of Hyder 

Ali based on a MSS. purchased in London by Sardar Balaraj Urs 

of Mysore. Dr. Nandlal Chatterji, a former research scholar of the 

History Department, Allahabad, discusses the first English expedition 

to Nepal in an able paper while Dr. A. L. Srivastava’s solid contribution 

to the interpretation of the treaties of Allahabad 1765 will be generally 

acknowledged. Mr. O. P. Bhatnagar, a lecturer in the History 

Department, Allahabad, gives us a very clear account of the causes that 

led to the revocation of Lord Heytesbury’s appointment and Prof. J. 



N. Sircar deals with the Salt Petre trade of India in the 17th century, 

Mr. Shanti Prasad Verma’s paper on an early chapter in the history of 

modern Indian Renaiscence will be read with great interest. 

Maratha Section 

Every one wiil miss the brilliant Presidential Address of. 

professor D. V. Potdar to this section. We found it impossible to 

include it in the proceedings as we could not delay its publication. 

Potdar was, as usual, exceedingly busy with other work. There 

are some good papers in this section too such as the paper on 

Ganesh Sambhaji, and a vindication of Venkaji Bhonsle. The 

paper by Mr. W. S. Desai on the relations of Bombay with the 

Mahrattas during the Compay’s war with Aurangzeb 1685-1690 will 

be read with the greatest interest, while mention may be made of 

an able paper by Mr. V. K. Bhave on the progress of Maharashtra 

under the Peshwas. 

Conclusion 

This concludes the survey of the proceedings of the Congress. 

A glance at the list will show the great progress which the new 

school of Indian historiography has made in recent times and the 

bright future which awaits it. The Indian History Congress was 

unique, as it forged indissoluble bonds among historians of different 

periods of Indian history. Indian History in its integrity and 

totality has acquired indestructible unity. Let us redeem the promise 

of brilliant youth, develop the Congress and organise a comprehensive 

history of India on scientific lines which will be a source of pride to 

Indian scholars. 

It remains to add that every arrangement connected with the work 

of the Congress worked with mechanical precision and there was no 

hitch of any kind. The Exhibition was a remarkable success, and the 

thanks of the organisers are due to the numerous workers who devoted 

several weeks to the organisation of the Congress. Exigencies of space 

have obliged us to condense many papers, as otherwise the size of 

the book would have grown to about 2,000 pages, and the cost of 

printing would have been enormous. Most of the papers included here 

have been carefully studied by the sectional presidents, and their advice 

has been followed in the selection and summarisation these papers. . 
» 

I 
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i should like to thank the hundreds of workers and subscribers 

who responded to our appeal for help with the greatest alacrity and 

encouraged us with their help and advice. The United Provinces rose 

to the occasion, and showed that it is worthy of the great historical 

position which it justly enjoys. 

The work o^ preparing the papers for the press, correcting 

the proofs, and applying the scissors to the long list of articles 

has fallen upon itiy two colleagues, Doctors Bisheshwar Prasad 

and Banarsi Prasad Saxena, and those who know their devoted work 

for the October session of the Indian History Congress at Allahabad, 

will not be surprised to hear that their energy and zeal were conspicuous 

in this, the most dreary part of their duties, as in the varied work 

which the session necessitated last October. The thanks of all scholars 

are due to them for their selfless work. I must also refer here to the 

devotion and interest which Rai Bahadur Pandit Brijniohan Vyas and 

Mr Ramchandra Tandan displayed in the organisation of the Indian 

History Congress. Its remarkable success was due to their strenuous 

work. The volunteers worked with great energy and enthusiasm, and 

deserve the warmest thanks of the organisers of the Indian History 

Congress. It is our earnest prayer that the third session of the 

Congress,! which is going to be held under the auspices of the Calcutta 

University on December 15, 1939 be attended with the same success. 

SHAFAAT AHMAD KHAN. 

31, Stanley Road, 

Allahabad, 

September 1, 1939. 
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REPORT OF THE PROCEEDINGS 

Preliminary preparations—The first session of the All India 

Modern Indian History Congress was held at Poona in June 1935, 

The scope of the Congress was then enlarged so as to include all 

the periods of Indian History, It was further resolved that the 

Congress should meet next at Allahabad, In furtherance of this 

resolution a number of historical scholars met at Allahabad and 

proposed to hold the Congress in October 1938, A Working Committee 

was also formed with Pandit Iqbal Narain Gurtu, Vice-Chancellor, 

University of Allahabad, as its Chairman. Pandit Gurtu took long 

leave and had to leave Allahabad. The burden of organising the 

session fell on Sir Digby Livingstone Drake-Brockman, Kt,, C, S, I,, 

C, 1, E,, Chairman, Public Service Commission, United Provinces, 

who was elected Chairman of the Reception Committee, 

The Working Committee addressed circulars and bulletins to 

the Universities, degree Colleges, Provincial Governments, Indian 

States, historical societies and individual scholars throughout 

India, The response was very encouraging. The Government of 

India and the Provincial Governments of Bombay, Orissa and Punjab 

nominated their representatives. As expected the Indian Universities 

welcomed the proposal and cooperated by appointing their 

representatives to attend the session and read papers. Except the 

University of Delhi, the other 17 Universities and the Gurukul University 

of Kangri were represented at the Congress. Twenty-five degree 

Colleges, fourteen learned societies and six Indian States also nominated 

their representatives. A large number of other scholars also promised 

to attend and take part in the deliberations. The appeal for 

contributions met with no less encouraging a response. Long before 

the session, more than hundred papers were received. 

Financial Support—The difficult problem of meeting the 

expenditure on the session, entertainment of the guests and printing of 

the papers etc. was made easy by the financial support promised by the 

University of Allahabad and the Government of the United Provinces 

to whom our thanks are due. Appeal for help brought forth generous 

donations from some of the Maharajas, Taluqadars and leading 

Advocates of the United Provinces. Besides donors, we had members 

of the Reception Corr^mittee. The Dele^tes also paid a fee of Rs. 5 
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each. Lists of the members and the Delegates are printed at 

the end. 

The Presidents—‘The Working Committee elected Dr. D. R, 

Bhandarkar, M. A., Ph. D., the great savant of Ancient Indian History 

to act as the President of the Congress. The learned Doctor very 

generously consented to preside and conduct the proceedings of the 

general session. It Was further resolved to divide the work of the 

Congress into eight sections, each presided over by a sectional 

President. The following were the various sections with their 

respective Presidents. 

1. Ancient Indian History—Diwan Bahadur Dr. S. Krishnaswami 

Aiyengar, M. A., Ph. D., Madras. 

2. Archaeology—Rao Bahadur K. N. Dikshit, M. A., Director-General 

of Archaeology. Government of India. 

3. Early Medieval History—Dr. Surendra Nath Sen, M. A., Ph. D., 

Ashutosh Professor of Indian History, Calcutta University. 

4. Sultanate History—Prof. Mohammed Habib, M. A., Aligarh 

University. 

5. Mughal History—Principal R. P. Khosla, M. A., Lahore. 

6. Modem Indian History—Dr. Balkrishna, M. A., Ph. D., Principal 

Rajaram College, Kolhapur. 

7. Sikh History—Principal Sita Ram Kohli, M. A., Hoshiarpur. 

8. Maratha History—Professor D. V. Potdar. Poona. 

The President and the sectional Presidents deserve our grateful 

thanks for their willing cooperation and wise guidance to which alone 

the success of the session is to be attributed. 

The opening session—The session was inaugurated by His 

Highness Maharaja Sir Aditya Pratap Singh, G.C.S.I., Maharaja of 

Benares on 8th October 1938 at 11 A. M. in the Senate Hall of the 

University of Allahabad before a distinguished gathering of scholars, 

from various parts of India, members of the- Reception Committee and 

a large body of leading citizens, officials and, non-officials, of Allahabad. 

The Honourable B. Sampurnanand, Minister of Education, United 

Provinces, was also present. ,Tfie President and H. H. the Maharaja 

were received by the Chairman and members of the Working Committee 

at the gate and taken in a procession to the dais. Tl^e Chairman of 

th© Reception Committee, Sir Digby L. Drake*Brockman wekoming 

the delegates requested His Highness to inaugurate the session. His 
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Highness then read his inaugural address and declared the session 

open. Thereupon Sir Shafaat Ahmad Khan, General Secretary, 

read the messages received. Rao Bahadur K. N. Dikshit then proposed 

the name of Dr. D. R. Bhandarkar for Presidentship, which was seconded 

by Dr. H. C. Ray Chaudhari and Dr. Tara Chand. The President 

amid thunderous cheers then took the chair and was garlanded by 

the Chairman, Reception Committee. The opening session came to 

an end after the Presidential address was over. 

Sectional meetings—On the 8th of October in the evening and on 

the two subsequent days, meetings of the different sections were held in 

the History Department, Allahabad University. The attendance at 

various sectional meetings was very large and comprised, besides dele¬ 

gates, leading citizens of Allahabad and members of the University. The 

work began with the address of the respective Sectional Presidents, after 

which various delegates read their papers and discussion ensued thereon. 

The discussion was generally lively and criticism learned. The 

Presidential addresses and the papers read are printed in the body 

of th present volume. 

The Closing Session—At 2 p. m. on 10th October, the last day 

of the session, when the sectional meetings had concluded their work, 

to plenary session of the Congress was held in the Vizianagram Hall 

to consider the draft constitution submitted by the Sub-Committee 

appointed at Poona in 1935, and other proposals sent in by the 

delegates. A copy of the constitution as approved and of the Resolutions 

as adopted is printed herewith. Mention may here be made of two 

resolutions which are of special significance, one calling attention of 

the Government of India, Provincial Governments and Indian States to 

the need of well-equipped Record Offices open for the bonafide students 

of Indian history and the other appointing a Committee of distinguished 

historians to consider the feasibility of writing a scientific and 

comprehensive History of India and to formulate a scheme for the 

same to be placed before the next Congress. Hon’ble Khan Bahadur 

Azizul Haque, Vice Chancellor, Calcutta University, then invited the 

Indian History Congress to hold its third session at Calcutta in 1939 

which proposal was accepted with great eclat. The session closed 

with a hearty vote of thanks to the President and delegates who had 

made the Congress successful by their presence. 

VI 



-Opportunity was taken of the presence of distinguished 

scholars to arrange a few lectures for the general public and the. 

members of the Congress. We owe a deep debt of gratitude to the 

undermentioned learned lecturers for so readily responding to our 

request, and enlightening the people of Allahabad on subjects of their 

special study. The lectures drew large audiences, which could with 

difficulty be contained by the spacious halls of the University. The 

following were the lecturers : 

Rao Bahadur K. N. Dikshit. 

Rao Sahib C. S. Srinivasachari. 

Khwaja Muhammad Ahmad. 

Mr. Ram Chand Manchanda. 

Rai Bahadur Prayag Dayal. 

Excursions—Allahabad has in its neighbourhood a number 

of places of antiquity and historical interest. Kausambi and Bhita 

have a long history behind them and have now acquired special 

interest owing to the excavations by the Archaeological Department. 

Excursions were organised for the two places on 6th and 7th October. 

The trips were greatly enjoyed by the delegates who availed of the 

facilities in large numbers. 

Entortaifimeni—The members of the Congress were entertained 

to dinner on the 8th by L. Beni Madho, Publisher and Rais of 

Allahabad, and to Tea on the 9th by the Directors ^of tlie Indian 

Press Ltd., Allahabad. Our thanks are due to the generous hosts whose 

hospitality was greatly welcome. The Working Committee was at home 

to the President and the delegates on the closing day. 

Exhibition—Along with the session of the Congress, the 

Working Committee decided to organise an Exhibition of paintings, 

sculptures, terracotta, manuscripts and historical documents. The 

Exhibition was organised by Rai Bahadur Pandit Brij Mohan Vyas 

and Sri Ram Chandra Tandan, the indefatigable secretaries. It was 

opened by the Hon’ble Babu Sampurnanand, Minister for Education, 

United Provinces. It included some of the rare collections from 

the museums, and palaces of the Indian Princes and Taluqdars. 

The Exhibition was greatly appreciated by the delegates and citizens 

of Allahabad who visited it in large numbers. The list of exhibits and 

other details about the Exhibition are printed at the end of the volume 

of Proceedings. 



Volunteers—No account of the proceedings of the session can 

be complete without a mention of the arduous work which was 

discharged so creditably and cheerfully by the small band of volunteers 

and their leader Mr. Jamuna Prasad who was assisted by Mr, Rama 

Shankar Awasthy. They are deserving of the thanks of the Working 

Committee. 

We also gratefully acknowledge the generous assistance rendered 

by Mr. Sarju Prasad, Deputy Librarian of the University and 

Mr. T. A. K, Raman, Superintendent, Accountant General’s Office, who 

audited the accounts. 

PROCEEDINGS OF THE PLENARY SESSION ON 

10th OCTOBER 1938. 

The Indian History Congress met in the Vizianagram Hall 

at 2 p. m. with Dr. D. R. Bhandarkar in the chair. 

1. The proceedings commenced with the following condolence 

resolution moved from the chair: The Indian History Congress, 

Allahabad, places on record its deep sense of grief at the sad demise 

of the following scholars and historians and conveys its heartfelt 

condolences to their bereaved families, 

(1) Mr. W. H. Moreland 

(1) Sir Wolseley Haig 

(3) Dr. K, P. Jaiswal 

(4) Mr. C. V. Vaid 

(5) Dr. Hira Lai 

2. Prof. D. V. Potdar, General Secretary of the Poona session, 

then presented the Report of the last session, which was recorded. 

3. Professor Sri Ram Sharma presented the report of the 

Constitution Committee and proposed that it be adopted. It was 

seconded by Prof. Potdar, Dr. Sen and Dr. Krishnaswami Ayengar. 

Various amendments were then moved, and after discussion the 

following constitution was unanimously accepted by the Congress : 

(1) The object of the Indian History Congress shall be the 

promotion and encouragement of scientific study of Indian History. 

(2) The membership of the Congress shall be open to all interested 

in the study of Indian History and the annual fee for membership 

shall be Rupees five only, 

(3) The following shall be the office bearers of the Congress :—A 



President, two Vice-Presidents, a General Secretary, a Joint (Local) 

Secretary and a Treasurer. 

(4) The office bearers together with seven other members elected 

along with the office bearers by the Congress shall form the Executive 

Committee till the end of the next session. 

(5) The Executive Committee shall have full power to transact 

all business including admission of new members, the framing of 

Rules of Business, and in case of emergency to deal with all other 

matters not herein specified, provided that nothing is done which is 

inconsistent with the constitution or the Rules of Business. 

(6) In the event of any vacancy or vacancies occurring amongithe 

office bearers and members of the Executive Committee of the 

Congress, such vacancies shall be filled by the Executive Committee. 

(7) There shall be a Local Committee of which the Joint 

Secretary of the Congress shall be the General Secretary. 

(8) The following shall be the procedure for amending the 

constitution of the Congress : 

The proposals for additions to, or alterations in, the constitution 

shall be addressed to the General Secretary two months before the 

meeting of the Congress. He shall place them before the Executive 

Committee for its consideration and making such recommendations to 

the Congress as it considers necessary. 

4. On the motion of Diwan Bahadur Dr. S. Krishnaswami 

Ayengar, seconded by Dr. H. C. Raychaudhary, the Congress passed 

the following resolution : 

That a committee be appointed, consisting of the following, with 

powers to coopt, to examine the feasibility of preparing a scientific 

and comprehensive History of India with instruction to report at the 

next session of the Congress. 

1. Dr. D. R. Bhandarkar 

2. Sir Jadunath Sarkar 

3. Dr. S. Krishnaswami Ayengar 

4. Rao Bahadur K. N. Dikshit 

5. Prof. Mohammad Habib 

6. Rao Sahib C. S. Srinivasachari 

7. Prof. K. A. Nilakantha Sastri 

8. Prof, D, V. Potdar 
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9. Dr. M. H. Krishna 

10. Dr. Surendra Nath Sen 

11. Dr. Balkrishna 

12. Sri Jayachandra Vidyalankar 

13. Prof. Sri Ram Sharma 

14. Mr. R. V. Poduval 

15. Mr. B. V. Krishna Rao 

16. Sir Shafaat Ahmad Khan 

5. The Congress next passed the following resolution moved by 

Dr. Balkrishna and seconded by Sir Shafaat Ahmad Khan. 

The Indian History Congress is strongly of the opinion that well- 

equipped Record Offices should be established by all the Provincial 

Governments and Indian States at an early date to facilitate historical 

research. The Congress considers it essential that adequate facilities 

should be afforded to all bonafide scholars of history in such offices. 

6. On the motion of Dr. Taia Cliand seconded by Pandit Brij 

Mohan Vyas, the Congress endorsed the Peace-Pact inaugurated by 

Dr. Nicholas Roerich. 

“Resolved that the Second Indian History Congress, held at 

Allahabad, approves of the International Pact for the protection of 

artistic and scientific institutions, historic monuments, missions, and 

collections originated by Nicholas Roerich and records its support of 

the three articles detailed below : 

AitTicLE I. The historic monuments, museums, scientic, artistic, 

educational and cultural institutions shall be considered as neutral 

and as such respected and protected by belligerents. The same 

respect and protection shall be due to the personnel of the institutions 

mentioned above. The same respect and protection shall be accorded to 

the historic monuments, museums, scientific, artistic, educational and 

cultural institutions in time of peace as well as in war. 

Article II. The neutrality of and the protection and respect due 

to, the monuments and institutions mentioned in the preceding article, 

shall be recognized in the entire expanse of the territories subject to the 

sovereignty of each of the signatory and acceding States, without any 

discrimination as to the State allegiance of the said monuments and 

institutions. The respective Governments agree to adopt the measures 

of internal legislation necessary to ensure the said protection and respect. 

Abticlb III, In order to identify the monqments and institutions 
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mentioned in Article I, use may be made of a distinctive flag (red circle 

with a triple red sphere in the circle on a white background). 

7. The following proposal of Dr Balkrishna as amended by 

Dr. Tara Chand was accepted by the Congress;— 

The Copyright Law should be so amended as to enable the 

Government to acquire copies of every book, pamphlet, newspaper 

or periodical published in India, for preservation in India in public 

libraries at the Capital of India and at the capitals of the Provinces. 

8. The Congress passed the following resolution moved by 

Dr. Balkrishna and seconded by Dr. Surendra Nath Sen: 

This Congress strongly urges the Central and Provincial 

Governments to consider the paramount necessity of evolving a practical 

plan to secure photos or typescripts of the records which relate to 

India that are now in England, France, Holland and Portugal, and to 

locate these in the Imperial library at Delhi and at the provincial 

capitals concerned. 

9. The following office-bearers and members of the Executive 

Committee were elected for the year; 

President—Dr. D. R. Bhandarkar 

Vice-President—Dr. S. Krishnaswami Ayenger. 

Prof. D. V. Potdar. 

General Secretary—Sir Shafaat Ahmad Khan 

Treasurer—Prof. Sri Ram Sharma 

Joint Secretary—Dr. S. N. Sen 

Members—Dr. R. C. Majumdar 

Prof. Mohammad Habib 

Principal Sita Ram Kohli 

Prof. C. S. Srinivasachari 

Rev. Father H. Heras 

Prof. S. V. Puntambekar 

Prof. H K. Sherwani 

10. Hon’ble Mr. Azizul Haque, Vice-Chancellor, Calcutta U niversity 

invited the Congress to hold its next session at Calcutta. It was 

resolved gratefully to accept it. (The dates of the Calcutta session are 

15, 16, 17 December 19^39). 

11, The President thanked the organisers and delegates m his 

concluding remarks. The Chairman Reception Committee and the ■ 
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General Secretary then thanked the President and delegates on behalf 

of the Reception Committee and expressed their gratefulness to the 

volunteers for their selfless work. Rao Bahadur K. N, Dikshit, Rao 

Sahib C. S. Srinivasachari and the Hon’ble Mr. Azizul Haque expressed 

their thankfulness on behalf of the delegates to the Reception 

Committee and the volunteers. The session then concluded. 

BisHESriwAR Prasad 

Asstt. Secretary. 
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Dr. BANARSI PRASAD SAKSENA 

Assistant Secretary 



Dr. BISHESHWAR PRASAD 

Assistant Secretary 
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UST No. 1 

Representatives of the Universities 

(1) Calcutta University 
1. Hon’ble Mr. Azizul Haque, Vice-Chancellor. 

2. Dr. Hem Chandra Raychaudhary M. A., Ph. D. 

(2) Madras University 
1. Dr. N. Venkataramanayya, M. A., Ph. D. 

2. Mr. V. R. Ramachandra Dikshitar, M. A. 

(3) Bombay University 
1. Prof. N. L. Ahmad, M. A., B. Litt. 

(4) Punieb University 

1. Prof. Sri Ram Sharma 

(5) Andhra University 

1. Mr. G. Venkat Rao, M. A. 

2. Dr. K. R. Subramanian, M. A., Ph. D. 

3. Mr. R. Subba Rao, M. A. 

4. Mr. G. S. Dikshit, M. A. 

(6) Benares Hindu University 

1. Prof. S. V. Puntambekar, M. A. 

2. Prof. S. N. Bhattacharya, M. A. 

3. Prof. K. Bhattacharya, M. A. 

4. Dr. P. Saran, M. A., Ph. D. 

5. Dr. A. S. Altekar, M. A., D. Litt. 

6. Dr. R. S. Tripathy, M. A., Ph. D. 

7. Dr. R. B. Pandey, M. A., D. Litt. 

(7> Dacca University 

1. Dr. K. R. Qanungo, M. A., Ph. D. 

2. Dr. M. I. Borah M. A., Ph. D. 

3. Dr. D. C. Ganguly, M. A., Ph. D. 

(8) Nagpur University 

1. Dr. H. C. Seth, M. A., Ph. D. 

(9) Patna University 

1. Dr. S. C. Sarkar, M. A., Ph. D. 

(10) Rangoon University 

1. Mr. W. S. Desai, M. A. 

(11) Osmania University 
1. Mr. Abdul Majid Siddiqi, M. A, 

VII 



(12) Lucknow University 

1. Dr, Radha Kuinud Mukerji, M. A., Ph. D. 

2. Dr. Sukuniar Bannerji, M. A., Ph. D. 

3. Dr. N. L. Ch.itterji, M. A., Ph. D. 

4. Mr. C. D. Chatterji, M. A. 

5. Miss K. C. Seethamma, M. A. 

(13) Agra University 
1. Prof. J. C. Taluqdar, M. A. 

2. Dr. B. R. Chatterji, M. A., D. Litt 

3. Prof. Govind Ram Seth, M. A. 

4. Prof. Karam Gani Khan, M. A. 

5. Mr. M. N. Kaul, M. A. 

6. Prof. R. N. Sanyal, M. A. 

(14) Aligarh Muslim University 
1. Prof. Mohammad Habib 

(15) Travancore University 
1 Mr. T. M. Krishnamachari, M. A. 

(16) Mysore University 

1. Dr. M. H. Krishna, M. A., D. Litt. 

(17) Annamalai University 
1. Rao Sahib C. S. Srinivasachari, M. A. 

2. Mr. R Satianath Aiyar, M. A. 

(18) Gurukul University! Kangri 

1. Prof. Vcd Vrat Vidyalankar 

LIST No. 2. 

Representatives of the Learned Societies 

(1) Royal Asiatic Society* Bombay 
1. Rev. Fr. H. Heras, S. 

2. Rao Bahadur Dr. S. K. Belvalkar, M. A., Ph. D. 

3. Prof. D. V. Potdar, B. A. 

(2) The Indian Research Institute, Calcutta 

1. Dr. Dines Chandra Sarkar, M. A,, Ph. D. 

(3) Andhra Historical Research Society, Rajahmundry 

1. Mr. B. V. Krishna Rao, M. A., B. L. 

2. Mr. C. Atmaram, B. A., B. L. 

3. Prof. R. Subba Rao, M^ A., L. T. 
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(3) Rajwade Sanshodhak Mandal« Dhulia 

1. Mr. B. R. Kulkarni 

(4) The Karnataka Historical Research Society, Dharwar 

1. Dr. M. H, Krishna, M. A., D. Litf. 

(5) Andhra Itihasa Samsodhak Mandal, Guntur 

1. Dr. M. Rama Rao, M. A., Ph. D. 

(6) Greater India Society, Calcutta 

1. Dr. U. N. Ghoshal, M. A , Fh. D. 

2. Mr. Jitendra Nath Bahnerji, M. A. 

(7) U. P. Historical Society 

1. Rai Bahadur Prayag Dayal 

(8) Shardashram Yetmal 

1. Mr. Y. K. Deshpande, M. A 

(9) Gujrat Vernacular Society, Ahmadabad 

1. Muni Shri Jinavijaiji 

(10) Hindi Sahitya Sammelan Prayag 

1. Shri Jaichandra Vidyalankar 

2. R. B., Pt. Brij Mohan Vyas 

3. Dr. Baburain Saksena 

(11) Bhandarkar Oriental Research Institute, Poona 

1. Prof. D. V. Potdar, 

(12) Kern Institutje, Leyden, Holland 

1. Dr. Hermann Goetz 

(13) Bharat Itihas Sanshodhak Mandal, Poona 

1. Prof. D. V. Potdar 

(14) The C. P. Research Society, Nagpur 

1. Mr. G. C. Tambe 

LIST No. 3. 

Representatives of Colleges 

(1) D. A. V. College, Cawnpore 

Prof. Govind Ram Seth, M. A. 

(2) Sanatan Dharma College, Cawnpore 

1. Prof. Kali Shankar Bhatnagar, M. A. 

2. Mr. M. P. Sharma, M. A. 

3. Mr. H. R. Sabharwal, M. A. 
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(3) CkrUt Church College-, Cawnpore' 

1. Prof. L.akshmi Kant Tripathi, M. A. 

2. Mrs. Zohra Ilahibaksh, M. A. 

(4) Dungar College, Bikaner 

1. Pr. A. L. Srivastava, M. A , Ph. D. 

(5) Serampore College, Serampore 

1. Mr. K. R. Chatterji, M. A. 

(6) Victoria Institution Calcutta 

1. Mr. Golap Chandra Raychaudliar'i, M. A. 

(7) Hooghly Mohsim College, Chinsura 

1. Babu Joiindra Nalh Sikd.ir 

(8) Hindu Academy, Daulatpur 

1. Mr. D. N. Mookerjee, M. A. 

(9) Khalsa College, Amritsar 

1. Sardar Ganda Singh, M. A. 

(10) Murray College, Sialkot 

1 Mr. S L. Sarkar, M. A. 

2. Mr. C. W. Tressler, M. A. 

(11) Queen Mary’s College, Madras 

1. Miss K. Kaiitanikuthy M. A. 

(12) Islamia College, Lahore 

1. Dr. B. A. Kuraishi, M. A., Ph. D. 

2. Mr. S. A. Qadir, M. A 

(13) Bhagalpur College, Bhagalpur 

1. Mr. M. L, Raychaudhary, M. A., P. R. S. 

(14) Sanatana Dharama College, Lahore 

1. Prof. Gulshan Rai, M. A. 

(15) P. R. College, Coconada 

1. Mr. V. Narayana Rao, M. A. 

(16) Forman Christian College, Lahore 

1. Dr. H. R. Gupta, M. A., Ph. D. 

(17) Ram Narain Ruia College, Bombay 

1. Mr. V. D. Rao, M. A. 

(18) Robertson College, Jubbulpore 

Mr. Sant Lall Katare, 

(19) Maharaja’* CU>llege, Parlakimedi 

1. Mr. G. S. Dikshit. 
4 
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(20) Vidjrasagar College, Calcutta 

1. Mr. B. N. Bannerji, M. A. 

(21) Willingdon College, Sangli 

1. Mr. S, R. Sharma, M. A. 

(22) Maharaja’* College, Vizianagram 

1. Dr. K. K. Subramaniaoi 

(23) Dayal Singh College, Lahore 

1. Mr. U. N. Ball 

(24) Patna College, Bahkipur 

1. Mr. K. K. Dutia 

(25) Calcutta Madarsa, Calcutta 

1. Mr. A. B M. Habibullah 

LIST No. 4. 

Representatives of Governments. 

(1) Government of India (Archaeological Department) 

1. Khan Bahadur Mouivi Zafar Hasan. 

2. Dr. M. Naziiu, M. A., Ph. D. 

(2) Government of Bombay 

1. Prof. N. L. Ahiuad, M. A., H. Litt. 

(3) Punjab Government 

1. Dr. G. L. Chopra, M. A., Ph. D 

2. Mr. M. Saduliah, M. A*. 

(4) Orissa Government 

1. Mr. Ghanshyatu Das 

2. Mr. Jagadanand Mahanti 

3. Mr, Jagadanand Patnayak 

4. Mr. Shyam Saran Chandra 

UST No. 5. 

Representatives of Indian States. 

(1) The Nizam’s Government, Hyderabad 

Mr. Khwaja Muhammad Ahmad 

(2) Mysore State 

Dr. M. H. Krishna 



(3) Barova Stale 

Mr. C. V. Joshi 

(4) Jodhpur State 

Pt. Bisheshwar Nath Reu 

(5) Mayurbhanj State 

Mr. 'P. Acbarya 

(6) Benares Stale 
1. Mr. B. B. Sen Roy 

2. Mr. B. L. Kaul 

(7) Travancore State 

Mr. R. V. Poduval 

(8) Gwalior State 

Director, Archaeologcial Survey 

LIST No. 6 

Other Delegates 

1. Mr. M. V. Gujar, Poona 

2. Mr. Shahid Ali, Lucknow 

3. Mr, F. A. Ansari, Lucknow 

4. Dr. C. H. Rice, Ewing Christian Collegu, All ihabad 

5. Mr. Pandurang Pissurlemicar, Nova Goa 

6. Mr. D. V. Apte, Poona 

7. Mr. P. K. Gode, Poona 

8. Dr. P. C. Gupta, Calcutta 

9. Dr. P. Basil, M. A., Ph. D., Lucknow 

10. Mr. S. P. Sahariya M. A., L. T. Govt. College, Jhansi 

11. Dr. Narendra Krishna Sinha, Calcutta University 

12. Syed, Hasan Askari, Patna College, Patna 

13. Mr. Sarit Sekhar Majumdar, Benares 

14. Mr. O. Ratnchandraiya, Andhra Univer sity 

15. Mr. Jitendra Nath Bannerji 

16. Mr. Baij Nath Puri, Lucknow University 

17. Thakur Lantu Simha Gautam, U<Jai Pratap College, Benares 

18. Mr. S. A. Shere, Patna Museum, Patna 

19. Mr. W. K. Bhave, Kesari office, Poona 

20. Mf. Dinkar Vinayak Kale, Kesari office, Poona 

21. Mr. K. P. Mitter, Principal D. J. College, Monghyr 
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22. Pt. Girwar Shankar Dikshit, Kanyakubja College, Lucknow 

23. Dr. A. Rahman Chagtai, Lahore 

24. Rao Bahadur K. N. Dikshit, Director General, Archaeological Survey. 

25. Mr. S. K. Dikshit, Simla 
26. Mr. Raja Ram, Principal, St Andrews College, Gorakhpur 

27. Syt. Ganpat Rao, G. Khandekar, Panth Piploda C. I. 

28. Prof. Keshava Lai, H. Kamdar, Baroda 

29. Mr. Bishun Dayal Srivastava, Govt. College, Allahabad 

30. Mr. M. H. Naqvi, Govt. College, Allahabad 

31. Dr. Miss. Stella Kraeiurisch, Calcutta University 

32. Mr. Amlanand Ghosh, Archaeological Survey, Patna 

33. Munshi S. Maqbool Aharaad 

34. Mr. S. T. Dikshit, Hyderabad 

35. Mr. Anil Chand Bannerji, Calcutta University 

36. Mr. K, K. Basu, Patna 

37. Mr. J. N. Sarkar, Calcutta 

38. Mr. Avadh Behari Lai, Bulandsh.dir 

39. Mr, A. L. Swadia, Rajkot 

40. Mr. A. S. Gadre, Baroda 

41. Mr. Ramchand Manchanda, L ahore 

42. Dr. A. Mehdi Husain, Agra College, Agra 

43. Mr. Tofail Ahmad, Lucknow 

44. Mr. Anis Ahmad, Lucknow 

45. Mr. Rameshwar Singh, Govt. College Moradabad 

46. Mr. Madan Mohan Nagar, Curator Museum, Samath 

47. Mr. Udai Narain Tiwari, Allahabad 

48. Babu Durga Prasad, Benares 

49. Mr. Girdhar Gopal, Kasganj 

50. Sardar M. V. Kibe, Indore 

51. Mr. S. B. Chaudhari 

52. Mr. S. P. Varma, Indore 

53. Mr. P. N. Vaikar, Bombay 

54. Mr. B. L. Sharma, Khurja 

55. Dr. Surendra Nath Sen, Calcutta University 
56. Principal Sita Ram Kohli, Hoshiarpur 

57. Syed Maqbul Ahmad Samdani, Allahabad 

58. Mr. J. S. Rawat, Balwant Collie, Agra 

49. Mr. N. N. Ghosh, Patna 

60. Pt. Ram Kumar Chaube, Benares 

6). Dr. Y. Prasad, Agra College Agra 
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62. P. L. Manchandram, Jammu 

63. Mr. N. S. Nrtrasimha lyenger, Trivandrum 

LIST No. 7 

Donations. 
Rs. 

1. The Government United Provinces ... 500 

2. The University of Allahabad ... 500 

3. His Highness the Mahar.ija of Benares ... 200 

4. His Highness the Nawab of Rampnr ... 150 

5. The Maharaja of Mahraudabad ... 200 

6. The Maharaja of Balrampur ... 50 

7. Rt. Hon’ble Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru ... 100 

8. Lala Padmapat Singhania, Cawnpore ... 110 

9. Lala Manmohan Das, Allahabad ... 100 

10. Rani Phul Kumari Sahiba, Sherkot ... 50 

11. Captain Nawab Jamshed Ali Khan, Bagpat ... 50 

12. Raja Sri Amar Krishna Narain Singh, Ramnagar Dhameri ... 50 

13. Raja Krishnapal Singh, Kurri Sndauli ... 50 

14. Sir Shafaat AhmadKhan ... 50 

LIST No. 8 

Members of the Reception Committee 

1. Prof. Kali Shankar Bhitnagar, M. A., S. D. College, Cawnpore 

2. Prof. K. Bhattacharya, M. A., Benares Hindu University 

3. Mr. Shantimoy Bannerji, M. A., L. T, Head Master, Mirzapur 

4. Dr. C. Y- Chintaraani, D. Litt, Allahabad 

5. Prof. G. V. Rao, M. A. LL B, Andhra University 

6. Professor A. P. Dube, Allahabad University 

7. Hon’ble Pt. Prakash Narain Sapru, Advocate, Allahabad 

8. Mr. T. N. Sapru, Advocate, .Allahabad 

9. Dr. Baburam Saksena, D. Litt., Allahabad University 

10. Mr. S. C. Deb, M. A., Allahabad University 

11. Dr. Nand Lai Chatterji; Ph. D., Lucknow University 

12. Mr. Aparajita Prasad Singh, M. A., Benares State 

13. Khan Bahadur Syed Abu Muhammad, M. A., Member, Public Service 

Commission U. P. 

14. Mr. Maheshwar Dayal, Sup'dt. Posts, Jhansi 



15. Dr. Kanhaiya Lai, LL. D., Ex>Judge, High Court, Allahabad 

16. Dr. B. K. Mukerji, Cawnpore Road, Allahabad 
17. Mr. S. P, Varma, Accountant General, U. P. 

18. Mr. Batuk Siogh, Dy. Controller of Accounts, Meerut 

19. Hon’ble Dr. Kailash Nath Katju, Minister, U. P. 

20. Mr. Ram Narain Gurtu, Advocate, Allahabad 

21. Mr. Basudeva Mukerji, Advocate, Allahabad 

22. Col. R. S. Weir, Director of Public Instruction, U. P. 
23. Mr. Shiva Prasad Sinha, Advocate, Allahabad 

24. Pt. Amarnath Jha, Vice-Chancellor, Allahabad University 
25. Mr. Munishwar Prasad Tripathi, Dy. Collector, Sultanpur 
26. Mr. Mahabir Singh Singhal, Inspector General Registration, U. P. 

27. Mr. S. A. Siddiqi, Dy. Controller Accounts, Meerut 

28. Pt. Iqbal Narain Gurtu, Vice-Chancellor, Allahabad University 

29. Mr. Man Singh, Member Public Service Commission, U. P. 

30. Mr. B. V. Bhadkamkar, I. C. S., Excise Commissioner, U. P. 

31. Mr. Lila Dhar Gupta, M. A., Allahabad University. 

32. Dr. Beni Prasad, D. Sc., Allahabad University 

33. Dr. S. P. Varma, Ph. D., Allahabad University 

34. Dr. B. P. Saxena Ph. D., Allahabad University 

35. Kunwar Jasbir Singh, Dy. Commissioner, Lucknow 

36. Dr. Pyare Lai Srivastava D. Phil., Allahabad University 

37. Hon’ble Babu Purshottam Das Tandon, Speaker, U. P. Legislative 

Assembly 

38. Mr. Nand Kishore Arora, Inspector of Stamps, Allahabad 

39. Mr. Mohan Lai Sah, M. L. A., Almora 

40. Mr. S. P. Shah, I. C. S., Secretaiy, U. P. Govt. 

41. Mr. Haris!)war Dayal, I. C. S., Bhagalpur 

42. Mr. Himmat Singh K. Maheshwari, President, Court of Wards, U. P. 

43. Prof. S. K. Rudra, Allahabad University 

44. Mr. K, C. Chattopadhyaya, Allahabad University 

45. Mr. Rajeshwar Dayal, I. C. S,, Karwi 

46. Dr, R. P. Tripathi, D. Sc., Allahabad University 

47. Mr. K. K. Bhattacharya, Allahabad University 

48. Dr. Abdus Sattar Siddiqi, Ph. D., Allahabad University 

49. Sir Shah Mohammad Sulaiman, Judge, Federal Court, Delhi 
50. Mr. Brij Chand Sharma, Muttra 

51. Pt. Mohan Lai Nehru, Allahabad 

52. Dr. D. K. Bhattacharya, D. Sc., Allahabad University 

53. Prof. Parinanand, Allahabad University 
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54. Mr. S. K. Dar, Advocate, Allahabad 

55. Dr. M. H. Syed, D. Litt-, Allahabad University 

56. Mr. A. C. Makerji, Allahabad University 

57. Dr. L. D. Joshi, LL. D., Registrar, High Court, Allahabad 

58. Pt. Daya Shanker Dube, Allahabad University 

59. Lt. Raja Durga Narain Singh, Tirwa 

60. Capt. Rao Krishna Pal Singh, Awagadh 

61. Raja Ajit Pratap Singh Ji, Pratapgarh 

62. Dr. Dhirendra Varma, D. L>itt., Allahabad University 

63. Mr. B. Malik, Bar-at*Law, Advocate, Allahabad 

64. Mr. Sanker Saran, Bar>at>law, Advocate, Allahabad 

65. Dr. Mohammad Waliullah, Bar-at-Law, Govt. Advocate, Allahabad 

66. Mr. Gokal Chand, Principal, K. P. College, Allahabad 

67. Hon'ble Mr. Justice Mohammad Ismail, High Court, Allahabad 
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PROCEEDINGS 

OF THE 

II^DIAIW IIISTOIIY C ONGRESS, 

ALI.AHABAO. lOOtt. 

WELCOME ADDRESS. 

Sir Digby Livingstone Drake-Brockmann, Kt., C.S.I., C.I.E., 
Chairman, Reception Committee. 

^V)UK HIGHNICSS, IwADII'.S AND CiliNTLEMEN, 

On behalf of the Reception Committee of the Second All-India 
History Congress I tender you a cordial welcome to Allahabad. 

It is a source of great graliheation to us, and I am sure it will be 
to vou, th:it His Highness the Maharaja of Benares has consented to 
come today to ojxin the Congress. No apixial for the advancement of 
worthy ends is ever made to His Highness in vain ; and the present case 
was no exception to the rule. I'or he was one of the Hrst to extend to 
us his support. So I am sure you will agree that it is only fitting that 
he should open our pnxieedings. We had hojxjd that the 1 lon’ble the 

Premier would be able to snatch a few hours from a busy life to honour 
us with his pre.sence ; but I regret to say that he found himself unable 
to spare the time. We have, how^ever, wdth us the Hon’ble Minister for 

Education, who has been good enough to oj^xm the small exhibition of 
i)bjects of historical interest which we have been able to collect for your 
edification, and we are more than grateful to him that he should have 
consented to spare the time from his onerous duties to give us this 
encouragement. On behalf of the Committee 1 tender them both our 

siucerest thanks. Then there are all those who have preixvred jxijjers 
to be read or discussed and w^ho have come in some cases long distance 
to Ixj present. On behalf of the Committee and my own behalf I thank 
them all for the sacrifices they have made in time and mone\-. \Ve 
hwpe that before they leave again they w'ill be convinced that the cause 
was not unworthy of the sacrifice. Lastly there are all those who have 
shewn their interest in our proceedings by generousI\- contributing 
tow'ards our expenses. Without their help and encouragement^ve would 
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liot have been able to achieve anything; and while we regret the absence 

of those who have been unable to come we desire to express our most 

grateful thanks to them all. 

This ancient place which was a site of Hindu pilgrimage long 

before it became a place of |X)litical importance under Mughal rule and 

got its present name, is a not unworthy centre for such a function as the 

present one. Though it can no longer claim to be the political capital of 

the United Provinces, Allahabad does claim, and not without justification, 

to be the intellectual capital of the province. For it is the seat of 

one of the oldest established, largest and best ecjuipj)ed Universities in 

India ; and has a tradition of historical learning which is second to that 

of no other place with the possible exception of Calcutta. Tht; History 

Department, started in 1916 with Mr. Kushbrook Williams as its first 

Professor, was amalgamated with the University in 1920, Doctor, now 

Sir Shafaat Ahmad Khan (happily still with us), succeeding as Professor. 

Though the department specialises in the history of the Delhi .Sultanate 

and the Mughals, this by no means covers the whole field of its activities. 

It has a large staff of able and distinguished scholars who are in the front 

line of research and authorship in all branches of the subject. 

Ladies and Gentlemen, 1 cannot myself claim to be an expert in 

Indian History. I can only claim to have always been interested in it ; 

and at one time to have done some research work in odd corners of the 

province on subjects of interest to its past. But the graduallx increasing 

pressure of official duties left, I found, little time for such matters ; and 

though my interest remained, my ability to d(j anything concrete 

decreased till it reached vanishing point; and now, when 1 find myself 

with some occasional leisure, I feel—alas—that it is too late to begin again. 

In the circumstances it may appear presumptuous in me to stand here 

today among so many distinguished scholars as Chairman of the Working 

Committee of such a Conference ; but it was impossible to refuse the 

honour implied in the generous invitation of friends to replace Pandit 

Iqbal Narayan Gurtu, our late Vice-Chancellor, w'ho finally found himself 

unable to be Chairman of the Working Committee ; and so it comes 

about that I am here welcoming you today. I am afraid my experience 

has been that of many other Englishmen who have C(^me to Indiw* in 

service and I think you will agree with me that it is a great misfortune 

that it should be so. For Europeans were in some respects the [)ioneers 

in the work of unravellipg the past history of India and' disclosing, not 
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only to Indians themselves but the world the greatness of its culture and 

civilization. At the present day the number of Europeans who have 

made a contribution to the subject of Indian History can he counted 

almost on the fingers of one hand, though there are still some in England. 

I can only hope that soiikj at least of the younger generation will turn 

again to these pursuits, without a study of which the peoples of the land 

of their adoption cannot be fully understood ; and that future meetings 

of this Congress will find more Europeans participating in them. Apart 

from this, these conferences are common ground on which persons of all 

castes and creeds and nationalities can meet for the advancement of 

learning and for the encouragement of the spirit of research ; and their 

value as a unifying influence, especially in a countiy where more than 

the usual number of cleavages of opinion exist, is not to be despised. 

Ladies and Gentlemen, I do not think that more is now called for 

from mo. The delegates will doubtless be anxious to proceed to the real 

business of the C<>ngr(!ss, the reading of papers and discussions thereon. 

But 1 have to draw attention to one point. The All-India History 

Congress is still young and has not yet determined its constitution. A 

sub-committee was ap[)ointed at the first session at Poona to report on 

the subject and to place its report before the next Congress at Allahabad. 

This report remains to be discussed. Something in the nature of a 

permanent organization f(M‘ history such as exists for oriental studies, 

economics, philosophy, science and so forth appears to be required. It 

is hoped that an attempt will be made on the occasion of this Congress 

to devise means of uniting the scattered forces working all over India 

and^orming a representative association for the study and for students 

of histoiy. It is also proposed to discuss problems relating to conditions 

of work and facilities for historical research. Suggestions and proposals 

and recommendations have been invited on these points; and will come 

under consideration. Before concluding, I wish to thank both on your 

behalf and my own all those members of the Working Committee on 

whom has fallen the burden of making the necessary arrangements for 

both the exhibition and the Congress. They have ungrudgingly s<acrificed 

much time and spared no pains to make your temporary’ sojourn 

here comfortable and your time interesting. Their only’ reward will lx? 

your grateful thanks, which I now offer them both on my’ own behalf 

and yours. Extending once more to you all a hearty welcome, I will 

now ask His Highness to open the Congress, 
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INAUGURAL ADDRESS : 

His Highness the Maharaja of Benares. 

Mr. Chairman, Mf.mbkrs oi' thk Indian History Conc.rkss, 

L vniFS AND centlemkn, 

I tliiink you very much for the honour you have done me by 

asking me to inaugurate this second session of the Indian I listory Congress. 

At first I felt rather diffident about accepting your kind offer knowing 

that there were available so many eminent historians and learned men 

from among whom a choice could be made of a person much better 

fitted than I for performing the inauguration ceremony. But :it the 

same time I felt that it would be very ungrateful on my part to refu.se 

the offer and that in view of m\' being the reprosentalive of a Ruling 

House which has played its part, however small, on the stage of Indian 

History it was perhaps not quite unbefitting that I should associate 

myself in this way with the activities of the Indian History Congress. 

It is no doubt in the fitness of things that .\llahabad, which is the ancient 

Prayag and which is so rich in historical associations both ancient and 

modern, should be the veiwe of the second session of the All-India 

History Congress. 

Members of the Congress—It is not for me to deliver a learned 

discourse on the need and value of historical study and research but even 

to a casual obser\'er like myself it is apparent that India provitjes a 

v’ast and rich field for historical research. Its history has been a long 

and varied one, but who can say that it has yet been fully explored 

and recorded. India has produced some eminent historians who have 

dealt with the various periods of its history but there still remain perio<ls 

which are quite obscure. Leaving alone the ancient and mediaeval 

periods and coming to modern times, do we really know enough, for 

instance, about the history of the country during the eighteenth century 

when the Moghul Empire was breaking up and when, besides the 

struggle for supremacy between the different Euroiiean powers, bold 

adventurers and soldiers of fortune came to the front and had their 

day ? Of late, archfpology has made great strides and laid bare to 

some extent the story of, the buried past. The science of nuthismati^s 
I 
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is another handmaid of history’ while Government official records 

sometimes supply valuable historical material. A godcl deal of historical 

information also lies hidden in old manuscripts, local chronicles and 

even in country ballads and folklore. The keen historian cannf)t afford 

to despise any of these or other sources of information and it is for him to 

sift, sort and reconstruct what he can gather. 

There is also urf^ent need of a deep and critical study of Indian 

History at the present <lay, when India stands on the threshhold of 

momentous chan<^es in its political history, rrescnt day politics cannot 

be divorced from a study of history, ft is hut a truism to say that the 

present is the outcome of the past and that it will in its turn shajxi the 

future. One broad fact stands out on a readin<* of Indian history. From 

the days of Asoka and Chandraijupta down to comparatively recent 

times, whenever the Central Authorit\- broke down or weakened, chaos 

and anarchy were the almost invariable result. Let us bear this lesson 

of history in mind and let us all hope that this Congress will lead to a 

better knowlcd<>:c and understanding of the history of our threat country. 

Ladies and gentlemen, 1 shall not detain you any lonyei'. I have 

much pleasure in declaring the second session of the Indian Histoiy 

Congress open and I wish it all success in its deliberations. 

MESSAGES. 

/. "Pn\'tt/e Secret a rtf h ‘^/s "(Fxccllcncjf ihc Vkcrvij :— 

His Excellency is very much interested to hear that the Indian 

Histoi)- Congress will presently enter upon their second session, and he 

takes this opportunity of wishing the Congress everj'^ success. He feels 

sure that their labours will contribute to the advancement of the science 

of history in India. 

2. ’75if3 V^xcellency ihe '^exvrner, (1. "P.;— 

It is most fitting that the historic city of Allahabad, the meeting 

place of the great rivers of Hindustan with the legendary goddess of 

learning, has been chosen as the centre for the meeting of the second 

Indian History Congress, and that we in these United Provinces have 

the opportunity to welconae here the many distinguished scholars who 
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are expected to participate in it. Those Provinces, at all periods of 

history, from the earliest days upto now, have been intimateK" connected 

with the most significant events and movements of thought in this vast 

country, and are thus i-)erhaps peculiarly fitted for promoting the coor¬ 

dination of thought and knowledge about the history of India. There 

was a time when Indian history seemed to consist of isolated events and 

disconnected periods. I take it that the progress of modern stud\' is a 

progress towards a more complete and more comprehensive view of the 

various aspects of Indian history, and I trust that this meeting here at 

Allahabad will give an impetus to that process. Of recent years historical 

scholarship and research have been making notable advances. Our 

knowledge of early Indian history is being greatly enriched by materials 

supplied by archa'ological discoveries. I hope that the work now in 

progress at Kausambi, to which a visit has been arranged for the 

Conference, will add substantially to the knowledge of the history of this 

region and of the great kingdom of Kosala. The lessons of history and 

the study of origins are an indispensable foundation to th(' proper 

understanding of many of our present-day problems, and I feel sure that 

the work of this Conference will provide a valuable stimulus to the further 

growth of authoritative, independent and comprehensive learning on 

every aspect of Indian history. 

rl. 'Oir, y'xcc//ciici/ ihe ^9veriicr, 'Punjah - 

I am pleased to hear that a second session of tlu' Indian Ilistorv- 

Congress is to be held at Allahabad. Indian history affords one of the 

most fruitful fields of research, and I trust that the collaboration of 

historical scholars from all parts of the country will lead both to a positive 

increase of human knowledge and to an enhancement of India’s reputation 

in the world of letters and learning. I notice with interest that 

Mr. Sita Ram Kohli, who has done valuable work on the Government 

records at Lahore, is to be one of the Sectional Presidents, and that 

the present Keeper of our Records and his Assistant are to attend as 

representatives of the Punjab Government. I send my best wishes for 

the success of the Congress. 

4. (ihe hh ihc 'Premier, r/. p. 

Regret inability attend History Congress session. Government 

have sanctioned grant of Rupees five hundred for expenses, • 

I 
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Sir 'WCirxd <'Jsmail, ~Dcivatt of 'fitysore :•— 

I regret very much that it will not be possible for me to attend 

the Congress on account of my pressing engagements here. I shall, 

therefore, content myself with conveying my greetings and good wishes 

to the Congress for a very successful and useful session. 

6. PanJU "fltatlan iKohan JilciUa'iijii, 7) cnurct- 'Oiniln Cliiivcrailij — 

Thanks invitation. Regret inability attend. Wish the Congress 
success in its objects. 

K iytjit Saheh oJ 'Bhor—■ 

I very much appreciate the labours of eminent historians like your 

ownself in the interests of Indian History, the need in coimecLiun with 

which of all well-known Historians coming together and collaborating to 

achieve the same end can never Ixi too much emphasized. I wish the 

Historical Congress every and full success. 

<?. (Jhc 'Prc&iJcui, 7\i>rn (histitnie. JfcyJvt. OcllauJ;— 

The President and Committee of the Kern Institute send greetings 

to the Congress of Indian History assembled at .\llahabad with their 

best wishes for the success of the i)roceeclings and discussions. 

Panuil lioruyaii '\Oiirlii, i'ice-k'liaiicellor (on L'<n'c}, CtllttliiihaJ 

Onb'crrJiy .- 

ivegret inability to attend. Please convey to delegates assembled 

my ct)rdial greetings. Wishing Conference every success. 

/u i^rofcosor P. V. 7\ober(s, iC'crccaier Vc/lcyc, Ox/crJ:— 

I am very sorry that I am unable to lx; present, partly owing to 

my duties at (Oxford, next term beginning on October 3th, partly for 

reasons of health which would jrrevent me making the journey. 

Any message from me to the Congress I think ought mainly to l)e 

one of gratitude. I feel that Indians have always been extremely kind 

and generous to the little work 1 have been able to do in the Held of 

Indian history. Their criticisms have been most helpful and kindly ami 

their appreciatimi warm and sympathetic. 

Apart from this, 1 think that the r.ipidlx increasing output of 

historical work in India is of the highest \alue and importance. 1 

Welcome the great enthusiasm in all the Indian Hniv(;rsiiies for historical 

studies, and the sound scicntilic methods t)f research, which you yourself 



Sir, if I may say so, have done so much-to jMtJmote. I believe that 

researchers have made and are making important discoveries which will 

revise many of the old verdicts of history^ or if they do not modify them, 

will establish those verdicts on a firmer basis of proof. 

I wish every success to the Congress, and a fruitful issue to its 

labours. I do not doubt that this second session will prove a still further 

incentive to Indian Scholars and writei's to carry on the fine work they 

have already achieved in that fascinating field of study—the marvellously * 

varied history of India and her peoples. 

//. '"Prcjcsaer '/? Cr. '/\. Si.^jchn’n "Allege, Oxjcrt/:— 

I have to thank you \ery cordially for your invitation to attend the 

Indian History Congress at .\llahabad, and not only for the invitation, 

but also for the very kind terms in which it is expressed. It would 

have been indeed a pleasure to take advantage of the Congress to realize 

a long-cherished hope, to meet again the many friends whom I am 

privileged to number in India, and to make the personal acquaintance 

of many others whose work is well known to me. I trust that before 

long fortune will grant me the o{)|)ortunity that has been withheld so 

far. But though I am unable to join personally in your meetings next 

month, will you please convey to the President and mcmlxirs my warm 

wishes for the success of the Congress in stimulating the valuable work 

which is being done in India for the scientific study of Indian History ? 

/2, 'flan'ab (tafflain 'JamrJicJ CfU J^/ian, 'M. 'S. (f, cf'B'Ufpai Ulccmt:— 

We are lucky in having this session of the C'ongress in our 

Province. Such literary gatherings are of great value. I am sure it 

will be a unique occasion for the students of the Indian HisUay. It is 

the past History which plays a most imjx)rtant part in forming the 

character of young India. 

Tlie Keception Committee and its Chairman deserve congratulations 

for the Venture, 

Wishing every success to the Congress. 

13, QeUt Padampai QiHgItania, iJt, £. %aiii>np6rv .•»— 

Under the patronage of His Hightiess the Mabarajah of Benares 
and co-qperation of eminent scholars d our country, it is bound to be a 
unique success, and you have my best wisbi^ for the same. Your ideals 

are veiy jMaisewert^y lind need aJl support fKHW cwr country-men, '<• 



SIRDIGBY L. DRAKE-BROCKMANN 

Chairman Reception Committee 



Dr. D. R. BHANDARKAR M. A., PH. D. 

President 
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PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS 

Dr. D. R. Bhandarkar, M. A., Ph. D. 
The President of a Conference generally commences his address 

by saying how unfit he is for the heavy burden thrown upon his slender 

shoulders and devoutly wishing that- the choice of the Working 

Committee might have fallen upon a much abler person. I hope I shall be 

pardoned for opening this address by congratulating myself on being the 

President, not of the ‘All India Modern History Congress’, but rather 

of ‘The Indian History Congress'. My predecessor. Sir Shafaat Ahmad 

Khan, sang the ‘Prasasti’ of the people of Maharashtra when he admired 

the wonderful manner in which intellect and character are ‘happily 

blended and poised’ in them. I do not know how far those people 

deserve this encomium. As you may perhaps be aware, this Congress 

was originated by the ‘Itihasa-samsodhak Mandal’ of Poona and prin¬ 

cipally with the unflagging and disinterested efforts of Prof. D. V. Potdar; 

and we can never be too grateful to them. Nevertheless I, a native 

of Maharashtra, can never praise too much the Knight-Bachelor 

of Rohilkhand, and, above all, the University of Allahabad to which he 

belongs, for having changed the name of this Congress, and christened 

it afresh. We cannot cut up history into little bits, and say: this is 

ancient history, that is modern history. The central doctrine of the 

great Oxford Professor Freeman’s teaching was the Unity of History. 

He rightly pointed out that from early Greece to the Roman Empire, 

from Imperial Rome to mediaeval and modern Europe, there was no 

break. And he rendered immense service to historical thinking and 

teaching by his emphasis t)n this continuity. For the same reason we 

cannot divide the History of India, as we do, into the three water-tight 

compartments, namely, the Hindu Period, the Muhammadan Period and 

the British Period. Nothing can be more absurd. In the first place, 

they should be either Hindu, Muhammadan and Christian, or Ancient, 

MedijBval and Modern. The first is a communal division of Indian 

History and should be banished from all history books for ever. The 

second classification may be resorted to for convenience of study, 

especially for the study of culture. But it should invariably be borne 

in mind that although in the world of thought there may be a temporary' 

division of history for the sake of specialisation, in the world of action 

History ought to be treated as having a continuous sequence, This is, 

2 
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in fact, the basic idea of History, as any student of historiography will 
tell us. We may thus have the All-India Oriental Conference for the 
study of the culture of Ancient India. We may similarly hold any 
number of sessions of the Indian Historical Records Commission for a 
separate and detailed study of the progress of [X)litical movements and 
the conflict of principles that are moulding and have moulded Modern 
India. But if we are going to have any History Conference for India 
at all, let us have, not ‘The All India Ancient or Modern History 

Congress’, but simply ‘Indian History Congress’ so as to acknowledge 
and vouchsafe the continuous flow of history. 

Ladies and Gentlemen, when I agreed to preside over this 
Congress, the address of my predecessor was not before me. It came to 
hand two months after. When I read it, I found I do not know, whether 

to my regret or to my joy, that he had left practically nothing to his 
successor to say about the Mediaeval or the Modern Period of Indian 
History. On the other hand, I find that the sphere of this History has 

been extended so as to include Ancient India. So, in a way, whether I 
like it or not, I am compelled to fall upon Ancient India. Far be it 
from me, however, to tread upon the heels of either Dewan Bahadur 
Dr. S. Krishnaswamy lyangar who has dispelled the illusion that “North 
India and North India alone has been the most potent factor in the 
growth and expansion of Indian Culture’’ in all its varied manifestations 

or Rao Bahadur K. N. Dikshit whose all-sided activity in the Archaeo¬ 
logical Department gives a clear promise of his proving to be the most 

worthy successor of Sir John Marshall, father of scientific Archaeology 
in India. A scholar gypsy that I am, I will make every endeavour to 
steer clear of both Scylla and Charybdis—the Dewan Bahadur and the 

Rao Bahadur. 
I am told that the President of a Congress like this is expected to 

give a resume of the work done during the last three years in the various 
sections of the history of India. But even here I find that there is 
hardly anything left for me to do, because it was only in December last 

that first a meeting was held of the members of the Indian Historical 
Records Commission at Lahore, and, later, the ninth session of the All- 
India Oriental Conference at Trivandrum. About the beginning of 

January following came off the Jubilee celebration of the Science Cong¬ 
ress at Calcutta, in connection wherewith Rao Bahadur Dikshit described 
the “Progress of Archaeology in India during the past twenty-five yeaw;** 
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A full account of the research carried out by the workers in 

the different fields of History will thus be published in the Proceed¬ 

ings of these Congresses. And certainly the President of this august 

body is not expected to indulge in what the Sanskrit Pandits call 

cttarMa-charoana, ‘chewing what has already been chewed.’ Of course, 

some further progress must have been achieved between December 

1937 and October 1938. But this is just what the Presidents of the 

different Sections of this Congress are expected to pass in review. And 

it is not perhaps the legitimate duty of the General President to trespass 

on the domains of his more learned colleagues. I am also told that the 

President of such a Congress should mention at least the names of those 

scholars and historians who in his opinion have done excellent work. I 

am afraid what happened to the President of the History Section of the 

twenty-first session of the Bangiya-Sahitya-sammilana held the other 

day at Krishnanagar will happen to me, and this humble address of mine 

will be threatened with a formidable encumbrance of addenda and 

corrigenda. I shall therefore turn to an entirely different subject, where 

I shall cause no heart-burning, and indulge in no overlapping and 

duplication of statement. 

More than fifty years ago the history of Ancient India was practi¬ 

cally a blank. Kven the dry bones of this history could not be traced. 

And our friends in the opposite camp often quoted against us the carping 

criticism of .^Iberoni, the contemporary and protege of Mahmud of 

Ghazna. “Unfortunately”, says this Arab Sanskritist and scholar in one 

place, “the Hindus do not pay much attention to the historical order of 

things, they are very careless in relating the chronological succession of 

their kings, and*when they are pressed for information and are at a 

loss, not knowing what to say, they invariably take to tale-tellings." 

Perhaps these remarks of Alberuni had some justification when he was 

in India and when the culture and civilisation of this country were 

almost at their lowest ebb. But to say or to imply that prior to the 

mediaeval period the Indians never had any historic sense whatsoever 

is the height of absurdity, opposed to all fact. In ancient times both 

Itihasa and Purapa denoted history. How the two were differentiated 

exactly one from the other we do not know. Certain it is that both 

Itihasa and Purapa are mentioned together in jiassages from the Vedic 

literature, sometimes in two separate words and sometimes in one 

compound word, but almost always associated with Gathas, Nara^msis, 
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Vidyas, Vakovakyas and even Upanishads which were all subjects of 

serious study at that ancient period. In the later part of this period, 

the importance of Itihasa preponderated over that of Purana. We 

thus find emerging a school of Aitihasikas or Historians who are placed 

on the same footing as the Nairuktas or Etymologists, the Vaiyakarapas 

or Grammarians and even the Parivrajakas or Wanderers, as anybody 

who has studied Yaska’s Nirukta knows. But here the question arises; 

What does Itihasa mean and how is it distinguished from the Purapa ? 

Of course, the significations given by the Amarakosa of these terms 

have been generally accepted. Thus Itihasa has been explained by 

‘puravritta,’ ‘a record of past events,’ in other words ‘history’. Purana 

is similarly explained as ‘possessed of five characteristics,’ namely, ‘sarga’ 

‘original creation,’ ‘pratisarga’ ‘dissolution’ and recreation,’ ‘vamsa’ ‘divine 

genealogies,’ manvantara’ ‘Ages of Manus,’ and ‘bhumyades samstha- 

nam’ ‘world geography.’ This is how Purapa was understood when 

Amarasimha compiled his lexicon, that is in the fifth century A. D. 

Then Purapa was suppressing and i)reponderating over Itihasji. This 

may be seen from the fact that one component of Purapa then 

was ‘vamsci’ which originally signified genealogies of gods only 

but now included those of kings also and thus formed an essential 

feature of Itihasa. If any proof is at all required in support of this 

proposition, one has only to wade through the genealogical lists set forth 

in Purapas. The compilers of these works are not always sure of their 

own grounds and often refer to the original authorities themselves. 

Thus in regard to the Paurava-vamsa or dynasty we meet with the 

statement atr—anuvam^-sloko—yam gito viprail.i puravidaih,’ showing 

clearly that the class of men who composed the genealogies were called 

Puravid and that to such a Puravid or Historian was indebted the writer 

who inserted the account of the Paurava faimly in the Purapas. It 

further seems that this element of royal ‘vam^a’ was not originally 

germane to Purapa, but was adopted from Itihasa or the work of the 

Puravids, just as some features of Political Science were in the fifth 

century A. D. incorporated into Dharma from Artha^stra. The halcyon 

days, however, for Itihasa or History were those from the time of Yaska 

to Kautalya, We have already pointed out that the school of history, 

or Aitihasikas, had already sprung up in the time of Yaska. And we may 

now note that the domain of Itihasa had become both extensive and 

compact in the time of K|utalya. Thusin regard to the • education^ of 
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a prince, he shall listen, says Kautalya, to the lectures on Itihasa evey 

afternoon. But what is this Itihasa ? It includes, we are expressly told, 

six different subjects, namely, Puraija, Itivritta, Akhyayika, Udaharaija, 

DharmaSastra and Artha^stra. Of these we have seen what Purapa 

is. It originally dealt with cosmogony, cosmology and divine pedigrees. 

Itivritta most probably denoted dynastic chronicles. In fact, both Itivritta 

and Purapa have been recommended by Kautalya in one place to a 

minister as the means by which he should bring back a misguided king to 

the right path. This brings us to the fourth component of Itihasa, namely 

Udaharapa, which are instances of rulers coming to grief through 

inebriation, infatuation or overconfiding nature. These instances have 

been cited not only by Kautalya in his Arthasastra and Vatsyayana in 

his Kamasotra but also by Bapa in his Harshacharita ; and for these 

instances they must have drawn freely upon Itivritta and Purana. This 

view ascribes to history at best the function of teaching rulers and 

statesmen by analogy, at worst the duty of moral edification. In fact, 

this Udaharapa which forms an important section of history according 

to Kautalya reminds us of what Thucydides and Polybius held, namely, 

that history might be a guide for good conduct, as containing examples 

and warnings for statesmen. And history, in fact, was generally held 

in Greece and at Rome as a store-house of concrete instances to illustrate 

political and ethical maxims. “Cicero called history in this sense 

Magistra Vitae and Dionysius designated it ‘Philosophy by examples’.” 

But this is not all, because according to Kautalya, the most important 

components of history are Dharmasastra or law and Artha&istra or 

Political Science. Law, Political Science, or both are so frequently 

associated with History in the curriculum of modern Universities that 

we are surprised that Kautalya should have made these subjects an 

integral part of a course of study prescribed for a student-prince. If there 

is any kind of patriotic bias in this interpretation of Kautalya’s view, 

let some critical scholar come forward and point out to us what Kautalya 

meant when he insisted upon the study of Dharma and Artha&istra 

for a: critical and thorough mastery of History. Common-sense also 

tells us that this curriculum for history laid down for the prince is just 

what is required to make him an intelligent and efficient ruler. He 

cannot possibly do without Dharma or Artha&istra. “Politics” says Sir 

John Seeley, “are vulgar when they are not liberalised by history', and 

history fades into mere literature when it loses sif^ht of its relation tp 
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practical politics." Nay, ‘‘the science of politics,” says Lord Acton “is 

the one science that is deposited by the stream of history, like grains of 

gold in the sand of a river...” It is therefore perfectly intelligible why 

so much stress should be laid upon the inclusion of Law and Political 

Science in the syllabus of history recommended for the education of a 

student-prince. 

When such was the high conception of History in the third 

century B. C., all the studies ancillary to it must have always been kept 

alive and developed, as we can easily infer from a critical examination 

of epigraphic and other records. We have thus pedigree and successions 

which have evidently been a national charateristic for many centuries. 

The pattavalis or successions of pontiffs are too well-known among the 

Jainas to require any mention. As regards the Vam^valis, we trace a 

clear and distinct use of them in the records of the Eastern Gartgas of 

Kalinga, which give details about these kings from about A. D. 890, 

and two of which give even coronation dates for two of these rulers. 

The same is the case with the grants of the Eastern Chalukyas, the 

introductory passages of which name the successive kings, beginning with 

the founder of the line who reigned three centuries prior and putting 

forward the length of the reign of each of them. Varhsavalis were thus 

current at all times from one end of the country to the other. But 

there must have been more ample materials in Ancient India than these 

pedigrees and succession lists. With the advance towards civilisation 

which India had made even in the fourth century B. C., with the almost 

elaborate routine of modern times which she had then devised, as is 

evident from a critical study of Artha&lstra, there must have been, from 

early times, a fairly extensive system of official records. Notes on all 

important political, feudal, administrative and revenue matters must 

have been preserved in some form or other, in all the various offices. 

In all likelihood, they were kept in the shape of general day-books, not 

unlike the Diaries of the Peshwas. How else can we account for the 

manner in which even the regnal days have been specified in certain 

inscriptions? Thus we have a record which cites the 124th and 143rd 

day of the 24th year of the reign of the Chola king Rajaraja I. ruling 

at Tanjavur; and another dated Baka 1045 which cites the 340th day of 

the 5th regnal year of his descendant Vikrama Cho}adeva. Nay, there 

is evidence that dynastic archives and chronicles were also in existence. 

Here we shall give one instance only, namely, the Chalukyas of th<^ 
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Deccan. There were two royal families of this name. The earlier, 

the Chalukyas of Vatapi, ruled from A. D. 550 to 755, and the later, 

the Chalukyas of Kalyapi, from A. D. 973 to 1189. They were separa¬ 

ted by an interval of more than two centuries, during which an extraneous 

dynasty, namely the Rashtrakotas of Manyakheta, possessed sovereignty. 

Now there is a copper-plate charter found at Kauthem and dated S^aka 

930 A. D. 1009, which sets forth the genealogy not only of the later 

but also of the earlier Chalukyas and further describes the conquests 

standing to the credit of every king showing that it could not have used 

mere succession lists. Above all, this Kauthem charter speaks of 

MaUgall^ who was a ruler of the earlier line and not even in the direct 

line of descent. It speaks not only of his capturing Revatidvipa and 

vanquishing the Kalachuris, but, what is of greater importance, in a way 

seeks to explain away his attempt to usurp the Chalukya throne bj' 

representing him as simply a regent during the minority of his elder 

brother’s son, Pulakesin II, to whom, it says, he ultimately had to restore 

the throne. The question that now arises is : how could the officer who 

drafted the Kauthem charter know about the military achievements of the 

earlier Chalukyas separated from him by upwards of two hundred years, 

and, above all, refer to the attempt of Mangalisa to break the direct and 

rightful succession—an event which must have taken place nearly four 

hundred years prior to the date of the grant. The Kauthem Plates 

are not the only grant of this kind. There are others such e. g, as the 

Kharepatan Plates of the S^ilahara Rattaraja of Southern Konkan, dated 

A. D. 1008 in the reign of the later Chalukya Irivabedaftga SatyaSraya, 

which distinctly indicate the compilation and survival of dynastic 

chronicles not only of any ruling family and its earlier branches but 

also of the paramount dynasties to whom they owed fealty. The pity 

of it is that no such dynastic chronicle has survived to the present 

times. But that such chronicles were drawn up originally is certain, 

as has been just pointed out. It is also certain that these chronicles 

were utilised to draw up the history, not merely of any province but 

of the greater portion of India as any body can convince himself by 

a critical study of the dynastic lists comprised in the earlier Purapas. 

There we find lists of successive kings, of both Indigenous and foreign 

origin, whose rule was not confined merely to North India but also spread 

over South India. But here also the pity of it is that the Puranic lists 

come to a-dead atop with the advent of the Guptas to power, because 
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from this time onwards the PurSpas became completely sectarian, in 

character. Whether at any time we can light upon old dynastic 

chronicles of undoubted historic veracity or upon any history of India 

based upon them is more than we can say at present. The dramas 

of Bhasa and the Artha^astra of Kautalya had for a long time remained 

hidden from modern eyes until they were discovered not many years ago. 

Let us hope that not before long the discovery of some of them will 

be announced from the domicile of Agasti. 

It is not however true that no history at all is known to us based 

upon the utilisation of dynastic archives and chronicles. There is 

hardly any body in this august Hall of learning who has not heard 

of Kalharia and his Rajatarangipi, just recently but critically translated 

by Mr. R, S. Pandit so as to suit the modern age where new facts 

have become available and old facts interpreted anew. It is true that 

this is a chronicle for Kashmir only, not for India as a whole. 

Nevertheless, it is a history in the true .sense of the term. Now just 

consider what Kalharia says about the previous works that he consulted 

on the subject. “Eleven works of former scholars”, says he, “containing 

the chronicles of the kings have I scrutinised as well as views of the sage 

Nila.” But he never treats them as “apta-vakya”, but brings his critical 

faculty to bear upon them. Thus about Suvrata he says that though 

his abridgment of the royal chronicles of Kashmir has obtained 

celebrity, his exposition of the subject-matter has been impaired through 

the fault of pedantry. Similar remarks he passes about the works 

of his predecessors. Above all, “by the examination of the charters 

of the former kings,” continues Kalhana, “relating to the consecration 

of temples, the laudatory tablets and {fhe colophons) of works, all 

depression of spirit arising from errors has been set at rest.” Kalhapa 

thus utilised not only the chronicles but also copperplates and 

inscriptions like a modern archeologist in the reconstruction of the 

history of Kashmir. We thus see much to our chagrin that the 

reconstruction of the history of Ancient India began, not with R. G. 

Bhandarkar and J. F. Fleet in the nineteenth century, but with the 

Kashmir! pandit, Kalhaqa, in the twelfth. Again, in the introductory 

portion of his work there are two or three verses which are of supreme 

importance even to the historian of the modern age. “Who else are 

capable,” says Kalhana, “of making the bygone age vivid to the eye, 

barring thC'poets resembling Prajapatis, (l:wth) being adepts in lovely 
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existences which he is about to reveal to all (men), what other indication 

would there be of the divine perception of the poet ?” In other words, 

the historian must be a poet-seer, if he is to discharge his duty faithfully. 

This reminds us of what Prof. J. P. Mahaffy said years ago: “Sober 

men then made the mistake which sober men do now; they imagined 

that if we could only ascertain the bare facts, we should have before 

us the true history of the past. Such a notion is chimerical; unless 

we have living men reproduced with their passions and the logic of 

their feeling, we have no real human history. The historical novel 

gives a far closer approximation to the whole truth than the 

chronological table." Let us now briefly consider the standard which 

Kalhaga has set to himself. 1 translate the verse in the inimitable 

language of Mr. Pandit: “That man of merit, alone, deserves 

praise whose language, like, that of a judge, in recounting the events 

of the past has discarded bias as well as prejudice.” How far 

Kalhapa has fulfilled the sacred duty of the historian, let Sir 

Aurel Stein, who is a non-Indian, speak : “He (Kalhana) does not hide 

from us the errors and weaknes^ of the king under whom he wrote. 

The undisguised manner in which he often chastises the conduct of 

those holding influential positions in his own time, makes us occasionally 

wonder whether he could ever have intended to give full publicity to his 

narrative in his own days....We have seen that Kalhana had personally 

good reason to feel grateful to his ruler (Harsha) whose favour had 

raised his family to high office and influence. Yet he dwells at length 

on all those evil qualities and acts of the king which had made his reign 

so baneful for the land... ” Can the tribute of any non-Indian savant be 

greater and more genuine to the impartial and independent character of 

Kalhapa as a historian ? Can we say the same thing in regard to any 

one of the chroniclers and narrators of the mediaeval period ? We have 

no doubt a galaxy of historians, such as Nizam-ud-Din Abmad, Minhaj- 

i-Siraj Juzjani, Abul Fazl and so forth. But are they not court historians 

who exalted their patrons to a degree beyond all recognition ? This 

point has already been so beautifully dilated upon by Sir Shafaat in bis 

address that I need say nothing furUier on it. Still it must be said to 

the credit of the Muhammadan historians that they first conceived and 

executed the idea of writir^ out the (ktailed history of the whole of 

Inffia. What would have- been our knowledge of the mediaeval period 

3 
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^ India i£ we had not befor-e .excellent histories as Tabaqatut 
Akba^:.Xari)d2>i-EaFkhta.and Maasir>i>Rahitni ? There was also one 
Ustorian amongst them noted for his inq>artiality and intrepidity, namely 
Ziya^ud^Din Barpi, author of Tarikh-i-Firoz Shahi. But it cannot be 
denied that the historic^raphy of the mediseval period has as a whole been 
disfigured by adulation, and that consequently the royal memoirs afford 
a most welcome relief. Not obliged to court any men’s favour, the 
emperors speak fearlessly about a contemporaneous event or even about 
their , own fault or that of their, ancestor. As has been remarked by 

Beveridge, “the royal authors of the East had more blood in them than 
those kings whose works have been catalogued by Horace Walpole,”. 

It will thus be seen that the historic sense had always been 
germane to the Indian mind. And if it did not manifest itself at any 
particular p)eriod by all sections of the people, it was not on account of 
the extinction of that faculty in them. It always remained dormant 
in them and exhibited itself when there was a suitable opportunity. 
The case is not unlike the womanhood in India. I have dwelt ujxjn 
this subject elsewhere. Women of South India always and actively 
p)articip>ated in the politics of their p^vince in the Ancient fjeriod. 
Somehow,the women of North India did not cut a prominent figure in 
the pxrlitieal sphere. Things were, however, different in Kashmir. The 
queens of Kashmir,. Kalhapa tells us; were sprinkled with the sacred 
waters of the coronation side by side . with their consorts. They , “had 

separate funds, their own treasurers and councillors and were actively 
interested in the government, of the country. They received the homage 
erf the feudatory chiefs when they held opjen court,” Things, however, 
changed completely, when the ineUgenous rule disappreared and the natives 

of Kashmir emigrated in all directions. Now that with the new India 
Act some measure of self-government has been conferred up)on India, 
we. suddenly find a Kashmir! lady not only being returned to the 
Assembly in spite erf a formidable rival but actually holding the portfolio 
of a minister in. the U. P. Government. Similarly, why need we wjonder 
if with the advent of the modem renaiss«mce we find Indians from all 
parts of the country carrying on research w.orkin.the ^domain of History 

in all its branches which is in no way inferior, to that done in Europxi 
and America ? There was a time when thb . Madras Presidency used 

to. be called the benighted. Presidency of Ipdia. But thanks to Peerf/ 
Nilkanta Sastirh a Schoo]|Qf History has been consolidated in the Ma%aa 
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University which it is well-nigh impossible for any Indian.* University to 
surpass. There is hardly any period of Indian History where valuable 
research work has not been done here. And, to crown the whole, it 

lus the unique feature of Sarasvati incarnating, herself as Minakshi 
but becoming a worthy disciple of Nilakantha. Thus we have now 
before us a band of such enthusiatic, painstaking and critfcal workers 

iq the field of History that the question arises: Why the Indian 
scholars themselves should not now write a history of their own country ? 
At the beginning of this address I have referred to the idea of tbe 

• unity of history which has now pasred into a commonplace. We cannot 
understand the present without the help of the past. And if we cannot 

separate the. past from the present, how can we exclude the future frOm 
the contemplation of the historian? As early as .1882 the great 
European savant, Max Muller, delivered a course of lectures before 
the Cambridge University. And what was the tnain topic of his first 
Lecture ? He there encjuires: “why do we want to know • history,J? 
Why docs history form a recognised part of our liberal education ?“ 

Simply because, he replies, all of us, and every one of us, ought to know 

• hoW-. We have come to be what we are. What history has to teach us 
before all and everything, says Max Muller, is “our own antecedents, 
our, own'ancestors, our own descent.” He must tell us everything about 

• what bjpod courses through our veins, what bones form the raftjers oC-.our 
skulls, and what brain and nerves we have inherited from our forbears. 

,.If we put',-this question to an educated Englishman, he will as a rule 
be able to tell us what debt he owes to his intellectual ancestors, whether 
in Greece, Rome, Germany or Palestine., But if we interpellate an 

Indian,, he a®, a-rule knows almost nothing about his own ancestry. 
It-therefore' Sibsolutely necessary that we, ^ould bring our own 

• history-tnainly written by the Indians so as clearly to keep this end 

in; view, naniely, the unfolding of our ph)rsical, intellectual and spiritqal 
'ante^try: That we are not incapable of discharging such a task may be 

fsefen. from the fact that not long ago the Ramkrishna Mission published 
r“The Cultural Heritage of India” in three volumes comprising articles 

'of a century of scholar-celebrities of India and running into nearly two 

'thillenium pages. I hope I am not exaggerating when I say that this 
'. work compares very favourably with that executed by any University 

ofdeamed Society in Europe or America. A similar venture has been 

^.Uiidflristkeor^jtbe. Uaeca Univepity., It owed its inception to 
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hap^ty conjunction oS the triad of historians, Mr. A. P. Rahman who 
was then the Vice-Chancellor, Prof. R. C. Majumdar, and Sir Jadunath 
'Sarkar, whose address before the Historical Association of the University, 

they say, created a great stir. But the actual sinews of war were 
furnished in the first instance by Mr. Rahman himself with a donation 
of Rs. 1000,—an example followed later on by Dr. Sir P. C. Ray, 

then by the Government of Bengal and lastly the University of Dacca, 
with the result that one Volume of this series is nearing completion. 

Though this History of Bengal looks like History of Bengal by Bengalis 

and thus smacks, they say, of clannishness, it nevertheless gives promise 
rtf' turning out to be a meritorious production as two of the best Indian 

historians are omnected with it, namely. Sir Jadunath Sarkar 
and Dr. R. C. Majumdar who luckily for us is at present the Vice- 
Chancellor of the Dacca University. They are to Bengal what Rao 
Saheb Sardesai and Prof. Potdar are to Maharashtra. We have no 
doubt that all the knotty points connected with this History will be 

impartially dealt with in the sprit of Kalhana, such e. g. as the raid of 
Bakhtiar Khalji against Lakshmana Sena on the one hand and the 
Black Hole of Calcutta on the other. Our objective however should be 

the History of India written mostly by Indian scholars so that attention 
may be focussed on the tracing of our physical, intellectual and spirHual 
ancestry. At a meeting of the Indian Historical Records Commission 
held at Gwalior in December 1929, it was suggested that a history 

of India should be organised by scholars in India which should 
deal comprehensively and on sound lines with its manifold aspects, 
especially literary, social and economic. It was Sir Sl^aat Ahmad 
Khan, I understand, who took the initiative in the matter and 

cast his tentative suggestions to the celebrities of India. Although 

they do not seem to be sent to me, being doubtless a non-celebrity, the 
scheme adumbrated by him deserves the serious consideratitm of all 

scholars and historians. In 1922 when Volume I of the Cambrige 
History of India was published which contained not a single article 
written by any Indian scholar, it naturally obtruded itself on the 

attention of the great Sir Asutosh Mookerjee who enquired o{ me 
whether it was not possible for the Calcutta University itself to publish 

a History of India mainly by Indian historians and on modem scientific 

lines. 1 informed him that years prior to this our talk, the late Mon 

"Mohan Chakravarti and I had a long discussion on this subject and figd 
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jointly drawn up a scheme. At his express desire the same scheme was 

br<night up-to-date and submitted to him for his consideration. He was 

giving his serious attention to the scheme and was taking every step to 

give effect to it inspite of his retirement from the High Court and pre¬ 

occupation with the Dumraon Case when there was a bolt from the blue 

causing the ‘Parinirvapa’ of the great soul. However, let us takeithings 

as they are and thoroughly thresh out, before we disperse from here, 

the scheme originally framed by the Head of the History Department 

of the University. The most difficult question, of course, is finance. 

But it cannot prove to be an insuperable obstacle in a province studded 

with such gentry as the solvent and benevolent Taluqdars and such 

literates as the Kashmiri Pandits and the Kayasthas piloted by two High 

Priests, the Jhas of Darbhanga, If only Dr. Rajesvar Bali, Maharaja 
Patesvari Prasad Singh and Raja Bahadur Suraj Baksh Singh of 

Kasmanda join, hand to hand, foot to foot and breast to breast, with the 

votaries of learning, this Prayaga will be a meeting place not only of the 

Ganges and the Jamna but also of Lakshmi and Sarasvati, 
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f»RESiDENTIAL ADDRESS 

Diwan Bahadur Dr. S. Kriahnaawamy Aiyangar, M.A., Ph D.i 
F. R. A. S. B, F. R. Hitt., S. Madras. 

CULTURE TRENDS IN ANCIENT INDIAN HISTORY. 

Ancient Indian History: Aryanisation of India or Indianisation of the 
Aryans: 

The ancient History of India is a study which was initiated by the 
Europeans who came to India as early as the seventeenth century, and 
has since been continually receiving additional stimuli to make it now 

a living subject of study both among the Indians themselves and 
Europeans. The systematic study of this subject may, however, be 
said to have begun with the rising interest which really created what 

is now the Royal Asiatic Society of Bengal, the mother of all Asiatic 

societies, by a band of officials and others interested in the subject. 
Beginning as it did with a study of the'Sanskrit language, ostensibly 
with a view to understanding the civilisation of India, it has assumed 

the form dominantly of the study of Sanskrit language specially, and 
Satiskritic culture generally. From the commencement of these studies 

Indian History came to be looked upon, in the broader aspects of it, 
certainly as a process of Aryanisation of the vast continent, bringing 
into the fold of Aryan culture and civilization, the various races and 

peoples who had perhaps been long in the land before the Aryan 

advent. Taking it to be as yet undemonstrated that the Aryans were 

indigenous to India in any strict sense of the term, and, assuming 
therefore the coming of the Aryans, there was undoubtedly an 
expansion of Aryan civilization in two directions eminently ; from the 

north-west frontier eastwards towards the Gangetic valley and past 
the Ganges across to the farther end of Hindustan more or less. 
Similarly in a south-eastern direction this expansion flowed past the 

combined Vindhya-Narmada barrier, through the Dakhan and the 
forests of Dandaka, right down almost to Cape Comorin in the course 
of centuries. That was just the aspect of Indian history which could 
have appealed when the studies began as they did with Sanskrit, 
naturally. Since then our knowledge has advanced very much, and 

4 
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more recent studies, among them the n>ost recent, the discovery of the 
Indus Valley civilization or Harapa culture, as it is now proposed to 
be called, seems to call for a revolution in our outlook. Enthusiasts are 
not wanting already who would reverse the process and study Indian 
History as a process of Indianisation of the Aryan civilization, and 
even language. Some enthusiasts have already advanced a considerable 
way in the identification of the Indus Valley civilization with the 
so-called Dravidian, and would draw very important and far reaching 

conclusions therefrom. One might wait till the serious study of. the 

problems involved got much rhore attention than has so far been given 

to them to bear the great burden of these far-reaching conclusions.' 

Aryan Culture the Leaven: 

In any study of the conflict of civilizations which, in fact is the 
essence of the study of history of various regions of the earth’s surface, 
the name given to the compounded civilization is generally derived from 
the one which really supplied the leaven that set up the process culmina¬ 
ting in the compound civilization that followed. This question would 

involve a study, in the completest detail, of the various elements com¬ 
posing the ancient civilization and the contribution that each such 

element could well be said to have made to the production of the 
complex-compound going by the name Hindu civilization. It is not a 
matter of mere labelling, nor one of such easy assessment, and the 

studies have just begun and have to be carried on earnestly, unflinchingly 
and in complete fulness of detail, before any sustainable historical 
conclusions could be hazarded. Taking, however, a general view, Indian 
civilization might well be said to be, in a sense, the result of a proce.ss 
of Aryanisation, notwithstanding the fact that large and important 

contributions have come from other sources, among them Dravidian 
civilization. We could do hardly more now than to trace the general 
trend of this process and see how far a general study like that throws 
any light upon the problem. 

The Aryan Vamatrama Dharma: 

It will be remembered at the outset that India is, if anything, 
much nearer a continent than a country in its general features. It 

would be difficult to assert that it was anything else at any time, within 
the limits of history. A process of unification, even of the externals of 

^dviluation, must be a complicated process and could not have been 
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brought about to any thorough-going degree of uniformity, not to speak 

of uni^. Taking the structure of the society generally, and the bond 
of unity that has actually contributed to make that degree of unification 

possible, we have first of all to understand something of the community 
of people called Aryan so far as the Indo-Aryans are concerned. We 

may take it that it is satisfactorily proved that it was a community 
which had an organisation of its own. It had attained to the stage of 
settled life to be described as an agricultural community, yet retaining 
a considerable amount of the characteristics of the cattle-rearing' stage 
of life preceding it, as well. They must have been a comparatively 
small body of people as it would be readily admitted, and they should 

have already advanced sufficiently while yet in the Punjab—perhaps 
even earlier—to have their society arranged in divisions according to 
the functions in social life, each group being prominently associated 

with a particular group of occupations, so that what is now-a-days 
understood by the term Vamasramd IDhnrma' may be regarded as the 
characteristic feature of Aryan society. The changes that a society so 
constituted underwent in itself, and the influence that was exercised on 
the peoples with whom a society thus constituted came into contact, 
would be interesting studies by themselves. It is a process like this 

that affected not merely the central core of Aryan society, but also the 
expanded group of people admidst whom this social organisation had 
to grow and flourish. 

Further Expanaion of Aryans, a process of Indianization : 

This group of Aryan settlers in the Punjab expanded gradually 
eastwards to make the region of Hindustan up to the Ganges in the 

east, and a considerable way towards the Vindhya mountains on the 

south, the centre of their activity and the further development of their 
life. Even in the course of this expansion they must have come into 

contact with other peoples native to the land, and must have fought 

against them and overpowered them in some cases, and found peaceful 
settlements perhaps among others, so that one way and another they 

gradually occupied the region sufficiently to regard it as a region practi¬ 
cally their own. This must have been a slow process taking a 
considerable length of time to carry it on to completion. , A considerable 
amount of change in organisation must have taken place already, and 
efven * large kingdoms could have been formed in the region which came 
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to be subsequently known "BrahmaniJeM narrowly, and Aryavartta broadly 
speaking. It is in the expansion further onwards that they came into 
contact with more powerfully organised peoples, amidst whom they 
effected settlements in perhaps smaller number than the inhabitants 

which naturally affected their position very considerably. It is perhaps 
while they were in this region that we gain something like a knowledge 
of the difficulties involved in effecting peaceful settlements and pursuing 
a peaceful life. A passage in the Mahabharata relating the story of 
the Emperor Mandhata, one of the earliest Indian Emperors, throw;s 

a considerable amount of light upon the character of the Aryan expansion 
in regions where there were already people in large numbers, with a 
civilization of their own which, either because of their number or of 

their power, perhaps more often as the combined result of the two, did 
not admit of extirpation. As a matter of fact the story has relation, 

as it is put in the Mahabharata, to Mandhata having extended his 
imperial heritage by fresh conquests which brought in people of other 
cultures altogether into the fold of the empire, including some beyond 

the borders of India on the north-west. He was exercised as to the 
maintenance of the dharma^ the dharma he was familiar with in Aryan 

■society, among people whose dharma struck him as so entirly different 

that, on the face of it, it was impossible to bring about any union by 
the ordinary process of assimilation. It was then that he went to 
consult Indra as to what exactly he should do in regard to the establish¬ 
ment of dharma among these new subjects of his. Indra found the 
problem too much for him to solve and thought of Vishnu, who came 

into him and enlightened the human emperor as to what he should do. 
The answer given by Indra, really Vishnu in the person of Indra, was 
that Mandhata should remain content to let his new subjects pursue 
their own customs and habits as before, only persuading them to give 
up that which seemed utterly incompatible with the dftarma as he 

understood it among his own subjects, the Aryan folk. That seems to 

have been the general principle upon which the expanding Aryans acted 
in their onward progress into regions farther away from this particular 
blodc of Aryan India. New peoples in various degrees of civilization 
had to be brought into the Aryan fold, and any peaceful government 
of them should have proved impossible except on the principle of 
con>promi8e suggested to Mandhata himself; and, as far as we could 

gain any glimpse into the character of this further expansion of the 
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Indian Aryans, we seem to find justification for the idea that that was 

exactly what had been adopted. In the nature of the case therefore it 
must have been felt, as early as this, that to beat all these various peoples 
into one uniform mould would have been a feat impossible of achievement. 
It was a long process therefore from this to go on assimilating 
various peoples that composed Indian society, and bringing them into 
the fold of a united Indian society, certainly not a united Aryan Society 
in the narrower sense of the term. The process must have been long 

and painful, and must have involved compromises of various kinds, the 

fundamental principle of which has been laid down so clearly for 
Mandhata. It would be easy for us to understand the various steps 

which ultimately led to the inclusion of the whole mass of the Indian 

population into the fold of what might be regarded as one society, not 
by any strict rule of uniformity imposed by threat of punishment, but 

by a gradual process of compromise and assimilation which made the 
various peoples fall in gradually into some kind of an understanding 
which enabled them to live in peace and act perhaps on occasions 
when such action was called for, as one people. 

The Aryan Vedic Organisation Expands into the Indian Caste System : 

During the period which might for convenience be descril>ed as 
the period of Vedic culture covering a large number of generations, and, 

taking into it the whole literature of the Veda comprising the Vedas 

themselves, the Brahmanas, the Upanishads and the Sutra literature, 
without excluding the Itihasas and the earlier Puranas in certain reaches, 

we may regard Aryan society as composed of the four groups, mis¬ 
called castes, of the Brahman, Kshatriya, Vaisya and Sudra, and 
admitting of the other division involved, merely a division of life suited 
to the convenience of this group : the life of the student, of the house¬ 
holder,' and retirement from social life, and ultimately a life of renunci¬ 

ation. These four orders were apparently, from the very' beginning, 
meant for the elect and not for all. This social organisation must have 
obtained prominently before the period of Aryan expansion till they 

reached almost the last stages of it when, in comparatively small bodies, 
they went and settled down in distant localities amidst communities for 
larger than their own in point of numbers, and already well provided 

with an orgaiiisation and other appurtenances of life in ample measure. 

In the course of this expansion in its later stages, it must have become 
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necessary to bring more or less self-contained communities into the fold 
of the Indian-Aryan society of the time, and that was apparently done 
without much violence, and along lines of the least resistance, so that 

we find, as time advanced and the Aryan sphere of active influence 
extended, community after community fell in easily and each was 
allotted its position in society without any great ado. This could be 

illustrated from the evidence of ancient Tamil literature, where the 
comparatively small body of Aryan settlers, perhaps principally 
Brahmans only, found a society already organised with its own divisions, 

perhaps in some respects remotely assimilable to that of their own 
divisions ; and in the process of assimilation, indicated by what is laid 

down in the standard classic Tol-Kappiyam, we find that one group had 
to do duty for two or three of the Aryan grouping. The Brahman was 
there undoubtedly, the next class \yas wanting, and the next one was 

there which included in it a considerable bulk of the one above and the 
one below. This last class would correspond to the Vis or the Vaisya 
of the Aryan community, the ruling members of which got assimilated 
to the Kshatriya, the land-owning and the trading communities of the 
Vaisyas proper or the proprietors of land, etc., and of the last group the 

Sudra. That they went about more or less in this fashion is clear when 
they get to describe the relation between the sexes in society, and they 
describe the marital relations almost in this manner of imperfect assimi¬ 
lation. One could hardly expect anything else, and it must be in the 
course of this process that the caste system proper of India must have 
arisen. It is indeed a process of expansion and assimilation altogether of 

the system of Aryan grouping primarily on the principle of division of 
labour in the earlier stages, but as they advanced, resting more or less on 
the principle of division of races or community. It has often been spoken 

of by those who have dealt with this subject primarily, that the class 
Sudra was primarily composed of the conquered or enslaved. This 

description of that class can hardly be accepted as even a comparatively 
small Aryan community settling down in a part of the country as a 
society entirely dependent upon agriculture for its maintenance, could 
hardly be one in which everybody was a land owner. There must have 
been some who had to earn their existence by the work that they could 
do, in other words, of labour, and that class it is that seems indicated as 
the Sudra olass. The definition of later law-givers that they had to 
inaihlain themselves by rendering service to the classes above, though 
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it does npt mean that they were serfs or slaves, shows much rather that 
they . engaged themselves in work for which they got paid either as 
agriculturists or other labourers, as we have the analogous classes in 

Tamil Society among agriculturists of those who got their lands 
cultivated, and those engaged in agriculture directly. 

The Vama classification is not caste system : 

The existence of these classes is vouched for in Vedic literature in 

a certain number of passages later in point of time, and these have been 
interpreted in ways which makes the classification jejune, if not absurd. 
In interpreting the passages bearing on the Virat-Purusha, the passage 
has been rendered a little too literally, and it is for Vedic scholars to 
consider whether these are not merely descriptive passages picturing 
society figuratively, as a human being, as in the well-known cases of the 

Vedapurusha, Jotishapurusha, etc. The terms aseth and ajayaia seem 

to be used in these passages more or less synonymously, and seem to 
lend colour to this interpretation that what is attempted there is nothing 
more than a figurative description of human society or humanity as a 
Purusha, the Virat Purusha, as in the case of the other imaginary 

Purushas, the Veda-Purusha and Jotisha-Purusha, so that what is really 
meant is not to lay the emphasis upon the differences of birth as indeed 
of differences of function. The caste system as it obtains now becomes 

much more intelligible on this basis rather than that of the Varnasrama- 

dharma literally extended to take in the whole population of India. 
Considered this wise one would rather feel inclined to admire the skill 

in the adaptation that could bring about so much unity in the multitu¬ 

dinous variety, from out of which this unity had to be brought about, 

rather than hurl recrimination upon those who were responsible for the 

social order of India, The latest Indian writer on this subject labours 
very painfully under this mis-impression, and feels it almost impossible 

.to explain the position satisfactorily, while his European confreres seem 

really better placed to understand the systeqi, and exhibit perhaps even 
more understanding in the explanation of the caste system. In fact we 

: have a great deal of work to do to understand even the Veda, which has 
, received so much study and attention from the verj^ beginning of 
European interest in these subjects. This is indicated in the recent 

work above referred to, the Legacy of India, published last year. ‘Rig 

Veda is an old book, an old book in somewhat hieratic language, and 
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very difficult of interpretation. In respect of verbal translation a fairly 
advanced position has now been reached. But the point of many 
allusions to legend and mythology and the, psychological “value” of 
many observations still escapes. In this regard much remains to be dug 
out of the texts.’ A great deal more of work would perhaps be required 
to understand the Veda as a whole and consequently much that depends 
upon it, and derivable from it. This further study perhaps would 
reveal that the Varnasramadharma and the caste-system are not 
identical, notwithstanding conscious effort at assimilating the one with 
the other to the extent possible. 

A further study and a dispassionate examination of the texts 
concerned would go a long way to confirm that the Varna division was 
Vedic in point of character and is not based on the colour of the 
individual, but on more or less an artificial arrangement for purposes 
of distinction. This distinction of colour artificially set up seems 
somehow or other to have caught the fancy of these early people and 
they carried it through in many of their divisions. They deliberately 

give this colour distinction to the yngaa which are deliberately said 
to be regulated by the prevalence of a/urma in full measure or in smaller 

degrees, the reduction being by a quarter so as to give as it were four 
degrees of prevalence of Jharma giving rise to the four so-called. 
The newly discovered dramatist Bhasa gives expression to this in the 
following sloka, which is quite graphic :— 

S^ankha Kshira vapuh pura Krtayuge namnatu Nariv^anth 

Treta>ara tripadarpita tribhuvanah Vishnuh suvarnaprabhah 
Durvasyaina nibhas sa Havana vadhe Ratno Yug^ Dvapare 

Nityam Yoanjana sannibhah Kali Yuge vah patu Oamodarah. 

This is not dependent upon the date of Bhasa, which as yet is 
not an agreed question, but the same idea is repeated time and again 
in various forms in various classics of literature, among them, even 

Tamil literature datable in the early centuries of the Christian era. 
That idea seems to be given expression to in the of Manu which 
is found, with but slight variation in the Mahabharata, where the 
definition of the sudra is attempted to be given as orte with whom it is 
only possible to expect the minimum performance of duties describable 
as tiAarma. 

Vr^ hi Bhaga^^n Dharmastasya Yafi Kuruti tvalam 

yfjsteibm tam V^ur I|dvastasuiad Dharalatii. oa lopaydt. 

* ^ —Manu Vlllte 
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Vfsho hi Bhagavan Dharmo Kurut§ layatn 

Vrshalam tarn vidur D@vastasmad Dharmam na lopayet. 

—M. Bh. XII. 90. 16. 

That perhaps again throws but imperfect light upon the distinction 

of these varnao lying more or less in the discharge of the duties described 

generically as 'D/iarnia^ and not on birth as in the case of the caste, as 

it is accepted in modern times. The colours therefore, white, red or 

orange, green and dark, seem to have caught the fancy of these 

Aryans, and they are used to describe institutions and persons for a 

variety of purposes, and hence obviously meant to apply only to the 

Varna distinction, and not what is understood by caste distinction 

If the Aryan society therefore at the outset of its expansion started 

with the varna division, and as it spread incorporated community after 

community into the Aryan fold on the tolerant principle taught to 

Mandhata, it is easy to understand the readiness with which the 

multitudinous communities of India accepted the position allotted to 

them which seems so natural, and gradually assimilated themselves 

to what they regarded as a really more reasonable, or more convenient, 

or in general terms superior, system. Through the work of centuries 

therefore this position had been attained, so that as late as the 

seventeenth century a S'odra could describe himself with as much 

pride as the bluest-blooded Kshatriya, or even the punctilious Brahman, 

as belonging to the fourth varna, or, as they quaintly put it, to the fourth 

goira. The brand of inferiority which we find tirelessly dinned into 

our ears as an artificial distinction imposed upon them seems quite 

ill-founded. The inferiority and the inconvenient position in society 

find their explanation in economic organisation rather than in the 

social. This way of looking at the system would really explain much 

that seems to us inexplicable, and about which we sometimes get 

badly impatient; nor would it be difficult to explain the large number. 

As distance increased and the state of communication remained not 

fully developed, another tendency would add to this process, and would 

result in a further addition to the number of castes by the simple process 

of disintegration of the larger castes each one of which might break 

up into a number of smaller sections by a process of disintegration, 

the cause of which, or the reason for which, would be distance, 

geographical milieu, and various other circumstances which promote 

a tendency to spread as it were. It thus becomes clear that there 

• 5 • ■ ' 
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are fundamental divisions and there are less fundamental castes that 

would explain the division and even the mere adventitious circumstances 

which bring about the division, all of which go to make up the caste 

system as it obtains to-day. It is the transformation of the vama 

division into the caste system that changes the Vedic^Brahmanism into 

the Hindu Dharma (Society). 

Caste, an Institution of Gradual Growth : 

The question would then arise whether, in the circumstances of 

our history extending over at least thousand years, we could not have 

devised a system making for a unification. One might answer with fair 

certainty, that, in the circumstances of the time, any other system would 

seem to be fairly impossible; and this, with all its imperfections and 

shortcomings, admirably fulfilled the purpose that it was intended to 

serve, the more so, as it was not an artificial system imposed upon 

society by an external authority ready-made, but one that grew from 

the exigencies of the times and the necessities of the position in more 

ways than one. While one may very well justify the existence of the 

caste system and the services that it actually did render to society and 

religion in times when factors of an anarchical character were there in 

plenty to disintegrate society and break it up to destruction, it would 

be nothing strange if in certain respects we have outgrown the systsrn 

and find that it is inconvenient in a number of particulars. It may 

well be so, and the way to remedy it is not by wholesale destructive 

acts of legislation, but by the slow process, certainly the more permanent 

process, of evolution which would give time to things to adjust them¬ 

selves, and not bring about an unnecessary revolution causing a needless 

amount of upsetting for which the only justification is the efforts of 

enthusiasts to carry into the long established Indian society foreign 

principles which have not yet attained to even a recognised vogue in 

the land where they were promulgated—doctrines like the equality of 

man and revolutionary slogans of that kind. It would be well to consider 

if “Atmavat Sarvabhatani Ya^i pa^yati sa pa^yati” is not a better 

principle than that of equality as ordinarily understood. To build on 

foundations that have stood the test of time would certainly be a more 

natural way of building than pulling up foundations by the roots, and 

making an effort to buildf anew altogether on untried and as yet uncer- 

• t^ifj foundatkAia. 
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Growth of Religioiu. Ideas and Practice Corresponding : 

Corresponding to this expansion comes in also the development in 

the other vital feature of Indian society, a development in religion. 

The religion of the Indo-Aryan is generally described as the worship of 

the elements in nature by offering prayers and other things regarded as 

pleasing to the Gods, and thus propitiating them and gaining their 

favour with a view to the benefits that would arise therefrom as a 

necessary consequence, or with a desire to attain particular benefits 

directly sought. Such <t. description is not altogether unacceptable 

even to Indian tradition. It is also generally accepted that in the 

process of development of this Vedic religion, in the course of the 

expanding process of Aryanisation, there was perhaps not that unanimity 

in the completely saving character of this way of worship; and there 

must have been those who were perhaps ready to call some of these 

into (juestion. This would naturally provoke two kinds of reaction, an 

attempt to explain that which was being done actually, so that the 

mefuiing may be understood. Along with this, there would also be an 

effort to probe a little further into the real meaning of these, and whether 

really there was any uUimale purfuesc to be served by these. Such would 

naturally lead on to enquiries into the fundamentals of religion and the 

modes of worships ^x)pularly adopted therefor, just with a view to 

satisfying oneself, and other's that may be of an enquiring spirit, whether 

these serve the higher purposes that religion is intended to serve. There 

would therefore be much thought and enquiry naturally among those 

of an independent way of thinking, and this would as naturally lead to 

differences of opinion in regard to particular matters and perhaps 

ultimately in regard to the whole outlook. We need not therefore feel 

surprised, in a stage of development of throught like this, there were 

differences of view, and vital diflerences even upon the utility of some of 

these. Differences therefore of view will arise both in religious theory 

and in the mode of worship. There seems to have been an early 

Qleavage and that must have been the direct result of Aryan expansion 

into a wider sphere. The difference between those who worship 

through the medium of fire, offering their prayers and the food, etc., 

through fire, and others who do not. This worship through fire became 

a peculiar feature of the Brahmanic cult. It is conceivable that, at the 

same time, some among them considered it hardly necessary' to offer 

WQi^ip in this particular form, and might even have objected to certain. 
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details of this worship, eminently those that involved immolation of 

victim in the performance of sacrifices. There is already an early 

passage in the Mahabharata in which a difference of opinion comes out 

prominently whether in the larger sacrifices a live victim should necessarily 

be sacrificed, or whether a grain substitute was not intended. The 

question raised is really more fundamentally other than this, and the 

actual question was whether the victim originally intended was an 

animal or merely grain, the Sanskrit word meaning both alike. 

This perhaps represents a difference of view already forming and 

advancing to the formation of fundamentally differing opinions on the 

matter which resulted ordinarily in the formation of different sects.. 

The answer given by the umpire chosen, Uparichara Vasu, raised to 

the position of Indra by acts of merit performed by him, proved 

unsatisfactory and the decision come to therefore was not final; but 

the distinction of parties persisted nevertheless. 

DiMentientt in Religion—the Bhafvatas : 

It will be remembered that one of the main points of objection 

to Brahmanism, among the Jains as well as the Buddhists consists in 

the offering of the sacrifices, and the immolation of victims with the 

ostensible object of attaining to the highest ends of existence. The 

Buddhists laughed at this as not merely useless but even perverse. The 

Jain similarly thought it was a false doctrine, and went against the rest 

of the Jain teaching. But more earnest i^erhaps than both of these 

were the Bhagavatas to whom this was equally objectionable, and 

they regarded offerings earnestly and sincerely made with flowers, leaves 

and water, really more acceptable to the divinity than any of these ; and 

this cult of the Bhagavatas is among those that figure in early 

Buddhist literature. The Bhagavatas figure among the sixty or sixty-one 

teachers of various systems enumerated by the Buddha as sectaries and 

dissenters given to fruitless and vociferous discussions on points of 

religion. Their catechism of teaching is recognised as the Bhagavatgita, 

and we find again in the Tamil country the earliest schools of Bhakti 

incorporating the totality of this teaching in their own. The Bhagavata 

teaching is almost the same as the teaching of the Xjv.'irs, the earliest 

of them being datable in the early centuries of the Christian era. One 

among them actually jef^ to the Gita as such, and describes it as 

teaching given to Arjufia, by Krwhna from the driver’s seatonth^ 
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field of the Great War. Although the late Sir R. G. Bhandarkar put 

forward an earnest plea in favour of this position it has not received 

general acceptance as far as we know. Looking at it from the point 

of view of philosophy and philosophic development only, Professor 

S. N. Das Gupta lays it down emphatically that “ the Gita which I believe 

can be shown to be of pre-Buddhist origin is a metrical interpretation 

of the instructions of the Upanishads in their bearing on social life ”, 

Discussions, bordering on the quarrelsome, condemned by the Buddha 

seem to be condemned equally by Krishna in the Bhagavat-Gita almost 

at the outset of his discussions with Arjuna. 

Yamimam pushpitam Vacham pravadantyavipa.%hitah 

VSdavadarathah Partha ! nanyadasfTti vadinah.,...(42) 

Kamatmanah Svargapara janma Karma phalapradam 

Kriya viseshabahulam bhogaisvaryagatim prati.(43) 

Bhogaisvarya prasaktanam layapahrta chStasam 

Vyavasyatmika buddhih samadhau na vidhiyathS.(44) 

Bh. Gita. II. 

The Bhagavat Gita and the exaltation of Vishnu as the supreme 

is not the only form of Bhagavataik teaching. It seems in fact accepted 

that the whole Agamaik teaching is of that kind, and the Agamas, 

S'ivaik and Vaishpava both alike laydown similar principles and practices 

except that the Supreme is according to one school Vishiju Para 

Vasudeva and according to the other Mahesvara—Sadakhya Sadasiva. 

We see the whole of this Agamaik teaching full-fledged in both schools 

of early Tamil literature, referable to the early centuries of the Christian 

era, and long anterior to the teaching of the famous 5.charyas of the 

South, S^ankara and Ramanuja alike. It is worth noting that the 

latest European view still persists in making S^ankaracharya and 

Ramanuja “founders of modern orthodox Hinduism.” Codrington in 

the chapter on Indian Art and Archaeology in the work already quoted, 

the Legacy of India, states his opinion “it would not be untrue to say 

that, when Ramanuja followed Sankaracharya, modem orthodox 

Hinduism cnakdy The emphasis is ours. These Acharyas 

certainly expounded modern Hinduism as we know it in practice to-day; 

but they were anything but the creators of the systems, Ramanuja is 

certainly acknowledgedly expounding the old teaching, the Upanishads, 

the Bhagayat-Glta and the Tamil Prabhandhas, including the Vaidic 

teaching and the Agamas, these constituting the sources from which he 
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draws. It therefore seems clear that it is a mis-conception to make 
modern Hinduism such a late creation as that. Of course, it follows 

necessarily from the mere one-sided study, from the point of view of 

art, of the , learned author quoted above. He arrives at this after a 

study of the image at Elephanta which he describes as “the great 

trinity, the TrimUrti, or rather Mahesvaramarti, in which the qualities 

of Barhma, the creator, Vishpu the preserver, are portrayed as being 

absorbed by and comprehended in the dominating personality of S^iva, 

Lingesvara”. First of all, we must say, with'due reference to the high 

authority of the author, that it would be wrong to describe the figure 

at Elephanta as Trimurti. A close study of the features of the three 

faces would show clearly that, at any rate, the face to the right of the centre 

can hardly be described, b)- any stretch of the imagination, as the figure of 

Brahma. Brahma is always allotted the right place wherever the 

Trimurtis are exhibited either in a composite single form, or in separate 

figures. Brahma is always exhibited with a beard, with matted 

locks done up as in the case of Kishis, with the orthodox 'K<^rna l^mdalas. 

But the figure that is actually represented in the Elephanta cave is a 

representation of, what one would call i^erhaps an im^^erfect representation 

of Mahesvara or Sadasiva rather the latter than the former, which is 

described as a Marti with five faces, four facing the directions of the 

compass and the fifth dominating the rest. Sadyojatarn, is the western 

face of this figure, Varna Devam north, Isinam east, Aghoram south. 

The latter three are exhibited here. The top face which is also called 

liana is not exhibited in this. According to the Kamika Agama, the 

figure of Sadasiva with five faces as the Sada.sivamarti, sometimes also 

called Fanchadehamorti can, according to the Agama teaching, be 

represented either with a single face, or with three faces. We shall have 

to take it that this is a concession that the Agama makes for, it may 

be, structural convenience. According to the description in the Ling 

Purripa Mahesvaramarti or Sadasivamarti is one plane above the 

Trimurti, and jnust be accepted as a combination of the three and 

surpassing them all. But that is not our purpose for the moment. 

What we ate really concerned with is that the the ^gamaik teaching 

is but a continuation, or it may l)e merely a parallel teaching, of the 

Bhagavata school of thought, and this teaching it te, when it reached, 

the south in whatever m^nei', what did give rise at once to the early 

Bhakt$'schools,i and dieVi^Je literature which is.the outpouring pf the; 
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feelings of devotion of the Bhaktas which certainly had been fully utilised 

by the Xcharyas when they actually gave shape and formulated their 

systems of teaching. So, for the origin of this teaching, we shall have to 

go 1500 years before Ramanuja, and this teaching of the Bhakti schools 

existed along side of Jainism and Buddhism all through, and is a 

direct outcome of the theistic teaching for which authority .is not 

wanting either in the Upanishads or in the early books of the Vedas 

themselves. It is worth studying Vedic literature again with a view 

to discovering this trend of religious thought in the whole of that 

literature. It is when the Bhakti school formulated its teaching almost 

along side of, and not altogether in opposition to, the Vedic teaching 

proper that modern Hinduism sprang into being. It is the rise of the 

Bhakti school of Hinduism in the early centuries of the Christian era 

in the south and its spread elsewhere rapidly that transforms the 

Brahmanism, or the Vaidic system of religion, into the modern Hinduism 

of to-day. Like the Varya system expanding out into the caste system 

by an imperfect process of assimilation, the Vaidic system of religion 

expanded into the Hinduism of modern times. 

Hindu Social Syttem Still Elastic : 

A society evolving through the centuries and gaining its modern 

shape more or less at the beginning of the second millenium after 

Christ, could not have been an inelastic system from the very nature 

of the case ; nor could it ha\ e been intended in fact to be that as it 

was not a system formulated by an individual lawgiver and put into 

practice. It had all through the [leriod of its growth to react to 

influences of various kinds and of \arying strength, and readjust itself. 

The same cairacity for reaction to varying influences remains in the 

system. Circumstances following the period of Ramanuja contributed 

largely to the hardening of the system ; and, in the course of the 

centuries following and through the multitudinous changes, some of 

them of an anarchic character even, modern Hindu Society has acquired 

the character of a hardened and flxed-looking system admitting of no 

change whatever. This would be quite a false way of looking at it. 

Hindu society was never static, and, even from the ver\- outset, was 

not intended to be that; and all through the Hindu period it was 

flexible and developed, according to circumstances, reacting, to influences 

of various kinds. Quite modern circumstances made for a hardening 
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of the system, and perhaps it is this that saved it from the anarchy 

and dissolution that would have swallowed this as much else and left a 

chaos instead of the seemingly inflexible cosmos that is with us. It is 

for those interested in the S3retem to study it carefully and understand 

its structure and genius, and bring about readjustments without hurting 

in the slightest degree the vital principle of growth in it. That position 

becomes clear even to those who made but a partial study of it from 

even some one side or another, not to speak of those who, by the width 

as well as by the depth of their studies, gain a comprehensive notion 

of the character of the system as a whole. Anything like an elaborate 

study of the various influences that come to bear upon it and the way 

that Hindu Indian society reacted to these various influences is a study 

of the greatest interest to students of modern Indian History, the history 

of India from the fourteenth or the fifteenth century onwards down to 

the present times. I might conclude this comparatively slight survey 

by quoting a passage from a serious student of Indian music, who happens 

to be in the country studying the Indian system. Possessed of 

systematic first-hand knowledge of Western music and studying Indian 

music in comparison thereto, this scholar. Dr. Arnold Bake, a Research 

Fellow from Oxford, makes the following remarks:— 

“Harmonised Western music baffles and spoils the Indian ear, 

trained on melody alone. Indian orchestras, even if composed out of 

fifty different instruments, never would play anything like a Western 

harmony. If Indian music wants to develop polyphony, it must do so 

ahng Ha Cwn lines and not by adopting impcrfed and impcscd inel/icds foreign 

to its very nature.” 

It need hardly be added that what applies to music would apply, 

with much greater force, to the social system much more complicated 

than music. 

Conclusicm : 

A study of Indian History, a study both wide and* deep, seems 

urgently called for now more than ever before. India and Indian 

civilization generally are subjected to a stress and strain, the like of 

which they had never experienced before. The influences brought to 

bear upon her are some of them so strong and violent that wellwishers 

of India on the one sid^ feel really that Indian society is well on the 

way to collapse, W4 h^ve at the same time serious .students of Indian 
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History c^nd cultiw'e (e^.) Garratt, in the Legacy of India, tell us plainly 

that all this impact of modern civilization with India has failed 

to produce a compound civilization composed of the West and East 

fondly hoped for by them. It need hardly be said that neither of 

the 'extreme views is correct as in fact the Rt. Hon’ble the Marquess 

of Zetland in the preface to the same work says. It cannot be said 

that India does not react to the strong influences beating upon her, 
nor can it be said that India proves false to her history and is 

hurrying towards destruction. As in the varied past, so for the present, 

India stands like her great Himalayas seemingly unshaken and unmoved, 

but subtle forces are working still unobserved, and wisely guided one 

may hope that India will not belie her history. Wisely guided and 

cautiously led even Indian society will transform itself into something 

really more solid and strong though on lines of her own, and unlike 

what enthusiasts wish, and would emerge from this great strain stronger 

and healthier with the elements of further development unimpaired 

in capiicity for adaptation and further growth. Our efforts should be 

to make Indian History, a really true History of India, in all its 

erudite detail better known, more fully known, and known in unalloyed 

truth both to tliosc within and those without. It is hoped that time 

will prove that our achievement is, if not as good as our aspiration, at 

least substantially so. 

6 
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JATAVARMAN SUNDARA PANDYA AND THE KAKATlYAS. 
• • • ^ 

Prof. K. A. NilakontA SMtri> University of Madras. 

It is well known that the inscriptions of Jatavarman Sundara Pandya 
state that he killed Gan^agopala, occupied Kanclpuram and defeated Ganapati, 

the Kakatiya king, before he performed a virabhiseka at Nellore. Some undated 

Tamil verses engraved on the walls of the Crdambaram temple also seem to 
celebrate this northern campaign of Sundara, and in these verses he is said to 

have won a hard contested battle against the Telingas. The statement in 
para 18 of Part II of the Epigraphy Report for 1914 that the allies of the 

Telungas, the Aryas, were pursued up to the banks of the PSraru,». e. Krsna, 

seems to be due to a misunderstanding of one of these verses which runs :* 

Kar Sfya ta^dalaik-kaviri na^anaik*kanulavun> 

defSfri vitta se}undamijt*tennavan senredirndu 

tar-erfa vembadai-yariyar tan^u padat-taniyo 

p6r§rru ninya peruvarttai yinnum puduvarttaiye. 

In this VCTse the Pandya who drove the Cola out into the forest is said to have 
met the Aryas in battle and defeated their forces single*handed. As this verse 

follows another which describes in vigorous terms a victory won by the same 

king against Telugu forces, it may be plausibly suggested that the Aryas were 

the allies of the Telingar. But there is no mention of Peratu anywhere, 

and porbrra’ in the b^inning of the last line seems to have been misread as 
‘peraffu’. 

As it is, therefore, Nellore is the northernmost point reached by Sundara 

Pandya and there he celebrated a virabhiseka. The Kakatiya king Ganapati 

or bis forces must have been met in battle in that neighourhood, which is 
quite possible. And Sundara Pandya’s success against Ganapati is attested 

by an interesting coin figured by Sir T. Desikachari in his South Indian Coins, 
plate iii Nos. 58 and 59. Here is his description of the coin : 

Fig. 58. AE. Obverse:—Boar facing the right on a pedestal with the 
sun and the crescent moon above. 

“Fig. 59. Reverse of Fig. 58:—Two fishes separated by a sceptre wiifi 
I^end in Tamil. (Sundara Pandiyan).*’ 

At the time h«i described the coin, it was not possible to explain it fully, 

and bis comments on it, shrewd and instructive as they are, rightly left the 

tnain questioo open. Thus: "We next have to deal with a series, in which 
. I 

* I did aet notte* this before, «Al e^^ed the vereioo of the Report la my Pondpeil SinpdeiS p. MS. 
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the place of the fish on the obverse is taken by the Chalukyan emblem of the 

boar. The legend on the reverse is usually ‘Sundara PSndya.’ The boar, 
from which all gold coins have got the name of vardha, was a favourite emblem 

with more than one dynasty, and. a familiar instance of this is the appearance 
of the emblem on the Vijayanagara coins of Tirumalaraya. The Pandyan 
coins, with the boar obverse, have always the legend “Sundara” on their reverse; 

there is no clue whereby we can attribute them to any particular reign. The 
boar emblem was probably assumed on an intermarriage between the Chalukyan 
and Panndya kings or on a conquest of the Chalukyas by the Pandyas.”* If 

the last sentence is cancelled, the comments are not only admirable in themselves, 

but clearly point the way to the right solution, for they leave it to be decided 
who the Sundara Pandya was and which the dynasty whose boar emblem was 

adopted by him. It wilt be seen readily that Sundara of these coins was the 

most famous mediaeval Pandyan ruler, Ja^varman Sundara Pandya I 

(acc. 1251 A. D.), that the dynasty from which he took the boar emblem was the 

Kakatlya dynasty, and that the occasion for it arose from a victory of the 
Pandya over the equally celebrated ruler of the Kakatlya line—Ganapati. 

THE GUPTAS IN THE LAND OF KUNTALA. 

Dr. Hem Chandra Raychaudhari, Calcutta University. 

One of the most famous provinces in ancient India was Kuntala, a territory 
whose position is indicated by the fact that it was “moistened b}' the stream of 

the far-famed Krshnave (r) nna” {vikhydta-Kt'shTfaxxrrfrj.a-taUasttehSpalab^ta- 
saralatvaf^)^ and stretched southwards as far as Gahgavadi in the upper valley 

of the Kaveri*. It included within its boundaries the famous sites of Tdrdal® 

(belonging to the Sahgli State in the southern Maratha country), TeragaP (a small 

state subject to Kolhapur near which flowed the river Malaprabari), Puligere or 

Lakshmeshwar, an outlying town of the senior Miraj State,® Nargund in the 

DhSrwad District,® Hampe and Kurgod in the Bellary District,^ Banavasi in 

North Kanara as well as Balagaihve and Harihar in Mysore.® 

‘Desikacbari;—Indian Coins, pp. 1C 1-2. 

(0 I. A , VIIl. 17. (2) Ep. Cornaiiea, IV, Hunsur Taluk No. 137. (3) I. A\ XIV 16. 

(4) I. A., Xn 97. (9) IB. I., XIII. 178 : Ibid, XVI 47. (6) 1 A., XU 47. (7) E. I., XIV 271. 

(8)FlMt, Kmnarm ptstriPis, 
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It will be seen that the province described above practically embraced the 
whole of Karnata, that is to say, the Kanarcse speaking areas qf Bombay, Madras 
and Mysore, with a considerable portion of the Southern Mariitha country. In 
the Vikramdfikadeva-Charita Kuntaletidu and Kuntalendra occur as epithets of 
KanjAtettiu Vikrama who ruled at Kal>ana,’’ which is the modern Kalyapi in 

the Nizam’s dominions. 
The historic land whose limits are defined above was the seat of many of 

the most powerful empires ot the Deccan, and was also the scene of the activities 
of several imperial families of the north, beginning with the Mauryas of the 

third century B. C. That the Maurya emperors ruled over the whole, or at least 

a considerable portion of Kuntala including the Chitaldroog District of Mysore 
and the districts of the Madras presidency and the Nizam’s dominions lying to 

its north, is well known to students of Indian antiquities. That their Gupta 

successors, too, had intimate political relations with the land is not so well known. 
Nevertheless it is a fact that princes belonging to the Gupta family (Gupt- 

dnvaya-bhUMnta)a,nd claiming descent from Chandra Gupta Vikramaditya, 

governed the “Banavasi twelve thousand province" in the twelfth century A. D. 
The Sanjam Plates^® of Amoghavarsha I, the Rashtrakiita monarch, who 

dominated the Kuntala country in the ninth century A. D., refers to the fame 

of the Gupt-dnvaya. Evidence of an earlier connection of the Guptas with the 

country watered by the Krshna and its affluents, a considerable portion of which 

was, as we have seen, included within Kuntala, is furnished by a find of 1395 
coins in the Satara District, made about the middle of the last century, 1100 

of which were of the Garuda type of Kumara Gupta 1.” The presence of 

such a large hoard cannot to explained by the existence of commercial 

intercourse alone. 

The association of the Guptas with the Kuntala r^ion did not however 

b^in with Kumara Gupta I. The Gupta rulers of the Banavasi country 

trace back their origin, not to Kumara, but to his father Chandra Gupta 

Vikramaditya.^® Attention may also be invited in this connection to the Halsi 

grant of the Kadamba Yuvardja Kakusthavarman dated “in the eightieth year 
of his vitcory ’’ ( sva-vaijayike avUitame sarhvataare). Inspite of the 

phraseology used it is obvious that the year 80 cannot refer to an era of 

Kakustha’s own institution. Fleet surraises^^ that the year in question must be 
the eightieth year from the pattdbandha of Mayurakrman, the founder of 

KSkostha’s line. If this view is correct it is surprising that no other 

record is dated in Mayura’s era, and all the epigraphs of the dynasty, with the 

exception of the Halsi grant mentioned aWe, are dated only in regnal years. 

19) Bk. IX 41-42. (10) E. 1. XVIII 248. (11) AlUo, OaUhg*l* -rf Oohu tf tk$ Oupkt 

IUfMlIlk p. exxx. (12) Fleet,! DjfWrtiMoi o/ tht Pl«trleto, m. 1(13) 4., VI 83. 

(14) jr4*<lfM*DWfWA ?9|. I 
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It may be surmised from this that the early Kadambas had probably no era of 

their own. Nor was an era ever instituted by the Imperial Pallavas whose 
supremacy was acknowledged by several members of Mayura^arman’s family. 

The only imperial line that did establish an era, and is known to have come 
into intimate contact with Kakusthavarman of the Hahi record, is the Gupta. 
As early as 1894 B. Lewis Rice discovered an inscription on a pillar at Talagunda 

in Mysore which records that Kakusthavarman gave his daughters in marriage 
to the Gupta and other kings. 

Gupt-ddi-pdrthiva-kul-dmburuha-athaldni 

snPJi-ddara pranaya-sambhrama hPsardn i 

!^'rlmanty-anPka-nripa-!ihatpada-sevitdni 

yO'bodhayad dhtiliHTi'd’ldhitihhirnvip'^rkkah 

“The sun of a king by means of his rays—his daughters-caused to expand 
the splendid lotus-groups-the royal families of the Gupta and others, the 

filaments of which were attachment, respect, love and reverence (for him), and 
which were cherished by many bees—the kings (who served them)**.^^ 

If the year 80 of the Halsi grant is referred to the Gupta era it places 

the Yuvaraja Kakusthavarman in or about A. D. 400 and makes him a 
contemporary of the emperor Chandra Gupta II. The result accords with the 
chronological scheme based on references to the Kadambas in the inscriptions of 

the early Chalukyas of Vatapi, The use of the Gupta era at Halsi is by no 

means improbable in view of the fact that Kumara’s coins have been found in 
large number at Satara, and the name of his father, who was ruling in the 
years 61 to 93 of the Gupta era, figures prominently in inscriptions of the 

Dharwad District as the progenitor of a line that governed the Banavasi country 

in (he twelfth century A. D. Attention may also be invited in this connection 
to a passage in the Gdthdsaptasati,^^ attributed to an early king of Kuntala, 
which shows familiarity with the deeds of Vikaramaditya. 

If the Halsi record of the year 80 is really dated in the Gupta era it may 

afford a clue to the identity of the Gupta ruler who accepted the hand of 
Kakustha’s daughter. Rice identified the Gupta king of the Talagunda inscrip¬ 

tion with Samudra Gupta.'" That great emperor no doubt penetrated deep 

into southern India and received presents of maidens {bany*opdyana-ddna) from 
several kings. But amongst these potentates the Kadambas of Halsi are 

conspicuous by their absence. Prof, G. Jouveau-Dubreuirs suggestion'^ that 
the king referred to is Narendrasena, grandson of a daughter of Chandra 
Gupla II, is not plausible. There is no apparent reason why Narendrasena, a 

Vaka^ka king, should be referred to as a Gupta pdrthiva. In a mutilated 

(15) Ktelhorn in /I?, f., VITI 33-S6. (16) V. 64- (17) Uffion tmd Ooorg fr^m Intoripti^na, 23. 

(18) 4.H.A,pp.75, lOp. ^ 
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inscription*® of Skandn Gupta discovered at Bihar there is apparently a reference 
to KumSra Gupta’s marriage with the sister of a person who had won fame by 
his efforts {KhyStal), sva-Hrtty^l) and who was apparently the son of another 

individual described as a very moon of a man (nfi-chandra), equal in prowess 

to the god Vishnu (Indr^nuja-tutya-vlryya). It is clear that Kumara married 

the daughter of a great warrior who is compared to the moon, and the sister of 

a renowned person, the fame of whose deeds had spread to Magadha. It is 
interesting to note in this connection that Kakustha who gave his daughter in 

marriage to a Gupta king, receives in the Talagunda inscription the epithet 

sendnl-bfikad-anvaya-iyoma-chandramA,^^ ‘a mcon in the firrnam nt of a great 
line of generals,’ One of his sons, Krshnavarman I, won great renown b)- his 

military exploits {aneka'Satnara‘Sarhkat-oPalabdha vijayaklrttlh)P 

It has, however, to be admitted that the hints in the Bihiir inscription 

are of too dubious a character to enable us to identify the Kadamba Kakustha- 

varman and his son with the personages mentioned as the father and brother 

of Kumara Gupta’s wife. The mutilated character of the inscription makes 
it impossible to find out whether more recognizable epithets were used in 

reference to these mysterious individuals. There is, however, one passtige in 

the Devagere plates®® of the Kadamba YuvaHija Devavarman which may be 

taken to suggest that his father MaMrdja Sri Krshnavarman (regarded by 

scholars as a son of Kakustha) was possibly a contemporary of Prabhavati 
Gupta, the Vakataka queen, who was step-sister of Kumara Gupta I. The 
Devagere plates represent Krshnavarman as “enjoying his heritage after attacking 

persons born qf a Naga or Nagas’’ {Ndgajdn-dkramyadHy-GnubhTUa.)^^ Some 

scholars find here a reference to the petty Naga chiefs of Northern Mysore. 

But it is impossible to believe that they were a serious menace to the heritage 

of the Kadambas during this period. Epigraphic evidence indicates that the 

power that constituted a real danger to Kuntala in the fourth and fifth centuries 

A. D. was the Vakataka. Prthvishena I Viikataka vanquished the king of 

Kuntala. His daughter-in-law Prabhavati, as is well known, was a daughter 
of Kuveranaga who was born of the Naga family (Ndga-kul-utpanrtSf by Chandra 

Gupta II, and is described as ubhayahuldlaiikdrabhfUd, “an ornament of both 

the families’’ (Gupta and Naga).®* She presided over the destinies of 

considerable portions of the Deccan plateau, first as the chief queen (agramahishi) 

of Radrasena II Vakataka, son of Pfthvishena I, and then as regent on behalf 

of her sons Divakara and Damodara. She is never credited with any victorious 
exploits in Kuntala. She must have lost whatever preponderance her father-in^ 

lUoTo^TTnl^ (20) E. r, VllI 31. (21) Bumahaiu Plate. E. 1. VI. 18. (22) t. A. VII 33-34. 

(23) Some of the letten in the tfet are no donbt difficult to read. Bat Fleet prefers the reading 
given abova ' (24) MobhrtjadlirSja Sri Cbandragnptaeya dntaitS DhSrana sagotrS NSgakulOtponnlySm 

KuberulgadevySmntpaanl nbhayalmlSlankirabbQtS ). A S- 1024, 58. ^ 
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law bad won over that country, and the Kadambas must have “regained their 

heritage”, probably under K^^shnavarman I who is said to have celebrated the 

horse sacrifice and possessed the eh&tapatra or sole umbrella indicative of 
universal sovereignty. We have here possibly a clue to the interpretation of the 

passage of the Devagere Plates quoted above—passage that puzzled*Fleet, the 

editor of the record, the latter found no apparent reason why persons of Naga 

descent should be referred to here. 

The evidence to which we have invited attention is not clear in all cases. 

Nevertheless the mention of the Gupta Pdithiva-kula in the Talagunda inscription, 

the find of a large hoard of Kumilra’s coins at Satara and the references to 

Chandra Gupta Vikramaditya possibly in the Gatha SaptasatT and the records 

of the Rashtrakiitas and certainly in the epigraphs of the Gupta rulers of Banavasi 

tell their own tale. They leave no room for doubt that the imperial Guptas, 

particularly Chandra Gupta II and Kumara Gupta I, had intimate relations, social, 

commercial and political w^th the laud of the Kuntalas in the fifth century A. D. 

THE PURDA SYSTEM. 

Prof. A. S. Altekar. Benares Hindu University. 

Considerable discussion is going on as to whether the Purda system was 

prevalent in ancient India or not. There is a divergence of opinion on the 

point. Some hold that it was quite unknown in the pre-Muslim days. Others 

maintain that Hindu ladies were accustomed to wear veils even before the 

advent of the Mohammadens. The available evidence on the point is of a dubious 

nature and can be manipulated to support either view. It therefore requires 

a very careful scrutiny. 

There is no doubt whatever that the Purda system was quite unknown 

down to the beginning of the Christian era. In Indo-Iranian times women 

could move quite freely in society, and manage the family farms if necessary*. 

The same was the case in the Vedic age. We also know already that girls were 

often educated along with boys, aa is clear, for instance, from the education 

of Lava and Ku&i along with Atreyi. It would appear that co-education 

was not unknown even in the 8th century A. D. for, in his MSlatimadhava, 

Bhavabhuti represents Kamandaki as being educated along with Bhiirivasu and 

Devaigta % n ^ ^ 

Act I). There is also ample evidence to show that love marriages wore taking 

(1) Dowsod, EUtM HtUgitm oj ^toraa(«r, p, 153- 
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place not infrequently; youths could approach their sweethearts to win their 

love. Youths and maidens would often go together to see shows and sports. 

All this would not have been possible if the Purdah system had been observed 

in society ^y maidens. 

Nor did the things change after the marriage. The Vedic marriage hymn 

requires the bride to be shown to all the assembled guests {R. V., X, 85, 33). 

The hope was further expressed that the bride should be able to speak with 

composure in public assemblies down to her old age^. The presence of 

ladies in social and public gatherings was a normal feature in the Vedic age*. 

It was quite welcome to society. Whenever anything charming or graceful 

is to be described, Vedic poets usually think of the gaily attired lady going 

out for a function, as the standard object of comparison. (R. V., IV, 58, 7; 

X, 168, 2; etc.). From Nirukta, (c. 500 B. C.), we learn that ladies used to 

go out to public courts of law to establish their claims of inheritence rill, 5). 

There is no reference to any Purda arrangement being made for their attendance. 

Nor does R. V., I, 167, 3 contain any reference to the Purda system®. The 

ladle, now being dipped into the ghee pot and now being taken out, and 

brought forward to pour its contents into the sacrificial fire is compared in this 

verse to a lady, now remaining in the privacy of her house and now coming 

out in public to attend a meeting. 

The earliest reference to the Purda system is to be seen in the present 

version of the epics. There we see that some kind of Purda was observed in 

certain royal families, which felt probably on account of a notion of prestige, 

that royal ladies should not come within the gaze of vulgar eyes. At the 

time when Sita set out with her husband for the forest through the public 

thoroughfares of Ayodhya, a regret is expressed in the Ramayana that a lady 

who had so far not been seen even by the spirits of the sky, should now become 

the object of public gaze*. A similar observation occurs in the Mahubbarata 

also TAsramavasika parva, 16, 13). The Ramayana further observes that there 

is no objection if women come out in public on the occasions of marriages, 

Svayamvaras, sacrifices and public calamities.® It would follow from this that 

they were normally expected to remain in Purda, 

(*) i r. v., x. ss. ze. 

I A. V., XIV. 1, 21 

(2) 38151^ 811% 855; I 3®- * 

(3) *13 gfw ^81^ 8 I 

(41 8r 8 81881 381®^l8ivnafl8fir | 81881 8|8^8 818818881 881: || 

VI, 116, 28 
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< It would appear that all the three passages above referred to are 

interpolations of a kter age, when the Purda system was introduced in a few royal 

families. For the other data in the epics themselves go against the prevalence 

of the Purda. Thus when Kausalya, Kaikeyi and Sumitra go out to Chitrakuta 

to induce Rama to return to Ayodhya, they move in public without any veil. 

Sita herself feels no embarrassment of a Purda lady, when she is going out 

through the streets of Ayodhya. In the forest too, she is moving about without 

any veil. ' So the poet’s observation that she had not been seen even by 

the spirits of the sky is nothing but a poetic exaggeration to heighten 

the pathos of her banishment to the forest. Draupadi’s public appearance in 

the gambling hall pre-supposes an entire absence of the Purda. Neither KuntI 

nor GandhSri are seen to be observing it. In the story of king Poshya narrated 

in the Mahabharata (I, 1-3) we find the student Uttanka proceeding straight to 

the queen to her harem in order to beg her ear-rings for presenting them to 

his teacher’s wife. This would not have been possible if there were Purda 

in the king’s palace. Apart from the two verses referred to in the last paragraph, 

the epics show no aquaintance with the Purda system. They are therefore 

likely to be later additions, made with the desire to heighten the pathos of 

the departure to the forest of Sita and the Kaurava ladies. 

It would however appear that soon after the beginning of the Christian 

era a section of society began to advocate a greater seclusion of women. This 

was more particularly the case with royal families, where the notion began to 

prevail that royal ladies should not come within the public gaze. The earliest 

evidence of this view is to be found in the dramas of Bhasa (c. 200 A. D.). 

In his PratimO we find Sita coming on the stage with a veil, though it is sub¬ 

sequently. removed by her at the instance of her husband, who wanted to 

afford to the weeping citizens of Ayodhya a parting and perhaps the last glance 

of the princess, whom they adored so much. The widowed queens of Dasaratha 

are also seen in this drama to be wearing a veil, when they wanted to go out 

to see the gallery of royal statues in the capital. This prevents even Bharata 

from recognising them. In the SvapnavdsavadaM, princess Padmavati does 

not observe any Purda belbre her marriage; but after her marriage she does 

not like that her husband should have received the ambassador -from Ujjayini in 

her presence. The king however overrules her objection, pointing out that 

the elite of society would feel offended if the Purda was observed by the queen 

in their presence^. 

It would thererore appear that by about 300 A. D. some royal families 

were beginning to think it desirable that their ladies should be seen only by 

(t) nst i ii 

Act (VI) 

7 
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the select few; otherwise they should put on a veil. The royal example was 

being imitated by a few families in the richer and more fashionable sections 

in society; in the MriohohhakaHkam we find the courtesan Vasantaseng 

being offered a veil, when she was raised to the status of a respectable lady. 

This view was however confined to a small section of society and perhaps 

to one part of India. It began to appear as irrational to ladies in general, 

who began to oppose it with all their might. From the LalUavistOra we learn 

that when Gopa, the bride elect of the Buddha, was betrothed to him formally, 

she was advised to wear a veil. She refused to follow the course, observing 

that the pure in thought require no such artificial protection^. 

This rational opposition, which the Purda system was receiving from 

spirited ladies, resulted in the system not becoming popular for several centuries. 

It was perhaps prevailing in a few royal families, but their number was not very 
large. They were probably confined to a corner of northern India. Sculptures 

and paintings of ancient India do not anywhere show any veils over ladies’ faces. 

From the sculptures at Sanchi in Central India, it clearly appears that ladies 

in the 2nd Century B. C. could see a procession from the balcony of their houses 

without covering their faces with veils^. The same was the case in the Deccan 

during the 5th and 6th centuries as may be clearly seen from several paintings 

at Ajanta®. They supply further and more significant evidence to show that 

the Purda was altogether unknown in the Deccan at this timcj We find queen 

MayadevI seated in the open court by her husband’s side without any veil, when 

she is listening to the prophesy about her new born bibe*. The wise minister 

Vidhura Pandita delivers his sermon to royal ladies none of whom cares to 

veil her face before him®. Both at Sanchi and Ajanta we come across mixed 

throngs of men and women moving together in streets; ladies there are not 

however to be seen wearing any veils*. To show a veil round the face may be 
rather difficult for the sculptor but not surely for the painter. If therefore, 

we see even married ladies moving about in the public without any Purda, the 

conclusion becomes irresistible that it was hardly much in vogue even in the 

higher and fashionable sections of Hindu society. 

In Sanskrit dramas, we come across no traces of the Purda system. The 

plots of the SakuiitaUt, Mrichchhakatika and MdUtti'tnddhava for example would 

(1) lihr HlWSigfit ^ f|r I Her argument was ^ 

gffiwirff *ni: wirr dicvHl qqjt ytcftwr i 
(2) Coimingham, Trtt and 8*rp*tU ITorfMn PI. XXXIV 

(3) Yaxdani, Ajante, Part n, PI. XXIV 

(4) 1W4P1.XX . 
(3) ZM, Platea XXIIIV Ind XXXIX 
(6) IMA PI. XXIV, XXV; Cvnaiagham, PI. XXVII ^ 
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QOt bave been possible in the Purda ridden society. In the first Act of the 

Siakuntaia the maidens do not cover their faces with veils the moment they 

see Dushyanta. In the fifth Act Siakuntala no doubt appears with a veib but 

that is because she had donned it as a protection against the dust and 

weather during her journey. It was not doffed of by her for some time owing 

to her sense of bashfulness and embarrassment at her first public appearance 

before her husband. Her veil in the fifth Act therefore does not prove the 

existence of the Purda system. The plot of the Mfllatimddhava would not have 

been possible in a Purda society. 

Rajyasri, the widowed sister of Harsha, used to come out without a veil 

in her brother’s court. The Rdjatarangir^i gives an intimate picture of the 

life in Kashmir court and palace during the period 700—1150 A. D.; but we can 

nowhere get any references to the Purda in it. Abu Zaid, an Arabic traveller 

of the early 10th century, has noted that in most of the courts in India queens 

appeared in public without any veils. (Elliot and Dowson, I, p. 11). It is 

therefore clear that the Purda was confined to an infinitesimal section of the 

ruling classes. 

Though there was nothing like the modern Purda system in existence 

in Hindu society as a whole, there were certain restrictions on the movements 

of ladies. They could visit their friends and relations, but decorum required 

that they should not stay at their houses for the night, or when their business 

was over (Manu, IX, 13). They were to observe a certain amount of reserve 

in the presence of strangers. They could speak with merchants and doctors 

and transact the necessary business, but they were to be circumspect while 

dealing with unknown persons^. They could receive made guests, but they 

were relieved of this duty, if there were qualified male members of the family 

to discharge it. There were here and there some jealous husbands, who would 

not allow their wives to go out without their permission to see shows and 

amusements {Arthasastra, III, 3), but they were the exception and not the rule. 

Though there was no Purda system ladies who felt themselves to be in a 

rather helpless condition, would often not choose to go out in public. Such 

was the case of widows and maidens without proper guardians, and of married 

women, whose husbands had gone out on journeys. If it was necessary for 

them to work for their bread, Kautilya lays down that the Superintendent of 

the Weaving Department should make arrangements to send cotton to their 

homes for being spun into thread. They were not required to go to his office 

unless they chose to do so (II, 23). When they moved out or had to converse 

with strangers they used to put on a veil. When their guardians returned, they 

used to discard it. 

Swkha in Aparmrka or Yiq. 1, SI, 
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To conclude we find that even in pre*Mu3lim times thore was a section 

in society from c 200 A. D., which advocated the use of the veil for royal ladies' 

with a view to increase their prestige. There is however no evidence to ‘prove 

that even five per cent of royal families observed this custom during the Hindu 

period. Women of richer classes led a more shdtered life than what would 

be wdcoined by the educated ladies today. This is shown by the term antahpuram 

‘inner apartment* used to denote the female apartments. Strangers were not 
expected to enter it. Ladies themselves would often retire Into seclusion, when 
they found that their natural guardians were not with them. With the return 

of their guardians, they would again begin to move in public, of course with 

due regard to decorum and propriety. 

Even in the Kathdsaritsdgar, written towards the end of the 11th century 
A. D., there are hardly any traces of the Purda. In the story of Arthalobha 
(III, 286) we find a lady participating in mercantile business. Polygamous 

kings occasionlly attempted to introduce some seclusion in their harems but 

they were strongly and successfully opposed by their queens. Thus in the story 
of Ratnaprabha, we find the heroine protesting to her husband against 

his order prohibiting his friends from entering her apartments. ‘1 consider’ says 

she, ‘that the strict seclusion of women is a folly produced by jealousy. It is of 
no use whatsoever. Women of good family are guarded by their own Virtue.’* 

There are absolutely no traces of any Purda observed within the family 

in the Hindu period. It was the regular duty of a daughter-in-law to pay her 

respects to elderly relations by bowing at their feet. There is nothing whatsoever 

in our tradition or literature to suggest that the father-in-law or the elder 
brother-in-law could not see the face of the daughter-in-law or the younger 

sister-in-law. 

The general adoption of the Purda system by the ruling and aristocratic 

families of the Hindu society is subsequent to the advent of the Muslim role. 

It was accepted by the Hindu society partly in imitation of the manners of the 

conquerors and partly as an additional protection for the women folk. In the 

Muslim ruling families tbs Purda was so strict , that a message had to pass 

through three intermediaries before it could reach the d^ired person in the 

zenana (J. A. S. B., 1935, p. 246). The Hindu chiefs and nobles followed the 
example of their overlords in their own harems. This happened almost universally 

in northern India, where the Muslim rule and culture were dominant for a long 

time. In the Deccan, the Muslim influence, was stiperficial, and so the Pttrda 
system did not victimatise the Hindu society there. It was however introduced 
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by tiie^ Marathi^ ruling familiee with a desire to render themselves as respectable 

as the Muslim rulers, whom they had supplanted. 

There were some further causes to facilitate the general adoption of the 
custom at about 1200 A. D. As a rule Hindu women at this time were 

illiterate and inexperienced. The times were unsettled. There was a general 
feeling of uncertainty and Hindu life and honour did not count for much in the 

eyes of the conquerors. The Purda afforded some additional protection to 

inexperienced ladies while out on journey from the covetous eyes of an 

unscrupulous soldiery. It was therefore welcomed by Hindu women. They 

did not protest against it as Ratnaprabha had done before. 

The Purda system became quite common among rich Hindu families of 

Bengal and United Provinces in the l5th and the 16th centuries.. Both 

Vidyapati and Chaitanya refer to it. When the wives of Raja Rudra Pratap 
Singh of Puri came to see Chaitanya, they travelled in covered litters. In 

Rajputana the custom became universal in Rajput ruling families. It was 

regarded as an inseparable insignia of respectability and high breeding. The 
vast majority of peasant and working class women could of course not afford 

to remain in seclusion, they had to move out for their daily work. They used 

to move the lapel of their faces when a stranger passed by them. 

The sibove survey of the history of the Purda system would show that 

the system was practically non-existent in Hindu society down to the beginning 

of the 11 th century A. D. Women in ancient India could take a fair part in 

social life around them. They could move about with a fair degree of freedom 

in the earlier period. They could go to temples and monasteries to listen to 

religious discourses. They could go to see shows in the company of their friends 

and lovers. These visits afforded convenient opportunities to young people to 

settle their marriages. In urban areas they could go out to public parks for 

sport and recreation. A fifth century inscription describes the parks of the city 

of Mandsore in Central India as full of young ladies singing gleefully. In the 

.Ramayana we are told that when peace and order prevail in society, maidens 

go out in the evening to gardens for play and recreation (II, 67, 17). Ladies 

in fashionable circles could even take part in dramas that were to be shown to 

a limited audience. The situation gradually changed with the lowering of the 

marrisge age. Inexperienced and uneducated wives became incapable of taking 

part in many of the activities mentioned above. Soon husbands began to claim 

and exercise a greater control over their Wives, which proved detrimental to 

their participation in the social life and activities outside their families. Jealous 

husbands with narrow outlook would not allow their wives to mix freely 

with the outside world, 'this created an atinosphere favourable for the spread 
cli the theory that women should lead a life of seclusitm. During the perio<i[ 
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however the theory found acceptance only in a small number of ruling 

families. With the advent of the Muslim rule, it gained a powerful impetus 

owing to the culture and example of the conquerors. Women were at this time 

ill-fitted to fight for their earlier freedom on account of their inexperience and 

ignorance and submitted to the new order. 

TWO PARIKSHITAS AND THREE JANAMEJAYAS IN THE 

PAURAVA DYNASTY. 

Prof. Gulshan Rai, Sanatan Dharma College, Lahore. 

According to the Indian tradition Pururava, the founder of the Chandra* 

bansi rule in India, established his kingdom at Pratishthana, not far from Prayag, 

modern Allahabad. On his death his kingdom was divided into three parts, 

that of Kashi in the East, of Prathishthana in the centre, and Kanyakubja of-*' 

Kanauj in the north. The great-grandson of Pururava, Yayati, is supposed to 

be a great king. His kingdom is supposed to have extended from the 

Vindhyachals in the south, to the Saraswati in the north. He divided his 

kingdom among his five sons. The eldest Yadu obtained the territory in between 

the Chambal and the Nerbudda, the second son Turvasu was given Bundelkhand 

and Rewah, the youngest Puru got the original' ancestral territories of 

Pratishthana, the third, Druhyu was allotted the lands in between the Jumna and 

the Aravalli Hills, and Anu the fourth son received the territories round about 

Cawnpore. At Pratishthana, Puru was succeeded by his son Janamejaya. In the 

Puranas we find that after Puru there was a regular succession of kings for 13 

generations at Pratishthana. But it seems in the meantime the kingdom established 

by Yadu in Malwa had become more important. Some 12 or 13 generations after 

Puru, his Paurava kingdom at Pratishthana seems to have been conquered by the 

Yadavas. It appears the Pauravas took refuge with their kinsmen, the Turvasas, 

in the hilly regions of Bundelkhand. Some 15 generations after the overthrow 

of the Paurava kingdom at Pratishthana, it appears the kingdom of Kanauj also 

collapsed, and fell under the sway of the Yaday^. In the meantime the Druhyus 

were driven from Eastern Rajputana, and they now established themselves in 

Afghanistan, and the Anus too were forced to leave the upper Gangetic Doab, 

and establish themselves in.the Punjab and Sind. Thus the Yadavas became 

quite suiM’eme in Malwa, Raj{mtana, Gujrat-Kathiawar and the Gangetic Doab, 

and they also sfvead intq the Deccan. After this, their only serious rivqls 

were Ayodbya, Kabsi, VideluC nad Vaisali, in the east. It was a struggle for 
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supremacy mainly between the Chandravanshis and the Suryavanshis. But it 

appears the victories of Sagar, the great king of Ayodhya, turned the tide, and 

the Yadavas were eventually defeated and repulsed. We are told that Sagar 

drove the Yadavas and their offshoot the Haihayas right upto the banks of the 

Nerbudda. After this the Yadavas were not able to re>establish their power in 

the Doab. On the withdrawal of the Yadavas, the Pauravas again obtained the 

opportunity of being restored to power at Pratishthana. The first Paurava king 

to re-establish himself at Pratishthana was Dushyanta, the husband of the well 

known Sakuntala. Bharata the son of Dushyanta is supposed to have made 

many conquests, and his descendants were hereafter known by the name of the 

Bharatas, just as the descendants of Puru were called the Pauravas. We have 

now again a regular succession of kings for about 10 generations in the line of 

Bharata. They seem to have become master of the entire Gangetic Doab, from 

the Vindhyachals right upto the banks of the Saraswati in the north. It was 

towards the end of this period that king Hastin founded Hastinapur in the 

present Meerut district. The kingdom of Hastin seems to have been divided 

into four parts. One was probably in Kumaon, the second in Rohilkhand 

(Uttara Panchala), the third in Meerut and Ambala Divisions, known by the 

name of the kingdom of Hastinapur, and the fourth in the mid-Gangetic Doab, 

more or less in the present Agra Division east of the Jumna (known by the 

name of South Panchala). But it appears the Hastinapur kingdom was soon 

eclipsed after the death of Ajamidha, son of Hastin. For about 20 generations 

after the death of Hastin it appears the most important of these four Bharata 

kingdoms was that of the North Panchalas. During these many genertions 

very few kings of the Hastinapur kingdom are known. But towards the end of 

this period we find that King Sudasa of the North Panchalas in his Dasha-Rajya 

Sangram, war of ten kings, defeats king Samvarana of Hastinapur, and drives 

him out of his kingdom. We are told that Samvarana after this, takes refuge 

in Sind, and lives for many years on the banks of the Indus. In Mahabharata, 

Adi Parva, Chapter 94, verses 35—40, we are told "O king, it has been heard by 

us that when Samvarana, the son of Riksha, was ruling the earth, th ;re occurred 

a great loss of people on account of famine, plague, draught, and disease. The 

Bharata princes were defeated by the armies of their enemies; and the Panchalas, 

set out with their four kinds of troopr.to conquer the earth. They soon brought 

the whole earth under their sway, antr with their ten Akahiuhinis of soldiers the 

king of the Panchalas defeated the princes of Bharatas. Samvarana then fied 

in fear with his wife and ministers, sons and relatives. He took shelter in the 

forest on the banks of the river iSindhu which extended upto the foot of the 

mountain*'. A little further on, the Mahabharata tells us that with the assistance 

of Vasistha, the Paurava or Bharata king Samvarana regained his kingdom. It 
ai^iears after the death of Sudas the kingdom of Panchala began to decline, and 
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it was pri^bly in the time of Somaka,the grandson of Sudasa^that the Paoravaa 
regained Hastinapur. This Samvarana had a son, named Kuru, and it was after 
his name that Amballa Division began to be called Kurukshetra. Since the 

kingdom was re-established by Kuru, his descendants were known by the name 

of the Kauravas. From this time onward right up to the time of the Mahabharata 

War they are called Kauravas. From Kuru right upto Arjuna, the great 

Pandava hero, there are counted some 20 generations. The immediate successor 

of Kuru on the throne of Hastinapur was Parikshita. More than 20 generations 

after that there is said to be another Parikshita, son of Abhimanyu, and grandson 

of Arjuna. Then again Parikshita, son of Kuru, has a son named Janamejaya, 

and we are told that Parikshita son of Abhimanyu has also a son named 

Janamejaya. Doubts have been raised as to whether in this Paurava dynasty 

after Kuru there has been only one Parikshita and one Janamejaya, and not two. 

A questirm also arises as to whether both of these Parikshitas and Janamejayas 

were historical personages, or only one, and if the latter is the case which are 

historical, the earlier ones or the later ones ? Now let us take the Parikshita, 

who was the son of Kuru, and his son Janamejaya. In Rigveda Mandal VII, 

Sukta 18, verse 12 we are told that the famous and the old Rishi Kavasha was 

drowned in the Parushni (or Ravi) in the ten King’s War of Sudas. Now this 
Kavasha Rishi was the author of Rigvedic Hymns^ 30, 31, 32, 33, and 34 of 

Mandal X. From these Hymns it appears that he was the family priest of 

Trasadasyu, son of Parukutsa, and also of Kurushrava, a descendant of^ 

Trasadasyu. We know that Trasadasyu was a contemporary of Divodasa 

Atithigwa, a king of Panchala. 

This Trasadasyu is also a Rigvedic Rishi of Sukta 42 Mandala IV. His 

contemporary Divodasa was five generations above Sudasa who was an elder 

contemporary of the Paurava king, Samvarana. Tura Kavasheya was therefore 
a priest of Janamejaya, the grandson of Kuru, and not of Janamejaya the 

grandson of Abhimanyu. The priest of the latter was Indrota Daivapi Saunaka, 

who was son of Devapi the brother of Sanatanu, the great grandfather of 
Arjuna. In the Satap>atha Brahmana Kanda XIII, Adhyaya V and Brahmana 

IV, the first Sloka refers to Janamejaya, the son Parikshita II, and grandson 

of Abhimanyu. In the 2nd and 3rd Slokas of the same Brahmana the author 

refers to Janamejaya II, son of Parikshita 1 and grandsmi of Kuru. In the 

4th Sloka reference is made to Para the son of Atnara a king of Koshala (Sravasti). 

In the Stb Sloka, reference is made to king Purukutsa of Ayodhya. In this way 

different kings are mentioned in the different slokas of the Brahmana. 

Take the Aitareya Brahmana. In Book IV, Soma Sacrifice, Tura 
Kavai^^a is mentioned p the priest of Janamejt^ya. This most be Janamejaya II 
son of Pafil»|)4« 4r Tjxma^m >u 3ooh y4, Kajamya SacrjUce, Ch«pttf" V, 
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three kings,are mentioned in connection with three priests. Vishwantara son of 
Susadmana is mentioned in connection with Rama Margaveya of the Cyapernas. 

King Janamejaya, son of Parikshita, is mentioned in connection with the 

Asita-Mrigas of the Kashyapas. We are told that Dhaumya, the family priest 
of the Pandavas, was of the Kashyapa clan. So this Janamejaya must be 
Janamejaya III, son of Parikshita II, or grandson of Abhimanyu. Lastly Tura 

Kavasheya is mentioned in connection with Janamejaya, the son of Parikshita. 
This second Janamejaya was, I submit, Janamejaya II, son of Parikshita I, or 

grandson of Kuru. In this Brahmana, several other kings are mentioned in 
connection with their family priests, but we are not concerned with them just 
at present. Lastly in Book VIII of Aitareya Brahamana, Rajasuya, Chapter IV 
Mahabhisheka of Kings, we are told that Tura Kavasheya anointed king 

Janamejaya, son of Parikshita, with Aindra Mahabhisheka. It was on this 
occasion that at Asandivant, the sacrificial horse was bound. The same incident 

is mentioned in Satapatha Brahmana Kanda XIII, Adhyaya V, Brahmana IV, 
verse 2, cited above. So this Janamejaya must be Janamejaya II, son of 
Parikshita I, or grandson of Kuru. Here also several other kings are mentioned 

in connection with their family priests, but we are not concerned with them now. 
In the Atharva Veda Book XX, Sukta 127, a Parikshita Kauravya is 

mentioned. He is certainly Parikshita I, son of Kuru. In the Atharva Veda 

Hymn we are told that “mounting his throne, Parikshita, best of all, hath given 
us peace and rest.” Now this could not be said about Parikshita, son of 
Abhimanyu, because it was not he who had given to the country, peace and 
rest, but his grandfather, Arjuna, the Pandava hero. 

In Gopatha Brahmana Purvardha, 2 (5), it is the earlier Janamejaya who 

is mentioned, and in Uttarardha 6 (12) it is again Parikshita, the son of Kuru 
who is mentioned. 

In the same way in the Sankhyayana Srauta Sutra, XII, 17, it is Parikshita, 
son of Kuru, who is mentioned, and not Parikshita, son of Abhimanyu. 

It seems in the whole range of Vedic literature, Parikshita II, son of 
Abhimanyu, is mentioned only once in Satapatha Brahmana, Kanda XIII, 

Adhyaya 5, Brahmana IV, verse 1, and Janamejaya III, son of Parikshita 
II, is also mentioned once in the Aitareya Brahmana, Book VII, Rajasu}^ 
Sacrifice, Chpater V. All other references to Parikshita in the Vedic literature 

are to the eariler Parikshita I, son of Kuru, and all other references to 

Janamejaya in this literature are to the earlier Janamejaya II, grandson of Kuru. 

It seems the confusion has arisen out of the statements that we find in 

the Vishnu Parana IV 21 (1), in the Bhagwata Purana 16 (2), and in 
Mahabharata Adi Parva, Chapter 3. Vishnu Purana tells us “I shall now give 
you an apeount of the future kings. who is the sovereign now shall havQ 

8 
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four sons, namdy, Janamejaya, Srutasena, Ugrasena, and Bhimasena.” 
Bhagwata Purana tells us “Parikshita married Iravati, the daughter of Uttara, 
and by her had four sens, Janamejaya and others. But if we consult other 

Puranas, we do not find any mention of the brothers of king Janamejaya, 

grandson of Abhimanyu. Garuda Purana tells us “and Abhimanyu was the 

father of Parikshita, whose son was Janamejaya.” (Chapter 160). In the Matsya 

Purana, we find “Parikshita, the conqueror of enemies, towns, was the son of 

Abhimanyu, and became the father of Janamejaya, the pious.” (Chapter 50 

(57). In the Agni Purana it is stated, that “Arjuna begot Abhimanyu on 

Subhadra, while Parikshita was son of Abhimanyu.’’. It does not mention 
Janamejaya. (Chapter 278 (39).) In the Vayu Purana it is written, that “Rathi 

Partha’s (Arjuna’s) son from Subhadra was Abhimanyu. Abbimanyu’s son 

from Uttara, the daughter of Virata, was Parikshita. From Parikshita was 
descended Janamejaya. (Chapter 90 (249-50).)” In the Harivansha, we find, 
“When the sacrifice was finished, Parikshita's son Janaraeja\a, collected material 

for the celebration of a horse sacrifice.” 
In the Mahabharata, there are given two dynastic acoo\ints of the kings 

of Paurava dynasty, one in Chapter 94 and the other in Chapter 95 of the Adi 

Parva. In Chapter 94 we find the following statement:—“As Kuru was greatly 
virtuous, he was installed as the king by all the people. It is after his name 

that Kurujangala has become so famous in the world. That great ascetic made 

Kurukshetra famous by his asceticism, there. We have heard that Avikshita, 

Abhishyat, Chaitraratha, Muni, and famous Janamejaya, were the five sons begot 

by him on his highly intelligent wife, Vahini. Avikshita begot Parikshita, 

powerful Savalashwa, Adiraja, Viraja, greatly strong Salmali, Uchaishrava, 
Bhangakara,,and the eighth Jitari. In the race of these eight heroes were born, 

as the fruits of their many virtuous acts, seven greatly powerful car-warriors, 

Janamejaya, being at the head. Parikshita had sons who were all learned 
in Dharma and Artha. They were Kakshasena, Ugrasena, and greatly effulgent 
Chitrasena, Indrasena, Sushena, and Bhimasena. Here in this account Ugrasena, 

Susena, and Bhimasena, are shown to be the brothers of Janamejaya, and grandsons 
of Kuru. The first account in Chapter 94 ends with Sanatanu, great grandfather 

of Arjuna. It does not mention Parikshita as son of Abhimanyu, or as grandson 
of Arjuna. Now let us take the account given in Chapter 95. Here we are 

told “Samvarana married Tapti, the daughter of Vivaswata, and she gave 

birth to a son, named Kuru. Kuru married Subhangi, the princess of Dasaratha, 
and she gave birth to a son, named Viduratha. Viduratha married Sungpriya, 

the daughter of Madhava, and she gave birth to a son, named Atiaswa. Anaswa 

married Amrita, the dai^hter of the Mahavas, and she gave birth to a son, 
named Parikshita. Patikshita married Sujasa, the daughter of Vahuda, and 

she gave birth to a son, named Bhimasena (37«41). Continuing this actmnnt, 
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the Mahabharata tells us “These were the 11 sons, begot by the Pandavas. 

Amongst them Abhiinanyu was the perpetuator of the dynasty. He married 

Uttara, the daughter of the king of Virata. She gave birth to a dead child, 

whom Pritha (Kunti) took up on her lap at the command of Krishna, who 

said, “I will revive this child of six months.” Though born before time, having 

been burnt by the fire of the weapon hurled by Ashwathama, though deprived 

of life, strength, and energy, he was revived by Vasudeva and was given strength, 

energy, and prowess. After thus making him alive, Vasudeva said, “As this 

child is born in an extinct race, let him he called Parikshita”. Parikshita 

married Madravati, your mother, and she gave birth to you, Janamejaya. You 

have begotten two sons on your wife Vapustama, named Satanika, and 

Sankakarna*'. It will be noticed that in Chapter 95 no brothers of Janamejaya 

are mentioned. But apart from these two dynastic accounts, Parikshita and 

Janamejaya are mentioned in other parts of the Mahabharata also. Take 

for example Chapter 3 of Adi Parva. If we look into this account carefully, 

we will find that it can be split into two separate accounts. The first 

part of the account is given in verses 1—22. Here we are told that 

“ The son of Parikshita, janamejaya, with his brothers was attending his long 

sacrifice in the field of Kurukshetra. His brothers were three, Srutasena, 

Ugrasena, and Bhimasena’* (1-2) This account agrees with what we are told 

in Chapter 94. This janamejaya is said to have appointed Somashrava, son 

of Srutasrava, as his family priest. He is also supposed to have conquered 

Takshashila. It appears there is a sudden break in the account after verse 22. 

In order to connect the account given in verses 1-22 with what appears later, 

verse 23 says ''About this time there was also a Rishi, named Ayuda-Dhaumya. 

He had three disciples, namely, Upainanyu, Aruni, and Veda.” Now Dhaumya 

was the family priest of the Pandavas, and his son, Ayuda was the priest of 

Janamejaya, son of Parikshita, and grandson of Abhiinanyu. Uttanka, who 

induced Janamejaya III to perform the Sarpa-Satra, was a pupil of Veda, who 

was a pupil of Ayuda-Dhaumya. At the conclusion of this part of the account 

we are told that “ The good Brahmana’s son (Uttanka) reached Hastinapur. 

Uttanka then went to see king Janamejaya, who had only recently returned 

victorious from Takshashila, He saw him seated surrounded by his ministers 

Both these parts of the account are given by Souti. It appears that it was 

Janamejaya II who went to conquer Takshashila, and it was within this account 

of the conquest of Takshashila that the account about the later Janamejaya 

and his family priest Veda, the pupil of Ayuda-Dhaumya was introduced by 

Souti, who must be a person later than Vaishampayana, the original reciter of 

the Mahabharata,^ before Janamejaya III. I am persuaded to think that 

these twolportions of the account'given in Chapter 3 of Adi Parva are separate 

And j^istinct. The result has been that Janamejaya II and Janamejaya III 
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have been mixed up. This account is certainly contradictory to what is stated 
in Chapters 94 and 95 of the same Parva. Then again take Chapter 49 of Adi 
Parva. In verses 17-18 of this Chapter it is written “ Your father ruled over 

his subjects for 60 years. When he died, all the people were extremely sorry. 

After him, O best of men, you have acquired this hereditary kingdom of the 
Kurus, who have been ruling over it for the last thousand years. O protector 

of every creature, you were installed when you were a child The word used 

is Bala. If by the time Janamejaya, the grandson of Abhimanyu, ascends the 
throne of Hastinapur, the Kurukula, or the descendants of Kuru, have been 
ruling in the kingdom for a thousand years, surely this Janamejaya cannot be 
the same Janamejaya who was grandson of Kuru himself. Here again this 

statement in Chapter 49 is contradictory to what is stated in Chapter 3, unless 

of course, as suggested by me we separate this account given in verses 1-22 
from the rest of the account in the Chapter. Janamejaya, son of Parikshita, 
is mentioned in another place of the Mahabharata also. Take Chapters 150-152 

of Shanti Parva. In these Chapters we are given the story of a Janamejaya, 

son of Parikshita, who was guilty of Brahmanicide, seeking the assistance of 

Indrota, son of Shunaka. This Indrota is said to have assisted Janamejaya 

in the performance of a horse sacrifice, whereby he was purged of the sin in 
killing a Brahmana. Let it be marked that this Indrota is the son of Shunaka, 
and he is not called Devapi’s son. In fact this story appears in a discourse 

given by Bhishma to Yudhishthira, soon after the battle of Kurukshetra. At 
that time Parikshita, the grandson of Arjuna was a mere baby, and Janamejaya 

who performed a horse sacrifice with the assistance of Indrota Daivapi Sbaunak 

was not even born. So this story of Janamejaya relates to Janamejaya II, son 

of Parikshita 1, and grandson of Kuru, and we must take Indrota Shaunaka 

to be a different person from Indrota Daivapi Shaunaka. From all this it 

appears that it was Janamejaya II, grandson of Kuru, who had three brothers 
Srutasena, Bbimasena, and Ugrasena. Janamejaya III, grandson of Abhimanyu, 

bad no brothers. In fact when his father Parikshita died he was a mere child. 

Later on when he is asked to take his revenge against Takshaka, and his Naga 

followers, he does not even know that bis father Parikshita II bad died at the 

hands of Takshaka. This becomes quite clear from Devi Bhagwata Purana. 
In Skanda II Chapter XI, it is written *' Seeing the king dead, and considering 

that bis son was a mere child who was unable to perform public duties, the 

ministers began to cry. They put the scorched body of the king on the funeral 

pyre of Chandana wood, on the banks of the Ganges. Having died a violent 
death, the purdiits first performed bis Durdhvadehaka karma by means of 

mantras. The Brabmanas were given gold and cows and many kinds of food 

stufis and clothes in charily. * They then put the child prince on the throne at 
an aui^Mcioos time. The people of Puru Deeb adtnowledged this child pr^ca 
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as their king. He was given the name of Janaraejaya as he was endowed with 

all kingly qualifications. Dhaya had given him education in all kingly duties. 

He then began to grow and become wise. In the 11th year the purohits taught 

him all branches of knowledge and he learnt them well. Kripacharya taught 

him archery, just as Drona had taught this subject to Arjuna, and Parusharama 

had taught it to Kama. He learnt this subject and became a powerful king 

and became a scholaV of the Vedas. He knew very well the meaning of the 

Dharmasastras. He began to rule with truth and virtue like Dharmaputra.*' (1-11). 

A little latter in the same Chapter Devi Bhagwata Purana tells us in 

connection with the interview of Uttanka Muni with Janamejaya “Uttanka 

said, O king, your father was killed by the evil minded Takshaka. Send for 

your ministers and learn from them how your father died. Suta said, having 

heard this the king enquired from his ministers. They said on account of 

the curse of the Brahmana, he was bitten by Takshaka, and died. Janamejaya 

said that then the curse of the Brahmana was the real cause of his 

death. Tell me O best of the Munis, how was Takshaka at fault in this? 

Uttanka said, that Kashyapa who had come to cure the king was bribed by 

Takshaka and turned back. O king then why is not he enemy on account of 

having killed your father ? He might have bitten the king, but why did he 

dissuade the Brahmana from curing him ? *’ (21—25). If uptill the arrival of 

Uttanka Muni, Janamejaya did not know how his father Parikshita died, then 

surely we can draw the inference that at the time of his accession to the 

throne of Hastinapur he was a mere child, or rather a baby, and therefore 

he had no brothers. The Janamejaya who had’brothers was not the Pandava 

Janamejaya, who was born after the battle of Kurukshetra, but a much earlier 

Janamejaya, who was the grandson of Kuru, some 20 generations before. 

There is one other reference I would like to notice. In Brhadaranyaka 

Upanishada, Chapter 3, Brahmana 3, Bhuj}u Lahyani asks Yajnavalkya as 

to “what had become of the Parikshitas" ? He replied “they had gone 

where the performers of Ashwamedha Sacrifice go“. From this question and 

answer, it is inferred that the Parikshitas had become extinct, or that some 

calamity had befallen them. Now we must remember that Yajnavalkya had 

been appointed by Janamejaya III as his priest, and that he was also in 

charge of the education of his son king Satanika. In the time of Yajnavalkya 

no calamity had befallen the descendants of^. Parikshita, who was son of 

Abhimanyu. The Puranas tell us that Kuru had three sons, Sudhanvana, Jahnu, 

and Parikshita. The Pandava Parikshita was a descendant of Jahnu, and the 

Magadha and Chedi lines werel derived from Sudhanvana. ^ The line of 

Janamejaya II, son of Parikshita I, had become extinct, and when Janamejaya 

11 on being cursed for Brahmanicide, left the kingdom, the succession passed 

pn ta Jahnu and his dc3C^q(J^^Qt^• In these circumstances then, Yajnavalkya 
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in answering the question of Bhujyu Lahyani, refers to the descendants of 
Parikshita I, and not Parikshita II. If we take all these references into 
consideration, we must come to the conclusion that there were in the Vedic 

period two Parikshitas, and at least two Janamejayas, Both these Parikshitas 

and also both these Janamejayas must be taken to be historical persons. But 
the first Parikshita and his son Janamejaya, lived some 20 generations before 

the second Parikshita and his son Janamejaya, the pious, as he is called. The 

earlier Janamejaya was cursed for Brahmanicide, and he and his descendants 
lost the throne. The later Janamejaya no doubt displeased Vaishampayana, 

but he took into favour Yajnavalkya. The curse of Vaishampayana was to 
the effect that the innovations introduced by king Janamejaya would not last 

beyond the life time of this king He is nowhere stated to have been guilty of 

Brahmanicide. Rather on the other hand he is given in the Puranas the title of 
“the pious.” The last point I would like to touch in this connection is the interval 

between the two Janamejayas. If we count the number of kings from 

Parikshita I to Parikshita II, given in the genealogical lists of the Puranas, 

we find that there are in this period more than 20 kings of Hastinapur. They are 

Parikshita I, janamejaya II, Jahnu, Suratha, Viduratha, Sarvabhauma Jayatsena, 

Aradhin, Mahabhauma, Ayutayus, Akrodhana, Devatithi, Riksha II, Bhimasena, 
Dilipa, Pratipa, Sanatanu, Bhishma, Vichitravirya, Pandu, Yudhishthira, 

Abhimanyu, Parikshita II, and Janamejaya III. There is some little confusion 

in connection with this list. In Chapter 95 of Adi Parva of the Mahabharata, 
the eight kings from Sarvabhauma to Riksha II, are put high up in the list even 

long before Kuru. The Brahma, Agni, and Harivansha omit these kings 

altogether. But the other Puranas put these kings in the position where I 

have put them. Thus Mahabharata statement is clearlj wrong, because some 

of the kings out of these eight are stated to have married the daughters of 

kings who at this early period had not been born at all. So we must consider 

the list as given above correct. Then again we must make an allowance for the 

fact that in these long lists comparatively unimportant kings are apt to be 

left out. The actual succession list therefore of kings of Hastinapur from 

Kuru to Janamejaya III, must be longer than 25. If the list extends to 30 

or 35, then the statement in the Mahabharata to the effect that up to the 

accession to the throne of Janamejaya III, the Kauravas had been ruling in 

Hastinapur for 1,000 years cannot be far from true. This puts the 

establishment of Kuru 1,000 years before the Mahabharata events. What is 
now necessary is to fill up this gap of a thousand yedrs in the history of 
India, before the battle of Kurukshetra. 
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The period of the Imperial Guptas has often be.n regarded as the golden 

epoch of Hindu history. It comprised the reigns of a number of long-lived and 

versatile sovereigns, who brought about the political unification of Northern 

India and ushered in an era of orderly Government and progress. Both inland 

and foreign trade flourished under their vigorous rule, and the wealth of the 

country multiplied to an enormous extent. In consequence of this material 

prosperity and internal security, there followed a tremendous development and 

promotion of religion, literature, art, and science. Here my object is not to 

discuss the various aspects and manifestations of this all-round activity due to 

the limitations of space and time; I would simply collect and collate the 

available data, in the main epigraphic, showing that the religious policy of the 

Imperial Guptas allowed people complete liberty in the choice of faith and 

outward forms of worship, although the monarchs themselves were staunch in 

their personal beliefs and practices. The first noteworthy feature of the Gupta 

age is that Brahmanism gradually rose into ascendancy. This was largely 

because it now occupied the position of the religion of the Royalty, but its 

wonderful elasticity and [)Owers of assimilation and recuperation were no less 

important factors in its ultimate triumph. Whatever be the causes, the revival 

of Brahmanism appears to have begun under the Bharasiva or Naga rulers, and 

Samudragupta gave it a further fillip when he solemnly performed the As'vatnedh^ 

(hosre-sacrifice), described in the epigraphs of his successors as ‘cirotsanna*^ 

The Allahabad pras'asti, which records his military exploits and 

attainments in the softer arts of music and poetry, calls him ‘the master of the 

real truth of the scriptures’^ and ‘the building of the pale of religion’^. 

Personally he seems to have been a devotee of the god Visnu, whose consort 

LaksmI figures on his coins. Support for this conclusion may also be found 

in the fact that Samudragupta had a marked attachim nt towards the emblem 

of Garuda the vdhatia (vehicle) of Visnu, as is evident from the ‘Garudadhvaja, 

on the standard type of his coins and the representation of the bird in relief on 

1. The expession 'cirotsaima' is generally taken to mean 'long in abeyance*. Aivamsdhat 

were, no doubt, celebrated by the Bharaiivas, V&ka^ka Pravarasena I, and other kings 

not very long before the time of Samudragupta, but the authors of the inscriptions may 

not have been aware of them. See, however. Dr. Krisnaswami Aiyangar {SMi^s in 

Qupta kishry, p p. 44-45) for a different interpretation of the word. 

2. Cf. *Sr*8tra-tattv-&rttha-bharttuh*; 0, L L, III, No. I, I, 5, pp. 6, 11. 

3. Cf* *Dhanna»prMra*bandhah*; IM., U 15, pp*6, 12* 
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the Gaya copper plated Indeed, the term ‘garutmad*anka’, occurring in the 

Allahabad pillar inscription,^ would even indicate that the symbol o{ Garu^a 

was adopted by Samudragupta on his official seal. His allegiance to a particular 

deity did not, however, mean any lack of broad-minded sympathies. We learn, 
for instance, from a Chinese source^ that during the reign of his Ceylonese 

contemporary, Siri Meghavanna (S'rl Meghavarna, A. D. 352-79), certain Buddhist 

Bhiksus went on a pilgrimage to Bodhgaya, where they met with little courtesy, 

and were hard put to it in securing a convenient lodging-place. On return home, 
they reported the matter to their king. Accordingly, he despatched a mission 

with costly presents to Samudragupta, seeking his permission to construct a 

Vihdra and a rest-house, near the famous Bodhi Tree, for the accommodation of 

monks and visitors from the island kingdom. The latter readily complied with 

the request, and thus showed his solicitude for the comforts or welfare of the 

votaries of other faiths.^ 

This benevolent attitude was maintained by his son, Chandragupta II 

Vikramaditya, who is the hero of many a popular song and legend as a doughty 

warrior and a patron of learning. Himself a ‘paramabhagavata’ or ‘a profound 
worshipper of Bhagavat (Visnu)’ according to the uniform testimony of inscriptions 

and coins, Chandragupta II afforded full freedom and protection to his subjects 
of all creeds in their religious pursuits and benefactions. That this policy was 

actually followed is also borne out by the recorded instances of the dedications of 

the images of the various gods. To begin with the Mathura pillar inscription®, 
which yields us the earliest date for him, viz., G. E. 61 = A. D. 380-81, it 

mentions the installation of a couple of S'aiva lifigas, styled Kapilesvara and 

Upamitesvara after the names of two previous teachers, by an individual 

Uditacarya in a hall containing other statues. Secondly, the Udayagiri cave 

inscription® of G.E. 82=A. D. 401-02, referring to the religious gift (dayadharma) 

of a Sanakanika chief Maharaja.dhala (?), a vassal of Chandragupta II, 

appears to have been engraved in honour of two groups of figures—a four-armed 

Vi^nu and a twelve-armed goddess (perhaps a variant form of LaksmI). The 

third document^ from the same place (Udaygiri), without date, records the 
excavation of a cave to serve as a sanctuary of the deity S^iva, here called 

S^ambhu, under the orders of one S^aba, otherwise named Vlrasena, belonging 

to the Kautsa goira. He hailed from Pataliputra, and was Chandragupta IPs 

1. Tbid., p. 254 (. The genuineness of this docnment is sometimes doubted. 

2. Ibid., 1. 24, pp. 8, 14. 

3- Sylvain Levi, ./eurnol Atiatiqu*, 1900. pp. 406, 411; V. A. Smith, 1902, pp. 192-97. 
'4. Politicaily, this exchange of communications led to the establishment of friendly relations 

between the Gupta Empire and Ceylon. 
3. Bp. Ini., XXI, pp. 1-9. 

6. 0,1. r., m. No. 3, pp.*r-25. 
7. IWA, No.6, pp. 34-h6. 
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Minister of peace and war by virtue of his hereditary descent (Cf. *anvaya-prapta- 

sScivyo vyaprita-sandhi-vigrahaU*). This is, no doubt, important information, 
and we ought to consider it along with another epigraph discovered at Sanchi 

and bearing the Gupta date 93=»A. D, 412-13^. It tells us of the grant of 
twenty-five dlndras and the village (or allotment) of Tsvaravasaka by 
S.mrakardava, the son of Undana, to the 5.rya-saihgha i. e., the community of 
the Bhiksiis of the great viMra of Kakanadabota (Sanchi). The object was 
to provide means for the feeding of a number of Buddhist monks and the 
burning of a lamp in the jewel-house (ratnagriha) for the increase of his own 

merit and that of Candragupta II. In the concluding lines, this Buddhist 
record says that anybody, who disturbs the endowment, will be invested with 
the guilt of ‘the slaughter of a cow or of a Brahman', besides incurring other 
sins. Does not such an imprecation imply that the Buddhists and the 
Brahmans had now come closer together in mutual esteem and concord ? 
Next, it is significant that, despite his Buddhist predilections, Amrakardava 
enjoyed an exalted military rank under Candragupta II, since the former is 
said to have ‘acquired banners of victory and fame in many battles* (Cf. ‘aneka- 
samar-avapta-vijaya-ya^s-paiakah*). Thus, if the cases of Virasena Baba, 
the Baiva minister, and of Amrakardava, the Buddhist general, furnish two 
typical examples, we may reasonably suppose that Candragupta II did not 
make the profession of any particular religibn the passport for state service, 
but one could aspire for, and hold, the highest offices in the realm without 
subscribing to the king's conscience. 

With regard to the position of Buddhism during the time of Candragupta II, 

Fa-hian’s account^ also throws some welcome light. Unfortunately, the 
pilgrim saw everything through Buddhist glasses, and his version may, therefore, 

be here and there coloured or exaggerated. Indeed, he was so engrossed in 
his studies and visits to Buddhist holy sites that he has even omitted to mention 
the name of the great Gupta potentate, in whose dominions he travelled for 

about six years (C. 405—11 A. D.). Fa-hian speaks enthusiastically about 
Buddhism and the ramifications of the Sarhgha. His narrative leaves the 
impression that the faith was ‘flourishing* in the Punjab and Bengal, both 

Candragupta IPs possessions, and it was gradually gaining ground in Mathura, 
where the pilgrim noticed twenty establishments. But in the Madhyades^a it 
did not widely prevail owing to the renaissance of Brahmanism, He observed 
just one or two monasteries only in each of its principal towns, and sometimes 
even none. In Pataliputra, the capital of Candragupta II, there existed two 
Sanghdramas one of Hinyana and the other of Mahayana, tenanted by six or 

seven himdred monks, whose learned expositions of the law attracted seekers 

1, 0. 1.1., Ill, No. 5, pp. a»-34. 

a. Beal, Th§ Traodi^ Fa-l^ion p, LV, 

9 
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after knowledge from all parts of India. Pa-hian further gives a vivid 
description of the magnificent processions of the decorated images of the Buddha 
and Bodhisattvas organised every year in the Metropolis on the eighth day of 

the second moon. On the whole, the pilgrim adds with admiration, the 

inhabitants of Magadha 'vied with one another in the practice of benevolence 

and righteousness.' The picture we get is generally pleasing, for all traces of 
any kind of persecution are absent, and the Buddhists confidently lived their 

own lives under the rule of a Vaisnava emperor. His treatment of the Jains 
must have been equally liberal, although no definite evidence for this assumption 

is yet forthcoming. At any rate, subsequent inscriptions testify to their 
prosperous existence. 

Candragupta II was succeeded by his son Kumaragupta I Mahendraditya 
in or about the year 414 A. D., the earliest known date of the latter 
beings G. E. 96 = A. D. 415 - 16. His object of adoration appears to 

have been Kartikeya rather than Visnu. This view may be supported b>' 
the fact that Kumaragupta issued certain gold coins with himself feeding a 
pea-cock on the obverse and Kartikeya riding on his ViJAa«a (p.aoock) on the 

reverse. Again, it is noteworthy that on the new silver coinage, which 

Kumaragupta I extended and introduced to the central parts of his empire, 
the usual Garuda of the reverse is replaced by a pea cock. That the worship 

of K&rtikeya was then current is also attested by the Bilsad (Eta district, U, P.) 

stone pillar inscription of G. E, 96 = 415 - 16 A. D.^ It states that in the 
‘augmenting victorious reign’ of Kumargupta I, a person named Dhruvasarman 

constructed at the shrine of Kartikeya, here called SvatuI Mahasena, a gateway 

with a flight of steps (pratoll) and established a sattra or hall for the 

distribution of charity. But Kumftragupta I did not seek to impose his religious 
convictions on the people. He continued the tolerant policy of his predecessors, 

and dedications or gifts were freely made during his reign to the different 
deities. This can be substantiated by a number of epigraphic documents. 
First, the Gangadhar (Jhalavad State) stone inscription (2) records that in the 

year 480 of the Kfita (Malava) era = 423 - 24 A. D. Mayurak^ka, the Uantrin 

(counsellor) or Vi^vavarman, who was probably a feudatory of Kumaragupta I, 

caused to be built by his sons, VisnubhatU and HaribhaUa, a lofty 

temple of the god Visnu. Th^ reference to the divine Mothers later in the 
same inscription suggests that there were also adherents of TSntricism or 
ffaktism. Another Vaisnava inscription is the newly discovered copper plate 

at Baigram (Bogra district, Bengal), dated G. E. 128 * 447 - 48 A. D., 

which mentions certain transactions by two brothers, Bhoyila and Bhaskara, 
for gtvmg a donation to meet t^e expenses of worship in the temple of 

(1) 0,11., in. No, lOf pp. 42 - 4S, 

(S) lW.,No. l7w».72-7». 
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Govindasvamin, evidently a name of Visnu ^ Passing on to the Mandasor, 
(Dasor, Western Malwa) stone inscription we learn that in the Malava 
year 493 = 437 - 38 A. D., while Kumaragupta I ‘was reigning over the 

earth’ (cf, ‘Kumaragupta prithivim prasasati’) and Bandhuvarman was governor 

at Dasapura, a guild of silk-weavers erected a noble edifice of the Sun-god. 

Originally they belonged to Lata (Southern Gujarat), and had migrated to 

Da^pura in the interests of their business. The next important epigraph, 

found at Karamdanda in the Fyzabad district, U. P., is incised on a stone 
and contains the date G. E. 117 = 436 — 37 A. D.*. It represents 

that Prithvisena, son of the Brahman S'ikharasvamin who was a inantrin 

(minister) and Kumdrdmdtya of Candragupta II, enjoyed the same titles 

under Kumaragupta I, and was subsequently promoted by his masters 

to the position of MahdbalddhikTita (commander-in-chief). The point to 
remember is that Prithvisena made gifts to some Brahmans of Ayodhya for the 

god Mahadeva, here known as Prithvisvara after the name of the donor. This 
rather long list of inscriptions surely reveals to us the popularity of certain 

forms of Brahmanism. Let us now take up the evidence for other faiths like 

Jainism and Buddhism. The earliest Jain inscription of the Gupta period 

seems to be the one incised at Udayagiri*. It is dated G. E. 106=425 - 26 A. D, 
in ‘the augmenting reign of the faimly of the best of kings, belonging 

to the Gupta lineage (Cf. ‘Guplanvayanaiu nripa-sattamanam rSjye’), who 
is doubtless identical with Kumaragupta I. We are told that a person 
named S'aihkara, born in the region of the north and a disciple of the Acarya 

Gosanuan, set up at the mouth of a cave the image of the Jina Parsva, the 

penultimate Tlrthamkara of the Jainas. He lived, according to tradition, 
about two and a half centuries before Vardhamana Mahavira. Similarly, 

another document^ registers that in the Gupta year 113 = 432 - 33 A. D. 

Samadhya, a lady, installed a Jain statue at Mathura, which was once a centre 

of Jainism in the Kushan times. These epigraphs as well as the following 

two prove that both Jainism and Buddhism were still living factors, and their 

followers did not suffer from any hindrance in their religious activities. Thus, 

the Mankuwar (Allahabad district, U. P.) inscription^, engraved on a stone 

pedestal, records the dedication, in order to ward off all evil, of an image of 

the Buddha, the enlightened one, by the Bhiksu Buddhamitra in the Gupta 

(1) HUtory of North-Baitom India, p. 53 etc. It may be added that the Damodarpar 

copper plates of Kum&ragupta I's time refer to the performance of Agnihotras and panca-mah&yajnas 

by the Brahmans. 
(2) 0.1.1., Ill, No. 18, pp. 79. 88. 

(3) Bj).ffal..X,p.70f. 

(4) 0.1.1., III.lNo. 61, pp. 258-60. 
(0) Sp, Ind., 11, p. aio. 

(6) 0.1.1, HI, No. 11, pp. 46—47. 
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year 129 as 448 - 49 A. D. The second inscription from Sanchi, dated G. B. 
131 = 450 - 51 A. D.i, informs us that an Upasika, Harisvamini, wife 

of the Vpdadka Sanasiddha, gave twelve dlndras as a permanent endowment 

(ak^ya-nivi) to the Arya-sarl%gha of the great vihdra of KSkanadabofa (Sanchi) 
for daily feeding one BhikM, new to the orders, out of the interest of the 

investment. It further mentions minor gifts for keeping the lamps lit in the 

ratna griha and the CatufBuddh-dsanas (seats of the four Buddhas). 
After Kumaragupta I’s death, his son Skandagupta Kramaditya acceeded 

to the throne, and he also wisely conformed to the established line of religious 

policy. As usual, the inscriptions of his time belong to diverse creeds, thereby 
indicating that a spirit of catholicity and amity was then abroad. Personally 

Skandagupta was a devotee of the god Visnu, whose image, according to the 

Bhitari (Ghazipur district, U. P.) stone pillar inscription*, he installed under 
the name S'arngin and allotted to it a village ‘in order to increase the religious 

merit of (his father). The Junagadh (Kathiawad) rock inscription® is 

likewise a Vaisnva record. Beginning with an invocation to Visnu, it says 

that in the Gupta year 138 = 457—58 A. D. Cakra[»lita, the governor of 

Girinagara, restored the embankments of the Sudar^na lake and erected a 

temple of the same god under the name Cakrabhrit. We get two other 
appellations of Visnu—Anantasvamin and Citraku^svamin—from the Gadhwa 

inscription of G. E. 148 = 467—68 A. D.*. Next, the Bibar stone pillar 

inscription® alludes to the worship of Skanda® or KSrtikeya and the 

divine Mothers. Besides the Gangadhar record, this document, too, bears 

testimony to the development and prevalence of S^akticism or Tantricism. 

Another Brahmanical epigraph of Skandagupta’s reign was found at Indrapura 

or Indor (Bulandshahr district, U, P.)^. It is dated G. E. 146=*465—66 

A. D., and its purpose is to commemorate a perpetual endowment made with 
the guild of oilmen (tailika-sreni) by a Brahman named Devavi^u to maintain 

daily out of its interest a lamp for the shrine of the Sun. But what is most 
striking is that Madra, who, according to the Kahaum (Gorakhpur district, U. P.) 

stone pillar inscription®, set up five images—apparently those on the niches 

of the column—of the Adikartfis or Jain TlrthaThkaras, representing Adinatha, 

B^antinatba, Neminatha, Parsva, and Mabavira, describes himself as 'full of 

(1) 0.1.1., No. 62, pp. 260— 

(2) 0.1.1., HI. No. 13, pp. 62—66. 
(3) IW4., No. 14, pp. 66—66. 

(4) 2M., No, 66. pp. 267—69. 
(6) JWi., No, 12, pp. 47—62. 

(6) It is carious the first cornttoneat o! each of the names, KahtlfKapta and SkandagntlUl, 
is a^nonymons with KWtikejra. 

(7) a**.. No. 16, pp, fA—n. 
(5) 0./.I.,m,No.l6.pp.6»-i«fi. 
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affection for Brahmans and ascetics* (cf *dvija-garu>yati§u prSya^afi pritiman 

yaly*). The respect, that Madra bore towards Brahmans and others, notwith¬ 

standing his Jainism, furnishes an excellent illustration of the liberal outlook 

of the age, and how even ordinary folk were animated by it. 

Not much is known of the successors of Skandgupta, but the few extant 

epigraphs faitly prove that toleration of all sects continued to be their guiding 

rule. The Bhitari seal inscription of Kumiragupta II^, which mentions 

between him and Kumaragupta I only two other rulers, Puragupta and 

Narsimhagupta, dropping out Skandagupta altogether, has got the figure of 

Garuda on its upper portion, and it may, therefore, be safely presumed that 

they ‘ were inclined towards Vaisnavism. However, the Mandasor inscription* 

refers to the worship of the Sun-god. We have already noted that this 

temple was first constructed at Dasapura (Dasor, Gwalior State) in the time 

of Kumaragupta I; it fell into disrepair afterwards and was then renovated in 

Malava era 529=473—74 A. D. by the old guild of silk-weavers. Next, a 

Buddhist record, unearthed at Sarnath*, of Kumaragupta IPs reign 

registers that ‘after the lapse of 154 years of the Guptas’ the ascetic (yati) 

Abhayamitra erected an image of the Lord Shasta (Buddha). Three years 

after this date, in G. E. 157=476—77 A. D. when Budhagupta was king, 

the same monk Abhayamitra installed at ^arnath the image of the Buddha, 

‘to whom the gods were like sons’ (devaputravato) *. But another 

inscription of Budhagupta’s time, incised on a stone pillar at Eran (Sagar 

district, C. P.)®, is a Vaisnava record. For, it says that in the Gupta 

year 165=484—85 A. D., when Surasmicandra was governing the land 

between Kalindi (Jamna) and the Narmada as a vassal of Budhagupta, a 

Maharaja Matrivisnu and his younger brother Ohanyavisnu raised the 

‘dhvajastambha’ (flagstaff) of Visnu under the name of Janardana. This god 

is also called Sveta-varahasvamin in the Damodarapur copperplates of G. E. 

224=543—44 A. D. Lastly, we may take note of the Paharpur (Rajshahi 

district, Bengal) inscription®, dated G. E. 159=478—^79 A. D. It refers to 

the gift of some land by a Brahman couple for carrying on the daily worship 

in a vihdra of Nirgrantha (Jain) ascetics, presided over by Guhanandin, at the 

village of Va^a-Gohali. The Kahaum inscription, mentioned above, speaks of 

a Jain worthy entertaining great respect for the Brahmans, and now we find 

from the Paharpur epigraph that the latter, too, did not lag behind in 

(1) /. A.S.a.. 1889.p.84f. 

(3) 0.1. /., in. Na 18, pp. 7S^-88. 
(3) A<m. fif». Ardt. 8urv., 19M—16, pp. 134—33. 

(4) m. 
(3) 0.1. U III, No. 19, pp. 88—90. 
(8) A. InA, XX. p. 39 {, 
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demonstrating their goodwill towards the Jainas. All this sympathy and 

understanding among the various sects must have indeed contributed 

substantially to the material and spiritual growth and happiness of the people. 

It would be clear from our survey of the epigraphic evidence that the 

Gupta age was essentially one of religious harmony and toleration. Brahmanism, 

Buddhism and Jainism were the three principal religions, which flourished 

side by side, though the influence of each varied. Brahmanism was, of course, 

predominant, and its most popular phase was Vaisnavism. Barring one or 

two exceptions, the Gupta monarchs themselves were devotees of Visnu, who 

is called, apart from the names already given, Vasudeva (Fleet’s No. 25), 

Narayana (No. 36), Govinda (No. 14), Gadadhara (No. 17) etc. Other forms 

of Brahmanism were the worship of S^iva (or S'ambhu, Bhutapati, S^ulapani, 

Mahadeva, Pinakin, Hara, etc.); Sun (Surya); Kartik^ya (or Skanda, Svami- 

Mahasena) ; the divine Mothers (Bhagavati etc.) ; goddess Lakstni; and a host 

of other deities, both male and female. Brahmanism was also marked by 

sacrifices, such as Asvamedha, Agnistoma, Aptoryama, Atiratra, Vajapeya, 

Pundarlka, and Panca-maha-yajna. Kings and pious men gave gifts to 

Brahmans in the shape of agrahflra (land or village) for their subsistence, and 

as measures of charity free boarding houses, sattras, were also established^ 

Other benefactions included the building of temples, upkeep of lamps therein, 

and the installation of images. Similarly, the Buddhists and the Jains erected 

images of the Buddha and Tlrthamkaras respectively. The Buddhists further 

made endowments for the maintenance of Bhiksus in monasteries or Vilviras, 

All these systems of faith, no doubt, differed considerably from one another 

in philosophy and practice, but their divergence was not so great ns exists—say 

between modern Hinduism and Chistianity, or Islam. Accordingly, it would 

be interesting, though idle and profitless, to speculate what would have been 

the attitude of the Gupta kings or their subjects if such diversity in beliefs 

and observance had then existed. The Gupta conception of toleration was 

thus a limited one; nevertheless the fundamental moral it points out is that 

the votaries of the different creeds, princes, priests and peasants alike, owe 

an obligation towards one another to live in peace and concord. 

(1) C./. r. III. Nos. 7. 8. 9, 36-tt. 
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THE CUTU-SATAKARNI OR THE ANDHRABHRTYA DYNASTY 
• • • 

OF VANAVASA AND THE RISE OF THE PALLAVAS. 

B. V. Krishnaraoy M.A., B.L, Hon. Secretaryt Andhra Historical 
Research Society^ Rajahmundry. 

The history of the Andhrabhrtyas or the Cutu-S^atakarni dynasty of 

Vanavasa is intimately connected with the origin and rise of the Pallavas. 

The Cutu-ffatakarnis were the Nagas'and they acquired that appellation because 

they were worshippers of serpents. They were a subordinate family, a branch 

of the Imperial Satavahanas^ The terms Cutu and Cutu-kula have been 

properly explained only recently. Chutu is the same as the Sanskrit word 

chunt ‘to become small*. It survives in the name Chota Nagapur, which means 

‘minor Nagpur* or ‘smaller Nagpur* as compared with the ‘bigger Nagpur* in the 

Central Provinces. The word survives in the modern Hindi language as chhota 

‘a younger brother*. The terms Cutu and Cutu-kula may, therefore, be interpreted 

as meaning the ‘Younger Branch*. The Nagas who called themselves Chutus 

or Chutu-kula were therefore the Younger branch of the Imperial Andhras. The 

‘Younger Branch* or the Cutu-kula bore the Imperial Satavahana title Satakarni 

like the parent dynasty.* The kingdom of the Cutu-Satakarnis was known 

as Vanavasa and extended from the Thana district or Aparanta in the north 

of the Bombay Presidency to Mysore in the south and included the districts of 

Bellary and Anantapur and perhaps also Chittor and Chengalput in the 

extreme south.® 

The genealogy of the Naga kings or the Cutu-kula S^atakarnis has been 

carefully reconstructed by Prof. E. J. Rapson on the basis of the three 

inscriptions of the dynasty.^ He has tabulated the information thus : 

Haritiputra Visnuskanda— 

Cutukul-ananda 

Satakarni. 
I Mahabhoji 

d.—Maharathini Mahabhoji Nagamulanika m. Jivaputa <?) 

Haritiputra-Manavya Dharmamaharajadhiraja 

Sivaskandavarman, Vaijayantipati. 

(1) Jouvm-Dubreuil: Hidmry Ikwivi, 

(2) Jfayaswal : Hist, of India, p. 165. 

f3) Rapton : 0. A, O. Introd. p. XIII, section 55, p. 65 n. i. 
(4) Ibid, pp* liii LV, (^Introduction). 
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A fresh examination of these inscriptions seems to yield some more 

information. Acox'dingiy we get two more generations of the NSga dynasty. 

The chronology and the little known history of this powerful family is furnished 

by three or probably four inscriptions of the family that come from BanavSsi 

in North Kanara, Kanh^ri (Krishnagiri) in the Thana district in Bombay 

Presidency and Malavalli in Shikarpur taluk, Shimoga district, Mysore. All 

1. Source# for the history *h®se inscriptions are in Prakrit and, therefore, may be 
rftheCntu^atakarni allotted to the third oetUuty A. D. At Malavalli on a 
dynasty. 

stone pillar standing in front of the temple of Kalleivara 

there are two inscriptions one below the other. Of these two inscriptirms the 

first one, or more properly speaking the earlier one, mentions the name of the king, 

Vaijayanti-puraraja Manavyasa-gotto Haritiputto Vinhukad^ Cutu*kulananda 

Satakamni, (Visnu-skanda S^atakarni, the Joy of the Cufu-kula, a Harltiputra 

of the gotra of Manavya, king of Vaijayanti.)^ It records the grant of a 

group of villages headed by Sahalatavi for the enjoyment of the god S'iva called 

MattapatidSva as a dSvcAhOga with freedom from taxes, from disturbances by 

royal officers, from entry by regular armed soldiers, and other customary 

privil^es. The dSvabhOga was placed in the hands of Kondamana, son of 

Takinci, a Brahmana of the Kaundinya gOtra and a Harltiputra. The edict 

was addressed to the provincial governor called Rajjuka, the Mahavallabha. 

The record contains the date as the second fortnight of the hot season, the 

first day of the first year, apparently of the victorious riegn.* We shall 

revert to the second inscription on the stone pillar engraved underneath the 

above a little later. 

The Banavasi inscription which seems to come next in point of chronological 

order leads us further.® It is engraved on a pillar in the courtyard of the 

great temple at Banavasi. It is carved on a slab beneath the representation of 

a five-hooded cobra or a Naga. The inscription mentions the lady the 

MahArdjabdlika, ‘daughter of the Maharaja’, Mahabhoji, the wife of the 

Mabarathi Jivaputa (Jivaputra) and mother of the prince S^ivaskanda N^airi 

(S^ivakhamdanakasiri) who constructed a tank and a vihdra (monastery) and 

also placed the image of a Naga at that place.^ The work of the supervision 

of the charity, it is stated, was carried out by the Prime Minister SkandasvSti 

(1) E. C. Vol. Vin, Shikarpur No 263. 
(2) Ibid. ‘Niiya gimba-ptAHcm padama divantn padama-ianmathoharam'. 

(3) A. S. W. I. (Buhler) Vol. I. p. 100, No. 10 and Ind. Ant. Vol. XIV p. 3131. 

(4) Mahabhoji may be the feminine form of the title MaUSbhoja. Note the prevailing 

practice of the ladies of the royal family of calling themselves merely as MaXa^abtiika as in the 

NigSrjnnakonda in.<:cription8. There seems to be a doubt also as to the name of the hiuband of this 
lady. The term/ivnp«<ra from the, contest may a* well mean "who had a son who was aUve*’ 
at that time. The practice of ohUing themselevs as mothers of sons was also prevafent in 

Soe also thaInscriptioas of QSoitanmla §iri at NigSrjttoakon4a> I Vol. XX. pp* I®9 } 
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^Khai&dasati). The gift was dedicated in the twelfth year of the century^ 

on the first day of the seventh fortnight of the winter season in the reign of the 

king Harltiputra Visnuskanda Cutukulananda S^atakarni. It also appears from 

the inscription that the donor, her lord and her son were Naga worshippers and, 

therefore, possibly were Nagas. The foundress of this charity was evidently 

the daughter of the Maharaja Haritiputra Visnuskanda Cutukulananda S^atakarni, 

the king of Vaijayanti mentioned in the first record on the Malavalli stone 

pillar, referred to above. 

The third inscription of the family is found in one of the Kanberi 

Buddhist caves.^ The donor is described in this record as in the previous 

one as MahdrdjabdUka as the wife of a MaMbhOja and the mother of prince 

Kharndanaga-sataka (Skandanaga S'atakarni.) There can be no doubt that 

this princess was the same as the donatrix of the preceding inscription at the 

temple of Banavasi. Her name is now mentioned as Nagamulanika. She was 

presumably the daughter of the king Haritiputra Visnuskanda Cutukulananda 

S^atakarni, whose name must have stood originally in the inscription. The 

inscription seems to mention also prince Dhenasena, evidently a brother of 

the princess Nagamulanika. It also mentions the year nine (vasa 9), which 

denotes the regnal year of king Haritiputra Visnuskanda. 

It appears from the foregoing that Haritiputra Visnuskanda 

Cutukulananda Siatakarni was the first member of his family to assume 

independence though he was not probably the^ founder of his dynasty on the 

throne of Vanavasa. He and his ancestors were probably feudatories of the 

Imperial Andhras. His title Cutu-kulananda S'atakarni, ‘Satakarni, the joy of 

the Cutu family’ seems to suggest that the Cutu family were the Andhrabhrtyas 

and also the Andhra-jdtlyas and, therefore, were the subordinate Andhras 

mentioned in the Puranas. The Myakadoni stone inscription of the reign of 

king Vasisfhiputra S^ri Pulumavi II mentions a certain Mahasenapati Skanda 

Naga (Khamdanaga), ruler of the Satavahanihara under the imperial power^. 

It is probable that the province of Satavahanihara formed part of the 

territory which was governed from Vaijayanti and comprised or included the 

modern districts of Bellary and Kurnool. If this conjecture is correct, 

Mahd^ndpati Skanda Naga may possibly have been the ancestor of king 

HSritiputra Visnuskanda Cutukulananda Siatakarni of Vanavas. 

(1> The expretsiOD (o£ the century ?) in the date portion has been the snbjtct of 
CMtrovdrsy mm) disputed interpretation- See JBA8 180B, p- 304. 

(2) J. B* Br. R. A. S-, Vol. VI, p. 10, No. 40 and plate. The inscription has not been 
lead. See Rapson ; 0. A. £». Introd. p. LUI, No. 24, and Puhjer ; A. 9- W. I., Vol. V. p. 80, 
No. 29. 

(3) E. I. Vol, XIV, p. 143 (, 

IQ 
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The Banavasi stone pillar and the Kanheri Cave inscriptions mention 

the names of the daughter Mahabhoji Nagamulanika and the son DhenasSna 
of the king Haritiputra Visnuskanda S^atakarni of the Cutu dynasty. Now 
the second inscription on the Malavalli pillar seems to take us further down 

to one more generation. It is inscribed on the same six-sided stone pillar 

which contains the earlier record of Haritiputra Visnuskanda and is directly 

underneath il.^ This record is that of the Kadamba king S^ivaskandavarman 
of the Manavya gOtra who is described as a Haritiputra and as 

Dharmainahdrdjddhirdja ‘the rightful supreme king* of Vaijayanti. It appears 

from the record that the earlier gift was resumed by a subsequent government 
or dynasty that came into power immediately on the death of Haritiputra 

Visnuskanda Cutu S'atakarni or his successor. It seems to relate further that 

the former ownership of the estate having been abandoned for some reasons 
not mentioned specifically in the grant but apparently on account of some 

usurpation of the sovereignty of. Vanavasa, the Kadamba king 

Dharmamaharajadhiraja S^ivaskandavarman, having co n? to know of it after 
he became the lord of Vaijayanti (VaijayatM-pati)^ renewed the gift with a 

glad mind {parituthena minasdpi) for a second time, giving it to the 

‘Brahman S'ri Nagadatta of the Kaundinya gOtra, who was a Kausikiputra and 
“ornament of the Kondamana family’*. It is noteworthy that the present 
donee is referred to not merely as the descendant of the former donee 

Kondamana but also as the maternal uncle of the king. This would mean 

that the mother of the Kadamba king S'ivaskandavarman was also a 
descendant of the Brahmana chief Kondamana of the Kaundinya gOira, It is 

possible to infer from this that Kondaman who was probably a Haritiputra 

and king Visnuskanda who was a Haritiputra were closely related to each other 

though the precise nature of their kinship cannot however be determined 
for the present. The second grant by S'ivaskandavarman, the Kadamba king, 

covered the entire old property of Sahalatavi with an additional estate of 

twelve villages all specified by name. The gift was once more publicly 
registered on the stone pillar in the fourth year of the victorious reign in the 

first fortnight of the autumn season on the second day under the first 

asterism Rohini. 

In the opinion of Lewis Rice the interval between the earlier grant and 

the later re-grant recorded on the stone—Malavalli pillar may be roughly a 

century. He allots the clirlier one to about 150 A. D. and the latter to about 
250 A. D.^ But this seems to be too long an interval to be good for the 

course of political events of the south. As the language of the records is 

(1) E. C. Vol. VII. Shikarpur No. 264; TransUtiont pb 142. See Fleet in JRA8 1905, p. 305,* 

(2) E. C, Vd. VUi Shikarpur No. 264, Traaslation p. 142. 
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Prakrit and the donor of the earlier grant could not have assumed independence 
before the downfall of the Imperial Andhras, the two inscriptions may be 
reasonably assigned to the early part of the third century. The interval between 

the first record and the second charter may not be more than three or four 
decades at the most. The palaeography of the characters of the first inscription 
also supports this view. The alphabet appears to be definitely later than the 

script of the inscriptions of the Emperor Gautamiputra Sri Yana S^atakarni 
(c. 158—186 A. D.)^ Moreover there seem to be hardly more than one or 
two generations intervening the original donee Kondamana of the first record 
and his descendant Sri Nagadatta the donee of the second grant. As indicated 
above it appears ihat there was an interruption, probably for a short period, of 

the sovereignty of the Cutu dynasty. Accordingly the first inscription may be 

allotted to c. 210 A. D. in the first decade of the third century and the second 
one to c. 245 A. D. 

The second inscription on the Malavalli stone pillar seems to read entirely 
like a Kadamba document : it in fact refers to the prosperity of the Kadambas 
who must have been the rulers of the kingdom of Vanavasa at that time. It 

is dated in the fourth year of the Kadamba king (Kadambanam raja 

S^ivakhamdavamma) S^ivaskandavarman, the lord of Vaijayanti.^ The king 
was a descendant of the Manavyasa gOtra and of the Kadamba family; and 

was evidently the first Kadamba king on the throne of Vaijayanti, though not 
the founder of the dynasty. He was evidently the son of the princess, 

MaMrdjab^lika-MaMrathinUMahdbh(^i Nagaruulanika, the daughter of king 
Haritiputra Visnuskanda Cu^u S'atakarni, and identical with S^ivaskanda Naga S^ri 
of the Banavasi record. He was therefore the descendant of the Naga family 

or the Cutu S^atakarnis. After he became the lord of Vaijayanti Sivaskadavarjman 
at once restored the grant formerly made by his maternal grandfather and 

(1) This is according to the Chronology of the S^atavahanas. which I have discussed and 

adopted elsewhere: A History of Early Dynasties of Anomadesa 200*625 A. D. 

(2) Dr. Fleet correctly reads the names of S'ivaskandavarman as a Kadamba king. {JBAS, 

1906, p. 305). But Prof. Rapsou (C. D.. Inito, p, LIV) assumes S'ivaskaudavarman to be the last 

of the Cu^u kings and then suggests that the Kadamba conquest of Vanav&sa followed 

S^ivaskandavarman’s death. He thinks that the Kadamba king is unnamed. Dr. Jayaswal falls into 

a siuftilv erroti of Ind, pp. 168-69). Ho interprets the record in order to suit his new theory. 

He says that he has carefully read the record in the plate and that he can make out the name of 

Mayura4annan. He complains that the reading as given by Lewis Rice cannot be seen in the plate* 

The reading given by Lewis Rice was revised by Dr. J. F. Fleet in /. R. d. S. 1905, p. 305 ; and there 

seems to, be no warrant for reading as Dr. Jayaswal does, save the name of S^ivaskandavarman after 

the words Kadatpban&m-raja (line 1) in the plate* 1 have also carefully examined the plate and 

find myseU unable to see anything like the name of Maydras^rman as Dr, Jayaswal does. The name 

ia clearly S'ivakhamdavamma* There are seven letters in the name portion ; and if they are read a^ 

^yuralarman two letters will be superfiaoust 
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even enlarged the estate with a glad mind as the grantee, who was his own 
maternal uncle, happened to be a descendant of the original donee Krmdamana. 

The date of the second Malavalli record and that of the accession of king 
S^ivaskandavarman of the Kadamba family may be determined precisely with 

the help of the astronomical details mentioned in the inscription itself. The 

details of the date are : sathvaccaram padama saradapakham biiiyehdivaaMt^ 

Padama-nakhatam Rohii^lyam, “in the 4th year, in the first fortnight of the 
autumn (S^arada) season, on the second day under the first asterism RcJiini." 
The manner in which the date is recorded is indeed unique, and this is the 
earliest Prakrit inscription which mentions, in addition to the ttaksatra, a 

detail which helps the calculation of the equivalent of the date in the Christian 

era. The mention of the S^arada season is also peculiar, for that indicates the 

introduction of the year into six seasons and the gradual suppression of the 
earlier three-fold division into gflshma, var^ and hSmania seasons of the 

Imperial Andhra Epoch. The six-fold division of the year apparently involves 

also the division of the season into four and sometimes but rarely into five 
paksoi or fortnights. 

Accordingly the grant was made on the second day in the fiist pak^ 

of the S'arada season when the moon was in Rohiipi nak^tra which was also 

the asterism for the season. Herein lies the clue for the determination of 

the fu’oper equivalent of the date in years of the Christian era. Here there is 
no reference to the division of the year into twelve luni-solar months arranged 

according to the pUrrpimdnta or cmdnta systems of reckoning. PresnmaWy, 

therefore, the year seems to have been divided into twelve months each month 
commencing with the sarhkrdnti moment or the sun’s entry into the zodiacal 

sign. The sarada season, therefore, which is the fourth in the order of seasons, 

corresopnds to Tula and Vr^ika months, which do not exactly, but often 
roughly synchronise with the luni-solar months Asvayuja and Karttika. It will 

be seen that in both the pHrifmdnta and amdnta systems of arrangement of 

fortnights, there will -never be the nah^atra Rohini as the first asterism on the 

second day in the first p<dt%a in the luni-solar naonth. Asvayuja. In the tundnta 

Advayuja Rohini enters only in the second pak^a or fortnight, after the fullmoon 

day of Asvayuja, that is when the moon will be in the nak^atra AsvinL In Uw 

.same manner in the pUnfirndnia Asvayuja Robh^i occnrs after the fullmoon 

day of Asvayuja, that is,I in* the first fortnight of the pUnfimdnta MSrgasira 
which will be third Pakfa of the S^arada season. Thus the only possibiliiy for 

the occorrmce of Rohini as the first nakMtra of the fi'arada s^en even on the 

second date as a rare -ase is in the month TulS; but even then the Tula-mrt»« 
must conuB^ce after the fullmoon day after A&vayujsD which that the Tuli 

samkrinti moment should occur a few days after tke^Mhctoon day' of A^veye^ 
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We have therefore to look for a suitable date in the solar month Tula 
for a coincidence of the details in the first half of the third century A. D. to 
which the inscription has been assigned on palceographical grounds. During 

this period between 200 and 250 A. D. there were only two occasions when the 
Tula samhf^mti tocdc place a few days after the fuUmoon day of Asvayoja. 
The earlkst date according to such coincidence was the 20th September, 224 
A. D. The Asvayuja fullmoon day fell in that year on the 16th September 

and the Tula samkrdtUi moment was at 52 ghafikas 48 palas after sunrise 

on the 18th September; and therefore, the Samkrdnti or the civil day of 

Tula month was reckoned from the 19th September 224 A. D. If the 19th 
September was the first civil day the next following day, the 20th' would be 

the second day in the ^rada season. But on the 19th September, the 

f$ak8aira Rohini ended and Mrgasira commenced at 14 ghatikas 29 palas 

after sunrise, i. e. about 11 hours 30 minutes in the morning. On the 20th 
September, therefore, which was the second day, there was no Rohini the 
first naksatra of the season but Mrgasira the second one. Thus this date 

cannot therefore be the correct equivalent of the date of the second charter 
on the Malavalli stone pillar. The second date was Wednesday, 20th 
September 243 A. D. In this year the fullmoon day of Asvayuja fell oh the 
16th September; and the Tula saihkr^nii took place on the 19th September, 
the samkranti moment being at 47 ghafikas 13 palas after sunrise. That day 
the 19th September, therefore, was the day of Tula saMkratUi; and it was 

also the first civil day of the month. It was accordingly the first day of 

the firstof the ^rada season. On that date the moon entered Rohini 

about 26 ghatikas after sunrise and lasted till the evening of the next following 

day; the ending moment of Rohini on the next following day, the 20th 

September, was at 27 ghatikas 14after sunrise. Thus Rohini was the 

first naksatra in the ^rada season of that year and it happened to be also 

the asterism on the second civil day. The details of the record thus exactly 

correspond to Wednesday, the 20ih September, 243 A. D. There seems to 
be no doubt that this dawas the proper equivalent of the date of the second 

MSiavalli record.^ Accordingly, if Wednesday the 20th September 243 A. D. 

(ell in the fourth year of reign, 8^ivaskandavarman*s accession or more probably 
the date of his coronation would seem to have taken place sometime dmimg 

240 A. D. This date is also in proper agreement with the course of potiticaf 

events of the period as we shall presently see. S'ivaskandavarman would 

appear to have conquered' the kingdom of Vaijayanti long after the death of 
his maternal grandfather king Haritiputra Visnuskanda Cutukulan^uda 
S'ltakarni which might be placed about c. 225 A. D, The in tervaJ. plainly 

1. These dates have been calculated with the help of L. D. S. Pillai's Indian Epfumsfis. 
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covered the periods of Dhenasena's reign and the usurpation of some unknown 

power to the complete exclusion of the Kadamba king S'ivaskandavarman.^ 

There are no materials for determining the date or rather the tenure of 

king Haritiputra Visnuskanda Cu^ukulananda S^atakarni on the throne of 

Vanavasa. Nevertheless his succession or more properly his commencement of 

reign as an independent king may be placed with 

and the Political History of approximate certainty about 210 A. D. towards the 

the period. decade of the third century though he 

may have ascended the throne sometime earlier. It was about this period or 

perhaps sometime after that the Iksvaku king Vasisthiputra S'ri S'antamula the 

Great destroyed the last of the S'atavahanas,—perhaps Pulumavi IV,—and assumed 

independence. The Banavasi record of the MahdrdjabdUM-Mahdrathinu 

MahdbhOj Nagamulanika dated apparently in the twelfth year of the reign of 

her father Haritiputra Visnuskanda mentions the date as vasasatdya 12 

hSmantana pakha 7 divasa 7, “the first day of the seventh fortnight of the 

winter season in the augmenting 12th year of the prosperous reign”. There is 

no doubt that the year 12 denotes the regnal year of the king, and, as Dr. Fleet 

points out, the details of the date seem to suggest the anniversary of the 

accession day or the coronation date of Visnuskanda.^ Apart from this date, 

however, it is probable that the king had enjoyed a normal pei iod of at least 

fifteen or twenty years. To him, therefore, a reign of fifteen years as a 

paramount sovereign from circa 210 to 225 A. D. may reasonably be allotted. 

King Visnuskanda was the first member of his family to desire independence 

against the declining Imperial Andhra dynasty; and in this he would appear to 

have been considerably assisted by the powerful Iksvaku monarch of AndhradS^. 

The Kanheri Buddhist cave inscription of the ninth year of Haritiputra 

Visnuskanda mentions Mahabhoja Dhenasena who is said to be a brother of the 

princess Maharajabaiika Nagamulanika.^ It is probable that this prince was 

the son and successor of Visnuskanda Cutukulananda 
Kii^ Dhenasena ^.225 

A. D.—232 A. D. Wars of S atakarni. Dhepasena’s reign would seem to have 

succession. lasted for about a decade, because on his death the 

(1) A recent writer [Mr. M. Govinda Ral in Journal of Indian Hfsfery, Vo). XllI, part 2] 

discussing the 'Genealogy and Chronology of the Early Kadambas of Vauav^i," refers to the 

date of this second Malavalli record and calculates the equivalent of the details as Monday, the l8th 

October 213 A. D. His date and conclusion are open to serious objection. His theory of' the date 

is untenable. According to him the jHimmanta system of arranging the fortnights was in vogue at 

that time. According to the Pui^tna^ system the date 18th October falls in the Pwrnif^aiUa 

Mftrgauitra which commenced on the I7th October. And the month purniminta Marga^ira was the 

Mcond month and not the firtt in the 4arada season even according to him. The 4arada season 

comprised of two months A4vayuja and never K^rtika and MArga^ira or Mirga^lra and Ptisya. ' 

{2) JBAS. 190^^. i05i. 

f3) Bilbler; A, 5, FT./. Vol. V. p, 86f. Luder's List No. 1021. 
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sovereignty of the Cutu-Naga dynasty was interrupted by some hostile powa:. 

The Naga or the Cutu or the Andhrabhrtya dynasty of Vanavasa came to an 

end apparently with the death of Dhenasena. Thereafter it would appear that 

a dispute arose for the succession between the two rival claimants to the throne. 

The struggle was a protracted one; victory swaying from one side to the other. 

One of the claimants was prince Haritiputra S'ivaskandavarman of the 

Mgnavayasa-gotra, of the Kadamba family. He was the daughter’s son of 

Haritiputra Visnuskanda, and therefore, he claimed to be the rightful heir to the 

throne of Vanavasa. He assumed evidently for the reason after he ascended 

the throne the title Dhannamdhdrajddhir^ja VaijayanUpati, ‘the rightful 

supreme king of kings, Lord of Vaijayanti.’ The title is beyond doubt a 

significant one. The other claimant was probably the power or the dynasty 

that usurped the throne of Vanavasa and interrupted the accession of the 

Kadamba king S'ivaskandavarman according to the MalavalH inscription. 

The power that prevented the Kadamba prince SMvaskandavarman from 

seizing the crown of Vanavasa would seem to be the Pallavas, who were fast 

emerging into prominence.^ The Pallava prince also claimed the throne 

probably on account of his being the son-in-law of the Naga or the Cutu king of 

Vanavasa. The Pallava prince was Virakurca of the Bharadvaja gOtra, son of 

Cutapallava, who, according to the Velurpalayam plates, married the daughter 

of the Naga king and quickly grasped the insignia of royaltyThe Naga king 

might in all probability be king Haritiputra Visnuskanda Cutukulananda 

S'atakarni. Virakurca-Pallava would appear to have succeeded in the dynastic 

struggle in the beginning and held the throne for sometime successfully to the 

exclusion of his Kadamba rival S'ivaskandavarman. But it would seem that the 

Pallava prince was at least overpowered and conquered by S^ivaskandavarman. 

And in this task the latter would seem to have been assisted by the Iksvaku 

Emperor Mathariputra S^ri Virapurusadatta of AndhradS^. The first thing 

that this Kadamba monarch did as soon as he became the undisputed lord of 

Vanavasa, was to restore the grant made by his maternal grandfather 

Harltputra Visnuskanda to the Kadamba chief who was the descendant of the 

original donee and who was his own maternal uncle, enlarge the estate and once 

more publicly register the gift at the same spot where the original charity was 

recorded. Prince Virakurca the Pallava had apparently destroyed the charity 

and resumed the estate granted by his father-in-law to the Kadamba family as 

soon as he became the king of Vanavasa. And that was the manner evidnently 

which the enjoyment of the charity by Kondamana and his descendants was 

obstructed by the Pallava usurper, 

1, This is also the view of Dr. K. P. Jayaswal, but his couclusion is ‘'leased upon a reasoning 
which 1 cannot accept. There is a slight difference In the interpretation of the history of the period, 
which the reader can easily grasp. (HUtory f^lndia^ p. 169) 

2. fi. /. Vol. n. Part V. p. 60lf. verse 6. 
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A «liroiiolofficAl dhart thowinc the loiperial Andhrai and their sueceNoi*. 
(« 100 A. D.—173 A. O.) * 

The Imperial Andhras or S'&tav&hanas. 

(According to the success ion and periods given in the Pnranas.) 

The Andhrabhriyas 
or the S'riparvatiyas 

or i^e Iksvakus- 

(Andhrad^^a) 

I 
VAsisthlputra S’ri 

Sftntamilla the Great 
(AlvemAdhi) 

c. 200—218 A. D. 
(19 years.) 

I 
1 

V&sisthtpntru S'ri Pulum&vi 11. 
(c. 116—144 A. D.—,29 years.) 

Catarapanu S'&takarni or S'iva fStri or 
S'ivaskandha S'&takarni. (c. 144—157 

A. D.—14 years) 

I 
Gautamtputra Si'rl Yajaa S'&takarni 

(c. 157—185 A. D. 29 years) 

Vijaya S^rl S'atakarni. 
(c. 186—191 ;6 years.) 

Vasistblputra Candra S'ri 

(c. 191—200 A. D. 10 years) 
of another branch Pulum&vi IV (?) 

(200—206 A. D. 7 years ) 

I d« Nagaffiulanikii. d. name not known, 
i married a Naga, m. the Pallava, Virakdrca 
I Mah&bh6ja of the 2.32—240 A. D. and 
I Kadamba family, name 252— A. D. 
I not known (Jivaputra) (?). 
I_ 

M&tharipntra S'rl Vlrapnnindatta 
(c. 218—238 A. D.)* 

V&sisCliipatra S'ri Bahnbala 

S'AotamiUa 
c, 238—252 A. D 

Mab^Svl Kodabali siri 

(Kundavalli S'rl (?) married 
the king of Vanavasa, 

Dharmamaharajadhiraja— 
Vaijayanti—pati S'ivaskaadavarmao 
Kadatnbanam—raja. 240-2522 A. D. 

Mayfira^arman (Founder of the 
Kadamba dynasty at Vaijayanti.) 

c. 310—840 A. D, 

MahammptUi 

(Khmdanaga) 
Skanda nftga Huler 

of the S'&tav&hani-hara 
according to the 

MekadOni Inscription 
Vassal of the 

Emperor Pulum&vi II. 
I 

The Andhr&bhrtyas or 
the N&gas or the 

Cu^kula—S'atakarnis 
or the Cutus of 

Vanav^. 

I 
Hariltputra Visnu- 
skanda Cutukualanda 

S'atakami. 
c. 200-210-225 A. D. 
_I 

1 
Dhenasena (c. 225*282) 

(died without issue) 

The above chronological charter will easily give an idea of the political 

condition of the Deccan about the middle of the third century A. D. and the 

rival parties that struggled for sovereignty in Vanavasa on the one hand and 

in the South on the other. When the struggle for dynastic succession broke 

out in VanavSsa on the death of DhenasSna, Virakurca gained the upper 

hand, and then S'ivaskandavarman the Kadamba turned to XndhradS^ for 

help, presumably on account of nearness of his relationship to the Emperor 

S'ri Virapura^datta. jThe Iksvaku monarch would seem to have declared war 

against the Pallava usurper on behalf of his Kadamba protege with the objeot 

of placing him on the throne of Vanavasa ; but did not apparently survive to 

see the success of his arms. This inference is suggested by two facts; firstly 

to -insoription of the- eleventh year of the Emperor Vasistblputra S'r! Bahubala* 

S'totamula at Na^arjunakon^a meotioils the Mdhadevi KodahAUsiri th^ 
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daughter of S^ri Virapuru^datta and the queen of the Maharaja of Vanavasa.^ 

The king of Vanavasa {Vanavdsaka-mahdrdja) is not mentioned by name in 
the record, but there is no doubt that he was identical with S^ivaskandavarman 
the Kadamba. According to the period allotted to king Vasisthiputra S'ri 
Bahubala S^antamula (c, 238—252 A.D.) the date of Mahadevi Kodabali Siri's 
inscription would fall in or about 249 A. D., and in that year the Kadamba king 

Siivaskandavarman, according to the chronological chart above given, was 
reigning as the Maharaja of Vanavasa, It is, therefore, clear that Mahadevi 
Kodabali Siri was the queen of the Kadamba king S^ivaskandavarman. 

Secondl}', three inscriptions dated the 15th and 18th years of S>ri 
Virapurusadatta mention that the Iksvaku princess Mahasenapatni-Mahatalavari 

S'antiiuula Siri of the Pugiya family, who was a paternal aunt and mother-in-law 

of the emperor, made noble and pious benefactions to the Buddhist Church of 
Sriparvata for securing victory and long life (vejayike dyuvadhanike) of her 
son-in-law.2 This passage Ikhdkundm sdmi siri Viripurisadatasa dyuvadha- 

dyuvadhanike vejayike which occurs in the inscriptions of two or more 
successive years indicates that the Iksvaku monarch was in all probability 
engaged in a great war against a powerful enemy and that consequently his 

mother in-law was most anxious for his welfare and success. The 15th year 
of S'ri Virapurusadatta’s reign would roughly correspond to 234-35 A. D.; and 
that was the year about which king Dhenasena died and the war of succession 
between the rival claimants broke out. If this inference is accepted as probable, 
it would then appear th it Dhen isena's death occurred about 232-235 A. D. 
The death of Dhenasena was therefore the occasion for the usurpation of the 
crown by the Pallava prince Virakurca, who would appear to have held it 
till about 240 A. D., the date of accession of the Kadmaba king Dharma- 

tnahdrdjddhirdja S'ivaskandavarman, fixed from a calculation of the details 

of the date of the Malavalli record. 

S'ivaskandavaiman reigned for a short time, roughly from about 240 to 252 

A. D. He must have been a middle aged man at the time of his accession, 
for he was mentioned in the Banavasi inscription of his grandfather’s time 
as a youthful prince. Being a Haritiputra-Manavaya-Kadamba by birth, 

^ivaskandavarman. t h e S^ivaskandavarman was also a Naga and a Cutu by 
Ka^mba king ; 240-262 c. adoption. He was a NSga being a descendant of a 

Naga family on his mother’s side. Like king Haritiputra 

Cu^ukulananda Satakarni, S^ivaskandavarman too belonged to the same 
Manavyasa gOtra. ^ He was a student of the Veda to which he belonged; and 

1. B. I., Vol. XX. p. 24. No. H. 
2. Ibid. Vol. XXI, p. 65, Insc. Nos. M series; Vol. XX, p. 21, No. g. 

(3) E. C. Vol. VII. Sk. 263. 

u 
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the Malavalli record of his time describes him as saujjMyi carcaparo (svddhy^ 
cafcapcrfah)A His maternal uncle &ri Nagadatta and mother Nagamulanika 
were born in the Brahmana caste, and therefore he must have been also a 

Biahmana. The Vanavasi record calls him Sivakhada nagasiri (S^ivaskanda Naga 

S^ri) and the Kanheri inscription gives him also the title S^atakarni. His 

maternal uncle Sri Nagadatta was a descendant of Kondamana who was a 

Haritputra of the Manavyasa gOtra. S^ivaskandavarman was a great and 
powerful monarch, as the title DhartnrtnaMrdjadhirdja ‘the rightful supreme 

king of great king’ denotes. He conquered the vast kingdom of Vanavasa 

which would seem to have extended from the sea on the west to the sea on the 

east and from Nasika or Govardhana on the north to the Cauveri in the south. 

He was assisted in this great task by the Iksvaku emperors of AndhradSsa. It 

is, therefore, orobable that he married the Iksvaku princess Kodabalisiri, the 

only daughter of the Emperor ori Virapuru^datta. 
On the death of SivaskandaVarman the kingdom of Vanavasa passed once 

more from the Kadambas into the hands of the Pallava king Virakurcavarraan 
who would appear to have seized it by a coup de main superseding his Kadamba 

rivals. Virakurca became king of Vanavasa for a second time about 252 A. D. 

He was biding his time, waiting for an opportunity to fall upon Vaijayanti and 

seize the kingdom. The opportunity came on the death of the great king 

S'ivaskandaxarmanirliH^Hate of S^ivaskandavarman’s death and the occupation 

of the throne of for a second time by the Pallava prince may be 

placed ab9ut two grounds. Firstly, the date seems to be a good 

and probable date ^pts of the period. The Nagarjunakonda inscription 

of Mahadevi Kodab^.U^^Mt'l^i^ me.ntions the eleventh year of her brother S^ti 
Bahubala S’antamuli'fias been equ ited to about 249-50 A. D. and, therefore, 

S^ivaskandavarman’s reign must have come to an end only after that year. The 

Iksvakus, too, would appear to have declined after this date, for there are no 
records of the family thereafter. Secondly, the Pallavas emerge into power about 

the middle of the third century A. D. The Mayidavdlu grant of Yuvatnohdrdja 

S^ivaskandavarman of the Pallava dynasty of Kanci records a grant of land in 
Viripara in Andhrapatha during the reign of his father Bappasvamin, the king. 

The record shows that by the date of that charity the Iksvaku power had been 

superseded and that the Pallava had conquered the Southern Andhra country. 
The Iksviku sovereignty of Andhradesa and along with it the shortlived 

Kadamba glory in Vanavasa would seem to have come to an end shortly after 

the eleventh year of S^ri^Bahubala S^antamula, which would fall about 250 A. D. 

Thus the date 252 A. D. for the fall of S^ivaskandavarman would seem to be a 

(I) Theexactmeaoiogof tbetermtt*adlAyayi oaroaparahwM not clearly known to western 

•cboUre like Lewie Kice and others, It seems to mean 'one who is versed in the viewa of the 
Veda wbicb lie has atndjed,' 
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very good date for it. The Purd^a account, that the Andhrabhrtyas and the 
S^riparvatiyas would endure for about fifty years each after the fall of the 
Imperial Andhra?, strongly supports this view. With the death of the Kadamba 
kjng Sfivaskandavarman, the formidable coalition of the Imperial Iksvakus, the 

Mahak^trapas and the Kadambas rapidly declined. The descendants of the 

Kadamba king were weak, and therefore were soon overpowered and destroyed. 
The Mahak^trapas themselves were too busy with their own internal troubles to 
come to the rescue of their southern allies in Andhradesa and Vanavasa. 
Virakurca Pallava, therefore, would appear to have quickly seized the opportunity, 

crushed the weak successors of S'ivaskandavarman and fell upon the Ikshvaku 
monarch who was probably unprepared for the rapid turn of events and 
sudden attack. Virakurca abandoned Vaijayanti on this occasion, for he had 

conquered a vast empire and needed a convenient place to govern it. He, 
therefore, made Kancipura on the east the seat of his sovereignty, which was 
acquired after a great fight for a second time. He was probably the founder 
of the new city on the banks of the Vegavati, or at any rate occupied it and 
raised it to the dignity of an imperial capital in a short period. Vaijayanti 

was deserted by the Pallava king, also for another reason; namely, that Kadamba 

family who had still powerful supporters in that region might overthrow his 

sovereignty at any time. 
According to the Velurpalayam plates of Vijayanandivarman III, which 

seem to record truly the traditional family history of the Pallavas, king 
Virakurca, son of Cutapallava married the daughter of the chief of the serpents, 

meaning the Naga king, and thus acquired the sovereignty of the kingdom. 
It has been shown above that Virakurca married a daughter of king Haritiputra 
Vi§nuskanda Cutukulananda S^atakarni and not of Siivaskandavarman as 
Dr. Jouveau-Dubreuil supposed, and on the death of his wife’s brother king 

Dhenasena, seized the kingdom of Vanavasa by a coup de fnain and reigned 

for about a decade (c, 232—33—240 A. D.). King Virakurca’s claim to the 

throne of Vanavasa rested on the nearness of his kinship to the Cutu monarch 

Vi§nuskanda and the latter’s son Dhenasena. That seems to be the only 

possible and reasonable interpretation that can be put on the statement 

contained in the verse 6 of the inscription on the Velurpalayam plates. The 
verse states: “From his son Cutapallva was produced Virakurca of celebrated 
fame, who simultaneously with the hand of the daughter of the Chief of the 
Serpents grasped also the insignia of royalty and became famous.” 

The above inference and interpretation are further supported by another 
fact which is recorded in the family tradition of the Pallavas. Virakurca’s 
father was Cutapallava. The names of both the father and the son do not 

seem to be real and personal names of the princes. They appear to be either 

titles or epithets by which they became celebrated in the realm. Virakurca 
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is a compound of two words vlra and kUrcha, and means “abundle or mass of 

heroism”. Indeed it would appear that prince Virakurca was a great warrior, 

an embodiment of great power and courage. On two occasions, by means of 

his intrepid daring and heroism he gained the sovereignty of Vanava^. 

There is no doubt, that he acquired the appellation Virakurca which soon 

superseded his personal name so completely in the course of time that his 

descendants remembered him only by that title. Virakurca’s personal name 

will be discussed nn another occasion. The name Cutapallava is similarly a 

titlel or an epithet, and, indeed, a peculiar and interesting one. It is probable 

that Cutapallava may have been connected with the term Cutu-kula. It seems 
likely that Cutapallava may have been the Sanskritised form of Cutu-pallava 

which in later times when the significance and the history of the origin of 

that compound as well as of the family name came to be forgotten 

completely, came to be altered as Cuta-pallava by the writers of the prasas'H 

in the formal preambles of the family charters. Thus the compound 

Cuta*pallava becomes quite intelligible. And it sheds light on the origin of 

the Pallavas when restored as Cutu-pallava : it suggests the connection or 

relationship between the Pallavas and the Cutu or the Andhrabhrtya dynasty. 

As the Cutus were to the Imperial Andhras so the Pallavas were to the Cutus 

of Vanavasa and hence they became Cutu-pallavas. The Cutu-pallavas, who 

became the Imperial Pallavas of Kanchi later, adopted the royal insignia and 

the bull emblem of the Cutus.* They adopted the Imperial title 

DhartnatnaMHij^dhirdja like the Kadamba king S^ivaskaiidavarman, to 

proclaim probably that they were as much entitled to succeed to the sovereignty 

of the Cutus as the Kadambas were. That the ancestors of the prince 

Cutupallava or Cutapallava, a descendant of the Cutu family belonging to the 

Bharadvaja g6tta, was long associated with the government of VanavJsa 

under king Haritiputra Visnuskanda and his son DhensSna and perhaps their 

predecessors, seems to be well supported by the statement of the 

VSlurjalayam plates which record that “the descendants of Pallava, whose 

bar-like arms were skilled in rendering assistance to the lord of serpents, who 

was fatigued by the labour of carrying on his head the burden of the earth.” 

(Verse 4). This passage suggests plainly that the Cutapallava and his son 

Virakurca were related to the royal house of the Cutus of VaUavSsa. 

(1) The inscription on the V<1firpalayam plates snggests that Virakurca seized "the complete 

insignia of royalty” of the KSga king. Some unascribed lead square coins tRapson: C. A. D., pp, 

54'&5, p.'lr plate VIII, Nos. 317-289) and of the feudatories of the Andhra dynasty (Opi. Cit.) pp. 
97S,) contain the figure of a bull (vrsabha) standing to the right often surmounted by a nandifoda. 
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WAS POROS THE VICTOR OF THE BATTLE OF JHELUM ? 

H. C. Seth, M. A., Ph. D. (London), Nagpur University. 

Unfortunately there is no Indian account of Alexander's invasion which 
could have supplied the corrective for the one-sided accounts of it left to us 
by early European chroniclers. Besides various fragmentary allusions in the 
European literature, we have five consecutive narratives of Alexander’s life, those 

of Arrian, Diodoros, Plutarch Curtius and Justin. “Unluckily”, as Professor 

Freeman remarked, “among all the five there is not a single contemporary 
chronicler.Unluckily again, among all the five, one only (Arrian) has 

any claim to the name of a critic.Diodoros we belive to be 

perfectly honest, but he is at the same time, impenetrably stupid. Plutarch, 
as he himself tells us, does not write history, but lives, his object is rather 
to gather anecdotes, to point a moral, than to give a formal narrative of 

political and military events. Justin is a feeble and careless epitomizer. 
Quintus Curtius is in our eyes, little better than a romance writer”.^ Inspite 

of the efforts of the European writers to make Alexander a hero and a 

victor in all his battles, it has been difficult to conceal the fact that his 
Indian campaign was a disastrous failure. He received his first set back in 
the battle of Jhelum. 

Even prior to the battle of Jhelum Alexander met a determined 
opposition and had to undertake prolonged and hard fighting in the north-west 

frontier of India. It is doubtful if this territory was porperly consolidated 
before he launched his campaign east of the Indus. His crossing of the Indus 
was facilitated by the alliance he had already formed with Ambhi, King of 

Taksasila. The cause for this ignoble and unpatriotic conduct on the part 
of Ambhi was his jealousy of his powerful neighbour, Poros, who, even 
before Alexander came to India, had started in alliance with the King of 

Abhisar on a career of conquest. It appears that Abhisar was a little undecided 

wheather to cast his lot with Alexander or his old friend and ally Poros. 
He was already in alliance with his neighbours Asvakas west of the Indus. He 

had sent them help against Alexander and also received fugitives from the west 

of the Indus. When Alexander crossed the Indus he sent him some presents. 

But he kept back his envoy and was getting ready to join Poros. Alexander got 

the scent of the double game Abhisar was playing, and before the latter could 

take his forces to join that of Poros, Alexander and Ambhi moved hurriedly 
and confronted Poros on the bank of the Jhelum. 

Thus left alone Poros* forces were several times outnumbered by that of 
Alexander, who as Plutarch informs us, entered into India with no less than 

(1) Historical Essays. 2Dd Series (3rd Ed.) p. 183 f. 
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120,000 foot and 15,000 horses. A great part of it was perhaps present in the 

battle of Jhelum ; moreover in this battle Alexander had with him the forces 

of Taksasila also. Plutarch gives the army led by Poros as 20,000 infantry 

and 20,000 cavalry. But Poros was a mighty foe. From the beginning 
Alexander found the battle of Jhelum a difficult affair. The crossing of the river 

in face of the well arranged forces of the enemy itself became a difficult task. 

As Curtius informs us a party led by Symmachus and Nicanor which crossed 

to an island in the middle of the river was “surrounded by men who had 
unperceived swum over to the island, and were overthrown by discharges of 

missiles. Such as escaped the enemy were either swept away by the force 

of the current or swallowed up in the eddies. This fight exalted the confidence 

of Poros, who had witnessed from the bank all its vicissitudes”^. 

Arrian gives the following account of Alexander’s preliminary skirmish 

with the son of Poros. When after several days of waiting Alexander managed 

to cross the river one night under ! the cover of darkness, “Alexander himself 
was wounded by the Indian prince, and his favourite horse Boukephalas was 
killed, having been wounded like his master, by the son of Poros”.* Justin 

gives a slightly different version of the opening scene of the battle. “When 

Alexander lost no time in joining battle, but his horse being wounded at 

first charge, he fell headlong to the ground, and was saved by his attendants 

who hastened up to his assistance”.® 

As regards the incidents of the main battle we are informed of its being 

prolonged almost to the end of the day and also of the great destruction of the 
Macedonian army caused by the elephants of Poros. As Curtius remarks, 

“The most dismal of all sights was when the elephants would, with their trunks, 

grasp the men, arms and all, and hoisting them above their heads, deliver them 

over into the hands of their drivers. Thus the battle was doubtful, the 
Macedonians sometimes pursuing and sometimes fleeing from the elephants, so 

that the struggle was prolonged till the day was far spent”.* Diodoros also 

informs us that “the elephants, applying to good use their prodigous size and 

strength, killed some of the enemy by trampling them under their feet, and 

crushing their armour and their bones, while upon others they inflicted a terrible 

death, for they first lifted them aloft with their trunks, which they had twined 

round their bodies, and then dashed them down with great violence to the 

ground. Many others th«y deprived in a moment of life by goring them 

through and through with their tusks”.® Arrian also tells us that “the huge 
beasts charged the ranks of the infantry, and wherever they turned went 

(1) MCrtndle’s Invasion of India by Alexander. (2nd Ed.) p. 203. 
(2) Ibid. p. 101. 
(S) Ibid. p. 322. £. 
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crushing through the Macedonian phalanx ihough in close formation”^ 
Curiously enough after these accounts of the destruction caused by the elephants, 

leaving aside the terrific fight given by the other anus of Poros* forces, we are 
told by Arrian, the most sober of Alexander's historian, that in the battle of 
Jheluin on Macedonian side there fell only about 80 of the infantry, 10 of the 
horse archers, 20 of the companion cavalry, and 200 of the other cavalry^. 

This shows the nature of Alexander’s romance out of which history was created. 
The authors of the Cambridge Ancient History correctly observe that Alexander’s 
losses in the battle of Jhelum were carefully concealed^. 

It seems that not only the losses of Alexander in the battle of Jhelum 

were concealed, but even the final result of that battle was not truly reported. 

The report, that Poros lost the battle of Jhelum, as his elephants when attacked 

and wounded turned against his own forces whom they trampled under their 
feet and were eventually driven from the field of battle like a flock of sheep,^ 
appears to be a fiction. If the terror and the flight of the elephants causing 
incalculable damage to their own side and thus betraying their essential 
weakness as an arm of fighting forces was a fact, then these beasts could never 
have been idolised by Seleucus and the other contemporary Macedonian and Greek 

Captains who fought for Asiatic supremacy after Alexander’s death. The authors 
of the Cambridge Ancient History shrewdly observe, “There is a conclusive proof 

of the desperate nature of the battle with the elephants—its effect on the minds of 

the generals (as seen later) and especially on that of Seleucus, who had actually 
fought with them; when king, he ceded whole provinces in order to obtain 

(1) Ibid, p 106. 

(2) Ibid. p. 107. On the Indian side according to Arrian 20,000 infantry and 3,000 cavalry 

were killed and all the chariots were broken to pieces. 

Diodoros informs us that "of the Macedonians, there fell 280 horsemen and more than 700 

foot soldiers'' Ibid. 276. 

(B) Cam. Ancient History Vol. VI. p. 408. 

(4) Compare the following remarks of Curtius, "The elephants, being at last spent with 

wounds, spread havoc among their own ranks, and threw their drivers to the ground, who were then 

trampled to death by their own beasts. They were therefore driven from the field of the battle like 

a flock of sheep, as they were maddened with terror rather than vicious”. MCrindles. Invasion of 

India by Alexander, p. 211. 

Diodoros also informs us that when Macedonians "assailed the animals themselves with a 

storm of javelins, thus piercing them with numerous wounds, which so tortured them that tne 

Indians mounted on their backs lacked sufficient strength to control their movements, for the animals 

on heading to their own ranks bore against them with an impetuosity not to be repressed, and 

trampled their own friends under their feet ", Ibid p. 275. 

Compare the following remark of Arrian, ** Of the elephants themselves some had been 

wounded, while others, both from exhaustion and the loss of their mahouts, no longer kept to their 

own side in the conflict, but, as if driven frantic by th ir sufferings, attacked friend and foe quite 

indiscriminately, pushed them, trampled them down, and killed them in all manner of ways. 

When the elephants, however, became quite exhausted, and their attacks were no longer made with 

vigour, they fell back like ships backing water, and merely kept trumpeting as they retreated with 

tbfir facet to tl^e enemy **. (Ibid p. 106} 
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war elephants, and they became the special arm and symbol of his dynasty*'^. 
Even if at one time in the battle of Jhelum the elephants were thrown into 

confusion we are informed that a considerable number of them soon rallied 

round Porus himself who led them on causing very great destruction of the 

army of the enemy. As Diodoros remarks “Porus who was mounted on the 
most powerful of all his elephants, on seeing what has happened, gathered 

around him forty of the animals that were still under control, and falling upon 
the enemy with all the weight of the elephants, made a great slaughter”*. 

The following Ethiopic version of the battle between Poros and Alexander 

has perhaps preserved the truth that Alexander failed to beat the forces of 

Poros. “Poros continued to fight with Alexander for twenty days, and many 
of Alexander’s horsemen were slain and by reason of this there was such 

great sorrow among them that they wept and howled like dogs, and they 

wished to throw down the arms which were in their hands and to forsake 
Alexander and go over to the enemy. When Alexander saw this he drew 

nigh into their midst, being himself in great tribulation, and he wished to 

stop the fight. And having commanded the soldiers to cease fighting, he 
cried out saying, “O Poros, King of India, behold, I perceive and know thy 

strength and might, and moreover what thou doest lieth hard upon me, 
and my heart is aweary, and I have considered the fatigue whereby we all 

are perishing. Now although I may wish to destroy my own life, I would 
not that all these men (who are with me) should perish, for it is I who have 
brought them nigh unto death here, and it is not aright thing for a king_ 

to deliver his soldiers unto death”*. In the Ethiopic text, which also 

makes a great hero of Alexander, instead of the fiction -of the elephants 
stampeding their own army, and thus making Poros lose the battle, we have 

the fiction that after Alexander could not beat the force of Poros a duel 

was agreed upon between the two in which Poros was lain. 

The account, that some of the classical writers give of the efforts of 

Alexander towards the close of the battle of Jhelum to reconcile Poros, also 

seem to bear out the Ethiopic version given above that it was Alexander 

who sought peace. We gather from Arrian that Alexander first sent king 

of Taksasila with the message of peace. But Poros would have killed the 
traitor and his old enemy had he not escaped by a speedy flight*. Accordmg 
to Curtius it was not the king of Taksasila, but his brother who was sent 

to Poros, and Poro^ actually killed him*. After this unsuccessful attempt 

(1) , Cambridge Ancient History. Vol. VI. p. 408-409. 

(2) MCrindle’s. Invasion of India by Alexander p. 275. 

(8) The Life and Exploits of Alexander the Great (From Ethiopic Text) E4ite4 gntf 
Trantl^ted by £. A. W. Badge P. 123* 

(4) . MCrindle’s Invasion of India by Alexander p. I09. 

(5) lWdp.212, ", 
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to reconcile Poros, as Arrian informs us, Alexander ‘‘sent to him messenger after 
messenger, and last of all Meroes, an Indian, as he had learned that Poros and 

this Meroes were old friends**^ This significant passage of Arrian seems to 
tell a different tale than that it was the defeated, wounded, and dying Poros 
that Alexander was so keen to reconcile. Like-wise the remark of Plutarch 

that “the battle with Poros depressed the spirits of the Macedonians’*^ 
signifies much more than that Alexander and his army received a good shaking 

in the battle of Jhelum. 

Thus, the outcome of the battle of Jhelum does not appear to be what 

the official version preserved for us will make us believe. May be that Poros 
was the real victor, and, as we learn from the Ethiopia text referred to above, 
Alexander was the suppliant for peace. Or may be that before the battle was 

decisively closed, Alexander, who was hard pressed throughout and who 
knew that the loss of battle would have meant complete annihilation, 

started negotiations for peace. True to the old Kshatriya tradition Poros did 
not like to smite a suppliant foe, and peace was made between him 
and Alexander. 

The fact that Poros had extended his protection to Alexander is also 
obvious from the fact that on his way back from the bank of the Beas he was safe 
so long as he was in Poros* territory, which towards the south extended upto 

the confluence of the Ravi and the Chenab, and as soon as he crossed Poros* 
territory he met with most stubborn opposition. He was almost hacked to 
pieces in a battle against the Mallois, and more than once he had to risk his 

life to keep his forces together. The report of Alexander’s failure to beat 
Poros, perhaps, also encouraged the risings against him in the north-west. 
We know that not long after the battle of Jhelum when Alexander was 
campaigning along the Punjab rivers, Asvakas rose against him and killed his 
satrap Nicanor. Elsewhere^ we have suggested that this revolt was never 
suppressed and it was the real cause of Alexander's sudden retirement from 
the bank of the Beas and his flight through the Sindh and the Makran desert 
where most of his army was destroyed. We have also surmised that the 

leader of this revolt was Sasigupta, who is perhaps identical with Chandragupta, 
the great founder of the Maurya dynasty. 

It seems that in the official reports of Alexander’s Indian campaign 
attempts were made to cover the discomfiture of the Macedonians in the 
battle of Jhelum by the fiction that struck by the valour of Poros, Alexander 
befriended him and offered back his kingdom. Alexander was most ungenerous 

towards his opponents. One easily recalls his brutal treatment of Bessus, 

(1) IWdlp.108. 
(2) IMdp. 310. 
fS) Wat) Alexander routed in India ? Indian Keview. June 1937* 

12 
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Persian Satrap of Bactria, who so nobly fought till the eiid for the cause of 
Persian liberty. As Arrian reports, after his arrest, when brought to Alexander, 
the latter ordered his being scourged, his nose and ears to be cut off, and put to 
death^. Other Persian Satraps too, who fought the national cause, received 
no better treatment. One may also recall his treatment of Calisthenes, the 
nephew of ,his preceptor Aristotle, who because of his protest against 

Alexander’s fodish aping of the despotic manners of the Great Persian 
Emperors, was carried bound by fetters and later on stretched upon the rack 
and hanged*'*. It has been difficult to exonerate Alexander cf his brutal 

murder with his own hands of Cleitus for recalling the achievements of his own 
father, Philip. Cleitus was the brother of his nurse, whom he (Alexander) 

adored like his mother, and Cleitus had also saved his life in the battle of 

Granicus. The murder of his father’s trusted general, Parmenion, is a deep 
stain on Alexander’s character. One may also recall his cold blooded 
massacre under cover of night of the Indian soldiers who were allowed to 

retire from Massaga, or his massacre of the harmless community of exiles from 
Branchidae. His whole whirlwind campaign is full of destruction of 

prosperous cities, massacre of women, children, and all, as during the whole 

of his campaign in Sindh. If racial prejudices do not enter into the study of 
history Alexander will appear to be one of the most ferocious and barbarous 
figures world has ever seen. His brief life is full of orgies of bloodshed, foul 
murders, and ignoble revenges, unrelieved by any act of real chivalry, unless 
we believe in the fiction of his generosity towards Poros. 

We are asked to believe that Alexander’s generosity towards Poros did 
not stop with his restoring back his liberty and kingdom, but Alexander “added 

to his original territory another of still greater extent’’®, which lay to the east of 

his old domains. This again appears to be a part of the fiction. It will be 

stupid to believe that the gift of this new territory was made on the battle 

field of Jhelum, as it was not then conquered. Subsequent to the battle of 

Jhelum the question of gift does not arise, as we know that it was won after 
hard fight jointly undertaken by Poros and Alexander. The truth appears to 

be that after the battle of Jhelum Poros used Alexander as a tool for his conquest 

eastward, just as Ambhi tried to use him to crush Poros. Poros succeeded in 

his game, whereas Ambhi failed. 
I 

Poros was a pbwerful and ambitious monarch. Even before Alexander 

bad appeared on Indian horizon he in alliance with Abhisara had marched 
against the independent tribes to the east of bis domains. But the following 

remark of Arrian suggests that they met only with partial success: “shortly 

1. Tha Anabasis of Alexander (Chinnock's Translation). P. 185 ff. 
1, Ibid* p. aia. 
h i*Arriaa MCriadle’i lavtiioo of India by Alexander* P. 100* 
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before this time Poros and Abisares had marched against them with thdr 

armies, and had besides stirred up many of the independent Indians against 

them, they were obliged, as it turned out, to retreat without accomplishing 

anything at all adequate to the scale of their preparations*'^ May be that the 

appearance of Alexander made Poros retire to his kingdom leaving the conquest 

of the tribes to the east unfinished. After the battle of Jhelum he accomplished 

to the full what he had only partially done before it, his dominions now 

extended right upto the banks of the Beas. Elsewhere* we have suggested 

that Poros of the Greek historians is identical with Parvateshwar of the drama 

Mudraraksasa. In the light of this identification we clearly see that the great 

design of Poros was to conquer towards the east even the kingdom of the 

Nandas, which later on he successfully did in alliance with Chandragupta. 

But, if we believe in the historicity of the traditions preserved in the drama, 

in the hour of victory he was made to quit the world to make room for the 

glorious Maurya youth, whom Kautalya found a more deserving sovereign head 

of a united India. 

POPULARISATION OF CLASSICAL SANSKRIT AND 

THE AGE OF SANSKRIT DRAMAS. 

Dr. Dines Chandra Sircar, M. A., Ph. D., 
Department of Ancient Indian History and Culture, Calcutta University, 

The most favourite theory with the nineteenth century Sanskritists was 

that of Maxmiiller that the golden age of Classical Sanskrit literature was the 

sixth century A. D. when flourished king Vikramaditya of Ujjain and his ‘nine 

gems’ including Kalidasa. This sixth century Vikramaditya was found in king 

Yasodharman of the Mandasore inscription. The unsoundness of this theory was 

afterwards proved by BUhler who examined a number of inscriptions including 

the Nasik Prakrit record (c. 150 A. D.) of Gautami Balasri, the Junagarh 

Sanskrit record (150 A. D), of Rudradaman and many inscriptions of the Gupta 

period, and proved the flourishing state of classical poetry, both in Sanskrit 

and Prakrit, at the court of Indian princes as early as the second century A. D. 

It was also shown that Yawdharman was neither a Vikramaditya, nor a S^akari, 

nor even had he his capital at Ujjain, and that the socalled ‘nine gems’ are not 

fl) Ibid.p, 116. 
(Ij lo a paper “Identification of Poros and Parvataka”, read before the Mi.ith Alt*In4ifi 

Oriental Conterencf. 
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known to have lived in the same century. Other theories ascribing later dates 

to Kalidasa, the best classical Sanskrit wri ter, were proved to be untenable by 

the discovery of the Aihole inscription of Pul akesin II, dated S^aka 556=634—35 

A.D. This record mentions K^idasa and Bharavi as already very famous. The 

introductor)' verses of the Harsacarita by Bana, a contemporary of Harsavardhana 

(606—647 A. D.) also mention Kalidasa in a list of authors, quite famous in 

his time. It is now generally believed that S^akari Vikramaditya of the legends 

is the Gupta king Candragupta II (c. 375—414 A. D.) and that, of the ‘nine 

gems*, at least Kalidasa lived about the fifth century A.D. 

Now, however, we have got to look at the question from a different point 

of view. I have recently noticed attempts to ascribe the thirteen Trivandrum 

plays to the time of Candragupta Maurya, *. e., to the fourth pentury B. C., and 

the authorship of the Mfcchakatika to Simuka, founder of the S^atav.ahana 

family, who is generally placed in the second (but sometimes also in' the first) 

century B. C. We have now to see if there is any evidence of the existence of 

a developed kdvya style and of the popularity of cfassical metres and of 

saijiskfta or the refined language in centuries B.C. 

The first question is regarding the development and popularisation of 

Classical Sanskrit. It evidently owes its development to the efforts of early 

grammarians like S^akatayana, S^akalya, Panini, Katyayana, Patanjali, Sarbavarman 

and others. The most important and the earliest extant Classical Sanskrit 

grammar is that of Panini who however seems to have been preceded by a 

number of writers on the subject. But Panini’s date is disputed, though he 

should be placed earlier than the third century B. C. It is generally believed 

that sarjiskrta is the refined form of the popular speech of the Madhyade^ 

which seems to have originally signified the upper valley of the Ganges and the 

Jumna. But it is interesting to note that Panini is traditionally connected with 

S^alatura in the Gandhara region in north-western India. Katyayana is to be 

placed between Panini and Patanjali. Patanjali is generally believed to have 

been a contemporary of Pusyamitra Sfunga (c. 185—49 B. C.) on the strength 

of the Mdhabhdsya passages like iha pi^ayamitrarri y&jydmal),. But there is 

reason to believe that these are mUrdh-abhiaikta uddharai},a or stock instances, 

and that they do not prove Patanjali’s contemporaneity with the S'unga king. 

According to tradition, Patanjali was a native of Gonarda which was situated 

between Ujjain and Vidi^ (Besnagar near Bhilsa in Jubbulpore District.)* If a 

tradition recorded in ICalhana’s Rajataraiiginl is to be believed, he cannot 

possibly be placed, later than the first century A. D. Sarbavarman lived at the 

court of a S^alivahana (i. e., Batavahana) king possibly of Pratisthana (Paithan in 

Aurangabad District); he therefore seems to have lived not later than the 

beginning of the third century A. D. It must be noticed here that according to 

l. See Joum. Andhra Hitt. Bet. 8oe,, IX, January, 1935, p. I ff. 



POPULARISATION OF CLASSICAL SANSKRIT 93 

scholars, Sanskrit was not a spoken language at the time of Panini and that, 

even amongst the cultured classes, it was not in colloquial usage, but was 
confined to the grammatical schools {Ind. Ant., IV, p. 281). 

Now, inspite of the efforts of grammarians, it is clear from the evidence 
of epigraphy that Sanskrit was not popular as late as the first century A. D. 
Almost all records whether of kings or private persons, belonging to a 
period prior to that time are written in Prakrit. In western India, 
Prakrit began to be ousted by Sanskrit from the field of epigraphy 

about the second century A. D., but in southern India it lingered on upto 

the first half of the fourth century A. D.^ Inscriptions also suggest 
that the cradle of Sanskrit was possibly the north-western part of India, 

the land of Panini, whence its influence seems to have spread eastwards and 

southwards. The inscriptional Prakrit generally avoids the use of conjuncts; 
but they are in general use in those Prakrit records which are linguistically 
and chronologically nearer the Sanskrit records. It is however very 

interesting to note that*the Girnar (Kathiawar), Shahbazgarhi (Peshawar Dist.) 
and Manshera (Hazara Dist.) versions of Asoka's Rock Edicts—especially the 
last two—exhibit a tendency to use conjuncts. The language of these versions 
is definitely nearer Sanskrit in comparison with that of the other versions of 
Asoka’s Rock Edicts. In place of the passage dtvdnam piyasa piyadashte 

lajifte of the Kalsi, Dhauli and Jaugada versions, we have devdnam priyasa 

priyadasino rdJio (Girnar), devana priasa priadra^’isa raho (Shahbazgarhi) 

and devana priyasa priyadra^ino rajitie (Manshera), and in place of mige 

dhuve, we have mrugo no dhruvam (Shahbazgarhi) and mrige no dhruvam 

(Manshera).^ And it is interesting that Sanskrit was first used in the 
records of kings who ruled in the country with Kathiawar in the south and 
Ayodhya in the east. It was popularised in northern India by foreigners like 
the Scythians who came through north-western India, the land of Panini. 
Inscriptions like those of the Scythian princes, which are written in mixed 
Sanskrit and Prakrit, prove to be a land-mark in the popularisation of Sanskrit 

in northern India. Now, these facts possibly go to show that, unless we have 
proofs of a very positive character, no classical Sanskrit kdvya especialh’ 
dfs'ya^kdvya which is meant for the enjoyment of the public can be safely 
given a date prior to the birth of Christ.^ 

1. See my Bitrly Pallavas, Lahore, 1935, p. 18 ff. 

2. Inscriptions in Kharosthi have generally no long vowels* 
3. The popular epic literature seems to have been originally in Prakrit: ; cf. the case of 

the Jiitaka literature especially Dasaratha^Jatdka which gives an early version of the Bafnayana. 
The Bamayana^ 3, saga of the eastern Madhyadeia, is belived to have been sung by bards before 

public gatherings. It could not therefore have been originally composed in Sanskrit which was 
not understood by the ordinary people. The same appears to have been the case with the 

Mahabharaia, a saga of the Kuru*Panc&la country. It is however possible that some portion 

of the original Mhaiharakt was composed in northwestern India. 
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Now we may take up the question of the development of Classical poetry. 

Not to speak of a developed kdvya style, < ven figurative expressions and long 

compounds (ojo-gu'na, i. e., samdsa-bhUyastv^, which is the very life of Clas¬ 

sical prose) are conspicuous by their absence in early epigraphic records. The 

Nanaghat record of Simuka’s daughter-in-law Naganika, which is evidently a 

prs'asH of her dead husband, gives an only instance of figurative expression in 

the passage sdgara-girivara-valaydya pathaviya pathctm^-vlra. Epigraphy 

therefore does not support any hypothesis that a developed kdvya literature 

existed in the pre-Christian centuries. 

A consideration of the question of development and popularity of Clas¬ 

sical metres also tells the same story. Classical metres like Malatl, 

Pramitaksara, Prahirsini and Vasantatilaka are no doubt found in the MahdbhdSya 

of Patanjali, but as we have already remarked, it is not at all certain if Patanjali 

lived in the second century B. C. and not more than a century later. The 

Junagarh record of Rudradaman appears to refer to the king's proficiency in 

composing gadya and padya kdvyas adorned with f^abda and artha alankaras. 

In inscriptions, Classical meties are found to be used only about the period of 

the Guptas. These facts appear to prove that such metres were at least not 

popular before the birth of Christ. 

The above facts have led me to believe that no Sanskrit work in a developed 

kdvya style can be much earlier than the second century A. D. But the date 

of a drama or dp^ya-kdvya can be looked at from a new point of view. The 

determining factor in this case may be the language and style of the Prakrit 

portions of a drama which should be compared with the language and style of 

Prakrit inscriptions. Like royal edicts dramas were no doubt meant to be 

intelligible and enjoyable to the public. At least the Prakrits used in the drama 

are theoretically in imitation of popular speech. A comparison of the Prakrit 

portions of the extant dramas with their ojo-guna with Prakrit records shows 

that none of the former can be much earlier than the second century A. D., 

because before that period samdsa-bhuyastva was almost unknown in Indian 

epigraphy. Any attempt at identifying the author of the Mfcchaba^ika with 

the founder of the S^atavahana family would appear impossible, if only we 

compare the Prakrit portions of this drama with the language of the Nanaghat 

inscription of Naganika. It would appear even absurd if we remember the 

traditions regarding the ignorance of Sanskrit ascribed to the S'atavahana 

patron of SarbavarmanI who could not distinguish between fn=odaka (no water) 

and tnodaka (sweets), the S'atavahana of Kuntala who according to the 

Kdvyamlmdjfisd ordered exclusive use of Prakrit in his harem and the S'atavahana 

king Hala credited with the authorship of the Prakrit poem Gatha-sapta^ati. 

The above facts together with the evidence of the inscriptions of the family 

which are all written in Prakrit appear to prove that the S^atavah^nas of'^the 
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a theory ascribing the authorship of the Mfcchakafika to Simuka must be rejected 

unless it is supported by evidence of a very definite character.^ Similarly, a 

comparison of the style of the thirteen Trivandrum plays with that of the 

inscriptions of Asoka proves the absurd nature of the theory ascribing the plays 

to the fourth century B. C.^ The theory however appears to be based on the verse 

navaifi s'ardvarjfi salilasya pUrnam^ etc., supposed to be quoted from the Pratijhd- 

yaug andhar^ yarpa in the Arthas^astra, ascribed to Kautalya who is generally 

supposed to have lived in the fourth century B. C. at the court of Candragupta 

Maurya. But whatever be the age of Kautalya, the present day Arthasdstra is 

undoubtedly a later work. The Arthasdstra (II, vi) refers to the system of specifying 

dates in terms of rdja-varsa (regnal year), mdsa {month) ^ pak?a (bright or dark 

fortnight) and divasa (day). Inscriptions prove that this system was becoming 

popular only about the beginning of the second century A. D. The system of 

dating known to Asoka in the third century B. C. is found in such passages of 

his edicts as devdnani priyapriyadasi idja evaiii dha : dvddasa-vds-abhisitena 

mayd idain dnapitam. A record of king Bhagabhadra (second century B. C.) 

is dated vdsena catudasena rdjena vadhamdnasa (Luders, List, No. 669). A 

little later system referred to the regnal year, paksa of the season, and day 

e. g., in passages, like as^vaghosasya cataris^e savachare hematUa-pakhe prathame 

drvase das'afn^ (ib.. No. 922). Early dates referring to this system show that 

the year was originally divided into three seasons {gri^tnay varsd and hemanta) 

of eight fortnights each , cf siri virapurisadatasa sairivachara 20 vdsd-pakhai\i 8 

divasattl 10 {ib.y No. 1202). Sarat was added to the list of seasons which had now 

six fortnights each ; cf. savccharatfi Pd^dmarii sarada-pakhjm bitlyam divasam 

pa4<^mam nakkhattam rohinlyam [ib,, 1196). This system of dating lingered 

long in southern India. Mention of the names of months is found only in records 

of about the first century A. D. The system popular in north-western India 

1. The Mroohdkatika (Act xi) which represents the judge (culhikarmka) in a court of law 

accorapained by a sretihin and a Icayastha can hardly be a pre-Gupta work. The eai liest raention 

of sresthin and fcayastha as officials or semi-officials are in records of the Gupta period. See 

Raychaudhuri, Political Hilary, 4tb ed., p. 473 n. 

2. The Trivandrum plays may be assigned to the Gupta period on the strength of the celebrated 

verse imam sagara-paryantam himavad-vif^dhyakundalam, mahim^ickalapatraiikam rajasimham 

pratoitu fMh, The verse refers to a king of northern India whose kingdom lay between the 

Himalayas and the Vindhyas and between the Arabian Sea and the Bay of Bengal. Prof. Raychaudhuri 

may not be wrong in identifying this Rajasimha with Candragupa 11 Vikram^itya (Political Uistory 

4th ^d., p. 441hi). If Bhasa is the author of the Trivandrum plays, he was an older contemporary 

of KMidftsa or he died not much earlier than Kalidasa's rise. As regards ojoguna in the Prakrit 

portions of the Trivandrum plays we may quote a passage from a maid servant’s speech in the 

8vapiUi»varadatam tarn bJMttidaria ukkarida kanna-culiena vaafna-canjada-sedabindu-vittidena parisianla- 

ramania-damsaiAsna muhsna Kanduena Kilatkii ido ebva aacchadi (act 11) iam einla-^unna hiaa nihara- 

padihada’OandaUha uta amaiidida-bhaddaam vesam dkaraandi paingu ailapattae uvaviththa (act ill). 

We should compare this highly artificial speech given in the mouth of a maid servant with the 

royal speech in Asoka's edicts. 
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Deccan hardly patronised Sanskrit literature. At least under these circumstances 

during this period, was to refer generally to months of the Yavana Calendar 

and also to Indian months and to the day without reference to paksa^ e. g,f 

kaniskasya samvatsare cMdas'e 11 dalsinkasya tnasasya divase athavise 28^ 

or sam 11 a8a(}hasa masasa di 20 utara-phagune^ or saTfi 18 karti yasa tnajhe 

divase 20^ etc. It is interesting to note that dates of records belonging to the 

Ku^na period and found in the Mathura region show a compromise between 

the old Indian custom of referring to season and paksa and the Yavana custom 

of referring to month ; e. g., sam 5 he 4 df 20 (t6., No. 20). The reference 

to the twentieth day proves that he 4 means the fourth month of hemanta, 

not its fourth pak8a. This is proved by other instances like kar^iskasya r^jya 

samvatsare navame 9 v^sa-tndse pratha 1 divase 5, or savatsare pacavis'e 

hemanta^m^se tftiye divase vls'e, or s'o4^sasa savatsare 72 hemarUa-mdse 2 

divase 9 {ib., Nos. 22, 32 and 59). This system which possibly owes its origin 

to the Yavana custom seems to have been followed by the system that referred 

to both mdsa SiVid paksa, e. g., vase 41 kdtika-s udhe panarasa {ib.. No. 1133) 

or riidraddmno varse avisaptatitame 72 mdrgaslrsa-bahula-pratipadi. It is 

very interesting to note that like Sanskrit this system of dating was also 

popularised by foreigners who came through north-western India, and that 

Kautalya like Panini is traditionally connected with the Taxila or Gandhara region 

in north-western India. Kautalya may have been the teacher of an Artha^stra 

school and the author of the kernel of the Arthasdstra, which in that case 

may have been originally composed in the form of a Dharina^stra work, but 

some portion of the treatise and its form as we find it today are surely not 

much earlier than the beginning of the second century A. D. 

I am inclined to think that the earliest known writer of the classical kdvya 

(including dT’^ya-kdvya) is Asvaghosa who is traditionally known to have lived 

at the court of the Ku^na king Kaniska at Puruj^pura (modern Peshawar). It 

must be noted that like Panini and Kautalya Asvaghosa too is connected with 

the north-western part of India and with foreigners who favoured Sanskrit. 

Asvagho^ lived in the last quarter of the first or the first half of the second 

century A. D. There is no proof that Classical Sanskrit was popular in other 

parts of India in his time. It is however not impossible that his was not the 

first attempt to write Classical kdvyas and that in north-western India, there 

existed some work in Classical Sanskrit even before Asvaghosa, . Theatrical 

performances however appear to have existed long before our first known 

dramatist; but they were probably like the eighteenth-nineteenth century 

Bengali ydtfd (half-written and half-unwritten) and the Bengali bhdsdn ydtrd 

and gdjlr gdn (unwritten) of the present day. The age of Sanskrit dramas must 

have been preceded by centuries of unwritten plays and possibly by an aga*of 

Prakrit dramas which are now lost. 
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A NOTE ON A SOUTH INDIAN DOCUMENT OF THE 

CONSTITUTIONAL HISTORY OF ANCIENT INDIA. 

K. R. Chatterjiy Serampore College, Serampore. 

The Keralolpatti belonging to Malabar (written in the Malayali language) 

is a book which is not very well-known in northern India. It is alleged to be 

written by Sri Samkaracharya, though scholars put its date much later, i.e., 

the Portuguese period of Indiin History (14th Century A. D.). It is first noticed 

by Captain Duncan in the Asiatic Researches Vol. V. An imperfect translation of 

it exists in Col. Mackenzie’s descriptive Catalogu|j of Oriental Manuscripts 

Vol. II. (Asiatic Society of Bengal, 1828 ) 

This book gives an account of Malabar and its origin in the legendary 

fashion—how Parasurama brought the land into existence out of the sea— 

how it was first peopled—the administrative arrangements made—the election 

of a king—accounts of various kings—and the last king’s (Cheraman Perumal) 

conversion to Islam, Now as a historical document giving relevant facts of 

history it is quite useless. In this respect it is absurd, inconsistent and full of 

contradictory statements. To name only one example king Krishna Rayar 

(Anakandi of Vijaynagar who is known to have flourished in the 16th Century 

A. D.) is alleged in this book to have sent one of his nominees as king of Kerala 

in 428 A. D. 

However valueless the book may be as a historical document yet it contains 

a great deal of very ancient traditions, some of which specially those concerning 

administrative and cultural history are very useful and informative. A most 

interesting thing in the Keralolpatti is the account of the government of 

the land. In the literature of the north we have many descriptions of the 

elective origin of monarchy, but in the south, I think, Keralolpatti records 

one of the very few accounts of such a thing. It, at the same time, gives 

such a full account of limited monarch}' as we have perhaps nowhere in 

Indian literature. Secondly it also gives a very interesting account of oligarchic 

government. 

The document describes the evolution of a government in a country from 

the very first stage. The land, as described in the book was at first totally 

uninhabited, because Parasurama reclaimed it from the sea. The latter 

established a colony of Brahmans on it and it is the gradual evolution of 

governmental ideas amongst them that is described in this book. 

At first the government was an oligarchy. Of the 64 gramams that 

composed the country there were four which established a postion of predominance 

.13 
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over the rest.“ in order that nothing might obstruct or interrupt 

the daily business.each of the four gramams should have a house in the 

village of Kodangular (the capital)...the 64 gramams assembled thus ordered that 

the four Talayadrimar should be unanimous and protect and punish Thus 

there were four men (one from each of the four villages) who conducted the 

government. They formed the executive government ; in order to help them in 

their deliberations there were two assemblies or courts (Nalkullakams) the first 

of which was perhaps composed of the Brahman inhabitants of the four favoured 

villages. The second consisted of a series of four Varna Kullakars or assemblies 

of the representatives of the four castes. The people of Kerala were fully alive 

to the danger that the four men they had appointed to govern may one day 

become kings and establish the regime of hereditary monarchy in the land. 

So they ordained that “ no married person was to be employed in the office.*' 

However the oligarchic form of government, did not last long. In paragraphs 

43 and 67 of Mackenzie’s translation we have that when the 64 villages had been 

ruling for some time dispute arose and injustice followed. So the 60 villages 

assembled and considered as follows:—^“which is the best way for us to preserve 

the Rajyam—thus they considered—the 64 gramams then assembled, resolved— 

*we should appoint a Protector amongst us*, which they did accordingly and 

appointed that the person they elected should reside at Teruwanji Kollain to 

govern the 64 gramams and that after three years pass the 64 gramams 

should assemble again at Teruwanji Kollam and change the person and appoint 

another in his place for other three years and thus they ordained** (Mackenzie 

para 67). Another thing to note here is that it was the executive government which 

is changed, the two assemblies remained as usual because there is no mention 

of any change in that direction. Here again we find expression of that old fear 

that the ruler may become permanent and hereditary. So it is a temporary 

king that was appointed with provision for the appointment of another person 

after the expiry of a certain term. Thus the king was here no jnore than a 

mere office-holder. From the accounts of the various kings that is given in 

the Keralolpatti it is evident that the kings who followed were all elected by 

the people—and by only one class of it, the Brahmans. The kings brought by 

them from the different countries ruled by agreement for a few years and the 

privileges enjoyed by them were limited by the agreement. Thus one king 

named Keralan brought frdha Choyamandalam (Logan, Malabar I p. 226) who 

ruled for 12 years had his terms of privilege described thus—battle wager, 

sea and land customs, certain kinds of animals, accretions from the sea, tax on 

head loads, the revenue and charge of all Kerala. In the case of another king, 

Cheraman Perumal—“the Brahman of 64 gramams gave him an Anayatittee 

(a kind of writ) to rule Kerala the land of 160 Kalam (leagues) in length and 

Ifiuthorised him to rule as sole emperor, giving him flower and water/’ From 
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the accounts given it seems that the Brahman settlers looked upon kingship with 

suspicion and the book is full of account of actions taken by the Brahmans to 

prevent^the kings from becoming tyrannical in any way possible. They not only 

appointed the kings by agreement, they also often put checks upon him by 

putting assemblies and councils around him. Thus, in Mackenzie Para 68 we 

read that “for a considerable time when they found they (the kings) had no 

truth, the 64 gramams assembled and decided to place four persons, one from 

each of the four favoured villages, along with the Raksha Purusham in the 

management of state affairs.’* This state of affairs apparently continued for a 

long time for in Logan’s Malabar p. 229, we read that Indra Perumal reigned 

aided by councillors, it is said, of the four representative villages, for a period of 

12 years ; Arya Perumal reigned with their aid for five years. 

The terms made by the Brahmans (when appointing the king) as regards 

their own position are also noteworthy. Thus in one place (Mackenzie p. 88) we 

have, “when the Brahmans had brought the Raja and were installing him they 

held his hand and made the following agreement—“That which we cannot do 

you must perform and protect us. The Raja must not object to the interference 

of the Brahmans in the management of the State, nor judge of any complaint 

of which they may judge, or in which they are parties. At least not in Kerala, 

in other countries the Raja will settle everything.” Another instance of the 

check put on the king is given on p. 89 of Mackenzie’s Catalogue—“(the 

Brahmans) considered how to prevent the Raja getting too much strength and 

so they.(laid it down that) the Raja-Karyam were to be conducted by an 

assembly and council and without consulting them the Raja was not to determine 

at his pleasure. Therefore, the 64 gramams assembled, consulted, and besides 

the after mentioned 4 Kullakams they appointed three other Kullakams inferior 

to the 4 gramams in order to transact the Nitya-Karyam along with the 

Raja,” “The Kodangular-gramam should be the residence of the Raja and 

near that place four toly (or houses) for the residence of the chief of the 

4 Councils erected.” 

The two facts which deserve our consideration in Keralolopatti are: — 

(1) in the first place the great influence exercised by Brahmans on the government 

of the country and secondly the close similarity which the constitutional features 

just described bear to similar traditions of the north. 

We find the Brahmans of, Parasurama establishing a kind of a republic of 

a military caste. Even after the establishment of monarchy the republican 

form is resumed or revived by them from time to time. Now this republican 

constitution bears a close similarity to the Ayudhajivi samgha of Panini and 

the Sastropjivins of the Arthasastra. Mr. Jayaswal in his Hindu Polity (p. 36). 

rightly puts emphasis on the verb upjiva and explains the Ayudhajivi Samgha 
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as a republic in which the members observed the practice of military art. 

These samghas were not purely military because their constitution also required 

the citizens to devote attention to industry and agriculture (varttasastropajivinah). 

This interpretation of the Ayudhajivins fits in well with the constitution of the 

Kerala Brahmins; for in one place we read ‘after the death of Kulasekhara 

Perumal’ “eight and a half of the gramams took up arms and were subsequently 

joined by two others.” These armed Brahmans or protectors, it is said, had 

four chief things to attend to, one of which alone was to assemble to consult 

about government affairs. A very important thing which attracts our attention in 

this connection is the necessary modification which we have to make of 

Mr. Jayswal’s analysis of the nature of a samgha. After mentioning the 

samghas in Panini he comes to the conclusion that ‘Samgha is contrasted 

with monarchy and that a Samgha or a Hindu republic had Brahman members, 

Kshatriya members and other castes i.e., the personnel of the Samghas was not 

composed of one caste or tribe.’ But the Kerala Brahman Samgha as it 

appears from the Keralolpatti was composed of Brahmans alone. The second 

assembly had some representatives of the three other castes but real power 

was concentrated in the hands of the Brahmans and nowhere in this book we 

find members of the other castes performing any important function. Thus 

the Keralolpatti proves that a Hindu Samgha can bq an organisation of one 

caste alone. 

Secondly even when a king is appointed he is more like the president of 

a republic than a monarch ruling by his own right. He is appointed for a 

stated number of years.he rules by an agreement—his duty is specified 

(protection)—his privileges are strictly limited and enumerated in the 

agreement, he receives J of the produce for the support of himself and his 

subordinates—he is deposed whenever the Brahmans wanted. These things 

remind us clearly of similar early northern traditions. We have in the 

Dharmasutra (Gautama Ch. X, Baudhayana Ch. XVI,^ Vasistha Ch. P) 

various statements made to the effect that the king was to protect with the sixth 

part as his wages. Regarding the deposition of kings by Brahmans we have 

in the epics the cases of Pariksita and Srinjaya Dustaritu both of whom lost 

their positions owing to the hostility of the Brahmans (also the cases of Arjun 

Kartavirya of Aila and of king Dambhodhava). Regarding the elective nature 

of monarchy we know from northern traditions the part played by the 

Purohita in abhisehka ceremonies. In fact the Brahman is made free of royal 

control in one place where it is stated that Soma was the king of the 

Brahmans. The extremely limited form of monarchy prevailing in Southern 

1- ^ JHUK. l (B»udhayana Ch. XVI) 

2' ^5 NJRJI | (Vawstba 1) 
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India leads us to draw either of two inferences. First that it was not monarchy 

at all, but the presidentship of a republic and secondly, which is more 

probable, that constitutional monarchy survived in a truer form in Hindu 

South India on account of the South's isolated position and its immunity 

from foreign invasions. 

However from the evidence supplied by various sources we can place 

some reliance on the tradition recorded in the Keralolpatti that the Brahmans 

of Kerala came from the north. Thejclose similarity between the constitutional 

history of Kerala and that of Northern India, just noticed by us, goes a 

long way in supporting the tradition and we are further backed by very 

appropriate anthropological data. Now in south western India the Nambudri 

Brahmans are universally regarded as Brahmins of Parasuram and various 

competent authorities have asserted with great emphasis that the Nambudri 

Brahmans of Kerala have a northern origin. Thus the Census Commissioner for 

Travancore (of 1921) in a bulletin on the people of Malabar says, “if anthropometry 

as far as it has gone, may be trusted to enlighten us on this subject, 

they (the Nambudri or Nambutiri) are the truest Aryans in South India". 

The Census Commissioner of Travancore for 1931, says in page 361 of T. C. R. 

Vol. I “the Nambutiri Brahman is the best available representative of the 

Aryan tribe," and on page 363, “the early Aryan immigrants to Kerala belonged 

to the priestly class now represented by the Nambutiris". Thurston, in his 

Castes and Tribes of Southern India' ass(?rts, “It is certain that the 

Nambutiris came from the north.The Nambutiris call themselves 

Aryan Brahmans. Theirs is by far the purest form of the Vedic Brahman 

to be met with in Southern India." Lastly L. K. Anantakrishnan Iyer, another 

great authority on Indian Anthropology writes in his book, ‘Cochin Tribes and 

Castes,* Vol II, p. 170, ‘they are the Vedic Brahmans of the purest Aryan type.’ 

These generalisations are further confirmed by the anthropometric measurements 

given in Vol III of the Census of Report of India, 1931, 

St. C. I. N. I. Skin Colour Eye Colour 

Nambudri Brahman 1676 71. 78 60. 71 14 7 

Sikh 1767 73. 87 67. 80 14 3 

U. P. Brahman 1765 71. 07 64. 41 15 7 

Tamil 1601 75. 51 72.92 15 3 

Telegu 1621 76. 19 73. 08 15 1 

Chitpavan ,, (Marathi) 1611 74. 24 69.09 13 7 

Thus here we find the Nambudri Brahman placed together with the 

Sikhs and the U.P. Brahmans in one place and the great similarity in the somatic 

features of these three groups is very clear. Among the South Indian groups that 

have been mentioned here the Nambudri is singled out as having the close 
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affinity with the northern peoples. “Individually the Nambudri is closely 

related with the U. P. Brahman.” “ In the colour of the skin the proportion 

of the light brown is the greatest (291) among the Nambudris who show also 

a very much smaller percentage of dark people.” In the colour of the eye they 

alone of South Indian people have a small percentage of clear light brown. 

The Nambudri is again stated to have a high prominent nose, 16% of which 

are convex. The face is longish among the Nambudri. “The long-headed 

people of the north (i.e., of the Aryan type) is differentiated by similar people 

of the south (the Dravidian) by, not only in stature, in the absolute length 

and height of the cranial vault, but also in the form and proportion of the face 

and the nose.” In this respect the Nambudri alone among the South Indian 

castes and tribes bear the closest resemblance ^with the northern people. In 

fact except in stature, in other somatic features ithey can hardly be distinguished 

from northerners. The difference in stature can be ascribed to climate and 

the vegetarian diet of the Nambudris, 

I give all these anthropological details in order to show that the Nambudri 

Brahmans are really northerners. My point is that the Nambudris at a remote 

past (the exact date of which can no longer be ascertained) came somewhere 

from the Punjab to Malabar with the Ayudhajivin constitution and established 

a republic which later on was converted into a limited monarchy. Above I have 

tried to show that aliuost all the features of Kerala constitution have counter¬ 

parts in North Indian institutions. Lastly our inference is further confirmed 

by a fact mentioned by Thurston who speaks of an amusement of the present- 

day Nambudris named Yatrakali (most probably a distortion of Sastrakali). It 

is a ceremony full of songs devoted to Siva and Parvati (with exercisra and 

skill in swordsmanhip). It is performed before the King of Travancore who 

receives the Brahmans in state before the begining of the performance. This 

may be relic of the old time martial practice of the Nambudri Brahmans who 

at one time observed the use of weapons as a principal part of their life when 

they lived under a republican constitution similar to the Ayudhajivin Samgha 

of Panini. 
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ORIGIN OF THE BHATIAS 

Sadananda K. Dikthit, M. A. 

In his ‘Coins of Ancient India’ p. 66 Cunningham has said, ‘The name 

of Odumbara or Audumbara is derived from the Udumbara fig tree (Ficus 

Glomerata). According to Panini, any country possessing these trees may be 

called Audumbara. There is a country of this name called Kachh, where Pliny 

places a people named Odonbeores. 

Thus, Cunningham here throws out a suggestion that Kachh possessed the 

Udumbara fig trees and was consequently known as an Audumbara country. 

But in the whole of indigenous literature we never find Audumbara as a name 

of Kachh or any part to the SW. of the Madhya-desa. In fact the Kurmavibhaga 

fo the Brihat-Samhita includes it in the Madhya dek along with Kapisthala 

(or Kaithal) and Gajahvaya (or Hastinapura),* while the Sabha-parva Cb. LII 

refers to them with the Paradas and the Bahlikas.'^ In another place also, the 

Brihat-Saihhita mentions them with the people of Kapisthala. Cunningham, 

informs that “the Markandeya Purana does the same, while the Visnupurana 

couples it with the Traigartas and the Kunindas.”^ He rightly adds that “the 

country of the Audumbaras must therefore be looked near Kangra and the Kunet 

districts;" and that “there the name still exists in the rich tracts between the 

Ravi and Bias Rivers, comprising the forts of Pathankot and Niirpur.” In 

fact all the Audumbara coins found by Cunningham hailed from ‘the Northern 

Punjab, beyond Lahore.’ The furthest Southern boundary of their region may 

at best be marked by the fact that they are included among the Salvaivayavas 

by the Kasika, along with the Tilakhalas, Bhiilingas etc. 

Thus I cannot accept Cunningham’s statement that Pliny’s Odomboeroe 

placed near about Kachh are the Audumbaras of indigenous literature. But 

Cunningham is almost certainly right in identifying these ’Odomboeroe with 

the ’Otienpochilo or A-tien-po-chi-lo of Yuan Chwang. The name ’O-tien-po-chi-lo’ 

has been variously transcribed, but as Dr. V. A. Smith points out in his 

E. H. I. p. 366 (4th ed.), the proper Indian equivalent of ’Otienpochilo is ‘not 

known with any approach to certainty.’ Thus Julien renders it as Adhyavakila 

or Autyavakela,—a name unknown to any of the Pura^as or even to the 

Brihat Saihhita. According to Watters the “sound of the characters gives us 

rather a word like Adinava-chila, which is a Sankrit compound" (Watters II. 256). 

2 ^1^ W. fPJxfmr: 'TWT; I 

3 'Coins of Ancient India* p. 66* 
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I confess that I have never come across such a Sanskrit compound, 

although Adinava is not unfamiliar. Besides, it cannot be the name of a tribe, 

or even an adequate trans-cription of ‘Odomboeroe’ of Pliny; for as told above, 

the Odomboeroe were almost certainly identical with the 0-tien-po-chi-lo. 

Cunningham therefore transcribes the latter name as Audumba-tira or 

Audumbara; but Odomboeroe can hardly be transcribed as Audumba-tira, 

or 0-tien-po-chlo as Audumbara. Cunningham would suggest that Audumba- 

tira is only a short form of Audumbara-tira; but even then, the latter cannot 

be the name of a country. We can perhaps understand Samudra-tira or 

Abdhi'Kula as the name of a small province stretching beside the sea, but we 

cannot understand Audumbara-tira. 

I therefore transcribe *0-tien-po-chi lo as Uttama-bhadra, a tribe well known 

to epigraphists from the Nasik Cave Inscription which informs that they were 

beseiged by the Malayas in a rainy season. Ushavadata marched against the 

Malayas, but at the sound of his drums the Malayas fled away and were made 

the subjects of the Uttama-bhadras. Thence (=Tato from the country of the 

Uttama-bhadras) Ushavadata went to Poshkarani and there performed ablutions 

giving 3000 cows and a village. 

This inscription would thus show that the country of the Uttama-bhadras 

corresponded to the region assigned to 0-tien-po-chi-lo by Yuan Chwdng, which 

according to the pilgrim was ‘above 5000 li in circuit.’ (Watters II. 256) 

“It was away in the west on the Sin-tu (Indus) and near the sea.The 

country had latterly been without a sovereign and was under Sindh” (ibid). 

Thus we determine the position also of the Odomboeroe of Pliny, and the 

equation Uttama-bhadra=Otien-po-chi lo=Odomboeroe may be accepted without 

any hesitation. If so, it was a great tribe which occupied the same territory ' 

throughout the first seven centuries of the Christian Era as it finds mention 

not only in Pliny and the Nasik Inscription, but also in Yuan Chwang. But 

then, we don’t find their mention in the Puranas or the Brihat-Samhita, which 

are expected to note down all the important tribes. Even in the Mahabharata, 

it is only in a solitary passage in the Bhishmaparva, that we find the Uttamas, 

if not the Uttama-bhadras mentioned This 

non-mention would be indeed surprising. I, therefore, conjecture that those 

works mention the tribe ^nder the short form Bhadra, who are associated in 

the Vayu Purana with the^Sindhu-Sauviras [cf. ^ : I ] 

The same line finds mention in the Markandeya Purana but with a slight change 

yiz.f Bhadrakas into Madrakas, evidently a copyist’s mistake, since it is 

improbable that the Madrakas should be associated with the Sindhu-Sauviras 

The Bfihat-Sanihita refers to the Bhadras, in one place along with Kachchha 

in the SW. and in another place with the Medas, Man^avyas (uf Man^or or 
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Mandavyapura) etc. in the Madhya-desa. This would mean that we have to 

place the Bhadras in the region between Kachchha on the one hand and the 

Sindhu*Sanviras on the other, while the Medas and the Mandavyas were not 

far from them. It may be noted in this connection that most scholars, e. g., 

Smith, Watters, S. N. Mujumdar etc, agree in placing the O-tien-po-chi-lo in 

the Sind delta, i. e., just below the country of the Sindhu-Sanviras and not far 

from Kachchha. 

This great tribe of the Bhadras is mentioned in the Nasik Ins. of 

Usavadata under two forms viz, Uttama-bhadraka and Uttama-bhadra, thus 

showing that probably both the forms Bhadra and Bhadra were in vogue, I 

therefore identify these Bhadras with Bhatias, who, according to the ‘ Glossary 

of the tribes and caste of the Punjab and N. W. F. Province * (compiled by 

H, A. Rose Vol. II. p. 90) “ are numerous in Sind and Guzerat **. The same 

authority informs that “ They are often supposed to be Khatris a fact 

corroborated by the Nasik Ins. They “ are strict Hindus,—far more so than 

the other trading classes of the Western Punjab—eschewing meat and liquor. 

They do not practice widow marriage (ibid. p. 90) That is perhaps the 

reason why they called themselves Uttamah or Uttama bhadrah. 

The * Glossary * however regards the Bhatias hailing “ originally from 

the country round Delhi, but more recently from Bhatner and the Rajputana 

desert and claiming to be Rajputs of Yaduvansi race, one branch of which 

became rulers of Jaisalmir.” The truth is that the tribe of the Bhadras had 

spread far and wide, some minor branches occupying portions of Madhyadesa 

where they are once referred to by thq Brihat Samhita. The Karna- 

dig-vijayaparva of the Mahabharata also seems to 4:efer them to the Central 

Region by mentioning them with the Rohitakas (i.e., the people of Rohtak i.e., the 

Yandheyas), the Agneyas and the Malavas (or the Agneya^). Similarly, both the 

Vayu and Markandeya Puranas refer to Bhadrakaras along with the Surasenas, 

Bodhas and Satapathesvaras in the middle country,^ though it is not altogether 

improbable that we have to differentiate between the Bhadras and the Bhadrakaras. 

We can thus explain how the “ Bhatia is found side by side with the 

Khatri in Sialkot, Gujrat and Shahpur ” (Glossary of the tribes and castes of 

Punjab and N. W. F. Province. Vol. II, p, 507) and also in Bahawalpur 

(Ibid. p. 540). It is not impossible to connect them with the Sravana bhadras 

mentioned in no less than two inscriptions,—as is suggested to me by my father 

Rao Bahadur K. N. DIKSHIT. 

1 should conclude this brief article by pointing out that the author of the 

* Glossary * connects the Bhatias, with another well known tribe the Bhattis 

2 x ; 11 

14 
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and that their legends bear out his conclusions [Vide pages 102, 104, 105, 54() 

etc.]. But before concluding I have to put a query before the learned scholars^ 

The port of Debal was “ situated on the Indus. All our authorities agree 

in stating that it was on the west of the Mihran ” (Cunningham's Ancient: 

Geography of India, p. 342). Cunningham informs us that “Diwal or Debal 

tneans simply a temple.” Now the capital of Otienpochilo which ''was away in 

the west on the Sintu (Indus) and near the sea” had, according to Yuan 

Chwang "a large handsomely ornamented Mahesvara temple, the in^age in 

which had supernatural powers (Watters II. 256). Is it therefore impossible 

that Debal was the capital of Otienpochilo ? 

INDIAN RELIGION AND PHILOSOPHY AS KNOWN TO 
EARLY GREEK HISTORIANS. 

Bail Nath Puri, M.A., B.A. (Hons), Research Scholar, 
Lucknow University. 

The Greek historians^ mentioned a few of the important deities, the 

chief lamong them being Dionysius (Siva) and Herakles (Krishna). Though 

the accounts about theny as presented by Megasthenes appear to be absurd 

and formed a charge of mendacity against Megasthenes, nevertheless the essence 

in his account concerning these two deities is much akin to the features assigned 

to these gods in Sanskrit literature. He garbed these Indian deities with 

Greek mythology and historical traditions. Megasthenes account of Dionysius 

as over running, followed by a wandering army of revellers, garlanded with 

wine and joy to the accompaniment of drums and symbols was a Greek 

tradition and mythology but in essence it represented the destroying Sakti of 

Siva who is mentioned in Rig Veda* as Rudra His revellers must be his ganas 

referred to as ganas in Indjan literature as his most obedient servants. Thus 

Megasthenes menticmed the destroying power of God Siva. 

Heracles according to Arrian® was worshipped especially by the Soursenoi 

(Surasoias) an independent people who possessed two great cities Methora 

1. MegMtheim~Indika Frag. XLVI—Strabo XV. 1. 6~8< 

2. Rig Veda 1.143. S. 
3« Indika Frag Vm. 



INDIAN RELIGION AND PHILOSOPHY AS KNOWN TO GREEK HISTORIANS 107 
i 

(Mathura) and Cleisbora (Krishapur probably Brindaban) and a navigable river 

Jobanes (Jumna) flowed through their country. Here it is a true representation 

of Lord Krishna whose janmabhumi or mother land was Mathura and who 

according to Srimad Bhagvat was associated with Mathura and Brindaban. 

The other Indian Gods worshipped by the Indians were Zensombrios, 

the Ganges and the indigenous deities of the country.^ The zensombrios 

must be God Indra as suggested by all the scholars who set down from the 

clouds the fertilising rains without which the crops would fade, the cattle would 

perish and all nature die. Ganges even to this day holds a predominant place 

among the Hindus as the purifier of all sins. 

There is no mention of other deities by the Greek historians. 

Another important fact to be considered in connection with the Indian 

gods is the supremacy of Siva and Krishna, as they are the only two gods 

mentioned by Megasthenes ? This is due to the fact that from the period 

of the later Vedic literature parallel to the developement of the philosophy 

of Maya, Karma, transmigration of soul and Mukti, there was also in 

progress the movement which led to the emergence of Indra and Visnu 

(identical with Siva and Krishna) as great Indian gods. Prajapati was yielding 

to Rudra, figuring as a popular deity in the Yajur Veda, and the growing 

position of Vishnu, indicated by his identification with sacrifice was a sign that 

he counted much in Vedic. This must have led to the origin and development 

of the two schools of Saivism and Vaishnavism. This is evident from the fact 

that Megasthenes has mentioned particular tribes as ardent worshippers of 
Siva or Vishnu. 

The Greek historians failed to notice the distinction between Brahmanism, 

Buddhism ♦and Jainism. They of course noticed certain austeric practices 

which the |ascetics observed. Herodotus* was the first to mention a certain 

practice which appears to be a Jain one. He referred to a class of people 

which neither killed anything that had life nor sow anything nor did they have 

houses. But they lived u|x>n herbs and a grain that sprung out spontaneously. 

This they gathered and after boiling it ate it. This practice is applicable more 

to Jainism than Buddhism. 

If this practice then is taken to be Jain then Greek sources also 

testify that Jainism spread earlier than Buddhism and in fifth century B, C., 

when Herodotus wrote, it had reached the extreme North-western border§ 

of India. 

1« Strabo Geography XV. 1. 69. 
8* Berodotua ‘Biatorica HI lOQ,' 
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Megasthenes* mentioned two kinds of ascetics Brachmans and Garmtmca 
The Brachmans as is clear must be Brahmins while Garmanes seem to be 
a mistake for Sanskrit Sramana and Pali Sainana who are mentioned by Asoka^ 

in his inscriptions as people worthy of respect from all classes. The philosophera 
as Megasthenes has ^pointed out resided in a grove in front of the city within a 

moderate sized enclosure. They lived in simple style and lay on pallots of straw 

and deer skins. They abstained from animal food and sexual pleasures and 

occupied their time in listening to serious discourses and imparting knowledge to 

willing hearers. The Brahmins did not practise asceticism for life but to a 

certain period after which they entered into worldly life and married but' 
they took care not to communicate the knowledge of philosophy to their wives 

lest they should desert them. 

Of the Sramanas those who were held in most honour were Hylobioi®—the 

ascetics of the wood. They lived in forests, subsisted on leaves and wild fruits, 

wore garments from the bark of trees and abstained from wine and commerce 

with women. They practised asceticism at greater length and underwent active 

toil by enduring suffering. They remained motionless for the whole, day in one 

posture. This strict penance and suffering was also mentioned by Aristobolus.* 
He had referred to two sages practising asceticism—one by enduring the rains 

which were falling and the other standing on one foot by holding up in both the 

hands a beam of wood about three cubits long, and when the leg became 

fatigued, supported himself on the other and continued for the whde day, 

Onesikritus^ had also related that he found at a distance twenty stadia from 

the city fifteen men standing in different postures, standing or lying down naked 
and did not move from the positions till late in the evening. 

The aboue account thus shows different kinds of ascetics belonging to 

Brahmanic and Buddhistic orders. There is no mention of any particular kind of 

ascetic order but from the account we infer that there were two classes of ascetics 

the settled and the unsettled ones. The settled one’s lived in hermitage situated 
in silence and solitude; the renowned ascetics gathered round them a band of 

disciples who lived with them on simple food of raw roots and fruits gathered 

in the forest, engaging themselves in meditation, in sacrificial rites (Yajnas) and' 

the practice of penance (tapah) in learning from the teachers the tenets and 

texts of Sutras or Sastrfis.* Megasthenes* referred to probably this class of 

I. Megasthenes lodika XLVI Strabo XV. 1. 68. 
3. Rock Edict in and Xni. 
3. Megasthenes Indika XLI Strabo XV. i. 60. 
4. Strabo Geography XV. 1. 61. 

6. Strabo Geography XV. 1. 63. 

6. Indika Frag. XLI Strabo XV. l. 59. 



INDIAN RELIGION AND PHILOSOPHY AS KNOWN TO GREEK HISTORIANS 109 

ascetics in one passage while he also referred to another class of ascetics, the 

wanderers who never settled anywhere. Coming in contact with each other 

occasionally they must hold discour ses which drew large audiences. 

Indian texts also testify to the existence of a large number of ascetic 

orders.^ The Brahmjala^ Sutra mentions as many as 62 Systems of doctrines 

held by Sramanas and the Brahmans while Jain works^ mention their number 

to be 363. 

Megasthenes^ mentioned the Brahmins turning most frequently on death. 

They regarded this life as the time so to speak when the child within the womb 

became matured and death as a birth into a real and happy life for the votaries 

of philosophy. On this account they underwent much discipline as a preparation 

for death. They considered nothing that befell men to be either good or bad 
for otherwise some persons would not be affected with sorrow and others with 

joy by the very same things, their motions being as insane as dreams. This 

account represents the doctrine of Karma, Transmigration of soul and Maya or 

illusion. 

The Greek historians well realised in the Indian philosophy what is known 

as ‘ Avagaman ’ coming and going. Death is only a means to an end and not 

an end in itself. The end is the next life which should be free. The study of' 

the philosophy of life was not confined to men alone but women also 

participated but then they asbtained from the pleasures of married life. 

The Greek historians also mentioned® that the world was created and 

liable to destruction. It was a spheroidal figure and the deity who made and 
governed it had his powers diffused through all its composites. Water was 

principally employed in the formation of the world and in addition to the four 

elements there was the fifth elementmature from which heaven and stars 

were produced and the earth was situated in the centre of the universe. 

Pilgrimage was mentioned for the first and the last time by Ktesias^ 

who mentioned a place where people went on pilgrimage and it took fifteen days 

to reach that place. The sun cooled down because of the spirit of devotion. 

But the fact seems to be that it was only a change of phenomenon, and nothing 

more. About the location of the place, it is not certain ; but it seems that it 

must have been a mountaneous r^ion where they experienced this change. 

1. lodika Frag. XLII Strabo XV. 1. 60. 
5. Mukerjee Hindu Civilisation p. 220. 

8. Sntra Kritanga 11. 2. 79. 
4. IndfkaFng‘XLI.'StraboXV.1.59. 

9. Strabo GaogiM>y XV. 1.99. 
6. PibliotbecalFrag 8. 
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SUMMARIES OF OTHER PAPERS 

1. SANKETHAMS IN SOUTH KERALA. 

T. M. Krishnamachari, M.A.t B.L., F.R. Hist. S., 
Travancore University. 

There is a persistent tradition in Malabar corroborated even by inscriptions 

as old as the 11th Century A. D. that the West Coast was recovered from the 

sea by Parasurama, an avatar of Vishnu and the extirpator of the Kshatriyas, 

and peopled with the Brahmans whom he got from various parts of Bharata 

Varsha. While the accounts that describe his exploit differ from one another 

in many respects, they agree in regard to the main point that, as the result of 

his guidance and support, the Brahmans came to occupy a dominant position 

in the whole of Kerala. The Malayalam traditional account given in Keralolpatti 

credits him with a residence in Malabar extending over 50,000 years. These 

traditions are valueless for history except to indicate that the West Coast land 

was claimed from the sea and some time later a community of Brahmans 

under some unknown leader entered Malabar and gradually super-imposed 

their, power on the people living in the land. Historically we are not in a 

position to assign a definite date for their advent. It is by some supposed to 

have been posterior to the advent of Jainism and Buddhism into the South 

and probably between the first and the fourth centuries of the Christian era 

while others with less justification will go earlier or later. , , 

These Brahmans came to be called Nambudri?. From what part of 

India they came is yet a moot question. Ahichatra in the north, the Narmada 

and Krishna valleys and the region of the Cauvery delta have been regarded as 

thar original home. 

Whatever that may haye been, it is beyond question that they came to 

identify themselves completely with the land of their adoption losing all sense 

of a pre-home; and established themselves, by their rigid caste ovservances 

(achara'ns) and socio-political organisation, as a powerful sacerdotal class taking 

residence according to tradition in sixty-four grathams which extended frond 

C&nara to Central Travancore. Under their aegis, numerous temples sprang 

up everywhere, the worship of Aryan and non-Aryan deifies being installed. 

They are said to have endoiwed many of these in course of time with lArge 

areas of either their own* lands or the lands received by them as grants from 

secular donors. Many other temples were- ehriched with the endowments 

made by local chieftains, private persons of bodies and condmunities. These 

endowments were swelled by the large number of stmtll Jand-owners ^urfd^dering 

their plots to them on wordly motives ensuring tb4ir safety in trbnblous 

times, ;. 
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'The more important of these temples or Devaswoms were close religious 

corporations known as Samkethams possessing large estates which often comprised 

inany villages. The presiding deity of each of these temples was conceived of 

as a sovereign and on His behalf, His properties were administered by a number 

of'human agencies. The Ooralers or trustees had a general control. There 

was another body called the Yogam which elected the Koil Adhikari, from 

the class of Samantha Kshatriyas. He looked after the executive duties and 

was in command of military forces. 

Most of the Samkethams enjoyed absolute independence and possessed 

sovereign rights. The people living on their properties were absolutely their 

subjects owing them loyalty and unconditional obedience. The Samketham 

authorities within their jurisdiction levied land, house, profession and other 

taxes, kept registers of land transfers, summoned offenders, inquired into their 

cases and awarded sentences extending to capital punishment which was executed 

periodically. Even secular rulers had to respect their sovereignty and make 

good the losses caused to them by their acts. The Samkethams also served 

as sanctuaries or asylums of refuge for those in distress or danger of life and 

none dared to enter their premises without permission lest they be condemned as 

having violated their sanctity. 

The Samkethams did not enjoy their sovereign position very long. 

Situations gradually developed in which their own unaided strength proved 

Unequal to the task of preserving intact their property and jurisdiction. They 

had to invite secular rulers to assume a general supervision over their fortunes 

in order to assure them of security and safely. The unique position of the 

Samketham is attested not only by the grantha varees (temple archives) of 

important temples like those at Trivandrum, Vaikom and Elangunnapuzha but 

also by the observations of Portuguese and Dutch writers of the seventeenth and 

eighteenth centuries. Chengannur which was perhaps one of the most important 

Samkethams of Kerala is referred to by the Portuguese writer Gouvea as the 

place which Archbishop Menezis during his visitation found to be the property 

of the local temple whose authorities wielded ‘sovereign powers. Ward and 

Conner adverting to that period of past history allude to the numerous 

* Sunkaidoms * through which Brahman corporations exercised sway over: large 

parts of the country. 

We may note a close resemblance between the medieval conditions of 

Europe emd South Kerala. Amidst the prevalence of features admittedly feudal 

in social and economic life, in both of them, religious corporations lived, for 

the space of many centuries a vigorous and self-contained life holding large 

immovable properties which were continually augmented by the endowments 

of the prince and the peasant, the saint and the sinner. In the generally 
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iaer^asing disorders of iUiose times they . k«pt steady and served as asylums to 

the weak and the distressed, as centres of social and cultural life and as the 

never*failing providers of education, recreation and employment. The general 

sentiment of the age which was devoutly religious constituted their main bulwark. 

When that sentiment came to be undermined by the assertion of worldly ambition 
and materialistic ideals of life, opposition came to be set up against social 
privilege ; and secular power visualising a more comprehensive polity made its 

emergence. They therefore gradually sank to the position of mere centres of 
worship losing their political aspect. 

The importance of these Samkethams in the history of the evolution of 
South Indian history and polity can scarcely be overrated. A study of their 

fortunes will prove very profitable to students of history and any research into 

their origin and development cannot but prove invaluable as it might throw 
light on the great problem of the precise steps in the emergence of the State 
from the Community in India. 

2. INDIAN POLITICAL CONCEPTS AND WESTERN POLITICAL 
CONCEPTS 

Diwan Bahadur K. S. Ramatwami Sastri, Retired Judge, Madras, 

Greek political concepts form the foundation of modern western political 

ideas and institutions. But Greek democracy had many limitations and 

drawbacks. There are, however, many points of similarity between Greek 

political speculation and modern political speculation. Both call the good life 

and regard the State as the most powerful and efficient means of securing the 
good life. 

We find in the Hindu political theories the most advanced political 

concepts such as the theory of divine right of Kings, the Social Contract 

theory, the theory of Danda, the theory of the State as an organism, etc. But 

n<me of the theories is overdone. The king may be a master of the people 
but he is the servant of Dharma. It was recognized that the State is based 

not force but on consent. Danda was declared to be only the limb of 

Dharma. In the organic theory of the State it was recognized that its heart 
was Dharma. ^ 

The Hindu political concepts will be found helpful even to-day and will 

Sid the world to solve the tangled problems of modern life. The most 

powerful political concept to-day is the concept of Socialism in its 

many forms. In its extreme form of communism it is against private 
{MToperty. In its extremest form of anarchism, it is against even the State. 

In its form of ^ndicalism it is for direct action and class war. In the forms 
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of Pactsm and Nazism it may not be recognized, but even there the dictatorship 
is only a functionary of the State in the interests of all by dominating individual 
action. Ail these political concepts are topsided and have to be moralised 
and harmonised. It is here that Hindu political ideas will be found very 
useful. They give full scope to individual freedom while controlling it in the 
interests of general welfare by means of Socialism. Unregulated individual 
freedom in the domains of property, contract etc. is undesirable. Equally 
undesirable is straight laced regimentation. The existence of a stable and 

sufficient society on the basis of a proper combination of order and progress 
depoids on a happy combination of freedom of individual action and State 

Socialism. 

3. SOME TRACES OF THE ARCTIC HOME IN THE PRESENT DAY 

HINDU LIFE. 

B. R. Kulkami, B. A,, Rajwade Sanshodhak Mandal, Dhulia. 

The Arctic Horae theory is based on mythology and supported by 

geology. Vedas and other Sanskrit works contain similar references. My 
contention is that there are many customs etc. current in the Hindu Life which 
disclose the Arctic as their original place. 

(/) NigAt of six months. 

There is a legend that the Ellora caves were carved by Gods during 

this night. 

There is a song that contains the mention of this night. They sing it 

in the Festival of Kanbai, the festival is linked with the Ranadevi. It is a 

festival of the Polar sun rise like that of Thor and Zeus. 

(2) PancMkt. 

A rite that discloses the postponement of a funeral. A similar custom 

in Scandenavia. The dead body stands deomnposition in icy colds. The 
mention of a similar incidence in Avesta. The changes in the time measure of 

the Panchaka period. 

Conclusion. 

Such traces strengthen the Arctic Home Theory. 

IS 
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4. SOME ASPECTS OF THE HISTORY OF JAINISM. 
IN SOUTH INDIA. 

PrefoMor Sir R.' Sharnmt M.A., Willingdon College, Stogli. 

Preoccupation of most scholars with the problems of North Indian history 

and other aspects of South Indian history, to the comparative neglect of Jain 

history in the South, is the justification for this paper. It seeks to discuss 

(1) thb antiquity, (2) extent of expansion, (3) permeation among the masses, 

(4) cultural results of Jainism in South India—including the Decean. In doing 
so, it briefly recapitulates the ground already familiar to scholars, as well as, 

raises and discusses problems arising out of a fresh examination of old and 

new material. 
The conclusions it suggests are that, with our present evidence, the 

antiquity of Jainism in the South cannot be pressed beyond Chandragupta 

Maurya and Bhadrababu I. The validity of the Sravana Belgqla incription 

is sought to be confirmed with reference to parallel tradition about Chanakya, 

and the history of the Great Schism between the Svetambars and Digambars. 

A comparison between their Pattavalia is suggested. 

Asoka inscriptions are examined with a view to ascertain the light they 

throw on the state of Jainism in the South. Continuity of Jain history in the 

South is suggested by reference to traditions about Samprati, Suhastin, and 

Kalakacharya. The identity of persons referred to therein is also indkated. 

Next, light is sought from the Tamil Rural, an attempt being made to assess 
the influence of Jainism on Tiruvalluvar. Likewise, the Manimekhalai and 

SUappadikaram are examined from the same point of view. The Jain 
inclinations of the early Chera kings are evidenced. Other South Indian rulers 

(indoding those of the Deccan, Karnatak, and Tamil dynasties) are classified 
as Patrons of Jainism or Converts to that faith; death by sattekhana being taken 
as evidence of the deepest homage to Jainism. Hueo*Tsaog’s testioaony is 

cited for the widespread existence of Digambers in South India, in the seventh 
century. The existence of nearly half the total Jain population ci India.in that 

South, despite active persecution by revivalist Hindu sects like Lingayet, is also 

taken as supporting the conclusions suggeated above. Archaeological corroboration 
is also amply available. 

Passing over tl^ purely literary and artistic aspects of Jain history, the 

pqxr conoludes witb a^few comments upon the cultural and sodal results of 

Joinisai in South India. Literary and epigraphic evidence is cited to illustrate 

how non-theistical Jainism was transformed in the South to the creed and 

practices of popular Hindu theistic cults; how casteless Jainism 

caste^idden; and how South Indian Women created a sisterhood of Digambar 
nuns defying traditions. 



Suii^MARmS OF ofilER PAPERS llfl 

5. DIVISIONS OF INDIAN HISTORY. 

D. B. Ditkalkar, M.A.» Curator, Historical Museum, -SMaca. 

Authors of Indian History books divide the history of India into different 
periods beginning with different dates and there is no unanimity of opinion 
about the divisions into which Indian history can be divided as we find in the 
histories of other countries on the earth. 

Some scholars divide Indian history into two parts only, the ancient 
from the earliest times to the 4th century B. C. and modern from the 4th 

century B. C. to the present day. Some divide it into three parts—the ancient 
from the earliest times to 12th century A. D,, mediaeval from 12th century 

A.D. to the middle of the 18th century A.D. and modern from that time 

onwards. Some scholars who accept this threefold division push back the 
mediaeval period to the 7th century A.D. while there are others whose ancient 

period runs from the earliest times to the 7th century B .C. Mediaeval from the 
7th century B.C. to 12th century A.D. and modern from the 12th century A,D. 
onwards to the present day. One more class of scholars divides it thus—ipre 

historic from the earliest times to 3000 B.C. the Vedic 3000*1500 B.C. the Epic- 
1500-700 B.C., the Buddhist 700 B.C. to 300 A.D., the Hindu 300 to 700 A.D., 
the Rajput 700-1200 AD., the Muhammedan 1200 to 1700 AD. and the 

British onwards. 

In this article the main divisions are shown thus— 

1. Pre-historic period from about 5000 B. C. to 3000 B. C. 
2. Traditional period from 3000 B. C. to 700 B. C. 
3. Ancient period from 700 B. C. to 1200 A. D. 

4. Mediaeval period from 1200 A. D. to 1818 A. D. 

5. Modern period from 1818 A. D. 

The sources of history, the political revolutions and the condition of the 

society in its social, religious and various other aspects are the distinguishing 

features (A each period. 
The sources for the history of the first period are eztmnely scanty and 

vague and we cannot form any idea of the Indian society of the period in its 

political, religious, social and other aspects. The period may be sub-divided 
into Paleolithic, Neolithic and pre^Aryan sections. 

The Traditional period may be sub-divided into the Vedic and Epic 

aectjons. Prom ^the Vedic and mythological literature which are the only 

sources of this period we know of a particular civilization of the Aryans, which 
is the foundation of the present Indian civilization. But the history of this 

period is wholly undated. 
"The ancient period comprises the rule of the several dynasties that ruled 

in India frdln the time of Buddha to the rise of the Muhammadan power in 
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ladia. The sources of history of this period are mainly Archeological 
supplemented by the Sanskrit, Pali, and Prakrit literature. Dated history 

begins with this period though it is often wanting in definiteness and precision. 

There was a change m the religious ideas of the people who were regulated 
before only by the teachings of the Vedas. There was a change in the society 

which absorbed the foreign tribes that invaded India from time to time. 

Structural activities of people—secular as well as the religious and the latter in 
Brabmanical, Buddhist as well as Jain aspects—grew enormously during this 

period, nothing being known of the previous period. The division of this 

period into Buddhist, Hindu or Rajput according to some scholars is not correct, 

similarly the shifting of the time limits from 700 B.C. to 700 A.D. 

The Muhammadan conquests of India marks a distinct epoch in the history 
of India. There was a complete change in the ideas of the people in its political, 

religious and social aspects due to the introduction of an altogether different culture 

and different race of people who refused to be assimilated with them. The 
sources of history for this period which are mainly in Arabic and Persian, are 

different. It is therefore in the fitness of things that the period beginning with 

the Muhammadan conquest should be a distinct one from the preceding and be 
called the mediaeval period. It is for this reason wrong to include in this period 

as has been done by some scholars the so-called Rajput period beginning 

with the death of Harsha, and ending with the Muhammadan conquest. 

The Maratha rule deserves to be given an independent place along with 

that of Muhammadans in the mediaeval period of Indian history, since they did 

rule as an imperial power over a considerable portion of India, owing allegiance 

from most of the principalities in India and framing their destinies for nearly a 

century and since they changed considerably the political map of India of the time 

of the Mughals. 

It is wrong to be^n the modern period with the Muhammadan conquest 

since the word modern carries with it an idea of things which you see acted in 

some form or other before your eyes. The Maratbas and to some extent the 

Sikhs had already destroyed the awe and the political structure raised by 

the Muhammadan rulers and every body therefore thinks the doings of the 
Muhammadan rulers were things of remote past. 

The conquest of India by the British marks another distinct epoch in the 

history of India as there is a distinct change in all subjects introduced by the 

British. Th^ have also considerably changed the political map of India of 

their predecessors, and the various institutions we see in India and according 
to which the Indian society is controlled have been introduced by the British 

rule. The modern period of Indian history therefore begins with their rule. 
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VlKRAMANKA DEVAXHARITA IN ITS HISTORICAL SETTING. 

Y. VenlMtaramuia, M.A., B.Ed.* P. R. College* Cocanada. 

Vikramanka Deva-Charita is one of the rare works of its kind, in ancient 

India, namely, contemporary accounts of the country. Excepting Kalhana’s 

Rajataraogini and Sana's Harsha-Charita (to an extent) there is no other 

contemporary work in ancient India that ranks with it either in historical accuracy 

or biographical treatment It not only gives an account of its.hero, Vikramanka 

Deva (Someswara VI of Kalyan) but also gives us a clue to the traditional origin 

of the Chalukyas and a description of the Political condition of Southern India 

and the Deccan at that time. 

1. The origin of the Chalukyas. 

2. The political map of India as described in the work and the extent 

of each of the various states in existence then. 

3. The biography of Vikramanka Deva—His early life—Struggle for 

power—matrimony ( the Chola-Chalukyan alliance )—His glorious reign—His 

statesmanship. 

4. The struggle for supremacy in the Deccan (the Cholas and the 

Cbalukyans ), Bilhana's account and other evidences compared. A discussion 

of Dr. Fleet’s view. 

An estimate of Vikrmanka Deva’s Charita as a source of Someswara’s 

history and his tim^ [Dr. S. K. Aiyengar’s estimate ‘that apart from a little 

glozing in favour of his patron and a certain want (?) of chronological sequence, 

the narration of events is in the main true’, seems to be judicious.] 
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PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS. 

Rao Bahadur K.N. Dikshit, Director General of Archaeology. 

It is a matter of satisfaction to see that Archaeology has been 
included within the purview of the Indian History Congress, the first 
session of which was devoted only to modern history. It has been a 
wise decision to recognise that Indian history is one continuous whole, 
and it cannot be arbitrarily divided at any point, however convenient, 
without distorting or ignoring certain aspects or the history of entire 
regions on the face of this sub-continent. I particularly rejoice at the 
overwhelming recognition given to ancient history and archaeology at 
this congress by the selection of a distinguished orientalist as the 
General President and by having two closely allied Sections dealing 
with ancient history and archaeology respectively. My task has been 
lightened by the fact that the two distinguished scholars, who have 
created schools in Indian Ancient History around them at Calcutta 
and Madras, have adequately dealt with the general and wider aspects 
of ancient Indian history. I crave the indulgence of scholars if I 
restrict myself to considerations of archaeolog>’ without its wider aspect 
bearing on history. 

The present state of archaeological studies in India is the result 
of awakening of some of the Indian Universities to this branch 
of studies in which the initiative was for a long time in the 
hands of European scholars, both in the Archaeological Department 
and outside it. The part played by the Indian Archaeological 
Department in the progress of Indian archaeology has been exhaustively 
dealt with by me in my contribution to the volume on the Progress 
of Science in India during the past twenty five years published in 
connection with the Silver Jubilee Celebration of the Indian Science 
Congress. The Universities derived their inspiration from the work 
of Sir John Marshall and his associates, one of whom, the learned 
President of this Congress, was selected by the late Sir Asutosh 
Mukherji to the first chair of Ancient Indian History and Culture in 
this country. The lead taken by the University of Calcutta in 
organizing these studies continues to the present day, and the output 
and quality of work in the various branches of ancient Indian history 
from Calcutta far exeeds that of other centres of study. The work 
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done in Madras has found adequate mention in the President’s speech. 

Thanks to the lead of the University Professor. Dr. S. Krishnaswamy 

Aiyangar, and his learned successor, Professor Nilakanth Shastri, a 

large number of valuable publications dealing with the various aspects 

of Indian, particularly South Indian, art, archaeology and architecture, 

have been published. I would, in particular, refer to the brilliant work 

of a promising lady. Dr. C. Minakshi, who has thrown new light on 

the historical panels in the Vaikunthaperumal temple at Conjeeveram. 

The volumes on the Economic conditions of South India by Dr. A. 

Appadorai and Mr. C. V. Narayana Aiyar ‘Origin and history of South 

Indian Saivaism’ especially deserve to be mentioned. In the University 

of Dacca the learned Vice-Chancellor, Professor Dr. R. C. Majumdar, 

has made the study of Indo-Javanese civilization especially his own, 

and under his direction other scholars, notably Mr. H. B. Sirkar, have 

published old Javanese inscriptions. Another scholar, who has made 

distinct contributions to the history of the Gupta period and the 

Paramaras, is Dr. D. C. Gangoly. The work of Dr. N. K. Bhattasali 

of the Dacca Museum in the field of iconography and numismatics is 

too well-known. In the Benares Hindu University Dr. A. S. Altekar, 

Professor of Ancient Indian History, has been the author of several 

books on education and the position of women in ancient India as 

also on the period of the Rashtrakutas. Dr. Tripathi of the same 

University has also published an important work on the history of 

Kanauj. At Lucknow the work of Dr. Radhakumud Mukerji, the 

Head of the Department of Indian History, in the various aspects 

of ancient Indian history is too well-known to need mention. 

Unfortunately, the ^ Uhiversity of Allahabad under whose auspices we 

meet has not yet been able to organize an ancient Indian history 

Department, but the work of its Professors and scholars in the field of 

ancient architecture, history and linguistics stands high. I may mention 

in particular the voluminous work of Dr. P. K. Acharya, who has for 

the first time given us a complete account of Indian architecture in the 

“Manasara” and the work of Professor Chattopadhyaya, a keen 

scholar of Vedic antiquities. It is hoped that under its distinguished 

head, Sir Shafaat Ahmad Khan, ancient history will soon be an 

established branch of studies in the Allahabad University. The 

stimulus given by the establishment of a museum at Allahabad and 

the excavations at Kosam ^nd Bhita will, it is hoped, further the pace 
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of this development. In the University of Bombay Revd. Heras of the 
St. Xavier’s College has founded a school of Indian history at the 
Indian Historical Research Institute. A large number of monographs 
have been produced by students under his direction, and the history of 
the Kadambas, Chalukyas, Hoysalas, the Portuguese and other 

powers in Western India have been dealt with by Dr. Heras’s devoted 
band of pupils. It is unfortunate that the University of Bombay is 
indifferent to such studies and in this respect stands alone among the 
older Universities of India. At Nagpur Professor V. V. Mirashi, Head 
of the Department of Sanskrit, has during the last few years made a 
name for himself as one of the foremost workers in Indian epigraphy. 

He has been entrusted with the work of preparing a volume on the 
history and the inscriptions of the Kalachuris which will be looked 
forward with interest by Indian archaeologists. Professor H. C. Seth 
of the same University has lately written a number of papers bearing 
on the Maury an period and Chandragupta. 

Now turning to the work done by Societies I notice that in 
proportion to the advance made by the Universities of India, the 
Societies which had the entire field to themselves 20 years ago, have 

comparatively lagged behind and their activity is not so evident as 
before. The Asiatic Society of Bengal, the premier Society of India, 
has had so many sister institutions in the field that it is becoming 
increasingly difficult for it to hold its premier position. The Royal 
Asiatic Society of Bombay is no longer a very active body in the field 
of historical and scientific researches. The Bhandarkar Oriental 
Research Institute at Poona has the magnificent Mahabharat work in 
the forefront of its programme. The United Provinces Historical 

Society maintains a precarious existence, and the Punjab University 
has taken over the Punjab Historical Society. The genius of the late 
Dr. K. P. Jayaswal kept up the activities of the Bihar and Orissa 
Research Society, but its future is uncertain. The Varendra Research 
Society at Rajshahi made an excellent beginning with beautiful Museum 
building and its excellent collection of sculptures to its credit, but its 

further growth is arrested by lack of interest. The Kamarup Anusandhan 
Samiti of Gauhati brings out a journal and maintains the nucleus of a 
Museum, the only one of its kind in Assam. The Andhra Historical 
Research Society is able to carry on, as it can draw upon a number of 
research workers throughout Andhradesa. The Karnatak Historical 
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Research Society at Dharwar and the Mahakoshal Historical Society 
in Chattisgarh are maintaining their existence owing to the enthusiasm 
(rf a handful of workers. The Bharat Itihasa Samshodhak Mandal 

at Poona continues to do good work in modern history, although 
occasionally epigraphy and iconography are brought within its scope. 
The Sharada Ashram at Yeotmal and the Raj wade Samshodhok 
Mandal at Dhulia are other institutions working in Maratha history 
and ancient literature, but they have hardly much scope fort work in the 

more ancient periods. It is with satisfaction that I note the formation 
of a Sind Historical Society at Karachi, which is regularly publishing a 

journal and run by a few devoted Parsi scholars, but there is little 

evidence of Sindhis taking kindly to this branch of studies. 
One relieving feature of the situation is the increase of interest 

in historical and archaeological matters in Indian States. The work in 

Hyderabad, Mysore and Gwalior States stands foremost, and Baroda 
and Jaipur have during the last three years done a good deal of 
exploration and research. In Jodhpur and Travancore much work has 

been done in all branches of archaeology. In Bhopal, Mayurbhanj 
and Idar States considerable archaeological activity is in evidence. 
Among the more recent reports of work in Indian States may be 
mentioned the excavations at Kasrawad in Indore State, the important 
epigraphical discoveries in Kotah State and the latest hnds in Rewa 

State, all of which throw a flood of light on ancient history. The 
amount of work still to be done in Indian States is enormous, and much 

might be achieved if the rulers of Indian States were to take a keener 
interest in the proper organization of historical studies and researches 
within their States. ^ 

The hope . entertained a few years ago that a number of foreign 
societies, in particular from America, may be able to take up exploration 
work on a large scale and stimulate Indian societies and organizations, 

has not been fulfilled. The American expedition under Dr. E. J. H. 
Mackay, which excavated at Chanhudaro in Sind three years ago, -did 
not return to India, and with the present financial stringencies affecting 
the Government of India, there is hardly any chance of extended 
activities on the part of Government in the near future. The limited 
interest taken by Indian Universities and Societies does not augor in 

an era of. prosperity, and we . shall probably have to wait several years 
before any improvement can be effected. 
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What has been noticed in other branches of archaeological activity 

also holds good about Museums in India. The Committee of the 

Museums Association of Great Britain made a survey of India’s 

Museums, and the results were embodied in a volume which has done a 

great deal to stimulate interest in the deplorable condition of a large 

number of Museums in India. The Government of India called a 

conference of Curators of Museums last December, but there has been 

no further development owing to the want of response on the part of 

authorities responsible for the maintenance of Museums. It was also 

expected that the Museums in India will be organized into a Museums 

Association, but this consummation has not been fulfilled. In the present 

state of educational ferment in India, it would be a pity if the place 

of Museums in the educational system of the country is not recognised, 

and the existing Museums are left aloof in the midst of proposed change. 

In the somewhat gloomy picture of the present state of 

archaeology in India, the only ray of hope lies in the future which depends 

upon the efforts of the rising generation. The extension of education in 

the masses will undoubtedly have the effect of interesting them in 

their past, which is as glorious as any country on the face of this earth 

has been blessed with. What is possible in other advanced countries 

is not possible in India at present owing to the poverty and ignorance of 

the Indian masses. If every county in England has one or more 

historical and archaeological societies, the members of which engage in 

field work and research, there is no reason why in India, every one of 

whose 200 Districts, besides large areas under Indian States, which is 

full of historical material, should not have similar organizations, provided 

the general standard of life and intelligence is sufficiently high. For 

the task of providing the masses with proper knowledge'it is necessary 

that a historical literature in the language of the people should attract 

the attention of young scholars. The works of ancient palaeography 

and history of Rajputana by Mahamahopadhyaya Gauri Shankar Ojha, 

the Nagari Pracharini Sabha and similar publications in Indian 

languages have probably given a large and growing number of Indian 

students insights into the methods of research and the problems of 

Indian history- An awakening in the general public to the value of 

history and historical material is bound to follow in the wake of the 

reorganization of education in the country and we then hope for the 

dawrning .of a new era. 
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AN INSCRIPTION OF MALLU IQBAL KHAN 

Khan Bahadur M. Zafar Hasan, Superintendent, Archaeological 
Survey, Agra. 

The inscription which forms the subject of this paper is fixed on the 

southern bastion of an old ‘ Idgah at the village of Kharera near Delhi. The 
building stands in the midst of cultivated fields about a furlong to the east of 

the Delhi-Qutb road beyond the 9th mile-stone from Delhi. It consists of a 
rubble masonry wall, battlemented and containing 11 tnihrab recesses, with a 
courtyard laid with lime concrete on the east. Originally the wall terminated 

with a circular bastion at the north and south ends, but the northern bastion 
has now disappeared. Immediately to the north of the central tnihrab is a 
high masonry mimbar (pulpit) reached by a flight of 13 steps, and having 

under it an arched opening leading out to the back of the mosque. The back 

doorway is a characteristic feature of old * Idgahs. It was intended to provide 

a free passage to the kings and the Imams for leaving the buildings, particularly 

on the occasion of ’Idu-z-Zuha festival to perform Qurbani (animal sacrifice) 
immediatedly after the ’Id prayer was over. Animals to be sacrificed were 
kept ready for the purpose at the back of the ’Idgahs, where those high personages 

could reach through the back doorways without any interruption from the crowd 
gathered for prayer. 

The inscription is catved in relief on a red sandstone slab measuring 
2'.8" by 2'.2". The language is Persian, but the script is Naskh, the so-called 

Arabic. The epigraph which is dated 16th of Shaban 807 Hijra (17th February 

1205 A. D.) runs as follows ;— 

^ <—iJL.* (jH* ^ jJLJI ia 
5 j jjjb j j 5 *^)ji ^5) 5 <5^ j 

} O**)^*^ 
Ihiyti J ^UaU jU 

y 1^1 '*’1)4^ 5 C-iUIjlo'j 

U; jl ^8*1 jt y sS kd^Li y 

I) y>l»LU.» *«U U 

» ijl—ktsl? ll# • ^iUJUS y 

Translation 

"In the name of God who is Merciful and Clement. When the dome of 

Ittlatn, the metropolis of the country, named Delhi, having been desolated by the 

mischief of the accursed Mughals and the violence of infidels and satans had 

become the abode of wild beasts and birds, and the mosques, the schools,* the 
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convents, the places of prayers and all the charitable institutions had been 

decayed and ruined ; by the favour of God and the gracious munificence of the 

Most Holy, the slave of Lord, named Iqbal Khan, alias Mallu Sultani, had the 

Divine guidance and good fortune to repopulate the capital of Delhi and other 

cities of the country, and to restore all the charitable institutions with his 

benevolent endeavours and glorious efforts. He also built this place of prayers, 

whose erection is the practice of the Islamic religion, and is enjoined by the 

Divine law, with purely his own money, so that the general Muslim public 

should benefit by it and assist the founder of this religious building with prayers 

for his good, on the 16th of month of Shaban—may its blessings be universal 

—year eight hundred and seven. The erection of this religious building has been 

under the direction of the slave Dilpasand Khani ”. 

The record which refers to the invasion of Timur on Delhi, possesses 

a great historical interest, and the outstanding points thereof are detailed 

below:— 

{a) Reference to the ’Idgah as a Namazgah, whose position determines the 

residence of Mallu Khan at Siri. 

(6) Desolation of Delhi by the Mughals. 

(c) Repopulation of Delhi and other cities by Mallu Khan. 

{d) Absence of the name of the reigning king and the addition of the title 

of Sultani (slave or servant of Sultan) to the name of Mallu Khan. 

(e) Reference to Mughals with bad names for ravaging Delhi. 

Before I proceed to discuss these points, it seems desirable to narrate a 

short history of the period to render the inscription and the events referred 

to therein intelligible. The epigraph'relates to the epoch when Nasiru-d-Din 

Mahmud Shah, the last king of the Tughlaq dynasty, occupied the throne of 

Delhi. Under the weak successors of Firoz Shah, the central Government had 

already lost its hold and authority on the outlying provinces, and the accession 

of this imbecile ruler was a presage of the general anarchy in the country. He 

was king only in name, while the real authority rested with his chiefs and 

nobles, who in their turn were busy in fighting each other for supremacy. 

Soon after his elevation to the throne, a noble of the court, named Saadat Khan, 

made a revolt and having established himself at Firozabad, not more than seven 

miles from Delhi, raised Kusrat Khan, a son of Firoz Shah, to the throne under 

the title of Nasiru-d-Din Nusrat Shah. Thus there were two kings within 

the space of a few miles, Nusrat Shah at Firozabad and Mahmud Shah Tughlaq 

at Delhi, which comprised the old Delhi or the city of Raipithurai, Siri the 

fortress built by Alau-d-Din Khalji; and the intermediate area known as 

Jahanpanah, which vyas fovinded by M^hamI^ad Shah Tughlaq by connecting 
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tjie two former places with walls. .This anomalous condition conttnoed lor 
three years^ attended by sanguinary encounters of rival factions and reducing 

the country to a general chaos. Both the kings were mere puppets in the hands 

of their chiefs with the inevitable result that intrigues and plots were reigning 
in their courts. These events brought Mallu, entitled Iqbal Khan^^ into 

prominence, who with his diplomacy and tactics managed to oust Nusrat Shah 

from Firozabad, and thereafter to murder his colleague and rival chief 
Muqarrab Khan at Jahanpanah. He also succeeded in bringing Mahmud Shah 

Tughlaq under his complete influence and directed all state affairs but 

in the name of the Sultan. This occurred in the year 1398 A. D. and it was 
soon followed by the invasion of Timur, when Mallu Khan and Mahmud Shah 
Tughlaq fled from Delhi, the former going to Baran (Modern Buland Shahr) 
and the latter to Gujrat and thence to Malwa. The sack of Delhi and the 
massacre of its inhabitants by Timur are well known historical facts and need 

not be recounted here.^ It may, however, be stated that in the sequence of that 
catastrophe Delhi was visited with famine and pestilence, which added a great 

deal to the misery of its inhabitants and made it desolate.^ 

After the departure of Timur, Delhi again became the scene of civil war 

between the rival factions. The first to return to it was Nusrat Shah, who 

occupied Firozabad, but finding himself unable to hold his position against 

Mallu Khan, who advanced from Baran, he retired to Mewat. Mallu Khan, on 
his arrival at Delhi, took his abode at Siri, which was soon restored to 

inhabitation. It may be noted that before his expulsion from Etelhi by the 

invs^ion of Timur, Mallu, Khan dwelt at Siri, and it appears that the strong 

fortifications of thit fortress or his former associations with it attracted 

him now to select it for residence in preference to Jahanpanah or Old 

Delhi. Some three years later in 1401 Mahmud Shah Tughlaq returned 
from Dhar in Malwa to Delhi at the invitation of Mallu Khan, who accorded 

him a formal reception and accommodated him in the royal palace at Jahanpanah, 
probably in the same edifice which is now marked by its ruins .at the Begampur 

1. Sujan Rai Bbandari, the author of Kh^da9atu4-Tau)arikh (Persian text, edited and 

published by the writer of this article, 1918, p. 255) says that the real name of Mallu 
Khan was Fazlullah Balkhi, but he erroneously confounds him with another chief who 
was entitled Qntlugh Khan by Nusrat Shah after the expulsion of Saadat Khan from 

Firozabad (See TabaqatA-AlAaru Persion text. Naval Kishor Press, 1875, p. 127; 

T&fikh4-VaiHMa, Persian text, Naval Kishor Press, 1905, Part I, p. 155; Tafikh4^Mub(»rah 
81mhi, Persian text, Bibliotheca Indica, 1931 p.l58 ) 

2. A gfhphie account of the iavaeion Of Timur and hie conquest of Delhi is given by the 

ponquaror himself in bis memoirs, where quoting a letter from AisgraodsoQ, Pir 

Muhammad Jahangir, he makes a mention of Mallu and the latter's brother Sarang. 
as quoted in Elliot's History of India, vol. Ill, pp. 398, 430*448,) 

J, p, IW; T<|rtfcVMf«6,fok p. 167, 
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village. The advent of the Sultan brought about no change in the state affairs, 

Mullu Khan continuing to retain the entire authority himself. The latter taking 

the Sultan in his company undertook an expedition against Ibrahim Shah 

Sharqi, who had lately succeeded to the throne of Jaunpur, but Mahmud Shah 

Tughlaq having been dissatisfied with his position deserted Mallu Khan and 

went over to Ibrahim Shah. There also he received little attention, and so 

he marched to Qanauj, took possession of it and established himself at that 

place as a local king. Mallu Khan returned to Delhi, and held it till 1405 

A. D. when he was killed in a battle with Khizar Khan at Ajodhan (modern 

Patan in the Punjab). After the demise of Mallu Khan, Mahmud Tughlaq came 

to Delhi and stayed there till his death which occurred in the year 1412 A. D., 

but we are not concerned here with the events of this period^. 

During his occupation of Delhi, Mallu Khan is related to have had his 

residence at Siri and the position of the *ldgah bearing the inscription under 

notice lends support to this statement. The modern name of Siri is Shahpur 

Jat, and contiguous with it lies the village of Kharera where the building is 

situated. Its position in relation with Siri is that it stands outside about half 

a mile from that fortress in the area formerly embraced by Jahanpanah. There 

is a general practice that an *Idgah is constructed outside the town or city to 

which it belongs, and in conformity with that convention the position of the 

’Idgah’points to the residence of its founder at Siri. The building is referred 

to in the inscription as a “Namazgah**, and the term has been used therein for 

other similar religious buildings to distinguish them from Masjids (mosques). 

An ’Idgah, although meant specifically for the congregational prayers of 7d, is a 

Masjid (mosque) in its strict sense, and can be used as such for daily prayers 

either individually or in congregation. The term “Namazgah** for such religious 

buildings seems to have been used in the epigraph to denote their distinctive 

character, which is, however not recognized by the religious law of Islam. 

The epigraph records the desolation of Delhi in strong terms, relating 

that having been deserted by human beings it had become the abode of wild 

beasts and birds. This statement confirms the historical accounts, which, 

depicting the ruinous condition of Delhi on the occasion of Timur’s invasion, 

relate that many of its inhabitants fled from there, and most of those who 

stayed there were massacred or succumbed to the famine and pestilence that 

prevailed in the locality after the departure of the invaders. The repopulation 

of Delhi on its reoccupation by Mallu Iqbal Khan mentioned in those accounts 

is also borne out by the epigraphs. 

li For a detailed history of tbs reign of Nrsiru-d-Din Mahmud Shah Tughlaq a reference 
may be made to (o) Tarikh-i-FarUhtm, part I, pp. 154-161; Tttbaqat-i^Ahbari, pp. 125-133; 
Khulamlu^^Towofikh, pp. t65-260; Tarikh-i^MvIlwrak Skahi pp, 156-181. 
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The absence of the name of the reigning king deserves special attention. 

We know from history that Mallu Khan did not assume the royal prerogatives 

viz. accession to throne, striking coins in his name or insertion of his name in 

the khutba (sermons of 'Id and Friday prayers), though after the departure of 

Timur he held Delhi and its adjoining districts in his independent possession 

for about seven years from 1399 to 1405 A. D. We also know that, while he 

was not willing to part with royal authority, he showed every mark of respect 

and honour due to a king to Mahmud Shah Tughlaq. In view of these facts 

it was most natural that the name of Mahmud Shah Tughlaq should have 

found a place in the inscription as that of the reigning king, but the omission 

of it leads one to believe that, after the Sultan deserted Mallu Khan and 

established himself at Qanauj, the latter severed his relations with him and 

ceased to acknowledge him as his sovereign. Nevertheless he calls himself 

“Sultant' in the inscription, which, meaning a servant or a slave of Sultan, 

evidently alludes to Mahmud Shah Tughlaq. There is no reference in history 

to this title of Mallu Khan, and we find it added to his name along with the 

title of Iqbal Khan in this inscription alone. Again, in taking credit of the 

repopulation of Delhi and other regions (Balad-i-Mutnalik) and of the 

restoration of the charitable institutions he represents himself as a ruler of the 

country, but he recedes to the position of a common member of the public, 

when he announces that he spent his own private money on the erection of the 

‘Idgah and not the state or public funds at his disposal, and solicits the 

general Muslims to pray for his welfare. Unlike such a solicitation the Muslim 

inscriptions set up by kings and rulers invoke prayers for the perpetuation of 

their kingdom and wealth. Thus the inscription signifying the undisputed 

authority of Mallu Khan at Delhi gives no hint about his assuming the royal 

titles, and the information deduced from it conforms to the historical accounts. 

It relates to the period when he was in enjoyment of highest powers, waging 

wars against the refra^toiy chiefs to subdue them, not leaving even Mahmud 

Shah Tughlaq. However, fortune did not favour him long. He was at 

last defeated by Kbizr Khan in a battle at Ajodhan and was put to death on 

the 19th of Jumada I of the year 808 Hijra (12th November 1405), the 

inscription under notice being dated about nine months before bis dfttnjsft. 

The language of the inscription casts an unfavourable reflection on its 

author, who having suffered a loss at the bands of Mughals, avenged himself 

by using abusive language against them. In this respect it falls below the 

standard of propriety and decency which is generally maintained in Arabic and 

’Persian records of this nature, particularly pertaining to religious buildings, 

Curiously the Mughal emperors, who were the descendants of Timur, allowed 

the epigraph to remain in situation denouncing their ancestors. Situated as it was 

it) thdr capital^ it cannot be believed that it escaped their notice, but they ap^r 
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to have abstained from disturbing it on account of its historical importance. 

If this assumption is based on facts, the epigraph provides a concrete instance 

of their tolerance, testifying at the same time to their regard for ancient records 

and monuments. 

At the end of the inscription there is a mention of one Dilpasand Khani, 

under whose direction the ’Idgah is related to have been built. As indicated 

by his name he seems to have been a eunuch-slave of Mallu Khan, deputed to 

supervise the construction of the building. 

SOME INDIAN PARALLELS OF LOKESVARA IN INDO-CHINA 

Dr. U. N. Ghoahal, M. A., Ph.D. 

I Professor of History, Presidency College, Calcutta. 

In his illuminating paper entitled Lokervara en Indo-Chine ( Etudes 

Asiatiques, I, p. 227 ff ), the late M. Finot has made a thorough study of the 

iconographic types of this deity in Campa and Cambodia. The progress of 

research since its publication makes it desirable to trace the Indian affinities of 

these types somewhat further than could be done in the paper just mentioned. 

From Finot’s description it appears that the Indo-Chinese images of 

Lokesvara may be iconographically arranged under the following heads ; 

1. Lokesvara with two arms 

To this class belong : 

(а) two images preserved in the Tourane Museum ( Finot, p. 234 ). 

They show Lokesvara with two broken fore-arms resting upon two supports; a 

figure in the chignon and a frontal eye. 

(б) a small stone image in the Hanoi Museum. It represents Lokesv^a 

standing, with two arms, left broken, right holding flask, Amitabha in coiffure 

( ibid, p. 234 ). 

(o) a bronze image in the two temples at Binh-thuan representing 

Lokesvara standing, with two arms holding an ewer and a lotus (ibid, p. 235). 

(rf) Lokesvara group on Nak. Pan pediments, the god standing between 

two personages with right hand throwing water from his flask upon the hands 

of a worshipper and left hand making a gesture {mudrd) towards a person bearing 

two jars of wqter ( ibid, p. 248 ). Similar images of Lokesvara are found op 
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the seven pediments of Krol K6 and also in the Ta Som temple and the small 

shrine east of Ta Prohm ( ibid, pp. 249-50 ). 

(e) “Pre-Khmer*’ Lokesvara from the province of Rach Gia (ibid p. 238). 

This has two arms, left closed with a lotus-bud and right opening for showing 

a lotus flower. 

2. Lokesvara with four arms 

Under this category may be mentioned : 

(а) a bronze image from Quang-tri, now preserved in the Hanoi Museum, 

The four arras of the image hold lotus, flask, conch (?) and rosary (ibid, 

p. 234 ). 
(б) a bronze image in the two temples at Binh-thuan ( ibid, p. 235 ). 

(c) terra cotta medallions of Quang-binh ( ibid, p. 235 ). In these 

Lokesvara is seated in tnaMrdja Hid, with four arms, the upper right supporting 

the head. 

(d) a stone image recovered from the ruins at Bayon by M, Parmentier 

(ibid, p. 246, PI. V ). Here Lokesvara stands upon lotus, Araitabha in chignon, 

the four arms holding lotus, flask, book, and rosary. 

(c) two seated figures at Nak Pan with four arms one of which holds a 

book (ibid, p. 248) 

3. Lokesvara with eight arms 

To this class belongs ; 

(a) the great image at Don Tei, the right holding a book ( all others 

broken ), the left holding rosary, cakra, vajra, lotus (?), sword, image of 
Buddha etc. ( ibid, p. 250 ) 

(b) Lokesvara on tcertain votive caityas lying between the Ankor Thom 

and Bantai Chmar sites. Here the god has eight arms of which six hold 

lotus, rosary, book ( twice ? ), arrow, aiiku-va, while the two lowermost arms 
are in vara-mudrd. 

^ 4. Lokesvara of the irradiant type 

(Ibid, pp. 242-44 ) 

As for the first group, it may be mentioned that the lotus held in the 

closed left hand and the same flower exhibited with open petals in the right 

hand are exactly the attributes of the second variety of Rakta-Loke^vara 

described in three Sddhanamdld MSS. utilised by Dr. Benoytosh Bhattacharya 

iii his Buddhist Indian Iconography. The text of the dAydmr of this deitj^as 

quoted by Dr, Bhattacharya runs as follows (o^. oit. p. 40). “Rakta-var^am 
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Atilitabhag.irbha-jata*mukuta>dharam vama-karag.rhita-rakta-padmara tacca 
daksin* akarena vikasayantam.” etc. Dr. Bhattacharya, after taking the 

above to mean that the the god should carry the red lotus in the left hand 

and open its petals with the right, admits (p. 47 /?) that 'vikds'ayantam' in the 
above may also mean ‘exhibiting’, in which case the god would have the lotus 

in both of his hands. The pre-Khm6r Lokesvara from the province of Rach-gia 
mentioned under Class 1 (e) shows that the latter is the correct interpretation. 
In the work above-mentioned Dr. Bhattacharya was unable to discover any 

actual representation of the Rakta-Lokesvara type. The Cambodian image, 

however, offers such a specimen. 

Of the group of four-armed images, the one from Bayon with lotus, 

rosary, flask, and book may be compared with that of Mulavasa-Lokanatha of 
Daksinapalha which is twice illustrated in Foiicher’s Catalogue (Nos. 25 and 

27) App. I, Etude sur 1’ Iconographic Boudahique de (’Inde). The description 

of this figure by Foucher is as follows (p. 194) ; 

“No. 25 :—(Daksinapatha Mill-?) pavasa-Lokanathah arisasthana Bodh. 

blanc, debout, ^ quatre bras : 1° inferieurs ; m. d. en geste qui assure, m. q. tenant 

de lotus et le flacon : 2° sup^rieurs ; m. d. tenant le rosaire, m. q. le livre.” 

No. 27 ;—Daksinapathe Mulavasa-Lokanathah : Identique a la I 25, sanf 

le rosaire de la m. sup6rieure d. oubli6.’’ A slightly different from the above is 

the figure (Foucher, q^. cit. No. 36) labelled Dandabhuktau Yajiiapindi- 

Lokanathah whose description (ibid, p. 196) is as follows : 

"Bodh. blanc, A quatre bras ; 1“ inferieurs : m. d. en charitA, m. q. tenant 

le flacon (?), 2® superieurs: m. d. tenant le rosaire, m. q. le lotus rose........." 

Probably the Indo-Chinese st61es with lotus, rosary, book and indistinct 
object belongs to the same class. Among the hundred-and-eight forms of 

Avalokitesvara represented in the Macchandar Vihal of Kathmandu, there is 

none which is exactly similar to the above. But we have one form (No. 12) 

which approaches the same. This is known as Jatamukuta Lokesvara. In 

this form the god has one head with the effigy of Araitabha appearing above ; 
he has four arras, the upper right holding rosary, the lower right in vara-mudrd, 

the upper left a lotus stalk, and the lower left a water-pot (B. Bhattacharya, 

Buddhist Indian Iconography, p. 178, pi. xLv). 

The Indo-Chinese type of four-armed images with rosary, book, vara, 

and hhUmi-spars’a'mudrd has no match in any Indian example. But the Eastern 

Indian school knows a type with the attributes rosary, book, vara, and lotus 
type (R, D. Banerji, Eastern Indian School of Mediceval Sculpture, p. 88 and 

references there given). The same type is given in Foucher’s Catalogue (I, 23) 
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under the caption Suvarnapure S^rivijayapure Lokanathah arisasthana. This 

is described as follows : {op. oii. p. 193): 

“Bodh, blanc, debout, k quatre bras; 1* inferieurs: m. d. en charite, m. q. 

replide tenant le lotus; 2® supdrieurs: m. d. tenant le rosaire, m. q. le livre; a 

se d. autre lotus....** 

A slightly different type is known to the Eastern School with the attributes, 

rosary, vara, hatnarpiaiu, and lotus (Kremriscb, PAla and Sena Sculptures, 

pi. XLviii). 

Of the Indo-Chinese type of Lokeivara with eight arms, it has not been 

found possible to observe an Indian parallel- 

KOSAMBl YUPA INSCRIPTION IN THE ALLAHABAD 

MUNICIPAL MUSEUM. 

Dr. A. S. Akekar, Benares Hindu University. 

The inscription, which forms the subject matter of this paper is on a 
fragmentary stone pillar discovered at Kosambi and now preserved in the 

Allahabad Museum. It is about feet in height. As can be seen from a 

personal inspection of the pillar, especially by examining the angle of the extant 

face of the pillar with its adjoining ones, the pillar, in its original condition, 

was an octagonal one, as a sacrificial Yupa is required to be by the Vedic texts. 

It is therefore clear that the pillar was really a stone Yupa as the record also 

clearly states. It will be convenient to give the reading of the record before its 
further discussion. t 

1 C ^ ^ ll^ll 

2 [ ^ siftNFqjr IIVII 
3 [ g jjt iwi 
4 [ tl qNNTWMilt ll^ll 

5 [ gim imii 
6 [ ||c|| 
7 ll^ll 
8 [Nf]Jt ftwWR IHII 
9 [ E ]Ml qit NfRRSrt IRII 

10 ... ft yuMltl, ll^ll 

U C ^ ^ ftwr fi: iivii 
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12 ftRBT irfilw 
13 W: *iw I 

15 [ ]fe i 
16 Btfci: ssi: 35f: l 

It will be seen that the record is a fragmentary one. At first I felt it to 

be next to impossible to make out the sense of the fragment preserved for us. 
For it is clear that we have only about one fourth of the record left to us, apart 
from the first two lines that have been completely lost. 

A study of the Vedic literature, however, supplied the key to the record. 

It will be seen that the first five lines of the record repeatedly refer to Yupas and 
count them as third, fourth, fifth, sixth and seventh respectively. It is clear 
that the sacrificer had performed seven sacrifices, which belonged to* the 
Sapta-soma-yajHa series and consisted of Agnis^oma, Atyagnis^oma, Ukthya, 

Shodasin, Vajapeya, Atiratra and Aptoryatna respectively.* After celebrating 
these sacrifices, he erected one Yiipa for each of them. This fact was recorded 

in the first seven lines of the original record, out of which two have been 

altogether lost. The 6th line of the record again refers to something connected 

with Vajapeya sacrifice. Probably it refers to the Yupa erected for it and states 

that the inscription is being recorded on it. It was not felt necessary to inscribe 

each Yupa with a record; the Yupa of the Vajapeya sacrifice was selected for 

this honour on account of its importance. 

The next line of the inscription recorded the time of the sacrifice. Its 

loss is the most grievous one from the historical point of view. The extant 

portion states that the pillar was erected in the 23rd year, probably of the 

reign of a certain king, whose name was given in the first three quartrains of 
the verse which have been now lost. If we had known the king’s name, it 

would have probably enabled us to date this record. Palaeography however 

indicates that this Yiipa is slightly earlier than the Isapur and Badva Yupas. 

We may therefore assign it with a fair amount of certainty to the latter half 

of the 2nd century A. D. 

Lines 7—10 of the record, which are separately numbered, constitute its 

second part. They refer to a minister S^ivadatta, who was a confidant of the 

king, as giving a village as daksiijA, probably to the 112 BrahmanaS, who 
officiated at the seven sacrifices. This village seems to have been earlier given 

to the minister by the king, whom he was serving. 

Lines 12>16 are very cryptic and fragmentary and are difficult to interpret. 
Lines 12*13 refer to something connected with Kovidira, and which 

I ApMtemba Brattta S&tra, XIV, 1—4. 
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was in feminine gender. Kovidara tree is very dear to Siiva, who was the 

tutelary deity of the minister S^fvadatta. He seems to have planted a Kovidara 

grove, probably in the vicinity of a S^iva temple. The remaining part of the 

record refers to a donation of a village given on the same day. Since the last 

line expresses the hope that Mahesvara may become pleased with this donation, 

it would be obvious that the donee of this second gift wasla S^iva temple, in the 

courtyard of which the grove, of Kovidara trees was probably planted. The 

penultimate line of the record refers to the feeding of mendicants. It would 

appear that part of the income of the village given to the temple was set 

apart for maintaining a sattra at the temple for feeding the destitute and 

mendicants, as was the custom with a number of temples in south India. 

The record is an interesting one, for it shows donations given by one and the 

same individual on one and the same day for the purpose of furthering both 

the Vedic and Pauranic religion. This would illustrate very clearly how a 

synthesis was being effected between the two movements in actual practice. 

I now adjoin a transalation of the record ;— 

L. 1 A third Yupa was erected. 

L. 2- The fourth resplendent Yupa was erected. 

L. 3 The learned (sacrificer) (erected the Yupa which was the) fifth from 

Agnistoma (the first member of the series). 

L. 4 The sixth (sacrifice) from the first one (was performed). 

L. 5 (He) erected a Yupa, which was the 7ih one from Agnistoma. 

L. 6 The (Yupa) of the Vajapeya sacrifice, the fifth from the beginning (is 

bearing this record.'. 

L. 7 In the 23rd year of ( king ... ) this Yupa was erected. 

L. 8 The village, given to minister S^ivadatta... 

L. 9 The minister (now gives away) the village (given by) the great king. 

L. 10 After thus giving the Daksina... 

L. 11 Friend of the king, covered with glory,. 

L. 12 After paying homage to (the grove) of Kovidara trees... 

L. 13 In this and the next world, the fruit ... On the same day, 

L. 14 (The village has been given) with privileges of all kinds, not to be entered 

by soldiers,... 

L. 15 The mendicants (who come) should be given good Tin the temple, from 

part of the proceeds of the donation). 

L. 16 God Mahesvara, thus honoured, may become pleased again and again. 
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THE WATSON MUSEUM, RAJKOT, PLATES OF 
DHARASENA II 

A. S. Gadre, M. A., 
Archaeological Department, Bairoda 

These two copperplates which were without the connecting links and 

the seal are at present preserved in the Watson Museum of Antiquities at Rajkot. 

Though they have been deposited there for a very • long time, no record as to 

their iind*spot, etc., is available; nor were any attempts made to decipher them 

completely. They are in a very bad state of preservation, part of them having 

been broken off. The bottom portion of the first plate and the portion from the 

top of the second plate are now lost. Even the very writing is badly preserved. 

They were covered with rust. When cleansed it was found that portions in 

certain places were dim, the letters being very shallow. It was possible for me 

to read them with the help of the other known grants of the same king. I had 

originally deciphered this record in 1934, when its brief contents were given in 

the Annual Report of the Watson Museum of Antiquities, Rajkot, for the year 

1934-35. I am very much obliged to Dr. Hirananda Sastri, Director of 

Archaeology, Baroda State, for securing the plates from the Watson Museum, 

Rajkot, for ray detailed'study. 

The first plate measures and the second 12}^^X7^^ The 

letters are badly preserved and are in the same form of the Brdhmt script as is 

obtained in the other Valabhi grants. As r^ards Orthography no special points 

are to be noted. The peculiarities of writing are the same as observed in the other 

similar grants. The language is Sanskrit prose except the last three lines of 

the second plate where we get pauraiiic verses of an imprecatory nature. 

In the first plate the place of issue of the grant is given but is read 

imperfectly, only the letters Bhadra being readable. It seems, the military 

camp was at a place called Bhadara.This is followed by the genealogy 

of the Maitraka house upto Dharasena II, the donor king, given in the usual 

stereotyped style. The genealogical table mentions the following kings 

(1) Sendpati Bhatarkka, (2) Dharasena I., (3) Dronasimha, (4) Dhruvasena I. 

(5) Dharapat^. No. 5, i. e., Dharapa^ta, was succeeded by his son (6) Guhasaia, 

who was followed by his son (7) Dharasena II, of the present grant. 

Almost all the Valabhi kings though staunch S^aivas were tolerant Hindu 

kings, and we find that the donor of the present grant was no exception to the 

rule, as beneficiaries of three of the fifteen grants attributed to him were 

Buddhist vihdras. One of them is the Bappapadiya vihdra built by Acarya 

Bhadanta Sthiramati who is alluded to by Hieun Tsang^ Including the grant 

1 Mian Antiimry, Vol. VI. pp. 9 

18 
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edited here fifteen grants of Dharasena II are known. His earliest gnnts are of 

the Gupta year 252* and the latest ones are of the year 270* (G. E.). 

The last known grant of his father is of 248 G. E. and the earliest known grant 

of his successor, Siladitya I, is of 286 G. E. Very probably Dharasena II 

ruled from cir. 250 to 280 G. E. 

The lekhaka or the scribe of the present grant is Skandabhata, the 

minister for peace and war. The dUtakci or its executive officer is Sdmanta 

S^iladitya, the heir-apparent. In his earlier grants, one Chibirra officiated in 

that capacity^. 

The date of the grant which is given in the last line is not clearly read. 

From the faint traces now left in the original grant, I formerly read it as 250 

or 260 G. E.® Now I tentatively read it as 270 G. E., BMdrapada Bad 2 

(t. e. 589 A. D.). 

Here I would refer to one point, even by way of a slight digression. The 

late Dr. K. P. Jayasval has published Mafijufi'ri-MUlakalpa wherein in verse 598 

we are told that S'iladitya I ruled for 30 years*’ 

Now from the known dates of his father, viz.^ Dharasena II, and his 

successor Kharagraha I, it can be seen that the Buddhist text is not completely 

reliable. The last known grants of Dharasena I are of 270 G. E. and the 

only known grants of Kharagraha I are of 297 G. E.^ Thus it can be clearly 

seen that even if S^lladitya I ruled in the intervening period he could have 

reigned for a maximum of 27 years and not for thirty years as the above text 

gives. In fact his earliest known grants are of 286 G. E.® and the latest of 

290 G. E.9 

The officers mentioned include Ayuktaka^ Viniyuktaka, Dhruvddhikaranika, 

Vi^ayapati, RAjasthAnlyfl, DA ridapas'ika, VartmapAla, Hastya^'vAroha^ etc. 

It records the grant of the village of Thanaka near the river Paprimati, in 

the district of.[va] naka, to Amarasarman and Anuhasarman, sons of the 

learned Brahmana Bhadra of the Gahunayana gotra and who was resident 

of.The names of the places occurring here are not met with in any other 

known Valabhi grants and I have not succeeded in identifying them. Thanaka 

is very probably the same as the modern village of Thana which is a railway 

station and is known for its pottery in Kathiawar. 

2 Ibid, Vol. XV, p. 187 ; Antuda of ths Bhandarkar Oriental Inetitute^ IV, pp. 33-7. 
3 Znd. ilni. VII. 70-71. 
4 He functioDB as dutaka in all his grants except in 269-70. 
5 Annml Report, WeUaon Mueeum, 1934-35, page 19 (5). 
6 An Imperial Hietory of India, JayaswaL page 24 ; Skt. text, p. 43. 
7 Proceedings and Transactions of the VIi All-India Oriented Oonferenoe, Baroda, pp. 659 ff. 
8 Indian Antiguary, Vol. I. p 146 ; XIV. 327 ; EpigrapMa Indioa, Vol. XI., p. 17^. 
9 BefSri^ Arehaeohfieal Survey^ Western OiircU^ l919-?0, p. 
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THE WATSON MUSEUM PLATES OF DHARASENA II 

Textt 

riate 1 

(^) *niir5iwt«T TO^€[5T?R?Fciii«^]5icrT7r[?^] ii^Rlq^?RmJn^5flTrf^3<iiiT3?:^== 

( ^ g[?Te]?TK^3lt5?!TT = 

(V ) ^JTcPTf5r^'t?cif^<r: 

^HJ5R)(T = 

(SL) 3ft5?nTRI%«?; Ti;*T»Tr^«iri;; eT^qiS^P.^ 5I?Tr^JH!lTW^^RrfJRt = 

(\) >^f%>Tfi(r«f«rrf?£f’!ftcT%Rf5RR^ifTr [vrtTOsi WJif%ff?i5JR?*irT?rf^Rf^- 

g^TiR?= 

(o ) ?tT*f^NR^f*RT <T<*i5E^;ir ?^qgqr?<TO^rfiT^^;jTfTf^«TRriiRi^ir^ tr<*Tr*^ = 

( c; ) ^ f95 rT^rg^l: 'TCnimjft^RT^^spft = 

( ^) ^R#Rri ?R«!r*mtaT m5n?*R^^i g5?ii#iRt] *f*nfir«f*ici^i4ii^- 

(?o) qw*Tr»T??T; [JTsirrsrjsft^q^^qigsr 

§f%U5Rq = 

(U) [^rf%?r ?rqr^qrraqr^:] TO*Tfq^rm^%q^?q5nTf5flT [<RRf^]>T?R- 

sft»T?r^r5r i 

(<^) cT^qfRsr: [rRqr??rq*qkr]?i5[q^]?q: 

(U) [j5Tq]qnftr?T9?qPr^: [w?q»TRqqr^n^T^?r^fl«^?r5q7r3R<sR^»i^ra: ?r^gf?i= 

(?y) [qqft^r] RfrrqfqftqtqR [q^^q^sr^rne] .??m^= 

Plate 11 

( O.5IW. 

{\).?qffq?Tr sft«ww‘l^[l^srRreq] 

^ From the original plates and ink impressions, with the help of other known grants of 

the king. 

^ Expressed by a symbol. 

» Read 

•« Read '^reRqig^RRqR" 

> Read^qswqqi® 
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(I).i 

(v).*• 

(^).wTrampr]i3 

«i^l4fef *nrr 

( 0 ) .[^]5T1W5ftsn^ T = 

(q) ftirfinrar:. 

(to) 5t5irfirf*rl=^ffinTrrtrw^i ftpn^jrr R3«r'w«iflT=?55r^W?RftfF^%ft*Tfi^^ 
3^= 

=J^r%94iir iw?pr» jrtI -^tnn gstw: 
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“PITHI AND PITHIPATIS” 

Sarit Sekher Mojumdar, M. A., Benares. 

During the period of the Kaivarta Rebellion many feudatories appear to 

have tried to be independant of the Palas. The Pithipatis were one of them. 

I shall try to trace their history and locate the dominion ‘Pithi’, The Sarnath 

inscription of Kumarad^vi informs us thus in the verses 4-6 : ^ 

“Vird Vallabharajanamavidito manyah sa bhiiraibhujam J^tasotprthu- 

plthikapatiratipraudhapratapddayah II Cikkoravaihsakumudodayapurnacandrah 

S^ri-Ddvaraksita iti prathitah prthivyam I Pithipatirgajapatdrapi rajya- 

laksmim lakshmya jigaya jagad^kamandharasrih II Tasmadasa payonidhdriva 

vidhurlavanyalaksmi vidhurn6tranandasamudravardhanavidhuh kirtirdyuti- 

srlvidhuli II 

We know the following points from the above passage. 

(а) There was a Pithipati named Vallabharaja. 

(б) S'ri-Devaraksita belonged to the Cikkbra family. He was also 

Pithipati. 

(c) The expression “Tasmadasa" has been used to show the relation 

between Vallabharaja and Devaraksita. It is here and here only that we find 

the reference to this Vallabharaja, the lord of Pithika. Devaraksita was most 

probably the son and successor of Vallabharaja. Dr. Sten Konow thinks that 

the phrase “Tasmadasa" in Verse 5 of the Sarnath inscription indicates the 

relation of father and son.* There is little to be doubted that they belonged 

to one and the same family, the “Cikkdravamsa”, for otherwise they would 

not be mentioned in a connecting passage of the same inscription. 

Devaraksita was great and ambitious. It was he, 1 think, who aspired 

to establish a dominion of his own when the situation was made favourable by 

the revolt of the Kaivartas in Varendri. He gave a timely hit but his success 

was destined to a blow. “The second part of the Sarnath inscription of 

KumaradSvi contains the information that D§varak§ita was defeated by 

Mahana* the maternal uncle of the Gau^a king who thus firmly established the 

throne of Ramapala and subsequently bestowed his daughter S^ankaradevi on the 

Kthi lord".® The greatness of D§varak§ita is proved by the following facts: 

(«) The rise of DSvarak§ita necessitated a check which otherwise would 

prove fatal to the Palas. Hence Mahana, the maternal uncle of Ramapala and 

the Ra?trakuta king of Anga took up arms against him. 

t E. I., IX. 319 ff. 

2 Ibid. 
I B. I., DC. 319-328. 
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(d) Mahana gave his daughter S^ahkaradSvi in marriage to DSvarak^ita 

even after the latter's defeat. This shows his importance. It was most 

probably a diplomatic step and perhaps the marriage remained as a guarantee 

against any repeat of trouble from D@varaksita, 

(c) Kumarad@vi, the daughter of DSvark^ita and the issuer of the 

S^nath inscription was married to the great GShadavala king G6vindacandra. 

This further establishes the greatness of Devaraksita. 

The name of Devarakstia and his defeat at the arms of Mahana is 

also mentioned in the Ranaacatita^. It is very difficult to ascertain the political 

status of Devaraksita after the above defeat. The Ramacarita mentions of 

one Bhimayas as “Kanyakubjarajavajiniganthanabhujahga Bhimayasabhidhano 

magadhadhipatih, pithipatih.This most probably suggests that Pithi was 

transferred to the control of Bhimayasa and Devaraksita was deprived of 

his importance. 

Bhimayasa certainly did not belong to the genealogy of the PHhipatis, He 

was, I think, originally incharge of the territory of Magadha and was entrusted 

with the rule of Pithi also after the defeat of Devaraksita and hence the 

Ramacarita calls him “Magadhadhipatih Pithipatih”. His greatness is 

indicated by the placing of his name tirst in the list of the Saniantas of 

Ramapala. Moreover he has the distinguished attribute of “Vandya.’ Dr. R. 

D. Bannerji opined that Bhimayasa probably defeated Yasa*Karna and won the 

eulogy “Kanyakubja-raja-vajiniganthanabhujahga”'’. His arguments are very 

long drawn. To me the alluded success of Bhimayasa does not strike to have 

been a very important one as such for otherwise the Ramacarita would 

explicitly mention and enhance the glory of his overlord. To examine the 

validity of the eulogy it is necessary to peep into the contemporary history of 

Kanauj. Chandradeva Gaha^avala is said to have established his capital 

at Kanauj^ but in thp course of the history of the dynasty we find 

them associated with Benares.* Kanauj was perhaps held by petty rulers. 

The Jhansi stone inscription which refers to Candella Kirtivarman and 

Sallaksanasimha (Varman ?) in lines twenty and twenty-seven gives a short list 

of the princes of Kanauj.'* Dr. Keilhorn infers that "the record has reference 

to the rulers of Kanyakubja themselves or to certain chiefs who owed allegiance 

to them". The Shet-Mahet inscription speaks of Gdpala, the king of Kanauj.^® 

4 Memoirs of Asiatic Society of Bengal, III, Commentary on Page 38* 
**Anyatra4t€8u.......nirdudtthi,’* 

5 Ibid., page 36, Verse 5, Commentary. 

6 BingUr ItihAsa, I, page 284. 

7 1. A. 1,885, Pages 102-103. 
8 See the view of Dr. H. C. Ray, Dynastic History of Northern India, VoLl, 507-508. 
9 Jhaoii S. 1., £. 1., 1.214 £f. 

10 J. A. a Bu IBOa, Extra No, 57 ff. 
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I am inclined to identify this G6pala with Gdpala, the minister of Kirtivarman 

who, according to the Prabandhacandrodaya^^ and a Candella inscription from 

Mahoba^^ gave a wonderful display of his ability and reconquered the lost 

dominions and prestige of the Candella dynasty by defeating Karna. He 

has been called “Sarva-samanta—cudamani/* Taking together the above 

mentioned Jhansi and Sahet-Mahet inscriptions we find that Kanauj is being 

ruled over by so many feudatories under Kirtivarman. It is just possible that 

Bhimayasa of Fithi, the feudatory of Raniapala, defeated the cavalry of some 

of the above mentioned chiefs of Kanauj and earned the epithet kanyakubja- 

rajavajinibhujafiga**. 

We do not hear of any successor of Bhimayasa. The next source of our 

information about Pithi is the Janibagh inscription^^. The object of the 

inscription is to donate “the village of Kotthala, with land and water, without 

any reservation, together with the plough tax, in Saptaghatta**, to the Majestic 

Diamond Throne for its monastary by king Jayasena, son of Buddhasena. 

Jayasena has been called Pithipati and Acarya’*.^^ 

It is worthy of notice that the donator is called ‘‘Bhupati•^ Mr. Jayaswal 

is of opinion that “Buddhasena was probably some collateral of the Sena king 

who ruled in c. 1199 A. C, and in 1202 he had not yet any principality of his 

own under the Turaskas. On the other hand, his son, who would have been 

originally a governor under the Sena king, on the break up of the Sena empire 

in 1199 A. C, seems to have assumed sovereignty as he, in 1202, ( in the 

inscription ) speaks of his own dynasty and contemplates his descendants to 

be his successors**. Mr. N. G. Mojumdar showed with the support of an 

epigraph that Buddhasena was not a collateral of the Sena kings and proves 

that he himself ruled. 

We can gather nothing more of the dynastic history of Pithi. Now I 

shall try to locate Pithi, There is a controversy over it. Dr, Sten Konow’s view 

that Pithi is modern Pithapuram^^ in South India cannot be accepted. It is 

undoubtedly absurd to thinx that a petty feudatory of the Pflas could possibly 

possess some dominion there. K. P. Jayaswal writes, “There cannnot be any 

doubt that in the early Sena times Pithi denoted the whole of the province 

of Bihar (except Mithila.) The commentator to the Ramacarita could not 

have flourished long after the Palas for he knows fully the details of the reign 

11 Prabandb Candodaya, I, 4, 6, 9. 
12 E. Vol I, 217-222. 

13 I. A., XLVIII, 43-48. and J. B. O. R. S. IV. 265-28Q. 
14 J. B. O. R. S. IV. 279, Line 10. 
13 I. A., XLVIII. 43. 

P. L, IX, 32?. 
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of Ramai^la. He always explains Pithipati as MagadhSdhipa or the king of 

Magadba.”*^ Mr. H. Pandey opined thus ;— 

*‘As such, it appears to have been the name given to the southern portion 

of Magadha.It was possible that Pi^hi is not the name of any 

particular country and that “Pithipati was the title of the king who was the 

protector of the Diamond Throne at Budh-Gaya.’’^® Mr. N. G. Mojumdar while 

editing the Janibagh inscription was sure to conclude that it “included Bodh- 

Gaya and the region round it, as the inscription has been discovered in that 

locality”.*® Late R. D. Bannerji was of opinion that it lies near the boundary 

of Magadha or that it might have been a buffer state between those of 

Kanyakubja and Gauda.®® 

I beg to differ with the above mentioned suggestions and to present my 

own view. 

I think Mr. Jayaswal was wrong when he wrote that the Ramacarita 

explained Pithipati as the king of Magadha. Even if it meant such we must 

sound the truth of the statement by comparing it with the S.arnath inscription. 

Devaraksita has not been associated with Magadha by the authentic inscription 

and hence we have ground to differ with the opinion of Jayaswal. I do not 

agree with the theory which identifies Pithi with Gaya. Gaya always came 

within Magadha. If Pithi meant Gaya the (luestion remains why a lord of 

Magadha should explicitly be mentioned as the Lord of a place within Magadha ? 

The janibagh inscription was found near Bodh-Gaya and hence scholars opine 

that Pithi was somewhere near Gaya. But it does not necessarilj’ mean so. 

The findspot of the inscription does not always come within the dominion 

of the donator. It is just possible that Jayasena of the Janibagh inscription 

came on a pilgrimage to Bodh-Gaya and donated the Village Kottahala. 

Now, where could that Pithi be ? From the Ramcarita we find that 

Mathana, the King ol Anga had to defeat Devaraksita before proceeding to 

quell the rebellion of the Kaivartas. This clearly hints that the kingdom of 

Pithi was like a buffer between Anga and Varendri. It corresponds roughly 

to the area lying between the modern Railway stations Pirpointy and Sakrigali 

Jn. in E. I. Ry Loop (Santhal Pargana)®*, I identify Pithi with Pirpointy on the 

following grounds :— 

1. Pl^hi bears a striking similiarity with Pointy which Mr. Rennell has 

shown in his map as a town of greater importance than what it is now under 

17 J. B. O. R. S.. IV, 267. 
18 J. B. O. R, S., IV. 277-278. 
W I. A., XLVIll. pi«e 44. 
20 BangtAr ItlhAa, Vot. 7. 286. 

21 !• it that this araa roogbljr representad the ancient 'Kajangala' of which we fin3 the 

refarencn in Mahavagga Vinaya Pitaka, vol. I, p. 197 and in the report of Hinen Ttaa| ? 
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the name of Pirpointy. The place having been on the bank of the Ganges 

carried a strategic significance. It is more known as Pointy amongst all 

sections of the people. It is generally found from history that the Mohammadans 

destroyed places of importance and associated them with the name of Pir. 

It is just possible that, as Pithi was an important centre, they left the marks 

of their strength by naming the place after Pir, i.e. Pirpointy. 

2. A bank of the Ganges at Pirpointy is still known as Patthal-Ghatte. 

“Patthal** means stone and ‘Ghatta' probably stands for bank. The word 

Gha^ta is still associated only with this area near Pointy. Hence we can say 

that Sapta-Ghatta of the Janibagh inscription was somewhere here. It is just 

possible that Saptagha^ta or th^. Seven-banks of this particular area carried 

some special importance in those days and that the modern Patthalghat^ is 

one of those famous Seven banks. 

Mr. N. L. Dey observed the importance of ^‘Patthal-Ghatta** and the 

area near about. He opined that in ages long gone by it was probably the 

renowned Vikarma Slla University.^^ It is doubtful but the description of the 

locality as he gives will convince one and all that the place is very old and of 

historical importance. 

3. I have opined above that the Kotthala-grama mentioned in the Janibagh 

inscription was not near Gaya. If I go to prove the location of Pithi in 

Pirpointy I must have to see whether any modern place, nearabout carries the . 

ancient name of Kotthalagram. Fortunately I find one. The modern Railway 

station Kahalgaon (Colgong), which even in the Moghal days was known as 

Kahalagram,^* is but the changed form of Kotthalagrama. 

4. Some sixteen miles North-east of Pointy there is a place known as 

S'akrugarh in Sahibganj. The ‘Garh* stands on an elevated area surrounded 

on all sides by distorted ditch. I personally visited the place and found that 

some dug works have brought to light some structural slabs. The very sight 

of the site will impress one of its antiquity. Some stone images unearthed 

from this spot have been preserved in the Sahibganj E, I. Ry. H. E. School 

Museum. 

We can for benefit see to the origin of the name ‘‘S^akrugarh,'* It is but 

the changed form of Cikk6ra-Garh #, e, the fort of the Cikkdra family of 

which we found the reference in the Sarnath incription.^* 

5. We find a place nearly six miles east of S^akriigarh named S'akrigali. 

It is nothing but the changed form of “S^ahkarigalli**. We know from the 

SirnSth inscription that S>ahkarldevl was the daughter of Mahana, the King 

82 J. A. S. B.. New Series, V. 7. 
23 laubar Ms., page 28. 
24 E. I.. IX. 322 If., verses 4-0, « 

19 
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of Anga and wa$ married to Devaraksita. The marriage was undoubtedly 

one of great importance and it is just possible that Devaraksita named the 

strat^ic ‘galli’ after his wife. The inhabitants of locality, ignorant as they 

are of history, associate the place with Goddess. Sfankaridevi. Dr. Qaoungo 

has noticed the- strategic importance of the area between Teliagarhi and 

S'akrTgali during the time of Sher Shah*’\ 

I wish to conclude my essay after describing in short the few archjeological 

finds of the area which are partly in the possession of the Sahibganj E. I. Ry. 

H. E. School Museum : 

(a) “Caturbhuja Visnu murti** made of black stone. 

(b) Potihreds, 

The inner and not the outer surface of the shreds are of light green 

colour and are as if enamelled. They are still well polished. Similar shreds 

were recently discovered in Mahanad by Mr. P. C. Paul of Darbhanga. They 

were used in the Pala period. 

(c) Terra Cota. 

Some small hard marbles, a little figure of horse and a very small 

image of a meditating face have been found in that area. 

(d) Images of Ganesa and Visnu most probably of the Pala period have 

also been unearthed near S'akrugarh. They are preserved in Sahibganj School 

Museum. 

(e) Railings or stone pillars of .some buildings, with simple architectural 

decorations have also been found. 

(/) The broken portion of a palm with beads have also been found. 

The Sarnath Museum preserves one such. It belongs approximately to the 11th 

cent. A. D. ^ 

25. Qanftngo; Sher^hah, Ed. 1921, Pages 168—170. 
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CHANGE OF CASTE AS A CRIMINAL PUNISHMENT 

Ram Kumar Chaube, M. A., LL. B. (B. H. University) 

The document which forms the subject matter of the present paper is of 

unique importance so far as the formation and change of caste, with which is 

intimately connected the question of profession, is concerned. The present writer 

is not aware if any such other document has been discovered. It shows that the 

kings and rulers, even the Mohammedans, often interfered in the matter of 

caste, and degradation from it, as a criminal punishment, and that such orders 

were held valid by the society. 

The document refers to the caste of the goldsmiths. They, as is well 

known, are workers in gold and silver and have a distinct caste of their own 

called “Sutler”. They are divided into small groups, viz., families of 12 houses, 

22 houses, 52 houses, and Govindhalla i. e. Miscellaneous. Of these 12 houses 

family is regarded as holding the highest social status in the community. The 

document was brought to light in a case hied in the Azamgarh district regarding 

certain customary charges levied from the lower caste people in certain villages 

when people go there in a marriage procession. The 12 houses family people 

claimed exemption from these charges on the basis of this document which 

shows that these people belonged to the High Ksattriya families, as their 

genealogical titles are given in the document. The 12 persons named in the 

document were orginally Ksattriyas of high families but were degraded to the 

Goldsmith caste and were obliged to adopt its profession by the orders of 

the king. It is engraved on a copperplate and is dated in Hijra 822, A. D. 1414 

when the last Tughlaq kings were reigning at Delhi. The 12 Ksattriya 

people whose names, genealogical titles and residences are given in full in this 

copperplate were personal attendants (Chobdars) of the then Delhi King. 

They committed some serious offence for which they were ordered to be shot. 

In the meanwhile one Pandit Nanda Rama Chaube of Jaunpur, priest of the 

Treasurer Seth Maniram of Sarkar Shahi, Delhi Government, came to their timely 

help. Both of them intervened and the order was commuted to the degradation 

of their caste to that of the Goldsmiths’. As a criminal punishment they were 

further borbidden henceforth to put on arms and the dress of a Ksattriya by 

tying the waist, to put on the Sacred thread, which a Ksattriya is enjoined to 

put on, and were compelled to earn their livelihood as workers in gold and 

silver. Their Gotras were also changed and they assumed a new Gotra 

'Ka^yapa.' They agree in this document to pay certain dues for this great act 

of kindness to the family descendants of Pandit Nanda Rama Chaube of Jaunpur 

which the descendants of the 12 houses family still pay to them. They 



ARCHik>LOGiCAL SECTION i48 

the disciples of the family of the said Chubeji as is mentioned in the 

copperplate which is still in the p jssession of that family. The copy of the plate 

is as follows :— 

Jy (.1) ^Jy c)>^ ^5‘r 'V* 

’i/y C5T* j Jy 

5 5** 

\J^ ^uy ^ 5 

tub 4^y>jU ^ )N^) Jy^ ^ L-JUy 

^ t^NX4oj!y ^ ^b 

ti/)3 (0 J>J^ ^ 3 ^*^3^ 3 >^> 3 

uptu A^yju (J*»bu! ^*4? u'-'^ ^j-<Ss3a> ^ c>c^ ^ 

j*»> 4fti^%M jef^u/^ ^ )tv 

CLO^jI wiU Jyy )\ 5 J )f ^ (*** jl 

^^l*J 5 y )^) 5 sZ)i^ ^ S jU%%Xu» jl 

^!f)C ^^OVjUj Jjlij. ^ <ZaJ v*^t, jUUa j |^.iV ^ ^ICU. <S jiCy.;- j'j,! 

Uoyi. jj)Iii»'^}C 3 c;.*<mam aij) j i,lft*) 3 ai) ^ a4j3j iSo ^33* ^jOlA 

ji^fof ti] f' <A>3) ‘-^ ^r» jj^A. 333.' ^U^fc ja» J n y sa ij\ t* 44^,3 t-Jj 

iuJ (>■{ Sm) I^mI Vj/W ‘iyol)! )t»v« 3 3 Oj*! ^^33^ 4»I)05 

3 ^})3 ^ t—^*n» .iil? *^^3‘‘3 ali^l 3 30)3! yi iK^txf yii Ula^ (>iu ttloj 3 

ffA* Afr «t«. )0 uyj!)I Odu ^3&«U* 4; 0)^ ^5^1* 3 

' 4^U|JS; J^(<3alltits iS 11,3^ VSAtldlwJ'^li) 

>*^y J’<‘W<> jly'>—ivs »!,? 4iJt iiK^y »'^ 

^lA jifyw 4«tC3(^ cuiij ^L. ^l& jlfy^ 44*4-. |.1,^ ^L. 

fmift 4ft?r srw fWfR wift «wft *uft*cnT tfe freiiR Witt 

(in Kaithi characters) 
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TARA IMAGES IN THE SARNATH MUSEUM 

M. M. Nagar, M. A., Sarnath, Benares. 

Amongst the various Goddesses worshipped in India Tara occupies a very 

conspicuous position. Although adored in all the three principal religions of this 

country she is thoroughly Buddhistic in character^. Her worship was first 

started in India by the Buddhists who seem to have transported her here 

from Maha-Cina-de^ (Chinese Tibet)—her original homeland—via Nepal^, 

sometime in the 6th century A. D.; and at a later age when she became very 

popular she was introduced into Jaina^ and Hindu^ pantheons. She was 

originally invoked ‘for safe crossing of waters’ and finally ‘became a deliveress 

or saviouress (Tarini) from the ocean of existence (bhava-sagara)’^. In Buddhist 

mythology she is commonly considered as the S^akti or the female counterpart 

of Avalokitesvara, the principal Bodhisattva of this age, and is represented 

as the mother of the Buddhas as well as Bodhisattvas‘\ According to Miss 

Getty'^ she is the ffakti of the Dhyani Buddha from whom she emanates, while 

according to Dr. Bhattasali^ she is the S^akti lof the Bodhisattvas originating 

from the same source,—the same emanation dividing itself into the male and 

the female energies. She figures as an independent Goddess of the first rank 

and great popularity and was worshipped in as many as 21 forms. 

The rich and varied collection of Buddhist sculptures excavated at 

Sarnath, has to its credit a large number of Images of this deity and covers a 

period of about 600 years, i.e., from the time her worship first began in India 

(C. 7th Cen. A. D.) till the final destruction of the Holy Isipatana (1200 A. D.) 

by the Muslim invaders. They testify to the Goddess being invoked here in 

several forms and having a living cult of wide prevalence. Some of these 

forms are unique in as much as they are very rarely met with, while others are 

either artistically very important or are not yet properly identified at all. No 

apology is, therefore, needed for attempting at a descriptio.i of some of her 

most notable images of these different forms, in the lines that follow. 

1 B. Bhattacharya : Buddhist Esoterism p. 153. 

2 Op. Git. p. 155. Dr. Hirananda ^Sbastrl : Origin and Cult of Tara. A. S. Memoir, 
No» 20. pp. 16-17. 

3 Tarai Sutara or Sutaraka is the attendant yaksiui of the 9th Jina Suvidhiniitha. 

4 Tara is the 2ad Mahavidya (dvitiya) in the Hindu mythology, kali being the first (adya)» 
5 Dr« Hlrsiianda Sha strl: op. cit., p. 23. 
6 Dr. Hirananda Shastri : op. cit*. p. 12. 

7 Northern Indian Goddesses and Gods. p. 106. 
8 Iconography of the Buddhist and Brahmanical Sculptures in the Dacca Musem. p. 21* 
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B (/) 1. Bfikutl Tdrd—standing holding in her left hand a water-pot 

(kamandalu) on the hip. The right hand which is now broken was apparently 

in the Varamudra. She wears a Sari and elaborately rich jewellery. Late 

Gupta style. C. 7th cen. A. D. 

This is the earliest image of this deity so far known here. The projected 

left knee, the curve (bhahga) at the waist (ka^i), the fine wavy chisel marks 

indicating Sari, the bead course (manibandha) on the aureole (Prabhavali), the 

flowery ear-rings (patra-kundala),—all reminiscent of the Gupta art—point to 

the image being one of the earliest as yet known. 

B (/) 2 Khadiravai},l Tdrd—standing in the tribhafiga pose on a lotus 

with Asokakanta Marici to right and Ekajata to left. Her right hand was 

in the Vara pose while the left held a flower, probably blue lotus (nilotpala), 

now broken. She wears only a lower garment the upper half of the body 

being bare, and is lavishly adorned with ornaments. The Dhyani Buddha 

Amoghasiddhi is |)resent on the middle of a tive-peaked tiara (muku^a) on her 

head. Style Late Mediaeval. C. 11th century A. D. 

This is the most beautiful image of Tara hitherto exhumed at Sarnath. 

It is perfectly in accordance wifB the Sadhanas and seem to have been carved 

luider the supervision of one having a thorough knowledge of the canons. 

Being a typical example of the feminine beauty (nari saundarya), as conceived 

both by the mediaeval poets and artists, it is in deep contrast to the simple and 

chaste style of the earlier periods. The breasts have been shown large and 

prominent (analpanta-kuca) and the waist (katO delicately thin (sumadhyama). 

The exquisite and rich ornaments with which the Goddess is profusely decorated 

also throw a flood of useful light on the Indian Jewellery of the mediaeval period. 

B (f) 7. Ordinary Tdrd—seated in easy attitude (lalitasana) on a lotus 

(padma) with her right leg pendant and resting on a smaller double lotus. Her 

right hand is in the Varfida pose while the left holds a blue lotus (nilotpala). 

To left a miniature repetition of herself standing. She wears a lower garment 

and a few ornaments, and her hair drawn up and tied in a knot over her head. 

The backslab which is of a throne pattern, is decorated with pilasters, bracket- 

capitals, rampant leogryphs and devas flying showering flowers. The style is 

mediaeval. C. 10th century A. U, 

The image was identified' as that of Nila Tara’’, i. e., Ekajata, but all the 

special attributes of that Goddess are lacking in. Even the frown on the face 

which is so very characteristic of Ekajata, is conspicuous by its absence. 

Instead, there is given a very pleasing expressicm on her face. We, therefore, 

propose to identify it as an image of Ordinary l^ra whose only emblems are 

blue lotos and Vara pose. 

9. Majvndar : Guide to Sametb, p. 97. 
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B (f) 8. Bust of Vajra TWnI—carved in the round (citra) having four heads 

(caturvaktra) and eight hands (a^tebhuja), the latter having all been broken. 

She wears a jewelled torque, a necklace of triple bead course and a diadem on 

each head, richly adorned with strings of pearls. The hair is drawn up and 

tied in a conical knot between the four heads. The tiara on the principal head 

bears four miniature images of Dhyani Buddhas—one of Vairocana in 

Dharma*cakra-mudra, one of Amitabha in meditation mudra and two of 

Aksobhya in Bhumi-spar^-mudra,—while that on the back head an image 

of Dhyani Buddha Amoghasiddhi. There is also a diamond-shaped Urna mark 

on the front forehead. The breasts are carved abnormally large and the faces 

glowing like those of a young virgin. Style mediaeval. C. 10th century A.D. 

Of all the Tara images those of Vajra Tara are perhaps the most 

interesting on account of their unique representation. According'to the Sadhana 

the Goddess should sit in a mandala accompanied by the four Taras, Dhupa, 

Dipa, Puspa and Gandha and the four yoginis, viz.^ Vajrapasi, Vajraghanta, 

Vajrankusi and Vajraspho^i; and as this mandala or the magic circle could 

best be represented by a lotus she was generally shown seated within the same. 

Unfortunately, the fragmentary condition of the image under our review 

disables us to postulate the way the deity was represented here; but the one^^ 

found at Faridpur in Bengal and housed in the Indian Museum, Calcutta, 

shows that wonderful representation of her, which makes people struck with 

admiration. It is of the device of a full-blown lotus with eight moveable petals 

showing in the centre the Goddess seated on a pod of lotus and surrounded 

by the eight Mothers—the four Taras and the four yoginis stated above. 

These petals which are numbered, when drawn up and capped, close the lotus 

and range the attendants round her, while when uncapped they slide down 

and reveal the Goddess in all her glory for the worship—the entire device 

corresponding with the fact that lotus is supposed to close in the evening and 

open in the morning. 

B. if) 9, Dipa Tdra—seated cross-legged on a full-blown double lotus. 

She had four hands of which the upper right one is missing, the lower right 

being in the Varamudra. Of the two left hands the upper one holds flames 

(dipa*^hikba) and the lower a stalk with two full-blown lotuses. She wears 

a lower garment, a scarf (uttariya) over her shoulders, jewelled fillet over 

her fore-head, and a torque, a necklace and a girdle over her person. A halo 

of fullblown lotus pattern in low relief is also carved behind her head. Mediaeval 

style. C. lOth century A.D. 

The image is very important in as much as it is a separate representation 

of her, which is by no means commonly met with, she being always portrayed 
as an attendant of VajratSra. 

\0 phat^liU : op. cit., pp. 47-53, 
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fl (/) 11. (Sydwa Standing in tribhihga pose and holding in her left 

hand a blue lotus, the right showing the boon (Vara). She wears a high diadem 

(mukuta), a garment round her waist and a scarf on her shoulders. Circular 

ear-rings, necklace and girdle are the ornaments with which the Goddess is 

adorned. Style late mediaeval. 12 century A. D. 

A similar image of an earlier period found in Bengal and now exhibited 

in the collection of the Dacca Museum, is also identified as such^*. 

B (/) 18. Bust of Rakta TSrd—having'Dhyani Buddha Amitabha carved 

above her head (Amitabha-mukutam). She holds in her left hand a red 

lotus (raktotpala) while the right which is now broken, was probably in the 

Varadamudra. She is decked with an elaborate diadem and other ornaments. 

Style late mediaeval. C. 12th century A. D. 

337 E. Sithhandda Tdrd—seated on a double lotus cushion with her left 

leg hanging down and resting on a roaring lion who is her vehicle. In her 

left hand she holds a blue lotus while the right shows boon (vara). A jewelled 

fillet on the hesid, pendant ear-rings, beaded necklace (manibandha), armlets 

(bhujbandha), wristlets, girdle (kanci) and anklets (nupura) are the ornaments 

with which she is adorned. She wears a lower garment and her hair tied 

together in a knot above her head. Style mediseval. C. lOth century A. D. 

Images of Simhanada Tara are very rare in India, her worship being confined 

mostly to Tibet and Nepal. It is, therefore, a lucky co-incidence to have an 

image of this particular form of Tara. The Goddess is an emanation of 

Dhyani Buddha Amitabha who is shown above in a corner on the back slab. 

344 E. Ekajafd Tdrd—standing holding in her left hand a blue lotus, 

the right being in the gift bestowing attitude. Her face is entirely injured. She 

wears a lower garment, large circular ear-rings, a necklace, armlets, a jewelled 

girdle and anklets. To proper left a miniature female figure dressed exactly 

alike the Goddess, po^siBly a repetition of herself, standing holding in her left 

hand a lotus and the right resting on a battle-axe (parasu). To proper right 

a dwarfish female figure standing with protruding belly (lambodari) and hands 

broken upholding an uncertain object resembling an elephant. Both the 

attendant figures have a frown on their face and their hair treated in a fashion 

so as to form a chignon (Eka-jafa), on their heads. The DhySn! Buddha 

Aksbbhya from whom this Goddess emanates, is shown seated above, to right, 

on the backslab. Style late mediaeval. C. 11th Cen. A. D. 

The image is undoubtedly a very queer representation of Ekajata in so far 

as it is highly uncanonical, the principal figure having none of the recognised 

emblons of this Goddess except for the chignon on the head, However, the 

1) p. 96.1. B. (V) a 

I 
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repetition of the Goddess on her either side in two different forms, the emblems 

held by them such as lotus and battle-axe, the dwarfish size and the protruding 

belly, the terrific frown on their faces as also the presence of Aksobhya—the 

parental Dhyani Buddha of this Goddess—are all clear indications of the 

Goddess being Ekajata and, we, therefore, venture to put forward this 

identification for the first time. 

SUMMARIES OF OTHER PAPERS 

THE KRTA ERA. 

Dhirefidra Nath Mukerjee, M. A., 

Hindu Academy, Daulatpur* 

In this paper the author shows that the epoch of the Krta or Malava 

era is 458 B. C, and is identical with the earlier Sri Harsa era mentioned by 

Al-beruni and not 58 B. C. as so long supposed. 

The meaning of ‘Krta* is ‘Satya* (Satya Yuga=Golden Age) as already 

suggested by Dr. D. R, Bhandarkar in his ‘Epigraphic Notes and Questions. 

The years called Krta are the origin of the Vikrama Era. {Ind. Ant., June, 1932, 

pp. 101—03). 

This determination of the epoch of the Krta era in 458 B. C, proves 

conclusively that the epoch of the era of the Gupta Vikramadityas which 

must be about 400 years later than the epoch of the Krta or Malava era, is 

identical with the Vikrama era of 58 B. C., a conclusion to which the author 

already arrived from numerous other varied evidences in his article on the 

epoch of the era of the Gupta Vikramadityas. 

IDENTIFICATION OF SOME ANCIENT INDIAN PLACE NAMES* 

Jitendra Nath Baneijeat M. A., Lecturer, Calcutta University. 

DevasabhS^^ Dewas 

Rajasekhara describes that part of India which lay on the other side of 
Devaaabha as the Western Country [Devaaabhdydf^ parataf^ pas'caddes'afi,). The 

Editor of the Kflvyamimdrhsd tentatively suggested that modern Dewas state 

in the Central Indian States Agency might stand for Devasabha. S.N. Mazumd^ 
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S*4stri' in his edition of Cunningham’s Ancient Geography of India was of opinion 

that Devasabha could not be correctly identified. But a careful sifting of 

evidence enables one to fully support the identification of Devasabha with Dewas. 

Localisation of a few place names such as S’ivapurahara Bhi^ana, 

Indrapura, etc., mentioned in the Mah&mdyUrl list (of Yaksas) in the extreme 

north-west of India. 

H. Thsang mentions the country of Po-fa-to which has not yet been 

satisfactorily identified. Should we find a reference to it in the No. I inscription 

of Kakkuka engraved on a column standing in situ at Gha^iyala, 22 miles 

W. N. W. of Jodhpur ? Mention of this Parvata along with such countries as 

Travani, Valla and Mada, etc , is interesting. 

MUKHALINGAM-THE CAPITAL OF THE EASTERN GANGAS 
OF KALINGA. 

G. S. Dikahit, B. A., (Hons.), 
Lecturer, Maharaja’s College, Parlakimedi. 

' Mukhalingam is a village on the southern bank of the Vaihsadhara river 

in the Vizagapatam District of the Madras Presidency. It must have flourish¬ 

ed in the late Buddhist period judging from the existence in the village of a 

few Buddhist and S‘akti images. Mukhalingam and Mukhalingesvara are 

modern names for the village and its principal deity respectively. Nowhere 

are these names met with in the inscriptions however. In the inscription 

found in the Mukhalingesvara temple the deity is alwa) s called Madhukesvara 

from which it may be inferred that that was the name of the deity in ancient 

times. This Madhukesvara temple is throughout referred to as being situated 

in Kalinganagara, the^ capital. This conclusively proves that the capital of the 

Eastern Gangas contained a temple for Madhukesvar or Mukhalingesvara. 

This cannot but be held to refer to Mukhalingam. Besides, the innumerable 

Ganga inscriptions, temples built by them, and the remains of an old town 

all in Mukhalingam point to the identification of this village with Kalinganagara 

Of Nagara of the inscriptions. Even the very name Nagara is preserved in 

Nagarl=katakam, a village f mile to the south of Mukhalingam which no 

doubt formed part of the old city in its palmy days. After the Eastern Ganga 

period the village has come to be called Mukhalingam after the name of its 

principal deity. The deity itself has come to be called Mukhalingesvara for 

’ unlike most lingams it has a face. Inscriptions of the Eastern Gangas show 

that Kalifiganagara was their capital from about the sixth century A. D, till 

the middle of the twelfth century A. D. when Anantavarma ChodagShga^ the 

greatest king of th» dynasty seems to have shifted it to Cuttack. 
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The archaeological remains in the village consist of parts of the old fort 

wall, a few mounds, a few Buddhist sculptures and three S^aiva temples. The 

capital seems to have been well protected on the west and the north by the 

river and on the east by a hill, though on the south there seems to have been 

no natural protection. The city stretched along the banks of the river for 

about two miles. Yuan Chwang stated that the capital of Kalihga was four 

miles in circuit. The Buddhist sculptures consist of two images of the Buddha 

and a few images depicting the birth of the Buddha and the angels showering 

flowers on the Buddha, The three temples are those of Mukhalihgesvara, 

Bhimesvara and Somesvara. All are in the Indo-Aryan or North Indian 

style of temple architecture. The Mukhalihgesvara temple is the best preserved 

and the other two are in a dilapidated condition. The temples were built in 

the tenth and the eleventh centuries. The sculptures on the doorways of the 

Mukhalihgesvara temple can compare favourably with the best work in 

Bhuvanesvara. But the temples themselves are not so imposing as the temples 

in the latter place. 

Though Mukhalihgam quite long ago ceased to be the capital, it still 

retains its religious importance. To this day pilgrims in large numbers from 

the Ganjam and Vizagapatam districts flock to this place on the occasion of 

the Siivaratri festival. 

ARCHiEOLOGY IN TRAVANCORE. 

R. V. Poduvalt Director of Archaeology, 
TrAvancore State, Trivandrum. 

The study of antiquities in Travancore received its recognition from 

Government so early as 1891 when, with a view to the reconstruction of the 

history of the State, a survey of the inscriptions in the country was undertaken. 

A systematic exploration of the country has brought to light the existence of 

Hindu, Buddhist, Jaina and Christian relics and also of' prehistoric monuments 

such as dolmens, cistavens, menhirs, etc. The Hindu monuments are mostly 

the ancient temples and palaces, many of which are important from the historical 

and architectural points of view. Inscriptions on stone abound in some of them, 

particularly those in South Travancore. The Buddhist vestiges seen at present 

are four stone images of the Buddha, belonging to the 9th century A. D. The 

Jain images of Tirthahkara and iPadmavati Devi are found on rocky hillock 

at Chitharal in South Travancore, and in two other places. The Christian 

antiquities consist mainly of the Palhavi crosses and are found at the Valiapalli 

JCottayam, an4 the churchy at Muttussira, Kadamattam and Alangatu, The 
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only important Mohamthadan monuments are the mosques at Quilon and 

Tiruvitancode. 

Travancore is probably the only Indian State which has not been actually 

conquered by a foreign power. Its culture is essentially Brahraanical and 

Sanskritic. Its ruling house traces its decsent from the old Chera Kings who 

are referred as independent in the edicts of the Emperor Asoka Maurya, 3rJ 

Century B. C. 

No relics of the palaeo-lithic age are found in Travancore ; but megulithic 

monuments are seen in large numbers on the High Ranges. They are mostly 

dolmens, menhirs and cistavens. The dolmens are the most important of the 

megaliths. They are either covered or not with earth, of single dimension, 

sufficient for containing several tombs and formed of various crude blocks of 

stones supported horizontally upwards on a level with earth by two or more 

pillars. They divide themselves into two classes—those with a summit cist 

and those without—all having single or double circles ol stone surrounding 

them. Stone cists or cistavens are found in abundance on the hill side of the 

State with stone circles and in association with pillar stones and dolmens, and 

are called by some writers “cairns”. The relics discovered in dolmens and 

cistavens are only crude pottery and rarely bones. Burial urns are by far the 

most important relics of the pre-historic period in Travancore and are 

decorated on their exterior with a bead pattern or a leaf pattern drawing. 

Travancore is rich in ancient temples. These are the oldest monuments 

in the State in which are preserved much of the historical, archaeological and 

artistic relics of the State. Two of the distinguishing characteristics of the 

typical Travancore temples are their wood carvings and their peculiar gable 

style of architecture. The architecture of Travancore is very different from 

that of the rest of India. The circular central shrine surmounted with a conical 

dome, the square mandapa^in^front of the shrine and theiquadrangular walk round 

these, the small hall in front of the temple accommodating in it the Balipita, 
the triangular gables and the dormer windows are all characteristic of Travancore 

as of the rest of Kerala. In the typical Travancore temples there is no difference 

in construction up to the “Prasthara” (entablature) from the Dravidian style of 

architecture. The distinction becomes visible in the upper portion of the 

structure where a wooden roof covered most ofien with copper sheets or with 

tiles and ornamented with triangular gables is found. It is noteworthy that 

spires are absent in typical Travancore tempks and the inner shrine has a 

square or round base with a S^ikhara (or finale) in p)ramidal form. 

The exploration of archaeological material in Travancore has resulted 

in the discovery of about 1600 inscriptions engraved on stone and copper. 

Soioe of these have g historical and palaeographical importance. They throw 
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considersble light on the early history of the Chera, Pandya, Travancore and 

Vija>anagar Kings, and also of the Madura Naiks. The scripts employed in 

these are Vatteluttu, Kolelluttu, Grantha, and to a small extent Devanagari 

and Malayalam Raje, Some of the inscriptions furnish to the historian of India 

a complete genealogy of the Chola Kings from the earliest times up to the 

period of Vira Rajendra, and also the missing link for the reconstruction of a 

continuous history of the Cheras from Rajasekhara to Vira Raghava 

Cakravarti. In the history of the Pandyas the Travancore inscriptions have 

made a great contribution ; and for the first time a King Jata Varman Parantaka 

Pandya, long unknown to the opigraphical world, has been brought to light in 

them. Besides offering a sure and ri liable basis for the ancient history of 

Travancore and also bringing to light some leading and important figures 

connected with the fluctuating times of the Pandya kingdom and the Choja 

empire, these inscriptions are also invaluable for the light they throw on 

Dravidian philology and place names and also on the ancient political, social 

and religious insiiiulions of the country. There is no exaggeration in saying 

that the teinplis of Travancore were in ancient times a great centre of civic 

life and were a powerful institution in the life of the people. A great 

corfoiaticn enjoying the generous patronage cf the ruling kings and richly 

endowed by a pious people, they have been not only the repositories of the 

great antiquities of the State, but a small state by themselves administering 

varied kinds of civic functions. 

In addition to the wealth of inscriptions, the Travancore temples are 

rich in ancient works of art such as sculptures on stone, images in bronze, 

mural paintings and wood carvings. The earliest of the stone sculpture 

belong roughly to the latter half of the 8th century, probably earlier, bearing 

a close resemblance-to later Pallava work. Excellent stone sculptures of some 

antiquity are seen at the Sthanunathasvami temple at Suchindram, the 

Nilakanthasvami temple at Padmanabhapuram, etc., while splendid examples 

of wood work are found in the temples at Kaviyur, Turavur, Pazhur, 

Vazhappalli, etc. Fine bronzes of &iva, Parvati, Cheraman Perumal and 

S^aivite saints are preserved even now in the temple at Suchindram which is 

a storehouse of fine statuary, illustrative of an excellent art tradition. 

Of the mural paintings, the earliest relics (9th century A. D.) are found 

on the walls of the rock-cut cave temple at Tirunandikarai in South 
Travancore. Frescoe paintings belonging to the llth and 12th centuries A. D., 

were in existence on the walls and ceilings of the Suchindram temple; but 

unfortunately even the last traces of them have been eradicated in the course 
of its repairs and reconstruction. Precious relics of a 14th century wall 

painting, belonging to the reign of ?iditya Varma Sarvfuiganatha, a King of 
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Travancore, renowned as a patron of art and letters, are seen on the walls of 

the shrine of Kfisna inside the Sfri Padmanabhasvami temple at Trivandrum. 

By far the most important of the ancient paintings in the State is the one of 

the DANCE OF NATARAJA on the Gopura of the temple at Ettumanur in 

North Travancore, belonging roughly to the 16th century A. D., if not earlier, 

and measuring 12 ft. in lenghth and 8 ft. in breadth. The ancient palace at 

Padmanabhapuram has preserved some exquisite specimens of mural art 

belonging roughly to the latter half of the 16th century A. D., which are full 

of charm and expression and meditative repose. The consummation of 

achievement in pictorial art is seen on the walls of Garbhagrha of the Siri 

Padmanabhasvami temple, belonging to the early 18th century. They are 

executed in purely native style and are perhaps the latest record of indigenous 

painting of the best sort on a somewhat large scale. The largest of the 

mural paintings (18th century A. D.) so far discovered in the State is the one 

in the palace at Krishnapuram, depicting the story of Gajendramoksa. In 

execution, posture and composition, it is one of unsurpassed excellence and is a 

priceless piece of artistic work. 

Travancore had enjoyed extensive commercial relations from early times 

with the west; and a number of Roman coins dating from 30 B.C. to 547 A.D. 

have been found in several parts of the State. There exsists even now a very 

good collection of foreign coins in the Fort Palace of His Highness the Maharaja 

of Travancore of different denominations belonging to different countries. 

According to Sir Walter Elliot, ‘the Travancore Mint is the only Hindu 

“Tahka^la” still raintained in its original form’. A few punch marked coins 

were, it is said, found in an old earthen vessel near Angamali on the Shoranur- 

Cochin Railway, about 1900 A.D. Portions of Travancore were at various times 

under the sway of the Cholas, Pandyas and Vijayanagara Kings. The coins 

of all these dynasties Effete current in the State. There are also evidences of 

an intimate connection between Travancore and Ceylon and this is borne out 

by the inscription of Vira Pandya, (lOth century A. D.) at Suchindram. The 

most important of the coins which have been discovered in Travancore are 

those belonging to the Chera Kings which are now preserved in the Government 

Museum, Trivandrum. They are double dye coins. They have on them 

the symbols of the elephant—which is an emblem of royalty—the lotus, the 

Svastika, the crescent and the sun on the obverse, and an Ahkusa or elephant 

goad, a bow, a “Purna Kumbha” and a human figure on the reverse. 

With the coming of the Portuguese, the Dutch and the English, foreign 

coins also were introduced into the country, the most important of thepa being 

the Venetian Sequins known also as *Shana Kasu’. The oldest indigenous 

coin now rarely found is the ‘Rasi^ From 965 R* («• 1790 A. D*) re(j[ular 
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coins of the Travancore Kings were minted and circulated in the country, 

such as silver Chuckrams, copper Cash and gold coins called ‘Anantarayan 

Fanam.* Travancore is probably one of the few Indian States which have 

still the prerogative of their own coinage. 

The conservation of ancient monuments in Travancore has received 

adequate attention from Government. The European monuments are by 

far the best preserved in the State. Of these, the Fort at Pallippuram is 

the oldest extant European monument in India, built in 1507 A. D. A few 

of the Christian churches are also important from a historical and archaeological 

point of view. The most important is the Valiapalli at Kottayam, the foundation 

of which was laid in 1550 A. D., and which was completed in 1577 A. D. The 

cross in it seems to have been set up in 1579 A. D. It is said that the church, 

as it was built, contained five wood carvings of animals and birds such as 

elephant, tiger, lion, peacock, Indian cuckoo, etc., and it is not unlikely that the 

carvings now stored at the upper part of the east side of the church preserve some 

of the old specimens. Equally important is the Church at Udayamperur where 

the famous synod of Diamper was held on the 20th June 1599. With the 

settlement of the Portuguese, the Dutch and the English, tombs and cemeteries 

came into existence, a few of which are conserved in the State as historical 

monuments at the expense of Government such as those in the chapel inside the 

Udayagiri Fort. 

A Museum of Antiquities has been recently established at the old Palace at 

Padmanabhapurara, the ancient capital of Travancore, where ancient relics 

found scattered and neglected in different parts of the State, are stored and 

preserved. 

An aspect of archaeological work recently commenced in the State relates 

to excavation. The most important of the monuments exhumed are an old 

Visnu temple belonging to the 9th century A. D., and two other shrines roughly 

dating to the 10th century A, D. A trial excavation of prehistoric stone cists 

has also been fairly successful. It is hoped that with the systematic exploration 

of ancient sites in the State, the work of excavation will yield promising results, 

illustrative of the life and culture of the people. 

INDIAN ART AND ARCHITECTURE AS REVEALED 

FROM EARLY GREEK WRITINGS 

Baii Nalh Puri> M.A., Research Scholar, Lucknow University 

Mr. Baij Nath Puri M. A., B. A., (Hons.) read a paper on Indian Art and 

Architecture as revealed from Early Greek Writings, He pointed out that the 

early Greek Historians, Megasthenes, Strabo, Arrian, Aelian and Philostrotos 
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brought to light some of the important aspects of ancient Indian Art and 

Architecture which have been corroborated by actual finds of specimens of 

those aspects. They are the earlier mounds of PatHputra and Taxila. These 

mounds, Mr. Puri points out, were the earliest specimens of Indian Art, being 

erected mainly for the preservation of relics or bones of the dead. These 

mounds gave place to Buddhist Stupas, later on, which were erected either to 

enshrine some relic of the Buddha or a Buddhist saint. The Greek historians did 

not mention the Buddhist Stupas, the reason being that they were practically 

identical with the buiial mounds. Philostroto in his account of Taxila mentioned 

about the metals in which beautiful figures were worked. 

THE LAHORE ACROSS MILLENIUM 

R. C. Manchanda, B. A , LL. B., Advocate, Lahore 

Mr. R. C, .Manchanda, B. A., LL. B., .Advocate, read a paper on “Lahore 

across raillenium Discussing about the genesis of the name Lahore Mr. 

Manchanda points out that it was Lohavarna which through successive stages 

became abbreviate to its present name. There are other cities also. 

Traditionally it was believed that the city was founded by Lava, son of Rama. 

Mr. Manchanda has further dicussed the site of Lahore and the development of 

the city in Muslim times. The learned writer has also mentioned about the 

interesting finds in the year 1926 which were presented to the Archaeological 

department. These images found in Lahore Gate according to authorities 

belong to 1st Cent. A. D. and indicate the prosperity of Lahore. The 

author considers Lahore as old as the cities of Harappa and Mohen-jo*daro. 
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PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS 
Dr. Surendra Nath Sen, M. A., B. Litt., Ph. D., Calcutta. 

When Dr. Bisheshwar Prasad invited me to preside over the 

Early Medieval Section, I felt genuinely surprised. My knowledge' 

of the Early Middle Ages is less than superficial and my contribution 

to the history of that period is practically nil. I could not therefore 

account for this unexpected and undeserved honour and hesitated to 

accept it. False modesty may be a doubtful virtue bnt overconfidence 

often leads to disgrace. At the same time I felt that Sir Shafaat 

Ahmad Khan and his colleagues were not likely to indulge in practical 

jokes at the expense of an unsuspecting fellow worker, however 

humble and unworthy. They must have some reason—and good 

reason—for their choice. Then it dawned upon me that the eminent 

historians of Allahabad must have had in their view the great 

institution with which I have been closely associated for the last twenty 

years, and in honouring me they were paying their tribute to my 

Cflma iltaier. The University of Calcutta has done much to foster 

original investigations in Indian History and it was the first University 

in India to recognise the claims of Rajput History as a subject of 

special study. The Chair I have the honour to occupy bears the 

great name of Sir Asutosh, and it is in recognition of his services to 

the cause of historical learning in this country that I have been called 

upon to preside over the Early Medieval Section despite my patent 

lack of worth. In this ancient land of piety and devotion the offerings 

made to the deity are always appropriated by the officiating priest, 

and I simply conformed to the traditional practice when, after long 

hesitation and searching of heart, I ultimately accepted the honour of 

which I am absolutely unworthy. My only excuse is that conceit had 

nothing to do with my decision. 

The first problem that confronts a student of medieval Indian 
History is one of chronology. When did the Middle Ages begin in 
India ? The European analogy is of little use to us, for the fall of Rome 
had no political or cultural repercussion in this country. The Roman 
empire conquered many lands beyond the confines of Europe, but India 

was not one of them. The Roman merchants visited these shores in 
quest of trade, and with the exchange of commercial articles they must 
have established a cultural contact to which the ^iJJhania so 

eloquently testifies. But when the barbarian hordes from the more 
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virile north burst upon the opulent empire of Rome, India pursued her 

political course unaffected and unsuspecting. The fifth century of the 

Christian era forms no dividing line in this country between two distinct 

ages. It is recognised that such a line of demarcation must be more 

or less arbitrary, but nonetheless it cannot be entirely without any 

justification. That is why we hesitate to agree with the late Dr. Vincent 

A. Smith when he says that the death of Harsa and the disruption of 

his empire marked the close of the ancient period and witnessed the 

dawn of the Middle Ages in India. 

We do not know to what extent Harsa’s fame is based on his 

own achievements. He was lucky in his friends. The Brahman 

Bapabhatta and the Chinese Yuan Chwang gave him a publicity 

which fell to the lot of few Indian princes in those days. But he was 

not the first empire-builder in India nor did his empire ever reach the 

dimension of the wide territories which owned the sway of the Maurya 

and the Gupta sovereigns. Probably his direct authority was limited 

to the modern United Provinces of Agra and Oudh and a slice of the 

Punjab to the west and a corner of Bihar to the east. No ruling 

prince of the Deccan ever acknowledged his overlordship, and it is not 

unlikely that the mighty ^Chalukyas described him as ^al^tthtlarapaihcanufra' 

(the sovereign of the entire Uttarapatha) simply to exaggerate the 

pow'er of a vanquished enemy and to emphasise the importance of 

their own victory. Even if we concede that Harsa enjoyed a 

predominant position among the contemporary kings of Northern 

India, we cannot afford to ignore the ephemeral character of his empire 

It lacked that stability which sustained the Gupta empire for more 

than four generations, and it collapsed almost automatically with the 

passing away of its founder. The death of Harsa and the disruption 

of his empire did not upset the political balance in Northern India to 

such an extent as to inaugurate a new social order or to interrupt the 

normal course of cultural evolution on the old lines. 

Nor can Harsa claim to be the last exponent of Hindu 

imperialism. Even if we leave the powerful dynasties of the south 

entirely out of account, the Gurjara-Pratihsra empire was certainly 

more stable and more extensive than that of the Thanesvar prince. 

Three emperors of this dynasty, Nagabhatta, Bhoja and Mahendrapala 

attained a pre eminence which Harsa never reached ; and although 

they ruled for nearly a century and half over an empire that atretchedt 
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roughly speaking, from the Sutlej to the Narbada and from the confines 

of Sind to the borders of the Pala kingdom of Magadha, their 

exploits remained unknown in the trans-Himalayan regions because no 

learned Chinese monk visited their realm. Empires rose and fell 

both before and after Harsa and ambitious rulers strove to leave their 

mark on the history of their country in all ages. Harsa’s career was 

neither unujue nor unusual in this respect and his reign can hardly be 

regarded as a political watershed. But Smith laid stress on one 

characteristic of the post-Harsa periotl which deserves careful scrutiny. 

It was then, he maintains, that “the hordes of foreign invaders were 

absorbed into the Hindu body politic and a new grouping of states 

was gradually evolved.” He was evidently thinking of the new states 

that were founded on the ruins of the Roman empire in medieval 

Europe, but we must not forget that whenever a mighty empire falls to 

pieces the component provinces, consciously or unconsciously, try to set 

up a new political order in which their individual aims and ideals find 

more or less effective expression. That was exactly what happened when 

the Gupta empire fell before the repeated onslaughts of foreign invaders. 

But the assimilation of alien people in the body politic of India or the 

social scheme of the Hindus was certainly not a novel thing. The 

Greeks, the Parthians, the Scythians and the Kusflnas, people of 

diverse racial origin, representing var3dng stages of civilization, had 

been absorbed in Hindu societj^ long before Harsa appeared on the 

scene. Even the barbarian Hunas were involved in this unceasing 

process of absorption and assimilation. The stone image of the 

divine boar at Erap bears as eloquent a testimony to the triumph of 

Hindu culture and catholicity as the Garuda pillar of Heliodorus. It 

was only when the Muslims came to India in the beginning of the 

8th centuiy that Hinduism failed for the first time to take the 

newcomer into its own fold, and here we can conveniently draw the 

line that separates the ancient from the medieval period. 

The Arabs in their turn were followed by the Turks after a lapse 

of three centuries, but the Turkish invaders of India had already 

forsaken their ancestral faith and accepted the religion preached by 

the Prophet of Mecca. The ten centuries that intervened between 

the conquest of Sind and the battle of Plassey witnessed the origin, 

growth, development and decline of the Indo-Muslim culture. The 

Muslims failed to convert the major part of the Hindu population. 
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The Hindus in their turn could not find any effective method of 

arriving at a reasonable compromise with the aggressive monotheism 

of the newcomers. Rut in course of time a synthesis of the two 

cultures t(x:)k place that resulted in a distinct departure from, though 

not a cleavage with, the past. In the earlier part of this period the 

RajpQt princes were engaged in a titanic conflict with the Turkish 

invaders for political supremacy in Hindusthan. Later on, when they 

reluctantly owned defeat, we find the results of cultural contact in the 

religious doctrines of Caitanya, Nanaka, Ram;inanda, Kabira and 

Namadeva ; in the Indo-Saracenic Art and Architecture that flourished 

at Delhi, Agra, Sikri, Jaunpur, Gaur, Ahmadnagar, Bijapur and 

Golkonda ; in the new literary movement that relegated Sanskrit to the 

background and discovered a new medium of expression in the hitherto 

neglected vernaculars ; and in the new concept of state and the no\'eI 

technique of statecraft. 

Once the Muslim rulers succeeded in establishing their hegemony 

in Northern India, the seat of the paramount Power was established 

at Delhi, just as Pataliputra and Mahodaya had been associated with 

the sovereignty of Uttanipatha in the preceding ages. But even the 

daring enterprise of the Turkish rulers could not unite the entire country 

under one administration for any length of time. For long the Narbada 

and the Vindhyas served as eflfectiv'e barriers to the south, and the 

conquest of the Deccan was invariably followed by the disruption of the 

empire. The Hindu opposition to the Muslim rule lay dormant for 

a while, but was never totally extinct. The Hindu Gakkars tried to 

exploit the weakn^sbf the Muslim Central Government after Timur’s 

invasion. Rapa Sanga dreamt of a revived Hindu empire when Babur 

met Ibnihim Lodi at Pampat. The Rajputs, the Jats, the Bundelas 

challenged the might of Aurangzeb in the heyday of Timurid supremacy 

and the Marathas under the inspiration of Sivaji became a military' 

Power that later threatened to subjugate the whole of India. It was 

at this crisis that the battle of Plassey gave the English a secure 

foot-hold in Bengal and a new era with distinctive features of its own 

was rung in and the old was rung out. 

In the Middle Ages also empires rose and fell; small principalities 
were fminded on their ruins to be once more welded into a bigger 

entity as in the ancient days. The periods cannot be distinguished 
on the principle of political unity effected by ambitious conquerors or 
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the disintegration of the state on account of provincial and racial 

differences. The growth of a new culture, the introduction of new 

elements in the body politic, the development of the vernacular literatures, 

a new synthesis of spiritual ideals certainly offer a surer line of 

demarcation. 

It is not possible to discuss all the problems of medieval Indian 

History within the short compass of this Address. But I may be 

permitted to deal with one question that^is not wholly of antiquarian 

interest to-day. The distributiog^^^flNiluslim population in India demands 

some explanation. It is commi^'ly' .believed that Islam followed the 

route of conquest and the subjuUR^hd'jpeople were forced to accept the 

faith of their rulers. The predominance of the Muslims in the Frontier 

Province and the Punjab lends some colour to this contention. But 

this theory cannot explain an overwhelming Muslim majority in Eastern 

Bengal. It is quite likely that the North-Western Frontier Province 

was peopled by Turkish folks during the Kushan days, and their easy 

conversion to Islam may be explained by racial affinity with the new 

conquerors; but the Muslims of Eastern Bengal were certainly not 

racially akin to the Tiprks- and the Afghans, and the conversion of the 

Hindus of that region must have been due to other reasons. Here the i 

Muslim chronicles of the conquest of Sind throw some welcome light. 

According to the iThac/mama, the Buddhists of Sind suffered all sorts of 

indignities and humiliations under their Brahman rulers, and when the 

Arabs invaded their country the Buddhists lent their whole-hearted 

support to them. Later on, when Dahir was slain and a Muslim 

Government was hrmly established in his country, the Buddhists found 

to their dismay that, so far as their rights and privileges were concerned, 

the Arabs were prepared to restore siaiuR ijnc ank hcUum and even under 

the new order the Hindus received a preferential treatment. The onh 

way out of this difficulty was to accept Islam because the converts were 

entitled to all the privileges reserved for the ruling classes. So the 

Buddhists of Sind joined the Muslim fold in large numbers. It cannot 

be an accident that the Punjab, Kashmir, the district round Bihar 

Sharif, and North-East Bengal, where Muslims now predominate, were 

all strong Buddhist centres in the pre-Muslim days. It will not btj 

fair to suggest that the Buddhists succumbed more easily to jxditical 

temptations than the Hindus and the change of religion was due to the 

prospects of the improvement of their political status. It is noteworthy 
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that the Buddhist Kings of Arakan used Mahomedan designations in 
addition to their own names and even issued medallions bearing the 
)\alima^ -the Mahomedan confession of faith, in Persian script. We 
may further note that the present Mahomedan Sultans of the Federated 

Malay States are all descendants of the ancient Hindu ruling dynasties 
later converted to Buddhism. Their conversion to Islam was not 
effected by armed invasion. The Arabs visited their country as peaceful 
traders and the Malay King? accepted the new faith because it must 

have made a strong appeal .tQijtlhK^^niotion or reason. The masses 
must have emulated the exaim^.Ql. th^fj^rulers ^ Buddhist country 

has become in course of tira^i.«4iii^ entirely Muslim. This easy 
translation from Buddhism to Islam demands an explanation. On the 
eve of the Muslim conquest of India Buddhism had lost its original 
simplicity and had been overburdened with the complicated rites and 

rituals associated with the Mahayana cult. Why did these later 
Buddhists find it so easy to foi'sake their former faith and embrace 

Islam while their Hindu neighbours and countrymen remained more 

loyal to their ancestral belief ? 
The students of Medieval History^^J0fee^|one marked advantage 

over the scholars interested in the preceding period. The Hindus 
had apparently little interest in historical literature, and Sanskrit 
chronicles and biographical works that have luckily survived to our 

times can be counted on our fingers. But the Muslim writers were 

not so indifferent to mundane matters and applied themselves diligently 

to historical investigations. In any case, contemporary chroniclers 
often strove to record thq achievements of Muslim rulers and military 

leaders, and modern scJholars found it comparatively easy to construct 

the framework of medieval Indian History. Here I deem it necessary 
to sound a note of warning. There is a tendency in certain quarters 

to treat everything written in Persian as a primary source of History. 
Nothing can be more ridiculous. A Persian poem with a historical 
theme may reflect popular feelings of the time, but as historical material 

it cannot be classed higher than a Hindi or Marathi ballad. Similarly, 
no serious historian will attach the same value to a contemporaiy record 
and a later chronicle, simply because the latter may be written in Persian. 

Nor shall we be justified in accepting all the observations of a foreign 

traveller, European or Asiatic, without a critical examination of his 

sources of information. It is a pity that some of the most prominent 
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writere of modern India fail to distinguish a Chronicle from History 

and to evaluate properly and classify correctly the extant historical 

materials. It will be preposterous to place the correspondence of 

Aurangzeb or Jai Singh in the same category with the chronicles of 

Bhimasena or Iradat Khan, simply because they belong to the same age 

and were written in the same language. To avoid confusion it should 

be frankly recognised that for the early Sultanate of Delhi we have no 

contemporary record, and if we leave the numismatic and the scanty 

epigraphic materials out of account there remains hardly anything which 

can be termed as original sources. 

The Persian chronicles suffer from another patent shortcoming. 

The chroniclers were mainly, if not solely, interested in the military 

aristocracy. Some of them deliberately sought the patronage of the 

ruling Sultan and the principal nobles. So far as they were concerned, 

the masses might have been altogether non-existent. The plodding 

peasants were probably taken for granted, but their sorrows and 

sufferings, their trials and tribulations, their pleasures and pastimes, 

their labours and recreations were considered too trivial to find any 

place in the chronicles specially compiled for the perusal of the great. 

The Muslim writers were seldom free from the religious bias that made 

them indifferent to the culture of the Hindus. The Hindu was a 

deluded misbeliever eternally doomed to perdition ! It is only at rare 

intervals that an Alberuni turned his attention to the mathematical and 

the metaphysical speculations of the Hindus or an Amir Khusru explored 

the treasures of Sanskrit Literature. It is a pity that in spite of these 

defects the Persian chronicles still continue to influence the historical 

works on India. The two ponderous volumes that recently appeared 

with the impress of the Cambridge University Press amply prove that 

to many of our distinguished contemporaries Mediaeval Indian History 

offers but a catalogue of bloody strifes and court intrigues. For them 

Caitanya and Kabira had no message; Tulasidasa and Muhammad Jayasi 

lived in vain so far as they were concerned; they ignore the lovely 

paintings of Mansor; the music of Tansen is wasted on them. 

The historian should not be influenced by chauvinism, but he 

should not confuse a chronicle with History. He should not forget 

the teeming millions toiling far from the metropolitan crowd. The 

self-effacing bard who catered for the poor and unconsciously created 

a new literature, the saintly teacher who preached the superiority of 

22 
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love and devotion, also demand his attention. He cannot afford to 
ignore the economic forces that go to the making of History. He 
must give a proper account of the religious, literary and artistic 
movements that gave his period its characteristic tone. He may 

complain that he cannot make bricks without straw and he is 

handicapped by the very defects from which the chronicles which form 
his principal sources suffer. But the historian, if he is true to his ideal, 
must draw upon fresh materials. Literature and Archaeology may 
prove of immense value where the chronicles fail. We cannot take a 
narrow view of History and clip the wings of our muse. We should 

not have recourse to unbridled imagination, but that is no reason why 
we should not set to make a scientific synthesis of every bit of 
information that literature, theology, philosophy and ancient 

i 

monuments may yield. 
The advent of Islam almost synchronised with the rise of the 

Rajput dynasties. The Rajputs were the Normans of India. Though 
they did not share the Norseman’s seafaring tastes, the Rajputs were 
as daring, as chivalrous, as enterprising, as adventurous as those hardy 
^rriors who carried their victorious arms from one end of Europe to 
another. For centuries the Rajput Kings were the defenders of Hindu 
faith, the patrons of Hindu culture, the protagonists of Hindu traditions. 

They stood by the ancient Hindu ideals, and fearlessly defended 
Hindusthan against repeated onslaughts of Islam. History has not so 
far taken an adequate notice of the part played by the Rajputs, but a 

warm admirer of theirs from the far-off West, Colonel Tod, paid 
eloquent tribute to their heroism : “What nation on earth would have 

maintained the semblinoe of civilization, the spirit or the customs of 
their forefathers, during so many centuries of overwhelming depression, 
but one of such singular character as the Rajput ?.Rajasthan 

exhibits the sole example in the history of mankindj of a people 

Vfithstanding every outrage barbarity can inflict or human nature 
sustain, and bent to the earth, yet rising buoyant from the pressure 
and making calamity a whetstone to courage.” It is not for nothing 

that popular imagination still turns to Rajputana for patriotic inspiration. 
Smith was right when he said that “the centuries from the death of 

Haisa to the Muhammadan conquest of Hindusthan, extending in 
round numbers from the middle of the seventh to the close of the 

twelfth century, mi^ht be called with propriety the Rajput period,” 
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It will however be wrong to suggest that when the Muslim dotiquest 

of Northern India was completed, the Raj pots, reconciled to their lot, 

beat their swords into ploughshares and permanently forsook their 

warlike habits in pursuit of the arts of peace. Can we ignore the part 

played by the petty Rajput chiefs of these provinces in the turbulent 

days of the so-called Syed Kings ? Even the Muslim historians could 

not ignore the exploits and achievements of the great Sanga. Were 

not the Rajputs the virtual rulers of Malwa even when a Muslim prince 

reigned at Mandu ? When the political genius of that great Emperor, 

whom the devotion of his Hindu subjects loved to identify with the 

Ruler of the world, converted his inveterate foes into steadfast friends, 

the principal Rajput chiefs did indeed re-adjust their political outlook 

and whole-heartedly identified themselves with the Timurid empire. 

Soldiers and statesmen like Man Singh, Jaswant Singh, Mirza Raja 

Jay Singh, Ajit Singh and Abhai Singh fought for that empire in every 

part of India and sometimes their services were requisitioned in provinces 

outside the geographical bounds of this country. The proud rulers of 

Mewar, on the other hand, played a different role. Pratap Singh defied 

the might of Akbar, and his descendant Raj Singh unhesitatingly took 

the lead of a Rajput league organised to defend their ancient rights 

from the encroachments of Aurangzeb. The Timurid empire is gone, 

the Maratha confederacy has vanished, but the Rajput states are still 

there. The Guhilot, the Rathor, the Kacchapaghata chiefs still rule 

over their respective clans ; and when the exigencies of another empire, 

to which they now owe their allegiance, demanded their services some 

years ago, they again donned their armours and drew their swords 

with their wonted zeal and accustomed ardour. During the palmy days 

of Rajput glory they produced mighty Kings like Gurjara Bhoja, 

Chandella Dhartga, Kalacuri Karoa, Paramara Bhoja, Solartkl 

Jayasiriiha and Cauhana Pfthviraja. In the day of their decline, when 

the Rajput rulers became mere vassals of the dominant Power, they 

still maintained their military reputation untarnished, their chivalry 

and honour unsullied. 

It is strange that the origin of the Rajputs should still remain a 

subject of controversy. The problem has been discussed threadbare 

from all points of view—legendary, historical, ethnological and 

sociological—but unanimity has not yet been reached; The story of 

(fire origin) was apparently invented to camouflage some 
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significant historical facts which the noble families of Rajasthan did 

not cpnsider complimentary to their ancestors. Some of them apparently 

had some racial affinity with the aborigines of the region ; others might 

not have been totally unrelated to alien invaders. The name ‘Rajput’ 

is quite colourless. It includes numerous clans to whom it will be 

hazardous to attribute a common origin. Their only bond seems to 

have been a common ideal and a similar organisation. The erudition 

and industry of Prof. D. R. Bhandarkar have fairly established that the 

Guhilots at least were not directly descended from the Vedic Aryans. 

Aryan origin is also commonly denied to the Gurjaras. But the 

traditional view of purely Ksatriya origin does not suffer from lack of 

champions. In recent years the orthodox theory of indigenous origin 

has been very ably defended by MahamahopadhySya Gauri S'apkar 

Hirachand Ojha and the late Rao Bahadur Chintaman Vifiayak Vaidya. 

It is no disparagement of their scholarship or intellectual integrity if 

we say that so far they have not succeeded in carrying conviction to 

the opposite camp. The late Dr. Crooke probably stated the case fairly 

when he said, “Some of the nobler Rajput sects are descended from 

Gurjaras or other foreigners, while others are closely connected with 

the indigenous races.” Whatever their origin, the Rajputs identified 

themselves with the ancient- ideas and military traditions of this land, 

and when they claimed kinship with ancient Solar or Lunar races, 

they simply asserted their legitimate right to the leadership of the 

Hindus which they had earned with their heart’s blood. 

Another interesting problem is the prevalence of Feudalism in 

mediaeval Rajputana. Tpd was definitely of opinion that the Rajput 

states were feudal in Character and the political organisation of the 

Rajputs was founded on feudal principles of service and protection. 

Crooke and Erskine, however, strongly controvert this assertion. They 

hold that the analogy between the tribal institutions of the Rajputs and 

the social organisation of mediaeval Europe is in the main superficial. 

“It is of little use,” argues Crooke, “to compare two systems of which 

only the nucleus is common to both, and to place side by side institutions 

which present only a factitious similitude, because the social 

development of each has progressed on different lines.’’ But we should 

hot fofget that Feudalism, after all, is a vague term indicating a certain 

form of political and social organisation in which land tenure plays a 
determining part. Maitland rightly observed that there was no Feudal 
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System, there were many feudal systems in different parts of Europe. 

Feudal laws and feudal customs varied from country to country, from 

district to district. It is futile to seek in mediaeval Rajputana exactly 

those laws, customs and practices with which the text-books on Mediaeval 

European History have familiarised us. Tod says, “In remarking the 

curious coincidence between the habits, notions, and governments of 

Europe in the Middle Ages, and those of Rajasthan, it is not absolutely 

necessary we should conclude that one system was borrowed from the 

other; each may, in truth, be said to have the patriarchal form for its 

basis.” European Feudalism may not have evolved from a patriarchal 

form of society, but in mediaeval Rajputana the clan system seems to 

lend some colour to Tod’s view. In any case. Tod’s elaborate 

comparison between Rajput customs and feudal institutions of Europe 

deserves further examination and scrutiny. 

In Rajputana the clan dominated the state. In fact, originally 

the state belonged to the clan, the King being only a primus mkrpares. 

Such a state of things could not but hamper the central authority and 

the Rajput King was as much handicapped by a conflict of prerogative 

and privileges as the Lodi Sultans of Delhi. Gradually, however, the 

King began to assert himself; and as he had to deal mainly with one 

ruling clan and not with several tribes, he ultimately succeeded in curbing 

the power of the feudal aristocracy. The transition from government 

by the elders to autocracy pure and simple must have been necessarily 

slow but the process is worth studying. It goes without saying that 

the example of the Timurid Emperors must have supplied the necessary 

impetus to the subordinate rulers. As Prof. S. C. Dutt so aptly remarks, 

“The autocrat at the imperial capital supplied the incentive to the 

prince to play the autocrat in his more limited sphere of action.” While 

the whole world was moving, Rajputana. could not stand still. The 

Rajputs also responded to outside influence of which the Timurid empire 

was the living embodiment. 

The Rajputs were sturdy warriors but their military system has 

not yet been adequately analysed. They had their peculiar strategy 

and tactics. In a feudal force the cavalry naturally occupied the place 

of honour and the aimoured knight with his bicad sword ar.d sharp lance 

led the charge. The infantry was not much thought of. With 

unparalleled obstinacy the Rajputs refused to learn their lessons and 

steadfastly clung to old and out-of-date methods. I’robably the time- 
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honoured rights and privileges of the clan stood in the way of military 

reform. We know as a matter of fact that in the 18th century many 

Maratha chiefs refused to have anything to do with trained infantry and 

Western methods of warfare. They were obliged to serve the state 

with a stipulated number of horsemen and they stood on their rights 

with a perverse tenacity which does little credit to their head. Such 

must have been the case in Rajpotana also, for the Rajput cursed 

“those vile guns, which render of comparatively little value the lance 

of many a gallant soldier,” It is difficult to say how far Vikramaditya 

of Mewar antagonised his nobles by his predilection for packn or foot 

soldiers. It is a pity that the campaigns of the great Rajput warriors 

have not yet been studied with that scientific accuracy and industry 

which they deserve. The prose chronicles of the Rajputs themselves 

and the Persian lawarik/ts compiled by their Muslim adversaries, when 

carefully scrutinised, may prove a veritable mine of information. 

As Dr, Tessitori observes, “The history of Mediaeval India has 

been so far compiled chiefly from the works of Muslim historians who 

represent the Rajput princes in a very unfavourable light, calling them 

infidel dogs, headstrong rebels, etc. Bearing such unfriendly feelings 

the Mahomedan historians never do full justice to the important role 

which Rajput princes played in imperial campaigns. The Rajasthani 

chronicles alone can redress the wrongs thus done to the Hindus in 

general by the Mahomedan historians. They draw before us a 

picture of Rajput life under the Emperors, and at the same time also 

of the imjierial life as seen through Rajput sjiectacles,” It is needless 

to say that the Persian chronicles cannot be and should not be ignored. 

But they should be Supplemented and corrected in the light .of the 

•Rajput sources. For the erlier period Epigraphy is sure to prove of 

immense use, and great savants like Buhler, Kielhorn, Bhagwanlal 

Indraji and D, R. Bhandarkar have done important pioneer work in 

this direction, Sanskrit poetical works like ’PrUlivinijcmJai/a and 

'^ammiramadamarJana are avowedly historical works, and though poetical 

imageries and exaggerations may have encrusted the underlying facts, 

they certainly help us in getting a truer perspective. 

For the later period we must turn to the Rajput bardic chronicles, 

and the prose works known as Pidhtyas^ Vataa and 'i^hyaiaa. The scientific 

study of the bardic chronicles began and ended with Dr, Tessitori. 

It is a pity that the materials collected by this Italian scholar have 
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not yet been properly used by Indian students. The bardic chronicles 

include short stray couplets, at first orally preserved and later reduced 

to writing, and commemorative songs. Sometimes the latter assumed 

gigantic proportions and attained immense popularity. Although the 

main object of such poetical works was the glorification of a particular 

hero and his enhura^e^ the poet went out of his way to treat of the 

bygone ages. The most well-known work of this class is 7V//a'/w/</ ‘/yiaa 

of Chand Bardai, which consists of many thousand verses and is by no 

means confined to contemporary events. But such ballads and poems 

must be treated with the utmost caution. The bards were avowed 

partisans and not impartial observers. They usually devoted their 

poetic skill to the glorification of their own patrons and the vilification 

of their rivals. Not infretpiently they participated in court intrigues 

and their work was naturally vitiated by party bias and personal 

prejudice. Moreover, as professional poets they cared more for literary 

effect and less for truth and accuracy. As Dr. Tessitori observes, “In 

the magniloquent strains of a carano everything takes a gigantic form, 

as if he was seeing the world with a magnifying glass ; every skirmish 

becomes a Mahabharata, every little hamlet a Lanka, every warrior a 

giant who with his arms upholds the sky. But, if one* allows for these 

exaggerations and reduces things to their natural sife, and at the same 

time denudes the facts of all fictions with which they arc coated, the 

kernel of truth can still be seen lurking inside.” How apt these 

remarks would be in relation to the historical ballads of the Marathas 

who claim kinship with the Rajputs ! 

The Rajasthani historical prose works arc more useful. The 

Picihiyaa furnish nothing but genealogical data and often consist of 

strings of names. From the sixteenth century biographical notes were 

added to these genealogies, compiled by stipendiary iihata and Jain '^atia. 

The ialar, consist of tales, romances, biographies and brief notices of 

important events. The '/\fiyafar, are genuine prose chronicles and the 

narrative was generally arranged in correct chronological order. So 

far as cotemporary events or the recent past are concerned, the J^yalaa 

are remarkably accurate. As Dr. Tessitori says, “They contained no 

^ legends, no lies, no quotation of bardic verses, no flatteries, but merely 

plain statements of facts teeming with names and dates, these facts 

contemporary and many of them witnessed by the writer.” The 

'Ahyataa should be properly edited and published. It is a pity that the 
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original text of the best of them, Nainsi’s is not available in 

print. The time has come when every University student interested in 

the subject may legitimately claim a source book of Rajput History. 

This need would have certainly been removed, had Sir A^utosh 

Mukerjee been spared for a few years more. Under his inspiring 

guidance the University of Calcutta made provision for the study of 

Sikh History, Maratha History, and Rajpot History. Not content 

with the mere recognition of Rajpot History as a subject for examination 

and research, he enlisted the services of a well-known Rajput scholar, 

Paijdit Ram Karap—whose familiarity with the Rajput bardic 

literature and prose chronicles particularly qualified him for the task, 

with a view to the preparation of a reliable source book. Unfortunately 

the work was never accomplished, but let us hope that some other 

University financially better endowed than Calcutta will carry out 

Sir A^utosh’s programme. 

It is not possible nor is it necessary to attempt here a 
comprehensive survey of the work hitherto done with regard to Medi?eval 

Indian History. It will be impertinent on my part to refer you to 

the pioneer work of such intellectual giants as Elphinstone, Erskine, 

Blochman, Beverifige, Thomas and Tod. But a brief reference to 

more recent investigations may not be absolutely out of place. 

MahamahopadhySya Gauri Sapkar Hira Chand Ojha has earned the 

gratitude of all students of Indian History by his researches in Rajput 

History. Dewan Bahadur Harvilas Sarda’s monographs in English 

are fairly well-known. Papdit Vi^esvar Nath Reu, Prof. Subimal 

Chandra Dutt and Mr. Qolap Chandra Raychaudhury have contributed 

several illuminating' papers on various topics connected with the 

Rajputs. Of those scholars who relied mainly on Persian sources, 

the foremost place must be given to Henry Irvine and Sir Jadu Nath 

Sarkar. Irvine and Sarkar, between them, cover the entire period 

from the reign of Shah Jahan to the end of the eighteenth century. 

Mediaeval Numismatics has found able exponents in Mr. Nelson Wright 

whose recent publication is sure to replace the pioneer work of Thomas, 

and Dr. N. K. Bhatta^ah whose work on the independent Sultans of 

Bengal is indispensable to all serious students. A brilliant school of . 

History was founded here at Allahabad by Prof. Rushbrook Williams, 

which still flourishes under the able guidance of its present head. From 

the very beginning the Allahabad historians made Mediaeval Indian 
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History their own. The excellent text-books of Dr, Ishwari Prasad are 

used all over India. His researches on the Qaraunah Turks, Dr. 

Tripathi’s monograph on administrative institutions of the Delhi 

Sultanate, Dr. Saksena’s '^Bishry of ^hch fahan, Dr. Beni Prasad’s work 

on Jahangir and Prof. Rushbrook Williams’s illuminating little volume 

on Babur have permanently established the reputation of Allahabad 

as a great centre of mediajval studies. To Lucknow we are indebted 

for a monograph on HumayQn, but for HumayOn’s rival Sher Shah 

we have to turn to Dacca. The biography of Sher Shah, however, is 

not the only work of Prof. Qanungo. His "^iBhry of the ^ais, though 

incomplete, is a work of great promise. It is quite in the fitness of 

things that the north-eastern frontier policy of the Mughals should 

engage the attention of a Dacca scholar : Dr. S. N. Bhattacharyya has 

given us an erudite treatise on that subject. It gives me great pride 

and pleasure to add that both Qanungo and Bhattacharyya are genuine 

products of the Calcutta University. Mr. Indu Bhosaij Banerjee of 

Calcutta has recently brought out a volume on the '^vehition of the 7{hatsas 

which is sure to be counted among the most authoritative works on the 

subject. Dr. N. K. Sinha interests himself in a subject which falls on 

the border line of modern and mediaeval periods. A series of brilliant 

papers has been published by Mr, Anil Chandra Banerjee on the 

interesting subject of the evolution of the administrative system of the 

early Muslim Kings of Delhi. At Madras the veteran Krishnaswami 

Aiyangar indefatigably works to extend the bounds of our knowledge. 

His efforts are being ably seconded by his successor. Prof. Nila 

Kaptha Shastri. The number of Maharastra scholars is too numerous 

to be mentioned here. A new History school is growing at Bombay 

under the inspiration of Father Heras who surveys all periods of Indian 

History with confidence and ability. The posthumous book of Ibn 

Hasan proves what a promising scholar Indian History has lost in him. 

Twenty-five years ago very few Indian scholars actively interested 

themselves in their country’s past, but those who did were men of 

first-rate ability. To-day dozens of students are engaged in historical 

investigations at every University centre. We must seriously ask 

ourselves whether the gain in quantity has not been impaired by a 

corresponding loss in quality. It is impossible for outsiders to realise 

the waste in time, energy and money caused by dilettante work. We 

should also seriously enquire whether we are not encouraging research 

23 
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too early by intellectually immature students. These queries may be 

unpleasant, but professional teachers of History cannot conscientiously 
ignore them. 

A crying need of the moment is some method of co-ordination, 

some effective means of preventing unnecessary reduplication. If Delhi 
is far off, Lahore, Bombay and Madras are farther still. A co-ordinating 
agency is, therefore, urgently called for. We cannot permit 

unnecessary waste at this stage of our national development. Cannot 

we set up some board or committee whose business will be to keep 

note of and supply information about the research work in which the 
different Universities and private individuals are engaged ? I have 

already referred to the excellent work done by Mr. Anil Chandra 

Banerjee, but with the publication of Dr. Tripathi’s volume on the 

identical subject Mr. Banerjee’s papers became superfluous except for 

some minor points. Two years’ hard work was thus wasted for lack of 

information and co-ordination. This Congress will render a valuable 
service to historical studies in India if it can set up an unofficial body to 

prevent such unnecessary reduplication. Probably the national 
committee affiliated to the International Congress of Historical Science 

will serve this purpose. 

We must not forget that if much has been done, still more remains 

to be done. Those who care for an easy time, those who expect speedy 

results, those who hanker after spectacular effect, should go for some 

other sphere of activity. Historical investigation demands hard work 
a 

and privation, indefatigable industry and self-effacement, intellectual 

integrity and devotion to truth. 
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DHARMARAYA AND VIRA NARASIMHA 

Dr. N. Venkataramanayya, M. A., Ph. D., Reader in Indian 
History, University of Madras. 

Vira Narasimha, the eldest son of the regent Narasa Nay aka is generally 

believed to have succeeded his father as the regent; and after a short period he 

plotted the assassination of his master Immadi Narasimha and usurped the 

throne of Vijayanagara. The soundness of this belief has been recently 

questioned. Mr. K. V, Subrahmanya Iyer expressed the opinion that Immadi 

Narasimha reigned until 1509 A.D., and was succeeded by Krsnadevaraya, 

leaving no room for the reign of Vira Narasimha. He believes that the statement 

that Vira Narasimha ruled over Vijayanagara prior to Krsnaraya is incorrect 

as he does not find ‘any inscription of Vira Narasimha, where in the king is 

distinctly called a Tuluva.'* 

In support of his contention, Mr. Subrahmanya Iyer advances two 

propositions : 

1. That Tammarao and Busbalrao of Nuniz are identical with Immadi 

Narasimha; and 

2. That Immadi Narasimha was no t depose d in S'aka 1424 (1502 A. D.) 

as H. Krishna Sastri believed; but ruled up to S^aka 14 29—30 (1507—8) as 

shown by the lithic records of the reign. 

These propositions deserve careful examination. 

1. The identification of Tammarao and Busbalrao of Nuniz with Immadi 

Narasimha proposed by Mr. Subrahmanya Iyer is based upon a statement of 

Mr. Krishna Sastri that Bhujabalaraya Immadi Tammayadeva must have 

been a surname of Immadi Narasimha, son of Saluva N aras imha.^ Admitting the 

correctness of Mr. Krishna Sastri’s statement, it is difficult to comprehend how 

Mr. Subrahmanya Iyer has drawn from it the inference that ‘Tammarao 

and Busbalrao’ of Nuniz are identical with Immadi Narsimha. It must 

be noted that according to Nuniz Tammarao and Busbalrao are the names 

of two different kings: the former was the son of Saluva Narasimha, 

and the latter was the eldest son of Narasa NSyaka and the elder brother and 

predecessor of Krsnadevaraya. As Tammarao was another well known name 

of Immadi Narasimha (122 of 1918, 47 of 1916, 195 of 1924), it is but reasonable 

that they should be identified. Although Tammaraya lounadi Narasimha bore 

the titles of Bhujabala and Bhujabalaraya, it is not possible to identify him 

with the Busbalrao of Nuniz, because Immadi Narasiihha w^§ Rol the onl^ 

l M. B. R., 1929—30, Part II, pp. 84—83. 
J M. E. R-, 1929-30’ Part II, p. W, 
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king who assumed this title. Besides Immadi Narasimha, Saluva Narasiifaha 

(M. E. R. 421 of 1927—28) Vira Narasimha (E. C. IV. Gu. 67) and 

several other later kings bore it. Therefore, it is not reasonable to identify 

Busbalrao with Immadi Narasimha on the ground that latter bears the title 
of Bhujabalaraya. 

2, Though Nunia definitely states that Tammarao (Immadi Narasimha) 

was assassinated, his account was rejected as untrue, owing to inaccuracies. He 

attributed the murder to Narasa Nayaka, and this fact has destroyed the value 

of his otherwise incomparable narrative. Narasa Nayaka to whom he attributes 

the crime of assassinating his master and ward died in 1502 A. D., whereas 

Immidi Narasimha, his supposed victim, is definitely known to have lived until 

S'. 1426 (1504—5 A. D.) Therefore, his account was set aside; and a new 
theory- was propounded based, no doubt, on epigraphical evidence that Narasa 

Nayaka did not slay his master, but deposed him. But as the inscriptions of 

Imamdi Narasimha clearly show that he continued to be the ruler, though only in 

name, of the kingdom even after the death of Narasa Nayaka, even the theory 

of his deposition cannot be maintained. As a matter of fact, tradition preserved 

in the Virappayya Kalajnana, while supporting Nuniz’s account of Tamraaraya’s 
assassination, states that the person who caused the assassination was Vira 

Narasimhar&ya, son of Narasa Nayaka, and that the event took place in the 

year Raktaksi corresponding to A. D. 1504—05. This statement is in 
agreement, as shown already, with the available epigraphical evidence. 

It is contended that Immadi Narasimha ruled up to 1508—09 A. D., 

and three epigraphs are cited in support of this contention. 
(a) 94/1906 S'. 1429 (expired) King : Vira Narasimharaya son 

Prabhava of Saluva Narasimharaya. 

(b) 54/1920—30 S'. 1429 (expired) King: Immadi Bhujabala 

^ 1430 (Current) Vibhava Narasimhadevaraya 
Maharaya. 

(c) 15/1900 Sf, 1431 S^ukla King; Bhujabalaraya. 

‘Though these records appear, at first sight, to support the contention, 

that Immadi Narasimha ruled upto 1508-9, on a close examination, however, 
they will be seen to have no bearing on the subject. Taking the three instances 

cited by Mr. Subrahmanya Iyer into consideration in order, it must be pointed 

out that the king mentioned in (a) need not necessarily be taken as Immadi 

Narasimha, for he can be identified with greater reason with Vira Narasiihha, 

the elder brother of Krsnadevarayn. It must be noted in the first place, that 

in the inscriptions of Immadi Narasimha (*. e., the inscriptions dated before 

1505 A. D.), the king is never referred to as Vira Narasimha. Secondly S^uva 

Narasimharaya mentioned in the locord need not necessarily mean Snlnva 
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Narasiriiha, the father of Immadi Narasimha; it may as well be a variation of 

the name of Narasa Nayaka. There is ample epigraphical evidence to justify 

this view, Narasa Nayaka is frequently referred in his inscriptions as Narasirhha, 

and the surname and the titles of the Saluvas are borne by him: 

M. E. R. 32/1905—06 1500 A. D. King : Narasanna Nayaka: 

Titles :Medini Misara 

Gandakattari Trinetra Saluva. 

E, C. HI. No. 88. 1500 A. D, King: Saluva Narasanna 

Nayaka 

Titles ; 

M. A. R. 1928 No. 44. 1497 A. D. King: Kathari Saluva 

Narasirhha born of Tsvara and 

Bukkamambika. 

The inscriptions cited above clearly show that Narasa Nayaka was also 

known as Saluva Narasirhha. In the copperplate charters as well as the Telugu 

poems written by and dedicated to his sons, Narasa Nayaka is invariably spoken 

of Narasirhha Maharaya. Therefore it may be concluded that Saluva 

Narasirhharaya the father of Vira Narasirhha mentioned in (a) refers to Narasa 

Nayaka and not to his master Saluva Narasiihhi. 

The records (6) and (c) may be considered together, for the Bhujabalaraya 

of (c) also occurs as a title Bhujabala in (6). It has already been pointed out 

that Bhujabala and Bhujabalaraya are only titles, and were borne by several 

Vijayanagara kings, since the time of Immadi Narasiihha’s father Saluva 

Narasiriiha. The Bhujabalaraya of (c) therefore, does not help us in identifying 

the king unless we take into consideration the date of the record. Since 

it is contended that Immadi Narasirhha ruled upto 1508-9 and since there 

is indubitable epigraphical evidence, as will be shown presently that Narasa 

Nayaka’s son Vira Narasirhha ruled at the same time, the date of the record (c) 

also ceases to be a determining factor. The record, therefore, has to be left out 

of consideration in this context. The Immadi Bhujabala Narasirhhadevaraya 

Maharaya of (b) cannot be identified with Immadi Narasirhha with certainty; 

for Narasa Nayaka's son Vira Narasiriiha also made use of the appellation 

Immadi in his records. The following three inscriptions may be noticed with 

advantage in this connection : 

M. E. R. 54/1915 1505 King : Yimmadi Narasa Nayaningani son 

of Narasa Nayaningaru, son of Isvara 

Nayaningaru. 

M. E. R. 330/1921 1506 King; Immadi Narasa Nayaka, son of 

Narasimharaya. 

E. C, IV. Gu. 67 1506 King: Bhujabalapratapa Narasimharaya 

son of Nftra^pna Nayaka, 
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It is evident that these three records refer to the same king, and it is not 

unlikely that Immadi Bhujabala NarasimhadevarSya Maharaya mentioned in 

(6) is identical with him. The three records cited by Mr. Subrahmanya Iyer to 

prove that Immadi Narasimha ruled upto 1508—09, fail to establish his 

position. Therefore, it may be concluded that no case has been made out for 

prolonging his reign beyond 1505 A. D. 

Now, another point, to which Mr. Subrahmanya Iyer has drawn attention 

must be considered. ''We are not aware*', says he, “of any inscription of Vira 

Narasimha, wherein the king is distinctly called Tuluva,” (M. E. R. 1929—30 

II. p. 85). This is indeed surprising, coming as it does, from a renowned 

epigraphist of Mr. Subrahmanya Iyer’s standing. There are, several inscriptions 

which specifically speak of him as a Tuluva. 

E. C. X. G. 77. 1505 

E. C. VIII. Nr. 64. 1507 

E. C. VIII. Nr. 66. 1507 

E.I. XIV. pp. 231-40 1508 

(?) 

King : Vira Narasimha—his younger 

brother : Krishnaray a—his father 

Narasavanipala—his grandfather : I4vara 

of Tuluva vamsa. 

King : Vira Narasimha—^h is father 

Narasavanipalaka : his grandfather : Tsvara 

a decendant of the Tuluvendras. 

King; Vira Narasimha: his father 

Narasavanipalaka . HiS grandfather Tsvara, 

a decendant of the Tuluvendras. 

King : Vira Narasimha—His younger 

brother: Krishnaraya His father: 

Narasavanipalaka His grandfather : Tsvara 

a decendant of the Tuluvendras. 

There are several others in which the identity of Vira Narasimha cannot 

be mistaken, though he is not specifically referred to as a Tuluva king : 

M. E. R. 54/1915 1505 

M. E. R. 171/1913 1506 

E. C. IV. Gu. 67 1506 

M. E. R. 343/1892 1508 

M, E. R. 389/1904 1508 

King: Yimmadi Narasa Nayaningaru son 

of Narasanayaningaru, the son of I^varappa 

Nayaningaru. 

King: Vira N arasimharaya, son of 

Narasanna Nayaka. 

King: Bhujabalapratapa Narasiihha 

Maharaya, son of NSrasannS NSyaka—he 

was ruling from VidySnagara. 

King: Vira Narasimha. His minister: 

Saluva Timmarasa. 

King: Vira Narasimha. His minister ; 

Saluva Timmarasa, 
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These inscriptions prove beyond a shadow of doubt that Tuluva Vira 

Narasithha, the elder brother of Krsnaraya and the son of Narasa Nayaka was 

ruling the kingdom, seated on the jewelled throne of the Narapatis at 

Vijayanagara. No useful purpose is served by trying to ignore that fact. Since 

there is no definite evidence to show that Immadi Narasirhha reigned beyond 

1504—05 A. D., and since the inscriptions prove that Tuluva Vira Narasimha 

ruled the kingdom from the city of Vijayanagara, it may be taken as established 

that the former ceased to reign in 1505 and that he was succeeded by the 

latter who ruled from 1508 to 1509 A. D. 

A FORGOTTEN MOSLEM INVASION 

Dr. D. C. Geunguly, M. A., Ph. D. (London), Reader in History, 
Dacca University 

Muhammad bin Kasim killed the king Dahar of the Brahman dynasty in 

711 A. D., and conquered Sind in 712 A. D. Jaisiah, son of Dahar, reconquered 

Sind during the Caliphate of Suleiman (A. D. 715-717). During the reign of 

the Caliph Omar II (A. D. 717-720) Jaisiah embraced Islam in order to save 

his kingdom from the further incursions of the Arabs. But during the 

Caliphate of Hisham (A. D. 724-743) his general Junaid killed Jaisiah and 

reconquered the province of Sind. Sometime before A D. 738 Junaid made 

several attempts to establish his supremacy over Rajpulana, Malava, and 

the Deccan. But his attempts were frustrated by the king Nagabha^ I of 

Malava, Pulikesin Janasraya lata, and Yasovarman of Kanauj. It is generally 

believed that Arabs under the Caliphs did not make any further attempt to 

establish their supremacy beyond Sind. But the critical examination of the 

Indian Records establishes that the Arabs led at least one more expedition 

against Rajputana^. 

KkuminAi}a‘R^so? a work of the later period, narrates that ‘Mahmud 

Khorasan Pat* invaded Chitor during the reign of Khuman. A large number 

of kings of different dynasties fought on the side of Khuman and repulsed the 

attack of the Moslems. Tod says that Mahmud, referred to, is a mistake for 

Ma’miln f.e. Abbasid Caliph Al-Ma’mtin (A. D. 813-836), who got Khorasan, 

Sind, and other Indian dependencies from his father Harun. Ojha® suggests 

that KhumSn is to be identified with the Guhila Khummana II, who ruled 

Medapafa (Mewar) about A. D. 810-830. The list of the names of the 

1 OodH-nama, Trans, by Mirza Kalich Beg Fred unbeg, p. 143, Elliot, I, 122 ff. 

t Annals of Rajasthan, Tod, ed. Crook, I, 284, 201ff. 

I Bist. of BajptUana, 11, 420. 
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dynasties, who joined this struggle, as has been narrated in the KhummAr^a-Rdso, 

is faulty. Many of these dynasties came into existence hmg after that incident. 

But if the above report proves to be historic it will not be unreasonable to 

assume that a confederacy was made by the Guhila king with other Indian 

princes to oppose the Arabs. 

KhummOrpa-Rdso's report has not been taken very seriously by the 

scholars. It does not find place in the standard book of Indian history. This 

is because the work is of late date. 

Rajasekharasuri wrote his Prabandhakora^ in V. S. 1405=A. D. 1348. 

The work gives the genealogy of the kings of the Cah.amana family of Sakambhari. 

It states that there was the king Vasudeva, who was ruling in (V. S.) 608= 

A. D. 551. The sixth king was Govindaraja and the thirteenth king was 

Gandu, who defeated the Sultan Mahamad (Mahmud). Gandu is identified 

with Govindaraja II, whose father Durlabharaja was ruling in 999 A. D.® As 

there were only two kings of the name Govindaraja II in this branch of the 

Cahamana line, Govindaraja mentioned as the sixth king of the branch by the 

Prabandhakos’a is to be identified with Govindaraja I, also known as Guvaka I 

son of Durlabharaja I. Govindaraja I alias Guvaka I was a feudatory under 

the Pratihara Nagabha^a II (c. 800-836 A. D.)*’. The Praband/takoira^ states 

that Govindaraja (I) defeated the Sultan Vega Varisa. Though the 

Prabandhabos’a is a work of late date, this particular incident, recorded by it, 

finds indirect corroboration in a contemporary inscription. 

The Gwalior inscription* of the Pratihara Bhoja (A. D. 836*892) states that 

“of him (i.e. Nagabhat i II), whose mode of life was beneficial to all mankind, 

the incomprehensible royal qualities (like eloquence, statesmanship, etc.) became 

manifest in the world, even from boyhood, by his^forcible seizure of the hill 

forts of the kings of Anarta,Malava, Kirata, Turuska, Vatsa, and Matsya". 

Dr, R. C. Majumdar ^u^gests that the Turuskas, referred to, were either the 

Arabs or the Turuska army under the commands of the Arabs®. The above 

inscription thus establishes that during the reign of Nagabhata II i, e, sometime 

between A. D. 800 and 836, there was a clash between the Pratiharas and the 

Arabs of Sind. 

As the kingdom of S^akambharl lay on the border of the kingdom of the 

Arabs of Sind it is highly probable that the Cahamana Govinda I participated 

4 Btvori* on Santkr^ Manuooripti in Southern India, by Halt«sch, No. Ill, p. 114. 

3 Ray's Dynaetio History, 11, p. 1137. 
6 Ibid, p. 1062. 
7 Bop, Sans. Mss, by Hultsscb III, p, 114, 

8 a.i., XVllI. p, m 
9 Arsi Ipuation of 8M, 
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in the battle between his master Nagabhata II and the Arabs. Thus the report 

of the Prabandhahos^a that Govindaraja I fought with the Moslems may be 

accepted as true. 

The Prabandhakos'a^^ states that Govindaraja’s adversary was the Sultan 

Vega Varisa. The A1 Biladuri^^ tells us that Bashar, son of Daud, was the 

governor of Sind under the Khalifat Ma’mun (A. D. 813-833). This Bashar 

might have been described by Rajasekharasuri in the fifteenth century as the 

Sultan Vega Varisa. 

Khutnmana-Rdso*s report that the Guhila Khommana II in alliance with 

some princes of India repulsed an attack of the army of the Caliph Mamun, 

when the latter invaded Chitor, may be taken as to have referred to the same 

incident as has been mentioned by the Prabandhakos'a and the Gwalior 

inscription of Bhoja. If this suggestion proves to be true it may be summarised 

that sometime between A. D. 813 and 833 Bashar, the governor of Sind under the 

Caliph Ma’mun, invaded Chitor. The then king of Chitor, the Guhila Khommana II, 

formed a confederacy with the Pratihara Nagabhata II, the Cahamana 

Govindaraj i I, and some other Indian princes to put a check to the progress 

of the Arabs. The allied army succeeded in repulsing Bashar and his forces. 

The Kalacuri Kokkalla I, king of Tripuri, was born sometime before 816 

A. D., and continued to rule after 878 A. xhe Amoda plates^^, dated 

K. E. 831 = A. D. 1080, state that Kokkalla “raided the treasuries of the 

Karnata, Vahga, Gurjara, Kohkana and S'akambhari kings, and those born 

of the Turuska and Raghu families. It is thus evident that Kokkalla came into 

a conflict with the Moslems. It may be that he also joined the confederacy 

formed by Khommana II against the Arabs under Bashar. 

We thus find that in course of a little more than hundred years from 

A. D. 725 to A. D. 836 the Arabs of Sind made two attempts to establish 

their sway in Rajputana. On the first occasion their endeavour was frustrated 

by Nagabhata I, Yasovarman, and Pulikesin Janasraya. On the second occasion 

their object was baffled by the combined efforts of the Pratihara Nagabhata II, 

the Cahamana Govindaraja I, the Guhila Khommana II, and the Kalacuri 

Kokkalla I. 

10 Hultzsch, R. 8. 3fss, III. 114. Govindarajah-Suratrana-Vega-Varisa-aamao jeta« 

11 Elliot. I. 128. 

12 Author’s •*Early History oj the Katacuris of I. H .Q., XIII, 482ff. 

13 XIX, 75. 
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THE ORIGIN OF THE KAKATIYAS. 

Dr. M. Rama RaOt M. A., Ph. D., Hindu College, Guntur. 

The origin of the Kakatiyas is a very important but baffling question. 

Though the sources of Kakatiya history contain certain clues for the solution 

of this problem, the evidence furnished by them is varying and often inconsistent. 

The problem involves several minor questions, e. g., who were the Kakatiyas ? 

why were they so called ? when do they enter the limelight of history ? The 

answers for these questions form the cumulative basis for the solution of this 

major problem. 

Why were the Kakatiyas so called ? Some of the sources contain t«vo 

answers to this question. Kumarasvami S6mayajin, the learned commentator 

of Vidyanatha’s Prataparudriya, explains that the goddess Durga under the 

name of Kakati was the tutelary deity of the lords of the town of Ekalila and 

that because she was the object of their worship, they were known as the 

Kakatiyas. This view is supported by Vidyanatha himself who says that Pratapa* 

rudradSva worshipped Durga, his kuladSvatd, before starting on his digvijaya} 

This explanation is not satisfactory. It was not Kakati alone that was the 

kuladevatd of the Kakatiyas. The Prataparudriya itself states that Svayambhudeva 

was also the tutelary deity of this royal family.* The monarchs too styled 

themselves “Svayambhudeva-divya sripadapadmaradhakas” or “the worshippers 

of the glorious feet of god Svayambhudeva".® The second explanation 

of the name Kakatiya is contained in the Kaluvacheru grant of Anitalli,^ dated 

in the fifteenth century. It is mentioned therein that by the grace of the great 

S^akti called Kakati,^ a Ku§manda creeper begot a son and that his family 

came to be known by the name Kakati. This story is obviously unreliable and 

may be dismissed as a mere myth. It is possible, however, to determine the 

origin of the Kakatiyas by other means. 

The evolution of the dynastic name of the Kakatiyas through various 

forms, affords another clue. Inscriptions and literature contain the following 

forms which deserve careful consideration— 

1 See the appendix of my Kikattya Samchikka. p. t. 

2 Ibid. 

3 Tel. Ina Kak., no., SO. p. 32., line 3. 

4 Jour. Tel. Ac., Vol. I., no. 2, 
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Kakati 

. 1 

Other forms ! 1 Kakatiya 

Kakatindra^ Kakitesa^ Kakatiya Narendra^ 

KSkati^^ ‘ Kakati Rudramba® Kakatiya kula^® 

K3kati-vallabha^ ^ Kakatya-Narendra’® Kakatiya pura*® 

Kakatisvara*^ Kakatiya Rudra^® Kakatiya Rudra^® 

Kakati-raja^^ Kakatiyya Rudra** 1 Kakatiya Ganapati'® 

Several conclusions may be drawn from the lists of words mentioned 

above—(1) The words Kakati and Kakatlya were both used to denote the same 

dynasty and appear, therefore, to be synonymous. (2) They appear both as a 

dynastic name and as a prefix to the names of individual rulers. (3) The word 

Kakatiya seems to have been evolved from Kakati through the intermediary 

forms of Kakatti, Kakita, Kakatya and Kakatiyya. It is evident from this that 

the Kakatiyas were also known as Kakatis. 

Why were the Kakatiyas called the Kakatis ? The earliest mention of 

the word “Kakati** is to be found in the famous grammar of Panini,^^ in which 

it figures as the name of an Ayudhajivika-gana called Kagandi, belonging to the 

Damanyadi group. Among the early inscriptions of Mathura, there is a 

reference to a monastery called the Kakati-kula-vihara,^^ which, obviously, 

5 Vidyaoatha—Prataparudriya—Nayakaprakarana, verse 32. 

6 Kak, Sam. App., p. 16., verse 56. 

7 Ibid. p. 2. 

S Hyd. Arch. Ser., no. 3., Palampet inscription, verse 24. 

9 Ibid, verse 43. 

10 Ibid. 

11 Ibid, verse 11. 

12 Ind. Ant., p. 257., Anamakonda Inscription, verses 5 and 6. 

13 Tek Ins. Kaka., no. 9. 

14 Prat&panidrtyamaMaprakarana, Act I, verse 20. 

15 Kak. Sam. App., Ins. no. 34, lines 4 and 5 . 

16 Ibid. Act V, verse 22. 

17 TeL Ins. Kak., no. 37, lines 2-3 

18 Ibid, no. 28. lines 5^7. 

19 Kak» Sam. App., Ins., no. 32. 

aO V-3-116. 

81 Bp. M., 1. p. 389. 
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belonged to a sect of Buddhist monks known as the Kakatis. This name bears 

such a close resemblance to the name of the Kagandis, mentioned above, 

that the Kakatis may be identified with the Kagandis. It is likely that they 

embraced Buddhism subsequently and formed a separate sect by themselves. 

This identification is supported by the names of a number of villages 

in the Andhra country and its neighbourhood which bear close resemblance to 

the two names under consideration. 

The following village names^* are instances to the point— 

Village. Taluk. District. 

Kagandiyapalli Kudla Ganjam 

Kakadaba^i Balliguda Ganjam 

Kagita Satuliir Vizagapatam 

Kakitara Guntur 17 

Kakitaraguda $7 77 

Kakadaguda Malkanagiri 77 

Kakadagu^ Patwa 77 

Kakarada Ch6davaram East Godavary 

Kakuru 17 

Kakitagondi Ellavaram 
1 

77 

1 

Kakandinada ^ Cocanada 77 

Kakitaramachandrapuram Nandigama Krishna 

Kakandi Guntur Guntur 

Kagativanicheruvu Punganoor Chittoor 
1 

Kekati Madakasira Anantapur 

Kakatapallika S'rikurmam Vizagapatam 

22 See Alphabetical liat of villages in the Madras Presidency. 

23 S. 1.1., V., a«. 1170. 
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The names mentioned above, which are obviously derived from the two 

forms Kakati (Cf. nos. 5, 6, 11 and 13) and Kagandi, (Cf. nos. 1 and 2) 

indicate the evolution of the former form from the latter, through the 

intermediary forms of Kagada, Kagida and Kakita. It may be supposed that 

all these places derived their names from the tribe of the Kagandis or Kakatis. 

Evidently, they lived in many parts of the Dekkan and south India and 

built many villages in them known after their own tribal name. It may be 

concluded therefore, that the celebrated Kakatiya monarchs, who were also 

known as Kakatis, as shown above, were the descendants of the ancient tribe 

of the Kagandis. 

Inscriptions of the 11th, 12th, and 13th centuries mention a Kakatipura 

and associate the Kakatiyas with it. One of the Kazipet inscriptions 

states that Beta I, the earliest known Kakatiya king, was the “Lord of 

Kakatipura.” Rudradeva, the celebrated ruler of this dynasty, had the title 

“Kakati-pura-varesvara” or “Lord of Kakatipiira.**^^ His illustrious nephew, 

Ganapatideva, is described as the “Lord of Kakatiyapura.”^^^ Ganapatideva’s 

daughter, Rudramba, too, had the title “Lord of Kakatipura.”^^ Rudradeva 

ruled originally from Anamakonda and later on made Warangal his collateral 

capital. Ganapatideva, on the other hand, used Anamakonda as his capital 

for a long time but shifted permanently to Warangal towards the close of his 

reign. Under Rudramba, therefore, Warangal continued to be the capital 

and Anamakonda lost its importance for ever. It is not known if either of 

these two towns were called by any other name connected with the Kakatiyas. 

The names Kakatipura and Kakatiyapura have, however, to be explained. Their 

significance may be inferred from the history of another title “Anamakonda- 

pura-varesvara” or “Lord of the city of Anamakonda”, borne by all the 

Kakatiya rulers. Its assumption by all the rulers excepting the last two, 

seems to be justifiable, for, they all ruled from Anamakonda while the last two 

Kakatiya monarchs had Warangal for their capital. Obviously, this title 

became hereditary in the Kakatiya family and was continued down to the 

time of its extinction, in honour of the earlier capital Anamakonda. It may 

be supposed that in the same way the two other titles Kakatipuravaradhisvara 

and Kakatiyapuravaradhisvara, were the traditional titles of the Kakatiya 

family, indicative of its residence in a town called Kakatipura or Kakatiyapura. 

This view is supported by an inscription from Tripurantakam^® which mentions 

that Kakati was the Kulapura or ancestral town of the Kakatiyas. Thus, it 

24 Kak. Sam. App,, Ins. no. 1. 

25 Ibid, no. 12. 

26 Ibid, no. 26, lines 24—25. 

^ 27 Ibid, no. 29, lines 1-^3. 

'28 M. £. R., no. 204 of 1905. 
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is evident that the Kakatiyas were originally residents of a town called Kakati. 

It this fact is taken along with two others, viz., that the Kakatiyas were also 

known as the Kakatis and that it is a common practice to derive surnames 

trom habitats, it follows that the Kakatiyas derived their name from 

Kakatipura. The Garavapadu plates of the time of Ga^apatideva®® support 

this inference by stating that once, wandering in search of game, Karikala 

Choladeva visited a town named Kakati and pitched his camp there; that in 

his family was born Durjaya, the 'invincible in war* and that after the latter 

his descendants came to be called the "Kakati kings.” Karikala also figures 

in many other records of Ganapatideva’s time and not in those of his 

predecessors. No other source mentions any blood relation between the 

Kakatiyas and the Cbojas. It seems, therefore, that like the names of many 

other ancestors, that of Karikala was added to the genealogy of the Kakatiyas 

in order to glorify Ganapatideva and his family and that this addition does not 

carry any historical value. Durjaya, the other ancestor of the Kakatiyas, is 

also referred to, as such, in many early records of the Kakatiya dynasty as 

well as the inscriptions of numerous Andhra ruling families of this period.®® 

One fact of outstanding importance contained in the Garavapadu plates is 

that the Kakatis or Kakatiyas derived their dynastic name from a town 

called Kakatipura, wherein they lived for some time. 

Two different conclusions have been derived so far with regard to the 

origin of the Kakatiyas, viz., that they were the descendants of a tribe called 

Kagandi or Kakati and that their dynastic name was derived from a town 

called Kakati. The apparent paradox between these statements may be 

explained by supposing that this Kakatipura was built by the Kagandis and that 

after some time their descendants hailed from it as the Kakatis or Kakatiyas. 

One of the Kaziptet inscriptions of the time of the Kakatiya king Beta II 

throws further ligh\ on the problem of Kakatiya origin. It ascribes to 

Beta I, the earliest known Kakatiya king, a curious epithet “Samanta-vi^ti- 

vam^h*'^^ which means that Beta I belonged to a feudatory family called 

'Vistr. This word denotes a subordinate or servant and taken with the 

preceding word Samanta, it means a family of subordinates which was 

ennobled and raised to the status of a feudatory family. From this it is 

evident that the Kakatiyas were originally the ordinary subordinates of some 

chief or the other and that subsequently they found good fortune and were 

elevated to the rank of a feudatory family. 

29 Ep. Ind., XVIIL, pp. 344^396. 
30 Cf. the g«ae»logtw of the KAfa ud Katavadi mlon. 
31 While poblishiog the text of thie inscription in my Kak. Sam. kpp., p. 29., ln«. 06.1., 

1 have rendered this portion as *’Samanta>Tiatiwadah’*. Bnt on reeoneidemtion t ind 
tbetH rends as'‘Semsnta-vistl'vnndih”. 
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Some more interesting information is derived from a grant of the time of 

the Eastern Chalukyan king Ammaraja II.®* It mentions a certain 

Gu^dyanSrya, who was the son of Errayarastrakuta and grandson of 

Gu^^^yarastraku^a and who was also known as KAkartya Gur]4yana. It is 

also said that this Gundyana was a powerful subordinate and feudatory of 

Ammaraja and seems to have been governing the Natavadi district. This 

information is of immense significance to the origin of the Kakatlyas and 

raises many important questions, viz., who was this Gundyana and to what 

family did he belong ? what is the significance of his second name Rakartya 

Gundyana ? why was it assumed by him ? why is the suffix rastrakuta, 

added to the names of his father and grandfather, dropped in his case? 

One fact, which is evident from the grant under consideration, is that 

the two ancestors of Gundyana were rastrakutas. It is a matter of 

common knowledge that the rastrakuta figures in many of the copper-plate 

grants, as the executor of royal grants. Numerous inscriptions in the Andhra 

country equate this rastrakuta with the Rattadi or the village headman and 

mention his office as Rastrakutam or Rattadikamu.®® I believe, therefore, 

that Gundaya and Erraya, the grandfather and father respectively, of 

Gundyana, were village headmen under the Eastern Chajukyas in the Natavadi 

vikya. The next question that has to be disposed of is that of the reason for the 

dropping of the suffix rastrakuta in the name ’of Gundyana and his adoption 

instead, of the surname Kakartya. This chieftain appears to have been very 

powerful and influential and ceased, obviously, to be a mere village headman 

like his two ancestors. The higher status that he was enjoying explains the 

dropping of the suffix after his name. The addition of the prefix Kakartya, 

before his name, on the other hand, is a matter of much significance. In the 

first place, it stands to Gundyana's name exactly as the words Kakati and 

Kakatiya do in the names of the well-known Kakatiya kings, e. g., Kakati 

Rudradeva, Kakati Rudramba, Kakatiya Ganapatideva. It looks, as such, 

beyond any doubt, as a surname. Secondly, it agrees perfectly with the form 

Kakatya, which occurs in the Anamakonda inscription of Rudradeva and which 

stands for the Kakatiya dynasty.®* In the third place, it is the earliest known 

instance of Kakatya or Kakatiya occurring as a surname. For these reasons, 

I identify Gundyana as a Kakatiya. This identification is supported by other 

facts of KSkatiya history. Beta I, the first known king of the Kakatiya 

dynasty, flourished in the first half of the tenth century.®® Gundyana was a 

feudatory of Ammaraja II, who reigned between 945 and 973 A. D. It is evident 

33 M. B. R., 1917, c. p. no. 1 of 1916—17. 
35 S. 1.1., V., 00.1134. 

34 lad. Ant., XXI, p. 3S7, linos 31-23. 
33 See my Kak. Sam., p# 109* 
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from this that Gundyana belonged to the generation that immediately preceded 

that of Beta I. Thus we have in the middle of the tenth century a chieftain 

who calls himself a Rakitya, immediately followed in the next generation by 

the first Kakatlya king. This is, therefore, proof positive of the fact that 

Gundyana is the first known Kakatiya. 

How was the family of Gundyana elevated to the feudatory rank ? 

Contemporary history of the Eastern Chalukyan dynasty helps us to answer 

this question. Amraaraja II, the suzerain of Gundyana, was preceded by 

Yuddhamalla H (927-34) and Chajukya Bhima II respectively. There was 

regular civil war in the country between these two predecessors of Ammaraja 

for the possession of the Vengi throne. There was great confusion in the 

country during this period and it -is said that the feudatories and officials of 

the Rastrakuta king apportioned the country among themselves and added to 

the chaos of the time.^® This tumultuous period of Yuddhamalla’s reign was 

followed by the peaceful rule of Chalukya Bhima II, which lasted for twelve 

years. I believe that being a valiant fighter, Gundyana took advantage of the 

confusion that prevailed in the reign of Yuddhamalla, made some conquests on 

his own initiative and carved out for himself a small principality. He must 

have consolidated his new position in the time of Chabkya Bhima and called 

himself a Samanta. 

In view of the discussion pursued above, I conclude that the Kakatiyas 

were the descendants of the ancient tribe of Kagandis which once inhabited 

sevaral parts of the Andhra country. This tribe built a town called Kakatipura 

and instituted in it its tribal goddess also named Kakati. Subsequently, they 

migrated into the Eastern Chalukyan kingdom and rose to the position of 

village headmen in the tenth century. They found good fortune under 

Gundyana and obtained the status of feudatories. In the next generation, when 

again the Vengi kin|[dom was undermined by disorder and confusion,®^ the 

Kagandis or Kakatis emerged as an independent ruling family under the lead 

of Beta I. 

36 B. V, Krishna Rao: History of Rajahmundry in J. A. H. R. S., Ill, pp. 163-164. 

37 The reign of Ammarilja II ended with a civil war between him and Badapa and this 

war brought in terrible confusion in the Vengi Country. 
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BENGAL AND THE RAJPUTS 

Dr. Dines Chandra Sircar, M.A, Ph.D., Department of Ancient Indian 

History and Culture, Calcutta University. 

Mahdrdjddhirdja Gopacandra and some other Bengal kings of the sixth 

century A.D. were very powerful monarchs ruling over extensive territories. 
Their political relations with other parts of India are however as yet unknown. 

Bengal appears to have been a prominent factor in Indian politics first under 
Sa^nka in the first quarter of the seventh century A.D. Sa^nka had his 
capital at Karnasuvarna, near modern Murshidabad, and his kingdom 

comprised large portions of Bengal and Orissa. He formed an alliance with 
the later Guptas of Malwa against the Maukharis of Madhyadesa. The signal 
success of this alliance was responsible for a counter-alliance between king 
Harsavardhana ( 606-647 A.D. ) of Thanesar, a relative and friend of the 
Maukharis and king Bhaskaravarman of Kamarlipa. Whatever be the value of 
the Aryamanjus'rlmUlakalpa tradition regarding Sa^nka’s defeat by Har§a 

in a battle near Pundravardhana ( modern Mahasthan in Bogra District), the 
success of the counter-alliance is proved by epigraphic evidence. The Nidhanpur 

grant of Bhaskaravarman was issued from Karnasuvarna itself. In the period 
between the death of Sisanka about the end of the first quarter of the seventh 
century and the rise of the Palas about the middle of the eighth century A.D., 

the history of Bengal is obscure. Some scholars think that the country was 
divided into several small principalities; that the military prestige of the 
disunited Bengalis sank low; and that powerful kings from other parts of India 

became encouraged to lead expeditions against the unfortunate land. This 

however seems to be an exaggerated account of the condition of Bengal during 
the period of about 125 years that intervened between Sasahka and the Palas. 

There are reasons to believe that the period of mdtsya^nydya referred to in the 

Khalimpur grant cf Dharmapala and in Taranatha’s work as prevailing in 
Bengal before the accession of Gopala, lasted for a few years only. According 

to Vakpatiraja’s Gau(la-vaho^ king Yasovarman of Kanauj who is known to 

have sent an embassy to the Chinese court in 731 A.D., met the king of Gauda, 
sometimes also called the lord of Magadha, not far from the Vindhyan region 

and defeated him. He is also said to have pursued and killed him, and after¬ 

wards comp>elled the king of Vahgo to acknowledge his suzerainty. This shows 
that in the early half of the eighth century Gauda and Magadha were under the 

rule of one king and that kings of Gauda-Magadha sometimes went on digvijaya. 
Whatever be the historical value of the traditions regarding the Bengal 

expeditions of Lalitaditya and Vinayaditya of Kasmir as recorded in Kalhana's 

25 
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RHjatariiglrpl, Kaihana seems to support the above fact when he says that 

Pundravardhana was a dependancy of the Gauda kingdom. The ruler of Vahga 

at the time of Yasovarman mt^y have been a later Khadga prince, dependent 

on the king of Gauda-Magadha. The claims of Lalitaditya and Vina>aditya and 

of the Kamarupa king Har§a or Harisa (first half of eighth century) who is 

called lord of Gauda, O^ra, Kalihga, Ko^la and other lands, are too vague to 

attach any special importance to. The Saiia prince Srivardhana who was a 

Vindhyesvara, according to the Ragholi grant of his brother’s grandson, 

conquered the country of Pundra alter destroying its ruler. Palaeography seems 

to show that he was a contemporary of Yasovarman. It is not impossible that 

he was a feudatory of the Kanauj king and came to northern Bengal with the 

latter’s arm}'. The ruler of Pundra may have been a feudatory of the king of 

Gauda-Magadha killed by Yasovarman. 

About the middle of the eighth century, Gopala, son of a valiant warrior 

who killed many enemies and may have been a military officer of some king, 

was made king in order to end the mdtsya-nydya that was prevailing at that time. 

Evidently Gopala thus received only a small principality; but thanks to the 

ability of himself and of his son Dharmapala, the Pala kingdom soon swallowed 

many of the states of Bengal and Bihar. The principality of which Gopala 

was first made king is difficult to identify. Verse 2 of the Badal pras'dsti seems 

to show that Dhaimapala was originally a king of the eastern direction, but 

afterwards became king of all the directions. Verse 3 of the Munghyr grant 

of Devapala may suggest that Gopala’s kingdom lay not far from the sea. The 

Sagartal inscription refers to the supporter of Cakrayudha, who is no other than 

Dharmapala, as Vangapati. The Baroda grant of Karkaraja refers to Gurjara 

victory over a Gaudendra and a Vangapati. The Chatsu record refers to the 

victory of a feudatory of Bhoja 1 over a Gauda king named Bha^a who was 

evidently not a Pala. ^These facts may possibly suggest that the Palas rose to 

power in Vahga, and soon subjugated the neighbouring principalities including 

Gauda. But they were possibly called lords of Gaut^a when they removed their 

capital to that region, after the extinction of the royal line represented by Bha^a. 

This seems to be the cause why after more than three centuries Varendii was 

described as janakabhu of the later Palas. Bengal became a prominent factor 

in all-India politics under Dharmapala. 

The so-called trilateral struggle amongst the Palas of Bengal, the 

Pratiharas of Rajpiitana and Kanauj and the Rastraku^as of the Deccan is 

generally represented by scholars as one for the possession of Kanauj which is 

supposed to have acquired the political prestige of the capital of northern India 

comparable to that of Delhi in later times. The above hypothesis however 

4oes not appear to be an established fact. The Pratiharas and the Rg^frakfitas 
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ere inveterate enemies from about the beginning of their political existence. 

They had been fighting even when the former did not establish themselves at 

Kanauj. The Palas and the Pratiharas appear to have drawn swords for two 

rival claimants for the throne of Kanauj, Indrayudha and Cakrayudha who 

might have been brothers. Some time before A. D. 783 Indrayudha occupied 

the throne and Cakrayudha possibly repaired to Dharmapala’s court for help. 

After some time, Dharmapaia defeated Indraraja (Indrayudha) and other 

enemies who must have been the Kanauj king’s allies, and thus possessed the 

s'rl or rdja4akstnl of Mahodaya or Kanauj, which he however handed over to 

Cakrayudha. It may be significant that Dharamapala himself did not transfer 

his capital to Kanauj. It is also interesting that in this connection the ruler of 

Avanti, among others, is siid to have readily accepted Cakrayudha as the king 

of Kanauj. This seems to suggest that the king of Avanti was related to the 

Kanauj king either as a friend or as an enemv. If we believe the Jain Harivams'a 

tradition that in 783 A, 1). Pratihan Vattaraja was ruling the eastern country 

as avanti-hhubliTt, it may be suggested that the Pratiharas of Rajpiitana 

for a time conquered the Malwa region. The Wani grant of the Rastrakutas 

says that Vatsaraja possessed two white umbrellas belonging to Gaudi, i. e., the 

Gaudi king who at the time of Gopala and Dharmapaia could have been no 

more than a subordinate ally of the Pahas. This grant also says that Vatsaraja 

was intoxicated owing to his easy poss.^ssion of tin kamald or rdja4aksml of 

the Gauda kingdom. The Baroda grant of Kirkaraja, dated A. D. 811 or 812, 

refers to the defeat of a Gaud^ndr r and a Vanga-pati by a Gurjares'vara who 

may be Vatsaraja himself or his son Nagibhita If. These facts may possibly 

prove that Pratihara Vatasaraja was a friend of Indrayudha and fought against 

Dharmapaia as the Kanauj king’s ally. It may further be conjectured that 

Indrayudha defeated his rival and occupied the throne of Kanauj with 

Vatsaraja’s help. 

Now Vatsaraja was defeated by the Rastrakuta king Dhruva Dharavarsa 

who was living in 783 A. D. and is mentioned in the Jain Harivams^a as 

Sfrivallabha son of Krsna, There is no definite proof to show that Dhruva was 

an ally of anyi of the rival claimants for the Kanauj throne. Dharmapala’s 

victory over Indrayudha and the installation of Cakrayudha on the throne of 

Kanauj appear to have taken place after the discomfiture of Vatsaraja, 

Indravudha’s friend, at the hands of Dhruva. The table was however turned 

at the time of Vatsataja’s son and successor Nagabhata II. According to the 

Sagartal inscription, Nagabhata defeated Cakrayudha whose lowly denieuier 

was shown by his dependence on others (or on the enemies of Nagibh<ti) and 

also the king of Vanga, who is evidently Dharmapaia, the supporter of 

CakrSyudha, According to the evideace of the Radhanpur and Sanjan grtqts, 
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Ra§t''»kuta Govinda III, son and successor of Dhruva, defeated the Gurjara 

king Nagabha^a and possibly also the latter’s father Vatsaraja. In connection 

with Govinda’s digvijaya, he is said to have advanced as far as the Himalayas 

where Dharma (king Dharmapala) and Cakrayudha surrendered to him of 

their own accord. It is possible that after the defeat of their army at the hands 

of Nagabhata, Dharmapala and Cakrayudha tried to win over the help of the 

powerful Rastrakuta king of the Deccan. But whether Govinda III helped 

them as an inveterate enemy of the Pratiharas, or whether his activities against 

Nagabhata were independent of the struggle between the Palas and the 

Pratiharas is not quite clear. Dharmapala is however known to have married 

the daughter of a Rastrakuta and he may have secured Govinda’s help through 

his wife’s relatives. Evidence of the Barah grant of Bhoja and of the 

Prabhdvakacarita which refers to the death of Nagavaloka (Nagabhata II), 

king of Kanyakubja, in Vikrama 890=A. D. 833 prove the Pralihara occupation 

of Kanauj, which possibly occurred after the death of Govinda HI. The line 

of Indrayudha, who was friend of the Pratiharas, may have been extinct by 

this time. 

But the struggle between the Palas and the Pratiharas continued. 

According to the Badal inscription, Devapala, son and successor of Dharmapala, 

reduced the conceit of the Dravida and Gurjara kings. It is difficult to determine 

Devapala’s relations with the king of Dravida i.e., the Tamil country ; but the 

Dravidas cannot possibly be identified with the Rastrakiitas who were Karnata. 

According to the Sifur and Nilgund records, Rastrakiita Govinda III fettered 

the Gaudas, and his son Atnoghavarsa I was worshipped by the rulers of Anga, 

Vanga and Magadha. Some scholars think that the expression vafiga-dhga- 

magadha refers to the kingdom of the Palas ; but it is also possible to suggest 

that it signifies the Pgla king and his sHmantas in Anga and Magadha. 

According to the evidence of Pratihara records discovered in Bihar, the Palas 

during possibly the later years of Devapala lost much of Anga and Magadha to 

the Pratihara king Bhoja, grandson of Nagabhata II, and Mahendrapala, son 

of Bhoja. The discovery of the Paharpur inscription shows that Mahendrapala’s 

dominions extended over large portions if not the whole of northern Bengal. 

Bhoja’s success against Devapala is possibly suggested by verse 18 of the 

Sagartal inscription which according to Dr. R. C. Majumdar says that the 

rdja-lakfml of Dharraa’s apatya (». e., Dharmpala’s son, Devapala) was 

remarried to Bhoja Pratihara. Bhoja’s feudatory Kakka Pratihara claims to 

have fought with the army of his overlord against the Gaudas in a battle at 

Mudgagiri (Munghyr) which is known to have been a jaya-akandhdvdrj of the 

Palas. Gunambhodhi or Gunasagara I belonging to the Gorakhpur branch of 

the Kalacuri family was another feudatory of Bhoja. In the Kalha record, 
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Gunambhodhi is said to have stolen the fortune of!the Gaudas. Another 

feudatory of Bhoja appears to have been Uhe Guhila prince Bankaragana. 

According to the Chatsu inscription (Bhandarkar’s List, No. 1537), S>ahkaragana 

who received some territories from Bhoj ideva defeated Bhata, king of Gauda 

(cf. bhatam jitvd gau(}a-ksitipam, v. 14), and his grandson Guhila vanquished 

the Gauda king. These princes appear to have been feudatories of Pratihara 

Bhoja, while Bhata was possibly a sdmanta of the Pala kings. 

The Kalacuris of Dahala had intimate relations with the Palas. King 

Kokkalla who ruled in the last quarter of the ninth and the first quarter of the 

tenth century is said to have defeated a king of Vanga. His son-in-law the 

Rastrakuta king Krsna II (c. 877-913) has been represented as gauddndm 

vinaya-vrai-drpana-guru and as worshipped by the rulers of Anga and Magadha. 

It is possible that the early Kalacuris of Dahala were allies of the Rastrakutas 

and that Kokkalla actually fought against a Pala king with the army of his 

son-in-law. It is interesting to note that Vigrahapala I who succeeded Devapala 

and possibly ruled in the third quarter of the ninth century married a Haihaya 

or Kalacuri princess. The princess may have been related to Kokkalla*s family. 

At the time of Krsna II Rastrakuta, however, Anga and Magadha were possibly 

ruled by representatives of the Pratihara kings of Kanauj. It may be noted in 

this connection that a Calukya feudatory of Indra III Rastrakuta (c. 913-22) 

claims to have defeated the Pratihara king Mahipala, and to have pursued him 

up to the place where the Ganges meets the sea. Anga and Magadha may 

have been recovered by the Palas after this discomfiture of the Pratiharas. 

Kalacuri Yuvaraja I Keyiiravarsa, grandson of Kokkalla and father-in-law of 

Rastrakuta Amoghavar^ III Vaddiga (c. 933-40), is said to have fulfilled the 

ardent desire of the minds of Gauda women. Whether these two instances 

refer to a single expedition is not known. Contemporary Pala kings appear to 

have been Rajyapala (c. 911-35), Gopala II (c. 35-92), Vigrahapala II (c. 992) 

and Mahipala I (c. 992-1040). If traditions recorded by Abul Fazl Allami that 

the original name of Bengal was Bang^ that its former rulers raised mounds 

measuring ten yards in height and twenty in breadth throughout the province 

which were called A/, and that from this suffix the name Bengal took its rise 

and currency, are to be believed, Vanga and Vangala signified the same region 

(Jarrett's tr. of AlnA-Akbarl II, p. 120), The king of Vangala defeated by 

Laksmanaraja may have been an early Candra king of eastern Bengal. Early 

Candras were probably subordinate to the Palas. 

It is interesting that Candella Yasovarman also claims to have conquered 

Gauda sometime before 954 A. D. It is possible that in connection with the 

recovery of Anga and Magadha the Pala king Rajyapala or Gopala II led 

expeditions to the west ^nd had to fight with these western powers. It is also 
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interesting that some Bengalis probably served the Candella kings. Jaddha 

who served Dhah'^a (c. 950 1002) and Jayapala who was a Myastha under 

Jayavarraan (c. 1117) are called gaiKjIa though, it must be noted, sometimes 

that word is found to be a Sanskritised form of Gonda. The most significant 

fact regarding the settlement of Bengalis outside Bengal during the early 

medioeval period however appears to be the establishment of royal family from 

Bengal into South Kosala which was afterwards the seat of the Kalacuri Rajputs. 

According to the Jatesinga-Dungri inscription (Bhandarkar’s List, No. 1556), 

king Mahasivagupta I Yajatideva was lord of Trikalinga which he acquired 

through his arms. He is also called the full-moon in the sky of Vanga and is 

said to have seized Gauda and Radha. Whatever be the value of these claims, 

the fact that his family has been called vaftg^dnvaya has led Bhandarkar to 

suggest that the family of the king came from Vanga or eastern Bengal. The 

king possibly reigned about the eighth century. 

The Tirumalai inscription of Rajendra Coh refers to Mahipala I as king 

of Uttara Radha and to some other princes such as Ranasura of Daksina Radha 

and Govindacandra of Vangaladesa who were possibly feudatories of Mahipala. 

The Beghaura inscription dated in the third year of Mihipala’s reign, proves 

that Samatata (modern Comilla region), to the east of Vanga, formed a part 

of Mahipala’s kingdom. The Suras of South Radha are known to have been 

feudatories of the later Palas from the commentary of the Ramacarita of 

Sandhyakara Nandi. During the reign of Mahipala, Tirabhukti or North Bihar 

was conquered by Gangeyadeva, called Gaudadhvaja, before 1019 A.D. He 

is generally identified with the Kalacuri king of the same name (c. 1030-41). 

Mahipala was succeeded by Nayapala in whose time Kalacuri Karna 

(c. 1041-70), successor of Gangeya, attacked the Pala kingdom. The claims 

of Vigrahapala to have defeated Karna appears to prove that he was the leader 

of his father's armV against the Kalacuri king. Karna's attempts were 

unsuccessful. A kapdlasandhi ( peace on equal terms ) followed, and Karna's 

daughter Yauvanasrl was married to Vigrahapala. The Paikore pillar of Karna 

is witness to the Kalacuri king’s relation with Bengal. Karna’s other 

daughter Vlrasrl was married to Jatavarman, king of East Bengal. Jatavarman’s 

claim that he conquered Anga possibly shows that he helped his father-in-law 

against the raias. According to the Nagpur record of the Para maras, Karna 

allied himself with the Karnatas and conquered the earth. According to the 

Vikarmdhkadevacarita, VikramSditya VI ( 1076-1125 ), son of Someivara 

Ahavamalla ( 1042-68 ) defeated Gauda and Kamarupa. It is not possible to 

determine if Karna and Vikramaditya allied themselves in their eastern expedition. 

The later PSias appear to have had other enemies amongst the Rajputs, 

According to aKtradu inscription, the Kiradu Paramara UdayarSjai feudatory 
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of Solanki Jayasimha Siddharaja ( 1094-1144 ) spread his might in Gauda. The 

SukrtakTtikallolinl refers to Solanki Kumarapala’s ( 1144-73 ) claims to have 

been attended by the lords of Vahga, Gauda and Ahga. The earlier Solanki 

king Bhiraa I ( c. 1022-64 ) claims to have received presents from the king of 

Pundrade^ who may have been governor of North Bengal under the Pala king 

Mahipala I, Paranaara Bhoja, as is claimed by Meruluhga, ruled Daksinapatha 

with Gauda ( c. 1010-55 ). Paramara Laksadeva ( c. 1090 ) who was a 

contemporary of Raraapala ( c. 1084-1126 ) is said to have entered the city 

of the lord of Gauda The historical value of these claims cannot be determined 

in the present state of our knowledge. But the relation of Bengal with the 

Paramara Rajputs is illustrated by the life of the poet and religious teacher 

Madana who was a Gauda Brahmana and became rdja-guru, i. e., preceptor 

of the Paramara king Arjunavannin (1211-15). .According to the Rahan 

grant of Gahadavala Madanapala ( 1100*14 ), prince Govindacandra vanquished 

the Gauda elephants. 

During the early mediaeval period when Bengal had to fight with many 

powers from different parts of India, many adventurers settled in Bengal. The 

Palas themselves were possibly outsiders. Of other dynasties settled in Bengal 

during this period, the most important are the Candras of Rohitagiri, the 

Varmans of Sirhhapura and the Senas of Karnata. I do not mention the 

Kambojas who are supposed to have become gauges'vara for some time before 

Mahipala I, as I have elsewhere suggested that there was possibly no Kamboja 

occupation of Bengal. Local Bengali chiefs had to fight hard with these non- 

Bengalis and as Prof. Raychaudhuri suggests to me the revolt of the Kaivarta 

leader Divya or Divvoka who snatched away Varendri or North Bengal from 

Mahipala II may possibly be represented as a struggle of the natives of Bengal 

with warrior clans coming from other parts of India. Divya and his brother’s 

son Bhima who succeeded him are actually known to have fought with 

Jatavarman and Vijayasena and with the Pala kings Mahipala II and Ramapala. 

The commentary of the Rdtnacarita mentions no less than fourteen sdmatUas 

who fought for Ramapala against the Kaivarta king Bhima. It is not possible to 

determine how many of these fudatories belonged to outside families settled in 

Bengal, Bihar and Orissa; but the reference to the help rendered by the king’s 

fptdtula Mathana or Mahana, the latter’s sons the Mahamandalikas Kanhuradeva 

and Suvarnadeva and brother’s son the Mahapratihara Siivarajadeva appears 

to show that the rebellion of Divya may have been the outcome of unpoiitically 

excessive favour shown to non-Bengali relatives of the king during the reign 

of the anltik-arambha^rata Mahipala II. And the case may not be quite 

different from that in Erigland during the reign of Henry III (1210-72). 

Mathana was probably the governor of Ahga and a field-maj;^h^^^ the Pala 
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army. He is said to have recovered the country by defeating the Pi^hipati or 

Magadhadhipa Devarak§ita who appears like Divya to have rebelled and become 

independent in Magadha. It is however not known if Divya and Devarak§ita 

were allies. _ _ 
A standstill in the brisk relation of Bengal with the Rajputs followed 

the Muslim occupation of Northern India, The relation was however revived at 

the time of the Mughal emperors Akbar and Jahangir. Rajput generals like 

Todarmal and Mansingh were sent to suppress the rebellions in Eastern India 

and Mansingh’s struggle with the socalled Bara-Bhunas is still remembered in 

Bengal. It is not only given in Muslim works like the Akbarndmah, but is also 

noticed in several early Bengali works, such as Bharatacandra’s Annaddmailgala, 

It is interesting to note in this connection that Isa Khan, one of the most 

prominent Bhunas, whom Mansingh had to fight with, is traditionally known 

to have belonged to a Rajput family originally settled in Ayodhya. The struggle 

of the Bengali landlords with the Rajput general of the Mughals may however 

be the subject of a fine monograph. It cannot be attempted in a paper meant 

for a Conference like this. 

THE RISE OF THE HOYASALAS 

Sant Lai Katare, M. A. 

Robertson College, Jubbulpore. 

The Hoyasalas rose to power in the southern p.irt of the Deccan in the 

11th century and continued to reign, first as feudatories of the Cajukyas and 

then independently, till 1347 A. D,, when they were overthrown by the 

Mohammadans. 

ORIGIN.—lA keeping with the traditions of the time the Hoyasajas in 

their inscriptions claim a mythological origin for their family. They record 

that “from Brahma was Atri, from him Soma, from him Pururava, from him 

Ayu, from him Nahusa, from him Yayati, from him Yadu, in whose line was 

Sala.”‘ On the basis of these legends they style themselves as “Yadavakulatilaka”, 

“Yadava-kulambara-dyumani”, and “Dvaiavatipuravaradhisvara” i. e. "the 

boonlord of Dvaravati, the best of cities" and call themselves as K§atriyas* of 

the lunar race. The city of Dvaravati is to be identified with Dvaraka, the 

legendry city of the original seat of the Yadavas, which as the 

tradition goes was washed away by the sea. This mythological origin. cannot 

stand the test of historical criticism. Hence it is to be rejected. 

1 E. C., voL V, Bl. No, 58 ; No. 124 ; Ak. No. 71. 

2 Ibid, Ak. No, 62. 
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Sala is considered as the proginiter of the Hoyasala family and the 

following story with little variations is recorded about him in the inscriptions. 

The story runs that Sala was hunting in the Sahya mountains. At that time 

a Muni was performing his religious rites in the temple of the goddess 

Vasantika at S'asakapura. Suddenly a tiger appearei and the Muni called out 

‘‘strike Sala*’ (Poyasala). Sala immediately killed the tiger by a cane or rod 

and became Poyasala. An inscription states that the tiger was pursuing a hare 

and Sala killed the tiger at the bidding of the Muni. Other inscriptions record 

that the Muni wanted to test the bravery of Sala and one states that he 

wanted to give him a kingdom, pleased with him when he prostrated in 

devotion before him. The Yogi then was performing the necessary rites 

before Vasantikadevi to obtain a kingdom for Sala, when the goddess in the 

form of a tiger sprang upon him. At this the ascetic called out “strike Sala** 

(Poyasala) and Sala killed the tiger.^ As a result of this incident Sala adopted 

the name Poyasala which later on changed into Hoyasala. 

The slopes of the Sahya mountains are to be identified with the Western 

ghats and S^asakapura with the modern Angadi in the Mudgere taluka of the 

Kadur District of the Mysore State."^ The temple of Vasantikadevi is still 

represented by the temple of Vasantamma and enjoys great reverence and 

reputation among the people of that part of the country. Besides this, ruins 

of many temples can still be seen there,^ which clearly point to the fact that 

the place had a great religious significance in those days. 

The evidence quoted above clearly indicates that Sala was an adventurer 

and probably a hunter and lived in the hills of the western ghats, where also 

the town of Angadi has been located. The western ghats were occupied by 

the wild tribes known as the Bedaras and the Malepas in Indian History. 

They frequently led raids into the neighbouring country for stealing the cow^s 

and often they used ta outrage the modesty of young girls.^ Sala probably 

belonged to the hill-tribe known as the Malepas. This suggestion is further 

supported by the fact that the Hoyasalas adopted the title Maloprolganda 

‘champion among the Malepas’ and call themselves as the Raja of the Maleraja.^ 

SALA—Sala is often taken as a mythological personage by scholars, but 

the facts stated below clearly indicate that he was a real historical personage 

from whom the Hoyasalas claim their origin. There is yet another version of his 

3 E. C. vol., VI, Cm. No. 20, 137 ; vol. Ill, Md. No. I2l; vol. v, Bl. No. 171, 112, 74 ; Ak. 

No. 71, sa, 108 ; Hn. No. 65, 

4 Ibid., vol. VI, Mg. No, 9, 15,16. 18; latr., p. 14. 

5 Ibid., Intr., p. 14. 
6 Saletore : Wild Tribes in Indian History, p. 60 f, 79f. 

1 E. C., vol. I* p. II; Intr., p. 14. 
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rise. According to this Sala killed the tiger who was ravaging the country and 

killing the cows and because of this act he was permitted to collect an annual 

tax. With the help of this tix he is said to have collected a force and 
established his power at Sasikapura. 

The name Poyasala was conferred upon him by the Muni. Sala or 

Poyasala has been distinguished from the Hoyasala Nrpakama. Scholars are 

of opinion that Nypakama was the first historical personage of the family, but 

a close study of the inscriptions will reveal that Sala and Nrpakama are 

identical. An inscription of the Kongalava Rajendra Cola states that he 

marched against and defeated the base Poyasala in 1026 A. D.,® another 

inscription dated 1022 A. D. records that Kannama made war on Nrpakama- 

Poyasala,® while a third recoids that name as Nrpakama only.*® An inscription 

dated 1006 A. D. informs that a minister of the Poyasala was defeated.** Thus 

of these inscriptions, one records the mine Poyasala another Nrpakama and a 

third Nfpakama-Poyasala. On this evidence the conclusion that Poyasala and 

Nrpakama were the names of the same person is irresistible. Further on 

Vin lyaditya is called as the son of Sala and Nrpakama both. The Hosa-Kalyadi 

inscription dated 1162 A. D. states that Sala was the Son (atan-tanaya) of 

Nrpakama*^ and the Karugunda inscription dated 1159 A. D. records the same 

fact and gives him the title S^riman Mahamandalesvara.*® Another inscription 

dated 1162 A. D. at the same place records that Visnuvardhana was the son 

of the son of Nrpakama (atan-ta [na] yana taneyain)**. None of these 

inscriptions mention the name of Sala. They begin with the name of Nrpakama 

only. One inscription records that “from that Hoyasaja was born Vinayaditya.’’*® 

These inscriptions clearly indicate that Vinayaditya is called as the son of 

Nfpakama. But on the other hand there is sufficient evidence to show that 

Vinayaditya is also called as the son of Sala.*® One inscription even states that 

he was the eldest son,**^ while the other records that he was the son of Sala and 

the name of his wife was ^hilmidevi.*® 

The then political condition of India also helped the Hoyasalas in 

strengthening their position. The Cola Rajaraja the great defeated and 

8 E. C., vol. V, Mj. No, 76. 

9 Ibid., No. 43. 

10 Ibid., No. 44. 
11 Ibid., vol. HI, Tn. No. 44, 
12 Ibid., vol V, Ak. No. 157. 
13 Ibid., Ak. No. 141. 
14 Ibid., Ak, No. 142. 
15 M. A. S. R., 1923, p. 33. 
16 E.C., vol, IV, Ng. No.29. 

17 Ibid,, vol. V, Cm. No. 20. 

18 Ibid., vol. XII, TP. No. 42. 
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overthrew the GShgas. The downfall of a dynasty often results in a political 

chaos.^® The fall of the Gahgas gave the Hoyasala Nrpakama an opportunity 

to assert his power, but before they could do so they had to face the opposition 

of the Colas along with their feudatories, the Kongalavas. The Kaliyur 

inscription records the earliest known date for the Hoyasalas in the S'aka 929 

Parabhava S. Caitraba. 5, Adivara = 1006 A. The inscription further 

states that Apraineya, lord of the Kottainandala and a general of the Cola 

Rajarajadeva defeated the Hoyasala general Maganna and a battle was fought 

at Kalevur, near Talekad on the southern bank of the river Kaverl.^^ Apratneya 

won an overwhelming victory and the Hoyasala general Manjaga, Kaliga or ? 

Kali-Ganga, Nagavarmma and others were killed.22 It seems that the Hoyasala 

Nrpakama sent an expedition to raid the Cola territory, but it was driven away 

with much slaughter. The earliest known date for the Hoyasala Nrpakama is 

1006 A. D. The Kongalavas, who were the feudatories of the Colas, were also 

fighting against the Hoyasalas. Their principality comprised of a small 

territory between the rivers Kaveri and Heinavati.^^ The Hoyasalas in the 

beginning were also occupying a small strip of territory on the southern bank 

of the river Kaveri.Their interests were sure to clash. In 1022 A. D. the 

Cola-Kongalava Rajendra sent his general Kannama against the Hoyasala 

Nrpakama and a battle was fought between the two forces. Joggaya, a 

general of Nrpakama, attacked Kannama and pierced him, but he himself was 

killed in the action. Kannama ultimately seems to have been driven away.^^ In 

1026 A. D. the hostilities were again resumed. An in^^cription of the Kongalava 

Kajendra-Cola dated 1026 A. D. states that he attacked the base Poyasala, 

u e,9 Nrpakama and defeated him in a battle fought at Manni.^^ in 1027 A. D. 

Nrpakama was again attacked by a force sent probably by the Kongalava king 

and a battle was fought in which Maraja, son of Kaleyabba was killed.^^ 

The Uggihalli inscription dated in the 7th year of the reign of Nrpakama 

gives him the title Racamalla-Vermmadi,^^ a title often borne by the Ganga kings. 

His known dates from the inscriptions are 1006 and 1027 A. D., but one 

inscription may suggest 1040 A. 

19 K. A. N. Shastri : Colas voU, I. p. 
20 E. C., vol.. Ill, Tn. No. 44. 
21 H.I.S. I.,p. 57. 
28 E. C., Vol., III.Tn. No.44. 
23 Ibid., vol. V, Ag. No. 99; Intr., p. VII. 

24 Ibid., Vol. Ill, Tn. No. 44. 

25 E. C., vol. V, Mj. No, 43. 
26 Ibid., Ag. No.76. 
27 Ibid., Mj. No. 44. 

28 Ibid., vol. VI, Mg, No. 19. 

29 Ibid., Md. No. 18, 
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VINAYADITYA 

Sala Nrpakama Poyasala was succeeded by his son Vinayaditya sometime 

about 1040 A. D, From the testimony of a Sravana Belagola inscription it may 

be gleaned out that Vinayaditya was born at S^asakapura,^^ S^o^vur in the 

Mysore state.^^ His earliest known date as recorded in two inscriptions is S^aka 

569, Sarvajit S. Phalguna su. 3, Somavara== Monday, February 2, 1047 A. 

From this it may be tentatively suggested that Vinayaditya began his reign in 

about 1040 A. D. 

Vinayaditya is also known as Benayaditya,^^ Binayayta,®^ Vinayayta,®^ 

Vinayarkka^^* and Bittiga^^ in the inscriptions. He had the subordinate titles of 

the Mahamandalesvara^® and adopted the biruda Tribhuvanamalla^^ and 

Trailokyamalla.^^ He was also known as Vira Gahga Poyasala.^^ The name 

of his queen was Kaleyabbarasi."*^ She is styled as the chief queen. 

Sala Nrpakama had laid the foundations of the Hoyasala Empire. He 

had established his control over the modern Mudgere taluka of the Kadur 

District of the Mysore Slate in spite of constant Cola Konagalava opposition. 

It was for his successors to preserve and expand what they had inherited. 

A brief survey of the political condition of the Deccan is necessary before 

giving the details of further Hoyasala expansion. The Calukyas had come to 

power in 973 A. D. and their rise to power was opposed by the Gahgas and 

the Colas. Taila II was successful in defeating the Gahgas and the Cola 

Rajendra invaded the Calukya Empire, he was driven away by the Calukya 

Satyasraya, successor of Taila II. The Colas were making a hard bid for 

northward expansion. They had captured Talakad, the capital of the Gahgas 

30 Ibid., vol II, No. 132, p. 58. 

31 Ibid., vol., VI. Mg. Nos. 9- 15, & 18; Rice, Mysore and Coorg from Inscriptions, p. 94. 

32 E. C., vol, IV, Ng. No. 32; vol. VI, Cm. No. 160. Ng. No. 32 gives the date in the years. 

Saka 967, but this se^ms to be a mistake for S'aka 969. In 967 the Sarvajit S. had not 

begun, but the Piligala was current. An inscription records the date in S'aka 1070. 

Vikrama S. = 1013 A. D. (E, C., vol. VI, Cm. No. 38) but it docs not seem to be consistent. 
The above two inscriptions do not belong to the reign of Vinayaditya but are of later 

date. The earliest inscription of his reign bears the date S'aka 924, Jaya S. Caitra su. 

l0=Saturday, March 11, 1055 A. D.(E. C., vol. VI, Mg. No. 19), but here also the S'aka 
924 is wrong and it should be S'aka 977. 

33 E. C., Vol. V, Cm. No. 207. 
34 Ibid., Ak. No. 179. 

35 Ibid., Ak. No. 102 a. 
36 Ibid., Cm. No. 20. 

37 Ibid., Vol. VI. Kd. No. 164. 
38 Ibid., Vol. VI, Tk. No. 62 ; Vol. V, Ak. No. 186 ; Vol VI, Kd. No. 19. 
39 Ibid., Vol. VI, Kd. No. 22 ; V, Cm. No, 8. 
40 Ibid., vol. V, Cm. No. 7, 

41 M. A. S. R., 1927, No. l3, p. 43. 

42 E. Q;\Vol IV, Ng. No. 32. 
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and all the vestiges of the Ganga Imperialism were wiped out. The Gahgas 

had to take shelter under the Cajukyas. Rajendra Coh, the successor of 

Rajaraja the Great once again tried to capture some part of the Calukya 

dominions, but he was not successful. The Calukya Jayasimha (1015-1042 

A. D.) defeated him and the Gangavadi 96000 province was incorporated in the 

Caluk) a dominions. 

During this political turmoil the Hoyasalas got their opportunity. The 

fall of the Gahgas provided them with a good field for expansion. The 

Kongalava opposition seems to have lost its force because of the Cola defeats 

at the hands of the Calukya Jayasimha in I0l8 and 1024 A. D. But the 

Cajukyas were also not friendly towards the Hoyasalas. The Calukya 

Jayasimha sent his general Cavanarasa to curb the power of this newly rising 

family. Cavanarasa attacked Dora t. e. Dvarasamudra, the capital of the 

Ho}asalas and captured it. The Calukya general boasts himself by styling as 

‘‘the shatterer of Dora** in an inscription.^^ It scv^ms that the Hoyasalas 

acki:owledged the supremacy of the Calukyas and were allowed to govern as 

feudatories. This inscription also indicates that the Hoyasalas had established 

themselves at the city of Dvarasamudra. Vinayaditya had also to face the 

opposition of the neighbouring hill-tribes before he could ensure the safety of 

his ainall principality. The hill-tribe known as the Malepis were living in 

the hills of the Western ghats. Their chief occupation was to carry raids 

into the neighbouring countries ; and the Colas, the Gahgas and the Calukyas 

had constantly to fight against them.^* It was not possible for the 

Hoyasalas to establish their power firmly unless the MSepas, his own people, 

were curbed. Vinayaditya attacked them and won a complete victory. He 

attained the title “champion** over the Malepas (Maleprolgandam).^^ Whatever 

the earliest date of victory over the Malepas may be, the Berur inscription 

dated Si aka 984 S^ubhakrta S. Phalguna su. 5, Adivara=1062 A. D. states 

that ‘Vinayaditya along with his son Prince Ereyangadeva was protecting the 

Male country and others forming the Gahgamandala 96000 under the shadow 

of his sole umbrella.^® In another inscription he is referred to as ruling 

the Male mandala as a feudatory of the Calukya Vikramaditya VI.^*^ The 

Rannegatti inscription dated C. V. 19 Pusya su. 3, Thursday=1095 A. D. also 

states that the father and the son were ruling over the Male seven country.^® 

48 E. I., Vol. VI. p. 80. 
44 Saletore : Wild Tribes in Indian History, p 79f. 
45 E. C., Vol. V. Ak. No. 86 ; Cm. No. 207 ; Vol. IV, Kp. No. 49 ; Vol. XII. Tp. No. 105. 

46 Dr. Saletore thinks that 1090 A. D. is the earliest date for the defeat of the Malepas at 

the hands of Vinayaditya, but on the evidence quoted above, I do not subscribe to his 
views. The final defeat of the Malepas took place in about 1055 A. D. or a little earlier. 

47 E. C., Vol. V, Ak. No. 87. 

48 M. A* S. R*, 1926.N0. 7, p« 39. 
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Another inscription dated 1123 A. D. affirms that the Ma|epas had acknowledged 

him as the overlord and his attitude had become friendly towards them, but in 

case of opposition his treatment was very severe. The inscription records “on 

the head» of the Majepas, who growing proud, oppose him, he lays his sword ; 

on the heads of the Malepas, who filled with fear do not grow proud or oppose 

him, he at once lays his hand—Vinayaditya.’’^® 

Marriage Alliance with the Calukyas. 

The suppression of the Majepas afforded Vinajaditya an opportunity to 

make efforts in other directions for fresh territorial acquisitions. But this meant 

incurring a hostility of the Cajukyas, which was tantamount to a political 

suicide. Knowing full well this danger the Hoyasajas played their game. The 

Colas and the Cajukyas were fighting over the ashes of the Gahga Imperialism. 

The Colas at every step were opposing the Hoyasajas from the very beginning. 

TTie Hoyasajas therefore threw their lot with the Cajukyas. A princess of 

their house was given in marriage to the Cajukya Somesvara I (1042-1068 A. D.). 

An inscription dated 1055 A. D. records grant of land to a temple by the 

senior queen Hoyasanadevi, ‘reposing on the broad chest Trailokyamalla’, 

». e.. the Cajukya Somesvara I. The exact relationship of Hoyasanadevi 

with the Hoyasaja Vinayaditya cannot be precisely determined, but her name 

suggests that she belonged to the house of the Hoyasajas. With this marriage 

alliance all fears of a Cajukya opposition vanished away, and they got help 

against the Cojas. Suddenly with the death of the Cajukya Somesvara I, a 

fratricidal war broke out between his two sons Somesvara II and Vikramaditya 

VI. The latter retired to the south and declared independence. The Hoyasajas 

remained loyal to the new king, i.e., Somesvara II for sometime, but later on 

turned against him and joined camp of his rebel brother. Ereyanga, son of 

Vinayaditya, helped Vikramaditya, when the latter was fighting against his 

brother Somesvara II. l^e was ultimately deposed by Vikramaditya VI. An 

inscription dated C. V. 25=1001 A. D. of the reign of Vikramaditya VI states 

that the son of Vinayaditya “was the world-renowned Ereyanga Poyasaja. At 

the Emperor’s bidding, he caused the elder brother to sheathe (his sword)®^’' 

Many inscriptions of the reign of Vikramaditya show that Vinayaditya was 

ruling as the former’s feudatory and was appointed Viceroy of the Gangavadi 

96000 province.®* Vinayaditya and his son Ereyanga were acting as the 

governors during the reign of Somesvara I and an inscription dated 1062 A. D. 

records that Mabamandalesvara Vinayaditya Poyasajadeva along with Kumara 

49 E. C., Vol. II, No. 52 (edition I) ; Vol. VI, Kd. No. 149. Rice Mysore and Coorg from 
Inscriptions, p. 329. 

30 E. C., Vol. VII, HI. No. 1; S. I. G. A. R. 1930, Ap. F, No. 79, 
31 B. C., vol. V, Ak. Na 102 a. 
32 Ibid. TOls. V and VI. 



THE RISE OF THE HOYASALA8 ^7 

Efeyanga was governing the Male country and others forming the 

Gahgamandala 96000-®® 

The Extent of Hit Dominions. 

The Hoyasahs in the beginning had established their control over a small 

Strip of territory south of the river Krsna and Vinayaditya conquered the Male 

country.®^ He was then appointed governor over certain districts by the Calukya 

Somesvara I and this strengthened his position considerably. He captured a 

large part of the neighbouring country and claims to have become master of 

Kongu,®® Alavakheda, Bayal-nad, Tajckad and Savimale.®® Alavakheda was the 

territory of the Alavas, comprising the modern south Kanara; Bayala-nad is to 

be identified witht he modern Wainad in the Malabar District. Talekad was 

the capital of the Gangas, which was conquered and annexed by The Colas. 

The Hoyasala principality extended upto the confines of Talekad, but the city 

itself was not included. Savimale cannot be precisely identified and Rice thinks 

that it may be Savanur in the Dharwar District of the Bombay Presidency. It 

is also called the northern boundry of the Hoyasalas.®^ Konkana also seems to 

have been included in their dominions.®® A Belagave inscription states that 

Vinayaditya was ruling over the Gahgavadi 96000 and his subordinate, the 

Mahasamanta Gandraditya was ruling Arakere, Kaligunda, Karividc, Beligere 

Kundur, Balasamudra and Avalu.®® From the findspots of the inscriptions also 

it is known that the Kadur and the Hassan Districts of the Mysore State 

were directly under their control and slowly they occupied parts of Mysore, 

Shimoga and Tumkur Districts. All these districts were then included in the 

Gangavadi 96000 division.®*’ An inscription vaguely puts that Vinayaditya ruled 

from the west as far as Talkadu.®* 

Vinayaditya is said to have risen to power by the favour of his Jain 

guru S^antideva®* as stated in an inscription dated 1129 A. D. An Angadi 

inscription records that on Monday June 24, 1062 A. D. S^antideva performing 

the rites of Saiiiyasa, as the reward of his faith attained the realm of Nirvana", 

and the townsmen erected a monument in commemoration of his memory.®® 

53 Ibid., vol. VI. Kd. No. l61. 

54 Ibid. 
55 Ibid. 
56 Ibid., vol. IV, Ng. 32. 
57 Ibid., vol. IV, Ng. No. 32. Intr., p. 18 

58 Ibid. 
59 Ibid., vol. XU. Tp No. 105. 

60 E. C., vol. VI. Ak. No. 102a. 
61 Ibid., voU. V, VI, VIII, IV and XU. 

62 Ibid., vol. U, No. 67. 

63 Ibid., vol. VI, Mg. No. 17. 
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After the death of S^antideva, the Jain teacher Ganasena Panditadeva of Mallur 

became the Guru of the Hoyasala Vinayaditya®* and a grant was made in his 

favour. Vinayaditya inscribed the six letters Ra-kka sa Ho-ysa-la on his flag.®* 

According to an inscription his capital was at S^ofevur in 1047 A. D.®® and the 

same inscription states that the queen Kaleyale-Devi got Mariyane-dandanayaka 

and Devake-dandanaykti married and the lordship of Sindagere was bestowed 

upon them. Kedagigere inscription dated Dec. 13, 1096 A. D. states that the 

king had his capital at Belur, modern Belur.®^ 

The Nolambas, one of the feudatories of the Hoyasalas, does not seem 

to have entertained friendly relations with their sovereign. An inscription dated 

1084 A. D, records that a battle was fought between the Nolambas and Nerilige 

Perggade Alamayya, a subordinate of the Hoyasala Vinayaditya at Nolambanakere 

and the Hoyasala Mahasamanta lost his life in the battle.®® Vinayaditya had 

also to suppress the power of other feudatory chieftains; once he had to fight 

against the Dandanayaka Masanayya. The battle was fought on the banks of 

the river Kapeli and Masanaiya was killed in the battle.®® Vinayaditya was also 

a great builder. He is said to have built many Jain temples. An inscription 

records “The pit dug for bricks became tanks, the mountain quarried for stone 

became level with the ground, the roads by which the Mortar-carts passed became 

ravines;-thus did king Poyasala cause Jain temples to be built.” 

64 Ibid., Mg. No. 13. 

65 Ibid., vol. V, Cm. No. 148. 

66 Ibid,, vol. VI, Cm. No. 160. 

67 Ibid., Kd. No, 142. 

68 Ibid., vol. V, Ak. No. 6. 

69 Ibid., vol. IV, Ng. No. 56. 

N, B,:—I have not included the carrier of the prince Ereyanga in this paper. 
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A NOTE ON BAPPA OF THE GUHILA DYNASTY OF MEWAR 

Golapchandra Raychaudhari, Victoria Institution Calcutta 

Bappa is regarded as the traditional founder of the Guhila dynasty of 

Mewar. The Ekalihgaji Stone Inscription of the time of Naravahana, dated V. S. 

1028, in which we get the earliest reference to Bappa (Bappaka), speaks of him as 

the moon among the princes of the Guhila family {Guhilagotranarendracandrah), 

the lord of the earth {ksitipatih) and the Jewel on the surface (lit. seat) of 

the earth (kshitipttharatnam). The obvious implication is that Bappa was 

one of the most important Guhila kings who preceded Naravahana. The name 

Bappaka, however, is conspicuous by its absence in the Atpur Inscription of the 

time of Saktikumara, son of Naravahana, which records a genealogy of the 

early Guhilots and which was engraved in V. S. 1034, that is to say only about 

six years after the Ekalihgaji Inscription. It has therefore been urged that the 

term Bappa is really an honorific, a term of respect for a distinguished 

ancestor. The use of this word as an honorific is no doubt met with in several 

inscriptions of ancient India. But its use as a proper name was also not 

altogether unknown.^ The problem whether the name Bappa, used in the 

inscriptions of the Guhila dynasty of Mewar, refers to an honorific or a personal 

designation does not admit of an easy solution. 

Modern scholars taking the term as an honorific attribute it to different 

princes of the Guhila dynasty who preceded Naravahana. Pandit Ojha thinks 

that Bappa and Kalabhoja were identical.^ Dr. D. R. Bhandarkar put forward 

the theory that Bappa should be indentified with Khummana I of the Atpur 

epigraph of V. S. 1034.^ Mr. S, C. Dutt is also of the same opinion.^ Quite 

recently Dr. Bhandarkar has urged^ that as the name of Guhilaputra Simha 

“is coupled with Haritarasi (in an Inscription of the time of Samarasimha, 

dated V. S. 1335) he is probably identical with the traditional Bappa of the 

1 Cf. Fleet, 0. 1. 1., F61., HI. (Gupta lascriptions), pp. 186'87n. Fleet says that toppa 
suggests itself as an old Prakrit form of the modern bap, a father, (also cf. Ojha, Udayapura Rajya 
ha Itihaw, p. 405). According to Tod, Bappa is not a proper name. It signifies a child (Crooke's 
edition, VoL I, 261n)> Tod’s rendering of the term is apparently wrong. In Crooke's opinion Bappa 

has the sense of bap, father (t6td). It is interesting to note in this connection that Abul Fadl also 
takes the word to mean a child (Ain, ll., 268). It is not impossible that Tod derived.his meaning 
from Abul Fadl or he may have confused the term Bappa with Bapu which in Mewar means a child 

(Ojha, U. R. 1., 405n). 
2 Ojha, U. R. I., 404. 
3 I. A., XXXIX, 186-91. 
4 I. S. Q., 1928, 795ff. 
5 JB. I., XX, App., 84ni 
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family.”^ Without entering into a discussion of the various theories it may be 

noted that in the present state of our knowledge it is well nigh impossible to 

determine, with any amount of exactitude, the position of Bappa in the 

genealogical list of the Guhila dynasty. In several inscriptions he is made an 

ancestor of the eponymous hero Guhila.^ But this has been conclusively 

proved to be a mistake. In the Ekalihgaji Stone Inscription of V. S. 1028 

Bappaka is spoken of as the moon among the princes of the Guhila family, 

the implication being that he came after Guhila. In the Chirwa Inscription 

of V. S. 1330 he is represented as having been born in the family of the son 

of Guhila {Guhildhgajavaih^ajah). There can be no doubt that the 

traditional originator of the Guhila family was Guhila or Guhadatta himself. 

This is sufficiently borne out by the Nagda inscription of the time of 

Aparajita, the Atpur Inscription of the time of S^aktikumara, the Chatsu 

Inscription of the time of Baladitya, and the two inscriptions referred to above. 

The question naturally arises as to why in some late inscriptions Bappa is 

made an ancestor of Guhila ? An explanation may be hazarded here. There 

were several Guhila lines in ancient time.^ All these lines of rulers had a 

common ancestor in Guhila, The founder of the Mewar branch was Bappa 

and it is but natural that in the dynastic lists of Mewar he should be assigned 

the first place. The Mewar princes are thus represented sometimes as belonging 

to the dynasty of Bappa and sometimes as belonging to the line of Guhila. 

In later times however a confusion arose between the founder of the family 

in its extended sense and the founder of the dynasty of Mewar, and the recorders 

were not quite sure as to whether the first place should be assigned to Bappa 

or Guhila. 

There is a remarkable passage in the Kumbhalgadh Prasasti of the time 

of Rana Kumbha.® It runs thus :— 

Tasman Guhilavams'ebhUd Bhojat^mdvanls'varaff 

Tastndn-Mahlndro Ndgdhvo Bappdkhyas'ch-Apardjita}} 

The verse may be rendered as follows :— 

In that Guhila family was born the lord of the earth named Bhoja. 

From him (were born) the king called Naga and Aparajita (also) styled Bappa 

(or Bappa, the invincible) (apardjita). 

If my rendering be accepted then Bappa and Aparajita refer to the same 

individual, one being the proper name and the other an epithet. Curiously 

enough Aparajita is the earliest prince of undoubted Guhila lineage whose record 

6 The legend was cnrrent from the thirteenth century A. D. that Haritara^i, a Sfaiva saint, 
being pleased with the devotion of Bappa conferred on him the kingship of Mewkr. 

7 Cl. the inscriptions of V. S. 1331, V. S. 1342, V. 3.1496, etc. 

8 Eg* Gnhilas of Mewar, Gnhilas of Chatsu, Guhilas of Mangrol (Kathiawir), ate. 
9 Qjba,{7:R.I.,408ib 
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has been discovered within the boundaries of Mewar.^® It has been found at 

NSgdS and is dated V. S. 718. It mentions MahSraja VarShasiifaha, “the 

Leader of the Force” of the king. It is interesting to note in this connection 

that our earliest records invariably associate Bappa with Nagda. Thus the 

Ekalihgaji Stone Inscription of V. S. 1028 says that Bappaka flourished in 

Nagahrada. The inscriptions of the time of Samarasimha and Raymal also 

associate Bappa with Nagahrada^ In view of these facts the identity of 

Bappa and Aparijita is not altogether improbable. 

Professor H. C. Raychaudhuri suggests to me that Nagahrada may have 

been named after king Naga, a predecessor of Aparajita. Bappa as describe4 

in later records and annals of Mewar is more legendary than a historical 

personage. For one thing there is no unanimity regarding his position in 

relation to Guhila in the epigraphs of the family, and the name is not met 

with till the inscription of the time of Naravahana dated V. S. 1028. It is 

important to remember that in the inscription of the Aparajita dated V. S. 718 

there is no reference to Bappa. The appearance of Bappa in later records of 

the Guhila family is paralleled by references to Satyaki as a progenitor in the 

later inscriptions of the Rastrakuta dynasty of Manyakheta. The attribution of 

certain coins to Bappa of Mewar is not beycmd doubt. It is interesting to note 

in this connection that Bappa figures in the ancient records of two illustrious 

dynasties of Southern India. In the epigraphs of one family, namely that of the 

Pallavas, Bappa heads the list of the princes whose names have come down to 

to us. Another family, namely the S^alankayanas, describe themselves as 

Bappahhatt^rakapddabhakta. The conjecture may be hazarded that, as hinted 

at by Fleet, Bappa in these cases is simply an epithet applied to the venerable 

Father or ancestor of a fine of illustrious princes. In the case of the Mewar 

family Bappa may have been an honorific epithet which later generations applied 

to Aparajita when that prince became the centre of romantic legends like Arthur 

or Charlemagne of Western Europe. 

10 S'iladitya mentioned in the S'&mali inscription is generally identified with Guhila S'lla. 

But the king of the Samali record is not styled a Guhila. The proposed identification is not free 

from doubt because there were several S'iladityas ruling about that time, Harsa-S'iliditya 

and Sll&ditya of the Maitraka family. 

11 Cf. the inscriptions of V. S. 1331, 1432 and 1545. 
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RANA SANGA OF MEWAR, 
; 

Anil Chandra Banerjee, M. A. 

Professor of History, City College, Calcutta. 

Rana Sanga of Mewar played such an important part as the champion of 

Hinduism against Islam^ that the local history of Mewar during his reign may 

be considered as an episode in the general history of India. His career as an 

antagonist of Babur naturally occupies a prominent place in all works dealing 

with the history of India in the sixteenth century. Rai Saheb Har Bilas 

Sarda’s biography and Rai Bahadur Gauri Sankar Ojha’s monumental work 

contain an elaborate account of Sahga’s eventful life. It appears, however, that 

there are problems upon which the final word yet remains to be said. The present 

writer's purpose in submitting his suggestions to scholars interested in Indian 

History will be amply served if they choose for further elucidation the career 

of one of the greatest heroes of mediaeval India. 

I 

Early Year*. 

So far as the history of the early years of Rana Sanga’s life is concerned, 

our principal authorities are Nains! and Tod. Nainsi’s account, being earlier 

in date and more logical in character, deserves preference. 

According to Nainsi, the first four sons of Rana Rai Mai in order of 

seniority were—Prthviraj, Jay Mai, Jay Singh and Sanga.® That Prthviraj 

was the eldest son is clearly established by the designation ‘MaMkumdra’ 

given to him in a contemporary inscription.® We may, therefore, reject Tod’s 

view that Sanga was the first son and heir-apparent.^ 

It is admitted om all hands that “fraternal affection” between Pf thviraj 

and Sanga “was discarded for deadly hate, and thair feuds and dissensions 

were a source of constant alarm,"* There are two difficulties about the 

generally accepted account of these ‘feuds and dissensions.’ In the first place, 

1 In Kajpntana he is still described as the Hindupat (chief of the Hindus). See Sarda's 
Maharana Sanga, In Babur’s Memoirs (cf. pp. 550, 558, 561 etc. In Beveridge’s translation), 
he is described as a *pagan’ fighting against * Islam-guarded soldiers.’ 

2 Sarda disagrees with Nainsl’s statement, for he says that Sanga was the third son, and 
he does not include Jassa in his list of Rfti Mai’s 14 sons. (See pp. 12-13). He gives us no 
authority in support of his rejection of Nainsi's statement. Ojha {Hi$iary of Bajputana, Vol. 
1, pu 658) agrees with him, but says in another place that R&i Mai recognised Jay Singh as his 
heir apparent. (B. 655). 

3 Peter Paterson, Bhavanagar Intcriptims, 

4 For Tod’s account of Sanga’s career, see Crooke's edition, Vol. 1, pp. 340-59. 

5 These are Tod's words, and they are accepted by Sarda (pp. 14-15) and Ojha (p. 643). 
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the principle of hereditary succession was so well-established® that it seems 

difficult to understand why Sahga and Jay Mai ventured to dispute the claim 

of Pfthviraj. Ptthviraj was an able prince, “the Rolando of his age“ it 

was certainly idle for the younger brothers to expect that either Rai Mai or 

the Sardars would pass him over in favour of either of them.® Again, Sahga's 

chance of ascending the throne was still more remote than that of Jay Mai, for 

two likely candidates (Jay Mai and Jay Singh) stood between him and 

Prthviraj. Jay Mai was an active candidate, and he was bold enough® to 

demand the recognition of the Sardars if Prthviraj died or was put aside. 

After Jay Mai there was Jay Singh. He might have been addicted to pleasure 

and sport, as Nainsi says ; but no one could anticipate in Rai Mai’s life-time 

that he would be passed over by the Sardars in favour of Sanga.^® Later on, 

Sanga proved himself to be a cautious man,^^ and it is difficult for us to 

believe that he devoted himself to the pursuit of so distant an object, as the 

possession of the throne was in his case. Secondly, are we justified in 

accepting as historically true^^ the Nahra Mugro incident related by Tod? 

He says, “.Sahga observed that, though heir to ‘the ten thousand towns’ 

of Mewar, he would wave his claims, and trust them.to the omen which 

should be given by the priestess of Charuni Devi at Nahra Mugro.they 

(i. e,, Prthviraj, Jay Mai, Sahga and their uncle Suraj Mal)^® repaired to her 

abode. Prthviraj and Jaimal entered first, and seated themselves on a pallet; 

Sahga followed and took possession of the panther-hide of the prophetess ; his 

6 Sarda (p. 14) says that every one of the brothers of Prthviraj ''considered himself 
qualified by descent and personal bravery” for the throne. But on p. 146 Sarda himself refers 
to two Rajput princes—Chonda of Mewar and Ajjaji of Halvad in Kathiawar—who had relinquished 
their righi as eldest sons to their ancestral thrones. These instances, and others too numerous 
to be mentioned here, clearly prove that the principle of hereditary succession was definitely 
accepted in Rajputana. The principle was abandoned only under exceptional circumstances. 

7 Tod’s description. 
8 Sarda recognises the fact that Jay Mai "was conscious that with Prthviraj as his elder 

brother there was little chance of his obtaining the throne." (p. 14). The inscription of 1503-4 
A. D. shows that Prthvir5j was already recognised as heir-apparent by Rai Mai, and obviously by 
the Sardars as well. 

9 The incident of Tara Bai shows that Jay Mai wais a young man of doubtful moral 
char^ter, but there is nothing on record to show that he lacked the quality of courage, the first 
requisite of a R&jput ruler, 

10 So far as Sanga’s case is concerned, our argument is not very much weakened if we 
follow Sarda emd Ojha in denying the existence of Jay Singh. 

11 Tod says that Sanga’s "courage was tempered by reflection." 
12 That the story cannot be belived was for the first time pointed out to the present 

writer by Mr. S. C. Dntt of the Culcutta University, to whom he also owes numerous suggestions. 

13 Sarda (p. 14) says that Suraj Mai "was of the same age” with the three brothers. 
Under normal circumstances an uncle is older than his nephew. That Suraj Mai’s case was not 
an exceptional one, may be presumed from two facts recorded by Tod, 

Sfiraj Mai addressed Prthviraj as 'child*. 
He could hardly have used such an expression had he not been considerably older than his 

nephew. Secondly, on one occassion he said to Prthvirftj, "If I am killed, it matters not; my 
children are Rajputs, they will run the country to find support”. (This incident is noted by Sarda 
on p« 39). This statement seems to imply that Suraj Mai's sons were old enough at that time to 
"run the couutry,” 
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uncle, Surajmal, with one knee resting thereon. Scarcely had Pfthvirffj 

disclosed their errand, when the sybil pointed to the panther-hide as the decisive 

omen of sovereignty to Sanga, with a portion to his uncle^^.PfthvirSj 

drew his sword and would have falsified the omen, had not Surajmal stepped 

in and received the blow destined for Sanga...•••...Surajmal and Prthviraj were 

exhausted with wounds, and Sanga fled with five sword-cuts and an arrow in 

his eye, which destroyed the sight for ever.**^^ There are certain incongruous 

elements in this story. It is based on the supposition that Sanga was the 

eldest brother and therefore the rightful heir to the throne-a supposition 

which we cannot accept. If anybody could “wave his claims, and trust them 

.to the omen,” it was Prthviraj. If he really agreed to decide his fate 

by the judgment of heaven, why did he try to falsify the omen as soon as the 

judgment went against him ? 

As a matter of fact, the real clue to the troubles of Rai Mai's reign will 

be found in the ambition of Suraj Mai. He was a son of Ksema Singh and 

thus a grandson of Rana Mokal. Tod says that it was he “who had fomented 

these quarrels”^® between Prthviraj and Sanga, and that he was “resolved not 

to belie the prophetess if a crown lay in his path.” Are we to assume, as Tod 

does, that the ambition to seize the crown of Mewar took possession of Suraj 

Mai’s mind after the Nahra Mugro incident ? In that case we cannot explain 

why he fomented quarrels among the princes. We are probably entitled to 

believe that Suraj Mai’s ambition was of earlier origin, and that he purposely 

fomented quarrels among the princes in order to create dissensions within 

Mewar. That he was the author of a deeply laid conspiracy against Rai Mai 

may be clearly inferred from certain facts noted by the chroniclers. In the 

Arst place, we are told by Nainsi that during Kumbha’s reign K^ma Singh 

(Suraj Mai’s father) revolted, established his authority over the south-eastern 

corner of Mewar, and trjed» to make himself an independent ruler. His plan 

did not succeed at that time, but it was inherited by Suraj Mal.^^ He must 

14 A similar story is told about A^oka. Once King Bindusara decided to select his heir 
aad asked his sons to take their seats. Other princes occupied seats fit for royalty, but A^oka 

sat on the ground. The wise men of the court decided that the earth was the best seat which 

a king could choose, A4oka was thereupon nominated as the heir-apparent. May we assume 

that in Tod*8 story we come across a faint reflection of this ancient legend ? 
15 Ojha (pp. 643-4, 647) gives a slightly difierent version. 
16 Ojha (p. 643) rejects the statement of Tod, supported by the Ftrasifioda, that Suraj Mai 

' was associated with the quarrels of the princes, and says that it was Sarangadeva who played 
the part of the mediator. The learned writer admits that Suraj Mai was the enemy of the royal 
family; he says that S&rangadeva joined Suraj Mai later on because he (Sarangadeva) was expelled 

from his JoQiT by Prthviraj. This view is inconsistent with the tradition recorded by Tod and 

accepted by Sarda (p. 14) and the VWavinoda, Moreover, it fails to explain the cause of Sanga's exile* 
17 Sarda's view (p. 14) that Suraj Mai’s treachery to the crown was caused merely by 

**the limitaticms which naturally circumscribe the activities of scions of a younger braucho! a 

royal family**, is rather an insufficient explanation of his conduct. 
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have been trying to make it a success even before the closing years of Rai Mai’s 

reign. Secondly, that Suraj Mai had other accomplices within the royal 

family is proved by his alliance with Sarahga Deva, another descendant of 

Rana Lakha.^® Thirdly, Suraj Mai did not hesitate even to invoke the 

assistance of the Muslims against his own clan. Tod says that he “repaired to 

Mosuffir, the Sultan of Malwa.” We know that Malwa had no Sultan of this 

name, but we are told by Ferishta^^ that in 1503 A. D. Sultan Nasiruddin 

Khalji of Malwa “proceeded towards Chittoor, where having received a large 

present in money from the Rana.he returned to Mando.” From Tod's 

account, supported by an inscription of 1503-4 A. D.,^^ it would appear that 

the Muslims occupied a part of Mewar and that Suraj Mai (with his ally, 

Sarahga Deva) was actively fighting against the Rana’s troops. Fourthly, 

Suraj Mai’s undying hostility to the ruling branch of the family is proved by 

the fact that he “finally abandoned Mewar’’ and his grandson Bika founded 

the principality now known as Deolia Pratapgarh.^^ 

We must review Sahga’s early career against the background of 

Suraj Mai’s treachery. It is clear that Suraj Mai wanted to utilise him against 

his elder brothers, and there is no doubt that Sahga allowed himself to 

be associated with the conspiracy. Probably he was ambitious enough to 

aspire after the throne, and, knowing fully well that from the point of view of 

legitimacy he had no chance of being called upon to rule, he tried to realise 

his ambition by unfilial treachery. Such an explanation is not inconsistent 

with his character as we know it; did he not want to secure the imperial crown 

of Delhi ? Ambition, then, is the key-stone to Sanga’s career. 

The exact circumstances which compelled Sanga to live as an exile for 

some years^^ cannot be determined. If we do not accept the Nahra Mugro 

incident as historical, we cannot ascribe Sanga’s flight to it. Tod says that 

Sahga was aware of Prthviraj’s “implacable enmity,” and seems to imply 

that this was the real cause of his flight. We also know that Jay Mai was not 

well-disposed towards Sahga (for Tod tells us that it was Jay Mai who tried 

to capture Sahga after the Nahra Mugro incident). If the “implacable enmity” 

of these two brothers alone was responsible for Sahga’s flight, why did he not 

19 Tod. 
19 Briggs, Vol. IV, p. 243. Firishta does not refer to Suraj Mai or any other Hindu 

ally of the Sultan in this expedition* 
20 Bkevenaiar ln9Cr%ptions, 

21 This is Nainsi’s version of the story. Tod says that Suraj Mai himself founded 

Deolia Pratapgarh. 
22 Firishta places Nasiruddin'a invasion in 1503 A. D. Tod’s version makes it clear that 

Sanga Bed soatatime befitn this incident Sanga did not return till 1509 A. D., when Rai Mai was 

00 kit death bed. So Sanga must have been an exile for of kotl six years. 
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return to Mewar after Jay Mai’s death and before P^th^^raj’s recall**. The 

fact that Sahga was not recalled before his father was about to die, seems to 
imply that he was guilty of some offence against Rai Mai. This explanation 

is quite consistent with Prthviraj’s “implacable enmity” towards him, for the 
legitimate heir to the throne could not allow a younger brother to deprive 

him of his patrimony.*^ Sahga’s close association with Suraj Mai shows that 
Sanga was guilty of treachery towards his father. 

During the period of his exile Sahga naturally lived the life of an 

adventurer. We are told that after the Nahra Mugro incident “Sahga fled with 

five sword-cuts and an arrow in his eye, which destroyed the sight for ever.” 
He took shelter in the sanctuary of Caturbhuja, where his life was saved from 

Jay Mai’s attack by a Rathor named Bida. He “had recourse to many 
expedients to avoid discovery” and was compelled to pass his days among 

goat-herds and peasants. Then he went to Ajmer and took service with Karam 

Chand, the Paramar chief of S^rinagar. His identity was accidentally revealed 
(here we are told the traditional story of a serpent rearing its crest over 

the head of the sleeping exile) ; the Paramar chief “gave Sahga a daughter to 

wife, and protection” which he needed so much. 

In the meanwhile, events in Mewar had been moving rapidly. Prthviraj 

had been banished ; Jay Mai had been killed by Rao Surtan in defence of his 
daughter’s honour ; Prthviraj had been recalled : the attack of the Muslims of 
Malwa had been repulsed ; Suraj Mai had been compelled to leave Mewar. 

Time, however, had not softened Prthviraj’s heart in favour of Sahga. He was 

preparing for an expedition against Karam Chand of Srinagar, Sahga’s protector 

and father-in-law,*® when his attention was diverted to Sirobi by a letter from 

23 The same argument applies against Sarda's suggestion (p. 16) that Sanga fled because 
he was *'unwilling to attack the heir*apparent to the throne.’* 

24 This explanation makes it somewhat difficult to account for Prthviraj's banishment. 

Tod, labouring under the delusion that Sanga was the eldest son, says that Hai Mai was angry 

because Pfthvirkj was about to deprive him of bis heir by killing Sanga at Nahra Mugro, But 
Jai Mai was also implicated in the affair, and the father’s wrath did not fall upon him. Again, 

it is strange to note that when the intending murderer was banished by the King, the victim 

fled oj his otim accord and did not venture to return to his father till the latter was in his death bed. 

prthviraj, like Sanga, might have lent his ears to Suraj Mai, and the old Rana might have 

reasons to suspect that his heir-apparent intended to supplant him. Such an analysis of Prthvr&j's 

motive is not inconsistent with his character. Most of the achievements attributed by 
Tod to this ” Rolando of his age” owed their success to treachery. He treacherously killed the 
Mina chief in whose service he had enlisted himself and his band. He treacherously murdered 

Saranga Deva. He treacherously killed Lalla Khan, the Afghan Chief of Toda. He attacked his 

brother-in-law, Jug Mai of Sirohi, when the latter was asleep at night, (Sarda, pp. 27, 42-*3). 
We may not be very far from the truth in assuming that Pfthviraj, like another heir*apparent 

of Mewar (Udk the Hatyafo\ was about to occupy the throne by murdering his father, "" 

25 Sarda, p. 42. 
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bis sister Ananda Bai. He went to Sirohi and humiliated his brother-in-law 

Jug Mai, who retaliated by poisoning him.*® 

After Prthviraj’s tragic death Jay Singh, the third son of Rana Rai Mai, 

became the heir-apparent. Nainsi says that Jay Singh was given to pleasure 

and sport, and the Sardars passed him over and placed Sahga on the throne. 

There is nothing improbable in this story. Mewar, constantly threatened by 

the Muslim kingdoms of Malwa and Gujarat, required a strong ruler. Sanga 

was 26 years old in 1509 A. and his career must have revealed his qualities. 

That he had fled from Mewar as a traitor was, from the political point of view, 

no disqualification ; it was rather a point in his favour in the judgment of the 

Sardars. Sanga might have been afraid of Prthviraj, but he had no reason to 

be afraid of a worthless prince like Jay Singh. If the crown went to Jay Singh, 

Sanga might revive the policy of Suraj Mai and try to seize it with the 

assistance of his Muslim neighbours. We may conclude, therefore, that these 

weighty reasons of state led to the recall of Sanga during the last illness of 

Rai Mai as well as to his accession to the throne after the old Rana's death. 

II. 

Gujarat and Malwa. 

The peculiar geographical position of Mewar involved her rulers in a 

long-continued struggle with the Muslim Sultans of Gujarat and Malwa. Mewar 

was bounded on three sides by the Muslim kingdoms of Delhi, Gujarat and 

Malwa. So long as the Sultanate of Delhi was strong and aggressive, the rulers 

of Mewar had to remain conscious of their weakness, and to thank their stars 

if they succeeded in preserving their independence against the all-conquering 

Turks. The recovery of Chi tor by Rana Hamir was followed by the disruption 

of the Sultanate, but the rise of the independent Muslim kingdoms of Gujarat 

and Malwa in the beginning of the 15th Century created new problems for 

his descendants. If Delhi was no longer strong enough to threaten Mewar, she 

was likely to be assailed by these two new kingdoms. Mewar offered to them 

a natural field for expansion, and their rulers were not slow to take advantage 

of any weakness which the Guhilots might betray. On the other hand, the 

vigorous rulers of Mewar were no longer content to play a subsidiary part. 

Conscious of their own strength, men like Kumbha and Sanga were determined 

to extend the boundaries of their petty ancestral state at the cost of Gujarat 

and Malwa. When both sides are bent upon aggression, excuses are not 

difficult to find. 

26 Tod; Sarda, pp. 42—44; Ojha. EUtory ofSifohi, p. 205, 

27 Nainsi says that Sanga ^as bom in 1483. 

28 
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RanS Sa&ga’s first venture in the sphere of foreign policy was significant. 
Sultan Mahmud Khaljl of Malwa owed his throne to the loyal and able support 

of a Rajput chief named Medini Rai.^® In return for the conspicuous services 

which he had rendered to the Sultan, Medini Rai naturally enjoyed a unique 

ascendancy in his court. The exclusion of the Muslim nobles from power 

excited their jealousy, and they resorted to various expedients in order to destroy 
the all-powerful minister. At last the Sultan himself came to suspect Medini 
Rai without adequate reasons, and stealthily left his capital for Gujarat. He 

was cordially received by Sultan Muzaffar Shah of Gujarat, who started in l5l7 

A. D. to place his ally on the throne of Mandu. Medini Rai knew that he was 
not strong enough to oppose the Gujarat army with success. So he reinforced 

the garrison of Mandu and then went to Chitor in order to obtain assistance 

from Rana Sahga. The Rana responded to his appeal,and arrived with a 

large force within a few miles of Ujjain. Meanwhile Mandu fell^^ before the 

attacks of the Gujarat troops and Muzaffar Shah began to march against Sahga. 
On hearing of his approach Sahga retreated to Chitor. The Gujarat army gave 

up the pursuit and returned home. Sahga prevented Medini Rai from 

committing suicide and regarded him as a “greatly trusted friend.**®^ The 

grateful Rajput chief rendered valuable help to his patron in his wars with 

Bahadur Shah of Gujarat and Babur. 

There is no doubt that Sahga’s policy in this crisis was determined by his 
desire to revive Hindu ascendancy in Central India. The allegations heaped 

upon Medini Rai by the Muslim historians do not survive scrutiny ; but even 

a cursory glance at the story of his amazing life makes it clear that he was 

determined to rule Malwa in the interest of the Hindus.®^ He did not “usurp 

the crown” because, if he did so, “the Kings of Gujarat, of Khandesh, and of 

the Deccan, uniting, would very soon reduce Malwa to their subjection.”®® He 
was satisfied with poiver unadorned by the crown, because he was wise enough 

to understand that the Muslim neighbours of Malwa would not allow him to 
establish a Hindu dynasty in Mandu. That he considered himself as the 

champion of Hindu interests in Malwa is further proved by his appeal to Rana 

28 The incident is described by Pirshte (Briggs, Vol. IV, pp. 84-86, 245-261) and in 
the Mirat-i’Sihandari (Bayley, Looal Mohammad^ DynaatiBB, Oujarat, pp. 247-62.) 

29 According to the Mirat-i^SVcandari^ the Rana agreed “to advance as far as Sarangpur, 

but said that afterwards he would act as circumstances should require”. (Bayley, p. 257). 
30 In 1518 A. D. according to the Mirai-%~8ikandari (Bayley, p. 258), but in 1519 A. D. 

according to Firishta (Briggs, Vol. IV. p. 261). 

31 Beveridge, Babur's Memoirs, p. 593.. 
32 Firishta says that “excepting the personal servants of the King, amounting to about 

two hundred, the whole of the office of government were filled with Rajputs’*. (Briggs, Vol. 

IV, p. 257.) 

33 Briggs, Vol. IV, p. 258. 
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Sanga, We are told that he “represented" to Rana Sanga “that in Hindustan, 

among the Hindus, there was no man greater than he, and that if he did not 

assist his own race, who else was to do so Sanga was already respected as 

the best man to “assist his own race,” and he did not disappoint his suitor. His 

failure to achieve success in the enterprise may be ascribed to the difficulties 

with which he was confronted. Probably he found the combined forces of 

Gujarat and MSwa too strong for him. He may also have been swayed by the 

fear which had prevented Medini Rai from usurping the crown of Malwa. If 

he placed Medini Rai on the throne of Mandu, the kings of Gujarat, Khandesh 

and ot the Deccan might enter into a grand alliance against the infidel.^*'" Such 

an alliance Chitor was not in a position to resist. So Sanga considered 

it wise to retreat,reserving fur a more favourable occasion his plan of striking 

a decisive blow in favour of the Hindus. 

In 1519 A. D. Muzaffar Shah returned to Gujarat, leaving 3000 cavalry 

to be stationed at Mandu. Mahmud Khalji now decided to wrest from the 

Rajputs those forts which they still occupied.^^ Chanderi and Gagrun were in 

the possession of Medini Rat's troops; and Bhilsa, Raisin and Sarahgpur were 

held by another Rajput chief named Silhadi. Mahmud Khalji marched to 

Gagrun. Rana Sanga came to meet him with “a powerful army" and “a great 

battle was fought" The Muslims were defeated, and Mahmud Khalji became a 

prisoner in the hands of the Rana. The Chivalrous Rana “caused him to be 

brought into his own tent, dressed his wounds, attended him in person, and 

showed him every mark of attention; and after his recovery, he furnished him 

with an escort of one thousand Rajput horsemen, and sent him to Mandu, 

where he re-assumed the reins of government."^® According to the Mirdt-i- 

Sikandariy the Rana's “tenderness" was inspired by his “fear of the Muhammadan 

Sultans whose dominions bordered on Mandu, such as Ibrahim Lodi, Padshah 

of Delhi, Sultan Muzaflfar of Gujarat, and others." This explanation of the 

Rana’s motive is not unreasonable, although it extols his cautiousness at the 

cost of his chivalry. Mewar was not yet strong enough to absorb Malwa and 

face the combined opposition of her Muhammadan neighbours. 

34 Bayley, p. 257. 

35 The ruler of Berar was **on friendly terms” with Mahmud Khalji. (Briggs, Vol. 

IV, p. 249). Sultan Sikandar Lodi had sent a force of 12,000 cavalry to help the Muslim nobles 

of Malwa against Medini Rai. (Briggs, Vol. IV, p. 253). 

36 It must be remembered that after the fall of Mandu and the death of 19,000 Rajputs 

in its defence, it was almost hopeless for Sanga to expect any assistance from the Hindus of Malwa 

(See Briggs, Vol. IV. p. 261, and Bayley, p. 258). 

37 Briggs, Vol. IV, pp. 262-63; Bayley, pp. 263-64. 

38 It seems that the Sultan’s son was kept as a hostage in Chitor (Bayley, p. 275). 

Babur says that the Sultan was made to surrender "a famous crown-cap and golden belt** 

(Beveridge, p. 613)* 
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Sooga came into direct conflict with Gujarat in connection with the affairs 

of Idar,*® a small Rajput principality situated on the borders of Gujarit, On 

the death of Surajmalf the throne of Idar was inherited by his minor son Rai 

Mai, who, however, was within a short time deposed by his uncle Bhim 

(Surajmal’s younger brother). Rai Mai took shelter in Chitor. Later on Bhim 

died and his son Bharmal^® became the ruler of Idar. Raimal grew up to 

manhood and recovered his ancestral state with Rana Sahga’s help*^ in or 

about 1514 A. D- Bharmal appealed for assistance to SultSn Muzaffar Shah of 

Gujarat Bhim seems to have been a vassal of the Sultan;^® the latter was, 

therefore, interested in maintaining his son on the throne of Idar. He ordered 

Nizam*ui-Mulk to drive Rai Mai out of Idar and re-establish Bhar Mai. The 

Gujarat army at first succeeded in driving Rai Mai to the hills, but in 1517 A. D. 

Rai Mai re-occupied his territory with the Rana’s assistance. In the meantime 

Nizam-ul-Mulk had been recalled and Nasrat-ul-Mulk placed at the head of the 

Gujarat army. He failed to achieve any lasting success against Rai Mai. So he 

was removed, and Mubariz-ul-Mulk was nominated to the office vacated by him. 

Local officers were not well-disposed to Mubariz-ul-Mulk; they “set themselves 

to watch for an opportunity of ruining” him. Mubariz-ul-Mulk seems to have 

been a rash and boastful man. Unable to tolerate the taunt of a wandering 

minstrel, he tied up a dog at the door of bis darMr and said that if Rana Sanga 

did not come to fight, he would be treated like the dog. On hearing the news 

the Rana marched to Idar. Mubariz-ul-Mulk appealed to Muzaffar Shah for 

reinforcement, but bis enemies at court concealed his letters till it was too late. 

Mubariz-ul-Mulk was persuaded by his associates to take shelter in Ahmednagar. 

The Rana captured Idar and approached Ahmednagar. The Muslims were 

severely defeated. Mubariz-ul-Mulk, severely wounded, took shelter in the town 

of Barni. “The Rana took the town of Ahmednagar, sacked it, and carried 

away captive all the inhabitants.” His officers requested him to plunder 

Ahmedabad, but the considered himself too weak to undertake such an 

enterprise. He advanced to Vadnagar and intended to plunder it, but the 

Brahmi^ inhabitants of the town requested him to spare it and he agreed. Then 

he proceeded to Visalnagar and plundered it. Sometime later the Rana left 

Gujarat and made a triumphal entry in Chitor. He had succeeded in establishing 

his protege in Idar and bis plundering raid must have made his name a terror to 

the people of Gujarat. 

39 Bayley, pp. 252-33, 264-70; Briggs. Vol. IV.'pp. 82-4, 87-90. 

40 Mai, according to Ou MWtA-i-BVmniari. 

[4i ^According to the Tobagat-i-AMari, Rai Mai was Sanga’s son-in-law. 

42 Mnsaffar Shah said "that Bhim had taken possession of Idar with his sanction" (Bayley, 

p. 232). Firishta (Briggs, VoU IV,' pp. 81-2) says that Bhim was defeated by Mtuaffar Shah's 

Mops aad saved Umsolf by paying money. 
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Next winter (1520 A. D.) Muzaffar Shah proceeded to take revenge on the 

Rana.** His arrangements left nothing to be desired. Many prominent amirs 

came to Ahmjdnagar. “The allowances for the whole array were increased 

from ten to twenty per cent, and a year's pay was issued from the treasury, 

so that every man might provide himself with what was requisite for the 

campaign.” The command was entrusted to Malik Aiaz, who promised to “bring 

back the Rana alive in chains, or scatter his life to the wind of death.” The 

Muslims invested the fort of Mandasor (1521 A. D.). The Rana came with 

a large army; but, finding that it was impossible to save the fort, he requested 

Malik Aiaz to conclude peace, “promising henceforth to do nothing inconsistent 

with submission and obedience.”^'* In the Muslim camp counsels were divided. 

Day by ddy the Rana’s strength increased; all neighbouring chiefs went to 

his support.*® But Sultan Mahmud Khalji of Malwa joined the Gujarat army. 

At last Malik Aiaz concluded peace with the Rana without informing Muzaffar 

Shah. Mahmud Khalji also came to terms with him, “on condition that the 

Rana gave up the Sultan’s son, whom he held a prisoner, and made a 

suitable present.” Malik Aiaz returned to Ahmedabad, and was coldly received 

by Muzaffar Shah “who gave out that, after the rains, he would himself renew 

the campaign.” In 1521 A. D.*^ “he commenced his intended expedition 

against the Rana and marched to Ahmedabad. There the son of the Rana 

brought to him the elephants and tribute agreed upon, so the expedition was 

given up." The Rana’s son was in all probability the leader of a mission of 

good will, and the ‘elephants’ and ‘tribute’ were hardly anything more than presents. 

Bahadur Khan,*® the second son of Sultan Muzaffar Shah was ambitious 

enough to covet the throne. Not satisfied with the Jdglr which his father had 

assigned to him, he left Gujarat and claimed the hospitality of his father’s enemy, 

Rana Sanga (1525 A. D.). Sometime ago Bahadur Khan had expressed his 

desire “to wrest the fort of Chitor out of the hands of infidels,*® and to make 

it over to the Musalmans, in retribution for what the accursed Rana had done 

at Ahmadnagar, when he slew so many Musalmans and carried their 

women away captive.” This sentiment, however, did not prevent him from 

accepting the “accursed” infidel's salt. We are told that the Rana “showed 

43 Bayley, pp. 271-75; Briggs, Vol. IV, pp. 90-95. 

44 Firishta says that Sanga “consented to acknowledge lealty to the crown ol'Gujarat," 

but certain “extravagant conditions” were connected with this overture. It is difficult to resist 

the conclusion that Sanga did not really intend to become a vassal of bis Muslim enemy. 

45 Silhadi, the Rajput Chief of Raisin, was won over by Medini Rai. 

46 For an explanation of his motive, see Bayley’s note on p. 273. Firishta says that Malik 

Aiat foresaw that “no co-operation could take place between him and the other Gujarat officers”. 

47 This is Firishta’s date. Bayley gives 1523 A. D. 

48 Bayley, pp. 277-78, 304-6; Briggs, Vol. IV, p. 96. 

49 He encceeded in realising his ambition after Sanga's death. 
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him ail possible attention** and the Ra^*s mother regarded him as her “son**. 

The prince’s rashness^^ made Mewar too hot for him, and he went to Mewat. 

Sultan Muzaffar Shah was succeeded in 1526 A. D. by his eldest son, 

Sikandar Shah. His younger brother, Lat!f “raised a considerable force.and 

appeared only to wait for an opportunity of declaring his pretensions to the 

throne.** Sikandar Shah sent Shiraz Khan to oppose him; “but hearing that 

the Prince Latif had gone to Chitor, the troops were directed to march in that 

direction, where they sustained a complete defeat.”®* Whether this defeat 

was inflicted by Rana Sahga or by Latif Khan’s troops we do not know, Chand 

Khan and Ibrahim Khan, younger brothers of Latif Khan, seem to have taken 

shelter in Chitor.®* When, after Sikandar Shah’s assassination, Bahadur KhSn 

came to occupy throne of Gujarat, he passed through Chitor, where he was met 

by Chand Khan and Ibrahim Khan. 

It seems that Sahga was determined to place Bahadur Khan on the 

throne of Gujarat. He refused to come to terms with the Gujarati nobles who 

were trying to oppose Bahadur Khan.®® At his instance Udi Singh, the ruler 

of Duhgarpur, helped Bahadur Khan,®* and intercepted the letter for help which 

the Gujarati nobles had sent to Babur.®® We may conclude, therefore, that 

Bahadur Shah had enough reasons to be grateful to Sahga for the valuable 

assistance rendered by him during the most critical period of his career. 

Ill 

Ibrahim Lodi. 

After his accession to the throne of Delhi in 1517 A. D. Sultan Ibrahim 

Lodi had succeeded in alienating the sympathy of his nobles. Troubles were 

going on in Delhi, and Sahga decided to take advantage of the Sultan’s 

difficulties. He attacked the fort of Chanderi®®, which occupied a strategic position 

to the east of Mewar, (This fort originally belonged to the Sultans of Malwa. 

After Mahmud Khalji’s accession one of his rival brothers named Muhammad 

Shah “laid hands on Chanderi and put it under Sultan Sikandar Lodi’s protection, 

who, in his turn, took Muhammad Shah’s side and sent him large forces. 

50 See an incident described in Bayley. pp. 305-6, 

51 This is Firisbta’s version (Briggs, Vol. IV, pp. 98-99), According to the Mirat-i-Sikandari^ 

Latif Khan received the support of the Raja of Munka (Bayley, p. 308). The Tabaqat-i-AlAari 

calls him the Raja of the jungles of Chitor. Latif Khan might have been assisted by a bill chief* 

Under the circumstances it is difficult to accept Sarada's statement (p. 93) that Rana Sanga sent 

a Sardar to drive Shiraz Khan out of Mewar. 

52 Bayley, p. 318. 

53 Bayley, p. 318. 

54 Bayley, p. 326. 

53 BHggs, Vol. IV, p. 102. 

56 Briggs, VoJ. IV,* p. 102, Bayley, 326. 
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Muhammad Shah survived Sultan Sikandar and died in Sultan Ibrahim*s time, 

leaving a very young son called Ahmed Shah whom Sultan Ibrahim drove 

out and replaced by a man of his own.”^^ Sahga succeeded in capturing the 

fort. The fort was given to Medini Rai, ‘‘the greatly trusted pagan/' who 

began to guard it with 4000 or 5000 soldiers. This incident must have happened 

between Sultan Muzzaffar Shah's capture of Mandu in 1518 A. D, or 1519 

A. and Sultan Mahmud Khalji's attempt to recover Chanderi in 1529 

A, D., unless we assume that Chanderi was seized by Sahga sometime before 

Medini Rai came under his protection. In any case, Chanderi could not have 

fallen to Sihga's troops before 1517 A. D., the year of Ibrahim Lodi's accession. 

It may be presumed that Sahga had something to do with Sultan Ibrahim 

Lodi's troubles with his nobles, for otherwise it is difficult to explain the Sultan’s 

determination to crush him. Sometime after the Chanderi incident the Sultan 

sent against him a large array under the command of Mian Makhan,®^ with 

whom were associated three other generals—Mian Hussain Khan Zar Bakhsh, 

Mian Khan Khanan Farmuli, and Mian Maruf—men who “could have instructed 

even Rustam in the art of war." The Rana advanced to meet the Muslims. 

Before the battle Mian Hussain Khan left the imperial army and joined the 

Rana. Sahga succeeded in inflicting a complete defeat on Mian Makhan. 

After the victory Mian Hussain and Mian Maruf fell suddenly upon the Rajput 

camp and captured a few elephants and horses^^. But the Rana's victory was 

decisive. His troops pursued the Muslims “as far as Bayana and so alarmed 

the Sultan that he advanced from Agra to the river. 

We are told by Tod that in two battles Sahga was “opposed by Ibrahim 

Lodi in person, at Bakrole and Ghatolli, in which last battle the imperial forces 

were defeated with great slaughter, leaving a prisoner of the blood royal to 

grace the triumph of Chi tor.” In the absence of any other detail, it is impossible 

to verify truth of this statement.®* Muslim writers do not refer to Ibrahim 

Lodi’s coming in person or to the capture of any “prisoner of the blood royal” 

by Rana Sahga. 

57 Beveridge: Memoirs of Babur^ p. 593. 

58 Bayley gives 1518 A. D., but Firishta gives 1519 A. D. 

59 Elliot and Dowson. Vol. V, pp. 16-20. 

60 This story narrated in the Tarikk-i-Salatan^i-Afghana, is rejected by Sarda (p. 62) on 

four grounds: (i) The Tarikh-i-Doudi and Wag%at^i~Mushtagi% do not record it, (ii) Mian Husain 

and Mian Maruf had only a small following, (wt) Sanga obtained a large part of Malwa and tracts 

up to Bayana, and (tu) Ibrahim Lodi had Mian Hussain assassinated soon sUter this battle. It may 

be remarked that (1) argumenium ea siletioto is hardly safe for historians; (2) the generals attempted 

a surprise attack; (3) Sanga, not being defeated by the surprise attack, could easily follow up his 

victory over Mian Makhan; (4) Mian Hussain's desertion of Mian Makhan deserved this punishment. 

61 Sarda (p. 62) says that Chanderi was captured after this battle. 

62 Sarda (p. 56) refers to a battle between Sanga and the imperial troop* near Khatoli 

(Tod*. Ghatolli ). "In this battte, tha Mahanua.loat hit left nna by a awofd cut, and an arrow mada 

him buna for Ufa.** 
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IV 

Babur. 

On the eve of his fatal contest with Babur for the supremacy of Northern 

India, Rana Sanga occupied a really unique position. We read in Bdbur^s 

Memoirs^^ that “not one of all the exalted sovereigns of this wide realm, much 

as the Sultan of Delhi, the Sultan of Gujarat and the Sultan of Mandu, could 

cope with this evil dispositioned one, without the help of other pagans; one 

and all they cajoled him and temporized with him.” This estimate of the 

Rana’s power and influence is not exaggerated. We have seen that he had 

twice defeated the troops of- Sultan Ibrahim Lodi of Delhi and snatched away 

from his hands important places like Chanderi and Bayana. He had defeated 

Gujarat troops more than once and plundered a large portion of Gujarat with 

impunity. He had helped Bahadur Shah to occupy the throne of Gujarat. So 

far as Malwa is concerned, Sahga’s victories were still more brilliant and 

fruitful. He had captured Sultan Mahmud Khalji and retained his son as a 

hostage. Babur says®^ that “in the downfall from power of the Mandu Sultans, 

he became possessed of many of their dependencies such as Rantanbur, 

Sarangpur, Bhilsan and Chanderi.” Within Rajputana Sanga’s ascend ancy was 

complete. His vassals ruled over Idar and Duhgarpur. Tod says, “The 

princess of Marwar and Ambar did him homage, and the Raos of Gwalior, 

Ajmer, Sikri, Raisin, Kalpi, Chanderi, Bundi, Gagrun, Rarapura and Abu 

served him as tributaries or held of him in chief.”®^ 

Such a ruler was eminently fit for restoring Hindu supremacy in Northern 

India. The moment was appropriate: the Sultanate of Delhi was tottering to 

its fall. Nor did Sanga lack in the patience and determination which are 

essential for success in such a dazzling but difficult enterprise. Since his 

accession he had been deliberately trying to strengthen his position by weakening 

his formidable neighbjurs, the Muslim rulers of Malwa and Gujarat. He had 

succeeded in a trial of strength* with Ibrahim Lodi himself. HeJiad invited 

Babur to occupy Delhi,so that he himself might easily “move on Agra.” 

After the Battle of Panipat Sanga felt that the moment, for which he had been 

waiting so long, had come at last. The Sultan of Malwa had been humbled; 

Sultan Bahadur Shah of Gujarat almost owed his throne to his support; 

63 Beveridge, pp. 561-62. 
64 Beveridge, p. 483. 

65 It is difficult to verify this statement, but Babur’s list of Hindu chiefs kiUed at Khanua 
includes Cbandraban Chauhan, Bhupat Raoof Chanderi, Manik Chand Chauhan, Dilpat Rao, 

Gaoga Singh, Karm Singh, and Daukusi, each of whom was ”a splendid and magnificent chieftain**. 
(Beveridge, p. 573.) ^ 

66 Beveridge, p« 5^9, 
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Ibraldm Lodi was dead; BSbur, the new-comer, was threatened by numerous 

Afghin chiefs in eastern and western India, and his position was still further 

weakened by the anxiety of his .lieutenants to leave India.*^ Sahga boldly 

decided to strike now. 
Sahga had promised to “move on Agra” if Babur came to Delhi from 

Kabul, but he gave no sign of moving even after the capture of Delhi and Agra 

by the Mughals.®® We may assume that Sahga did not intend to help Babur 

in occupying the throne left vacant by Ibrahim Lodi. His real aim was to 

seixe that throne for himself. That aim could not be realised without driving 

BSbur out of India.So Sahga began to advance towards Babur’s headquarters, 

and at the same time to strengthen himself by securing the alliance of the 

discontented Afghan Chiefs.^® He captured Kandar, a fort in Rajputana, 

from the hands of a Muslim chief named Hasan, who appealed in vain for 

assistance to Babur. Reports about Sahga’s “hostile and mischievous attitude 

began to reach Babur. Hasan Khan Mewati joined the Rana, although Babur 

had tried to conciliate him by releasing his son who had fallen into his hands 

in the fight with Ibrahim Lodi. Babur left Agra for the Holy War on 

February 11, 1527, and a few days later encamped at Fatehpur Sikri. Sahga 

captured Bayana and came **near and nearer the Mughal army. Babur s army 

“shewed sign of want of heart.” On February 25 Babur renounced wine. 

Then he made his nobles and soldiers take an oath that no one would “think 

of turning his face from this foe, or withdraw from this deadly encounter so 

long as life is not rent from his body.” Here we have the most effective 

testimony to the strength and reputation of the Rana. 

Tod says that sometime before the Battle of Khanua Babur tried to 

conclude peace with Sahga. “The negotiation had reached this point, that on 

condiUon of Babur being left Delhi and its dependencies, the Pila-Khal at Bayana 

should be the boundary of their respective dominions, and even an annual tribute 

was offered to the Ra^a. We can believe that in the position Bdbur then was, 

he would not scruple to promise anything.” Neither Babur nor any other Muslim 

chornicler refers to this story, but in view of Babur’s desperate position it cannot 

be rejected as altogether improbable.^' Whether Babur reaUy wanted to keep 

his promise, if he made it at all, is very doubtful. In aU probabiUty, he wanted 

to gain time, so that he might attack the Rana when circumstances were more 

favourable to him. The Ra^a acted wisely in rejecting the proposal. He was 

57 For Babur’s difficulties after Panipat, see Beveridge, pp. 523-25. 

68 Beveridge, pp. 52Q-30, 550-57. 
69 Of. Rushbrook Williams, An Emfir0^Bu%ld0r ofthM ISih p. 141. 
70 They wanted to place Mahmud Lodi, a brother of Ibrahim Lodi, on the imperial throne 

With the Rana's assistance. 
71 Rushbrook Williams (p. 156) says that Tod*s story has no stamp of truth upon" it, but 

ghree no raasoo lor this remark. 

89 I 
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fighting for the imperial throne, not for a fort or a province-,’’* and he coaid not 

conclude an enduring peace with the lu in who wanted to keep Delhi for himself. 

On the eve of the battle the number*of soldiers at the Rana's disposal 

was, according to Babur, more than two lacs.’® Tod says that SSng^ 

was (usually followed into the field by “eighty thousand horse, seven 

Rajas of the highest rank, nine Raos, and one hundred and four chieftains 

bearing the titles of Rawal and Rawat, with five hundred war elephants.”’* So 

far as the numerical strength of Babur’s army is concerned, the translator of his 

Memoirs remarks,’® “Babur’s army, all told, was 12,000 when he crossed the 

Indus from Kabul; it will have had accretions from his own officers in the Punjab 

and some also from other quarters, and will have had losses at Panipat; his 

reliable kernel of fighting strength cannot but have been numerically insignificant, 

compared with the Rajput host.” 

After numerous skirmishes the final battle’® took place at Khanua, a 

dependency of Bayana, on March, 17, 1527. The Rajputs were defeated. Many 

Hindu chiefs were killed. “Many fell dead on the field of battle; others, desisting 

from fighting, fled to the desert of exile and became the food of crows. Mounds 

were made of the bodies of the slain, pillars of their heads”” After the 

victory Babur gave up the ‘plan’ of “moving into the Pagan’s country.because 

of the little water and much heat on the road.” 

It is necessary to analyse the cause which led to Sahga’s defeat in the Battle 

of Khanua. Tod gives two reasons—the treachery of Silhadi and Sanga’s inactivity 

before the final battle. The story of Silhadi’s treachery is extremely doubtful.’® 

Neither Babur nor any other Muslim writer refers to the story. Again, instead 

of rewarding Silhadi for his alleged treachery to SahgS, Babur wanted to attack 

him soon after the Battle of Khanua.’* Finally, after Sanga’s death Silhadi 

allio/1 himself with his son and successor, Ratan Singh, against Sultan Mahmud 

Kbalji of Malwa. Tl^se facts, together with Babur’s statement that Bhupat, 

a son of Silhadi, died for Sahga at Khanua,®^ make it difficult for us to accept 

72 Sftrda(p. 138) remarks that Silhadi, who is said to have conducted the negotiations, 
was displeased because Sanga rejected the proposal ''though the Maharana had been offered 
more than what he had started fiom Chitor to^htfor.** What did the Rana start from Chitor 
to fight for—a slice of territory, or the crown of Delhi ? Sarda himself observes in another place 
(Foreword to his book) that Sanga wanted "to contest the crown of India". 

73 Beveridge, p. 562. 

74 This estimate seems to have been accepted by Smith. See Ootford HUtory oj ItidiA, p. 323. 

75 Beveridge, p. 547. Rushbrook Williams (pp. 152-3) says that "in effectives the Rajt ut 
chieftain outnumbered his antagonist by seven or eight to one", although "the average morale** in 
Babur's army was not good. C/. Ojha, pp. 686-88. 

76 For a description of the battle, see Beveridge, pp. 563-73, and Rushbrook Williams, 
pp. 149-56* 

77 Beveridge, pp* 572-3. 
78 See Beveridge: AekUic lUview, November, 1915; Rushbrook Williams, p. 156; G* C. Roy 

Cbow^ury, Oedautta Boview, December, 1934* Sarada (p. 145) accepts the story. 

' 79 Bevoridgei p, 590. Babur's plan did not mature. 
•0 Beireridge, p. 573. 
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Tod’s view about the part played by SilhadI in the Battle of Khanua. So far 

as Tod’s charge about Sahga’s inactivity before the Battle*^ is concerned, there 

seems to be a confusion between the preliminary skirmishes (in which Sahga’s 

army came out successful) and the final engagement. Babur’s narrative makes 

it clear that Sahga did not give him any respite during the final engagement, 

Sarda®* says that the battle was lost by the Rajputs because “an arrow... 

struck with such force on the forehead of the Maharana’’ that he lost his 

consciousness and had to be removed from the battle-field. Raj Rana Ajjaji, 

“who held the first rank among the nobles of Mewar,’’ occupied the royal seat 

on Sahga’s elephant, but he failed to prevent ihe rumour from spreading like 

wildfire. The bond of unity in the RSjput army was broken, and defeat 

naturally followed. This story, though supported by one stray couplet quoted 

by Sarda, is not mentioned by Tod (who says that the Rana was wounded), 

nor is it supported by any Muslim writer. 

Sahga’s weakness really sprang from different reasons. Babur clearly 

says that he was the leader of a “rabble-rout.”®® His supremacy over Rajputana 

wounded the clan sentiment of the average Rajput. The Rathors, the Chauhans 

and the Kacchawahas could not whole-heartedly accept the hegemony of a 

chief who belonged to a different clan. As Babur says,......“the Rajas and Rais 

of high degree, who obeyed him in this battle, and the governors and commanders 

who were amongst his followers in this conflict, had not obeyed him in any 

earlier fight or, out of regard to their own dignity, been friendly with him.”** 

SSnga was trying to impose on the Rajputs a new type of unity which went 

against the traditional politico-social organisation of the race. Nor could the 

*Hindupat' have expected whole-hearted loyalty and assistance from his new-found 

Afghan allies. Everything separated them—religion, tradition, ultimate object 

(for while Sanga wanted to establish Hindu ascendancy in Northern India, 

the Afghans aimed at placing a Lodi prince on the throne of Delhi); they were 

united only by a common emergency—the necessity of driving Babur out of 

India. Such an unnatural combination could hardly be effective against a 

group of men whose future in an unknown country depended upon cohesion 

and desperate courage. 

Another factor—purely military—contributed to Baibur’s success. There is 

no doubt that, as a general leading his men to a definite goal through definite 

means, Babur was far more able and far-sighted than his rival. Apart from 

this, these two great men were fighting on different principles of warfare. While 

Babur relied on artillery, and mobility, SangS depended on cavalry. Tod 

81 This charge is supported by Ojha (p. 691) end Sarda (pp. 138-9). 

82 Pp. 146-30. 
83 Beveridge, p. 361- 

94 Beveridge, pp. 361-2 
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says that BSbur’s '*artQIery made dreadful havoc in the close ranks of the 

Rajimt cavalry/* Babur’s experience of war outside India enabled him to strike 

a decisive blow against an antiquated system which prevailed in conservative 

India. As Tod says in another connection, “The use of artillery was now 

{i.e., in the reign of Vikramajeet) becoming general, and the Moslems, soon 

perceived the necessity of foot for their protection; but prejudice operated 

Irmger upon the Rajput, who still curses ’those vile guns, which render of 

comparatively little value the lance of many a gallant soldier." 

V 

Last Days. 

After the Battle of KhanuS “SShga retreated towards the hills of MewSt, 

having announced his fixed determination “never to re-enter Chitor but with 

victory.” His enemy gave up, for the time being at least, the ‘plan* of 

“moving into the Pagan’s country," but he tried to weaken the Ram by 

subjugating his Rajput Vassals. A few months after the Battle of KhanuS 

Babur started against Chanderi which was still in the possession of Medini Rai.** 

The fort occupied an important strategic position. Babur seems to have been 

doubtful about his own ability to capture it by storm, for he sent an envoy “to 

speak to Medini Rao with favour and kindness, and promise ShamsSbSd in 

exchange for Chanderi.” But “no adjustment of matters was reached, it is not 

known whether because Medini Rao did not trust what was said, or whether 

because he was buoyed up by delusion about the strength of the fort." The fort 

was then stormed and captured on January 29, 1528. Sanga seems to have 

advanced as far as Irej in order to attack the Mughals; but some of his 

ministers, unwilling to continue the struggle against Babur, administered‘poison 

to him.®^ Sanga died in, March or April, 1528.®® 

Sanga left MeiXrar weaker than he had found her. Externally, Babur’s 

strength was increasing day by day, Bahadur Shah was consolidating his 

position, and Mahmud Khalji was thinking of a war of revenge. Internally, the 

undue favour shown by S^a to his favourite wife Karametl and her son 

VikramSjit®® created dissensions within the royal family. The daxxling 

military and political success of the great Rina evaporated even before his death. 

89 Babiir tayt, "We had come to Chanderi, meaning, after taking it to move againat RKieing, 
Bhilean and Sarangpnr, pagan landa dependent on the pagan Salahnddin, and, these taken, to move 
on Rana Sanga in Chitor” (Beveridge, p. 998). 

86 Beveridge, pp. 989-97. 

87 The story of poison, thongh not mentioned by Babnr, is snpported by Abnl Fad. 

88 Ojha (p. 697) gives Janoary 30,1928. 
80 The Rana gave the important fort of Ranthambhor to Vikramajit. On his accession 

to the throne Ratsn Singh, the eldest of Saoga's sons, claimed it Karmetl and her sm sought 
and received Babur’s assistance, (See Nainsi and Beveridge, pp. 612-13). 
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JINA.MANDANA 

ORDEAL OF KUMARAPALA BEFORE ACCESSION 

Santimoy Baneiji, M, A., L. T., P. E. S., Mirzapur. 

Introduction—Jina-Mandana Gani, the worthy disciple of Soma-sundara 

Siiri, of great fame and belonging to the Tapagaccha sect composed a life of 

KumSrapala, the great Cdukya Sovereign of Snhilwada in V. E. 1499 (1442 

A. D.). Kumarapala according to Jina-Mandana ascended the throne in 1199 

V. E. (1142 A. D.). The biographical portion of this work is no guess work but 

a true historical account, so at least the Jain scholars think. This is regarded 

as an important biography of Kumarapala. 

The Ordeal of Kumdrapdla according to Jina-Mar},4ona.—King Jayasimha 

Siddharaja had reigned for many years with credit but no heir was born to 

him, so anxiously cherished by him arid ardently expected by his subject. His 

heart had become sore in consequence and he b^an to realize that the old age 

was dawning upon him and he was losing his youthful vigour every day. 

Siddharaja in order to propitiate the Gods conducted due worship of 

countless gods, heard the reciting of Puranas, Harivaihsa and other works 

but his heart’s desire relating to the birth of a son, was not fulfilled. 

He then started on a pilgrimage with Hemacarya. In order to reach the 

famous temple of Somanatha, he started for Devapurapatana now well known in 

Kithiaw^d as Prabhasa Patna. Siddharaja worshipped the goddess Ambika 

here and requested Suriji to enquire of the goddess as to who would 

succeed him. 

The famous saint fasted for three days; the goddess appeared before him 

and in reply to Siddharaja's query stated that no son would be born to him 

and that he would be succeeded by KumSrapala who would tom out to be a far- 

famed sovereign. Kumarapala and his brothers Mahipala and Kirtipala were the 

sons of Tribhuvanapala who was governing Dadhisthali (modern Dethli). 

Tribhuvanapala was the son of Ksemaraja, dder brother of Karna I who had 

resigned his claims to the throne of Anhilpafana in favour of his younger brother 

Kar^a I, in order to keep his father's words given to Karla's mother for his 

succession. 

SiddharSja returned to Patana with his heart rent asunder under the heavy 

pressure of sorrow and surmising that the removal of Kumarapala from this 

world would appease the gcd Somanatha, he entertained a deep grudge against 

the Prince. King SiddharSja Jayasiihba in ordw to remove KumSrapSla from 
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this earth, made a start with his kinsmen. He got his father Tribhuvanajrflla 

assassinated first. Kumarapala, having performed his oblation ceremony 

proceeded to Patani and there started making enquiries in the official circle 

regarding his father’s assassination. He got the clue from a person cognisant 

of official secrets that the Royal hand was involved in the assassination of his 

father. Kumarapala became fully alive to Siddharaja’s machinations against 

him and wanted to retire to a safe place by keeping his family with a relative. 

Having brooded thus, he attended on Kr^adeva (Kahandeva) his 

brother-in-law and revealed to him the whole story of the troubles he was in. 

Kahanadeva cited the instance of god Mahadeva who had satisfied his hunger 

by means of alms and advised Kumarapala to proceed on to foreign countries in 

disguise till the fates were pleased with him. Relevant news from the Royal 

Court would be sent on to him through spies from time to time. KumarapSla 

regarded this advice as quite sane and returned to Dadbisthali, his own place. 

Kumarpala left his wife Bhufaldevi and other members of his family at 

Dadbisthali, and having disguised himself as a Sadhu, with clotted hair on his 

head proceeded on to distant places. 

After a lapse of time he reached Patana in order to ascertain the trend of 

affairs in the Royal Court and joined with the Bharatakas in the Karnameru 

palace. The Bharatakas were cognisant of the anxious search initiated by 

Jaisimha Siddharaja for ascertaining the whereabouts of Kumarapala and one 

of them recognising him from the auspicious marks on bis person, appraised 

the king of Kumarapal’s presence in Patana. Thereat, on the second day king 

Siddharaja invited the Bharatakas at his palace. 

While washing the feet of the guest, he discerned the auspicious marks 

on KumarapSla’s body and desired to put an end to bis existence on the 

finishing of the banquet o| his guests. 

Kumarapala gauged the true import of Jaisiibha’s heart from his facial 

and visual expressions and sought for the means of escape. Jaisimha left the 

dinner hall for the store-house for a little while in order to make arrangements 

for the distribution of clothes to the Sadhus. This absence gave KumSrajAla 

the opportunity for escape. He slipped out from the hall on the pretext of 

Nausea and entered the house of a potter named Alingai The potter concealed 

him amid the heaps of earthen pots. At night a friendship was established 

between KumSrapala and the potter. 

Having returned to the banquet-hall from the store-house, Siddharija 

started the distribution of clothes and while doing so could not find KumSrapSla. 

The King flew into anger at once and ordered the commander of the Ro^al 

Forces to start iminediately for his scavcb and in case of failure warned him 
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that he would also meet with the same fate which awaited KumSrapIla. On the 

recdpt of this Royal Command, the General with a squadron of horsemen started 

in search of Kumarapala. Early in the morning Kumarapala started from 

PSfana for proceeding to a distant station. By chance the Royal Force also 

took up the same route which Kumarapala had taken, in order to arrest him. 

KumarapSla, from a distance, observed clouds of dust rising from the hoofs of 

horses and also heard of the neighing of countless horses. This at once gave 

him the impression that horsemen were in pursuit of him. 

Terror-stricken Kumarapala at once entered a garden of plum trees and 

there observed a peasant collecting the plum leaves and earnestly entreated 

him to adopt means for saving him. His entreaties softened the heart of the 

peasant and he put in Kumarapala among the heaps of plum leaves and on 

them placed heaps of thorns. Although suffering pain from the pricking of 

thorns Kumarapala lay among the heaps of plum leaves quite numb and mute 

like a dead man. 

The first man from among the King’s troopers approached the peasant 

and enquired of him whether he had witnessed any person passing that way. 

The peasant answered that he had no knowledge of it as he had been iquite 

engrossed in his work. The soldier scrutinisingly searched the neighbouring 

copses and pushed the heaps of plum leaves with his lance and it did not strike 

him at all that any man was concealed in the neighbourhood. Thus foiled in 

his searches, the soldier left the place. Siddharaja thus appraised of the 

fruitless search, issued forth the proclamation by beat of drums that he who 

would bring news of the whereabouts of Kumarapala would be duly rewarded 

and then despatched troops in all directions. 

At night, the peasant took out Kumarapala from the heap of leaves and 

thorns. His body was overflowing with blood and he had almost reached the 

condition of one about to breathe his last. Inspite of this pitiable condition 

Kumarapala thanked the peasant profusely for saving his life. 

Kumarapala then moved forward. Three days fast had almost emaciated 

him. He then came across with a merchant’s daughter who was going to her 

father’s house and joined her company. The merchant’s daughter entertained 

brotherly affection towards him and gave him Karomba to drink. This 

entertainment highly pleased Kumarapala. 

Later on, Kumarapala came to know that the merchant’s daughter was 

the daughter of Devasimha of the village of Umra and that her name was 

Devalri. While parting from her, Kumarapala gave her word that he regarded 

as his sister and that at the time of his accession to the throne of Gujarat, 

he would accept the Bhagini Tilaka at her hands. 
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Having uttered these words KumarapSla proceeded to Dadhi^thali. Here 

again be was besieged by the troops of Jayasimha SiddharSja. He then sought 

shelter among the heaps of bricks belonging to a potter,."named Sajjana. He 

was fully covered with bricks by the potter and there he lay as one dead and 

almost breathless. The troops searched for him on all si des and not finding 

him anywhere returned to their own places. KumarajSla was then taken out 

of the bricks at night by Sajjana, the potter. At night .they were joined by 

a Brahman named Bosri. On seeing Bosri, Kumarai»la addressed him and said 

that a man was termed Sajjana either from his name or from his action but 

the present Sajjana fulfilled his name both ways. King Jayasimha was till 

then displeased with KumarapSla and so the latter asked Sajjana to conduct bis 

family to Avanti and he along with Bosri proposed to go on a tour in the 

different provinces of India. 

KumarapSla, later on, sent away his family to Avanti and himself on a tour 

of the different provinces of India with Bosri, and having wandered over many 

tracts of land finally reached Cambay, the sacred city named also as KhambhSt 

(Stambhatirtha). At that time Hemacarya Hemacandra Suri had come to the 

exterior part of the city in order to answer the call of nature. He noticed there 

that a wild lizardiwas dancing on a serpant's hood and he surmised that a prince 

would be in the neighbourhood. On a close observation of the different directions, 

he noticed KumSrapSla approaching the city. KumSrapala however did not 

notice him. The Suriji brought him to the Upasraya with great respect' and 

talked with him on the basis of his previous acquaintance. KumSrapala enquired 

of him whether he would enjoy any happiness. 

Suriji then told KumSrapala that be would secure the throne on the fourth 

day of the dark fortnight (Rft ^K) Sunday the third quarter of the day in the 

month of Margaarsa in the Vikrama Year 1199. He also stressed his words 

by saying that he woyld give up foretelling if his words did not turn out 

true. He then wrote out on two papers the astrological calculations of the day 

and handed over one to KumSrapala and another to Udayana. KumSrai^la on 

hearing this reply stated that if these predictions proved out to be true he 

would hand over the kingdom to him and would serve him like a swan. 

Suriji stated in reply that being a Sadhu he needed no kingdom. If 

KumSrapala ever got the kingdom, be should simply extend the glory of the 

Jaina faith. KunuErapSla condescended to this request. 

Sfirijl then revealed to the minister full details of KumSrapSla’s identity 

and bis woes. Minister Udayana then took KumSrapSla to his house with great 

respect and honoured him with board and lodging. 

Knmirapila bad passed some time in the bouse of Udayana, when "liewi 
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regarding his recent whereabouts reached Jayasimha. Soldiers conducted their 

searches in Cambay ’whereon Kumarapala left the minister's house and reached 

the Upasraya of Hemacandra and sought^his protection. 

Suriji who was an incarnation of mercy thinking that Kumarapala would 

turn out to be a great ruler and a strong supporter of Jainism, made him descend 

through stairs in an underground cell and covered its door with heaps of books 

so that it might not be discovered. 

The soldiers in the ^course of their conducting the search of Kumarapala 

reached the Upasraya and on/the information supplied by some mischievous 

persons asked the Suri to hand oven Kumarapala as he had been hiding in the 

Upasraya. In such a critical time the saving of life was highly meritorious, 

whereas the telling of a lie not so sinful, and the Suri preferred the latter and 

said that Kumarapala was not in the Upasraya. 

The sepoys then wanted to examine the whole Upasraya and the Suri 

gave them full opportunity for satisfying themselves. The whole Upasraya was 

searched in detail and after this thorough search the soldiers left the Upasraya. 

Kumarapala could not be found by them. 

After the departure of the sepoys, Kumarapala was raised from the 

underground cell. Suriji asked him as to whether he heard the sepoys 

speaking. Kumarapala expressed his utter surprise at the timely utterance 

of the Suriji. He knew that it was stated that the Jaina faith was based on 

kindness and he had realized it in practice with reference to his own case. 

There were many who extended help in times of prosperity but Suriji appeared 

to be the only person who extended help in the time of adversity. He had 

already been attracted to the Suriji on account of his excellent virtues and had 

become devoted to him. But the Suriji’s saving of his life had turned him into 

a slave and previously he had promised to place the kingdom at the Suriji’s 

feet, but after his life had been saved by the Suriji, he placed his whole life 

entirely at his dispoal. 

From Cambay Kumarapala proceeded to Broach. Here lived a i.e. 

a reader of the future by omens. Kumarapala bowed at his feet and enquired 

when his good days were to come. At this time a black bird called Durga 

was taking something on the spire of the temple of Suvratasvamin. By turns, 

it went up to the spire, the pitcher and the banner and uttered its peculiar 

sound. The foreteller by studying the auspicious signs replied to Kumarapala 

that through the mercy of the Presiding deity of the temple, his desires would 

be fulfilled. 
From Broach Kumarapala proceeded to Kolhapur. Here he propiciated a 

Yogi named Sarvarthasiddhi and received two mantras from him one for 

getting his kingdom and the other for securing wealth. 

30 
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His desires being fulfilled Kumarapala bowed down to the Yogi and taking 

his leave proceeded on to Kantipur of the country of Kalyanakoraka. After 

staying here for a few days, he reached the borders of Kolambapattana. The 

king of this place had a vision of the goddess Mahalaksmi saying that 

Kumarapala, the future king of Gujarat, would be coming to his kingdom. 

Kum^apala came in course of time, and the king then in memory of 

Kum^apala’s visit built a temple after his name and also struck coins in 

his name. 

Kumarapala then visited Pratis^hanapura and other places and finally 

reached Ujjain and joined his relations there. 

One day while roaming in the city of Ujjain he entered the temple of 

Kundalesvara and there bowed down to the image of Parsvanatha. In this 

temple he discovered an inscription as follows:— 

fift a? I111I 

After the expiry of 1199, O King Vikrama, a king would be born named 

Kumarapala as powerful and glorious as your mightyself. This prediction was 

made by a Jaina Saint named Siddhasena Divakara. 

Staying for some time at Ujjain he proceeded with Bosri and his wife 

Bhupaladevi to Da4pora and from here proceeded on to Chitor or Citrakvlta. 

He then proceeded on to Kanauj. Here no taxes were levied on mango 

fruits and he determined to do the same after his accession. 

From Kanauj he proceeded to Kashi. He contracted friendship with 

a merchant. After a day’s friendship the merchant suddenly died and having 

had no sons, his whole property was confiscated to the state. Kumarapala then 

decided that on his acc^ion he would stop this practice. 

From Kasi Kumarapala proceeded to Rajagfha and from here to 

Nagendrapattana. From this place he proceeded to Ujjain and then to 

Siddhapur. Here at Siddhapur, he learnt of the death of Jayasimha Deva 

and proceeded on to Patana. His brother-in>law Kf^nadeva having heard of his 

arrival, made suitable arrangements for his entry into the city. 

Siddharaja was dead and a convocation of ministers, generals and 

feudal nobles asked the claimants to the throne to appear before it. Kfsnadeva, 

the brother-in-law of Kumarapala brought him to the Court with his brother. 

The first claimant appeared before the assembly with folded hands and 

enquired of the members as to what was required of him. He was, therefore, 

declared unfit by the election board. 
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The second claimant presented himself practically shivering and he had 

no knowledge that his cloth had slipped down from his body. He was in 

consequence declared as an unsuitable candidate by the Board. 

KumSrapala approached the Board last of all. He did not exhibit any 

nervousness at all, went straight to the royal throne and sat on it. 

The Election Board of ministers, generals and feudal nobles then regarded 

him as the suitable person for succession to the vacant throne and his coronation 

ceremony was performed on Vikrama Samvat 1199, the month of Marga 4 dark 

fortnight, Pusya Nakstra. S^hridevi perfonned the Tilaka ceremony. Minister 

Udayana was promoted to the Premiership. His son Vagbhata became the 

Private Secretary Alinga Potter received the Jagir of Chittor or Citrakuta. 

His descendants are still known as Sagre Rajputs. 

Bhima Singh, the protector of Kuraarapalas life in the heap of plum leaves 

became his chief body guard. Brahman Bo^ri was given the Lata country as 

a gift from the king. S^ridevi obtained Dholka. Bhupaladevi became the 

Chief Queen. The Bania who had given grams at Baroda was granted Baroda 

as a fief. Although Jina-Mandana is silent about Sajjana, I think he was 

appointed as Chamberlain of the Imperial Palace by the king. This guess has 

been made on the supposition that Kuraarapala had deputed Sajjana to take his 

family to Ujjain and there to remain in charge of it. So it seems that to look 

after the household affairs of the king was his chief duty. 

Having heard of Kumarapala s accession, the great Suri Hemacandracarya, 

returned to Patan from Karnavati. Due ceremony was observed for his 

entrance into the city. Kumarapala received him warmly and represented to him 

j.that his accession was entirely through his grace and that the Suriji should 

take over the charge of the kingdom from him. 

The Suriji said in reply that Sadhus did not require any kingdom. If 

Kuraarapala could promote the interest of the Jaina faith by spreading its glory 

everywhere, he would be doing the right thing to propitiate him. 
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AN EXAMINATION OF SOME THEORIES ABOUT THE 
VAKATAKAS. 

Y. M. Kale, Buldana. 

The history of the Vdkdtakas is yet by no means complete. AH the 
available material has however been scrutinized and the results summarised in 

Dr. Jayaswal’s history. These results cannot be said to be generally accepted 

by Scholars and before they are crystallised into standard works, it is necessary 

to examine them more critically. 

The Myth of Vindhyasakti 

The name of Vindhyasakti as the founder of the Vakataka family finds 

place in a solitary source of information, viz., the Ajanta inscription in Cave 

No. XVI. It is curious to find the mention in an inscription of such a later date 

practically the last in chronological order, in the reign of Harisena, the last 

known King of this family. This again is a description given by a minister and 

is not contained in any of the official records such as copper plates issued by the 

Kings themselves. None of the numerous official records before this date make 

any mention of this Vindhyaakti but start with Pravarsena I. If the family 

took pride in its Puranic founder, they would not have failed to make mention 

of Vindhyasakti. The ardent desire of tracing one’s family to some Puranic 

hero is common to all the important families in India and in this particular case 

it seems that the minister Varahadeva outbids his master’s zeal in this respect. 

The existence of this Vindhyasakti is itself thus very doubtful. It is note* 

worthy that all the names of the Vakatakas end in “Sena" unlike that of 
Vindhyasakti. ^ 

Connection with the Puranic Vindhyasakti 

The identity of this Vindhyasakti with the one of the Purinas is still more 

doubtful. The origin of this theory finds place in a passing remark by the late 

Dr. Bhau Daji and subsequent writers pursued the cue with remarkable 

ingenuity. Every reference to this name in the Puranas was strained to suit 

this pet theory in the reverse order of logical deduction. It was wrongly 

assumed that the failure of the PurS^ic writers to notice such an important 

imperial family as the Vakg^aka was well*ntgh impossible. Possible reasons for 

not making mention of the Vgkataka family were not explored by these writers. 

If the Puranas wanted to make mention of this imperial family, iUs not 

known why th^ fought shy of the name of VakStakas and should have selected 
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other names such as Vindhyakas or Kailakilas, which were certainly less famous 
than the Vaka^akas. 

The real reason of the Vaka^^tka famUy not being mentioned in the Puranas 

iS| as indicated by Dr. Pargiter, that the Matsya Purana ends with downfall of 
the Andhras and makes mention of the northern Kings only. Other Puranas 

base their description from the Matsya and similarly do not profess to describe the 

southern Empires. The Vakataka Empire was pre-eminently a southern Empire. 
All historians are now agreed that the Vakataka Empire comprised the whole of 

Maharas^ra including the Marathi-speaking districts of the Central Provinces. 
The extension of this Empire upto Bundelkhand, as shown by the Nachna 

inscription does not show that it was a northern kingdom. Its capital was, as 

will be shown later, somewhere in Berar or near Ajanta. The Vakataka Empire, 
in addition, must not have attained much celebrity before the Matsya Purana was 
written and came into prominence long after this Purana was written. 

The locality in which Vindhya^kti and his son Pravira are said to have 

ruled, according to the Puranas seems to be in the heart of Northern India as 

will be seen from the context and cannot by any stretch of imagination be 

supposed to be Deccan. Even the name Vindhyakas does not seem to refer to 
the locality of Vindhya mountains but to the family of Vindhyasakti of the 

Puranas. The connection of the Vakataka family or its founder Vindhyasakti 

according to the Ajanta inscription with the Vindhya^kti of Puranas is thus 

based on unconvincing material and should be rejected. 

The caste or Varna of the Vakatakas 

The Vakataka kings are said to be Brahmans by caste. This conclusion 

seems to be correct on the basis of only one piece of evidence as will be shown 

presently. But the several reasons assigned by Dr. Jayaswal to corroborate this 

fact are not satisfactory. The performance of a sacrifice named Brhaspati-sava, 

which is restricted to the Brahmans according to the Siastras is assigned as a 

corroborative evidence of the Brahmanism of this family. This can be refuted 

by the fact that religious performances are performed by Ksatriyas through 

their Brahman priests but the merit always goes to the Ksatriya Yajamana who 
for all practical purposes is taken to be the performer of that sacrifice. Secondly 

that the Gotra of the Vakatakas Visnuvardhana is a purely Brahman Gotra is 

no reason to take them to be Brahmans as the Ksatriyas have always adopted 

the Gotras of their preceptors.^ The only satisfactory reason, however, is that 

the founder of the dynasty Vindhyasakti is describad in the Ajanta inscription 

1 It most be noted that all the known marriage connections of the Vikitaka princes were 
with Ksatriya fairilicE but this can be explained away as "annloma** marriages were ip 

vogue then. The name*end “Sena** does not eoom to be Brahmanicgl, 
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a3 a "Dvija.” If Vindhya4akti was real personage and not a mythical one, this 

inference is conclusive. But even if he is a mythical person I am inclined to 

hold that it implies a consciousness in the mind of the minister Varahadeva that 

the family of the Ruler was a Brahman family as must have been generally 
accepted in those times. On this ground alone, the Brahman Varna of the 

Vakafakas should be reasonably accepted. 

The identification of Pravarapura. 

The locality of Pravarpura, the capital of the Vakatakas, has not yet been 

traced. The identification of the place seems to be given up as hopeless. I 

think the matter is not so hopeless if the possible change of the name according 

to Prakrit grammar can be traced. The name ‘Pahur’ agrees with the possible 

change from Pravarapura^ and if this is accepted by scholars the Pravarapura of 

the Vakatakas can be traced out of the numerous towns of that name in Berar, 

Khandesh or Marathi C. P. There is one place of this name in the border of 

the Amraoti and Yeotraal districts of Berar which seems likely from the 

antiquities of its surroundings. Most of the copper plates of the Vakatakas are 

found in Berar or Marathi C. P. and it is likely that the capital was situated in 

the midst of these regions. The Amraoti district of Berar was then the cradle 

of ancient civilization of the Deccan. The second possible place is Pahur 

near Ajanta, The proximity of this place to Ajanta where three Vakataka 

inscriptions can be found tempts one to hold that the place is probably the 

Pravarapi^of Vakatakas. But places of this name are so numerous that searching 

local vffetigation by the Archselogical department by way of excavations is 

neceteary. A large uumber of places bearing this name however goes to show 

that the name was once very popular and in place names we always see a 

tendency to copy. 

TAe origin of the name Vakataka. 

The origin and the meaning of the name Vakataka have baffled all attempts 

at solution so far. It is not, however, impossible to hazard a possible derivation. 

The name was possibly derived from VatSkata. Kata or Kataka is a usual 

sufflx like Pur or Nagar to denote a place name. Vata or a banyan tree has 

supplied many place names like Vatapura, Vadanagar, Va^agSoh, etc. VStSkafa 

according to the rule of transposition in Prakrit Grammar would become 

Vakataka and one belonging to this place would be certainly Nakataka. This 

solutiem is by no means conclusive but is offered as a possible one. 

2 Pravarapura—Pavarpur—Pavarur—Paoor. 
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THE EASTERN GANGA ERA, ITS INITIAL YEAR. 

R. Subba Rao, M. A., L. T., Lecturer in Hi»tory, 
Government Arts College, Rajahmundry. 

Introduction. 
Ten years ago, when the writer of this article was elected as the Editor 

of the Kalinga-Desa-Caritra, Published by the A. H. R. Society, Rajahmundry, 

he had occasion to study the various Copper-plate and stone Inscriptions 
published by several scholars. In subsequent years he studied several hundreds 

of stone inscriptions written in Telugu and published in the S. I, Epigraphical 

Reports and Inscriptions Volumes and also himself deciphered and published 
several C. P. charters in the Journal of the A. H. R. Society. 

The views expressed by several European scholars like, Dr. Fleet, Dr. 

Hulztsch and Dr. Kielhorn and Indian scholars like Messrs. G. Ramadoss, R. D. 
Benerji, P. Saty anarayana Raja-Guru, on this problem of Gahga Era were 

closely examined a nd found wanting. It was the discovery and publication by 

this writer of the Jirjingi C. P. grant of Indravarma of 39th Gahga Era in 

Volume III of J. A. H. R. S. (1928) that enabled him first to come to the view 

that the Gahga Era was started some time at the end of the 5th Century A. D. 

This view was expressed in his Telugu work Kalihga-Des'a-Caritra published 

by the A. H. R. Society in 1930. 

The purpose of this article is to summarise the different views of Scholars 
and to criticise the same and to reiterate the author's view that the Era started, 

not before but after the fall of the Imperial Guptas of Magadha, sometime 

nearabout 495-96 4. D. 

His view has now been held to be correct by several scholars like Prof. 

K. V. Subramanya Ayyar (Retd. Epigraphist), Prof. Nilakantha S^astri of the 

Madras University, Mr. J. C. Ghosh, Dr. D. C. Sirkar and Mr. B. V. Krishna 
Rao, Editor of J. A. H. R. S. 

It is earnestly hoped that the Indian History Congress of Allahabad 

will discuss and settle the problem finally so that the initial year of this hitherto 

little known East Ganga Dynasty might be adopted in all the Text-books as 
true and final. 

The Gangeyavamsa Samvatsara, or The Ganga Era. 

All the inscriptions of the Early Ganga kings discovered and published so 

far including Madhukamarnava’s which probably belong to the period A. D. 500 

to 1000 A. D. are found inscribed on copperplates only and they number nearly 

twenty-five. In all these C. P. grants, the kings describe themselves as 
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belonging to Gangamalakula i. e. the pure clan of the Gahgas and this is probably 

intended to distinguish the indigenousness and the purity of their tribe against 

the mixed and the MLECCHA or foreign character of the other Indian ruling 

tribes of the period. Similarly, they used an Era of their own which is 
differently termed in the several grants. Thus, the terms, Gangeyavarii4a- 

pravardhamana-vijaya-rajya-samvatsara (the year of the augmenting victorious 

rule of the Gahga Line), Pravarddhamana-vijaya-rajaya-samvatsara, (the 

year of the augmenting victorious rule) Vijayarajya-samvatsara (the year of 
the ‘victorious rule), Pravarddhamana-rajya-samvatsara (the year of the 
augmenting rule,) Pravarddhamana-samvatsara (the augmenting year), the 

Gangeya-vamsa-samvatsara (the year of the Gahga Line), all appear. Though 

they appear in so many different forms, we may take it that they all refer to an 
Era of the E. Gahgas called the Gahga Era. It is significant that while the 

Calukyas of the Dekkan and the Kadambas and the Gahgas of Mysore used 

the S^aka Varsa, the early E. Gahgas adopted the Gahga SAMVATSARA, 
probably to emphasise the purity and the individuality of their own Line. It 

is peculiarly noteworthy that of all the Dynasties that ruled over various parts 

of India, this Dynasty alone preserved its individuality and independence for 
over nine long centuries, i. e., from about A. D. 500 to A. D. 1434. The Gahga 

Era, like the other Eras of the time, denotes the foundation independently of 
a powerful kingdom and in my view, the Gdfigas became independent in Kaliilga 

SOON AFTER THE FALL OF THE GUPTA EMPIRE AT THE CLOSE OF 
THE 5TH CENTURY just like the Valabhis in Malwa, the Maukharis in Bihar 

and the Calukyas in the Dekkhan. At the time of Samudragupta’s invasion, 

about 349 A. D., Kalihga was divided into several small divisions over which 
petty chiefs ruled. They were defeated by him but again restored to their 

places on their becoming tributary. So long as the Gupta Empire lasted, the 
situation must have refuained the same but after its downfall, the E. Gahgas 

rose and asserted their independence and started, in token of it, an Era of their 

own. The earliest kings did not refer to the Gdiiga Era. But ‘Maharaja 

Devendravarma, son of Anantavarma and his son, Maharaja Satyavaroaa were 

the first kings that expressly referred to the fifty-first year of the Gdfiga Bra in 

their C. P. grants and this practice was continued by their successors. 
Hastivarma of 80 G. E. and Indravarma of 87 and 91 G. E. claimed, in their 

C. P. inscriptions, to have conquered the whole of Kalihga (sakala-Kalihga) and 
taken up the title of (Rajasiihha) Lion of Kings and to have firmly established 

the Gahga Dynasty in Kalihga. Possibly, the Gahga king IndravarmA who is 

the Donor of tho Jirjingi Grant of 39tk year (G. E.) and who alone has the 
title of ‘TRIKALINGADHIPATI* among all , the Early Gahga Kings, 
might be the Founder of the Dynasty. While he was a Tri>KalihgSdhipati, 

his successors were Sahala-KaUiig-ddhipatis. 
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Unfortunately, the starting point of the Era has long remained a matter 
of discussion and doubt. In their Grants, the kings simply referred to th 

Ganga Year and the PUNYA-KALAS such as solar and lunar eclipses, the 

Visuva and the Uttarayana Sahkrantis, the months, the pak^s and the 
TITHIS but not to the names of years which alone would enable scholars 
successfully to equate the Ganga year with the corresponding Christian oi 
Saka year. While noticing the C. P. grants of Indravarma, son of Danari^va 
in S. I. Ep. Report for 1913-1914, p. 71, Dr. L. D. Swamikannu Pillai remarked 

that the particulars of time noted in the Grant would not be sufficient to fix up 
the regnal period of the king in terms of Christian or S'aka years. Similarly, Dr. 
Hulztsch while editing the C. P. grant of Devendravarma, son of Gunarnava 
wrote thus;—“Unfortunately neither of the two dates (noted in the grant) contains 
any elements which admit of verification and which might thus help to fix the 
initial point of Gangeya Era.** 

However, scholars like Dr. Fleet depended upon the astronomical data^ 
given only imperfectly in the C. P. Grants, though they also relied at the same 

time on Palceography which is rather an uncertain handmaid of history and 

on Synchronism which is suggested in Prthvimiila’s Godavari Plates. In editing 
Indravarma’s C. P. Grant of the Ganga Year 128^ he stated thus:—“It is possible 

that this king is identical with the Adhiraja Indra, who is mentioned in the 
Godavari Plates of Raja Prthvimula as combining with other chiefs and 
overthrowing a certain Indrabhattaraka who must be the E. Calukya king of 
that name (A. D. 660) and that it is the period to which this and the two grants 
of 146 (it is really 138) and 91 may be allotted on palaeographical grounds and 
“on account of the use of numerical symbols in the date and the omission 

to specify the lunar fortnight of the month; and with this to start with, the 
mention of the eclipse of the moon may perhaps serve, on calculation, to 
determine the date of the grant exactly.” Again, while noticing the grant 

of Devendravarma on p. 274 in the same volume, he wrote thus: “I have 
already suggested that, on historical as well as palceographical grounds^ 
Indravarmd of 128 and 146 {138) may be referred to about Saka 579 to 582 

(A, D. 657-660), Taking 136 as the mean between the two certain dates of 
Indravarma and taking this as equivalent to S^aka 280, this would bring 
Devendravarma to about S'aka 696 (A. D. 77-773). And this is about the latest 

period to which, on palceographical grounds, the grant of the year 254 can 

be referred)\ 
Finally, however, while editing the Parlakimidi Plates* of Maharaja 

Irdravarma of 91st year, he remarked that the Indra of the Chicacole grant of 
128 year may be the grandson of the Indra of these Plates “and as regards the 

1 Ind. Ant. Vol XIII, pp. 119-122, 

2 Ibid, Vol. XVI. pp, 131—134- 

31 
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Bra, it is Odiigeya Era but its EPOCH STILL REMAINS TO BE DETERMINED. 

••• and it is possible that the Indra who defeated IndrabhattSraka may be this 

king in which case the lunar eclipse mentioned in the grant of 128 year should 

he Uxdted to in the period 627-725 A. D for its precise determination." 

This last hint thrown out by Dr. Fleet was thoroughly examined by 

Mr. G. Ramdos, B. A., who finally found that none of the eclipses recorded in 

the Ganga plates fell during the period suggested by Dr. Fleet. 

However, he put forward his own views based on historical and 

paleeographical grounds. Firstly, because Samudragupta conquered Kalinga in 
349‘350 A. D., he stated he would have freed it from out of the hands of the 

Pis^pura kings who formerly ruled over it and granted it to the E. Gangas 
who consequently called their Era, the Year of the Victorious rule, which 
therefore began in 349-350 A. D. Secondly, comparing the alphabet of the 

plates of the E. Gangas with that of the Gupta and Kalacuri grants, he came 

to the conclusion that the Initial year of the G&figa Era should be placed betveeen 

the years 349 A. D. and 350 A. D. 

But both these arguments fall to the ground. It is impossible to believe 

that the Guptas would have allowed the Gangas to found an Era of their own 

during the zenith of their power and rule which lasted till the close of the 5th 

century A. D. It is equally unsafe to rely on the palseographical comparison 

as it is not Ly itself a sure and safe handmaid of history. For instance, among 
the Ganga plates themselves, those of 51st year were considered to be later 

than those of the 254th year by a comparison of the characters only 1 

While Dr. Fleet stated that Indravarma of 87 and 91 G. E., should be 

considered as having fought with Indrabhattaraka of the E. Calukya Line who 

lived in A. D. 663, Dr. Kielborn suggested that the same Ganga King should be 

considered as having fought with Indrabhat^araka of the Visnukunt^in Line. 

This suggestion wa^ accepted by Dr. Dubreuil® who further stated that the 

Ganga Indra of 87 and 91 years might have surely fought with the Visnukun^in 

Indrabhattaraka in the BEGINNING OF THE SIXTH CENTURY. But he claimed 

the victory for the Visnukun^in king as against the express statement to the 

contrary contained in Pf'thvimula’s Godavari Plates (vide J. Bom. R. A. Soc. 

Vol. XVI, p. 116). 
Prthvimula, son of Prabhakara, in his 25ih regnal year, issued an order 

from Kandali to the Ras^rakuta chiefs of the District of Talupaka granting 

the village of Cuyipaka situated amidst the four villages of Vilendi, Renguta, 

Kamparu and Tukura. THE GRANT WAS MADE AT THE INSTANCE OF 

kino indra, the conqueror of INDRABHATTARAKA. Indrabhattaraka, 
the Donor of the Ramatirtham grant, who belonged to the Vi^ukup^in dynasty 

3 Vid$ his Ancient History ol Dekkan^ pp. 76 and 91. 
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was the ruler of South Kalihga (Visag and Godavari Districts) and Vehgi about 

the period A. D. 500-530. He is described in the Grant as having defeated 

in hundred thousands of battles several four-tusked elephants (Airavatas of Indra). 
The Godavari plates also state that Indraraja, seated on his elephant Supratika 

and heading a powerful confederacy of princes struck down the elephant Kumuda 

on which Indrabhattaraka was seated. Now SUPRATIKA is the nanae of the 

elephant of North-Eastern region and KUMUDA is the name of the elephant 

of South Western region. It is clear therefore that King Indravartnd of N. E. 

region, i. e., North Kalihga defeated Jndrabhattdraka of S. W. region, i. e.. South 

Kalihga and Vehgt. Probably, South Kalihga formed the bone of contention 

between the two kings and Indra of Gahga Line succeeded in wresting it from 

out of the Visnukundin King’s hands. Therefore only, the Chikkulla plates of 
his successor, Vikrmendravarma mention Dendalur or modern Dendulur near 

Vehgi as the capital of the Visnukundin dynasty, though the Ramatirtham plates 

mention Puranisahgam in Visag District as the Capital. Evidently, the Gahga 
king succeeded in pushing his Visnukundin rival across the'River Godavari. 

Since this Visnukundin Indrabhattaraka ruled from A. D. 500 to 530, 

it follows, according to the statements of Drs. Kielhorn and Dubreuil, that the 

Gahga Indra of 87 and 91 G. E. lived and ruled at the same time and so the 

Gahga Era would begin about 440 A. D. But this is not so. The discovery of 

five new inscriptions has thrown considerable new light on this di^cult problem. 
Of these, the Jirjingi Grant of Indravarma of 39 G. E. is the most 

important.^ The King is termed TRIKALINGADHIPATI (Lord of the Three 

Kalihgas), a title which is not met with in any of the Gahga grants upto the 
time of Vajrahasta (&aka 960). The letters are box-headed and therefore belong 

to the beginning of the 6th century A. D.® The king is also described as the 
victor in several battles of four-tusked elephants and as the thousand-fold sun 

in the sky of pure Gahga family. In my opinion, it is this king that is referred 

to in Prthvimula’s Godavari Plates as having defeated I the Visnukundin 
Indrabhattaraka. If so, his 39th year would synchronise with A. D. 530 or THE 

GANGA ERA WOULD BEGIN ABOUT 490-49J A. D. or nearabottt. 

The second important Grant is that of Madhukamarnava of G. E. 526.® 

Like his immediate successor Vajrahasta whose accession took place in S^. 960, 

he too granted some villages to Vaisyas. According to the genealogy and 

chronology contained in Vajrahasta’s plates, which' are approved by all scholars 

as historical and trustworthy unlike some of those contained in the Grants of his 

grandson Anantavarma Choda Gahga, MadukamSrnava ruled from A. D. 1019 

4 J. A. H. R. S., Vol. in. Part I. pp. 49-53. 

3 The grant was published by me and Prof. K. V. Snbramanya Iyer (Refd. Qovt. Epigraphist) 
who examined the plates and agreed with my views. 

$ C. F. Ho. 3 in S. I. Ep. Report for 1919-19, 
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to 1037. If the Madhukamarnava of G. E. 526 is, as I have taken, the same 

as this king who ruled from A. D. 1019 to 1037, then, THE GANGA ERA 

WOULD BEGIN ABOUT 493 A. D. assuming that the king made his grant in 

the first year of his accession. 

The third important Grant is the Puliraburu C. P. grant of Madhavavarma 

III? It was discovered along with a C. P. grant of Jaysiihha I* of the Eastern 

Calukya Line who ruled from A. D. 633 to 663 and who granted the same village 

of Pulimburu to the son of the donee of the Grant of Mddhava-Varmd HI. From 

this fact, it has been possible to fix the close of Madhavavarma’s rule as falling in 

the BEGINNING of 7th century A. D. The importance of the grant lies in 

the fact that it was made while crossing the river Godavari with a VIEW TO 

CONQUER THE EASTERN REGION, r. c. KALINGA. This shows that 

Kalinga which was under Visnukundin rule in the time of Indrabhattaraka 

passed into the hands of the E. Gahgas and hence the necessity of this invasion. 

The regnal periods of Indrabhattaraka and his Ganga contemporary Indra I 

of G. E. 39 could also be roughly fixed as falling in the first quarter of the 

6th century A. D. From this IT FOLLOWS THAT THE GANGA ERA 

STARTED ABOUT 490 A. D. or thereabout. 

The fourth important inscription is the Simhapura Copperplate Grant 

of the Kadamba king Dharmakhedi of the Ganga-Kadamba year 520®. 

Dharmakhedi is de.scribed as the Mahamandalika of Devendra-brahma (varma), 

son of Ananta-brahma (varma) of the E. Ganga family. From his capital 

Jayantipura, in MahendrabhOga Visaya (Kfodern Mandiisa Zamindari in Ganjam 

District), he ruled over five districts with the title of Mahendradhipati (Lord 

of Mt. Mahendra). In Ganga-Kadamba-varnsa-pravarddhamana-vijayarajya- 

samvatsara-PancasataviihsAttare, 520, he granted the village of Dharmmapura 

in Mahendrabhdga to two Vedic Brahmans, The Gdfiga-Kadamba Era may 

rightly he identified^ vbith the Gdfiga Era as the Kadambas were but the 

feudatories of the Gdfigas and as they referred in loyal terms to their suzerains 

in all their grants. In this Grant, a short genealogy of the Kadamba Donors 

and their Ganga suzerains is given as follows : 

Kadamba Kings E. Gdfiga Kings 

Niyamava 

r 
Bhamakhedi Anantavarraa 

1 ■ I 
Dharmakhedi Devendravarma 

It appears from the above grant that Dharmakhedi of G. K. Era 520 lived 

in the reign of Devendravarma. 
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Lastly, from the fifth important inscription newly'® published under the 

title of “THE MANDASA PLATES OF ANANTAVARMADEVA OF Saka 

913,“ we get the following genealogy of the Kadaraba and the Ganga rulers ;— 

Bhamakhedi 
I Anantavarma 

Dharmakhedi (Vajrahasta) 

The titles of Dharmakhtdi, the donor of this Grant, are the same as those 

of the previous one and it is therefore clear that the G. K, Year 520 which is the 

same as the Ganga year 520, corresponds to S^aka 913 or A. D. 991 approximately. 

In other words, the Gdhga Era started about Saka 393 or A. D. 471. 

The following genealogy and chronology, supplied by all the C. P. Grants 

of Anantavarmd Vajrahasta III and several of Anantavarmd Chodagdhga 

enable us in getting still nearer the starting point of the Gdhga Era. 

1. Gunamaharnava Maharaja S. 816 
I 

2. Vajrahasta I 44 Yrs. (S'. 816—860) 

I__ 
1 n. “ 1 

3. Gundaraa 4. Kamarnava 5. Vijayaditya 
3 Yrs. (S'. 860-63) 35 Yrs. (S'. 863—98) 3 Yrs. (S'. 898—901) 

I 
6. Anantavarma Aniyankabhima Vajrahasta II 35 yrs. (S' 901—936) 

^ ^ 

7. Kamarnava 8. Gundama 3 Yrs. (S'. 938—941) 9. Madhukamamava 
i Yr. (S'. 936—37) 19 Yrs. (S'. 941—950) 

10. Anantavarma Vajrahasta III 35 years (accession in S'. 960) 

11. Devendravarma Rajaraja I 8 Yrs. (accession in S'. 992) 

12. Anantavarma Chodaganga (accession in S'. 999=A.D. 1076—77) 

Dharmakhedi, son of Bhamakhedi of the Mandasa Plates of the time of 

Anantavarma of S'. 913 appears to be identical with Dharmakhedi, son of 

Bhamakhedi and grandson of Niyarnava of the Simhipura Plates of 

Devendravarma dated in Ganga-Kadamba Era 520. Since Anantavarma of the 

plates is said to have been crowned in S'. 901, he must be identified with 

Anantavarma Aniyankabhima Vajrahastadeva (S'. 901—S'. 936), the 6th king in 

the Genealogical tree and Devendravarma of Simhapura Plates with Kamarnava, 

the 7th king who is the eldest son of the 6th king and who ruled in S'. 936. The 

titles of Anantavarmd and Devendravarmd were apparently used for all the 

Kings alternately from Vajrahasta I to Chotjagafiga. The 9th King of the 

Line, Madhukamarnava made a grant in 526 Ganga Era as noted already. Hence 

the following Ganga-Kadamba Chronology and Genealogy can be arranged 

from which wo get the initial year of the Era in 494—95 A. D. 

10 J. B. O. R. S., Vot. XVII, pp. 175—188. 
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(Kadamba) Siihhapura Plates. Later Gdfiga Plates. 
Niyarnava Kamarnava 

J l‘ 
Bhamakhedi 6. AnantavarmS 

I Aniyanka-Bhima 
I Vajrahasta Deva 
I S'. 901—936 

Mandasa 
Kadamha Plates, 

Bhamakhedi 

I ' 
Dharmakheqi 

S. 913 

Dharmakhedi 7. Devendravartna 8. Gundama 9. Madhu K^mdrnava 
Ganga-Kadainba Kamarnava (S*. 938—941) 

Year 320 (S'. 936—37) (S', 941—960) 
I Gdfiga Era 596 

10. Anantavarma Vajrahasta (S'. 906—992) 

Thus, Dharmakhedi of S' 913 and Gahga-Kadamba year 520 lived in the 

reigns of 6 and 7 (Anantavarma Vajrahasta and Devendravarma Kamainava) 

and so his Gahga-Kadamba year 520, which is the same as the Gahg.i year 520, 

corresponds to S'. 936. If so, the Gahgayear 526 mentioned in Madhukamacnava’s 

Plates corresponds to S'. 942 which is the second regnal year of the king, 

/fence, the initial year of the Gdhga or Gdhga-Kadamha Era fulls in S. 416*17 

or A. D. 494-95. 

In Indian Antiquary Vol. XXI for December 1932, Mr. J. C. Ghosh 

expressed the view thit the dite A. D. 495 96 would satisfy the astronomical 

data found in certain Plates mentioning Solar eclipses and suggested it as the 

true initial year of the Gahga Era.^^ 

In J. A. H. R. S , Vol XI, Parts 1 and 2, pp. 19-32, Mr. B. V. Krishna Rao, 

the Editor of the Journal, published an article on the C ^mmenczment of the Gdfiga 

Era and after examining several astronomical data arrived at the conclusion 

that it commenced in the month of Srdavana or Bhadrapada in S'aka 419 or 

August 497 A. D. 

Mr, D. C.'Sirkar^supports my view in his article published in J. A. H, R. S., 

Vol. VII, pp. 229-30 and states that the initial year might be 496 A. D. 

Conclusion :—There are several views thus on this question. But the 

consensus of opinion is veering round the date fixed by me nearly 8 years ago {495 

A. D.), But still there are scholars like Dr. R, C. Majumdar who hold the view 

that the Gahga Era was started between A. D. 550 and 557 and that the Early 

Gahga rule ended in the 10th Century.'^ But this view is opposed to history, 

Palaeography, Synchronism and Inscriptions and so should be rejected as baseless. 

11 I accepted the view and adopted it in my article, '*The inUiaX year of the little knyum 
St. Qanga Era*’ which was contributed to the O. J. Commemoration Volume published in 1934* 
1 stated therein that since the Imperial Guptas fell in A. D. 495 and since the Maukharis also, who 
rose on the ruins of the Guptas, founded an Era of their own in A. D. 495, the E. Gangas also would 
have founded the Era in 495*96. 

\Z Vide his Outline of the History KdUnga, reprinted from the Dacca University smdi^t 
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THE RELATIONS BETWEEN THE RASTRAKUTAS AND THE 

EASTERN CALUKYAS FROM 747 A. D TO 925 A. D. 

Dr. K. R. Subramanian, M.A., Ph. D., 
Maharaja’s College, Vizianagaram 

As long as the Rastrakutas ruled over the Deccan, they did not allow 

peace in the Eastern Calukyas of the Andhra country because the Calukyas 

were their foes. 

Dantidurga was the first to conquer parts of the Andhra country. Krsna I 

and Govinda invaded Vengi. 

The Eastern Calukyan king Vijayaditya II fought hard against Govinda III, 

who helped Vijayaditya’s brother Bhiiua Salukki. He is said to have warred 

for 12 years with the Rat^as and the Gahgas. He is said to have fought 108 

battles and built 108 temples to Siva. 

His son Kalivisnu seems to have died early in a battle with the Ratta. 

His second son Vijayaditya III was a greater warrior than even his grandfather, 

Vijayaditya II. His youngest brother Yuddhamalla sought the help of the 

Rastrakuta against his brother Vijayaditya III. 

Vijayaditya III had to meet a confederacy of all the Dekkan potentates. 

His general Panduranga first reduced the Boya forts of Nellore, captured 

Kattepudurga and reconquered Vengi from the Ratta. The alliance among 

Krsna, Sankila, Mangi, and the Ganga was then dissolved by the Military 

power of the Andhra king. The three cities Kiranapura, Acalapura and 

Nellurupura were burnt. The southern Tamil powers also joined in this war 

against the Eastern Calukyas. Vijayaditya had a triumphant progress through 

Kalinga, Bastar, Cedi, Malwa, and the Ratta kingdom. 

After the death of Vijayaditya III, the Ratta king Krsna II set up 

rivals to Calukya Bhima. Bhima routed Krsna and his allies, the Lata king 

and the Chalukya Baddega. Vijayaditya IV planted a pillar of victory at 

VirSjapuri after defeating the Ratta. 

The Rastrakuta king Govinda IV was a contemporary of as many as 

eight Eastern Calukyan kings. As usual he led his army into Vengi. Amma I 

drove away his enemy, killed his troublesome cousins and shifted his capital 

from Vengi to Rijahmundry. 

Hostilities between the Rastrakutas and the Eastern Calukyas continued 

for another 50 years. The Rattas never failed to create trouble for the Eastern 

Calukyas till they were overthrown by the Calukyas of Kalyapi. 
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THE DATE OF SRI MADHVACARYA 

Dr. M. Rama Rao. M. A., Ph. D., 

Hindu Colleffe« Guntur 

S^ri Madhva Acarya is the illustrious founder of Dualism, one of the three 

main systems of Hindu Vedanta. The date of this great Acarya is still a matter 

of controversy and even savants have assigned to him dates obviously absurd. 

There is a difference of nearly a century between the various dates that are 

assigned to the life-time of this great teacher. 

The Mababharatatatparyanirnaya, one of the literary works of S^ri Madhva, 

states that he was born after the lapse of 4300 years of the Kali Era. This 

corresponds to 1199 A. D. The Acarya is known to have lived for eighty years. 

Accordingly, he wculd have flourished between 1199-1279 A. D. This date is 

untenable for three reasons. (1) It is far too early. (2) It differs radically 

from the incontrovertible evidence of the inscriptions of S^ri Narahari Tirtha, one 

of the direct disciples of the Acarya. (3) Some important events in the life of 

the Acarya, which contain specific references to certain contemporary events 

and persons, become inexplicable in accordance with this date. 

The records preserved in the Madhva tnafkas founded by the Acarya 

himself, are the second source of our information. They mention that he was 

born in S'aka 1040 and it follows from this that he passed away in 1198 A. D. 

There are several objections to this view. (1) It conflicts with the evidence 

of the literary source mentioned above. (2) The mafha records originally 

contained only cyclic years and the B^aka dates were inserted subsequently. 

There is no agreement between these two sets of dates and this formulates a 

pontifical rule of 64 years for the seventh successor of the Acarya, which is an 

absurdity. 

Mr. Rajpurobit has'recently propounded a sensational theory assigning to 

the Acarya a lifetime of 64 years between 1199-1257 A.D. There are many 

serious objections to this view. (1) It is against all the literary and traditional 

sources which state that the teacher flourished for eighty years. (2) The last 

of the two dates is the result of an artificial manipulation and invidious selection 

of part of the matha chronologies. (3) It presupposes an untenable identification 

<rf I^varadeva, a contemporary of the Acarya. (4) It involves a conflict with 

the clear evidence of the inscriptions of S^ri Narahari Tirtha. (5) It confuses 

several definitely known events in the lives of S^ri Madhva and S>ri Narahari 

Tirtha. (6) It postulates unwarranted changes in the order of pontifical 

succession after the Acarya. 

The Anu-Madhva-vijaya, the Vayupura^a, the S'ri Madbva-vijaya, fhe 

inscriptions of ffri Narahari Tirtha and contemporary history help us in 
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determining the correct date of this Acarya. The literary sources mentioned 

above are agreed in stating that S^rl Madhva was born in the cyclic year Vilambi 

and one of them equates this date with 4339 Kali which corresponds to 1238 

A. D. The inscriptions of S^rl Narahari Tirtha indicate that he was converted to 

the Dualistic school and initiated into the ascetic order by the Acarya prior to 

1264 A. D. The events of the life of the Acarya - from the time of his birth to 

that of his meeting with and conversion of S'ama Siastri (subsequently ffri 

Narahari Tirtha) as recorded in his authentic biography, indicate that the Acarya 

was about 25 years old at the time. The political condition of northern India 

as referred to in the Acarya’s biography agrees perfectly with the condition that 

prevailed in the time of Sultan Balban of Delhi, 

For these and several other reasons, I conclude that S^ri Madhva Acarya 

flourished for eighty years between 1238-1318 A. D. 

FOUNDATION OF THE REDDI KINGDOM. 

Dr. M. Rama Rao, M. A., Ph. D. 

The fall of the imperial Kakatiya dynasty of Warangal after the capture 

of Prataparudradeva by the Mohammadans in 1323 A. D. was an event of 

immense significance in the history of the Dekkan and south India. Numerous 

kingdoms arose on the ashes of the Kakatiya empire and the history of the 

Dekkan between 1323 and 1336 A. D. i.e., from the fall of Warangal to the rise 

of Vijayanagara, is the history of the struggles of these small kingdoms. Of 

the many political successors of the Kakatiyas, the Reddis played a prominent 

part in the history of the Andhra country. The circumstances that led to the 

foundation of the Reddi kingdom form the subject of this paper. 

After the capture of Prataparudradeva, Prince Ulugh Khan, the 

Mohammadan general, set up one of his subordinates as governor at Warangal 

and returned to Delhi. Immediately after his departure, Hindu reactionaries 

mustered strong under the leadership of Kapaya NSyaka, drove away the 

Mohammadan governor and recaptured Warangal. 

Elsewhere, on the East coast, Prolaya Verna, a Reddi general of 

Prataparudradeva, rebelled against the authority of the Kakatiyas as early as 

1320 A. D. and occupied Dharanikota on the river Krsna. Obviously, he was 

extending his influence in this region with greater courage after 1323 A. D. 

Further up, on the northern bank of the river Godavari, there was a 

similar reaction. Prince Ulugh Khan visited this city in 1324 A. D. on his way 

back to Delhi, captured it and stationed there another subordinate of his as 

governor. A certain Prolaya Nayaka gathered the scattered Hindu forces, drove 

away the Mohammadan governor and rescued the city. His successor Kapaya 

32 
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Nayaka was more aggressive, conquered considerable portion of the East coast 

and subjugated 77 local chieftains including Prolaya Vema. He held sway 

over them for a short time. 

There was another theatre of activity in the Guntur district. The Muslim 

historians state that Prataparudradeva died as a captive while on his way to 

Delhi. But this statement seems to be unreliable. There is a strong tradition 

in the Andhra country to the effect that the monarch was liberated and returned 

to his native country. One inscription of 1326 A. D. and another of 1330 A. D. 

refer to him as ruling in those two jears while another record mentions 

unequivocally that he died as a freeman. Still, the return of this monarch was 

inconsequential and could not check the forces of disruption which were already 

wide-spread. Recherla Rudra, one of the famous subordinates of this king, 

seems to have been holding the Narasaraopet taluk of the Guntur district in the 

name of his overlord till 1326 A. D. 

Prolaya Vema became independant after the death of Prolaya Nayaka 

mentioned above in 1325 A. D. but his further ambition was checked on account 

of the presence of Rudra. So, Vema shifted to the hill fortress of Vinukonda 

but even here he was not quite free. He therefore retreated farther south to 

Addanki. From there he conducted many raids into the neighbouring region 

and annexed considerable territory up to S^risailam. After the death of Recherla 

Rudra in or about 1326 A. D. Vema subjugated the whole of the modern 

Guntur district. 

Thr date of this important event can be determined more or less accurately. 

The traditional accounts, which describe the rule of the Keddi kings, mention 

the duration of their rule variously as 105, 100 and 95 years. Epigraphical 

evidence indicates that the Reddi territory was conquered by the kings of 

Vijayanagara by 1422 A. D. After the death of Recherla Rudra, the coast was 

clear for Vema. There Is reason to assign greater validity to the traditional 

version of 95 years for Reddi rule. The interval between 1326-1422 A. D. 

mentioned above, agrees perfectly with this version. I therefore assign the 

foundation of the Reddi kingdom to 1327 A. D. 

THE HINDU CONCEPTION OF SOVEREIGNTY 

IN THE MIDDLE AGES. 

Professor K K. Basu, M. A., 

T. N. J. College, Bhagalpur. 

' The article is based on ROjanlti~RatrUtkara of Candesvara—a Sansktit 

worie, written in the second half of the Fourteenth Century. 
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The characteristics of the work lie in the fact that it brings into court the 

Dharmasastras and the Dharraa Law Digests written between the 11th and 

14th centuries and discloses the existence of a variety of Law Digests like Harifa 

and Naradiya that have been exclusively drawn upon by the author. 

The present paper deals with the origin of kings, traits of kingship, 

classification of the kings, virtues of the kings, daily routine of the kings and 

other allied matters. 'i--, 

THE HISTORICAL IMPORTANCE OF POET 
SRINATHA’S WORKS 

V. Narayan Rao, M. A., L. T., 
P. R. College, Cocanada. 

S'rinatha was one of the greatest of the Telugu poets who lived in the 

second half of the 14th and the first half of the 15th century. His works throw 

a flood of light on the political economic and social conditions of the period. 

His works Haravilasa and Kasi-khanda give a fairly good account of the Reddis 

of Kondavidu and the Reddis of Rajahmundri respectively. Even such details 

as the way people dressed and ate have been graphically described by the poet. 

THE HISTORICAL IMPORTANCE OF PRATAPA-RUDRIYA 
OF VIDYANATHA. 

V. S. Ramchandra Murtii M. A. (Hons.)^ Andhra University. 

The work was written by Vidyanatha the Court poet of Kakatiya monarch 

Prataparudra oftentimes wrongly called Rudra II, The work is important 

because it is a contemporary authority for the Kakatiya dynasty which rule^ for 

about three centuries over the Andhra country. Its historical importance lies in 

the fact that it forms the source from where we can learn the religion, the social 

conditions and foreign relations of the Kakatiyas. The work is divided into 

nine Prakaranas or Chapters. They are the Nayaka Prakarana, Kavya Prakarana, 

Nat^ka Prakarana, Rasa Prakarana. In the 5th and 6th Kavya-guna-do^ 

have been discussed. In the 7ih and 8th S^abdalankara and Arthalankara are 

dealt with. In the last chapter Ubhayalankara is discussed. The work as 

indicated from the first chapter seems to have been written during the later part 

of the thirteenth century. The work helps in solving the most disputed problem 

of Kakatiya dynasty—the question being whether the Kakatiyas were Ksattriyas 

or SiQdras. A careful study of the work reveals that they were S^udras and were 

elevated by their court poets to equality with Ksattriyas. Many inscriptions 

also prove that they were S^udras, 
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PratSparadrIya is solely responsible for clearing the misconception ereated 
by the foreign traveller Marco Polo who wrote that Rudramba was the consort 

of KSkati Ganpati. The fact that she was the daughter and not the wife of 

KSkati Ganpati was revealed by this work. The relations of the Kakatiyas 
and the Yadavas are also clearly indicated in this work. 

THE EASTERN GANGAS OF KALINGA AND THEIR ORIGIN 

R. Subba Rao« M. A., C. T. 

Government Arts College, Rajahmundry 

GShgas originally belonged to the Gahgetic Valley and lived there from 

the 4th century B. C. onwards and about the third century A. D. they moved on 
first the (Eastern) Gangas from Gangavadi to Kalinga and then the (Western) 

Ganges also from Gangavadi to Mysore. Dr. Fleet’s and others’ statement 

identifying Gangavadi and Kolahalapura with places of the same name in Mysore 
is incorrect. That the Kalinga Gangas were a branch of Mysore Gangas is also 

incorrect. As stated in the later inscriptions of the western Gangas of Mysore 

their origin is to be traced in the North. References to them are to be found 
in the works of classical writers whose writings are based on Megasthenes’ Indika. 
References are to be found in Rufus’s History of Alexander, MCrindle’s ‘Ancient 
India’ and Ptolemy’s Geography and also the Jain work, Parisista Parvan, and 
MahSbodhi'Vamsa. According to the account of Pliny in his Natural History 

the Gangas seem to be a branch of the Kalingas. Thus the Gangas according 

to Greek and Roman writings of the period 4th cent. B. C. to 2nd cent. A.D. 
were a Gangetic tribe living in the Gangetic Delta and a part of Bengal 

and Bihar and that is why it was called the Ganga tribe. The inscriptions bear 
testimony to the fact and prove that the Gangas of Kalinga were a northern race 
and bad littletto do with tfie Gangas of Mysore. 

WHO WERE THE PANDYAS OF MADURA 

Kalipad* Mitra, M.A., B.L., Principal D. I. College, Mongheyr 

The seal on the grant of the Pandyan Kings bore an emblem of two 

fishes, and so, according to Rev. Heras, had all the kings of the Minas who 

formed the bulk of the population of Mohenjo Daro. Nayadhamma Kaha gives 

a l^endary account of the foundation of Madura, according to which 
mpdavas were exiled by Kjsna and founded Madura or Pandu-Mathura. 
Two MathurSs, one in the North and the other in the South, have been 

mentioaed as two beautiful sister cities in the story of Annikaputra m 

Pari^taparvan, Local tradition also seems to corroborate the fact that Madura 
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was associated with the Pandavas. In the western Arcade of the great temple 

of Madura there are statues of five Pandava brothers. But Sanskrit Grammar 

distinguishes them from the Pandyas. Katyayana adding a Vartika Pd’i}(}or-4ya't} 

to a Sutra of Panini gave the form Pandya and not Pandava. Krsna-Pandu 

legend got into an intricate tangle. Megasthenes mentions of Pandaea as a 

daughter of Krsna. The country which was given to her to rule in the South 

became known as Pandya Kingdom. Pliny also repeated the same fact. 

Dr. Bhandarkar pointed out that Hindu Epic or Parana does not know of any 

daughter of Krshna of the name of Pandya. According to him Pandua was a 

tribe living near Mathura and a section of them went to the south and got settled 

there. There was such a tribe in the north of India, Pandoonoi in the Punjab 

according to Ptolemy and Pandus of Madhya-de^ according to Varahamihira 

(A. D. 6th cent,), Bhandarkar says they were Aryans. Pargiter says they 

descended from Dusyanta who had been adopted by King Marutta of Turvasu 

lineage. The question has to be answered. 
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FEROZ SHAH’S FISCAL REGULATIONS. 

Professor Sri Ram Sharma. 

Our information about the pre-Mughal Administrative System in India is 

admittedly very meagre. It is not to be wondered at, therefore, that there are 

still many dark corners therein where it is difficult for us to gain very much 

even if we take a good peep thereat. The information about the various aspects of 

the administrative machinery lies scattered about in the various chronicles which 

give us tantalizingly few hints about the methods of administration as a whole. 

One subject, however, receives more than its due attention from time to 

time. The fiscal regulations of various kings and rulers are described at some 

length, either when changes are introduced, or when a judgment is passed on 

the work of a ruler. The question of interpreting the various passages describing 

fiscal arrangements, however, presents many difficulties mostly because we do not 

know much about the background of many of these regulations. It is intended 

here to discuss only a part of this large question, the Fiscal Regulations of Firoz 

Shah’s reign. 

To understand what Firoz Shah did we have to go back a little. The 

traditional fiscal methods were rudely changed by Ala-ud-Din Khiiji. It is not, 

however, very easy to understand what he actually did. At one place we are 

told that he introduced the system of measurement, that he demanded one half 

of the produce as the share of the state, and that in addition to the land revenue, 

he imposed a grazing tax as well.^ Elsewhere, however, we are told that the 

Hindu (peasants ?) were so squeezed that they were not left with more than 

their yearly subsistence. It is wrong to hold, as Moreland does, that these 

latter measures concerned the Hindus of the upper classes alone. Ala-ud-Din 

is manifestly describing the measures that he took for the purpose of subduing 

the Hindus in general. Are we right in holding then that the payment of 

the land revenue at the rate of one half of the produce, plus an unspecified 

grazing fee along with the customary payment of the Jizya, left not more than 

their bare subsistence with the Hindus. But exactly what did this subsistence 

consist of ? The passage of Barni leads one to suggest that they were not 

allowed to store corn, milk, and other provisions. Leaving this aside, we do 

not know what part was played by measurement in the assessment of land 

revenue. Our records are silent again. Was a schedule of demands per bigha 

for every crop adopted ? If so, how was it prepared ? Was land revenue 

collected in cash or kind ? When land revenue was paid in cash, how was it 

calculated ? Were local prices or standard prices used for this conversion ? 

1 Barni, 207—292. 
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AIa>ud>Dia discontinued the payment of salaries - by jagirs. How was the 

cash necessary for the payment of salaries in cash obtained ? These are some 

of the questions on which one would like some definite information. 

The next stage in the story of the revenue organization comes in the reign 

of Ghias-ud-Din Tughlaq. Again the only definite thing that we know about 

him is that giving up the use of measurement as an aid in the assessment of 

land revenue he reverted to the method of sharing the produce of the crop. 

There is not much difference between what he aimed at and what Ala-ud-Din 

had tried to attain. The Hindu (peasant) was neither to enjoy affluence enough 

to become refractory nor was he to be ground down to a dead level of poverty 

which should make it impossible for him to pursue his hereditary calling, 

cultivation. The headmen seemed to have been paid by holding rent-free lands 

in the villages.^ 

When we pass on to the reign of Muhammad Tughlaq, we get either too 

vague or too unintelligible information. He is said to have increased the land 

revenue tenfolds. As such it would have been several times the produce of the 

land instead of being a share thereof. No peasantry would have stood it least 

of all the Indian peasantry which knew that the state depended on the income 

from the lands they cultivated. 

We may assume then that Feroz Shah Tughlaq inherited the system of 

Ghias-ud-Din as modified by the practices of Muhammad Tughlaq. He seems 

to have ignored the fantastic experimentation of his predecessor’s reign. Barni 

uses almost the same language in describing his system as he had used earlier 

for the reign of Ghais-ud-Din Tughlaq. We are told® 

UoXiK J UOjjli J iS Oi ji 3 

This is almost a paraphrase of what has been said earlier in the reign of 

Ghias-ud-Din. We have there* 

tWjjG y liy) y (;)4^ 1.3^^ ^ y liBj ^^3^ 

i_i3L« y 0l> 

Both the systems described here represent 'Batai*. Ghias-ud-din is said to 

have relieved the cultivators from innovations (Ala-ud-Din’s use of measurement ?) 

-and divison based on averages taking into consideration bumper crops and crop 

failures. Feroz Shah is described as having relieved the peasants entirely from 

-sharing, increments in demands, crop failures, and figures based on surmises. 

Barni further adds that an additional cess on land revenue was remitted.® Afif 

2 Bomi, 429, 

3 Bwiil.374. 
4 Bwni.329, 
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describes the settlement of land revenue in Delhi as being settled on the principle 

of the ‘rule of observation* and credits the king with the remission of customary 

cesses like 5 JS besides the remission of the advances 

made to the peasants by his predecessor.^ We are further told that the revenue 

of the kingdom was settled at 6,75,00,000 tankas and that this was not varied 

during the forty years of Feroz Shah's reign.'^ 

We have thus three statements about Feroz Shah’s land revenue system. 

It was based on the principle of ^Hukm-i-HasiV according to Barni and 'Hukm i- 

Mushahda" according to Afif. The total revenue was fixed in cash for the 

Doab as well as the entire kingdom and it remained the same throughout his 

entire reign. Hukm-vHasil and Hukm i-Mushahda are two terms used by two 

authors. Do they imply the same thing ? Hukm-uHasil undoubtedly means the 

principle of sharing the produce. Hukm^uMushahda would be the principle of 

observation. Moreland has suggested that Hukm-i-raushahda might be appraisal 

or kankut. It would then be one of the methods in use when Batai is practised. 

The state, it seemed, claimed its share of the land revenue, not by claiming a 

share of the harvest when it had been cut and gamed. It based its demand on 

an estimate of the total yield arrived at while the crops were still standing. 

Now the *KanktU* enables the state to claim a share in kind of the crops 

cultivated. The money value of the revenue so collected would vary with the 

crops sown and the area under cultivation. It may be presumed that ordinarily 

the Indian cultivators, mostly practising subsistence farming, would go on 

cultivating the same crops and that the cropped area each season would not vary 

very much. Ordinarily such a presumption may be safely made. But Feroz 

Shah’s reign came after the stormy days of Muhammad Tughlaq when the 

cultivators had been so much ’ harassed and troubled and when a good deal of 

the land had gone out of cultivation as well. We are assured elsewhere by Afif 

that as a result of Feroz Shah’s beneficient reign, new villages came to be 

established and more land was brought under cultivation. What happened to 

these lands ? Was any land revenue charged thereon ? Of course the 

settlement of the land revenue, we are told, took six years. Naturally the lands 

brought under cultivation during these six years might have been included in 

the estimate of the total revenue of the land. But the problem of an unvarying 

land revenue in cash still remains unsolved. Even the same crops on a 

constant cropped area would not always produce the same cash value unless the 

prices remained constant. Are we to assume then that during the entire reign of 

Feroz Shah prices remained the same? That would be a very tall order 

5 Barni 576. 

6 AS! 01 & 94. 
7 296 aiid,94. 
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particularly when we remember that Alaud-Din had to set up a definite 

economic organization of his own to secure that the commodity prices fixed 

were not interfered with. If the level of prices was apt to remain the same 

during the mediaeval period, we would not have found Ala-ud-Din taking much 

elaborate precautions for securing the success of his price fixing machinery. 

They reveal that he had the fear of changing prices constantly in his mind. 

But without any machinery of such a type it was impossible for Feroz 

Shah to secure the sameness of prices throughout his reign. If that is so, the 

statement of Afif about a never changing total of 1 ind revenue in cash in the 

Doab and also the entire kingdom must assume another meaning. Is it possible 

that despite Barni’s statement about Batai being the method of land revenue 

in use, some other method of land revenue may have been adopted by Feroz 

Shah? Such a method would be the usual Islimic mode levying a definite 

amount of land revenue in cash on a particular area. We know that Feroz 

Shah was a very strict follower of the Islamic regulations even in matters of 

raising taxes. Several unauthorised taxes were abolished by him. He levied the 

irrigation dues only when he had been assured by the ‘Learned in law’ that 

these could be lawfully levied. Is it possible that he settled the land revenue 

to be paid to him in cash following Islamic injunctions ? Now any such method 

could well have been described by ‘Afil’ as‘Hukm i-Miislnhda’, l-v\ing of the 

land revenue after a scrutiny on the spot. Nothing that he says elsewhere on 

the subject contradicts this interpretation. It would make better sense of the 

statement made by him with pride that during the rest of Firoz Shah’s reign 

the revenue was neither revised nor raised. 

Are we then to assume thit Feroz Shah settled the land revenue 

permanently in cash ? We have yet totickI(5 Barni’s statement that Feroz 

Shah introduced the principle of sharing the crops and abolished demands based 

on imaginary surmises ^v^Lu•), crop failures (varying of demands due 

to crop failures,—he could not by his orders secure that there should be no 

crop failures) increments and classifications. Now all these things would hold 

true of Feroz Shah’s land revenue system as we h we tried to interpret it above. 

All these things can be, with equal justice be said of the bilmuqtin system of 

land revenue usually favoured by the Muslim jurists. No, with more justice. 

Moreland in his notes on the translation of this passage interprets ^ 

^ as additional cesses abolished by Feroz Shah. It is surprising to 

find him varying the essential meaning of avowedly technical terms within two 

reigns and in the work of the same author. When some of these terms occur 

in the passage above cited about Ghias-ud-Din’s reign, Moreland translates them 

as methods of assessment or considerations taken into account when assessmmt 

was made. Here in translating the same terms when employed with regard 
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to Feroz Shah Tughlaq*s reign he considers them as cesses. Now there is 

nothing to suggest that during the course of one intervening reign the meanings 

of these terms had changed. There is nothing else cited by Moreland nor 

anything that could have been cited to support this veivv. We are reluctantly 

compelled to give up Moreland’s fanciful translation of the second passage and 

adopt the plain meaning of these terms as he has himself done it in the earlier 

passage. It would not, then, be necessary to do violence to the text of Barni in 

order to arrive at a true meaning of the passage cited. 

But if the rest of the passage in Barni is capable of supporting the thesis 

that Feroz Shah settled the land revenue on cash rates, the main description of 

the system as Hukm-i-Hasil still remains. I think it is a mistake of the 

chronicler who describes the system which Feroz Shah tried to introduce at 

first but gave up in favour of settling land revenue after careful scrutiny 

‘Hukra-i-Musashda*. I do not think that it is necessary to bind ourselves 

to Barni when we find Afif plainly implying something else. 

But one question still remains unanswered. Who paid the land revenue 

so fixed to the king ? Not the peasants. There is little to support the view 

that the Tughlaqs dealt with the peasants directly. The country, we are told, 

was apportioned among various types of state servants. Th^ administrators, the 

soldiers, and the pious and the learned realised their salaries from the portions 

assigned to them by the King. Afif goes to the length of saying that all the 

villages and Parganahs were given in assignments by the king®. Moreland has 

tried to cast some doubts on this statement by suggesting that the king must 

have had revenue for himself which presumably, Moreland implies, could come 

from the crown lands. It is necessary to remember, however, that the king 

had several sources of revenue open to him still. The Jizya, the irrigation 

dues, the export or import duties, and the tributes from the chiefs must 

have brought in a large amount of money. The chiefs were the local 

rulers who were not dispossessed but were allowed to continue in their 

districts on the stipulation that they paid a fixed tribute—not revenue as 

Moreland has suggested—to the king. These tributes must have formed a 

fruitful source of revenue. Nor did the distribution of th^ districts under the 

direct control of the crown to assignees of various types exclude the idea of the 

king’s getting revenue from them. We know that several assignees were given 

areas which sufficed not only for their own maintenance, as also of their soldiers 

and servants, but left a good deal of surplus. This they had to remit to the 

king. It seems likely that when the administrative officers in charge of the 

Parganahs or bigger units (Iqtahs) were given land they stipulated to pay to the 

king a fixed amount as the surplus from their districts. We find them remitting 

9. Afif, 9^ 270, 297. 
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this surplus every year to the king who gave orders that the value of their 

presents should be credited towards the payment of their annual dues.^ 

How was the surplus arrived at ? We learn that the grants were not 

changed during the forty years of Feroz Shah*s reign.We know further that 

Feroz did everything to make these grants hereditary. On the death of an 

assignee, his assignment went to his son, in the absence of a son to his son-in- 

law, if a son-in-law was not forthcoming, the late assignee’s slaves claimed it 

and if everything else failed, the widow of the assignee was allowed to have 

it.^^ It would thus become feudal in nature. &ut was this a general order or 

did it concern the individual soldiers only who had got grants for their 

subsistence ? It is likely that these orders concerned only those public servants— 

Civil and Military—whose work was neither specialised nor of a highly technical 

nature. It is true we find a son succeed his father even as a Finance Minister 

but it is likely this was an exceptional case. Ordinarily only individual soldiers 

and state servants of similar status alone would have been allowed to let their 

jagirs descend from them to their descendants. In such jagirs probably there was 

no surplus to be accounted for. The assignment just covered the salary du^. 

But a surplus arose in connection with assignments where administrative 

work was to be performed. There the charge under a Shiqdar or Muqtai was 

an administrative unit which was also held by him as a jagir. He performed 

the administrative duties, drew his own salary, and thxt of his staff and dependents 

from his charge and was expected to pay to the state the surplus. It is possible 

that a scale of cash salaries may have been current at that time and that the 

surplus to be paid was the difference between the total revenue of an administra¬ 

tive unit and the cash salaries assigned to the officer in-charge including his 

dependents and his staff. He would undertake to pay to the state this difference. 

Now it was not farming in the strict sense of the term. The payments to be 

made by the officers do no^ sfeem to have depended on any competition between 

various officers competing (or the same charge. Yet as the jagirdar was also 

the Administrative officer incharge of the area, he must have been left very much 

to his own devices for collecting the land revenue. He submitted an account to 

the Central Government. But this must have been a simple affair showing on 

the credit side the total revenue due as settled by the state and on the debit side 

the salaries due to the officer. It is not likely that the audit by the central 

jgovernment ordinarily went into such intricate questions of details as the actual 

revenue collected by the jagirdars. Of course, scandalous exactions ruining peasants 

and thus endangering the payments of the surplus due to the state would naturally 

attract the attraction of the Central Government and so would any interference 

9 AfiC 268, 269. 

10 Ibid, 94. 
11 Ibid, 97. 
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with the grants made to the servants apd the soldiers of an administrator. 

The actual collection, however, does not seem to have been made by the 

assignees even. They depended on ‘Collectors’, probably the forerunner of the 

village numberdars, who were allowed 5 per cent of their collections^^. Whether 

this was an additional cess, as now, or was allowed out of the same dues, as 

under Akbar, is uncertain. 

Naturally then the problem changes its form. If the peasant paid the 

revenue to the assignee who was not ordinarily accountable for what he received 

to the state, the question of how the state assessed the land revenue was less 

important. That it retains some importance is due to the fact that under 

Ala-ud-Din, Ghias-ud-Din, and Muhammad Tughlaq very bold experiments 

had been made for the purpose of impoverishing the (Hindu) cultivators. 

The principles underlying the assessment of the land revenue during these 

reigns were political rather than fiscal. Under Feroz Shah, fortunately, 

political considerations seem to have been thrown into the background and 

revenue was fixed on fiscal considerations alone. The state seems to have 

assessed the entire countryside in a preliminary survey that is said to have 

taken 6 years. The revenue seems to have been assessed now in cash permanently 

probably either by a system of acreage or by some rule of the thumb or by 

mutual understanding. As it was intended to use the new settlement for 

getting the countryside repeopled and as this seems to have been effected, it is 

reasonable to suppose that the assessment made by the state was observed by 

the assignees who were in many cases both the assignees of the revenue and the 

administrators of the areas as well. The entire territory was given to the 

assignees of various types. But an assignment did not always absolve the 

assignees from the payment of the surplus to the king. The state thus paid 

for most of its establishment in this way sparing itself both the trouble of 

collecting the land revenue and of making arrangements for the payment of its 

servants. It, however, paid certain officers’ salaries in cash, witness the slaves 

some of whom were thus paid salaries ranging from 20 to 100 tankas.^^ 

Several other officers also seem to have been paid cash salaries. Money for 

these payments as well as for personal expenses of the king had to be forthcoming. 

This seems to have been provided for by the surpluses of revenue over the 

salary assignments of the administrators in charge of parganahs, besides the 

jizya, the tributes to the king, import and export duties, and octroi. The 

chronicles do not seem to mention any crown lands. If the king kept any 

territory for himself it must have been very inconsiderable in extent, and may 

have mostly consisted of pleasure gardens, and vegetable and fruit gardens. 

12 A£i£..199. 

13 A£i£., 270. 
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THE BAHMANI-VIJAYANAGAR RELATIONS 

Gurty Venkcl Rao,' M. A., LL B., Andhra University. 

The Vijayanagar empire and the Bahmani Kingdom came into existence 

almost simultaneously about the middle of the fourteenth century of the Christian 

Era. From the very commencement of their career, these two great powers 

carried on relentless warfare against each other. It is not the purpose of this 

paper to give a detailed account of their prolonged campaigns, ruthless massacres, 

and ravenous spoliations. These have been described at length by a number of 

mediaeval chroniclers and modern historians. This paper will be confined to 

an examination of certain general issues arising from the statements made by 

them. Such an examination appears to be very much needed for a correct 

understanding of the exact relations between the two states. To wage a 

religious war, *to suppress infidelity*, ‘to strengthen the Faith*, ‘to exterminate 

the infidels’, etc. are some of the choice phrases used by Ali bin Aziz-ullah to 

indicate the purpose of the Bahmani wars against Vijayanagar.' From the 

remarks of Ferishta, it would appear that peace between them depended upon 

the regular payment of the ‘stipulated* tribute by the Rdyas of Vijayanagar to 

the Bahmani Sultans^ On the authority of these chroniclers some modern 

scholars have inferred that (1) The Bahmani-Vijayanagar wars had their 

genesis in their mutual religious antagonisra,^ and that (2) Vijayanagar never 

scored a victor}' over the Bahmani’s, but rather paid them an annual tribute; 

or if it withheld it, there was war and humiliation.^ 

But the available historical materials do not substantiate these one-sided 

conclusions. 

I 

It is true that there were frequent wars between the Bahmani Sulians and 

theof Vijayanagar. But their cause was political and economic rather 

than religious. 

India south of the Vindhyas always exhibited a tendency to fall into two 

or three well marked big states more or less in harmony with the physical 

contours of the country. Attempts of military leaders to unite the whole of 

1 bin Aziz-ullah Tabataba: Burhan-i-Ma’asir» translated into English by J. S. King. 

See pp. 28, 37, 39, 53, •ie. Throughout this paper the references are to the reprint from the Indian 

Antiquary, Vol. XXVIII. 

Z FerUihtu (Briggs) : The Biae of the Mahomedan power, Vol. II. pp. 326, 379, 402, 422, 437. 

3 W. W, Hunter : The Indian Empire, p. 231. 

4 Stanley Laoe-poole: Mediaeval India, pp. 180« 182, 183. 
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I he peninsula under one crown were frustrated by geographical impediments. 

Dynasties after Dynasties collapsed, but the unity of the entire land remained 

a distant dream. Supremacy over the peninsular part of India was the 

stake for which successively the Western Chalukyas of Badami had fought 

with the Pal lavas of Kahchi, the Rastrakutas of Malkhed with the Eastern 

Chalukyas of Vehgi, the Western Chalukyas of Kalyani with the Cholas of 

Tanjore, and the Yadavas of Devagiri with the Hoyasalas of Dwarasamudra. 

The land between the Krishna and the Tungabhadra had been the bone of 

contention between the Western Chalukyas and the Cholas as also between 

the Yadavas and the Hoyasalas. When the Dahmani kingdom and the 

Vijayanagar empire rose on the ruins of the Yadava and Hoyasala dominions, 

history repeated itself. Tlie contest between the Bahmani Sultans and the 

Rdyas of Vijayanagar was but a revival of the ancient feud that had existed 

between the Deccan and South India under purely Hindu sovereigns. In 

the Bahmani-Vijayanagar disputes, their religious differences only served to 

brutalise and not to originate their warfare. 

Further, there was also an economic element in their struggle. The 

Deccan Plateau was less fertile and prosperous than the lands south of the river 

Kfishnii, and the ruler of the former was often tempted to seize the accumulated 

wealth of the latter. Under the Bahmani Sultans, who prized the spoil of the 

sword higher than the fruits of the plough, the Deccan ceased to be the store¬ 

house of riches which it had been once under its Hindu sovereigns. On the 

other hand, according to Ferishta®, the Rdyas of Vijayanagar were greatly 

superior in power, wealth and extent of the country to the Bahmani kings even 

as early as A. D. 1378. Abdur Razzak*"’, who visited Deva Raya II in A. D. 

1443, says ‘in the king’s palace are several cells like basins, filled with bullion, 

forming one mass’. Nuniz^, who prepared his historical summary at Vijayanagar 

about A. D. 1536, tells us that Deva Raya II determined to collect great 

treasures, but owing to constant warfare he could not gain more than eight 

hundred and fifty millions of gold, not counting precious stones. By gold 

Nuniz evidently means varahas, and calculating each varaha at the rate of 

three rupees the cash accumulated by Deva Raya II appears to have been worth 

255 crores of rupees. We need not accept these figures more than as an index 

of the colossal wealth of the empire of Vijayanagar. It offered sufficient 

inducement to the Bahmani Sultans to make capital out of the territorial 

disputes and, if successful, to blackmail the victim. 

Thus it may be said that the Bahmani-Vijayanagar wars were not crusades, 

but secular exploits waged for the acquisition of wealth and territory. 

9 Op. CM, p. 337. 

6 Major: India in the Fifteenth Century (Hakluyt ed.), p. a<> 
7 Sewell: A VarpMtn JBmpirt, p, 303. 
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II 
It is also wrong to assert that success in war always lay on the side of 

the Bahmani Sultans and they reduced Vijayanagar to the position of a 

tributary state. 

Both the states had come into existence almost simultaneously and both 

desired to extend their borders to the farthest limits. In their enterprise they 

came across each other in the Raichur Doab, between the rivers Kfishna and 

Tuhgabhadra, and the struggle commenced. Ferishta® tells us that Alauddin I, 

the founder of the Bahmani kingdom, sent a considerable force into the 

Carnatic, from whence his general returned successful with valuable contribu¬ 

tions from several RdjOs. From Ali we learn that the Rdjds so defeated included 

Harihar I, Bukka 1 and Kampa, who, according to inscriptions, were laying 

the foundations of the Vijayanagar empire.® It appears that these saved their 

infant state by making timely concessions to Alauddin 1. But alter Alauddin's 

death in A. D. 1358, the Rdyas of Vijayanagar and Telingana demanded from 

bis son, Muhammad Shah 1, the restitution of the territories wrested from them 

by his father, and threatened, failing compliance, to concert measures with the 

emperor of Delhi for a combined attack on his kingdom. Muhammad Shah I 

resolved on war, and made extravagant counter-demands on the Hindu Rajahs. 

War commenced with an attack on Kaulas by Vinayaka Deva, the son of the 

Rajah of Telingana, assisted by an army from Vijayanagar. The allied Hindu 

forces, however, were totally defeated, and the Rajah of Talingana purchased 

peace by paying a huge indemnity. Bukka 1, the Vijayanagar sovereign,*® was 

not a party to this treaty. Hence with a view to ascertain his attitude, the 

Bahmani Sultan issued to his musicians what has been erroneously called a drunken 

draft’ on the Vijayanagar treasury. Bukka 1, proud of his independence, sent back 

the messenger with every mark of contempt and derision and declared war upon 

the Sultan in A. D. 1366. Before the latter could mobtlise his forces, the Rflya 

surprised and captured the fort of Mudkal in the debatable land of the Raichur 

Doab. He put the entire garrison to the sword with the exception of one man, 

who was allowed to carry the tragic news to Kulbarga. The infuriated Sultan 

swore solemnly to avenge the disaster by the slaughter of one-hundreJ thousand 

Hindus, and immediately led bis forces in battle array against the invaders. 

In spite of the rainy season and in face of the enemy, he crossed the Kpshna, 

retook Mudkal, routed the Hindus, pursued them across the Tungabhadra and 

advanced upon Vijayanagar. The war dragged on for several months with 

casualty list of the Hindus soaring higher and higher. Yet the final decision 

s 09. Od. p. ZH. 

9 Cambridg* Hiatory of India, Vol. Ill, p, 490, 
19 Fariihta oallt him 'Kriabn Ray'; htti there ii no doubt that hit name wae 
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remained a distant vision. The Sultan lost two of bis commanders and failed 

twice to capture the Hindu Citadel.^^ In a desperate mood, he ordered the 

massacre of the inhabitants round Vijayanagar. It is said that this war cost 

the Hindus half a million lives. At last the protests of ‘the Brahmins and 

principal Hindu Officers’ compelled Bukka I to sue for peace. According to 

Ferishta,^* the Sultan sheathed the sword only when the Rdya honoured his 

draft and paid the musicians. In the treaty of peace, beyond an agreement 

that in future wars non-combatants should not be molested, there was no other 

understanding—no stipulation of any kind either about tribute or about the 

boundaries between the two states. 

The last question, however, was revived^^ by Mujahid Shah, the son of 

Muhammad Shah I. Soon after his accession to the throne in March, 1375 A. D. 

he wrote to Bukka I that, as joint possession of some forts and districts 

between the Krishna and the Tuhgabhadra caused constant disputes, the Rdya 

should waive his rights over all the territories beyond the Tuhgabhadra together 

with the fort of B inkapur. The Vijayanagar sovereign said in reply that the 

forts, Raichur, Mudkal and others, between the rivers had for ages belonged to 

his family and that the Sultan should surrender them and confine his authority 

to the north bank of the Krishna. In A. D, 1376 Mujahid Shah declared 

war, and crossing the two rivers, sent a force to besiege Adoni, and himself 

marched against Vijayanagar. Bukka I, with a view to tire out the enemy, 

withdrew to woods and hills and resorted to guerilla tactics, avoiding pitched 

battle for nearly six months. At last the pestilential air of the forests affected 

his health, and compelled him to take refuge in his capital. It appears^^ 

that he died of the malady in February, 1377 A. D. and was succeeded by his 

son Harihara II. Still this change of rulers did not bring success to the arms 

of Mujahid Shah. Finding it impossible to reduce the fort of Vijayanagar, 

he turned back and joined his troops at Adoni. He besieged the fort for nine 

months without making any impression upon it. Finally, on the advice of his 

minister, Mullick Seif-ud-Din Ghori, he made peace with the Rdya and 

retreated to his dominions. In this connection AH’s statement^® that the 

ruler of Vijayanagar agreed to pay a large sum as na*l-baha and to deliver the 

keys of the fortress in dispute appears to be appocryphal. There is no doubt 

that on this occasion the Sultan suffered a defeat, and even failed to capture the 

fort of Adoni. The fort of Bankapur still remained in the hands of the Rdya 

and there was absolutely no question of tribute in this war also. This war not only 

11 Ferishta, Op. Oii., pp. 308—319. 

12 Op. 0«., pp. 318—319. 

13 Ferishta, Qp. 0«., pp. 330—339. 

14 JBp. Oarm., Vol. IV, Yd. 46. 

15 S, KiDK: Of. Oa., p. 29, 
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frustrated the ambitious designs of Mujahid Shah and left the boundary question 

unsettled, but also, in a way, it cost him his life, and invited a counter-invasion 

from Vijayanagar. During the last campaign he had publicly reprimanded his 

cousin,'® Daud, for quitting a strategical post. Before reaching Kulbarga, the 

latter murdered him in revenge, in April 1378 A. D. and proclaimed himself 

Sultan. For thirty-five days the Bahmani kingdom was paralysed due to party 

factions and this tempted Harihara II to cross the Tungibhadra and invest the 

fortress of Raichur. At last Daud was himself assassinated and the crown passed 

to his younger brother,'^ Muhammad Shah II. The new Sultan succeeded in 

securing the support of all parties, and so Harihara II gave up the siege of 

Raichur and retired. Ferishta'® says that the RAya not only raised the siege, 

but also agreed to pay to the Bahmani Sultan ‘the tribute stipulated in the 

reign of Mahomed Shah Ghazi*. There are two glaring inconsistencies in this 

last statement. Firstly, in the reign of Muhammad Shah I no stipulation had 

been made for the payment of any tribute; and secondly, the present occasion 

did not need any such concession on the part of the Vijayanagar sovereign. No 

military triumph is to the credit of the Sultan at this time in any record 

whatsoever. On the contrary there are inscriptions to show that the forces of 

the Rdya repelled the Turushkas {i, e., the Mussalmans) from Adoni and expelled 

them from Goa.'® 

Muhammad Shah II, however, was a man of peace and culture, and so 

during his reign of nearly twenty years the two stales enjoyed almost unbroken 

tranquility. 

His death in April 1397 A. D. was followed by a period of disorder at 

Kulbarga. Within seven months his two sons were successively crowned, 

deposed and blinded. Finally, Firoz Shah, a grandson of the founder of the 

dynasty, seized the throne for himself. Thrice during his reign the Bahmani 

kingdom and the empire of Vijayanagar appealed to arms/or the possession of 

the disputed territory, 

{a) Taking advantage of the civil commotions in the Bahmani kingdom, 

Harihara II organised a campaign against the Raichur Doab. He instigated 

Narsing Ray of Kberla to invade the Bahmani territory from the north, and sent 

his own son Deva Raya^ with 30,000 horses to seize the fortress of Raichur 

and Mudkal. On hearing this, Firoz Shah sent a division of the army against 

Narsing Ray, and himself marched with the remaining troops to oppose the 

16 Ali; Ferisbta calls him uncle of the Saltfto. 

17 Ali; Perishta wrongly calls him Mabmood Sb&b I. 

• 18 Op. Cit., p. 347. 

19 Sp, Csrn, XII Kg. 43; Journal Bombay Branbh Boyal Aiiatie Bociaty^ IX, 227, 

20 *D6w Ray* or *t)ewal Roy* of Perishta. Sewell assigns the command to Bokka II, the 

eldest son of Harihara II. But the aatbority of Perishta is more acceptable, 
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Vijayanagar prince. When he reached the river Krishna he found his way 

blocked by the flood in the river and the enemy firmly entrenched on the other 

side. Ferishta^^ tells us how Kazi Siraj and his companions treacherously 

murdered the son of Deva Raya and spread panic in the camp of the Hindus 

which enabled Firoz Shah to cross the river and effect a landing without 

opposition. The Hindus were taken by surprise and left the battlefield in 

dismay. The Sultan pursued them across the Tuhgabhadra as far as Vijayanagar. 

As usual, the Hindus shut themselves up in their impregnable citadel, and the 

Mussalmans ravaged the flourishing districts south of the city and made several 

prisoners, amorgst whom were several Brahmins. The relatives of them b^ged 

the Raya to ransom the captives; and after much negotiation, the Mussalman 

commander agreed to accept ten Idks of hoons^^ for the royal treasury as a ransom 

for the prisoners, and one lak for himself as negotiator. Accordingly the 

Brahmins paid six lahs and the Raya five. Firoz Shah accepted the ransom and 

released the prisoners. ‘A treaty was then concluded by which it was agreed 

that the boundaries of both kingdoms should remain the same as before the 

war, and that one party should not molest the subjects of the other*. It is 

noteworthy that no great material advantage accrued to either party under this 

treaty: there was no provision in it either for payment of tribute to the BahraanI 

Sultan or for settling the old territorial disputes. According to Ferishta hims If, 

the Sultan was satisfied with the ransom money, and the treaty only restored 

the status quo ante bellum. 

No doubt, the above version differs somewhat from that of Ali, who says 

that the war was started by Firoz Shah, and it ended only when the Rdya paid 

him 33 laks of tankah and agreed to remit to him an equal amount every year. 

Still the last condition, even if it be true, appears to have been never voluntarily 

and peacefully fulfilled. According to Ali’s own admission the Sultan waged 

twenty-three or twenty-four wars against the Hindus, and every year he exacted 

from Vijayanagar thirty-three laks of tankah?^ While dealing with the events 

of A. D. 1401, Ferishta also begins to talk of tribute, and says that under the 

instigation of the rulers of Gujerat, Malwa and Khandesh, the Rdya withheld 

it from the Sultan ior four years, and that the latter waited for a convenient 

moment to punish him.^* Inspite of all this, it is a significant commentary that 

none of these chroniclers attribute the next war to arrears of tribute. 

(6) The next war was fought in A. D. 1406. By this time both Harihara 

II and Bukka II had passed away, and the Vijayanagar throne was occupied by 

21 Op. Cit. pp. 370-375. 
22 Huns or Fora^. 

23 ].S. King: Qp. Oii. pp, 37-40. 

24 Op. Oa., pp. 379*380. 
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Deva I. According to Ferishta,*® this war was provoked by the RSya 

who sent an expedition into the debatable land north of the TuhgabhadrS to 

seize by force a hwely but coy maiden Pertal or Nehal, residing at Mudkal. On 

the approach of the Vijayanagar troops, the girl and her parents left the town 

along with other inhabitants. Having missed their coveted prize, the troops 

made a hasty retreat, laying waste on their route towns and villages. Firoz 

Shah at once prepared for retaliation, crossed the two rivers without much 

hindrance, and laid si^e to Vijayanagar. Finding it impossible to reduce the 

city, the Bahman! forces devastated the countryside, secured a rich booty in 

gold and prisoners, captured the fort of Bankapur and concerted measures for an 

attack on Adoni. Pressed by his relentless foes and getting no response from 

Gujerat and Malva to his appeals for assistance, Deva Raya I sued fer peace. 

Under the terms of the treaty he gave his daughter in marriage*® to the Sultan, 

ceded to him the fortress of Bankapur as dowry and paid a large indemnity, 

which consisted of ten laks of hoona, five maunds of pearls, fifty choice elephants, 

and two thousand male and female slaves, singers etc. Such is the account given 

by Ferishta. ’Alt in his usual manner passes over this war with great brevity, 

and makes it also one of the so called religious wars of Firoz Shah. He says 

in conclusion that the Sultan having appropriated the fixed sum of thirty-three 

laks returned to his capital with immense booty. It may be observed here that 

both the chroniclers do not mention arrears of tribute among the causes, and 

promise of tribute among the results of the war. 

(c) The third war centred round the fort of Pangul,*^ seventy miles 

north-east of Adoni. It belonged to the Vijayanagar sovereign, and Firoz Shah 

determined to seize it in A. D. 1417. He invested the fort for two years, at the 

end of which a pestilence broke out in his army and he had to retire. At this 

juncture arrived Deva Raya I at the head of the combined forces of Vijayanagar 

and Telingana and inflidteci a crushing defeat upon the Mussalmans.*® The 

Bahmani commander-in-chief was slain in battle, and the Sultan himself fled 

from the field in great confusion. The victorious Hindus pursued him into his 

own kingdom, laid waste his country, slaughtered his people without mercy. 

It was with great exertions that his brother, Ahmad KhSn, succeeded in driving 

them back into their own territory. 

25 Op. CU-, pp. 380-387. 
26 Ferishta gives a graphic description of the marriige festivities. But it is surprising that a 

Musaalaian like ’Ali ibn 'Aziz-nllah does not make any mention of this marriage. Ferisbta's statement 

is not above suspicion, especially because the circumstances did not warrant any such sacrifice 

by the Soya. 
27 Ferishta : Op. OU., pp. 389-391; Ali: Oj>. OU., pp. 40-41. 
28 Sewell attributes this victory to Deva Raya II. 

See nryattM Bmpirt, pp, 62-66. But Deva Raya I rated till A> D. 1422. See *Bp. 

Cam. IV Gn. 24. 
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Firoz Shah completely broke down under this disaster; and being 

intimidated by his brother, Ahmad, he abdicated the throne in his favour and 

died shortly afterwards in September 1422 A. D. 

Ahmad Shah I took the earliest opportunity to retrieve the prestige of his 

dynasty by invading the Vijayanagar territory with forty-thousand horse in A. D. 

1423. Deva Raya I, the victor of Pangul, was dead a few months before, and 

on his throne was seated his son Vijaya Raya.^^ He secured the assistance of 

the Raja of Telingana; still he lingered with his forces on the southern bank of 

the Tungabhadra. He appears to have lacked the military ardour of his great 

ancestors who often defended their empire by taking the offensive against the 

enemy. Probably due to his inactivity, the ruler of Telingana withdrew his 

troops and retired. It is unnecessary here to follow the fortunes of the 

campaign. Ferishta^^ describes in detail how the two contending monarchs had 

a very narrow escape, how Ahmad Shah devastated the country, massacred the 

people and blockaded the city of Vijayanagar, and how Deva Raya, in order to 

save his subjects, complied with the Sultan’s demand for the payment of 

‘arrears of tribute for many years.’ ’Ali^^ however, does not mention any such 

monetary concession on the part of the Raya. He simply says that the soldiers 

of Islam took many forts and towns and an enormous amount of booty, prisoners 

of war, horses and elephants. “After devastating the country of the infidels far 

and wide the Sultan returned to his capital.” It is remarkable that none of the 

chroniclers mentions * arrears of tribute* as the cause^ or a promise of future 

payment as the consequence^ of this war. Obviously the wealth taken away by 

Ahmad Shah consisted of the war booty, and Ferishta dignified it with the 

name of ‘arrears of tribute*. 

Under the aforesaid circumstances it becomes extremely difficult to believe 

the statement of Ferishta that the next Bahamani-Vijayanagar war had its 

origin in the arrears of tribute. 

Ahmad Shah could never forget that in the last war the Rajd of Warangal 

had appeared on the side of Vijayanagar. He had full revenge upon him about 

the close of A. D. 1424, when he slew him in battle, and annexed a large part 

of Telingana to his own kingdom. Probably to be nearer his new conquest, he 

also built the new city of Ahmadabad-Bidar and made it the capital of the 

Bahmani kingdom. During the rest of his reign he was busily occupied in wars 

with the rulers of Mahur, Malwa, Konkon, and Gujerat. Hence Vijayanagar 

29 Ep. Cam. IV, Go. 24 and VII Sk. 93. Ferishta makes no distinction between Deva Raya I, 

Vijaya Raya and Deva Raya II. To him all are *Dew Ray*. Sewell wrongly assigns this event 

also to the reign of Deva Raya II. 

30 Op. OU., pp. 398-405. 

31 QP. Oil., pp. 33-54. 
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enjoyed complete peace for about a decade. This period of tranquility coincided 

with the first ten years of the reign of Deva Raya II, who appears®* to hive 

inherited the crown of his father Vijaya Raya about A. D. 1424. 

Ahmad Shah died in February 1435 A. D., and was succeeded by his eldest 

son under the title of Alauddin II. His reign witnessed four successive wars 

with Vijayanagar. 

(a) According to Ferishta,®® Alauddin II, soon after his coronation, sent 

his brother Muhammad Khan with a powerful army against the Rdya of 

Vijayanagar, 'who had withholden the tribute for five yars, and now refused to 

pay the arrears.’ In the light of what has been adduced above, it appears that 

the plea of tribute was merely a pretext or an afterthought of the chronicler to 

justify the aggressive conduct of the Sultan. The war, however, ran its usual 

course, and finally the Deva Raya II got peace by surrendering twenty elephants, 

a considerable sum of money, and two hundred females, skilled in music and 

dancing. There is again no mention by Ferishta of any stipulation by the 

Rdyo to pay annual tribute to the Bahmani Sultan. ’Ali does not refer to this 

war at all. 

(d) But this peace proved only a truce, for Muhammad Khan soon rebelled 

against his brother and in alliance with the Raya of Vijayanagar seized Mudkal, 

Raichur and some other forts.®* 'Ali says that the Rflya invaded the territories 

of Islam, captured the fort of Mudkal and devastated all the surrounding 

country. After subjugating his brother, Alauddin invested the fort of Mudkal 

and compelled the defenders to capitulate Under the terms of the treaty 

Rdya paid a large indemnity, agreed to remit to him each year a certain sum, 

and promised not to invade his territory in future.®® Ferishta is silent about 

the manner in which this war was brought to a close Most probably the defeat 

and conciliation of the • rebel prince automatically led to the withdrawal of the 

Vijayanagar army. 

According to Ferishta, these defeats at the hands of the Bahmani Sultan 

led Deva Raya II to investigate into their causes. He was assured by his 

councillors that the superiority of the Mussulman rulers arose out of two 

circumstances: “First, that their horses were stronger, and able to endure more 

fatigue than the weak animals of the Carnatic; secondly, that a great body of 

excellent archers was always maintained in pay by the kings of the house of 

Bahmunyt'of whom the R<iya had but few in his army.’’ Accordingly he at 

once launched a drastic scheme of military reform : he admitted the Mussalmans 

32 Oorm. Vlll Tl. 163. 

33 Or. Ott-, p. 422. 
34 Ferishta, Op. Cit., p. 423. 

33 ’All, Op. Cit., pp. 73-74. 
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into his army on a large scale, conferred jagira upon them, erected a mosque 

for their use in the city and offered other facilities for the free exercise of their 

religion; and at the same time he made all Hindu soldiers also learn the discipline 

of the bow. By these measures he managed to raise an army of two thousand 

Mussalmans, and sixty thousand Hindus, well sicilled in archery,‘besides eighty 

thousand horse and two hundred thousand foot, armed in the usual manner with 

pikes and lances.^^' 

(c) With this host, says Ferishta,^^ Deva Raya resolved to conquer the 

Bhamani kingdom. Accordingly in A. D. 1443, he suddenly crossed the 

Tuhgbhadra, took the fort of Mudkal, sent his sons to besiege Raichur and 

Bankapur, and himself encamped with his army along the southern bank of the 

Krishna. But from the account of ‘Abdur Razzak^® it becomes clear that the 

Rayd took thesa measures under grave provocation. Between November 1442 

and April 1443 A. D. one of his relatives put to death several of his nobles, and 

even made an unsuccessful attempt on his life. Sultan Alauddin rejoiced at 

this and demanded of him seven laks of varahas, and failing compliance, 

threatened war. Deva Raya took up the challenge and was the first to take 

the field. According to Ferishta, within a period of two months three battles 

were fought, the Hindus being victorious in the first and the Mussalmans in the 

second. In the third Deva Raya’s eldest son perished, and the Hindus left the battle 

field in panic. They to >k shelter in the fort of Mudkal. Two officers of the 

Mussalmans, in pursuit of the fugitives, entered the fort and became captives. 

The Sultan threatened the Rdya with dire penalty if his officers were injured in 

any way. The Rdya, who ‘knew by experience the determination with which 

the Bahmuny princes fulfilled their vows’, sued for peace. He agreed to release 

the two distinguished Mussalraan prisoners, and to pay to the Sultan annually 

the stipulated tribute on condition that he was not molested in future. The 

terms of the treaty were carried out and ‘during the rest of his reign, Dew Ray 

(i.e. Deva Raya II) regularly remitted the tribute’. Such is the story given by 

Ferishta. There is no specific mention of this campaign in the account of ’Ali. 

But ’Abdur Razzak, who was at Vijayanagar during these eventful days, does 

not speak of any reverses to the Vijayanagar arms at this time. If the eldest 

son of the Raya had been killed in this war, the court of Vijayanagar would 

have been filled with gloom, and it could not have escaped the notice of the 

Persian ambassador. It is also very difficult to believe that the threats of the 

Sultan made Deva Raya II supplicate for peace, give up the prisoners and make 

an offer of annual tribute. It appears more probable that the new war machine 

36 Op. Cii., pp. 430-432. 
37 Op. 0«., pp. 432-434. 

38 Op. Cit, pp, 33*33, 40*41; Nuniz; OP. 0f<., p« 303*304; 

35 
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of the could hold its own against all the threats of the Sultan and, his 

general, having ‘taken several unfortunate prisoners’, returned to Vijayanagar, 

as stated by ’Abdur Razzak. 

(d) The last Bahmani-Vijayanagar war of the reign of Alauddin II was 

fought about A. D. 1449. This war is noticed in the introduction to a 

contemporary Sanskrit drama—Gangadasapratapavilasam^^—wherein it is stated 

that immediately after the death of Deva Raya II, the Sultan of the South 

the BahmanI Sultan) and the Gajapati ruler, who had previously been defeated, 

marched upon Vijayanagar and closely invested it. But Mallikarjuna Raya, 

the son and successor of Deva Raya II, came out as a lion and dispersed the 

besieging forces. According to Ferishta Alauddin II at this time was immersed 

in a life of dissipation, and his nobility was divided into two hostile groups— 

the Deccanees and Foreigners. Hence if Mallikarjuna Raya repelled the Bahmani 

attack in A. D. 1447, there is nothing preposterous except probably the silence 

of the Mussalman chroniclers about it. 

For nearly quarter of a century after this war there does not appear to 

have been any direct clash between the Bahmani kingdom and the Vijayanagar 

empire. Both the states had to face so many internal and external problems 

that they could hardly venture on further political complications At this time 

a new power arose in the eastern horizon; Kapilesvara Gaj ipati, after making 

himself lord of Orissa in A. D. 1435, extended his sway over the whole of 

Telingana and the eastern coast strip as far south as Kafichi at the expense of 

both the Bahmani and Vijayanagar states. In an inscription^® at Jagannatha 

he is styled as ‘the lion to the sheep the Karnata King’, and ‘the victor over 

Kalavarga (Kulbarga)’. That these are not empty boasts is proved by the 

events of the time. 

Alauddin II died in A. D. 1457 and was succeeded by his eldest son 

Humayun. He wasi a monster of cruelty, the very prototype of Nero 

and Caligula. His maniacal passion for bloodshed plunged the whole kingdom 

into chaos, and brought disaster to his arms in Telingana. In A. D 1459 the 

troops of Kapilesvara Gajapati assisted the rebels at Devarkonda, routed the 

Bahmani forces and pursued them to a distance of ten miles. The death of 

Humayun Shah in A. D. 1461 brought welcome relief to his subjects, but did 

not better the fortunes of the Kingdom. His eldest son and successor Nizam 

Shah was only a boy of eight years, and his reign of about a couple of years 

witnessed further decline in the power of the state. Kapilesvara Gajapati 

invaded the Bahmani kingdom, plundered the country as far as Kaulas and 

appeared within ten miles of the capital city of Bidar. Shortly after the defeat 

39 Dr. S. K. Ayyaogar : Soarces of Vijayanagar History, p. 65. 

^ See S. K. Ayyangar: A little known ebapter of Vijayanagar History, p. 9* 
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of the Orlyas, Mahmud Khilji of Malwa took the field, defeated the Bahmani 

forces, and occupied Bidar. But for the tact of the Vazir Mahmud Gawan, 

and the timely help of Mahmud Shah of Gujerat, the house of Bahmani could 

not have survived these shocks even for the few years that it did^^. 

The Empire of Vijayanagar was in a worse plight. A considerable portion 

of its eastern districts was taken by Kapilesvara Gajapati, Rajahmundry, 

Kondjpalle, Kondavidu,and Udayagiri acknowledged his sovereignty. The presence 

of Mallikarjuna Raya at Penugonda in A. D. 1459 does not seem to have had 

any restraining influence upon him. In A. D. 1466 Mallikarjuna Raya passed 

away, and the throne was usurped by his cousin, Virupaksha Raya. The 

latter,' according to Nuniz, was too much addicted to the pleasures of wine 

and women to pay his attention to the affairs of the state. In mere sottishness 

he slew many of his captains. His wickedness let loose the forces of disorder 

over the whole of the empire, caused the loss of Goa, Chaul and Dabul and 

finally cost him his own life. 

The death of Kapilesvara Gajapati in or about A. D. 1469 gave a short 

respite to the Bahmani Kingdom which enabled it to recommence hostilities 

against Vlj:i}’anagar. Virupaksha Raya’s weakness made the enterprise very 

easy, Nizam Shah had died in July, 1463 A. D., and since then the Bahmani 

throne was occupied by his younger brother,Muhammad Shah III, 

According to the Mussulman chroniclers,^^ the latter waged three wars against 

the outlying provinces of Vijayanagar, and it is found that none of them had 

any connection with ‘tribute*. 

(а) The first war centred round the port and island of Goa. In A. D. 1470 

Mahmud Gawan, the Vazir of Muhammad III, attacked it by land and sea. 

Before Virupaksha Raya could oppose his design, he took possession of it, and 

garrisoned it with his own men, 

(б) The second war was waged in defence of this new acquisition on the 

western coast. About A. D, 1472, after a lapse of nearly two years, Virupaksha 

Raya thought of recovering Goa. But he was not the man to assume leadership. 

He contented himself by instigating the Governor of Belgaura to retake it. But 

unsupported from Vijayanagar, the local Governor failed in his mission, and 

lost his own territory. Belgaura was added to the Bahmani Kingdom. 

(c) The third war cannot be strictly called Bahmani-Vijayanagar war. 

Its scene of action was on the east coast. In this region the authority of 

41 Ferishta. Op. Cit., pp. 452—476. 
42 S. K. Ayyangir ; Virupaksha 11 in Bhandarkar Commemoration Volume, 1917, pp. 255—64, 

Sewell: Op. 04«., p. 305. 
43 Feriahta wrongly calls him Muhammad II. 

44 §ee Ferishta, Op. Cit., pp. 485, 491—493, 493—301; AH, Op. Cit,, pp. 106—112. 
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VkiipSksba BSya was reduced to almost nothing. After the death of Kapilesvara 

Cajapati Muhammad ShSh III made himself master of Rajahmundry and 

Ko^apallei while ‘Narsing Ray* (i.e, Saluva Nara<;imha), the warden of the 

south-eastern marches of the Vijayanagar Empire, asserted his independence 

and enlarged his dominion at the expense of the empire. A conflict between 

these two was inevitable. In A. D. 1477 Muhammad III declared war against 

Narasimha, conquered Masulipatam, Kondapalle and Malur, reduced him to 

submission, and raided Kanchi. The empire of Vijayanagar was reduced to 

such an abject condition that some were misled into the belief that the capital 

city itself lell a victim to the foreign aggression at this time.^" 

No doubt, the Bahmani Kingdom gained an upper hand in its military 

operations against the two Hindu states during this period. But there was no 

element of stability, no promise of future development in these victories*. The 

states of Orissa and Vijayanagar lost a few bits of territory; but they were not 

bound to the Bahmani Kingdom by any ties of loyalty—tributary or otherwise. 

The present liveliness of the Bahmani Kingdom was also a temporary affair. It 

was like the sudden flaming up of a dying lamp. Soon the tables were turned; 

the Bahmani Kingdom fell a victim to the internal party factions and split up 

into five independent states; on the other hand the empire of Vijayanagar 

apd the Kingdom of Orissa recovered their power and prestige, and became 

once more the leading states of the south. 

About the close of the reign of Muhammad Shah III party feelings 

between the Deccanees and the Foreigners grew violent and resulted in the 

unjust execution of the great minister Mahmud Gawan in April, 1481 A. D. 

When it was too late Muhammad Shah III discovered his mistake and tried to 

drown his remorse in drink, until he died of excesses in March, 1482 A. D. 

With the death of ^ultan and his talented minister, the Bahmani dynasty 

practically ceased to exist. It is true that Mahmud Shah, the son of Muhammad 

Shah III, occupied the Bahmani throne for nearly thirty seven years. But his 

was an inglorious reign during which the principal Governors of the realm, one 

after the other, asserted their independence and set up their own Sultanates;^^ 

and Purushottam Gajapati, the son of Kapilesvara, retook Rajahmundry, 

Kondapalle, Kondavidu, Udayagiri etc. 

45 Nikitin, the Rnisian traveller, who visited the Deccan in A. D. 1474, asserts that the 

Xing of Bidar f. e. Muhammad III attacked and took Vijayanagar. See R. H. Major : Qp. Oit,, *p. 29. 

The Bengali Poem Sri-CMlanpa-CharUamrtam credits Purushottam Gajapati with a similar 
achievement. 

46 The Imad Shahi of Berar in A. D. 1484; the Nizam Shahi of Ahmadnagar in A. D* 1489; 

the Adil Shahi of Bijapur A, p. 1489; the Qatub Shahi of Golcon4a in 1512, and Barid Shaihi of 

Bidar in 19Z7^ 
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Vijayanagar was saved from a similar fate of disintegration by the timely 

action of Saluva Narasimha. It is stated by Nuniz^^ that Virupaksha Raya, 

due to his wicked conduct, was killed by his eldest son, who declined to take 

the crown for himself and seated his own younger brother upon the throne. 

This appears^® to have happened about A. D. 1486. Padearao (i.e., Praudhadeva 

Raya), the new King was no better than his father. Disgusted with his evil 

course,. Saluva Narasimha headed a revolution, expelled the degenerate 

sovereign, and made himself emperor. “He regained ^all the lands which the 

Kings his predecessors had lost”. 

With these changes in the two states, the period of Bahmani-Vijayantgar 

wars came to an end. In A. D. 1527 the house of Bahmani became extinct. 

The above facts show that the victories of the Bahmani Sultans over the 

Rdyas of Vijayanagar were neither unbroken nor very decisive. The Suitans 

were almost as often defeated at the hands of Rdyas as they were victorious over 

them. The reverses met by Mujahid Shah and Firoz Shah were in no way loss 

severe than those inflicted by them on their antagonists, Bukka I and Deva Raya I. 

Still Ferishta and ’Ali have nothing to say about the terms imposed by the 

Raya over the vanquished Sultans. These later chroniclers overlook the fact 

that none of the Sultans ever succeeded in capturing the great stronghold of 

Vijayanagar, and so long it stood there, the Rayas had no compelling necessity 

to pay annual tribute to the Sultans. All the cofUetnporary foreign visitors to 

the Hindu empire bear testimony to its power and prosperity, and none of them 

says that it paid tribute to the Bahmanis. The fact appears to be that neither 

Kingdom was strong enough to reduce the other to the position of a tributary 

state. The dispute was mainly territorial. The Bahmani Sultans, whenever 

they had the power, compelled the Rdyas of Vijayanagar at the point of the 

sword to surrender to them a part of their accumulated wealth. The Rdyas 

never regarded it as a tribute, much less an annual tribute, to be sent regularly 

to the Bahmani treasury. To them it was simply a blackmail to be given to 

their foes in a lump sum to stop the piUage and massacre of their unarmed 

civilian population. The Mussalman chroniclers obsessed by the juristic notion 

of Khiraj dignified it by the name of tribute. 

47 Sewell: Op. Cit. pp. 305—307. 
48 Ep. Cam. X Mb. 104; and Madras Epigraphical Collection for 1902, No. 593. 
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THE RIHLA OF IBN BATTUTA.i 

Dr. Mehdi Hatan. M. A.. Ph. D., D. Litt., 
Agra College, Agra. 

Of all the Arab geographers and historians, I have had from my school 

days a special liking for Ibn Battuta, partly because of his extremely interesting 

personality and versatile talents as a scholar, theologian, adventurer, warrior, 

sailor, traveller, pilgrim, botanist, politician, poet, journalist, historian, 

geographer, jurist, ascetic, devotee, and pleasure-seeker, and partly because of 

his remarkable contributions to the history of Mediaeval India. It was Mauivi 

Mul^mmad Husain’s Urdu translation of the second part of the RiJ),la which 

first attracted my attention. I was able to obtain a copy of it from the 

library of the St. Stephen’s College, Delhi (1917). Before long I learnt that 

the whole of the Rihla in original Arabic had been printed and published in 

Cairo. I obtained a copy of it through Malik Muhammad Shirazi, the leading 

orientalist of Bombay. 

Later, I came across Samuel Lee’s “Ibn Battuta’’—an English translation 

of an epitome of the Ril)la based on incomplete manuscripts. It is, however, 

a scholarly work and contains many useful notes. I was delighted to read in 

it the learned author’s opinion on Ibn Battuta. “My principal object” says 

Samuel Lee explaining .the notes he had added to Ibn Battuta’s text “was to 

ascertain the accuracy and fidelity of my author; and in this point of view I 

have succeeded to my own satisfaction at least having no doubt that he is 

worthy of all credit. It is for his historical, gec^raphical and botanical notices 

that he is principally valuable; and I concur with his epitomator Mr, Burckhardt 

and Mr. Kosegaten in believing that in these he is truly valuable.”^ 

Meanwhile, a copy of Yule’s Cathay came into my hands and 1 discovered 

that a French translation of the complete text of the RiJjila had been produced 

by two French scholars, Defremery and Sanguinetti. I wished to obtain a 

copy of it, but made a vain search for'.it at some of the libraries in India. 

Shortly after, I heard of a new translatioo of the Rilfla brought out by 

Prof. H. A. R. Gibb of London. I found it very interesting and enlightening, 

and decidedly an improvement on Samuel Lee’s work. But this, too, was 

incomplete, for it contains only “Selections from the Travels of Ibn Battuta*" 

1 Hera ere a few pages from the introductory parts of Dr, Agha Mahdi Hnsain's book 
entitled "The Rihht of Ibn Battnta”. (In Preparation) '' 

2 Lea, SwimI: The Travels of Ibn Battnta, (Preface) 
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At last I went to Europe (1933), There I found in the libraries of the 

School of Oriental Studies, of the India Office, and of the Royal Asiatic Society 

four volumes of “Voyages d’lbn Batoutah par Defrdmery et Sanguinetti.” On 

reading through the first few pages of the first volume, I learnt that there existed 

an autograph of Ibn Juzayy, the famous editor of the Ril^la in the Bibliotheque 

Nationale in Paris, a fact referred to by Prof. Gibb in his introduction. This 

made me anxious to go to Paris and see the autograph. I seized the earliest 

opportunity to do so, and was able to study and collate the various manuscripts 

of Ibn Battuta’s Ri1),la in the Bibliotheque Nationale. 

This had not been done since the publication of Defremery and 

Sanguinetti’s work, nor had their printed Arabic text been checked. In his Die 

Reise des Arabers Ibit BatiUa dutch Indien und China, Dr. Hans Von Mzik, the 

German translator of the Rihla says “This translation of Ibn Batula’s work is 

based on the Arabic text of Defremery and Sanguinetti. The translator often 

had grave doubts regarding certain passages which would have required 

reference to at present inaccessible original manuscripts and of which the 

readings were only very rarely adequate.” 

I have checked the Arabic text of the French editors, and have carefully 

studied their translation of the Arabic into French. I have further, produced 

an original translation of the Rih,la into English. In the course of my translation 

I have indicated in the footnotes wherever I have differed from my predecessors 

in the field. 

I have also studied Maulvi Muhammad Husain’s Urdu translation which 

Mzik has misunderstood. He erroneously mentions it as an English translation.^ 

Personal Findings and Observations 

The Bibliotheque Nationale contains five manuscripts of the Ri})la. The 

first two manuscripts contain two volumes of the Rifyla, each leather-bound 

but different in size as well as in writing. The opening three pages of the first 

volume No, 2290 and 908 are very beautiful and have been tastefully decorated 

and interspersed with gold marks. The rest of the manuscript is handsomely 

bordered. 

It should be noted that between the aforesaid two volumes, Nos. 2290 

(908) and 2291 (907), there is no resemblance and no similarity at ail either in 

regard to paper, or in regard to handwriting. The latter No, 2291 (907) is 

decidedly the older. It was written in A. H. 757 (A. D. 1356) as is mentioned 

in the text. It is said to be the autograph of Ibn Juzayy. 

The manuscript is so old and affected by moisture that in certain parts 

the script has been completely obliterated : for instance at the top of the 

3 MUk p. S. 
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lesuiietB 47-50: three-fourtbs of the first three lines of each page are effaced. An 

ait^pt was made subsequently to restore the original and reproduce the effaced 

words, but with no great success. 

I think the manuscript ccmtains, if at all, but a few pages in^the personal 

handwriting of Ibn Juzayy and is not free from interpolation. The difference 

in the shaping of letters and apparently even in caligraphy and handwriting 

io different parts of the manuscript is patent. The handwriting in the first three 

leaves appears a little different from that of the following 16 leaves. And, again, 

the bandwriting of the next 13 leaves is different from that of the succeeding 

six, from 37* to 46®. 

From folio 49 to 68 the handwriting is again different and the ink varies 

also. For instance, the ink on leaf 39 and the following leaves differs from that 

of the preceding ones; and again the ink on folio 69 and the succeeding folios 

varies slightly from that of the preceding ten. The last two are written in a 

running hand extremely difficult to read. 

The average number of lines per page is 23. Of the pages written after 

the death of Ibn Ba^^u^a, the first is an outstanding example. From the script 

it bears it is evident that Ibn Ba^tut^ was dead, when this was written. It may 

be recalled that Ibn Battuta died in 1377, eleven years after the death of 

Ibn Juzayy. 

I am of opinion that this manuscript (».e., Ms. No. 907) has been rated 

highly. Although it has been acknowledged that certain leaves in this 

manuscript have been inserted later, e. g., the leaves 1 and 2, and 19 to 38, yet 

“the rest of the work” it is said “has been written in the same hand.” But even 

as regards the pages which are alleged to have been written by Ibn Juzayy their 

script is effaced in many places. Other manuscripts, I think, give a better 

reading on the wholes t have scrutinized the printed Arabic text in Defremery 

and Sanguinetti’s Ibn Batoutah, and noted how frequently they borrow from 

other manuscripts in preference to the so-called autograph. In one place, it is 

interesting to note, they follow the Ms. 2287 in preference to the reading given 

by the autograph, although the latter is clear and legible, and is confirmed by 

the Ms. 2289. 

It appears that this manuscript was at one time the personal property of 

a certain Mut^mmad who had purchased it from some one else. Pressed by 

poverty the latter was compelled to part with the manuscript. He gave it up 

as part of his does to the owner of bis boose. This took place in April 1817 

(JanaSdi II1252 A. H.) 

4 The leaf 37 to alto marked at 39. 

I The leaf 43 to alto marked at 4S. 
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This is the conclusion drawn from a script on the fly page of the 

manuscript. Of the three other Mss. Nos. 2287, 2288, 2289, the Ms. No. 2287 

and 909 bears on the fly leaf an inscription which I have had photographed 

with the permission of Mons. Blochet of the Biblioth^que Nationala. 

\ ■ 4’ .J. 6 [u-V] (>/^| 

. >4 I V ' . ' 

V 
K ' ' ' > s';?, 

, _ 
v*\ 

'nij^y 

It is a complete manuscript, very clear and legible. The paper is worm- 

eaten in some places, for example, on the top of the leaves from 37 to 58. But, 

on the whole, the manuscript is immune from deterioration. It has 206 leaves. 

The number of lines on each page is usually 28, though occasionally it is reduced 

to 27. Headings of new subjects in the narrative are marked sometimes in black, 

sometimes in blue and oftener in red ink. Every page containing the script is 

8" long and 5" broad, with side-margin of about 5. 7". There is a blank space 

oj 6" at the bottom of every page: and at the top there is similarly blink space, 

but much smaller, no more than 8 cm. wide. 

De Slane is of opinion that this manuscript is a copy of 17th century 

A. D. I have compared its script with a specimen of “Maghrebi Schrift”; 16, 

Jahre 1112 No. 7470, as given in Ahlwardt’s Handshtiften-verzeichnisse. der 

Koniglichen Bibliothek zu Berlin’’® and also with the specimens given in 

“Specimina Codicum Orientalium’’.^ De Slane is probably right. 

6 A. Asher & Co., 1899. 

7 Specimina Codium Orientalium Corlegit Evgenivsg Tisserant. 
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The number of pages ia this as in other manuscripts is marked in numerals 

which look tike European. Particularly notable is the figure 746 included in 

the script on the margin.® It should be read as 756. It is contended that 

the pagination is the work of some later European owner of the Ms. and that 

originally the folios of the Mss. were unnumbered. This is untenable. I have 

reason to believe that the numerals then used in Morocco and what the 

Muslims called the Maghrib (west) resembled the European forms. 

Smith and Karpinski, authors of the “Hindu-Arabic Numerals” maintain 

that the Arabs borrowed these numerals from the Hindus, and brought them 

to Europe. Mr. G. E. Hill of the British Museum wrote a monograph. ‘‘On the 

early use of Arabic numerals in Europe” published in Arccelogia in 1910. He 

holds that the Arab forms of the numerals came into Europe and that the 

earliest occurrence of a date in these (Arabic) numerals on a coin is found 

in the reign of Roger of Sicily in 1138.These numerals were also 

introduced in northern Africa.The Algeriens employed two different forms 

of numerals in Mss. of the 14th century and....the Moroccans of to-day 

employ the European forms instead of the present Arabic.® 

The Ms. 2288 also shown as 911 looks very old. It has been affected in 

part and obliterated by damp. Some pages bear on the margin corrections made 

by hand, as, for instance on page 7; half of page 8 is torn and has been replaced 

by a blank paper. The page 93 seems to have been written by a different man 

or by a different pen. Its writing varies from that of the preceding pages of the 

Ms. The script of pages 103, 104, 114, 115, and 116, and on many others is 

in certain places completely obliterated, and these pages have been badly spoilt 

by moisture. The Ms. :ends abruptly on page 159 ; the last few pages are 

missing. 

The last manuscript No. 2289 also shown as 910 bears the seal together 

with a date ‘‘19 Aout 1874” on the fly leaf. This is probably the date of the 

acquisition of the Ms. \ 
\ *» 

The next pago ofthe Ms. contains on the margin and in red ink the 

following interesting piece of information. 

“This manuscript was brought by'one. Muftafa bin Kochak Ali in 1236 or 

1240 A. H. (A. D. 1829 or 1824) and the price foy it was duly paid”. 
‘ »•' 

It is a complete manuscript. Its closing words, when translated, read 

as follows:— 

“Here ends the Rihla called" Tufy/at-un-Nizdf.Its writing was 

fioislied on the 3rd of Zilhij 756 (December, 1354). 

8 This date is iocladed in the photograph mentioned above. See p. 281. 

9 Smidi sad Karpinski p. 68. " ^ . 
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This manuscript is well preserved, and is very beautifully written. 

A comparative study of the autograph (i.e. Ms, 229J) and other Mss. 

with DefrSmery and Sanguiniti's Arabic text. 

(1) The autograph (F. i. L. 14, 15) has 

* j 
Defremery and Sanguiniti’s printed text (II. p. 95) has 

LjiJ lAiiis ) 

The French editors borrowed this from Ms. No. 2289 (F. 87 L. 12, 13). 

But this has not been mentioned in the variantes et notes. 

(2) The autograph (F. i. L 17) has 

The French edition (III. 95) has 

5 

This has been borrowed from the Ms. No. 3229 (F. 87 L. 15); 

(3) The autograph (F. 2 L. 16, 17) has 

^ ijtlaUl^e Jo 

The French edition has 

bj.> ujMI jtiils j£> 

This reading has been borrowed byi Defremery and Sanguinitte from the 

Ms. 2289. But this fact is not mentioned in their “Vaintes et notes". 

(4) The autograph (F. 30 L. 8. ) has 

Li«J) I 

and the same is given in the Ms. 2289. But the French edition has 

(5) The Ms. 2287 (F. 136b L. 2) has 

^ ^u«,( ^tj 

The French edition has 

(6) The Ms. 2287 (F. 139) has 

»iU L) J*S ^ ^ ^J| (3"^ 

The French edition has 

.jijtj 

The word JJ included in the Ms. makes better sense than the word.Oa/af 

of the French edition 

(7) The Ms. 2287 (F. 146 (6) 1,227) has 

yji Ct-aai (40 } 

The French edition has 

04«1) aj? cwp > 
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(8) The Ms. 2287 (F. 1716 lines 10 & 11) has 

|,JUl 2el»^ j^l 

The French edition has 

(9) The Ms. 2287 (F. 2206 line 28) has 

c)^) f!-ii J ? 

The French edition has 

uj’ J 
(10) The Ms. 2287 (F. 2056. line 13) has 

^ ^ jy J 

The French edition has 

i3!y^^ Jy > 
(11) The Ms. 2287 (F, 139) has 

1 he French edition has 

^jjLwii u_sui ^i*)! j 

(12) The Ms. 2287 (F. 1-40; L. 13) has 

^)4® ^ ylt*^ ) 

The French edition has 

^ eAUI ^ j 

Of these twelve instances, the 1st, the 4lh, the 5th, the 6th, the 11th, and 

the 12th particularly deserve a careful examination. Each of them conveys a 

sense different from that of the corresponding text in Defremery and Sanguinetti’s 

“Voyages d’ Ibn Batoutah”. The first i. e., c)y^5 

is a part of Ibn Battuta's account of the foot-post in India. He means to say 

that at every third of at mile there is a village outside which people sit on 

carpets spread at specific places ready to proceed with the post. The word 

t^U5 (pavilions) is replaced by the word Now, Jla.) according to the 

Muntah-al-arab^^ means something like a carpet or a covering of 

floors. 

The fourth t. e., appears to be a much 

better reading than that of the French edition. This represents a stage in 

Ghiya§-ud-din Bahadur’s rebellion. On learning of it the Sultan according to 

the Ms. 2287 sent an army against him headed by his step-brother Bahram 

j^ian. The phrase is obviously a mistake. It should have been yy^| 

(step-brother). It should be recalled that the emperor Mubammad bin Tugbli^ 

10 P. 638, 
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had no nephew ; and there was no man named Ibrahim ^an who could be 

regarded as his (brother’s son). There was certainly a young mao named 

Bahram l^an mentioned by BaranI and other historians. He was also known 

as Tatar l^an and was the adopted son of Ghiya^ud>din Tughluq 

The sixth instance is very important and interesting. The correct reading 

is, I feel sure, that given in the Ms. 2287 namely yyS ^L«| ^8 

This means that the Qazi who had been suspected of political disaffection 

had thus incurred the emperor’s displeasure complained about some of the 

Hindus. That is, on being asked to name those whom he knew to be 

malcontents he gave out the names of some Hindus. This was sufficient 

to inflame the emperor’s anger. Instead of being pleased with the Qazi 

as probably the latter had calculated, the emperor rebuked him for the 

ill-will he seemingly bore to his Hindu subjects and immediately put him 

to death. Evidently the emperor regarded the law-abiding Hindus as the 

backbone of his country and empire and unhesitatingly inflicted an exemplary 

punishment on the Qazi to deter the other officials from outraging the Hindus. 

Now, the reading in the French edition is entirely different. The word 

jliJ preferably used and accepted by Defr^mery and Sanguinetti connotes Muslim 

nobility chiefly. And such a translation as has been universally accepted 

destroys the sense : and is, in fact, contrary to the spirit of Mulmmmad bin 

Tughluq’s policy. 

The eleventh instance is again interesting. It is an attempt to describe 

a courtier i. e. Malik Timur, an officer in charge of Royal Drinks. 

He was a resident of Samana. Hence the reading ^ jlj.* i-XUl^UJt ^ 

LJfjS) in the Ms. 2287 which is preferable. But the reading i_SJUl j 

in the French edition turns ^LJ! (inhabitant of Samant) 

into which has been regarded as an explanation of a poor 

explanation indeed. 

The twelfth instance is convincing enough. The reading in the Ms. 2287 

gives )j5iU as the correct form of the name of ‘Ainul-Mulk bin Mahru, 

tlie famous courtier and servant of Muhammad bin Tughluq. But the French 

edition has (Ain-ul-Mulk bin Mahir), which is incorrect. 
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FPEpZ $HAH BAHMA^il AS A NATIQN.ByiLDER OF THE DECCAN 

Abdul Midc^d Siddiqit M. Am EL. B., Hiatory Dept: Oamania University, 
Hyderabad Deccan. 

The Bahmani kingdom of the Deccan, which lasted for nearly a century 

and a half, is rich in history. It produced a number of statesmen, nation* 

builders, law-givers and scholars. Tajuddin Feroz Shah, who was the eighth 

of the Bahmanide line, was a towering personality in the Mediaeval Deccan. 

His glorious achievements in the fields of politics and culture, make his reign, 

which covers a period of twenty five years, unique in history. He was a 

scholar-statesman who possessed in a rare combination of the qualities of a 

sdiolar-statesman, and a nation-builder. He was a great scholar of his time, 

well-versed in all branches of literature and science. At the same time he 

was a social reformer with full knowledge of the realities of the situation, and a 

statesman who could handle men and affairs with perfect skill and sagacity. He 

served his kingdom with his pen and sword as a sincere and a patriotic ruler and 

brought it to the pinnacle of glory, which was not surpassed at any time by his 

successors. He developed the moral and mental capacities of his subjects by 

propagating art, science and literature throughout his kingdom. He reorganized 

the Deccani society by introducing some of the important reforms, which bore 

fruit in the 'age that followed. In short, he holds the highest place among the 

members of his house, and, as almost all the historians support the fact, it was 

through bis outstanding personality, that the Bahmani dynasty was known in 

Indn and abroad.^ 

It is not possible to ascertain the date of Feroz Shah’s birth. To follow 

the authority of Burhan-i-Maasir^ and Zafarul-Wala^ which give more correct 

informatiem about the Bahmanide line than Ferishta, Feroz Shah’s father was 

Ahmad Khan, one of the four sons of Alauddin Bahman Shah, the founder of 

the kingdom. Ahmad Khan and his brother, Mahmood Khan did not becon^e 

kings but lived a private life. When Daood Shah, the second son of Bahman 

Shah, who had killed his ne[^ew Mujahid Shah, was murdered in revenge after 

a brief reign of a month or so, Mohammad Shah II, a son of Mahmood Khan 

ascended the throne, The reason why Mohammad Shah, the son of a younger 

brother was enthroned, while Feroz, the son of an elder brother was there, 

seems to be, that Feroz and his younger brother Ahmad Khan were still 

1 Feritbu part III page 307, Kbafi Khan Vol. Ill p. 60. 

S Borbao-t-Maasir by Ali Ben Azeeznllab. Publiebed by the Persian Manuscript Society of 

Hyderabad, page 41 <- 
8 Arabiaa Hiattny of Gnjrat, edited by Sir Denison Ross p, tOO, 
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minors. If Feroz bad been of age at tbe time of Daood’s murder, be wotitd 
have ascended the Bahmani throne and saved the kingdom from tbe set-badc, 

the kingdom so unfortunately suffered owing to the weak reigns of Sbamsuddin 

and Ghiasuddin, the successors of Mohammad Shah II. But the succession of 

the latter to the throne, whom Ferishla mistakably calls Mahmood Shah, was 

of great advantage both to the kingdom and the royal family. Mohammad 

Shah II was a highly cultured ruler, generous and liberal at heart. He bestowed 

his royal favour on all the members of the family. He directly supervised the 

education and training of his cousins Feroz and Ahmad. A celebrated scholar 

of the age, Meer Fazlullah Anju, who had come to the Deccan from Persia and 

enjoyed royal patronage, which was characteristic of Bahmanide rulers, was 

appointed as their tutor. It was due to this training of Fazlulla Anju, on 

whom, later, the high sounding title of Sadar-i-Jahan was conferred, that Feroz 

became an erudite scholar, by no means inferior to his learned tutor. There is 

no doubt that several other princes, such as Feroz’s brother, Ahmad, and 

Mohammad Shah’s sons, Shamsuddin and Ghiasuddin, came in contact with 

Sadar-i-Jahan, but it was the intelligent Feroz benehtted most by bis training. 

Ferishta^ and Khafi Khan® give us a detailed account of Feroz Shah's 

wide knowledge of science and literature and his constant devotion to learning. 

He is represented as a great geniu®, and the fact is evident from his versatile 

mind and his varied literary activities. It appears from the statement of the 

historians that he had exhausted the whole field of contemporary knowledge and 

was at home in all branches of learning which constituted the standard 

scholarship of the medieval age. He was well-versed in the Quranic studies, 

Islamic jurisprudence, as well as natural and moral sciences. He was well-read 

in Sufism and all its branches, a very popular subject of the mediseval times. 

He was highly proficient in mathematics and geometry.® Moreover bis creative 

mind was not content with the existing stock of knowledge which was transmitted 

from the teacher to the student, but he continued to explore new fields for 

himself and made valuable contribution to art and science. He spent his liesure 

in the company of scholars and discussed the controversial topics with them. 

More striking is the fact that he, according to Khafi Khan, lectured to the students 

on the standard text of logic, rhetoric, natural and moral sciences, rational 

theology, exegesis of the Quran, Tradition and jurisprudenc—a fact which reveals 

his wide range of scholarship. To be precise, in the words of Ferisbta, he lectured 

on Zahide and Sharh-i-Tazkira, the important texts of mathematics;^ on Sharh- 

4 Ferisbta part III p. 308. 
6 Khafi Khan Vol III p. SO. 
6 Geometry was included in Mathematics but treated as a separate subject in the Mediaeval times. 

7 These works are by a Camous scholar Najmuddia Assahedi who died in W A. H- t.s* 

U6Q A. P. 
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i'Maquasid,^ a high standard book dealing with the rational treatment of religion; 

on Tahreer-i-Uqledus, a book which explains the theorems of Euclid; on 

Mutawwal, a scholarly work on literary technique,^ He used to take his classes 

three days a week, Saturday, Monday, and Wednesday. If he failed to take 

his classes during the day time, he engaged the students at night. He had also 

learnt to read the old and the New Testaments and used to discuss with the 

scholars of the respective religions.^® He was a poet and used “Urooji” and 

‘Ferozi” as his pen-name. Some of his poems and a few couplets still survive 

and supply a clue to his extra-ordinary mental capacity.^^ 

In addition to his wide knowledge of science and literature, he is also 

known in history as a great linguist. Ferishta tells us that he had mastered 

almost ail the principal languages of Asia and some of Europe, including the 

Dravidian Vernaculars spoken in the various regions of the Deccan.Since 

he was gifted with a prodigious memory so retentive that he could reproduce 

anything he had heard once or twice, Ferishta’s statement about his mastery 

of all these languages does not seem to be unfounded. He spoke these languages 

as fluently as he did his own tongue. With a view to keep himself constantly 

in touch with these languages, he had made a very curious arrangement, which 

only the master-mind of Feroz Shah could devise. He married many women 

of the various nationalities of Asia and Europe and also those of the Dravidian 

races of the Deccan, and conversed with these wives in their respective tongues. 

What is still more strange is the fact, that these wives which numbered hundreds, 

were provided with separate palaces and with a number of maids of the same 

nationalities to serve them. The wives were ordered to associate with, and 

speak to their maids of their own race appointed for them, and not with others, 

lest their languages, so preserved,'shculd suffer in purity by the admixture of foreign 

words. In so doing, he sought the same milieu for these wives and their maids 

with which they were familbr in their own countries. If any maid died or was 

dimisssed, she was prom|>tly replaced by a fresh one from the same country, and 

thus the languages were carefully guarded against all alien influences. Of the 

wives Feroz Shah hid'in his haram, nine were Arab women, who were born and 

brought up in Hedjaz, where polished Arabic is spoken. Nine of them were 

from Persia and the adjoining r^ions. And others hailed from Europe, Trans- 

Oxsania, Afghanistan, Rajputana, Bengal, Gujerat, Andhra, Karnataca, and 

Maharashtra. All of them, irrespective of their cast and creed, had their own 

palaces and maids, and enjoyed royal favour in equal measure. 

8 It is by Saadudin Taflazam who is also the anthor of Mnttawwal. He died In 791 A. H. 
1389 A* 

9 Ferishta part III 308. 
10 Ferishta p* 309. 
11 Ferishta p* 319. 

12 Ferishta 309^ 
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Making due allowance for vanity of a poet^ Feroi: Shah's own couplet 

sums up his extra-ordinary talents and learning in a few words 

si 

What a refreshing garden is the mind of Uroji, (Feroz Shah), Don't call 

it a garden, it is rather the Heaven of knowledge. Having reviewed Feroz Shah’s 

achievements in the field of learning, Ferishta gives his verdict that his versatile 

mind must have been greater than that of Sultan Mohammad Tughlaq^*. There 

is no doubt that the latter was the only sovereign who could be compared with 

Feroz Shah Bahmani in respect of learning. But as a matter of fact, with 

regard to his stock of knowledge and extraordinary talents, Feroz Shah was 

far superior to Tughlaq. There was not the same genius and zeal for learning in 

thg Pathan king as is found in the Bahmanide ruler. Moreover Sultan Tughlaq, 

with his bookish learning and negligible practical ability was failure in the 

domain of politics and statesmanship. Feroz Shah Bahmani, on the other 

hand, was not only a great scholar but was also gifted with a creative mind 

which enabled him to achieve success in every walk of life. He was as great 

and successful as a statesman as he was as a scholar. He wielded his sceptre 

as skilfully as he did his pen. There was hardly any scheme which he failed 

to carry out. 

Feroz Shah in his role of a statesman and nation-builder, has no parallel 

in the History of the Deccan. He was the most cultured and highly educated 

ruler Deccan had ever had. He came to the throne in the early years of the 

fifteenth century when the Bahmani kingdom was passing through the throes 

of political disintegration, and but for ^he accession of Sultan Feroz, the kingdom 

would have been torn asunder a century e*irlier. Some of the Turkish slaves 

who had been brought up by Bahman Shah I, turned faithless and had usurped 

the royal powers. Taghalchin, who was prominent among them, dominated 

the central government and had reduced the minori kings, Ghiasuddin and 

Shamsuddin, who succeeded their father one after the other, to the position of 

mere figure-heads. This was a calamity which threatened not only the Bahmani 

prestige, which had been so laboriously built up by the previous kings, but also 

the very existence of the Bahmani kingdom. The nobility and the gentry which 

formed the main stay of the kingdom were terrified at this turn of affairs, and 

helplessly looked forward to a saviour, who appeared in the person of Feroz 

Shah. It was nothing sort of a miracle that Feroz, in union with his brother 

Ahmad Khan, rose to the occasion and risking life and property, championed 

the Bahmani cause. All his efforts to overthrow Taghalchin's domination were 

baulked by him and his followers, who had taken hold of the sovereign power* 

13 Ferishta part III p. 319. 

14 Ferishta p. 308. 
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It was obviously a hopeless task, and what saved the situation and won the 

day, was the heroism and sincerity of Feroz Shah. Almost all the historians, 

who record these stirring events are agreed that Feroz, in striving to gain the 

throne, was actuated entirely by unselfish motives and he wanted the throne 

not for self-aggrandisement, but to save the Bahmani Kingdom. 

The first steps, which Feroz Shah took after his accession in 800 A. H.= 

1397 A. D. were to make good the losses, the kingdom had sustained during 

the selfish regime of Taghalchin and restore the old palmy days of Mohammad 

Shah I and II. The worthless favourites of the usurper, who were responsible 

for mal-administration, were turned out and men like Fazlulla Anju 

and his educated relations were raised to the highest posts of responsibility 

and trust. Fazlulla, on whom was conferred the title of Malik Naib in 

addition to that of Sadr-e-Jahan, was appointed as Wakeelus-Saltanat, the 

lieutenant of the kingdom, and his son Shamsuddin Anju to whom the hand 

of the king’s own daughter was given in marriage, was appointed as governor 

of Daulatabad. Two Turk brothers who had helped the king in his attempts 

to win the throne, were awarded the titles of Hoshyar Aenul Mulk, and 

Bedar Nizamul Mulk respectively, and were raised to the position of trustworthy 

counsellors. The king’s own brother, Ahmad Khan, an equally aducated young 

man, was appointed a minister with the titles of Ameenul Omera and Khan 

Khanan. Feroz Shah’s another task, equally onerous, was to restore the 

Bahmani prestige in the neighbouring kingdoms, especially Vigia Nagar. 

Almost all the historians who quote the authority of Mulla Daood Bidri, a 

contemporary historian of Feroz Shah’s reign, mention twentyfour expeditions 

which Feroz Shah conducted against the neighbouring powers and except 

in one or two cases, he returned home triumphantly. He not only excersized 

considerable influence on the neighbouring states, but he, at the same time 

extended his kingdom to B^ukapur in the West, and to Rajamandri in the East. 

The most outstabding achievement of Feroz Shah, which is almost epoch- 

making in the history of the Deccan and India, was his ambitious nation-building 

programme. What he aimed at was, to reorganize the Deccani society by 

amalgamating the two diametrically opposed communities, Hindus and 

Mussulmans, by creating sound social ties among them. This programme for 

welding the different communities into a single homogeneous nation had its root 

in the spirit of tolerence the Bahmani kingdom had always showed towards 

all classes of its subjects, and as such it was a continuation of the older 

pdicy adopted in the earlier reigns. As a matter of fact, the Bahmanides 

were the first Mohammadan rulefs of India who laid down the broad lines of 

the liberal policy of nationalization of the Deccan. Alauddin Babaman Shah I 

and bis prime minister Saifuddin Gbori, were the first politicians of India 

to initiate and implonent this policy. Although only half a century bad 
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elapsed since the settlement of the “Centurians” began in the last decade of 
the thirteenth century, it is surprising that even in this short period, they had 

acclimatized themselves in this region, and making a common cause with the 

Dravidian races, had formed a Deccani nation, quite distinct from that of 

the North. Even the early days of the Bahmani kingdom had seen Hindus 

holding responsible government-posts, especially in Revenue and Finance 

departments. Ferishta is definite in saying that Brahmans for the first time in 

the reign of Bahman Shah I, were called upon to shoulder the responsibilities 

of the Muslim government with equal privileges with the Mohammadans. 

Hindus, on their part, whole-heartedly responded to their call, whereas they 

had hitherto kept aloof from the Pathan kingdom of the North regarding 

service in the Mohainmadan government as derogatory to their race.^® 

The work of amalgamating the two communities was yet to be done. 

It did not advance beyond the limits reached in the early reigns of Bahman 

Shah I and his son Mohammad Shah I, characterised by the liberal and the 

tolerant attitude of its government towards the Hindu subjects. These early 

rulers had confined themselves to employing Brahmans in the government 

service on equal terms with the Mohammadans—a policy which no doubt drew 

both the communities close to each other, but it did not help to blend them 

into a single homogeneous nation. In the beginning of the fifteenth century 

when Feroz Shah came to the throne, a full century had elapsed since the 

advent of the Mohammadans in the Deccan and therefore it was high time to 

pursue this policy with new methods and place it on a permanent basis. Feroz 

Shah was shrewd enough to realize the situation and devise a new plan, so that 

the two communities might come into close contact with each other and thus 

form a common society. He was not content with the older policy of merely 

allowing Hindus to share the responsibilities of the government, though he 

continued the policy more intensively than his predecessors and gave the Hindus 

a preponderant share in politics.^^ He drew up a novel scheme of amalgama¬ 

ting the two communities by creating new social ties between them through 

inter-marriages. To expedite this scheme, he himself set an example by marrying 

Hindu women from the North and the South of India, particularly those hailing 

from the three linguistic regions of the Deccan, Maharashtra, Andhra, and 

Karnatak. These wives were kept in separate places at Ferozabad—a town which 

was newly built for this purpose and named after the king—and they were at 

full liberty to observe their rites and traditions. 

A part of this plan was also to contract matrimonial alliances with the 

neighbouring states of the North and the South with a view to put an end 

IS Ferishta part III p. 278. 

to Ferishta part III p. 3Q9 
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to the age-long hostility which so often disturbed the peace of the Deccan 

plateau. North of the Godaveri the Bahmani kingdom touched a Gond 

principality called Kherla. Though it was not so strong as to be a danger to 

its powerful neighbour, yet it was made use of by the aggressive Mohammadan 

kingdoms of the North, Malwa and Khandesh, and used to encroach on Berar, a 

northern province of the Bahmani kingdom. In the south it touched the strong 

kingdom of Vigianagar which had come into existence a decade earliar than the 

Babmanides. It was so firmly established that it had withstood so far the 

fierce onslaughts of the north and survived its rival kingdom for a century. The 

common boundary and the strip of land watered by the Krishna and the 

Tungabhadra which formed a bone of contention, was the cause of incessant 

wars between them. From the very early years when the Bahmani kingdom 

came into existence, relations between them had always been strained and in 

consequence, sanguinary wars were waged between them with appalling loss of life 

and property to both the sides. Out of the twenty four expeditions which were 

undertaken in the reign of Feroz Shah, most of them were against Vigianagar and 

in most cases resulted in the severe defeat of the Hindu kingdom. This unhappy 

state of affairs had always occupied the best attention of the statesmen on both 

the sides, but no amicable settlement had been reached. Each party sought to 

overthrow the other. Feroz Shah was the first ruler to solve the problem with 

a master-stroke of policy, that is, he planned to cement political alliances by 

means of matrimonial relations. The first act of this kind took place in 802 A. H., 

two years after Feroz Shah became king, when a pitched battle was fought 

between Narsingh, the Gond Rajah of Kherla, and the Bahmani ruler. The 

former was defeated and sued for peace. The treaty which was concluded 

contained, among other terms, the marriage of the defeated rajah’s daughter with 

Feroz Shah. Similarly on the southern side, when the powerful raja of 

Vigianagar, Dew Raya*^, was defeated with heavy losses in 809 A. H. 1406 A. D, 

he was compelled to sigfc a treaty with humiliating terms such as the offer of gold 

jewellery, elephants and his daughter for Feroz Shah's harem. Though the 

Vigianagar princess was obtained as a part of the humiliating treaty, yet the 

marriage was celebrated with great pomp and honour appropriate to the royal 

status of the parties so that it might create good will between the two kingdoms. 

Fazlulla Anju and Ahmad Khan were deputed by the king to go to Vigianagar 

and bring the bride with due honour which she deserved as a Vigianagar princess. 

Feroz Shah was invited to Vigianagar and was accorded a magnificent reception 

and served with sumptuous feasts^^. 

17 The Roy wm named as Deva Raya by Ferishta and other historians, but really speaking 

he WM Bnkka 11. Cambridge History of India Voi. HI 391 

U Feriihta part III p< 319 
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The process of nationalization was also accelerated by the development 

of the Deccan languages, which were liberally patronized by Feroz Shah, His 

predecessors had, no doubt, q, broad outlook towards their Hindu subjects, but 

they never learnt and encouraged the vernaculars of the country. Feroz Shah 

was the first ruler to recognize the importance of this factor in nation-building. 

Besides, the principal languages of other countries, he devoted his time to 

master the three languages, Marhati, Telugu, and Kanarese, spoken in his 

kingdom. He knew and spoke these languages fluently. It is definitely recorded 

that, when Feroz visited Vigianagar as a guest of Dew Raya in connection 

with his marriage celebration, he conversed with the Raya in Kanarese.^^ And 

a unique arrangement by which foreign women in his harem conversed with 

the king in their respective tongues, was intended to revive his linguistic interest 

and keep him constantly in touch with the languages. And thus the part he 

played in the revival and development of Deccan languages, was no less 

important than that of the Rayas of Vigianagar. 

Feroz Shah’s activities as a scholar and an educationist present a more 

attractive fact of his many-sided personality. His educational activities 

motivated by the sincere desire to raise the intellectual standard of his subjects, 

were by no means inferior to his social reforms. Of course, it is only fair to 

conclude that, Feroz Shah’s reign was only a later stage in the literary progress 

of the country. The literary tradition of the day, was inherited from the 

previous generation, that is, the reign of Mohammad Shah II. It was then 

that several distinguished men of letters were invited to the Deccan to spread 

learning throughout the kingdom. Meer Faziulla Anju, who was mostly 

responsible for the literary enthusiasm which marked both the reigns, had been 

invited by Mohammad Shah and patronized by him. A number of literary 

circles were formed round Faziulla and his disciples, and a great intellectual 

awakening was brought about, Feroz Shah himself was a typical product of 

his age, and so the literary enthusiasm he showed during his reign, was in 

continuation of the settled policy of the past generation. 

But Feroz Shah’s unfailing love of learning and his devotion to the cause 

of education has no parallel in history. It was certainly far more than what 

was experienced in the reign of Mohammad Shah II. As he himself was a 

great scholar, he could realize the true value and advantage of learning. He 

sincerely strove to raise the intellectual standard of his subjects to a level which 

was never reached before and after him. It is a strange fact that he was so 

much devoted to the cause of learning that, inspite of his heavy work in 

managing state affairs, he found time to pay full attention to the matter with 

a definite purpose of developing the mental capacities of his subjects. It is 

worthy of note that in the domain of education he was always progressive and 

19 Ferishta port III p< 31S* 
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did not neglect to get new inspiration from the living centres of learning in other 

parts of the world. As a result of this the Bahmani kingdom had established 

contact with the older seats of learning in Arabia, Persia, and Trans Oxsania. 

Distinguished men of letters flocked to the Bahmani capital and were received 

as royal guests. The Bahmani fleet which comprised two hundred ships and 

was employed to guard the coast of the kingdom, was commissioned to sail 

in the seas of Arabia and Persia and bring back treasures of art from these 

countries. But the import which the king preferred was of capable men who 

could serve the state as soldiers and as teachers. The ships sailed back to 

the ports, Goa, Jeval and Wabel, with as many scholars as they found and added 

to the literary circle of the king annually, so that, in course of time, it became a 

great academy,^^ 

Historical records of the time fail to give the names of all the scholars 

who had Uhronged to the court of Feroz Shah at Gulburga. They confine 

themselves to the general statement that Feroz Shah had a large body of 

distinguished men of letters who were the choice of the age.^^ Fazlulla Anju, 

Shamsuddin Anju, Ameer Naquddin, Moulana Lutfulla Sabsvari, Mulla Ishaq 

Sarhindi, Hakim Hasan Geelani and Syed Mahmood Karzuni, are the very few 

names which are haphazardly mentioned. Though Fazlulla, owing to his all 

round scholarship and his matrimonial connections with the royal family, was 

a very prominent member of the group, and was highly respected as such. 

Hakeem Hasan Geelani and Mahmud Karzuni are also represented as well-read 

scholars. All of them were held in high esteem and received royal hospitality 

in equal measure. The palace was thrown open to whomsoever cared to enter 

and every one was promptly served with every thing he wanted including food 

and drink. Since the king was engaged in administrative work during the day 

time, so to suit him, they usually met at night and sat late till two or three 

A. M. He betook himself to, these literary gatherings almost every night. What 

is more interesting to hote is that he never allowed his royal position to stand 

between him and the members of the gathering. He, rather, freely moved in 

the company of scholars, priests, poets, story-tellers, and bards as an ordinary 

man, and treated them as if they were his brethren. He told the learned 

visitors frankly that, so long as he sat on the throne and attended to the state 

affairs, he must appear in the capacity of a king striking awe in the mind of his 

subjects and thereby keeping a firm hold on the reins af government. On the 

other hand, in the company of scholars, he was no more than an ordinary 

member, and by this arrangement he meant to enjoy himself fully in the 

capacities of both a king and a scholar. The members of this company were 

20 Ferisbta part III p. 308. 

21 Ibid, part III p. 308* 
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given full liberty to talk to one another and to himself as freely as they could. 

The only restriction imposed on them was to avoid politics which was the 

special province of “Devandari**, namely the king and his ministers, and refrain 

from back biting, Mulla Ishaq Sarhindi referred to an untoward incident which 

followed Sultan Mahmud Ghaznavi's free association with his courtiers and 

warned the king to guard himself against this. He was of opinion that this 

sort of free contact did not become a king. But Feroz Shah did not subscribe 

to this milieu and he argued that the untoward incidents could occur only 

when the kings were wanting in learning and culture. As a matter of fact 

Feroz Shah’s high culture and good training and tact enabled him to steer 

clear of the scylla of arrogance as a king and the charybdis of undue familiarity 

as a member of a literary circle. He stuck to his principle so consistently that 

it led to no untoward incident which could disturb the pleasant atmosphere. 

All those who had come in contact with other kings, unanimously asserted 

that Feroz Shah, with his strength of character and high principle, was the 

only ideal sovereign of his times.^^ 

A notable feature of the literary circle was, that it was not restricted to 

the Mohammadan scholars, but was open to the scholars of other religions as 

well. They were accorded the same hearty reception as the Mohammadans, 

and the king took special care of them.*^ Feroz Shah approached the scholars 

of other religions, as Christianity and Judaism, and if a later historian is to be 

relied upon, also those of Brahmanism^^, and used to discuss religious problems 

with all of them. He studied the Old and the New Testaments and probably 

the Vedas too, and according to Khafi Khan, added explanatory notes to them—25 

a fact which shows that he had a deeper knowedge of the Scriptures. These 

noble efforts on the part of Feroz Shah to search for truth even in non-Islamic 

creeds, bear testimony to the true spirit of scholarship far ahead of his age. It is 

obvious that he was animated by the true spirit of scholarship unfettered by 

religious bias. And moreover it is borne in upon us that he believed in universal 

peace or I toleration. It was a noble attempt to tone down the differences of 

religions and so bridge the chief gulf between the rulers and the ruled in those times. 

Such was the noble ideal which Feroz Such so ardently cherished and 

lived upto it throughout his life. His own verses, beautifully composed, give a 

I vivid idea how he looked at human life. 

^ ^ ** *)>*> 

22 Ferishta part III p. 307. 

23 Ibid part III p. 309. 

24 Mabboobut Tawarikh by Abdul Jabbar Khan Asafi p. 427. 

25 Khafi Khan Vol. Ill p. 5a 

26 Ferishta part III p. 319. 
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Don’t waste your intellect on nonsense, 

Don’t lend your mind to every thing you come across. 

You possess a mind as rich'as a treasury. 

See, that it is not wasted on worthless matters. 

It is not possible to ascertain how far Feroz Shah succeeded in rc-niodelling 

the Deccani society in accordance with his original ideas Historical records 

of the time do not furnish us with sufficient data as to the social conditions of 

those days. As is usually the case with mediaeval authorities, they concentrate 

on the personality of the king and his court. There is every reason to believe 

that the scheme did not pass unnoticed. Though it made slow progress yet it 

had far reaching effects on the succeeding ages. The later kingdoms which 

were the off-shoots of the Bahmani power, adhered to the liberal principles 

laid down by Feroz Shah. It is a well known fact that the founder of the 

Adil Shahi kingdom, Yousuf Adil Khan had married a Maratha woman and had 

thus paved the way for a common culture. His successors who were descended 

from the same Maratha lady, were naturally attached to Maharashtra and its 

culture. The result was that they sincerely helped the development of Maratha 

nation and its language. The Qutub Shahi kings of Golconda, who ruled over 

the Telugu country, followed in the wake of the same Bahmani tradition. 

Though they were foreigners of Persian blood, yet they identified themselves 

with the people of the country they ruled. They imbibed the local spirit, 

observed the local traditions, and learned the Telugu language and acquired 

so much proficiency in it that they could write Telugu poetry. The bulk of 

Telugu literature during the sixteenth and the seventeenth centuries, owes a great 

deal to Qutub Shahi patronage. And coming to a later age, the liberal and 

tolerant rule of Akbar, the Great Moghal, and his cosmopolitan literary and 

religious circle, remind us of the good old days of P'eroz Shah. 
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THE ORIGIN OF THE KHIUI SULTANS OF DELHI 

Shaikh Abdur Rashid M. A., Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh. 

The following passage in Ziauddin Barni's famous Tarikh-i-Firoz Shahi 

has been responsible for much of the doubt cast on the origin of the Khilji 

Turks who founded a strong centralised empire in India in the 13th century^. 

The translations or rather mis-translations of Ferishta made by Dow^ and 

Briggs® made the confusion greater. The Khiljis were not regarded for a 

long time as Turkish in origin and in the present note I have tried to 

establish the identity of the Khiljis who were thoroughly Turkish in origin and 

whom careless historians and whose long residence in Non-Turkish lands 

deprived them of their ethnic origin. 

“In the year 688 A. H.“, writes Ziauddin Barni “Sultan Jalaluddin Khilji 

ascended the throne in the Kailughari palace. As the people of Delhi had for 

80 years prospered under the rule of the Turks the government of the Khiljis 

appeared to them intolerable. Jalaluddin therefore, refrained from entering 

the city for a time.It appeared strange to them as to how the Khiljis came 

to rule in place of the Turks and how kingship had passed from the Turkish 

people into the hands of others Elsewhere too he makes the statements 

that Jalaluddin came from a race different from that of the Turks, that he 

did not belong to their party and that by the death of Sultan Kaiqubad the 

Turks lost the empire.® The implication in these passages of Barni is that 

the Khiljis who were not Turks, deprived the Turks of their kingship to which 

according to him they had a prescriptive right. It appeared strange to the 

people of Delhi long used to the rule of the Ubari Turks that the Khiljis should 

rule in India. One can excuse the ignorance of the people of Delhi who had 

perhaps on account of long associations a greater r^ard and a firmer sense of 

loyalty to the particular family that had ruled for generations than an accurate 

knowledge of Turkish tribes. The rule of Balban had been long and in a way 

prosperous. He had awed the people by his magnificent display of riches and 

terrorised them by a strong ruthless personal rule. He had been at pains to 

find a royal ancestry for himself and connect himself with the ancient Persian 

emperors with the object of surrounding his dynasty with the halo of 

antiquity. His sons and grand-sons were known to the people as being born 

1 1390-1320. 
2 Dow, Alexander—The History of Hindustan, London 1770-72- 

S Briggs, Rise of Muhammadan Power, 4 VoB. 

4 Barni, CakntU Text, p. 175, 

5 Barni, Calcutta Text, pp. 171*172 • p-173* 
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in purple and as men of many accomplishments and in case of one, inspite 

of his reckless living, men of personal charms. The Khiljis were interlopers 

and upstarts. They were rough warriors and the people of Delhi expected 

nothing but rigorous exacting government from them. They did not like them 

nor desire their rule; hence their contemptuous surprise at the brazen faced 

daring of the Khiljis in assuming royal power. 

But no such excuse of ignorance or wonder can bs put forward for Barni 

who inspite of his confusedness is a careful writer and professes in the 

introduction to his book to have utilised all the oral and written information 

that was available for the compilation of his book.^ Further he had splendid 

opportunities of knowing things, firstly because of family connections and 

secondly on account of his personal associations with men of power and 

prestige at the court and men of learning and piety in the capital. A man who 

was for 17 years at the court of Mohammad Tughlaq and claimed the friendship 

of men like Hazrat Nizamuddin Auliya, Amir Hasan Sanjari and Hazrat Amir 

Khusrau could not be ignorant of as to who the Khiljis were. As such his 

statement is either a case of deliberate suppression to belittle the importance 

of the Khiiji rule or is capable of a meaning which has not been 

prc^rly understood. 

Ziauddin Barni was a young boy during the reign of Jalaluddin the 

founder of the Khiiji dynasty and his account of the court nod the pleasure 

parties of that emperor is full of such wisifulness and is described with such 

touches of despair and personal loss as to indicate a strong impression having 

been left on his youthful mind. He gives expression to an anguished longing 

for the return of that period of bliss. He speaks well of Jalaluddin but in his 

account of Alauddin’s reign there is neither admiration nor respect for his 

government, nor does he sigh for the return of a government as his. His praise 

wherever it is due is gj^udgingly given. For Qutbuddin, the son and successor 

of Alauddin, he has only contempt. Such were the three Khiiji Sultans under 

whose rule Ziauddin Barni’s mind matured, and writing thirtyseven years after 

the death of the last Khiiji ruler he still refused to acknowledge them as Turks. 

The only explanation that can be given is the ingrained and sentimental regard 

which the people of Delhi, the premier capital town of the Muslim empire, had 

for the descendants of lltutmish however removed from their progenitor and 

which feeling Barni shared, and secondly the belief that the pious and the holy 

people and the descendants of the old aristocratic families had a superior claim 

to the indulgent consideration of the government and that these two rla^aa^ of 

people must have, as a matter of right, the monopoly of all offices irrespective 

of merit or personal talent. This belief bad been inculcated iq the minds of 

( 9ee article on ^laaMin Barni by Syed Nnsaa Barni, lalanqic Cqltare Voj, XII, No, |. 
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the people by Iltutmish and Baiban. The Khilji imperialism uprooted the 

first and scatter^ them; it humbled and destroyed the pride of the latter. The 

Khiljis had neither respect for the one nor fear of the other. They wanted 

merit and efficiency and did their work so thoroughly that even the post of a 

SadrusSadur went to a Multani and elicited the sharp rebuke of Maulana 

Shamsuddin Turk. “One of the things which I have heard about you,” wrote 

Maulana Shamsuddin Turk, “which neither God nor bis prophets nor any saint 

or Sheikh likes is this. You have entrusted the most delicate of all offices and 

one unbecoming to any one who does not hate the world to the Multani fellow 

Hamid who from the time of his grandfather and father has lived on nothing 

but usury. You do not concern yourself about the faith of any Kazi, you entrust 

the laws of the Shariat to selfish and greedy men who love the world."^ As 

such the Khiljis were not Turks for they did not behave like the former Turkish 

rulers. Ziauddin Barni is very particular about the lineage of men of 

importance. This was the legacy left by Iltutmish who first created class 

consciousness amongst the Turks by bringing them together in his famous corps 

of Shamshi slaves and Balban’s endeavour to secure a halo of sanctity for his 

dynasty by insisting on blue blood being the essential requisite for fitness for a 

governmental post. 

Ziauddin Barni divides the people into ‘Sharif’ and ‘Razil’ and a careful 

perusal of his book leaves the impression on the mind that by ‘Sharif’ he meant 

men descended from those respectable families that formed the nucleus of the 

Muslim population in India and the well boro emigrants who settled in India 

having been driven from their homes by the devastating flood of the Mongol 

rising. The Khiljis in his eyes had no claim to respectability, and no ancient 

lineage, and no personal piety to recommend them. They were not llbari 

Turks nor did they belong to the ‘fighty families’ of the days of Iltutmish. 

Hence thtir origin was ignored and they were classed with the non-descript 

Musalmans who now formed the bulk of the Muslim population in India. This 

is the only explanation one can put on the loosely mide statements of Barni. 

To regard it as the last word on the ethnic origin of the Khiljis is unscientific and 

unhistorical. Barni was a contemporary of the Khiljis; be was a well read 

man, welt connected and well informed and had certainly ample opportunities 

of knowing the truth, but for once in this case his personal dislike of the Khiljis 

over-rode his sense of historical accuracy or truth. 

After Barni the two other historians who could have elucidated this point 

are Shamshi Siraj Afif^ and Yahya Ibn Ahmad Sarhindi.^ Both are silent on 

this point and it is difficult to get any information from their pages. Ferishta 

7 Eiauddin Baral, Calcatta Text p. Sgs; (or Berni'a views on this see p. 352. 
8 Tarikhi Feros Shahi 
9 Tarikhi Mubarik Shahi 
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and Nizamuddin writing in the 16th century have definite statements to maltA 

on this point. Nizamuddin Bakhshi in his Tabaqati Akbari sayst— 

“I have seen in one of the authoritative histories, that the tribe of Khaij 

are the descendants of Khalij Khan, son-in>law of Chengiz Khan ; and his story 

is this. He had an unpleasantness with his wife, the daughter of Chengiz Khan. 

For fear of the latter, he had no alternative but to simulate softness and 

courtesy. He was all along looking for a release, a means of escape, but could 

not find any. At last when Chengiz Khan defeated and crushed Sultan 

Jalaluddin on the bank of the river Sindh, and having freed his mind of all 

anxiety about Iran and Turan, returned towards his own country, and at about 

the same time passed away ; Kalij Khan, who had carefully examined the hilly 

country of Ghur and Gharjistan and their strength and inaccessibility, settled 

down there with his family and tribesmen, who numbered about three thousand 

families. As Chengiz Khan was dead, and none of his sons took any notice of 

his movements, be remained there: and his descendants multiplied. As the 

Sultans of Ghur and its dependencies conquered Hindustan, the Khaij, owing 

to their being in the neighbourhood, came at different times into that country, 

and entered into service there and attained to high rank. The father of Sultan 

Jalaluddin and the father of Sultan Mahmud Khaiji Mandvi, who were among 

the great and successful Maliks and renowned Sultans, were grandsons of 

Khalij'Khan. Kalij became Khalij by a change of letter, and by frequency of 

use became Khaij. According to the author of the Saljuknamah (however) 

Turk, the son of Japhet had eleven sons, one of these was named Khaij. His 

descendants are called the Khalj.”^*^ 

Nizamuddin's statement is self contradictory. The Khiljis existed and 

fought as mercenaries with the armies of the Khwarzm Shahis, Mahmood of 

Ghazni and Shahabuddin of Ghur and the famous Khilji adventurer 

Mohammad Bakhtiyar conquered Bengal for the latter much earlier than the 

irruption of the Mongols in Central Asia. According to Utbi the army of 

Mahmud which won a victory near Butkh in 1008 contained a contingent of 

the Khiljis. According to Nasawi Jalaluddin’s army which defended Samarkand 

against the Mongols bad a contingent of Khaij. Nizamuddin forgetting bis 

previous statement says that the descendants of Khaij Khan came to India 

with the Gburis whose lands were devastated and sovereignty put an end to by 

the Mongols. Ferisbta realised the difficulty and rightly pointed it out. 

“To the author of these pages, Mohammad Qasim Hindu Shah Ferishta,” says 

be, “the second explanation seems more reasonable. The histories of the 

Gbazanavides repeatedly affirm that many officers of Amir Subuktigin and 

Sultan Mahmud were Khiljis, and these mc»iarcbs certainly flourished before 

to Nisuraddin't Akhtti. Celcutts Test, p. 110. 
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Chengiz Khan. It is, however, possible that Sultan Jalaluddin of Delhi and 

Sultan Mahmud of Mandu may have been the descendants of a Khilji chief, 

named Qalij.”*^ The same view is held by Mullah Abdul Qadar Badaoni who 

says, "It must not be forgotten that although Shihab-ud-Diu Hakim Kirmani 

Jaunpuri, the author of the history called Tabaqat>i-Mahmud Shahi, deduces 

the pedigree of Sultan Jalaluddin and Sultan Mahmud Malwi from the stock 

of Qalij Khan, son-in-law of Chengiz Khan, there is a lung story connected 

with this. This at least is clear that this ancestry has no real auth ority, any 

one of sound judgment will be able to detect the falsity of his claim to this 

descent; and as a matter of fact there is no connection whatever between Qalij 

and Khalj, in spite of the fact that Qalij has too rough a sound for the Turki 

tongue, and if it had any equivalent (of sufficient softness) it would be Qalj 

with the meaning of a sword and in some histories it is said that Khalj is the 

name of one of the sons of Yafis, (Japhet) the son of Nuh (Noah) on whom 

be peace and the Khiljis descend from him. God knows the truth of-this.”*^ 

Barthold, one of the greatest authorities on the History and Geography 

of Central Asia speaks of the Khalj (Arab vocalization) as a Turkish tribe who as 

early as the fourth century lived much further south than the other Turks in the 

Southern parts of the modern Afghanistan between Seistan and India and are 

said even then to have come thither in ancient times.^3 it account of 

this perhaps that they came to be identified with the indigenous people of 

Afghanistan. According to Major Raverty and Elphinstone the Khiljis were a 

people who were Turks but having been long staying in Afghanistan first round 

Herat and then eastwards they became so assimilated to the population of the 

locality that they were taken to be more Afghans than Turks. 

On the authority of MirKhond the name Khalj was given to a tribe by 

Oghuz Khan, "Aghuz Khan also named the Turk tribe of Khalj sometimes 

pronounced Khalaj, in poetry from the following circumstances. On one of 

Aghuz’s expeditions, the particulars of which are too long for insertion here, 

some of his men fell out on the line of march, and remained behind. When 

they came up with the army again, Aghuz demanded the reason of their 

disobeying his strict orders against loitering. One of them replied, although 

they had been directed to take food with them sufficient for some days, that 

they had stayed behind in search of it, and that, in his own case, he had to 

remain because his wife was taken in labour, and, when the child came into the 

world, the mother, for want of nourishment, had no milk to give it. He had 

no food to offer her; when, looking about him, he espied, near by, a fox which 

had caught a partridge. He threw a stick at the fox which dropped the bird, 

II Tuikhi FerishU, Newal Kishore edition, p. 88. 

U Badooi, Mnotakhebut Tawarikh, Translated by Ranking, p, 230. 
19 Eacynlopnedla of Islam, p. 879. 
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which he seized, and, having roasted it, gave it to his wife to eat, and thereby 

she was able to afford nourishment to her babe. Hearing this tale, Aghuz gave 

the nhild—a boy— the name of Khalj or Khalaj, which signifies, according to 

some authors, "leave the woman behind,” but others again say it is a compound 

word derived from Ji. Khal, left, and ^1 aj, hungry—“left hungry.” The 

posterity of this man became, in time, very numerous, and various branches of 

them went out into Mawar*un'Nahr, the Garmsir of Ghur and other parts of 

Khurasan, and into Irak.”^* 

That the Khiljis were Turks is amply borne out by the Arab Geographers. 

Ibn Khurdazbeh says:—^“from Taraz to Nushajan 3 parsakhs, then to Kasra 

Bas, 2 parsakhs. It is a hot place where the Karloks have their winter-seats. 

Not far from there there are the winter-seats of the Khalaj.” 

In Kitab Muojam ul Buldan occurs the following "Khalj.is a place 

near Ghazni or in the vicinity of Zobulistan.”*® 

Fakhruddin Mubarak Shah Ibn Abu’i Hasan-aUMarv-ur-Rudhi writing 

of the Turkish tribes says, “Now the Turks consist of many tribes most of 

whom live in the plains and have pasture grounds, but they do not remain in 

one spot for their flocks except in winter when snow covers the ground. If 

any one should wish to learn about all the Turkish tribes, it would be impossible 

but the following list gives the names of some of the best known sub>divisions. 

The eleventh tribe in a list of 64 is the Khalj and leaves no doubt about the 

Turkish origin of the same. Fakhruddin was a contemporary of Ghyasuddin 

Ghuri and was a man of education and culture and highly spoken of by 

Ibn Albir."l6 

The following extracts from some eminent Arab Geographers are given 

in support of the Turkish origin of the Khiljis :— 

“In Gbaznin and tin the limits (hundred) of the boroughs which we have 

enumerated, live the Khalaj Turks who possess many sheep. They wander along 

climates (gardanda bar bava) grazing ground and pasture lands (marai) in 

provinces (hudud) of Balkh, Tukbaristan.”^^ 

“The Khalaj are a kind of Turk who in the days old came to the country 

(stretching) between Hind and the districts of Siestan behind Ghaur. They 

are cattle breeders (aU«al na’am) of Tarkish appearance (Khilaq) dress and 

laogaage.”^^ 

14 Taboqati Nasiri translated by Raverty, p. 878 note. 
15 Biblotbiea Geognphomm Arabicomm Vol. 2, p. 489. 
16 (a) Tarikbi Fakhruddin Mnbarak Shah (b) AJab Nama p. 407. 
17 Hod-nd-al-Abm, Translated by Minorsky p. 111. 
18 Istakbri p. 248. 



THE ORIGIN OF THE KHII.JI SULTANS OF DELHI 303 

“Oghuz consisted of 24 clans but the two Khalaj clans separated from 

the federation and “therefore these two are not (evidently now) counted as of 

the Oghuz.’’^® 

“The Khalaj are a tribe of Turks who from the Khallukh limits envigorated 

to Zabulistan. Among the districts of Ghazni there is a steppe where they reside. 

Then on account of the heat of the air their complexion has changed and 

tendered towards blackness; the language too has undergone alterations and 

became a different dialect.’’®® 

The ‘Masalik ULMumalik* states that “the Khalaj are a tribe of Turks, 

which in former days—this work was written long before the time of Mahmud of 

Ghaznin—settled in Garmsir, between Sijistan and the region of Hind*^ They 

are in appearance and dress like Turks, and observe the customs of that race, 

and all speak the Turki language.” The same work also states in two or three 

places, that there is a town called Khalj in that part; and in the account of Jaj 

also Chaj, of Mawar-an-Nahr says that this is a populous and flourishing city, the 

people of which are Ghuzz and Khalj, and the Mussalmans of the sect of Ghazi. 

The Ghilzais of Afghanistan who are undoubtedly of Turkish origin have 

been indentifled with Khiljis. Major Raverty objected to it strongly but as 

Wolsey Haig has pointed out, “If the Ghilzais be not Khiljis it is difficult to 

say what had become of the latter.” 
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THE ORIGIN OF *GANGO BAHMANF 

IS FERISHTA’S LEGEND ABSURD 7 

R. V. Oturkar, M. A., Professor, S. P. College, Poona, and G. H. 
Kbare, Poona, Members, Bbarata Itibasa Samsbodak Mandal, Poona. 

Lt. Colonel Sir Wolseley Haig as the editor of the Cambridge History of 

India Vol. Ill and a writer of the Chapters VI and XV dealing with Muhammad 

Tughluq and Bahmani kingdom in the Deccan respectively writes in a footnote 

on page 170-171 “European historians have hitherto accepted unquestioningly 

Ferishta’s absurd legend of his having assumed the title *Ala-ud-din Hasan 

Kanku Bahmani in honour of one Gangu, a Brahman whose slave he had 

formerly been.” Apparently he does not believe in the legend and thinks that 

the story is untrue beyoud all doubt. We are inclined to think otherwise. 

The object of this paper is to show how attempts to discredit the ‘Gango 

Brahmin’ connection of Hasan Shah and to trace him to the Persian origin 

are not after all as conclusive as they are considered to be by men like 

Lt Col. Haig. 

The view that Ferishta’s version regarding the origin of Bahmani was 

not reliable was first put forth by Major J. S. King in the Indian Antiquary 

Vol. 28th of the 1899. In it he has given a well-edited translation of the work 

“Burhan-i-Masir’’ written by Ali bin Aziz Ullah Tabataba. The said Tabataba 

was a ccmtemporary of Ferishta. As regards the quality of Tabataba’s work. 

Major King himself says on page 120, that “the style (of Tabataba) is more 

ornate and in general completeness is inferior to the latter’’ (t. e. Ferishta’s 

works). Tabataba gives^ a long line of ancestors of Hasan Shah in which he 

traces the name Bahram Gur after giving a list of about twenty ancestors, but 

probably not being himself sure of the geneology, he proceeds to add “ But God 

the Most High alone knows the truth of matters”. The sentence quoted has 

been throughout used by TabatabS whenever he felt that he was on uncertain 

and doubtful historical evidence. It cannot be explained away as a general 

expression of modesty on the part of the writer. As r^ards the geneology 

the difficulty of Tabataba was obvious ; of the words Gangu Bahmani TabStabS 

could explain away ‘Bahmani’ by giving a Persian geneology and explaining 

Bahman ShSh as a title held by Hasan Shah, but bow could he explain Gangu ? 

Major King also is silent over this pcrint. Thirty years after this Lt. Col. 

Haig, the editor of Cambridge History tried to explain the word 'Gangu* or 

‘Kanku’. Being inclined to favour the Peirsian version he proceeded to argue 

that “the meaning of the addition 'Kanku* has hot been established; but it is 
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^trobabty a corruption of’ Kaikaus, the name of Bahman Shah’s father." 

(Cambridge History of India Vol. Ill footnote page 171). In further support 

qf bis Argument Lt. Col. Haig writes on page 372, "Alau>d-din Hasan claimed 

descent from the hero Bahman, son of Isfandiyar and his assumption of the 

title Bahman Shah was an assertion of his claim.” {Note :—In the footnote 

he refers the reader to J. A, S. B., Part I Vol. LXXIII extra number 1904, 

where Lt. Col. Haig first made his ‘Notes on the Bahmani Dynasty’. We have 

not been able to get that number). Continuing, says Lt, Col, Haig, “Ferishta 

relates an absurd legend connecting the title with the name of the priestly 

caste of the Hindus, but the story is disproved by the evidence of inscriptions 

and legends on coins, and the name of Kanku which frequently occurs in 

conjunction with that of Bahman and which is said by Ferishta to represent 

Gangu, the name of King’s former Brahman master, is more credibly explained 

by Maulavi ‘Abdul-ubwali as a scribes corruption of Kaikaus, which was the 

name of Bahman’s father as given in two extant geneologies." 

I shall quote the relevant passage from Maulavi ‘Abdul Wall's article which 

appeared in the Journal and the Proceedings of the R. A. S. B., Vol. V 1909, on 

PAge 463 on which Lt. Col. Haig relies his support. 

‘The Manuscript of the Haft-Iqlim’ which belongs to the A. S. B. (D/347) 

has ‘Hasan Kakuya’ instead of Kmku or Gangu. {Note:—‘The writer tells 

US in the same article that the author of the manuscript was Amin Ahmad 

Razi, who wrote it in 1002 H. before the time of Ferishta. The word 

‘Hasan Kakuya’ appears in a passage under ‘Dakan’). The word is a 

puzzle. Is it the Dakani corruption for Kaikaus, the name of King’s father ? If 

this knotty point can be cleared up, the full name and title of the founder of the 

Bahmani Dynasty will run somewhat thus:— 

Alaud-d-din Hasan bin Kaik^s Bahmani’. If the letter ‘‘s” of Kaikaus 

be left out, the word may give rise to the following variants in Persian character: 

Kaikau, Kaukau, Kanku, Gangu, Kaku etc." 

From the above passage it would be clear that Maulavi ‘Abdul Wali 

hihaself regards this point as ‘Knotty’ and feels that if ‘s’ of Kaikaus be left out 

then the word may take the form of ‘Gangu or Kanku’ due to scribe’s corruption. 

Further it should be remembered that the current title by which Hasan Shah 

used to be addressed is not Hasan bin Kaikaus Bahmani; it is only Hasan Gangu 

(Kaikaus) Bahmani. The fact that Haft Iqlim was written before Ferishta 

wrote, is not at all relevant for, after all the difference is only of a few years. 

It must be remembered that although Perishta’s work was completed by 1606-7 

A. D. he had written the earlier portions as early as 1595-96 A. D. which is not 

very, far off, from 1002 H. ». e. 1593-94 A. D. Much depends upon the quality 

of Hkft Iqlim aod.the qualification of ita author. ‘Abdul Wali says not a word 

39 
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about it in his article in the R. A. S. B. of 1904. Probably he has not 

thoroughly examined it. 

It is very difficult to say what ‘inscriptions and legends on coins’ Lt. Col. 

Haig refers to. He has given no authority. It would have been much better 

if he would have. An article in the Journal and Proceedings of the R. A. S. B. 

Vol. XIX of 1923 (page 22/33) deals with the coins of Bahmani Kings. The 

coin of Alau d-din gives Bahman Shah as the title of the King. The succeeding 

King calls himself Muhmad Shah bin Bahman Shah or Muhmad Hasan Bahmani. 

This shows that Bahman Shah is a title assumed by Alau-d-din. The assumption 

of the title only shows that Alau>d*din liked to honour himself with the name 

of Persian hero Bahman, son of Isfandiyar. It does not make out a case in 

support of the Persian origin of Hasan Shah. Hasan Shah does not call himself 

a Bahmani. Succeeding Kings call themselves Bahmani, obviously because the 

founder of their dynasty styled himself Bahman Shah. We therefore wish to 

point out that there is no contemporary evidence in support of the Persian 

origin of Hasan Shah. 

One can easily explain why Hasan liked to call himself Bahman Shah. 

Whenever Kings rise to a high position they are anxious to trace their origin 

to noble families of old nay, even to the celestial Sun or the Moon. Do we not 

know that the later Chalukyas of the Deccan, although Dravidian in origin were 

anxious to imitate the Aryans by tracing their origin to the Sun nr the Moon ? 

The grandiloquent title assumed by kings and inscribed on coins does not long 

survive in popular memory but the popular name does. Hasan Gangu Bahmni 

was the popular name. The Sanskrit word Brahman is generally pronounced 

by the Muslims as Bahmun. We have the authority of Ferishta who tells us 

that Muslims of his days also pronounced the word similarly (vide Ferishta, 

Brigg’s translation, Vol. Ill page 297 last but one line). Hasan was a Gangu 

Bahmani i. e. was one who oece belonged to Gangu Brahman. Gangu is not a 

legendary person. It mus\ be remembered that Hasan went out of his way and 

entrusted the management of his treasury to Gangu who had left Mahomed 

Toghluk’s service and repaired to the Deccan when he learned of Hasan having 

come to the throne. (Ibid 289*90). Was Hasan an Afgan or a Persian ? 

Ferishta emphatically says that he was by birth an Afgan (Ibid 297). Assumption 

of a title Bahman Shah proves nothing except that AlSu*d*din liked to associate 

himself with the Persian kings. The geneology of 20 ancestors of Hasan Shah 

given by Tabataba cannot be regarded as reliable, because be is himesif not sure 

of it and it is not corroborated by any other independent and contemporary 

evidence. Such geneologies are mostly untrustworthy. 

We shall summarise what we have to say in brief. 
(1) KaikiEQs may have been very probably the name of ^sao Shifa^ 

father. We say very probably because there is no conclusive evidence. 
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X® Attempt to connect KaikSus with Gangu on the part of Maulavi ‘Abdul 

Wall is not complete; he himself is doubtful about the ‘knotty point’. 

(3) Assumption of the title Bahthan Shah by Alau-d-din does not vouchsafe 

for the definite Persian origin of Bahmani kings. 

(4) Geneologies are not trustworthy. 

(5) Gangu is not an imaginary person. Hasan was closely associated 

with him. 

(6) In the quality of writing Ferishta is superior to Tabataba. 

It must be remembered that Ferishta wanted to write a true account of 

Delhi and Bahmuny kings and is generally fearless in criticising his master and 

critical in the sifting of his material. His patron Ibrahim Adil Shah spared no 

expense to procure the most ample materials. He drew his information from 

34 authorities and utilised 20 others, in the writing of his book of the 34 

authorities there are two that refer to Bahmani Kingdom. They are : 

(1) Siraj-oot-Tareekh Bahmuny by Moola Mahomed Lary. 

(2) Tohfut-oos-Sulateen Bahmuny by Mulla Dawood Bidry. 

If the controversy regarding Hasan Gangu Bahmani is at all to be further 

investigated we have to make a search of these documents, which, it is to be 

hoped, would throw further light on the subject. Till then, it would be hasty 

to discard the story told by Ferishta that Hasan was a slave to Gangu in his 

early days and he was popularly called Hasan Gangu Bahmani. It was a story 

that was the most generally believed in the 16th and the 17th Century ». e. when 

Ferishta wrote about it. 

Another contemporary writer who wrote his work in 1608-9 was 

Rafiu-d-din Shirazl. He was a Khajanchi i. e. treasurer at the court of| Bijapur 

and has written Tazkarat-ul-MuIuk. In it, he deals with Bahmani Kings and 

in writing about Hasan Shah, says that he was formerly a servant of Gangu 

Brahman. There is no evidence internal or external to show that Shirazi 

borrowed from Ferishta. The translation of Tazkarat-ul-Muluk is given by 

Major J. S. King in the same volume of the Indian Antiquary, in which the 

translation of Burhan-i-Mahasir appears i. e. in Vol. 28th of 1899. We do not 

know why a statement supported by two independent and responsible writers 

should be discredited and a preference be given by research students to the 

writings of Tabataba of the same period, who admittedly is “more ’ornate 

in style” and whose prejudice against “infidels" is seen from jjage to 

page. We are inclined to believe that Tabataba must have deliberately 

given preference to legendary Persian geneology and passed over the story 

that Hasan was a slave to Gangu. It is significant that he says not a 

word about it while other writers who prefer to call Hasan by the name 

Hasan Gangu Bahmani, say that although they know pf other stories they 
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would like to give what is the most generally believed in the Deccan. We 

have already shown that Haft Iqllm is not a document much older: thari 'the 

writings of Ferishta and therefore the more worthy of consideration. Its 

reliability has not been critically examined. Nor does it take us very far >in 

deciding about the Persian origin of Hasan Sh5h, Surely the Deccan Muslims 

would never have given currency to a belief that was not flattering to them 

had they believed in the reliability of the other versions by which Hasan 

could be traced to Persian origin and Gangu could be proved to be a myth. 

Our conclusion is that for the present the evidence on different points is 

inconclusive and we shall not be justified in condemning Ferishta as one who 

gave currency to an ‘absurd legend.’ 

CHARACTER OF SULTAN SIKANDAR LODI 

S. A. Halim, M. A , Aligarh University, 

Sikandar Lodi is described by historians as possessing extra-ordinary 

physical charm and mental accomplishments. He had a prodigious memory, 

was faultless in speech and action^ and a strong advocate of the Muslim 

canon law from the observance of which he exempted himself. He shaved 

his beard on the excuse that it was broom-like and to sustain his physical and 

mental vigour, he took regulated doses of wine ‘^so secretly that nobody knew 

of it”.^ The usual five daily prayers he performed in one sitting in the morning.® 

He was extremely simple in his dress but fully royal in his demeanour. No 

low-born people could associate with him nor any profane thing could ever 

be heard in his presence. But at the same time he was unusually kind to 

his relatives and condoned their faults when they begged his pardon. 

As a king he was just, charitable, hard-working, a cherisher of his people, 

a patron of the learned and a critic and patron of literature and fine artSt 

Like the benevolent despots of the 18th century Europe, he was ever-conscious 

of the great trust imposed on him by virtue of his position as king, and worked 

with untiring energy for the welfare of his subjects, often remaining engaged 

in state duties from morning till sleeping time*. Every work had its appointed 

1 'Abdallah, Tarikb-i-Daudi, Bankipore Ms, p77-8 

2 Ibid p 68; *Abdnl Haq, Tarikh-i-Haqqt, BaokipOre Ms. 

3 Nizamaddin, Tabaqat-i-Akbari. A. S B. I., p 335; Ahmad Yadgar, tarikhi Salatifl^i-Afaglma 
Imperial Lib. Cal. Ms. 

4 Y^dgar, Tar. Sal. Afagti. Ms. p. 37 



CHARACTER OF SULTAN SIKANDAR LODI 509 

time. The days be spent in the transaction of state duties, the nights partly 

.in the private audience hall, partly in musical entertainments and disscussion 

. with the learned. He took his meals at midnight with 17 ‘ulamas who kept 

his company. They were not permitted to take meals in the royal presence 

but carried the edibles home after the Sultan had finished his. He slept not 

more than 4 to 4J hours. 

All matters big or small the Sultan transacted personally, and possessed all 

informations regarding his empire in the tip of bis fingers. “He was” says 

Nia'matullab, “ever busy in rooting) out troubles, transacting businesses of the 

state, and relieving the burdens of the people.”* Every morning he examined the 

news from the provinces and the schedule of rates for the regulation of the prices 

of the commodities, and the army news. He made prompt enquiries whenever 

anything went wrong.* He was in the habit of despatching two farmans to 

guide an army on march or engaged in campaigns. So thorough was bis 

. knowledge of the places he never visited and the domestic affairs of the individuals 

that the credulous people belived that the Sultan possessed a lamp similar to 

to that of ‘Alauddin of the Arabian Nights, whose two guardian genii supplied 

him with the informations. 

Sikandar deserves the title of ‘the Just* by which he is known to the 

medieval historians. Even Sujjan Rai^ who is severe on the Sultan for his 

' anti-Hindu laws pays a compliment to bis wisdom and justice. Justice he 

daily imparted in the open ‘durbar’.® and was never a respector of person or rank 

if guilt could be proved. His court was open to petitioners at all times, and he 

never shrank from redressing wrong even when going out on horse-back. Once 

it was brought to the notice of the Sultan that Mian Bhoa the Chief Qazi 

had not been able to give a prompt verdict in a case instituted by a Syed 

from a province. The sultan ordered that nobody should leave the court 

till the case bad been decided. By midnight the case was decided in favour of 

the plaintiff and the defendant jagirdar who had usurped his rent-free land 

was punished. 

Sikandar like Muliammad Tughlaq ,was prodigiously generous and 

charitable. He distributed all ‘zakat* money* to the poor, the learned and 

the recluses. Cooked and un-cooked food was distributed in different parts of 

the metropolis. He distributed large sums to the poor on the 10th of 

Muharram, the anniversary of the prophet’s birth and death and the 

pefebration of victories, and released prisoners guilty of the non-payment 

5 Makbzan-t-Afghani M. U. Ms. p 112 
• . 6 Msasir-i-Rshinii, Tarikhi Dandi and Makhzan-i-Atghani 

7 Khniasat-ut Tawarikh M. U. Ms. 
... -g ^'fiiljaqtt'-i-Akbarland Ferishta M. U. Ms. 

i lli p/c.tax'on property, the first tax levied by bhun. V 
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of taxes. Allowances and stipends were fixed for the needy twice a year, enongh 

to last for six months, on the recommendation of the provincial governors. 

Similar stipends were allotted and cloth for winter given to the preacher, 

elocutioner and the sweeper of every mosque in the realm.^® His sleeping 

suits and the bedding and the cot which he changed weekly, he gave perhaps 

after sale, as dowries to the daughters of the indigent widows on the occasion 

of their marriage.^^ It was his favourite saying that “when one lays a good 

foundation, no loss can accrue to it*’. 

“Sikandar was so partial to Islam that he went to extremes in this 

matter’’.^^ While yet a prince, he drew his sabre on a ‘ulaina* whose opinion he 

sought to prohibit the Hindus bathing in Thaneswar tank, when he pointed out 

that it was illegal to put a stop to an old practice, and was only silenced when 

the learned doctor gave a rejoinder that he felt no fear to say what was in the 

law-books.^® Whenever an opportunity presented itself, and especially during 

his Central Indian campaigns, he removed the idols and levelled down temples, 

and substituted them by mosques, caraven-serais and madrashas. He gave the 

idols of Nagarkot to the butchers for weighing meat.'^ Open practice of the 

Hindu religion was proscribed in the realm.^®, and police officers posted in the 

bathing ghats of Muttra, prohibited bathing and the shaving of beards and head 

by the Hindus.^^ According to Sujjan Rai, the Hindus were required to tie a 

blue piece to their shoulder cloth, as Omar I required the ‘zimmis’ to append 

a yellow patch to the shoulder cloth, ‘to pay homage to Islam*. Hindus 

who tied a turban, had to pay a higher rate of ‘jizya*. He ordered the 

execution of Bodhan, Kabir-panthi free-thinker^^ from Rohilkhand, for his refusal 

to recant his declaration that Hinduism is as true a religion as Islam.^® 

Sikandar was the author of social and administrative laws. He forbade 

the annual procession of the supposed dagger (which killed him) and the 

imitation head of Syed Saiar Masud Ghazi^^ in Bahraich, on account of its 
'-\ 

10 Tabaqat-i-Akbari. 1, p : Makhzan, M. U. Ms. p 
11 Tar Sal Afagh, Imp. Lib, Bahar Ms. p 37 

12 Tab. Akb. I, 335 
13 Tab. Akb. I. 336 
14 Tar Sal Afagh, Bubar Ms p 

15 Makbzani—Afghani, M. U. Ms p 108. 
16 Ibid 336 
17 Acc. to Sir William Jones. 

18 Makbzan M. U. Ms p. 107. 
19 Saiar Mali, mother of Saiar Mas'ud is supposed to be the sister of Sul Mahmud of Ghazni, 

a claim ^vhich has not been seriouly taken by historians. His father Saiar Rajab, accompanied Sul 
Biahmnd in his Indian Campaigns* Saiar Mas'ud Ghazi, viho was born at Ajmir, settled in Bahraich 
after the death of his father, as a pioneer of^lslam. He was put to death by Kaja Sahar Deo in 
429-1037 in the I9th year of his age. Vide Ha1at-i-Syad Saiar Mas’ud Ghazi, M. U. Ms by Abdur 
Rahman Chishti Ulovi. 

Processions are to this day held in almost all cities of Behar and U. P. and are known as 
Nuptial of Qhari Nian^ became pf t)is being in the nuptial clotl^es at the tints of hit tharder, 
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degeneration into relic worship. He prohibited women visiting the tomb of 

saints, stopped the display of the ‘tazias’ on the lOth of Muharram, and the 

worship of Sitala the goddess of small-pox.*® In order to strike terror into the 

hearts of the provincial governors, he formulated elaborate rules for the 

reception of the royal 'farmSns* by them. 

Sikandar like his father, was very fond of hunting and polo-playing. As 

a soldier, he was brave and chivalrous, merciful to a fallen foe, and never 

resorted to treachery to gain a military advantage over his enemies. About 

two-thirds of his reign of about 29 years, he spent in the camp in reducing 

the parties who opposed his candidature to the throne, in effecting the final 

subjugation of the Sharqi kingdom, in Panna, Dholpur, Gwalior, and the 

Punjab, but failed to attain his military objective only twice—in Panna 

and Gwalior. By conquests and annexations, he extended the empire to 

frontiers of Multan, Kashmir, and the tribal territories in the north-west frontier 

in the west, the kingdom of Bengal in the east, the Himalayas in the north 

and Rajputana and Malwa in the south. 

Posterity owes more to Sikandar for the cultivation of the arts of peace 

than those of war. He had himself a taste for literature and poetry, and felt 

never so happy as in the company of the learned. He wrote poems under the 

pen-name “Gultukh”.** One of the chief poets of his time was a Brahman named 

Dungar. He set apart presents sent by nobles and friendl}' rulers for patronizing 

the learned. Shaij^ Jamaluddin (Malulana Jamali), a prolific writer, a disciple 

of Shaikh Sama’uddin Kambo of Sirhind, who had made a wide tour of the 

Mahomedan East and visited Maulana ‘Abdur-Rahman Jami, was invited to the 

Sultan’s court where he remained in great esteem till the death of the Sultan. 

Besides the 17, Ulamas, who kept his comany, his court was graced by Maulana 

’Abdullah Talbani of Delhi and Azizullah Talbani from Sambal. He himself 

attended the lea rned lectures of Maulana Abdullah by taking his seat stealthily in a 

corner and exchange greetings when the lesson had been finished. Manuscripts 

on different subjects were collected from as far as Buj^ra and calligraphists and 

scholars were constantly engaged to copy or translate them. By his orders the 

Mnhs Vaidyak, a treatise on medicine, was translated into Persian and renamed 

‘Farhang-i- Sikandar i’** 

Sikandar had a taste for fine arts including classical music. He evaded 

the letter of the law by causing the vocalists or the instrumentalists to 

at Waqiati Mashtaqi quoted by Elliot. 
31 Some of bis couplets are quoted by Badauni, A. S. B. I, 323. 

22 Vida Akhbarul Akhiyar, Maulana Abdul Haq, Delhi Pub., 297-8. After the downfall of 

the Lodi dynasty, Maulana Jamali became attached to the court of Babar and Humayun and died 
in Gnjerat in Ziqadh 441/Peb 1335, while accompanying Hnmayun in his Gujerat campaign. He is 

the author of the 'Siyarul Arifin', a biography^of Sufi Sainta and a Diwan consisting of 8/9 thousand 

venee> 
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display their skill before the camp of Syad Rubullah and Syad lbn*i Rasul 

adjacent to his own camp and listening to them. The musical evening began 

three hours after sun-set. Four slave-boys procured at high price were each 

trained to play on an instrument. One played on the ‘chang’, the second on 

‘qanun’, the third on ‘bin’ (veena), the fourth on tambura (tanpura). There 

were ten Shahnai players in the permanent staff of the Sultan but none could 

play beyond the airs prescribed by the Sultan,—that is ‘Maligaura’®^ ‘Kalyan,’^* 

‘Kanra’^^ and Husaini Kanra, an air of ths present Kah That invented by Sultan 

Husain Shah Sbarqi.^^ 

Sikandar was as good as a destroyer as he was as a builder. His work 

of destruction was as thorough as can be imagined. He destroyed the famous 

Dholpur garden which gave shade for fourteen miles. In Panna, Gwalior, 

Bihar and Jaunpur he behaved as a vandal. The story is known to everybody 

in Jaunpur that he attepted to blow all the Sbarqi mosques by gun-powder and 

desisted only when the ulamas strongly protested. Yet he beautified Agra after 

the transfer of the capital to that city, with buildings, mosques and caravan serais. 

No building constructed by him except his father’s tomb in Delhi and a ‘baradari’ 

at Agra have survived the ravages of time. 

Historians are never tired of singing the golden age of his reign with its 

attendant peace, prosperity, security and plenty. There is much truth in the 

praises, because, after more than a century India got a stable and orderly 

government, similar to that obtaining in England under the Tudor kings, after 

the devastating Wars of the Roses. The nobles were made law-abiding, and their 

high-handedness put under a strong check. The prestige of the Delhi Sultanate 

fallen since the days of Muhammad Tughlaq had revived once more. As a 

legislator, be was the model for Sher Shah and Akbar and much pioneer reform 

in coinage, revenue and land-settlement^^ and civil administration bad been 

accomplished by Sikandar. , 
—-—-\ 

23 Maligaara is a Samporaa (foil) rag of the present Marwa That. 
24 Aiman Kalyan or Shoddh Kalyao, 

25 Renamed Darbari Akbar of the present Asawari That. 

26 Mullah Mnshtaqi, Yadgar and Abdallah each gives a different list of the four airs. 
27 Vid* Thomas, Revenue Resources of the Mughal Empire, p 3. 
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IDENTIFICATION OF DALPAT RAI MENTIONED IN 

BURHAN-I-MASIR WITH DALAPATIRAJA THE 

AUTHOR OF THE DHARMASASTRA WORK 

CALLED THE NRSIMHAPRASAD 

P. K. Godcy M. A., Curator, Bhandarkar Oriental Research Institute, 
Poona. 

Prof. P. V. Kane^ has devoted a section of the History of Dharmasdstra 

to the history of the encyclopaedic work on dharmasdstra called the Nfsimha* 

prasad^. Prof. Kane’s analysis of the work gives us the following particulars 

about the history of the author :— 

(1) When King Rama ruled in Devagiri (=Daulatabad) Samavil was 

ruler of Delhi. He was followed by Nijama Saha^. 

(2) The author calls himself Dalapati or Dalddhlsa^ or Dalddhipa. 

(3) His father’s name was Vallabha. 

(4) The family belonged to Bhdradvdja gotra and Ydjfiavalkya Sdkha 

Suklayajurveda). 

(5) Dalapati was the Keeper of the imperial records of Nebajana ( ). 

(6) His guru was one Suryapar}dita^, 

(7) He was a great exponent of Vaisnavadharma, 

(8) He was the Chief Minister and Keeper of records of Nijam Shah, 

who was the overlord of all yavanas and the ruler of Devagiri. 

(9) Nizam Shah is styled as Mahdrdjddhirdja in some colophons. 

1 History of Dharmasasira (=HD) Vol. I (1930) pp. 406-410 

2 Ibid p. ^06—Prof. Kane records the following MSS. of the work ;— 
(<) Benares Sanskrit College : a Complete MS. 

(ii) Government MSS. Library at the B O. R. Institute, Poona—Dafiasara a portion of 
the Nrsimhaprasad (=:NP)--MS No. 353 of 1875-76 and Tirthasara-^MS, No. 352 of 1875-76. 

(iii) Bikaner Cata. (pp. 429-430)—MSS. of Danasara and Santisara. 
(<u) India Office Catalogue, p, 434, No. 1467—Six sections out of twelve. 

3 Verse 9 of Samsharanra- a | ^nrflT 

ii ^rcr^etc. 
4 Mr. Kane observes: '*It is doubtful whether Dalapati or Daladhiaa was the real name 

of the author or was merely a title." 

5 Mr. Kane states: **It is not unlikely that Suryapandita said to be the guru of the author 
is the same as Surya the great Maratha Saint Ekanatha, who wrote his Bkagavata at Benares in 

Saka 1495 (i A.D, 1173) and who states that he was born in a family of devout Vaisnavas*'^ 

40 
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(10) The work is named after God Nrsimiha® who appears to be perhaps 
the family Deity of the author. 

About the patron of Dalapatiraja Dr. Eggeling observes:—‘‘The particular 
ruler of Ahmadnagar referred to would seem to be either (and more probably the 
founder of the Nizam Shah dynasty,) Mallik Ahmad Nizam Shah (1489-1508 

A. D.) or his son and successor Burhdn Nizdm Shdh (1508-1553 A. D.)^ 

Mr. Kane apparently accepts the above identification suggested by Dr. 
Eggeling though he gives different dates for Ahmad Nizam and Burhan Nizam.® 

The Benares Sanskrit College MS. of Dalapatiraja’s work records the dates 
Samvat 1568 and 1569.® On this ground as also for other reasons Mr, Kane 

rightly concludes “ that the NTsimhaprasdda could not have been composed later 

than I5l2 A. and further: “It may be taken as certain that the work was 

composed between 1490 and 1512 A. On other more probable reasons 

Mr. Kane states that “the Nfsirhhaprdsada must be later than about 1500 A. D.“^^ 

Prof. Kane’s conclusion that the Nfsimhaprdsad was composed “later 
than about 1500 A.''D.** can be corroborated on a ground not mentioned by 

him v/z., that it is composed after the concjuest of Devagiri or Daulatabad by 

Ahmad Nizam Shah. Dalapatiraja calls his patron ^^Devagiripuranard 

dhlsvara*\ a title stating that he was the overlord of the fort of Daulatabad.^® 

This statement enables us to presume safely that the conquest of the fort of 
Daulatabad was already an accomplished fact when the work was composed. 

The Conquest of Daulatabad was effected in A. D. 1499.^^ If this date is correct 

0 Vide India Office Cata, Fart III (1891) F. 434— 

etc.”, 

'K m etc." 
7 Ibid. p. 434. 
8 H. D. I, p. 410—"As the author was' a minister of Nijama Saha who ruled over 

Devagiri it appears that he isVeferring to Ahmad Nizam Shah (1508-1533 A. D.), most probably 

the former. [Vide Lane-Poole’s Muhammadan Dynasties (ed. 1925) p. 320 for the names and dates of 

the Nizam Shahs.]" 
9 Ibid, p. 409, footnote 1001—^*^^ VS 

10 H. D, I, p. 410. 
11 Ibid. 
12 Ibid, p. 409. 
13 Ibid, p. 406—v. 9 of Samskara Sara— 

.*13; flwr^siTiwntt 
14 Vide Bombay Oazatteer, Vol. XVII ( Ahmadnagar ) p. 360. Ahmad Nizam surrounded 

paultabad with 30,000 troops and reduced it in A. D. 1499. For a detailed account of this expedi¬ 

tion Vide Indian Antiquary Vol. XLIX (1920)—^p. 107 ff. (Translation by T. W, Haig of 
Bufhan-i’Ma*a9ir) also pp. 123 £f. The author of this history of the Nizam Shahi kings of 
Ahmadnagar being a panegyrist of the dynasty whose history he professes to tell, the value of this 
work is mneh impaired by its partiality. However, the chronicle is not without value and ts 
fairly trustworthy so far as it relates to domestic affairs—this is the opinion of Lt. Col. Haig* 
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we must conclude that the Nrsiihhaprasdda was composed by Dalapatiraja a 

few years after A. D, 1499 the year in which the fort was besieged and conquered. 

I propose to identify the author of the NTsimhaprasdda with Dalpat Rai 

who was a Brahman officer in the army of Ahmad Nizam Shah, the patron 

of the author of the Nrsimhaprasdda. About this Brahman army officer the 

following story is recorded in the Burhan-i-Mdasir. The author of this chronicle 

while dealing with the character of Ahmad Nizam Shah observes as follows: 

“Another of the King’s wise actions may be mentioned here. Dalpat Rai, 

a Brahman officer in the army was jealous of Masnad-i-‘Ali Malik Nasir-ul- 

Mulk as is often the case with officers whose sole aim and object is the 

acquisition of wealth, and who cannot bear to see anybody more prosperous 

than themselves. Dalpat Rai prompted by hi^ evil passions, forged a memorandum, 

purporting to be in the hand-writing of Masnad-i-Ali, in order to show that 

Masnad-i-Ali received large sums as bribes from the officers and governors of 

countries on the borders of the King’s dominions. Spies reported this matter 

ta Ma?nad-i-Ali and he without thought of denying the charge said—^Dalpat R ii 

does not know the truth of this matter. Those who have given and he who has 

received the bribes must necessarily know more about the matter than Dajpat 

Rai* He then drew up as a counterblast to Dalpat Rdi*s memorandum, another 

memorandum showing that he had received double the amounts mentioned in 

Dalpat RaVs memorandum. On the day on which the king held his court 

Dalpat Rai came forward and presented to him his memorandum. The king 

turned to Masnad-i-Ali and a^^ked him to explain the accusation which had been 

brought against him by Dalpat Rai, Masnad-i-Ali after praying for the king’s 

long life and prosperity said, ‘What can Dalpat Rai know of my outgoings and 

incomings ?* And he placed in the king’s hand the memorandum he had himself 

prepared. The king on reading this memorandum found that the sums 

mentioned therein were greater than the sums mentioned in Dalpat Rai s 

memorandum. Masnad-i-Ali then said, ‘All this money belongs to your majesty 

and I have saved it against this day.’ The king then tore up both memoranda 

and cast them from him and said—‘Men enter the service of kings for the sake 

of acquiring worldly treasure, not for the sake of laying up treasure in heaven 

and as long as Masnad-i-Ali Nasir-ul-Mulk is not convicted of treachery in the 

royal service, nor of extortion from the kingdom and its subjects, I shall be 

thankful and not displeased if the Sultans of neighbouring countries send him 

gifts and presents for the sake of establishing and confirming mutual feelings 

of friendliness and averting strife, for this will show that God has favoured my 

servants with the opportunity of acquiring from others the means of power and 

has so implanted in the hearts of all men the fear of me that they are willing 

Ind. XLIX, p. 15$, 
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to ingratiate themselves with my servants by sending them gifts and by comforting 

themselves with proper humility towards them. The king then turned to 

Dalpat Rat and said to him, ‘Henceforth do not dare to be guilty of such 

conduct or to allow your enemy to lead you into acts of enmity against my loyal 

servants, or you will incur my royal wrath. It is the part of faithful servants to 

live with one another in peace and amity, having for their object the furtherance 

of their lord’s affairs and not their own personal and selfish ends, which 

they should put aside, in order that they may receive the rewards due to 

faithful service.’ 

The anecdote recorded in the above extract is amusing and instructive 

enough. It shows that Daipat Rat occupied an important position in the 

Army of Nizam Shah and that he was probably thirsting for the post of the 

Prime Minister occupied by his rival, whose character he wanted to damn by 

forging a memorandum as narrated in above extract. Secondly Daipat Rat 

was not immediately punished by the King, who was convinced of his guilt but 

only reprimanded him. It appears to me that the anecdote while illustrating 

the character of Nizam Shah in his dealing in a political and shrewd manner 

with both Daipat Rat and the Prime Minister indicates also the degree of his 

influence with Nizam Shah. I shall therefore record in the following table my 

points for identifying the author of the Dharmasdsira work Nfsimhaprasdda 

with his namesake, the officer in the array of Nizam Shah. These points are 

as follows:— 

Author of Nrsimhaprasada 

i 1 
1 

Nizam Shah’s Officer. 

t 

(1) Identity of patrons :— 
Patron :—Ahmad Nizam Shah (1490-1512 

A. D.) 
Patron :—Ahmad Nizam Shah 

(2) Identity of Name* :— 
Name;—Dalapati or Daladhisa or Dala- 

dhipa or Dalapatiraja 
Name:—Daipat Rai 

(3) Identity of Caste :— 

Caste:—Brahmin. He is called "Dvija- 
rdjavafhsa-tilaM lain Karatura” 
and “Bhdradvdja Kulanuga". 

\ 

Caste:—Brahmin 
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Author of Nrsimhaprasada. Nizam Shah's Officer, 

1 
(4) Occupation of important position in the 

Kingdom:— | 
He is called 

in the body 

of the text of the Nfsiihhaprasdda while in its 

Occupation :—Officer in the 
army. 

colophons he is called 

8ftjTR?mgrTfW5T «ft 

The first three points in the above comparison proving the identity of 

Patron, Name and Caste when combined with the chronology of the 

Nrshhhaprasdda which is independently proved to synchronise with the 

period of the reign of Ahmid Nizam Shah (1490-1512) make it highly probable 

if not certain that the Brahman officer in the army of Ahmad Nizam Shah 

represented as jealous of his Prime Minister is identical with the author of the 

Nj'siihhaprasdda. In the body of the text of this important work on the 

dharmasdstra he is called **Dalddhlsa MahlpatV* or '^Dalddhlsa BhUbhuj'* 

i, e, a king having charge of a Data or body of troops. I agree with Prof. 

Kane when he doubts whether Dalapati or Dalddhlsa was the real name of the 

author or was merely a title**. If, however, we accept the identification of the 

two personages under reference we shall have to presume that Dalpat Rat 

of the Burhdn-i-Mdsir is identical with Dalapatirdja of the colophons and 

Dalddhlpa or Dalddhlsd of the body of the text of the Nrsimhaprasdda, It 

is also possible to presume that the name Dalddhlpa or its equivalents as 

applied to Mahlpati or BhUbhuj may show that Dalpat Rai was a Brahman 

King or Chief in charge of some territory as also a body of troops owing 

allegiance to Ahmad Nizam Shah according to the feudal system then prevalent 

in the Deccan. 

The name Dalapatiraya is very commonly met with in history. Our Dalpat 

Rai who was in the employ of Ahmad Nizam Shah should be distinguished 

16 See India Oata, HI, 1891, p. 434-435 where numerous extracts from the MS. of the 
NrafmhajpraMkia are given by Dr. Eggeling. The epithets used for the author of Nrsimhapramda 

{^s recorded these extructf* 



318 SULTANATE PERIOD 

from Rao Dalpat Bundela^^ who was contemporary of Zulfiqar Khan and 

Bidar Bakht. He should also be distinguished from his namesake Raja 
Dalpat,^® son of Sangram Shah who married the Chandella princess Durgavati 

about 1545 A. D, A third namesake of Dalapatiraja is the author of a work 

called the ^'Ydvana-paripdti-anukrama. Dalapatiraya wrote this work for his 
patron Madhavasimha who appears to have flourished about 1764 A. 

I have tried in this short paper to throw some more light on the personality 
of the author of the Nfsimhaprasdld about whom no other source of information 

than the NTsimhaprasdda was known to scholars. If the evidence recorded 
in this paper regarding the identification of two Dalapatirayas having an identical 
patron viz. Ahmad Nizam Shah is accepted we shall have gained some more 

ground in the history of this importaat dharmasdstrd author, which remains 

hidden for want of recorded evidence, 

17 Vide pp. 10, 15, 30, 34 of Ltkier Moguls by William Irvine, Vo). I (1707-1720 A, D.). Rao 

Dalpat Bnndela was killed at Jajau in June 1707 and was cremated by his son Bharati Chand at 
the village Dhami, seven miles from Agra. 

18 Vide Dynastic History of Northern India by n.C. Vol. 11, pp. 802, 735. Durgavati 
was killed in 1564 A. D. by Akbar’s general Asaf Khan. 

19 Vide I. H. Q., XIV, pp, 153-157. Mr. M. M. Patkar draws our attention to the following 

date found recorded in the B. O. R. Institute MS. No. 409 of 1882-83 (folio 15a):— 

“ 5m# mftr ii )| ” 
This date viz,, Samvat 1820 month of Nabhas (Bhadrapada) 5th tilhi of the Suhlapaksa 

corresponds to Monday^ 12th September 1763. If the above date is a genuine part of the body of 
the text as it appears to be the author Dalpatiraya the author of the Yavanaparipati anuhramv 

appears to be a very late author. 
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THE DEATH OF YUSUF ADIL SHAH—the date ? 

O. Ramachandraiya* M. A. Hone. (Andhra ’Varsity) 

A verse in Amuktamalyada states that on his northern expedition, 

Krsnaraya defeated the Musaltnans, and on the field made a scarecrow of the 

severed head of Adil Khan.^ This Adil Khan must have been no other than 

Yusuf, the founder of the Adil Shahi Dynasty of Bijapur.* 

The time and place of Yusuf’s death is variously given by different writers 

on the topic. Zabiri was referring to this divergence when he wrote, “The 

death of Yusuf Adil Khan was according to the author ol the Tabaqat-i-Akbari, 

in 913 A. H.; according to the history of Muhammad Qasim Ferishta, in 916; 

and according to Rafi-ud-Din Shlrazi and Mir Ibrahim Asad Khani, in 925.’’ To 

this list Dr. Venkataramanayya adds some more opinions, that of Syed ‘Ali 

Azizullah Tabataba placing it after 912, and that of an anonymous Historian of 

the Qutb Shahi Kings in 910; and of Khafi Khan in 916 and 914 (A. H.).® 

Nor do we find an unanimity among the authors as to the circums¬ 

tances under which Yusuf’s death occurred. Ferishta writes that Yusuf died at 

Bijapur of dropsy.* According to the anonymous Historian, “Yusuf Adil Khan died 

at Kovilkonda’’.® Syed Ali’s declaration that Majlis-i-Rafi Adil Khan died 

within sight of Kovilkonda goes to confirm the anonymous Historian.® 

If really Yusuf died at the hands of the ‘Infidel’ Krsnaraya it is very likely 

that Muslim historians would distort the whole episode and make his death 

appear natural. 

According to Ferishta, Yusuf died in A. H. 916 (A. D. 1511-12) after the 

recapture of Goa from the Portuguese on 20th may, 1510. But Ferishta is 

strongly contradicted by the contemporary Portuguese opinion according to 

which Yusuf was already dead by the time Albuquerque first arrived at Goa on 

20th February, 1510 A.D. 

On his way from Cochin (Feb., 1510) to frustrate the Grand Sult.in of 

Egypt’s attempt to assist the Indian Moors against the Portuguese, Albu- 

qurque off Anjediva, met Timoja, from whom he learnt that “the Cabaio, Lord of 

1 Canto I. V. 42. 
2 Vyasavali. K. V. Lakshmana Rao. Vol. L, pp. 40-41. Ismael, son of Yusuf died in 1534, 

four years after Krsnaraya*s death. 

3 J. O. R. p. 157 April-June, 1936. 

4 Briggs, III, p. 30. 

5 Ibid, (app.) p. 350. 

6 Burhan-i-Masir. Ind. Ant. 1899 p. 319. Kovilkonda is a fort on the frontiers of the Qutb 

Shahi Dominions. 
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Goa was dead.”^ At Cintacora, Timoja again informed him that “By 

means of messages and letters that he had received from the Hindus of the 

city, he had been notified of the death of Cabaio and that in Goa there was a 

Captain, named Malik Cufer Guji.this captain after the death of 

Cabaio obeyed no one.® After the capture of Cintacora, a fakir, whom Timoja 

had seized, said to ‘Aiboquerque that the news of Goa was that the Cabaio was 

dead and his son away in the interior of the country.® On March 1, Goa fell 

into the hands of the Portuguese with little fighting}^ About the end of 

that March, two ambassadors, from Egypt and Ormuz, to the Court of Cabaio, 

finding that the latter was already dead, approached Afonso Dalboquerque 

instead.*^ All these go to declare that Yusuf must have died even before the 

arrival of the Portuguese at Gao on 20th February, 1510 A. D. 

Dr. Venkataramanaiya tries to fix the two limits in time for this occurrence. 

On the eve of Alboquerque’s first attack upon Goa, Timoja told him that a 

captain of the Grand Sultan who had been defeated by Almeida, took refuge 

at Goa, after the defeat, and that he made it his headquirters at the request 

of the Cabaio.^2 The request of the Cabaio, therefore, must have been made 

after 3rd February, 1509, the date of the defeat of the Egyptian fleet by 

Almeida. Cabaio must, therefore, have been alive at the time of the request 

and hence he must have died sometime between February, 1509 and February, 

1510 A. D.i®. 

This is the thesis of Dr. Venkataramanaiya on this question. But before 

accepting his theory one has to reckon with some other factors too. He himself 

refers to certain passages of the Commentaries which he rightly terms ‘very 

intriguing.’ One such is the following :—"The Hidalcao having recalled to 

mind that which the Great Afonso Dalboquerque had sent to declare to his 

father (while that commander was lying in the river Goa.*....and when he 

was no longer able to retrain his temper) that he should yet see his words 

come to pass and the city in the power of the Christians and Milrrhao, the 

Hindu, carrying on the Government’’.^* Dr. Venkataramanaiya places this 

declaration prior to the first attack on Goa. He is right in saying, that this 

declaration could not refer to the threat which Alboquerque uttered at the 

conclusion of his talk with Mustafa Khan, the officer of the Sdil ShSh. It ran 

7 Commentaries, II, pp. Sl'SS. 

8 Ibid. pp. 85. 
9 Commentaries Vol. II, p. 87. 

10 Ibid. „ pp. 88-92. 
11 Ibid. „ p. 106. 

12 Ibid. „ p. 82. 
13 I. O. R* Aprtl-Jane, 1936, p. 160. " 
14 Commentaries Vol. Ill, p. 187. J. O. R. footnote on page 138. 
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thus—“And he would promise him, before that summer should pass away that 

he would be taking his rest again, in the palace at Goa, and that he hoped to 

make Timoja, a very great Lord in the Kingdom of Decan.”^® These two 

statements are different, not merely because the latter's ^tenor was different*, 

but also because Mustafa was the last captain of the Adil Shah to be received 

by Alboquerque, before his crossing the bar of Goa, preparatory to the second 

attack on that fort some months later. The declaration, therefore, forewent 

the threat. But the declaration itself was made 'while that commander 

(Alboquerque) was lying in the river Goa.’ Now to what time may be 

attributed Alboquerque’s stay in the river ? 

This stay in the river seems to belong to the period between the 

recapture lof Goa by Adil Shah on 20th May, 1510 and 16th August, 1510 

A, U., until when Alboquerque could not cross over the bar of Goa.^^ Prior 

to this period, Alboquerque does not appear to have remained in the river for 

any appreciable length of time. Indeed, he could first sound the depth of the 

river Goa, only after he captured the fort of that name in the first instance in 

March, 1510 A. D. 

If the period we have given for Alboquerque’s stay in the river be true, 

then the declaration comes after the first capture of Goal by the Portuguese. 

It was made to the Cabaio, which means that the Cabaio (Yiisuf) was alive 

after the 1st of March, 1510 A. D. 

Timoja’s reply shows that “Goa was alone without any garrison.” But 

by the time Timoja met Alboquerque off Anjediva, the situation at Goa seems 

to have changed. For Timoja told Alboquerque that “a captain of the Grand 

Sultan with some Riimes had arrived at Goa and that Cabaio had made important 

overtures to this captain to the end that he should settle there.” The stay 

of the captain at Goa, therefore, must only have been of a very short duration 

extending over a month or so. 

This first attack on Goa in March, 1510 came very close upon the arrival 

of that Captain thereat. He was hardly allowed time to strengthen himself 

there. In the meanwhile the Portuguese were upon Goa. This is inferred 

from the advice of Alboquerque to his captains on 27th February, recommending 

an immediate attack upon that fort.'^ This circumstance again suggests that 

Yusuf was living at least during February, 1510 A. D. 

Again the attack on Goa had been contemplated less as an immediate 

necessity than as a prospective desirability.^® 

15 Ibid Vol. II. p. 187. 

16 Ibid „ IT. Chaps. 32-33. 

17 Commentaries, II, p. 83 

18 *'Afonso was getting himself ready.to fall upon Goa before they went off to Portugal, 

Ibid, p. 53 
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But the talk with Timoja off Anjediva changed everything. The 

unexpected but much welcome report of Yusuf’s death, whatever its authenticity, 

set Alboquerque to a course of action which he did not hesitate to carry out. 

The decision was sudden and the action quick. In all this, where does a previous 

declaration come in ? 

The declaration can only be understood as the product of a frustration after 

a preliminary success. The word “3 et” in “he should yet see his words come 

to pass” may then be taken to mean “In spite of the present discomfiture.” The 

same is borne out by another of the sentence from commentaries which 

Dr. Venkataramanayya quotes. Soon after the reduction of Goa a second time 

Alboquerque wrote to Ismael Adil Shah“.I wish most sincerely that your 

father had been living that he knew me to be a man of my word.”'^ 

This again is confirmed by another sentence of the same letter. 

Alboquerque continues...‘for all that the Cabaio, your father, be dead I will 

be your father, and bring you up like a son."*^ Such protestations of affection 

and sympathy, even for the diplomatic purpose of gaining an ally in the ruler of 

Bijapur, must have followed closely the demise of Yusuf Adil Khan. 

While expressing his wish that Yusuf were living, Alboquerque gives us to 

understand the motive thereof, viz.,.that Yusuf might know him to be a 

man of his word. This ‘word’ was what was contained in the declaration, 

namely that ‘Milrrahao shall be carrying on the Government at Goa’ This 

really happened subsequent to the second capture of Goa in November 1510 

A. and thus his word was made good. After the first fall of Goa we see 

Timoja installed as the chief Aguazil and the lessee of the lands of Goa. 

Nothing is heard of Merlao in that instance. Had the said declaration been 

prior to that event, there is no question of Alboquerque’s word being kept, for it 

was Timoja and not Merlao to whom the lands were leased; nor could there be 

any propriety for Alboqperque’s regret at the death of Yusuf even before the 

latter was convinced of Afonso’s tenacity of purpose. Hence we may say that 

the declaration embodying that “word” most have belonged to later than 1st 

March, 1510 A. D. 

Thus the evidence to prove that the declaration was made after the first 

fall and recovery of Goa by the Adil Shah, is considerable. The declaration as 

it is said specifically, was made to Yusuf, the father of Ismael. This again 

proves that Yusuf was still alive after the Portuguese lost Goa in the first 

instance. Evidence is forthcoming that the Hidalcao, who had successfully 

entered Goa, pressing the Portuguese into the river, remained there three days 

19 Commentarias, III. pp. 20-31. 

20 CommanUriM, III. pp. 20-21. 

21 CommeatariM, Ill. pp. 25-28. 
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after the departure of the Portuguese from the river on 16th August, 1510 A.D.^* 

Even then it was because “the Lords !of the Kingdom of Deccan had risen 

up in rebellion against the ‘Hidalcao’ and should he not go to check them,” 

the prince must lose either one thing or the other.”*® And since the above 

discussion leads us to understand that this ‘Hidalcao’ was Yusuf Sdil Khan and 

not Ismael and whereas we know that by the time of the second fall of Goa in 

November, 1510 A, D. Ismael had already ascended the throne, the conclusion 

presents itselJ that Yusuf Adil Shah must have died sometime between 16th 

August and November, 1510 A. D. 

This is not however to ignore the other factors that come into conflict 

with this writer’s theory.** It may be that Timoja, with an eye to the profit 

he might derive from the capture of Goa,*'’ was simply egging Alboquerque to 

commit himself to a policy of aggression against Bijapur, and with this in view 

lured the latter with false news of Yusuf’s death. May be, the information given 

by the Turkish prisoner off Cintacora was prompted by Timoja himself into 

whose hands the Turk had fallen, prior to his interview with Afonso. This 

finds perhaps, a distant echo in Alboquerque’s exhortation to his captains on 

27th February, 1510 with the proviso “if Timoja had spoken truly.”*® The 

unanimity of the later Portuguese opinion, that Yusuf’s death was antecedent 

to the first fall of Goa, may even be explained away, as having been drawn from 

the contemporary Portuguese version. ‘Commentaries,’ itself, has given occasion 

to these two theories, Dr Venkataramanaiya’s and this writer’s. But the latter 

view has got the advantage of being supported by Ferishta also. 

122 Commentaries, II. p. 202. 

23 Ibid, II. p. 197. 

24 I think that Yusuf must have died in an action aginst Krsnaraya. Purchas says that aftsr 

ths first Jail ofOoa th$r$ toas a great invasion of Bijapur by the King of Vijayamgara and that this was 

a greater danger to Bijapur than the Portuguese. The Moslem Lords who had risen in rebellion 

against Adil Shah, of whom Alboquerque writes, did not cross the river Bhima, which was then 

in floods. All the Portuguese writers say that there was a continued warfare between Yusuf and the 

King of Vijayanagara. But Fr. Louis’ letter to Alboquerque suggests that there was friendship 

between Ismael and Krsnaraya even in 1610 A. D. According to Amuktamalyada Krsnaraya killed 

Yusuf Adil Khan. The Moslem Lords seeing that Krsnaraya was engaging Yusuf in battle, must 

have kept themselves aloof; for they were desirous of Yusuf’s fall but were unwilling to side a Hindu. 

Krsnaraya, having killed Yusuf, appears to have assisted Ismael to succeed to the throne of Bijapur. 

This explains their initial friendly relations. Krsnaraya’s title "Yavanarajya-Sthapanacharya” 

which appears first in 1614 in an inscription from Nellore, most probably related to this event. 

26 Commentaries, II, p. 86. 

26ilbid;n.p,83. 
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PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS. 

R. P. Khotla, M. A., Lahore. 

Gentlemen ! it is a matter of great pleasure to me to meet 
eminent historians like yourselves who have come to this historic place 
from different parts of the country to attend the Indian History Congress. 
Many of you I have known personally while others only by reputation. 
I am grateful to the organisers of the History Congress not only for the 
distinction they have conferred on me by asking me to preside over this 
section but also for the opportunity they have afforded me of coming 
into personal contact with you. We hail from different provinces but 
we have common ties. The past history of our motherland is a matter 
of vital importance to every one of us and we all take legitimate pride 

in it. You might have heard .some })ersons proclaiming that happy is 
the country that has no history. If that were true the happiness claimed 
by such persons will lack the noble and lofty elements which alone make 
happiness a coveted mental possession. The present is indissolubly 

linked up with and receives its inspiration from the past, and therein 
lies the importance of the study of history. A people who refuse to 
take pride in the history of their country allow themselves to be robbed 
of a most precious heritage and cannot e.xpect to bequeath any valuable 
legacy to posterit>^ A knowledge of the noble struggles of our ancestors 
has an elevating effect on our mind; and even if those struggles were 
otherwise than noble, a knowledge of them serves as an unerring guide 
to conduct us safely along the path of the present and help us to avoid 
the pitfalls on our political road. Current politics without a knowledge 
of past history are like the top storey of a house which has neither any 
foundations nor any lower storeys. Most of the present political currents 
have their origin in the hoary past, and it is not possible to understand 

them in their true perspective without a background of history. History 

alone can interpret them correctly. The present day events are only 
the effects. The causes lie buried in the past. Just as a physician 
must probe into the causes of a disease in order to remedy it, a student 
of political and social problems which confront him at present must 
make a careful study of the happenings of the past before he can arrive 
at a correct solution of them. Without such mental equipment he will 
run the risk of confounding the accidental with the essential, and his 

treatment being without a proper diagonsis will be defective. His 
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conclusions, though plausible, will seldom be correct, and many of the 
events which a correct knowledge of history could rationally explain will 
remain inexplicable puzzles to him. Similar causes give rise to similar 

effects and there is more than the proverbial truth in the adage ‘History 
repeats itself’. The past lies buried under the debris of time. That 
past has to be rescued from oblivion. It is a difficult task and cannot 

be accomplished by one man in one day. An army of selfless workers 
is required if any tangible results are to be achieved, and the efforts of 
all those who are devoting their time and energy to this noble cause 
are deserving of praise. It is to encourage this sort of work that the 
History Congress holds its annual sessions at different educational 
centres in the country. It creates a spirit of cooperation among the 
historians of diffrent provinces and tends to co-ordinate their efforts. ‘ 

Every period of Indian history is important and interesting from 
the point of view of an Indian historian; but the Moghal period has a 
special interest for us as it is both mediaeval and modern. Its 

administrative divisions and its |( land revenue system were, if not in 
toto, at least in the greater part, accepted by the English East India 
Company who readily incorporated them in their system of government. 
The communal problem which looms so large on our politicalo horizon 
these days was dealt with by some of the great Mughal emperors 
more rationally and with better practical results than it has been by 

the present government and the political leaders of modern India. The 
artificial divisions among the {people created by the present government 

and accepted by some of our leaders did not exist then, and strange 
as it may sound to pme ears there was more of homogeneity among 
the people then tharf is found today.' Again the dreams of national 

unity are not a monopoly of the present day leaders of Indian thought, 
but they were also dreamt by Akbar and Nanak. Both belived in 
one people, the former because of oneness of the state, the latter 

because of oneness of God. j They were not mere dreamers, but both 
tried to give a practical shape to their dreams. One worked in the 

political field, while the other in the spiritual. Both were apostles of 
Hindu-Muslim unity and both tried their best to bring it about.D 

The problem of the natural frontiers of India was the same then 

as it is now. This problem also was better solved by the Mughal 
emperors than by the present Government. Life and property in the 
frontier provinces were certainly not so unsafe during the Mughal rule 
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as they are today. The grip of the great Mughal on the frontier 

provinces was as firm as on the other parts of his empire. 

The Mughal period witnessed the rise of great religious mevements 

on the one hand and of great literary activity on the other. Hindi and 

Urdu flourished side by side, but the Hindi-Urdu controversy of today 

with all the bitterness it has engendered did not exist then. Several 

Muhammadans wrote beautiful Hindi while the contributions of Hindus 

to the Urdu as well Persian literatures were by no means negligible. 

Abdur Rahim Khankhanan’s Hindi peotry is-read with interest even 

today. Many Muhammadans studied Sanskrit and many Hindus 

attained a fairly high degree of proficiency in Persian. 

Festivals were more or less common to both the communities and 

there was more of cordiality in social relations. This shows that the 

germs of national unity did not fail to fructify. 

Another reason why the Mughal period has special interest for 

us is the vast wealth of material that is available to enable us to 

reconstruct the history of Mediaival India. No other period of Indian 

history (barring the present) is so rich in its sources as the Mughal 

period. Many of the Mughal emperors were themselves men of letters 

and have left to us their ‘tuzuks’ or records of the events of their reigns. 

The Memoirs of Babar and Jahangir give us most valuable information 

regarding their respective reigns. The letters and ‘ahkam’ of Aurangzeb 

are a store-house of the orders and proclamations issued by that 

hardworking monarch to his officials for the latter’s guidance in the 

discharge of their onerous duties. Though the royal autobiographies 

usually paint the picture in roseate hues only, naturally omitting the 

other side, yet by a careful sifting it is possible to get a knowledge, 

fairly accurate and trustworthy, of what was done, or at a^^ rate 

attempted, by those rulers. Other members of the royal family also 

have left to us valuable accounts of their times, as for example Gulbadan 

Begum’s Humayun Nama throws a flood of light on the reign of her 

royal brother. Among the commoners there was a large number of 

scholars in the Mughal period who devoted their time and energy to 

the chronicling of contemporary events. That age was particularly 

rich in men of letters with a historical trend of mind. It will not be 

out of place to mention here some of the important works bearing on 

the subject. Tarikh-i-Sher Shahi by Abbas Khan, Tarikh-i-Daudi 

by Abdulla, Humayun-Nama by Khondamir, Tarikh-i-Rashidi by 

42 
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Haidar Mirza, Tabakat-i-Akbari by Nizamud Din Ahmad, Tarikh-i- 

Badauni by Abdul Qadir Badauni, Akbar-Nama by Abul Fazl, Ain-i- 

Akbari by the same author, Ikbal-Nama-i-Jahangiri by Mutamad Khan, 

Badshah-Nama by Abdul Hamid Lahori, Shah Jahan-Nama by Inayat 

Khan, Mirat-i-Alam by Bakhtawar Khan, Muntakhabul Lubab by 

Khafi Khan, Tarikh-i-Iradat Khan by Mir Mubarakullah Iradat Khan, 

Majalisus Salatin by Muhammad Sharif Hanafi, Lubbut Tawarikh-i- 

Hind by Rai Bhara Mai, Maasir-i-Alamgiri by Muhammad Saki 

Mustaid Khan, Ibrat-Nama by Muhammad Kasim, Tazkira-i-Chaghtai 

by Muhammad Hadi Kamwar Khan, Tarikh-i-Hindi by Rustam Ali, 

Tazkira of Anand Ram Mukhlis, Tarikh-i-Ahmad Shah, Tarikh-i-F'aiz 

Baksh by Sheo Prashad, Siyarul Mutaakhkhirin by Ghulam Husain 

Khan, Chahar Gulzar Shujai by Hari Charan Dass, Tarikh-i-MuzafTari 

by Muhammad Ali Khan, Muntakhabut Tawarikh by Sadasukh, etc. etc. 

are some of the works which might be studied with profit by students of 

Mediaeval Indian history. These works are most valuable from the point 

of view of those who want to write a history of those times. The writers 

saw what was happening around them and recorded it. The advantage 

of first hand or almost first hand knowledge was theirs, though the value 

of their writings must be to some extent discounted as they had to 

keep the darker shades out of the picture. They could ill afford to 

write things which were not complimentary to their royal masters. 

Still their graphic accounts have great value in our eyes, though we 

greatly miss their comments on the real significance of several of the 

events recorded by them. Most of them were chroniclers rather than 

historians. But these chronicles and records, when properly sifted and 

accurately interpreted by able scholars like Sir Jadu Nath Sarkar, 

Doctor Beni Prasad, Doctor Ishwari Prasad, Doctor Banarsi Prasad, 

Profe^or Kanungo and a host of others, have made the Mughal period 

of Indian history most familiar to us. 

We should also remember that India in Mughal times attracted 

a large number of visitors from Europe. Manucci, Bernier, Tavernier, 

Sir Thomas Roe, Terri de Laet, Mandelso and many others travelled 

in the different parts of the country and have left us valuable records 

of what they saw. They had sometimes access to the Court and came in 

contact with influential Mughal grandees. They had ample opportunities 

to study the conditions existing in the country and they made full use 

d these opportunities. Some of them had Indian titles conferred on 
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them. English Khan was one of such titles. Their travels covered long 

distances, and travelling was not always a pleasure in those da)^. 

Though they looked at contemporary events through western eyes and 

consequently must have misunderstood the real nature and significance 

of certain ceremonies and institutions, yet their contributions have a 

value of their own and can by no means be ignored by students of 

Mughal history. They at least bear the stamp of independent 

observation and they tell us what others thought of us. The European 

writers had the advantage of looking at things from a new angle, and 

therefore things must have presented new facets to them. Their \ iews, 

though not always correct, were detached as compared with those of 

Indian writers. They certainly deserve to be treated with respect by 

us. Their successors, though at a long distance, have done monumental 

work in this field. Men of the type of Vincent A. Smith and 

Hushbrook Williams have laid us under a debt of gratitude by making 

researches in that period. A Hood of light has been thrown on the 

agrarian and economic problems of Muslim India by Moreland—the 

author of the ‘Agrarian Organisation of Muslim India.’ There are a 

number of Indian scholars, besides those mentioned in a previous 

paragraph, who are working on Mughal India, and their names may be 

of interest to you. Mr. M. D. Mirza of the Bombay University, Dr. 

Kanungo, Dr. S. N, Bhattacharya, Mr. M. Ishaq of Dacca University, 

Dr. Sukumar Banerji, and those gentlemen who have agreed to read 

their papers at this Congress. I would also like to mention some of 

the magazines and journals which from time to time publish papers on 

this subject. U. P. Historical Society Journal, Indian Culture, Calcutta 

Review, Historical Quarterly, B. and O. Research Society Journal, 

Punjab Historical Society Journal, Royal Asiatic Society Journal, etc. 

Though so much work has already been done yet the subject is 

not exhausted. Many points are still waiting to be cleared and those of 

us who are engaged in this work can ill afford to relax their efforts. 

Our knowledge of the cultural and social side of the people in Mughal 

times is very meagre. Their standard and mode of living, their festivals, 

their institutions are not yet fully known to us. We have up till now 

been allowed merely faint glimpses of these things. We have not yet 

been admitted into their joys and sorrows. Their daily life is still a 

mystery to us. Our knowledge is mostly confined to kings and courts 

and we hardly know anything about ordinary men and women. 
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You are seekers after truth, and truth can be discovered only by 

ceaseless, tireless efforts. Display any lack of earnestness and it will elude 

you. Go on working steadily towards your goal. But pray remember that 

in order to achieve desirable results you shouldibring to bear a just and 

equitable mind on the subject, and not approach it in a partisan spirit; 

otherwise your work will be vitiated and its historical value will be 

considerably marred. Dispassionate views are the best views. A 

historian must tell unalloyed truths, howsoever unpalatable they might 

be to some of his readers. His mission is not to please them but 

to inform them. If you show the slightest trace of bias or prejudice 

you forfeit your claim to be regarded as true worshippers at the temple 

of the Goddess of History. Yout must evaluate the literary sources 

correctly and weigh the Historical evidence in well-poised scales. You 

must consider the pros and cons of historical problems with an evenly 

balanced mind and then draw logical conclusions, whether those 

conclusions coincide with your own inclinations or not. The conclusions 

should follow and not precede your researches. An open mind open to 

conviction is a valuable asset to a historian. Your views should be 

supported by genuine authorities and your integrity in interpreting these 

authorities should be unimpeachable. 

Before concluding this address I would like to thank you all for 

the spirit of co-operation which you have shown by coming to attend this 

session. I am particularly grateful to those scholars who have agreed 

to read papers at this meeting. They must have spent several days 

in writing their papers and months in collecting the material. By the 

end of this session all of ,us will have learnt many new things about one 

of the most important periods of Indian history. 
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RAJPUTANA AND MUHAMMEDAN ART 

A Study in Culture Contacts 

Dr. H. Goetz, M. A., Ph.D., Bobmay. 

Since the times when Dr. Coomaraswamy introduced Rajput painting 

into the sphere of art collectors and historians, there has been a good deal of 

controversy about its relation to contemporary Mughal art. Some saw in it an 

independent Hindu art, others an offshoot of Mughal painting. An unanimous 

opinion was, however, never reached as nobody ever took the trouble to study 

this art in its natural set, the history of Rajput civilisation as a whole. For 

the problem is not restricted to Rajput painting, as a strong Mohammedan vein 

is obvious also in Rajput architecture, dress and many political traditions. When 

a research tour during the two last winters offered me the opportunity to visit a 

great part of Rajputana, Bundelkhand, and Malwa, my interest was, therefore, 

fixed on the elucidation of the problem how Moslem influence penetrated 

Rajputana and how Rajput civilisation, in spite of this overwhelming flood of 

foreign innovations, was nevertheless able to keep its characteristic national 

spirit. As a foreigner I had, of course, to restrict my investigations to a limited 

cope of phenomena, to those of art, but I should feel very glad if these preliminary 

ovservations of mine should inspire Indian scholars to extend them to the other 

aspects of life, the court language, the literature, the political institutions and 

ceremonies, etc. 

I think that we may distinguish four stages in the development of this 

later Rajput art built up on Hindu as well as on Mohammedan foundations. 

Until the early 15th century Rajput art was only one of the many branches of 

Mediaeval Hindu tradition. In the 15th and early 16th centuries, however, 

Rajputana came under the spell of the late Pathan art of Malwa, and in the 

greater part of the l7th and the first quarter of the 18th century under that of 

the Mughal court. On the other hand the late 16th and beginning 17th centuries, 

and again the late 18th and early 19th centuries were periods of assimilation, a 

flourishing national art and even cultural expansion. 

It is here not my task to discuss the question how much Hindu art had 

contributed to the growth of the Mohammedan style in India; especially in 

Gujerat this contribution is quite obvious. But in the 15th century these many 

heterogeneous elements had long been melted into one very characteristic style 

enriched by many innovations brought from Central Asia, Persia and Mameluke 

Egypt. It was the Sultanate of Malwa which not only developed one of the 

finest forms of this Pathan art, but which also spread it over Rajputana and 

Bundelkhand from its centres Mandu and Chanderi. Thus, we find the strong 
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impress of Malwa-Pathan architecture at Chitorgarh in the palace and other 

secular buildings of Rana Kumbha who in A. D. 1454 had been forced to 

acknowledge the suzerainty to Sultan Mahmud Khalji. At Old Orchha, too, the 

earliest structures, the Ram Mandir and the Raj Mandir, reveal the model of the 

same foreign art. I should, however, go too far if I would speak of a simple 

adoption of the Malwa style by the Rajputs. In fact, the main conception of 

these buildings remains truly Rajput, especially the high massive quadrangular 

palace-block with its central court so characteristic for many Rajput castles of 

the 15th to the early l7th century. The Palhan influence shaped especially the 

form of the arches, domes, chhattries, the wall decorations, etc. There are 

reasons to suspect that Malwa-Pathan pictorial art has in a similar way 

contributed to the birth of Rajput painting. Early Rijput painting is, no doubt, 

an offshoot of Mediaeval Hindu painting; the responsibility of the Pathan model 

must be sought in the manner in which the new Rajput pictorial art shook off a 

great part of that common Mediaeval tradition and assumed a formula of its 

own. At Mandu there are also the prototypes of the elephant and rider figures 

which in the next centuries became so characteristic of Rajput sculpture. They 

represent an aesthetic conception foreign to Indian tradition and go back to 

Mohammedan Mongol models in Persia and Central Asia. From later miniatures 

we must finally conclu^^de that also the Mohammedan dress of the time which 

followed the fashion of Timurid Samarcand and Herat, had in a certain measure 

found favour in Rajputana. 

In the 16th and early 17th centuries this Pathan-Rajput tradition as I 

should like to call it, became completely imbued with the national ideals of 

Rajput chivalry and Hindu idealism. At Orchha and Datia we have the 

masterpieces of this style, the splendid palaces of Bir Singh Deo ; and there 

must also be localized the very expressive early Ragmala pictures. But also 

at other places, Gwalior, Amber, Udaipur, Bundi, etc., it can be pointed out 

side by side with the earli^, purely Hindu tradition of religious art. It was 

this mixed style which became one of the chief components of architecture, 

sculpture (elephant figures), pictorial art and dress fashion of Akbar, besides 

the Central'Asian and Persian traditions brought by the early Mughals, and 

the last phase of the Pathan style, as it had developed under the Suri Sultans. 

Though in the 17th century the Mohammedan note in Mughal art became 

increasingly stronger, Rajput art has been responsible for the chief distinction 

between classical Mughal and other Moslem arts. Whereas e. g. the art of 

Bijapur and Golconda may be regarded as an Indianized Persian style, the 

main foundations of Mughal art have since Akbar remained Indian, how many 

Persian, Deccani or Western innovations might ever be grafted on it. 

With the rise of classical Mughal civilisation during the last years of 

Jahangir and under the reigns of Shahjahan and Aurangzeb Rajputana not only 
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lost its influence, but also came herself under the spell of the splendid imperial 

court. As in the 15th century, the foreign model was again imitated at 

almost every important Rajput court. During this whole period it was the 

Kachhwaha rulers who set the fashion, first Mirza Raja Jai Singh I with his 

famous Amber palace in the taste of Jahangir’s late years, Sawai Jai Singh II 

with his' new city of Jaipur in the style of Aurangzeb, and finally Madho Singh 

by introducing the Roccoco ideals of Mohammed Shah in his Hawa Mahal. In 

the same manner it was Jaipur which opened the way for Mughal painting in 

Rajputana. But this imitation of Mughal court fashions and art was not 

restricted to Jaipur. In Mewar the classical Mughal taste of Jahangir and 

Shahjahan is to be felt in the Dilkusha Mahal and Amar Vilas at Udaipur, and 

to a certain degree also in the decoration of the ghats on the Raj Samand dam, 

in the Chatar Mahal and Aniruddh Mahal at Bundi, in the early parts of Kotah 

castle, in the Phul Bagh and the pavilions at the Raj Mandir at Orchha. The 

Aurangzeb style was then copied in Ajit Singh’s Fateh Mahal at Jodhpur, in 

Abhai Singh’s palace at Mandor, in Buddh Singh’s and Umed Singh’s additions 

to Bundi Castle, in those of Sangram Singh II and Jagat Singh II at Udaipur, 

also at Bikaner, and finally in the Jat palaces of Dig, Kumbher and Bharatpur 

(Purana Kothi). Even the last remnants of the Hindu style in secular 

architecture disappeared, and temple architecture, too, became mi.xed, with 

Mughal chhattris, roofs and decorations. In painting the first vestiges of 

Mughal influence are already obvious in the Orchha of Bir Singh Deo, but the 

victory of Mughal art must be put into the time of Shahjahan, and in the 

beginning of the 18th century all the Rajput courts cultivated painting in a 

style which has hitherto been called “mixed MughaPRajput’’, but which was 

in fact the Rajput court style of the time, as is evident not only from the original 

palace collections but also from the wall paintings at Orchha, Bundi, Kotah, etc. 

Only very isolated vestiges of a simultaneous boorish continuation of the 

preceding splendid phase of Rajput painting can be traced for a short period. 

With the disintegration of the Mughal empire, however, the tide changed 

again, and for another time Rajputana evolved a national style of life and art 

which exercised a strong influence over the Punjab, Malwa and the Maratha 

states. Already under the emperor Farrukhsiyar the increasing independence 

of the Rajput states is obvious by a beginning differentiation in the dress 

fashions and in the artistic expression, and when after the sacks of Delhi by 

Nadir Shah, Ahmed Shah Durrani, the Marathas and Safdar Jang the Delhi 

court had been completely impoverished, a quick departure from Mughal 

dress, architecture and painting, which hitherto had ruled unrestricted even 

down to Tanjorc, became general. Nevertheless, this second zenith of Rajput 

civilisation was delayed until the e.irly 19th century when the British hegemony 

bad brought peace to the Rajput states devastated by a century of internecine 
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civil wars, and it lasted until the time when with the administ rative reforms 

European civilisation penetrated and began to disintegrate a culture expressing 

the ideals of a vanishing feudal age. 

Late Rajput architecture was evolved from the late flourishing architecture 

of the Mughals in its grave Baroque and its frivolous Roccoco aspect (time of 

Aurangzeb, viz., Mohammed Shah). The chief characteristic of this late Rajput 

architecture is its musicality, the endless repetition and variation of the old 

structural and decorative details, not according to a simple canon of fixed 

proportions, but following the changing rhythm of musical harmony. The 

structure of the buildings is almost lost behind this rich play of forms, of 

light and shadow, of colours; the value of the single old forms, too, is merged 

into greater harmonies and compositions and replaced by new architectural 

types and decorative motifs introduced from the Deccan. Many fine examples 

of this style are to be seen at Jaipur, Jodhpur, Bikaner, Udaipur, Kotah, Bundi, 

Datia, etc. And its influence is to be felt in the architecture of Lahore, 

Bhopal, Lucknow and Mysore; its decorative impress is obvious also in the 

otherwise so dissimilar Maratha palaces. The same musicality dominates also 

late Rajput painting. Through the 18th century the reflex of contemporary 

Mughal pictorial art is still to be felt. In the Rajput works of Jaipur under 

Sawai Madho Singh, for instance, the influence of Delhi and Fyzabad under 

Shuja’-ud-daula is still evident. But under Sawai Pratap Singh and Sawai 

Jagat Singh (1779-1818) Jaipur painting has lost all contact with Mughal art, 

it has reached the zenith of that pompous gravity and finally transporting 

musicality and spiritualism which so aroused the enthusiasm of Dr. 

Coomaraswamy although he had dated those portraits and Raslila cartoons in 

the Jaipur palace a century too early. The same evolution can be observed at 

Jodhpur in the time of the Maharajas Man Singh, and Takhat Singh, and so 

on in other places; it il the exact counterpart to the so musical and charming 

contemporary paintings of the Kangra Valley in the Himalaya. Only a few 

examples of Rajput sculpture of this period'exist, mostly of elephants and horses, 

also of fine female or divine figures, rather transpositions of paintings into 

plastic conceptions. At the same time Rajput dress, too, evolved those splendid 

extravagant and picturesque fashions which we still admire at any Rajput durbar. 

Thus the peculiar art of Rajputana was the product of two periods of 

contact with Moslem civilisation, that of the Pathan sultanate of Malwa, and 

that of the Mughal court in its heyday, and of two succeeding periods when 

those foreign elements were assimilated, imbued with the national Rajput spirit, 

and finally transmitted to the rest of India, to the Mughals of Akbar, viz. 

to the Indian courts of the late 18th and early 19th centuries. ^This 

nationalisatim did, however, not mean a return to the preceding Medieeval 

Hindu tradition, but the expression of racial ideals somewhat different from 
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those of the other Hindus. It was not only the chivalrous romanticism of the 

Rajput sagas, it was also a peculiar aesthetic ideal, lines and plain surfaces, 

very different from the so unrivalled sculptural sensitiveness of Hindu art proper. 

Were this quick surrender of Hindu art traditions in favour of Mohammedan 

innovations, these dissimilar aesthetic ideals the result of a strong vein of 

non«Indian blood amongst the Rajputs ? Col. Tod had first brought forth 

the theory of the Scythian f.e , Iranian origin of a part of the Rajput clans, 

and it has, though with modifications, found support from other quarters, 

historians as well as anthropologists. I do not risk to venture myself on any 

definite opinion on such a difficult and insufficiently explored problem. The 

only statement I can bring forward is this that the closest affinity to the ideals 

which created a new national Rajput art out of Mediaeval Hindu andjMoslem 

elements, is to be found in the art of ancient Iran. 

I should feel glad if this rather preliminary and tentative outline would 

inspire Indian scholars to further investigations in a neglected but nevertheless 

so splendid field of Indian culture. Art is only one aspect of human civilisation. 

A great cultural movement such as we can study in the growth of Rajput art, 

must be perceptible also in the manners, the political institutions, the literature, 

e^c., though probably in a varying degree. Such an investigation will help us 

to learn to imdersrand the great creative currents of those times when Mediaeval 

India was transformed into that form of life which is at the basis of the India 

of our own days. 

THE POLITICAL DIVISIONS OF SHER SHAH’S KINGDOM 

Dr. Parmatma Saran, M. A., Ph. D., Benares Hindu University 

Sher Shah ruled a far wider territory than his Mughal predecessors. 

Before he finally drove Humayun out of India he had already subdued 

Bengal. Within a few years of his victory over Humayun near Bilgram and 

Qannauj, he made himself master of the whole of Northern India. His dominions 

extended from Sunargaon in the east to the Gakkhar country in the north-west, 

the western boundary being formed by a line joining Balnath Jogi on the 

Jhelum in the north and Khushab nearly a hundred miles south-west, and thence 

running across the Jhelum along the bank of the Indus down to Bhakkar.^ 

On the south his territories were bounded by the Vindhya and Karakoram ranges, 

1 While Sindh had been surrendered to Sher Shah by its Afghan chieftains, the desert 

of Jaisalmer and part of Bikaner and Jodhpur remained out of the sway of the Sur Government, 

43 
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as be had brought within his sway practically the whole of Rajputana, Malwa 

and Kalanjar. No further territorial accessions took place under his successors. 

Qanungo wrongly supposes that the fact ‘that Sher Shah’s empire extended as far 

as Mount Abu and Sakkhar 6akkhar(in Sindh), is known only from his coins' 

and that these facts ‘have escaped the notice of all professed historians’.® Abbas 

has a clear reference to the manner in which the two provinces were acquired. 

The kingdom of Marwar had been extended by Rao Maldee to include the territory 

up to Abu and beyond. Vanquished by Sher Shah he took refuge in Siwan 

on the borders of Gujrat and thus the whole of his possessions including Abu 

fell into the hands of the victor. As regards Sindh (Sakkhar-Bakkhar) we 

are told that it was surrendered by its chief when they learnt that Sher Shah 

was preparing to attack them. In his triumphal march from Qannauj he swept 

right across the Gangetic Doab and the Punjab up to Khushab in the north, 

capturing towns and subjugtaing provinces. At Khushab he made a halt and 

sent forces to hound Humayun who was at Multan, out of the country, and 

to occupy that province. Here Ghazi Khan, Fateh Khan and Ismail Khan 

came and waited on him and gave proofs of their firm loyalty to him. The 

King was much pleased and confirmed Ismail as ruler of Sindh.-’’ Subsequently 

during the Ujjain and Sarangpur campaign when Sheikh Bayazid, grandfather of 

the author of the Tarikh-i-Sher Shahi, came to see Sher Shah, the latter promised 

that after the fall of Kalanjar, he would give him the provinces of Sindh 

and Multan, the country of the Bauluchis.* From the contemporary accounts 

we learn that the administrative machinery was re-established in these places 

as soon as they were conquered, an achievement which was the unique credit 

of Sher Shah. 

Adminiatrative Diviaions. 

Sher Shah was a veteran and skilled administrator and had attained 

the ripe age of sixty-eighi® when he became king. What was more, he was 

possessed of a keen sense of duty and of extraordinary energy in organisation. 

He had been a careful critic and observer of the shortcomings inherent in the 

systems of Babar and Humayun; and finding now an opportunity to remedy 

2 Sher Shab, 382—38>. 
3 AbbaefMS. A.I p. 178; Elliot IV, 388. (MS. A. indicates the author's copy of Abbas). 

4 Op. cit. ... p. 180; EUiot IV, 389. 

5 A very common but serious misapprehension exists regarding the date of Sher Shah's 
birth, created by Mr. Qanungo's absurd suggestion to place that event about i486 A. C- But in 
a paper on 'The Date and place of the Birth of Sher Shah,' published in the J. B. O. R. 
Soc. (Match 1934 of Vol. XX pt. I) the presmit writer has conclusively shown that Sher Shah 

was bora io the year 1472 A. C., Qanungo’s hypothetical date being late by no less a period than 
14 years. Consequently at the time of his enthronement Sher Shah was not 34 but 68 years old. It 
niay also be otiserved here that he had a long experience of administering his father's jagir, extending 

over nearly 25 years in the first instance, and then several years again after his death* 
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them, addressed himself to the task with characteristic earnestness and 
enthusiasm. 

Concerning the administrative divisions of Sher Shah’s kingdom the 

contemporary chronicles yield, even to a very close scrutiny, extremely scanty 

information. We are left to make inferences from indirect and incidental 

observations only. Sher Shah seems to have retained more or less the former 

limits of the provinces, sarkars and parganahs. A modern writer has fabricated 

a fantastic theory about Sher Shah’s political divisions, viz., that he discarded 

the principle of dividing the kingdom into provinces and although he had 

nominally to retain some provinces, he dispensed with them altogether so far 

as administrative purposes were concerned. The writer contends that the hrgest 

political unit into which Sher Shah’s kingdom was divided was the sarkar.^ Tbe 

existence of the provinces and provincial governors which is clearly mentk^ed 

the chronicles is explained away by suggesting that these were meant eithe? to 

‘preserve the administrative unity of the whole province* and to prevent qitarcds 

among the governors^ as in the case of Bengal, or from military necessity, as in 

the case of the Punjab, Malwa, and Ajmer, Jodhpur and Nagor,® His conclusion, 

however, is based on preconceived ideas rather than on historical facts, and he 

does not hesitate to twist the meanings of passages to suit his purpose.® Although 

no detailed statistical account like the Ain-i-Akbari is available for Sher Shah’s king* 

dorn, we have unmistakable evidences that the empire was divided into regular 

provinces. Bengal was the only province which is said to have been split up into 

smaller governorships ostensibly with a view to minimise the chances of rebellion. 

6 From pp. 241-243 of his 'Sher Shah’ Qanungo laboriously develops his theory that Sher 
Shah’ 'substituted in Bengal a completely now mechanism*, viz., that he broke up the province into 

a number of separate and smaller governorships. Qanungo fixes their number at nineteen, on the 

ground that as we learn from Abbas that the largest adminstrative unit of Sher Shah's Empire was 

a sarkar (MS. p. 249—Elliot, IV, 414), it would not be very far from the truth to say that about 
this time the 19 sarkars of Bengal proper enumerated in the Ain-i-Akbari were constituted by 

Sher Shah. 'This new sytem, that is to say, of dividing a province into separate governorships which 

were coincident with the sarkars of later time was’ Qanungo contends, *Sher Shah's ideal of 

provincial organisation’ (vide 'Sher Shah’ p. 357). It will be presently shown, however, that his 

contention is quite baseless. But it may be pointed out here that the statement whieh he ascribes 
to Abbas, viz., that the sarkar was Sher Shah's largest administrative unit does not exist either in 

Elliot or in any of the five MSS. extant in the Br. Museum and the India OfiSce, nor in my 
copy. I find no statement of Abbats capable of yielding the sense which Qanungo has discovered. 

7 Sher Shah, 243. 

8 Ibid, 357—358. 

9 For instance, he further supporU his theory by a quotation from Abbas (Elliot IV. 432), 
vit; "He (Sher Shah) intended to remove Azam Humayun fHaibat Khan) from his government of 

the Punjab, but had no time before he was glorified in martyrdom.’* This sentence has been torn 
out of its context and twisted to yield the desired sense, which however, happens to be just the 

contrary of what the passage really conveys. Read with the context it only means that Sher Shah 

wanted to remove the governor as a punishment for certain acts of high misdemeanour and not in 

order to abolish the office itself. 
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These divisions have been assumed by Qanungo to be idenetical with the nineteen 

sarkars of Bengal under Akbar,—an assumption no belter grounded than his 

theory and arguments. For Abbas on two occasions uses the distinct words 

j lSU j translated by Elliot: 

“And he divided the kingdom of Bengal into different provinces and made Qazi 

Fazilat ‘Amir’ of Bengal,” and again : ^ cJX# ^ 

translated by Elliot: “The kingdom of Bengal he 

divided into parts, and made Qazi Fazilat Amir of that whole kingdom.”^^ The 

meaning of eJSIjb lJ^ is thus given by Steingass : ‘The kings of those provinces 

into which the empire of Sikandar (Lodi) was broken up’. From the nature of 

Afghan policy in India it is only too well-known that it was composed of a 

number of tribal, more or less autonomous leaders who continued to enjoy these 

privileges till Sher Shah’s time. Instead of giving the province of Bengal to 

one of these Sher Shah divided it among several of them. In this way he 

satisfied the powerful and ambitious Afghans and rendered them incapable 

of rebellion as well. This view is fully supported by Badauni. Says he, “. 

..i...Sher Shah imprisoned Khizr Khan and taking possession of the country 

conferred it by way of Jagir upon several of his trustworthy Amirs, and 

appointed Qazi Fazilat.superintendent of the Eastern Rohtas fort,^^ 

The same is also borne out by the Makhzan-i-Afghani^^. According to Qanungo 

each of these jagirs into which Bengal was thus divided represented a sarkar. 

Had it been so there seems no reason why Abbas and other writers quoted above 

should have refrained from directly stating them as sarkars, and given them 

instead a misleading and incorrect name. But what Sher Shah really did was that 

he divided that province into a few smaller jurisdictions and gave them as 

10 Abbas (MS. A) p. 183; I. O. MS. fol. 87-88; Elliot IV, 390. 
11 Ibid (MS. A.) p. 225; I. O. MS. fol. 108; Elliot. IV, 417. It may be'noted that Elliot’s 

MS. seems to have had the word 'Amir’ and not 'Amin* which is found in all other MSS. known to 
me, in India and England, alilysu^ curiously enough an abridged reduction of the Tarikh-i-Sher- 

Shahi, (Or. 1782) which belonged to Elliot and was copied by his munshi, has also the word ‘Amin’ 

and not 'Amir*. It can* therefore, be safely concluded that his rendering was an error. 

Badauni, 364*365. It will be remembered that Badauni was a contemporary of Abbas 
and bad personally been witness to Sher Shah’s administration in his boyhood. He is as valuable 
an authority for the great Afghan’s reign as Abbas. 

13 I quote the relevant passage from the Makhzan^i-Afghani and Khan Jahan Lodi of which 

the different MSS. I have carefnlly compared and collected both in the Br. Mus. and the India Office, 

lawj ^ (Or. 1636, fol. 2l6 a) 

( Elke, 1705. fol 158 a, b ) ^ 

f f C1A.U jT I) ^la. 5^ 

* jJLiw# ^1 
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jagirs to the powerful local Afghan leaders, as is clearly mentioned by Badauni, 

Makhzan and other authorities alike. That Sher Shah did divide his provinces 

into sarkars is quite certain although it is nowhere definitely stated. The point to 

which I wish to draw attention here is that the passages under consideration do 

not refer to any such division. On the other hand, the only reasonable 

inference from them will be that out of the Bengal province Sher Shah placed 

a territory comprising a few sarkars in charge of each of a few tribal chiefs 

who were, of course, all politically equal in status and independent of one 

another, but responsible to the central government through the Amin, as to 

whose functions and powers Qanungo has again lost touch with facts and given 

free play to his imagination. He contends that ‘this office carried no military 

command and no great administrative duties except that of supervision and 

prevention of quarrels which were sure to arise among a number of officials of 

equal status.* (p. 357). This view would seem to be quite 

untenable in the light of the passages quoted above from Badauni, Makhzan, 

c^c., in which the position and functions of the Amin have been defined in 

absolutely unmistakably words. This piece of evidence, however, Qanungo 

has completely ignored. But even the rather scanty observations of Abbas on 

this point would be found on a careful consideration, to lend no support to his 

theory. In Abbas the passage in question occurs as a conclusion to the account 

he is giving of the measures taken by Sher Shah for the maintenance of 

internal peace by stationing a certain number of troops and garrisons in different 

places in the country. Hence he says : ‘He appointed Qazi Fazilat. 

and in every place where it suited his purpose^ he kept garrisons,^^^ The only 

reasonable sense which, in this context, these words can bear is that 

Qazi Fazilat was, like others, who were stationed in other localities, also 

responsible for defence, that is to say, for war and peace, as Badauni clearly says, 

in addition to his duty of supervising and controlling the general administration 

according to the policy of the central Government and also of suppressing and 

punishing the contumacious whenever necessary. The designation Amin used in 

preference to Faujdar or Qiladar which should have been appropriate for an officer 

restricted simply to military duties, signifies the wider scope of his duties. 

Hence it has been translated by Elliot as ‘Manager’ (IV, 391), by Dorn as 

‘Trustee’, and by Maulvi A. Salaam in his translation of the Riyaz-us-Satatin, 

as ‘Overlord.*^^ Thus the Amin’s office roughly resembled that of the later 

Mughal viceroys of the Deccan under whom several minor provinces were 

combined into a single viceroyalty with the same object in view, namely, to 

sS ••• .t. I j ^ 

15 Dorn, p, 13M32; Riyaz (Tr.) p, 145. 
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facilitate the control of a distant province and keep in check the centrifugal 

tendencies of the local chiefs. It was ostensibly with the object of keeping 

internal turbulence in check and of protecting the province from ambitious 

neighbours that the post of the Amin was created. As “trustee** he waS’ 

responsible for the province as a whole to the king. ‘Prevention of quarrels* 

would thus come incidentally within the scope of his duties, but the possibility 

of occasional quarrels among officers would not necessitate or justfy the creation 

of such an important office. In all likelihood the Amin’s duly was also to 

intervene in the internal administraticn, when necessary, in the inteiests 

of peace and security. Indeed the Amin’s jurisdiction and authority w.iS 

so wide that it soon enabled him slowly and imperceptibly to assert his power 

as a fullfledged governor with the result that Islam Shah, on his accession, 

appointed Muhammad Khan Sur, governor of the whole province in the same 

way as in other provinces, and the tribal Jagirdars or chiefs among whom Sher 

Shah had divided it were completely lost sight of. (Riyaz p. HS). He was 

followed by Shahbnz Khan, as governor of the Province under Muhammad Shah 

Adil (Riyaz p. 150). Hence it seems reasonable to conclude that the governors 

(i. c. the several jngirdars among whom the province was divided) were left to 

carry on the administration as they thought fit. Thus while the extent of the 

Amin’s authority to intervene in their affairs cannot be estimated with any degree 

of precision, yet the nature of his responsibilities would seem to suggest that 

he must have been in control of the main strings of adminstrative policy. Wc 

may therefore reasonably conclude that although the peculiar circumstances 

of the province of Bengal necessitated its divison into what wc may 

call, sub-provinces, its essential unity was maintained, and, for purposes of 

administrative policy, it was treated as a single province.^ 

No such complication, however, arises in the case of the other provinces 

of which we find a clear mention in practically all contemporary authorities. 

But it should be carefully noted that the extent of some of Sher Shah’s Subahs 

seems to have been determined by local considerations. We may now cite 

some cases to illustrate the existence of subahs. His first subah extended from 

Delhi to the western boundary of Rohilkhand, and the second from Rohilkhand 

as far as Oudh and Jaunpur. The first he entrusted to Ahmad Khan Sarwani 

whom he made, in view of the difficult circumstances of the time, like Qazi 

Fazilat, Amin of Delhi,and the second he entrusted to Masnad-i-Ali Isa Khan. 

As soon as he occupied Delhi after defeating Humayun at Qannauj, he was faced 

with the problem of maintaining order in this region which was the heart of the 

kingdom, and was to serve as the base of his military advance into the Punjab. 

16 Tbe changes involved in the nature of the administration do not fall within the scope of 
this chapter : they will be discussed in their proper place. 

17 I. O. MS. fol. I07b, MS. A, pp. 
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The Sarkar of Sanibhal {i. e. Rohilkhand) was the home of the most implacable 
rebels, and hence the governor of this territory was asked to make Sambhal his 
seat. The latter was expected only to restore order and peace first by 

suppressing the insurgents with a ruthless hand. This was an emergency step, 
for we are told that when he hid dismissed Isa Khan to the Sarkar of Sambhal 

Sher Shah felt at his ‘ease regarding the whole country from Delhi to Lucknow.* 

He was asked to maintain 5000 horse for whose maintenance a suitable Jngir 
was assigned. Nasir Khan was made his deputy.^® Moreover, even a cursory 

reading of the chronicles would reveal the existence of the provinces of Lahore, 

Multan including the Gakkhar country, Sindh, Ajmer including Jodhpur and 

Nagor, Malwa and Bihar. 

During his first march to the Gakkhar country in pursuit of Humayun he 

had hardly settled the country before he returned to Bengal to deal with Khizr 
Khan. But he had started building the Rohtas fort with great expedition, and 

the Baluchi chiefs of Sindh, Path Khan and Ghazi Khan having made their 

submission were confirmed in the governorship of that province. While leaving 

for Bengcal he had left the country between Lahore and the frontier in charge of 

Haibat Khan Niazi, KhawasI Khan, Isa Khan Niazi, Habib Khan and Rai 

Hussain Jalwani.^^ After returning from Bengal Sher Shah took Gwalior, Malwa 
and ‘assigned the country of Mandu to Shuji’at Khan.*-^^^ Shuja*at was soon after 

degraded and again restored to a Mansab of 12000 horse, and ‘became ruler 
of the whole country of Mandu.*^^ Shuja’at Khan had even authority to 

distribute Jagirs throughout the whole province.^^ This was followed by the 

siege and treacherous capture of Raisen during which news came of the quarrel 

between Khawas Khan and Haibat Khan Niazi. The country between Lahore 

was yet far from being subdued much less well-settled. The Baluchis in Multan 

and the Jats between Lahore and Panipat were devastating the land. Sher 
Shah recalled every other officer and ‘confirmed Haibat Khan Niazi in the 

government of the Punjab,’ (Punjab is evidently used here to indicate the 

whole territory of the five rivers including Multan)—and Path Jang Khan 

his assistant. When Haibat Khan Niazi established peace and restored Multan 
to its former prosperity, Sher Shah sent his instructions regarding the revenue 

administration of Multan, that being a special case. Haibat Niazi put Path 
Jang in charge of Multan, and returned to Lahore. Thus these two officers 

18 MS. A. pp. 171-172; Elliot IV. 383-384 and p. 416- 

19 MS. (A) pp. 181-133. Elliot IV, pp. 388-90. 

20 MS. (A) p. 187. Elliot IV, p. 398. 

21 MS. (A)lpp. 191-92. Elliot IV, p. 396-297. 

There is a mistake in Elliot here. The command of 12000 was conferred on Shujaat Khan and 

not on Haji Khan who was only a Faujdar. See Elliot IV, p. 396. 

22 MS. (A) pp. 235-236; Abbas, I. O. MS, fol. 114 n. 
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ruled the provinces of Labor and Multan.^^ Next followed the capture of 

Jodhpur, Nagor and Ajmer which was entrusted to Khawas Khan and Isa Khan 

Niazi assisted by some other chiefs.^^ Sulaiman Khan was appointed governor 

of the Bihar Provinces.^^ These instances should suffice to show that no new 

mechanism‘at once original in principle and efficient in working* (Sei ‘Sher 

Shah’ p. 241) was created by Sher Shah. Nevertheless Mr. Qanungo would have 

us believe that Sher Shah’s ideal of provincial organisation was that of Bengal. 

As we have shown, Bengal was not organised as Mr, Qanungo conceives it. 

Nor was even the expedient of appointing an Amin to it made the ideal for the 

rest of the kingdom. The case of Bengal was an exception rather than the 

rule. Sher Shah never gave any indication, either by design or by practice, of 

introducing the same system in the other provinces. Their governors were not so 

limited in the scope of their functions and Wcire moreover called Hakims 

The existence of regular subahs is further corroborated by subsequent 

evidence. Ahmad Yadgar tells us that when Firoz Shah son of Islam 

Shah was placed on the throne orders were sent to the governors of 

the Subahs.^^’ We have no reason to suppose that any such radical 

reorganisation as the reconstitution of Subas was undertaken by Islam Shah, 

The province of Malwa was still governed by Shuja’at Khan who was succeeded 

by Taj Khan the Vazir.^^ Islam Sur had appointed his kinsman Muhammad 

Khan to succeed Qazi Fazilat as governor of Bengal.He in turn was 

succeeded by Shahbaz Khan under Muhammad Adil Sur.^'^^ In the Light 

of the above evidence Mr. Qanungo’s theory that Sher Shah altogether dispensed 

with the province as an administrative unit, would seem to be entirely 

groundless. Incidentally we have also shown that the governors of Mandu and 

Multan enjoyed, among others, the usual authority of dealing with revenue 

administration Yet we find Mr. Qanungo making a still bolder assertion that 

even while Sher Shah was compelled by military necessity to keep governors in 

Malwa, Ajmer and tha Punjab,‘the central government controlled finance and 

justice in these parts as in the rest of the Empire.’ A more unwarranted 

statement it would be difficult to find. 

Further, from the evidence of Akbar’s reign also Mr. Qanungo’s theory 

would seem to be quite untenable and self-contradictory. He contends that 

the great Afghan ( Sher Shah ) was responsible for the creation of ‘the 

imperial edifice which the stupendous literary activity of Abul Fazal has 

23 MS. (A) pp. 193-196; Elliot IV, 397-399. 
24 MS. (A) pp. 207-208. Elliot IV, 405-406. 
23 Riyaz, p. 153; 

26 Elliot V. 43. 
27 Op. cit. 44, 
28 Ain, p. 415 L 20-23; also Riyaz p. 148, 

29 Riyaz, p. 130, 
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misled the world into regarding as the sole creation of his royal patron/ In 

order to be consistent with this theory Mr. Qanungo ought to have shown 

that until his reorganisation of the Empire into provinces in 1581, Akbar had 

no provinces, working, as he should have done (according to Mr. Qanungo) till 

then, the machinery bequeathed to him by Sher Shah. The baselessness of 

this position is too patent to need comment. 

The Jagir System— 

The Afghan policy was based on the conception of the kingdom being 

tribal property. From Bahlol Lodi down to Sher Shah and even Islam Shah all 

had to invite their Afghan kinsmen, and in recognition of their right to a share in 

the kingdom to give them some part of its income either in the shape of cash or 

jagir. Besides, they had to divide almost the whole kingdom among the leading 

Afghan nobles and chiefs. This system was not in the least altered or modified 

by Sher Shah. But by his great experience, dominating personality and 

astuteness in dealing with them, he succeeded in introducing most remarkable 

improvements into both the spirit and the machinery of government. The bulk 

of his kingdom was also assigned in Jagirs to Afghan nobles. But while they 

still retained their theoretical rights and privileges, their actual position under 

him had become greatly reduced. The Lodi Sultans had to keep flattering them 

in order to retain their co-operation and help and even Sikandar had no control 

over his provincial governors But under Sher Shah they had to be thoroughly 

submissive and obedient and even the smallest act of inefficiency or dereliction 

of duty never went unpunished. Islam Shah acted on the general principle of 

abolishing Jagirs, so far as was practicable, and substituting instead the system 

of cash salaries, but he could not accomplish much. 

We find references also about the native chiefs many of whom were forced 

to acknowledge allegiance to the ruler of Delhi. For instance the Raja of 

Lakhnor, to the east of Sambhal, was allowed to retain his estate and evidently 

enjoyed a very influential position under the protection of the governor of 

Sambhal.Abbas incidentally refers to the attendance of zamindars for 

interviews with the king, every morning^^. But the nature of the treaties 

and obligations of these zamindars and Rajas can only be a matter of conjecture. 

30 Elliot. VI, 384 ; Ms. A. p. 172. 
31 Ms. (A) p. 200. 
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A MUGHAL MINIATURE IN THE BRITISH MUSEUM 

N. L. Ahmad* M. A.* B. Lift. (Oxford), ProfeMor of History, 
Ismail College, Andheri. 

Amongst the most fascinating of Mughal miniatures is an unfinished 

drawing^ of a durbarlof Shah Jahan, by Anupchatar. It is a folio of a magnificent 
album* of Mughal miniatures in the British Museum, which contains several 
other masterpieces of Mughal art by notable artists. Unfortunately we know 
little or nothing about the artist, Anupchatar. So completely were the painters 
neglected by the Mughal historians, that the only way to know Anupchatar 

is to study the extant specimens of his art.® The picture is in one of the 
preliminary stages, through which it had to pass, before the painter could 
call it a finished product of his art. The absence of rich colours in this case 

enables us to appreciate better the excellence of Anupchatar’s art which lies 
in the delicacy of its fine ink-line. The picture shows Shah Jahan seated on 

a throne, the canopy of which is supported by 12 beautiful slender pillars. 

There is a deeply fringed (incomplete) awning over the canopy. In front 
of the emperor stands Asaf Khan (No. 8), who presents a wreath of pearls 

and gems to him. The four boy princes stand near the throne, while the rest of 

the nobles stand inside the silver railing in respectful demeanour. The portraits 
of all those present in the durbar are sketched in black and white with such 

accuracy, care and scrupulous attention to details that they bear evidence of 
having been drawn from life. Our interest in them is heightened by the names 
inscribed on most of them. The portraits possess character and many of them 

are very revealing indeed. The artist has proved beyond doubt the truth of the 

aphorism that a man’s face is the index of his heart and the mirror of his deeds. 

The picture represent^ undoubtedly one of the earliest durbars of Shah Jahan, for 

several nobles present in the durbar died early in the reign. For instance Riza 

Bahadur (No. 39) was killed on October 15tb, 1629. Arnold* suggests in his 

note on the picture that it probably represents the durbar, that was held in 

February (or March 8th, according to the New Style) 1628, to receive the 

three princes and Asaf Khan, who had arrived at Agra from Lahore. This is 
improbable, for Khwaja Abul Hasan (No. 7) was not present in the durbar on 

that date. He was left behind at Lahore by Asaf Khan in accordance with the 
instructions of Shah Jahan.® The emperor granted a mansab to Khwaja 

■ 1 Indian Drawiogs Vll 19S0-9—17—019 (27) in the Britiib Museum, 
2 British Miueaixi MS* Add* ISSOh 
3 Another picture by hU hand is foU 26 in MS* Ouseley Add. 173 in the Bodleian Library. 
4 A and B., 73—74, 
6 L. LA. ill. * j 
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Abol Hasan in his absence^ on duty, on the day of the durbar. He did not 

arrive at court from Lahore until June 15th, 1628.^ But soon after this, 

Qasim Khan (No. 20) left court on August 16th, 1628,® to take up the 

governorship of Bengal. Since both of them are present in the durbar, the 

picture should represent a scene at the court during the two months, between 

June 15th and August 16th, 1623. There is, however, one difficulty. The 

actual age of Murad Bakhsh (No. 24) at this time was only 3 years and 

8-10 months, but he looks in the picture as if he was a boy of about 8, though 

each one of his three brothers looks his actual age in the picture. It may be 

that the portrait of Murad Bakhsh is a later interpolation. It appears to be 

inferior in quality and the face has nothing in common with the profiles of his 

three brothers, whose facial resemblance is striking. There is yet another 

consideration, which persuades me to suggest that the portrait is spurious. A 

more or less similar picture in the Delhi Museum of Archaeology, though of a 

definitely inferior quality, does not contain a portrait of Murad Bakhsh. 

Our picture bears an inscription and a seal on the back of the folio. 

The inscription gives the title of the picture, viz., ‘the court of his majesty 

along with the princes and the nobles’ and the price-200.‘ Below the 

inscription is the seal of ‘Ashraf Khan, servant of Alamgir Badshah 1072,’ 

which is 1661-62 A. D. 

The following are the short sketches of the life and character of many 

of those, who are represented in the miniature. They will enable us to realize 

how well the historians’ account is corroborated and confirmed by the artist. 

1. Name is illegible and the portrait is unfortunately blurred out. 

2. Qulij Khan,* whose portrait is blurred out, was one of the greatest 

soldiers of his age. He attained a mansab of 5,000, and died in 1654. 

3. Shaikh Nazir'® was one of the most extra-ordinary men of his time. 

His ‘miracles’ often left Shah Jahan and his court astonished and in suspense. 

His real name was Nasir Muhammed, but his spiritual guide named him Shaikh 

Nazir. He was a personal attendant of Shah Jahan. Day and night, at all 

seasons of the year, he was dressed in a shirt with short sleeves, stuffed with 

cotton. His dress in the picture is true to description. 

4. Amar Singh," the eldest son of Raja Gaj Singh, stands immediately 

behind his father. He served in the campaigns against Jujjhar Singh Bundela, 

Sahu Bhonsla in the Deccan and Raja Jagat Singh. He served also in 

6 Ibid. 182. 
7 Ibid. 203 

8 Ibid. 226. 

8 M. U.. Ill 92-93. L. I. A. 226. 428. 
10 L. I. B. 337-38. 

U M> U. II, 23Q-33. L. II, 97, 3S0-88- 
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Afghanistan under the princes Shuja, Murad Bakhsh, and Dara Shikoh on three 

different occasions. 

5. Gaj Singh^* was a cousin of Shah Jahan. His thick, long nose and 

double chin do not leave a very pleasant impression on our mind. 

6. Shaista Khan,^® who stands not far from his father, Asif Khan, in the 

picture was a brother-in-law of Shah Jahan. His name was Mirza Abu Talib, 

but he is best known by his title Shaista Khan, which he received from Jahangir. 
He was not a great general, but he was best known for his many social virtues. 

He was extremely kind and generous, and in spite of his great wealth and high 

position, there was not a trace of vanity in him. One can almost read these 

characteristics in his face. 

7. Khwaja Abul Hasan,^* who came to India from Khurasan. In 1612, 

Jahangir selected him for the office of Mir Bakhshi. Later he appointed him 
as the Diwan. In 1629, Shah Jahan entrusted him with the pursuit of Khan 

Jahan Lodi, who had escaped from Agra. In 1632, he was appointed governor 

of Kashmir, but owing to his advanced age he was permitted to remain at court. 
His great services and loyalty to the empire and his frankness and honesty of . 

purpose won him the confidence of Shah Jahan, who promoted him to a mansab 

of 6,000. He visited him on his sick bed in January 1633. He died in March 
1633,^® at the ripe age of 70. H<^ possessed ‘a sour countenance and a stern 

mature*. How true to life,and character his portrait is. Without much difficulty 

one can spot out the doyen of Mughal nobility in his late sixties, with his failing 
eye-sight and furrowed forehead, learning heavily on a staff and looking at the 

emperor straight in the face. 

8. Asaf Khan,*® the brother-in-law of Jahangir and the father-in-law 

of Shah Jahan, was a member of a gifted Persian family, which produced 

several remarkable men and still more remarkable women. Ever since his 
sister married Jahangir he began to earn rapid promotions until he attained 

the office of the Vakil'and a mansab of 7,000. On his accession, Shah 

Jahan loaded Asaf Khan with gifts and honours, awarded him the title of 

Yamin-ud-DauIa and a mansab of 8,000. He died in 1641, of chronic 

dropsy. He had a tremendous appetite, which may well be, considering 
the enormous figure that we see in the picture. He was an astute politician and 
a clever diplomat—characteristics, which are well brought out in his portrait. 

He lived like a prince, had a great reputation for courtesy, dignity of bearing and 

hospitality, and spent lavishly when he entertained royalty. It is, therefore, 

12 M. U. n, 283-225, L. II, 97. 
13 M, U., 11, 690-706, L. I. A. 180, 294, 295-96, 302, 318; I. a 135, 137. M. A., 3C8. 
14 M. U., I, 737-39. L. I. A. 182, 276-77, 297, 300-01, 432, 449, 473-74. 
15 The date in A ft B., p. 75, is incorrect. 

16 M. U„ 1,151-59. L. I. A. 70-75, 79, 112-15,177-80, 318-19; 424, 1. B. 82-83; ll, 257-5J. 
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perhaps appropriate that we should see him making a rich offering—it looks like 

a rope of pearls and gems—to the emperor. 

9. Shah Jahan^^ was born on January 15th, 1592. The description of his 

features, as given by the official court chronicler^®, will be of interest. He was a 

man of middle height with a sallow complexion. He wore a short beard and 

well trimmed moustache. His open forehead, graceful eye-brows, dark 

commanding eyes, prominent thin nose and thin closed lips were the other 

noticeable features, which combined to make him a handsome man. 

10. Daultat Mai^‘*^ was a strikingly handsome man. Jahangir gave him 

the little of Khawas Khan. His intrepidity in the engagement with Khan 

Jahan Lodi near Dholpur attracted Shah Jahan’s notice. He was appointed 

governor of Tatta in 1635. 

Later he held once again the post of captain of the mansabdars-in 

waiting, which he relinquished in 1646, to take up the governorship of Kandahar, 

He returned to India after the fall of Kandahar and died in disgrace and 

obscurity. In the picture he stands in attendance on the emperor with a fly 

whisk in his hand. Amongst all those present in the durbar, he has the fairest 

complexion and he certainly looks young and handsome. 

11. Dara Shikoh,^^ the eldest son of Shah Jahan, was born in March 1615. 

12. Shuja^i, the second son of Shah Jahan, was born in July 1616. 

In August of the yeRt 1633 he received his first military command in 

the Deccan. 

13. Aurangzeb,^^ the third son of Shah Jahan, was born in November 1618. 

14. Mahabat Khan,^® whose real name was Zamana Beg, was of 

Persian descent. To the end of his days he was reckless in expenditure and in 

matters of personal health, It was said of him that he never abandoned any 

one, whom he once gave his confidence. He died of a chornic ulcer in 1634, 

Mahabat Khan stands immediately behind the princes, facing Asaf Khan in the 

picture. He looks at the latter with jealous eye and a contemptuous smile. 

15. Behind Mahabat Khan stands a man, who is healthy and stout, and 

wears a dark beard. But bis name is not given. 

16. Mirza Rustam*^ came from Persia to^India in the reign of Akbar, 

He was well received at court and was given a high mansab. He died at the 

17 L. I. A. 16, 385, 389-90. 

18 L. I. A. 130-34. 
19 M. U., II, 24-30. L. I. A. 181, 474-75, 537; I. B- 101 ; 11, 577. W. 4l2a. 4l5a. 
20 L. I. A. 178-79. 391,452 , 458. A. S., I, 192. 
21 L. I. A, 392, 402-03, 452. 460-64, 537. 

22 L. I. A. 392, 489-93 ; I. B. 243, 269. 
23 M, U., I. 744-45 ; III, 385-409. L. I. A. 116-17, 199, 241, 424, 528 ; I. B. 59-60, 293. 

24 M.y. in, 434-41. L. I. A. 205, 452, 461-64, 
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advanced age of 72 "Mirza was a man of the world and knew the spirit of 
the age". How true to his later life the portrait is. Heavy, old, infirm and 
diseased, he leans on his staff, looking intently at the scene in fromt of him. 

His flabby face, long beard, heavy eye-lids and dishevelled hair, which almost 
hide bis ear, combine to make him well advanced in age. 

17. Khan Alam^^ belonged to a family, which had served the Mughals 

since the days of Timur. In 1632, Shah Jahan granted him an ample old age 

pension, thus enabling him to spend his last days comfortably in Agra. He leans 
heavily on his staff and looks old, weak and dissipated. 

18. The figure immediately behind Khan Alam has an excellent profile. 

Unfortunately it bears no name. 
19. Khan ^aman^^ whose real name was Mirza Amanulla, learnt the 

science of war and strategy as an under-study of his father, Mahabat Khan. He 

died of chronic disease in 1637, at a rather early age. In the picture we see 
him a sturdy man with a fresh, open countenance, which suggests that he 

possessed a sincere heart and a lovable character. 

20. Qasim Khan,^^ son of Mir Murad, belonged to a well known family of 
Saiyeds of Juven. He served for a considerable time in the Deccan and in 

Bengal. In 1632, Qasim Khan launched a well planned attack on the Portuguese. 

He died three days after his men had secured a definite victory over them in 
autumn 1632. Shah Jahan lamented the loss of an efficient officer and a loyal 

and sincere worker. He was an excellent poet and writer. His profile certainly 
gives os the impression that he was a man of culture and rectitude. 

Arnold** has attempted to identify the portrait with an officer, better 

known as Qasim Khan Mir Atash**, who was very much the junior of Qasim 
Khan, the governor of Bengal, both in age and rank. The former was appointed 
Mir Atasb as late as 164S, when he was promoted to a small mansab of 1,000.*^, 

He, therefore, definitely did not possess a sufficiently high status early in Shah 
Jahan’s reign to be able to rub shoulders with Gaj Singh and Wazir Khan, who 

stand on either side of hin^ in the picture. 

21. Wazir Khan**, a resident of Chunot in the Punjab, entered Shah 

Jaban’s service during his princehood and remained loyal to him in his adversity. 

He was an excellent physician. His real name was Hakim Alim-ud-Din. He 
died in 1641. He led a simple life, saved much and was short tempered. His 

25 According to another Ms. of the Ma’asir, it was 8S. See M. U. Ill, 439, footnote 3. 
26 M. U., I. 733-36. L. I. A. 183, 228, 426-27. 
27 M. U., I, 740-48; 111, 383-86. L. 1. A. 199, 237 ; I. a 39, 237, 298. 
28 M. U., HI, 78-82. L. I. A. 326, 409, 423-39, 444. A. S., 1, 32. 
29 A and B., 78. 
80 See M, U., Ill, 93-99. 
81 L. 11, 414. 
89 M, U., HI, 988-80. L. 1. A .108, 410,486; H, 241, 
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outstanding characteristic was his great personal loyalty to Shah Jahan and his 

high sense of duty. His profile, if viewed in the light of these remarks, is very 
revealing, indeed. 

22. Raja Bithaldas^^ was the second son of Raja Gopaldas, who along 

with his eldest son had died fighting for the cause of Shah Jahan at Tatta. On 

Shah Jahan's accession Bithaldas received the title of Raja. 

He has typical Rajput features. The sharp outline of his profile and his 
tall, well built figure remind us that he was a soldier first and last. 

23. This interesting figure is unnamed. He stands humble and respectful, 

with his eyes facing the ground rather than the emperor. His huge turban is 

more foreign than Mughal. He may be one of the numerous eminent foreigners, 

who arrived at Shah Jahan’s court. The portrait cannot be identified with 
Saiyed Jalal Bukhari, the Sadr-us-Sudur, as is suggested by Arnold,®* because 

Musavi Khan, and not he, held that high office in the early period of Shah Jahan’s 
reign. Musavi Khan himself (No. 30) is present in the durbar. 

24. Murad Bakhsh®® was born in October 1624. He married the 
daughter of Shah Nawaz Khan Safvi (No. 31) in 1642. He was a rash and 

credulous young man. He is plump and looks very young in the picture. He 

has not yet discarded the small boy’s cap, which covers well his right ear. 

25. A young man, obviously a Rajput, wearing pearls in bis ears. The 

portrait is unnamed. 

26. The name is not legible. 

27. Sadiq Khan®®, who was related to Asaf Khan, served as a Bakhshi 

in Jahangir’s reign. He was not well inclined towards Shah Jahan, but on 

Jahangir’s death he made his peace with the adherents of the former. Shah 

Jahan appointed him as his Mir Bakhshi. He died in September 1633. He 

stands almost in the middle of the audience hail. His closely trimmed black 
beard makes him conspicuous in the group. 

28. Sultan Nazar®^, the brother of Saif Khan (No. 40), was a man of 

literary tastes. He stands in front of his brother and faces Sadiq Khan Mir 
Bakhshi (No. 27), with a scroll of paper in bis hands. The name, Sultan Nazar 

is perfectly legible. It is strage that Arnold®® identifies the portrait with 

another man, named Mirza Sultan Safvi®®. The name Sultan, common to both, 

obviously misguided him. 

33 M. U., II. 350-64. L. I, A. U7-18, 369, 476 ; II, 341. 
34 A and B. 79. 
33 L. I. A. 393, 430 ; II, 304-03. 
36 M. U., II. 729-31. L. t. A. 181, 186, 338. 
37 M. U., II, 421. 
IS A. and B. 79. 
09 For tha atory of his life see M. U., Ill 561-81. 
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29. Azam Khaa^^, whose real name was Muhammad Baqar, came to 

India from Iraq and entered the service of Asaf Khan Jafar Beg. Later he held 

successively the posts of Khan Saman and Mir Bakhshi under Jahangir. Shah 

Jahan retained him as Mir Bakhshi and later appointed him as his Vazier. 

He died at the advanced age of 76, in 1649, at Jaunpur, where he lies buried. 

He had many good qualities and was held in respect. 

He looks a man of elderly age in the picture. But Arnold^^ identifies the 

portrait with a man, much younger in age and lower in rank, who did not receive 

the title of Azam Khan Koka^^ till the second decade of Aurangzeb’s reign. 

30. Musavi Khan^^ attained the office of Sadr-us-Sudur in Jahangir’s 

reign. Shah Jahan retained him in that post. But he dismissed him in the 

16th year of his reign. He did not long survive his disgrace and died in 1644. 

He wears a long beard and puts on an orthodox appearance, which was, perhaps, 

an essential qualification for his post, 

31. Shah Nawaz Khan^^ was the title given by Jahangir to Mirza Badi- 

uz-Zaman, who was the son of Mirza Rustam Safvi (No. 16). In Shah Jahan’s 

reign he served in the Deccan, where he acted once as the guardian and Vakil of 

Murad Bakhsh. He lived a grand and elegant life and loved the pleasures of 

the hunt and the chase. It is not, therefore, surprising if we see him in the 

picture with a falcon perched on his gloved hand. 

32. Afzal Khan,^® whose real name was Mulla Shukrulla, came from 

Shiraz to Surat and joined the staff of Abdur Rahim Khan Khanan at 

Burhampur. On Shah Jahan’s accession he received the post of Mir Saman. 

In the second year of the reign he was promoted to the office of Vazier. He 

died in 1639, at the age of 70. He possessed an acute mind and a keen 

intellect and was known for his clear thinking. He looks old, scholarly and 

wise in the picture. His thin closed lips indicate a determined nature and 

great tenacity of purpose. 

33. Miran Saiyed^ Khan Jahan’s^^ unswerving devotion to the cause of 

Shah Jahan during the last years of Jahangir’s reign won him the prince’s 

regards and confidence. He died of paralysis in 1645. 

34. Karan Bhurthiha^^ received the title of Rao and the territory of 

Bikaner on his father’s death in the 4th year of Shah Jahan’s reign. One may 

perhaps gather from his portrait that he was inclined to be wayward and flippant. 

40 M. u., I, 174-180. L. I. A. 186, 294, 295, 318, 394-95, 424, 444; I. B. 102. 
41 A and B., 79-80. 

42 For an account o{ his career see M. U., I, 247-31. 
48 M. U.. II. 441-42. L. I. A. 181. 200, 433. 

44 M. U., II, 670-75. L. I’ A. 181, 300, 476-77; I. B. 267, 269. 

43 M.U„ I. 143-51 L. I. A. 176-77, 229, 237-58; II, 131-32. 
46 M. U. I, 738-66. L. I. A. 334; ll, 473, 

47 M. U., 11. 287-89. 
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35. Anerai*® served in the royal household towards the eloee of Akbar's 
reign and for some time in Jahangir’s reign. His sharp ifeatures make ao 

excellent profile. He looks determined and brave. 
36. The name*® is not legible, but it may be read as Jan Sipar Khan,®® 

who had the title of Jan Baz Khan in the reign of Jahangir. He was a faujdar 

of Mandsor for a considerable time in Shah Jahan’s reign. He died in 1645. 

37. Mir Jumla®* came from Isfahan to the Deccan where he entered the 
service of Muhammad Quli Qulb Shah. Shah Jaban appointed him as Mir Saman 

and later as Mir Bakhshi. He died in 1637. His small chin, short neck, 
protruding lips and short stout figure do not warrant a gainly appearance. It is 
not at all surprising that people found in him a difficult person to coc^rate with. 

Arnold®® identifies the portrait with another Mir Jumla, who joined Shah Jaban’s 
court towards the close of his reign. It is strange that he should do so, since oo 
his own admission®* the picture represents ‘an early durbar of Shah Jahan’s reign’. 

38. The name is not perfectly legible. It can be read as Amanat Khan.®* 
If it is so, it may refer to Abdul Huq, a brother of Afzal Khan (No. 32), who 
received the title of Amanat Khan on June 19th, 1632. He was one of the 

finest calligraphists in the Naskh style and was commissioned to write some 
inscriptions for the main building in the Taj Mahal. He died in the 8th year 
of the reign. Arnold®® reads the name as Amir Khan, which is improbable. It 
is, however, difficult to believe that Amanat Khan, who received the title in 1632, 
should be in the picture which is believed to be dated 1628. 

39. Riza Bahadur,®® also known by his title Khidmat Parast Khan, was 

one of the most tr usted servants of Shah Jahan. He was killed on a battl^eld 
on October ISth, 1629, while he was fighting bravely against Khan Jahan Lodi. 

Short and doughty, he stands appropriately at the entrance to the audience hall, 
with his hands resting on a staff. He wears a small, thin Mongoloid type of 
beard and a plumed jewel in his turban. His eyes and his face show his 

contempt of danger. 

40. Saif Khan®^ married the elder sister of Mumtaz Mahal. He died in 
1640. He was astute, cunning and self-seeking and he does not lode a plain 

honest man in the picture either. 

48 M. U., II, S20-23. L. I. A. 493-93. 
49 I doubt i( it can be read as Khan Saman, which is the version given by Arnold. A. and B. 81. 

90 M. U.. I, 330. L. I. A. 278. 
31 M. U., Ill, 413-17. L. I. A. 181, 226, 338, 453. 
92 A and B. 81. 
9) Ibid. 73-74. 
94 L. I. A. 4*8-29, 339; I. B. 313; II, 8, 132-33, 737. 
99 A and B. 81. 
96 L. 1, A. 77, 79, ll8, 133, 377-78; I. B. 300. 

«7 M. U.. II. 416-21. L. I. A. 76-78, 136, 177, 238, 426; I. B. 103. 
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' ! 4lv Aij[verdi-Khan^S was the title given to. Motaqid Khan by .Shah Jahan 

on his accession. - He served with the Deccan army on several occasions. ;{le 

held the post of Qarawal Baigi and later the governorship of Malwa and of 

'Khandesb. He has the fresh, keen, smiling face of a true sportsman. 
• ^ 42, Mekramat-Khan^^^ was the title given to Mulla Murshid of Shiraa by 

Shah'Jahan on his accession. He received also the post of a Diwan Bayutat. 

Later he held the governorship of Delhi and supervised the building of the new 
Oityof Shahjabanbad, the fort and the palaces. He looks an honest, sincere 

<and bardworkingt man. 

43. Motaqid Khan®® served Shah Jahan loyally during |his princehood. 

•tn-his reign he held the. governorship of Orissa for a considerable time. He 

can hardly claim to possess a handsome face or fine eyes, but he appears to be 

■a thorbughly reliable man. 
•44. Mukhlis Khan** served as a faujdar of Jaunpur and later as a governor 

'6f Telingana. He died in the 10th year of Shah Jahan’s reign. He served the 

'empire loyally, though he did not live long to attain a high post. He does not 

seem to have possessed robust health, for he looks tired and sickly. 

■ *' 58 L. I. 181-82, 253, 275. 310, 319, 425. 538; 1. B. 40, 41, 60 63. 97. 146; 11, 720- 
, 60 L.. I, A. 191, 460; 11, 244, 320. 

I . [ 60 ■ L, I. A, 79. 122-23, 430-31; H, 473 

: $1 L. I. A. 181, 228; I, B, 14. 119, 298. 

AbbreviatiotiB 

A & B—The Court Painters of The Grand Mughals 

. By 

Laurence Biqyon with Historical Introduction and Notes 

’By 

T. W. Arnold. 1921. 

"A/S.—A'MALrI-SALIH By I Muhammad Salih Kambo (Bibliotheca 
liidica edition.) 

L. —THE BADSHAH NAMAH By Abdul Hamid Lahauri. (Bibliotheca 
Indica edition). 

‘M. A.—MA*ASIR-I-ALAMGIRI By Muhammad Saqi Mustaid Khan 
(Bibliotheca Indica edition.) 

M. U. THE MA’ASIR-UL-UMARA By Nawab Samsam>ud>Daula Shah 

Nawaz Khan. (Bibliotheca Indica edition.) 

W.~”PADSHA NAMAH By Muhammad Waris (British Museum MS, 
Add. 6556.) 



lEfTBRS EXCMAHGBD BETWEEN EMPEROR AURANGZEB AND HIS SON 

LETTERS EXCHANGEP BETWEEN EMPEROR AURANGZEB , 

AND HIS SON PRINCE MOHAMMAD AKBAR. 

Pandit Bitheshwar Nath ReUtOSahityacharya, Jodhpur 

After the death of Maharaja Jaswant Singh I, at Jamrud, in 1678 A'.' Di, 

the Emperor Aurangzeb annexed Marwar and the Rathor pobles were*! obliged 
to keep their newly born ruler, Maharaja Ajitsingh, concealed in the' mountain^ 
and raise the banner of war against the oppressor. When the pressure of these 
Ratbors grew intolerable the Emperor himself reached Ajmer and sent his sop 
Prince Mohammad Akbar to quell the rebellion. But soon Durgada^i Sonag 
and other chiefs of Rathor nobility prepared Akbar to usurp the throne of Delhi, 
like his own father, and proclaim himself the Emperor of India on the 3rd 
January 1681 A. D. 

It was a great shock to the Emperor, as at that time he wascamping 
with a very small army and so iie tried to deceive his son by sending him the 

following letter. 

Translation of the letter 

“Dearest son, light of the eyes and dearer than life being blessed with 

special favours should know—Almighty knows well that we loved him better thap 

ail bis other brothers. Our benevolent self bad always kept his health, w^ltb, 

prosperity and comfort at heart. But due to his unwortbiness he has fallen 

into the trap of the deceitful Rajputs and being driven away, like Adam from 
the lap of his mother and the side of his father, is now wandering in the forests 

and mountains of misery and is contemplating to execute malicious plans 

and conspiracies. - 

Learning the mournful news of his roaming about ’ in wilderness and 

discomfort, we are greatly pained and have lost the charm of our own pleasures'. 

Fie I it is a great pity that leaving aside the regal dignity, that shnple and 

inexperienced boy neither took pity on his own self nor his wife and children 

and has given himself over to beastly and cruel Rajputs and is rolling here and 

thnre like a ball fallen into the hands of rude people. 

Father has a natural love for his sons. Though this son has committed 

great faults, yet we do not want'that he be treated according to bis deserts. 

“If the son is a heap of ashes yet he is the collyrium of bis parents' eyes’’^ 

Done is done. But even now, if on showing him the right path, he repents 

for his i^isdeeds and returns in our service the pen of pardon will be struck 

1 The luttw .givao in inyerted commu in both the iettara r«>prodaced here is in ooupleU 

is the original Intton. 
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through the records of his faults and those gifts and favours, which he could not 
havte even dreemt before, will be besto#ed on him. 

Though for the bestowal of those favours his presence in person is not 

essential, yet his evil reputation is now widely known and every young and old 

has heard about his follies, it is necessary that once he should present himself 

in the ooort and efEace this black spot from his forehead. 

How Jaswant, the leader of these Rathors,Xbehaved with Darashikoh and 

how fat he helped him is so well known that it requires no repetition. That 
son who has built castles in air on the promises of these Rathors will reap 

nothing else but repentence. 
He should bear all this well in mind and may wisdom and light guide him". 

Prince Moharnmnd Akbar’s reply to his father 

“Mohammad Akbar, the youngest son, humbly informs his father, who is 

fevered in both this world and the next that the mandate, which was addressed 
to the youngest son for the special purpose, was received in good time and on 
auspicious occasion. After humble submission its ink has been anointed in the 
eyes of wisdom as collyriuiu and by knowing its favourable purpose eyes of the 

heart were enlightened. 

In reply to each and every instruction, inscribed by the paternal pen, a 

few words are written which are true and if judged impartially, will be found 
not far from justice. 

You have written that you bad loved him (the youngest son) more than 

all the other sons, but bis own unworthiness ignored this great generosity and 
has thrown himself in the whirlpool of folly. 

Emperor of spiritual and temporal world—may he be safe, as the duty 

of a son is to serve and please his father, likewise the duty of a father is to 
bring op, educate and guard the health and life of his son. Praise be to God, 

op till now I have left no^tone unturned in service and obedience, but how can 

I enumerate the favours of your Majesty. As one from a thousand or as if a 
drop from the ocean it is brought to the notice that to help and side with the 

youngest son is the foremost duty of a revered father always and everywhere, 

but your Majesty, leaving aside the love of all the other sons, have bestowed 

the title of **Sbah*’ upon the eldest son and declared him the heir-apparent. 
How this action can be justified ? 

Every son has got equal right in bis father’s property. Which religion 

permits (rf preference of one over the others? Tliere is another true and 

omniscient Emperor, in whose workshop of power and wisdom there is no 

pboe for false logic. To derate or dtg^rSde rests upon His will,, which is not 
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devoid of prudence. But what to speak of your Majesty’s religious mindedness, 

justice and wisdom, which are an open book to all. 

‘Let us see whom the beloved Almighty loves and favours.’ 

Your Majesty is the originator and preceptor of this path. How can 

this path which has been chosen by your Majesty be called wrong ? 

‘When my father sold the garden of paradise for 2 grains of wheat,* 
shall I not be called unworthy of him if I do not sell it for a grain of barley’. 

‘Worthy son is he who follows in the footsteps of his Sire’. 
If one wants to prosper like his father he should learn to act like him.^ 

Your Majesty! man has always faced difficulties and dangers. Mighty 

Monarchs like Taimur^ and Akbar^ had gained their objectives after surmounting 

numerous difficulties. 

‘He who is not prepared to face difficulties will never gain any pleasure.' 

It is proved by history-that he who bears no hardship of darkness cannot 

qualify himself to taste nectar and he who faces no troubles cannot taste 
the fruits of pleasure, as there is no flower without thorn and no treasure 

without serpent. 

He who kisses the blade of sword embraces the goddess of the kingly 

fortune'. 

When every hardship is followed by prosperity, by the grace of Almighty, 

there is every hope that in a few days the fulfilment of desires will be within 

sight and the state of perplexity and wandering may change into success 

and pleasure. 

Your Majesty hints—that to what extent Jaswant, the leader of the Rathors, 
helped Darashikob is well known and that the promises and words of the 

Rathor elan are not to be relied upon, may be quite correct. But your Majesty 

has not reached the depth of the facts, because your Majesty hasr no brains. In 

fact, Darashikob bad a dislike for this clan and therefore he met just what 

he deserved. 

2 According to Mohammedan belief God created Adam and kept him in paradise 

instructing him not to eat the fruit of knowedge (wheat). But Adam disobeyed His command. 

Being displeased God hurled him down in this mortal world. 
The well known Persian poet Hafiz of Shiriz has composed a poem expressing the idea-^if I 

shall not do something more than what my father has done 1 shall be called an unworthy son. 

Prince Akbar has quoted this couplet in his letter here declaring " When my father has done such 
things, either I must do something more or give myself up to be called an unworthy son”. 

3 This is from Sheikh Sadi of Shirax, the well known Persian poet. 

4 The word 'Sahib yiran' used for Taimur here means—-the Lord of happy conjunction of 

stars or a fortunate and invincible hero. 

The word 'Arsha Ashiyani’ used for femperof Akbar here means nestling at the foot of 

the divine throne. 
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Had he.b^ friebdly vidth the^ people from the very beginning he would 

not have been reduced to such ah extremity. ; . 

* Emperor Akbar-r-peace be on him* strengthening the ties of alliance with 
them, conquered the. whole of India and on their strength made his empire firm. 

This is the very race with whose help Mahabatkhan obtained control over the 
Emperor Jahangir. The bravery of • Rajputs cannot bq easily forgotten, as 

only three, hundred of them performed great deeds of valour, like Rustum, 
befitting their tradition, even when your Majesty himself was adorning the 

crown and throne at the capital.^ Jaswant was the same who had disgraced 
your Majesty more than once even in your campaigns against enemies and your 

Mkjesty seeing no way of avenging the insults deliberately overlooked the 
matter. That was the Jaswant, same whom your Majesty kept away by various 
promises and pretexts from joining Darashikob and that was the very cause of 

your victory, over your brother. 

Praise be to their loyalty who sacrifice their heads for their prince and 

eV(^ do not hesitate to put their lives at stake. 
... ' • ' ' 

O Emperor of India I many princes and nobles are in search of Seva^ 
since the last 3 years, yet it is only first day for them. All this does not cause 

surprise because ministers are helpess, nobles untrukworthy, soldiers inefficient, 
clerks worthless, merchants paupers and the people down>trodden. The Deccan, 

•aland like heaven, has become deserted and'abandoned as a forest and a 

mountain. Burhanpur—the abode of pleasure, which is like a mole on the cheek 

of the earth, gives a spoiled and deserted appearence. Aurangabad which bears 

your Majesty’s name and hence is an important city among others, shivers like 
, quick*silver by the massacres and plunders of the enemy’s - forces. The 
administrators enjoy at home and the people are at the mercy of the .enetpy.^ 

Where sodi atrocities prevail, there is no wonder if the inhabitants of the place 
.find themselves unable to praise and bless their iking. High persons of old 
nobility and.respected people live in obscurity, while the work of administration 

and the strings of advis<)rs are in the hands of low born and wicked persons. 

Cotton cleaners, weavers, soap-sellers and sweepers wield power. 

Persons dressed in loose garments, to hide their treachery and deceit, hold 

the net of the Satan in the shape of a rosary ^nd preach religion. While your 
Majesty considering them friends, advisors and ministers, like Gibrael,^ MichaeP^ 
and Israfil,^^ have defeated your powers in their hands. 

._ . ^ The three hundred Rajputs carried away their inlaot prince Ajitsingh to Marwar against 
the wifthee of the Emperbr. . -c ^ 

known knight Shlvaji, who died on 5th April 1680 but probably the writer 
here might have meant Sambha his son and suoceseor. r ^ 

e Marhatta army. 
— 9 GabHel’^^-aii angel of God.. .. 

10 Michael*—another angel. 
11 Israfil^The angel of death, who is to blow the last trumpet. 
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Those knaves, who show"wheat but sell barley, getting opportunity declare 
a feather of a pigeon as that of a red duck and a straw a mountain. 

‘In the reign of king Alamgir, the champion of the faith, soap-sellers hav^ 
become law givers and religious heads.’ 

‘Carders and weavers take pride in knowing the secrets of the Emperor’s 

courts,’ 

‘Rogues wield such powers that scholars wait at their doors.‘ 

‘Fools excercise such great authority as was never dreamt of by the wise.’ 

‘God forbid, in these unsettled times horses are kicked by asses.’ 

Your Majesty’s orders are thrown to the winds, justice and wisdom have 

disappeared. The officials of the kingdom have become merchants and traders. 
They buy positions with money and sell them to fulfil their base desires. 

He who eats salt breaks the salt-cellar. The time is not far away when 

the' foundation of the kingdom may collapse. 

When such conditions exist and there seems no hope of change in your 

Majesty’s policy, the kingly duties force me to clear the country of Hindustan 

by removing rubbish and thorns spread in the shape of rogues and oppressors 
and to uproot lawlessness by promoting the wise and learned. By doing 

the creation of God, after being free from anxiety and oppression, engage 

themselves calmly in their own pursuits and the fame which is real and eternal 

may ever last in the world. 

How good it would be, if your Majesty develops the desire of leaving this 

work in the hands of your youngest son and yourself start on a holy pilgrimage 
of Mecca and Madina to gain eternal bliss and make the world ever grateful 

and thankful. 

Your Majesty has lost a greater part of your life in coveting the worldly 

objects, which are more unreal than dreams and more unsteady than the 

shadows of the clouds. Now the time has come when you should do some 
thing for the next world in order to atone for the past sins, which were 

perpetrated in your prime of life, to satisfy the greed of worldly desires, by your 

outrageous conduct towards your revered father and noble brothers. 

‘These sixty years are wasted in sleep. Yet try to make a better use of 

the rest’. 

Beside^ this the trouble taken by the paternal pen in thrusting some more 

advices, deserves admiration. 

‘What good have you done to your father which you expect from your son. 

.‘You tender advice to others, but better try to hear yourself first whatever 

you have to Riy to others*. 
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’When you cannot cure yourself keep away from advising others'. 

*I regard it a stroke of good fortune that you advise me to return to you. 

But the memory of treatment meted out to your father and brothers, since 

early days of your youth, creates a just fear and suspicion in the mind of one, 
who has becmne target of anger without sufficient cause and that fear and 

suspicion is not groundless. But if your gracious Majesty take the trouble to 

come here this fear and suspicion will be dispelled and peace and pleasure reign 

in their place. 

'We are unable to reach that elevated door, but if kindly grace steps 

forward it will be more appropriate. 

On your Majesty’s arrival when the mind will be appeased hearty 

obedience to the kindly commands will be deemed a good fortune. 
In this unknown State. 

'Kill or grant pardon my head lies at your door I am not to give 

commands, but am at your mercy ! 
With greatest respects. May the sun of kingship ever shine.’ 

A good deal of information is gained from these letters about the conditions 

prevailing at that time and the causes of the rise and fall of the Mughal 
Empire. 

AN EIGHTEENTH CENTURY PASSPORT 

T. L. Manfhirmalani, Professor of History* Prince of Wales College, 

Jammu. 
t 

An Eighteenth Century Passport— 

It is in favour of Mirza Moman Khan. He was a Mogul and his ancestors 
accompanied Shah Jeban’s son, Murad, to Gujerat. He himself served for 

some years at Khambat (Kathiawar) as one of the deputies of the Mogul 
Governor of Gujerat, but being ambitious revolted against a weak successor of 
Anrangzeb, and with the assistance of Jafar Khan, another Mogul, made 

Khambat independent of Delhi. After the death of Jafar Khan, he quarrelled 

with his heir, Nizam Khan, and was forced to migrate to Delhi. He was there 

when Nadir Shah sacked the Imperial city (1739), but conditions in the capital 

after that disaster became very unstable and the Mirza was again in search of a 
mew home. He travelled through the Punjab and came to Sind when it^ was 

ruled by Mian Nur Muhammad (1718«59). He showed his paa^>orttQ.^ 
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Kalhora Prince, who recognized his noble descent by giving him Jagirs and lands 

and by^appointing him to a high position in his court. 

Sindis say that Nadir Shah returned from India to Iran by way of Sind 

and Baluchistan and they tell two stories about his I life in their country. The 

Padshah’s first camp in Sind was in Larkana, a very wet district. When night 

came he could not sleep on account of the troublesome noise that the frogs 

in the water made and he ordered his Wazir to stop the nuisance. The 

minister was a wise man—he got goats killed, had their intestines and 

oesophaguses filled with air, and threw them into the pools. The frogs, 

mistaking them for snakes and serpants were at once quiet. 

In the morning the Sultan asked Nur Muhmad’s agent at Larkana where 

his master was. ‘*At Umarkot, Sir” was the humble reply. “How far is it 

from here” the Shah commanded. “A hundred miles, my Lord” submitted the 

servant. “Not much, so we will go to Umarkot to meet your Prince” ordered 

the Padshah. In the evening he rode his horse and, accompanied by the agent, 

made for Umarkot, instructing his minister to follow him with the army. 

When 100 miles was run, the horse stopped, neighed and urinated. “Where 

is Umarkot, the horse tells me the 100 miles is finished” roared the Shah. 

“We have reached the place, O Lord of the Lords. Your slave can spy the 

fort of Umarkot,” said the agent with folded hands. He then ran to his 

master, who rushed out of his palace bare-headed and bare-footed and threw 

himself on the feet of the Irani. Nadir Shah confirmed him in his honours 

and took a crore of rupees in cash and jewellery as his honours. 

Nadir’s conquest of Baluchistan was equally easy: his famous message 

to its chief was enough to secure the result. 

Where did Nadir Shah sign Moman Khan’s passport, in the Punjab or 

Sind ? The year of his seal is indistinct. 

After the death of Nur Muhmad there were dissensions in the Kalhora 

family and a Biluchi tribe, the Talpurs, seized the throne. Moman Khan had 

regretted the evil fate of the Kalhoras, but he had died before their final collapse. 

His sons were disliked by the new rulers and lost all their jagirs. Their 

descendants now live at New Hala, Haiderabad District, in possession of lands 

hardly enough to give them a decent living. 

What is the passport like ? It is a leather leaf, one side of it beautifully 

ornamented, with the name of Moman Khan (erased by a descendant when the 

family broke into 2 rival parties) inscribed in the centre, and the other covered 

with seals and endorsements. 1 cannot read all the contents, but what I 

and 1 have been able to read most of them..*! give below, 

46 

can»•» 
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In a very prominent way there is affixed the seal of Nadir Sultan and the 

endorsement under it reads 

.^ Lfy^ 
The seals of Shah Alamgir and Shah Alam Padshah are also distinct and 

the endorsements are:— 

Alamgir (Aurangzeb) died 1118 H. 

£Xdui f r 

S*ss3^ .ty*aBu« 

Shah Alam (Bahadur Shah) died 1st Moharrum 1124 H, but the 

successor's reign began some time after his death and this probably accounts 
for the use of Shah Alam’s seal even after he had ceased to be. 

There are 3 broken seals reading respectively 

and 

Is the last one of the Syed King—Makers of the reign of Farrukh-Siyar 

(1713-19) ? An endorsement which goes with one of the seals is 

One seal is almost destroyed and there is one whole seal and one 
slightly broken seal which cannot be interpreted. 

The other endorsements are 

2 r I >u 1*^ jiij 

,34flcw« (^1 

3 ri M 

, 

.W 
4 ...... 

.»*»<*> (>/ i:)Wj 
mV Aw 

5 V Aw /• 
6 yu» ir 

. 
7 16 Aw f 

8 V Aw.........,jai) r 
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i^A 

n tu jfH j* 

<>{•)( 

Is this Abdulla Khan the other King*Maker of the time of Farrukh-Siyar ? 
The card is broken in places. 

How was the card used ? The several seals and endorsements on it 
guaranteed that the owner was a safe person and that as such he could go 

from one part of India to another undisturbed. An insult to him was an insult 

to his card, to be avenged with all their might and force by those responsible 

for it. 

The card is the property of Mirza Gulam Mehdi, a member of a highly 
respectable family at Tando Thoro, Haiderabad Sind. His great grand-father 

married a grand-daughter of Mirza Moman Khan andithis connection is a factor 
to be seriously considered when the authenticity of I the document is questioned. 
I am grateful to the Mirza Sahib for his permission to use the card. 

AQA RIZA MUSAWWAR 

{mentioned in the Inscription on the Gateway of Khusru Bagh, Allahabad). 

Dr. Abdulla Chaghtai 

In his great work A'lam Arai A'bbasi, Iskandar Munshi, the court historian 

of Shah A’bbas (1581-1628), furnishes us with chapters on Calligraphists, 
Miniaturists, and Musicians of his time. In the chapters on Miniaturists he 

writes— 
‘‘Moulana A'li Asghar of Kashan an incomparable master and an 

accomplished painter, as an artist and colourist, he was unique and surpassed his 

contemporaries in drawings of streets and trees, he also took service with Sultan 

Ibrahim Mirza and in the time of Isma’il Mirza was on the staff of the Library. 
His son Aqa Riza became the marvel of the age in the art of painting and 
unequalled in those days. In spite of the delicacy of his touch, he was so 
uncultured that he constantly engaged in athletic practices, and wrestling, and 

became infatuated with such habits. He avoided the society of' men of talents 
and gave himself up to the association with such low persons. At present time 
he is a little repented of such idle frivolity, but pays very little attention to his 

Wt, »nd like Sadiq Beg he has become ill-tempered, peevish and unsocial. In the 
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service of his present Majesty, the shadow of Grod, he has been the recipient of 

favours and considerations, but on account of his evil ways, he has not taken 
warning and consequently he is always poor and in distress”. ^ 

It was Mr. Percy Brown who first of all put the problem in his work The 

Painting under the Great Mughals^ in the light of Emperor Jahangir’s Memoirs 
regarding Aqa Riza, and claimed that Aqa Riza Abbasi, the painter of the latter 

days (d. 1044 A H) were different persons and it was the chance for Arnold to 

change his original opinion ; ‘‘Aqa Riza and Riza Abbasi were one and the same 
person.”® Because he insisted upon his same view in his Islamic Book.^ 

From Jahangir’s Memoirs we read that Aqa Riza had come to India and 

entered his service : 

“On this day Abul Hasan the painter, who has been honoured with the 

title of Nadir-uz-Zaman drew the picture of my accession as the frontispiece to 
the Jahangir Nama and brought it to me. As it was worthy of all praise, he 

received endless favours. His work was perfect and his picture is one of the 

chiefs dcures of the age. At present time he has no rival or equal. If at this 
day the Master Abdul Haye and Behzad were alive they would have done 

him justice. His father Aqa Riza of Herat at the time when I was prince joined 

my service. He (Abdul Hasan) was a Khanazad of my court. There is, 
however, no comparison between his work and that of his father {i, e. he is far 
better than his father). One ^cannot put them into the same category. My 
connection was based on my having reared him from his earliest years to the 

present time. I have always looked after him, till his art has arrived at this 

rank. Truly he has become a Nadir-uz-Zaman (the wonder of the age). Also 

Ustad Mansur has become such a master in painting that he has the title of 

Nadir-uUAsr and in the art of drawing he is unique in his generation.”® 

From I the A'lam Arai A'bbasi and Jahangir’s Memoirs we have the 
geneology of this grea^ artist : Ali Asghar...Aqa Riza...Abul Hasan. A‘li 
Asghar the father of A^a Riza served under Sultan Ibrahim the brother of 

Sultan Isma’il Safwi II (1577). When the latter ascended the throne of Persia 
A’li Asghar entered his service and ranked with the seniors such as Aqa Mirak, 

Sultan Muhammad, Muhammadi, etc. etc. It is easy, therefore, to infer that 

Aqa Riza was of an advanced age when he entered India. I am fully aware 
that Iskandar Munshi does not mention the fact of Aqa Riza having been in 
India, but such an omission carries no weight. Many facts, now known to have 

happened, have often been omitted by ..the Oriental historians. For instance, we 

know that Jahangir sent his court painter Bishandas to Persia in the company 

1. Catalogue of the Persian MSS. Bibliotheque Nationale Paris, Suppl. 1348. Pol. 133a, 
2. Brown, Percy, Indian Painting under ih9 iiughaU 1924, London, pp, 65*82, 
3-4. Arnold, Thomas, Islamic, Book, p. 82-3, 1929 

3. Jahaagir^i Memoirs, English Translation Vol. II p. 20, 
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pf Khan-i-AIam® But we do not find the mention of this fact by the Persian 

writers of that day. 

I have discovered on the main gateway of the Khusru Bagh^ the following 

inscription in perfect Nasta’liq style:— 

^Sjx) 15| 

which clearly shows that the building was erected under the supervision of Aqa 

Riza Musawwar (painter), by the orders of Jahangir; while the inscriptions of 

the monument were inscribed by the great calligraphist Abdulla Mushqin Qalam. 

This clear declaration is an ample proof that Aqa Riza was a painter and not 

a calligraphist, for had he been a calligraphist, he and not Abdulla Mushqin 

Qalam^ would have written out the inscriptions. 

The best specimens of his work were first reproduced by Marteau-Vever 

in their Miniature Persan,^ The British Museum has an illustrated MS. of 

Anwar-i-Suhayli, the best specimen of the early days of Jahangir’s reign although 

it has some signed and dated paintings of the last years of Akbar's reign 

specially those which fortunately bear the name of Aqa Riza. The colophon of 

the MS. bears the date 1019 A. H. (1616 A. D.). These with a little variations of 

his name and his signatures are fonnd^ th^re and with the apf^elation Murid or 

Murid-i- Padshahu Recently Monsieur Godard has reproduced one of his 

important works in Athar e-Eran^^ from the Imperial Collection of the Iran 

Government which by chance bears his signature on the margin in four lines:— 

I ♦♦A 13|—xlw 

Shah Salim,...Servant with sincerity....Aqa Riza Musawwar,.«.in the month of 

Ramzan 1008 A. H. (1599 A. D.). Mr. Godard is mistaken in taking the 

portrayed presonality with a bear in the robes of a saint as Emperor Jahangir 

instead of the most famous saint Salim Chishti who lies buried in the court 

yard of the grand mosque of Fatehpur Sikri. 

From the version of A'hm Arai A'bbasi and Memoirs of Jahangir we can 

easily conclude that the word Aqa was a part of his name and not a title, which 

could have been otherwise stated there as we find about his son Abul Hasan, 

who received the title of Nadir-uz-Zaman, 

6. TUMuk-i’Jahangiri, Aligarh Edition p. 285. 

7. Khusru was the eldest son of Jahangir from Shah Begam who was the daughter of Raja 

Bhagwan Das. She died in 1012 A. H. The building known as Khusru Bagh was built by Jahangir under 

the supervision of Aqa Riza where Khusru himself was later on buried in 1021 A. H. Mr. Beveridge 
wrote notes on this garden with the transcription of the inscriptions found there and by chance that 
of the gateway escaped from his notice, vid^ Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, 1907, 1908, 1909. 

8. Marteau-Vever, Miniaiur$» Panama 1913, PI. 17. 

9. British Museum Catalogue of Persian MSS. A4d, 1^679. 

10, -• JDfttn,;pvia 1930. 
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USTAD ISA THE SO-CALLED ARCHITECT OF THE TAJ 

Dr. Abdullah Chaghtai 

Before I would say something about Isa the so-called architect of the 

Taj Mahal, Agra, I must say a few words about the source which actually bears 
his name and later on became the cause of a great confusion. In 1825*6 many 

manuscripts were ^prepared by the students of the Agra College in compliance 

with an advertisement of Mr. J. S. Lushington then magistrate and Collector 
of Agra.^ These MSS. bear a long list of architects, artizans etc. who are 

supposed to have been employed on the construction ol the Taj Mahal by Shah 
Jahan, although the contemporary official records are silent on this particular 
point. I have fully discussed these MSS. in my work on the Taj. There is 

one of these MSS. in the British Museum which was translated into English 

by Col. Anderson® in 1873 who translated its first proper name Isa the architect- 
in*cbief as Christian instead of letting it remain as original Isa as he let 

remain other proper names of the list. To-day almost every library of India 

and abroad contains these MSS. The same Ustad Isa is mentioned in them 
thus—Muhammad Isa Effendi; Isa a native of Akbarabad ; Isa a native of 

Qandhar; Muhammad Isa,a native of Constantinople ; Muhammad Isa a native 

of Persia,; of China, etc. etc. 

I came across a Guide to the Taj at Agra in English which was translated 

from one of such MSS. prepared by the students of Agra College. It was printed 

at the Victoria Press, Lahore, by one Azeezooddeen and passed through certain 
editions 1854 and 1869. In this book it is stated that the plans were demanded 

by the Emperor from the experts of every kind and description for the 

construction of the famous mausoleum and laid before the Emperor, who after 

much thought and study selected the one presented to him by Isa Muhammad 

Effendi, a celebrated architect, who was sent by His Highness, the Sooltan of 
Room—Turkey and he was engaged at a salary of one thousand rupees a month. 

The golden cupola o^ the mausoleum became broken by a violent storm before it 

was finished and Muhammad Sharif son of Isa undertook the repair and he 

received five hundred rupees a month. 

It is a fact that so far no Indian historical record or any epigraphical 

evidence favours us with the information that there was any Ustad Isa, an 

architect in India who would have had participated in any construction of any 

period, with the exception that we have only one foreign information that there 
was one Turkish architect whose name was Muhammad Isa and he was the 
pupil of the great Turkish MPtndr Sinan (d. 958 A. H. A. D. 1551) about 

whom Muhammad Suruyya has mentioned in his encyclopediac work the Sijjitti 

Uthmani under the heading of the same Mi'mar SinSn, that Isa went to India 
n Catalogue of Persian MSS. Briticti MaMnm, Qr 6538.^. 
a. Caleotta Review 57 vota«e, pp. 233-7 1873, 
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and became very famous for his super-excellence in architecture. On the other 
hand a recent Turkish writer on art has mentioned that Babur had brought to 

India two architects Isa and Yusuf with him,® although their mention is not 

found in Babur’s Memoirs. If we believe for the time being the information (found 
in the Turkish records quoted here then we shall have to say that the Turkish Isa, 
the pupil of Sinan, was about a century earlier than that referred to conjecturally 

as a Christian during the days of Shah Jahan. 

From the above account we come to the conclusion that there is a great 
controversy about the origin of Ustad Isa and whether he actually existed or not. 

Yet one idea catches our attention that someone has been encouraged by this 
ambiguity to call Isa of the Armenian stock, basing his argument on the same 

theory that Isa means Christian. He says: “Ustad Isa the master builder, 

who is said to have been a Persian. There seems to be some doubt about the 
nationality of Ustad Isa and it does not appear to be that he was a Persian, for 

a Persian, who is an orthodox Muhammadan, would never have borne name 

Isa which means Jesus.’’* This allegation of the critic cannot for a single 
moment be substantiated on very sound reasons and rather it reflects the sheer 
lack of the knowledge of the Muslim ^History on the part of the critic and 

one b^ins to laugh at his childish remark. It must be borne in mind that the 
Musalmans equally honour all the prophets whether of the Old Testament or 

New Testament and they usually give names to their children after these 

prophets’ names, such as—^Jesus, Moses, Solomon, David, etc. etc. I think 
it will be quite sufficient to say that there are six most authentic compilations 
of the Traditions of prophet Muhammad which have been compiled by six 
different authorities within two centuries after the death of the prophet and by 
chance one of them is called Jami Tirmizi which was compiled by Abu Isa 

Muhammad bin Isa of Tirmiz (a city in Persia). In India one of the great 

generals of Sher Shah Suri’s name was Isa Khan. A compendious list, of such 
chief personalities who had their names Isa, can easily be prepared, of whom 

Islam still boasts of. One writer in response to it said that Isa’s name was found 
in the contemporary histories of Shah Jahan, which is also without foundation.® 

If the translator of the above MS. has ironically or purposely translated 

the name Isa as Christian, it also leads us to believe that it is a clear distortion 

of the fact. On the other hand if the compilers of the MSS. of the Agra College 
have really coined the word Isa with the intention that it must bring about a 

confusion then there is another proof to believe that the MSS. manufactured at 

Agra were absolutely of no historical value. Therefore at the end I must conclude 

from all the facts mentioned above that Ustad Isa is really a myth and it has no 

connection as far as the construction of the Taj and its design are concerned. 
3. C«lal Bsat, TwITBaiCati 1928. p. 23. Istanbul. 
4. The Statesman Daily, Calcutta 17th Hovember 1929. 
3. The Slateimu Daily, Calcutta. 1st December 1939. 
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SHER SHAH-~HIS ACCESSION AND HIS CORONATION 

Rama Shanker Avaathy, M. A., Reaearch Scholar* Hiatory 

Department* Univeraity of Allahabad. 

The history of Sher Khan’s ascent to power is an epic by itself atonce 
interesting as well as instructive. Its chief distinguishing feature lies principally 

in two things. Firstly Sher Khan was a man of humble origin without claims 
to any heriditary or public prestige.^ He came to the helm of affairs at a time 

when the Chaghtai Revolution of 1526 A. D. had been accomplished and the 
Afghan cause had recoiled and receded beyond all hopes of regeneration. 

Sher Khan was the one man among the Afghans who clearly saw that the 
Afghan nationalism was threatened by internal dessensions and an external 

peril. A discussion of how he reunited the Afghans and revitalized the fossilized 
Afghan power may better be avoided for considerations of space. For the 

present we shall content ourselves by making an attempt to investigate the date 
of Sher Khans coronation. 

Modern scholars have arrived at different conclusions about the actual 
date and place of Sher Khan’s coronation. In their monumental works on 

Muslim history Edward Thomas and Dr. Vincent Smith have opined that Sher 
Khan assumed the title of Shah in 945 H. before Chausa.^ Dr. Qanungo in his 
learned monograph on ‘Sher Shah’, however, disagrees with the above view, 
and is inclined to think that ‘the coronation took place at Gaur in 946 

Only a year back Mr. N. K. Bhattasali, in his learned contribution to Journal of 

Islamic Culture reviewed the whole position in the light of fresh numismatic 

data. He is inclined to think that ‘the coronation and minting of coins by Sher 
Shah have to be placed ^bout the middle of Safar.945 H,’^ 

While studying at the Khudabakhsh Oriental Public Library, Bankipur, 

I came across a manuscript copy of Jannat*ul*Firdaus. In the list of the Muslim 

1 Abdulla, the author of TarikhM«Daudi (Bankipur MS. 39.) says that Bahlol Lodi 

bequeathed the following death will to this successer :— 

Consequently we do not find either any Sur Grandee of special significance or any orgainsed 
class of Sur nobility under the Lodis. 

2 Thomas, Chronicles of Pathan Kings, 393; Smith, Oxford History of India, 326» 
3 K. R. Qanungo, Sher Shah, 208. 

4 Islamic Culture. January 1937,127* 
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Kings of Bengal, as given in this work I noticed the following details about 

Sher Shah®:-— 

(а) 942 H. as the ‘SaM-Julus* ^JL.) of ‘Sher Shah Sultan’, 

(б) Ten years as the period of his rule uy>«) 

(c) 952 H. as the date of his death JL) 

I was at first not inclined to take these details seriously because the 

work in question was completed as late as 1126 A. H. (1714 A. D.); but subse¬ 

quent investigation of the subject revealed that the statement deserves serious 

consideration because:— 

Firstly it is in full agreement with the testimony of the Portuguese 

historians. According to them, in the year 1535 A.D. (941-42 H.) Sher Khan 

Sur mustered forty thousand cavalry, two hundred thousand infantry and fifteen 

hundred elephants, and swooped down upon Bengal by a less frequented route, 

SultSn Mahmud, the king of Bengal at first fortified himself in the fort but 

ultimately he had to bow before the might of the Afghans and submitted to Sher 

Khan by paying fifteen lakhs of Dinars as war indemnity to him. He also 

probably promised to pay an annual tribute.’*^ 

Further on. Rev, J. J. A. Campos, in his ‘History of the Portuguese of 

Bengal’ says, “After Mellos’ departure news arrived in Gaur that Sher Shah was 

advancing again with a powerful force in order to demand another large sum 

of money, which he declared was his annual tribute, and was now due to him 

after the lapse of a year. Mahmud Shah who had never agreed to such a 

compact refused to pay the tribute’’^...Whatever may have been the pact between 

Sher Khan and Sultan Mahmud, it can be safely concluded from these passages 

that ever since his first victory over the king of Bengal the Afghan Chief 

considered the former as his vassal, and the kingdom of Bengal as a subordinate 

tributary state under him. 

Secondly the statement of the author of Jannat-ul-Firdaus as well as the 

testimony of the Portuguese historians are supported by another piece of numis¬ 

matic evidence. Mr. Charles Rogers in his “Supplement to Thomas’ Chronicles 

of the Pathan Kings” (J. A. S. B,, 1816, 213) gives notice of an interesting copper 

coin bearing the superscript ‘Sher Shah Sultan', on the obverse, and 943 H. on 

the reverse.® 

5 Jannat’ul Firdaus, Bankipur MS. 137a Seq. 
6 J. J, A. Campos, History of the Portuguese of Bengal, 36. 

The author of Tarikh-i-Daudi (Allahabad University MS. 159)’ substantially supports this 
statement by saying:— 

- Ij 0,0.. lift ^juS ^ tS ^t) » 

7 Campos, 39-40 

8 Obv. Rov. 

See J. A. S. 3.. 1896 vol. 1, plate III, coin No. ?, 
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This is the earliest copper coin of Sher Shah, known to us, which Mr. 
Rogers had obtained from L. White King Esq., F. S. A., Deputy Commissioner, 

Peshawar. It is of fine finish with a clear superscript over it. I do not fight 

shy of confessing that this is the only coin of its kind known to us, which has 

still to be traced out, and further examined, but this need not deter us from 

arriving at a tentative conclusion. It is possible, Sher Khan may have assumed 

the title of ‘Shah* as well as of ‘Sultan’ after his first invasion of Bengal in 942 H. 

to show that the king of Bengal occupied a position, subordinate to him. With 

the same end in view he may also have struck coins in his name in 943 H. when 

he again attacked Bengal and blockaded its King, Sultan Mahmud in the 

fortress of Gaur. 

This state of affairs continued till the end of the year 944 H. when Sher I£han 

finally captured Gaur,^ which in other words meant the conquest of the kingdom 

of Bengal. This was a very significant event, for it made him supreme over the 

entire country from Chunar and Benares in the west to Bengal in the east. It 

also brought vast hordes of gold to him as well as glowed the hearts of the 

Afghans with new hopes and aspirations, and inspired them with an unswerving 

faith in his leadership. He was now decidedly in a better position to set fresh 

spurs to his vaulting ambitions. He appropriated the umbrella and the throne 

of Bengal along with other insignia of royalty'^. 

It was during Humayun’s stay in Bengal in the year 945 H. that Sher 

Khan gave final touches to the picture of his ascendancy. He caught the 

Mughals napping and expedited the opportunity with all ardour and alacrity. 

He launched a series of campaigns and subdued the northern and the western 

parts of the modern United Provinces upto Kara-Manikpur aiid Qanauj in the 

west,^2 and even besieged Chunar*. In the newly subjugated land Sher l^ian 

carried conquest and consolidation hand in hand. He appointed his own jS.mils 

to make Rabi and f^arif ^collections and also introduced coins under the 

bolder designation if Sultan Adil and l^ialifat-ul-Zaman, 945 H. 

We have numerous such coins. As late as 1896 A. D. Mr. Charles 

Rogers noticed a copper coin, dated 945 H. with the superscript “Sher S^Sh 

Sultan* on the obverse and ‘Khalifat-ul ZamSn 945* on the reverse. Mr, H, N. 

9- Campos, 36 ; Tarikh-i-Sher Sbahi, Ms. 106. 
10. Jauhar Ms. 41 ; Tarikh-i-Sher Shahi Ms. 

11. J. R. A. S. B., 1896, 213. 
Obv. ,1* ^ Rev. 

uUjJI 

12 Tarikh-i-Sher Shahi Ms. 130 ; Tarikh-i-Khan Jahan Lodi, India office Ms. 109b; Dorn, 
116 ; Akbor Nama, Cal. text 1, 154 ; Jauhar Ms. 27 

*}anhar, Ms. 27. w 
fTarike-i-Sher Shahi Ms. 130; TarikbM-Khan Jahan IfOdi 1. Q. Ms* 109b« 
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Wright in his informative publication, 'Sultans of Dihli their coinage and 

Metrology’ has given two similar copper coins (Nos. 1257 and 1258) and two 

silver coins (Nos. 1040 A. and 1040 B.) with the following superscripts: 

Margin : Farid-ud-DuniyS wa’d-Din Abul Muzaffar. 

Within Square: Sher Shah Al-Sultan KhaIladallahu*Mulkahu 945 

(followed by) Sri Sher Shahi (in Dev Nagri script). 

Mr. Bhattasali has noticed three similar coins with identical superscripts 

in his learned contribution to Islamic Culture (Jan. l936, 127) while the Patna 

Museum has three similar coins in its valued collection. 

It has to be admitted that these coins have misled many a scholar of 

Muslim history by leading him assume that Sher Shah ascended the throne or 

became the king of Bihar. The latest of them Mr. Bhattasali has gone a step 

further by saying, “The coin pushes back the date of Sher Shah’s accession by 

one year.The coronation and minting of coins by Sher 

Shah have to be placed within the fortnight between the end of June and middle 

of July 1538 i. e. about the middle of Safar 945 H.”** 

I beg leave to differ from Mr. Bhattasali with my humble submission 

that the learned scholar seems to have antedated the coronation ceremony 

because:— 

Firstly it is not supported by any original authority. Contrariwise, the 

Afghan as well as the Mughal chroniclers, alike refer to Sher Khan’s coronation 

either soon after the debacle of Chausa(Safar 9, 946 H.) or after the defeat and 

death of Jahangir Quii, the Mughal Governor of Bengal. 

Secondly Abbas Sarwani, Abdulla and Niyamatulla^^ conclusively state tliat 

Sher ^an retained the title of Hazrat Ala till after the disaster of Chausa; and to 

say that he remained an Afghan dignitary as well as their king at the same time 

is nothing short of terminological inexactitude. Keeping in view the tact and 

caution with which Sher Khan appeased his craving for royalty it can be averred 

that he would never have committed this perilous indiscretion. 

Thirdly none of the coins dated 945 H., referred to above were minted at 

Gaur. One of them bears the mint mark of Shergarh while the rest are 

anonymous. 

Then what was Sher Khan’s position ? He derived all of his strength 

from the Afghans and must have thought it unwise and injudicious to do 

anything which might afiSict or excite the sentiments of his touchy comrades. 

He, therefore, contented himself with the title of the most dignified among the 

Afghans (j^U which in practice vested in-him all the powers and 

13. Islamic Culture, January 1936, 130. 
14. Tarikh«i-Sher Shal)i, Allahabad University MS. 146; Tarikh-i-Daudi, Allahabad 

UniverBity MS, 128; Khan-i^Jaban Lodi* India office MS. 112a. 
15* Tarikh-i-Sher Shahi, MS, 102* 
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Thus Sher I^an took the title of Sber Shah Alam, but it would be a 

mistake to suppose that this was the final coronation of Sher Shah. At the 

most it legalised his status among the Afghans and converted the title of 

Hazrat Ala into that of the king. Over and above this it hardly made much 

difference. He was still far from being the king of Hindustan. His victory 

at Chausa was the result not of any strategic feat or fair trial of strength, but 

of a treacherous act of political brigandage and as such it could not bear the 

fruits of a clear and real victory. It was therefore natural that Sher Khan’s 

pretensions did not win wide recognition at the hands of the Indian Chiefs like 

Mallu KhSn of Malwa^*. Besides Humayun had escaped to Agra where his 

appeal for help and reinforcements had met a generous and encouraging 

response^*^. Sher Shah seems to have been fully conscious of this, for he voiced 

his apprehensions bdore Isa I^an at Chausa by saying, |“The king of 

Hindustan has escaped alive and still holds most of the countries in his 

possessions^. He also seems to have been fully aware that his control over the 

eastern region was still far from being secure. In the eyes of Humayun and 

other Indian rulers of distant states Sher Shah was still an adventurer and a 

rebeL It was in fact, the battle of Qanauj which legalised Sher Shah’s claims 

over the Empire of Hindustan. For the date of Sher Shah’s accession as the 

Emperor of Hindustan let us therefore search somewhere after that battle, 

which was fought on Monday Mubarram 10, 947 H. (May 17, 1540). 

The Persian historians give two conflicting dates about Sher Shah’s 

coronation after the battle of Qanauj. Sultan Ali Husain Safawi, the author of 

M'adan'US-S’adat says that he ascended the throne on Muharram 11, 947 H. 

(May 18, 1540 A.D.) just on the following day after the battle. The full text of 

his statement may be quoted as follows:— 

- l-Xiasu 3 

m4a> o-tliL. jO fji'^ (_>il * >»•* . 

jai ^ )1 (Jfjl ffii A. y*^ tyyi 

K. A. S« B. M.S. 1, 294 If. * yy^ yCSJ ^ 

We cannot implicitly rely upon this work because it was completed in 

1218 H.s=i803 A. D., more than two hundred and fifty years after the death 

24 Tarikb-i-Sber Sbabi MS. 190 ff. 

29 Officers and soldiers flocked from all directions to replete tbe depleted rank of imperial 
forces. Hindal went to Alwar for fresb levees. Kemraa volunteered bis services to instantly match 
asainat Sber Sbab, while Shaikh Nasimddin with tbe help of some chemicals converted all copper 
platea, dishea and other vessels that be could cottect. into gold and presented it to the Bmperor, 
Akbar Mama. Cal. text 16l; lanbar MS. 42 ff. Al*Ba4aoni, Cal. text, S99. 

26 Abbas MS. 



SHBR SHAH—HIS ACCESSlOW Akl> HIS CORONATION 37^ 

of Sher Shah. It was no doubt written under the patronage of Nawab S‘adat 

Ali Khan, but we do not know the sources of its author's information. 

Ahmad Yadgar the author of Tarikh'i*Salatin-i*Afghana has given a 

different date. Acdording to him iSher Shah ascended the throne at Agra on 

Wednesday Safar 4 (?) 947 H. The full text of the'passage is as follows :— 

j jO j iJU ^Ai jO 

^lialwi )t ..;jaJ 

cioSiJy yfA jjj .v*| y) 

* 

(Buhar M.S., Imperial Library, Calcutta, 71.) 

Ahmad Yadgar seems to be more reliable and trustworthy than the 

author of M’adan'us S'adat. His patron Baud Shah Kararani, at whose 

instance be began and completed his work, Taril^>i-Salatin Afghani, was an 

Afghan king of Bengal (780—844 H.—1572-76 A. D.). Ahmad Yadgar, therefore, 

most have had special facilities in writing the history of the Afghans and it 

is quite possible, he may have had access to historical material which may 

not have been available even to Abbas Sarwani, the author of Tarildi'i* 

Sher Shahi. 

But Ahmad Yadgar’s date is faulty in one respect. He no doubt, gives 

the exact day (Wednesday) and date (4th) of the auspicious event but be does 

not give the exact month. It cannot be earlier than Muharram because 

Ahmad Yadgar describes the ceremony after the conclusion of the battle of 

Qanauj (Muharram 10, 947 H.). Besides according to him, the ceremony 

was performed at Agra, which came in the hands of Sher Shah after the battle 

of Qanauj. Owing to these reasons it cannot also be Muharram 4, 947 H. 

In all probability it is Safar 4, 947 H. (June 10, 1540 A. D.). 

In the above lines I have attempted to throw some side-flashes on two events 

of Sher Shah's life viz. his assumption of the title of Shah, and his coronation. 

I do not profess to have thoroughly sifted or exhausted all material relating to 

them, much less have I established any new point. I have only resuscitated 

some of the old material, which had been lying, probably unexamined, in oblivion, 

leaving further investigation and final settlement to abler scholars and specialists 

who are more directly interested in Sher Shah's reign. 
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BADAUNl AND HIS **MUNTAKHABAT” 

Prof. M. L. Rojr Choudiiury, M. A.( B. L.t P. R. S.t Bhagalpur. 

Abdtil Qad!r, Abdul Faizi and FazI were the pupils of the famous Sheik 

Mobarak in 1558, and all * three were brilliaat scholars. Faizi specialised in 

Mediciiio and Poetry, Faztin Tbedogy and History, and Badaoni in Grammar 
and Logic, la 1573 Abdul Qadir was introduced to Court and accepted a 
Ma’dad-i-M’asb. 

In course of a debate against Ibrahim of Satfhind he first attracted the 

attention of the Emperor who was much ‘pleased to see the range of his theo> 
logical learning.’ And he was selected often to debate in the Ibadat Khana ‘to 
break the pride of the learning of the Molks.’ Abdul Qadir took much interest 
and displayed cmisiderable knowledge in the naughty and subtle problems of 

theology. But after the introduction of Abul Fazl into the court “the high 

opinion which Akbar had formed of Abdul Qadir’s learning and disputational 
powers, was transferred to Abul Fazl whose boldness of thought and breadth of 

opinion dazzled the court and excited the jealousy and envy of the Ulemas.^ 

In the beginning, Akbar thought that Badauni was a Sufi but in the end 
be r^f^tted to find that Badauni was only a ‘Sun-dried Molla^.’ A bit of 

Badauni’s mind could be read in bis reply to Akbar’s question enquiring as to 
why he wanted to jtxn the expedition against Rana Kika. Badauni proudly 
replied that bis ‘iotention in joining the war was to kill the infidels.’^ The 
first literary production of Badauni was Kitabul Ahadis dealing among other 

things with the excellence of expedition against the infidels.^ Badauni was 
entrusted with translation of the Mahabbarat along with some other scholars 

and for this he cursed his lot that be had to write the names of gods of the 
infidels.^ Badauni’s mother died in 1589 and be took leave and went home 

with a copy of Mss^Idiirad Afza, a very favourite book of Akbar. He 

overstayed leave by one year and moreover lost the copy of Khirad Afza and 

dared not appear before the Sovereign. 

At length on the recommendation of Faizi, Badauni was allowed to 

appear before His Majesty at Lahore and was restored to favour (1591*92). 

In 1593 Abul Fazl helped Badauni to attract favour of Akbar on the 

day of Mau Roz and was recommended for the post of Mutwalli^ of the tomb 

1 J. R. A. S., I860 Blockiium’s life of Badanni. 
a Blockman Mo. 4 M. 
3 Bad.npp.a39. 
4 Bad. II pp. t34. 
9 Bad. II pp. 9a9. Block pp. 104 n. 
• MoHralU means keeper of a shrine or holy place. 
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of Moin Uddin at Ajmere. But Akbar liked him to stay at court 'for his 
literary gifts and entrusted him with the task of translation of Bahar*ul'Asmar. 
In 1593-94 Badauni completed the third part of Tarikh-i-Alfi. In 1595 Faizi 
died and Badauni was much relieved to hear that his rival at court, in religion, 
nay in life had left the world. Mulla Badauni expressed his devilish venom 
for, if he could not beat Faizi in life, he must do so at his death. Akbar liked 

Badauni in spite of his lurid taste and bitter orthodoxy for his literary merits. 

Till the end of his life 1595 (?) Badauni continued in the court of Akbar. 

Badauni's angle of vision— 

From a brief sketch of the life of Badauni at the court of Akbar, we have 
seen him as bolder of Madad-i-Mash of 1,000 bighas of land, as Imam of Wednesday 
prayer, as soldier against Rana Kika, as translator of books, whereas bis rival 
in school had risen to be poet laureate of the Empire, bis junior comrade was 
the highest dignitary of the state ; naturally he lost the balance of his mind. 

On more than one occasion he deplored his lot and envied that of Abul Fazl 
and Faizi.^ 

In bis childhood Badauni had been trained on the lines of an orthodox 
Mulla. His maternal grand-father Muluk Shah taught him grammar, recitation 

of the Quran, and Islamic Law. Once Badauni set out to pay a visit to 
Shaik Muhammad Ghaus, a highly revered Mulla of the age. As soon as 
Badauni saw that the pious Shaik "rose up to do honour to Hindus’ he felt 
obliged to forego the pleasure. Badauni ’styled sufism as nonsense’^ in 
connection with Sharif Amal. Badauni could not tolerate anything that was 

non-sunni. When a Shia was wrongly murdered by a Sunni, Badauni had 
not a word of sympathy for the dead Shia whom he immediately consigned to 

hell for no other reason but that he was a Shia. There are innumerable 
instances when Badauni concocted facts, or distorted them to suit his conclusions 
or spoke only half truth, As for example, Badauni interdicts Akbar for 
having given permission for the use of boar meat against laws of the Sahriat. 

But he never mentioned whether the permission was given to Muslims or to 
anybody else and what was the occasion for it. The permission was indeed 
given to the Hindu soldiers amongst whom boar meat was permissible and the 

occasion was the Chitor expedition where both Hindu and Muhammadan 
soldiers fought in the same ranks. Moreover, the permission was given not 
only for boar meat but also for tiger’s meat which was permissible among 

Turks. As regards the regulation forbidding cow’s flesh, Badauni said, that 

7 Bad. II pp. 420, 111 pp. 414-3. 

"A dog has goae from tbs world in an abominable state. He was a miserable 
Hallith dog». 

8 Bad. II pp. 270. 
9 Bad. II pp. 243. 
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Akbar bad stopped killing of cows in order to show his love for Hindu wives; 

and that he was actuated by an anti-Islamic feeling. But the entire regulation 

taken as a whtde reads otherwise,—“Nor flesh of cows, buffaloes, sheep and 

be taken for they are domestic animals”. But honest Badauni only 

mentioned cows, for the mention of the buffaloes, sheep and camel would 
defeat bis purpose. A glorious example of half quotation was regarding the 

reconversion of a Hindu woman who had fallen in love with a Muslim. She 

(Hindu wmnan) should be taken by force and be given to the family^^’. 

But Badauni did not mention the other part of the regulation which 

with Muhammadan lady “nor should a Muslim woman who had been in 

love with a Hindu be prevented from joining Islam According to Badauni 

Akbar had ordered the destruction of Mosques. But Badauni did not mention 
the date of regulation and the occasion for it. The whole regulation would 
have been clear had he mentioned that the regulation came alter the Bengal 

rebellion when those mosques (unauthorised) were used as centres of rebellion. 

In his blind fanaticism and spiteful venom against Faizi and Fazl, he had 
lost the balance of bis judgment and we think the real intention of Badauni 

was not so much to revile the Emperor as to revile the ‘wickedness of sons of 
Mubarak.* In reviling them he had to revile the Emperor more than he possibly 

intended to, only to show the length of the apostacy to which the Emperor had 

been led by ‘the designing brothers.’ In his anger, Badauni sometimes said that 
Akbar was a Christian, another time that he was a fire worshipper, and a third 

time that be was a respecter of cows that is, he was a Hindu. “Akbar believed," 

said Badauni, “in the truth of the Christian religion and wishing to spread the 

doctrine of Jesus, ordered prince Murad to take a few lessons in Christianity 

and charged Abul Fazl to translate the Gospel.” De Jarric says that Akbar 

took some lessons in Portuguese himself so that he could lollow their discussions 

in original. Soon after Badauni said that Akbar was a sun worshipper and 

uttered one thousand and eight names of the Sun every morning. 

We should not lose sight of the important fact that he began to write 

his Muntakbabat in 1590 when be was labouring under the charge of absenting 

himself from the court without leave, when be was under the disability of losing 

the favourite book of Akbar Kbirad-AUa, when be was refused an interview 

at Bbambar after the discovery of bis forgery of a certificate from Hakim Ain* 

ul'Molk of Delhi. What better things could be expected of him at that time 

when bis whole existence was at stake ? On the other band one of bis comrades 

of early years was enjoying the reputation of being the chief poet of the age, 

and another the chief vakil of the Empire. Indeed he was suffering from a 

to Bid. 11 375. 380. 
It OsblithlD II fp, 413. 
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jealousy complex against his school mates. Smarting under a sense of injustice 

that his merit had not been properly recognised and rewarded, Badauni’s band 
could not give anything better. 

Badauni dared not publish his cream of history "Muntakhabat*' during his 

life-time; when the book was published during the reign of Jahangir, he became 

so infuriated “at the baseness of the lies that he ordered the son of Badauni to 

be imprisoned and his property to be confiscated.” He further took an agreement 

from all the booksellers of the capital that they should not sell the book.*® 

Even Khafi Khan says, “Badauni has said many things r^arding the Emperor 

which are quite incredible and which it would be improper to repeat or commit 

to writing. Indeed if I should retain one-hundredth part of them it would be 
disrespectful to his memory.”*® 

Badauni was a cynic by nature. He had no respect even for the nearest 

ties of human relationship. “Relations are like scorpions in the harm they do, 

therefore be not directed by father’s or mother’s brother. For verily sorrow is 

increased by father’s brother, and as for the mother’s brother he is destitute of 
all good qualities.” 

If these be the ideas of a man about his cousin or uncle, can we expect 

anything better than what he wrote about Abul Faizi or Hindu Official of the 

Emperor, we mean Birbal? Nowhere Birbal has been mentioned without his 

favourite adjective “hellish dog”, “a wretch.” In his venom he casts most 

disgraceful aspersions on Birbal that he had incest with bis own daughter.*® 

This is the man who wrote the history of Akbar; indeed it is true that tongue 

may lie but pen cannot, and however one tries to do so he is unconsciously found 

between the lines of his pen. To be fair to Badauni we could only quote Major 

Nassaw Lees and join with him in saying “it would be grossest piece of injustice 

to the dead Emperor to present the public*® with Abdul Quadir’s review of his 
character and no other.” Indeed V. A. Smith has done it. 

12 Mirat AJam Bloch. F. N. 2 pp. KM. 

13 Khafi Khan. Vol. 1. pp. 196. 

14 Bad. II pp. 312. 
13 J. R. S. B. Great Britain, 1868. 
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CULTURAL CONFLICTS AND HARMONY IN MUGHAL HISTORY, 

P. N. Waiton, 

The purpose of this short note is to draw the attention of the scholars 

to a need felt by those whose daily business it is to explain the making of our 

nation. That need is the cultural approach to our history. That cultural 

approach has come to mean in some cases only blind belief in the greatness 

of the past or an effort to point out everything as conducive to the ideals for 

which they stand. The historian has become a propagandist of another type. 
He is a nationalist not prepared to recognixe real conflicts of interest lest it 
should lead to further misunderstanding. 

The state in India has often been a culture>state. Its establishment, its 
maintenance, and its decay has therefore led to conflicts which ought to be 

analysed as conflicts. Such conflicts do lead to integration. But it is no use 

assuming such an integration where it does not exist. 

For the sake of convenience we shall take the Mughal Period of our 

history. There is no period in our history which does not show such conflicts. 

1 have deliberately chosen this one because it has been more fully studied. It is 
one of which every one is justly proud. But that is not to say that one must 

agree to the numerous estimates and interpretations put forth. 

The Mughal Empire was built up with an ideal essentially religious in 
content. It was an Empire that commanded the allegiance of the Muslim on 

the plea that it stood for Islam. The more this fact is emphasised the little 

will be the understanding of the hopes and fears of the various components of 

the Empire. 

The masses have rarely been participants in the conflicts. They have 

generally submitted to^ the laws. Their contact with the state was only 

occasional. Their cultural movements bad their own rhythm. 

The state had come to mean the Emperor. But in a theocracy the 
personality of the Emperor counts for little. The numerous monographs dealing 

with the reigns do contain the details of their policies. They all bear the stamp 

of the Ulema. The conquests made, the land revenue settled, the mqnsabs 
given and the marriages celebrated had the same view, in view, the glory of 

Islam. This was at least the theoretical position. 

It is no use trying to attribute to some the political motive leading to a 

national state such as we envisage. Hindus served the state as subordinates. 

Even the marriage alliances have only left humiliation as a legacy. The Hindus 

were loyal mercenaries, 
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This is not to say that there have been no ^orts to synthesize. Akbar 

and Data are exceptions which only emphasise the difference. Even Akbar 

did not deny his allegience to the Islamic law. His only plaim was to interpret 
it. Even that claim was not admitted. The Mughal Empire may be called 
national in the sense that it was nation wide. It claimed and got the obedience 
of the Hindus as de facto rulers in some cases and as de jure ones in some 
others. It was an indigenous product. Its wealth, its strength, its ^^astness 

inspired respect abroad. More Hindus have died in defending it than perhaps 
in defending their own cause. It was nevertheless a Muslim Empire. 

We must discard the historicity of a secular state in this country. A 
secular state has had never a foundation in the hearts of the millions. No 

nation can rise to heights of heroism on mere fictions of justice and impartiality. 

What people will die for is a much greater thing than that. It may be the 

future of the race or religion or the land they love. That future in itself will 

be full of dreams created and recreated out of the faith of the millions, and 

expressed by poets and rationalised by philosophers. 

With so much fervour and so much misunderstanding it is improper to 

insist on non-copimunal history. History must be super <commuoal. The 

issues must be analysed and objectified. Only such an attitude will help forward 
the task of integrating the various elements of a people. And what are 

the issues really ? 

Here 1 know 1 am treading on a rattier uncertain ground. We must 
begin with a few questions. What was the nature of the response to efforts 
made with a view to absorb one or the other cultures ? Were these efforts 

conscious or not? What was the nature of compromises reached from time 
to time in cases of conflicts ? What was the amount of recognition given to 

institutions like the caste and the Jamat ? What was the official attitude in 
case of internal disputes ? To what extent were the privileges of particular 

classes granted ? What was the sanction behind the semUjudiciary functions 

of local bodies ? Many more may be suggested. They do not point to specific 

• conflicts but they point out the area to be covered. 

No doubt learned treatises on various aspects of Mughal -administration 

are available. But they do not approach their subject matter in that spirit. 

The materials available need to be re-arranged and r&>interpreted. That is a 

task which I propose this body must take up. It involves a study of a vast 

field. It presupposes a range of equipment which no single individual or 

institution can command. Particular fields like architecture and music have 
been covered only superficially. Linguistic reasearch regarding the language 

problem has only begun. In all these cases the problem of cultural harmony 
It more predominant than that of conflict. Man is indeed a paradoxical animal, 
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He is as much of a willing collaborator as a fighter. The conditions governing 

such a collaboration remain to be better analysed. 

In these days of swift change the conflict is acute. The nature of the 

conflict may change. Silent processes of social life constantly redefine the value 
p}rramid. Eventually the changing values may shift on the struggle to new 

frontiers of strife and cemtroversy. But behind the clash of armour and 

argument stands the man—one who is haunted by the past or is in love with 

it, one whom events to come fill with hopes and with anxieties and finally as 

one to whom the division of labour and provisions for the future have given 

leisure and opportunities to enjoy form and music. 

FRESH LIGHT ON SHAIKH ALI HAZIN, AND HIS TOURS IN 

EASTERN HINDUSTAN 

Prof. Syed Hasan Askari, M. A., History Deptt., Patna College, Patna. 

Maulana Shaikh Mohammad Ali Hazin, the celebrated poet and scholar of 
Persia was forced by the vicissitudes of his beloved country to migrate in 1146/ 

1734 ^ to Hindustan. He requires no introduction to the literary world. As 
early as 1830-31, an English translation, with the original Persian text, of the 
famous Tazkira’ (Memoirs) of the poet, written in 1154/1740 in India, was 

published in London by Mr. T. C. Balfour. 

A man of noble lineage, high character, and great learning, Hazin was 

undoubtedly one of the celebrities of his age. Described^ as the “most illustrious 

and the greatest of the doctors, the glory of Arabia and Persia and the compriser 

of all sciences, speculative and practical", Hazin appeared to Khusgo^ the 

devoted pupil of his most formidable opponent, Khan Arzu^ “as an angel in a 

human body". Raymond quotes the poet’s own words that “he never loosened 
the cordons of his drawars neither upon a lawful or an unlawful occasion, and 

of course had never meddled with a woman".® There is much to admire the 

man. His “liberality in rdigious opinion^ despite his genuine faith in the 

1 Tazkiratnl Abwal Knjhwa Ms,, Mint-i-Aftab Mnoia, O. P. L. 
2 Two maatucript copies bearing the owner’s seal 121S/1796 and belonging to my viUsge 

library have been consnlted. See also Beals’ Dictionary. 

3 Makhsannl Gharaib p. 136(0. P. L.). 
4 8afina-i-Khnsgo (O. P. L.), p. 182 b. The author’s name was Lala Brindaban Das. 
5 Arzu went to the length of writing a book, named Tanbikui-ahaftlin in criticism of 

Hasin's poetry. For bis remarks see his well known work, Majma*an*Nafais, p, 400 (O. P. L.). 

6. Seyar, Eng. Tr., II, p. 178. 

7. Oneley, qnoted by T. C. Batfonr. Also Idten of Haaiq. 
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religion be professed", his disdainful attitude towards the tempting things of 

the World^ his readiness to befriend one and all^, bis keenness of judgment, 
his upright character, and above all, his Ic^ty patriotism are worthy of emulation 

by others. 

But he was not without his own weaknesses. His excessive self>confidencc 
or self-consciousness made him at times contemptuous of the abilities of others, 
particularly the contemporary Indian scholars of the Persian language. His 
intense love for his own country made him almost blind to the beauties of the 
land of his forced adoption. His unjust complaint that he "had to lead the 

dullest course of his existence in the dullest of all countries”'^ and his sweeping 

remarks that "owing to its climate the people of this land do not make 
acquaintance with any without some motive"^ ^ cannot but be resented. 

It is unfortunate that even his admirers did not choose to write much 
beyond what he had himself indicated in his Tazkira, written eight years after bis 

settlement in India in 1154/1741-42. The very fact of his first arrival in India 

has become a disputed point, for, Gholam AH-Azad Belgrami, a friend and 
admirer of Haxin, whom he first met and journeyed within Sindh, andlwho 
wrote subsequently a spirited refutation of bis opponent's criticisms, definitely 

gives the year 1147^^ while the author of Mirat-i-Aftab Numa^^ and also Browne 

give the more accurate date of 1146. Hazin himself speaks of “this period*^ of 
eight years, at the time of writing, that is, the end of the year 1154”. A correct 

chronology of his itinerary during the first 14 years of his life which, according 
to Azad^^, he passed at Delhi and its neighbourhood, and a detailed but critical 

account of his movements and activities and bis relation with the people of this 

country, both rich and poor, Hindus and Muslims, of Western and Eastern 
India, still await the earnest attention and devoted labours of persons interested 

in the Persian historical literature. 

The writer of the present paper, while collecting and sifting materials for 

the early^^ life of Raja Ram Narain Mauzoon, who dominated the political stage 

8 S. M. Dastur. 
9 Dastnr-ul-Insha; letters of Hazin recommending persons to Raja Ram Narain, 

10 Tazkiratul Abwal, Balfour's translation. 

11 Tazkiratual Ahwal, Kojhwa Ms. 

12 i. Khazana-Amira 193. 
ii. Sarve-Azad, 225. 

Hi. Browne L. H. Persia IV. 

13 O. P. Library, Patna. 
14 Tazkira-Ahwal, (Kujhwa Ms.). The poet tells us that he reached l^hata on the 1st of 

Shawwal, 1148. 
15 Sarve-Azad, (printed text) 225. 
16 I read a paper **A new light on the early life of Raja Ram Narain, Mauzoon*^ at a 

meeting of the Historical Society of Patna College, in March, 1937. It may be published in soma 

journal in near tutare» 
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of Bihar as its Beputy Governor for a little over a decade in the fifties of the 

18th century, and was a pupil of Hazin in his poetical pursuits, came across 
some rare collections of letters belonging as, private properties to some Fatna 
people. The biggest and the most valuable of these manuscripts, named 

Dastur>ul-lnsha,^^ compiled by Bijay Singh Kayasth of Lucknow, a dependent 
of Rai Mansa Ram, who was a cousin of Mauzoon’s son«in>law, Rai Basant Ram, 

and acted as a Foujdar of Tirhut, till he was overthrown by Mir Qasim, in 

1175/1761, contains about 40 letters of Hazin,*® addressed to Raja Ram Narain 
and to various other persons, and there are a few more which in spnte way or 

the other concern the eminent Persian. A chronology and critical account of 

Hazin’s life in the East of India is a desideratum. An attempt will be made in 
the following pages to extract from the sources available at Patna, especially 

from the collections of letters, whatever is possible about the life and activities 
of Hazin after he had left Delhi and Agra. 

Hazin, according to his friend Azad, ‘having lived a sort of retired life 

for about 14 years in the city of Delhi came out of it in year 1161^®, stopped 

for a while at Akberabad and thence hastened to the city of Benares and after 

some time he went to Azimabad (Patna). KhanM-Arzu, the author of Tanbihul 

Ghafelin writes, “He (Hazin) had gone to Bengal with a mind to proceed on a 
pilgrimage to Mecca and the holy shrines but, now®®, having turned back from 
Azimabad (Patna), he has fixed up his residence at Benares.” “Now” may mean 

1163 as is indicated by the author's use of the same term in pages 130a and 

451 (O. P. L. Ms.) 

After weighing the separate pieces of evidences we are forced to the 

conclusion that Hazin’s first visits to Patna must have taken place before Arzu 
and Khusgo completed their respective works in 1164/1750®! and 1165/1751-52 

nay even earlier, for Tahqiq’s death®® in 1162/1749 and Khan-i-Arzu’s elucidatory 

expression “in this very year®® which is 1163/1750” (MN 130 b) and “last year®*, 

17 This unique collection copied in 1206/1790 and belonging to Rai Mathura Prasad B. A., 
a representative of Raja Ram Narain; contains a large number of disarranged, private and official 
letters, sanads, and news letters, mostly written by, or addressed to Raja Ram Narain and other 
contemporary personages, regarding the transaction in Bihar and Bengal and occasionally throwing 
light on historical events elsewhere. The major portion of the collection covers the period of the 
said Raja s Niabat of Bihar, 1752*1761. But Safdar Jung's expedition to Bihar in 1742*43 is the 
subject of probably the earliest letter in the Dastur (p. 271b*272a). The letters were first collected 
in 1183/1769 and were originally meant for **the elementary education’* of boys. 

18 We shall consider some of these later on. Two works of Hazin in O. P. Library contain 
more than half a dozen letters of the great Persian, including one ^dressed to Mauzoon, which 
corresponds exactly with those available in the Dastur. 

19 Sarv6*Azad, 225. 

20 Majma-on-Nafais, p. 123. O. P. L. 

21 Safina-i'Khnsgo p. 163. 

22 Safi]ia*i-Khtiago, p. 163. 

23 BlajQia-nn‘’Mafais, 130 b* 

24 Majma*nn*Nafais, 45. 
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that is 1162/1749” ( MN 450 ) are significant. The battle of Khudaganj, 

1164/1750, the evidence of Kiratchand’s dated letters and Khusgo’s mention of 
“as the young Diwan” (not yet Naib) Raja Ram Narain “who had got his 
appropriate pen-name from Hazin to whom he submitted his^^ verses” are 
interesting points for our consideration. But all vagueness is removed and we 
find a positive evidence in another valuable work, fortunately discovered by the 
writer in the house of a Unani Physician in the Patna City, 

Inaha4-Gherib and Insha-i-Ulfai are two valuable collections of letters 
and miscellaneous writings of Lala Ujagar Chand, Ulfat of Patna who was a 

contemporary of Khusgo, Hazin and Ram Narain. The first work completed 
in 1151/1738, is silent about Hazin. But Insha-i-Ulfat contains not only 
half a dozen references to the Persian poet but also, and what is most important, 
a versified chronogram which settles the question of Hazin’s arrival at Patna 
in 1163/1750 and also gives us a hint about an earlier visit paid by the poet 

to the capital of Bihar. Ulfat composed the following quatrain to commemorate 

the year of Hazins* arrival at Patna :— 
“The Shaikh, endowed with virtue and munificance, has honoured (us) 

with his visit. The early spring has again made its appearance in the city. 

The voice from the invisible speaker told Ulfat this congratulatory chronogram 
(namely)^® the favotus--promoting arrival^ The italicised expression yields 

the year 1163, 

Though we get the year, unfortunately the month mentioned is not 
specified. Hazin would not undertake an arduous journey during the hot and 
rainy season. December 11, 1749, coincided with 1st of Moharram, 1163^^, 

Hazin must have felt disinclined to move about in the sacred months of 
Moharram and Safar. Therefore Rabi I and II, 1163, corresponding to 
February-March, 1750, may tentatively be accepted as the time, referred to 
by Ulfat. The occurrence of words “early spring” in the quatrain is perhaps, 
not without some significance. 

The duration of his first visit to Patna must have necessarily been very 

brief for the distraction of Bihar and Bengal in 1748, caused by the rebellious 
activities of the Afghans and their allies, the predatory Marhatta, must have 
prevented the poet^® from prolonging his stay there. 

He may have stayed for sometime at Patna on the occasion of his second 

visit in 1163/1750, but the disturbed condition of Bihar and Bengal must have 

25 Safina-i-Khusgo, p. 216. 

26 losha-i-Ulfat, p. 29a ; Maqdan-i-Faiz Afza" 1163. 

27 Hazin was also a great Shia divine. His letters, addressed to Shaikh Hasan, and 

found both in the Dastur and in a manuscript of O. P. L., reveal how people treated him as a 

'Mnjtahid', and asked for his authoritative opinion regarding theological and doctrinal matters . 

28 Seyar ; Sarkar't, Fall of the Moghal Empire, Vol. I, 
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again driven him back to Benares. Circumstances had, however, changed by 

the time the poet made his appearance in Bihar for the third time in 1165/1752. 

Aliverdi’s treaty with Raghuji ‘Bhonsla in May 1751*® and the consequent 

removal of the Marhattas from Bengal, coupled with the suppression or 

dispersal of the rebellious Afghan and other turbulent elements®® afforded peace 

and quiet to the province. Raja Ram Narain Mauzoon, having been appointed 

Deputy Governor of Bihar, Hazin might have been tempted to try his luck 

again to get back to his beloved home-land via the port of Hugli. He could 

not think of. the other routes for the situation in these quarters had grown 

worse. The Doab Pathans and the Durrani Afghans, the Irani Vazir and the 
mercenary Marhattas had made the north and the western parts of Hindustan®^ 

an unsafe land. 

As regards positive evidence of such a visit, reference should be made to 
Raja Kiratchand’s letter. One which occurs®* in between two others®®, dated 

28th January I, year 5th, and 21st Safar of the same year, that is, 1165/1752, 

tells us that the “happy and hopeful tidings of the arrival of his eminence, the 
Shaikh Saheb, the qibla of the two worlds, has infused fresh vigour into the 

hearts of the supplicants” and that “enclosed in the envelope would be found 

an humble letter addressed to his eminence etc”. Another undated letter of 

Kiratchand, found in the same series, and followed by two others, the last of 

which®^ is dated 8th Jamadi II, year 6th (1166/1753) contains the significant 
expression “Has the Shaikh Saheb,.who had a mind to proceed to the 

west, already left or is still present in the city (Patna) ? I had sent a second 

letter to him, kindly inform me if it has actually reached him”. The reference 
to the ‘second letter’ suggests that the distance of time between the two letters 

may not have been a long one. This is, perhaps, supported by a letter of no 

less important personage than the poet himself, which we find in the Dastur. 

In this letter Hazin writes about “his still drawing the feeble breath of 

his borrowed life and sitting in a corners/ the desolate Azitnabad (Patna)" 

without “having even strength and capacity to move about.” ' A little further 

we come across the following lines .*—^“I have often felt grieved on hearing the 

news of the misfortunes and the distracted condition of the Punjab and Delhi 

and have prayed to God, humbly and with lamentation, for the removal of the 
troubles, and am still doing so.” 

29 J.B.O.R.S, March, 1933 ; 

80 Dastur, p. 199b, Seyar ; Waqiat-i-Mahabat Jung by Yusuf Ali, (Patna College Copy). 

81 Sarkar's, Fall of the Moghal Empire, Vol. 1; Dutt's, History of the Marhattas, Cambridge 

History of India, Vol IV^etc. 

82 Dastur, 284b. 

33 Dastur, 2840, 283b, 

84 Dastur, 28Sb, 286a, b. 
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The most important point in the letter under review, however, is the fact 

that it was written by Hazin from Patna and so necessarily must be dated much 

before the death of Safdar Jung that took place at Lucknow on the 17th Zihijja, 

1167, 5th October, 1754. The reference to the calamities and distracted condition 

of the Punjab and Delhi leads us to the year 1165/1752 when Ahmad Shah 

Abdali invaded the Punjab for the third time®® and his threatened advance to 

Delhi caused such panic in the imperial court as to result in a hasty and 

disgraceful treaty which ceded Multan and the Punjab to the Durrani and 

caused an estrangement of Vazir Safdar Jung, who had already enlisted the 

support of mercenary Malher Holkar but had been forestalled by his enemies 

in the Court. Azad Belgrami notes these matters and mentions the arrival of 

the Vazir with Malher in Delhi in Rajab 1165 (May 1752). The date, 11th 

Rajab, given in Hazin’s letter, may, under the circumstances, be placed in the 
year 1165 or May 1752. 

There is a third and more conclusive evidence of Hazin’s presence in Patna 

in 1165/1752. In a letter®®, obviously addressed to Alivardi, the Nawab of 

Bengal, Raja Ram Narain informs the former that “Afra Seyab Beg, the 
companion of Akbar Ali Khan®^ Mangbashi, while proceeding in a drunken 

state from the house of a dancing girl towards the®® Idgah, happened to pass 
by the Haveli, occupied by his eminence, the Shaikh Saheb, the venerable Shaikh 

Ali Hazin.and having lost all control over himself he wounded the door¬ 

keeper of the Shaikh." 

Thus, though Patna had some attraction for Hazin, specially at a time 

when the most devoted and eminent of his pupils, the celebrated Ram Narain, 
Mauzoon, was its deputy governor, yet there may have been more than one 

reason which induced the great Persian to leave this City for the third time. 

The Raja appears to have been mostly absent from his capital on State business. 

Ujagarchand, Ulfat informs us how the Raja tried to keep himself in touch with 

his august guest through correspondence. 

But is was difficult to keep a man of such delicate complexion as Hazin 

in good humour, especially when the man who was responsible for his sojourn 

35 Cambridge History of India, Vol. IV, p. 434. Sea also Khazana-i-Amira by Gholam Ali, 

Asad Bilgrami. 
36 Dastur 180, Q. 
37 Dastar 180, Q. 
The Mangbashi has been described as the 'Qafla-salar>i-Khasana-i-Bangala,' We find a 

mention of his son, Ali Naqi Khan, Intizar, who "arrived at Murshidabad daring the time of 
Alivardi and settled down there," (Gulzar-i-Ibrahim p. 26). There are numerous letters in the 

DastOr relating to the presence and activities of Ali Akbar Khan Mangbashi in Patna during the years 

4th and 3th of accession (1751-59). 
38 Thus Hazin’s residence in the old Patna City on this occasion was not the same as that 

mentioned by Ulfat in the letters quoted above, 
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at Patna was mostly absent from his side. Whatever the reasons which made 

Hazin give up Patna again, certain it is that he had a more prolonged stay in 
the city at the time of his third visit than on the two earlier occasions. At any 

rate, he was present in Patna for not less than 6 months, that is, from Rajib** 
to Zihijja, 1165 (May to October, 1752). That he may have left at the end of 

the last month of the Arabic Calendar is probably indicated by another of his 

letters found elsewhere*®, wherein we find him informing Raja Ram Narain 
about his ‘safe’ arrival at Benares on the 1st of the month” (Moharram) and 

thanking him for his kindness which enabled him, inspite of his “excessive 

weakness” “not to feel the hardships of the journey.” 

THE MANSABDARI SYSTEM IN THE REIGN OF JAHANGIR. 

Dr. Banarsi Prasad Saksena, M. A., Ph. D., Allahabad University. 

Much has been written on the Mansabdari system of the Moghuls and 

numerous controversies have been raised which in spite of long drawn out 

discussions still await final solutions. Of these, we are familiar with the variety 

of views on the significance and interpretation of the Zat and Sawar ranks. It 

must, however, be frankly admitted that our knowledge of this system as yet, is 

superficial. We generally, for our facts, draw upon the list of mansabdars given 
in Blochmann’s translation of the Ain-i-Akbari or make our deductions from 

some stray remarks of any foreign traveller. Few have cared to analyse and 
understand the working of the system on the basis of a clear study of the 

Akbarnama, the Tuzuki Jal^n|;iri, the Padshahnamas, or the Alamgirnama. 

The Moghul sovereigns were very particular to see that a careful record is 

made of the orders which they issued with regard to the military promotions of 
their officers. This was as it should be. The existence of their Empire 

depended upon the efficiency of their army, hence their watchful regard for 

the working of the Mansabdari system. Abul Fazl has noted down all cases 
of promotions and fresh appointments in the Akbarnamah. Jahangir was also 

very particular in this respect and the Tuzuk is full of the account of promotions 

and appointments. It is true that sometimes memory fails him and he either 
repeats a fact mentioned before, or makes a wrong entry, or even as in the 

case of Abul Hasan Shihab Khani contents himself by saying that he was made 

39 Insba Ulfat. 

40 Dastur, 233 b. 
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vizier of Bengal without mentioning his rank or mansab. Nevertheless, if 

we collect the copious information and collate it properly, which requires 

much patient labour, we can arrive at some fruitful conclusions which are 

not patent to us at the beginning. And what holds true of the reign of 

Jahangir is also applicable to the reigns of Shahj^^han and Aurangzib. If it 

were possible to prepare a card-index of the mansabdars of the sixteenth and 

seventeenth centuries, indicating their gradual promotions, many controversies 

which rage round the mansabdari system would automatically disappear. 

Jt would then be possible to point out with a fair degree of accuracy 

to the number of mansabs obtaining in the reign of a particular monarch, and 

very likely also the number of mansabdars in existence in a given year. We 

may then be also in a position to determine the principles which governed 

promotions, taking it for granted that they did not depend merely on the 

whim and caprice of the grand Moghul. Furthermore, our knowledge of the 

development and deterioration of the system would be based on known facts. 

At the moment we only base our conclusions on certain vague generalisations. 

It may be urged that the Maasir-uFUmara furnishes us with this kind of 

information, and hence it is unnecessary to waste our time on such a fruitless 

effort. But this work suffers from certain limitations. Undoubtedly it is 

very exhaustive, but its facts must needs be checked. 

It has been possible for me to make a close study of the Tuzuk-i-Jahangiri 

with special reference to the problems of the Mansabdari system, and the 

interesting facts which I have gleamed through the pages of this work are set 

forth in the following lines. 

As to the number of mansabdars of various ranks, only a rough estimate 

can be made. Jahangir remarks that he has recorded the names and account of 

mansabdars of 500 Zat only, though he mentions one case of a mansabdar of 

400, two of 300, and two of 200. A tentative conclusion which may be drawn 

is that the lowest rank in the reign of Jahangir was of 200. All grades above 

7000 were reserved for members of the royal family. Dawar Bakhsh S. Khusrau 

held the rank of 8000-f-3000, Shahriyar of l2000-f-8000, Khurram or Shahj'ahan 

30,000+20,000, and Parwez of 40,000+30,000. 

It should be indicated in this connection that with the exception of 

Shahjahan who obtained promotion on the ground of his merits, all others 

received advancements in their grades under the stress of peculiar circumstances, 

the most important of them being the rebellidti of the favourite child of 

Jahangir. Dawar Bakhsh obtained this high rank on the occasion of his 

appointment to the government of Gujarat. Being a minor Khan A'zam was 

appointed his tutor. Shahriyar was promoted to this rank firstly, because he 

was the son-in-law of the Empress, and secondly, because he was asked to 
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lead the Qandahar campaign, on Shahjahan's refusal to undertake the task. 

As to Parwez, he was given this high rank because he was appointed to deal 
with the rebel Bidaulat i.e. Sbahjahan His rank should be higher than that of 

his rival and younger brother. 

Of the five incumbents of the rank of 7000 Zat o Sawar Itmad>ud«Daulah, 
Khan A'zam, Shahrukh Mirza and Abdur-Rahim Khan Khanan were very 

intimately connected with the Imperial house. The fifth, Mahabat Khan was 

for a considerable time out of favour, having been posted to the distant 
province of Bangesh. It was after the outbreak of Sbahjahan that he was 

summoned to the Court and appointed to the high command with the title of 

Madar*us>Sultanate. But although he was out of favour many smaller officers 

were promoted to higher grades on his recommendation. Qiyam Khan on his 

recommendation was promoted to the rank of l500-f-800 and Sardar Afghan to 

that of 1000+400. His son Amanullah, entitled Khanahzad Khan, seems to 

have been a special favourite of the Emperor, because he seems to have received 

rapid lifts from one rank to another. Within a short .space of five or six years 

he rose from the rank of 1000+300 to that of 5000+50C0. 

In the next grade, that of 6000+6000, there were during the whole 

reign 9 incumbents. Of these six died during the lifetime of Jahangir, only 
three survived him. These were Asaf Khan, Abdullah Khan Firoz Jang, and 

Kb an Jahan Lodhi. 

There was only one officer Mirza Rustam who held the rank of 5500 
+ 1500. 

The following table will give an idea of the number of mansabdars in 
other ranks:— 

Rank (Mansab). 

5000 
4500 

4000 

3500 
3000 

2500 

2000 

1800 

1700 

1500 

1300 
1200 

1000 

900 

Number of Mansabdars, 

24 
1 

15 

4 
24 

16 

59 
2 

1 

32 
2 

4 

61 

2 
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Rank (Mansab). Number of Mansabdars. 

800 12 

700 14 

600 14 

550 1 

500 19 

400 1 

300 2 

200 2 

The above analysis brings out fairly clearly some of the salii nt features of 

the gradation of ranks. The most popular grades were those of 1000 and 2000. 

Only occasionally appointments were made in the grades of 4500, 1800, 1700, 

1300, 900, and 550. Furthermore from 2000 to 5000 the grades varied by 

500, and below 2000 by 100; exception should be made in the case of the 

grade of 550. 

It has been asserted by some writers that under Jahangir the liberal 

policy of toleration underwent a slight reaction in the opposite direction. It 

is a fact that during this reign the number of Hindus occupying high mansabs 

declined. Out of the total number of 326 mansabdars there were only 51 

Hindu mansabdars whose grade-wise distribuntion was as follows :— 

5000 6 

4000 2 

35'0 1 

3000 6 

2500 4 

2000 10 

1500 7 

1000 6 

800 2 

600 3 

500 4 

Thus the highest rank to which a Hindu officer could aspire was that of 

5000. At it was, this grade, so far as the Hindus were concerned, was reserved 

only for the chiefs of semi-independent states. Mirza Raja Bhao Singh, 

Maharaja Bir Singh Deo, Raja Gaj Singh, Raja Jagannath S. Biharimal, Karan 

S. Rana Amar Singh, Ray Ray Singh numbered among the members of this 

rank. The two Hindu members of the 4000 grade, Mahe Singh and Pratap 

Bherji of Baglana were also Rajput chiefs. Raja Basu who held the rank of 

3500+ ? was a favourite of the Emperor, he having rendered very devoted and 

loyal service to him. The same holds true for the ranks of 3000 and 2500, 
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which in effect means that the highest grade to which a Hindu officer could 

expect promotion was that of 2000. But this under-representation of Hindus in 

the Imperial Service should not necessarily convey the impression that this 

community was living less happily in the reign of Jahangir than was the case 

during the reign of his predecessor. It is only an indication of the trend of the 

Imperial policy which for various reasons fructified under Aurangzib. 

But more important than the policy of communal representation were 

the principles which formed the method of promotion from one rank to the 

other. Generally promotions were gradual and were given in recognition of 

meritorious services to the State. The cases of Dilawar Khan who conquered 

Kishtwar, of Dilir Khan, of Ibrahim Khan (Hushang), of Mukarram Khan 

who conquered Khurda, of Raja iVIan Gwaliori, of Khwaja jahan (Dust Md.) 

are instances in point. But gradual promotion did not preclude the possibility 

of rapid promotion. The case of Khanahzad Khan S. Mahabat Khan has 

already been cited. Other such instances may also be given. 

Occasionally officers received sudden promotions. Even in such cases 

it was not the whim or merely the sweet will of the monarch which decided 

them. On the other hand, it was the record of some brilliant or useful service 

done to the State (and the State meant also the person of the sovereign) which 

determined the question of promotion. Lala Beg (Baz Bahadur) was promoted 

in the first year of the reign from 1500 to 4000. Jah.angir in this connection 

observes, “Baz Bahadur is of the lineage of the special attendants of our family ; 

his father’s name was Nizam, and he was librarian to Huinayum.” Another such 

case is of Raja Basu who was promoted from 1500 to 5500. Again the Emperor 

is not reluctant to offer an explanation. ‘I raised Raja Basu, who was a 

landholder of the hilly country of the Punjab, and who from the time I was 

prince till now has kept the way of service and sincerity towards me.’ 

Promotions were also made on the basis of recommendations of superior 

officers. Ibrahim Khan ^akhshi of the Deccan was promoted to a higher grade 

on the recommendation of Khan Khanan, Abdullah Khan Feroz Jang and Saif 

Khan Barah on that of Prince Khurram, Ali Quli Darman on that of Bahadur 

Khan of Qandahar, 

On the retirement or death of an officer his relations were provided with 

employment in the State service. For instance when Khan Dauran (Shah Beg 

Khan) retired from State service his eldest son Shah Muhammad and his third 

son Asad B^ were promoted to higher ranks. Ibrahim Husain (Khush Khabar K.) 

was promoted in recognition of his father’s services in Bangesh. Allah Yar Khan 

b. Murawwat Khan was promoted for the sacrifice of his brother against the 

Maghs. Sadr Jahan was promoted to a higher rank on the demise of his 

father-in-law Murtaza Khan, 
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The iDStances of scms being promoted to military ranks are too numerous 

to mention. Prominent among them are those of Raja Gaj Singh, Akbar 

Quli Gakkar S. Jalal Khan, Ali Muhammad and Bahadur, sons of Saif K. 

Barah, Mihr Ali S, Faridum Khan Birlas, Shadman S. Sultan Husain of Pakli, 

Ibraim Husain S. Mirza Sharafuddin Husain Kashghari. Dilawar Khan’s sons 

were enrolled in mansabs on the former’s death, and so were the sons and 

relations of Raj Singh and Shah Nawaz Khan who died on active service in the 

Deccan. But all these cases of promotion and appointment are of persons who 

were in a position to discharge their military duties satisfactorily. 

When, however, notice is taken of the case of Izzat Khan who died fighting 

in Bangesh we see the beginning of a very reprehensible tendency which 

accentuated during the succeeding reign much to the detriment and deterioration 

of the military organisation of the great Moghuls. Jahangir remarks, "As 

Izzat Khan had left a son of very tender years, keeping before my eyes, that 

discerned the truth, his life sacrifices, I gave him (the child) a mansab and a 

Jagir so that those left behind should not be scattered abroad, and others might 

have increased hope.’ Had the Emperor limited his benevolence to the grant 

of a pension only and not assigned a mansab to the child of tender years, he 

would have prevented much of future degeneration in the army. 

That mansabs were not granted for military service alone is brought home 

to our mind by the numerous interesting cases on record in the Tuzuk. Ma‘mur 

Khan (Abdul Karim) was given a mansab in recognition of his building repair 

work at Mandu. Mahzuz Khan (Mulla Asad) a story>teller was a mansabdar, 

and so were Maktub Khan, Superintendent of the Imperial Library, and Kalyan 

Ajaib'dust an engraver. Even the physicians and men of letters held mansabs. 

This is a brief review of the conditions of the Mansabdari System in 

the reign of Jahangir. A close scrutiny of the Tuzuk is certain to yield more 

varied and interesting information. 

SO 
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PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS 

THE PHASES AND SOURCES OF SIKH HISTORY. 

PHncipal Sita Ram KoIili» Government Inter. College, Hosbiarpur. 

My first word tonight must be one of my grateful thanks to the 
Council of the Indian Historical Congress for the position of honour 

and responsibility to which they have cajled me. I am glad that in the 

programme of the Congress a separate section has been assigned to 
the History of the Sikhs and the Punjab, which offers, I need scarcely 

assure you, a particularly rich and extensive field for research to the 
historian and the archaeologist. Within the boundaries of the Province 

and its immediate neighbourhood are to be found some of the most 

ancient ruins aud monuments going back to the Aryan and Pre-Aryan 
periods. As you know, the recent excavations of the mounds at 

Harappa, in the district of Montgomery, have brought to light the 

cultural relics of the Pre-historic age and at a single bound pushed back 
our knowledge of Indian civilisation by more than three thousand years. 

There are scores of other mounds, big and small, spread all over the 
Province that are still awaiting exploration and might yield to the spade 
of the excavator the hidden cultural treasures of centuries. In my own 

district there exist at least half a dozen mounds, apparently of great 
historical interest. Now and again one may see even the surface 
strewn with valuable finds, which require closer attention at the hands 
of the antiquarian than they have yet received. 

This is especially the case after an unusually heavy shower. I 

have myself seen pieces of painted pottery picked up at one or two of 

these mounds with rosette and open lotus designs surrounded by a 
pearl border—the motif usually associated with the well-known Sassasian 

Art. A small village called Hathi-wind, not far from my native town 
(Bhera), is ascribed by tradition to have been the site where Alexander 
built a stable for his elephants. The village, it is said, lay on his way 

in the course of his famous march through this part of the country before 
he met and defeated the forces of Porus. 

Apart from these mounds and sites of old, the exploration of 
which falls strictly within the sphere of the Archaeological Department, 
th^r^ oth^r fields of investigation, which do not demand much of 
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technical skill or knowledge on the part of a research student. The 
collection of folk-lore bearing upon well-known political and social 
events of the last few hundred years will alone require and repay the 

labours of at least a couple of dozen young men belonging to different 

parts of the Province. 

That rich stores of folk-lore are not only extant, but afford 

valuable material for the construction or elucidation of the accounts of 
important events, is within my own personal knowledge. Amongst 

other important but yet unexplored sources of the social and political 

history of the Punjab may be mentioned small collections of books 
and relics in possession of private families in different parts of the 

Province. The search for these is also awaiting organisation under 
competent supervision and direction and will, I am sure, when taken 
in hand bear ample fruit. The most important direction in which 

extensive research work can and should be undertaken in the Punjab, 
without delay, relates, of course, to the history of the Sikhs. There 

is, I need hardly assure you, abundant valuable material available in 

the Province today, even though it may be scattered in various shapes 

and forms. I wish to draw the particular attention of those who may 

be interested in this important question—and in this category I include 
the European official as well as our university teachers—and appeal to 

them to see to it that no further time is lost in collecting the valuable 

material which a little earnest search may make available today but 
which may be lost to-morrow. I know, and I feel most keenly, 

that every year is exacting a heavy toll in a hundred different ways. 

I have purposely appealed to the European official. We, in the Punjab, 

know what we owe to thf labours of scholars like J. D. Cunningham, 

Sir Richard Temple, Sir John Thompsom, Sir Edward Maclagan for 
helping to reconstruct the history of the Province from materials which 
were rapidly becoming extinct. More than eighty years have already 
passed since the Sikhs ceased to rule over the Province and the 
ranks of the men belonging to the older generation, who may be able to 
narrate contemporary exploits and adventures, are daily thinning out. 

From time to time individual lovers of research have, no doubt, 
been making efforts in this direction and in this connection I cannot 

but refer to the self-imposed labours of Giani Gian Singh, who is said 

to have made extensive toure over, the Province an4 collecte4 
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voluminous material, both from books and traditions, which he published 
in several respectable volumes in the nineties of the last century. A 
similar search was undertaken by the late S. Karam Singh. It is a pity 

that he was not spared to complete his work or put his material into 
shape. Some of the articles published by him from time to time seem 
to show that he brought to bear upon his labours a more critical 

understanding than his predecessor. While we cannot but be grateful 
to these workers for what they were able to achieve, we cannot lose 

sight of the fact that the work of collecting, sifting and collating the 
material on Sikh history, as in other similar fields, needs organised and 
sustained effort under expert supervision and guidance. 

The history of the Sikhs may be said to extend over a period of 

about four hundred years from the birth of Guru Nanak in 1469 to 

the annexation of the Punjab by the British in 1849. This period of 

four centuries reveals several distinct phases and each phase requires for 
its right understanding and proper perspective both an intensive and 

extensive study of the other phases and stages. During the first 
seventy years after the death (1538) of Guru Nanak, the founder of the 

Sikh movement, the most marked feature of this protestant movement 

was the formation and building up of the church. 
Even the elements that go to make a theocratic state were clearly 

visible during this period and the fact was noticed even by a 
contemporary writer, Mohsin Fani. The second Sikh Guru invented 
a simplified script which subsequently became the vehicle of Sikh 
religious literature, an essential element for the consolidation of the 

doctrine of the church. The third Guru organised the ma&ands or the 
district bishoprics ; the fourth, in his turn, secured the gift of the plot 

of land from the emperor Akbar where he built the holy Tank and laid 

the foundation of Amritsar, the sacred place of pilgrimage of the 
community. The fifth Guru, Arjan Dev, compiled the Granth Sahib 

or the sacred book of the Sikhs, besides organising the finances of the 
church on more systematic lines. It is easy to see, from what I have 

indicated, how step by step each Guru made the work of his immediate, 

predecessor the necessary basis for his own contribution to the building 
of the church as a theocratic state. 

The execution of the fifth Guru in 1608 marks the beginning of 
the transformation of this religious community into a community of 
born warriors, whose deeds of valour are a matter of conversation in 
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military circles in India. The emperor, Jahangir, as he tells us himself 
in his diary, viewed the movement with strong suspicion and disfavour 
and was looking for an excuse to suppress it. The opportunity soon 

came, when prince Khusro, raising the standard of revolt against his 
father, paid a visit to Guru Arjan Dev and sought his blessings in his 

struggles against the emperor. The Guru was arraigned for treason 

by the order of Jahangir and was tortured to death in prison.* 

His son Hargobind, who ascended the gaddi, is said to have 

added to the traditional symbols of priesthood two swords: one 
representing his resolve to avenge the wrong done to his father and 

the other as a symbol to prepare his followers in self-defence against 

further aggressions of the rulers of the day. 

The struggle thus commenced, combined with increasing 

determination on their part not to submit in spite of the severest 

persecution and torture, became more and more bitter as time went 

on with heavy losses to the Sikhs. The execution of the ninth Guru, 

Tegh Bahadur, by the order of Aurangzeb in 1675, added fuel to the 
fire, as it were. The birth and the struggles of the Khalsa under 

the leadership of Tegh Bahadur’s son and successor, Gobind Singh, 

against the forces of the Mughal government form a chapter of great 
importance and interest to the student of political and religious history; 
but it will be out of place for me to refer to it even briefly here. But 

we all know that Gobind Singh completely transformed the community 
and inspired them with the living faith that God was with them and 

that, whatever the reverses they might suffer, theirs would be the final 
victory, "^hirian kolo ba\ marawan, 1£an main Gobind nam ral{hawan " (Call 

me by the name of Gc^bind only if I succeed in making the sparrows 

kill the hawks.) And, verily, he did perform the miracle. 
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After Gobind Singh’s death in 1708, there was little danger, as 

Cunningham aptly observes, of the Sikhs lapsing into the order of 

monks and mendicants. They were definitely put on the path of 

developing into a military community. The actual struggle that was 

launched by Gobind Singh was carried on for another eight years by 

Banda Bahadur, whom the Guru had nominated as his successor to 

carry on the secular guidance of the community. Since Aurangzeb had 

also died a little time before the passing away of the Guru, the confusion 

attending the war of succession to the Mughal throne made the task of 

Banda Bahadur easier than it might have been. At one time Banda 

actually seized the entire territory between the Sutlej and the Jumna 

and appointed his own officials in place of the Mughal officers.^ But in 

1716 Banda was captured and tortured to death. 

The first important phase in the history of the Sikhs may be 

said to have come to a close with the death of Banda Bahadur. During 

these one hundred and seventy years Sikhism had undergone a great 

change. Severe sufferings, hardships and countless vicissitudes of fortune 

under the Mughal rule had transformed that little brotherhood of simple, 

earnest and religious-minded people, which Nanak had founded, into a 

community imbued with a spirit of sacrifice and aspiring to win political 

freedom. Now this forms an interesting period for study and research, 

for, since the publication of Dr. Sir G. C. Narang’s little book on the 

“Transformation of Sikhism," twenty five years ago, no further work 

has been done on this period. 

During the second stage in their career, which extends over a 

period of about half a century dating from the death of Banda, the 

enormity of Sikh sufferings increases, leaving imprinted on the community 

new traits of character and furnishing them with a rich legacy of 

tradition, of unflinching faith in the righteousness of their cause, patient 

endurance under the severest forms of physical persecution and torture 

and of service to all. Some of the saddest incidents in the life of the 

followers of the Guru, indeed, took place during the period. What 

Guru Gobind Singh had taught and exemplified in his own person, tens 

of thousands of the faithful Khalsa carried out in their lives even after 

the inspiring personality of the leader had been removed from their 

<>»»> ju» glyi. 5 Jh«I ^1^ om 2 
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.mi<ist. The authenticated stones of the sufferings of Sikh martyrs 
borne with the glow of cheerfulness-on their faces and the words ^'‘Wah-i- 

‘‘gum, Wah-i^um" on their lips are unsurpassed in the history of any other 

.community. 
This brings me to the year 1739 which forms a memorable 

landmark in Sikh no less than in all-India history. The small 
community of the Sikhs was almost about to be wiped off by their 
Mughal persecutors, when Nadir Shah appeared on the scene followed, 
soon after, by a kindred spirit, Ahmad Shah Abdali, whose repeated 
free-booting incursions from 1748 to 1765 I have described in a short 
paper submitted before this Congress. The extensive marauding 

activities of these two invaders brought about a complete collapse of the 

Mughal administrative machinery. As might have been expected, the 

resulting political confusion not only put an end to the sufferings of the 

Sikhs, but it also opened a fresh chapter of hope and struggle in their 
chequered history. Coming out into the open from their hiding places 

in the hills, they now embarked upon a career of offensive and defensive 
warfare against the Abdali and his Afghan hordes from Central Asia. 
In the course of these une<Jual conflicts they were forced to develop 

-novel devices, subterfuges and methods of fighting and strategy, which 
stood them in good stead and eventually helped them in rolling back 
the tide of the invaders across the Indus. 

The fifty years from the death of Banda Bahadur to the final 
retreat of Ahmad Shah from the Punjab forin a most stirring period in Sikh 

history, when the little community was fighting for its very existence against 

immense odds literally with its back to the wall. The general outlines 

of these anxious and e^ehtful years are well known, but there is a great 
deal more that awaits patient and intelligent investigation and elucidation 

at the hands of the careful and critical student, of history, with special 
reference to various points, such as the nature and extent of persecutions, 

the sustained patience and suffering of the victims, the causes which led 
to their rapid recuperation, the life and death struggles in which they 

were engaged and the final triumphant emergence of the community 
strong and united enough to seize the sceptre of sovereignty under 
their brave leaders. So far as my information goes, no one has yet 

studied this period as a whole in a critical and scientific spirit, though 
one of my friends and pupils, Dr. H. R. Gupta, has lately been engaged 
with, I belive,. promising results on a portion of this period. 
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The second half 6f the eighteenth century (1765-1799) reveals 

another very important phase of Sikh history. The territorial conquests 

in the beginning were made jointly by various group leaders or Jathedars, 

as they were then known. All of them had pooled their small military 

resources in or about the year 1748 and had agreed to fight under 

the common flag of the Dal Khalsa or the National Army of the 

Panth. These joint conquests were subsequently partitioned by the 

confederate chiefs or Jathedars. A chief, in turn, divided his share 

amongst his own leaders of small bands, who again sub-divided their 

shares amongst their own dependents in agreement with the general 

custom of sub-infeudation. Twelve such chiefships or w/Ws, as they 

are known in Sikh history, each independent of the other, rise into 

prominence during this period. The constitution of a w/W or chiefship 

seems to have been based on more than one political principle. While 

the fundamental democratic elements of the Panth, as organised by 

Guru Gobind Singh, were not quite absent from its composition, the 

independent feudal chiefships that had now come into existence were 

more and more usurping the position and power of the commonwealth 

and, as was natural to expect under the circumstances, the head of 

every small principality was more anxious to increase his own individual 

resources and influence than to look after the interests of the 

commonwealth. These personal or selfish interests were further stimulated 

by the fact that the collapse of the Abdali monarchy had once for all 

ibmoved the common danger, which had brought the several chiefs 

together into a confederacy and so far kept them united with each 

other. Before long we find them involved iri serious conflicts with one 

another and the closing decade and a half of the 18th century is mainly 

a record of these bitter feuds and unseemly struggles for supremacy. 

There is abundant though widely scattered material available relating to 

this interesting period of Sikh history. This again, is an altogether 

virgin field for the research student. 

I come now to the last phase of this long, and interesting story, 

namely the period of monarchy which is associated with that remarkable 

man, Maharaja Ranjit Singh, who now appeared on the stage. 

' Step by step, the rise from theocracy to theocratic common¬ 

wealth, then to feudal chiefships and from feudal chiefships to monarchy 

itiay seem to be a process of natural and even irresistible evolution, but, 

in saying so, no one'should forget that, at each turn from one phase to 
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another, a supreme effort was required on the part of one or more 

gifted leaders or of the community as a whole. Kan jit Singh was 

one such gifted leader. The creation of the monarchy at this time 

was, I believe, a dire necessity for the Khalsa. But it is only a man 

of genius and resource who can follow the one road out of many that 

leads to success. Situated as the Khalsa was, at the beginning of the 

19th century “to be or not to be” was not merely a philosophical question 

with which they were now confronted. It was a matter of stern reality. 

On almost three sides, south, west and north, they were hemmed in 

by the Afghan principalities of Multan, the trans-Indus districts of 

Peshawar and the Derajat and of Kashmir, from whom they could 

expect no quarter. Nor would the neighbouring Rajput hill chiefs of 

Jammu and Kangra mind extending their own territories at their 

expense, should an opportunity offer itself. Finally, by taking the 

Mughal emperor under their protecting wings, the British had extended 

their influence right up to the banks of the Jumna in 1804. When we 

add to these the fact that recent mutual quarrels of the misoh had made 

all of them exceedingly weak, we can form some idea of the perils with 

which the Sikhs were beset. Ranjit Singh clearly visualised the 

situation and feeling the urge of necessity set to work to save the Khalsa 

by bringing the various independent chiefships under one flag. There 

was no half way house. 

The history of the monarchy and its collapse occupies the whole 

of the first half of the 19th century, and the first-hand material, bot4i 

published and unpublished, for a detailed study of it is so abundant 

that a number of research students may profitably be occupied with it 

for years. A beginni^jg ‘ in this direction has, already, been made but 

a good deal more is needed. Twenty five years ago when Professor 

Ramsay Muir came to Lahore at the invitation of the Punjab 

University he approached the Government to enquire if there were, in 

their custody, any record of the Sikh government, the immediate 

predecessors of the British in the Province. Sir Michal O’Dwyer, 

the then Lieutenant Governor and his secretary, the late Sir John 

Thompson, got interested in the matter and, on search being made, 

a voluminous unassorted mass of ministerial papers relating to the 

civil and military administration of the Sikh rule was rescued from 

oblivion in the dark and dingy Record Rooms of the Secretariat Offices. 

There these papers had been lying pell-mell for seventy long yea^. 
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If I may be excused a personal reference, I can claim to have had the 

privilege of untying the knots of the bundles for the first time after 

these loose sheets had been promiscuously collected in bundles and 

thrown away at the time of the Annexation of the Punjab, It took 

me a considerable time to struggle through this material single-handed 

and then arrange, sift and catalogue the whole of it. This valuable 

record has now opened out new and rich fields of research which, 

thanks to the Punjab Government, are available for examination by 

any lover of the history of Sikh times, A regular Public Record Office 

was instituted in 1922 where necessary facilities are offered to all 

earnest workers. 

Valuable as these records are, they form only a part of those 

which exist, I am sure, in the possession of private persons, specially 

those whose families were connected, in one form or another, with the 

administration of Ranjit Singh and his successors. For, it must be 

borne in mind that, except for the official documents relating to Finance 

and other papers of exceptional importance, all files and papers were, as 

a rule, kept in the personal custody of mims/iis or the Superior Secretariat 

Staff. There were no regular record rooms belonging to different State 

Departments, and no system of linked files such as we have in modern 

days. When the Sikh rule came to an end, it were mostly the Army 

Pay Rolls, Revenue and Jagir papers and the Treasury Account sheets 

that came into the hands of the British officers, all other documents 

remaining in the custody of the Secretariat staff or the ministers. 

Apart from the official records, there are valuable books, diaries, 

and contemporary correspondence extant bearing upon the social and 

political history of the time. Only recently some important 

correspondence between Sardar Chattar Singh Attariwala and his son 

concerning certain events in the second Anglo-Sikh War accidently 

came into the possession of the Punjab Record Office. Now, neither 

the descendents of Chattar Singh nor others were aware even of the 

existence of these letters. The collection was discovered with a private 

individual, one of whose ancestors had been a iWunshi in the service of 

the Attariwala Sardars. We made copies of these letters and returned 

the originals to the owner. I have, in my own possession, a small 

leather-bound volume containing military orders (parwana^ issued by 

Maharaja l^anjit Singh during the year 1834. It was given to me by 

the late Rai Sahib,Pandit Wazir Chand Trikha out of his j^luable 
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collection on a variety of subjects. The copy appears to have originally 

come from the private collection of Lala Das Mai, who was connected 

with the family of Lala Ram Ditta Mai, one of the Secretariat Officers 

of Ranjit Singh. Again, it was only the other day that. a friend of 

mine got hold of a private Diary of Raja Dina Nath, one of the most 

trusted ministers at the Sikh court. The Raja, as we know, played a 

most important 'part in the turmoil that ensued after the death of 

Maharaja Ranjit Singh, and his Diary will, doubtless, help to clear up 

many imperfectly known incidents of those dark days. Another 

contemporary Diary, extending over twenty manuscript volumes, was 

brought to the notice of the public, for the first time, by Sir Abdul 

Qadir in a paper which he read before the Punjab Historical Society 

some twenty years ago. The writer of this Diary, Maulvi Ahmad 

Bakhsh, was a great oriental scholar of the day and in his capacity as 

a private tutor to their sons he had easy access into the homes of some 

of the courtiers of the Sikh Darbar. The Diary, or rather a personal 

memoir, contains innumerable references to the day to day events that 

came under the observation of this wide-awake and influential citizen 

of Lahore; and is likely to yield on examination a good deal of important 

information. 

I have referred to these few instances picked out of a great many 

similar cases only to show how easy it is—of course given a properly 

organised association interested in the work—to rescue the valuable 

historical material - that exists in abundance in the Province. I am 

afraid I have tried your patience too much. My only excuse is that 

I have all along attached great importance to the study of Sikh 

history and I have ^elt that for its construction all possible sources 

must be fully tapped. Whatever material has already been lost for 

good for want of early attention on the part of students of history 

cannot be helped but what remains must be saved from the 

ravages of time without any further delay. In dwelling upon the 

various phases of Sikh history, I have been anxious—I hope not more 

anxious than the importance of the subject deserves—to interest as mapy 

fellow-workers as possible in the subject so as to save the material from, 

further destruction or loss. 

I cannot conclude my address without offering yoir niy sincere 

and 4K>rdial thanks for the indulgence which ^ yop ihaye throughout so 

kipdly oxtended to me. __ 
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AHMAD SHAH ABDALl AND THE SIKHS, 
{1748-1765). 

Principal Sita Ram Kohli, Hoahiarpur 

After the lapse of well-nigh two hundred years, Ahmad Shah better known 

to historians as Ahmad Shah Abdali, is a household word in the Punjab. His 

repeated invasions of the province between 1748 and 1765 spread panic and 

consternation whenever he made his appearance. The traditions of these terrible 

times still linger in popular memory and conjure up a picture of loot, slaughter, 

and general insecurity of life and property. KMda pita lAhe dd rahrpdd Ahmad 

Shah dd (Eat, drink and.be merry, for surely Ahmad Shah will snatch away 

what you will leave behind), is a well-known saying which is ’used as a current 

coin in every part of the Punjab. 

It was left to the Sikhs alone not only to save the province from the 

clutches of the ruthless and determined Afghan invader but after some decades, 

to roll back the tide of foreign invasions and establish themselves across the 

Indus with an equally unenviable reputation. As is well known, Hari Singh 

Nalwa, one of the generals of Ran jit Singh imitating the method of Ahmad 

Shah Abdali spread terror in the lands east of Afghanistan and attached them 

permanently to the dominions of his master. His name is still held in dread 

by the people of those regions and Afghan mothers would still frighten into 

silence their unruly or fretful children by the words Haria Rdghle dd, “Look, 

Hari Singh has come". 

The struggle between Ahmad Shah Abdali and the Sikhs extends over 

a period of more than one decade and may be said to represent one of the most 

stirring periods in the history of the Sikhs. The province of the Punjab, as 

we know, was ceded to the Afghans by the emperor of Delhi in March 1752. 

The transfer presented a serious problem to the Khalsa. They had been 

fighting against the forces of the decadent Mughal Empire for their own 

political emancipation, but now they found themselves face to face with a 

stronger and a sterner foe. However, they did not lose heart. They were 

fighting for a sacred cause and not for the first time they prepared themselves 

to stake their all for it. They were now better equipped for the fray 

they had been at any previous stage in their history. The period of fifteen 

years following the invasion of Nadir Shah in 1739 was of immense value to 

them. The year 1739 became, in fact, a starting point in their renewed career. 

Taking advantage of the political confusion which overtook the province after 

Nadir’s departure, the Sikhs came out of their hiding places and began to 

wreak vengeance upon their erstwhile persecutors. In this work of defying the 
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authority of the crippled government of the Punjab, ^hey were soon joined by 

many other refractory clans like the Jats, the Bhaties, the Runghars, and the 

Gujjars. In the absence of a strong, settled government in the Province, the 

forces of lawlessness once let loose went on gathering strength and momentum. 

Worse still was, perhaps, the fact that while the province was still suffering 

from the after effects of the fearful incursion of Nadir Shah, it was visited 

with as many as half a dozen visitations in the shape of Abdali and his 

plundering hordes repeated at short intervals. 

Such a confusing state of affairs cannot but be a tempting invitation to 

the intrepid and adventurous spirits and the ranks of the Khalsa began rapidly 

to swell. There was, indeed, no dearth of soldiers in the country. The art 

of war was still in its infancy. Primitive weapons like the sword, the spear, 

the lance and the dagger which demanded little or no technical knowledge 

were still in general use so that every able-bodied man was a potential soldier. 

A dare-devil young man did not find it difficult to collect around him a number 

of equally bold and ambitious men from his village or clan and offer his 

services to a chief on such terms as he could secure for himself and his men. 

The chiefs—there were many such in the province at the time—were, on their 

own part, only too glad to welcome accession to their strength. As many as 

sixty Sikh group-leaders or Jathed&rs appeared on the scene.* 

But each of these leaders was guided more or less by his personal 

ambition and was content with small scale predatory excursion on his own 

account There was no unity of command and the various Jatheddrs were 

scarcely combined for a collective purpose. The anarchical condition of the 

country, however, invited and held out hopes of greater success with organised 

military operations. Some of the more talented and far-seeing Sikh leaders 

were not slow to realise the necessity no less than the advantage of organising 

the entire resources of the community. The aged leader, Sardar Kapoor 

Singh, who had been guidiqg the movements of the Khalsa during the hard 

times was still active Ind commanded the highest esteem and regard amongst 

his co-religionists. In consultation with other senior members of the Paijih 

he succeeded in persuading all the group-leaders who bad gathered together 

at Amritsar on the occasion of the Besakbi festival in April 1748, to pool their 

resources for national service. The entire fighting strength of the Khalsa 

was thus brought to serve the common cause and was given the name of 

the Dal Khalsa or the National Army of Sikhs. The chief command of the 

united forces was entrusted by common consent to S. Jassa Singh Ahluwalia, 

a daring and gifted soldier—the progenitor of the ruling family of Kapurthala. 

Some sort of re-grouping of the JatMa was also made and many of the minor 

groups were mo-ged into bigger ones so that the entire Dal was distributed 

1 All-nd'Pia, to bis 'Aral ifama’ even reproduces tbe names of these leaders. V 
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into twelve big divisions each of varying strength but with its distinctive 

badge and banner. 

It may be remarked in this connection that the foundation of the National 

Army synchronises with the first invasion of Ahmad Shah with whose Central 

Asian hordes they were destined before long to measure swords. 

The prolonged persecution at the hands of the Mughal rulers of the day 

combined with their firm faith in the ultimate success of their cause had inured 

the Khalsa to hardships which would have broken the spirit of many others in 

similar circumstances. During all these years they had slowly developed new 

traits of character which now stood them in good stead. No less important 

was the fact that placed as they were about the early part of the eighteenth 

century they evolved methods of warfare and military strategy which had no 

small share in protecting them against such great odds and even in securing 

their final victory. Among other traits and methods one peculiarity of warfare 

for which they won the admiration of even their enemies was that they developed 

the methods, subterfuges, and strategy of guerrilla warfare almost to perfection, 

so that they could effectively harass and attack an enemy greatly superior in 

numbers and equipments without giving them an opportunity to utilise their 

distinct advantages in these respects. 

Besides the organisation of the National Army and the illusive methods 

of fighting which they had so fully developed, the Sikhs had also made a 

distinct advance in their political career. They had secured a firm foot-hold 

in the political life of the province and were, accordingly more interested in 

opposing the Abdali invader. The Punjab, as I have said before, was annexed 

by Ahmad Shah Abdali in 1752 but his engagements in the Central Asian parts 

of his dominions left him no lime to attend personally to the Punjab affairs 

till 1756. His deputy, Mir Muin-ul-Mulk, popularly known as Mir Manu, 

succeeded, for the time being, in enforcing order and ^vigour in his administra-* 

tion. He also undertook a well-organised campaign against the Sikhs and once 

again forced them to take shelter in the sub-mountain country. But Mir Manu 

was removed by the cruel hands of death in November, 1753, and the province 

was once again plunged into the welter of anarchy and confusion. The Emperor 

of Delhi had relinquished his authority in 1752 and the new ruler of the province, 

namely the Abdali Ahmad Shah, was not free to attend to this outpost of his 

empire. Dismemberment of the province soon set in. The Multan division in 

the south and the Jullundur doab in the north-east broke away from the 

authority of the widow of Mir Manu. The Sikhs and the other refractory tribes 

created havoc in the country. The entire machinery of government collapsed. 

The contemporary accounts seem to show that it was literally the rule of 

“Might is Right*'. Poor peasantry was being ground down by the big zimindars, 

revenues failed, trade and industry can^e to a standstill. The peace-loving 

52 
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section of the population were in dire need of protection and failing the 

government they would welcome this protection from whatever quarter it came. 
The only organised community well-equipped for purposes of offensive and 

defensive fighting who could extend this protection at the time were the Sikhs 

with their Dai or the National Army. Their gifted leaders thus seized this 
opportunity and by offering to the people the necessary protection laid the 

foundations of their future territorial and political power in the province. One 

or more units of the National Army were detailed for the purpose and placed 
in charge of the territory that was brought under the system of protectorate. 

Arrangements were also made for reinforcing these divisions in the case of 

necessity by way of building small fortresses and keeping garrisons therein. 
Small slices of territory in four out of the five doabas of the Punjab were thus 

taken under the Rakhi system and a regular source of revenues for the 

maintenance of the National Army was thus secured—the usual rate being 1/5 

of the revenue of the protected territory at the time of each harvest. These 

slices of territory served as so many tentacles that eventually helped in spreading 
their territorial sway of the Khalsa over the whole province 

Such was the position of the Sikhs when they were called upon to wage a 

prolonged defensive war against Ahmad Shah Abdali and his deputies in the 
province. The Afghan invader came to India in November 1756 and made 

what he considered a more permanent arrangement for the government of the 

Punjab. He appointed his son Timur Shah as governor and one Jehan Khan 
as his assistant. Jehan Khan was a thorough militarist who believed in the 

policy of blood and iron. He renewed the policy of persecution against the 

Sikhs but overlooked the fact that they were now much stronger and better 

organised, and had larger stakes than they had on any previous occasion. 

Moreover, Jehan Khan by his overbearing conduct had given offence to Adina 

Beg Khan, one of the cleverest of Muslim officials in the province, and at the 
moment holding charge pf the government of the Jullundur Doab. Against 

Jehan Khan’s policy of repression Adina Beg now began to cajole with the Sikhs 

and also invited the Marathas if they cared to fish in the troubled waters of 

the Punjab. Adina succeeded in his plot. The Marathas invaded the 

Punjab and with the help of the Sikhs and Adina Beg turned out the Afghans 
bag and baggage in April 1758. The Maratha forces however did not tarry 
long. Leaving the province in the charge of Adina Beg, the Maratha generals 

retired. Adina Beg had thus gained his object. He was now the master of 

the situation. He had known the Sikhs, their favourite haunts and places 
of refuge, as also their points of strength and weakness in war. No 

wonder he might succeed in suppressing them for good. But luckily for the 
Sikhs he died the same year (September 1758) when he set on bis policy 

of persecution. " . 
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Adina Beg’s death was followed by another period of a couple of years of 

misrule. The Sikhs further strengthened their position during this brief interval 

when there was no stable government in the country. In the meantime Abdali 

was preparing to avenge the insult which the Maiathas had offered to his 
son. He defeated them on the field of Panipat in January 1761 and then later 
appointed Khawaja Obed as governor of the subah of Lahore and himself 

returned to his capital in October, The Sikhs who had fled away from the 
plains on the approach of Abdali soon reappeared as he turned his back on the 
country, turned out the Afghan governor Khawaja Obed and seized Lahore in 

November 1761. They are said to have used the old Mughal mint and struck 
coins to commemorate the occasion of their triumph. 

This was perhaps a little too much which the imperious Abdali could 

brook. The Sikhs were already a source of no small trouble to the Subahs 
whom he left behind in charge of the province. But he was well aware of the 

illusive methods which they used to employ in war and successfully avoided 

an open battle. He was now determined to crush them once for all but he 
could only do this if he came upon a large body of them unawares. When, at 

Lahore, in January 1762 during his 6th invasion he found the opportunity for 

which he had long been in search. Coming to know that some forty to fifty 
thousand of them were collected near the village Koop Rahira east of Malirkotla, 

harrasing Zain Khan, governor of Sirhand, Abdali made up his mind to attack 
them. He performed on this occasion one of his most notable feats. By forced 
marches he is said to have appeared suddenly on the 10th February before the 

Sikh Army, having traversed no less than 150 miles with an army estimated 

at 30 thousand within an incredibly short time of thirty six hours only. Arrived 

at Koop, the Afghan invader lost no time in surrounding the Sikhs on three 

sides. At the same time he detailed a strong detachment with instructions to 

Zain Khan and his ally Bhikam Khan, chief of Malirkotla, to fall upon the Bahir 

or the stores and provisions camp of the Sikhs which was at the time located 

at the village Gurma some four miles to the east of Koop. The Sikhs thus taken 
unawares could not follow their traditional methods of fighting and suddenly 

brought to bay against a powerful enemy they had no choice but to adopt the 

prevailing Mughal methods of battle array. At the suggestion of Sardar Charat 

Singh—the grandfather of Maharaja Ranjit Singh, ] observes the author of 

Panth Prakasb, they immediately formed themselves into solid squares in charge 

of the best men to protect each side of the square. At the same time they also 
sent a detachment to protect the Bahir. The general command of the Dal as 

usual, was in the hands of Sardar Jassa Singh Ahluwalia. 

In this formation the Sikh Army then began to move slowly towards their 

Bahir—the only direction which was left open for them. Here, again, another 
difficulty arose. The detachment sent by Abdali succeeded in introducing a 



412 UtHti HISTORV 

wedge between the Sikh Bahir and their main body moving towards it. 'the 

Bahir was looted and cut to pieces. In spite of the great odds with which the 

Sikh Army was faced on this occasion, adds the author of the Panth Prakash, 

and in spite of the temporary confusion which was caused by the Afghan wedge 

separating the Bahir from the main body of the Khalsa Dal, they succeeded in 

rallying together and moving in formation for a distance of 18 miles. When 

evening came on both parties were tired and thirsty and were only too anxious 

to stop the fighting. On that terrible day the Sikhs are said to have lost about 

twenty two thousand men which means about half of their total strength. The 

incident is called in Sikh tradition Gullu Ghara or the great holo cast. During 

the night the Sikhs slipped away into the neighbouring desert towards Barnala 

while Ahmad Shah was too glad to get rid of such a tough enemy for the time 

being. Though, perhaps, not so great as those of the Sikhs the Afghan losses 

were sufficiently considerable to make Abdali think twice before deciding to 

pursue the Sikhs further. They had put a sufficient distance between themselves 

and the Abdali forces and being in the neighbourhood of the desert they could 

pursue N\ith success their old accustomed methods of guerrilla warfare at which 

the Abdali was at a disadvantage. 

The second occasion when the Sikh troops in considerable strength found 

themselves face to face with the forces of the redoubtable Abdali was in March 

1765, three years after the battle at Koop. They seem to have possessed such 

wonderful power, of recuperation that alter the terrible carnage at his hands 

only three years ago they were again ready to give him battle, 

A detailed account of this campaign is given in the Jangnama composed 

by Qazi Noor Mohammad who was an eye witness of events in the camp of 

Abdali himself. Like some of the other Mohamedan writers of the age Noor 

Mohammad freely indulges in using abusive epithets like Sag etc, meaning a 

dog or a cur for the Sikhs (^nd is also a little too partial to the Afghans and 

Balochi soldiers, yet he\s not altogether unfair to the Sikhs. His comments on 

the military tactics and the valour displayed by the Khalsa soldier during some 

of the combats with the Afghans speak very highly of them.^ 

Abdali, as the author of the Jangnama tells us, was specially determined 

this time to inflict such a defeat upon the Sikhs as to make it impossible for 

them to disturb the peace of the country again if not to exterminate them. 

But as soon as they got the news of his arrival the Sikhs, as was their wont, 

gave him a slip. They penetrated into the Lakhi jungle where Abdali prudently 

avoided to pursue them since “his own men and beasts, he said, might 

2 My attention to the Jangnama ^vas first drawn by my friend Dr. H. R. Gupta who came 

aerosa a copy of it in the Khalsa College Library* ^ ^ 
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tun the risk of being starved to death for want of water, fodder and other 

necessities**.® 

It so happened, says the author of Jangnama, that while the Abdali was 

still considering his plan of action, a body of Sikh troops under one Chartu, 

(meaning Sardar Charat Singh, the grandfather of Ranjit Singh) came upon the 

Afghan Qarawal or vanguard and fought a severe encounter resulting in the 

death of more than a dozen brave warriors including the officer commanding 

the guard. The skirmishing went on the whole day when at sun down the 

Sikhs managed to escape to Chak Guru (Amritsar) under the cover of darkness. 

The Abdali, accordingly started for the Chak (Amritsar) on the following 

morning. But as soon as he reached there he discovered that all the men had 

disappeared leaving behind only thirty stalwarts to guard the precincts of their 

sacred temple^. At the approach of the Afghan army, ‘the thirty* came out 

and falling upon the hordes of the enemy offered themselves as “martyrs**®. 

Finding that the Sikhs had again slipped out of hand, Abdali now returned 

to Lahore and after a halt of a few days there, he proceeded to Sirhand en route 

to Delhi. But he had hardly crossed the Sutlej when news reached him that a 

considerable force of the Sikhs had collected at Amritsar with the intention of 

giving him battle. On hearing the report the Abdali and his “Ghazis** rejoiced 

at the opportunity which they themselves were in search of. 

Ahmad Shah accordingly re-crossed the Sutlej. In the meantime a 

large Sikh force had also left Amritsar to meet him and marching with their 

accustomed rapidity had advanced far enough to block the way of the Afghan 

invader. They began to harass the flanks of the Afghan army and thus 

considerably impeded its movements, so much so that in spite of their enthusiasm 

to come face to face with the enemy “the Ghazis** took no less than seven days 

to traverse the tract lying between the Sutlej and the Beas—a distance of not 

much more than fifty miles. The author of the Jangnama describes in detail 

the various actions fought between the Sikhs and the Afghans during this march. 

In one of these combats the Abdali himself took up a position in the centre of 

his army, with a detachment of 12000 men commanded by Shah Pasand Zabt 

Begi on his right, and the Biloch forces of Kelat on his left. On the opposite 

side the Sikhs were also advancing in formation this time again under the chief 

command of Sardar Jassa Singh Ahlowalia who occupied the centre of the 

Af - L-iUU yJA) - L-ik y l^I Sj 3 

4. The author of the Jangnama whom we have followed throughout tells us that Abdali, 
even though he had left all heavy luggage at Lahore spent three nights on the way between Lahore 

and Amritsar^a distance of about thirty six miles. Abdali, probably wanted to avoid an encounter 
with the entire body of the Sikhs whoso strength he did not know. 
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force with his namesake of the Ramgarhia misal and several other sardars by 

his side. To his right were Charat Singh, Lehna Singh, Jhanda Singh and 
Jai Singh with their respective contingents. The left wing of the Khalsa Dal 
was occupied under the command of Hari Singh, Gulab Singh and Gujar Singh 

of the Bhangi miaal. 

The right wing of the Khalsa under Charat Singh and the left wing of 

the Afghan army under the Biloch chief thus found themselves face to face but 

neither of them would advance towards the other. Charat Singh continued to 

fire at the Biloch trocps from his position and the latter also returned the fire 

without making any attempt to move forward, for the Abdali had issued strict 
orders that “none of his officers was to leave his place and move forward 
towards the enemy”. Meanwhile a messanger, arrived from Abdali summoning 
the Biloch chief to the presence of the king. On appearing before the Shah, 
writes the author of the Jangnama, he was informed that the right wing of the 
Afghan army had been duped by the Sikhs. Being pressed by the enemy the 

Afghan troops had foolishly rushed out of their positions and advanced a 
considerable distance in persuit of the retreating Sikhs. The Sikhs now finding 

the original Afghan position vacant had turned round and occupied it. The 
King added that like the Tartar infidels of Central Asia the Sikhs are raining 

arrows and bullets sometime on our right and sometime on our left. Go and 

support this side and stop the confusion. “But I warn you”, he added, “not to 
leave your place under any circumstances and not to be deceived by the wily 
Sikhs retreating before you.” 

As it happened the Biloch chief himself was soon after duped by the 

tactics of the Sikhs confronting him. He was enticed to leave his place and 

move forward; and as soon as he was seperated from the main body of his 
wing, he was at once surrounded by the enemy, ft was only by dismounting 
from their horses that he and his party of about fifty followers were able by 
dogged resistance to save ^hemselves from being destroyed in a body. 

The battle continued till sunset when both sides were glad to retire from 

the field and the fighting ceased. This was one of the seven separate actions 

- 3) O3) li-W ^ aj 

* 3<> »tA 

' )'5 u)l jl Ji jjjf 

* ^ 3 ^ 5 tr/ iyi a 

- JSdiiy - oKiujT Sf 

. 1*1 ioAa tJi - y^U( Ju| ^ JxaS J3 



AHMAD SHAH ABDALI AND THE SIKHS 415 

described in the Janghama on continuous days between the Sikhs on one side 

and the Afghans under Abdali on the other. In all these combats the 

outstanding feature of the tactics of the Sikhs, as the author of the Jangnama 

points out, was “to retreat before the enemy for some distance and draw a 

portion of his troops after them, but as soon as this body was separated from 

the main army and was out of the reach of immediate re-inforcement, they 

turned back and fell upon their persuers in full strength and then “set even 

water on fire’*,® 

It may not be without interest to mention that in the same section of his 

poem where the author of the Jangnama explains the tactics of the Sikhs; 

he also bestows words of extreme eulogy and admiration upon them for 

bravery, courage and high moral sense. For instance he says “Justice and 

fairness demand that we should not call them 'dogs’ or ‘curs’—their designation 

is “Singh” meaning a lion ; and lions, indeed, they are. Every one of them 

behaves like a lion in the field of battle. Again, speaking of their courage, 

valour and dexterity and skill in war, he observes that whosoever wishes to 

learn the art of fighting must learn it from the Sikhs; for they fearlessly advance 

towards the enemy and are engaged with him in action yet they return from the 

field quite safe and alive^. No less than their bravery, the author of the 

Jangnama also admires the individual and public morality of the Sikhs. None 

of them, he says, could be accused of adultery, nor of theft. On the other hand, 

if some of the weaker sex fall into their hands, they give them the necessary 

shelter and protection.”® 

This was the seventh or the last important invasion of Abdali. It would 

appear as, indeed, the narrative in the Jangnama also reveals, though not in 
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explicit terms that the Shah losing all hope of success against the Sikhs, thought 

of more conciliatory policy and with this object in view he was only too 

glad to place one of the Sikh chiefs, Sardar Ala Singh, in independent charge 

of the important Subah of Sirhand. He stayed in Lahore for a short time and 

after making hurried arrangements for the government of the province soon 

returned to Kabul. But as soon as the news was received that the Abdali had not 

crossed the Attock, the Sikhs turned out the Afghan governor and seized Lahore. 

On receiving the report of these happenings, so goes the traditional account, 

the Abdali felt helpless and is said to have remarked • ojJi ^ 

(The manner of these people smacks of royalty.) What the Abdali was 

reported to have said was not far wrong. The Sikhs had been fighting for their 

political emancipation and they won it at last and established a sovereign state 

of their own in the Punjab. 

CONTEMPORARY SOURCES OF SIKH HISTORY 

{1469-1708) 

Sardar Ganda Singh, Khalsa College, Amritsar 

The history of the Punjab is practically the history of the Sikhs. Before 

the advent of Guru Nanak (1469*1539), the founder of Sikhism, one can hardly 

point to any really great Punjabi who may be said to have left any permanent 

mark on the pages of history, but after him we have a long list of Punjabi 

saints and warriors and saint*warriors, who are reckoned 'among the brightest 

gems in Indian history and are proclaimed to be the defenders of the Indian 

race and culture. 

In order to see wh^t change has been brought about in the character and 

destiny of the Punjab, it is enough to compare the condition of the Punjab and the 

Punjabis as they existed before the advent of Sikhism and after the Sikh Gurus 

had lived and worked for them. It is a common thing now to admire the physique, 

the bravery and patriotism of the Punjabis, and of the Sikhs in particular, who were 

seen thousands of miles away protecting the lives and honour of the French 

and the Belgians in Europe during the Great War, and of the Ethiopians not 

long ago. But it is forgotten that these very people only four hundred and 

fifty years before had not the'strength to defend their own homes and hearths 

against the Asiatic invaders and the children of the Punjab were taken away to 

be sold in the bazars of Ghazni and Kandhar. Where from has come this 

strength and the sense of honour ? Not from any change in race or diet, 'll 
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was the spirit infused by the teachings and precepts of the Sikh Gurus Nanak 

to Gobind Singh (1469-1708) that brought about this tremendous change in 

the religious, social and political outlook of the people of the Punjab. A new 

force came into existence and developed into an independent power. This 

new power of the Sikhs freed the Land of the Five Rivers from the yoke 

of the Mughal and the Abdali and transformed it into an independent 

sovereign state. And it is since then that it has come to be an independent 

historical unit. 

Again it is the Sikhs who have made it possible for the Punjab to now 

form a part—and not an unimportant part—of India. For seven hundred and 

fifty years before its independence under the Sikhs, it was more of an annexe 

to the Central Asian dominions of the various dynasties, from the Ghaznavis to 

the Mughals. It was only the country south of the Sutlej that was known as 

Hind, with the town of Sirhind (Sar i-Hind—Gate of India) at its north-western 

gate. And had not the Sikhs conquered it from the Durranis, it might still 

have formed a province of Afghanistan into which it was converted by Ahmad 

Shah Abdali. 

To understand this all and to interpret the various events connected with 

the history of the Sikhs during those eventful days of the eighteenth century 

when thousands of them unswervingly sacrificed their lives at the altar of their 

faith, it is but necessary to go back to the history of the Gurus and try to enter 

into the spirit of their teachings. It is a pity that no work has been done on 

this period, and it is therefore, that I propose to say, in this paper, some thing 

on the contemporary sources of Sikh history, 1469 1708. 

The Guru Granth Sahib is the first and the most important original and 

contemporary source for the lives of first five Gurus, Nanak to Arjan, and of the 

ninth Guru Tegh Bahadur. Several incidents connected with their lives are 

reflected in their versified utterances incorporated in that volume. And these 

utterances are the truest interpretations of the social, religious and political 

atmosphere of those days and of the various life-incidents and of the views of 

the Gurus regarding the then prevailing social customs, religious rites aad 

political conditions in the country. 

The compositions of the Gurus are not mere hymns addressed to God, 

but, as the Gurus took lively interest in the secular welfare of the people and 

as their organization roused controversy and opposition in different quarters, 

some of their utterances have great historical interest for us. They are the 

outpourings of their hearts either on the occasions of certain historical incidents 

or during their discussions with the professors and priests of other religions, or 

in the course of their advice or admonition to their disciples or other enquirers 

regarding the conduct of their lives, 

53 
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The hymns of Guru Nanak referring to the various events of his childhood 

at Nankana Sahib, his life at Sultanpur, his visits to the places of Hindu and 

Muslim pilgrimages and his discussions and discourses with the Brahmins, the 

Yogis, the Sidhs, etc., are the only first hand sources of information on these 

topics. There is nothing available to excel his description of the condition of- 

the people on the occasion of the sack of Saidpur (Eminabad) during the third 

Indian expedition of Babur in 1520-21. His revolt against the established 

formalism and his protest against the slave mentality of the Indians in giving 

up their national language and dress, just to please the ruling classes, are reflected 

in the Asa di Var, while his Japji and other hymns inculcate his views on 

Godhead, the relationship between the One Formless Self-existant Creator and 

His Creature, the man, and the conduct of human life in the world. 

Similarly the shabdas of the other Gurus and Bhaktas set forth their views 

on social and religious subjects and refer to the reforms introduced by them and 

trace the gradual growth of the Sikh thought and the evolution of the Sikh 

Sangats into a distinct community. 

The Ramkali ki Var of Satta and Balwand is more historical than 

religious in its nature and is a very important contemporary document for the 

students of Sikh History. It emphasizes that all the Gurus were identical in 

spirit with Guru Nanak, and, thus, it admits of no inviduous distinction about 

the conduct of the different Gurus. To maintain the solidarity of the newly 

established Panth and to guard against the rise of sects and schisms, so common 

in the history of religions after the deaths of their founders, Nanak and the 

succeeding Gurus, the Var points out, inculcated for their disciples the strictest 

of discipline of life, and, after subjecting them to the severest of tests, appointed 

the most faithful as their successors during their own lives. This not only 

prevented the Guruship from becoming a hereditary possession by the usual 

system of primogenitory succession but actually defeated all opposition set up 

from time to time agaii^st the accredited nominees of the Gurus. 

The hymns of Guru Amar Das in the Wadhans ki Var point to jealousy 

of a Tapa of Khadur towards Guru Angad and to his temporary externment 

from that place. The fourth Guru Ram Das refers, in the Gauri ki Var, to the 

avarice of a Tapa of Goindwal on the completion of Bawli Sahib and to the 

complaint of the Kbattris of that place against Giuru Amar Das which, of course, 

was dismissed as unfounded. In the Tukhari Chhant he describes, from personal 

experience, the visit of Guru Amar Das to Kutukshetra and Hardwar. 

The Sadd of Sundar is an eye-witness’s account of the death of the third 

Guru. It explains the Sikh attitude towards death and points out the futility 

of the then prevailing ceremonies, when the Guru is reported to have said:~“A 

saint or a true Guru is the one whom God’s order is pleasing,” and “Let no 

one weep when I am gone; that would not please me,” etc. 
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The jealousy exhibited by Prithi Chand, contemptuously known in history 

as Prithia, on the nomination of his younger brother Arjau to the Oaddi of 

Guruship, is hinted at and condemned in Rag Suhi and the Gauri hi Var, 

and their father’s (Ram Das’s admonition addressed to the quarrelsome son is 

given in the Sarang Rag. 

In the Majh Rag are found those three letters of Guru Arjan addressed to 

his father from Lahore .and a complimentary note composed on his return to 

Amritsar in 1581, which formed a part of the test placed before him tb prove 

his suitability for the Gaddi. 

Guru Arjan sings in the Suhi Ghhant of the constructions and completion 

of Hari Mandir, now called the Golden Temple, Amritsar, and in the Sorath Rag 

he describes the advantages of the Sarovar or the Tank of Ram Das. There 

are about a dozen hymns in the Bilawal, Asa'fiaund, Sorath, Gauri, Deva-gandhari 
and Bhairo Rags referring to the birth and illness of Guru Hargobind and to 

the murderous designs against his life by the agents of Prithia and his wife. 

When Sulahi Khan made a common cause with Prithia and set out to wreak 

his vengeance upon the inoffensive Guru for the failure of their offensive mission 

at Delhi against him, the various suggestions made to the Guru are stated by 

him in a hymn in the Asa Rag wherein the Guru says that he preferred to rest 

all bis hopes on God, and, in the Bilawal Rag, he points to the ignoble end to 

which Sulahi Khan came. 

In the epilogue of the Holy Grantha, the author, Guru Arjan, while 

recommending his Book to the attention of humanity, describes it as a most 

precious food which it cannot afford to ignore. 

Guru Hargobind wished to inspire the Sikhs with a spirit of manliness. 

He, therefore, added, in the beginning of certain Vars in Granth Sahib, the 

names of the Dhwanis or musical sounds in which they should be sung to 

produce the desired effect on their minds. 

The Shlokas of Guru Tegh Bahadur, composed during bis confinement 

at Delhi and incorporated in the Guru Granth Sahib by Guru Govind Singh, 

clearly indicate his detached view of bis coming death. SMoka No. 54 in this 

composition is believed to be the courageous and encouraging reply of Guru 

Gobind Singh at the age of nine to his father’s Shloka No. 53 sent to him at 

Anandpur to test the fitness of his successor. 

Next to the Guru Granth Sahib in authenticity is the Varan of Bhai 

Gurdas (1551-1629), who was a contemporary of five Gurus, from Guru Angad 

to Guru Hargobind, and was very closely associated with four of them from 

the third to the sixth. Moreover, he was one of the few chosen and favourite 

disciples, next only to Bhai Buddha who bad the unique fortune of anointing as 

many as five successors of Guru Nanak with the TilaJt of Guruship. Tbjs speak^ 



420 SlKH HISTORY 

for the valuableness of bis writings, which the old Sikhs, as tradition has it, 

considered as a key to the Guru Granth Sahib. 
The Varan of Bhai Gurdas, tike his Kabit Swaiyye, are mainly devoted 

to the exposition of the tenets of Sikhism. The historical portion is confined 

to about eighty five pauris scattered in I (17-48), XI (13-31) and XXIV (1-25), 
with twoj^OMm each in XXVI (31, 34) and XXXIX (2, 3) and one each in III 

((12), XX (1) and XXXVIII (20). Six pauris (17-22) of Var I describe the 

religious, social and political state of affairs before the advent of Guru Nanak, 
while his travels and discourses, with particular reference to his visit to the 
Hindu and the Muslim places of worship and with his discourses (gosht) with 

the Sidhs and Mullas, are related in 23-44 of I, 1-4 of XXIV and 21 of XXVI. 

Joint references to the successors of Nanak, upto Guru Hargobind, and their 

oneness with him are found in Var XXIV (5-20) XXVI (34), XXXVIII (20) 
and XXXIX (2, 13), and the state of Guru Arjan’s mind during the tortures 
that resulted in his martyrdom can be seen in Var XXIV (23). 

Beyond the above two works, there is nothing known so far to claim to 
be a contemporary account of the first four Gurus. The well known Janam 

Sakhi, ascribed to Bhai Bala and said to have been written by Paira Mokha of 

Sultanpur to his dictation, as desired by the second Guru Angad, may, as 
Available at present, be dismissed as incredible in many places for the reasons 

enumerated and discussed by the late S. Karam Singh in his Kitik hih Wasakh. 

The only book which may be said to be the nearest approach to reliability 

regarding the life of Guru Nanak is the Puratan Janam Sakhi (written somewhere 
in the beginning of the seventeenth century), which is the same as Wilayatwali, 

Hafizabadi and MaaauUffe-wali Janam Sakhis. This has been edited, in its 

present form by Bhai Sahib Vir Singh of Amritsar and published by the Wazir- 

i-Hind Press. As the learned editor observes in his preface, on the basis of 

internal evidence, this Janam Sakhi has as its source some other work which 

has not been unearthedi s6 far and which may be a contemporary record. 

Sardar Bahadur Bhai Kahan Singh, in his Gur Shabdaratanakar Mahan Kosh, 

the Encyclopaedia of Sikh Literature (I, 685, i), mentions the name of one 

Sewa Das of Pothohra who wrote a Janam Sakhi of Guru Nanak in 1588, forty 

nine years after the death of the Guru, and it will be no wonder if that work, 

when traced, is found to be the source of the Puratan Janam Sakhi, The 
Janam Sakhi of Bhai Mani Singh is a later work of the eighteenth century 

and contains an account of the first Guru, with the last chapter devoted to his 
successors ending with the succession of Guru Hargobind. 

A manuscript collection of the stories and compositions of Meharban and 

Harji, the son and grandson of Pritbia, written in the oldest Gurmukhi script, 
and presented to the Sikh History Research Department of the ijibalsa College, 

Amritsar, by Sardar Sahib Bawa Udbam Singh of Lahore in March 1932" it 
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another important contemporary record of the days of Gurus Arjan and 

Hargobind. The compilation appears to have been made by some follower of 

Meharban and Harji during the seventeenth century. The shabdas, or hymns, 

of Guru Nanak and discussions thereon made in the compilation are so 

interpreted as to deduce the superiority of his patron Minas as Prithia and his 

descendants were called by the fourth Guru Ram Das. It includes some shabdas 

of Meharban and Harji under the headings:—Guru Meharban Mahal 7 and 

Satguru Harji Mahal 8, with the name of Nanak added towards the end, as it 

is found in the compositions of the Gurus. This is a very clear evidence to 

show the attempt of the descendants of Prithia to establish their own Guruship, 

in opposition to Gurus Arjan and Hargobind, which, however, was doomed to 

fail- With this, there also appeared a danger to the purity of the teachings 

of the Gurus which with the addition of these unauthorized compositions, at 

some later date, might have become so confused as to render the genuine 

hymns indistinguishable from subsequent interpolations. This was apparently 

one of the causes which induced Guru Arjan to collect together the compositions 

of the Gurus and compile them in the Holy Grantha. This collection is almost 

identical with the volume in the library of the late Sant Jwala Singh of Patiala 

ascribed to Meharban himself. 

According to Shaikh Abul Fazal’s Akbar Namah (III, 514-15) and Mulla 

Abdul Qadir Badaoni’s Muntakhib-ut-Tawarikh or Tawarikh-i-Badaoni, Emperor 

Akbar paid a visit to the residence of Guru Arjan at Goindwal on the bank of 

the Beas on the 13th of Azur (Jamadi-us-Sani) 1006 A. H., 11th January, 1598. 

(O. S.) Badaoni tells us that the Emperor appreciated the teachings and 

character of the Guru. It was the result of this visit, as confirmed by Sujan 

Rai Bhandari’s Khulasat-u-Tawarikh (Zafar Hassan’s edition, p. 425), that, at 

the suggestion of the Guru, the Emperor ordered the remission of 10 to 12 

per cent of the land revenue in the Punjab, as demanded by the changed circum¬ 

stances on the departure of the Imperial forces from the country. 

A passage of about twelve lines in the Tuzk-i jahangiri (Nawal Kishore’s 

Edition, p. 35, lines 7-18) is an invaluable contemporary evidence regarding the 

causes which led to the arrest and imprisonment of Guru Arjan and the sentence 

of capital punishment with tortures passed against him by Emperor Jehangir. 

This, when read along with the account of the Guru’s martyrdom in Sohan 

Lai’s Umdat-ut-Tavoarikh ( Vol. I. 34 ) and Rattan Singh’s Prachin Panth 

Prahash (p. 534)—both secondary but reliable sources—, demolishes the theory 

commonly advanced by the Sikh and other writers which amounts, in the eyes 

of non*devotee historians, to nothing more than suicide. 

This may be critically compared with the letter of a Christian Padre, 

probably Father Jerome Xavier, written from Lahore in 1606 and published in 

Father Guerreiro’s ‘’Relacam Annal das Covsas que fezeram os Padres Da 
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Companbia de Ltevs nas partes da India Oriental” of the years 1606 and 1607, 

printed at Lisbon in 1609. 

Mohsin Fani (1615-1670), the author of the Dabiatan-i-Mazahib, was a 

personal friend of the sixth Guru Hargobind. He stayed with him for some 

time and, not unoften, was in correspondence with him, and was present at 

Kiratpur on the occasion of his death. He was also intimately known to Guru 

Har Rai the seventh Guru. His account of the Sikhs and Sikhism of this 

period, in the Dabistan, is, therefore, of the highest importance to the students 

of history. With the exception of a few minor errors, his account of the earlier 

Gurus and of the beliefs and practices of the Sikhs, recorded on the authority 

of the best informed people, can as well be safely depended upon. The above 

chapter, the “Nanakpanthia,” of the Dabistan, covering some twelve pages 

(Nawal Kishore 1321 A. H. Edition), is the hrst known account of the Sikh 

people in Persian. But it has been the least drawn upon by writers on the 

subject, although the work was translated into English by Shea and Troyer for 

the Oriental Translation Fund of Great Britain and Ireland in 1843, Another 

translation of the “Nanakpanthia” was published by Sardar Umrao Singh 

Majithia in June 1930 issue of the Khalsa Review, and also by the writer of 

this paper in Punjabi in the Phtdwari of Phagan-Chet, 1987, Bikrami. A 

revised English translation of it with footnotes and comments is being shortly 

issued. 

Gur Bilas Chhewin Padshahi by Bhagat Singh, the only detailed work on 

the life of Guru Hargobind, was completed in Sambat 1775 Bikrami, 1718 A. D. 

It can neither claim to be contemporary nor original. According to the late 

Sardar Karam Singh, an old manuscript copy said to be a transcription of the 

original Our Bilas, is available in the village of Gurusar in the District of jhang, 

Punjab. It is said that a Sikh of Gurusar, related to a priest of the Akal 

Bunga Gurdwara, Amritsar, had this copy made from the original in the Akal 

Bunga and the present printed volume, available in the market, is an interpolated 

edition of this copy. ^ 

Abdul Natha, a bard of the village of Sur Singh, was a contemporary of 

Guru Hargobind and his Varan contain a detailed account of the battles of this 

Guru. The efforts of the scholar who would trace this work and place it in 

the hands of the public will be of immense service to the cause of history. 

The Khulasat-u-Tawarikk of Munshi Sujan Rai Bhandari of Batala was 

being written and nearing its completion in the twenty second year of the 

-Spiritual reign of Guru Gobind Singh (1696 A. D.), as mentioned by the author 

on page 70 of Zafar Hassan's edition of 1918. This would make him a 

contemporary of at least the last four, if not five. Gurus from Guru Har Rai 

to Guru Gobind Singh. Sujan Rai supports the statem.ent of the Sikh writers 

that Guru Har Rai came to the help of Dara Shikoh on the bank of ;the BeiSs 
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with the object of retarding the progress of his brother Aurangzeb against him. 

His description of the religious life of the Sikhs of tho^ days and their deep- 

rooted devotion to their Gurus is very interesting. Other im portant Sikh topics 

dealt with in this work are the religious position of Nanak and his successors, 

the visit of Emperor Akbar to Guru Arjan and the death of Guru Tegh 

Bahadur at Delhi in 1081 Al-Hijri, 1675 A. D., and brief notes on historical 

places like Nanak Mata, Guru ka Ghak (the present Amritsar), Makhowal 

(Anandpur) and Kiratpur. 

The details of Guru Tegh Bahadur’s travels in the east, when he 

accompanied Raja Ram Singh Kachhwahiya during his expedition to Assam, 

may be gleaned from the Mughal, Assamese and other records. A Sikh named 

Fateh Chand accompanied the Guru during these travels and served him as a 

Mexvra, or messenger. Th* collection of the Guru’s letters, called Hukam 

Namahs, in the possession of his descendants, is an invaluable treasure of 

historical information. I have had the privilege of consulting the copies of some 

of them througli the courtesy of Sardar Ranbir Singh, son of the late Sardar 

Karam Singh, and have obtained his permission to publish them for the benefit 

of the students of history. In addition to these, there are several Hukam 

Namahs preserved in the various Sikh Gurdwaras raised in memory of the Guru 

in ths United Provinces, Behar, Bengal and Assam. Some of the letters of 

Mata Gujri, wife of Guru Tegh Bahadur, in the Harmandir Sahib Gurdwara 

of Patna are equally important and deserve to be published. 

Of all the Sikh Gurus, it is on the life of G^ru Gobind Singh that we 

have an appreciable, though not yet sufficient, amou|iit of contemporary and 

original material. 

We have two works from the pen of the Guru himself: the Bichitra 

Natak and the Zafar Namah. The first five adhyayas or chapters of the Bichitra 

Natak contain an invocation to God, a brief account of Lava and Kusha, the 

sons of Rama of Ayodhia, and a reference to his previous life of meditation at 

Hemkund in the Himalayas. These are of no historical importance and may 

be considered superfluous by a modern student of history. The sixth chapter 

- describes, in the Guru's own words, the mission of his life in this world and 

helps us to understand and interpret certain events in bis life which are 

otherwise dismissed as incredible by the materialistic-minded reader. It is 

with the seventh adhyaya that the autobiographical monologue of the Guru 

begins, and in seven chapters deals with his birth at Patna, the death of his 

father, bis visit to Paonta and hunting excursions on the bank of the river 

Jamuna, the battles of Bhangani, Nadaun and Guler, and with the march of 

Prince Muazzam (afterwards Emperor Bahadur Shah) to the Punjab. 

The Ze^ar Namah, or the admonitory letter of Guru Gobind Singh 

addressed to Emperor Aurangzeb in the PeccaO| tells ns in so many words 
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that he had taken to the sword as the last resort and that he was willing to 
enter into peace negotiations if the Emperor were to come to the Pargannah 
of Kangar in the Punjab. It also helps to throw some light on the details of 

the last battles of Anandput and Chamkaur in December 1704. 

In addition to this, there is a large number of Hukam Namahs of the Guru 
preserved in the various Gurdwaras in and outside the Punjab, and some with 

persons like the descendants of Nabi Khan and Ghani Khan of Machhiwara and of 

Fateh Chand Mexcra referred to above. Some of these are of invaluable historical 

importance, and it is a pity that no sustained effort has been made to collect 

them for publication in a handy brochure to be drawn upon by scholars for a 

scientific study of the life of this warrior-saint of India. 
I may here mention one such Hukam Hamah of Guru Gobind Singh, of 

which a photographic copy is available in the Sikh History Research Department 
of the Rhalsa College, Amritsar, and is now placed in the Exhibition here. It 
is written from the neighbourhood of Agra on the 1st of Katik, Sambat 1764 

Bikrami (October 1707), to the Sanghat of Dhaul. In it the Guru informs 
them that he had an interview with Bahadur Shah (4th Jamadi-ul Awwal 1119, 
2nd August 1707) and had received from him presents worth sixty thousand 

rupees, that the other things (referring to the negotiations that had brought him 
so far from the Punjab) were progressing and that he soon expected to return 

to the Punjab, and he enjoins upon the Sarbat Khalsa to join him fully armed 

on his arrival in Kahlur. This demolishes the theory advanced by some of the 
biographers of the Guru that on the death of his sons at Chamkaur and Sirhind 

he had left his country for the Deccan in disgust, despaired of his Sikhs and of 

the people of the Punjab, with a view to exciting and raising the Rajputs and 

the Marathas against the Mughals for the fulfilment of his mission. This is 

not borne out by facts. The Guru was in the heart of Rajputana in March 1707 
when he heard at Beghaur the news of the death of Aurangzeb. The rightful 
heir Mu’azzam (Bahac^ur? Shah) was still on the North Western Frontier, with 

no army and no treasure. His younger brothers were in rebellion. There 

could be no better chance for the Guru. But he quietly returns to Shahjehanabad, 

and is seen lending a helping hand to the rightful Mu’azzam, the son of 

Aurangzeb, his worst enemy in the battle of Jajau, 18th June, 1707. The above 
Hukam Naman now comes to our help and definitely tells us, in his own words, 
that he expected to return to the Punjab and had in view some military 

operations there, for which he was issuing instructions to his Sikhs in the Punjab 
to join him on his arrival in Kahlur. It was only an accidental change in the 
circumstances, owing to the rebellion of Kani Bakhsh, that he had to accompany 

Bahadur Shah towards the south as the old negotiations were still in progress. 
The Sri Ouru Scbha of Sainapat is one of the rarest contemporary accounts 

of the life of Guru* Gobind Singh. Its historical importance may be judged 
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from the fact that the author was closely associated with the Guru as a resident 
poet in his darhar at Anandpur and was an eye-witness of most of what he has 
recorded. He has described almost all the battles fought by him. His account 

of the institution and organization of the Khalsa deserves the particular attention 
of scholars. A few errors in his description of the Guru's travels in Rajputana, 
on his way to the Deccan, may be easily corrected with the help of other records. 

His statement regarding the reappearance of the Guru’s son Zorawar Singh 
at Itbahpur in Rajputai^, and his death soon afterwards at Chittore in a 

struggle with the Rajputs, is supported by Rai Chatarman in his Chahar 
Gulshan Akhhar-un-Nawadar (completed in 1173 A. H., 1759 A. D.), but it can 

hardly stand against the evidence of the Guru himself in the Zafar Namah 

wherein he mentions that all the four of his sons had been killed. The Guru 

had himself seen him falling dead in the battle of Chamkaur. Sainapat is the only 
author who helps us with his rational account to clear to a great extent the mystery 

woven round the death of Guru Gobind Singh. 

Rai Chattarman’s work Chahar Gulshan Akhbar-un-Nawadar, mentioned 
above, describes the circumstances under which Ajit Singh, an adopted son of 

Mata Sundri, was disclaimed by her and his own son Hathi Singh was removed 

to Mathura after his (Ajit Singh’s) execution in 1134 A. H., 1719 A. D. at Delhi. 
It also mentions the death of Mata Sahib Devi, a year after the death of Mata 
Sundri. 

The Muntakhib’UhLubab of Khafi Khan only casually mentions the Guru 
in the train of Bahadur Shah on his way to the Deccan. The Tarikh i-Bahadur 

Shahi or Bahadur Shah Namah of Danishmand Khan mentions him thrice; 
firstly on the 4th Jamadi-ul-Awwal, 1119 A. H., when he had an interview with 
Bahadur Shah at Agra, secondly when he met him at Burhanpur, and last of 

all on the 5th Ramzan 1120, when a report was made to the Emperor, a month 
after his death, “as to the disposal of the movable property of Guru Gobind 

Nanak. It was of considerable value and according to rule ought to be 

confiscated. The Emperor, with the remark that he was not in want of the 

goods of a Darvesh, ordered the whole to be relinquished to the heirs.” [Irvine, 

Later Mughals^ I, 90; Elliot, VII, 566.] The exemption of the Guru from the 

application of the rule for the Imperial officials and his occasional separation 
at his own will from the Imperial Camp of an expeditionary force refute the 

allegation made by some writers that he had entered the Imperial service as a 
military commander during the Deccan Expedition of Bahadur Shah. 

The Parchian of Sewa Das is a collection of fifty Sakhis or stories of the 

lives of the Gurus : eight of the first eight Gurus, four of the ninth and thirty 

eight of the tenth. The date of writing is not known, though it does not appear 
to have been written long after the middle of the eighteenth century. 

54 
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Bawa Kirpal Das completed his Mahma Prakash (Prose) in 1798 Bikramif 

1741 A. D., thirly three years after the death of Guru Gobind Singh. He gives 
some important events from the lives of the ten Gurus and attempts a tolerably 

successful description of the troops of the tenth Guru. 
There is another Mahma Prakash (in verse) by Bawa Sarup Das Bhilla, 

written in about 1833 Bk., 1776 A. D. The author was a descendant of the 

third Guru. It is the oldest work giving a connected story of the Guru Period 
and deserves the attention of research students of history. His account of the 

second and the third Gurus is better than that of any other writer. 

The Sau Sakhi is one of the five parts of a larger work, the Panj Sau 

Sakhi, ascribed to Bhai Ram Kaur, also called Gurbakhsh Singh, a contemporary 

disciple of the tenth Guru, but it has been so successfully tampered with as to 

render the genuine portion inseparable from later interpolations. It has, therefore, 
to be used very cautiously by scholars. 

Bhai Nand Lai was a gifted scholar in the court of Guru Gobind Singh 

but his works are mere eulogies from the pen of a devoted disciple and have 

little to add to our historical knowledge of the period. 
A later manuscript work, Dasam Padshah Antam Kautak by Dhian 

Singh written about the middle of the nineteenth century, mentions the name 
of the surgeon sent by Bahadur Shah to attend the Guru, when he was stabbed 

at Nanded, as Call or Cole. The discovery of the account of this last incident 
of the life of the last Guru by an impartial writer, if there were any written by 
him, will clear the mystery which enshrouds it. 

The Persian histories of Budh Singh Arora, Bakht Mai, Khushwaqt Rai, 

Ahmad Shah, Ghulam Muhayy-ud-Din alias Bute Shah and Ali-ud-Din, and 
the Gurmukhi works of Rattan Singh, Santokh Singh and Gian Singh belong 

to later periods of Sikh history. They are only secondary authorities on the 

Gurus, but in many cases they are extremely useful. 
A word about the Suraj Prakash and I have finished. This is a 

voluminous work of the highest literary merit from the pen of a genius covering 
the entire Guru Period in about 6400 pages, written in about 1844. But, in 
the absence of contemporary records at his disposal, and wanting in the modern 

sense of scientific historical research, its author Bhai Santokh Singh has not 

been able to penetrate beyond the crust of the then prevalent accounts. He 
considered all the Punjabi works on the subject, from the Mahma Prakash to 

the Sau Sakhi and other similar works, as equally authentic. Its historical 
accuracy, therefore, had not remained unquestioned. But thanks to the rare 
scholarship and researchful attitude of Bhai Sahib Vir Singh of Amritsar that 

after incessant labour of several years this gigantic work has now been placed 
in the hands of the public in a more presentable form in fourteen volumes, 
well edited from the historical point of view, ^ 
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THE FIRST SIKH COIN OF LAHORE 

November 1761 

Dr. H. R. Gupta, M. A., Ph. D., Forman Christian College, Lahore. 

Ahmad Shah Durrani retired from the Punjab in May 1761 leaving 

behind him Sarbuland Khan and Khwaja Obed as Governors of Multan and 
Lahore respectively. Ghamand Chand, the Katoch ruler of Kangra, was 

entrusted with the government of Jullandhar Doab with Saadat Khan and 

Sadiq Khan Afridi as his deputies. Zain Khan was given independent charge 
of Subah Sirhand. They all had instructions from their master to spare no 

effort to crush the power of the Sikhs. 

But the Sikhs proved more than a match for the lieutenants of the 
Durrani. About 40,000 of them collected on this side of the Chenab and 
started plundering the country all round. Nawab Khwaja Mirza Khan who 
was in charge of the C'hahdr Mahal came out to oppose them but he was 

defeated and killed in the action. 

The Sikhs next attacked Bhikham Khan of Malerkotla who had recently 

incurred their wrath for helping Zain Khan of Sirhand against them. The town 

of Malerkotla was given to plunder. 

On getting these alarming reports and also still smarting under the 

insults which the Sikhs had heaped upon him during his return march through 

the Rechna Doab, Ahmad Shah Abdali despatched to the Punjab a welbtrained 

force under his trusted general Nur-ud-Din. But as luck would have it, even 

Nur-ud'Din suffered an humiliating defeat at the hands of Sardar Charat 

Singh at Sialkot. He had to flee from the citadel under cover of darkness 

leaving the Afghan garrison to their fate which soon after surrendered to the 

Sikh Sardar. Charat Singh now flushed with victory returned to his 

headquarters at Gujranwala and apprehensive of danger from the Subedar of 

Lahore started further strengthening his defences. His apprehensions proved 

too true. Khawaja Obed invaded Gujranwala in September 1761. Charat 

Singh, on his part, was ready to meet the invader. The siege of Gujranwala 

was thus prolonged and in the meantime other notable Sikh leaders like 
Jassa Singh Ahlowalia, Hari Singh and Jai Singh Bhangi, Jai Singh Kanhya, 

Lehna Singh and Sobha Singh with their contingents from all over the Punjab 
rushed to his aid. Khawaja Obed was thus besieged in turn and almost lost 

his wits. He sought safety in flight and left tb$ field without striking a 

decisive blow. The Sikhs who were ever on the watch of the movements 
of the enemy lost no time and fell upon the retreating Afghan troops and 
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relieved them of a large number of swivels, pieces of cannon, stores and provi¬ 

sions, horses and camels and other camp baggage. 

This continuous round of rapid victories achieved by the Sikhs within a 

short space of about four months after the departure of Ahmad Shah laid 

practically the whole of the Punjab at their feet.^ The Sikhs, therefore, 
performed a thanksgiving service at Amritsar on the occasion of the Diwali 
festival which fell on October 22, 1761.^ There they held a general assembly 

and passed a Gurumata® that they must capture Lahore, without the possession 
of which they could not look upon themselves as a supreme power in the land 

of the five rivers, 

Consequently, the Dal Khalsa under their chief leader Jassa Singh Ahlowalia 
marched upon Lahore in a body, laid siege to the city and cut off all the 

means of communication, allowing nobody to come in or go out of the town.* 
Khwajah 'Ahed, the Lahore governor, shut himself up in the fort and did not 

stir out to oppose them. The noted citizens, knowing the weakness of the 

governor, opened negotiations with Jassa Singh and threw open the gates of the 
city, thus saving the town from the horrors of a sack. Now there were two 
rulers in one place, the Sikhs in the city and Khwajah ’Ahed* in the fort.® But 

the Governor seems to have met his death shortly afterwards as we are given to 
understand by the contemporary author of Khazan-i-Amira.® In a fit of enthusiasm 

and delight the Sikhs fulfilled the wishes of their revered leader Late Nawab 

Kapur Singh by declaring Jassa Singh Ahlowalia as Padishahs Then seizing the 

royal mint, they struck the first Sikh rupee which bore the following inscription 

“ JlK L.> jO }j au ” 

(coined by the grace of God in the country of Ahmad captured by Jassa Kul il).^ 

The capture of the provincial capital and coining of money marked the 

highest point, though temporarily, in the evolution of Sikh power. It translated 

their ideal into actuality ^nd fulfilled the prophecy of the last Guru to the 
-- 1 

1 Miskin, 237. 

2 Khushwaqt Rai, 

3 Ali-ud-Din. 123 b. 

4 Ahmad Shah, 889. 

(J5^ ^ ^ 
5 Gyan Singh, 809—10, 

6 KhaaanM-Amira is also supported by Ratan Singh, pp. 493-96, who, while describing 

'Ahed's attack on Gujranwala, says that he came to Lahore where he was shortly afterwards put to 

death by Charat Singh. • 

7 Khazan-i-Amira, 113-14; Siyar, iii. 74; Tarikh*i-Muza6fari, 12lb—122a ; Sohan Lai, i. 

\ Tarikb-i-9alatm-i*Afghaaan, 173 ; Gian Singh, 1036; Raj Khalsa, 374« v 
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realization of which they had to wade through streams of blood and tread over 

heaps of corpses of their own brethren. This raised them to a first grade authority 

and made them a sovereign power. The people of the Punjab now realized that 

even in case the Khalsa were expelled from Lahore, they were destined to 

become its masters sooner or later. But, as the irony of fate would have it, 

this greatest glory of the Sikhs was to be followed, only within three months, 

by the hardest blow they had ever sustained after the death of Banda. 

At this place it seems necessary to offer a word of explanation regarding 
the date of this coin. Most of the writers on Sikh History have stated that 

the Sikhs alone expelled Timur Shah and Jahan Khan from Lahore, occupied 
the provincial capital, declared their sovereignty and their leader Jassa Singh 

struck coin in his own name.® 

Browne is the earliest writer who has mentioned this in his book. He 
says:—“The Sicks collected together under their chiefs from all quarters, and 

blockading the city of Lahore, collected the revenues of the country all around 

for their own use. Jehan Khan with the prince, marched out to give them 
battle; but after several actions, finding the Sicks too numerous for him to 

contend with, he retreated to Kandahar. Upon this occasion, Jessa Singh 

Kalal, who was at the time Commander-in-Chief of the Dul struck rupees in 
his own name, at the royal mint at Lahore, with the following inscription, 

* Jessa Kalal conquered the country of Ahmed and struck this coin by the 
grace of God 

Browne based his account on the authority of two Punjabis whose dates 

are admitted as “extremely defective” even by Browne himself. In the 

introduction on pp. iii-iv he states:—“Having met with two Hindus of 

considerable knowledge, who were natives of Lahore, where they had resided 

the greater part of their lives, and who had in their possession, accounts of the 
rise and progress of the Sicks, written in the Nuggary (or common Hindoo) 

character, I persuaded them to let me have a translation of one of them in the 

Persian language, abridging it as much as they could do, without injuring 

essential purpose of information. After all, I found it extremely defective in a 

regular continuation of dates, and therefore not deserving the name of a history.” 

Browne compiled his “India Tracts” nearly thirty years after this date 

and we cannot say whether Brown’s Punjabi friends were eye witnesses of this 

event as described by them. Hence we can safely reject their authority in view 

of the more tangible evidence of the eye-witness Miskin, and the Marathas. 

Miskin held an important position in the court of Timur Shah, and was therefore 

8 Cf. Browne, ii. 19; Malcolm, 94-95; Bakhtmal, 82; Khushwaqt Rai, 104 ; Elphinstone's 

Kabul, ii-289 ; Cunningham, 103 ; Latif's Punjab. 231; Gordon, 61 ; Narang, 148. 
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abk to study the events firsthand. He was in the blooming youth at this time 

bdng only 19 years old and we therefore cannot suspect that his memory would 
have failed him when he compiled his autobiography in l782--'Moreover, his 

account of the expulsion of the Afghans from Lahore is so vivid and profuse 

in details that such a striking event as the capture and occupation of Lahore by 
Jassa Singh and the issue of coins by him could not have escaped his notice. 

Besides, almost all his details are also supported by Marathi records.^ 

The rest of the authorities are much later and do not claim having based 
this statement on contemporary evidence. Hence this assertion of the Punjab 

historians does not appear to be based on facts. 

We have, however, assigned November 1761 as the probable date of the 
minting of this coin. Miskin had left Lahore three years earlier and hence his 

authority fails us on this occasion. But the contemporary author of Khazan>i« 

Amira, compiling his work somewhere between July 1762—July 1763 says that 

the Sikhs killed the Durrani Governor of Lahore, captured the capital and 
issued this coin and that it was due to these doings of the Sikhs that Ahmad 
Shah invaded India in 1762 and inflicted a severe defeat on the Sikhs, 

massacring about 12,000 Sikhs.^*^ 

The statement of the author of the Khazan-i-Amira does not seem 

improbable. Ahmad Shah was already making preparations to invade India^^ 

and when he received this news, he at once set out and defeated the Sikhs in 

9 Ratan Singh in his Panth Parkash also states that Lahore was taken by the joint forces of 
the Sikhs and the Marathas. cf, p. 424. 

10 Khazan-i'Amira, 114. 

^ i)yC AgCw. ” 

^y* ^ dX>| U a 

^4^1 I) ^44***** 1*4^ I) 4l)| 5 klj 

Ji>y JcEk« 5 y )Ua.t ^^^1 

• * 
10 "The Sikh people of the Punjab, who from the earliest times have been a source of 

mischief and sedition and are bigoted enemies of the Musalmans, in spite of the observance of the 
fact that the Shah had so many times over-run India, owing to the want of foresight raised the 
standard of rebellion and disturbance and killed his viceroy at Lahore. They raised a person 

named Jassa Singh from among themselves to the status of a king, and like the demon, they made 

him sit on the throne of Jamshid, and blackned the face of the coin with his name. Having taken 

possession of the city of Lahore and its vicinity, they molested God*s creatures in general and 

the Mnslims in particular. Hearing this news, Shah Durranii according to his established practice, 
again moved towards India.” 

11 A Marathi letter, dated the S7th October, 1761, states that the Durrani advance^uard has 
advanced as far as Attock. [Selections from Peshwa's Daftar« XXIX. 16.] ^ 
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the battle of Kup on the 5th February, 1762. . On the other hand, the capture 

of Lahore by the Sikhs at this time does not appear to be out of the range of 
possibility. They had put to death Khwajah Mirza Khan, an ex-Governor of 

Lahore, then in charge of Chahar Mahal (June); expelled the Durrani faujdars of 

the Jullundur Doab (July); plundered Sirhind and Malerkotla (July); defeated 

Abdali’s general Nur-ud*Din (AugustJ and routed Khwajah ’Abed, Lahore 

Governor (September). It is therefore not strange that after having achieved 

such splendid victories, they took Lahore in November 1761.** 

The Sikhs seem to doubt as to the striking of these coins because no 
Sikh writer except Gian Singh has mentioned this fact in his work**. They can 
most probably advance the following objectiens which we will discuss here at 

some length 

1. It is insulting for a Sikh to be addressed without the surname 

of “Singh.” 

2. A Sikh would never claim any credit to himself but to the Guru. 

Even Ranjit Singh, on having established monarchy did not issue a coin in his 

own name. 

3. The coin is not available anywhere and no historian claims having 
seen it. 

4. Jassa Singh could not issue coin in his own name because it would 
have meant the loss of confidence of his comrades. 

5. He could not have used the title “Kalal” (distiller of wine.) 

6. Ganesh Das clearly states that such coins bearing this inscription 
were minted by the bigoted Mullahs of Lahore and were sent to Kabul to 
excite the passion of revenge of Ahmad Shah Abdali against the Sikhs. 

Before we produce necessary evidence against these views, it may be 
pointed out that the capture of the provincial capital was the greatest 

achievement of the Sikhs during the century and it naturally excited their zeal 

and sentiments of pleasure to a degree that they seem to have forgotten all 

12 A Marathi letter, dated 17-ll-176t says that the Sikhs are causing tumult in Lahore. 

(“ft’ertlO wihc uteft fnnn W^’) S- P- D. XXIX. 24. The famous Slkh Historian Sir 

Lepel Griffin was nearer correction when he wrote ;— 
*'Nor were these coins struck before 1762; not in 1757-8, as stated by Cunningham; and it 

is very doubtful whether they were struck in large numbers at all. The Raja of Kapurthala has 

none in his possession, nor do I know any one who has seen one.*' Rajas of the Punjab, footnote, 
p. 461. 

It is remarkable to note that Gian Singh gives the correct year of this coin. Cf. Raj 
Khalsa. 374. 

13 Dr. Sinha, without consulting any of the works quoted above in this connection, jumps to 
the conclusion that these coins were not struck at all, and refers to no authorities on whom he 
buses this statement, cf, Rise of the Sikh Power 
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such feelings as they would have had on a calmer occasion. In the heat of 
passion of having attained this glory, after the hardest struggle of more than 

half a century, bubbling over with their success and flushed with the pride of 

victory, they let them pass beyond the bounds of reason and thus they glorified 

the victor who had led them from one conquest to another for about a dozen 

years past. That the mistakes, made in the highest excitement of the hour, 

were realized in saner, cooler and calmer moments is evident beyond all doubts. 

With r^ard to the first objection Khushwaqt Rai on folio 104 of his 

“Kitab-i-Tarikh-i-Punjab” says:— 

(But the coin enjoyed a .short span of life, because its circulation was 

stopped on account of the contempt of the half name which was imprinted on 

this coin). 
Remarking about the second objection the Muslim historian Ahmad 

Yadgar gives us to understand that the Sikhs felt pinched on giving the credit 

of their victory to a Sikh and not to the Guru. Consequently, they stopped the 
circulation of this coin and struck another in the name of the Guru. 

• 5 iS<AAt 

• Lu^ j) 

T*^ 

James Browne, writing about 25 years later than this event, says;— 
“Soon after the last expulsion of the Aumils of the Durrani Shah, the 

Sicks held a general diet at Amritsar, in which they determined to call in the 

rupees which were struck in the name of Jessa Kalal and to strike them for 

the future in the name of their Gaoroos, with an inscription to this effect, 

‘Gooroo Gobind Singh, received from Nanak, the Daig, the sword and rapid 

victory’, which coin is current throughout their dominions to this day."^® 
The third objection, upheld by many others^® has already been answered 

in the above quotations. 

As regards objection No. 4, it seems probable that Jassa Singh never 

tried to impose his authority on his co-religionists. But on the contrary the 

latter appear to have insisted on Jassa Singh’s name to be inscribed on the 

coin in confirmation with the current custom^^ of issuing coin in the name of 

14 Tarikh>i-Salatiii*i-Afghanan, 173. 

15 India Tracts, ii. 27. **I have several of these rupees in my possession.’* Ibid, footnote. 

16 Cf. Lepel Griffin in Rajas of the Punjab, footnote on p. 461; C. T. Rodgers in the Journal 
of Asiatic Socieiy of Bengal, Vol. LIV. 1885, part i pp. 67-76; R. C. Temple in Indian Antiquary, 

Vol. XVIIL 1889, p. 321. 

17 "The striking of coins in India is a prerogative of royalty, and one which has always been 

exercised the moment a man sat on the throqe,** C T. Rodgers in J. A. S. B., Vol, I^iy. 

$f p., 1885, 
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the ruling person, more so because they had already established the practice 
of call ng him padishah.18 

Regarding the fifth point we have no hesitation in asserting that the 

Sikhs of those days were men of great sacrifice, deep faith, humble pretensions 

and simple nature. They never tried to hide from what stock they had come. 

Even the biggest chief seldom displayed any superiority over his followers 

even in dress, food or manners. Another example of this frankness and 

simplicity is afforded to us by the Bhangi Misl, the strongest unit of the Dal 

Khalsa. The term “Bhangi” is not a whit better than “Kalal” but even the 

mightiest Sardar of this Misl felt proud to add the surname “Bhangi” to his 

name. Jassa Singh, therefore, would have felt no scruples in calling himself 

Kalal, particularly at a time when there was the question of rhyme of the 

verse to be inscribed on the coin.i^ 

As to the statement of Ganesh Das it may be said that he does not give 

any source for this statement and is wholly unsupported by any other historian 

earlier or later. He compiled his account in 1849, nearly one hundred years 

after the event and therefore his isolated authority cannot be accepted for 

historical purposes. Moreover, he places this event in 1765, evidently referring 

to another coin of that year.**^ 

18 Cf. Khushwaqt Rai, 102; Ratan Singh, 265—66 ; Cyan Singh, 571; Prinsep, 30; 

M’Gregor, i-147 ; Punjab Chiefs, 172. Even on a subsequent occasion Jassa Singh is said to have 

been seated on the Imperial throne of Delhi by the Sikhs. Cf. Raj Khalsa, 378. 

19 Bhangi means a person who is addicted to taking bhang, an intoxicating liquor of 
dark green colour, prepared by pounding the leaves of hemp, a wild plant, often found along the 
river banks. 

20 Risala-i-Sahib Nama, 210. 

jfi «*>,j jj? «« U^q fAf I ^ 

- ^ ^ ^ 

5 8,^1; , ^j.«| })j? <-530 

Cjy ^ J ?:'}) ,^1 LjtnL 8^5 , 

Oji fsui} j| ,3^ 
* *^13^ 'll" 80^ (— 

* tJwhJ J!f| OjOj 

Griffin wrongly translates (couplet) into (twenty) misreading it as **bist'*. Rajas of 

the Punjab, footnote, 461. 



434 SIKH HIShTQRY 

DEVELOPMENT OF BRITISH POUTICAL AGENCIES 
IN THE PUNJAB 

1803—1849 

Prof. Pran Nath Khera« D. A. V. College, Jullundur City. 

It was not till the end of the eighteenth century that the British 

Government took any notice of the Sikhs. In 1781 a body of Phulkian and 

other Sikhs had marched down to Meerut but were defeated by the troops of 

the Emperor of Delhi. Two years later Bughel Singh and other commanders 

proposed crossing the Ganges, but were deterred by the watchfulness of the 

Oudh troops. However, they were predominant from the frontiers of Oudh to 

the Indus, and in 1784, the English Governor-General, Warren Hastings seems to 

have thought that the presence of a British Agent at the court of Delhi might help 

to deter them from molesting the Nawab Vizir of Oudh. But the English had no 

clear knowledge of the power and character of the Sikhs and nothing was done to 

check them. A little later, however, it was clear that the progress of the British 

power northwards will have two serious rivals, namely the Marathas and the 
Sikhs. From their position and character, these two nations must at no very 

distant period have appeared in hostile array on the plains of Delhi and the 

Marathas would no doubt have prevailed. This would have created a powerful 
Maratha state with which the Company would have to fight for its existence. 

Wellesley therefore decided that it was time to interfere. The interference of 

the British on this theatre and the victory of Lord Lake on the 11th September, 

1803, at Delhi pushed back the Marathas within the Gwalior and Indore frontiers, 

and placed the person of the Mughal Emperor in the custody of the Company to 

whom Sindhia transferred all his political rights in upper India. A Residency 
was established at Djplb! in the same year, but the fiction of the Mughal 

Government continued because by the arrangements which Wellesley then made, 

the administration of the new territory continued to be conducted in the 

Imperial name, though the only place where old Shah Alam’s orders were really 

effective was the palace and its precincts. The first Acting Resident of Delhi 
■was Lt. Col. (later Sir David) Ochterlony who was in charge from 1803 to 1806, 

In addition to the Trans-Jumna territories like Delhi, Hansi and Hissar 

which the campaign of Lord Lake brought under the almost immediate control 

of the Resident, it resulted in the tender of allegiance on the part of many 

Sikh Sirdars some of whom had fought against the English at Delhi. More 

important among them were Bhai Lai Singh of Kythal, Bhag Singh of Jind 

^d after a time Bhunga Singh of Thanesar. This was the first d^nite 
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connection of the East India Company with Trans-Jumna territory and 
its chiefs. 

Next year, however, Holkar in concert with certain Sikh Chiefs marched 

on Delhi with a large force and laid siege to it. Delhi was, however, very 
skilfully defended for ten days by the Acting Resident, Lt. Col, David 

Ochterlony with such a small force that the men had to be provisioned at their 

posts on the ramparts. The advance of Lake’s army raised the siege and 
Holkar had to flee to Rajputana. Soon after this Ochterlony was confirmed 

at Delhi and his designation was now altered to that of Resident. Most of the 

Sikh Chiefs were with the English during this campaign, and rendered valuable 
services which were acknowledged by Lord Lake, Gurdit Singh of Ladwa, 

however, had taken up an actively hostile attitude and was therefore deprived of 

his villages in the Doab and the town of Karnal by Col. Burn in April of 1805. 

After this event Col, Burn called a truce and began to negotiate with Gurdit 

Singh of Ladwa and other Sikh Chiefs, many of whom had sent their Vakils to 
his camp. When Burn reported the circumstance to the Resident, the latter 

reprimanded him for his conduct and told him that he had absolutely no 

(political) authority to negotiate. The Vakils of various Chiefs were suffered 
by the Resident to be at his camp so as to enable Col. Burn to act as a medium 

conveying Ochterlony’s wishes and orders to them. Col. Burn felt hurt that 

the matter of settling terms with Ladwa had been taken out of his hands and 
suspended all intercourse with the Sikh Chiefs. Ochterlony sent fresh terms 

which were rejected by the Vakils of Ladwa in the camp of Col. Burn but were 

accepted later on. Thenceforth it was clear to all the Sikh Chiefs that the 
proper authority for carrying on any negotiations with the British Government 

was the Resident. Most of them therefore sent their Vakils to attend on him 

at Delhi. 

During the same year when Lord Lake was chasing Holkar and Amir 

Khan into the Punjab, he was joined by the Sikh Chiefs of Sirhind like Sahib 

Singh of Patiala, Bhag Singh of Jind and Lai Singh of Kythal. Lord Lake’s 

connection with many of these Chiefs was intimate and he also entered into a 

friendly correspondence with Sansar Chand Katoch. Some of these Chiefs were 

rewarded by grants fqr their late servioes, but beyond this their relations with 

the British Government came to a virtual end owing to the reaction against 

the policy of Wellesley. At home the Courts of Directors and Proprietors had 

condemned his policy by an over-whelming majority, and Cornwallis had come to 

India with the avowed object of withdrawing from the wide responsibilities which 

Wellesley had undertaken. He even desired to relinquish all territory west of 

the Jumna except Agra, and consequently no further relations with Chiefs of 

sirhind were possible, The relations already established were neither denied 
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nor further cemented, and a period of ‘masterly,inactivity* was inaugurated. 
Circumstances, however, rendered it impossible to follow this policy with logical 

consistency. 

In 1807 Napoleon concluded the alliance of Tilsit with Alexander I of 
Russia one of the details of which was a combined invasion of India by the 

land route. From that year may be dated the bogy of Russian advance 

which kept exercising the minds of British statesmen throughout the nineteenth 
century. In Macmunn’s words, from that day ‘the Bear has always cast his 

shadow forward on the borders of India.* 

To provide against this fresh danger, it was thought necessary to have a 
barrier between British India and Russia. The conception of such a barrier 

took the form of an outer and an inner layer of states. The inner layer was 
to be Lahore, Bahawalpur and Sindh, the outer layer Kabul, Herat and Persia. 

Therefore, Governor-General Lord Minto, an active exponent of the policy 
of inactivity and non-intervention was obliged to send Elphinstone to Kabul, 

Malcolm to Tehran, Metcalfe to Lahore, and a certain Hanky Smith to 

arrange treaties and alliances. This last gentleman seems to be a victim of the 

masterly inactivity of historians, who all mention Malcolm, Elphinstone and 
Metcalfe, but leave out poor Hanky Smith. A little before the mission of 

Metcalfe, i. e. in March 1808, the Chiefs of Patiala, Jind and Kythal had 
sent a deputation to the Resident lat Delhi to ask for British protection against 
the aggressions of Ranjit Singh. No definite assurance was given to him, but in 

September of the same year, when Metcalfe was sent to Ranjit Singh, the 

Chiefs of Sirhind were verbally assured that they had been taken under 

protection as dependants of the British Government. But Ranjit Singh was 

not inclined to listen to Metcalfe’s proposal, and therefore to support him in 
his negotiations, and to^ provide for possible Military operations of a more 
extensive character, I detachment of troops was ordered to be advanced 

towards the Sutlej under the command of Col. Ochterlony. Ochterlony 

reached Ludhiana on the 18th February, 1809, accompanied by the Agents of the 

various Rajas ordered by the Resident at Delhi to accompany him. Meanwhile, 

he had been invested with political duties as well, but they were to come 
into force after Metcalfe*s withdrawal from Lahore. To quote from 

Edmonstone’s letter to Ochterlony, “when Mr. Metcalfe shall have withdrawn 

your local situation near the frontier of that country will be favourable 

to the conduct of any communications with the court of Lahore or with 

any of the Chiefs or subjects of that state which the course of events and 

transactions may render necessary.’* Ochterlony was therefore only in military 
command at Ludhiana from the 20th February, 1809, to the-- April of the same 

year. In April Metcalfe concluded a treaty with Ranjit Singh and withdrew 
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from the Punjab. Thenceforth Ochterlony was in Political and Military 
command at Ludhiana for one year L e. from April 1809 to April 1810. Till 

this time he communicated directly with the Government of India as he had 

been doing while he had been commanding at Allahabad. 

Meanwhile the question of retaining the post at Ludhiana was being 

considered by Government. Ludhiana was conquered by Ranjit Singh from 
the widow of Roy Ilias Khan in 1807 and bestowed on his maternal uncle 

Bhag Singh who in 1809 was anxious to benefit by the protection of Government. 

Raja Bhag Singh’s proposal to exchange the district of Ludhiana for Karnal 

was rejected by Government though Ochterlony listened favourably to the 
proposal for a time. Ochterlony was in favour of continuing the post, but 

Government received intelligence from Europe that the projects of France 

against India must be abandoned on account of Napoleon having embarked 
on the Peninsular Wars. The object therefore of stationing a military force 

in the territories of the Sikh Chiefs “which before had reference to the approach 
of a European enemy was now limited to the security of the territory between 
the Jumna and the Sutlej against the encroachments of Raja Ranjit Singh.” The 

post therefore could be withdrawn to a greater distance from the frontier of the 

Punjab than was originally intended. Rmjit Singh was also informed of this 

decision through a letter from the Governor-General who wrote that the force at 

Ludhiana will be withdrawn “as soon as may be found convenient”. But 
Ochterlony was very much against the abandoning of the post, an attitude 

for which he gave three arguments:— 

Firstly, he said that the event which first suggested the maintenance of 
this advanced position, is still possible. “As a grand step in advance towards a 

European enemy, it cannot be considered unimportant”. 

Secondly, as an object of jealousy to Ranjit Singh it will every day be 

viewed with more and more indifference as the forbearance and moderation of 

the British Government become more conspicuous. 

Thirdly, he said it will serve as a good check on the protected Sikh States. 

With regard to the intimation made to Ranjit Singh that Ludhiana will 

be abandoned ‘as may be found convenient’, it was suggested by Mr. Seton the 

Resident at Delhi that the phrase used in the G. G’s letter to Ranjit Singh 

was a relative one and gave a loophole in as much as it was His Lordship alone 

who could determine Vihen it may be convenient to withdraw it. The 

Government therefore decided to maintain the post till further orders. As 

suggested by Ochterlony the Raja of Jind was compensated for the occupation 

of Ludhiana by a payment of 500 rupees per mensem from the date of the 

arrival of the detachment. The whole correspondence on the question shows 

the reluctance of the Governor^-General to incur obligations and responsibilities 
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beyond the Jumna; and whenever he did incur them it was because he was 

forced by circumstances and by the arguments of his subordinates like 

Ochterlony who were nurtured in the school of Wellesley. However, Ludhiana 

was retained and with regard to the disputes between Sikh Chiefs and others 
between the Jumna and the Sutlej Ochterlony was authorized to take cognizance 

of complaints presented to him on the principle that the Government had a ‘right’ 

but no obligation to interfere, i.e., he should interfere only when he thought 

it desirable, without acknowledging the obligation to do so. This authority 

given to Ochterlony was, we may say, the beginning of the First British Agency 

in the Punjab. The regular Agency itself was established next year i.e,, 

April 1810. David Ochterlony was of course appointed the First Agent to 

the G.-G. at Ludhiana just as he had been the first Resident at Delhi seven 

years earlier. He was henceforth to act in subordination to the Resident at 

Delhi, through whom he conducted his correspondence. Capt. Birch was 

appointed Assistant to the A. G;-G. 

From April 1810 to October I8I4, Ochterlony remained at Ludhiana 

as Agent to the G.-G. as well as in military command of the detachment 

stationed there. In August 1811 a pro.:lamation was issued to the protected 
Chiefs asking them to desist from fighting with each other. Their armed 
conflicts having practically ceased owing to that proclamation, the work 

of the Agency consisted in deciding claims of the Chiefs against each 

other, their boundary disputes, and disputed successions. To enforce these 
decisions military force could also be used. The other questions which 

demanded the Agent’s attention were installations of Princes, providing for 
regencies, reporting news of political and military nature, and preventing the 

depredations of Akalis like Phoola Singh into the cis-Sutlej territory. The 

complaints of the chiefs against each other respecting village boundaries etc. 

were sent to the party .complained against and an immediate settlement was 

demanded, unless thi respondent could allege good reasons against it. People 

were encouraged to have recourse to the arbitration of the eldest and most 

respectable zamindars of neighbouring villages. If, however, they refused, the 

case was regularly decided on oath before such of the Vakils of the Chiefs as chose 

to attend. The oath considered most binding was that by the cow-hide There 

were some other minor and routine duties which need not be mentioned here. 

During the years 1812 and 1813 the Gurkhas commenced those 

encroachments which resulted in the military operations against them in 1814. 

Ochterlony was given command of one of the columns operating against them 

on the extreme west of Nepal. During his absence from October 1814 to 

June 1815 his assistant Capt. Birch was entrusted with the current political 

duties, and was specially asked by Ochterlony to employ an intelligent man 
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with a few Harkaras to be always with Diwan Mohkam Chand, or in the 

cantonment of Phillaur, to see if Ranjit Singh contemplated taking advantage 

of the absence of British troops from Ludhiana to make an inroad in the 

territories of the protected Chiefs. On conclusion of the Gurkha campaign 

Ochterlony returned to Ludhiana in June 1S15 and resumed his duties. He 
was now vested with control over the territory conquered from the Gurkhas 

in the hills in addition to his previous duties and his designation was changed 
to that of “Superintendent of Political Affairs and Agent to the Governor- 

General in the territories of the protected Sikh and hill Chiefs between the 

Jumna and the Sutlej.” He was given two assistants, Capt. Birch stationed 
at Nahan and Lt. R. Ross at Subathu. 

The Agent remained at Ludhiana for a period of about 5 months after 

his return from the hills but he found that he could not properly conduct his 

new duties of Superintendence of hill affairs from Ludhiana. Moreover he 

had been placed in command of the 3rd Division of the Field Army which was 

stationed at Karnal. He therefore had to remove his Agency from Ludhiana 
to Karnal in October 1815. During this time Ochterlony and his assistants 

at Nahan and Subathu were busy in removing traces of the Gurkha occupation 

from the territories which had been acquired. An interesting example is that 
about the hill women who had been usurped by the Gurkhas along with the 

hill country and were living in a state of unmarried polygamy, with them. 
The Gurkhas when being turned out of the country were asked to leave those 

women behind for it was declared that the laws of England did not admit 

of slavery, and a right over a woman could be conferred only by marriage. 

And Ochterlony wrote to Birch that "knowing as we do, how most of them have 

been acquired, it would be the height of injustice to prevent their going back 

to their kindred if they will receive them. But it should be made a point of 

honour with the women that articles bestowed on them by their former 

protectors should be restored.” Amelioration of the condition of the peasantry 

and the settlement of the country were also undertaken, as well as the task 

of putting the administration of the hill Rajas in order, especially of Nahan 

and Kalsia. 

Shortly after his larrival at Karnal Sir David Ochterlony who had been 
made a K. C. B. and created a Baronet for his services in the Gurkha campaign, 

were placed in supreme command of the renewed operations against the 

Gurkhas. Before leaving Karnal, he left instructions to Lt. Birch in the 

hills that cases (requiring early decisions should be referred to the Resident 

at Delhi, but in the cases which will bear delay, he himself should be 
written to as being particularly interested in the hill country. Ochterlony 

returned in July, 18J6, and resumed his duties at Karnal which were 
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conducted daring his absence by W. Murray, though by the letter above 

quoted Ochterlony had left very little power in Murray’s hands with regard to 

the hill territory. 

It will have been noticed that during these transactions in the year 1815, 

Ludhiana Agency had disappeared, or more correctly had shifted to Karnal 

along with Col. Ochterlony. Ludhiana was therefore without an Agency for 

about one 3 ear». «. from October 1815 to November 1816. During this time 

the arrangements for the accommodation of Shah Shuja-ul-Mulk and the 

members of his family who had taken refuge in Ludhiana also engaged the 

attention of Col. Ochterlony and in November 1816, it was found necessary to 
post an assistant at Ludhiana to look after the ex-Royal family of Kabul and 

also to hold charge of the treasury, Abkari Mahal and Police. In this 

resurrected and a subordinate position, the Ludhiana Agency was put under 
the charge of Lt. W. Murray, Assistant A. G.-G. Ludhiana. At this time 

therefore we had four Agencies between the Jumna and the Sutlej. The 

principal one at Karnal, and three subordinate agencies at Ludhiana, Subathu 
and Nahan. 

Major-General Ochterlony left Karnal in October 1817 and the work 

of the Agency was carried on by Capt. G. Birch under the designation of 
Assistant A. G.-G. Capt. Birch continued at Karnal till September 1821 when 

he was succeeded by Capt. R. Ross under the designation of Deputy 

Superintendent of Sikh and Hill affairs. Capt. C. P. Kennedy ‘the father of 

Simla’ who was then Commandant of the Nasiri Battalion was appointed 

Assistant to the Deputy Superintendent for the charge of the Hill States in 

addition to his other duties. Immediately after taking over charge Capt. R. Ross 

recommended that the Agency be removed from Karnal to some other place. 

The consideration of combining the Military and Political command between the 

Jumna and the Sutlej having (ceased by the departure of Ochterlony there 
was no reason why Ifarnal should continue to be the residence of the Officer 

exercising political duties. He also gave some other arguments in favour of 

this proposal. 

Firstly, be said that Karnal was situated on the extremity of the country 

and was more in the Delhi tract. This fact caused inconvenience and delay 
in dealing with the more northern States. 

Secondly, and this was a very interesting argument, he said, a number 

of Sikh Chiefs with their armed followers. Vakils, Agents etc. resort to the 

Political Agent, and being ignorant of the cantonment Regulations they become 

amenable to the Military authorities on account of their habits of inebriety. 

It would certainly be irritating for the Political Agent, to get up one fine 

looming and find that the Vakil of some State with whom he had in\portaat 
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business to transact was detained by the Military authorities or by the town 
Magistrate of Karnal Division in consequence of having been found tipsy during 
the previous night. Some idea of the force of this argument can be had from 

the fact that the Vakils of these Chiefs attending at Karnal with their followers 

numbered about three hundred men and lived in a separate part of the town 
called Vakilpura. 

Ross therefore suggested that the Agency be removed to Ambala, which 

was more centrally situated. In fact, mathematical precision could scarcely 

have placed it better. A circle of 50 miles radius with Ambala as the centre 

would include in it Bilaspur, Sabathu and Nahan in the Hills, Karnal, 
Ludhiana, Patiala, Nabha and Kythal in the plains, in short every place of 
consequence with the single exception of Jind. Moreover Rani Daya Kaur the 
Sardarni of Ambala, was a childless woman of upwards of 80 years of age, and 
was expected to die any moment. On her death the place would lapse to the 

British Government as overlords of the Protected States. Soon after she died, 
Ambala lapsed to Government and the Agency was removed to that place in 

March 1822. This was the second case of Lapse, the first having occurred in 

1820 when the petty state of Bilaspur had lapsed to Government} In the 
records of Karnal and Ambala Agencies are found the first instances of the 
working of the doctrine of paramountcy and lapse, later on so widely used 

by Dalhousie. But whereas Dalhousie acted on the general principle of annexing 
if he could do so legitimately, at this time in 1820 and 1822, we find Moira's 

Government willing to bestow these lapsed estates on other Indian rulers on 

condition of tribute, retaining of course the right to resume them at pleasure. 

In the case of Bilaspur, they were willing to confer it on Sardar Jodh Singh of 

Kalsia if he paid a tribute and relinquished all his grants from Ranjit Singh 
beyond the Sutlej. But Jodh Singh never turned up to enter into an agreement 
though many invitations were sent to him. * 

In the year 1823, another re-shuffling of the posts was made. Lt. Murrary 

was transferred to Ambala as Deputy Superintendent of Sikh and Hill affairs, 

and Lt. C. M. Wade, an ambitious man with an ^aggressive personality, was 

appointed to the Ludhiana Agency. Almost from the day of his arrival he 

entered into an endless controversy with Murrary, which ended only by the 

latter's death in 1831. 

During this time many questions of importance came up before the Agents. 

One such case was that of Rani Sada Kaur, the mother-in-law of Ranjit Singh. 
Two forts called Himmatpur and Wadni on the left side of the Sutlej had been 

1 Lord Dalhousie, whose period witnessed so many cases of Lapse, was certainly not the 

inventor o£ this doctrine, althou^^h he is generally blamed for it, 

56 
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transferred to h» by Ran jit Singh in 1808. These had been confirmed to h6r 

in 1816 by Ochterlony. Ranjit Singh considered that she was dependent 

on him for those forts whereas the British authorities considered her as one of 

the Protected Chiefs between the Jumna and the Sutlej, 

In 1821, the Maharaja learnt that Sada Kaur's Thanadars of these 

territories were oppressing the Zamindars. He therefore called the Zamindars 

of the place, gave them shawls and turbans and touching his beard declared 
them his vassals*. They at once threw off their allegiance to Sada Kaur and 

declared for Ranjit. But Sada Kaur’s Thanadar of Wadni did not yield the 

fort to the men sent from Lahore with the result that his wife and children 

were imprisoned in Lahore along with the Mai. Sada Kaur sent secret messages 

from her place of confinement to Lt. Murray intimating that she had been 
made to sign a document yielding the place to Ranjit and asking for protection. 

She admitted that Ranjit was her heir and would be entitled to all her possessions 

• after her death but her only regret was that he was attempting to do in her life 

time what he should have done after her death. But Ranjit was determined 
and ordered troops to be sent across the Sut’ Q^^^he possession of Wadni. 

Mr. A. Ross the Resident at Delhi at the same ^cred Murray to prevent 

Ranjit’s Officers from dispossessing those of Mai Sada Kaur. He therefore 
collected all the horse available at Ludhiana, arrived at Wadni and took 

possession of the fort. Two hours later the Lahore troops arrived to find 

the place in the possession of the British troops. The case was watched with 
much interest by the Chiefs and people of Malwa. On the one hand it was 

felt that Ranjit Singh having presented turbans to the Zamindars of Wadni and 

having declared them his vassals would support his Pagri Ki Laj (honour of the 

turban). On the other hand the Resident considered Sada Kaur as one of the 

Chiefs, who must be, protected in her possessions on this side of the Sutlej. 

This was probably the first case of the display of British protection against. 

Ranjit Singh to these Chiefs ever since 1809 when it had been promised. 

Whether Wadni could be considered as one of the protected territories is a 
question. But it is certain that the interference of the British Government 

shook the. Maharaja’s faithi in the sincerity of their professions and ‘deeply 

mortified his pride.’ ® This was the temper in which Wade found him on his 
arrival at Ludhiana in 1823. The Maharaja was busy making extensive 

military preparations. His newly employed French officers were recruiting 

any handsome man who presented himself, and the Maharaja was asking them 

whether one lakh horse will be able to cope with 40 English battalions. He 

expressed himself very strongly against the cis>Sutlej Chiefs who, he said, had 

2 This was the nstial way of extending protection to vaisale* 

3 Resident's words, 
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placed the caDtonment of Ludhiana as a huge stone upon his breast, and whose 

troops were always at the disposal of Lt. Murray. The Maharaja also ordered 
Phula Singh Akali to raise one thousand men. But the new Agent Capt. 

Wade adopted a more conciliatory tone and the war-like preparations of the 
Maharaja were given out to be directed towards Sindh. Moreover “the 

re-appointment of Sir Charles Metcalfe as Resident at Delhi and the first journey 

of the G.-G. towards the Frontier encouraged Ranjit Singh to appeal to the equity 

and justice, as well as to the friendship” of the British Government with the 
result that the abnoxious act was revoked and Sir Charles Metcalfe declared it 

as an interference with the domestic affairs of the- Maharaja with which the 
English had no political concern. 

During the years 1828-1829, the exact extent of Ranjit Singh’s territories 

cis-Sutlej was defined. During these discussions Capt. Wade the Agent at 

Ludhiana invariably supported the claims of the Lahore Darbar as against the 

Malwa Chiefs, with the result that Ranjit Singh’s confidence in the friendship 

and impartiality of British Government was re-established. These incidents 
go to show the extent of the influence which the local Agents exercised in those 

days in shaping the policy of their Government and cementing friendship 

between two states. Those were the days when Political Agents were also 
pioneers of Imperialism and not merely functionaries serving as mediums for 
transmitting the orders of their superiors. What more, they were like 

little Rajas holding their Darbars and listening to grievances. In 1831, 
Jacquemont the French traveller describing the work of Lt. Murray at Ambala 

wrote:— 

“That from Ranjit Singh who possesses territories on the left bank of 
the Sutlej with the revenue of 3 lakhs and the Raja of Patiala down to the 

smallest' Sardar, all have their Vakil or Agent with Murray. Three times a 

week he holds a Darbar which lasts from 8 a. m. to 4 p. m. During the day 

500 people come before him. First he receives the Vakils in the order of 

seniority of the Chief they represented. The Envoy of Ranjit Singh arrives and 

is the only one who receives the distinction of a chair. Then comes the Vakil 
of Patiala and so on. “At the end of this corps diplomatique which strongly 

resembles a band of melodrama brigands, are the representatives of the poor 
Chiefs, who only possess a half or a quarter of a village. They would starve 

rather than forego their princely right of having an envoy with Murray. 

Each passes before him, and the latter never escapes with a salam. There is 

nearly always some petition to be read, mostly boundary disputes or complaints 

against the cattle of a neighbouring Prince. If Murray were not there to act 

as arbitrator, there would be fighting from one end of the country to the other, 

but such is his vigilance that in spite of all the opposing claims of an armed and 
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idle aristocracy, violent scenes are rare, as he punishes their authors severdy 

to the general satisfaction".^ 
After the diplomatic body some hundred individuals pass through the 

Darbar, ail of the same class, that is to say subjects of the Sikh Princes and 

Chiefs who come to complain against their masters. All these petitions are 
read and nearly all of them torn up as inadmissible, for the treaties of the 

Company with the Sikh Chiefs debar them from interfering between the 

Chiefs and their subjects and Murray only departs from this rule in exceptional 
cases. Generally speaking only those cases are dealt with which concern the 

inhabitants of the Sikh territories which belong to the Company. These 

complaints are of the simplest nature. 
In the lapsed territories the general rule laid down by Government was 

that the local customs and institutions should be adhered to> Civil justice was 

to be administered through the medium of Panchayats as far as practicable. 

With respect to the administration of criminal justice, the powers of the Political 

Agent, Ambala, extended to seven years imprisonment but his decisions could be 
appealed against to the Resident at Delhi. 

From 1823 when Murray became the Deputy Superintendent for Sikh and 

Hill Affairs, up to 1827, the records of the Ambala and Ludhiana Agencies are full 
of controversial letters concerning the jurisdictions of the various officers. Capt. 

Murray though a very able man could not pull on well with his subordinates. 

He had a controversy with Lennedy at Subathu and a controversy with Wade 

at Ludhiana. In 1826 these disputes came to such a pass that the Resident 

had to prepare a memorandum defining their respective jurisdictions. It was 

dearly laid down that the charge of British relations with the.Protected States 
between the Jumna and the Sutlej belonged to Murray subject to the control of the 

Resident at Delhi and that the duties of the Assistant at Ludhiana ware strictly 

local, and with respect to these duties he was directly under the Resident. The 

charge of British relat^ods with Ranjit Singh belonged neither to the Deputy 

Superintendent at Ambala nor to the Assistant at Ludhiana, but was directly 

under the Resident with whom Ranjit’s principal Agent was stationed. If ever 

engaged in communications with the protected states, the Assistant at Ludhiana, 

with r^ard to such communications must act in subordination to the Deputy 

Superintendent at Ambala. This decision was far from satisfactory to Capt. 
Wade, and next year on his return from his first mission to Ranjit Singh he 

wrote to Government that His Highness Maharaja Ranjit Singh had frequently 

expressed a wish that the local Superintendence of his affairs cis*Sutlej should 

be entrusted to the Political Assistant, Ludhiana. The same year i, e. in 1827 

the Gevernor^General paid his first visit to Simla and Kennedy at Sabathu got 

4 Pimjab Government Record Office Pnblication*, monograph No. 18. 
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a chance to press his case for becoming independent of Captain Murray’s control. 

Both these proposals were agreed to and in June 1827, the Deputy Superintendent 

of Sikh and Hill Affairs was deprived of his charge of the Hill affairs, and their 

management was entrusted to Capt. Kennedy in direct subordination to the 

Resident under the designation of Principal Assistant to the Resident, Delhi. 

His jurisdiction was to extend over the several Hill Ranas paying tribute to 

the British Government and the reserved and transferred lands within the Hills 

as also to the remote and extensive Raj of Bashahar. In October, Murray was 

further relieved of the charge of the Lahore dependencies, work in connection 

with which was entrusted to the Political Assistant at Ludhiana also in direct 

subordination to the Resident at Delhi. Thus the Deputy Superintendent of 

Sikh and Hill affairs, now known as Political Agent, Ambala, was left only with 

the charge of Protected Sikh States as well as Sirmur, Hindur, Bilaspur and 

Morni. He was however told that these changes were not due to the personal 

difference between Lt. Murray and his subordinates and that as he was holding 

a most extensive, important and honourable charge he should not mind 

relinquishing a part of it. These new arrangements were very much pleasing 

both to Wade and Kennedy as they increased the importance of their respective 

charges, but their controversies with Murray continued, so much so that 

Government had to reprimand them severely for the unfriendly feelings 

towards each other. Murray, however, died in 1831 at Subathu and with the 

coming of G. R. Clerk in his place on the 13th August, 1831, a period of 

harmonious relations between the Agents was inaugurated. 

No further change was made in the jurisdictions of the Agents except that 

Captain Wade was made a Political Agent in 1832, and in July 1838 the 

Political Agent of Ambala was again charged with the control of the affairs of 

Ranjit Singh’s cis-Sutlej possessions, while the Political Agent, Ludhiana, was 

entrusted with the complete management of British relations with Ranjit Singh 

as regards the affairs of the Punjab and His Highness’s possessions beyond 

the Indus. Mr. G. R. Clerk remained at Ambala from 1831 to November 1838 

when he was sent to Ludhiana. During this period the only important questions 

relating to the Sikh states were those in connection with some escheats (lapses), 

notably that of a portion of the Jind state and of Ferozepur. These questions 

involved discussions with Ranjit Singh and other claimants but were amicably 

decided in the end. It was during these discussions, the details of which are 

found in the Ambala and Ludhiana Agency records, that those principles of 

succession to cis-Sutlej Chiefships were evolved which are now followed in those 

states. Let us take the case of Jind for example. 

In the year 1834, Sangat Singh the young Raja of Jind died suddenly 

teaving three young widows but no children. The question of succession <4 
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the estates naturally arose. There were many claimants for examplci the 

widows of the late Raja, the real and step-mothers of the late Raja, the 

British Government, Maharaja Ranjit Singh, the Nabha family and one Sirdar 

Samp Singh who appeared later on. There was such a lack of any established 

rules that it took no less than three years before the question could I be 

finally decided. 

In the words of Murray “the rules of succession to landed property in the 

Sikh States were arbitrary and variously modified in accordance to the usage 

and interests and prejudices of different families, nor was it practicable to reduce 

the anomalous system to a fixed leading principle’*. It was therefore laid down 

by Government that “every consideration of justice, usage and policy seems to 

require that as regards the four principal States of Patiala, Jind, Kythal and 

Nabha, the rule ought to be that the estate should devolve entirely to the nearest 

male heir according to the Hindu Law and to the exclusion of females’*. Those 

estates which were granted by Ranjit Singh after the treaty of 1809 will revert 

to him. Sarup Singh who was the nearest male heir was to succeed to the Jind 

Raj but only to those parts which were possessed by his great grandfather 

Gajpat Singh through whom he derived his title. Those parts which were 

acquired by the Jind family after the death of Gajpat Singh and before the 

treaty of 1809 were to escheat to the British Government as the paramount 

power. Of the territory thus acquired by the English from Jind, the district of 

Ludhiana was most important, yielding a revenue of about Rs, 85,000, the 

remaining acquisitions together yielding a like amount. 

In addition to the rules of succession which were formulated at this period, 

the story of escheats as related in these records gives an interesting account of 

the rise of British power in Northern India. 

In April 1840 when G. R. Clerk, the Political Agent, Ambala, was appointed 

to the charge of Ludhiana in place of Lt. Col. Sir C. M. Wade, the Ambala 

Agency ceased to existyas a separate agency. The control of Sikh Principalities 

trans-Jumna was vested in the Government of the North-Western Provinces 

instead of the A. G.-G., Delhi. Mr. Clerk’s official designation at Ludhiana 

was A. G.-G. for the affairs of the Punjab and later A. G.-G. North-West 

Frontier. These changes were necessary on account of the anarchical state 

of the Lahore Darbar owing to which the Government of India wished to be 

directly in touch with the affairs on their North-West Frontier rather than 

through the Agent at Delhi. 

In October 1842 it was arranged that the whole Province formed out of 

the escheated Sikh States should be divided into the districts of Ambala and 

Ludhiana including Ferozepur, and being incorporated with the Hill States 

under the Subetbu Ageacy should be treated as one jurisdiction bebg pr^ided 
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over by a Sub-Commissioner subordinate to the Agent, Governor-General. At 
the same time the control within the protected States was also transferred to 
the A. G.-G. North-West Frontier. In 1843, G. R. Clerk was appointed 

Lt. Governor of the N. W. Provinces and was succeeded at Ludhiana by 

Col. A. F. Richmond who was in turn relieved by Major G. Broadfoot who 

held charge till his death in December 1845 in the battle of Ferozeshah. 

The correspondence of the North-West Frontier Agency from 1840 to 
1845 contains an account of the circumstances leading (o the First Sikh war 

and is especially important as giving an insight into the condition of the 

Lahore Darbar. 

It was during the First Sikh war that the Protected Sikh Chiefs were 

asked to help the British Government. By previous engagements they were 

“bound to assist the British Government in time of war to the best of their 

ability, to furnish information, forward supplies and join their contingents to 

the British force”. But, in the words of Henry Lawrence, “of those contingents 

(which the Protected Chiefs were bound to furnish) it will be sufficient to 

remark that some fought against us and many never appeared at all. Even 

those that did join our army were but little to be depended upon, and such 
was their want of discipline and equipment that had they been faithful they 

had still been useless”. On paper, the number of soldiers which these Chiefs 

could bring into fields on a requisition being made was very large. Ochterlony 

had prepared one such paper in 1809, and further estimates had been made by 

other officers from time to time. But on requisition being made in 1845, it was 

found that most of these soldiers were merely paper soldiers, who never turned 

up, and those that did turn up proved to be tin soldiers. 

After the first Sikh War Major Henry Lawrence succeeded Major 

Broadfoot as Agent to the G.-G., North-West Frontier. Serving under him 
was Major F. Mackeson Commissioner and Superintendent for the cis-Sutlej 

territory at Ferozepur as well as the Hon’ble Mr. J. C. Erskime as Sub- 

Commissioner in charge of the Protected Hill States at Simla. 

The arrangements were again modified and the Commissioner and 

Superintendent of cis- and trans-Sutlej territories were placed under the direct 

control of the Government of India instead of that of the Resident at Lahore. 

These arrangements continued till 1849 when the Punjab was annexed. 

The records relating to all these interesting and important topics are 

lodged in the Government Record Office, Lahore, and can be seen by 

permission of the Keeper of Records to the Punjab Government. I have seen 

most of the records of these earlier Agencies in the Punjab and can confidently 

say that there is room for biographies of David Ochterlony, and Captain C. M. 
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Wade. There is also material for a thorough and critical account of the 

British Government’s relations with the trans-Jumna Chiefs, with the kingdom 

of Lahore under the Sikhs, with Afghanistan and with Sindh. The missing 

records are being gradually replaced. By a thorough examination of these 

records it is possible to write a new history of the Punjab provided one has 

the means, the time, and the ability to do so. It is hoped that the young 

scholars who are engaged in this work will some day succeed in bringing out 

an authoritative history of our Province.® 

5* The author wishes to thank the University Professor of History of the Punjab 

University for help and the Keeper of Records to the Punjab Government for permission to see 

the Records on with this paper is based. 
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PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS 

Dr. Bal Krishna, M.A., Ph.D., Principal, Rajaram College, Kolhapur 

I am very grateful to the Working Committee for having conferred 
upon me the honour of presiding over the Modern section of Indian 
History, Sir Shafaat Ahmad Khan and his colleagues are to be highly 
congratulated for having summoned the History Congress at Allahabad 

and shouldering the responsibility of successfully organizing the work 
of all the sections. It is indeed a rare opportunity when historians 

and scholars interested in the different periods of history should have 
assembled from all parts of this sub-continent in the sacred and ancient 
city of Prayag for organizing, vitalizing, and promoting research in 

national history. This city is not only situated at the confluence of the 

holy rivers, but is a confluence of the sacred streams of oriental and 

accidental learning. Herein we are having a congregation of eminent 

scholars and research workers in the same spirit as the Parishads were 

held in ancient days. The University of Allahabad can justly be proud 

of securing the services of several distinguished historians who have 
earned the reputation of making original contributions to historic 

literature. With the patronage of the provincial government, the 

University and the public, this session of the Congress is sure to be 
crowned with success. The Indian Historical Records Commission 

has done much service in encouraging the collection, preservation, 
arrangement and study of records in British India and the States. The 
scope of the Commission has, however, been very much limited. Its 

work can be supplemented by various societies, associations and 

conferences. 

All Hittorcial Conferences to be simultaneously held at one place:— 

All these should work in collaboration with each other and not 
as rivals competing with one another to usurp the sphere of others and to 

satisfy personal and territorial ambitions. The Records Commission 
holds its session in December in one place the History Congress in another, 

the History Conference at Kamshet and the History Institute at Benares. 
There is already a move to start an All India Historical Association under 

the guiding spirit of Father Heras. It is almost impossible for professors 
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and scholars to attend more than one conference in a year. The money, 
time and energy required for attending these conferences from distant 
places are prohibitive in many cases. I must consequently request you 
all to seriously consider the question of supplementing the work of 
different organizations and of holding the annual sessions in one place 
at the same time. Many of those who attend the Records Commission 
are present here. I strongly feel that the summoning of conferences 
at different places is waste of our valuable time, energy and money. 

Several of us by reason of service, health and old age find it most 

difficult to attend these sessions. I, therefore, cherish the hope that you 
will evolve some practical scheme to carry out my suggestion. Now 

I proceed to take a view of the work hitherto done in the British period 
of Indian History. 

History of European Empire in the East:— 

In the list of secondary books given ffi the 5th volume of the 

Cambridge History of India, published in 1929, there is not a single 
Indian author of a book on the Portuguese, Dutch and French Empires 
in the East. It is indeed regrettable that Indian scholars should not 
have undertaken study and research in the imperial history of these 
nations. There are numerous works written by men of their own 
nationalities, but we Indians have not yet worked in the record offices 
of Goa, Lisbon, Batavia, the Hague, Pondichery and Paris. All these 
hbtoric fields lie unexplored by our scholars. 

Even when you turn to the History of the English East India 
Company, you find the names of Malabari, Shafaat Ahmad Khan and 
myself out of 31 zJuthors listed there. Again no Indian author has 

produced a standard work on the struggle between the French and the 

English. There are only two Indians who have written some books 
on the British conquest of Bengal. Subsequent history of the British 

in India too has not invited Indian scholars. 

The conquest of Ceylon, Burma, Sind and Punjab by the British 
has not been studied by Indian scholars. Out of 43 authors, only one 
is an Indian who wrote a book on the Punjab in 1891. We can well 

realize that the relations of India with Afganishtan, Russia and Persia 
will hardly attract Indian scholars when the most important and 
interesting studies have remained unattended uptil now. ^ 
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Only the Anglo-Maratha relations have been studied to some 
extent-—seven out of 31 writers are Indian, There is again a lamentable 
gap even in the history of the Carnatak and Mysore. No original work 

has yet been produced by an Indian scholar on the distinguished Sultans 
Hyder and Tipu. 

In short, the 5th volume covering a period of 360 years upto 1858, 

depicts a most lamentable picture of our indifference to historical 
research. Our disappointment is heightened when we turn to the history 
of the post-Mutiny period of British India. 

History of British India:— 

The 6th volume of the Cambridge History of India deals with 
political, constitutional, financial, judicial, administrative, military and 

educational topics upto 1919. Some 750 references are given in the 

bibliography. Out of these Indian writers are not more than forty, all 
others are British and European authors. Thus the whole field of 
modern history remains practically untouched by Indian scholars. The 

blame must be shared by the provincial governments, the Universities, 
the public and the intelligentsia. There are many difficulties in the way 

of research in this period. This History Congress must suggest and 
devise means to encourage historic research in this country. I venture 
to recommend to you a few for your consideration. 

Record in British India to be printed:— 
The Imperial Record Office and the Provincial record offices must 

contain much material on the modern phases of Indian history. The 

Government of India and the provincial governments have not been 
keen in publishing the records or even their selections. BengSil and 

Madras have done something. The Bombay Government has been 

slumbering for decades together. Sir George Forrest collected certain 
documents and the government published these. Since then, the 

publication work was neglected till Sir Jadunath Sarkar and Rao 
Bahadur Sardesai offered their honorary services and thus brought out 

valuable papers in Marathi and English from the Alienation Office and 

Residency Records. The Bombay Records Office still remains 

untouched. May I hope that the national governments will pay due 

attention to this matter and publish important records ? 
It is necessary to point out that scholars cannot have access to all 

the records. The Government does not permit the use of any papers 
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unless these are one hundred years old. The provincial governments are 
now national and democratic, and I hope that they will revise the rules 
to encourage the study of the records. 

In passing, I may mention that some Records Offices as that of 
Bombay, have not got proper arrangements for seating scholars. 
Provincial Governments and record superintendents should do their best 

to create facilities for research workers. 

English and European Records to be copied:— 

The original and richest material is to be found in London at the 
India Office and British Museum. No history on the British period can 

be exhaustive and true to facts without consulting these records and 

without testing their veracity by the contemporary records of the Dutch, 
the French and the Portuguese nations. No Indian scholar is expected 

to be conversant with these four languages, nor can he have the means 
and time to go to the various countries for collecting material on any 
one topic. If he leaves the work of collecting the material to be done 

through the record offices, it becomes exorbitantly costly, takes too much 
time and is not satisfactory. The Dutch records on the Shivaji period 

took more than two years for selection and translation, while those on 
Rajaram are still difficult to obtain. A sum of Rs, 1,500 is required to 
secure the material. We will still be in doubt whether all the material 

on fifteen years or so has been obtained and whether the English 
translation of Dutch records is correct. These difficulties have 
prevented scholars to utilize the European records up till now. 

The cooperation of the Indian States. 

The Indian Stdtes have, with a few notable exceptions, not got 

any record offices which are open to scholars for work. Mysore, 
Baroda, Hyderabad, Gwalior, etc., are some of the large States which 

have records departments of the modern type and permit workers 
under certain conditions. Baroda, Indore, G\yalior and a few others 
are to be heartily congratulated for publishing selections of the records. 

But it is desirable in the interests of the States and the country that 
the rulers should not only organize their record departments, but 
undertake to produce detailed history of their own territories. Similarly, 

by publishing important selections they will be contributing their 
pecessary quota to the construction of national history. In my opinion. 
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much light will be thrown on the history of British India from the 
records of the Indian States. These must be tapped. Consequently, 
these must be indexed and made available to the public. 

Ten Year Plan of Research:— 

Provincial governments should undertake to encourage historical 

research by instituting scholarships say, of the value of Rs. 100 to 200 
p. m. with a lakh of rupees set apart for the growth of historical 
literature. Fifty scholars from all parts of the country can be selected 

to work on various problems of provincial and Indian history. Fifty 
books will be written by these workers within two years and thus within 
ten years a vast literature can be produced. Every one of the govern¬ 
ments of Bombay, Madras, Bengal, U. P. and Punjab can easily spare 
a sum of one lakh rupees per annum while other provinces may 

contribute half a lakh each. 
Central and provincial governments of pre-reform days neglected 

to further research in Indian history, but the popular governments of to¬ 

day should undertake constructive programmes for encouragement of 
research in various branches of knowledge. The first and foremost place 
ought to be given to the writing of national history. While hundreds 
of brilliant young men will find employment in a work mostly cherished 
by them, it will let loose the energies of hundreds of veteran workers, 
professors, teachers, judges and journalists for producing valuable works 
on national history. We can well imagine the flood of light thrown upon 
the manifold phases and periods of the history of this vast continent 
when four to five hundred workers will be exclusively devoted for at 

least a decade. 
This work should be collaborated and controlled by the Inter¬ 

provincial Board of Research Regulation, so that there should not be 
any duplication for the present. Each scholar will know the topics on 

which others are working. This Board can serve for the selection of 
scholars. In ten years four to five batches of different scholars might 
be recruited for this work. Thus I can see an army of two thousand 
intellectuals enthusiastically exploring the secrets of Indian History 
and presenting to the people works of permanent interest. 

TTie New Plan to Obtain Records— 
A plan should be evolved to take typescripts of the records and 

documents available in England, France, Holland, Portugal, so far as 
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Indian Histcffy is concerned. Typists should be employed in each 
country to copy out the records which should be selected by scholars 
engaged for the purpose. If the Central Government cannot spare any 

money for this work, the national governments in the provinces should 
come forward to plan out a programme and contribute money for its 
completion. We are spending fifty-five crores of rupees on the army; 
European nations in the fever of war are raising loans to the tune of 
millions of pounds for the noble means of destruction. Should we not 
in the dawn of our national life possess the means of constructing our 
national history ? The foreigners alone have written histories of our 
land, but we have not the means to test their veracity. If provincial 
governments be unable to spare money from their ordinary budgets, they 
can raise a loan for their contribution to the common fund for copying 
the records. 

&Jive year plan can be evolved and the necessary funds should be 
raised for the purpose. Crores of rupees have been spent on irrigation 

schemes to foster wealth, let a crore or two be also spent in tapping 

historic wealth, and thereby providing sap of life for the growth of 
national history in all its phases. On the basis of Rs. 100 as the monthly 

salary of a typist, 100 typists can work simultaneously. Scholars to tally 
the typed pages, typing machines for hundred typists, paper, etc. in 
various centres will cost the government about two lakhs of rupees per year. 

Thus it will be evident that in a few years this work can be completed 
at a small cost. This plan must be undertaken first in order to provide 
material to research workers in the European period of Indian history. 

& 'federal T^eseareh ^nfiUMe should be established at Dellji. This 
should possess the copies of the records typed from European centres 
and a library of printed records and books on all periods of Indian 
history. It should serve as a centre for the collection of research 
material of all kinds. Facilities of lodging and boarding should be 

provided there to the scholars. The Central Government should be 

requested to undertake this important work in hand as early as possible. 
'files ef newspapers and periodicals published in India and other 

countries should be preserved in the Federal Institute. So far as these 
published in India are concerned. Government can obtain five copies 
free of charge. Three copies can be distributed in the same way as 

the books. Other copies can be utilized for exchange with other 
countries. .Thus we might get a large mass of newspapers • and 
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periodicals from America, Britain and the British Commonwealth and 

even from Europe and Asia without payment The question of 

accommodating this most rapidly growing collection has to b? faced by 

every government. When other civilized governments, have been doing 

this collection work for the last few decades, we can begin this work now. 

No history of Modern India can be thorough, correct and impartial, 

without consulting these contemporary sources. I beg most emphatically 

to draw the attention of the governments to the consideration of 

establishing libraries for newspapers and periodicals. 

It is indeed a matter of great satisfaction that the Congress 

Government of the United Provinces has served as a pioneer in evolving, 

financing and putting into operation a scheme of adult education at a 

cost of six lakhs in one year. I hope that this national government will 

give practical shape to some of the suggestions made by the History 

Congress for stimulating historical research and for publishing books 

on national history. 

SXt' copyrUjihl laiv must be amended so that three copies of each 

publication are given to the Government one for the Imperial Library, 

and one for provincial library and third for the district town Library 

of the districts in which the book is published. Thus every book and 

pamphlet published in any part of India will be available in the 

Federal capital. 

The five proposals suggested by me are to some extent dependent 

upon each other. These create a link between the Federation and its 

units and thus all are required to pool their resources for the provision 

of historical material and its utilization by an army of scholars. I am 

sure that without prohibitive cost we can possess all the necessary'records 

from the European centres, establish a Federal Research Institute 

and give an extra-ordinary urge to the creation of a vast historical 

literature of permanent value to this country and the world at large. 

53 
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WAS BRITISH CONQUEST OF INDIA ACCIDENTAL? 

Dr. Bal Krishnai M. A., Ph. D. 

1. The Indian Empire a Blind Acquisition:— 

The idea of the accidental acquisition of the Indian Empire by the British 

has crystallized into a universal belief. It is being re-iterated from time to time 
in books and speeches as a self-evident maxim of the political histories of 

England and India. It claims many staunch adherents in both countries, but the 

study of the records of the British East India Company will shake the reader’s 

faith in this popular doctrine. The presentation of these facts is not only of 

academic interest, but is fraught with political significance of the first magnitude. 
The theory of the fortuitous acquisition(brings in fatalism and divine imposition. 

Then it implies the sudden and fortuitous loss of the countries which have been 

accidentally acquired. The spread of this doctrine will wash away the very 
foundations of human effort, enterprise, intelligence, British heroism and political 

genius. Although national vanity is tackled by explaining the Indian conquest 

on the principle of Caesar’s inimitable message of “Vini, Vidi, Vici”, history and 

truth are often murdered by such catchwprds. Research too receives a crude 

setback. History repudiates the idea that empires can be gained like prizes in 

a lottery. I am writing these pages in the hope that ray onslaught on the 

popular belief should bring to light the true causes of the British conquest 

of India. 

The idea of blind acquisition of an empire more extensive, more populous 
and more prosperous than that of ancient Rome, was probably given currency 

by Professor Seeley. “Nothing greater that has ever been done by Englishmen,’’ 

said he, “was done so unintentionally, so accidently as the conquest of India.’’ 
Further on, the leaned professor explains himself thus: “But in India we 

meant one thing and did quite another. All along we have been looking one 

way and moving another". Seeley’s school of thought has thus propounded 
the theory that the object of the English in coming over to the East was trade 

alone and not conquest of territory. But I maintain on the basis of documentary 

evidence that commerce and conquest were the main objects soon after the 
advent of the English in the East. Conquest was never lost sight of, although 

it was subservient to commerce for the first sixty years. , 

It is purely fallacious to believe that the East India Company was 

a mercantile body which in its corporate capacity of merchants was, through 

the stress of circumstances, and much against its own will, forced to become 

sovereign of Bengal, A judicious reading of the 'charters, letters patent^ and 
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records of the Company can lead us to the one conclusion that its nature, scope 
and aims were, soon after its establishment, enlarged, and that the mercantile 
body of the time of Elizabeth, in course of time, but long before the acquisition 

of the Bengal sovereignly, had been transformed into a body politic. Throughout 
its long career, we find it working as a department of the state for the commercial 
and political conquests of the heathen nations of Africa and Asia. We ought 

not to be misled by its commercial concerns. It was engaged in commerce, as 

the state is universally engaged now in producing, distributing and exchanging 
millions of pounds worth of goods, by being thelbiggest capitalist cnterprcneur and 

merchant rolled into one. The East India Company likewise was not a purely 

commercial corporation, but also a political organization to extend the conquest 

of England and ruin the power of her European rivals in the East. 

“It was in charter as in deed a new state, erected within the state itself, 
which enriched it and increased its strength abroad**. 

This aspect is fundamentally essential for the right understanding of the 

events immediately preceding and following the memorable battle of Plassey, and 
if we lose this key, we shall be launched into an inextricable labyrinth of historic 

confusion. We are sure that this focal truth alone can afford us the right 

perspective in viewing the history of the progress and development of the 

Company. With the loss of this guiding light, we are bound to wander in a 

wilderness of loose and incoherent facts. 

2, Territorial conquests of the Portuguese and the Dutch:— 

The Portuguese, from the first appearance of the Dutch and English in 

the Indies, were determined to keep them out of the Oriental trade by force. 
Thereupon the Dutch invested their East India Company, with the avowed 

object of conquest and colonies, with authority to make peace or war with the 

Eastern princes, to erect forts, to choose its own governors, maintain garrisons 

and to nominate officers for the conduct of the police and the administration of 

justice. Armed with such vast powers and fortified with a burning ambition 

to build up an extensive commerce, the Dutch had a meteoric success in routing 

the Portuguese forces in many places of importance and were soon in possession 

of large islands, a well-exercised navy, strongly fortified places and good 

harbours. They were accordingly well secured against the Portuguese and 
their new rivals of the English nation. 

The Dutch had soon learnt the lesson that they could not trade in the 

East unless they could capture the countries under the control of the Portuguese. 

The English following in the wake of the Dutch had only one alternative, either 
to cease trading and sink into obscurity or to oust the Portuguese and the Dutch 

from their possessions and settlements. It is true that the English could not 
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successfully cope with the dutch in the East Indies for more than a century 

but it does follow that the idea of making conquests for the preservation of 

trade and the honour of the country was not present all along, or that they did 

not make attempts-to secure territories. 

Commerce, conquests and colonies were welded together in the careers 

of the Portuguese and their Dutch successors. The experience and practice of 

these nations had made it clear to the English that commerce could not be 
carried on without fortified factories, naval and military supremacy and state- 

aid. The English could not proceed on purely commercial lines in the teeth 

of armed opposition from their firmly established rivals. 

3, Eglish attempts for territorial acquisition— 

I will now take a very rapid survey of the attempts made by the East 

India Company to gain colonies in the East and to secure fortified places in India 
for founding an empire here. 

1. The English took possession of St. Helena in their very first voyage. 

2. Struggle for the Spice Islands—The Dutch made treaties with the 

rulers of Amboyana, Banda and Pulo Ai in 1600 and 1602 for assisting the 

natives in the expulsion of the Portuguese and for exclusive purchase of 
spices. The English were trying to enter into similar treaties with other rulers. 
In 1620 they even succeeded in procuring the surrender of three places in the 

Island of Banda, namely, Pulo Ai, Poolaroon and Lantor. This success was 
short-lived, as the English were soon defeated and almost expelled from the 

places by the Dutch. Thereafter the former ^made supreme efforts to establish 
themselves in India. 

3. Colony at Saldanah—Edward Dodsworth pointed out to the Company 

in November 1615 the advantages of having a colony at Saldanah. Five 

years after Capt. Schilling took possession of the Bay of Saldanah and the 
adjoining continent of ^Africa as far as no Christian prince had any fort or 

garrison within the limits. Thus he opened the way to colonization in South 
Africa. 

4. Capture of Ortnm—ln 1622 the English captured Ormus, the 

greatest emporium of Euro-Asiatic commerce of those days in the mouth of the 

Persian gulf. Its custom-house alone is said to have produced £ 31,875 per 

annum to the Portuguese. If the views of the English Captain as reported by 

P. D. Valle can be relied upon as representing those of his nation or the Company, 

then no more proofs are required to show the existence of political ambitions 

during the first thirty years. The Captain observed that in case the Persians 

would deliver to the English the fortress of Ormus, as they had desired it 

from the beginningt the English would people the Island, restore its traije as 
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iormerly, and would keep four ships there for the protection of its trade and 

for guarding the sea against the Portuguese as well as other enemies. They 

would, moreover, transport a good number of people from England, and 

whole families with wives and children to dwell in Ormus, as the Portuguese 

did before, and then they would prosecute the war against the latter at Muscat 

and everywhere else ^ 

5.—Early attempts for forts in India—So far as the efforts to secure fortified 

places in the Indian soil are concerned, we find that the possession and 

fortification of Muzafarabad are discussed by the English at Surat as early as 

1615*. Sir Thomas Roe favoured a vigorous offensive as ‘the nobler and safer 

part’ and the most likely to impress the Indians. 

A most significant attempt was made by Capt. Keeling for securing 

territories and expelling the Portuguese from their Eastern possessions*. 

Roger Haves gives the terms of a treaty entered into with the Zamorin 

on March 4, 1615. The latter promised the cession of the castle and island 

of Cranganor together with the town and the fort of Cochin to the English, if 

they should be successful with him in capturing those places from the Portuguese. 

6.—Plans for the Conquest of Bombay—After having fortified Lugundy 

in Java and Armagaon on the Coromandel Coast, the Company suggested the 

advisability of establishing a settlement at Bombay, the “London’s Hope’’ in 

Arabia, or at some other suitable spot in the Indies. In pursuance of this 

object, the English entered into an alliance with the Dutch. Six English ships 

laid seige to Bombay in October 1626, pillaged the town; set all the houses on 

fire, and returned*. It formed the first attempt of the English to capture 

Bombay from the Portuguese. 

In 1628 again, ships were twice sent on voyages of discovering the 

situation of Danda Rajapuri, Rajapur and Bombay on the Konkan coast, but 

no fortifications were undertaken at ‘Bombayee*’, as it was too much exposed 

to Portuguese depredations. 

7.—Policy underlying fortification of Armagaon—The various reasons, 

commercial and political, for having fortifications, have been outlined in a 

letter of 27th May, 1626, which relating particularly to the necessity of a fort 

at Armagaon, gives the underlying motives of the whole policy. “Were we once 

fortified, we should draw infinite of all sorts of people and, more special, such 

as are fitting our Negotiations ; and, in time, toe should get the whole Government 

1 P. D. Valle, Vol I. p. 8. 
2 Letter Rd. Vol. Ill, 208. 
3 Purchas his Pilgrlmes, E. S. Vol. VI, p. 496. 

4 Marine Records, Vol. 13. 
B This name is still used by the Indians. 
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of the fiace into our ovon hands; and doubt but, if we continue thus, we shall 

be subject to all casualties and the Dutch will never leave us in quiet, “till they 
have, by one means or other, rooted us out*’®. 

8. Schemes to capture Portuguese possessions—One more evidence is 

furnished by Wylde, the President of the English Factory at Surat, in his 

Remonstrance to Cromwell. He entered into a treaty with the Great Mogul 

to aid him by sea, in the taking of the Portuguese cities of Diu, and Daman. 
He entertained the Lord Protector with interesting details of the power and 

riches of the Portuguese and then suggested the capture of their dominions 

by sending a naval expedition from England. “So may the work be done in 
one year, for Jacatra being surrendered, all the rest must follow, as wanting 

provisions or starve. And this done, there will be little to be done with the 

Portugull as being inconsiderable by sea, whereof we must endeavour to make 

ourselves masters before we can enjoy all those rich trades to ourselves alone’’.^ 

Charles I condemned the Company for not having fortifications like the 

Portuguese and Dutch, and therefore granted charters to Courteen Company and 
the Assada Merchants “to take possession of all such lands as they shall discover*’. 

9. Colonies in Africa and Jndia—Interesting accounts of the proposals 

for establishing colonies in the islands of Madagascar, St. Helena, Remnion 

(called England's Forest) and Mauritius of the occupation of Madagascar, the 

despatch of several ships with colonists on board and of the efforts to make 

it a successful colony since 1636 onward, are now available in Foster’s Court 

Minutes. Then the war with the Dutch alter the fifties forcibly brought to 

the mind of the English statesmen the paramount necessity of having 'fortified 

places in the East. President Blackman from Surat and Spiller from 

Isphahan in Persia wrote strong minutes on the necessity of founding colonics. 

The former pointed out in 1653 that Bombay and Bassein could be captured 

from the Portuguese without any difficulty. 

In 1653, Spiller Commended the strong policy of the Portuguese and 

the Dutch in having fortified places in the East and particularly a castle 

“about Surat or on the coast of India** for enjoying a commanding trade and 

increasing English “strength, force and honour in these Oriental parts*’®. 

The petition of the E. I. Company in 1654 to the Lord Protector for “a 
national interest in India’’,® proposed the acquisition of Bassein and Bone Bay 

6 Factory Records, Miscellaneous, Vol. IX, p. 135. 

7 B. M. Sloane Mss., 3271. Cf. Dr. Khan's Anglo-Portuguese Negotiations Relating to 
Bombay 1660-1677, p. 436. 

8 Ibid. April lOth 1654. p. 272. 

9 Ibid, p. 374. C. O. 77, Vol. VII, No. 92, Decision to obtain Danda Rajapura, Bassein 
and Bombay or any other places in 1658. Court Minutes, Vol. 1655-59, pp. 250, 252. Cf. Court 

MiflUtesi 1650*1654, Introduction, p. ili. 
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(Bombay) in India, and the town and castle of Mozambique in Africa with the 

several fortifications, privileges, trade and other benefits belonging to these places. 

Similarly, the decision to re-occupy, fortify and colonize Poolaroon and 

St. Helena, furnishes additional evidence of the colonizing spirit of the East India 

Company. 

10 Cession of Bombay—When it is remembered that vigorous efforts 

were made by the English since 1626 to take possession of Bombay, it is 

only then that the full’significance of the cession of that island to the King 

of England in 1662 can be realized by the reader What could not be obtained 

by force of arms, was diplomatically secured through gift. Why Bombay 

and not any other place should have been obtained in dowr)', becomes 

intelligible from the preceding and subsequent events. This donation cemented 

the friendship of the English and Portuguese, so that the allies should be able 

to successfully oppose the growing power of the Dutch. 

The ambitious and aggressive policy of Charles II will be revealed from 

the words used in the Commission given to Sir Abraham Shipman : 

“Our maine designe...being to gain to our subjects more free and better 

trade in the East Indies, and to enlarge our Dominions in those parts, and 

advance thereby the honour of our Crown, and the Generali Commerce, and 

Weale of our subjects...”. 

//. Militant Policy of the Company—k few years later Gerald Aungier, 

Governor of Bojnbay, sounded a trumpet call by postulating to the Company 

that ‘the times now require you to manage your general commerce with your 

swords in your hands*. When the Mogul Emperor was engaged in a war with 

Bijapur, Golcondah and the Marathas, the Company adopted their new policy of 

aggressive militarism. They resolved to enter into a war |with the Mogul, 

because in their own words ‘*we have no remedy left. But either to desert our 

trade or we must draw that sword His Majesty hath intrusted us with, to 

vindicate the rights and honour of the English Nation in India.**^^ 

The following extract is interesting in revealing the imperialistic ambition. 

“If it should be asked, How the Dutch can maintain 170 forts and fortified 

places in India, while 2 or 3 can hardly be supported by the English Company ? 

The answer is the same; All the Dutch stock would not maintain their 170 forts 

one year but for the ingrossment of spice, and their skill of making their natives 

pay the charge of their fortified places: And this last we say is all the foundacon 

of their greatness and power: For how have they engrossed Spice trade but by 

fortifications ? And how have they maintained their fortifications, but singly by 

that skill which we now recommend to your invitacon.”^^ 

10 Letter Book, Vol. 8, pp. 79, 325-227saiBruce’s Annals, Vol. 3, p. 568. 
U Letter Bk., Vol 8, pp. 37, 264-5. Fort Gen, Letter dated 14 January 1686. 
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In another letter they write: 
“It is our ambition for the honour of our King and Country, and the 

good of posterity, as well as of this Company, to make the English Nation as 

formidable, as the Dutch, or any other Europe nation, are, or ever were in 

India; but that cannot be done, only by the form and with the method of 

Trading Merchants, without the political skill of making all fortified places 

repay their full charge and expences”*^. 

Finally, we may produce another memorable despatch wherein it is 
laid down “that which we promise ourselves in a most espsciall manner from 

our new President and Council is that they will establish such a politic of 

civill and military power, and create and secure such a large revenue to 

maintain both at that place, as may be the foundation of a large, well-grounded, 

sure English Dominion in India for all tune to come”**. 

Imperialism Continued—Though the Company sustained an ignominious 

defeat and suffered heavy loss in trade and prestige in trying sword with 

Aurangzeb, the Directors did not give up their political ambitions. They 
issued the following instructions to their ‘General of India’ in Aug. 1688. 

“Though our war be owr, you must continue to train and exercise in 

arms aU our Factors, Writers and English Servants of all degrees from the 

highest to the lovoest according to our former orders, because we must for ever 

hereafter keep ourselves a martial Nation in India." 

Dr. C. R. Wilson has justly remarked that “nothing can be further from 

the facts than the generally accepted picture of the mid-day lhalt of Charnock 

at Su anatee growing to be a city, "chance-directed, chance-erected," “spreading 

chaotic like the fungus”. Had the English confined themselves to ‘mere trade’, 

had the merchant remained “meek and tame where the timid foot first halted”, 

there would have been no Calcutta and no British India.”** 

The English afte^ 1700 resorted more to force than presents for opposing 

the demands of the native officers and even of the governors of Bengal. Instead 

of “to be always giving to every little rascal,” the Governor of Fort William 

showed boldness in clearing his goods by the use of the military.*® At the 

death of Aurangzeb in 1707, Fort William was considerably strengthened by 

building two new bastions and by employing sixty new Indian soldiers. On 
account of the enhanced security, the English were able to oppose the demands 

of the Nabob for a levy of one lac of Pupees from them. A threatening message 

12 Letter Bk, Vol. 7, p. 500. 

13. Letter Book, Vol. 8, pp. 2*2-3. Letter on 7th Jan. 1686, pp. 467-8 
14. Bengal Past and Present, Vol. 1. p. 30. 
1$. Hedges, Diary, Vol, II, LVII, 
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was sent to Patna to the effect that “If any of our people there are plundered, 

we will take satisfaction at Hugli^ or anywhere we find it convenient to do/*^^ 

72. A Secret Scheme to Conquer Bengal:—The English continued to gather 

strength in Bengal and minutely studied the political situation of the whole 

country through their agents. By the middle of the 18th century they felt 

themselves strong enough to conquer Bengal from the Muslim forces. A 

confidential scheme for the conquest of Bengal was sent to the Company by Colonel 

Scott Herein he brushes aside all objections and fears as groundless and argues 

that the English could not have any dread of invasion from Delhi. “500 

disciplined troops might defend the pass/* says he, “against the whole power of 

Indostan and secure u$ from that quarter.** No European nation could contest 

the conquest with the English, as the latter would have the absolute command 

of the Hugly river. The Marathas could not disturb the peace of Bengal if the 

passes would be fully defended by forts and troops. In short, in his opinion an 

annual supply from Europe of 2,000 men for three years, would be necessary and 

quite sufficient to make the English conquest secure and lasting. 

An experienced officer like the Colonel was convinced of the inherent 

weakness of the rulers and the ruled in Bengal, and consequently he developed 

the project of suddenly capturing the government of the three provinces. The 

subsequent events leading up to the battle of Plassey are the natural developments 

of such projects, 

13, The Conclusion:—We have now finished our survey of the repeated 

attempts of the English East India Company to found colonies in Africa, the 

Indian Archipelago, in Persia and India from their very first voyage in 1601 to the 

Bloodless Revolution of 1757 in Bengal, There is scarcely any long period 

wherein an abatement of this ambitious programme is visible. On the contrary, 

every succeeding decade reveals more vigorous efforts being made for the 

establishment of an English Empire in the East. 

The victories in the Carnatic and Bengal were consequently the fruits of 

a long preparation on an extensive scale, and not of accidental circumstances. 

The intention and attempt to establish colonies were all along present from the 

establishment of the Company; the only thing hidden from human ken was the 

wonderful magnitude and the extraordinary stability of the empire founded by 

the English in India. This study pre-eminently emphasises the pregnant truth 

that the conquest of India by the British was not achieved by a stroke of fortune, 

but through sturdy struggles and steady sacrifices extending over more than 

two centuries. 

16 C, R. Wilson : E. Annals, Vol. I, p. 178. 

$9 
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SIR GEORGE DOWNING AND THE EAST INDIA COMPANY 

Sir Shafaat Ahmad Khan, Professor, Allahabad University 

Sir William Foster has remarked in one of his publications that no 

detailed account of AngIo>Dutch negotiations is to be found in published 

English works. The history of the foreign policy of Charles II has been 

traced with consummate skill by Macaulay, Ranke and others, but no attention 
has been paid to the luminous despatches of Sir George Downing from the 
Hague. I studied his published writings and despatches in 1916 when I was 

preparing material for the East India Trade. The lapse of time has tended to 

confirm the impression I had formed in those days, and my conviction of the 

supreme importance of the East India Trade in the determination of English 

foreign policy. Unfortunately, little material has been added to the information 

contained in Ait Zemas Saken Van Staet en Orologh, Part IV, 1669; and, in 
Japikse’s work published at Leiden, 1900. I indicated in 1922 the part played 

by Downing in the formulation of English demands, and his determined stand 

on behalf of the East India Company. Further details of Downing’s career 

will be found in the Dictionary of Natiotial Biography, Lister’s Life of Clarendon, 

and other work?. Downing had taken a prominent part in the negotiations 

with the Dutch under Oliver Cromwell, and he went back to the Hague to 
resume the thread of negotiations under Charles II. A man of fertile energy, 
with the realistic outlook of a Restoration diplomat, Downing warmed both 

his hands on the fire of life, and accepted gratuities and donations from the 

East India Company, He was, however, steadfastly loyal to his king, and 

spared no efforts to advance his interest, and champion his country’s cause. 

Downing was well versed in the intricacies of Dutch political life, and his 

bluff manners, strong commonsense, and manly bearing seem to have created an 
excellent impression in Holland. 

It is unnecessary to detail the negotiations which were started by the 

East India Company immediately after the restoration of Charles II. Cromwell’s 

victories over the Dutch had rankled in the minds of a proud and sensitive 
people, and the re-enactment of the Navigation Act in the reign of Charles II 

had revived memories of a titanic struggle between the. two great Protestant 

powers. I have dealt at length with the main causes of the Anglo-Dutch 
conflict in the East India Trade, and reference may be made to this work for 
details of the chief causes of this hostility. The struggle between the two great 

Protestant powers tended to destroy the solidarity of the two great Protestant 
powers of Europe, and far-sighted statesmen clearly realised the danger of this 

cmiflict. The position was complicated by the warm advocacy of the cause of 

Charles* nephew, the young prince of Orange, against the pretensicms of De Witte, 
who, though supreme head of the administration, was looked upon as usurper 
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by the Orange party in England and Holland. It was clear to all sincere 

Protestants that a quarrel between the two Dutch parties would render Holland 
impotent and disorganised, and would contribute to the aggrandisement of 

Louis XIV. While the Orange party looked to Charles II for support; the 

De Witte faction was inclined to favour an alliance with France. Charles did 
not like the Dutch, and openly expressed his contempt for the plebeian merchants 

who had engrossed all power in their hands, and were inclined to look at every 
question from a commercial point of view. His instincts, his outlook on life, 

his tradition, and his interests were arrayed against a nation which was waging 

a fierce commercial war against the English whose interests in the East, 

in Africa and in America were diametrically opposed to the naval enterprise, 
commercial supremacy and political hegemony of the English. 

The island of Polaroon had been restored to the English by the Treaty 

of Westminster; but the Company found it impossible to take possession, 

though attempts had been made in 1656, 1658 and in 1659 for that purpose. 

The Company resolved to send an expedition to seize the island, and Captain 
Dutton was sent as governor from St. Helena. The Dutch resorted to a 

technique with which the English Company had become perfectly familiar 

throughout their intercourse in the East. They insisted that surrender was to 

be made on the production of commissions not only from the Company, but also 

from the King. When the royal commission under the great seal was secured on 

December 22, 1660 (See Foster’s Court Minutes 1660—1663), it appeared 
thoroughly unsatisfactory as it made no mention of the Treaty of 1654. The 

English merchants now launched a vigorous offensive on the entire Dutch 

system of monopoly. In a representation to the Council of Trade on December 

11, 1660, they urged that in the treaty negotiations not only should reparation 

be insisted upon for damages already sustained, but for the future the English 

should have complete and unfettered right to trade freely in all parts of the 

East, without any molestation on the plea that the Dutch were at war with 

the natives of a particular place or had obtained an exclusive contract from a 

native customer (See Foster, op. cit. page XV). The Council of Trade 

favourably reported upon the claims of the Company, and suggested the 

incorporation of this complaint in the proposed treaty with the Dutch. 

So far, the king had not been directly approached by the Company in 

its representations against Dutch competition in the East. On January 28, 

1661, the Directors complained of the vexatious delays to which the i Dutch 

had resorted with characteristic sluggishness, and referred to the persistent 

rumours of a strong fleet which the Dutch had equipped for the East, The 

Dutch had planned the capture of Bombay from the Portuguese, 

and there are many references to the Dutch desire in the minutes of the 
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Company’s books during the years 1650-9. They knew the strategic and 

commercial importance of Bombay, and it would have been easy for them to 
reduce Bombay, as the Portuguese power had shown alarming signs of 

decrepitude, and the Dutch had driven their commercial rivals—both Portuguese 

and English—from every South Sea island. Their mastery of the South Seas 
was unchallenged, while their conquest of Malaya and reduction of Ceylon 

made them the most formidable European power in Asia. They could not 
look with equanimity at the acquisition by their Protestant rivals of a port of 
great strategic importance to western India, and great concern was felt in 

London over the aggressive designs of the Dutch, who, it was reported on 
reliable authority, had fitted cut a powerful fleet for the purpose. Negotiations 

had already been started in England for the marriage of Charles 11 with 

Catherine of Braganza, and the King made it clear to the Dutch ambassador 
that he could not allow any attack on Portuguese possessions in India. For 

further details of the occupation of Bombay by the King, and his transfer of 

the island to the Company, the reader is referred to my Anglo-Portuguese 

Negotiations relating to Bombay. Here, we are concerned mainly with the 
effects of their transfer on Dutch policy in India. 

A treaty of peace had been signed between Portugal and Holland in 
August, 1661, but it was not ratified by the Dutch until December 1662, and 

was not published at Batavia until March, 1663. The interval was skilfully 
exploited by the adroit merchants in establishing their supremacy over the 

“pepper ports” on the south-west coast of India. Quilon was captured in 1661, 
and Caranganur was stormed in the following year. Cochin capitulated on 

December 28, 1662. Cannanore was then attacked and yielded early in 

February, 1663. The tide of the Dutch conquests flowed irresistibly, and the 

English merchants watched with feelings of jealousy and dismay the virtual 

disappearance of the Portuguese power from the South-West-Coast of India. 

They began to strengthen their position by establishing factories along the 

coast, and English settlements were established at Karwar, Porkhad (about 

fifty miles south of Cochin) and old Kayal (near Tuticorin). The English 

President sent the Hopewell, in October, 1662, to bring some from the 

Porkhad factory. The way was barred by Dutch ships, who informed the 

English captain a few miles from Cochin that the English would not be 

allowed to pass, as the whole coast was under blockade. The Hopewell was, 

therefore, compelled to return to Surat. The English President was furious 

with the treatment meted out to the Company’s ship, and he decided to adopt 

a different method altogether. 1 he Company’s flag had been insulted by the 

Dutch shopkeepers, he wished to test whether the King’s flag would preserve 
the ship from indignity. A royal squadron had been sent under Xord 
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Marlborough to take delivery of Bombay, and the vessels were to be laden 

home with the Company’s goods. Oxenden now arranged with Lord 

Marlborough that one of the Company’s ships, the Leopard, should complete 

her landing at Karwar and Porkhad, from goods awaiting shipment and then 

proceed straight to England. When the ship arrived at Cochin, she found the 

harbour occupied by the Dutch. The latter prohibited the captain from 

proceeding to Porkhad, as it was a dependency of Cochin and the Dutch were 

determined to excercise their monopoly with the rigorous precision which had 

wrought havoc in Malaya, Ceylon and other places in South Seas. The 

Hopexvell sailed for England without the loss of the cargo. The Dutch followed 

up their victory by compelling the Rajas of Cochin and Porkhad to sign treaties 

in March, 1663, whereby they secured complete control of the pepper produced 

in those parts. The Company protested vigorously against the high-handed 

action of the Dutch, and Downing backed the claims of the East India merchants 

with his customary ability and vigour. His despatches from the Hague give a 

graphic account of his negotiations and show how fierce was the anatagonism 

which embittered the relations between the two great Protestant powers. The 

despatch reproduced below shows the intensity of this conflict, and confirms 

the impression formed by me in 1916 that English foreign policy received a 

specific mould from the keen and sustained rivalry over the East India Trade. 

Meanwhile, the negotiations with Holland dragged on, and Parliament 

was determined to preserve English commercial interests abroad. The King’s 

championship of his nephew, the young prince of Orange, acted as a constant 

irritant to De Witte. The pretensions of the Company continued to mount 

the heights to which the timid and cautious ambitions of weaker nations 

could never aspire. They asserted the right of the English to reside in any 

part of the East Indies, and. to trade freely with all the natives, except those 

who were “immediate servants of the Dutch.” They were to be given 

permission to trade, notwithstanding any exclusive contract which natives 

might have signed with the Dutch. Moreover, an English passport was to be 

a sufficient protection from any interference from the Dutch, whether the vessels 

were English or native-owned, if the latter carried goods for an English factory. 

This was not all. All the rights and privileges secured for the English were to be 

enjoyed by every Indian or Asiatic nation that was in alliance with the King. 

De Witte criticised the Dutch ambassadors for entertaining these proposals, 

and a breakdown seemed imminent. The Dutch system in the East Indies 

regarded monopoly over the spices as the brick-pin of its political structure, 

and no Dutchman was prepared to part with a right which had been secured 

by them after nearly sixty years of continuous warfare. While the East India 

Company was intent upon driving a hard bargain with its rivals, the English 
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Government was keen on the coticlusion of a just treaty. It would be tedious to 

narrate the details of negotiations which consumed the energy of the parties^ 
and involved constant reference to their respective Governments by representatives 

of the two powers. In the course of n^otiations, the Dutch were amazed 

at the revival of an old claim by the English. The claim concerned two ships 

which were owned by the younger Courteen, the Bona Spreanza and the 

Henry Bonaventura, The former had been hired for a venture in Macao, and 

was captured by the Dutch in the Straits of Malacca. The Bottaveniura had 
been wrecked on the island of Mauritius and the Dutch settlers in that 

island had seized part of her cargo, These events occurred in 1643, and 

representations had been made to the Dutch Government for a number of years. 

The civil War dealt a severe blow to Courteen’s prospects, and he took refuge 

from the importunities of his creditors in Italy and was made a bankrupt in 
1650. He was alleged to have assigned his claims to Sir Edward Littleton 

and Sir Paul Pindar, and the creditors of the last two gentlemen took over 

these debts; but Courteen presented the claim himself and obtained 85,000 
guilders in settlement. As it had been agreed that in the projected treaty all 

claims relating to the East Indies prior to 1659 would be barred, there was 

no reasonable ground for action by the parties. This seems to have roused 

the interested creditors to unwonted exertions, and as' they had considerable 

influence at Court, the King’s interest was enlisted on their side. Sir George 

Downing, the English Ambassador, pressed these claims with great vigour 
and ability. The States-General remained adamant, and declared that it was 

impossible to consider such an old claim. A breakdown of the negotiations 

seemed imminent, and Downing talked of quitting Holland. \ compromise 

was, however, arrived at, and it was agreed that the claimants should have 

the right to prosecute their suit already begun, but all reference to the tribunal 

which was to adjudicate on this issue was deliberately omitted. This elaborate 
vagueness was productive of considerable friction later on. Those who wish 

to study this matter further may refer to Volume VIII of the Duke of 

Portland’s MSS Calendered by the Historical MSS Commission. The matter 
is discussed at inordinate length in that volume. 

The treaty was signed on September 4, 1662, and ratified at Westminster 

on Christmas Eve. It was based mainly upon The Treaty of Westminster 1654, 

though it contained many important changes which were the result of 

increasing hostility and tension between the two powers. Clause XV of the 

Treaty breaks fresh ground. The treaty is reproduced in AitZeraa’s work, 

as well as in Jean Du Mont’s Corps Universal Diplomatique, Volume 
VI, part II. Sir William Foster’s Court Minutes of the Bast India Company^ 
1660-^1663^ reproduces clause XV of the Treaty, pages 351—3. ^ The 
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treaty provided for the surrender of Polaroon to any one coming with 

a Commission from the King under the broad seal. It was agreed that 

the cession of Polaroon would cancel all claims for damages which had 

been sustained in the East Indies, and known in Europe, before January 

10/20, 1659. The treaty specifically excepted the case of Courteen’s two 

ships, and allowed the claimants to prosecute their case before a tribunal 

which was deliberately left vague. Claims made by individuals in particular 

cases after 1654 were to be decided by Commissioners to be appointed for the 

purpose. An interval of one year was allowed during which the English 

ambassador at the Hague was to negotiate for settlement of claims on either side in 

consultation with the Dutch authorities. The treaty failed to establish peace 

between the two nations. Commercial supremacy in the East was th’e heart 

which sent the blood of life pulsating through the whole political system of 

the Dutch Empire, and the shrewd, calculating merchants of Amsterdam 

clung to these privileges with iron resolution. The English Company had 

formed expectations which were bound to be disappointed, and the wranglings 

between the two nations continued with ever-increasing bitterness. The Dutch 

monopoly in the East Indies remained undisturbed, while the compensation to 

the English for the severe losses sustained by them was ineffective, and the 

prospectsy of its payment were uncertain and remote. The Company had 

been assiduous in winning support in influential quarters, and the Committee 

resolved at a meeting on March 13, 1661, “after some consideration how to 

obtain satisfaction, to give additional powers to the Committees formerly 

appointed to conduct this business and decrees that any two of them may use all just 

and possible means to obtain the required satisfaction; and, if they see occasion, 

they may, with the advice of the Governor and Deputy, dispose of a proportion 

of what shall be recovered from the Dutch in such a way as they please, 

provided it does not exceed one-fifth of the sum recovered”. In other words, 

the Company offered a bribe of one-fifth of the sum that may be recovered 

from the Dutch to persons who helped the Company in its negotiations. The 

Dutch were unperturbed by these arrangements, and violated the basic provisions 

of the Treaty with a persistency which wore out the patience and exhausted 

energy of the English Company. Captain Dutton, who had been sent to 

Bantam returned to London, and related to his employers a tale of 

procrastination and malpractices by the Dutch. The Dutch Governor of 

Banas refused to hand over Polaroon, when Hunter, the Company's Agent 

tamely acquiesced in the repulse which the British had sustained. The Company 

made a strong representation to the King in the middle of July, 1663, and Charles II 

backed the claims of English merchants and requested Downing to exert 

himself in their behalf. Downing now appears on the scene, and the part he 
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played in the negotiations was of particular importance. His policy may be 

summed op in his own vigorous words, “I shall try to do all I can for the 

Royal Company but I am not optimistic. The only way to check the Dutch 

from doing such injuries or getting any remedy is to do them grealer injuries, 

for your inaction they interpret as fear. They don’t care for complaints.” 

(Downing to Bennett, September 11, 1663). The first Despatch dated 

September 4, 1663, O. S., refers to his arrival in Holland, and his visit to De 

Witte and other persons. This is reproduced below. His second despatch 

expresses his general attitude towards the Dutch, and sums up the methods he 

adopted in his dealings with Holland. They were the methods of a blustering, 

vigorous and able diplomat, who constantly indulged in bluff, to enhance his 

importance and the importance of his country, and received frequent largesses 

from a grateful Company for his brilliant advocacy and courageous opposition. 

The third Despatch is dated December 18, 1663 and is of the utmost 

importance. Downing gives an extremely clear account of his conference 

with the deputies of the States-General end discusses the main points in the 

dispute with great clarity^and force. The controversy centred round the four 

ships to which reference has been made above. Regarding the ships Bena 

E&peranza and Henry Bonaventura, the Dutch referred to the text of the 

treaty and asserted that the words Us incepta referred to legal proceedings; 

while Downing maintained that it meant diplomatic negotiations which had 

been going on between himself and the States-General. In the case of the 

Hopewell, the Dutch maintained that the ship was really bound for cochin, 

while the refusal of the Dutch to allow the Leopard to proceed to Porkhad 

was justified on the ground that the Dutch had conquered Cochin and 

Porkhad was a dependency of Cochin. Sir William Foster refers to Lister’s Life 

of Clarendon for details of these conversations. The despatch is now published 

in extenso, and throws fresh light on the subject. The last despatch of 

Sir George Downing^ printed here is dated March 18, 1663, and describes 

a conference with the deputies of the States of Holland. "It was,” says’Downing, 

“such a conference as I have never before heard of, for that it was in the place 

where the States of Holland doe assemble and the whole*Estates or Corps were 

present with the nobles and all the Townes, and it continued from half ffive in the 

afternone till half nyne at night, they discussed the question of the Leopard." 

These despatches bring out the importance of the East India trade in 

the determination of British foreign policy and throw a powerful searchlight 

on the commercial rivalry of the two powers. The despatches have never been 

published in their entirety, though references to them are to be found in Lister’s 

Life of Clarendon. I have selected these despatches as they possess instrinsic 

mportance, and have left out others which dealt with the European sitqatioq etc. 
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DESPATCH I 

Downing’s arrival at the Hague. 

HagiiCt year 4th September, 1661, O. St. 

Rt. Hon’ble, 

By the last I gave an accoiupt of my arrivall in this Country since which 

time I have been in the Taylors handes for my Liveries and soe forced to be a 

L'incognito till this morning when I went to the President of the States 

Generali to notifie my arrivall and to make him such compliments as are 

necessary and usual in such cases, from whom I received a Like returne with 

much civilitie. And though it is not usuall for the States to take any notice of 

any publick Minister untill Report hath been first made in their assemblies of his 

having notified his arrivall, yet they that day by advance sent their Agent to 

me concerning the business of the Protestants in Piedmont and I have herein 

inclosed to you a Coppie of their Resolution which he put into my hands 

whereby you* may perceive, what they desire. Dureing my being in a L’incognito 

I gave a visit to Dewit (as is the custome of all publick Ministers to visit him 

first). And this day he returned me my visit and with this compliment that he 

came not only upon his own accompt, but by Order of the States of Holland 

and that they had commanded him as their first Minister to give me this visit to 

bid me very heartily welcome into their Country and to desire me to assure 

his Majestie of their hearty good wishes for his welfare and the welfare of his 

Kingdoms; I finde they much aprehend the growing greatness of France and 

that they may have need of his Majestie’s friendship upon that accompt, 

France being now very neer them as well above in the Country^ by what they 

have now gotten in Loraine as upon the Sea Coast. The States of Holland 

have this day disposed of the vacant places in their Militia and they hade given 

Collonel Cromwells place to Lieut, Collonel Dolman his Lieut. Collonel, the 

Admiralties are now here about the buisiness of the Turkish Pirates and about the 

Laying an Impost upon forreigne Manufactures whereby to incourage their own, 

and much debate there hath beene about this matter, the Spanish Amhassodor 

gave in last weeke a memoriall to the States Generali concerning eight private men 

of warre with Spanish Comissions taken by the men of warre of this Country, 

And I finde he is very angry about this buisiness, but not like to gett much remidy, 

I finde that the most seeing in this Country are of opinion, that his Majestie will 

serve himselfe of the occacon of the Portugueses not haveing rendered Bombaim, 

and thereupon hold himselfe at libertie for the future in relation to the buisiness 

of Portugall and leave the King of France to doe his own worck himselfe, who is 

ten thousand times more concern’d in that buisiness then his Majestic and 
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who wants both worck and wayes of imploying his mony. And they doe say 

that there is no other way but this of ballancing the affaires of Europe nor of 

rendring his Majestie considerable even in France itselfe but by letting them 

beare their own burthen vizt. with the King of Portugall: in whose affaires they 

are most concerned. 
I am Sir 

Your most aff: humble Servt. 

G. Downing 
[Addressed] 

These 

For the right honble Sir Henry Bcnnet one of his Majesties Principall 

Secretaries of State and one of his most honble Privy Councell at Whitehall. 

DESPATCH II 

Downing’s general policy towards the Dutch 

Hague the 11th Sept. 1663.: O : St. 
Sir, 

I received yours by the last post with the inclosed concerning the 

Royall Company, I shall not faile in ray utmost for them but God helpe them, 

if they depend upon paper reliefe. To have the Admirall of England and 

the King his only brother, for their cheife, and the King hiraselfe so much 

concern’d both in purse and affection, but whatever injuries the Dutch doe 

them let them be sure to doe the Dutch greater, and then let me alone to 

mediate between them but without this, all other wayes will signifie not a 

rush, for that you doe not injure them, as well as they you, they do not 

consture (sic construe) to proceed from love or generositie or regard of justice, 

but only feare, and so long as they thinck they are afraid of them, and will 

take no other revenge but complaints, you may complaine on, but without 

remidy, and instead thereof expect farther affronts and injury=pray let me 

have your weekly correspopdc ncc and newes and command. 

^ Sir 

Your very affectionate friend 

to serve you 

G, Downing 

When you have read the inclosed to Sir Henry Bennett pray scale it and 

send it forward. 

[Addressed] 

A Monsieur 

Monsieur Williamson Secretaire 

de Mr. le Chevalier Benett 

, a Whitehall 

Londres 
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DESPATCH III 

Downing’s Discussions under the Dutch on the East Indies 

Hague the 18th December: 1663: 0:st 

Rt. Honble, 

By the indeavour of the Deputies of this State which had been this Summer 

in Oostfrize matters were brought to this passe that the Prince of Lickstentein 

had agreed to take about a million of gilders in full of all pretences due to him 

from the Come of Oostfrize and a treatie was made between the said Conte and 

the said Deputies whefeby this state did agree to furnish the 1st third parte 

of the said summe the which was to have been paid about Michaelmesse last 

and the said Conte had signed an obligation for the repayment thereof att a 

certaine time but this State not sattisfied with paper did demand, that a certaine 

place in Oostfrize called Deylarscons should be by the said Conte putt into their 

handes for their farther assurance, att which the said Conte boggled and it is 

certaine that about a Month agoe he wrote to his Resident here that as to this 

last proposition there was no such haste but he would consider farther of it and 

matters standing thus the Bishop of Munster being authorized by the Emperor 

to putt in execution a sentence which Lickinstein had obteined against the said 

Conte for this mony hath surprised the said Scons in which were but about 5 

of the said Counte’s men, and hath putt in to it between 3 and 400 soldjers and 

above lOO cart loads of amunition and provision and hath about 400 Boores 

att worke to mend the fortifications and (as is said) is also sending more soldjers 

to it, now it is said that this Scons lyes within an houre and a halfe of a garrison 

of this State, and upon a pass in a Morasse, and this Bishopp is looked upon as a 

very active and diligent person, and so the comeing of this newes being also 

altogether unexpected hath somewhat interrupted the devotion and merriment 

of the Hollanders here, and the Estates Generali and Councell of State and 

Committee De Raed have mett every day about it they looke upon it as a thing 

by no meanes to be suffered, to have another power come so neer them, and 

nest themselves, and so the Councell of State have drawne up a project of a body 

of men to be imployed in this buisinesse which this day to be reported in the 

Estates Generali, but (which gives much matter of discourse) there is not yett 

one word come from the Conte of Prize hither, by way of complainte of what 

this Bishopp hath done, or so much as to give notice thereof and the said Scons 

doth not stand upon this States land but upon the land of the said Conte nor 

hath he signed as is above any treaty with this Country concerning this buisiness 

and therefore however it is true that.there were one or two killed in the takeing 

the place yett some do begin to suspect that he is in inteligence with the said 
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Bishopp in what hath been done, for that he had rather the said towne should 

be in his handes then in the handes of this State and now those of Holland doe 

frett that they suffered the said Bishopp to Master the Citty of Munster and all 

the discourse is of 5 or 6000 men’s being forthwith sent either to retake the 

said place or to fall into Westfalia but this is but [illegible] discourse there 

being nothing of this kind resolved by the Estates General but only to have 

a body of men in readinesse and faine they would be invited by the Conte of 

Oostfiize to act, and then they would forthwith march and carry with them 

whatimony is already due to Leckstentein for the first payment, and in case 

that should be refused imediately to retake the place, but if the said Conte 

doe not applye to them, then have they only reason of State, whereupon 

to ground their intermedling therein, always the soldjers here are glad of this 

accident for that they hope it will fright their Masters from thinking of disbanding 

any more of them for some yeares. The Ecclesiasticks of Brabant have sent 

hither to desire that the buisinesse of the Debt pretended to be due from the 

King of Spaine to the Prince of Orange should be left to tlie de:is5ion of the 

chambre mis partie, but the Estates Generali have resolved the contrary and sent 

their Deputies to Don Stephans de Gamarra to lett him know so much, and to 

desire him to use his utmost indeavours that the Prince may have sattisfaction 

that so there might be no need of letters of Reprisall the which he hath promised 

and is gone this day towards Bruxdls. 

Vice Admirall Cortenaer was come home upon the Coastes with 4 ships 

but the Admiralty of Rotterdam have sent him backe to the streights. They 

are setting up a Councell of Trade att Amsterdam wherein to be two Merchands 

of every sort and de Graffe to be President and Van hoorne to be president in his 

absence and they say they shill meet after new yeare to consider by what meanes 

they iniy increase the trade of that place, there are dead there this weeke of 

the ph»gue, 280. We ha^ve here as yett no newes of the arrivall of the ships with 

I late which have been so long expected from Cadiz att Amsterdam, the which 

they say have in them mony and plate to the value of a Million Sterling and 

are said to have been as farre as Cape St. Vincent with the silver ships bound 

for Zeland and Rotterdam and these have been arrived there these ten dayes 

or more, indeed this Country drives a very vast trade for Spaine and the principall 

Commoditie they carrie thither is Leyden Sayes, which because they are truly 

overlooked and sealed att Leyden are in great reputation in Spaine, and we might 

much undersell them and gaine wholly this trade if the same care and good 

order were taken for searching and sealing the Sayes made att Colchester and 

eleswhere in England as is done with the Bayes made there, for want whereof 

alone though a say be better that is made in England then one made att Leyden, 

yett will it not sell so deare nor goe off so readily. There is and hath been a 
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discourse att Amsterdam that the King of France should buy some ships there 

but no such thing yett done nor any talke thereof here but they say he intends 

to be very strong next summer in the Mediterranean Sea and that he will have 

there 16 or 18 ships besides his Galleyes. Boreel writes that the Pope hath 

. resolved to raise 12000 men more besides 6000 which he hath already for the 

defence of the Ecclesiasticall State. Holland growes every day more jealous of 

the King of France his great arming of himself, and th3y are farre from well 

pleased att the day by indeavours they see he useth to make himself considerable 

att sea in which he hath done more then ever King of France did. Those of 

Overysell speake of opening in the Estates Generali their Resolution against the 

new Prayer but from Utrecht no new^s as yett about this matter but old 

Reins wood pusheth hard that his son att Madrid be declared Ambassodor. I 

had forgott to insert that Boreel writes, that there is great discourse that the 

King of France will goe next Easter to Lyons to be nearer Italy. 1 did intend 

by the last to have sent you att Large the Advice of the severall Admiralties 

concerning the equipage for the Streights, but that the Conference putt me so 

behind hand that my people had not time to translate it, and doe their other 

buisiness. Those of Holland have not yett opened their Resolution in the 

Estates Generali concerning it but it is agreable to that of the Admiralties save 

only that they doe desire that instance should yett be made to the Admiraltie of 

Zeland to sett out their proportion, and also that instance should be made to the 

King of Spaine, to equipe against those Pirates also Cuneus writes, that Secretary 

Morice had lett him know that his Majestic intended hmiselfe to retourne an 

answere by the first, to the letter delivered to him by him from the Estates Generali 

and that indeavours had been used to obtein leave to levy some Regiments in 

England for the service of the King of Spaine in Milan, but that it could not 

be obtained. I am sure the greatest want in England of the bodyes of men 

[sic] it being not halfe peopled to whit that land will beare, and experience every 

way sheweth that both rich and poore live best where there are most people. 

Monsieur Reed begins now to doubt whether he shall persue his intended voyage 

for England haveing hopes given him that he shall be employed against Dylarscons 

if occasion. The last letters from Vienna say that the Conte Sindrendoft was 

on his way for Holland and England, to demand succour against the Turke. 

The Councell of State were this day in a body in the Estates Generali, 

where they presented their Petition as they doe every yeare for a Supply from 

the Provinces for the yeare to come, but as to the list to make up (as they said) 

a considerable body of men to oppose against the enterprise of the Bishopp 

of Munster they declared that they had been hard att worke these 2 dayes about 

it, but should not be able to gett it done till tomorrow, it will make between 

5 ^nd 6009 n\en tp be drawqe oi^t of the respective Garrisons, The charge 
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ci President of the Counoell of Brabant is this day given by the Estates Generali 

to one Beaumont one of the Prince his Councell, but who depends absolutely 

upon Dewitt. Tomorrow they of Prize will propose againe the buisiness of the 

Ainbassade and Presents for England, it had been done this day had it not been 

for the long Petition of the Councell of State. I have yours big last post and 

am heertily glad of your good recovery, I am sorry the Royall Company have 

altered their mind concerning Frederixburgh they will I feere repent it when 

too late, for it being on one side and Cabo Corso on the other side of the harbour 

it would alwayes have given them occasion to vye with the Dutch and have 

let them into that trade, and possibly the Dutch having so lame a title and in 

truth noon but possession to Cabo Corso to have served them there as they 

did as to the fort they have gott of the Duke of Corlands in the River Gambia, 

pray tell them thus from me and lett them not make slight thereof, I did 

write it would be impossible to gett the Rogue delivered to me, and I heerby 

confirm it, and am certain thereof as that I am alive, and espetially in 

Amsterdam who stand so much upon the inviting all people to live in this 

Countrey that when I had gott Broxter and them and had them in prison, 

Amsterdam sent order to their Deputyes in States Generali to move that the 

prison doors might be sett open and they let go out publiquely at noon 

day, but as to the catching him out of the town when banished there this is a 

very strong undertaking to adventure upon such a thing in this Country without 

an order yet I am trying whether I can find two or three resolute blades that 

will undertake it, but wfhat shall I promise them, for they must adventure their 

lives if any stirr should happen, and must resolve never to see this Country 

more, I am Sir. 
Your most affect humble Servt. 

G. Downing. 
[^Bndorsedf] 

Hague 

18 Dec—63 

Sir. G. Downing 

DESPATCH IV 

Downing’* Conference with the Dutch on matter* relating to the 

Ea*t Indie*. 

Hague, the 18th of March Ao. 1663 Old St. 

Right Hon’ble, 

Having bin (as I wrote in my last) desired by Monsieur de Witt to agree 

to have a conference with the Deputyes of the States of Holland in particular, 

concerning the matters about which I was now in dispute with the East and 

West India Companyes of this Country, for that (said he) althou^ I have given 
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an accompt as well as I could of what passed concerning them in the Conference 

held with the Deputyes of the States Generali, yet that he knew that it would 

be more convincing and satisfactory if they saw me and the Directors face to 

face, and beared the matters argued at large before themselves. Yesterday 

accordingly I had a conference with them concerning the Ships Hopewell and 

Leopard, there being also present the Directors of the East India Company 

with their Advocate and it was such a Conference as I have not before heard of, 

for that it was in the place where the States of Holland doe assemble and the 

Whole Estates En Corps were present, both the Nobles and all the Townes, 

and it continued from half ffive in the afternoone till half nyne at night. 

Whereby you may see what an influence this East India Company hath ; 

Monsieur De Witi and the Advocate of the East India Company spake for them, 

and inyselfe for the East India Company at London. I shall not trouble you 

with a large Narrative of all that passed, for that it was for the most part a 

repetition (though more at large) of what had bin said concerning these Ships 

in the Conference with the Deputyes of the States Generali, of which you then 

had an accompt. Only in short as to the Hopewell, they said that she was 

designed for Couchin and that Couchin was at that time besieged at Sea and 

Land, and therefore that they might justly hinder her from trading there. I 

replyed that she was not designed for Couchin, nor coming thither, but on her 

way directly along the coast for Porcatt, for which she was consigned and 

where noe forces of theirs were, but stopped by two ships of the East India 

Company of this Country and brought by force to Couchin, And for the making 

good that she was consigned to Porcatt, I produced not only a Copie of the 

Comission of James Snow Comander of her, and of the protest he made upon 

his being hindred to pursue his Voyage, and of the English President and 

Councell at Suratt after her returne thither, All which I had also produced 

at the Conference with the Deputyes of the States Generali, but (which I had 

gotten since) produced also a Copie of Heustaert who was Commander of the 

Dutch before Couchin, his letter wherein he acknowledgeth under his hand the 

receipt of the forementioned Protests and that he had hindred the said Hopewell 

from going to Porcatt. Whereupon both the Advocate of the East India 

Company and Monsieur De Witt replyed that if that Paper were true, they 

must yeild the cause. But the Advocate pressed earnestly that they had 

not yet received their full information concerning this matter, and therefore 

they did desire that no finall conclusion might be taken concerning the same, 

unlill the arrivall of their next returne Ships, I answered that this busines 

concerning the Hopewell in the Month of October 1662 by their owne 

confession they had had letters since that time, once from Cocheene by the 

Leopard, and twice from Suratt, the last of which letters from Suratt were 
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dated manj' Months after this had hapned, and did also by their owne 

confessions make mention thereof, and that all the papers that had passed pro 

and con, concerning this mattery would not fill a sheete of paper, and that it 

was but 15 dayes voyage from Porcat to Surat, and with what reason then 

could they demand further time upon that account, and that for the further 

verifying of that Copy of Heustaerdts letter to be authentique, I was readyt o 

give them the oaths of the Captaine and other officers of the Hopewell. 

For the Leopard they did acknowledge that she was designed for 

Porcat but that then Ccuchin was taken, and the Radia of Porcat had 

submitted himselfe and his Country, by Treaty to their obedience and therefore 

that they might justly then hinder the Leopard or any other English ship 

from going to Porcat, that they had profferd the Commander of the Leopard 

to fetch such goods for him as were at Porcat, and that this was a Civilitie and 

more then they needed to have done. Moreover that they were inform’d by 

their letters that there was at that time no pepper or oth.r goods ready at 

Porcat, for the Leopard, for that upon the surrender of Couchin the people 

of Porcat had all fled into the Country, and taken away their goods with them 

for feare least the forces of this Company should have turn’d that way, and 

that if the Leopard should have stay’d there, till goods had beene gotten out 

of that Country, that she would not have beene able to have return’d for 

Europe that yeare. I answered that if it were materiall to the question, I 

could make out that there was no such submission of the said Radia to them, 

as whereupon they could ground the hindring of our future trade there, but 

that this being nothing materiall to the bu^inesse of the Leopard, I should as to 

this matter grant what ever they did affirme of this nature, Yea (if they pleas’d) 

that the said Radia had absolutely given them his whole Country and outed 

himselfe of all, and that yet this could signifle nothing as to the hindring the 

Leopard, to go at that time to Porcatt for that the English had at that time a 

settled factory at Iforbatt in pursuance of a Treaty with the said Radia, that if 

the said Radia had not surrendred his Country but onely made some Treatie 

with them and that by that Treatie (take it at the worst) he should have 

oblig’d himselfe not to permit the English to trade any longer there, yet that 

he remaining still Prince the notification thereof must have come from him, 

and a competent time at least given for their remooveall with their effects, 

that if he bad absolutely given them his Country that the like notification 

must have beene made by them of the East Indie Company of this Country, 

and the like time for remooveall and that this was not a matter of civilitie as 

they would alledge, but of right, for that their Conquest (or call it what they 

would) was not over the English and their goods but over the people of the 

Coontcy, the English were friends to both, and so if Porcatt belonged to the 
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Radia the English and their goods were free, and if it belonged to the Dutch, 

the like. Suppose the King of Spaine (said I) should take Lisbon, Should 

the English and the Dutch who are friends to both loose their liberty or 

Estates ? Withall that they might consider that at the time of the besieging of 

Couchin his Majesty had a considerable fleete in the East Indies under the 

Command of the Earle of Malburrough and that he was solicited by the 

Portugaises to have intermedled in that businesse, but refus’d it, saying 

that his Majesty was a neuter as in friendship with both, but if this 

maxime were true that it were matter of friendship and not of right to 

let a common friend have his owne in case of the taking of a place, that 

then there were no such thing in nature as a neuter but that ipso facto 

every one that had any thing in a place or Country attacqu’t were a party, 

and I tould them that however they of the East Indie Company were 

pleased at this time to make such an allegation as this because it served 

their present turne and made for them, yet that I was very sure that the 

Estates considering how their subjects with their fortunes were in all Kingdomes 

and Countries, and of how dangerous a Cconsequence such a maxime (if aver’d) 

would be to them, would be very farre from the owning thereof and in fine 

I beate them quite from this pretext and the Advocate did acknowledge though 

Porcat should have beene as much theirs as Couchin, that yet our goods did 

of right and not of civilitie or courtesie onely belong unto us but then (say’d he) 

though the right of them belonged to you yet it was in our power to say how, 

and in what ship you should carry them away, to which I reply’d that to say 

they were ours and yet that we might not dispose of them was all one as to 

say they were not ours, that they must consider that the Commander of the 

Leopard and the Factor at Porcatt were both under the Command of the 

President and Councell at Suratt, and the President and Councell at Suratt not 

their owne Masters but under the Command of the Company at London, that 

the Commander of the Leopard and the Factor at Porcatt were order’d by the 

President and Councell at Suratt in pursuance of the orders that they had from 

the Company at London, to putt and take on bord the Leopard such goods 

as were then at Porcatt, and therefore it was not in the power of the Commander 

of the Leopard to consent to the Lading them upon any Holland ship to be 

brought to them, nor in the power of the Factor to put them on bord any such 

ship, and what assurance could they have that such Holland ship should not 

have carried them to Batavia, instead of bringing them to the Leopard, or 

suppose such ship should have beene cast away who should have secur’d them 

from their Masters at London, and it is not in the East Indies as in these parts 

of Europe, where new orders or other shipping may be had every weeke or 

ten dayes, a dis-appointment on hjnderance there, is a losse of a yeare or two, 
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so that to say the goods were not ours or to hinder our ship from taking 

them away was the same thing, and the one as justifyable as the other, 

Afterwards I added that thougth for shortning this dispute 1 had granted 

whatever they had ailedged, of the Radia of Porcatt his having submitted 

himselfe to them, yet if that were the question, if the East Indie Company 

pleased to have recourse to their last advice from Surat they would find that 

he was at that time in open defiance with them. Moreover that the Leopard 

her arrivall at Couchin was but very few dayes after the surrender thereof, that 

none of their forces had gone from thence at Porcatt but all forthwith the 

contrary way to Cananore, nor any notice any way given to the English 

at Porcat of any accord or agreement made by them with the Radia thereof, 

much iesse any notification given them to withdraw themselves, and time 

prefixt for the doing thereof, which must have beene done suppose the worst 

that could be suppos’d, and if it had beene done so much the less excusable 

was the hindring of the Leopard to go thither in order to the taking away of 

what they had there, and for what they had alledged that there was at that 

time no pepper or other goods at Porcatt for the Leopard, I answer’d what was 

that to them, that this might be a Proposition to be alledged, if the question 

were about the value of the dammage Sustayned by the hindring of her, but 

that it was of no waight as to the justifying of the action, besides that though 

possibly the people of Porcat might upon the first apprehension have carried 

away their goods yet that seeing their forces march a quite contrary way as 

they did immediately after, and upon the arrivall of an English Ship the goods 

would have beene there quickly againe, and in the close I appealed tot he 

Commissioners whether there reiuained the least shadow of a pretext for what 

had beene done to the said ship in defeating her voyage, and Dewitt I thereupon 

prest the Advocate very hard to know if he could say no more in justification 

of what they had done,,^ whereupon the said Advocate desired to have time 

concerning that ship alko, for that (said he) possibly by our returne shipps 

wee may have some further information concerning it also, to which I reply’d 

that the said Advocate had in the beginning of the Conference declared several! 

times that though as to the Hopewell they desired more time, yet as 

to this ship they were fully informed by the letters they had already 

received and therefore that he should now desire more time as to this 

also, that this I must confesse I did not at all understand. In conclusion 1 
added that whereas a Proposition had beene made to me in the last Conference 

with the Deputies of the Estates Generali concerning a R^lement for the 

avoyding of such disputes for the future, I declared that I was very ready to 

implpy my indeavours therein and to that end receive and debate such 

prc^iositions as should be made for the better ordering of the affaires of the^two 
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Companies, and both Dewitt and the said Advocate sayd that they also were 

very desirous thereof, I tould them hat if this were done t’would be a greate 

profit! to both, and that their actions would be worth yet one 50 more p. cent, 

and so the Conference ended. 

I am Sir, 

Your most affectionate humble Servant 

G. Downing 

[^Addressed] 

To the Right Hon’ble Sir Henry Bennett 

one of his Majesties Principall Secretaries 

of State and one of his Majesties most Hon’ble 

Privy Councell. 

These 

Whitehall 

[Endorsed] 

Hague 

18 Mark 1661 S.V.R: 21 

Sir Geo. Downing 

Hopewell & Leopard Shipps 
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MIRZA NAJAF KHAN 

A. F. M. Abdul All, Keeper of the Records of the 

Government of India, Calcutta. 

At a time when Shah Alaiu the last real Mughal Emperor of India 

was sadly lacking in resources, and the once great empire of his forefathers was 

fast dwindling into a mere shadow of its former self there appeared on the 

political firmament of India, a bright star in the [)erson of Mirza Najaf Khan, 

who, though a foreigner to the land, was destined to play a conspicuous role in 

the political history of India. 

Mirza Najaf Khan who was a native of Persia is said to have been a 

lineal descendant of Muhammad, the Prophet of Arabiad When Tahmasp 

Quli Khan, better known as Nadir Shah, usurped the throne and territories of 

Persia he put under confinement all persons who claimed to be of blood royal 

including Najaf Khan, his mother and only sister. 

In 1746 Mirza Muhsin Khan, the brother of Nawab Safdar Jang, the 

Subadar of Oudh, was deputed by Emperor Muhammad Shah of Delhi on an 

embassy to Nadir Shah in Persia. This nobleman interceded on behalf of the 

prisoners and secured among others the liberation of Najaf Khan and his family. 

Najaf Khan and his sister, Khadija Sultan Begam, then 13 years of age, came 

away to India with Mirza Muhsin Khan while his mother, advanced in age and 

unwilling to leave the place of her birth, preferred to remain in Persia. Shortly 

after their arrival in India Mirza Najaf Khan, in gratitude, gave the hand of his 

sister in marriage to Muhsin Khan, their deliverer. 

Mirza Najaf Khan then took service under Muhammad Quli Khan, the 

Qiladar of Allahabad, and when the latter, at the instance of Shujaud-Daulah, 

the Nawab Vazir of Oudh, was murdered in cold blood, Najaf Khan proceeded, 

in 1762, towards Patna in the hope of making his fortune there. He presented 

himself at the court Mir Qasim, the Nawab of Bengal, who was then at war 

with the English. The Nawab, who was on the look out for an enterprising 

and adventurous young man like him, received him cordially, appointed him 

to the command of a body of Mughal horse and sent him to fight the English. 

Najaf Khan fiercely attacked and bravely fought the enemy at Udhua Nala 

and other places and on all occasions he made himself conspicuous by his 

vigour, intrepidity and gallantry. But fate had decreed otherwise and Mir Qasim 

was defeated and practically compelled to retire into oblivion. 

Mir Qasim now resolved to seek asylum in Oudh under Shujaud Daulah, 

but Najaf Khan who was aware of Shujaud-Daulah’s selfish mentality dissuaded 

him from taking this step. 

1 Maasiml Umara under '*Zulfaqarad*Daulah,*’ 
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Mir Qasim, however, crossed over to Oudh and took refuge under the 

Nawab Vazir. Najaf Khan, having no confidence in the Vazir, left his master, 

Mir Qasim, to his fate and sought shelter in Bundelkhand^ where he remained 

and faithfully served under Guman Singh, a chief of that place, till 1765. After 

the conclusion of the Treaty of Allahabad in 1765, Najaf Khan was sent for 

by Shah Alam and appointed Steward of the Royal Palace. In this capacity 

Najaf Khan efficiently carried out his duties and by his unremitting efforts and 

unbounded zeal brought the confused state of the royal household and its 

finances to a stable footing. Shah Alam was so pleased with his fidelity and 

devotion to duty that he at once recommended him to Lord Clive for pardon 

for his past hostilities against the English and obtained for his maintenance a 

pension of 2 lakhs of rupees* payable from the revenues of the province of 

Kora. Shah Alam after leading a comparatively peaceful life for 7 years 

(1765-71) under British protection at Allahabad returned to Delhi in 1771 at 

the earnest persuasions of the Mahrattas who promised him a share in all their 

conquests. Najaf Khan followed his royal master to Delhi*. 

The first object to which Shah Alam directed his attention on his arrival 

at Delhi was the punishment of the contumacious Zabitah Khan, the son of 

his late minister, Najibud-Daulah. Zabitah Khan unlike his father had begun 

to show signs of disobedience and revolt. Shah .Alam ordered the Mahratta 

forces to march in advance while Najaf Khan was directed to follow them 

with his body of Mughal troops. A terrific battle took place between Zabitah 

Khan and the imperial army on the outskirts of Saharanpur. Najaf Khan 

fought with courage and determination and Zabitah saved his life by flight. 

The Mahratta army hotly pursued the flying enemy but he managed to escape. 

They then took possession of his camp which was full of arms and ammunition, 

money and materials. 

The Mahrattas contrary to the stipulations previously made by them, 

exclusively appropriated the spoils of victory and refused to share them with 

their Mughal comrades. This naturally created discontentment among the 

latter. Shah Alam was disgusted at this unseemly behaviour of the Mahrattas 

and resolved to get rid of them as soon as possible. With this object in view 

he ordered them to march forthwith against the Jats who were then raising the 

standard of revolt under their leader Nawal Singh. A few days later Shah 

Alam learnt with surpise that the Mahrattas, instead of giving fight to the Jats, 

were busy intriguing with Zabitah Khan. Their perfidious' conduct infuriated 

Shah Alam to such an extent that he made up his mind to crush the iniquitous 

confederacy. Najaf Khan, the tried and trusted leader, was consulted in the 

2 ibid. 'I 
3 I.R.D.. Calendar of Persian Correspondence, Vol. II, (1767-9) No, 192. 

4 I.R.D,. Calendar of Persian Correspondence, Vol. Ill, (1770-2), No. 830. 
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matter. He advised Sbab Alam, first of all, to augment tbe strength of the 

royal forces. Najaf Khan was accordingly appointed paymaster general of the 

imperial force^ and was entrusted with the task of raising fresh tioops with 

promptitude and despatch. 

Najaf Khan threw himself whole-heartedly into this task and by his 

indefatigable energy and unremitting toil he rallied round the royal standard 

a considerable number of troops within a very short time. He appealed to 

their royal sentiments by publicly declaring that the rally was meant to protect 

the sacred person of the emperor and safeguard the imperial interest from tbe 

insolent menaces of the Mahrattas. 

In the meantime the Mahrattas entered into an agreement with Zabitah 

Khan to obtain for him the royal pardon and the office of Amirul-UmarA in 

consideration of a large sum of money. They sent an emissary to His Majesty 

to negotiate in this matter, but Shah Alam, relying on the ability and loyalty 

of Najaf Khan, assumed a bold attitude and dismissed the envoy with a curt 

refusal. 

Najaf Khan, under the emperor’s orders, marched his troops against the 

Mahrattas and posted himself near the Ajmer Gate while tbe Mahrattas, who 

overwhelmingly outnumbered their opponents, drew themselves up at some 

distance. A furious conflict ensued. Najaf Khan vigorously attacked the 

enemy and was on the point of winning the day when unfortunately he was 

wounded and disabled for the time being by an accident caused by the explosion 

of a wagon of ammunition. This caused considerable confusion in the army 

and Shah Alam convinced of the futility of prolonging the contest ordered the 

withdrawal of the imperial forces. He then opened negotiations with the 

enemy.^ The Mahrattas attended the royal court with Zabitah Khan. The 

latter was pardoned and appointed Amirul-Umara (1772 A. D.) 

At this time tbe exalted office of Prime Minister was occupied by Husamud- 

Din Ali Khan, a lowt and debased courtier of Shah Alam, who had risen to 

power only by means of sycophancy.^ Himself an ignoble person, he eyed 

with jealousy tbe rise of Najaf Khan and missed no opportunity of belittling his 

high accomplishments and reQned culture. After tbe reinstatement of Zabitah 

Khan be succeeded in convincing tbe emperor that Najaf Khan was solely 

responsible for bis (tbe emperor’s) humiliation and discomfiture and advised 

bis immediate execution. 

Najaf Khan foreseeing tbe gathering storm retired prudently to his own 

palace. There he collected bis friends and dependents numbering about 3,000 

5. I. K. D. Calendar of Persian Correspondence, Vol. IV, (1772*5) No. 473. 

6. I. R. D. Calendar of Persian Correspondence, Vol. IV, (1772*3), No. 122. 
7. H. G. Keene: Tht fall tf th* Uoghut Emphrt (1875), p, 76. 
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arouad hi m, who pledged to lay down their lives in protecting him and his 

interests. Instigated by Najaf Khan’s inveterate enemy, Husamud-Din, the 

Mahratta forces were ordered to assault his palace. Things for the time being 

assumed a very serious outlook. Najaf Khan though hemmed in by adverse 

circumstances determined to face the calamity like a true and valiant soldier 

rather than surrender himself meekly to his opponents. But Takoji Hulkar, 

admiring the fearless and intrepid attitude taken up by Najaf Khan and being 

ashamed of the atrocious part his countrymen were adopting took upon himself 

the task of mediation and succeeded in effecting a reconciliation. Najaf Khan 

then proceeded to the royal presence and made his obeisance to the emperor 

who received him graciously and honoured him with a khilat. 

In 1773 the Mahrattas were driven out from the Doab by the combined 

forces of Najaf Khan, Nawab Shujaud-Daulah and the English. With the 

departure of the Mahrattas, Husam-ud-Din Khan, their agent at court, fell from 

power and Najaf Khan was left free to carry out important administrative 

reforms and to chastise the Jats who were giving trouble incessantly. Nawal 

Singh, the Jat Chieftain, hearing of the approach of the imperial army, set out 

from the fort of Dig with his formidable forces and met it halfway. A short 

but decisive engagement took place. Najaf Khan inflicted heavy losses on the 

enemy and eventually forced them to retreat leaving behind them a camp full 

of arms and ammunition and other valurble effects. Nawal Singh with a few 

attendants took refuge in the fort of Dig and the rest of his army dispersed 

precipitately. 

The booty seized was considerable and this prevented the immediate 

pursuit of the fugitive leader. In the exultation of his victory Najaf Khan sent 

an express account of it to Delhi where the news was received with the highest 

satisfaction by Shah Alam and the nobles of the court. Rewards and honours 

were promptly conferred on him and his army by the emperor. Najaf Khan 

next led the army to Agra and laid a seige to the town. The garrison was 

compelled for want of provision to sue for peace and ultimately surrendered 

the fort and its dependencies. The intelligence of this important event was at 

once conveyed to Delhi through a messenger who also carried with him the key 

of the fort to be laid at the foot of the throne. 

Meanwhile, a treaty having been concluded between Shah Alam and 

Shujaud'Daulah at Delhi, Najaf Khan was recalled from Agra and commanded 

to join Shujaud'Daulah in his war against the Rohillas. He unhesitatingly 

obeyed the royal command and in conformity with the emperor’s directions led 

his army towards Rohilkhand. He acquitted himself creditably in this war. 

After several desultory skirmishes he worsted the Rohillas at the battle of Katehr. 

After the successful termination of this campaign he proceeded to pay his respects 
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to Shujaud'Daulah who received him with due honour and as a reward for his 

meritorious services appointed him to the niahat of vatarat, an office more 

honourable than lucrative. Najaf Khan gratefully accepted the honour and 

returned to Delhi. 

Arriving at Delhi he resumed his unfinished campaign against the Jats 

and marched towards the fort of Dig, the only stronghold of consequence left 

to the Jats, and laid siege to it. The fort of Dig was so long considered 

impregnable and was defended by a numerous garrison. The siege lasted for 

more than 12 months. The garrison had already become attenuated for want 

of provisions and the repeated assaults made by the beseigers when death 

suddenly claimed their leader Nawal Singh and caused chaos and confusion 

among the rank and file. Nawal's brother Ranjit Singh who succeeded to the 

command was determined to defend to the last the honour and prestige of his 

race. But his own troops bacame impatient and mutinied. In this predicament 

he. abandoned all hope of resistance and decided to withdraw from the fort 

stealthily. 

On a pitch dark night he took with him his family and as much treasure 

as he could conveniently carry and effected his escape from the beseiged fort. 

Next morning the besiegers were astonished to find the walls of the fort 

unmanned and no signs of activity of any kind whatsoever. Najaf Khan at 

first suspected stratagem but a closer inspection of the surroundings revealed 

the fact that the rebels had .actually retired. He triumphantly entered the fort 

and took possession of it. With the capture of Dig in 1776 an immense plunder 

fell into the hands of the Mughal army. The remaining parts of the Jat country 

submitted quietly. Najaf Khan imposed heavy fines on the recalcitrant zamindars 

who had sided with the Jats and the money thus obtained was utilised in 

discharging the arrears of his troops. The conquest of the Jats was complete. 

Najaf Khan now directed his attention to the collection of revenue and 

the reformation of the' administration at Agra when he was suddenly ca^ed off 

by a letter received from Shah Alam who required his immediate presence at 

Delhi. On his arrival he was directed to march against Zabitah Khan who had 

again become troublesome and who, at the head of a considerable number of 

Sikhs whom he had collected around him, was creating disturbances near the 

capital. Shah Alam who was by this time sick of Zabitah Khan's treachery 

determined to inflict an exemplary punishment on him. He himself took the 

command of his army and accompanied by Najaf Khan marched against him. 

In the battle that ensued Najaf Khan utterly routed Zabitah Khan and his 

confederates, the Sikhs. Zabitah Khan fled for his life across the Jumna and 

the Sikh army melted away. Najaf Khan thereafter returned to Agra in order 

to resunoe,his duties there, . ' • . : 



MIRZA NAJAF KHAN 489 

About this time the regents of Raja Pratap Singh of Jaipur had grown 

refractory. They took advantage of the temporary absence of the royal army 

from the capital and suspended sending the customary tribute to the imperial 

treasury. Shah Alam accordingly ordered Majdud-Daulah Abdul Ahad Khan, 

a spirited nobleman of his court, to march against them. Majdud-Daulah, a 

second Husamud-Din in cunning and unscrupulousness, was eager to satisfy his 

own selfish ends and looked with envy upon the ever-increasing authority of 

Najaf Khan. Here was a favourable opportunity for him to gratify his 

ambition and to establish his influence over Shah Alam. 

He gathered together an army and accompanied by Shah Alam marched 

to punish the Rajput prince and his wily advisers. The rebels offered a 

mild resistance but were eventually defeated. The easy success of the operation 

emboldened Majdud-Daulah to induce His Majesty to undertake a tour of the 

province of Ajmer and at the same time pay his devotion to the shrine of 

Khwaja Muinuddin(,Chishti, a Mohammedan saint of repute, at Ajmer. The 

idea was to separate the Emperor from Najaf Khan by a considerable distance 

and to use this opportunity to poison his mind against his own rival. 

Najaf Khan hearing of the success of the operations against the Rajput 

prince and being apprised of Majdud-Daulah’s evil designs ventured on a 

personal visit to the royal camp. Leaving Agra to the care of his friend 

Muhammad Beg Khan he marched towards Jaipur. The Jaipur ministers 

after their disgraceful defeat tried to make peace overtures on behalf of their 

master. Negotiations had been started and a large peshkash was offered on 

the part of the young prince. Najaf Khan, when he was informed of the 

situation, wrote to His Majesty and advised him to the effect that the conclusion 

of any treaty should be held in abeyance till his arrival at Jaipur. Shah Alam 

had the sagacity to accept this advice and put a stop to all negotiations for 

the time being. 

In a few days* time Najaf Khan reached the neighbourhood of the royal 

camp. Shah Alam hearing of his approach sent his third son Prince Yazdan 

Bakbt to receive him with due honour and ceremony and conduct him to the 

royal presence. When Najaf Khan reached the royal camp he was received by 

His Majesty with marks of honour and affection. It was now that Majdud- 

Daulah realised the enormous influence his rival wielded over the emperor and 

how difficult it was to counteract it. 

On the arrival of Najaf Khan negotiations with the Jaipur ministers were 

resumed. Raja Pratap Singh, who was naturally penitent, presented himself 

at the royal camp and offered a peshkash of 5 lakhs of rupees. He was 

pardoned and restored to the government of Jaipur. The royal army, having 

thus settled the affairs at Jaipur, returned to Delhi. Soon after his arrival 



490 MODERN HISTORY 

Najaf Khan celebrated, with due pomp and grandeur, the marriage ceremony 

of his youngest daughter, with Nawab Najaf Quli Khan. Shah Alam graced 

the occasion with his august presence. A few days later Najaf Khan departed 

again for Agra, the seat of his administration and his favourite resort. 

At about this time news reached Delhi of the defeat of the royal army 

under Majdud-Daulah at the hands of the Sikhs and of its disgraceful and 

disorderly retreat. Shah Alam was highly dissatisfied with Majdud-Daulah 

and urgently summoned Najaf Khan from Agra to retrieve the prestige of the 

imperial arms. Najaf Khan in obedience to the command marched hurriedly 

towards the capital. On his way to Delhi he was met by Majdud-Daulah 

whom he placed under arrest and sent him to the capital under a strong escort. 

Najaf Khan on reaching Delhi escheated his entire property to the royal 

exchequer. He then presented himself at court where he was received with 

every mark of favour and affection. In return he made an offering of 4 lakhs 

of rupees to His Majesty together with some fine Persian horses for the royal 

stable. He now lost no time in carrying out the mission for which he had 

been summoned. He hastily mobilised a strong army and sent it under his 

nephew, Mirza Shafi Khan, to check the disturbances of the Sikhs. The 

invaders assembled and faced the imperial forces near Meerut. But their 

unskilled mode of warfare fell far short of the disciplined valour of the Mughal 

veterans. The Sikhs Were defeated and were compelled to evacuate the 

country with the loss of their leader and 5,000 men. 

Najaf Khan, who had by this time set the affairs at Agra in order and 

whose presence there was no longer necessary, decided to pass the remaining 

days of his life peacefully at the capital. His Majesty, wh© also wanted this 

old servant to remain by his side, favoured the idea and assigned to him for 

his residence the palace of his late vazir, Qamarud-Din Khan. 

Najaf Khan had been ailing from a severe rheumatic pain for several 

j ears. This was aggravated by other complications due to his irregular mode 

of life. In this bad state of health he languished for several months and died 

full of honours and glory on Monday the 22nd Rabiussani (6th April 1782). 

His death was deeply mourned by Shah Alam, who frequently visited him 

during his last illness. It was also lamented by the inhabitants of Delhi who 

loved and revered him. He was laid to his eternal rest in the sepulchre of Ali 

Mardan Khan at Aliganj to the south of New Delhi. 
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THE CARNATIC AND NASIR JANG 

{1749-'50) 

Professor C. S. Srinivasachari M. A.i Annamalai University 

I. The situation in the last years of Nizamu'l-Mulk— 

The death of Asaf Jah Nizamu'l-Mulk near Burhanpur saw the Carnatic 

in an intensely confused condition. His successors were strikingly inferior to 

him in ability as well as in character. The late Nizam’s eldest son, Mir 

Mubamad Panah, Ghaziu’d-din-Khan, was at Delhi as his father’s deputy at the 

Imperial Court. Nasir Jang seized the Viceroyalty as he had already acted for 

some years as his father’s deputy and was on the spot. The late Nizam had, 

largely under thtf influence of Imam Sahib, been pro-French in his attitude 

towards European powers of the Coromandel Coast. Imam Sahib was the 

faujdar of Alambari and then of Masulipatam, but owing to his enmity with 

Nawab Safdar Ali, he joined the service of the Nizam. This Imam Sahib 

enjoyed great favour and influence at the court of the Nizam and was eagerly 

looked up to by both the English and French who were solicitous of favours. 

Indeed, Nawab Anwaru’d-din Khan who had become master of the Carnatic 

in 1744 had been persuaded by his eldest son, Mahfuz Khan, and his Diwan, 

Rajah Sampath Rai, to favour the English while the French had always been 

noted for their friendship with the Nawayat, the community to which the late 

Nawabs and Chanda Sahib belonged and kept up a close correspondence with 

the latter, during his imprisonment at the hands of the Marathas and with 

Rabguji Bhonsle. In the course of the First Carnatic war, between the English 

and the French, Mutyalu Naicken was sent to Nasir Jang by the English in order 

to counteract the influence of Imam Sahib who acted as the French agent at 

the Nizam’s court. Then Nasir Jang promised to help the English; but Imam 

Sahib had persuaded old Nizamu’l-Mulk even to write to the Emperor at Delhi 

that the English were in the wrong. Nawab Anwaru’d-din Khan was written 

to by Nasir Jang to accompany him with troops in his intended march into the 

Carnatic as he had been put in charge of the districts south of the Krishna by 

Nizamu’l-Mulk. Anwaru’d-dip Khan was reported to contemplate the recall 

of Mahfuz Khan from Nasir Jang’s camp and to join him as the situation on 

the coast became serious. After the events following the French capture of 

Madras (Sept., 1746) Nasir Jang seems to have begun negotiations for an 

agreement with the English that he would recover Madras for a sum of ten 

lakhs of pagodas, according to Ananda Ranga Pillai, the Pondicherry Diarist 



492 MODERN HISTORY 

and three lakhs, according to the English Records, {vide Country Correspondence 

1748, No. 5, p. 2) and 3,000 pagodas for each day the army marched and 2,000 

pagodas for each day he halted; (vide entry for October 35, 1747 and Mr. 

Dodwell’s note on the subject of the amount, p. 189 of Vol. iv of Ananda 

Ranga PillaVs Diary). When Anwaru’d-din Khan heard that owing to repeated 

English requests, Nasir Jang had resolved to come down into the Carnatic, he 

wrote to Mahfus Khan to bring about a frustration of the projected march, saying 

that what between French arrogance, English cowardice and the prevailing famine, 

the country was ruined and could not bear the expenses of Nasir Jang’s army. 

The news of Nasir Jang’s departure for the BaLighat after finishing his 

negotiations with Mysore was very welcome to the old Nawab, who had so 

moulded several nobles at the Nizam's court that they were always speaking 

of the bravery of the French and the cowardice of the English. Moreover, old 

Nizamu’l-Mulk, who was engaged in operations round Daulatabad, had ordered 

Nasir Jang to return to the Deccan in order to help him against a projected 

Maratha invasion. Mutyalu Naicken who was sent as envoy by the English 

Presidency at Fort St. David to Nasir Jang’s camp, spent a large amount of 

' money in presents without getting anything substantial in return, and both 

■Nawab Anwaru'd-din and his Diwan, Raja Sampath Rai, declared jestingly that 

the English had lost their good fortune and also their wits. Mutyalu Naicken 

did indeed secure a measure of diplomatic success as he returned accompanied 

by a band of Mughal and Maratha horsemen and three hundred peons and as 

Anwaru'd-din was commanded by a parwana to order all the Poligars to assist 

the English against the French and as Dupleix was enjoined by another parwana 

to abstain from further hostilities against the English. The French could only 

resort to the dirty expedient of intriguing for the seizure of Mutyalu Naicken on 

his way from Arcot to Fort St. David. For this purpose, an adventurer in the 

French service, Abdur Rahman, was detailed off with a hundred horse and 

ammunition, to wayl^^ Mutylau Naicken with the help of the Poligar of 

Vettavalam. The Naicken was, however, too clever to get caught. The French 

were hoping that if the Marathas invaded the Carnatic as they had threatened 

to do, the Nawab and his sons would be busy defending themselves and then 

they could settle everything about Fort St. David in spite of Nasir Jang's 

parwana to the Nawab to assist the English. Dupleix had also received letters 

from the pro-French party at Nasir Jang’s court that the latter had always 

admired French valour. In the beginning of 1748, news reached Pondicherry 

that Anwaru*d-din was not on good terms with his eldest son Mahfuz Khan 

and that Fateh Singh and Raghuji Bhonsle had assembled their troops 

at Akalkot for a march on the Carnatic and that Chanda Shaib had been 

liberated# Above all, information was received about the death of the Emfjj^or 
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Muhammad Shah about the end of April and of Nizamu^-Mulk, some weeks later^. 

//. Chanda Sahib's re-entry into the Carnatic— 

News reached Pondicherry in June 1748 that Chanda Sahib had obtained 

his release from Maratha custody by the influence of the wife of Rajah Shahu 

and that he had also definitely settled the question of Trichinopoly. Negotiations 

had been going on for some time between the Marathas and the Nawayat 

relations of Chanda Sahib in the Carnatic, even from 1744. Chanda Sahib 

seems to have been promised his release on certain conditions even then; 

perhaps he then exchanged Raghuji Bhonsle for the Peishwa Balaji Rao for his 

jailor. In 1745, the Pondicherry Council agreed!to lend Chanda Sahib a lakh 

of rupees ; but it had no funds at its disposal then. After the French victory 

in 1746, Dupleix and the relations of Chanda Sahib began to concert measures 

for his liberation. Even then Dupleix refused to guarantee the payment of his 

ransom, but only offered to act as the agent of the Marathas in its collection. 

He even then advised Chanda Sahib’s son, Reza Sahib, to assemble all the 

forces of the Nawayats and fall upon Anwaru’d-din, who was then l>ing sick at 

Arcot; and he promised to pay the lakh offered by him in the previous year 

as soon as Chanda Sahib should reach the Carnatic. 

Chanda Sahib departed from Satara early in 1748 and proceeded slowly 

to the south awaiting communication from his friends. On the banks of the 

Krishna, his help was requested both by the Poligar of Chitaldrug and by his 

enemy, the Rani of Bednore, but owing to the jealousy of a Nawayat Captain 

of the Bednore forces, Chanda Sahib took the side of the ruler of Chitaldrug. 

In the battle that ensued, at Myconda, south of the Tungabadra, Chanda Sahib’s 

eldest son, Abid Sahib, was slain and he himself was taken prisoner to Bednore. 

The Rani of Bednore could not, however, keep him for long. He seems to 

have again received an invitation from the ruler of Chitaldrug to take command 

1 Varying dates are given for the death of the Nizam. Grant-Duffidates it as having occured 

on June 19, 1748. The Country Correspondence of the English gives it as May 21, (June 1) as quoted 

by'Dodwell. Burgess states (p. 188 of his Chronology of India) thus; "June, jumada II, Asaf jah, 

Nlzamu’l-Mulk dies**. The death of the Emperor Muhammad Shah, the astrological details of 

which are given by the Diarist, Ranga Pillai, can be dated on this basis for April 17-28, but there 

is a day's difference according to another reckoning which puts it down as April 26/27; Rabi II, 27, 

H. 1161. The date given in Beale's Oriental Biographioal Dictionary (revised by Keene, 1894) for 

the Nizam’s death, is 22nd May, 1748 (old style) 4th Jumada II. A. H. 1164, i. 37 days after the 

death of Muhammad Shah, This date is confirmed by a letter of Imam Sahib to Pondicherry quoted 

by the Diarist in his entry for July 7, 1748. The news of the Nizam’s death reached Arcot only 

sixteen days after its happening, which was fixed by the Diarist for June 2. The chronogram of his 

death is Mutawajjih-i-Behisht (turned towards paradise) - p. 284 of Y. H. Khan’s Nizamu'l-Mulk 

Anf Joht. A rumour was prevalent that the Nizam took poison and died as he heard that his eldest 

son GhaziuM-din Khan was ordered to be executed by the Emperor Anwaru’d-diii was in fear of an 

attack by Murtaza Ali of Vellore and there was confusion in Arcot (p. 75, of Vol. V of Banga 
Pillai*9 Dimry). 
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against Bednore. He then got a complete victory over Bednore and gathered 

for himself three thousand of the enemy’s horse who offered their services 

to him as well as two thousand five hundred troops of his own ally ; thus he 

had a large force with him when he interfered in the Carnatic politics. 

Chanda Sahib had already planned to send his son, Abid Sahib, to the 

Nizam, in order to treat with him for the restoration of the Carnatic to him 

even before 1747. But the Nizam was not willing to restore Trichinopoly to 

Hindu rule, as that was one of the conditions insisted upon by the Marathas 

for Chanda Sahib’s release. (See entry of Ananda Ranga Pillai in his Diary 

for the 24th of January 1747). Apparently the failure of Chanda Sahib to 

get his release earlier was caused partly by the opposition of the Nizam and 

partly by the failure of Dupleix to furnish the necessary ransom. Orme and 

Wilks differ in their versions as to the sequence of Chanda Sahib’s activities in 

his wars with Bednore. Perhaps, he joined Muzaffar Jang, the Mughal 

governor of Adoni and Bijapur, very shortly after his release in 1748 and was 

employed in raising money for his new master in the subah of Bijapur, out of 

which arose the Bednore and other affairs. It was now that he should have 

persuaded Muzaffar Jang to embark on the plan of first seizing the Carnatic 

and afterwards the Deccan itself. 

To return to the subject:—Meanwhile Imam Sahib wrote to Pondicherry 

from Nasir Jang’s camp at Aurangabad that the late Nizam had left an 

enormous quantity of his treasure at that place and that a letter of congratulation 

should be written to the new Nizam, requesting him for a continuance of 

favours. Chanda Sahib had reached Krishna early in July 1748 ; and proposals 

were sent to him by Murtaza Ali Khan of Vellore, a Nawayat cousin of his, that 

they should divide the Carnatic between them. Unrest began to spread; and 

Muhammad Ali, the son of Anwaru’d*din, who was then in the Tinnevelly 

country, was ordered ^to return to Trichinopoly and to strengthen the garrisons 

of both Trichinopol}^ and Madura. Plenty of trouble ensued to the old Nawab 

at Arcot from the feudatories in his immediate neighbourhood. The Muhammadan 

governmental organisation in the Carnatic had never recovered from the effects 

of the great Maratha invasion of 1740-41. The succeeding years had been 

full of murders and anarchy. The death of Nizamu’l-Mulk released the 

disruptive forces that had been partially held in check by the terror of his 

name. While Murtaza Ali planned to join with Chanda Sahib’s forces, the 

Hindu principalities of Tanjore and Mysore schemed to restore Hindu rule, in 

Trichinopoly. Chanda Sahib’s descent south greatly troubled Anwaru’d-din 

who sent his family for safety to Trichinopoly. He endeavoured to keep the 

favour of Muzaffar Jang by writing to him a very conciliatory letter. About 

the middle of 1749, the Bednore affair having been settled, Muzaffar Jang and 
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Chanda Sahib descended into the Carnatic proper, through the Anantapur 

district. Finally, about the end of July, there took place the battle of Ambur 

between the invaders and Anwaru*d-din. 

Chanda Sahib advanced through the Datnalcheruvu Pass, to the north¬ 

west of Chittore; the French and their allies effected a junction with him, 

routed Anwaru’d-din at Ambur and then occupied Arcot. Ambur did not lie 

on the road which would lead an invading army from Damalcheruvu to Arcot. 

Mr, Dodwell queries why Anwaru’d-din should have taken his post at Ambur 

or why Chanda Sahib should have turned aside from Arcot to meet him. 

Burhanuddin, in his Tuzuk-iWalajahi, says that Husain Khan Tahir, the 

Nawayat jaghirdar of Amburgadh, persuaded the Nawab to encamp before 

his fort, in the plain, with a treacherous motive ; and he details the treachery 

of the Tahiran, as well as the way in which Muzaffar Jang was dissuaded out 

of his inclination to make peace with the old Nawab, 

///, The Reaction after the Battle of Ambur—Nasir Jang in the Carnatic, 

By the beginning of September 1749, Chanda Sahib and Muzaffar Jang 

were at Arcot. Many of the Killedars of the Subah had submitted, while 

Mir Asad, the Killedar of Chetpattu, who had been diwan to Nawabs Dost Ali 

and Safdar Ali, stood out for some time. Meanwhile news was received that 

Nasir Jang was greately depressed by the death of Anwaru’d-din and planned 

to send his younger brother with an army. Muzaffar Jang and Chanda Sahib 

made a state entry into Pondicherry and spent a number of days there in 

festivities. They indulged in revelry and high hopes, but felt keenly the want 

of money, which the French could not give them. Muzaffar Jang himself was 

very close-fisted and constantly dunned his ally for a supply. Moreover, he 

was anxious to go north, since he heard that Murari Rao Ghorepade was 

marching down on the Carnatic with several thousands of horsemen and 

Pindaris, turning everything upside down and planning to march on Arcot; 

and Nasir Jang himself had begun his march from Aurangabad with a body of 

30,000 horse. We need not dwell here on the operations of Chanda Sahib 

and his ally in the country round Fort St. David and in Udaiyarpalayam and 

Tanjore, in their desperate endeavour to fill their treasury. 

Abdul Amin Khan, the younger son (or brother ?) of Abdul Nabi Khan, 

Nawab of Cuddapah, wrote to Chanda Sahib that it would be an easy task for 

him to capture Tanjore and Trichinopoly, but Gingi was very strong and 

should be kept in friendly hands; his elder brother was now the ruling Nawab* 

of Cuddapah and he was the Nawab of Savnur and Bankapur ; ^ he expressed a 

S There is some doubt about the identity of this person. The Diarist speaks of him in 

ftnother place as Abdul Majid Khan The families of the Nawabs of Cuddapah and Savanur were 

related. He probably confuses the Nawab of Savanur with Abdul Majid who succeeded Abdt;) 

l^abi of Cuddapah and wl^o was followed by Abdul Alim I(han (Abdul Amin). 
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desire h> the letter to open communications with Dupleix. He >^a9 later to 

play a prominent part in the intrigues that brought about the deaths of Nasir 

Jang and Muzaffar Jang in quick succession. When N.asir Jang marched south, 

through Kalyan and Gulbarga and his general, Sayyad Lashkar Khan, 

reached the banks of Krishna, the Pondicherry Diarist heard that the Nawabs 

of Cuddapah and Savanur were moving against him; and the Nawab of 

Kurnool, Himayat Khan, the other member of this infamous triumvirate, appears 

to have actually attacked and defeated a small force sent to him for Nasir Jang. 

Nasir Jang wrote to the French that he would forgive their past offences 

if they should separate from their Muhammadan allies and be faithful to himself. 

Muhammad Ali who had escaped to Trichinopoly from Ambur, solicited French 

friendship and asKed Dupleix to make peace with Nasir Jang and offered twice 

as much as the French might secure from his enemies. Nasir Jang sent two 

emissaries to Chanda Sahib at Tanjore to treat for peace (February 1749). 

These two, Moro Pant and Kazi Dayem, offered terms to Muzaffar Jang, now 

that Chanda Sahib was too busy with his attack on Tanjore to care about the 

enemies’ approach. Dupleix suspected that Muzaffar Jang might be purposely 

spreading the rumour that Nasir Jang was coming down rapidly into the 

Carnatic because Chanda Sahib was not letting him manage the Tanjore aff air. 

Nasir Jang reached the Changamah Pass early in March 1750 while Chanda 

Sahib had retreated from Tanjore to the neighbourhood of Chidambaram and 

finally to the fort of Tiruviti near Panruti, having to fight continuously during 

his retreat with a body of Maratha horse under Murari Kao. Rumours came 

that these Marathas were actually joined by English troops from Fort St. David. 

Chanda Sahib and Muzaffar Jang reached Pondicherry safely-and immediately 

demanded money from Dupleix. They pitched their camp at Villiyanallur, 

almost under the very walls of Pondicherry as if for protection from its guns. 

Nasir Jang occupied Gingi quite easily. Chanda Sahib’s men greatly troubled 

him for the payment|of arrears due to them. Dupleix had to order M. d'Auteuil, 

the French commandant, to encamp with French soldiers at Villiyanallur 

and see that the sepoys did not dun Chanda Sahib. But in sprite of French 

reinforcements and protection, Maratha horsemen hovered on the outskirts of 

the camp, broke into a choultry at Villiyanallur and killed some Coffre troops 

stationed therein. The sense of insecurity that prevailed in the camp was 

great; and a rumour got about that Nasir Jang had captured Trichinopoly. On 

March 23, Chanda Sahib sent his gumastah, Rajo Pandit, and his son, Raza 

Sahib, to Dupleix, with letters from himself and Nasir Jnng’s emissaries to the 

effect that they would be willing to let Chanda Sahib retain the subah of Arcot, 

as he had been connected with that province for a number of years from the 

time of Nnwab SadatpUah Khnn and as the French Governor wpuld not be content 
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unless he were confirmed as the Nawab of the Carnatic. This and another 

communication received from Chanda Sahib the next day^ made the Diarist 

suspect that ‘he (Chanda Sahib) was waiting to see which way the cat would 

jump’ and hoped that Dupleix would advice him to make pease with Nasir 

Jang, particularly as he himself was to be confirmed in the possession of Arcot. 

Muxaffar Jang, whom Nasir Jang was resolved to abase, seeing that Chanda 

Sahib was wavering, sent a letter to Dupleix in which he urged that D’Auteuil 

and his army should attack the enemy and that this was not the time to be 

indecisive. Dupleix himself had, on the receipt of the offers made on behalf of 

Nasir Jang, ordered the French troops to halt, expecting that peace would be 

made (Dodwelt’s note based on Dupleix's letter to the French Company, dated 

October 3, 1750, quoted on p. 486 of the Diary, vol. vi.) , 

rV, Tortuous Negotiations of the French— 

An action took place between Nasir Jang’s forces and the French allies 

on April 4 ; but little injury was done to either side; and on the evening of 

the same day, 13 French officers insisted on resigning their commissions and 

returning immediately to Pondicherry. This act done in the presence of the 

enemy is held as “even more disgraceful than the mutiny of the English 

officers in Bengal in 1776”. D’Auteuil wrote to Dupleix from camp even on 

April 1, that 15 officers refused to fight because the army was considered too 

small to attack the enemy’s 50,000 horse reinforced as they were, by 2,000 

sepoys and 10 guns from the English. Muzaffar Jang and Chanda Sahib also 

wrote that all the officers and soldiers of the French were opposed to fighting, 

as the enemy was strong with great stores of powder and shot, guns and good 

artillery men. Ananda Ranga Pillai tells us in his Diary that Dupleix sent 

Bussy to advise the mutinous officers to obey and persuade them to agree to 

fight (Chanda Sahib’s explanation to the Diarist on April 5 ; see pp. 17-22 

of the Diary, Vol. vii). Even after this D’Auteuil retired on Villiyanallur, 

accompanied by Chanda Sahib and 4,000 of his horse. Muzaffar Jang however, 

refused to move, saying that Nasir Jang’s people had come to treat with him 

after the engagement of the previous day and that he preferred to remain 

where he was, even at the risk of his life. This meant that Muzaffar Jang had 

really determined to desert his allies. Dupleix ordered a strict guard to 

be placed over the house in Pondicherry where his family resided. Chanda 

Sahib was inclined to throw the blame for this cowardly retreat on D’Auteuil; 

he declared that the Maratha officers in the enemy’s camp were ready to 

abandon Nasir Jang who, just before the engagement, was inclined to retreat; 

but Muhammad Ali, Mahfuz Khan and others tried to restrain him from such 

a dishonourable action. At such a moment he urged D’Auteuil to attack Nasir 

Jang ; but the French Commandant obstinately refused, as all his officers bad 

W 
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departed. He said, “the Europeans scattered in all direction ; D’Auteuil and a 

few soldiers went one way ; Muzffar Khan, the jamadar, went another way j 

and his sepoys, a third”. Muzaffar Jang declared that he could not incur the 

disgrace of running away out of fear; Chanda Sahib was pursued by Maratha 

horsemen and could not reach Muzaffar Jang’s camp; when in the early 

morning the retreating army was surrounded by the enemy, they fought so 

well that Mahfuz Khan fell and Mohammad Ali was wounded—quite false 

news told by Chanda Sahib, who wanted to persuade others that he could 

have won in the engagement, if D’Auteuil had not retreated. Chanda Sahib 

also wanted to persuade the Diarist that Muzaffar Jang was in no way at 

fault, that he had not any previous design of joining Nasir Jang in which case 

he would have secured the restoration of his family from Pondicherry and 

that affairs were spoiled only by D’Auteuil and not by Muzaffar Jang. Of 

course Dupleix threw the entire blame on Muzaffar Jang; but he permitted 

Chanda Sahib to negotiate with Murari Rao and his companions to abandon 

Nasir Jang, in return for Tadparti and the neighbouring country which were 

to be given to him. * 

Nasir Jang, on entering the Carnatic, had first summoned Muhammad 

Ali to join him from Trichinopoly and sent letters to Fort St. David requesting 

the English to send him a body of European troops. He ordered his own army 

to concentrate under the hills of Gingi and on the protection of its walls. Fie 

himself reached Gingi about the last week of March. Muhammad Ali joined 

him with about 6,000 horse at Valudavur, about 10 miles from Pondicherry ; 

the English detachment under Cope which had been sent previously to 

Trichinopoly to Muhammad Ali, accompanied him. On March 28, Nasir Jang 

was encamped between Villupuram and Koliyanur ; the English troops were said 

to be about 200 English soldiers, 100 mestizos and 200 topasses besides 400 

sepoys. Moreover additional troops were sent from Fort St. David under the 

command of Lawrence. The Mughal camp stretched for about five miles from 

north to south and Ihree miles from east to west. It was recorded by the 

Pondicherry Diarist that the Marathas and Kallars in Nasir Jang’s camp made 

a sortie or two on the French camp on that afternoon but there was nothing 

that could be called fighting. Even in this situation, an emissary from Nasir 

Jang arrived to treat for peace, to whom, in the presence of Bussy, Muzaffar 

Jang replied that there could be no talk of peace without the approval of 

Dupleix. The emissary offered to grant jaghirs to both Muzaffar Jang and 

Chanda Sahib and to repay the amounts they had borrowed from the French. 

Muzaffar Jang to whom the emissary came, sent for a French representative 

to be present during the conversations and his reply was given in the presence 

3 Diarist's entry for April 5, pp. 17-23 of the Dtoty, Vol, vli. 



tHE CARNAtlC AND KASIR JANG 490 

of Bussy*. Dupleix wrote to Chanda Sahib that any negotiation should be 

conducted only through himself; otherwise he was not for compromise at all. 

Shortly afterwards, Nasir Jang’s engagement took place, on account of which 

the English Captain Cope, and the French Commandant, D’Auteuil, exchanged 

‘mutual recriminations regarding the breach of peace between the two nations’. 

V. The Plot thickens— 

Nasir Jang halted at Valudavur after his triumph wliere he received 

Murtaza Ali Khan of Vellore to whom he gave Arcot. Mir Asad was made 

the Diwan of the Nawab Muhammad Ali and both agreed to pay the Nizam 

an annual tribute of 50 lakhs for the subah. (The Diarist tells us that Nawab 

Sadabullah Khan used to pay 12 lakhs a year ; Anwaru’d-din agreed to pay 

24 lakhs ; and Mahfuz Khan 28 lakhs of rupees). Wandiwash was to be given 

over to Mir Asad who suggested that if Pondicherry were blockaded, Chanda 

Sahib and Muzaffar Jang’s mother who were there, would have to be given up 

and most of the sepoys would desert from the French side. Major Lawrence 

who was in Nasir Jang’s camp is said to have written letters to Dupleix and 

D’Auteuil that he would arrange to effect a peace between the French and 

Nasir Jang. 

Nasir Jang was advised by his nobles like Sayyad Lashkar Khan and 

Sayyad Sharif Khan that the besieging of Pondicherry would prove a very 

arduous task and the English would not fight with P'rench then as there was 

peace between them ; they were of the opinion that the subah of Arcot should 

be given to Muzaffar Jang and peace should be made with the French ; otherwise 

Chanda Sahib would return with European aid and renew the struggle for the 

Nawabship of Arcot. This counsel was all the more effective as Murari Rao, 

Sanoji Nimbalakar, Chandra Sen and other Maratha sardars in the Nizam’s 

camp were preparing to depart. In reply to communications received from 

Nasir Jang and Shah Nawaz Khan, Dupleix sent ambassadors, including two of 

his Council, Mm. du Basset and Delarche, to the Mughal camp. Shah Nawaz 

Khan sympathized with the French ; but apparently he was not able to persuade 

his master who demanded the surrender of Chanda Sahib and firmly declined 

to give him the subah of Arcot. The French envoys returned to Pondicherry 

with a letter from Shah Nawaz Khan explaining the situation, to which a veiled 

threat of declaration of war was sent as a reply. In fact, the envoys said that 

Shah Nawaz Khan and his Peshkar, Ramdas Pandit, told them secretly that if 

they departed without hesitation, marched again with troops and fell upon Nasir 

Jang’s camp-guards by night, he would arrange to get Arcot for Chanda Sahib 

and restore his territory to Muzaffar Jang. According to Orme, suspicions were 

4 Diarist's entry for March 31 pp. 435—48 of Vol, vi. This is an effective support of Chanda 
Sahib’s opinion that Muzaffar Jang had no pre-conceived plan of making his own teiHns with and 

sabmitting to Nasir Jang and that Dupleix's estimate of him was not fully justified. 
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entertained of the clandestine conduct of the French deputies who were intriguing 

with Shah Nawaz Khan. The French attacked Nasir Jang's camp on the night 

of the 27th April and effected a great deal of damage. 

Ramdas Pandit is stated by the Diarist to have then offered terms of 

peace by which Trichinopoly was to be given to Chanda Sahib, as well as a 

mansab of 5,000 horse, a jaghir in the Arcot subah and permission to attack 

and plunder Tanjore. It was also stated that Muhammad Ali had been promised 

Arcot and that the English had agreed to help him on receiving a cowle for the 

Poonamalle and a part of Devanampatnam (Fort St. David) country as inatn. 

In the council of the Nizam, when the consent of the nobles was asked for the 

appointment of Muhammad Ali to the subah of Arcot, Shah Nawaz Khan said 

that the subah should be only given to Chanda Sahib who deserved favour. 

Sayyad Lashkar Khan said that he would very willingly consent to Muhammad 

Ali’s appointment; but as the French were opposed to him, he thought it 

inadvisable. Muhammad Ali openly quarrelled with Sayyad Lashkar Khan for 

his remarks; and Nasir Jang dissolved the council without giving the dress of 

honour to Muhammad Ali. 

Muzaffar Jang’s captivity in Nasir Jang’s camp was not harsh, and he was 

easily enabled to correspond with his mother and other friends at Pondicherry. 

This lady was the half*sister of Nasir Jang and his elder brother Ghaziud-din 

Khan, who were the sons of Nizamu’l-Mulk’s second wife. Nasir Jang is said 

to have relaxed th'ft severity of the imprisonment of his nephew, possibly as a 

result of the letter that his sister wrote to him. 

On May 3rd, the Nizam held a darbar before marching north, at which 

besides Sayyad Lashkar Khan, Shah Nawaz Khan, Sayyad Sharif Khan nnd his 

other Diwans, were also present Nawab Abdul Nabi Khan of Cuddapah, Himayat 

Bahadur Khin of Kurnool and other nobles. They all advised him to forgive 

Muzaffar Jang; while ^aihil Beg Khan, the subadar of Berar, advised the Nizam 

to conciliate the French and win them over to his side; and Sayyad Lashkar 

Khan and others offered the same advice of submission and reconciliation to his 

uncle, to Muzaffar Jang. 

Cope and Lawrence went to Nasir Jang’s camp just then, but did not seem 

to have accomplished much. He desired the English to accompany him when 

he commenced his return march to Arcot; but Lawrence insisted on first receiving 

grants of the Poonamalle country, to which demand, the Nizam retu:ned no 

answer (Dodwell’s The Madras Despatches, 1744-1765 ; pp. 112>118). 

Chanda Sahib knew that Nasir Jang was perfectly willing that Tanjore 

and Trichinopoly might be given to him ; but be wanted Arcot and he well knew 

that Dopleix would not consent to any settlement if Arcot were not givcQ ; and 
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he contrived that his demands should be made known to Nasir Jang in very 

clear terms. 

Shah Nawaz Khan wrote from the Nizam’s camp at Arcot, dated May 11, 

that his master would continue to stay at that place for four months and that, if 

in the mean time Chanda Sahib gave satisfaction, the subah of Arcot would be 

given to him, while Trichinopoly and a mansa6/agft/r for Tanjore would be 

granted immediately. Dupleix even offered to guarantee that Muzaffar, if released, 

should not draw his sword against the Nizam. But Nasir J mg was suspicious 

that if Muzaffar Jang were released, Sayyad Lashkar Khan and others might 

choose him as their leader and give trouble to him. A rumour arose that 

when Nasir Jang was at Wandiwash, Muzaffar Jang escaped from his custody 

in the confusion caused by a storm. 

The division of the Nizam’s camp into the two parties respectively 

supporting the causes of Nasir Jang and his nephew, is seen clearly in the 

entries of the Diarist, Ranga Pillai. Muzaffar Jang’s .partisans like Sayyad 

Lashkar Khan, Jamil Beg Khan and the Pathan Nawabs of Cuddapah, Kurnool 

and Savanur are said to have resolved to overthrow Nasir Jang with their troops 

and to send Muzaffar Jaiig under a strong guard to Pondicherry for the sake of 

safety. Ramdas Pandit, whom Grant-Duff calls ‘the traitor Ramdas’ was 

secretly in favour of Muzaffar Jang’s elevation but pretended to seek Nasir 

Jang’s interest alone and at the same time did all in his power to encourage 

Sayyad Lashkar Khan and Muzaffar Jang’s party, communicating to them all 

that passed with Nasir Jang. It was only Shah Nawaz Khan and his 

adherents that were opposed to Muzaffar Jang; all the I others wished Nasir 

Jang to be overthrown. Shah Nawaz Khan was said to have arranged that 

Trichinopoly and Tanjore should be leased out to Chanda Sahib after being 

formally granted to Dupleix, who could occupy them and then lease them out 

to his protege; and that he (Shah Nawaz) himself would keep Arcot under him 

and give it over to Chanda Sahib, if the latter should be prompt in the 

payment of his tribute; and the amount owing to Dupleix from Muzaffar Jang 

should be paid by Chanda Sahib in return for the grant of Trichinopoly to him. 

On the other hand, it was rumoured that Nasir Jang was to have given the 

subah of Arcot to Muhammad Ali with Taqi Sahib of Wandiwash as his Diwan. 

Conflicting counsels thus prevailed in the Nizam’s camp. It was reported that 

Muzaffar Jang had also promised to bring round Chanda Sahib and fetch him 

to Arcot. Chanda Sahib was advised by his brother Muhammad Ali Khan 

of Polur to beware ol going to Arcot for any interview, even though he should 

be assured safety by an oath on the Quran, Shah Nawaz Khan is reported to 

have written to Dupleix, urging him to seize the fort of Valudavur. The 

Fat ban Nawabs, Abdul Nabi Khan of Cuddapah, Himayat Bahadur Kbaiioi 
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Kurnool and Majid Khan of Savanur refused to pay their peahkash to Nasir Jang 

on the ground that they have not paid any even to his father, that their lands 

were plundered by his poligars and that Nasir Jang was responsible for their 

continuing to maintain a large body of troops in the field. The Nawabs absented 

themselves from the Nizam's durbar; and an open collision between the Nizam’s 

troops and their own followers was only averted by the intrevention of Shah 

Nawaz Khan. 

VI. The Approach of the Crisis— 

In the beginning of July it was rumoured at Pondicherry that a number 

of nobles of the Nizam had resolved to release Muzaffar Jang, establish him 

as the Stibadar of the Deccan and seize or slay Nasir Jang; and Muzafiar 

Jang’s attempted escape, noted above, was in reality done with their 

connivance; and when it failed, the latter took all the blame on himself and 

contrived to pretend madness. Chanda Sahib advised that agents should be 

employed to arrange matters secretly with the Pathan Nawabs for the 

deposition of Nasir Jang. Letters were written cautiously by Dupieix, to 

Chanda Sahib’s men at the Nizam’s camp couched in general terms; and 

the messengers were given specific instructions to bring about an understanding 

between the discontented nobles and the Pathan Nawabs. The situation about 

the middle of August, was very unsatisfactory to the English while Dupieix 

pushed on his efforts and brought things at Nasir Jang’s camp to the crisis 

which was to end with his assasination. 

The French troops now gained a victory at Tiruviti over Muhammad Ali 

and compelled him to retreat with great loss. They planned to march towards 

Arcot by way of Gingi or Wandiwash.® 

Nasir Jang continued to be indifferent to the quarrels among his nobles 

and their mutual recriminations. Shah Nawaz Khan charged Mir Asad with 

treasonable correspondence with Pondicherry, while Murtaza Ali Khan of 

Vellore was advised to attack Pondicherry with the aid of Mir Asad who was 

rebuked for having previously suggested that Muhammad Ali was to be helped 

at all. Shah Nawaz Khan himself is said to have boasted that but for Nasir 

Jang’s orders he should return at once to Aurangabad, he himself would 

5 It appears from the Tuzuk-i-Walajahi that Muhammad Ali had secured the friendship 

of the English by giving them the hope of the grant of the jaghir of Poonamalle, that Nasir Jang 

was persuaded by the intriguing Pathan Nawabs and Ramdas Pandit to order Muhammad Ali 
to sever his relationship with the English, that he had ordered Abdul Nabi Khan of Cuddapah 

and Himmat Khan of Kurnool to subjugate Fort St. David and Madras respectively, that 
Muhammad Ali contrived to give a large bribe to Ramdas Pandit through Raja Sampaih Rai 

and Raja Bashan Das and to persuade them and Shah Nawaz Khan to sec that the order lor the 

expulsion of the English was withdrawn. When the battle was lost, Muhammad Ali fled to Gingi, 

but wished once again to proceed to Tiiuviti to engage with the enemy; but he was suddenly 
recalled by the Nisam to his presence. 
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soon set out to attack Pondicherry. Dupleix was hopeful that if French troops 

should advance in the direction of Arcot, the Pathan Nawabs of Cuddapah and 

Kurnool would, as they had formerly promised, have a good chance of seizing 

the person of Nasir Jang, while Muhammad AH would never approach the 

French troops. 

Meanwhile events moved in quick succession. Nasir Jang continued 

inactive at Arcot. The English were sulky with Muhammad Ali and reduced 

to inaction, while Bussy carried the great fortress of Gingi by a sudden and 

surprising escalade, (September 11). This was regarded as a wonderful 

achievement and it awakened Nasir Jang to the true peril of situation. During 

the next two months there was inaction on both sides. D’Auteuil, the French 

Commandant, seemed strangely resolved to rest on Bussy’s laurels. Dupleix 

urged him to advance at once against Nasir Jang. One of the Maratha 

tnansabdars in Nasir Jang’s camp sent a message to Chanda Sahib and Dupleix 

that if the French had marched on Arcot immediately after the taking of Gingi, 

Nasir Jang could have been easily seized, and urged that the time had now 

come to capture or slay him and establish Muzaffar Jang on the throne. The 

Tuzuk-i’Walajahi of Burhanu’d-din says that after he heard that the French had 

captured Gingi, Nasir Jang ordered Muhammad Ali to lay seige to the 

captured place and to prevent any succour reaching the garrison from 

Pondicherry; and, accordingly, the latter sent his Bakshi, Md. Abrar Khan, 

with an army to Gingi. But the conspirators persuaded Nasir Jang to 

transfer the forces of Muhammad Ali to protect Conjeevaram, which, they said, 

was threatened by the French troops at Chingleput; and thus Abrar Khan was 

recalled from Gingi and sent with augmented forces to Conjeevaram; thus in 

the quaint words of Burhanu’d-din, ‘the maidan of impudence became extensive 

for the French and for those corrupted by mischief’. 

D’Auteuil hastily retired from Chettupattu on hearing that Nasir Jang’s 

forces had reached Desur, 20 miles off and justified his retreat by saying that 

the Pathan Nawabs and others were only deceiving them with false promises. 

Dupleix tried to console himself as best he could by saying that the French 

did not retire for any lack of cofidence in themselves but only on account of 

rains and flooded rivers. Things were much worse on Nasir Jang’s side. His 

army was encamped to the north of Cheyyar river which was flooded; his horses 

and bullocks were dying in large numbers; the artillery scarcely covered four 

miles a day; the horsemen were unwilling to march and Nasir Jang himself 

marched in the rear and not in the front of the army. 

Ananda Ranga Pillai, the diarist of Pondicherry, was told that many of 

the Mughal sardars were not with the troops and that Arcot was crowded, rice 

was scarce and sold in camp at five pakka seers a rupee. When Sanoji 
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Nimbalkar and Ramachandra Rao were ordered by Nasir Jang to march as 

advance-guards, they refused, pleading danger and advising peace. Shah Nawa^ 

Khan was of the same opinion and counselled his master not to fight. D’Auteuil, 

on the other side, pleaded sickness and wanted permission to retire to 

Pondicherry, and Dupleix asked the Diarist, Ranga Pillai, to write to Muzaffar 

Khan, the Jamadar of French sepoys to continue to remain round Gingee and 

not to send in the guns. 

Murtaza Ali Khan of Vellore suggested to Dupleix in the meanwhile that 

he might be made the Nawab and Chanda Sahib might get Trichinopoly or, 

in the alternative, he should be confirmed in the possession of his killa and 

jaghir and should be made diwan to Chanda Sahib. Dupleix did not take this 

seriously and was only sorry that the rains prevented the French from using 

their muskets and artillery. 

VIL The Assasination of the Nizam {December 1750). 

Nasir Jang had at last ordered his troops to march towards Gingi and 

himself joined the main body in the beginning of October. His army was 

considerably less numerous thin when he entered th*! Carnatic ; but he could still 

count, according to the authority of Orme, 60,000 foot 45,000 horse, 700 elephants 

and 360 pieces of cannon. On the evening of the 24th October, a body of 

Nasir Jang’s horse about 4,000 in number who were lying in ambush in several 

places round Gingi, were encountered by a few French dragoons and 

Muhammadan troopers. As it was heavily raining, the Muhammadan troopers 

could not fire and insisted on retreating to camp ; the dragoons lost their way 

and many of them were killed. The French marched the next day, but were 

obliged by heavy rains, to retreat to Gingi where there were not sufficient 

provisions. 

Dupleix continued his active intrigue with Nasir Jang’s court where it 

was presently rumoilred that Mir Asad and Murtaza Ali Khan were in the 

immediate favour of Nasir Jang and urged him to march against Pond cherry 

and Chanda Sahib, and that the latter had a design to seize the suspected 

Pathan Nawabs who were, consequently, on their guard. All the same Nasir 

Jang let Dupleix know, through Kazi Dayem, that he was not averse to 

negotiations, would let bygones be bygones and would even visit Pondicherry 

and become the friend of the French, adding that, if he were to give way to 

Dupleix’s demands, he would be rfgarded as weak, feeble and helpless. Dupleix 

replied in suitable terms to this secret offer, protesting that he had ever been 

Nasir Jang’s well-wisher and had not himself sought his enmity, but had always 

desired the country merchants and inhabitants to be at peace. He even offered 

to stop all fighting if the negotiations for peace should once begin. 
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According to the Tuzuk4 Walajahi, Mir Dayem AH Khan, the sardar of the 

advance guard of Nasir Jang’s army warned his master against the intended 

treachery of the Afghan Nawabs and the evil disposition of Raja Ramdas, even 

on the very eve of his assasination. Nasir Jang even gave an order for the killing 

of Muzaffar Jang; but Rarndas bribed the executors and contrived to delay 

their action. Early the next morning the Nizam mounted an elephant, 

unarmed and without being protected by any armour; he was surrounded 

only by a few torch-becrers and bandars; and he rode, as the day dawned, 

towards the elephants of Abdul Nabi Khan and Himmat Bahadur Khan 

and salaamed to them. But they pretended ignorance of his presence ; and he 

saluted them a second time with a loud voice ; and he followed up with the 

words that it was incumbent on them, brothers of the same faith, to fight the 

stranger. Then Himmat Bahadur aimed with his musket at the Nawab and 

shot him through the heart. In the confusion that ensued, Muhammad Ali 

departed for Trichinopoly with only Gazanfar Ali Khan and a single guide. He 

was joined by a dozen servants of his at Tiruvannainalai. At Ranjangudi, its 

Jaghirdar, Mutabir Khan Tahir, pretended under cover of hospitality to receive 

him in the fort, with a view to get him secured. It was only by the presence 

of mind of Gazanfar Ali Khan, who held the Jaghirdar in firm grip, that 

Muhammad Ali was enabled to escape and the rescuer also quickly rejoined his 

master in safety. 

These were the circumstances under which the French attacked Nasir 

Jang*s camp on the fateful day of 16th December, 1750. Muzaffar Jang who 

was immediately raised to the Nizamat, conferred according to the Tuzuk4^ 

Walajahi, on Dupleix the title of Zafar Jang, granted the French the jaghirs 

of Gingi, Tiruviti and other places, while Law, D'Auteuil and other French 

captains were given suitable titles, mansabs and presents. Himmat Bahadur 

Khan was given the title of Rustam Jang and the jaghirs of Raichur and Adoni. 

Abdul Nabi Khan got the jaghirs of Gandikotta, Gooty, and Gurramkonda ; and 

Abdul Karim Khan secured the jaghir of Sira ; and Rarndas Pandit got the title 

of Raja Raghunath Das; while Abdul Rahman got the title of Muzaffar Khan. 

Muzaffar Jang also wrote a friendly letter to Muhammad Ali Khan at Trichinopoly 

according to the plan and counsel of Dupleix and Januji, the Maratha, and sen 

it along with letters from the latter. 

04 
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POLITICAL CONDITIONS IN SOUTH INDIA. 

(1736-1746) 

Mr. V. R. Ramachandra Dikshitar, 
Lecturer in Indian History, University of Madras. 

The year 1736 is one of the significant years in the political history of 

South India. In this year the Nayak queen of Madura, Minaksi, died after a 

brief rule of about five years.' This year again witnessed the downfall of the 

kingdom of the Nayaks of Madura, and the practical extinction of their rule. 

And this indeed had far-reaching consequences as we shall see in the sequel. 

Minaksi was the consort of Vijayanagara Chokkanatha who ruled from C 1706-32 

and who died in 1732. As he had no male issue to succeed him, his wife 

and queen Minaksi succeeded her husband as the ruler of the Nayak kingdom 

of Madura, She took Vijayakumara in adoption, and this princ; was the son 

of one Bangaru Tirumala who belonged to a branch line of Tiruinala Nayaka. 

After this adoption Bangaru Tirumala was bent upon deposing Minaksi and 

enthroning his son. In the meantime the Nawab of Arcot had sent his son 

Safdar Ali, and his son-in-law, Chanda Sahib, to deraan 1 tribute from the 

Nayaks of Madura and the ruler of Tanjore, and in case of refusal to overpower 

them in a battle. They were first sent on a commission in 1734. Bangaru 

Tirumala was nothing but an opportunist. He took advantage of the visit of 

Safdar Ali and befriended him as against Minaksi. Safdar Ali did not take 

this seriously but entrusted the task of aiding Bangaru Tirumala to Chanda 

Sahib and went back. Minaksi scented the danger, and as a clever diplomat, 

endeavoured to buy off Chanda Sahib and received him in her palace*. 

Subsequent events show that a reconciliation had been effected between Minaksi 

and Bangaru before Chanda Sahib was allowed to have his own way. So 

Chanda Sahib had tc^ go back to Arcot. But his mind was set firmly on the 

possession of Madura and Trichinopoly. With the boldness characteristic of 

an adventurer, Chanda Sahib reappeared at Trichinopoly in 1736 to vanquish 

Minaksi and assume himself the reins of government of the Nayak Kingdom. 

He succeeded in getting Minaksi under his control, and consequently her 

territories. An army was sent at his suggestion to Dindigul then in possession 

of Bangaru Tirumala Dindigul fell, and next he sent his array to Madura. 

1 The date of the death of Minaksi has been a matter of dispute among scholars. Prof. V. 
Rangachari is of opinion that she died in 1737. find. Ant. 1917, p, 218J. But S. C, Hill in his 
able study entitled YUSUF KHAN, THE REBEL COMMANDANT places the death of the 

queen in 1736 (p. 26). And this has been accepted by R. Satyaoatha Aiyar in bis NAYAKS OF 

MADURA, (pp. 232-4). 
2 Wilks, Mysore, I, p. 135. (Second .ed, 1869). 
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Bangaru Tirumala offered him a battle which was fought at Ammaiya- 

Nayakanur.® Discomfited Bangaru placed himself under the wings of the 

Raja of Sivaganga. Chanda Sahib felt quite secure of his position, and then 

proceeded to imprison the queen. On this Minaksi is said to have taken poison 

and died.^ The Muhammadans became virtual masters of the Madura kingdom; 

Bangaru Tirumala made a feeble attempt to restore the Nayakship and called 

in the aid of the Mahrattas. Before he could do anything, he was murdered 

by Anwaruddin. Vijayakuraara, the adopted son, was in no way better. He 

also sought refuge with the Raja of Sivaganga. Thus came to an end the 

glorious rule of the Nayak kingdom of Madura after a lease of life for more 

than two centuries. [For more details the reader is referred to Indian Antiquary 

1917, pp. 241-7 and 272-5; also Nelson THE MADURA COUNTRY, pp. 261 ff. 

See also Satyanatha Aiyar, op. cit. ch. XIV.] 

Though these events brought fresh hopes and new aspirations to Chanda 

Sahib he felt he had firmly set his foot on the Nayaks and he was thenceforward 

the master of all Madura kingdom. He strengthened his hold on Trichinopoly 

and was enjoying a reign of peace though for a comparatively short time. After 

this time Safdar Ali Khan paid a visit to his brother-in-law Chanda Sahib, and 

both of them spent some days at Pondicherry.^ They had in the meantime met 

the Mahrattas along with Mir Asad Khan, the diwan of Safdar Ali. When 

both of them left the Mahrattas, Mir Asad remained wtth Mahrattas under 

pretence of being a hostage for the sums the Nabob had agreed to pay them. 

The real truth seems to be that a deep rooted misunderstanding had been on 

foot between Chanda Sahib and Safdar Ali. But still they moved as friends for all 

practical purposes. The Nawab went back to Arcot, and Chandi Sahib remained 

at Trichinopoly. Sometime after when Chanda Sahib was at Arcot ha was told 

by the Nawab that Mir Asad had negotiated a successful treaty with the 

Mahrattas by which they were to pay thirty-two lakhs of rupees of which seven 

lakhs were due from him. It was a surprise to Chanda Sahib, for a treaty in 

which he was involved, to be concluded without his knowledge. This drove 

Chanda Sahib into a rage and he wrote back to the Nawab to mind his own 

business and he was a better judge of his own affairs. He left Arcot even 

without formal leave-taking and was soon back at Trichinopoly. This left no 

option to the Nawab but treat Chanda Sahib as an open enemy and help 

the Mahrattas in rooting him out of his new position. In the course of 

their march the Mahrattas demanded the promised contribution of seven lakhs, 

3 Taylor: Or. His. Mss. VOL. II, p. 2 4, now a Yillage very nejir Kodaikanal Road 

Railway Station. 
4 Taylor: op. o4r, p. 235. 
5' The narrative that follows is based on the Public Despatches to England 1741-42, 

Records of Fort St. George, pp. 11-14. 
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which he naturally refused. Soon they blockaded the city stationing garrisons 

along the roads leading to the fort so as to cut off any fresh supply of provisions 

or ammunition into it. All the tributary princes of Madura Nayaks and the 

Raja of Tanjore strenthened the hands of the Mahrattas by their ready assistance, 

animated by the common object of overthrowing the Muhammadan domination 

in the Tamil Districts. Being very much hard pressed for provisions, Chanda 

Sahib came to terms and offered to pay not seven but twelve lakhs. It 

transpires from the reading of the circumstances that Fateh Singh one of the 

Mahratta Generals began to entertain some sympathy for Chanda Sahib and 

informed his colleague Raghuji Bhonsle either to accept the sum, or take the 

town. Safdar Ali Khan was not for any peace with Chanda Sahib. In fact 

he was so afraid of the negotiations that he shut himself in thi fortrees of 

Jinji and resented the Mahratta action. So also did the Raja of Tanjore and 

the tributary princes. 

Meanwhile Chanda Sahib had appealed to his brother Bade Sahib at 

Madura to come to his assistance. Bade Sahib set out with five thousand horse 

and seven or eight thousand foot and intimated this fact by a letter to his brother. 

The letter, unluckily for Chanda Sahib, fell into the hands of the Mahrattas who 

sent a huge cavalry force to meet Bade Sahib on the way and vanquish him. 

Bade Sahib was killed with thousands of his men. When this intelligence 

reached Chanda Sahib, it added only fuel to the fire. He was in utter despair 

and delivered the city into the hands of Mahrattas. He then stipulated with them 

to take eight lakhs of rupees for his ransom, and receive the sum from his wife 

who was at that time at Pondicherry. This was agreed to and when the wife 

Was approached she pleaded she had not enough money on hand but she would 

raise more sum if her husband were taken to her. The Mahrattas were not 

satisfied with this evasive reply and Chanda Sahib was not suffered to continue 

in his erstwhile earned territory. He was made a state prisoner and sent away 

with his son to Safera, the then Mahratta captial. Here he remained in 

confinement for eight years. 

The conquerors of Trichinopoly could not at once decide what to do with 

this newly acquired province. Raghuji Bhonsle is said to have even directed 

i Murari Rao to place Bangaru Tirumala on the throne. The Mahrattas were at 

first willing to restore it to an heir of the late Nayak queen if he could give 

sufficient security demanded of him. Finding that the Nayak heir could not 

meet with their demands®, the Mahrattas took possession of it and placed Murari 

Rao Ghorepare, the chief of Gooty, in charge of the kingdom with four thousand 

horse. They took care however to instruct the new Viceroy to continue to pay 

6 For the end of the Nayak rale of Trichinopoly, see Note (1) on g. 70 of the Tusuk.*- 
lyakvaM of S. Md. Hauain Nainar, voL 1. (pubUehed by the Madraa Univmity). 
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the customary tribute to the Nawab of the Carnatic, that which had been paid 

by the Nayak princes of Madura. This was all in 1741. Murari Rao, if one 

has to judge of his actions, was another edition of Chanda Sahib. Like him he 

played the part of a daring and unscrupulous adventurer. He thought or took 

a hint that the Nawab was not friendly to him and that he had been negotiating 

with king of Mysore to dispossess the Mahrattas of Trichinopo ly.’ With this 

view he wrote to the English for a supply of ammunition and stores, knowing 

as he did that Raghuji Bhonsle had acknowledged previously the English for 

a just and upright people.^ The English who pursued a policy of non¬ 

interference in Indiin political matters found a pretext to excuse their compliance 

with the request of the Viceroy at Trichinopoly.® 

This leads us to enquire of the movement of the Mahrattas southwards, 

and what prompted them to repeat their incursions into Southern India, well- 

nigh after a generation. One was the request made by Bangaru Tirumala after 

the death of Minaksi to help him against ihi onslaughts of Muhammadan 

invaders into the Nayak kingdom. The other was the view held by Raghuji 

Bhonsle and the anti-Peishwa party at the court of Sahu thit expansion of 

Mahratta dominion should be sought more in South India and the Carnatic 

than in North India. The party at Sahu’s court opposed to Baji Rao 

stigmatised an invasion of .Hindusthan and advised as an alternative the 

reduction of Kolhapur and the reconquest of the Carnatic. Thirdly, the 

expedition of Raghuji Bhonsle was sent ‘at the request of the Hindu Rajas of 

the South and in particular of the Mahratta prince Pratap Singh of Tanjore, 

the descendant of Vyankaji, the half-brother of the great Sivaji; they were 

threatened with extermination at the hands of Dost Ali, the Nawab of the 

Carnatic.’ ^ The fourth cause was their right to collect one-fourth of the 

revenues, which is called chauth. The political situation in the south tempted 

them more than ever to make a raid and that with profit. The sudden changes 

that unsettled the settled conditions of the Carnatic and the Nayak kingdom 

of Madura and Tanjore, the rapidity with which these events moved, bidding 

almost a farewell to time-honoured institutions of the land, and the consequent 

uncertainty that hang on the administrations of South India made the 

Mahrattas repeat their incursions and make best of the bargain. The fifth was 

probably an invitation from Safdar Ali of Arcot. Safdar Ali felt nervous at the 

high*handed and daring activiti^ by which Chanda Sahib had been adding 

territory after territory. He perhaps felt that in the march of time he would 

prove a source of annoyance if iiot danger, and sought help of the Mahrattas. 

7 Fort St. David Consultations. 1743, p. 3. 
8 Public Despatches to England 1741-48, p. 15. 

9 Cambridge History of India Vol. IV (1937), p. 403; see also C .H. I. Vol. V , p. lU. 



510 MODERN HISTORY 

Sixthly it is suggested with an air of plausibility that they had been bought off 

by the son of Nizam-ul-mulk by name Nasir Jang who was then in charge of 

his father’s viceroyalty and planning an insurrection to set up himself in power. 

Actuated by an ambition to be independent of his father Nizam ul-mulk who 

had been away at Delhi from 1737, Nasir Jung courted the alliance of the 

Mahrattas. 

Whatever might have been the real motive the fact was that there was 

a Mahratta expedition to the South. It was led by two able Mahratia generals 

Fateh Singh and Raghuji Bhonsle, both near relations of Sahu, the chief force 

being that of cavalry. Dost Ali who heard of the advancing Mahratta host 

was taken aback by this unthought>of intelligence and made suitable preparations 

to defend his kingdom. The two armies met at a valley about 800 yards in 

width, called Damalcheruvu Pass. .411 efforts of the Nawab of Arcot were in 

vain. The Mahratta soldiers easily proved more than a match to a host of 

Dost Ali. They got hold of a local Hindu chief Chikka Rayulu and acting to 

his suggestion they surprised him at the rear. In the battle that ensued the 

Nawab of Arcot was beaten and slain. This success of the Mahrattas was 

indeed a matter for congratulation to them unprecedented in the annals of South 

Indian history. This encouraged the Mahrattas to further raids and plunder 

in the other parts of the Carnatic and elsewhere. The people suffered from 

utter insecurity of life and property and they resorted to European settlements 

and entrusted them with all their belongings. In fact the European settlers had 

created a spirit of confidence in their nighbourhood and attracted to them people 

who were in perpetual dread of the ravages of invaders like the Mahrattas. 

Even Safdar Ali was compelled to send his mother, his begum and his young 

boy of four years to the English at Madras for safe custody as he suspected 

some harm b^ing done to them. This was on August 21, 1741. It may be 

remembered that his family was at Pondicherry for some time in 1741. What 

interests us at this juncture is that Safdar Ali negotiated for terms with the 

Mahrattas, little taking note of the fact that they were the cuise of his father’s 

death. Apparently Safdar Ah was not made of steel. He offered the Mahrattas 

a large sum of money, said to be a crore of rupees, in case they withdrew from 

his kingdom and left him untouched. This was a welcome move from the point 

of view of the Mahrattas, For their aim was not so much lust of territory as 

lust of wealth. It is said that they went back to Poona only to return soon. 

One success after tjie other attended the invading Mahratta host. Highly 

elated by these victories, they further proceeded south together with their far* 

flung bands of cavalry. At Trichinopoly they found Chanda Sahib fairly settled. 

We shall again revert to the history of the Nawab of Arcot, Mention has 

been made of the repercussions as a result of the death of Dost Ali in the battle 
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with the Mahrattas. The position of Safdar Ali was that of a two-edged sword. 

He was to satisfy on the one hand the Mahrattas who were prepared to withdraw 

from his kingdom on payment of what is said to be a crore of rupees. It is but 

natural that it was a heavy strain on his already impoverished treasury. He could 

not find the wherewithal in spite of ihe inactions of his unscrupulous minister to 

replenish it, as his subjects had been put to a severe strain by the successive 

invading hosts. In fact he came out of Jinji to Arcot after hearing that the 

Mahrattas had passed beyond his kingdom. On the other hand Safdar Ali had 

not yet been recognised as the de facto Nawab. The Nawab of Arcot was 

ordinarily deemed a subordinate of the Nizam. The Nizim of the time was 

Nizam-ul-mulk. It was a custom for the Nizam lo recognise the accession of 

a new Nawab to the throne. After Dost Ali’s death Safdar Ali was undoubtedly 

the legal successor.^^ But so long as the recognition did not come from the 

Nizam his position could not be deemed to be valid or legal in the strict sense 

of the term. As the writer in the Cambridge History of India remarks with 

authority Safdar Ali was in constant dread of his not getting due recognition 

and there were bazaar rumours to that effect.^^ With this element of uncertainty 

hanging heavily on his shoulders Safdar Ali went to Vellore in the autumn of 

1742 to claim the customary contribution from the Commandant of the place. 

This Commandant was no other than his own cousin by name Murtaza Ali. 

The conduct of Murtazi Ali on this occasion reveals much more clearly than ever 

that there were internal dissensions of a very serious character in the family of 

the Nawab, and also between the Nawab and his feudatories. This is reflected 

in'Murtaza Ali planning to usurp the throne of Arcot by poisoning his own 

cousin,the Nawab Safdar Ali whom he knew to be in rather peculiar 

difficulties. Murtaza Ali soon found himself foiled in his plans to get rid of his 

cousin. But he decided to carry the plan through, and unscrupulously he had 

him murdered. When Murtaza Ali endeavoured to assume the reins of goverment 

at Arcot, he discovered that public opinion was strongly against him. He 

realised any further slay at Arcot would ultimately cost him even life. So he 

made good his escape to his own place, Vellore, in the guise of a woman. The 

army and ministers of the late Nawab proclaimed the young son of Safdar as 

Nawab. It may be recalled that this son was placed under safe custody by 

Safdar Ali with the English at Madras, suspecting injury to his life. 

The protracted and continual state of disorder which the Carnatic 

presented for some years past induced Nizam-ul-Mulk Asaf jah who had his 

10 There was another son of Dost Ali by name Husain Ali Khan who is said to have his 

headquarters at Tiruviti in South Arcot District. (Fort St. David Consultations 1740 pp. 16 and^lS 
Records of Fort St. George.) 

11 p. 118. 
12 See pp, 78-78 of Tusuh-i-Wolaiikhi for a reliable account of the incident. 
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capital at Hyderabad to face the situation squarely. He did not recognise the 

accession of Safdar's son to the throne of Arcot as he had his own nominee 

being one of his officers as the Nawab. By doing so he thought much of the 

disorder might be removed. He also felt the necessity of visiting the capital 

of the Carnatic to purge it of all dissensions, internal feuds and internecine 

intrigues. It is said that as many as 18 Commanders of districts had assumed 

the title of Nabob Accordingly leaving Hyderabad in January 1743, Nizam-ul- 

Mulk was on the scene. After restoring peace, he directed his march towards 

Trichinopoly.t® For Trichinopoly was alwajs deemed a weak spot in South 

Indian political horizon. It was the key position to the Nayak kingdom of 

Madura and also to the Nawab of Arcot. Hearing that a Mahratta garrison 

had been stationed at Trichinopoly, Nizam-ul-MuIk thought any amount of 

restoration of order would not be permanent if Trichinopoly continued to be 

the bone of contention between more than two contending parties. This was 

probably the cause, to venture a conjecture, why Nizam ul-MuIk, after a brief 

halt at Arcot, resolved to recover Trichinopoly from the Marhattas. So he led 

his army to that city and laid seige. The seige dragged on for about six 

months, after which Murari Rao Ghorepade had to yield, and promise to leave 

the Carnatic for good. The Nizam took possession of Trichinopoly on 29lh 

August 1743 and the flag of the Emjjeror of Delhi was hoisted on the top of 

the fortress. He placed the city in charge of Khwaja Abdullah Khan and 

then went back to Arcot. Here the political conditions were so confused that 

he had to stay on to the comencenunt of April 1744.^* In the meanwhile 

Nizam had heard that his nominee to the Nawabship was dead, and had in 

April 1744 a trusted friend of his appointed as Nawab. This was Anwar-ud-din 

Khan. This appointment which was effected in 1744 did not receive approval 

at the hands of the public or officers of the late Nawab, most of whom were in 

possession of key fortresses and held jagirs. In the confusion that prevailed 

as a result of the qew appointment of Anwar-ud-din, the young son of Safdar 

AH was also murdered at Arcot.'® Nor was Anwar-ud din happy or secure. . He 

was also afraid of his deposition at any moment. To add to these worries, he 

heard while in camp at Tanjore (Nov. 1745) of an invasion by the Mahrattas ; 

and he joined the subhas (Nawabs) of Corrapah (Cuddapa) and Cundanore 

(Kurnool) in the beginning of December 1744. Nizam-ul-Mulk also sent a 

cavalry force amounting to ten thousand. With all these preparations the 

13 See Note on pp. 82-84 of the Tuiuk-i-WalaJaki for the capture of Trichinopoly by 
Nizam nl-Mulk. 

14 See Yusuf Husain Khan : Nizam ul-Mulk Asaf Jab 1 (1936) pp. 238*3. There is a 

slight difference in the narrative given in vol. IV of Cambridge History of India. According to 
this account the seige lasted for about five months and Murari Kao left the fort on 23th August. 

13 Madras Consultations 1744- 
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Nawab who suddenly took ill, recalled his son Mabfuz Khan from Trichinopoly 

and sent him as the head of the forces. He soon felt inferiority complex to 

the Mahratta superior force and negotiated to pay a good sum if they would 

not proceed to action in the held. But the Mahrattas were very particular 

about the delivery of Trichinopoly back to their possession. It appears that 

there was no further action and the Mahrattas must have been satished with 

the promised sum This was perhaps due to the turn of events in North India 

which compelled their active interference and participation.^^ 

Tanjore: Among other kingdoms of South India, Tanjore occupied 

a unique place. Its history under the Mahrattas goes back to the epoch of 

Sivaji Chhatrapati, and his celebrated Carnatic campaign. The effect of this 

campaign was that Tanjore and its neighbourhood were allowed to be enjoyed 

by his half-brother Vyankoji. From this time to the year 1736 the kingdom 

flourished under the guidance of the Mahrattas. But with the year 1736 a 

period of anarchy set in^^. The downfall of the Nayak kingdom of Madura 

had its own effects on the Tanjore Mahrattas. This opened the way to 

Muhammadan invasion and aggression. The first invasion of Tanjore was by 

Safdar Ali and Chanda Sahib in 1734. In the fall of the Nayak kingdom 

Tanjore lost an ally. Tukkoji was a contemporary king of Tanjore while 

Minaksi was in charge of Madura kingdom. There is evidence to show that 

Tukkoji rendered all possible assistance to the Hindu princess at Trichinopoly 

first against her own Poligars and next against the Muhammadan invaders. 

But when once Chanda Sahib had got established in Trichinopoly by fair 

means or foul, the Mahratta ruler at Tanjore could not sleep in peace. Added 

to this was the disorder that set in Tanjore itself as a result ol Tukkoji’s death. 

A number of sons, legitimate and illegitimate, claimed the throne. Ekoji 

proclaimed himself successor. He was ill and forty years old when he ascended 

the throne. While his succession was being disputed by his brothers and half 

brothers, Chanda Sahib appeared on the scene and blockaded Tanjore in 1736. 

After a well contested battle, the Muhammadan adventurer had to own 

defeat and retreat. But Ekoji died a year after his succession. Prehaps he was 

a victim of the many conspiracies which harassed the royal family at Tanjore. 

Whatever this may be, the fact remains that Sujana Bai, queen of Ekoji, 

succeeded her husband and continued to pull the reins of administration for 

two years and according to another account three years. Her own advisors 

were evil-minded and were not faithful to her. One Kattu Raja who 

proclaimed himself son of Sarabhoji I and a pretender succeeded in deposing 

the queen and himself enjoying the crown. But he was soon found out and 

16 Despatches to England, 1743-46. p. 43 and p. 106. 
17 See in this connection K. R. Subrahmanyam : Mahratta Rajas of Tanjore. ch. VI. 
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driven. He appealed to the French for support and ptomised to give them 

Karikal in return. In the meantime the queen had been imprisoned and her 

favourites impaled by Saiyid the Khilledar of the Fort. This ushered in a 

period of unrest when the pretender Shahuji took advantage of it. He once 

more assumed the government at Tanjore in 1738 and ruled perhaps for a 

year. For we hear that under the pressure from Chanda Sahib, Shahuji ceded 

Karikal to the French in February 1739 and confirmed it two months later. 

It may be thus inferred that Chanda Sahib had already entered into a friendly 

alliance with the French. On this Shahuji looked to the Dutch at Negapatam 

and the English at Fort St. David for help. Meanwhile events at Tanjore took 

entirely a new turn. According to the Press List of Ancient Dutch Records 

1657-1825, No. 282 (quoted by Mr. K. R. Subrahmanyam) Chanda Sahib bad 

made Shahuji a prisoner, the news being broadcasted that he was the son of a 

washer-woman of the fort. Pratap Singh one of the sons of Tukkoji,^** born 

to his wife Annapurna was proclaimed Raja of Tanjore. Pratap at first did 

not agree to this arrangement as he was especially a friend of the pretender. 

But Shahuji himself is said to have advised Pratap Singh to accept the offer 

and wait for good times. On this Pratap Singh became the Raja in 1739, as 

attested to by the Tanjore inscriptions. 

Before we proceed further, attention should be drawn to the Tanjore 

District Gazetteer (Vol. I, 1915 pp. 44. 44-5) where a x:ertain Saiyaji is said to 

be a second son of Tukkoji who was in exile in Chidambaram and who implored 

the French at Pondicherry for help. He is said to have succeeded the queen for 

a short while, and to have been deposed twice, the second being about 17 39 or 

early 1740. For according to Ananda Ranga Pillai’s Diary, Pratap Singh was 

already Raja of Tanjore in March 1740. (I. 117) But the very existence of a 

person like Saiyaji has been questioned by a recent writer,^® and if there was la 

figure like that, he was certainly not a legitimate son of Tukkoji. 

Though Shahn'i at first agreed to Pratap Singh accepting the Tanjore 

throne, still even in 1740 there is documentary evidence to show] that he began 

to intrigue against Pratap Singh. Saiyid planned at the usurpation of the throne 

to his daughter. Had he continued in power, as he had been for four years 

together, the political history of Tanjore would have been completely changed. 

But that was not to be. Saiyid’s death and the weakness of Shahuji strengthened 

the position of Partap Singh more than ever. He had little or no sympathy 

with the movements of Raghuji Bhonsle. Nor had he any trust in Murari Kao 

18 See for an explanatory and full dote oo the days ef confusion in the Tanjore succession 

after 1733 Prof. C. S. Srinivasachari’s learned note pp. 38-9 J. I. H. Vol* VIII Part I (Diary of 
Ananda Kanga Pillai)» particularly about Tukoji and his successors. 

19 Ibid, for Saiyaji and Kattu Haja. 

20 * K. k* SubfahmaDyam, op. cit. t>t>. 43-6. 
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whom he treated as an ambitious adventurer. Murari Rao led an expedition 

against Tanjore but was repulsed as he deserved it. It has been said in the 

foregoing pages that after recovering Trichinopoly from Murari Rao the Nizam 

went to Arcot. But a student of the history of Tanjore will note that Nizam 

ul'Mulk went to Tanjore before he actually left for Arcot. The Raja of Tanjore 

dared not oppose the great subedar of Deccan. He therefore treated him to 

peace and promised to pay in cash a million rupees ’^and a further payment of 

three and a half millions. This was acceptable to Asaf Jah who withdrew to 

Trichinopoly on his way to Arcot. It is said that when he actually left 

Trichinopoly it was October.®* Thus Partap Singh was allowed to have his 

own way though Shahuji continued to give him some trouble occasionally. 

About the middle of the year 1745 the Raja of Tanjore thought of 

dispossessing the French of Karikal and led an expedition to it. When the town 

was surrounded by the Tanjore cavalry force, Dupleix, who came to know of 

this, sent an armament for the relief of their Karikal settlement. It is stated 

that ‘they sent proposals of Accommodation to the King of Tanjore whereby 

they afterwards obtained a suspension of Arms for a time.’®® It is reported 

that the Nawab of Arcot paid a visit to Tanjore in November for what 

purpose we do not know. While he lay encamped there, he received orders 

from the Nizam to leave for Arcot, intelligence having been received of the 

impending Mahratta invasion.®® 

First Anglo-French War in the Carnatic. 

The War of Austrian Succession (1744) marks an important epoch in the 

history of South India. For the only part of India affected by the 'war was the 

Carnatic. It has been well said that this war prepared tjje ground to Dupleix 

for experiments and to Clive for accomplishment.®* The Europeans who came 

out as traders found themselves hard pressed for territories and realised the 

importance of territorial possessions. On the coast there were three settlements, 

Madras under the English, Pondicherry under the French and Negapatam under 

the Dutch. Though all of them were not explicitly for interference in the 'country 

government, the avidity for territorial expansion led them slowly but surely to take 

active part in the politics of the country government. The Dutch, for example, 

were negotiating with the Nawab for permission to erect a Fort at Porto Novo 

for which they were prepared to pay a price.®* 

During this period the English Governor was Richard Benyon who assumed 

charge on 23 January 1735 and continued for nine years until he resigned on the 

21 Sec C. H. I. Vol. IV, p. 384. 
22 Oespatchea to England 1743-46, p. 82. 
23 Ibid. p. 106. 
24 C H. I. Vol. V., p. 117. 

Despatches to England 1743-46 p. 49. 
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17th January 1744. The Company had great regard for his able administration. 

We have already seen that Safdar Ali was a friend of the English; and placed 

his whole family in Madras under their custody. Consequently he visited 

Madras often and the last was in August 1742. Every time he received suitable 

presents. The Nawab’s family and the Governor were shocked at the tidings 

of the murder of the Nawab by Murtaza Ali.*® A few days later the army of 

Arcot announced the young son of the Nawab Sahib Jadda as Nawab. This 

elevation was celebrated in Madras accompanied by a procession. The young 

Nawab granted a gift of five villages to the English, with the licence to coin 

Arcot rupees and pagodas. The governor encouraged additional territories 

to the Company and discouraged Muhammadan settlements at least in the 

Black Town.*^ Nicholas Morse succeeded Benyon as Governor. During his 

government, war broke out between England and France. Hardly two years 

and a half after he became the Governor, Madras was bombarded by the 

French and Morse was carried prisoner to Pondicherry. Soon he was released 

and summoned to England by the Company. He came back to Madras, led a 

retired life and died in 1772. It is important to note here that early during his 

government, Robert Clive arrived in India, 31st May 1744, as a writer. This 

more or less synchronised with the outbreak of war between England and 

France, Though the war was declared in March 1744, tidings of it came to 

Madras only in September. The Council began to watch the movements of the 

French, especially from and to Pondicherry and established quick communication 

overland with Bengal. They further asked Bombay to get ready two swift 

despatch-boats. When M. Dupleix proposed neutrality, Morse refused to 

give any such undertaking. On the 22nd July 1745 there arrived the English 

squadron at Fort St,* David under the able command of Curtis Barnett and 

to Madras on the 30th August. Being acquainted with these tidings, the Nawab 

Anwaruddin who was against any war, came to San Thome and had a 

consultation with th^ oflBcers of Fort St. George. The result of this meeting 

was that Barnett who would have otherwise bombarded Pondicherry refrained 

from it. But in January 1746 provocation came from the French. Dupleix 

appeared before Fort St. David and espying ships of English squadron retired 

to Pondicherry. Governor Morse reported it to the Nawab on t7th March 

and Anwaruddin acquainted the English of prompt action taken by him against 

the French. The French were warned not to precipitate hostilities. Towards 

the end of April poor Barnett died and Edward Peyton became the Commander.** 

The outbreak of the Anglo-French War was thus imminent. 

26 Se« Toznk'i-Walajahi-. 
27 See also H. D, Love; Vettiges of Old'Madru II, chh .XX sad XXI- 
» IWich. XXIV, 
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Let us now turn to the French in the Carnatic. From the year 1736, if 

not earlier, the French were regarded as serious rivals in commerce and the 

English drew attention to this fact of the Directors who intimated that an 

annual report of the movements of the French and their commerce should be 

submitted to them.*® This sort of perpetual competition continued to strain 

the relationship between the two European nations and both powers began to 

fortify and arm themselves strongly. Dupleix assumed charge of administration 

of Pondicherry in 1742 and La Bourdonnais was then the governor of Mauritius. 

With a view to injure the growing English trade French vessels of war were in 

the Indian waters manned by La Bourdonnais. But soon the squadron was 

recalled. If the Anglo-French war had broken out at this time, it would have 

been of great advantage to the French. But the declaration of war came only 

four years later when it was equally advantageous to the English. In fact 

Dupleix was definitely for pursuing a policy of neutrality, and he had expressed 

it on several occasions. But La Bourdonnais treated this policy of inactivity 

with contempt. But he could not disobey Dupleix also. In the meantime 

Dupleix befriended Anwaruddin, the Nawab of Arcot, with alluring promises. 

In March 1745 the Nawab*wrote to both powers to live in peace.®'' 

Three weeks later the Nawab further wrote to the English that he had 

granted Moghal colours and passes to natives and to strangers (implying by 

strangers the French) and such ships should not be touched. But the English 

cleverly managed the Nawab and won his sympathy and support. It had been 

brought home to him that “the presents the French proposed to make him 

would very poorly compensate the Loss he would otherwise sustain by a Breach 

with us; it plainly appeared to him that the schemes the French were laying 

were with a view solely to their own benefit and therefore it became the less 

difficult for him to resolve to engage no farther with them than would suit his 

own purposes’’.®* Disappointed in his designs Dupleix had no other recourse 

than attack Fort St. David. The English retaliated by blockading Pondicherry 

by sending their squadron. In the meantime La Bourdonnais got ready a 

squadron and sailed to the Indian waters. Though Dupleix looked upon him 

as his rival and did not heartily cooperate with La Bourdonnais, the latter had 

the hardihood to capture Madras.®* 

29 Pub. Des. from England 1737 
30 Madras consultations, 1745. 

31 Pub. Des. to England 1743-46. p. 83. 

32 For details see H. Dodwell: Dupleix and Clive, Ch. 1.; see also Love : op. oil ch. XXV : 

Surrender of Madras. 
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HYDER ALI’S RELATIONS WITH THE BRITISH GOVERNMENT 
1769-‘75. 

{Based mainly on the records in the Imperial Record Department). 

Dr. Narendra Kishna Sinha M. A., Ph. D., Calcutta University. 

Wilks, in his estimate of Hyder, says that ‘he had no passion good or bad 

to disturb the balance of the account*^. Between l769-’75 Hyder became 

convinced that as matters stood, he must join the other combination opposed to 

the British. We cannot also deny that he had just grounds to complain of the 

English Government. 

The second article of the treaty of 1769 that ended the first Anglo Mysore 

war provided that ‘in case either of the contracting parties shall be attacked, they 

shall from their respective countries, mutually assist each other to drive the 

enemy out’. No doubt this article was very inconvenient to the E. I. Co., giving 

them all the embarrassments of an offensive alliance without any of its 

advantages. But this ought to have been an argument'against the conclusion of 

the treaty and not an argument against its observance after it had been concluded. 

This treaty of 1769 was naturally regarded by Hyder as the most important part 

of his plan of resistance to the Maratha invasion which might come at any time. 

The Maratha State, under the wise guidance of Madhava Rao, the greatest of 

the Peshwas, had recovered from the effects of the stunning blow at Panipat. 

Twice before, in 1765, and in 1767, Hyder had to oppose the invasionlof Madhava 

Rao and he knew that this most formidable enebay would again invade his country 

and try permanently to occupy the largest portion of it. In view of this 

Maratha menace and the genius of the Maratha leader, Hyder could not expect 

success unaided. This treaty of 1769 was therefore the sheet anchor of his 

foreign policy. 

When therefor^ in January 1770, Madhava Rao was in the field 

accompanied by organised garrisons and a field force, Hyder sent a Vakil 

demanding British aid. Madhava Rao also sent his Vakil to Madras. But the 

Government of Fort St. George decided that ‘it must be our endeavour to remain 

neutral*^. In their letter to the Bengal Government they argued as if the treaty- 

of 1769 was non-existent and there was no obligation derived from it. They wrote 

that if Hyder was helped that would not be sufficient to crush the Marathas and 

would expose the Carnatic to Maratha ravages, but if the Marathas got British 

help they might blot the Mysore State out of existence and thus become more 

dangerous and if Hyder found the British willing to assist the Marathas he would 

1 Willw—History of Mysore, Vol 11 p. 379.' 
^ Secret Broceediags—Letter from Fort Sft. George t3th February, 1770, 
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accommodate matters with them and turn in his anger upon the Carnatic. “Our 

greatest apprehensions at present are'’,|wrote the gentleman at Fort St. George 

“that affairs will be settled between them”®. They feared that if the campaign 

ended before the campaigning season was over, the Marathas might enter 

the Carnatic. They protracted the time under various pretences amusing 

both. The Madras Government did not expect the campaign to last long. But 

though Madhava Rao was taken ill he left Trimbak Rao behind him to continue 

the campaign. Trimbak Rao was not an unworthy successor of Madhava Roa in 

command of the Maratha army. At Chercoolee on the 5th March, 1771, Hyder 

was completely defeated. Seringapatam itself was besieged. The desolating war 

continued for 15 months even after Chercoolee. A treaty was concluded ending 

the 3rd Maratha-Mysore war in June, 1772, 

As the campaign continued the Madras Government ordered detachments 

to Trichinojjoly and Vellore, with' a view to put on the appearance of being 

in readiness should either of the two contestant parties invade the Carnatic. 

They wanted thus to keep alive the hopes and fears of both the parties*. But 

this attitude underwent a remarkable change when it became evident that the 

Marathas were trying to subjugate Mysore permanently. In that case the 

British would find their territory constantly exposed to Maratha ravages and 

devastations. The Government of Fort St. George now became apprehensive 

that they might subject themselves to the imputation of a breach of faith. 

But now the Nabob of Arcot showed his disinclination to cooperate against 

the Marathas. He had refused to execute the instrument of his participation in 

the treaty of 1769 and as the war dragged on, he showed more and more his 

desire to comply with Maratha request for help. But the Madras Government 

also became more and more conscious that good policy required them to assist 

Hyder.® On the 12th June 1771, they wrote, ‘Hyder Ali still continues to 

press us for assistance which we have it not in our power to grant, as it is 

impossible for us to attempt anything without the revenue and resources of the 

Carnatic, which are entirely under the control of the Nabob, who presses us 

earnestly to a junction with the Marathas to subdue Mysore. In this system 

he is warmly seconded by Sir John Lindsay, Crown representative at Arcot’, 

the Nabob being taken especially under the protection of the Crown by the 

11th article of the treaty of Paris.® About the end of the year 1771, the 

Bombay Government instructed Mr. Sibbald, their Resident at Onore, to learn 

from Hyder Ali, whether he would deposit a sum of money adequate to the 

expense they might incur in affording him assistance. The Government of 

8 Ibid. 
4 Ibid—Letter from Eort St. George, 84th Match, 1770. 
5 Ibid—Sth January, 1771. 
6 Ibid—87th June, 1771. 
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Fort St. George also wrote on the 21st December, 1771, “we have desired he 

will inform us what supplies of money and what provisions he can furnish 

should the orders we expect from Europe authorize us to assist him*'.^ 

As we examine the records relating to the infraction of the Treaty of 

1769, we find the Madras Government at no stage willing to abide by the terms 
of the Treaty. It pledged them to all the evils of an offensive alliance which 

they had been anxious to avoid. Throughout the war from January 1770 
to June 1772, the Madras Government followed a line of conduct that amounted 

to a passive infraction of the treaty. The Nabob of Arcot and Sir John 

Lindsay, the royal ambassador, urged an active violation of the treaty by 
joining hands with Madhava Rao for the destruction of Hyder. Wilks writes, 

“the Government feeling the impossibility of executing the treaty in opposition 

to the Nabob and the representative of his Majesty and resolved not to destroy 

the power which they were bound by the treaty to defend, evaded the whole 

question, by representing both to Hyder and the Marathas the necessity of 

waiting for the result of a reference which they had made on the subject to 
their superiors in England”.® The line of conduct adopted by the Madras 

Government is thus sought to be justified. Some merit is actually claimed for 

this passive attitude because the intricate political system placed insuperable 

impediments that made it impossible to perform their engagements to Hyder. 

But if we look at the matter from Hyder’s point of view a different interpretation 

is not unjustified. When a treaty is concluded, the contracting parties are 
expected to accept terms with full sense of responsibility, a clear knowledge 

of its implications and not unmindful of the constitutional difficulties and 

handicaps. The elementary principles governing inter-state relations were thus 

violated. To add insult to injury in the 24th month of this long-protracted 

war in which they were pledged to defend him, the Madras Government asked 

him what money and provisions he could furnish if they were to assist him 

and sometime after^ be was informed that the home government had prohibited 

assistance to either of the two contestants. 

The infraction of the treaty of 1769 was not the only event that alienated 

Hyder from the English. British attitude regarding his supplies of military 

stores caused further ill feeling. After the conclusion of the treaty of 1769 by 

the Madras Government, the Government of Bombay deputed two men to 

enter into an agreement for what remained to be adjusted for the benefit of 

the Company on that coast. A treaty was concluded in 1770, by which it 

was arranged that the British were again to have a factory at Onore for 

pepper and sandalwood and an exclusive right was given to the Company for 

7 Ibid—2ist December, 1771- 

8 WlUnt-*Histor7 ot Mysore, Vol. I p, 423. 
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purchasing the entire quantity of these articles “the amount of which (as 

expressed in the treaty) or as much of it as the Hon*ble Company choose to be 

made good in guns. Saltpetre, lead and in ready money.”® Repeated applications 

were made by Hyder in consequence of this treaty for warlike stores. In 

1772, however, the Court of Directors disapproved of this treaty* After the 

intimation of this disapproval, the Government of Bombay evaded supplying 

him with military stores and Hyder naturally turned to the French, who bagan 

to supply him liberally. The Bombay Government was of the opinion that 

it would have been much better to supply him to some extent the articles he 

desired as otherwise the French were getting the profits of these highly charged 

articles at the same time that they were acquiring an ascendancy in his 

counsels.^® In March 1775, the Government of Fort St. George sent to the 

Bengal Government a resura6 of the state of affairs in their part of the Deccan. 

They wrote that Hyder possessed a valuable extensive territory, a well-regulated 

government, a numerous well disciplined army, with a revenue said to amount 

to three crores. He had by then recovered the whole country he had previously 

lost to the Marathas, taking advantage of the confusion in their affairs following 

upon the death of Madhava Rao and the assassination of Narayan Rao. The 

French supplied him with military stores and French adventurers entered his 

service.'^ But for this the British were not entitled to make any complaints 

as they themselves were directly responsible for the pro-French turn of his 

policy. It cannot be denied that in 1771 when the Marathas were encamped 

in Hyder’s territory, they proposed to compromise their differences with him 

provided be joined them in an attack upon the Carnatic. The offer might 

not have been sincere. But Hyder made known these proposals to the British 

Government and even went so far as to say that he was willing to forget the 

causes of personal animosity towards Muhammad Ali and to hope that the 

English would mediate a reconciliation ; he authorized his envoys to propose 

as the condition of prompt and effectual aid the immediate payment of 20 

lakhs of rupees and the cession to the English of the provinces of Baramahal, 

Salem and Ahtoor ; and finally the ambassadors were directed openly to 

announce in the event of the rejection of all the advances, Hyder’s reluctant 

determination to throw himself on the French for support (October 1771)'*, 

The British helped Muhammad Ali to seize Tanjore by storm on the 17th 

September 1773. Calculating that this acquisition of Tanjore would bring 

about an estrangement between Muhammad Ali and the Marathas, Hyder once 

again made an attempt to enter into an alliance with the British and the ruler 

' ' 9 Secret Proceeding—8th March, 

10 Ibid. ’ 
11 Secret Proceedinga-^Letter from Fort St. George, 13th March, 1775, . 

13 Wilkt-^History of Mysore, I-^P ^3?- 
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of Arcot. He made the first advaocea to an amicable negotiation and sent 

his deputies. He proposed a tieaty that would renew the violated conditions 

of the Treaty of 1769, to be executed by the British, Muhammad AH and Hyder. 

When the Government of Bombay seized the island of Salsette, thus making 

a war with the Marathas inevitable, Hyder naturally hoped that the Nawab of 

Arcot as also the President and gentlemen at Fort St. George would be more 

than willing to accept his offer. Muhammod Ali dragged on these negotiations, 

and even suggested some modification of the terms proposed, thus expressing 

his willingness to enter into an alliance provided the terms were modified. 

Hyder proposed the following terms : 

“In case the Moguls (meaning in particular the Nizam) or Marathas should 

proceed against the country of my circar in order to remove and expel them 

therefrom a sufficient force with a commander of importance should be sent to 

act in conjunctfon and alliance with me, and make a war upcm the enemy— 

and I also in case the Moguls or Marathas should attack the country of the 

Nabob Wallaujah or the English, will send the forces of my circar to act against 

the enemy in conjunction and alliance with them and drive them out. Whether 

peace or war be determined on towards the enemy, myself, the Nabob and the 

English are to be of one mind and to act entirely in concert, either in continuing 

the war or concluding of a peace.The expenses of the troops to be paid in 

this manner.To a European soldier IS rupees.and to each sepoy seven 

and a half rupees per month and the officer shall be paid as I may be advised 

from them at the time I require them. The pay of my troops to be to each 

horseman IS rupees and to a sepoy rupees per month and the officer to be 

paid as I shall write from hence at the time. 

“Whatever article etc. out of friendship may be wanted out of the 

dominions of each other shall be purchased by the subject of each without 

molestation cm either side. 

“If the Mc^ul ^r Maharatta chief with a design to create a misunderstanding 

between us, should begin a correspondence, they (the Nabob and the English) 

shall not take any measures in compliance thereto, but shall communicate the 

papers to me and I also if they write to me will from hence give advice thereof 

which must tend to the increase of sincerity and the confirmation of union 

between us. 

“The security between us for these articles of Agreement shall be a 

solemn oath in the name of God, the saint of God and on the glorious Koran,"** 

The Nabob proposed the following terms.“In case the Maharafhas or 

any other enemy i^ould come into the country the above person (meaning 

Hyder) should send a sufllcient force, with an officer of rank, who shall 

1) Secret proceeding—23r4 October 1775; copy of a paper teat by Hyder AU Cawa," 
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act in conjuction and concert with my forces and those of the English 

Company in order to expel and drive out the enemy from my dominions. 

In like manner, whatever foe shall enter the country of the said person, 

I will send a sufficient force, under a leader of importance, who shall 

act in conjunction and unanimity with his army to effect his expulsion. The 

pay of the troops on both sides to be at the rate of 15 rupees per month for 

a horseman and 7} for a sepoy and that of the officers to be settled at the time 

they are required—advices thereon being sent along with the auxiliary troops. 

“With regard to the merchandize that may be wanted from each others’ 

countries, it is necessary that the particulars thereof shall be first transmitted. 

“If the Mahrattas or other chiefs in order to create a disunion between us 

should begin a correspondence neither side shall act in compliance therewith, 

but shall give mutual notice of the writings that come to them. 

“No protection shall be afforded to the subjects or enemies of each 

other and those that have fled away in disgust shall be delivered up again.^^’’ 

“We should keep in mind the British comment on the treaty. “We are 

not aware of any advantages that could be derived from such a treaty either 

to the Nabob or the Company.although its direct object is peace, 

it would ultimately draw us into hostilities and distant operations, in supporting 

Hyder Ali Cawn’’.*® 

In the meantime, as internal dissensions increased in Maharashtra, 

Muhammad Ali could see for himself that there was no immediate danger 

from the Marathas. He now became lukewarm, his ambassadors Ali Nawaz 

and Fateh Ali began to amuse Hyder with their evasions and ultimately Hyder 

dismissed them with a civil letter. One of the ambassadors himself mentioned 

that they “wasted seven months in the hopes of the arrival of the treaty and 

Hyder at length thinking that the Nabob did not wish for a friendship 

established by a written n^otiation and only meant to keep up appearances 

till an opportunity should offer for executing measures of a contrary nature, 

that it was his business therefore to be upon his guard and take measures on 

his part’’.** Hyder himself was quite outspoken. He told Aly Nawaz Khan 

that for seventeen months, he had been desiring a confirmation of friendship 

with the Nabob but the Nabob paid no attention. “Though the English have 

assisted Raghunath Rao yet whatever he gained by so poor a support ? He will 

not be successful against the Poona army. Members of the Poona administration 

desire my alliance and assistance on the part of the son of Narrain Rao and have 

sent me envoys of consequence. What we agree upon will in time be known’’.*^ 

14 Ibid. Prom tho Nabob. 
16 S«orftt Proeeedipgs—•23rd October, 1775. 
15 Secret Proceedinga—23rd October, 1775—Verbal narratioa of Aly Nawaa Cawn. 

17 Iblda 
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When.the Ambassadors returned they reported that Hyder would not seise 

Cuddapab, Kurnool, Adoni, and Raichur, after whiqh he would reduce the whole 

country south of the Krishna, would form an alliance with other nations like the 

French and the Dutch who were opposed to the English, establish good relations 

with the Marathas and come to a rupture with Muhammad Ali and the 

English.^® 

Between l769-’75 Hyder tried his utmost to remain on terms of friendship 

with the British and Muhmmad Ali. But convinced now that this was 

impossible be definitely went over to the other side. It was the bungling 

diplomacy of the British and the shortsighted policy of Muhmmad Ali that 

-forced Hyder Ali into the arms of the Marathas and the French, thus making 

things so difficult for the British between the years 1779-’82. When we speak 

of the irreconcilable enmity that existed between Hyder, Tipu and the British, 

we should take the circumstances of the years 1769-*75 into consideration. 

Hyder had undoubtedly just grounds to complain of the English Government. 

THE ORIGINS OF THE INDO-BRITISH RESIDENCY IN BURMA 

AND THE APPOINTMENT OF MAJOR HENRY BURNEY 

TO AVA, 1830 

W. S. Deasit M. A. CCantab), University College, Rangoon. 

The development of the office of a British Resident in Indo-Bunuese 

relations was by no means a new idea in the history of the East India Company. 

Soon after the Coihpany acquired Bombay (in 1668), it realized the necessity 

of keeping in touch with Maratba affairs through envoys and residents at the 

Royal Capital. After the Peshwas bad established their authority at Poona 

early in the 18tb century, the Company learnt to maintain a representative at 

the Maratba Durbar with the object of preserving friendship, watching the 

movements 6f the Maratha Imperialists, and extending British trade. The 

second stage in this policy was reached as the Subsidiary systeffi developed and 

it became necessary to watch and control the subsidiary states like Hyderabad, 

Mysm'e, Oudh, etc. Regular Residents were appointed to the capitals of such 

states, and as the representatives of the suzerain power they sometimes exercised 

enormmis influence over the Princes. 

A new phase in the "Residency” idea iVas reached at the conclui^On oi 

is Ibid 
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the Nepal War in 1816. A British Resident was now stationed at the Court 

of an independent Prince on the right of the Treaty of Sigowlee. Gardner, 

the first Resident in Nepal, was well qualified to soothe the bitterness of defeat 

felt by a noble foe, and succeeded in reconciling the Gurkha Government to the 

presence of a British representative at the Royal Capital. 

In the relations with Burma the idea was of slow growth, not only because 

she was considered to be outside the pale of Indian politics, but also because 

there was want of interest in the Burma trade. Finally, however, when by 

Article 7 of the Treaty of Yandabo the privilege of appointing a British 

Resident to the Myodaw was extracted from the Burmese King, the right of 

maintaining a Burmese Resident at the Indian capital was conceded to the 

Burma Government. This article 7 was strongly objected to by the Burmese 

plenipotentiaries who negotiated the treaty, but the Company’s authorities 

insisted upon it under the influence of the Nepal Treaty. The Treaty of 

Sigowlee had succeeded in establishing amicable relations between the two states 

through a resident; the same results were hoped for in the relations with 

Burma. It is interesting to notice, however, that no steps were taken to appoint 

a permanent Resident to Ava till 1830. The reasons are not far to seek ; the 

Burmese military power was not considered to be dangerous; British and Indian 

merchants were expected to quit Burma and settle in British Burma; and the 

Commissioner of Tenasserim was expected to maintain diplomatic relations with 

Ava if necessary. 

The Supreme Government very soon realized that it was mistaken in 

these expectations. The Burma problem was not by any means dangerous, but 

proved to be very annoying indeed. It was soon discovered, that the Treaty 

of Yandabo had failed to secure for the Company the many gains due from a 

vanquished foe, and that it was so defective, that the two parties interpreted it 

differently complicating matters still further. There was dispute,concerning 

the frontiers towards Manipur, Assam, Arakan and Tenasserim. The article 

on the release of prisoners was disputed by the Burmese, who held that only 

military prisoners belonging to the Company were meant by it and not the 

subjects of the Company's allies detained in the country. To these difficulties 

may be added the unwillingness of the Burmese to pay the two remaining 

instalments of the Indemnity; the frontier dacoities and murders committed by 

Burman subjects in British Burma; the problem of the protection of British 

and Indian merchants and their trade in Rangoon; and finally the possible 

danger of a foreign European power obtaining a footing in Burma. 

It was realized in 1830, that the non*enforcement of Article 7 of the 

Treaty was a mistake. This is most clearly confessed by Bentinck in his 

Minute of 30 December^ 1829, He says 
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*'It is to be regretted that at the close of the Burmese War, we had not 

adopted the same measures as those we did at the close of the Nepal War, for 

gradually removing from the minds of our opponents the sore and angry feelings 

left there by defeat, assuring them of the sincerity of our desire of cultivating 

friendly relations and keeping our government well informed of the real view 

and state of parties at the capital of Ava, I say, gradually^ because it was not 

to be expected that a mission like Mr. Crawfard’s which remained at Ava but 

for a few weeks and which was avowedly deputed to make a treaty, the 

conditions of which ought to have been included in the Yandabo> Treaty, could 

accomplish all that was required. The very sound of the word treaty appears 

to have excited all the fears and suspicions of the Court of Ava, and the King 

himself, when told of the object of Mr. Crawfurd's Mission, is said to have 

cried our, What ? is he come to make another Yandaboo Treaty with us ? 

“There is every reason to hope that if an officer piossessing some portion of 

the judgment, conciliation and talent of the late Resident of Khatmandu, had 

been fixed at the Court of Ava at the close of the war, our relations with that 

Kingdom might have been rendered as satisfactory as those which Mr, Gardner 

has established with the Nepalese under similar circumstances of defeat and 

humiliation and territorial cession on their part. It is remarkable too that 

the 7th article of the Treaty of Yandaboo distinctly provides for accredited 

Ministers residing at the Durbar of each in order to cultivate and improve the 

relations of amity and peace established between the two governments, and 

every person qualified by long residence in Ava and experience of the character 

of the Burmese.and above all the worthy missionary Dr. Judspn, gave it as 

his decided opinion.that the permanent residence of a British Resident 

at the Court of Ava was very desirable^. ^ 

Bentinck goes on to consider in the same Minute the objections advanced 

to such an appointment .founded chiefly upon the circumstance of the distance 

and jealousy of the Coifrt. In reply he says, “Indeed, one of the principal 

objects of such appointments is to remove this very jealousy and distrust, and 

to bring about a more frequent and amicable inter-communication between 

the two slates. 

“In our present situation then, I think the most prudent and advisable 

measure will be for us to fulfil the stipulation in the 7th article of the Yandaboo 

Treaty, and to invite the Burmese Court to do the same on their part.. 

It was this decision of the Supreme Government under Bentinck that 

led ultimately to the appointment of Major Henry Burney as the first regular 

Resident to the Court of Ava in 1830. 

The appointment of Burney in 1830, as Resident in Burma was an 

1 Bengal Secret and Political Cooa Vol. 35^ Ko. 39. 
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important landmark in the history of Indo-Burmese relations. A number of 
British envoys Wd in the past visited the Golden City, but the genesis, nature, 

and history of the Indo-Britisb Residency in Burma, 1830 onwards, although 

distinctly a development of the historic past, stands out as a new departure, 

heralding an almost revolutionary change in the history of the relations between 

the two states. Before 1757, when the British in India were merely a trading 

body and not a sovereign power, the Presidents of their factories both in Bengal 

and Madras occasionally sent deputations to Burma with the object of 

discovering trade conditions in that country. In the year 1757, the Chief of 

the Negrais Factory deputed Ensign Lester to the Burmese capital. Lester 

had an interview with Alaungpaya the founder of the Konbaung dynasty. Most 

probably Lester obtained for the East India Company an “Akhwen dau” or 

royal license to trade in Negrais and Bassein. It was contrary to Burmese 

usage for kings to bind themselves down by contracts, and more so with foreign 

traders who were not supposed to have any political or royal standing. In 

1759 took place what is sometimes called the “Negrais Massacre”, and in 

1760 Capt. Alves was sent by the Governor of Madras to procure compensation 

and redress as well as the release of English prisoners. He had a prompt 

audience of King Naungdaw-gyi (1760-1763) at Shwebo, the then capital, but 

although he succeeded in securing the liberation of the captives, he failed to 

obtain any compensation for the damage suffered. 

In 1795 the Governor-General sent Capt. Symes as Envoy' to Ava, 

with the object of preventing the French from obtaining a footing in Burma. 

This was the first attempt of the British towards direct political intercourse 

with Burma. Symes succeeded in obtaining merely a royal order, permitting 

a British Commercial Agent to reside in Rangoon “for the purpose of trade, 

and to forward letters or presents to the King”.* In October, 1796, Capt. Cox 

arrived in Rangoon as Agent, and proceeded to the capital, but was not well 

received, and so returned to Bengal by the end of 1797. 

In 1784 Arakan was conquered by Bodawpaya (1782-1819), and soon 

after there arose frontier disputes with the British authorities in Chittagong 

district. In 1798 the Burmese Governor of Arakan demanded that Arakan 

fugitives should be given up to him. The Governor-General, the Marquis of 

Wellesl^, sent Symes again in 1802 to the Burmese King, but he was not 

well received, and Bodawpaya refused to enter into any new engagement with 

him. The British, however, feared, the Burmese were evincing friendly 

feelings towards their enemies the French, hence in 1803 Capt. Canning was 

sent to Rangoon to obtain reliable information on the state of French interests 

in Burma, and to observe the general conduct and feelings of the Burmese Court 

? ARchiMo, TreatiM ate., Vol. 1. p. aW, The Royal Order, Clanee 8 
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towards the British Government. At first he was well received by the Governor, 

but. soon he came into conflict with the Yewoon® who directed all English 

letters to be opened before delivery. Canning refused to submit to this m^sure 

and left for Calcutta. 

In 1809 Canning was again sent to Rangoon to explain to the Burmese 

authorities that the Isles of France* had been blockaded by orders from 

England and that all vessels, whether from Burma or elsewhere, detected in 

communicating with them, would be confiscated. He was also instructed to 

watch closely the position of French interests in the country. Canning proceeded 

to the capital as well, and had an audience of the King. In September 1811, 

Canning was for a third time deputed to the Court of Ava because of the 

Chittagong frontier troubles, to explain that the Arakanese insurgents were 

neither instigated nor supported by the British Government, and to complain 

of outrages perpetrated by Burmese authorities in Arakan upon British subjects. 

Canning was able to accomplish nothing, and returned to Calcutta in August 

1812. 

These were all the embassies sent to Burma before the outbreak of the 

first war: from being of a commercial character at the start, they soon came 

to acquire a marked political complexion because of the British struggle with 

Napoleon. 

After the first Burmese War, Crawfurd was the first envoy to be deputed 

(1826) on the principle and right of the Treaty with the Burmese King. He 

was appointed “Envoy and Resident Minister” at Ava. The immediate object 

of the Mission was to contract a commercial treaty, but it was also the desire of 

the Government of India to discover through Crawfurd “the feelings and 

deportment of the Burman King towards the British Mission”®, which useful 

purpose would “be accomplished by a temporary residence at the capital for a 

few months”.® Crawfprd, however, looked upon his Mission as merely meant 

to contract a commercial treaty, so that when this was accomplished he left 

Burma. Capt. Henry Burney was also appointed Envoy and Resident Minister 

under Article 7 of the Treaty of Yandabo, but bis appointment was meant to be 

of a permanent nature, and it was intended to settle all questions at issue between 

the two states through the Resident. 

The fact that Article 7 of the Treaty had been insisted upon by tiu 

British at Yandabo shows, that the Government of India counted upon solving 

any difficulties arising with the neighbouring country of Burma by diplomatic 

3 Lit Water Cltief, i. «, in charge oi the ahlpping ; he' ranked next to the Governor. ; 
4 Manritins and the neighbouring islands east of Madagascar belonged to Pranc^. to 

1810 Minto. the Govemor*General of British India, captured these islands. 
3 Bengal Sec. and Pol. Vol. 34$, Cons 6 April; 1837, No. 30, Refolution Of tile Vic;- 

Presindent'in*Coiincil to toe S^et Dept. 
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means. Between 1826 and 1830, however, no measures were adopted to take 

permanent advantage of this article. When Campbell evacuated Rangoon in 

December 1826, he left behind him Lieut. Rawlinson as Agent to watch over 

British interests in general, and to receive from the Burmese Government the 

instalments of the indemnity due from the King. Rawlinson, however, in this 

capacity was not an accredited Consul or Resident of the British Government 

and could not undertake the duties of such an officer, neither was he appointed 

under the Treaty of Yandabo. 

Crawfurd gave it as his opinion that the right to maintain a Resident at 

the Burmese Court ought^ not to be given up, but at the same time he was not 

in favour of stationing a permanent Political Agent at Ava. In the following 

words he gave his reasons for his decided opinion :— 

“I may here repeat, that a British Resident at Ava, distant by a navigation 

of 1200 miles (nearly 500 of it within the Burman territory, where every species 

of communication is placed under the most rigorous and vexatious restraint), 

from the authoriry he represents, and an object of perpetual jealousy to a 

Government indescribably ignorant and suspicious, could exercise little useful 

influence upon the councils of that Government, would have no means of 

furnishing his own with useful intelligence, and would, in a word, be placed in 

a situation amounting to little better than an honourable imprisonment. 

‘‘The circumstances which attended the residence of the present Mission 

at Ava afford confirmation of this opinion. During nearly a period of two 

months and a half, although a British force was still at Rangoon, I found 

myself compelled, by the temper of the Government^ to abstain from all 

correspondence. The same feeling was evinced at every station of our route, 

up and down; so that, in a period altogether of four months and a half, no 

communication could be made to the Government'^ of ‘our proceedings, with 

the exception of the casual and precarious one which was made by the route 

of Aracan”.* 

Crawfurd also did not support the proposal of maintaining a Resident 

Agent at Rangoon : “The Agent of the British Government, in this case**, he 

said, "would be inevitably shut out from all communication with the Court of 

Ava, and become virtually and practically the representative of the Supreme 

Government of India to the Provincial Government of Pegu. His services 

would be of some value for the protection of British commerce at the port of 

Rangoon, but jealously and narrowly watched, he would be possessed, in his 

political capacity, neither of influence nor of utility'*. 

6 i •• the Government of Burma. 

7 The Government of India. 
8 Cmwfnrd's loomal, Appendix No. II. 
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In spite of these decided views, Crawfurd held that political relations 

with Burma should be effectually maintained, and that, through the Chief 

Commissioner of Tenasserim, 

The Government of India did not endorse Crawfurd’s views. Even 

before Crawfurd’s departure for Ava, although the Government did not favour 

the immediate establishment of a permanent resident at the Burmese Court, 

it did consider the wisdom of having such an officer at Rangoon. Government 

Resolution, 6 April, 1827, says:—“His Lordship>in*Council deems it sufficient 

to observe that under the present impression of the inexpediency of maintaining 

permanently a Resident at the court of Ava, it is not considered of any 

importance whether or not the Burmese Court consent to recognize a second 

local authority in Rangoon. The principal British authority, under whatever 

designation of Resident, Agent or Consul, may himself generally reside at 

Rangoon, and on the occasion of his proceeding to the capital on any special 

duty some subordinate authority may be left to officiate at Rangoon, an 

arrangement to which His Lordship>in-Council does not imagine the Court of 

Ava can have any possible objection”.® 

The Government of India was thoroughly dissatisfied with the fruits of 

the Crawfurd Embassy. In may 1827, it was decided to appoint Capt. Henry 

Burney as Consul at Rangoon. “Believing”, wrote Amherst in his Minute, 

dated, Simla, 12 May, 1827, “that the creation of the office of Consul at 

Rangoon is necessary and expedient as a temporary measure for the protection 

of the interests of British commerce at that Port, and to ensure the due 

observance of the Commercial Treaty,^ ® as also that the officer so employed 

may act as Political Agent in subordination to the principal British authority 

on the Tenasserim coast, I concur in the proposed appointment and in the 

selection of Capt. Burney for the situation of Consul with the allowances he at 

present enjoys, vit., Rs 1200 per mensem, and some consideration on account 

of a House or Office"! 

This appointment at Rangoon was not proposed to be of a permanoit 

nature, because the Supreme Government expected, that the trade of Rangoon 

would ultimately shift to Amherst, where traders would be more secure under 

a comparatively stable government. Under the rule of the East India Company, 

three great ports, Bombay, Calcutta and Madras had already sprung up, and 

traders from all parts of India and the neighbouring world had drifted to them. 

Kyaikkami, renamed Amherst, was therefore, also expected to develop into a 

great port and thus displace Rangoon. It was with this object in view, that 

0 Bengal Sec. and Pol. Vol. 346, Cone. 6 April, 1827, Na 30. 
10 The Crawford Treaty of November 1826. 

11 Bengal Sec. and Pol Vol. 346, No. 4, The Miotita. 
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Crawfurdf the first Civil Commissioner of Tenasserim, selected this station and 

named it after the Governor*Generai, as the site for the capital of the new 

territory. In 1827, however, when Sir Archibald Campbell became Chief 

Commissioner, he transferred the headquarters to Moulmein for strategical 
reasons. 

While the Tenasserim authorities were intently waiting for final orders in 

connexion with the dispatch of Burney as Resident, the Supreme Government 

suddenly changed its mind, and decided to wait. It appears that in the cause 

of economy, the older and cheaper arrangement of a Political Assistant in 

Rangoon, appointed by and under the control of the Tenasserim Commissioner, 

was allowed to continue for the time being. 

This state of affairs, however, did not last long. The question of the 

retention or disposal of the Tenasserim province had been under discussion 

between the Home Government and the Supreme Government in India since 

the signing of the Treaty of Yandabo. The great difficulty with Tenasserim 

was its inability to meet its military expenses. The financial figures were 

as under 

Revenue Receipts for 1826, Rs. 165, 000 

Civil Disbursements Rs. 122, 000 

Surplus Rs. 43, 000 

Military Charges (Two Regiments) ... Rs. 160, 000 

The Expense for two Cruisers ... Rs. 34,000 

Total Military Charges ... Rs. 194, 000 

Receipt, Surplus ... Rs. 43,000 

Surplus Charge ... Rs. 151, 000 

Thus every year the Government of India had to bear an expense of 

over li lacs of rupees for Tenasserim, and this charge was expected to increase, 

since buildings, barracks, fortifications etc., were required. In 1826 the Court 

of Directors had suggested the retrocession of the province to Burma, but the 

measure was not insisted upon, on the expectation that large numbers of the 

Burmese subjects would migrate into the ceded provinces. This migration 

was considerable at first, amounting to about 12,000 persons, but later no 

more arrived, and some of the original emigrants returned to Burmese territory. 

In 1828 the Directors again recommended the retrocession of the province, 

and on 25 November, 1828, Lord Ellenborough, President of the Board of 

IS Burma Gazetteer, Amherst Dist. Vol. A, p* 11. 
IS Home Miscellaneoas, Vol 680, pp. 248-883. 
14 Ibid. pp. 3l9«343v ' 
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Control, drew up his memorandum in which he pointed out at some length 

“that the Tenasserim provinces are an undesirable possession, and regret may 

be expressed that we insisted upon their cession”. But the problem was how 

to get rid of them without disparagement to British power and diplomacy. 

Among the expedients suggested were ;—(1) To sell the province to the Siamese; 

but during the war Martaban had been offered to them, and they had refused 

it; (2) to create an independent state in Tenasserim; but this would have 

entailed the difficult problem of its protection especially against Burmese 

aggression; (3) to return it to the King of Burma: this would have been 

the easiest course, but there was the question of the inhabitants, who protested 

against the measure. It was felt, above all, that the Burmese Government 

should in no way be given to know, or allowed to suspect the anxiety of the 

British to get rid of the province. 

The Government of India decided, first to discover through an Agent the 

attitude of the Burmese Government towards the retrocession of the province 

in exchange for Negrais or Bassein district, or money or both; the Envoy, 

however, was not to reveal the real object of the mission, but seek for an 

opportunity to get rid of the troublesome districts on the best terms while 

discussing with the Burma Government other questions at dispute, such as, the 

Manipur frontier, Dacoities, the Indemnity etc. Major Henry Burney, Deputy 

Commissioner of Tavoy, was selected for this task; but be was not to be sent 

as a representative of the Governor-General: Maingy, the Commissioner, was 

instructed to send him to Ava as his agent. Maingy, however, considered it 

unwise to depute Burney, from his side and in his name, to the Court of Ava 

which might look upon such a measure as an insult,^^ Tbe Supreme 

Government fell in with this view, and on 30 December, 1829, appointed 

Burney to be tbe British Resident at Ava in fulfilment of Article 7 of the Treaty 

of Yandabo. By tbi^ decision it was meant to establish a permanent Residency 

in Burma, and the Burmese Government was in turn invited to establish a 

Burmese Residency at Calcutta. 

Tbe objects of the new Residency to be established at Ava are to be clearly 

seen in tbe letter of Government instructions to Burney> 

“.it is the desire of His Lordsbip>in>Council that you should make 

no propositions but encourage tbe Burmese to disclose their views and make 

first overtures in all occasions, and that you should quietly make it your study 

to ascertain and report for tbe information of Government tbe state of parties 

at Ava and the real views of the King and Courtiers, and endeavour to obtain 

some influence over tbe Court, and above all to establish a free intercourse 

between yonrself and our possessions both in Aracan and Tennaserim. 

U BflBgal Bee. ft pel. V cl. 397—Bentiflck'* Minute, 29 DacenilMr, 1829. 
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“But your first duty on your arrival at the capital of Ava must be to 

remonstrate against the delay in the payment of the 4th instalment, and against 

depredations.in Aracan and on the Salween.’’^^ 

On the subject of Manipur, the instructions were to inform the Burmese 

Government the determination of the Governor>General to fix the Chindwin as 

the boundary between the two states. As to the Burmese claim to Moulmein, 

Burney was told to refuse to make it a subject of negotiation. Particular 

instructions were given as to the projected return of Tenasserim for a 

consideration, and more so because the Atwenwoons or Interior Ministers had 

been endeavouring through one Mr. Lane, a British merchant, to obtain the 

- return of the province ;— 

“It is important, however, that you should endeavour to make yourself 

well acqainted with the real views and wishes of the Burmese Court with respect 

to our territory on the Coast of Tenasserim, for the retrocession of which you 

are aware that an overture has lately been made by the Burmese Interior 

Ministers through Mr. Lane a British merchant residing at Ava.”^® 

Burney was carefully to refrain from expressing any opinion on any such 

proposition formally made, but endeavour to ascertain and report for the 

information of the Governor-General “what equivalent the Burmese Court is 

able or willing to give in exchange for a portion or whole of the Tenasserim 

provinces, and also whether the Burmese Court could be disposed to cede the 

island of Negrais with some part of the neighbouring country, including or 

otherwise the town of Bassein in exchange for a portion of our territory on the 

Tenasserim Coast’’.*® 

The interests of trade were not omitted ; Burney was asked to “take the 

earliest measures which you may find it practicable to adopt, without exciting 

the jealousy or dissatisfaction of the Court of Ava, to open and establish a free 

intercourse between yourself and this Government by the way of Arracan as well 

as Rangoon.Your attention should be given to the trade of Ava*'^ with a 

view of reporting to his Lordship-in-Council the practicability of extending and 

facilitating British Commerce and the consumption of British manufactures’’.*® 

The instructions also dealt with the desirability of good relations being 

maintained between the two governments 

“His Lordship-in-Council is convinced that you will use your best 

endeavours to satisfy the Court of Ava, that your appointment has originated 

in no other view than that cited in the 7th article of the Treaty of Yandaboo, 

16 Bengal Sec* and Pol. Vol. 357* Cons. 8 January, 1830- 

Govt. Letter of Instructions to Burney, 31 December, 182^, No. 32* 
17 The Calcutta authorities called Burma by the name of its capital, Ava. 
18 Bengal Sec. and Pol. Vol. 357, Cons. 8 January, 1830, 

The Letter of Instructions to Burney, 31 December, 1889* 
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namely, to ciiltivate and improve the relations of amity and peace established 

between the two governments. You will use such arguments and reasoning as 

your own reading and experience may suggest to you for showing to the King 

and Court of Ava the advantage and convenience of the relations between the 

two states maintained unimpaired by means of Resident Ministers, a principle 

of policy which has been adopted by every civilised state, and you will make 

known the desire of the Governor-General-in Council to afford a suitable 

reception to any Burmese officer of rank and consideration whom the King of 

Ava may be pleased to depute as his Resident at Calcutta."^** 

When Cox was appointed Resident at Rangoon in 1796, he was empowered 

to protect the interests of British subjects residing in Burma; Burney was also, 

invested with the same authority in his letter of credentials;— 

“And I hereby authorise you to receive complaints from all British 

subjects residing in the dominions of the King of Ava, in the subject of injuries 

sustained by them from the Government or subjects of Ava, and to make such 

representations thereon to the King and Ministers as you may judge advisable.’’ 

It was, however, made clear, that “it is not the desire of the Governor- 

General-in-Couucil that you should interfere in any such matter whenever the 

established laws of the country are adequate to afford the parties redress.’’*® 

Burney arrived in Ava on 23 April, 1830. He discharged his duties most 

successfully as Resident for nearly 8 years, and was succeeded in his office by 

Col. R. Benson. The idea of retroceding Tenasserim was soon given up. The 

Residency w;is ultimately withdrawn in 1840. The history of the Residency 

(1830*1840) is one of the most interesting and significant chapters in Indo* 

Burmese relations. During this period the Indian Government made great 

attempts to maintain, without resort to war, diplomatic relations with the 

Government of Burma through the Resident. The Burmese monarch was, 

however, interested in the Residency only so far as he could make use of it for 

his own purpose. ThI Residency was looked upon as a humiliating badge of 

the defeat in the War which had cost the King considerable territorial losses; so 

that every possible effort, other than war, was made to remove the Residency 

at least from the capital, and confine it to Rangoon. In 1839 ultimately King 

Tharrawaddy (1837*1846) succeeded in this attempt; but the Indian Government 

was not prepared to retain the Residency in the country unless it was honourably 

entertained at the capital. In the absence of this it was withdrawn in January 

1840, and during the period between 1840 and the outbreak of the Second War 

in 1852, diplomatic relations between the two governments were at a stand 

still. In the reign of Mindon (1853*1878) they were resumed, and the Residency 
was re-established at the capital in 1862. 

19 Ibid. The Letter of Credentiu. No. 33. 
20 Ibid. Tb« Letter ol IiutractioiM. 
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LORD MAYO’S RESOLUTION OF 14th DECEMBER 1870 

—AN INTERPRETATION. 

Dr. Bisheshwar Prasad M. A., D. Litt., Allahabad University. 

On his assumption of office, Lord Mayo realised that that stage of financial 

'disorganisation had been reached which required radical change. Analysing the 

causes of the existing situation he found that the uncertainty in the Budget arose 

from the lack of up-to-date systematised information of the state of revenue and 

expenditure in the Financial Department, the irresponsible demands of the Local 

Governments and the imperfect estimates by the spending departments. To 

remove the evil it was necessary to improve the mechanism of the Financial 

Department, to secure a permanent readjustment of the revenues and expenditure 

and to give to the Local Governments a motive for economy in framing their 

estimates and keeping within them. Lord Mayo came to the conclusion that 

the greatest necessity then was to make the Local Governments responsible for 

a part of the public expenditure, and to secure this end the Resolution of 14th 

December 1870 was issued. 

Pointing out the inconvenience of the divorce of responsibility to provide 

ways and means from actual disbursement of the funds, the Resolution laid down 

the dictum that “it is expedient that, as far as possible, the obligation to find the 

funds necessary for administrative improvment should rest upon the authority 

whose immediate duty it is to devise such measures.” Hence the departments 

of Jails, Registration, Police, Education, Medical Services (except medical 

establishments) Printing, Roads, Miscellaneous Public improvements, and Civil 

Buildings, which were considered to be of a local character, were transferred to 

the control of the Local Governments, as the expenditure in them had shown a 

tendency to rise, and also because the Supreme Government did not either 

“understand fully the Local requirements” or possess “the knowledge necessary to 

the successful development of local resources” to meet the growing charges in 

them. As the scheme had I been adopted with a view to giving relief to the 

Imperial Exchequer, a fixed assignment less by a million than the budget provision 

for these heads in 1870-71 was made to the Local Governments, the balance to be 

provided either by retrenchment, re-distribution of expenditure or local taxation. 

The Local Governments were free to distribute the sum among the several 

departments at their discretion, and any savings made at the end of the year 

would not lapm to the Imperial revenues but would remain at their disposal. 

Separate budget estimates and accounts would be maintained for these services. 

They were to be known as “Provinqial Services”, 
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Certain conditions were imposed so as “to restrict the powers of the Local 

Governments within the limits assigned by the Secretary of State to the powers of 

the Supreme Government of India itself: and so prevent a Local Government from 

embarrassing its neighbours by capricious or injudicious innovations’’.* Otherwise 

the Local Governments were free to manage the administration and expenditure 

of the transferred services. It was hoped that “the additional powers of financial 

control’’ would “be accompanied by a corresponding increase of administrative 

responsibility.’’ The Governor General in Council desired to “confine the 

interference of the Supreme Government in India in the administration of the 

“Provincial Services’’ to what is necessary for the discharge of that responsibility 

which the Viceroy in Council owes to the Queen and her responsible advisers, 

and for the purpose of securing adherence to the financial conditions now 

prescribed, and to the general policy of the Government of India”. 

The Resolution, as such, transferred financial control over eight services 

to the Provincial Governments, subject to certain conditions, which prevented 

the Local Governments from creating or abolishing any superior appointments, 

or any class or grade of ofiicers, or from making any additions or alterations 

to the pay or allowances of ofiicars that might affect the same class of officers 

in other provinces. The Local Governments were not free to invest their money 

where they chose, and were subject to all budgetary rules and restrictions. A 

lump sum was fixed for expenditure in the transferred departments, and they 

were given liberty to distribute it at their discretion among the different objects 

under those heads, though an estimate had to be submitted. The Local 

Governments could not raise any taxes without the sanction of the Governor- 

General in Council, could not increase the total charges on Provincialised 

Services and could make no other substantial alterations. The only extension, 

therefore, in their financial powers was the possibility of transferring the funds 

under one head to another within the limits of the consolidated allotment, 

without the formal prWious sanction of the Government of India. 

With regard to the entertainment of public establishments and grant of 

allowances and salaries. Sir Richard Temple, while explaining the scope of 

the Resolution in his financial statement, enunciated the principle that “the 

regulation of salaries, of rates of pay, even the lowest of allowances and 

pecuniary privileges must remain with the Supreme Government”. He held 

that “strictness in this respect is essential’’, and so a check by the Government 

of India was indispensable to prevent excessive differences between one province 

and another which would lead to financial embarrassment 

The Supreme Government did not part “with any of those powers which 

I For CooditlODt see Hnnter: Life ^ Ewl of M»yo. Vol II p. 54 ' w 
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are needed for the preservation of financial order throughout India**.^ No 

revenueSy except the departmental receipts, were given to the Local Governments 

and thus what was conceded to them was only “control over certain allotted 

items of expenditure**.® Control of a general character was retained by the 

Government of India over the levy of Local Taxation. A measure of so 

partial a character does not deserve the h gh sounding title of a “Decentralisation 

Scheme**. There was to be no disintegration either of finances or of 

administration. The Government of India did not relax any control which it 

could usefully exercise. To a great extent, the Resolution systematised the 

practice which had developed recently and was in vogue at the time. 

However, the implication is not that the reform was either unnecessary 

or profitless. It served, on the contrary, the purpose for which it was adopted. 

While securing immediate relief to Imperial finances, it made for greater 

harmony and economy, generated by responsibility, in public administration. 

Not only was the Government of India able to reduce its budget by a sum of 

Rs. 350,00,000, but also of “all prospective charges beyond the reduced sum** 

granted to the Locd Governments; and as the charges transferred were such 

as had shown a tendency to rise, the advantage to the Central Government was 

considerable. A hope was at the same time expressed that the projected 

system would “teich the people to take a practical share in provincial finance, 

and lead them up gradually towards a degree of local self-government**.^ The 

procedure which was envisaged was the presentation of the provincial financial 

statement to the provincial Legislative Council and the formation of local 

Committees comprised of the non-officials and officials, which would manage 

the expenditure on local .objects like sanitation, roads, etc. The inclusion of 

the scheme for local taxation with the delegation of financial powers to the 

Provincial Governments made it essential to associate the non-official element 

with the Government, for one important concern at this time was to raise taxes 

without creating discontent among the people. Some statesmen clearly 

realised the need of this step. Sir William Muir, who was then the Lt. Governor 

of the North Western Provinces, demanded a Legislative Council for his province, 

for, as he wrote, “if this Government is to be responsible for so large a local 

revenue, it should be armed with corresponding legislative power**. He felt 

also that the relaxation of control by the Government of India “over several 

departments especially > involving questions of finance** would require the 

substitution of the control by a Legislative and an Executive Council.® Others 

2 Templo's: Financial Statement 1871-72, 
3 WingSeld : Hansard Debates Feb. 24 1871, pp. 902-6. 

4 Finaocial statement 1871-72- 

3 Letter from N, W. P. to Government of India No. 1284A.. 15 September 1870 (H. D. 
Pabltc Pro. 22 October 1870 No. 50) 

68 
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in England also were of the same opinion." The advanced Indian public 

opinion saw in the paragraph of the Resolution containing the pious hopes of 
the Viceroy the only redeeming feature of the proposal. But these hopes did 

not materialise. The provincial bu Iget was not regularly laid before the 
Councils even where they existed, and. no effort was made to increase their 
number or to extend the non-official element in them. Any control by the 

representatives of the people over finance was out of the question. The scheme 

contemplated promoting local self-government by strengthening municipal 
institutions. But it was a vain hope as the domination of the officials over 

them failed to evoke the cooperation of the people. Failing in the attainment 

of these desired results, the reform of 1870 may be said to be merely 

"advantageous to the imperial budget of British India".^ Thus the purpose 

of this measure could not be the establishment of autonomous provincial 
governments. It was merely an administrative measure designed to reduce 

the work of the Coitral Government and to minimise the chances of conflict 

with subordinate governments. Under the existing legal and constitutional 
system no considerable relaxation in the central control w.is possible, and as 

such was not aimed at. 

MEMOIRS OF HYDER ALLY FROM THE YEAR 1758 TO 1770 

by 

ELOY JOZE CORREA PEIXOTO. 

Dr. M. H. KrishM, M. A., D. Lift. (Lond.), Professor of History, 
University of Mysore and Director of Archaeology* 

Mysore State. 

The manuscript of these memoirs, now in the custody of the Mysore 

Archaeological Department, was purchased in London by the late Sardar M. N. 

Balaraj Urs of Mysore. Another manuscript of the same name and by the same 

author is known to exist in the British Museupa, London. But the several 

corrections and interlineal additions in this manuscript suggest that this is 

perhaps the original draft of which the other is a fair copy. It contains 160 

pages of foolscap and consists of 3 books of unequal size. In the margin the 

numbers 34 to 323 are marked which may perhaps refer to the Portuguese 

6 Sir Charles Wingfield, Sir Charles Trevelyan etc. 
7 Temple : Financial Statement 1871-72. 
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manuscript of Peixoto, translated here into English. The paper used is of 

French hand-make, belonging to the eighteenth century to which period we have 
Also to refer the English language and spelling employed. The original Portu* 

guese manuscript was written, as the author has himself said, in 1770 A. D. and 
is thus invaluable for the history of Hyder as a contemporary record from the 

pen of a person who was in the service of Hyder himself and, as such, must have 

had intimate knowledge of the anecdotes narrated. 

Peixoto was a Portuguese Captain of Infantry in Goa. With the re¬ 
commendation of the Viceroy of Goa he entered the service of Hyder in April 

1758 A. D. as the Chief of the Van-Guard and of all the European Fusiliers and 
one regiment of Grenadiers. To the end of November 1767 A. D. he served in 

this capacity, taking part in most of the campaigns of Hyder and then left this 

service to return to Goa. In Madras the English tried to secure his services 

against Hyder himself. He declined the offer and took passage on a ship which, 

unfortunately, was wrecked near Ceylon. He then sailed on another ship which 

took him only as lar as Tellichery. Here he had to stay for some time waiting 

in vain for help from Goa. Disappointed at last, he sailed to Bengal wherefrom 

he intended to travel by land through the North-western passes to Europe. But 

the restrictions imposed by the English in this behalf compelled him to sail back 
to the Coromandel coast. By this time the First Mysore war was concluded by 

the Treaty of Madras and Hyder was encamping in Kolar. Peixoto was pre¬ 

vailed upon to re-enter his service by some of the French officers at Pondicherry. 

They led him to the presence of Hyder who now employed him only on half of 

his original pay with charge over the Europeans with Firelocks. Peixoto, however, 

did not continue in this service for mere than a year since he became disgusted 

at the gradual decay in Hyder’s army and at the general disgrace of the 

Europeans who had been wasting their wealth in dissipation. By way of 

Tellichery he went down to 1 anjore where he served for some time. He then 

left for Goa and took passage to Lisbon. 

His.anecdotes relative to the rise of Hyder Ali are chronologically arranged. 
The dates mentioned are generally in agreement with those known from other 

sources. The fe^ differences, here and there, are minor only. The anecdotes 

themselves are sufficiently authentic and written with a healthy frankness and no 
undue partiality, whether in the case of the Europeans or in that of the Indians. 

Peixoto was neither a critic nor an eulogist, but a judicious chronicler praising 

or condemning according as praise or condemnation was due. While, on the 
one hand, his anecdotes find support from other sources and sometimes have 

themselves a corroborative value, there are, on the other hand, some among them 

whidi are entirely new to our stock of what we already know. These, for 

example, are: Hyder's matricide, his murder of king Nanjaraj, the humiliation of 
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the English at his hands during the conclusion of the First Mysore War, the 
luxury of the English Court in Bengal and the general dissipation and immora* 

lity of the Europeans in India. Though the contents miinly pertain to the 

military campaigns and genius of Hyder, there are some among them, inciden¬ 

tally mentioned and nevertheless important, which bear on Hyder’s character and 
ability and on the*contemporary politics of the other powers or states in so far as 

Hyder was drawn into it. The few errors that he has committed as for instance, 
his having mistaken Nanjaraj, the Sarvadhikari, and father-in-law of King 
Krishnaraj II for ‘the second king’, are such that could be condoned in a 
Portuguese author. 

Of Hyder’s parentage and early life, Peixoto has mentioned very little. Nor 

has he given any account of the circumstances under which he entered first the 
service of Nanjaraj as Nayak in the Mysore army. 

Nanjaraj sent Hyder as the Governor of Dindigul with wide powers to 

subdue the place and bring the neighbouring territories also to his authority. 

Hyder executed this duty to the satisfaction of the King and secured ‘much 
spoils and riches’ of which the major portion he kept for himself. He was also 

allowed to augment, without limitation, his troops. 

The next activity of Hyder was in Chennapatna during the year 1758 A. D. 
in which Peixoto joined his service. Hyder had employed the best English and 

French smiths for the preparation of gun piowder, cannon balls and arms. An 

advance party was sent at the close of December 1758 A. D. against Chennapatna. 
The fort was taken. But in the meanwhile a huge Maratha army under Gopal 

Hari and Sripant arrived and besieged the place. The details given by Peixoto 

in respect of the long siege, differ from those known from other sources. In 
return for bis services Hyder was lifted to the post of General-in*cbief. 

The misunderstandings that arose in the meanwhile between the king 

and Nanjaraj resulted in the retirement of the latter from service yielding his 

highest position in th^ kingdom to Hyder. Nanjaraj, however, tried to assert 

himself in Mysore and bad the service of some of the ablest Europeans. But 

Hyder won over these officers by stratagem and compelled Nanjaraj to retire 

to Konanur. On this occasion be was bestowed the title ‘Hyder Ali’ and none 

was permitted to call him a Nayak thenceforth. Peixoto records that a poor 

man who violated this order was punished by having bis tongue cut off. 

The rise of Hyder to the highest position in the kingdom bred envy 

among some of the officers of whom Khanderao, a servant of Hyder himself 

Was one. They could no longer tolerate the situation by which ‘the very 

commands of the Raja were not obeyed unless they were ratified by Hyder’. 

They convoked the Marathas for help and fifed at his bouse when the majer 

portion of bis army tinder Mogtum Saib was absent at Pondicherry. Peiifbto, 
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loo, was not present on this occasion. His statement, therefore, that a ball 

smote Hyder’s old mother on the leg and that Hyder smote off her head when 

she cried out in pain, requires corroboration since he has recorded it obviously 

from hearsay. But then he would not, without some basis, accuse bis hero 
of the worst of crimes inasmuch as he had no prejudice against him and, indeed, 
had such admiration for him that he would serve nene of his enemies whatever 

the fortune he could have made thereby. On the other hand he re-entered 
Hyder’s service in 1769 on only half of his original pay. While, thus, the 
matricide appears to be a probability, what makes us, conversel}’, doubt Peixoio’s 

statement is the fact that, so far, none else, whether Muhammadan or Hindu 

or European, is known to have recorded it, though this circumstance itself is 
not difficult of explanation. Peixoto does not mention the defeat that Hyder 

sustained near Nanjangud at the hands of Khanderao. Nor does he detail the 

various manoeuvres practised by Hyder on Khanderao. Hyder had practically 

subdued the whole kingdom and made Ramarao a prisoner at the time he 

appeared in Seringapatam. ‘With his usual maxims’ he dictated to the king 
his own terms. Khanderao was now handed over to Hyder and was imprisoned 

in a cage where he died after suffering many indignities. Ramarao, too, was 

blown up, being tied to the muzzle of a gun. Thus in 1761 A. D. Hyder 

once again made himself the sole authority in the kingdom. The king’s name 

was worth nothing. Even Nanjaraj was prevented from entering Seringapatam. 

With his position secure, Hyder now began his series of campaigns which 

resulted in the wide expansion of the territories of Mysore. His principal 

enemies were the Marathas with whom he was continually engaged in war. 

Peixoto’s account makes it clear that had it not been for the tact and military 
genius of Hyder, Mysore would have fallen a prey to the frequent Maratha 

raids or succumbed to the aggressions of Nizam Ali. 

Hoskote, Sira and Chikkaballapur fell to Hyder’s hands in quick 

succession. The territories of ‘Malle Rao’ (Murari Rao) were next attacked. 

The latter was followed up as far as Sandur and all his forts like Kodikonda, 

Madakasira, Penugonda, Gooti and Midigesi were captured. The relations 

with the Raja of Chitaldrug resulted in the annexation of Bednur. The queen 

of the place, who was unworthy of her name, was captured with her paramour 

Lingiah. Peixoto does not mention; of her having been sent as prisoner to 
Madhugiri. He says that when she appeared before him, he received her with 

ceremony and lodged her with bis own women. 

From Bednur Hyder marched as far as Mangalore conquering provinces. 

Many forts as far north as Gokarna fjll to his hands. Yenur was besieged. Uda- 

parssu, a certain prince of the woods near Nileshwar, was surrounded in his 

capital and captured. When he was brought before Hyder he was persuaded by 
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gentle means to show the place where he had hidden his treasure. But he gave 

evasive replies and was hanged. The name of Udaparssu is not known from 
other sources. 

The capture of Bankapur, which followed the reduction of Savanur, brought 

the Marathas on the scene. Their army was so huge that Hyder could not 

engage them in open war. But their activities made the situation critical for 

him. The war dragged on to the end of May 1765 when peace was concluded. 

Coorg and Kadapa were next attacked. The invitation of AU Raja of 
Cananore at this time encouraged Hyder to leave for his Malabar invasions towards 

the end of January 1766 A. D. He carried destruction wherever he went, setting 

the houses on fire and killing the Nairs indiscriminately. The Malabar chiefs 
submitted to him one after another. Balliapatam, Cherika, Colastria, Kottayam 

and several other places were captured. The Zamorin was made a prisoner at 

an annual feast and lodged in a house which was set on fire by the Nairs 
themselves. 

Leaving the place in charge of a governor, Hyder returned to Coimbatore. 

The Nairs immediately besieged his governor at his pagoda. On receipt of the 

news Hyder marched back in great fury. The entire Nair country was plundered, 
their houses were burnt, and a universal massacre of the Nairs ordered. A price 

was set ranging from three to five rupees on the head of every Nair, man or 

woman, young or old. Many Nair women were captured and sent as presents 

to the governors and chiefs. Peixoto has recorded several incidents recounting 
the trials and indignities to which the Nairs were subjected. 

The death of King Krishnaraj II made Hyder leave for Seringapatam by 

way of Palghat and Coimbatore. Sarvadhikiri Nanjaraj now .put forward his 

claim to the throne, threatening to go to war if the kingdom was not made over 

to him. He had also entered into secret relations with the Marahtas. By 

stratagem, however, Hyder brought him to Seringapatam and imprisoned him 
in his own house. A sfn bf the late king was placed on the thron: to put an end 

to the murmur of the people, though in fact, nothing was being executed without 

his orders. 

In 1767 Peixoto left Hyder’s service and wandered widely in India till he 

rejoined bis service in 1769. Some of bis observations on Travancore, 

Padmanabhapura, the Andman and Nicobar islands, Bengal etc. are noteworthy. 

In the matter of the luxurious dinners given by the Bengal Governor he has said: 

“It is impossible that there can be made greater Daily Expenses at any other 

place or nation". While be was at Chandranagore the ‘Grandees’ complained of 

the insdence which they suffered from the English. The Governor of 

Pondicherry told him that the English 'hath gained their greatest victory’s more 

by words than by the violence of their arms’, Pondicherry, once the Garden of 
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Asia, had beai destroy^ by the British and now was being rebuilt in 'all 

perfection*. Tranqoebalr was a pleasant place with gardens and places of 

recreation. Negapatam was a great commercial place but 'not defendable*. 

The Dutch thought only of their commerce and their infantry was unworthy 
of the name of 'Military*. 

Peixoto observes that the Treaty of Madras ‘was less honourable to the 

English* and that ‘the Nabob would not give them (English) battle in the 
plain and only strive to divide them, stop their convoys, corrupt their chiefs 

and other maxims which he uses with great fortune*. The English were 

ashamed of the treaty and some said that ‘it seemed to them that the time 
was arrived in which the English Nation was to decline*. The account of the 

Hyder-Nama confirms the statement of Peixoto about the upper hand that 

Hyder had during the First Mysore War. 

At this time misunderstanding rose between Hyder and his best friend 

Faizulla Khan. H)’der was so ungrateful as to forget all his services and 

subjected him to many indignities. He had no esteem for his own master 

Nanjaraj. At times he was very cruel and ordered, on a large scale, to cut 

the noses and ears of his prisoners or his own sepoys. A sepoy who had been 

condemned to death for having attempted the life of a general expressed that 

‘he was much contented to die rather by his own will than to die in the 
Nabob’s service for 30 rupees which he was promised but which he never 

received entire and always was wanting more than the third part*. The 

Governor of Bednur who was chastised by him and demanded to pay an 

exorbitant sum committed suicide by saying that ‘it was better to die than 

to suffer affronts from such ungrateful man as the Nabob*. Hyder was very 

greedy and all those suspected of having money were chastised till they gave up 

what all they had. Peixoto says “This form of preserving the multitude, the 

Nabob can only attain to, for they shew by their quietness with which they live, 

aftar so many oppressions of their money, honour and castes and are so much 
afraid of him on Earth as of God in Heavens*. Hyder did not spare even his 

overlord King from becoming a victim of his fiendish nature. The'boy 

king 'showed a Royal presence of spirit* which indicated that he would not suffer 

for long his subjection. Hyder mixed up poison in the milk which he sent the 

king on the night of 2nd August, 1770. Next morning the king was found dead. 

Hyder pretended to be sorry and instituted no enquiry beyond effecting the arrest 
of the surgeon who attended the king during the previous night. Peixoto says : 

'In this manner the Nabob shews his sorrow by the surgeon’s prison and by the 

condemnatkm, utility to his treasury, where all the Nabob*s interests do center*. 

Nanjaraj, the prisoner, bewailed now not only the king who died but also the 
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Ne<(r King, for he knew fall well that Hyder was a usurper. Moorish Governor^ 
had been employed all over the kingdom and only Hyder's orders were obeyed*, 

in a manner that it was construed as ‘Zeal for the common good of the people*. 

The income of the Royal Family hardly served for the daily expenses. The very 

silver vessels belonging to the palace had been taken away by Hyder. 

Nor was the private life of Hyder void of his exercise of crusty. His 

matricide had already been referred to. It was also his custom to kill all his 

female issues as soon as they were born. This statement of Peixoto finds 

corroboration by the evidence of Hyder-Naraa. In addition to his three wives 

Hyder had as many as 4000 concubines who had been particularly housed at 

Bednur, Bangalore and Seringapatam. In the evenings he used to take his 

walk in the garden when the?e concubines stood in a row on either side of the 

path each with a nose-gay in her hands. He would take the nose gay from 
those he wanted for amusement during the night. Besides these concubines 

he often would amuse himself with also other private women, capturing them 

by force and threatening them with death if they would not yield themselves 
up. But he could not communicate with all the ladies of his harem. There 

were many occasions on which be suspected infidelity among several of them. 

He used to chastise his concubines on suspicion. On the 5tb August, 1770 a 

certain concubine casually lifted her eyes at a servant. Hyder killed her with 

his own hand and ordered the servant to be skinned alive. 

Hyder had two sons and one daughter. The latter had been preserved 

by Modin Saib without his knowledge and presented to him when grown up. 

Hyder intended that Ali Rajj should marry her. Tipu, his eldest son, was 

married in 1770 A. D. Peixoto says of him that he was ‘as cruel as can be 

said, wretches and of worse actions that can be found in any person. No 

chief is desirous of accompanying him, for he is imprudent, for which reason 

his fortune will last qo longer than his father lives, or his disgrace which he 

has hath, change int j victories of which he runs great risks, for there is not 

one person of his servants, or in the other kingdoms that loves him. Naturally 
and if some make a shew outwardly, they make a virtue out of necessity*. 

Hyder’s youngest son Carim Saib was a favourite with his father. 

From Peixoto*s account it would appear that Hyder had very little love 

even for his own religion. The Mohurram in 1770 was strictly ordered by 

him to be observed only with great moderation. Though a Mussalman be 

reared up hogs for sports in which be indulged a great deal. He loYed tigers 

fighting with elephants, fire works and so on. He would on occasions, ns for 

instance during the marriage festival of his son Tipu, let loose live tigers on the 
people and before they did much injury to them would shoot them down with 
remarkable aim and speed. . v 
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His army in 1770 bad become very weak. Tbe few Europeans wbo bad 

been serving bad become degenerate. Peixoto records several instances of 

tbeir dissipated babits. They bad no fear of god or precepts of religion. This 

circumstance disgusted Peixoto and, under the pretext of finding Europeans 

for his army, he left his service finally on 6th August 1770. At this time the 

Marathas had become very formidable in strength both by reason of tbeir 

number and organisation, while Hyder’s army was insignificant and had the 

custom mainly of fighting behind the walls or in woods. Since, however, a 

terrible war was expected, Hyder was making great preparations at tbe capital. 

THE FIRST ENGLISH EXPEDITION TO NEPAL. 

Dr. Nandalal Chatterji, M. A., PH. D., University of Lucknow 

The first English expedition to Nepal has been ignored by historians so 

far, and it has consequently been one of the least known episodes in the annals 

of British rule in India. It was in Verelst's time that this expedition was planned, 

and undertaken, and unsuccessfully though it terminated, it marks an epoch in 

the history of the early relations of the English with the Gurkha power. 

Early in 1767, Jayaprakash Malla,^ the Newar ruler of Kathmandu, 

while closely besieged in his capital by the Gurkha chief, Prithvi Narayan, 

made repeated requests* to the English for aid against his enemy. Mr. Rumbold, 

Chief of the Patna Factory, on being informed of “ these repeated solicita* 

dons”* wrote to the Governor on April 20, “Napaul.has long been besieged 

1 Accordiog to Kirkpatrick (vide his "Account of the Kingdom of Nepaul**' 1811 p. 270), 
it was Kanjit Malta of Bhatgaon, who applied for assistance, and *'prevailed on the British 
Government to aid him with a military force for the purpose of expelling" the Gurkhas, From the 
official papers it is, however, clear that the appeal for help came from Jayaprakash Malla, the ruler 
of Kathmandu, and Capt. Kinloch was sent expressly to relieve him, and not Ranjit Malla, ais 

stated by Kirkpatrick. It appears from the narrative of Father Guisepee (who was an eye-witness 
of the Gurkha conquest of Nepal) that the Raja of Bhatgaon had originally invited the Gurkha 

chief into Nepal, but he subsequently concluded an alliance with the Rajas of Kathmandu and 
Patao in order to fight with the Gurkhas (Vide. Asiatic Researches, Vol. II) 

2 For an account of his career, Vide. History of Nepal (Translated from Parbatiya), 
edited by D. Wright, p. 228. 

3 Letter from Mr* Golding to Mr. T« Rumbold. dated Bettiah April 6. 1767. 

69 
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by the Goorcully Rajah. The inhabitants are now drove to the utmost 

extremetieSy repeated solicitations have been made for tur assistance, and 

I am informed a Vakeel is now on his way hither.I shall be glad to 

know from you whether on the Vakeel*s arrival 1 may give him any 

encouragement^'* This was the first official intimation received by the 

Governor about the Newar ruler’s entreaties for assistance, and the Select 

Committee at its meeting of April 30 forthwith resolved to send an expedition 

to Nepal for the relief of Kathmandu, in case Prithvi Narayan refused to accept 

English mediation.® Mr. Rumbold was directed to write to the Gurkha chief 

that unless he immediately raised the siege, withdrew his troops from Nepal, 

and desisted from molesting Jayaprakash Malla with whom the company was 

on terms of amity, the English would treat him “as a declared enemy".® The 

Committee further authorized the Governor to order Capt. Kinloch “to march 

with all expedition” from Tippera^ to Patna “for establishing the peace and 

tranquillity of the country of Napaul.” Mr. Rumbold was at the same time 

informed “Should Captain Kinloch arrive too late for the purpose required, we 

then leave it to your discretion to afford such succours as can be spared from the 

duties of the Factory and Collections." 

The primary consideration which led the Governor and the Select 

Committee to espouse the cause of the Newars was economic. The prosperous 

trans-Himalyan trade of Bengal and Bihar had lately come almost to a 

standstill® with the recent Gurkha conquest of the submontane regions of Nepal, 

and it was naturally apprehended that if Prithvi Narayan was allowed to conquer 

the whole of Nepal, Bengal would be totally deprived of. the benefits of a 

lucrative trade with latter country as well as Tibet^. The importance of this 

trade would be apparent from the fact that Bengal exported to Nepal and Tibet 

large quantities of cotton, silk, and wollen goods as also salt and such other 

__ I 

4 Letter from Mr. T. Rumbold, April 20, 1767. 

5 Beng. Sel. Com. April 30, 1767. 
6 Letter from Sel. Com. to Mr. T. Rumbold, April 30, 1767. 

7 Beng. Sel. Com. April 30. 1767. 
„ Feb. 5, 1767. 

Capt. Kinioch bad lately been sent on an expedition against the Raja of Tippera. 

8 Beng. Sel. Com, April 30. 1767. Mr. Rumbold wrote to the Governor, "The trade from 

Napaul which formerly was very considerable has been entirely stopped by these troubles." 

9 Kirkpatrick wrote in his "Memorandum respecting the commerce of Nepaul". *'There i8 

good reason to believe, that, could a free and secure communication be opened between Bengal and 

Tibet, the wolleu staples of Great Britain might be disposed of to the inhabitants of the latter 

country." 

10 Beng* Pnb« Cons. Oct. 81,1769 fvide Mr. James Logan’s memorandum). 
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necessaries, while it imported a variety of rare articles like musk, cow-tails, rock- 

oil, elephants, teeth, cassia, medicinal woods, cutch, honey, wax, borax, and 

birds^^. The most valuable imp?rts^^ were, however, gold and timber. The 

Company derived a plentiful supply of large timberi^ from the forests of Nepal 

Tarai, while gold was another commodity for which Bengal largely depended on 

that country^^. In fact, as Nepal annually exported an immense amount of 

gold^*^, it was popularly believed in India that this country was full of 
valuable gold mines 

Verelst and the Select Committee thus readily consented to befriend the 
Newar prince for “opening a free communicationwith Nepal, and for pro¬ 

moting “a free intercourse and uninterrupted trade*’^® with that country. In 
addition to the purely commercial considerations^^, the necessity of frontier 

regulation in Bettiah was an additional factor which made it imperative 

on the part of the English to take early steps against the recurrent Gurkha 

incursions^^ from the adjacent Tarai. Thus, the interests of self-defence demanded 
a counter-offensive against the Gurkhas in support of the friendly Newar princes. 

At first Verelst had hoped that the relief of Kathmandu might be secured 

by peaceful negotiations with the Gurkha chief. This is why Mr. Rumbold was 

advised to mediate between the warring parties, and was so informed*^ by the 

Governor. In compliance with the instructions of the Governor, Mr, Rumbold sent 

a letter^^ to Prithvi Narayan requesting him to accept the Company’s mediation 

in his dispute with the Newars. No reply was, however, received from the latter 

for a long time, and when at last it came, it was considered unsatisfactory. 

Bogle, memorandura on the trade of Tibet* 

Stavorinus, Voyage to the East Indies, I. p. 391. 

11 Trans. R, 1767-68. No. 152. 
12 Sel. Com. to Court, Sept. 26, 1767. 

13 Beng. Sel. Com. February 19 and Oct. 7. 1766, March 3. 1767. Rennel's Journals, p. 69. 
14 Fourth Report, 1773, p. 523. 

Beng. Pub. Cons. Oct. 31,1769. 'The common current value of gold in Napaul (brought 
there from Thibet) is said to be 60 % less than it is at Patna", 

15 Letter from Clive to the honourable committee of Treasury, and Correspondence, Aug, 

28, 1767. 
16 Siyar (Lucknow Text), p. 717. 
Muzaffar-Namah (Alld. Univ. Ms) p. 334. 

Tarikh-i-Muzaffari (Alld. Univ. Ms), p. 781, 

Khnlasat (J. B. O. R .S. V. p. 608) 

17 Letter from Sel. Com. to Mr, T. Rumbold, April 30, 1767, 

18 Letter from Sel. Com. to Col. R, Smith, April 30, 1767. 
19 Letter from Sel. Com. to Court, Sept. 25. 1767. 

20 Letter from Mr. T. Rumbold, Jan. 3, 1768. 
21 Bang. SeL Com. April 30, 1767* 

32 On May 28. 
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At its meeting of July 21, the Select Committee at last resolved** to 
sanction the proposed expedition to Nepal, not only because the Gurkha chief 

had failed *'to accept our mediation, or reply to Mr. Rumbold's letter on the 

subject,” but also because the Co nmittee apprehended that the Raja of 

Kathmandu would be forced to surrender to the enemy, if prompt assistance 

was not afforded to him. Letters recently received from the Jesuit priests 

in Nepal had already confirmed the accounts of the acute distress in Kathmandu, 
given by the Vakils of Jayaprakash Malta, and there remained no doubt about 

the desperate position of the Newar prince who, according to the Jesuits,** could 

not be expected to hold out longer than the beginning of October, if not relieved. 

It may be pointed out that Verelst ultimately approved of the proposed 

expedition on the representation of Messrs. Rumbold and Kinloch that “the 

expedition to Napaul may be undertaken with great security as well as the 
utmost prospect of success.”**^ But for their optimistic reports, it is doubtful 

if the Governor and the committee would have allowed a perilous expedition 

out of Bengal. That they were fully conscious of the grave risks of such an 

enterprise will be clear from the cautious instructions they gave to Mr. Rumbold. 

They wrote*® to the latter, ‘‘We must positively insist upon your relinquishing 

the design unless you have the fullest conviction it must be attended with 

success. Should Captain Kinloch find in the progress of his march that the 

Rajah hath been forced to submission and that the enemy are in possession of 
his country, you will in such case direct him not to proceed, but take post in 

some convenient and secure station in the Bettea province.The same 

step we will pursue should he encounter unexpected difficulties from the season, 

the situation of the country, or the power of the enemy.” 

From the contemporary records it is clear that Messrs Rumbold and 

Kinloch had underestimated the difficulties that must be encountered in a march 
to an unknown mountainous country like Nepal. They had doubtless been 

misled by the artful promises and high hopes held out by the Nepalese Vakils. 

Mr. Rumbold subsequently admitted this in a letter to the Governor,*7 In 
his obvious anxiety to expedite the march of the troops b^ore the rains were 

over, Mr. Rumbold did not make sufficient independent inquiries about the 

proposed route, nor did he take adequate steps to ensure a regular supply of 

provisions to the troops on*® the way. The expedition was thus commenced 

in undue haste. 
28 Beng. Set. Com. July 21, 1767. 
24 Letter from Mr.T.Rnmbold, Dec. 19, 1767. 
25 Beng. Sel. Com. July 21, 1767. 
26 Letter to Mr. T. Rumbold. July 21, 1767. 
27 Beog. Sel. Com. Jen. 12, 1768. 
28 The exact etrength of the detachment with Capt. Kinloch ia not given in the Committee 

Proceeding!, bnt from a letter written by Mr. Richard Barwell to his father dated Feb. 28, 
1768, it appears that the force consisted of 2400 sepoys, (Vide "The Letters of Mr, Uchwra 
Barweir, mngel: Past and Present, Vol. X, p. 89). 



THE FIRST ENGLISH EXPEDITION TO NEPAL 549 

The fort of Hariharpar on the Vagmati river was soon obtained by 

Capt. Kinlocb, but he could not continue his advance, as the river was 
in a flooded state. The troops had to be detained in the fort for a number of 

days while rafts were hastily prepared to make a bridge across the river. Before 
however, the rafts were ready, they were unfortunately washed away by a heavy 

downpour that further swelled the river, and made it impassable. Cooped up at 

Hariharpur, the sepoys were now in a rebellious mood. Provisions had run'short, 

and there was little prospect of obtaining further supplies in the near future. 

Desertions became more frequent, and illness also caused heavy casualties. In 

despair Capt. Kinloch had to order a forced retreat. The Gurkhas now fell on 
the retiring army, and inflicted heavy lo »es. Although Capt. Kinloch “behaved 

with the fortitude and resolution of a good officer, exerting himself more than 

many would have been capable of doing in the same situation's,” he was 
powerless against the elusive mountaineers who made surprise attacks in the rear 

from places difficult of access, and harassed the English troops by cutting off 

supplies of grain, and interceptiflg the camp followers. Capt. Kinloch at last 
returned to the Tarai with a considerably depleted force*®, and was ultimately 

recalled by Mr. Rumbold on the refusal of the Governor and the Select Com¬ 

mittee to send any re inforcements**. 

Capt. Kinloch’s failure was due to no “misconduct” on his part, as was 

suspected by the authorities at Calcutta, but was chiefly the result of a combina¬ 

tion of highly adverse circumstances over which he had little control. In the 

first place, he had to undertake the expedition during a most unfavourable season 

when cn account of the rains it was difficult to carry an army through the thickly 

wooded forests of Nepal Tarai. In the second place, for want of an adequate 

number of coolies sufficient provisions could not be carried along with the troops, 

and Capt. Kinlocb had to depend on the scanty supplies that were obtained on 

the way with great difficulty. The lack of provisions was, as Mr. Rumbold 

later confessed to the Governor, “the grand point that has been the means of 

frustrating the attempt*®.” In the third place, the serious flood in the Vagmati 

river, but for which Capt. Kinloch would have reached Kathmandu, compelled 

the English troops to retreat precipitously from Hariharpur with disastrous 

consequences. In the fourth place, Capt. Kinloch was severely handicapped by 

29 Letter from Mr. T. Rambold. Dec. 19. 1767. 

SO According to Mr. Richard Barwell, only 800 out of 2400 returned with Capt. Kinloch. 
(Bengal: Past and Present, X, P. 29). 

31 Beng. Sel. Com. Dec. 11, 1767. 

32 Letter to Mr. T. Rumbold, Dec, 11,1767. 

Letter to Court, Dec- 16,1767 ''We have reason to believe that there has been some miscon¬ 
duct in the officers or forgery in the intelligence which gave birth to this expedition, else Kinloch 
should have succeeded.*' 

33 Benft. Sel. Com. Jan. 12, 1768. 
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the flight and desertion of a conaderable^^ portion of his detachment. In 

the fifth place, sickness among the sepoys was unusually great owing to the 

unhealthy climate of the Tarai. In the last place, as Capt. Kinloch was himself 

entirely ignorant of the country, he laboured under a grave disadvantage in 

consequence. 

While Capt Kinloch cannot be held to have been personally responsible 

for the miscarriage of his expedition, it is difficult to overlook the extreme 
impatience and want of foresight which Mr. Rumbold displayed in his zeal for the 

cause of the Newar ruler. Firstly, the expedition was commenced without ample 

preparations. Secondly, an insufficient*® force was spared to Capt. Kinloch. 
Thirdly, the number of officers sent with the detachment was most inadequate.®'^ 

Fourthly, the sepoys were drawn from the Pargana battalions in which discipline 
was notoriously lax. Lastly, the command was entrusted to one who unfortu¬ 

nately had no knowledge of Nepal. 

While Capt. Kinloch stayed on the borders of the Tarai in expectation 

of reinforcements, he occupied the lands adjacent to Bettiah, and captured 

a number of forts belonging to the Gurkhas not only to safeguard the frontier 

on that side, but also to secure an effective base for a fresh expedition to Nepal. 

The Select Committee approved®* of the occupation of these lands as indemnity 

for the losses incurred in the last expedition.*® The following advantages were 

expected to result from the occupation of these lands. Firstly, a considerable 

increase of revenue was anticipated. Secondly, immense quantities of fir timber 

could be obtained from these parts for the Company’s use. Thirdly, Bettiah 

would be freed from the danger of Gurkha incursions. Fourthly, as the 

Gurkha Chief obtained large supplies of grain from this country, its loss 

was bound to operate adversely on his military operations in Nepal. Fifthly, 

as Mr. Rumbold pointed out to the Governor, ’’should you again think of 

opening the commimioation with Napaul, it will more easily be effected by 

34 It appears that four entire companies deserted to the enemy. 

35 "The miscarriage of the expedition may be assigned to one cause, the too great 

confidence of overcoming difficulties as soon as encountered, grounded on a mean opinion of 

the courage of the nations to which our arms are opposed** (Letter from Mr. R. Barwell to his 

father. Feb. 28. 1768.). 

36 Mr. Rumbold waa so confident of success that he wrote to the Governor.".a small 
force I am assured would be sufficient not only to raise the seige, but entirely to reduce the 

Qoorculey Raiah to obedience, (Beng. Sel, Ccm. Apl. 80, 1767). 

37 The same over confidence was reponsible for the appointment of an insufficient staff. 

"The number of officers on an expedition of this nature I suppose ought rather to have been 

increased than diminished, nevertheless through Capt. Kinloch's influence the officers were reduced 
to the lowest number possible." (Letter from Mr. Barwell. op. Cit.,) 

88 Letter to Mr. T. Rumbold, Dec. 11, 1767/*.We would recommend the 
keeping possession of those lands you mention upon the borders of the Bettefb country 

39 Letter to Court, Dec. 16. 1767. 
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having these countries.”^*’ Lastly, these lands would prove a sufficient 

compensation for the charges of the last expedition. Except that Bettiah was 
freed from the Gurkha depredations, no other benefit was actually derived 

from the possession of the newly obtained parts of the Tarai. The lands did 

not yield the expected revenue, and the Gurkhas continued to make incursions 
rendering the task of defettce both costly and arduous. 

Verelst and the Select Committee were severely disappointed at the 

unexpected miscarriage of the Nepal expedition. They ordered Mr. Rumbold 

to make the strictest enquiry into the causes of Capt. Kinloch’s failure, and 

reminded him that they could not account “for the miscarriage otherwise 
than by supposing some misconduct in the officer, or forgery in the letters 
and informations given you by the Vaqueel and faquir^^’' 

It is interesting to note that the Governor considered at this time the 
practicability of a second expedition to Nepal, and inquired'*^ of Mr. Rumbold 

what number of troops would be necessary for this purpose. The latter was 

strongly in favour of making a second attempt, and urged the Governor to 
sanction it without delay. 

After prolonged deliberations, the Select Committee at its meeting of 

February 16, 1768, decided finally not to undertake another expedition for 

the present. A number of considerations seem to have led to this decision. 

The force recommended*® by Mr. Rumbold was in the Committee’s opinion 

“too considerable" to be spared specially at a time when on account of the 
war with Haidar Ali the Madras authorities were repeatedly asking** for 

reinforcements from Bengal. Besides, the zamindars of a number of parganas 

in Bihar were at this time in rebellion,*® and Shitab Ray urged*® the immediate 

despatch of a strong detachment to reinforce the six companies already sent*^ 

by Mr. Rumbold. The situation was doubtless grave, and it was not proper 

at the present moment to employ the Pargana sepoys elsewhere when their 

presence was necessary in the province itself for quelling the serious disturbances 

created by the hostile zamindars. Above all, the Committee hesitated to incur 

the additional expenses necessary for a second expedition without the previous 
approval of the Directors, and considered it more advisable immediately “to 

40 Letter from Mr. T. Rumbold, Jau. 3, 1758. 
41 Beng. Sel. Com. Dec. 11, 1767. 

42 Letter to Mr. T. Rnmbold, Feb. 10, 1758. 

43 "One complete battalion, besides five or six companies," Vid^ Letter from Mr. t. 

Rumbold, Feb. 15, 1798. 
44 Letter from President and Council of Fort. St. George in the Secret Department Jan. 

9,1768. 
43 Trans. R. 1767-68, No. 17. 

46 " " 18. 

47 •• " 28. If 
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reimburse to the Company the charges of the last expedition”^* from the newly 
occupied territories** on the borders of Bettiah than to embark on another 

costly enterprise. As correctly anticipated by the Committee, the Directors 

subsequently wrote to them in their general letter of November 11, 1768, “As 

we look with a favourable eye on every attempt for the extension of commerce, 

we do not disapprove the expedition to Napaul, and are sorry it failed of success. 

You did right not to renew the expedition till the state of your forces would 

better admit of it, and to hold in your possession lands taken from the Goorkah 

Rajah, as an indemnification for the expenses we had been put to; and they 

may be of use, should it hereafter be thought proper to renew the attempt.®* 

After the eventual conquest of Nepal by Prithvi Narayan any armed 

intervention in aid of the Newar princes was out of the question, and the 
authorities in Bengal decided at last to establish friendly relations with the 

Gurkha Chief in the hope of opening up trade between Bengal and the Himalyan 

countries- The Council at Calcutta at its meeting®^ of October 31, 1769, 

resolved to accept the offer®* of Mr. James Logan “to take a journey” to Nepal, 
Tibet, and other neighbouring lands, and deputed him on a commercial mission 

to these countries. Complimentary letters®* were accordingly despatched to 

Prithvi Narayan Shah, and to other hill chiefs informing them of Mr. Logan's 

impending deputation to them. The Governor particularly assured Prithvi 

Narayan Shah that because of their former ignorance of the true character 

of Newar Raja ‘the English Sardars’ had espoused his cause, “but now as he 

had be>n tried and found wanting, and as the praises of the Gurkha chief had 

been heard from every quarter,” the English were no more inclined to assist 

the former, and were sincerely” desirous of entering into friendship “with 

the present Gurkha Government of Nepal.®* The Gurkha chief was further 

reminded that a free trade between Bengal and Nepal was bound to be of 
mutual advantage} and therefore ought to be encouraged. 

All efforts to remove the misunderstanding caused b> the last expedition, 

48 Beog. Set- Com. Feb. 16, 1768. 

49 Letter to Court, Feb. 29, 1768- 

60 Letter from Court, Nov. 11, 1768. 

51 Beog. Pub. Coos. Oct. 31, 1769. 

62 Vide Mr. James Logan's Momorandum. (Home. O. C. No- 1 of Oct. 31,1769.) 
33 Cop. 1.1769-70. No. 103. (To Raja Jasa Goshmal). 

" * '* 104. ( -do- -do- ). 

" " 103. (To Ooraosen) 

" 106. (To Prithvi Narayan). 

•' " 107. ( -do- -do- ). 

” “ 108, etc. 
(To five other Rajaas) 

64 Cop. 1,1760-70. No. 107. Letter to Prithvi Narayan Shah, Nov. l3,1769. 
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and come to an agreement with Prithvi Narayan Shah on the question of trade 

proved abortive, and Mr. Logan’s mission^^ undertaken with every hope of 
success produced no tangible results. Being preoccupied in consolidating his 

new conquests in Nepal, Prithvi Narayan Shah had evidently no time for 

commercial negotiations, besides he was just at present greatly annoyed with 
the English for having occupied the Bettiah Tarai which belonged to him by 
virtue of his conquest of Makwanpur. 

THE TREATIES OF ALLAHABAD, 1765. 

Dr A. L. Srivastava, M. A., Ph- D., Bikanir 

After his final appeal to arms, which culminated in his overthrow on the 
battle-field of Kora, Shuja-ud-daulah, having been abandoned by his Maratha 

allies and his own troops, including the notorious Samru, and reduced to the 

last extremity, resolved to throw himself on the generosity of his erstwhile 
foes, the English, and personally wait on General Carnac without any condition 

or agreement^. 

The Preliminary Negotiations with Shuja-ud~(laulah. 
Shuja-ud-daulah stayed on near the English camp, anxiously awaiting the 

decision of the Calcutta Council, and there was an exchange of visits, formal 

courtesies and entertainments between him and the Commander-in-chief. Behind 
the cover of these social formalities diplomatic business was also transacted and 

negotiations were set on foot for settling the preliminaries of a peace with the 
Wazir. The latter being naturally anxious to know the terms to be granted to 
him, Carnac asked for the Committee’s instructions in the matter. The Select 

Committee, while approving of the Commander-in-chief’s suggestion that "every 
appearance of insult and violence to a person of Shujah Dowlah’s character 

ought to be carefully avoided” instructed him not to enter into any definite 

agreement till the arrival here of Lord Clive who was shortly to proceed to 
the camp with the object of immediately "establishing peace on a lasting solid 

foundation.’’ Meanwhile the General was asked to negotiate and settle the 

55 Latter to Court. Jan. 25 1770. 
56 Letter from Surgeon Jas. Logan to the Governor. Angntt 25 1769. This letter, which 

contains valuable information regarding the trans-Himalyan trade of Bengal and the Gurkha 
conquest of Nepal, deserves to be quoted in full. 

1 Bengal Select Committee's letter to President and council, Port St George, Dated 6th. 
July, 1765. 

70 
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preliminaries, and the points which were sought to be secored- for the Companjr- 

and op the basis of which negotiations were to be carried on were recommendedi 

as follows :-^Firstly, Balwant Singh should be pardoned and re-installed in the- 

State of Benares { secondly, Najaf Rhan should be restored to the Kora district 

and all those who had either joined or assisted the English in the late war should 

be: favoured and encouraged ; thirdly, Shah Alam-s honour, safety and means of 

subsistence should be guaranteed and finally, Mir Qasim and Samru should be 

surrendered or put to death by Shuja-ud daulah, But this last condition was 

not recommended as essential, as the Nawab Wazir was to be bound by ties of 

gratitude and not by compulsion. The Commander-in-chief was further instruc¬ 

ted to stipulate with Shuja-ud-daulah for the establishment of English factories 

and complete liberty of trade for them in his Subahs, but the Committee made 

it clear that they “meau not to support this privilege by any military force, nor 
to introduce troops or garrison into his (Shuja’s) country*.*’ Informal talks 
were now commenced on the basis of the above instructions. 

Negotiations were proceeding slowly through the medium of Rajah Shitab 
Rai. Although the Commander-in chief, in pursuance of the Committee’s 

instructions, deferred coming to a definite settlement with the Wazir, he gave him 

hopes of the return of Oudh to him and informed him that he would be required 
to pay war indemnity. The Nawab (clt grateful when the Commander-in-chief 

promised the restoration of his Subahs. “Shujah Dowlah”, wrote Carnac to the 

Calcutta authorities, “seems to me to have so much confidence in our generosity 

that he would not, I believe, have made the least scruple of going down to 

Calcutta, if it had been desired of him. He expressed the utmost readiness to 

accompany me to give Lord Clive the meeting at Patna.’’* But as regards war 

indemnity, he pleaded poverty and it was only after long negotiations and much 

difficulty that the General could make him promise to pay a sum of fifty lakhs of 
rupees.* After he had made the promise, the Wazir set to work to make 

arrangements for payprebt and tbeiCommander-in-chief reported to the Board a 

fortnight later that “Shujah Dowla has nearly got ready a deposit <rf money bills, 

jewels apd plate to the value of ten lacks jn part payment of the fifty which J 

stipulated with him for as an indemnification*’’. The next important problem that 

needed skilful handling was the fate of Mirza Najaf Khan. This “gallant youngman”, 
.writes Carnac “has lately been very active in our service,’’ and he was disliked 

- 2 Ben. Sel. Corn’s, letter to Carnac, dated lOth June, 1769, Yhi* Ben, Sol, Com. Proga of 
1765, pp. 51 A and 51 B ; also letter no. 13 in letters issned by Sel. Com., 1769, pp. 8-®. 
.3 Cftfnac’s leQer to Sel. Com. dated Allahabad, 8rd July, 1765, Vidt Ben. Sel. Com. Progs, 

of lOA Apgnst, 17U, p. 126> 
4 Ibid pp. 126-128. 

5 Canw’siettertoSel, Com., dated Allahabad. 18th July, Vida Ben. Sal. Com. Progs of 
3rd Angnat, 1765 (Vol. of 176S) p..l29, » I 
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both by Sbuja*ud*daulah and the Emperor. It was not without great diplomatic 
exertion that the. General eventually succeeded in persuading Shah Alam to 

agree to allow Najaf Khan to bold the districts of Kora and Allahabad under 

him.® Thus were the important preliminaries settled by the tact and firmness 

and generosity of Carnac, and Clive had merely to put the seal of his approval 

upon them. Shuja-ud-daulah's anxiety was now over and with the permission 

of the Commander-in chief, he called his mother and family to Allahabad.^ A 

few days after he and Carnac proceeded to Benares to receive Lord Clive who 

was coming to conclude a treaty with him and the Emperor, 

Clive starts for AJtahabad 

On 21st June 1765 the Bengal Select Committee had approved of Lord 

Clive’s resolution of establishing cordial friendship with the “country power" 
by a personal interview with Shuja-ud-daulah and other chiefs. Echoing his 

sentiments and policy the Committee authorised his Lordship in conjunction 

with Carnac "to stipulate such conditions with Shujah Dowlab, to form' such 
connections with the country powers and to pursue such means as you (Clive) 

shall judge necessary to the Company’s interest, the public welfare and obtaining 

a safe, honourable, advantageous and lasting peace.’’ His attention was invited 

to the instructions about the preliminaries communicated to Carnac on the 

10th June, recommending that the Wazir should be reinstated in all his dominions 

with a view to convert it into a strong and safe barrier against the Maratbas,' 

that an agreement should be made with Shuja-ud-daulah for carrying on trade 

and establishing factories in his country and that a grant of Diwani of Bengal, 

Bihar and Orissa should be obtained from the Emperor. Clive was further 

authorised to include any other conditions, if he thought it desirable.® 

In pursuance of the above resolution, Clive left Calcutta for Allahabad on 

25th June and on 1st July the Select Committee set forth in clear terms the 

main objects of his Lordship’s mission; “We have invested his Lordship in con¬ 

jugation with you” wrote the Committee to Col. Carnac “with full powers to 

negotiate with Shujah Dowlah and the country powers and you will perceive 

from the tenor of our instructions that our great aim is to obtain a lasting and 

honourable peace, to revive our languishing commerce, to impress the natiws with 
a sense of our justice aud moderation and to reduce those heavy military charges 

which have hitherto rendered our extraordinary successes and even the cession of 

rich provinces fruitless to the Company.® 

6 Caraao's letter of 3rd July, 1765 referred to above. 

7 Camac's letter of I8th July, 1765. referred to above. 

8 Sal. Com*a. letter to Clive, dated Fort Wiliam, 21st June 8765, Vide Ben. Sel. Com. 
Progt, of 1765, pp, 80-88. 

9 Ben. Sel. Coin’s letter to Carnac, dated Ist July, 1765, Vid$ Ben. Sel. Com. Progs, of 
17«, p, 04. 
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The Conferences with the Wazir and the Emperor. 
At Benares, Clive had a conference with Shuja-ud'daulah. The amount 

of indemnity as settled by Carnac was approved of and the mode and 

timelimit for payment were discussed and finally laid down. Of the fifty 

lakhs (rf Rupees stipulated upon Shuja-ud-daulah agreed to pay ten lakhs 

in cash and ten lakhs more in jewels at the time of the conclusion of the 

treaty, five lakhs on being put in possession of bis country and the 
remainning twenty five lakhs in 12 months.^^ 

Two or three meetings of the conference were enough to conclude this 

important business and now Clive decided to hasten to Allahabad in order to 
discuss terms with the Emperor and expedite the conclusion of treaties with him 

and with the Wazir. His desire was to fix the royal tribute from Bengal at Rupees 
20 lakhs annually; but as Carnac^ ^ had been in favour of 26 lakhs—the sum 

demanded by the Emperor and promised by the late Nawab Mir Jafar sometime 

back—he agreed to the latter sum, if Shah Alam were to insist on it. “1 think 20 

sufiicient,*’ he wrote to Sykes, “however as we intend to make use of his Majesty 

in a very extraordinary manner for obtaining nothing less than a Sunnud 

for all the revenues of the country, 6 lakhs of rupees will be scarce worth our 
disobliging the King, if he should make a point of it.”^^ With these settled 

views, Clive, accompanied by Carnac, Sbuja-ud>daulah and Munir-ud'daulah, 

left Benares on the 4th August and arrived at Allahabad on the 9th and held 
mere than one conference with the Emperor the same day. By an agreement 

between him and the Fort William authorities in December, 1764, Shah Alam 

was promised to be put in possession of the whole of Sbuja*ud>daulah's 

dominion save the State of Balwant Singh, which, by way of fulfilling bis part 

of the agreement the Emperor had conferred upon the Company by an imperial 

farman.^^ Now he expressed bis strong dissatisfaction, when he was informed 

that he would have ^ to' content himself with only two districts of the Waair’s 

subahs, namely. Kora and Allahabad. Although be acquiesced in this, be 

wrote to Clive requesting that all business relating to Bengal should be settled 

through Shitab Rai and the tribute might be paid month by month, that he 

should not be pressed to appoint Najaf Khan, who was unfit for business, as 

his manager for the districts of Allahabad and Kora, and that as be was anxious 

to march to Delhi after the rainy season an English officer with a powerful force 

10 IbM p. 145. 

11 Curnac bad been offered a present of two lakhs of mpeaa bjr Shah Alam (see Forrest, 
Clive if. 283). 

12 aive*a letter to Sykes, dated Benares, 3rd Angnst, 1765. Fide FoMet's Clive, 11. pp. 
281*282. 

18 Bam See. Cena. of fftt December, 1764, Vie. II. 747 ft Shah ftfam*a rteiiHm.ef 4th 
Rafabt 6th year of the riegn (FUa Ben. Sac, Con. Vol in 8*9), 
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might be deputed to accompany him*^. On Clive’s arrival at Allahabad 

the Emperor presented in Persian a paper of his demands that as agreed to 

by the late Nawab of Bengal the Company should pay him tribute at the rate 

of 26 lakhs of rupees annually for Bengal, Bihar and Orrissa, together with an 

annual sum of lakhs of rupees in commutation of the income of the jagirs 

of imperial officers in those provinces and that the Company should further 

discharge the arrears of tribute, that is 32 lakhs and put him in absolute 
possession of Kora and Allahabad districts.He was, however, persuaded to 

relinquish the Jagir and arrears items, though not without reluctance. He 

was further constrained to agree to allow Najaf Khan a handsome stipend 
from his own revenues from Bengal and to grant sanads (patents of appointment) 

of Nizamat (governorship) and Divoani for Bengal, Bihar and Orissa to Najm* 
ud-daulah of Bengal and to the English E^st India Company respectively 

The grant of Diwani to the Company, 12th August, 1765. 

The terms as finally settled were that Shah Alam was to be put in 

possession of the districts of Allahabad and Kora, yielding an annual revenue 

of 10 Lakhs and 18 lakhs respectively, that he was to appoint Mirza Najaf Khan 

(whom he distrusted) as the manager of these districts and allot to him an 

allowance of two lakhs of rupees out of the ! tribute from Bengal, and that he 

was to reside and hold his court in the Allahabad fort under the protection of 

the Company. Further, he was to issue imperial farmans conferring diwani of 

the three provinces on the Company and recognising Najm>ud-daulah as Nawab, 

while Clive on behalf of the Company bound himself to remit regularly the 

annual tribute of 26 lakhs of rupees to the royal treasury. Although, like the 
term requiring the Emperor to reside at Allahabad, it was not reduced to 

writing, it is certain that Clive promised to appoint a part of the English army 

to conduct the Emperor to Delhi at the end of the rainy season of 1766.'^ 

Shah Alam gave away to the company what was hardly his to give, and 

this epoch-making document merely recognised and registered what had long 

ago become an accomplished fact. And yet, paradoxical though it may 

appear, the Fort William authorities and Clive had since 1760 been very anxious 

to secure some such recognition of their position in Bengal by a fiat of this 

imperial phantom. However powerful, the company’s position in Bengal before 
the royal grant was that of an usurper in the eyes of European powers as well 

as the Indian world. “Low as the fortune of the Mogul had fallen,” rightly 
remarks the historian H. Beveridge, “he was still nominally supreme and 

14 CPC. I. 2687. 

19 Letters from Camac and Clive to Set. Com, dated Allahabad, 12th Angast, 1763, Vid* 

Batik Sel. Com. Progs of 1769, pp. M7—8. 

16 Ibid. 

17 CPC. !• 2688; Shigaraf-nama, 8b> 
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contiooed to be appealed to as the valid disposer of kingdoms, long after he; 
had ceased to have any real authority within them. It was desirable, therefore, 

that the Company in appropriating the whole civil and military power of th& 

three provinces should obtain his sanction.”^^ The farman of the 12ib August 

not only appointed the Company Divoan of the three eastern provinces, which 
carried with it the duties of the settlement of land, collection of all kinds of 

revenues and administration of civil justice, but also thereby conferred upon her 

for the first time the status of an Indian power. Its importance, therefore, 
cannot be over-estimated. 

The treaty with Shuja-ud-daulah, 16th August, 1765. 
. ’ The treaty of friendship and alliance between Nawab Njam-ud>daulah 

and the English East Indian Company on the one hand and Sbuja-ud-daulah 

on the other was formally concluded on the 16th August. By the first article 
of this treaty “perpetual and universal peace, sincere friendship and firm union” 

were established between the contracting parties. The second article laid down 

that in case of the invasion of the dominion of any one member of the party, 
the others should help him with a part or the whole of his force. “In the case 

of the English Company’s forces being employed in His Highness’ (Shuja’s) 

service, the extraordinary expense of the same is to be defrayed by him." 

Nothing was, however, to be paid to the Wazir’s troops, if they were employed 

on a similar mission in the Company's service. Thirdly, Shuja-ud-daulah 

agreed never to entertain or receive Mir Qasim, Samru or any other European 
deserters of the Company in his Subahs and to deliver up all future European 

deserters from the Company. Fourthly, he bound himrclf to cede the 
districts of Kora and Allahabad to Emperor Shah Alam II. Fifthly, he 

guaranteed Balwant Singh of Benares all his Zamindari he possessed at the 

time of his joining the English on the condition of his paying him the 

same revenue as heretofore. Sixthly, he agreed to pay to the Company a war 

indemnity of fifty lakhs^of rupees, of which 12 lakhs in cash and 8 lakhs in 

jeweb were to be paid immediately, 5 lakhs one month after the conclusion of the 

treaty and the remaining 25 lakhs by monthly instalments, the whole to be 

discharged in 13 months from the date of the treaty. Seventhly, the fort 

of Chunar was to remain in possession of the English until the last instalment of 
the indemnity was paid off by the Wazir. Eighthly, the Wazir allowed 

the Company to trade duty free in his country. Ninthly, Shuja-ud-daulah 

promised to fwgive and not to molest all those subjects of his who had in any 

way assisted the English during the late war. Tenthly, it was agreed that 

as socm as the treaty was executed all the Company’s troops, except 

those necessary for garrisoning Chunargarh and for the protection of the 

U A. Comprabensive HUtory of India by H. Bevaridge, Vd. I. pp. 691—92. . 
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Empercv at Allahabad, should be withdrawn from Shuja>ud*daxilah’s dominioni 

And finally the parties solemnly bound themselves to observe the- terms of the. 

treaty faithfully.^® The treaty was “signed, sealed and solemnly sworn, according 

to their respective faiths by the contracting'parties" at Allahabad and it was 

Approved by Shah Alam II who affixed his own seal to it. 

Except in regard to article number 8, which, as originally drafted, allowed 

the establishment of English factories with their concomitants (e. g. gumastas and 

troops) in Shuja-ud-daulah*s dominion, little difficulty was encountered in the 

negotiation and settlement of the above terms. Dreading the consequences of 

establishment of factories, the Wa^ir strongly opposed the inclusion of that part 
of the article, and Clive, therefore, agreed to the omission of the objectionable 

clause. Forwarding a copy of this treaty and the sanads of the Diwani grant to 
the Select Committee at Calcutta, Clive and Carnac wrote on 20th August that 
Shuja-ud'daulah “cheerfully consented to every condition except that of our 

maintaining factories in his country, the consequences of which he dreaded...®®’’. 
“It gives us the real concern to acquaint you,’’ they added, “that Sujah Dowla 

expressed the greatest reluctance at consenting to the 8th Article. He frankly 

confessed that our encroachments in Bengal with regard to trade and the 

great abuses and exactions committed by the Company’s servants and others 

countenanced by them made him apprehensive of the consequences in his own 

dominions and that be dreaded much our having Factories, etc. would, if anything 

could, cause a rupture betwixt us in short the Nabob expressed so much uneasiness 

abut the word Factories particularly, that at last we agreed to leave it out, as 

you will observe in the treaty, and indeed we cannot help thinking from the 

appearance of things at present, that we had better withdrawn the factory of 

Benares altogether when Bulwund Sing’s engagement to the Company expires®^’’. 

The agreement between the Emperor Najm-ud'datUah and the Company, 

19th August, 1765. 

On the 19th August an agreement was made between the company and 

Najm.ud daulah on the one hand and the Emperor on the other relating to the 

• tribute to be paid to tbejatter from Bengal........ 

Reflections on the Treaties of Allahabad. 

The treaties of Allahabad consititute a landmark of supreme importance 

in the annals of the English East India Company and introduce an epoch of 

far reaching consequences in that of India in general and Oudb in particular. 

19 I, O* 1765^ pp* 848-42> Most of the Persian authorities such as Siyar, T, M*, 
‘ Kalyan, etc^; give > general description of the terms of the treaty. Only Khair-nd-din p. I62t gives 
. the terms in detail v There are a few mistakes in the enumeration by all these authorities. 

20 Clive and qamac's letter to Sel. Com. dated Allahabad, 20th August, 1765, Vide Ben, Sel. 
^ Com. Proge, 1768, ^ 149, 

” 31 Powis Masi quoted by Fq^rest, Vide;C\iy^. |I 299*90, 
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They clearly denned the rdations of the company with her ndghbours and 

laid the foandaticm of an honourable and lasting peace with them. In fact 
they brought about a momentous change in the Company’s status in India. 

The imperial/(Elman conferring upon the company the Diwani of the three 

eastern provinces and rightly designated as the Magna Carta of that trading 
organisation, with it conferred upon it the legal position and status of an Indian 

power and a definite place ip the body politic of the Mughul Empire. The 

English became absolute masters in the eyes of the Indian world, of certain of 

their possessicms ceded to them by the late governors of Bengal and Karnatik, 

not by right of cession or conquest but by reason of the Imperial decrees issued 
at Allahabad. The documents embodying the settlement of these weighty 

problems and privileges must claim a premier rank among the treaties of the 

East India Company with Indian powers. 

The settlement with Oudh was the most permanent achievement of 

the conference. In the treaty between the Company and Shuja>ud>daulah 

the observant eye can detect the germ of a subsidiary alliance, a policy 

that subsequently immortalised the period of Lord Wellesley’s Governor- 

Generalship. Though Shuja-ud-daulab was nominally recognised as an 

equal power with the company at the time of the treaty, he became in 
effect a subordinate and protected ally, if not a tribute-paying vassal, 

and some of the articles furnished a plausible plea of interference with his 
administration and with some of bis pet schemes. The British treatment 
towards him was not so much due to generosity for a fallen enemy as to the 

dictates of policy. Clive and Carnac held that Shuja-ud-daulah alone was 

capable of interposing a strong barrier between the Company’s pussessions and 

its probable enemies and invaders and that his restoration to Oudh would be 

the best security of Bengal's frontier. It is unnecessary to emphasise that these 

considerations were primarily responsible lor the results and that magnanimity 

of the Company’s pAneipal agents played but a secondary part. Opposed to the 

extension of their conquest, the Company’s one supreme object at this juncture 

was the permanence and safety of their possessions of Bengal, Bihar and Orissa. 

By reason of his hereditary position, natural talent and experience, Shuja-ud* 

daulab was thought to be the only person “capable of interposing an effectual 
barrier" between those Suiahs and the Marathas who had long been anxious to 
acquire a foothold in them. 

The settlement made with the Emperor is even more striking. It reduced 

Bhab Alam to the status of a mere pensioner of the Company. The political 

arrangement with him was less satisfactory and naturally it did not evoke the 

chorus of praise with which the solution of the problem of relationship with 

Sbuja-ttd'daalab had been received. Considering the peculiar circoinsttfiices of 
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the case and the difficulties of Clive, it can at best be pronounced to have been 
a temporary political expedient. But even as such it is open to criticism on 

political and moral grounds. Without any stretch of imagination it could have 

been seen that Shah Alam, who was still nominally the Emperor of the whole 
country, would not resist the temptation of marching to Delhi and occupying 

his ancestral capital and throne. Indeed, within a year of the treaty, he got 
tired of the galling tutelage of Colonel Smith, the Head of the Company’s troops 
at Allahabad, and this together with his natural desire to be a full-fledged 

sovereign, and the failing health and resignation of Najib-ud>daulah the dictator 

at Delhi, obliged him to eagerly lend his ears to the Maratha overtures for 
installing him on his forefather’s throne, and before the year 1771, had rolled 

into eternity, he was at the gates of the imperial capital. Clive’s political 
arrangement was thus broken and Warren Hastings was faced with an ugly 
situation on the assumption of the office of governorship in April, 1772. As 
regards the charges that Clive treated in a cavalierly fashion a monarch in 
distress and that he threw away a golden opportimity of establishing the 

Company’s rule over Delhi and the whole of India by not taking possession of 

the capital in the name of Shah Alam, these may be dismissed as the objections 
of the political theorist. Even if he had been given the whole of the Allahabad 

province, it is doubtful whether Shah Alam would have preferred to remain 

for ever as the Company’s pensioner at Allahabad to the prospects and the 
glamour of ruling at his ancestral metropolis. However feasible from the 
military point of view, an expedition to Delhi would have been nothing short 

of a great political blunder, as it would have united the whole of the country 
against the Company. A real and great moral objection against the arrangement 

is that it violated the terms of a former treaty with the Emperor without any 

special reason save the plea of expediency. Only a few months before the 
treaty of Allahabad the Fort William authorities (Spencer and Council) had 

entered into an agreement wtth Shah Alam 11, promising to put him in 

possession of the whole of Shuja-ud-dualah’s dominions, if the Emperor 
granted to the Company the State of Benares, then in the pcssession of Balwant 

Singh. Shah Alam had fulfilled his part of the agreement and issued a fartnan 

conferring the Zamindari of Benares on the English on the same terms and 
rights as it had been enjoyed by the ex-Wazir*^. At Allahabad, however, he 

was told that he would have now to content himself with only two Subahs and 

he had to acquiesce without delay. It is interesting to note that during the 

course of the negotiations Clive solemnly pledged his word for an armed 

assistance to the Emperor in his enterprise to march to Delhi and regain his 
ancestral throne, if a necessary sanction for the same could be obtained from 

as Sliah Alua’a Farmu dated 4th Rajjab of dth year of hie reign, referred to above. 
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the King of England. On Clive’s suggestion a letter was drafted and a Muslim 
envoy of noble birth named Aitisam-ud'din was sent to England along with 

Captain Swinton to represent Shah Alam’s case before His Britiannic Majesty. 

After 2 years and 9 months' absence Aitisam>ud>din returned from London 
without having realised the object of his mission. He was not allowed to 

approach George III and the presents, valued at a lakh of rupees, sent by the 

Mughal Lord and intended for the king of England, were made by Clive, as 

if they had been offered by him and from his own pocket, without any reference 

to the name of Shah Alam of India. No wonder that Aitisam-ud'din and 

Swinton charged Clive with "breach of faith"., {Lord Clive bad ahdi wa dagha 

natnud\?^ To the modern student of the period, the story of His Lordship’s 

act makes a sickening study and it is difficult to resist the conclusion that he 

played this dirty trick to make Shah Alam agree to the harsh terms he was 
dictating without strong protests from him. 

REVOCATION OF LORD HEYTESBURY’S APPOINTMENT. 

O. P. Bhatnagar M. A., Allahabad University. 

The subject of this paper is unfamiliar to many students of modern 

Indian History. The reason being that the general books on the subject do not 

contain any reference. Even one who has wider reading does not know beyond 

this much that Lord Heytesbury was selected for the Governor Generalship 

of India in the ^ear 1835 but before he could sail his appointment was 

cancelled. We come across only casual references in works like 'British 

Government in India’ by Curzon and 'Life of Sir Charles Metcalfe, by Edward 

Thompson. In Kay’s 'Life of Sir Charles Metcalfe’ we come across the following 

passage "one of the first acts of the new ministry was to revoke Lord 

Heytesbury’s appointment He had received the usual valedictory entertainment 

from the East India Company, he had drawn the outfit allowance granted to 

every new Governor General, he had made every preparation for his voyage 
to India by the Jupitar—but he had not sailed. The Whigs were just in time 

to arrest his departure. They determined Lord Heytesbury should not be 

Governor General (p. 294). 

23 AitiHUD-od-din wm the first educated Indian, and not Rajah Rammohan Roy, as is 
ccamooly biit wroivhr balievad all over tbe country, to go to Rngland. 
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The above passage excites one’s curiosity as to why the appointment of 

a Governor General, who had been appointed by a former Government headed 

by Sir Robert Peel should have been cancelled. Some important constitutional 

issues were involved in the question which were emphasised at the time the 
cancellation was announced. Should the power of cancellation vested in the 

crown, have been exercised ? Did it mean that the Governor General should 
have been a man of the party in power ? Was it not an encroachment on 

the powers of the Court of Directors, so far as patronage was concerned ? 

Let us first try to know a little about the antecedents of Lord Heytesbury, 

for that would prove that he was not a man of mean repute and it was not 

on grounds of competence that his appointment was revoked. 

Baron Heytesbury—William A* Court (1779-1860) was the eldest son 

of Sir William Pierce Ashe A’ Court Bt. MP. for Aylesbury. In the year 1801 

Lord Heytesbury was appointed secretary of the British legation at Naples. 

He held various responsible posts. He was appointed the 1st Commissioner 
of affairs at Malta. He served as ambassador at the courts of Spain and 

Portugal and finally he was transferred to Russia where he remained till the 
year 1832 (Dictionary of National Biography Vol. XXVI p. 328). His services 

on the continent were very highly spoken of. 

Thus we see that the man chosen for the post of the Governor General 

belonged to a good family and had distinguished himself in foreign and political 

service. Besides it was not that the appointment had been thrust upon the 

Court of Directors by Sir Robert Peel. A resolution had been passed by the 

Court of Directors of the East India Company on the 28th of January, 1835 

appointing the Rt. Hon’ble Lord Heytesbury, G. C. B. Governor General of 

India and it was accompanied by a request to his majesty that according to 

the 42nd section of the Act 3rd and 4th William 4th Cap 85 approbation 

should be granted (Letters to Board of Contrpl Vol. 13 p. 239). Rev. G. 

Tucker, one of the Directors of the East India Company writes in his merqorials. 

"Lord Heytesbury’s appointment was the free and unbiassed act of the court. 

It devolved upon me to have the honour of proposing him to my colleagues 

and I did so, not hastily, not under the domineering influence of the Gk>vemment, 

but deliberately after enquiry and after satisfying myself that his Lordship 

was likely to do ample justice to the high and responsible trust which it was 
proposed to comflde to him (pp. 449-50). 

On the Sth of February, Lord Ellenborough, the then president of the Board 

of Control informed the Court of Directors that 'His Majesty has been graciously 

pleased to signify his approval of the appointment of Lord Heytesbury to be 

governor Geqera} of Incfia*. (Letters from Board of Control Vcl. 10 p. 164), 
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The Court of Directors also in their despatch of 27th February 1835| to 

the Government of India and Bengal, announced that they had appointed the 

Rt. HonUe Lord Heytesbury G. C. B. Governor General of India (India and 

Bengal Despatches, Vol. Ill p. 1020). 
Thus we see that the appointment of Lord Heytesbury was in every way 

complete. But the Government of Sir Robert Peel came abruptly to an end 

in April 1835 and was succeeded by a whig cabinet with some slight 

modifications under Lord Melbourne, Its first act was to revoke the 

appointment of Lord Heytesbury, 

So far as the legality of the step was concerned, it could not have 

been questioned. The power of recall or revoking appointments was first 

vested in the crown in the year 1784. Such a power was intended as a 

provision against misrule, and during the period of more than fifty years 
since Parliament first gave to his majesty authority to remove the servants 

of the company, there had been only one instance which occurred during 
Lord Granvilles administration in the year 1806. Sir George Barlow was 
appointed Governor General of India by the court but it was not approved 

by the crown. In this case there was a previous interchange of sentiments 

between the King’s ministers and the court and the act of revocation was 

accompanied by an exposition of the grounds upon which it had been advised 

and could be justified. Not one reason however was given for setting aside 

in- so abrupt and unprecedented a manner the appointment of Lord Heytesbury. 
Change of Government should not necessarily have meant the revocation of the 

appointment of a Governor General. Lord Minto had been appointed in July 
1806 but did not sail till February 1807, when the Government had undergone 

a change. Lord William Bentinck was appointed under the administration 

of Mr. Canning but before he could sail the administration was changed 
twice. Yet his nomination remained unchanged. When the question was 

debated in the HpuSe of Commons, Marquis of Lansdowne pointed out 

on June 29,1835 that Sir Robert Peel had also been appointed the Governor of 

Bombay. Besides Mr. Macaulay had been appointed a law member by the 

Government preceding Sir Robert Peel's. None of these two appointments 

had been cancelled. 

The Court of Directors lodged a strong protest against such an action 

of the Government. In their letter to Sir John Hobhonse, who had now 

become the President of the Board of Control, dated the 6th of May 1835, 

they mentioned, "The court do not forget that the nomination (rf Lord 

HQ^tesbury was made and his appointment completed daring the late 

administration. But this fact connected with his removal by the present 

ministers, fills the court with apprehension and alarm as respects both India and 
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tbemadves. It has always been the court’s endeavour in their public acts 

and specially in their nominations to office, to divest themselves of political 

bias, and in the same spirit they now consider it to be their duty franhly and 

firmly to express their decided conviction, that the vital interests of India will 

be sacrificed if the appointments of Governors are made subservient to political 

objects in this country and if the local authorities, and through them, all public 

servants are led to feel that tenure of office abroad is dependent upon the 

duration of an administration at home an 1 further that the revocation of an 

appointment such as that 'of Lord Heytesbury for no other reason, so far as 

the court can judge, than that the ministry has changed, must have the effect 
of lessening the authority of the court and consequently impairing its usefulness 

and efficiency as the body entrusted with the Government of India”. (Letters to 

Board of Control Vol. 13 pp. 402-4). 

The Court of Directors felt that they had been virtually set aside as a 

useless organ of administration. They considered themselves independent of 

all political influence and deemed India above party politics. The step taken 

by the Government meant that East India Company and its possessions were to 

be made subservient to political convenience in England. 

Feelings were all the more bitter because no reasons had been assigned for 

the treatment meeted out to Lord Heytesbury. Sir John Hobhonse said in the 

House of Commons, ”.that unless the House of Commons should force 
them by a decided vote against them, they would not consent to inform the 

House why it had revoked the appointment of Lord Heytesbury.” (Hansard 

June 29, 1835). He even stressed the fact that the Court of East India 
Proprietors had not called any meeting for the purpose of considering any 

subject of importance. The Court of Proprietors, thus did not consider this 

matter as important. 
There was one thing which appeared very incongruous to the Court of 

Directors. And this point was brought out by them in their letter to the 

President of the Board of Control. "The astonishment of the court upon the 
occasion is increased by reference ,to a letter which they received only a few 

months since (dated the 1st of October last) from one of the present ministers, 

then President of the Board, in which the court were informed that His Majesty’s 
ministers declined to approve of the appointment of Sir Charles Metcalfe to be 

Governor General as a temporary arrangement and they deemed it their doty 

to intimate their decided opinion that in reference to the present state of India 

no time should be lost in appointing a permanent successor to Lord William 

Bentinck. And now that the court have taken that course the permanent 

appointment which with the king’s approbation they made is suddenly vacated, 

and you inform ns that it is not tho intention of the king’s ministers to 
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recouuumd the approval of aay other successor to Lord William Bentinck, 

previously to the arrival of his lordship in England,'* (Letters to the Board of 

Control, Vol. 13. pp. 402—4) 

On the basis of the material available one can conclude that the only 

reason for the conduct of ministers was that they had no confidence in Lord 

Heytesbury and no arguments of the Court of Directors could have persuaded 

them to have confidence in him. This is evident from the following passage 

also, ''Palmerston, however, on resuming the foreign office was believed to have 
used his influence to set aside this nomination and to procure the appointment 

of Lord Auckland, then first Lord of Admiralty. The supposed objection to 

Heytesbury was his known sympathy with Russia at a moment when distrust 

of Russian designs on the North West Frontier was about to become the key. 

note of Anglo-Indian Statesmanship (Political History of England Vol. XII by 

G. C. Brodrick and J. K. Fothringham p. 412). This point was also stressed in 

the House of Commons during the debate on the subject It was mentioned 

that Lord Heytesbury was supposed to entertain political opinion not exactly 

consonant with those of the Government. 

Nothing else can be very definitely asserted so long as the entire mass of 

despatches that passed between the Court of Directors and the Board of Control 
as well as the secret papers concerning the transactions of the British Cabinet 

are not looked into. The Court of Directors felt offended because it meant that 
the patronage of India was made subservient to political parties at home. 
They also realised that the Board of Control was exceeding its powers which 

implied only political control. 

There is no doubt that the incident was the first and the last of its kind. 

Similar events might have happened behind the stage subsequently, but 

we are not aware of them. Revocation of Lord Heytesbury’s appointment did 

not have any repercussions on Indian politics. May be if he had come the history 

of subsequent years mig^t have been a little different. The British Government 

in India might not have suffered so acutely from Russophobia. 
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FINANCIAL RELATIONS BETWEEN OUDH AND THE EAST INDIA 
COMPANY, FROM 1785 TO 1793. 

Dr. P. Basu M. A., Ph. D., Lucknow. (Extracts) 

It is a generally known fact that in the early years of the East India 

Company’s establishment of empire in India, Oudb bad served them as a 

prolific source of income. In fact, Warren Hastings’ financial dealings with 

Oudh formed some of the principal grounds for his impeachment. Those 

dealings have been dealt with in greater details in a book on “Warten Hastings 

and Oudh” by Dr. C. C. Davies of Oxford, which is awaiting publication. I 

shall deal here chiefly with the period immediately following the departure 

of Warren Hastings. 

One of the first acts of Cornwallis in India was to arrive at a settlement 

with Oudh. For this purpose he interviewed Haider Beg at Calcutta during 

February*March 1787. He explicitly declared to the minister the principles 

on which, in his opinion, it would be expedient to continue friendly relations 

between the two Governments. They were, (a) on the part of the Company, 

their government would totally abstain from interfering in the management 

of revenue, commerce, and internal government of Oudh, but that they would 

undertake the entire conduct of the sarkar’s political negotiations with its 

neighbours as well as the defence of Oudh from all external enemies; and (6) 

that the Oudh sarkar would defray all civil and military expenses incurred 

by the Company in keeping the above engagements.^ Negotiations were 

completed by the end of March and a new financial settlement came into 

force in October, with retrospective effect from March 1, 1787. In the meantime 

the sarkar had paid into the Company’s treasury by the end of Febrnary 

Rs. 18,59,758-10 which included refunds ordered by Cornwallis to the extent 

of Rs. 1,86,594-3-11. According to accounts the arrears due on March 1, 1787 

amounted to Rs. 34,92,940-7-1. By the new arrangement only Rs. 12,30,505-0-2 

of this was accepted as due, the rest written off the accounts.^ 

By the new arrangement^ the Oudh sarkar engaged to pay to the Company 

Rs. 50 lakhs a year which, Cornwallis had estimated, would cover the expenses 

of the two brigades and the regiment at Lucknow, the residency, and the 

allowances to Saadat Ali and the Rohilla sardars for which the Company 

1 Ross: Cornwallis Correspondence Vol. 1* 261-2—Cornwallis to Select Committee of the 

Court o£ Directors. Mar. 4, 1787. 
2 Ben. Sec» Con, Mov. 20, 1789. In discharge of this the sarkar paid separately during July- 

Aug. 1787 a sum of Rs. 11,18,972-6-10 the balance of Rs 1,11,538-9-4 was carried over to the new 

accounts; Ben. Lett, vol Sd—CWallis to Select. Comm, of Ct. of Dir. May 17, 1787. 

I Aitchison : Treaties Sanads etc. fl930) Vol, 2. No. L. 
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government were gurantee. It was agreed that in case any considerable change 

in the number of the subsidiary (ore: toc4c place, readjustment in the sutsidy 

would accordingly be made.. The qists (iostalto^ts) were fixed as follows.— 

In cash every month...Rs. 3,25,000.Total Rs. 39,00,000 

In drafts in August. 5,00,000 

Do. do. in the last month of the year. 6,00,000 

Total Fyzabad Rs. 50,00,000 

Cornwallis observed* that the sums obtained from Oudh during the 

previous nine years averaged Rs. 84 lakhs per year. It is to be noted that 

formerly the current dues amounted to between 30 and 40 lakhs a year, the 

extras added later were responsible for making the actual figures so high. By 

Cornwallis's arrangement the initial sum engaged to be paid, viz. 50 lakhs, 

was higher than the nominal engagements of the previous years, but the effective 

demands were, until at least Cornwallis’s departure, much more regulated and 

restricted. 

It took Cornwallis a year to put into order the 'accounts with Oudh. 

After October 1787, when the new settlement came into force, the accounts 

for next ten years show considerable relief. Debits, credits and balances tallied 

and very few extra demands were allowed. Owing to the Company's 

extraordinary expenses tm account of the war with Tipu, the Oudh sarkar 

offered to help the Company and in June 1791 the governor-general took loan 

of 12 lakhs of rupees, repayable in 4 instalments by the end of August 1793*. 

But owing to the distressed state of Oudh this loan was repaid before time. 

In spite of better regulated accounts the Oudh sarkar became since 1787 

rather irregular in its payment of the Company’s qists. Letters between the 

governor-general and the residents show that the ministers were almost 

invariably late in payiqg,’ and only did so after repeated requests. On the 

other hand, when pressed they suddenly made an effort and liquidated a large 

part of the arrears. At the end of the first year of the new stttleinent (March 

31, 1788) the arrears amounted to Rs. 7,61,173-12-10, reduced next year to 

Rs. 3,43,324-0-6. On March 31, 1790 the arrears stood at Rs. 3,07,502-4 11, 

and a year later at Rs. 3,51,099-6-7. In the beginning of 1792 Haidar Beg 

became seriously ill, the payments became still more irregular and the balance 

due of March 31, 1792 increasd to Rs. 5,98,033-0-5. Haidar Beg died in June 

and a short period of confusion followed The Nawab’s personal expenses and 

debts kept on increasing and the ministers could not pay the Company's dues 

r^larly. As a in measure of relief Cornwallis August 1792 gave the sarkar 

4 Ben. 8ac.Caa. Apr. 20. 1737—G. C.’smiDiite. 
9 Ben. Pol. Coo. Jna. 81, 7191. 
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credit for six lakhs remaining out of the 12 lakhs lent by Oudh in 1791 but 

which vmt'e repayable in 1793. Yet the balance on March 31, 1793 stood as 

high as Rs. 9,21,607-14-2, the highest between 1788 and 1797. Haidar Beg’s 

successor. Raja Takait Rai, made great efforts and reduced it'to Rs. 3,62,683-4-9 

on October 1793, just before Cornwallis’s departure from India. 

It will be noticed from the above survey that the period upto 1793 can 

be divided into two sections with regard to the financial relations between 

the two governments—(a) upto 1686 and (6) 1786-93. During the first period 

very large sums of money were realised from Oudh. That province had 

undoubtedly been used as a fruitful financial resource for the Bengal government 

when the latter were in monetary distress. Such was the case during the 

whole of the period of Warren Hastings’s administration. Under the subsequent 

government of Macpherson, who was highly unscrupulous, indiscriminate 

patronage added considerably to the Company’s receipts from Oudh. During 

the whole of Cornwallis’s administration England was at peace |with her 

principal enemy in those days, viz France, and th^t helped him in carrying out 

his honest intention of not laying extra burdens upon the sarkar. War broke 

out again, however, in 1793 and the Company’s finances in India began to be 

unfavourably disturbed, and before long its repercussions were felt in Oudh. 

ADMINISTRATIVE INTERFERENCE IN THE SALTPETRE TRADE OF 

INDIA IN THE SEVENTEENTH CENTURY. 

Prof. Jagadish Narayan Sarkar, Patna College. 

{Extracts) 

Students of [Mughal history are familiar with numerous instances of 

complaints of foreign merchants against frequent administrative interference 

in their trade in different articles, of which saltpetre was an important one. 

But no systematic and critical study of the nature and the extent of this 

interference in saltpetre trade has yet been attempted. Mr. Moreland has, of 

course, pointed out that “the trade was subject to frequent interference on the 

part of the authorities” and observed that such “official interference” was one 

of the difficulties “attending the trade”.» But we must distinguish between 

administrative control of the industry and trade for state purposes* on the one 

hand, and interference therein on the other, varying according to the influence 

of personal equation or decline in administration and consequent disorders. 

I Morabod, Frem AUar (a AttreticM^, p. U2, 
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Prohibition, if based on a sound and conscious policy, is good and benibcial to 
the state and the country, but irrational prohibition, guided by nothing but 
motives of private illicit gains can never be justified. The latter indicates a low 

level of administratfve morality and sets up a chronic tendency to corruption 

and to evasion of authority, from the high to the low, and the indigenous to the 
foreigner. Yet, such being the case in the history of India at that time, wherever 
we turn—from Agra to the Carnatic, or from Bengal to Gujarat,—the tale is 

everywhere the same. 

A critical study of contemporary English factory correspondence, as given 

in Sir Wiliiam Foster’s monumental series, ‘The English Factories in India’ 

continued by Sir Charles Fawcett, and of the accounts of the foreign merchants, 

agents and travellers, help us to know how and to what extent administrative 

interference reacted adversely on Indian saltpetre trade of the period. 

In the first place, we notice everywhere the tendency on the part of the 

provincial governors and the officials to interfere in the saltpetre trade, 
occasionally under the pretence of imperial orders, but often on their own 
initiative—either by local extortion or by detention of saltpetre caravans or 

cafilas or boats. This evil was aggravated by the system of farming out 
saltpetre; which prevailed in Gujarat and Bijapur, in the middle of the 
seventeenth century. Owing either to practical abeyance or decline of imperial 

authority, the unrestrained subordinate officers became very exacting. What 

Job Charnock wrote of Patna in 1679 was true also of other parts of India. He 

observed : “Here is one order or Government. Every petty officer makes a 

prey of us and abuseing us at pleasure to screw what they can out of us.”^ 
The English factors remarked significantly, “The Governor’s underlings were 

as bad as be.’’^ 

Secondly, administrative changes like new appointments and transfers of 

officials, etc. affected tjie course of saltpetre trade. The privileges granted by 

one governor might be cancelled by his successor. Thus one had to begin afresh 

with a new man, and the resultant evils in delay and expense were aggravated 

by other circumstances. Here we must distinguish between ease-loving and 

backboneless governors like Murad and Sbuja, under whom the prospects 

of the English Company might brighten up, and strong and otherwise efificieot 
men like Aurangzeb, Shaista Khan, or Mir jumla, under whom the Company 

had to sffer numerous vexations. 
Thirdly, to cope with the corruption of the high officials (e. g. the 

2 This subject has been dealt by me in a paper entitled "The organisation of the saltpetre 
Indnstriesof India in the Seventeenth Century.” In the forthcoming WintermiU No. of 1. H. Q. 1938. 

3 Master II, 272*6. For widespread disobedience ef Aurangaeb's orders, see Muntakhab- 
ul'Subab, B. and £>. VII, ^ 

4 Poster, JBtwHsh FMerisf, 1646*55,130. 
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Governor) end to secure a royal farman for the release of their detained goods, 

the English had to spend money at the imperial court. This they considered 

to be the lesser of the two evils. The Surat factors pertinently remarked (March 

28, 1654): “...they daily expecMrom Agra a farman ordering the release 

not only of the Ahmadabad saltpetre but also that stopped at Patna by the 

Governor there. Though such a/<rr»ian means an outlay at Court, it is better 

to spend money thus than to bribe the local officials, who are never satisfied”.^ 

Lastly, there was even no certainty that the royal mandate would be 

always obeyed. When in 1646 Aurangzeb as Governor of Gujrat forbade the 

transport of saltpetre, the English factors at Swally Marine (March 30) did not 

expect its speedy release. As the Emperor was far off at Lahore, and the Court 

was usually dilatory, it was impossible to get a timely redress. Even if a royal 

warrant was given, the English factors thought it very doubtful whether it would 

be obeyed®. 

AN EARLY CHAPTER IN THE HISTORY OF MODERN INDIAN 

RENASCENCE. 

Proof. Shanti Prasad Verma, M. A, Indor. 

Serampore Mission—Late in the evening of October 14, 1799 Col. Bie, 

the Danish Governor of Serampore received at his residence four weary 

travellers on their way to the British Settlement of Kidderpore. Marshman, 

Ward, their two friends and Wiliam Carey settled down at Serampore and 

started a press there. The settlement attracted a good deal of public attention. 

There was a constant succession of visitors to the Mission house and much 

time was spent in discussing religious questions with them. 

Education came fs a side-issue. Schools were started for feeding the 

missionaries and their press. But it was the education work which obtained 

a real success. Missionary work had hardly received any response. By 

18l7, forty-five schools for Indian children had been established in a 

circle of about twenty miles around Serampore, where 2000 students received 

the elements in their own vernacular. In 1818, the first college was established 

in India, at Serampore, 'for training of Indian and European youth in Eastern 

and Western science and literature.’ These institutions were started with 

5 Foster, Engliah Facioriei, 1651 >54, pp. 251>2. 

0 Ibitf, 1646-50, p. 34. pp. 78-9. Sarkar, AurangM^b, V. 324. 
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a motive: evangelization through native agency. They had their roots in religion- 
But since no restrictions were imposed, and they favoured vernacular education 

rather than Anglican, and imparted a knowledge of Western sciences too through 

the medium of vernacular they brought abouk a veritable awakening in the 

minds of the Indian youth. 

College of Fort William—In April 1801, William Carey received an 

invitation, through Chaplain Brown, to join the College of Fort William founded 
by Wellesle)', as the professor of Sanskrit and Bengali. The College was founded 

in order to educate the civil servants of the Cotnpany in the languages, laws 

and institutions of the country, so as to establish the British Empire in India 
on the solid foundation of ‘ability, integrity, virtue and religion’. The College 

of Fort William became the meeting ground for the best European and 

Indian intellects. 

Beginning of Modem Bengali Literature.—The first fruits of the contact 

were visible in the revival of the Bengali literature. Carey’s translation of 

the Bible in Bengali had little of the literary value attributed to it by a 
section of writers. 

Introduction of Printing.—To the Western influence, if not to Western 

missionaries, the revival of the modern literature of Bengal is due. But it 

was the Western missionary who brought her the new type, for however 

ulterior purposes, Halhed’s Grammar, 1778, was the first book printed in 

Indii through the exertions of Sir Charles Wilkins, the Caxton of Bengal, a 

Bengal civilian and oriental scholar. 

The progress made in the art of printing made it easier for the various 

books compiled and translated under the aegis of the college of Fort William 

to be circulated among the Indian youth. 

Among the early bees who brought the pollen-dust of the Western 
civilization, David H^re« was the most important. Born in Scotland, 1775, he 

had come to Calcutta in 1800 and settled as a watch maker. He dedicated 

his life to the moral and intellectual rejuvenation of Bengal. There was no 

activity for the upliftment of Indian Society in which David Hare did not have 

a hand. The full significance of Hare’s work can only be understood against the 

back'ground of the state of education in Bengal. The old system of village 

schools had entirely broken down due to the growing poverty of the people, 

lack of Government support, destruction of old village system and the absence 

of the government patronage of the educated classes. “Important, however,” 

wrote A. D. Campball, “as the present education of the natives is, there are 

few who possess the means to command it for their children. In many villages 

where formerly there were schools there are now none an,d in many others 

where there were large schools, now only few children of the most opulent* nre 
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taught, others being unable from poverty to attend, or to pay what is deman¬ 
ded." (Select Committee Report, Vol. I 1832). 

The Governmet of the land failing to satisfy the growing desire of the 

Indians for learning English, a number of individuals came to the help. 

In Calcutta, Mr. Shelburne started a school, in which some eminent men 

of Bengal, Dwarkanath Tagore, his brother Ramnath Tagore and others had 

their-elementary education. A number of other schools were started under 
Ram Mohan Napit, Krishnamohan Basu, Bholu Dutt, Shiboo Dutt, Aratoon 
Peters. The movement culminated in the establishment of the Hindu College. 

The movement for the spread of English Education among the Indian 

youth was not confined to Bengal only. In 1818, Jai Narain Ghoshal founded 

the School in Benares under the management of Rev, D. Corrie and taught 

English, Persian, Hindustani and Bengali languages. In 1817 the Calcutta 
School Book Society was founded with a view to the promotion of the moral 

and intellectual improvement of the natives, by the diffusion among them of 
useful elementary knowledge. 

'Native' Literary Societies.—A very marked and decided movement among 

the better'classes of the Indians was the formation of literary Societies. They 

were formed with the express desire of attaining western knowledge. One of 

them was Native Literary Society. It aimed at developing a wider socialloutlook. 
It was to bring together the respectable and opulent men of the country and 
develop social intercourse amongst them. 

Radhakant Deb {1783-1867)—Two names stand uppermost. Radhakant 

Deb and Ram Komal Sen were both born in March 1783, and took a leading 

part in all the movements of reform. Radhakant belonged to a great Zamindar 

family, but early in life he broke away from the life of inaction and self- 

indulgence led by cadets of opulent families at that time, and concentrated his 

energies, his time and his resources to the cultivation of literature and to 

the great work of disseminating knowledge. 

Ram Komal Sen (1783-1844)—Ram Komal Sen was more highly strung. 

Born of less affluent circumstances he was essentially a self-made man. He too 

was connected with all the general activities for the amelioration of society 

through education—with the Hindu College, the Calcutta School Book Society, 

the Calcutta School Society, the General Committee of Public Instruction. 

"Young Calcutta"—The most powerful influence in creating the new 

spirit was Derozio a teacher of the Hindu College. He started the Academic 

Association. He was the master spirit of the new era. His students became 
leaders of the new movement, The whole fabric of Hindu prejudices was broken 

down. There was a good deal of disorderliness and rowdyism toa There 

were uproarious meetings where Hindu deities were ridiculed and beef-dish^ 
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freely partaken. Wine booths were frequented. Independence meant open 

defiance of the authority of their elders and moral courage meant contemptuous 

reviling of the ancient faith. ’‘The junior students”, wrote the biographer of 

David Hare, “caught from the senior students the infection of ridiculing the 

Hindu religion, and when they were required to utter Mantra's or prayers they 

repeated lines from the Iliad”. But this was only one side. Their moral 

conceptions and feelings were far above the antiquated ideas and aspirations 

of the age. “Such was the force of his instructions that the conduct of the 

students out of the college was most exemplary, and gained the applause of 

the out>side world, not only in a literary and scientific point of view, but what 

was of still greater importance, they were all considered men of "Truth." 

And what was most highly commendable about them, they had the courage 

of their convictions. K. M. Banerji was ex>communicated. Russick Krishna 

Mullick was drugged by his own parents, and compelled to leave thelhouse. 

Characteristics of the new movement—The debates were carried in the 

homes. “The question of religion”,! writes Sibanath Sastri, “was threshed out, 

not only in the college, but also within their homes. Old grandmothers 

were shocked to hear their grandsons vilifying the gods; and fathers 

were dismayed to find that their sons, expected to offer cakes and balls 

of overboiled rice to their ancestors had turned traitors to their ancient 

faith ! Home persecution was the result in many cases but youth always 

reacted to it with courage, good sense and humour. Among the 

characteristic features of the new movement may be included (a) a spirit of 

enquiry and criticism (6)^ great hatred against priesthood and religion, (c) too 

often, pride and overweening conceit and open contempt of parents and elders, 

and \d) a generous desire to impart knowledge to youthful countrymen. Deeply 

drunk in the writings of Tom Paine, Gibbon and Hume they criticised what¬ 

ever came in their way atjd bgainst reason. If they defiled Hindu gods, they 

were no respecters of Christianity. There was a sincere enthusiasm among 

Derozio’s students, and many of them spent their mornings and evenings 

in carrying to their less happily situated brethren the elements of education. 

Alexander Duff 1830.—The Indian awakening once more roused missionary 

hopes in England. Their earlier efforts had met with colossal failure. Abbe 

Dubois, after thirty one years of strenuous efforts to convert the Hindus and 

‘watering the soil of India with tears* found that the seed sown by him had fallen 

upon a naked rock and instantly died away. After seven years of strenuous 

street-preaching, Carey had secured a convert, but he had given him the slip before 

be could be baftfised. The great and startling success of the Hindu Collie once 

more.attracted their attention. In 1825, the Assembly, convinced that 'a spirit 

oi enquiry and, a ddsire of.improvement bad been generated among the hlglw 
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classes of the native population of India, agreed to establish a central Seminary 

of education at Calcutta, with branch schools in the surrounding district. The 

Head Master was 'asked to give lectures, distribute fitting tracts and usee very 

effort to cultivate acquaintance with intelligent and educated natives. The choice 

of the Assembly fell on Alexander Duff. 

Alexander Duff’s contribution to the Indian Renascence is too much 

exaggerated by George Smith who published two lengthy volumes on his life. 

George Smith attributes ail the Indian awakening to Duff, which is clearly wrong. 

Ram Mohan Roy {1772-1833).—The man who seems to symbolise and 

typify the Bengal Renascence to-day is Ram Mohan Roy. He is called 

the father of the Indian Renascence. Born in 1772 he was early infused 

with the spirit of religious mysticism. When a child of 14, he wrote 

a tract against idolatory, and was turned out of the house. He went 

to Tibet and came back with a deeper study of religion. In his childhood 

he came in contact with the best writings of Hindus, Buddhists and 

Mohammadans, and was influenced by them all. In 1814, he retired from 

a petty job in the Revenue Department with a vast wealth, and started the 

‘Atmiya Sabha* for carrying on religious discussions with his friends. He also 

employed his time in the translation of the Upanishads. He felt a great 

disgust at the condition of Hinduism, but had a great faith in its spirit. He 

was attracted by the western science and learning, but repelled by the lack of 

reason behind its religious doctrines, like Trinity and Christ atoning with his 

blood for the sins of humanity. In 1820 he wrote the ‘Precepts of Jesus* and 

emphasised the moral aspects of Christianity. It evoked an organised protest 

from the missionaries, who were not prepared to see their mythology being 

criticised. Ram Mohan’s denunciation of Christianity increased in vigour. 

From 1824 to 1828 he gave a helping hand to his Unitarian friend, Mr. Adam, 

and carried on a vigorous propaganda in favour of Unitarianism. Mr, Adam’s 

Church failing to receive any response among Indians, Ram Mohan Roy was 

induced in 1828 to organise a Hiudu Theistic Church, where people from all 

religions might gather. As a result was established the Brahma Sabha. 

Islamic awakening.—There was a flutter in the ranks of the Muslim Society 

too. The leader of the Islamic awakening was Syed Ahmad. Born in Rae Bareli, 

1786, he began life as a free boo ter. About 1816 he gave up robbery and began 

a study of the Sacred Law under a famous doctor of Delhi, Shah Abdul Aziz, In 

1819 he started as a preacher, denouncing the abuses of the Muslim faith and soon 

obtained a zealous and turbulent following, particularly among the Rohillas. 

In 1820 he moved south and was hailed as a great spiritual prophet. In 

1822 he made Patna the centre of his activities. He nominated four Khalifas 

and a high priest. In 1830 he went to the extent of declaring himself the 

Supreme Khalifa. In 1831 he died fighting a ‘holy war’ against the Sikhs in 
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Punjab. The movement called by him ‘Tariqabi-Muhammaddiyah* or the Way 

of Muhammad but derided by his adversaries as the Wahabi did not die with 

the founder. Its strength depended on three factors—a burning hatred of the 

infidel rule, a consuming passion on the part of its preachers for the purification 

and reform of Islam and the solidity of its organization. On account of these, 

the movement continued to progress under the guidance of his successors. 

Indian journalism.—The general activity of the period led to the 

growth of Indian journalism. The ‘Darpan’ was the first Bengali newspaper, 

published at Serampore on May 23, 1818 It ventilated the public grievances 

and served as a check on the Government officials. In 1821, Ram Mohan 

Roy started the ‘Brahmanical Magazine' in order to voice the feelings of 

those who had suffered from the activity of the missionaries. This paper 

had a Vapid, fiery and malteoric’ life of three years. Journalism gradually 

became a favourite instrument of propaganda. In 1821 the orthodox section 

of the Hindu Society brought out the Chandrika. In 1823, Ram Mohan 

brought out the "Kaumudi". In 1829, 'Bangoduta' was started under the 

management of R. Martin, Dwarkanath Tagore, Prasannu Kumar Tagore and 

Ram Mohan Roy. Most of these journals were quite fearless. They freely 

criticised both the social vices and the policy of the Government. The 

Vernacular Press in Bengal acted as a great lever in raising the Hindu mind. 

Two currents of thought—The period under review manifests a strong 

tendency to go back to the past. Ram Komal Sen and Ram Mohan Roy arc 

symbolic of the two different currents of reform—like the twin currents of the 

Muslim period, three hundred years back—the one going to the ancient form of 

religion and the other to the ancient spirit, the one to the alienation of the new 

forces and the other to unification with them. Ram Mohan Roy was a greater 

friend of the English than Radhakaqt Deb or Ram Komal Sen. The Mughal 

government had allied itself closely with the litter current of thought and had 

thereby given it a grea| strength. It is true that the fusion had made the Mughals 

shed off a good deal of their foreign element: but by the inevitable price of that 

self surrender alone can an outside power hope to rule for a long time a country 

with the rich heritage of a vital culture. The British, with characteristic 

indifference to matters except those which touched their pocket, failed to 

understand the ideologies then prevalent in the country. Lord Bentinck, 

under the advice of missionaries who had little knowledge of India, 

did a number of foolish things. The Indians were excluded from higher 

services. A foreign language was imposed on them as their media of instruction. 

Their culture was ridiculed. Measures for endangering their religion, were 

openly encouraged. Since then the gulf between Great Britain and India has 

widened more and more. 
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GANESH SAMBHAJI 

Ganpatrao Gopal Khandekar 

Ganesh Satnbhaji commenced and ended his public career in the service 

of the Peahvss. The first time that a complaint was made against him was by 

Govind Ballal, the founder of the Kher family of Sagor and Jalon. Ganesh 

was, like Gopal Rav Ganesh and Gopal Rav Bapuji, ordered to cooperate with 

Govind Ballal ^ and the latter reported to Bhau Sahib that Ganesh Sambhaji 

bad been quarrelling with the Bundelas, But careful perusal of Bhau Sahib’s 

replies of October 11, 1760, would, however, show that he did not think so 

about Ganesh Sambhaji. 

Shortly after the Panipat disaster, an impostor personating Bhau Sahib 

appeared at Narvar. Ganesh Sambhaji like many others met and helped him 

taking him to be the real Bhau Sahib^. But later on, he could have detected the 

man and stopped his mischief. He was rightly censured for not having done 

his duty. 

In a letter received on the 19th June 1761 by the Peshva, Malhar Rav 

Holkar reported that Ganesh Sambhaji was disobedient and reluctant to carry 

out state orders. Again, in another report received the same day Malhar Rav noted 

that Ganesh Sambhaji had ignored the orders received from the Huzoor asking 

him to come with Paharsingh for the settlement of matter relating to the latter’s 

fnanUat, 

On this occasion the charges brought against Genesh Sambhaji were very 

serious. But the extenuating circumstances should not be lost sight of. Gopal 

Rav Ganesh while reporting from Kurah Jahanabad on the 14th may 1761 to 

the Peshva had mentioned that Ganesh Sambhaji had rendered good service in 

subduing “two or four places including Charkhari etc.,” for which purpose he had 

to send a detachment of troops to his aid^. From a letter dated, Gangorani, 

the 28tb May 1761 from Vitthal Shiv Dev, who had himself taken part in the 

Panipat campaign, it is evident that the Peshva had still confidence in Ganesh 

Sambhaji, who was asked to take Vitthal Shiv Dev with him for the proposed 

reduction of Gobad*. Again if "the Raja Pagarsingb” and “Ganesh Pant Anna”, 

alluded to in a letter dated the 17th May 1761 from Dado Janardan to the 

Ptshva^, be respectively the Pabarsing, under reference^ and Ganesh Sambhaji, 

t Letters Nos. 813 and 215 in Rajvade's Vol: 1. 

2 B. g. Letters Noe, 300, 296 and 302 dated 1761 and 1763 in Rajvade's Vol, 1. 
3 No. 263 Md. 
4 Na 270, Part 27 of the Peshva Daftar. The place has long since been in the Gwalior State, 

5 No.264tt4d, 
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it is clear that it was not easy to brin^ Paharsingh to terms. Ganesh Sambhaji 

had told Govind Samraj “Subahdar,‘* as disclosed from the latter's letter dated 

the 26th May 1761 to Malhar Rav®, that the draft for Rs. 125,000 in favour of 

the said “Subahdar*' would be paid in the ensuing Kartik or Margashirsha if 

the state of his (Ganesh Sambhaji’s) amal went on well. Even paltry sums of 

money (Rs. 400) could not be forthwith paid either by Ganesh Sambhaji, who 

had never held a Satanjatn, or even by Balaji Govind, who had always been a 

full-fledged Saranjamdar, to Ganesh Vedanti, in whose favour the required 

drafts had been issued, but who complained from Muttra on the 7th May 1761, 

to Nana Purandare, regarding the delay being made in the payment^. 

As early as the 18th July 1755 Ganesh Sambhaji, who had been asked to 

join Malhar Rav reported to the Peshva the nature and extent of his activities 

and protested against Raghunath Rav Dada Sahib’s taking away most of the 

army to the south, thus exposing the Maratha power' the North to danger.® 

In his letter dated Kalpi, the 8 th February 1760, j .aressed also to the Penhva, 

Ganesh Sambhaji complained that the reinforcements, requested for from 

Ujjain, had not arrived, and reported details of the death of Dattaji and 

jankoji Sinde's encounters with the Abdali.® 

On the 13th November 1761 Trya^bak Ram Fudnis writing from 

Malhar Rav Holkar's camp at Mukandbari, to the Peshva invited the latter's 

attention to the "the two or four" reports he had previously submitted to that 

high authority in the matter. Further he accused Ganesh Sambhaji x){ 

obstruction in bis official duties, of misappropriation of public funds at Jhansi, 

of extortion, of collusion with Sbuja-ud-Dowlah whose service he wanted to 

join. The report proceeds, "Ganesh Sambhaji, disobeying the orders of the 

Sarkar has alienated the Bundelas including the chiefs of Orcha and Datia. 

Being certain that he would be employed by Sbuja-ud-Dowlah he has obtained 

parvana from the l^mperor Shah Alam, and styles himself in writing as Ganesh 

Rav Bahadur.” He summoned the son of Kesbav Rav Harkare to his house, 

and demanding three lakhs from him put him in confinement. For two days 

the latter was given no food, which he took on the third day in confinement, 

having agreed to surrender all that be bad bad, if be was set free. He failed to 

come to the succour of Jagannath Dhondbaji when the latter was deputed to 

repel the chief of Bbadavar who bad attacked Bhind. On the other hand he 

imprisoned him on false charges on his arrival at jhansi. 

Ganesh Sambhaji has one Pratap Shah Nisar, as his manager, who guides 

him. During the past two years be has collected twenty four lakhs from the 

6 Mo. S72«<4. 
7 Mo. 141 ia Part 40 of the Peehva Daftar. 

8 Mo. 47 in Fhrt 2 of the Peshva Daftat. 

» Mo. t89 in Put 21 fW. 
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Tatuqa of Kalpi, more or less than fifty fo&As on account of the attachment 

of Bundelkhand, and ten to twelve lakhs in the shape of fines from the State 

of Jhansi, and under false pretences of increased expenditure, has appropriated 

this whole amount for himself. In the year Sitain (1759) he took advances of 

four Idkha from some bankers at Poona, and paid the sum to the Sarkar for 

the mamlats assigned to him. Those persons, however, to whom he sublet the 

mamlata realised only two lakhs, and he appropriated the rest, which means 

that the Sarkar has received only two lakhs. In the year Ihide (1760) drafts 

for rupees three lakha and a half from Delhi and other places were paid off, 

but other such drafts, namely those drawn in favour of the Shete, and with a 

view to making the necessary provisions for the fort at Gwalior, have not been 

paid. The revenue for the current year, which he has collected, has not been 

paid to the Sarkar, which he has appropriated to himself. The attachment 

of Bundelkhand still continues. Unless Ganesh Sambhaji is punished the chiefs 

will not be reconciled, nor will the administration continue to be a paying 

concern to the Sarkar. Again on the 28th February 1762 Tryambak Ram 

reported to the Peshva “.Due to Ganesh Sambhaji the Sarkar has lost 

territory worth a kror of Rupees a year.....He met Shuja-ud-daulah and 

betrayed the home secrets to him.The writer had no wish to leave him, 

but has left for the sake of his life. 

The indictment, which is terrible, is quoted at length, so that the different 

charges brought against Ganesh Sambhaji may be made clear. Balaji Govind 

in reporting to the Peshva and Dada Sahib, respectively on the 1st February 

1762 and the 21st March 1763“, and Kasi Narsi to Dada Sahib on 21st March 

1763'^ corroborated much of Tryambak Ram’s statement. Naro Shankar, 

writing from Pedgam, on the Southern bank of the Bhima, on the 18th 

November 1764, “instructed Khando Pant and Chimnaji Pant to attack Jhansi". 

.. and referred to the trouble created by Ganesh Sambhaji'®. Govind 

Raghunath on the 27th April 1767 writing from Nag-jhokar incidentally told 

Vishvas Rav Lakshman, that he doubted Ganesh Sambhaji’s sincerity.*' 

Such is the ^ark side or the picture. The doubts that arise in connection 

with it may be summed up. Chimnaji Rangnath, who from Ganesh Sambbaji’s 

camp at Pahari, in PratU Jhansi, where he had “been detained" owing to the 

unsafe condition of the roads, wrote on the 29th June 1761 to Mahipat Rav 

for the information of a much higher authority “that the news of the defeat of 

10 No. 37 ibid, 
n No. 32aad46iU<l. 

12 No. 43<M4. 
13 No. 74iMd 

14 No. 173 
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the Marathas at Paoipat bad encouraged the Bundela chiefs, Hindupat and 

Khetsingh to throw off Maratha aUegiance^^”. Gopai Rav Ganesh, who Imd 

been a colleague of Ganesh Sambhaji and communicated about the same time 

to Cbinto Pant Daji that he, Balaji Govind and Ganesh Sambhaji had been 

directed to proceed in the Antervad to restore order there and that he would 

cross the Jamuna on an auspicious day, and in co-operation with the addressee 

begin the work^^ Is it possible that had Ganesh Sambhaji committed all the 

various delinquencies, attributed to him by Tryambak Ram, both Chimnaji 

Rangnath and Gopai Rav Ganesh, who certainly had charge of responsible 

duties, could not have come to know of at least some of them, and bad both of 

them known these, how is it that they did not say a word about any of them 

in their communications ? Is it not also worth enquiring that had the delinquent 

really extorted lakhs by wholesale oppression and appropriated the treasurs for 

himself, could he not have easily maintained so large a body of troops as would 

have ensured the safety of his own family, especially when he was sure of support 

from Shuja-ud'daulah. Unfortunately, for the family I of Ganesh Sambhaji, as is 

proved by documentary evidence, towards the end of the Maratha rule at Poona, 

they lost “Seven Camel loads” of their records from their house in that city, where 

the Peshva had once dined in the same room. Both Rao Bahadur G. S Sardesai 

and Pro. D. V. Potdar, who are very kind to the present writer, have done their 

best to secure for him much published valuable material, which, however, he 

regrets is by no means complete. As it is, in dealing with the impeachment he 

has to rely wholly, on the source, which has enabled him to quote it, namely 

the Selections from the Peshva Daftar, brought out by the Rav Bahadur, for 

whose timely suggestions for accuracy as regards part of the discussion in this 

paper, he is very grateful. 

There is only one r^ord, forthcoming from Ganesh Sambhaji himself for 

his defence, namely the representation he had addressed to Dada Sahib in 

1766, “seeking to regain his favour by offering his submission”. The intro¬ 

ductory and concluding parts of this document are, ho^^ver, so mutilated as to 

render the context of even the intervening portion very dlfiiilt to understand 

thoroughly. The purport of it seems to be:—For a year and a half he had been 

in the service of Shuja, and bad to do his bidding. He bad also incurred debts 

frma him, which could not be paid. That made his position worse. StiU, in 

a sense, be thought he continued to be in the Sahib Seva (the service of the 

Peshva ), and bad therefore gone. Otherwise he would have approached the 

feet of the addressee, in Malva. So early as he was enabled to explain to Shuja 

the matters, committed to bis care, he would take leave of him, and come to 

U Mo. 7 in ML 
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seek the service of the addressee. Many complaints might have been made 

against him. but he looked forward to an opportunity of placing his own case 

before the Svawi ( addressee ), who wielded all authority to do justice to him. 

He had to go to Shuja under compulsions^. 

This representation could not have secured any useful purpose. It is 

difficult, however, to see also if the impeachment led to any result humiliating 

to Ganesh Sambhaji, as anticipated by the impeacher, except, perhaps, that in 

1763-64 he (the former) was ordered by the Peshva to make over the three 

Parganas (1) Hamirpur, (2) Gadbai and, (3) Narsingarh, in Hundelkhand, and 

iwo Pargat$a8, (1) Derapur and (2) Mangalapur in the Anterved to Bhairo 

Anant, on whom these, with also some others, were bestowed “in Saran- 

jam.'’S8 Ganesh Sambhaji had held the Parganas merely as a tnandat, in the 

capacity of a Katnasdar. In 1762*63 Naro Ballal Buskute and Naro Shankar 

had been ordered to hand over respectively (1) the Sarkar of Hande and (2) 

Pargana Jainabad to Tryambak Shivdev^* almost in the same way. As late 

afterwards as 1767*68 the Sanad issued to Tukoji Holkar and Mabaji Sinde, 

regarding certain affairs in Bundelkhand^® refers to a sum of Rs. 1,00,000” 

paid to the Pathan by Ganesh Sambhaji”. This was, however, to be recovered 

from “Raja Hindupat" Bundela, as stipulated in the Sanad, which does not 

find fault with Ganesh Sambhaji. When it is recalled that “Rngho Keshav” 

(belonging to a branch of Ganesh Simbhaji’s family), in the service of AH 

Bahadur, having gone over to, Sinde, his house at Nimw (in the Satara 

Collectorate) “was attached”*' under the orders of the Peshva (1765*66), it is 

unconceivable why Dada Shaib, who had himself gone on an expedition to the 

North, or even Madho Rav Holkar who, as already seen, in June 1761 wanted 

to punish Ganesh Sambhaji, who purposely detained Tryambak Ram in his 

camp for the purpose, whom Ganesh Sambhaji met, and who on the 14th 

November 1765** reported that fact to Dada Sahib, did not or could not mete 

out any punishment to him. It is noteworthy that on the other hand Madhav 

Rav attributed his conduct to the peculiar ciscumstances of the times, and 

perhaps taking into consideration his services to the Peshva extending ov^ a 

period of nearly 40 years (1722>61) practically absolved him from all blame, and 

even recommended his son, Vishvas Rav Ganesh, for being entertained by Dada 

Sahib in his service. Above all when in 1777 Ganesh Sambhaji was, as will 

be seen in due course, honourably reinstated in the Peshva's service and posted 

17 No. 161 ia iiid. 
18 No: 194 Vol. 1 tor the Diary of Peshva Madhav Ravi I. 

19 No. 198 Mi. 
30 No:3000inMi. 

21 No: 166 Mi. 

22 No: 100 in Fart 29 of the Peshva Daftar, 
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again to Bundelkahndi when Nana Fadnis, who, it is well known, was a good 

judge of men and matters, was at the helm of affairs, all his faults, whatever 

they might have been, may be considered to haye been condoned. 
In the masterly preface to the first volume of his series, the 

**Marathyancha Itihasaohin Sadhane" the late Savant Mr. Y< K- Rajvade 

vigorously attacked Ganesh Sambhaji, as being perhaps, next to Govind*Ballal, 

responsible for the Panipat disaster.^^ Since the publication of the volume much 
material has come to light, and it has shaken the foundation of some of Mr. 

Rajvade's views. 
Lastly Mr. R. V. Nadkarni in his able contribution to the Vividha- 

Dnayana Vi$tar reviewing Part 29 of Selections from the Peshva Daftar, 

“Affairs of Northern India, Peshva Madhav Rav 1“ also attacked Ganesh 

Sambhaji, in the November-December number of that well-known magazine:— 

Taking advantage of the absence of Holkar from the North, Shuja occupied 

all the out-posts of the Marathas in Bundelkhand. In these depredations 
several Raatra-drohi Oharbhedes were his accomplice. Ganesh Sambhaji, who 

was a Karhad Brahman, and was the mamletdar of Jhansi, wrote letters to the 

Emperor and Shuja intimating his readiness to surrender the fprt at Jhansi. 

Jhansi being the gate to Malva and Bundelkhand, the Marathas naturally 

feared that it would be difficult to hold Malva if that place was surrendered. At 

last, Shuja assailed the fort and took it on the 1st February (1762). The 

discussion r^arding Tryambak Ram’s indictment of Ganesh Sambhaji may 

usefully be considered in relation to Mr. Nadkarni’s criticisms. 

Tryambak. Ram, as already noticed, reported the circumstances under 

which Babu Rav Konher had handed over Jhansi and the fort there, to Ganesh 

Sambhaji. Probably Babu Rav Konher is the same Babu Rav, whom Ganesh 

Sambhaji alluded to in bis report of the 8th February 1760 (referred to) as the 

person posted to the ^Jhansi Prant, whom he had been directed to help. From 

Tryambak Ram’s report of the 28th February 1762 (also referred to) it is clear 

that by intrigue Babu Rav Konher bad got back Jhansi from Ganesh Sambhaji. 

And it follows that when the town and the fort fell to Shuja both the places were 

in the possession of Babu Rav Konher and not in Ganesh Sambhaji's. 

A brief sketch of Ganesh Sambhaji’s public career and of bis private 

life would form a very appropriate epilogue to this paper. He came of the 

Khandekar family of the village Burumbad, which is situated in the Sangame* 

shvar Taluq of the present Ratnagiri Collectorate in the Kokan. From 

Emperor Aurangzib’s times the family had held hereditarily the office of the 

Kuttufrni of that village and also of four others in the neighbourhood, from their 

benefoctors the Mavalankar Sardesais. It is not known wheh' Ganesh Sambhaji 

23 Page 89 of the preface. 
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was boroi and when and where he wras educated, or when he was invested with 

t^, sacred thread, or married. Of his two younger brothers Gopal Sambhaji 

spent his life in serving the Peahvas, who appointed him to positions of trust and 

responsibilities (1759-1782). Vasudev sambhaji served Holkar. Three sons of 

Ganesh Sambhaji may be said to have done something, (1) Malhar Rav Ganesh 

came more or less in contact with many eminent Indians, living between 1779 and 

1801, like Ahilyabai, Anandibai, and Tukoji Holkar (who received him standing 

up). Between 1784 and 1788 he served Raja Umrav G who employed him 

for negotiating some matters with Mahadji Sinde, and later on for four years Raja 

Tiket Rai of Lucknow^^. (2) Jagannath Rav was taken by Mahadji in his service 

being eventually attached as duty officer to Gopal Rav Bhau, in which capacity 

he saw some of the actions fought between his commander and Holkar^^ 

Madhav Rav served Malhar Rav Holkar III in the Khasgi Department and with 

the Minister Balaram was on more than one occasion severely harassed by the 

army for pay*®. 

The Sketch, 

(1) 16th December 1722. Genesh Sambhaji was deputed to Ramchandra 

Mahadav for employment as Subah of forts Kille haya on an annual inoin of 

Rs 200/ *7, a sanad being issued in that behalf. 

(2) 14th October 1733. Was recommended by Mahadji Arabaji 

(Purandare) to Peahva Baji Rav I and his brother Chimnaji Appa (probably for 

promotion) as a capable man, who had mobilized a force of foot of two or three 

hundred strong near Mahipatgarh Shahu Maharaja’s campaign against the 

sides of Janjira was in progress at the time. 

(3) 5th February 1748. Was Kamasdar of pargana Dharampuri 

in Sarkar Mandav**. Kamasdars in those days were responsible for the military 

as well as the Civil control of the part of the country given to their charge 

(4) 1753. Exercised a recognised authority, very probably as Kamasdar, 

in Pargana Bhikangaon* in Sarkar Bijagarh and Hande*®. 

(5) 1757. Was Kamasdar of Pargana Jafnapur.t (39) 

24 An unpublished letter dated, Lucknow, the 30th May 1801, from Malhar Rav Ganesh. 
25 An unpublished letter dated Magh Vadya 9th **from near Jamner’ * from Jagannath Rav. 
26 Pages 119-20 of the Kaiflyat of the Holkars, published by Mr. K. N. Sane. 

27 No : 310 Part 30 of the Peshva Dafter. 
28 12 miles North East of Khedi facing Hatotghat. No : 101, Part 3 of the Peshva Daftar. 
29 An unpublished letter from.Ganesh Sambhaji 

* Bhikangaon and Bijagarh have long since been in the Indore State, 
30 Letter dated the 2Ist November 1754 *from Peshva Nana Sahib to Ramchindra Balia 1 

Bhuskute Kama^dw of Pargana Bhikangaon and 8arh» Bijagarh and Hande. 
t Long since in the Aurangiibad District of the Nisam's Dominions, 

7i 
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(6) In additKN) to the duties of the above mentioned office, he was 

entrusted with the management of the three parganas (1) Jafrabad (2) 

Sakarkbedle and (3) Rajni out of the territory conquered from the Nizam^^ 

While discharging all these duties he has also to watch and report to the 

Peshva the movements of the Nizam, his brothers and high officers, as may be 

seen from bis letter dated the 23rd September 1757*^, from which an idea can 

also be had of how difficult it sometimes was for responsible officers. 

(7) The 29th and the 30th December 1759. The Lashkar (army) under 

him passed Ujjain on its way to upper India.*' 

(8) Some time prior to the 8th January 1762. Defeated Raja Umrao 

Gir Gusain (brother of “Maharaja Anup Gir, Himmat Bahadur) in an action.** 

(9) About the 3rd May 1766 ? Was reported by Nana Fadnis to the 

Peahva to have arrived with an army of 5000 strong into Berar from Bengal.** 

(10) Between March 1768 and the 13th September 1770 he held the high 

and distinguished position of Subahdar in Orrisa**, from Raja Janoji Bhonsle. 

During his short regime in that remote part of the country the Junior Rani of 

Dhar sought the Peshva’s support for appointing Ganesh Sambhaji as the 

Minister of that Daulat*^. Raja Janoji in writing to the Governor of Bengal 

on July 2, 1768, spoke of the new Subahdar “Ganesh Sambhaji, who is a 

man of great knowledge, and tried courage, and is perfectly polite in his 

manners, has been deputed from hence with a well appointed army. Doubtle;s 

he has already arrived at Cuttack, and begun an araicible correspondence on 

the subject of the payments”®*. The Subahdar had himself written on April, 

1, 1768, to the Governor “.. His master.has called the 

writer from a remote country to take possession of the Government of Orissa 

considering the share the writer has had in many transactions with English 

gentlemen in Hindustan. A body of 50,0000 horse will be attached to the 

English cause; provided that the Governor maintains a sincere harmony and 

discharges the chauth^ According to the original agreement, as long as the 

Province of Bengal continues under His Excellency’s influence and power.”**. 

31 Page 67. Vol. 1 of Peahva Nana Sahib’s Diary. 
32 No: 86 in Mr. Rajvade’a VoL I. 

33 An nnpnbUshed letter from Ragbnnatb Tanaji Prabbn Pradhao Deahpande of T. 
Nagotbane, Telus Avcbitgarh, Prant Chenl. 

34 Letter dated the 8th Jannary 1762 from Raja Babadnr Naro Shankar appearing in 
Parasnis* Bharat Varsha Books 1*2. 

33 No : 172 in Part 38 of the Peshva Daftar. 

36 Vide No : 1166 & 360 respectively in Vol. 11 & III of “Calendar of Persian Correspon- 
denee” read together. 

37 No : 103 in Part 39 of the Peshva Daftar. 

38 No ; 1027 in Vol. 11 of "Calendar of Persian Corraspondenpe. 
39 No : 899 in fNd. 
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On October 30th 1768 he wrote to the Governor “.It is new eight 

months since the writer arrived in the Subah with 20,000 horse^®”. 

(llj The 7th October 1777. Was deputed to take over the control of 

the State of Raja Sarjet Singh, son of Hindupat Bundela. Balaji Govind was 

ordered to make over “Mahoba including the Tappa of Srinagar” for the seat 

of his residence, during the period of the control*^ 

(12) Sometime during the hot season, 1779. Was killed in a surprise attack 

by the force of Balaji Govind under the command of Dado Narayan (Mahajani.) 

near Patan^^, the old capital of the Narsingarh State, now in the Bhopal 

Political Agency, in Central India. 

Probably Balaji Govind had been offended by having to part with, even 

though temporarily, a considerable piece of territory, and fell foul of 

Ganesh Sambhaji. 

THE ‘NATIONAL’ CHARACTER OF THE ‘HISTORICAL’ 
MARATHAS 

D. V. Kftle, M. A., Poom. 

The Title Defined—The paper proposes to discuss the ‘national’ as distinct 

from the personal or private character of the Marathas, that is to say with the 

traits of the Marathas, as organised into a political unit. That unit did not of 

course include the whole of the Maratha ‘nation’ within its fold, in the modern sense 

of the word. The Marathas had their own social and religious groups before, 

like the castes and the warnas which were common to all the Hindus in India. 

They, however, made a further advance during the time that they were 

politically organised into a self*conscious group, and which is indicated by that 

beautiful word ‘Swarajya’. 

The Maratha is misunderstood—The Marathas like almost every other 

community in India, have been much misunderstood and even maligned. 

Innumerable instances can be pointed out where under the pretext of instituting 

a sociological inquiry, western writers have made very disparaging statements. 

<t0 No ; 1166 in iMd 
41 Near Hamirpur in BupdeUthand. No: 964 in Vol. II o( tbe Diary of Pesbva 

Madhav Rav.ll. 
43 An nnpttbUihed lattet dated, Lucknow the 30th May 1801 from Malhar Rav Ganesh. 
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Fraud and subsefvienoe--}ir. Grant ^ credits the Hindus with very little 

tenderness of mind. According to him Hhey exhibit shocking barbarity of 

punishments, a want of sensibility for others, want of benevolence, deficiency 

of natural affections and a number of other vicious tendencies'. Others 

patronisingly speak with disapprobation of the Hindu who is 'naturally 

patient, supple and insinuating above all other Asiatics'. The Marathas cannot 

be free from the blemish of these unmanly virtues even if they enjoyed Swarajya 

for more than a century. Capt. Broughton attributes to the Marathas ‘want 

of fidelity'. He gives his own reasons. 'This may be the effect of wandering 
and unsettled kind of life they lead ; they have had no home, but in a camp.'^ 

He goes on, ‘I have never been able to discover any quality or propensity 

they possess which might be construed into a fitness for the enjoyment of social 

life. They are deceitful, treacherous, narrow-minded, rapacious and notarious 

liars.' Elphinstone is supposed to know better, and his remarks about the 

Marathas in their native country may be examined. ‘Taking the whole as a 
nation' he says, ‘they (Marathas) will be found to be inferior to their neighbours, 

in knowledge and civilization, in spirit, in generosity and perhaps in courage; but 

less tainted with pride, insolence, tyranny, effeminacy, and debauchery; less 

violent, less bigotted, and (except while in armies on foreign service) more 

peaceable, mild and humane.'* The nature of this criticism will be clearly 

understood from another quotation of the same author. ‘Those settled in their 
country and unconnected with courts, and armies, bear a much better character, 

being sober, industrious and encouragers of agriculture. It must indeed be 

remembered, both of this class (Marathas) and of the Brahmans we see the 

very worst of the whole, and that it is among those at a distance from the 

seat of Government that we are to look for any virtue that may exist in the 

nation.'^ This is significant enough. Those of the Marathas who knew what 

it was to deal witbi tLe Britisher were naturally unwilling to be friends with 

the recent conquerors of their country or ‘usurpers' as they might regard them. 

Captain Little* M^rites of the known jealousy of the Maratha Government, by 

which their emissaries were encouraged to deprive strangers of the means 
of acquiring information of their country. This was in 1792. 

Divested of these prejudices the character of the Marathas, emerges to be 

a very moral and an honourable one. Elphinistone’s testimony by itself is 

very suggestive. In his life*, be is quoted to have said ‘the Marathas in Orissa 

1 a. Mr. ChtrlM Grant—State of Society among the Asiatic Subjects—Bast India 
Company’s Report, 1832, Appendix I 

2 Broughton-Letters etc, p. 79. 
3 Repdrt on the taritories etc. p, 7. 
4 Ibid. p. 6. 
3 P.S41. 
g Rnlm Of India iiHM p. 34< 
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were not rude, but showed us no respect’. Is that not exactly what we would 
expect of men who had enjoyed self-government ? Lord Cornwallis in one of 

his despatches to'the secret commitee^ writes that, ’the Marathas were fair and 

showed openness in preliminary negotiations.’ What higher tribute can be 
expected from a political contemporary. We now proceed to note the leading 

characteristics of Marathas as best revealed from the Indian and original sources. 

Their Civic Sense—First, of their fitness as neighbours and inhabitants 

in a foreign country under changed circumstances. There are various instances of 

the excellent civic sense of the Marathas. The Judge at Cawnpoor publicly recorded 

the remarkable fact that during two years of the stay of Bajirao II at Bithoor 

there had been no perceptible increase in the business of bis office from this 

addition of the Marathas to the inhabitants of the district. Not a single crime, 

had been, during that period substantiated against any of the Maharaja’s 

followers.* No comment is necessary. 

The great sacrifices made by the Marathas—In the same cause the Marathas 

had to sacrifice, a great deal more. They had to sacrifice literature, history, 

science, art and everything that brings dignity and fame to a people. Sir 

Jadunatha Sarkar explains the absence of any history of the Marathas written 

earlier than in the I8th century.* This piecemeal process of objections and 

refutation cannot be pursued without wasting very much of our time, nor is it 

necessary to continue it any further for the develoment of our theme. Let us 

pause for a while and see if we can draw some helpful conclusions, before 

adducing some more evidence and some other views on the same point. 

The real causes of the downfall of Marathas—The real causes of the 

downfall of the Marathas have been so far coloured by the prejudices of authors 

who are either unsympathetic or too sympathetic. Many a sincere student has, 

therefore, been led to make an unsparing inventory of the supposed want of positive 

virtues and the unaccountable profusion of vices. Nobody had the patience to go 

into details and examine the real nature of the last catastrophe, which really 

began with the sudden and simultaneous removal of such eminent personalities 

like Ahilyabai Holkar, Mahadji Shinde, Savai Madhavrao and Nana Fadnis from 

the stage. That was merely an accident and an accident which irreparably 

impared the important personale of the kingdom. That was essentially an 

age of personalities and these were the personalities who had successfully 

performed the task of rehabilitating the Maratha empire after the calamity of 
Panipat-“the fifth of the unbroken series of capable generations which made 

the fortune of the Marathas ever since their rise. 

1 Row Vo. II p. 484. , 
2 Ititiai Saograha Sphut Lekha p. 11. 
} Modem Review, April 1918. p. 413. 



590 tlAttATBA HISTORY 

4 new acientifio approach—And yet there is another scientific approach to 
the problem of the downfall of the Marathas. Let it be noted that the territory 

under the political domination of the Marathas was practically undeveloped till 

they colonised it and made it their home. The history of its colonisation and 

further development covers barely three centuries—a pretty short time —before 

they were confronted by their political destiny and faced by the wars they had to 

wage for their independence. The Maratha kingdom in its ultimate analysis 
thus presents a sorry spectacle of a rugged unfertile territory, economically 

undeveloped and again politically quite young. It had established neither an 

economic nor a political machine which was peculiarly suited to its genius and 
needs and had to borrow considerably in the interest of indigenous development. 

This young undeveloped chiefdom had to undertake heavy responsibilities 

beyond its strength. Several conditions conspired to raise the Marathas to 
giddy heights when their state had not really grown up to maturity. 

And this led inevitably to the tragedy which is so much regretted on 

all hands. 

Regimentation of the Maratha Society—That the Maratha State was born 

and bred in war would be readily admitted. The individual during all the time 

bad no other alternative but to submit himself to the interests of the whole. The 

whole history is thus one long transition stage, throughout which the state was 

organising itjelf on military basis to resist the attacks of hostile neighbours. 

Obviously it assumed the form of the second of the three classes of organisations 

suggested by Spencer and had never reached the final or industrial stage, like 

many modern states which are but in the quasi*military stage, even today. 

In this transitional stage all established conventions were upset and the 

older forms of civilization disturbed. The Maharashtrian like every other 

Hindu was no doubt organised in caste groups, the jatis ‘with a sort of moral 

government amongst tftemselves^*. But the jati or the village, however excellently 

organised it might have been, could not unite in effectively checking the whirlwind 

of Malik-Kafur in Deccan. The new situation consequently gave rise to a newer 

regimentation (4 society. The armies organised for opposition crossed the lines 

of the jati and the warna. The new organisation was not an extension of 
the already existing groups but an entirely new arrangement to which a jati 

subordinated its distinctions and claims. The economics of self sufficiency 
had to be left behind. The function of classes had to be redistributed and the 
simple division of labour in the happy village life became unsuitable to the 

changed condition. The group system was of no use in the new regime. The 

warlike occupations were naturally favoured and the industrial occupation was 

1. Gnmt Dnff-VoL I p. 13. 
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despised as vulgar. Evidently the condition of society was not conducive to the 
growth of indigenous industry of art of a high order. 

Poor property and ‘standard of Comfort—The Marathas were handled 
roughly by circumstances. An inhabitant on the border land of the Nizamshahi 

and Adilshabi the Maratha of the Swarajya, must have always been put to 

the sword and fire. His life though favourable to energy and hardihood, 

doveloped little of personal property or means of comfort on any permanent 

scale. The Maratha house was a wooden structure with wattle and 

daub or equally flimsy walls, wooden and earthen utensils, a few pieces 

of cloth and nothing more. His property was kept at so low a level that 

he scarcely felt any pangs to burn it himself or allow it to be burnt by others. 

This simplicity of life secured mobility, which was extremely valued from a 
purely military point of view. In 1778, we find that Madhavji Shinde attached 

property of some subjects of Miraj for serving in the army of Kolhapur state, 

then at war with Poona. It makes a sad reading through the inventary of the 
attached effects^. Houses of upper classes were rarely built in stone till about 

the middle of the 18th century and the Shaniwar palace was probably the first 

of its kind. The injunction of Shahu against it are too well-known to need 

repetition. Houses could be pulled down and the ground cleared in times of war. 

We are told that houses round about Shaniwar were pulled down to accommodate 

the mandap for Vishwasrao’s thread ceremony*. The flimsy structures would no 

doubt be allowed to be pulled down without pangs, as new ones could easily be 

substituted for them. 

Simplicity in ceremonies—‘TYie same simplicity dominated ceremonial life. 
Tukoji-Holkar’s son was to be married at Wafgaon (1781-82). Hundreds of villages 

were asked to contribute their quota to the ceremony as was the custom then. 

But the things demanded give a clear idea of the life of those days*. Wealth 
might not be wanting, when lakhs were spent in giving alms in charity. And yet 

wicker-work, pottery and wood-work and tree leaves featured prominently 

throughout in the list of required things. Let it be observed that the list of 

pottery includes ‘Randhanis’ .or cooking utensils. By conscious or unconscious 

process the individual had rendered himself so light, mobile and incapable of 

being an encumbrance to the whole, in times of crisis. The Maratha state was 
organised for war. The Maratha as an individual was happy to surrender 

himself to it, or he must have been wiped out of existence. 

Loyalty and obedience—This much for the reaction of the transitional 

stage cm his physical environment. How did it affect bis mental plane ? We 

1. KhareVol. VI1-S318. 
2. Sue—Put Pradhu—Shakavali p. 10. 
3. P. D. IV p. 283-237. 
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know that excessive loyalty was demanded from him. The best exposition of the 
highest political theory of the Maratha slate, the Adnapatra of Ramachandrapant 
Amatya, lays stress upon loyalty of the servants and the people. They must 

show deference to authority; obedience is the essence of loyalty. 

The Marathas and Science—Absence of scientific spirit among the Marathas 

has been given as one of the causes of their downfall. But the critics use the 

word science, in its purely modern sense of the mechanical, chemical and 
generally industrial advance made in the last century. This last advance 

was admittedly made in the West. But before 1800, before 1750 at any rate, 

there was not much difference in the achievements of the East and the West.* 

And if their was any difference between the two, superiority lay on the side 

of the East. Science, to take a rough view, proceeds from the consciousness 

of a particular environment and consists in remedies found out in mastering 

it. Invention and science in Maharashtra, one may say, on being acquainted 

with the peculiar history of the developments in the East, were striving 

to make life as simple as possible while they strove, in the West, to make it as 

complex and comfortable as possible. Throughout their history, the Marathas 

retained their institutions of old and their life of few wants and fewer 

comforts. But that was also the course of history through the world before 1800. 

Centrifugal tendencies—‘Qai of many reasons that have been adduced as 

leading to the loss of the liberty of the Marathas, there are some which refer 

to their inherent icharacteristics. Thus the analysis made of the different 
statements by Mr. Potdar as regards the first kind of the defects reveals four 

important defects.^ 
(1) Love of personal independence, and extraordinary partiality to 

self-interest. 

(2) Absence of a sense of unity, want of mutual confidence. 

(3) Want of discipline 

(4) Entire absence of patriotism. 

This list is made out to account for the centrifugal tendencies displayed 

by the Marathas and says in other words that they did not know the value 

of and consequently did not practice, teamwork. 
It is indeed remarkable that nothing in this list .indicates any moral 

turpitude. The same can be said of many others drawn for the purpose. Mr. 

Rajwade for example strongly criticises what he terms ‘disloyalty to the 

established power in very strong terms.* Mr. Khare 'regrets the absence of an 

institutional sense in Maharashtra. He says that Marathas respect persons and 

not institutions. The oath which anybody takes before another is dissolved 
1 Indastrial Commiwion'a Report—1st Paragraph and Malariya's Mlnath.p. 848S. 
S Morhata wa Ingraj*Review p. it 

3 Rajwada, Introduction, p. 7 
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at the death of either. The survivor does not stop to think as to the 

significance of bis oath and the necessity of continuing to observe it in respect 

of his own word^. 

For one thing, these defects were not peculiar to the Marathas. They 

were to be found in all their contemporaries. Secondly it may be argued that 

they are to be attributed to their ignorance of the requirements of the political 

role they were called upon to fulfil. The new schedule was not ready with 

them and they did not get the time for developing it. The surroundings in 
which they moved had acquainted them with only tangible persons. They 

cannot be charged with wanton dishonesty, as has wrongly been done by several 
of their detractors. 

Marathas atid team work—The Marathas were a hardy race and capable 
of individual action, and what we see or know of their lifs in history of today 

leads us to suppose that they were not capable of a joint action. Perhaps 
they never learned to value it. Possibly it was not a part of their genius to 

submit themselves to the restrictions on the liberty of personal action. Their 
political life proved to be so short that they had no time to learn some of the 
essential uses of team work. Though pushed on by the irresistible tide of 
expansive politics to the very confines of India their rules and principles of 

association remained those which had regulated society for thousands of 

years. The older association was also based upon the direct community of 

interests, but those relations had gone on for so many years without any 

variation that their direct operation had ceased to be felt. The conscious need 

of cooperation had been obviated and that instinct had beed dulled long since. 

Absence of co operation among Maratha oncers—Another reflection that 
saddens the heart is the singular absence of any co-operation between ofiftcers of 

the same rank. Some of the blame may be laid at the doors of communications 

between the distant outposts that served the empire. But even the relations 

between those r^ponsible officers whose work brought them together were not 

such as could be considered exemplary. Jayaji Shinde and Malharrao Holkar 

whose names were inseparably associated in the Delhi contract 'of 1750^ 
and who were destined to work together for several years coul(^bt pull on 

well. The Peshwas did not cultivate good relations with their colleagues, 
the Ashtapradhanas; were rarely on very good terms with the brothers who 

co-operated with them as their Kairbharis. There were few joint offices. But 

that of the Karbhari, when it was divided between Sakharambapu and Nana 

FadmV and later also between these and Morobadada, followed the ridiculous 

1 IicluUkaranji Itihasa p. 64 note> 

2 Rai. 1^1 
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practice of requiring three copies^ being made of despatches to be sent tt> the 

Peshwa Darbar. The toleration which they showed in the religious sphere was 

not yet established in the political sphere. And the self was not considered 

capable of being subordinated to any other higher considerations. Personality 

dominated politics and every other thing where group action was very valuable. 

We thus see the Marathas inherited all the disadvantages of a military 

society without its typical advantage and the necessary condition for success, a 

sense of unity. With Wider and longer experience, they would have fared 

better. They had no time to learn their political trade and met a far more 

powerful and experienced enemy before whom they had to succumb. A glance 

at the History of England would convince how high their political experience 

was before they came to India and how still higher it was when they last 

confronted the Maratha. 

We may briefly summarise the position taken in the pieceding exposition. 

The following chiefly are the considerations which have led to a misrepresentation 

of the character of the Marathas :— 

1. The political prejudices of the Mughals and the English who had to 

suffer most from the Maratha activity. 

2. The jealousy felt by these-that the Marathas obtained an easy empire 

*at a cheap price is the cause of their belittling the Marathas. 

3. Maratha low classes were mostly before the eyes of the critics. 

4. The so-called downfall of the Marathas was so much magnified in 

the consideration of even their sympathisers that they tried to lament the lack 

of a number of civic and political virtues in the Marathas without any 

justification. 

The following things may be said in extenuation :— 

1. Camp life, the necessary concomitant of the military character, was 

certainly responsible for some vicious tendencies. 

2. Moghal invasions forced the predatory tendencies as the only defence 

for the Maratha homes and religions. 

3. They bad to carry great struggle for existence in the very infancy of 

the Maratha power against adversaries, who were much more than a match for 

them. 

4. The Maratha polity was a shortlived experiment and was forced to 

dose its life long before it bad time to attain to majority. The last fate of the 

Marathas has to be described as an accidental death rather than a downfall or 

natural extinction which follows a steady process of gradual decline. 

5. The Maratha polity reared itself upon an entirely undeveloped part 

of the Deccan and the energies of the Marathas were divide - between eaaaking 

1 Fiwn eatiaets from 'Forrort’s Selection* Imperel RaeoiSe' fai poeeeieioa of itr, Wdetai. 
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it both habitable and respectable. The nature of the country made their first 
undertaking unsuccessful and the second risky. In the midst of this struggle 

of their, they had to fight against overwhelming odds which left them very 

tittle time. This accounts for their poor achievements in several fields. There 
is nothing that can substantiate the idea that there were certain inherent and 

incorrigible defects that made them incompetent rulers. 

A VINDICATION OF VENKAJI BHONSLE 

R. Sathianathaier, Lecturer, Annamalai University. 

(1) Introduction— 

The early career of Venkaji shows that unlike his famous half-brother he 

came under the full control and complete influence of his father. Shahji in 

the early part of his career was an opportunist, but his allegiance to Bijapur 

between 1636 and 1664 was steady, in spite of his self-assertion on two 

occasions. Similary Venkaji, though loyal to the Adil Shah, seized the Tanjore 
principality in 1675, contrary to the wishes of his master. Further the cultural 

traditions of tjie South developed in the court of Shahji at Bangalore were 

continued by Venkaji at Tanjore. There is a striking similarity between the 

Karnatak career of the father and the career of his favourite son. 

Venkaji was born about, 1630 and was not much younger than Sivaji.' 
His career was comparatively uneventful till his conquest of Tanjore. In 

1658 he captured S'ri S^ailam^, and in 1663 accompanied his father during 

the latter’s visit to Poona and its environs®. In 1664 he inherited his father’s 

position and property^ In 1665 he fought with conspicuous bravery on the 

side of All 5.dil Shah against Jai Singh and Sivaji® 

(2) Conquest and Administration of Tanjore— 

Though his father had by bis invasions between 1659 ahd 1662 weakened 

Tanjore and prepared the way for Venkaji’s triumph, it was the latter that 

finally conquered that principality more than ten years after his father’s death. 

Though the death of All Adil Shah in 1673 and Chokkanatha Nayaka’s conquest 

of Tanjore in 1674, followed by the intransigence of his deputy, facilitated 

I B*lkrl8him. Stvajt th» OrttU. Vol I, Part 1 pp 180-1; »K. R. Subraminian. Tht Jtfaratha 
Sajai 0/ Tonjor*, p. 19) 

S. Balkrishaa, p, I44. 

3. IM., p. 159. 
4. IMd, p. 137. 

5. Satkar, Shivaji and Bis Tinus, 1929, pp. IS4 and 314. 
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the task of Vehkaji, he proceeded cautiously,^ delayed his attack on the town 

of Tanjore for a year, captured it in 1675, made a military demonstration as 

far as Trichinopoly, restored the Nayak prince to his ancestral throne and 

retired to Kumbhakonam.*’ 

It was in consequence of the incapacity of the restored Nayak prince 

to organise an orderly administration that Vehkaji re-entered Tanjore and^ 

usurped the throne.^ The letter of Fr. Andre Freire to Paul Oliva dated 1676 

describes Vehkaji’s administration. ‘Becoming absolute master of the kingdom, 

he seeks to make himself loved by his subjects, and has already succeeded 

in his attempt. The justice and wisdom of his government begin to heal the 

wounds of the preceding reign and develop the natural resources of this country. 

By repairing the canals and tanks, he has fertilised extensive fields, uncultivated 

for many years, and the last harvest has surpassed all expectations.®’ Further 

to strengthen himself against Madura and Bijapur, he endeavoured to conclude 

an alliance with the French in 1676.* 

(3) Sivaji’s Coromandel Objective— 

A consideration of this question will give the proper perspective for 

appreciating Veiikaji’s attitude towards S^ivaji. 

(а) Partition— 

Though the partition question cropped up at the interview between S^ivaji 

and Vehkaji, its precise nature is not clear. Sabhasad differs from other 

chroniclers, and the assertions of the latter overlook the fact that the Tanjore 

principality was the'self-acquired state of Vehkaji. Mr. Sardesai's suggestion that 

Sivaji aimed at destroying the feudal obligations of Vehkaji to Bijapur and 

bringing him under his own political control is a part and parcel of his theory 

that S'ivaji .soared high above his pan-Maratha ideal and struggled hard for the 

establishment of the Hindi-pad-Pudshahi.^° We can seek enlightenment from 

Sabhasad’s observa^on that “the Raja entertained in his heart the desire of 

conquering the Karnatak from Tungabhadra Valley to the KSveri”'*^ and from 

the letter of Bombay to the Company, dated 16. 1. 1678, that “Sevagee 

Raja, carried on by an ambitious desire to bee famed a mighty conquerour, left 

Rairi.*at the latter end of the last faire Montzoone”** 

(б) Plunder-^ 

Prof. Sarkar’s theory has been disposed of by Dr. Sen,* • and SivijI’s 

6. R. S- Aiyar, Bislory o/ ihs Naydki of Uadura, pp. 166-9. 
7. IM, p. 170. 

S. Bertrand, La Mieeion d« tiadurt, Vol III, p. 249. 
9 Kaippelin, La OompagnU dti Indo$ Orion Mot«( Frantoii Martin, p. 169. 

10 Sardeaai, Tho main ourronti of Maratha Eiotory, 1933, pp. 72-3. 
11 Sen, Siva Ohhatr<^ati, p. lig. 

12 BngUih Booordt on Shioaji, Poona, 1931. II. 272. 

18 Btudioo tn Indian Bithry, pp 141-3. 
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diplomatic preliminaries and his grand army of veterans, military and civil, 

show that he contemplated no Mulkgiri. 

(c) Annexation— 

Dr. Sen^* has shown with reference to Martin’s Memoirs that there is 

no mistaking the territorial ambition of S^ivaji. As regards the date of origin 

of this idea of S^ivaji’s, he mentions M. Baron’s letter of 20. 12. 1675,'* but 

from, Kaeppelin's notice''' it is clear that Sivajl entertained the idea of 

Karnatak invasion before 26. 8. 1675. 

SivSji’s definite territorial jxdicy is further supported by his letter to 

Langhorne, Governor of Fort St. George, containing a request for a loan of 

engineers. “Since my arrivall into the Cornat country I have conquered severall 

Forts and Castles, and do allso intend to build new workes in several Forts 

and Castles**.'® Above all, Fr. Andri Freire*s letter of 1678 says: “Sivaji 

made himself master of it (Vellore) and thereby became sovereign of a large 

part of the kingdom (of Vijayanagar) as he had already been master of Jinji. 

He could not hope to maintain peaceful possession of it for long; he had to 

defend himself against the Mughal power which had been irresistible till now. 

With this prevision he applied all the energy of his mind and all the resources 

of his dominions to the fortification of the principal towns. He constructed 

new ramparts around Jinji; dug ditches, erected towers, created basins and 

executed all these works with a perfection which European art would not have 

denied. He did as much for the other citadels whose position promised real 

advantages, destroyed all those he considered useless, constructed a large 

number of new ones in the plains and on the hills, and put all these fortresses 

in a state of preparedness for a siege of several years. Stwh works necessarily 

exhausted his treasures.”^* Still Prof. Sarkar maintains that “gold and not 

land was his chief object**.*® 

(d) A second line of defence— 

Dr. Sen*^ is half inclined to support Ranade’s thesis. But S>ivaji*s 

position in Maharashtra was not such that he could think of an alternative line 

of defence. Though Jinji sustained the Marathas under Rajaram (or a few 

years, they ultimately fell back on Maharashtra. Did Sivaji foresee this 

as well ? ^ 

14 Sarkar, op, oil,, pp 291-2. 

15 op. oil., pp 142-5 

16 Ibid, pm 

17 OP. oil., p 156 
18 SlngUtk Btoordo, II. 251 

19 Bartrand, op, oil,, p 271. 

20 Sarkar. op. oU„ p 309. 

21 Slwdiot. p. 145, 
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(e) Revival of Vijayanagar-^ 

This theory is based on Sivaji's silver plate grant to the widow and 

two sons of Srfrahga III, donating "probably a hundred villages’*^*, and on hfs 

issue of a unique imperial gold coin, Pan, discov^ed at Phaltan, in imitation 

ol the pagoda of Vijayanagar. But these epigraphic and numismatic evidences 

merely show SivSji's humanity towards the family of an emiperor who had 

come to grief and his submission to the numismatic tradition of Vijayanagar. 

If he had really wanted to step into the imperial shoes of Sriranga III, who 

died in 1672®*, he would have postponed his coronation in 1674, or recrowned 

himself after his Coramandel adventures. 

An examination of the objective of Sivaji’s Coromandel endeavours 

shows that the attempt to discover his ulterior motives is futile, and that his 

palpable objective was the conquest and administration of the Karnatak in 

order to strengthen his own military and political position, partition of his 

paternal Jaghirs being only a side issue. 

(4) Sivajl Vefikajt Collision— 

Fr. Andre’ Freire’s letter** of 167S represents Vehkaji as the victim of 

his half brother’s ambition, diplomacy and cupidity. After his escape from the 

clutches of Sivaji and after the latters’ departure from the Coromandel Coast, he 

fought Santaji with impetuosity and almost succeeded, when by strategem the 

latter’s defeat was converted into a pyrrhic victory. As he was further 

confronted with the hostility of Chokkanatha Nayaka, he came to terms 

with Sivaji. 

Prof. Sarkar’s observation that "the Jesuit letter for 1677 is mostly 

wrong and based on distant rumour’’*'^ is hard to understand. The record 

was composed at Viranain (Viranamur, jinji Taluk, South Arcot Dt.), and 

the Jinji province was a district of the Madura Missison. Its contents agree 

remarkably well with the other foreign and indigenous sources except in a 

few cases, which may be considered here. 

(a) Capture of Jinji— 

The Jesuit statement is that Sivaji fell on Jinji "like a thunderbolt’’ and 

22 Vijeyanagara Stvetntmary Oommtmontiim Vdumt, p. 187. 

33 A letter of Fort St. George to the Company, dated 16*t2* 1672, says, 'Another cloud 
begins to gather towards the mountaines where the old Gentil King of Comatta, whose harsh 

eorrhve (o Ms preat ones was the loeee tMe ooimtrey, being newly dead, a brothers aonn succeeds 

in his rights "{BngUth B»eord$. 1 334) This passage sets at rest all speculations regarding the final 

date of Sriranga III, and snpports my contention that the feudatories of the empire ehould not be 
made the ao^wgoats for that emperor's failure (ProeeeiKfipe and TnmsaeMone if the Thkd Ofewtgl 
(JOHfmmt, 1934, pp. 374*3). 

24 Bertra^. (V oft. pp, 369-71. ^ 

23 Sarkar,eV0f('p.4l2. 
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seized it “at the first assault” and that his easy success was due to his taking 

advantage of the disunion which prevailed there. Though Bhim Sen*® sa3rs 

that Jinji was captured by treachery, Manucci*^ attributes Sivaji’s success 

to his “valour and determination”. The letters of Fort St. George do not 

support the charge of treachery, and Martin’s account is to be taken with 

a grain of salt. 

(6) Sivaji’s treatment of Vehkaji— 

Fr. Andre Freire speaks of the treacherous imprisonment of Venkaji, 

his escape, and Sivaji’s seizure of the country to the north of the Coleroon, 

which was entursted to Santaji and a Brahmin adviser (Raghunath Pant). 

Sabhasad says that Vinkaji’s flight was due to his knowledge that Sivaji 

would employ force to make him come to terms*®. Martin observes, “The first 

conversation gave evidence of amity and tenderness only, then it came to the 

negotiation when Ecugy discovered that his brother would not 'let him go 

unless he had satisfied him about his claims.on receipt of the information 

(that Vinkaji had fled) Sivaji caused Ecugy’s men who were in his camp to 

be arrested.(and) took possession of a part of the lands of Gingy which 

belonged to Ecugy.”*® A Fort St. George record says that Sivaji “waxed 

very angry and bad him (Vinkaji; begone”®®, and arrested a few of his men. 

Though the Jesuit reference to the imprisonment of Venkaji is not confirmed, 

it is clear that a few of his followers were taken into custody and that his 

territory north of the Coleroon was seized. 

(o) Pyrrhic Victory— 

The Jesuit version is corroborated by other accounts. Sabhasad says, “A 

bloody battle ensued. By virtue of the king’s righteousness and good luck 

Hambirrao defeated Vyankaji.’’®^ Martin remarks; “A great battle was fought 

on the 26th of the month (Nevember, 1677) between the armies of Siveagy and 

Ecugy...The two parties retreated and the loss was almost equal”.®* Fort St. 

George to Surat, dated 20 and 29, ll. 1677, describes the engagement, “The 

battle held from morning till night in which Santogee was worsted and fleed 3 

quarters of one of these leagues, being pursued one fourth of a league. When being 

returned to their severall camps, Santogee, consulting with his captains what the 

importance and shame would be, resolved to dress and sadle their horse againe, 

and so immediately rode away by other wayes, and in the dead of the night 

26 Patwardhan and Rawlinson, Source Book of MunUha Hietory^ VoK I, p. 168. 

27 Ibid, p, 182. 
28 Sen, Siva Ohhatrapali^ p. 126. 

29 Sen# Foreign BiographUa of Shivaji. pp. 303-4. 
30 BngUah Booordo, II. 241. 

31 P%twafdhan and RawUnson', op. oU, p 129 

38 Sen, Jibroign BkgrapMoa of Shiva^i p |17 
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surprised them last at rest after see hard labour, their horses unsadled, and 

made a great slaughter of them”**. 

Td) Sieze of Vellore— 

It last for a year, according to the Jesuit writer. There is a slight 

inaccuracy here as the si^e went on for about fourteen months. Another 

inaccuracy is, the statement that Santaji reformed Sivaji at Vellore. 3ut Prof. 

Sarkar’s total condemnation of the record in question is surprising. Dr. Sen 

understands its historical value, though he does not include it in his Foreign 

Biographies of Shivaji, and notes that the Jesuit letter ''substantiallly corroborates 

the Maratha account”** of Sivaji’s Kar^t&k expedition. 

(5) Last years of Venkaji 

The vindication so far atteiupted cannot close without notice of the 

deterioration of Vehkaji’s repentation for Civil administration. Prof. Sarkar 

says that he was “no unworthy brother of Shivaji”,** but does not refer to 

his later maladministration. Fr. Andre Freire‘s letter of 1682 gives the following 

picture. “I shall say little about Tanjore; the tyranny of Ekoji (Venkaji) 

continues his work of destruction there. After plundering the people he has 

fallen on the pagodas of his own idols. There never was seen so much 

temerity in a pagan, but he is a pagan who has no other god than his cupidity. 

To satisfy it he has appropriated the treasures of his pagodas and their large 

properties. The Brahmins came in vain to lament and represent to him that 

their gods had been abandoned without offerings, because the paddy fields 

whose produce was intended for their worship had been taken away from them. 

He replied that the gods did not eat and that offerings of fragrant flowers 

would suffice. It can be judged from this how Ekoji treats his unhappy 

subjects."** Fr. Britto’s letter of 1683 describes Vehkaji’s land revenue 

administration. “Ekojji takes away four-fifths of all the produce. As if this 

were not enough, he enforces payment in cash, and as he is careful to fix the 

price himself much above what the owner can realise, it happens that the sale 

of the whole harvest is never sufficient to pay the tax. Accordingly the 

cultivators are burdened with a crushing debt and often they are obliged to 

prove their inability to pay, when they have to pay, by submitting to barbarous 

tortures.However, in the kingdom of Jinji tyranny is even more frightful 

and revolting.Expression fails me to tell you how horrible it is.”* ^ His 

misrule should be attributed to his costly peace with Sivaji, to the floods of 

1677 and 1680, to his wars, and to his territorial losses. One should pause before 

33 XtiflUh II. 264 

34 Sen. AimliiUnHve mdtm oS ih* MarathOB, 2nd edition, pH. 
33 Sarkar, p 314. 

36 Bertrand, p 306 
17 
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one complainslagainst “the deliberate falsification of history by later Maratha 

writers.” • ® 

Still Venkaji was better than his companion at Jinji. He should be given 

sufficient credit for serving the traditions of South Indian culture which had 

its day under his successor,®® and following again in the footsteps of his 

father.*® 

THE RELATIONS OF BOMBAY WITH THE MARATHAS DURING 
THE COMPANY’S WAR WITH AURANGZEB, 1685-1690. 

W. S. Deasai, M. A., Raogoon University 

The East India Company acquired Bombay in 1668 with the sole 

object of carrying on a lucrative and peaceful trade with the peoples on the 

mainland. The standing orders to the agents were to maintain peace with all 

neighbours, to be neutral in the quarrels and struggles of the country powers, 

and to obtain privileges of trade from all; but resolutely to defend the colony 

against all enemies. It was found impossible to keep entirely aloof from 

the affairs of the princes, and Bombay was gradually drawn into the politics 

of her neighbours. It is not proposed in this article to give an account of 

the hostile relations between the Company and the Moghul power during the 

period 1685-1690, but to enquire summarily, from original sources, into the 

nature of the relations between Bombay and the Maratbas during the course of 

the hostilities with Aurangzeb. 

In the year 1685 the Company embarked on experimenting a new policy 

in their relations with the country powers. So long they had styled themselves 

merely traders to whom war was abhorrent, and had tried their best to 

maintain the principles of the quiet policy laid down by Sir Thomas Roe in 

1616. Bombay was desirous of acquiring the two neighbouring islands of 

Henery and Kenery ; but on 22 April, 1681, the Court of Directors prohibited 

military enterprise. For this very reason, wrongs and insults -from the Moghuls, 

the Maratbas and the Siddis were meekly borne. But now all this was to 

change. Trade was still to be the sole aim; but oppressions from the country 

powers were to be combatted by force of arms. This new policy brought 

38 Sarkar, op. oU., p, 314 - 
39 K. R. Subnudaoian, op. oit„ pp 29-33 
40 Patwardban and RawlinBon, op, oU., pp 22 and 111. 
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them into conflict with the Moghul who thus became the common enemy 
of the English and the Marathas. An enquiry then into the relations between 

the Marathas and the English during the period of the Company's war with 

the Moghul would be interesting. 

In 1684, the Court, under the chairmanship of Sir Joseph Ash, declared, 

that though the aim of the Company was trade and not conquest, it was 
necessary to have forts for the protection of their stocks. With this end in 

view, orders were sent to construct a fortified wall round Madras and a fort 

in Bengal. In 1686 Sir Josiah Child became for the third time the chairman 
of the Court, and under him the new policy was pursued with great zeil. James 
II, who was a considerable shareholder in the Company, was willing to do 

all he could to advance her interests. The country powers were now to be 

given to understand, that the Company would henceforward treat with them 

as an independent power, and if aggrieved by any prince, would have resort 

to force of arms if necessary. Sir John Child^, the President of the Surat 
Factory, was given the imposing title of “Captain General and Admiral of all 

forces by sea and land in the* northern parts of India, from Cape Comorin to 

the Gulf of Persia". To be free from the control and exactions of the Surat 
governor, he was to fix the seat of government at Bombay, and Surat was 

to be reduced to a simple factory with Bartholomew Harris as president. 

As early as April 1684, the Directors asked the Surat officials to vindicate 

the honour ot their nation against the insolence of the Portuguese as well 

of the Moors^. and in the face of impending struggle peradventure it may be 

prudent to temporise with the Moghul and Sambhaji until we have rightc 1 

ourselves with other two, and until you have made Bombay so formidable 

that the appearance of it may fright the Moghul’s government and Sambhaji 

Raja<*»>>*" Thus the Marathas too were to be resisted if they interfered 

in any way with the rights and privil^es of the Company. 

In January 1685 Surat wrote home to say that Aurangzeb was no 

1 Writers of Indian history have generally followed Bruce in considering Sir Josiah Child 

and Sir John Child to be brothers. The Stracheys* in their *'Keigwin*8 Rebellion**, however 
claim, that they were neither brothers nor did they bear any relationship whatever to each other, 
and that their families were qnite distinct. The followiog letter, however, as it does, conclnsively 

proves that they were kinsmen if not brothers- 

Sir John Child to Sir Josia Child, dated 30th November 1693, Surat: **Bambay 1 should 
be glad to see flourish, but must wait God's time and yours; it labours under abundance of 

troubles from the Siddi and onr very naughty neighbours the * Portuguese. They have lately 
forbid all provisions going to onr island, and afford it all the injury they can. They are at war now 

with Sambhaji Raja.Your very much obliged humble servant and kinsman*. (O. C. 3005), 
2 f. the Siddis; sometimes the term is applied to Mahomedans In general. ^ 

3 L. Bk. Vol. 7| dated 7 April, 1694. 
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friend of Christians, the governor of Surat was very abusive and exacting, the 

Carwar factory was in trouble, and Sambhaji was fast sinking.^ 

As the English began seriously to think of resisting the oppressions of 

the Moghul, they naturally looked for an ally ; and Sambhaji being at the same 

time engaged in a war with the Moghul, they gave definite instructions to Surat 

and Bombay to keep on good terms with him, and endeavour to get assistance 

from him. No definite offensive or defensive alliance was entered into as allies 

to prosecute a war with the Moghul, but having a common foe to face the 

English General did all he could from time to time to get the Marathas to 

help him. 

In October 1685 the Directors wrote to Surat that they had decided to 

take firm measures both against the oppressions of the Moors and the impudence 

of the interlopers, and they asked the Surat officials to ‘enter into a close 

confederacy and friendship with Sambhaji Raja, and maintain always a strict 

friendship with hira.’^ 

The Secret Committee of the Directors gave distinct orders concerning 

hostilities on the western coast. All merchant fleets of the enemy were to be 

seized, but “not a penny was to be embezzled till condemned”, and no custom 

was to be paid to the Portuguese at Thana unless compelled to. They thought 

so highly of their endeavours that war with the Portuguese even at the same 

time was of no account: so Salsette and the islands adjacent to Bombay were 

to be recovered, since according to the treaty of Whitehall (1661) they had 

been claimed by the English.® 

A strict confederacy with Sambhaji was expected to be of value not 

only for defence but for the overthrow of their enemies the Moghul, the Siddis 

and the Portuguese. These fond expectations, however, did not materialise. 

They were unaware of the gulf that lay between the great Sivaji the departed 

monarch and his son Sambhaji as to character and personality. However, 

terms were now to be offered to Sambhaji, which the! Company had repeatedly 

denied to his father. 

In reply to all these instructions, Child wrote optimistically of the 

prospects of the Company in the coming struggle, and a true and dutiful servant 

as he was, he promised to put the orders of his masters into execution^. 

These warlike schemes were first put into operation in Bengal. They 

failed signally there, and by March 1689, the Moghuls cleared that province 

of all the Company’s servants. On the west coast, the Company aimed at 

keeping up a mask of friendship towards the Moghul till the result of the Bengal 

1 Surat to the Directors, 23 January, 1683. 
2 L. Bk. Vol. S, London to Snrat, 28 October, 1685. 
3 Ibid. 31 March, 1686. 

1 0. C, 
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expedition was known. Meanwhile, under the orders of the Directors, Bombay 

was to be made "as strong as money and art could make it”. 

While Child was preparing to strike the blow, Sambhaji on the mainland 

was being hard pressed by the Moghuls. The Siddi' also had succeeded in 

capturing several Maratha forts on the sea coast, and this caused much 

uneasiness in Bombay because the balance of power was disturbed thereby. 

The Siddi also asked for guns from Bombay, and this placed the government 

of the island in a precarious position, for friendship was still to be maintained 

with the Moghul in the west, since the opportune time to break with him had 

not yet arrived*. 

In October 1686, the successes of the Siddi quite alarmed Bombay, leaving 

the government no alternative but to take some steps to secure their own island. 

“We are credibly informed”, they wrote, to Child at Surat “that the Siddi after 

having such success at Danda Rajapuri and other places is resolved to attack 

Kenery. If he do it, it will infallibly be resigned to him by treachery, and may 

prove of ill consequence to this island. This we think fit to advise your 

Excellency, praying your direction about it, whether or no you think fit to 

send a man to the Raja (Sambhaji) to propose to him to give the 

said Kenery into our hands till he becomes master of his country, and then 

to return to him again ; or any other proposal that you shall think fit, which 

must be done speedily or not at all, for certainly the Siddi will have it. 

Penn is certainly in danger of being lost®”. 

This serious situation resulted in negotiations with Sarabhaji’s government, 

for in March 1687, Bombay wrote again to the General at Surat, “We have 

received a letter from the Peshwa concerning Sambhaji Raja and us. He says 

that the old one (Peshwa) is dead and a new one made. He would have us send 

a boat for him to come and converse with us, but that is only to get a peshcasM 

from us as being a new^ade officer®”. 

But these attempts, with regard to Kenery at least, bore no fruit, and the 

Marathas did not hand over the island to Bombay. However, the Siddi, 

notwithstanding his great successes elsewhere, failed to capture Kenery. 

In May 1687, Child and Council arrived in Bombay and made it the seat 

of their government. From here Child began his preliminary operations, but 

under a screen: open hostilities were to be the last resort. He sent four 

ships under Capt. Andrews with secret orders to seize all the Moghul and 

1 He was chief cf Janzira, aad was by contract with the Moghul Emperor bound to protect 
pilgrim ships going to Mecca. 

2 Campbell’s Histl. Material. Bom. Gaz.*XXVI, Pt. I, pp. 98, 99. 

3 F. H. S.iVol. 1, Bombay to Surat, IS.October, 1686, 
4 A present. 

5 C. H. M. Bom. Gaz. pp. 102, 108. 
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Siamese ships that he might meet with ; and a ship to Surat, with orders to 

bring thence to Bombay all the factors and property belonging to the 

company. To Bartholomew Harris, the General wrote, that war was to be made 

against the Moghul for very substantial reasons : ‘Ve want a firm footing in the 

Moghul dominions on this side, and if we get it here, we shill have it in other 

parts too, especially because he has become so strong by his conquests, and 

Sambhaji also is losing against him'*’. 

Before finally throwing off the mask, in obedience to his Masters* orders, 

Child once again made an effort to get Maratha aid. To the Directors he wrote, 

‘We sent over to the 6th current, Mr. George Weldon and Mr, Robert Graham, 

and are treating with Sambhaji Raja, which we hope may prove very 

advantageous to your honours^**. Anderson in his ‘The English in Western 

India* says that Child succeeded in making a treaty with Sambhaji, by which 

the Raja agreed to give the English Rs 50,000 and 2000 khandies of rice, on 

condition that they protected the creeks and mouths of the rivers along the 

Maratha coast (1687)®. But the instruction? from home were for “friendship** 

and “confederacy”, which meant joint action against the common foe. This 

was not attained. The next year Child wrote to the Directors that his 

endeavours in treating with Sambhaji did not have the wished for success.^ 

It must be remarked that a real confederacy between the English and 

Sambhaji was at this time not possible. Neither party was in a position to 

effectively help the other against the Moghul: the English, who had been so 

long purely traders, could not afford to send men to the aid of Sambhaji, 

whose troops could at best carry on a guerilla warfare against the hordes of 

Aurangzeb. The only way the Company could help him, was by supplying 

him with ammunition, and protecting his coasts against the enemy fleets, both 

of which they did. Again the aim of the English in trying to enter into an 

alliance with Sambhaji was not to protect the latter against Aurangzeb, but 

to get as much help and protection as they could from him. Sambhaji, 

however, was not in a position to lend any effectual help in money and 

provisions, for the plains soon fell into the hands of the enemy, and before the 

end of the year (1689) he himself was captured and executed. 

On 12 December, 1689, Child wrote to the Directors about the 

impossibility of either uniting with the Marathas or of obtaining any help from 

them. “At present there is no certain news where Raja Ram is**, he said, “but 

on this part of India he does not appear nor any force of his in the field to 

1 0« C. 5641, 24 Dacembar, 1687. 

2 Ibid. 26 Saptamber, 1687. 

3 Andarson. howavar, doat act cita aay authority for his statamaot. 
4 F. R. VoL 3. Bom. 9 January, 1688. 
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withstand the Moghul and his forces. Rairee...>»and most of his strongholds 

are fallenjnto the Moghul’s hands.All the country about us that was the 

Raja's is the Moghul's now; there only stands out for the Raja near os the 

little island Kenery, a castle to the northward of Chaul near the seaside called 

Kolaba, and another castle on the mainland called Paddangarh to the southward 

of Chaul.they (the Marathas) have been with us for assistance and would 

feign borrow money etc. We have given them all good words, may be, and 

keep them encouraged what we can for the present, but in all ap()earance they 

will not hold out long, and indeed they have no means to do it, and should 

we trust them, they will certainly deceive us".'- 

This then was the state of the Marathas, and this the attitude of besieged 

Bombay towards them. A confederation between the two was not possible. 

Before the end of the year. Child sent Messrs. Weldon and Navarro 

with an Indian merchant Miyan Namazi to Aurangzeb’s court then at Bijapur, 

craving for peace. Aurangzeb severely reprimanded the envoys for the 

ungrateful conduct of the Company, but at their request he granted them a new 

firman "expressed in terms and with conditions more humiliating and more 

oppressive than any which had occurred from the first settlement of the English 

factory in India. The Company was to be now admitted not as the subjects 

of an independent sovereign, or as having a retreat at Bombay at which they 

could be protected, but as criminals whose Chief had been proscribed, and 

themselves admitted to live in vassalage or slavery only”. The Company 

agreed to make good all the losses of the Moghuls, pay a fine of Rs. 150,000, 

and dismiss Sir John Child from service. But two weeks before the firman 

was delivered. Child died at Bombay (Feb. 1689), and his death facilitated the 

mission of the envoys. 

1 O. C. 3691, 12 December, 1689. 
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PROGRESS OF MAHARASHTRA UNDER THE PESHWAS 

V. K. Bhavei B. A., AmU. Editor, *Ke«ari’ and author 
of Peshwekalin Maharashtra, Poona 

The Marathas under the Peshwas made long strides in every branch of 
human activity. Brahmins by caste they realised the value of learning in its 
entirety and knew the proper place in the cultural advancement of a country of 

fine arts such as architecture, music, dancing, gardening etc. and also of other 

nation building activities including construction of roads, water-works, plantation 

of trees etc. They had also to pay attetition to and develop all branches of 

administration. Luckily for them the King Sahu, the head of the Maratha 

Empire having been brought up in the Moghul Court, was a lover of fine 

arts and was deeply interested in the all round progress of the state. 
Encouraged by him the Peshwas felt enthusiastic to undertake these works when 

they could snatch peaceful hours in the midst of constant warfare and 

state intrigues. 

Architecture—First of all they devoted their attention to town-planning 

and State-buildings. Satara the old Capital of the Marathas, situated on the 
slopes of a hill-fort, though secure from foreign attacks, could not command a 

sight befitting the capital of a growing Empire. Poona being more central 

and on the plains, Bajirao I decided to make it his Capital. He started building 

his citadel outside the old village of Poona in 1729 and made it his headquarters 

in 1738 even before it was completed. During all the prosperous years of the 

Peshwa's regime, improvements, renovations and enlargements of the citadel 

continued. It was a six storied building with a magnificent Court Hail called 

and encircled by a dependable rampart. The building was two 

hundred yards in length and one hundred and fifty yards in breadth, consisting of 

ten squares of which four were very spacious. Bajirao II was very fond of 

erecting new buildings. Besides Shaniwar palace he bad four big mansions in the 

city, a glass Mansion and water-girded palace just outside the city. 

Balaji Bajirao, the third Peshwa, found it expedient to have a mansion 

of bis own at Satara in 17S3 where the head of the Maratha Epmire lived. It 

is very curious to note in this connection that there were not sufficient 

number of skilled craftsmen in Maharashtra to execute this work. Therefore 

the Peshwa had to import three carpenters from Gujrath on higher wages, 

indicating the superiority of Gujrath over Maharashtra in cultural advance. 

At centres of pilgrimage and holy places including Benares, Nasik, Pandharpur, 
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Tbeur and Vaduth the Peshwas had buildings of various designs for their 
own use on day of festivals. 

On temples and ghats they spent crores of rupees. There is a beautiful 

spot at a distance of 25 miles from Poona in a thicket of banyan trees with 
murmuring brook meandering through it which might have been noticed by 

Balaji Bajirao on his own way to Satara. Enchanted by its sight he thought 

of having a temple of having a temple of Shiva an aqueduct and a Dharmashala 
for visitors, which he had constructed. The place is called Baneshwar and 

is frequented by lovers of nature and devotees of Shiva from far and near. 
Nasik and Trimbak the two holy places on the river Godavari are of alMndia 
fame. Pilgrims in large numbers visit them annually. At Nasik they built 

one spacious ghat and palace while at Trimbkeshwar they erected a magnificent 

temple dedicated to God Shiva on a place previously occupied by a Mosque 

in the Mahomedan period. 

The glorious example that Peshwas set was faithfully followed by their 

Sardars, nobles and Statesmen all over Maharashtra. They heightened the 

natural beauty of the country by various works of art in their own way, the 

chief among them being Nana Phadnawis the distinguished statesman and 
the Rastes. Nana spent lacs of rupees over palacial buildings, temples and 

ghats on the rivers Krishna, Bhima, Godavari and Ganges. In Benares he 

constructed a wada in the Deccani style and threw a bridge across the river 
Karmnasha with the help of one Baker, a European Engineer. Maratha Sardars 

and Statesmen amassed much wealth in their campaigns outside Maharashtra, 

a portion of which they spent on building projects that would add to the 

grandeur and glory of their homeland. Rastes, the kinsmen of the Peshwas 

accumulating very large fortune in the capacity of Sawkar as well as Sardar, 

with religious fervour lent their energy to the development of Wai, a holy place 

on the river Krishi^a,' and Nasik on the river Godavari and the ancient city of 

Benares with commendable success. Both of them rank foremost among the 

places worth visiting in Maharashtra. Poona which was a petty market place when 
Bajirao I selected it as a site for his capital, he and his successors turned into a big 

prosperous city befitting the fame and glory of the Empire they founded. New 

officers were entrusted with planning and development of the town. They laid out 

new wards, containing plots for the buildings of Sardars, Sowcars, Merchants, 

Noblemen and artisans. Poor and Middle*class persons received loans from 

the state and merchants concession in duties on merchandise. Those who 

added to the magnificence and prosperity of the city were voluntarily honoured 

by the rulers with titles, abdagirs etc. New industries for the manufacture of 

articles of luxury and necessity being patronised by the court, attracted artisans 

from all pacts of India. Poona has still maintained its reputation for brocades 
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and gold and silver laces. They were also induced to come from provinces 
noted for various industries and prevailed over to settle in the city. Facilities 

were offered at Nasik, Dharwar and other old towns in Maharashtra and 
Karnatak to artisans and industrialists. In Aurangabad a town annexed from 

the Nizam, the Peshwas laid out new wards called Amadanagar and Devgiri, the 

latter being the name of the ancient capital of the Yadav Kings. Anandwalli 
and Gangapur were the new towns founded by the Peshwas not very far 

from Nasik. 

Adequate water-supply is a primary necessity of the people living in a 

large city. Poona before being raised to the rank of one of the largest cities 

in India had to depend for water-supply on the small river Mutha which went 

dry in summer and its water was insufficient to meet the requirements of the 
public even in other seasons- Fully aware of hardships of the citizens in this 

respect the Peshwas constructed the big Parwati tank near Poona and Katraj 

tank at a longer distance, from the latter of which water was supplied to 

different parts of the town. Nana Phadnawis and Rastes at their own cost 

supplied the city with water from neighbouring resources. In their solicitude 
for urban population the Peshwas never neglected the interest of the village folk 
for whom they constructed tanks and dug wells at Jejuri, Diva, Indapur, 

Natapute and other places in which even a Saint like Bramhendra Swami was 

not slow to participate. 

Fine Arts—As in other arts Maharashtra in those days lacked in sculpture, 

and fresco and other paintings. Madhavrao I bad in his court a painter named 
Mankoji whose services were availed of by Raghoba in the decoration of his 

buildings at Anandwalli and Trimbak. Nana Phadnawis had tried to obtain 

pictures from Jaipur and Jodhpur, the old and cultured Hindu States through 
Mahadji Sindia but without success. He even made inquiries about them at 

Delhi and Agra the centres of Mughal art and culture. But as Agra was laid 
desolate and E>elhi had met the same fate with the fall of the Moguls Nana’s 

efforts proved unfruitful. 

In the reign of Sawai Madbav Rao Peshwa, Mr. James Wales a well-known 

English artist on a visit to Mr. Mallet the English resident at the Peshwa’s 

court happened to stay in Poona for about four years. During his sojourn he 

drew portraits of Sawai Madhav Rao, Nana Fadnavis, Mahadji Sindia, 

Parashuram Bhau and other great persons at the Poona Court. Highly 

impressed by them Sawai Madhavrao at the instance of Mr. Mallet founded a 

school of arts in his palace with Mr. Wales as its Superintendent, under whom 

several pupils were trained prominent among them being Gangaram Tambat. 

In Madhavrao Peshwa Mr, Mallet fonhd a man of taste, lover of art and 

77 
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worshipper of nature. He took Madhavrao along with him to Mahableshwar 

the noted hill station of Maharashtra in 1791 to enjoy its scenery. 

Leamittg-^la times of old, public instruction did not form a part of State 

duties. It was entirely left to private initiative. An educated man probably 

without any means started a school on his own responsibility relying mainly on 

the support of villagers who sent their children to learn three Rs. at his feet. 
The Peshwas however earmarked every year a large sum of money which they 

gave out as dakshina to learned Brahmins in the month of Shravan, when 

thousands of Brahmins from one end of the country to the other rallied to 

Poona. Nearly four years prior to the death of Bajirao 1 the dakshina amounted 

to Rs. 16,354 only. Within the next fifteen years in the reign of Balaji Bajirao 

alias Nana Saheb it rose to 18 lacs of rupees. The number ol Bramhans was on 

an average between thirty to forty thousand. The grant each Brahman 

received ranged from Rs. 25 to 40. They were generally well versed in the 

Vedas, Nyaya, Vyakarana, Mimansa and Alankaras. The places to which they 

belonged, included Shringeri, Kancbi, Shrirangpattan, Kumbhakonam, Tanjore, 

Rameshwar, Baneras, Kanoj, Gwalior and Mathura. They were examined by 

learned Pandits in their respective branches of learning and were rewarded 

according to merits. This process continued uninterruptedly from year to year 

and gave an impetus and acceleration to ancient learning lying in decay for 
centuries under the alien rule of Mahomadans. In this manner new alien 

Pandits, Sastris and Vaidikas came to Maharashtra. Among them were born 

new poets, religious preachers and haridasas who enriched Marathi literature 

and spread true principles of Hinduism and culture to the remotest parts of the 

country. The great poetic works of Moropant may be ascribed to the revival 

of learning under the patronage of the Peshwas. At Ganesh Festival in. 

the month of Bha^rapad, haridases upto fifty to sixty in number from various 

places including Aurangabad, Paithan, Sangameshwar, Sbevagaon, Bhingar, 

Puntambe and many others visited the Peshwas* court and were amply rewarded 

with due regard to their merits. 

Music and Dancing—The king Sbahu was a great patron of arts at whose 

insistence the Peshwas procured musicians from Delhi, Sironj and other cities in 
the North. To get the best of the lot the king sanctioned rupees five to seven 

thousand. From Karnatak equally famous in this respect were imported 

female singers and dancers. After the death of Shahu, Nanasaheb Peshwa 

appreciatingitbe high class entertainment which music provided, sent (or musicians 

and artists of Aurangabad the seat of Mahomedan culture in the Deccan. As 

time went on Nana Saheb not relying upon foreigners preferred to have his 

own sing^ and dancers at his court. With this view he engaged a Siand of 

such men with young girls under them for training; one Atmaram Rajaram 
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being the officer in charge of this department. On the occasion of the Ganesh 

Festival singers, dancers and players on instruments of great fame were 

specially invited from different places 'and duly rewarded. Raghunathrao 
the younger brother cf Nana Saheb with a liking for fine arts supported 

a large number of men and women accomplished in this art under the 

supervision of Gulabrao Khoja at Anandwalli. At the court of Sawai Madhavrao 
Peshwa there were two very distinguished musicians, of whom one was Bhavai 

Gujarathi, and the other Vynakat Narsi. Bajirao, the last of the Peshwas paid 

a lump sum of Rs. 1,292 to Trimbak Atmaram Gavai and appointed Dawalkhan 
on a monthly salary of Rs, 140 as Darbar Musician. 

Zoo at Satara and Poona—A small beginning of a Zoo was made by the 
King Shahu at Satara. He had a good collection of dogs of noble breed. 

As regards horses he tried to get them from Iraq and Arabia via Punjab 

through the negotiations of Bajirao I and his younger brother Chimajiappa. 

Through his ambassador at the court of Srinagar he made an attempt 

to secure bisons musk-deer and Humey bird. At a cost of Rs. 5,000 he 

ordered his secretary Nilo Ballal to purchase two falcons; and others 

were asked to be in quest of tigers and tigresses. Two female elephants 

purchased at Rs. 500 at Aurangabad were later on added to this already a rich 

collection. 

The progress of the Zoo at Satara was stopped soon after the death of 

Shahu in 1749, with the transfer of power thereafter from Satara to Poona. 

Accordingly a new Zoo was established at Poona in the latter half of the 

reign of Nana Saheb Peshwa who started with a modest beginning made by his 

father Bajirao I. Nanasaheb issued orders to his Vakils with the Sardars and 

at other courts making them send rare birds and beasts of best kind available 

in their parts. Thus within Bve years after Shahu, Nanasaheb was able to 

have a full«fledged Zoo including tigers and other animals. It was divided 

into various departments with a number of officers to look after each. In the 

reign of Madhavrao I the collection grew so rich that at the desire of the King 

Rama Raja he could easily spare one tiger for him. As the times of Sawai 

Madhavrao were comparatively peaceful and propitious the Zoo added to its 

attractions one lion, one bison, large number of parrots, Chandol birds, 

peacocks, deer, stags, hundreds of hares and a score of tigers. Major Price 

who visited Poona in 1791 writes about the Zoo as follows: “The zoo of the 

Peshwa is the best of its kind. The beasts therein are excellent. A lion and 

a rhinoceros are in an excellent condition." The Zoo ^s situated on the plains 

stretching beween Parwati tank and Parwati hills at the south of the city. 

Modioal Help—^The Health Department on modern lines was nowhere 

ia ewlMipe iq the 18th century and mqch less therefore in India. The medica| 
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men called Vaidyas lived mostly in capitals. Out of them those in services of 

the kings were called Rajvaidyas. They manufactured medicines on their 

own formulee and gave the benefit of them to the poor and middle class men 

in charity. By them the richl were taxed heavily, and the poor were practically 

spared. Religious differences had no place so far as medical service was , con¬ 

cerned. Hindu and Mahotnedan Kings availed themselves of Vaidyas and 
Hakims without distinction as occasions required. Accordingly the Nabab of 
Hyderabad had engaged the services of Bharmana, a Hindu Vaidya, while 

Nanasaheb Peshwa was administered medicines by a Mahomedan Hakim in his 

illness. European physicians also had succeeded in securing admission to the 

Maratha court since the days of Bajirao I, Dr. Sandow being the pioneer. In 

course of time the Peshwas having been convinced of the necessity of a special 
medical establishment for their own use had engaged many Vaidyas chief among 

whom was Rajeshwar drawing a monthly salary of Rs. 150 in 1772. Like the 

Peshwas their Sardaqs had their own Vaidyas. Shukdeo Misra was a Vaidya 

at the court of Mahadji Sindia and Shivaram Bbat with the Mantris of Islampur. 

Although the Peshwas and their Sardars could not undertake to make 

medical help available to the rural area they offered every sort of facility and even 
financial aid in some form or another to the Vaidyas treating villagers charitably 

and teaching pupils freely. They were granted villages, lands or were given 

donations in kind or in coin. In this way Shivaram Vasudeo Vaidya was 

granted a village, Ransod Naik Vaidya of Bassein a graden, a Christian physician 

of Revdanda Rs. 25/- fti cash and a Kbandi of Paddy and Appabhat Vaidya 

of Wai an Inam land. 

Otchaids and Gardena—Before Shahu in Maharashtra there were very few 

gardens and orchards worth the name. It was only at Aurangabad that flowering 

trees and fruit trees of rare qualities could be found. Smarting under this short* 

coming he arranged !o bring a large number of seedlings of various descriptions 

to Sntara and instructed Bajirao I to distribute them in the rural area for 

plantation through his subordinates. The city of Satara was soon encircled by 

gardens. Bramhendraswami—the spiritual Guru of Shahu and of early Peshwas 

living in a village Dhawadshi in the hilly, tract near Satara laid out his own 

garden which contained with the best kind of mango trees, select plants and 

other rare vegetation secured from distant places very enthusiastically. 

Shivapur near Poona has still an ancient Mango grove famous for 

its fruit. Anxious for the plantation of these trees in the country-side 

very widely, Shahu asked Bajirao and his brother Chimnajtappa to distribute 
ten thousand mangoes throughout the villages where they would germinate 

into large trees. After the death of Shahu his work was carried on 

vigorously by the later Peshwas. The desire of Bajirao I and Cbimnajiappfi 
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in this matter was fulfilled by Nanasaheb, whose plan is made explicit in the 

following letter. “In the times of Rao and Appa raango^trees were planted in 

villages. After them nothing has been done. Therefore orders should be issued 

to Junner, Poona, Khandesh, Gangathadi and Baleghat. Let there be two 

hundred new seedlings planted every year. Don’t mind if revenue suffers to the 

extent of ten to twenty thousand rupees. The loss is sure to be recompensed by 
the increase in mango produce. It is accompanied by fame and piety. It 

breeds no hatred but ultimately is sure to be profitable.’’ The result of their 

endeavours in this direction can be estimated from the large number of gradens 

in Poona and the neighbourhood in 1747 and also in 1791. In 1747 Poona 

and its.surroundings possessed 31 gardens owned by the Peshwas, their Sardars 

and other dependents, chief among which being those of Malharji Holkar, Ranoji 
Sindia, Tai ( the wife of Bajirao I ) and Bai ( the wife of Nanasaheb). In 

1791 the gardens of the Peshwas in Poona and around rose to thirteen, the best 

being that of Moroba Dada Phadnawis. 

Agriculture—Agriculture was assiduously promoted. To the needy 

persons Tagai loans were advanced either in coin or in kind from State Stores 

existing almost in every village : 'At Kasbe Pal Haveli the houses of people were 

burnt in conflagration. To them paddy was given as a Tagai loan and colleclions 

of revenue suspended for the year ! ^n 1750-51 Ragho Govind gave Rs. 1,500 as 

a Tagai loan to Kasbe Mur.avade in Patod Paragana on condition of repayment 

within two years. ‘Laxman Hari (Govt, officer) was informed not to harass 

Ibrahiraji a khot of Kasbe Gowale this year for Tagai payment, because crops 

had failed.’ Irrigation received duo attention of the’State. In Baglan twenty 

five thousand rupees were ordered to be spent on reparation of water dams at the 

instalment of Rs. 5,000 a year. Two thousand huns were sanctioned for 

the reparation of Tungabhadra canal. Land improvement scheme of Naro Anant 

P.archurey Mahajan of Kasbe Guhagar was approved, under which rocky land 

had to be improved with the supply of good earth from other soils. Those who 

undertook this work were to enjoy half the portion as Inam land and assessment 

on the other half to be reduced to half for twenty years. 

. 4fffiamen/s-—When the Marathas had left mountain fastnesses and 

stepped into plains to combat with the ene ny they discovered the weak points 

in their armaments. It was destined for Bajirao I to encounter Mahomadans 

on equal terms. His formidable opponent was Nizamulmulk in who4e armaments 

artillery figured prominently; while those of Bajirao were conspicuous by its 

absence. Labouring under this disability the latter had to go through a long 

process for gathering strength to beat the enemy. To overcome this 

weakness Bajirao immediately created biS own artillery and placed it tmder 

tN command of. Yashayfintrao aqd Madhavrao Panse, Bqt the sqperiority of 
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Nizam's artillery due to Bussey, a French General, remtined unchallaoged for 

several years until the Peshwas won over Muzaferkhan trained under Bussey and 
serving the Nizam. When Muzafarkhan proved treacherous, he was succeeded by 

Ibrahimkban who in 1761 on the battlefield of Panipat gave a gallant fight 

against his coreligionists, remaining true to his masters. 

I have so far discussed some salient features of the Peshwas’ administration 

which I confidently hope will give a clear (idea of the progress Maharashtra 

attamed under them in the 18th century. To dilate upon this subject further 

on 1 am afraid will violate the limits of a paper to be read before such a 
distinguished gathering faced with a heavy agenda. To those who may be 

anxious to get themselves acquainted with details on every aspect of Maratha 

life in the 18th century I will humbly refer to my work on the same subject 
in Marathi called Peshwekalin Maharashtra 

"THE PESHWA BAJIRAO AND NIZAM-UL-MULK ASAF JAH" 
1730.1738 

M. V. Gigar, B. A. 

The Nizam exerted himself to consolidate his authority in thel Deccan. 
By the treaty of 1728—known as the treaty of Mungi—Shevgaon, the Nizam 

recognised Shabu as the King of the Marathas entitled to Chauth and 

Sardesbmukbi in the six subhas of the Deccan ; but he b^an to look round for 

means to neutralize the effects of this treaty, by his diplomatic manipulations. 

The only means to eff^t this end was to drive the Maratha Kamavisdars from 

bis domains. It was to accomplish this end that he tried to win over the 

Maratha Sardars who were hostile to the Peshwa Bajirao. 

Shripatrao Pratinidhi, Kanoji Bbosle, Trimbakrao Dabhade-Senapati and 

his associates felt humiliated at the success of the Peshwa. The Pratinidhi 

and Kanoji Bbosle opaied secret correspondence with the Nizam, and demnTnjfKf 

a Jagir in Berar (S. P. D. X. 39,81,62). This gave the Nizam an t^iportunity 

to foment dissensions in the Maratha Court. The Peshwa knew the far-reaching 

nature of Nizam’s designs. The Nizam revived the internal dissensioas of the 

Maratha leaders to strengthen bis own position. At the end of October 1730, 

the opposition between the Peshwa and Trimbakrao DablHule.S«iapati had 

grown more intense (S. P, D. X. 66,67, The Senapati had ior sonlhtime 

been smarting under the humiliating treatment meted put to him by the 
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Peshwa who had concluded an agreement on September ISth, 1729, with 

Udaji Pawar which vitally affected his interests in Gujarat (His. Dh, St. P. 58). 

The Senapati felt that his past services in that part of the country were 

totally ignored and his power and influence crippled by the Peshwa (S. P. D. 

XII 18, 21, 26, 39). In these circumstances, Trimbakrao Dabbade and his 

associates in Gujarat were compelled to open secret correspondence with the 
Nizam in order to strengthen their position. Trimbakrao Senapati pressed 

the Nizam to join him to crush the Peshwa Bajirao. This gave the Nizam 

an excellent opportunity to take advantage of the internal dissensions of the 

Maratha leaders. He decided to avoid war as long as possible. In order to 

avoid the payment of Chauth and Sardeshmukhi in the six subhas of the Deccan, 

he seriously thought that measures should be adopted to prevent Dawalii 

Somwamshi and Fatesingh Bhosle, both officers in charge of the collection— 

from entering the territory. The Nizam also thought that he should give the 

Marathas free hand in Malwa and Gujarat so that the opposing Mughal forces 

would inflict enormous losses upon them. With a view to keep the Peshwa 

busy with the internal difficulties, the Nizam wrote back to the Senapati 

promising him all possible help. This secret correspondence commenced at 

the b^inning of November, 1730 (S. P. D. X. 72). 

The Marathas overran Malwa and their efforts were crowned with 

success. The immediate result of their victorious campaign of 1728-29 was 

that the Mughals lost their hold over the Southern part of Malwa. Raja 

Shahu assigned this province to Bajirao and his brother Chimnaji Appa 

(MJ.T.P. 169). This was apparently the signal for the general dismemberment 

of the Mughal Empire. The disruption of the Empire was fraught with 

danger for Nizam’s security. The Nizam, therefore, realized that he was not 

destined to remain in undisturbed possession of bis newly acquired independent 

principality. Forced by circumstances, the Nizam had to open correspondence 

with Muhammad Khan Bangash,—the Subedar of Malwa, with the aim in 

view of seeking his co-operation in an attempt to bring the Marathas to their 

knees and expel them from the Imperial dominions. Muhammad Khan 

Bangash was appointed to the governorship of Malwa on September 19th, 1730. 

He proceeded towards Malwa via Agra. When he reached Sadhaura (172 

miles North of U jjain) in December 1730, be received an urgent letter from 
the Nizam, congratulating him on his appointment to the Subedari of Malwa, 

and asking for an interview in order to concert measures against the growing 

power of the Marathas, and their expansion in the Imperial territories. In 

reply, the Bangash promised to meet the Nizam at the earliest possible 

moment. He expressed the hope that the Nizam, as the great champion of 

tsMm vroukl exert himself to stop the Marathas at the ferries on the Narmada 
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as they intended ravaging the whole of Malwa at the instigation of Raja Sawai 

Jai Singh of Jaipur and the Hindu Zamindars of that province (J. A. S. B. 

1878 p. 309). But the Marathas had already crossed the Narmada. The 

fighting between the Marathas and the forces of Bangash round about Dhar 

went on till February 26th, 1731. The Bangash received a letter from the 

Nizam on February 25th, 1731, asking him to proceed towards the Narmada. 

The Bangash at once set out in that direction, (J. A. S. B. 1878 p. 310-311). 
The Nizam had won over Trimbakrao Oabhade and his associates to his side. 

The Nizam was anxiously expecting news from these Maratha leaders who 

had promised to join him on the Narmada. 
The Nizam and the Bangash met about March 17, 1731. For twelve 

days the Bangash was the guest of Nizam, during which time they formed 

plans to re-establish the authority of the Emperor in the territories occupied 

by the Marathas (J. A. B. S. 1878 p. 311-313). The Nizam was bent on 

taking advantage of the dissensions in the Maratha ranks. He, therefore, had 

to favour Dabhade, Bande, Gaikwad and Udaji Pawar, who were then opposed 

to the Peshwa. The Nizam formed this coalition against the safety of the 

Maratha state. The definiteness of the Peshwa*s aim had impressed upon his 

mind the desirability of undertaking a campaign against Trimbakrao Dabbade- 

Benapati at the earliest possible moment as delay would further strengthen the 

cause pf the Nizam and the Bangash. The Peshwa regarded war with the 

Senapati as an inevitable issue. He made ready for immediate military operations 

to prevent Senapati’s forces from joining those of the Nizam. The Peshwa by 

forced marches overtook Trimbakrao Dabhade and his associates at Dabhai. 

Trimbakrao Dabhade after an obstinate battle fought on April 11, 1731, was 

defeated and slain and ail his troops dispersed. 

After consultations, the Nizam and the Bangash left for their respective 

provinces. From the Narmada the Nizam went towards the territories of 

Mohan Singh of Awasgarh. He on his way was apprised of the defeat and 

death of Trimbakrao Dabbade-Senapati, in the battle of Dabhai. His plan 

of presenting a common front to the Peshwa Bajirao was thus frustrated. 

He was now apprehensive that Bajirao might turn towards his country. He 

therefore crossed the Akbarpur ferry, passed, near the fort of Mandu and 

reached Surat. Some three months later the Nizam made peace with Bajirao 

and gave hifii a free hand in the North at-the expense of the integrity of the 

Mughal Empire (M. I. T. P. 216) (J. A. S. B. P. 313-14). 

The Nizam could not suffer Malwa to pass under the domination of the 

Marathas. He tried his utmost to deliver the Empire from the danger of being 
dismembered by the Marathas. He kept the Emperor constantly informed 

about the projects of the Peshwa Bajirao. He asked the Emperor to give him 
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a sum of Rs. 50 lakhs by way monetary aid, for which he was ready to 

undertake to clear the provinces of Malwa and Gujarat of the Maratbas. He 
contended that he had to resist the fierce attacks of the Marathas single-handed 

without any kind of help from the Imperial Government. He reminded the 

Emperor of the days of Aurangzib when all the revenues of the Mughal Empire 
were employed in the Deccan to crush the growing power of the Marathas. 

He suggested that the various Subedars of the Mughal provinces should co¬ 

operate and organize resistance to the growing power of the Marathas in each 
and every district of the Deccan, Gujarat and Malwa. He pointed out that 
this was the only way to preserve the integrity of the Empire, because it was 
impossible to weaken their power in a battle or two as the Marathas did not 
fight pitched battles (Gulshan-i-Ajaib). The letter which the Nizam wrote 

to the Emperor runs thus :—“Your Majesty has done well to have written to 
the Nizams of Gujarat and Malwa to co-operate with your devoted servant 
(Nizam) to chastise the marauders. By the grace of Almighty God your 

servant is hopeful that his great exertion in the path of “jihad” will be 

productive of good results in the present as well as in future life. If Maharaja 

Abhyasingh does not give protection to Bajirao and abstains from treacherous 

collusion, your servant by the help of the Almighty will be able to destroy 
and capture Bajirao. If Abhyasingh acts in accordance with your orders and 

undertakes to chastise the enemy in his province, the faction of Bajirao will 

be dispersed and he will be ruined” (Gul-i-Ajaib). Maharaja Raj Rajeshwar 
Abhyasingh the ruler of Jodhpur had been asked by the Emperor to take 

up the Governorship of Gujarat in 1729. He spent a year at home in making 

preparations and reached Ahmedabad in October 1730. His governorship in 
Gujarat ended ingloriously in two years in his surrender of chauth to the 

Marathas and his return home with failure. Thus the Nizam ignominiously 
failed to stem the tide of Maratha onslaught and destroy and capture Bajirao. 

The Emperor appointed Sawai Jai Singh to be the Governor of Malwa on 

September 28, 1732, and his governorship lasted upto August 3, 1737. The 

Mughal were not successful in warding off the invasions of the Marathas. 

After the rains of 1732, the Maratha leaders—Shinde, Holkar and Pawar 
entered Malwa. They defeated Sawai Jai Singh and compelled him to make 
peace. In February 1733, an agreement was signed between Sawai Jai Singh 

and the Marathas according to which the former promised to pay six lakhs in 
cash and to cede 28 parganas in lieu of chauth (S. P. D. XIV 2). Then Khan 

Dauran-Amiru-l-Umara Samsamud-Daula decided to lead an expedition 
against the Marathas in the winter of 1733. He wanted some one else to take 

his place so he sent bis brother Muzfarkhan against the Marathas in February 

1734. He made preparations for his expedition and left Delhi on March 20, 

78 
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1734. He marched towards Malwa to drive the Marathas away across the river 

Narmuda but he had to retire towards the capital without fighting the Marathas 

who had returned to the Deccan. (Siyar p. 467—Irvine II 279). The Nizam 

had made preparations at Burhanpur where he waited for the news of 

Muzlarkhan. The Nizam intended to attack the Marathas from the south, but 

his plan was frustrated when Muzfarkhan returned en June ll, 1734. 

After the rains of 1734, when the Marathas entered Malwa, Vazir Qamruddin 
Khan, Mir Bakshi, Khan Dauran decided to lead expeditions in two different 

directions against the Maratha invaders. They set out from Delhi* in November 

1734. The Vazir’s troops suffered heavy losses, so the Vazir returned to Delhi 

on May 9, 1735 (S. P. D. XIV 21, 22, 23). The Marathas surrounded the 

combined armies of Khan Diuran, Sawai Jai Singh, Raja Abhayasingh and 

Durjansal of Kota, and cut off their supplies. Then the great Maratha army 

entered tlje almost defenceless territory of Rajputana. The Mughal generals 

failed to prevent the Marathas from ravaging the country. At last Khan 

Dauran, decided to act on the advice of Jai Singh and make peace with the 

Marathas. Khan Dauran met the Maratha leaders on Mrch 22, 1735, and 

offered 22 lakhs of rupees as chauth of Malwa (S. P. D. XIV 24, 26, 27). 

The Mughal Court consisted of noblemen belonging to two parties. 

Khan Dauran and Sawai Jai Singh were the leaders of Hindustani party. 

Vazir Qamruddin Khan and Sadat Khan the Nawab of Oudh were the leaders 

of Turani party. The Turanis were jealous of the influence of Hindustanis. 

Now Sadat Khan got an opportunity to poison the ears of the Emperor. He 

censured Sawai Jai Singh and Khan Dauran for promising to pay the Marathas 

Rs. 22 lakhs as chauth of Malwa. Sadat Khan said to the Emperor “Jai 

Singh has ruined Malwa by coming to an understanding with the Marathas. 

Jai Singh cannot prevent Marathas from ravaging the country. So Malwa 

should be assigned to me. I will do my utmost to repulse the attacks of 
the Marathas, I Mo not ask for money to raise an army, I am rich. 

The Nizam is my friend. We two will prevent the Marathas from crossing 

the Narmada” (S. P. D, XIV 47). Khan Dauran repeatedly suggested to the 

Emperor that the only way to save the Empire was to accept the demands of 

the Marathas and conciliate them as they could not be subdued by fighting. 
Sadat Khan intended to co-operate with the Nizam to check ' the inroads of 

the Marathas into the Imperial territory ; but their union and cordiality were 

misrepresented to the Emperor by Khan Dauran. The Emperor was made to 

believe that there was grave political danger to the Empire from the Union 

of the Nizam and Sadat Khan. Khan Dauran said to the Emperor “Sadat Khan 

is a hypocrite. If he and the Nizam combine then the iTuranis would set U{) 
another Emperor” (S. P. D. XIV. 47). 
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The Pesbwa decided to inarch into Hindustan and left Poona on October 

3, 1735. The Emperor also made preparations for the Imperial expedition 
against the Marathas and summoned Sadat Khan to the Court to join the 

Mughal army (S. P. D. XXX 134). When the Peshwa went to the North, 
the Nizam apprehended that the Peshwa’s achievements would endanger his 
position. The Nizam therefore grew anxious and opened correspondence with 

Sadat Khan and other nobles in the Court, who were his relatives. He urged 

them to make efforts to defeat the Peshwa Bajirao in his object. The Nizam 
gathered an army and was ready to measure his strength with the Marathas 

(S. P. D. XV 43,40). But Sadat Khan on his way to Agra was obliged to 

fight against the zamindar of Adaru. His forces suffered heavy losses, so he 

abandoned the plan of joining the Imperial expedition against the Marathas 

(S. P. D. XIV 40,41, XXX 143). The Emperor had mustered all his available 

troops to crush the Marathas, but he did not succeed in defeating them. He 

became anxious to make peace with the Marathas (S. P. D. XIV 50,51). Thus 

Hie Nizam’s opposition to the Peshwa Bajirao proved feeble. 

Khan Dauran and Sawai Jai Singh desired to arrange a lasting peace 

between the Marathas and the Empire. The peace talks began in February 

1736, and the Peshwa offered to Jai Singh his own terms. The Peshwa claimed 
the hereditary grant of the Sardeshpandya of the six Subhas of the Deccan. 

The Emperor accepted this condition. When the Nizam heard about the 

proposed arrangement he resented it as a direct blow to bis authority in the 

Deccan. He apprehended that the grant of Sardeshpandya of the six Subhas 

of the Deccan to the Peshwa might in future result in his asking the Emperor 

to bestow on him the Viceroyalty of the Deccan also. 

The negotiations came to nought as the Peshwa’s pretensions and demands 

went much beyond any he had previously advanced. Vazir Qamruddin 

Khan and Sadat Khan, were against the policy of complete surrender. 

They offered their services to maintain the integrity of the Empire. They 

appealed the Emperor not to acquiesce without resistance. The Emperor 

planned a fresh expedition and summoned Jai Singh, Abhay Singh and Sadat 

Khan to the Court to join the Imperial forces, moving against the Marathas 

(S. P. D. XV 18). The Peshwa just after the failure of negotiations, made 

preparations to start a campaign in Hindustan. Malbarrao Holkar and other 

Maratha captains were sent in the direction of Agra to devastate the country of 

Sadat Khan. They invaded the Doab and their sphere of activity extended to 
the vicinity of Agra. Safdar Jang the nephew of Sadat Khan met the Marathas 

near Jalesar. He drew the Marathas near the main army of Sadat Khan by slow 

and cautious retreat. When the Marathas drew near their army the forces of 

Safdarjang and Sadat Khan surrounded them and forced them to fight a pitched 
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battle. The forces of Sadat Khan were superior in number, so the Marathas 

rapidly retreated. Malbarrao Holkar suffered severe defeat (S.P.D.XV 27, 17). 
The Pesbwa Bajirao was anxious to mitigate the effect of the recent disaster. 

He therefore led his cavalry stealthily and by forced marches into the environs 

of Delhi, (March 28, 1737) defeated the Imperialist generals and thus compelled 

the Emperor to come to terms (Brab 27). 

The Nizam had been looking with no friendly eye on the Maratha expansion. 

Any disaster to the Marathas would have converted his envy into hostility. The 
news about the disaster that befell the Maratha forces led by Malharrao Holkar, 

reached the Nizam on March 31, 1737, while he was encamped at Burhanpur 

with his great army. (S. P. D. XV 17). The Nizam was encouraged to sej 

the Moghal forces triumphing over the Marathas. He therefore made a plan to 

move in the direction of the Narmada to attack the disheartened Maratha forces 

returning to the Deccan. (S. P. D. XV. 22). 

After the rains of 1736, the Marathas entered Malwa. The Nizam was 
then moving towards Burhanpur. He reached Burhanpur on December 20, 1736, 

and bad been waiting there to hear from Delhi. When Bajirao went to the 

North, the Nizam thought that Sawai Jai Singh would take the Peshwa to Delhi 

and introduce him to the Emperor. The Nizam apprehended that the Emperor 
at the request of Bajirao might appoint another person to the governorship of 

the Deccan. He therefore wrote letters to the noblemen and the Emperor 

informing them that he was coming to Delhi to espouse their cause and to expel 
the Marathas from Malwa. Vazir Qamruddin Khan and his associates were 

in favour of inviting the Nizam to devise means of saving the Empire from total 
dismemberment. The Emperor was by this time convinced that the only person 
who could ward off the invasions of the Marathas and prevent them from crossing 

the Narmada was the Nizam. The Emperor summoned the Nizam to his aid, 

writing a letter of conciliation in order to show that he had no ill feeling towards 

him. On receipt ohthp letter, from the Emperor, summoning him to the Court, 

the Nizam decided to go to Delhi (S. P. D. 26, XV 27, 37). The Nizam duped 

Raja Shahu and the Peshwa. They on the other hand were receiving letters frotn 

the Nizam, informing them that be wanted to be at peace with the Marathas and 

was going to Delhi to dispel the rumour spread by bis enemies in the capital that 
be bad acted disloyally to the Emperor (S. P. P. XV 26). 

The Nizam left Burhanpur oo April 7tb, 1737. He crossed the Narmada 

near Handia some time early in May. The news of the Nizam going to Delhi 

spread in Ma^wa and aa a result the ^Tamindara in that Province becauoo recal¬ 

citrant. They refused to pay the dues to the Maratha agents. The Nizam 

reached ^ronj on May IQ. Yar Muhammad Khan, son of Dost Muhammad 

Khan M PbeW flPd unae other zamindars jomed his party (S.P.D. XV 
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42). Now Bajirao was returning to the Deccan. So the Ni^am stopped at 

Sironj to sense the Peshwa's movement. Pilaji Jadhav on his way back to the 
Deccan, met the Niaam on May 28, and presented him the robes sent by the 

Peshwa. The Nizam too dnly honoured the Maratha General. At the request 

of the Nizam, Pilaji Jadhav asked his son Satvaji to escort for some marches upto 
Duraba the army of the Niazm. The Nizam also sent ‘*Shirpav*’ to the Peshwa to 

honour him (S.P.D.XV 42, 44, 44, 48). The Nizam abstained with great skill 

from revealing his hostile intentions towards the Maratbas. He sent the Maratha 
section of bis army back to the Deccan in order to make the Peshwa and bis 

generals believe that the Nizam desired to do nothing that would provoke 
hostilities (S.P.D. XV 49) • Raja Sbabu balieved in the friendly professions of 

the Nizam. The former wanted to be at peace with the latter (S.P.D. XXX 66-A). 

Moreover the expansion of the Maratha power in the North formed an eneutial 

part of the schemes of Bajirao. So in his reiatioos with the Nizam, the Peshwa’s 

conduct was solely guided by cousideratioas of expediency (S.P.D.XtV 32). 

The Nizam left Sironj on May 29, and reached the neighbourhood of Delhi 

by July 2,1737. Before starting for Delhi, the Nizam made necessary arrange¬ 

ments in his dominions in the Deccan. He made his son Nasir Jang Deputy 

Subedar of the Deccan during hie absence. He stationed Abdul Rahim Khan 

and Anarulla Khan with S thousand troops at Aurangabad. He appointed Sbujyat 

Khan as Subba in Berar. Orders were issued by the Nizam to all the high officials 

and the nobility to offer their aUegiance to Nasir Jang (S.P.D.XV 26). The Nizam 

was very well received at Delhi, by his son Ghaziuddin Khan Firuz Jang and Vazir 

Qumruddin Khan. An agreement bad been reached in August 1737, between the 

Nizam and the Emperor according to whicb the former promised to stop the 

Marathas from advancing beyond the Narmada. In return for his sevtoes the 

Nizam was to be rewarded with five subhas and one crore of rupees. He declared 

with pride that in case the Marathas persisted in their depredations even the 

grant of chauth from the Deccan would be withdrawn. He was made the Vakib 

bMuUaq (regent plenipotentiary!. His son Gbasiuddin received Malwa and Akbar* 

bad. It was proposed that the remaining three subhas of Prayag Gujerat and 

Ajmece were to be granted to the Nizam’s friends and adherents (S. P.D. XV 

S3)« Thus Kbau Dauran and Raja Jai bingh who were pro<Maratha and favour¬ 

ed a peaceful setUement, lost their influence and ascendancy in the counsels of 
the Emperor. The Peshwa therefore hid to measure bis strength with 

tbeHinnu 
Alter the rains of t737, the Ntaam sterted on tua march from Delhi towards 

Mahva to drive the Maritiias mit of the province and to bring it under bis 
control He had with him nearly 60 thousand troops and a well-equipped 
trehi <4 iitiltaiy. He passed through Etawah and Ealpii and entered the 
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territory of Bondelkhand where the Bundela chiefs joined him. He passed 
through Bundelkhand in order to alienate the Bundelas from the Maratbas and 

win them over to his side, Among other chiefs who accompanied the Imperial 

army were bis son Gaziuddin Khan, the Rajas of Datia, Orcha and the son of 

Jai Singh of Jaipur. Various other Rajas including the Aber landholders and 

Rohila chieftains joined him. Safdarjang and the Raja of Kota formed his 

rear line. The Nizam reached Bhopal in December 1737. Here he came to 
know that the Maratha generals Shinde, Holkar and Pawars had defeated and 
killed Mir Mani Khan, the faujdar of Shabjahanpur in a severe battle near Darai 

sarai (S. P. P. 56,58 XXX 207-Brah. 134,33). 

Being apprised of the Nizam’s movements, the Peshwa Bajirao made 

straight for Sironj at the bead of a huge army of 80,000 horsemen. On 

December 7, the Peshwa arrived at Pahanlia. A week later, the distance between 

the two rival armies was of 40 kosa only. The Peshwa was soon joined by 

Ranaji Shindia, Malbarrao Holkar and the Pawars. The rival armies met in 

the neighbourhood of Bhopal. On his way to Bhopal, the Nizam sent his own 

heavy baggage to Raisin fort and made ready for fight. On December 13, 

the Nizam reached Bhopal. He was overawed by the Marathas. He abstained 

from attacking them and took up a strong position in the neighbourhood of 
the Fort, with a tank- on bis rear and a rivulet on his front and thus prepared 

to defend himself against the Marathas. On December 15, 1737 the Nizam sent 

ahead the Rajputs and the Jat forces under Sawai Jai Singh’s son and Sabha 

Singh Bundela. The Nizam ordered forward bis own artillery. The Maratha 

forces led by Ranaji Shindia, Dilaji Jadhav and Sayaji Gujar attacked the 

Rajput and the Jat forces. • The Marathas boldly faced the artillery hre. They 
killed 150 Rajputs. The Marathas lost 50 or 60 men only. But the number- 

of wounded on the Maratha side was 200 to 400 men and 500 to 700 horses - 

Neither party gained any advantage in this indecisive skirmish. 

The Marathas then surrounded the Imperial army. They created dis¬ 

order in the Mughal army by continuously throwing burning rockets into the 

Fort. The Marathas surrounded and sorely straitened the supplies of the 

Nizam’s army. There was famine In the Nizam’s camp. Grain was at four 

seers a rupee. Elephants and horses of bis army starved. The Rajputs and 
the Nizam bad become distrustful of‘each other! The Rajputs could not flee 

away as the Nizam bad k^t all their luggage in the city. The Nizam had been 

waiting for help from the Deccan and Delhi. On receiving the requMt for 

additional forces from ^be Nizam, the Emperor told the Qazie Qamoroddin Khan 

and Khan Dauran that they should accompany him, when he himself marched 

against the Marathas. Nashr Jang who had assembled forces 20,000 strong to 
march into * Malwa could not leave Aurangabad as be apprehended that t 
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Ragbuji Bhonsle who had recently defeated Shujyat Khan, the Subha of Berar, 

would create trouble. Chimaji Appa at the suggestion of Bajirao had already 

taken up post on the Tapti in order to prevent any help from Nasir Jang, coming 

to bis father's rescue. Thus the Nizam was cut off from all possible reinforce> 

ments. The army of the Nizam had actually begun to starve. The Marathas 

cut off all the supplies of the Mughal army. The situation in the Nizam’s camp 

became desperate. On January 5th, the Muslims ate up the artillery oxen, 

while the Rajputs utterly starved. The Nizam now decided to make peace. He 

called Ayamal the Dewan of Jaipur and sent him with Sayd Lashkar Khan and 

Anwarullah Khan to the Maratha camp to discuss terms of peace with the 

Peshwa. (Brah. 33,34,35,36,134. S.*P. D. XXX 207, S. P. D. XV 56,57,58,59 

S. P. D. XXII, 368, 369). 

The Peshwa Bajirao could not take advantage of the helplessness of the 
Nizam's army and engage them in general action as the artillery of Nizam 

repelled his advance. Bajirao was a military strategist and a tactician. He 

carried out the plans of his campaigns with a swiftness and assurance, which 

struck his enemies with awe. He displayed wonderful rapidity of movement 

and this often enabled him to prevent combination of overwhelming forces 

against him. The Nizam made a plan to attack the Marathas alter his forces 
and the forces under Nasir Jang in the D.ccan combined; but the Peshwa by 

his wonderful rapidity of movement foiled the Nizam’s plan. The surprising 

victories at Delhi and Bhopal bear imperishable testimony to the Peshwa 

Bajirao's military genius. 

At last the peace terms were settled. The Nizam agreed to grant to 

Bajirao the whole of Malwa and sovereign rights over the territory between 

the Narmada and the Chambal. He promised to obtain confirmation of the 

treaty from the Emperor and to use his best endeavours to get 50 lakhs of 

rupees from the Emperor as reparations. On January 6, 1738 the Nizam wrote 

down with bis own hand and signed the convention accepting the demands of the 

Peshwa. The convention was signed at Puraba Sarai 64 miles from Sironj (Brah. 

35, 36, 116). The Nizam accepted the Maratha domination in Malwa. 
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FOREWORD 

The complete catalogue of the exhibits presented to the public 

on the occasion of and in connection with the Second Indian History 

Congress held at Allahabad on October 8 to 11, 1938 has been 

compiled by Messrs. Ram Chandra Tandan and O. P. Bhatnagar, 

to whose untiring cooperation in the work of collection and arrangement, 

the exhibition itself owed much of its success. To Rai Bahadur Braj 

Mohan Vyas who organised and personally supervised the work and to 

them, the reception committee owe a very deep debt of gratitude. Few 

people probably are in a position to appreciate the amount of work 

entailed in collecting, receiving, registering, arranging and then returning 

to destination such exhibits, many of which were literally of priceless 

value. As for the public the number of those'who visited the exhibition 

is in itself sufficient indication of their appreciation. 

Rai Bahadur Braj Mohan Vyas in his opening address has drawn 

attention to some of the more outstanding exhibits. Space prevents 

any addition to the number, though many additions could readily be 

made. He has also mentioned the names of some of the more 

outstanding exhibitors. Of these there were so many who merit this 

description that it might be invidious to add to their number. Suffice 

it to say that the committee desired to present to the public an 

exhibition which was comprehensive in scope and representative in 

character, and that the fruition of their efforts was due to the 

ungruling copsration and goodwill of exhibitors of high and low 
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degree and from far and near alike. To all of these, their warment 

thanks are due. As for the catalogue, it is a matter for regre tthat 

it was not possible to get it compiled by the date of the exhibition 

owing to pressure of time. The committee hope, however, that it will 

have some permanent value for alP those interested. For those who 

saw the exhibition it will at least help them to realise the value not 

only of what they actually saw, but of what they perhaps missed. 

DIGBY L. DRAKE-BROCKMAN 



CONTENTS 

Foreword bv Sir Digby L. Drake-Brockman • * • ... vii 

Introduction • • • 3—8 

A Report of the opening of the Exhibition ... ... 9—16 

Section I : Terracottas • • • ... 17—24 

Section II : Sculptures and other Antiquities... • • • 

00 1 
in 

Section III : Numismatics • • • ... 29—36 

Section IV ; Epigraphy • • • ... 37—40 

Section V : Records and Documents » • • ... 41—61 

Section VI ; Manuscripts and Calligraphy ... * • # ... 62—70 

Section Vll : Paintings ... 71-85 

Section VIII : Miscellaneous • • • ... 86—96 

Index to Exhibitors • • • ... 97—98 





UST OF PLATES 

I. GROUP PHOTOGRAPH TAKEN AT THE OPENING OF THE EXHIBITION 

Photo by M. L. Vishwakarma, Allahabad. 

II. (1) A TERRACOTTA FEMALE TORSO (EARLY MAURYa). 

Patna Museum, Patna. 

(2) A TERRACOTTA FEMALE BUST (gUPTA), 

Gwalior State. 

III. TERRACOTTA PLAQUES (SUNGA, GUPTA, KUSHAN). 

Municipal Museum, Allahabad., 

IV. SOAPSTONE FIGURINES AND SEALS AND TERRACOTTA 

PIECES FROM KAUSAMBI. 

Municipal Museum, Allahabad and Messrs, R. C. 

Tandan and O- P. Bhatnagar, Allahabad. 

V. SCULPTURES FROM NAGOD. 

Municipal Museum, Allahabad. 

VI. BUDDHA HEAD (GUPTA). 

Municipal Museum, Allahabad. 

VII. SHALABHANJIKA (GUPTA). 

Municipal Museum, Allahabad. 

VIll. TANTRIC FEMALE DEITY (MEDliEVAL). 

Municipal Museum, Allahabad. 

IX. BRONZE IMAGE OF BALARAMA (19tH CENTURY;. 

PaUta Mttseum, Patna. 

X. PANCH-NAMA BEARING TULASIDAS’S AUTOGRAPH. 

Benares State. 

XI. PALM-LEAF PAINTINGS (16TH-17tH CENTURIES). 

Mayurbhanj State. 

XII. ILLUSTRATION FROM THE ANWAR SUHELI (mUGHAL) 

Balrampur State. 

XIII. (1) ANOTHER ILLUSTRATION FROM THE ANWAR SUHELI. 

(2) COLOPHON OF THE ANWAR SUHELI MANUSCRIPT. 

Balrampur State. 

XIV. PORTRAIT OF SHAH JBHAN (MUGHAL). 

Rai Bahadur Radha Krishna Jalan, Patna. 

XV. MEETING OF TWO PRINCES (mUGHAL). 

Bharat Kala Bhavan, Benares, 



XVI. THE POET JAMI. 

y. M. KdU Bag., Buldana 

XVII. AN INTERIOR VIEW OF THE MODERN PAINTING SECTION. 

Photo hy R. L. Chaturvedi, Allahabad 

XVIII. GROUP PHOTOGRAPH OF OFFICE-BEARERS AND VOLUNTEERS OF THE 

INDIAN HISTORY CONGRESS EXHIBITION, 1938. 

Photo by M.L Vishwakarma, Allahabad. 



INTRODUCTION 

It is possible to make some claims on behalf of the Exhibition. 

The success which attended it, is however due entirely to the very 

liberal response from exhibitors all over India, We have already offered 

our thanks to them individually. We would wish to take this opportunity 

of thanking them once again, for the kind co-operation extended to us. 

Indeed the response from the exhibitors was so generous and it 

came in such unstinted measure that it was necessary for the organisers 

to make a strict selection of exhibits. The material which was placed 

at our disposal would have been sufficient to fill up another show. 

The Souvenir now presented includes all the important items sent 

to us by the various exhibitors and, it is hoped will serve for a 

permanent record. It was not possible to present any catalogue of the 

Exhibits at the time of the Exhibition, as they kept arriving practically 

up to the moment of its opening, advantage has been taken of this late 

issue to make it as complete as possible. 

Of the eight sections into which the Exhibition was divided, the 

first was devoted to terracottas. More than a dozen sites were 

represented, the largest number of pieces being from Kausambi and 

belonging to the collection in the Allahabad Municipal Museum. A 

preliminary selection of the Kausambi terracottas was made by 

Mr. Vasudev Sharan Agarwal, Curator of the Curzon Museum of 

Archaeology, Muttra, whose services had been kindly loaned for the 

purpose by the Education Department of the United Provinces. 

Dr. Stella Kramrish, who happened to be present at the session of the 

Congress very kindly undertook to give final arrangement to the section. 

Mr. S. C. Kala rendered valuable help in the proper mounting 

of the terracotta pieces, and in generally looking after this section. 

To Dr. Kramrish and to these gentlemen our sincere thanks are due. 

Owing to obvious limitations and the difficulty in moving heavy 

objects of art the Sculpture section had to be drawn mainly from the 

exhibits of the Allahabad Municipal Museum. These, however, 

covered a wide range of periods and styles and were again selected and 

listed by Mr, Vasudeva Sharan Agarwal of the Muttra Museum, 



Among other antiquities were included a number of rare articles 

from the Hyderabad and the Baroda States. The Buddhist metal images 
from Mahudi in Baroda Raj, belonging to the third century A, D. were 
of great antiquarian interest. 

The Numismatics section was in the direct charge of our convenor 
Rai Bahadur Pandit Braj Mohan Vyas. Here again the contribution 
of the Allahabad Municipal Museum, specially of the coins from 

Kausambi was an important one. The Hyderabad State sent many 
valuable coins. The collection of rare punch-marked coins exhibited by 
Babu Durga Prasad of Benares, a reputed Numismatist were a great 

attraction. Babu Durga Prasad personally displayed his cabinet of 
coins every morning and evening while the exhibition was on and very 
kindly explained the exhibits to enquirers. 

The fourth section, devoted to Epigraphy, contained quite a rich 
collection of copper plates, and estampages of inscriptions. The 
contributions of the Provincial Museum Lucknow, the Mayurbhanj, the 
Jhalawar and the Patna States deserved special notice. Mr. M. M. 
Nagar of the Sarnath Museum very kindly undertook to arrange these 

exhibits and was frequently available for the guidance of the visitors. 
He has earned our sincere thanks. 

We had a large number of Valuable Records and Documents 
arranged under the fifth section. The Imperial Record Department 
New Delhi sent us a large number of records under one of their own 

Superintendents, Mr. Kumar who kept an eye over the entire section 

throughout the duration of the exhibition and as such was of immense 

help to us. The Punjab Record Office Museum, Lahore also sent us a 
big collection and their assistant record officer also helped us ungrudgingly 
in displaying thp records. Amongst private collections. Prof. Datto 

Vaman Potdar of the Bharat Itihas Sanshodhak Mandal Poona, 

Sardar Ganda Singh of the Sikh History Research Department, 
Khalsa College, Amritsar and Mr. Gauri Prasad Saksena, Lucknow 

deserve special mention. They brought with them a unique collection 
of records. The sixth section was devoted to manuscripts and calligraphy. 
Palm-leaf illuminated manuscripts from the Mayurbhanj State, Nauras- 

nama by Ibrahim Adil Shah II from the Hyderabad State, and Anwar 
Suheli from the Balarampur Estate, deserve very special mention. 
Manuscripts from the private collection of Rai Bahadur Radha 

Krishna Jalan of Patna, were of rare artistic merit, The collection under 
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this section included elegant specimens of the Hindu and Muslim 

penmanship. 
The seventh section was subdivided into old and modern pain¬ 

tings sections. Many of the old miniatures representing the various 

schools presented in this section were literally priceless. Amongst the 
contributors the Bharat Kala Bhawan of Benares takes the place of 

honour. Its Curator, Rai Krishna Dass along with his assistant Mr. 
Vijaya Krishna took great pains in selecting pictures and arranging 
them for this section. Without their help it would have been difficult 
to arrange the section properly. The Allahabad Municipal Museum, 
the Provincial Museum Lucknow, and the Hyderabad and the Gawalior 
States sent in beautiful collections of old paintings. Amongst individual 

contributors, special reference must be made to the collection of 
Khan Bahadur Syed Abu Mohammad, Allahabad who owns a 

number of unique Persian miniatures, to Mr. Bijoy Singh Nahar, 

Calcutta and Rai Bahadur Radha Krishna Jalan of Patna, who lent 
valuable old paintings to the exhibition from their well-known collec¬ 
tions. The modern paintings included a representative collection of 

the modern artists of India obtained both directly from the artists and 
by courtesy of the Allahabad Municipal Museum. We are specially 

grateful to Professor Nicholas Roerich and his son Mr. Svetoslav 
Roerich for sending their most valuable paintings to the Exhibition. 
Our thanks are greatly due to Mr. R. N. Deb who with the help of Mr. 

Manohar Lai and Mr. Vijayanand Pathak beautifully arranged and took 
charge of this section. 

The last section was devoted to exhibits of a miscellaneous 

character. 
A useful adjunct to the Exhibition was the bookstall set up for 

the display of modern publications on historical and antiquarian 
subjects. Thanks to the co-operation of various learned bodies and 
universities who sent their publications for show and to that of the 
publishers in this country as well as abroad the bookstall proved a 
great attraction. Mr. M. K. Rehman of the Kitabistan, Allahabad 
very kindly helped in the arrangement of the stall and to him our 
sincere thanks are due. 

Our grateful acknowledgments are due to the Director-General 
of Archaeology, Rao Bahadur K. N. Dikshit for allowing us the use 
of a number of photographs taken by his photographer on this occasion. 
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They appearas plates II (2), III, IV, VI, VIII, XI-XIV, and XVI. 
Photographs appearing as plates II (1) and IX were very kindly supplied 
by the Curator of the Patna Museum, Mr. S. A. Shere, and the 
photograph appearing as plate XV was kindly provided by Mr. Vijaya 
Krishna, Custodian of the Bharat Kala Bhavan, Benares. To both 
these gentlemen our sincere thanks are due. To the Vice-Chancellor 
of the Allahabad University we are indebted for the loan of the block 
of Tulasidasa’s Panchnama, which appears as plate X, and to Mr. H. K. 
Ghosh of the Indian Press, Allahabad for th 5 loan of blocks appearing 

on plates V and VII. 
We shall be failing in our duty if we do not express our 

gratefulness to Sir Digby L. Drake-Brockman, Sir Shafaat Ahmad 

Khan, and to Khan Bahadur Syed Abu Muhammad and other members 
of the Exhibition Committee who individually and collectively took 
the keenest interest in the organization of the Exhibition, and to whose 
efforts and influence mainly, we owed the collection of such valuable 

and varied material as was put on view. 

For providing a temporary roof for all very valuable exhibits 

we are deeply indebted to Sir Jwala Prasad Srivastava who very kindly 

placed at the disposal of the Exhibition authorities the use of the 
spacious premises, forming part of the Old Pioneer Buildings at 1, Bund 
Road. For the outer embellishments of the building we owe our thanks 

to Mr. Sarju Prasad. 
It would have been impossible to shoulder responsibility for the 

handling of such priceless historical and artistic material if our 
Superintendent of Police Mr. E. F. G. Chapman had not readily agreed 
to help by providing, throughout the period the exhibits were in, a posse 
of armed police guards and plain-dress officers who kept a constant 
watch over the Exhibition premises. Mr. Chapman has placed us 

under deep obligation. 

Last but not the least, we offer our thanks to Mr. Jamuna Prasad 

and his band of volunteers who were immensely helpful in controlling the 
rush of visitors and who, in the absence of a printed catalogue at the 
time, quickly got up their parts as guides for the various section of the 

Exhibition. 

R. C. TANDAN. 

O. P. BHATNAGAR, 

8 





G
R

O
U

P
 
P

H
O

T
O

G
R

A
P

H
 

T
A

K
P

:N
 

A
T
 
T

H
E
 
O

P
E

N
IN

G
 

O
F
 
T

H
E
 

E
X

H
IB

IT
IO

N
 

S
ta

n
d

in
g
 
fr

o
m
 
le

ft
 
to
 r

ig
h
t 

a
re

: 
S

ir
 
D

ig
b

y
 

L
,. 

D
ra

k
e
-F

»
ro

c
k
ra

a
n
, 

S
ir
 

S
h

a
fa

a
t 

A
h
m

a
d
 

K
h
a
n
, 

th
e
 

H
o

n
 b

^e
 

K
h

a
n
 
B

a
h
a
d
u
r 

A
z
iz

u
l 

H
a
q
u
e
, 

th
e
 
H

o
n

’b
le
 S

h
ri
 
S

a
m

p
u

rn
a
n

a
n

d
, 

R
ai
 
B

a
h

a
d

u
r 

P
a
n

d
it
 
B

ra
j 

M
o
h

a
n
 
V

y
a
?
 
a
n
d

 

P
n

i
 

R
'r

ic
n
r
j 

T
i^

c
 



THE OPENING OF THE EXHIBITION. 

The Indian History Congress Exhibition organised in connection 

with the second session of the Indian History Congress was opened 

in the presence of a large and distinguished gathering of scholars at 

1, Bund Road, Allahabad, in front of the University Senate House by the 

Hon’ble Shri Sampurnanand, Minister for Education, U, P,, on October 8, 

1938, at 8-30 a. m. The Hon’ble Minister, on arrival, was received by 
Sir Digby Drake-Brockman, chairman, and other members of the 

Exhibition Committee. The Hon’ble Minister took his seat on the dais 

in a specially erected pandal along with Sir Uigby Drake-Brockman and 

the president-elect of the Indian History Congress, Dr. D. R. Bhandarkar. 

The proceedings began with a speech by Rai Bahadur Pandit 

Braj Mohan Vyas, convener of the exhibition. 

The Rai Bahadur said : 

Mr. President, Ladies and Gentlemen, 
On behalf of the organisers of this exhibition I express our deep 

sense of gratitude to the Hon’ble Shri Sampurnanandji, the Minister for 
Education, for finding time amidst his multifarious duties to come over 

to Allahabad to open this exhibition. This has been a source of great 

encouragement to all of us. His solicitude for everything which is 

connected with education is known to all of you. Let not our feelings 

be judged by the paucity of words in which I am expressing them. I 

am also deeply beholden to the numerous Indian states, museums, 

and learned associations all over India who have sent most valuable 

exhibits for the exhibition. I am conscious that but for the interest 

Sir Digby Drake-Brockman, Khan Bahadur Syed Abu Muhammad, 

Sir Shafaat Ahmad Khan and other friends have taken, it would not have 

been possible to gather so many valuable exhibits of a representative 
character. The contribution of private persons has, by no means, 
been meagre, and without their help we would not have been able 

to put up such a show. As the Congress authorities have been 
pleased to put me in charge of the exhibition, I possess an intimate 

knowledge of the various exhibits that have been received and I 
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can speak with some confidence that perhaps the uniqueness of this 

exhibition stands unrivalled. I find it difficult to single out any 
particular section and give it a place of preference over the others. Each 
section is very well represented and contains exhibits of the finest order, 
but there is one specialty about this exhibition to which I invite your 
particular attention. I do not remember to have come across any 
exhibition in which terracottas haye been so richly represented. Perhaps 

I will not be wrong when I say that so far there has been no such 
exhibition of terracottas in any place in India. Terracottas, as historians 

amongst you would be fully aware, have a special value and significance 
in the field of archaeology and they represent the indigenous art of the 
period of the locality where they are found. As a master of fact a long 

connected history of the social habits, manners and customs, of the 
people could be definitely traced with the help of these, apparently 
lumps of burnt clay. You would be glad to learn that the terracotta 

collection in this exhibition represents more than a dozen sites, the 
most important of which is the ancient site of Kausambi, an old 

historical place about 50 miles from here, which some of you have 

already seen, day before yesterday, and might have seen even earlier. 
It is a matter of sincere congratulation that the Government of India 
hqve thought fit to excavate this ancient site. The excavations were 

started last year by the Archaeological Department, thanks to the 
efforts of its able Director-General, Rao Pahatjur K. N. Dikshit. But 

with the limited time and funds at his disposal much could not be done. 
I hj^ve every hope that the excavations will be resumed soon this year. 
Kausambi and its potentialities do not need any introduction from me 
to the historians. Jt is an ancient site about which an eminent 

archaeologist, wl|0 'can speak with some authority, has said, that if it js 

properly excavated it might yield results not produced so far on any 
ancient site in lndi?i or elsewhere. Be that as it may, there is no 
doubt thztt its excavation will qmply repay the labour and money spent 

on it. I cannot too strongly prge that the Government of India will 
see their way to establish a local museum devoted solely to the valuable 
antiquities which this ancient site will yield, as they have done in the 
cases of Taxila, Harappa, Mohenjodaro and other places. It does not 
need any argument to convince that antiquities of any particular place 
can be studied to their best advantage if housed near their place of origin. 

The Allahabad Municipal Museum houses most valuable sculptures, 
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terracottas, seals, beads etc., found at this site even without any exdavation. 

Seals containing names of private individuals in early Brahmi 

characters of the time of Asoka have been found and can at any 
time be seen at the Allahabad Municipal Museum. It is a pity that 
the present accommodation in the Museum, which is housed in one 
of the wings of the Municipal Office, is so inadequate that these valuable 
exhibits cannot be properly displayed. But I have every hope that with 
the help of the Hon’ble Minister of Education, the Municipal Museum 
will soon possess a suitable building of its own. A proper excavation of 
this site does not need any further emphasising from me. 

The terracotta section of this exhibition which predominantly 
contains Kausambi terracottas has been arranged by no less a person 
than Dr. Stella Kramrisch, a preliminary selection having been made by 
Mr. Vasudeva Sharan Agrawal, curator, Curzon Museum of Archaeology, 
Muttra. We are deeply beholden to them for their selfless work. 

The section devoted to ancient Indian paintings is again a 
unique one. The rich collection of the Bharat Kala Bhavan of Benares 
has been further added to by the valuable paintings sent by some 
of the Indian states and museums and the paintings now on show in the 
galleries of this exhibition can easily stand comparison with any other 
collection in the whole of India. 

Owing to obvious limitations the exhibition could not display 
heavy pieces of sculpture, but the small collection which has been put 
up is a rich one, and with three exceptions belongs entirely to the 
Allahabad Municipal Museum. 

The value of the numismatics section has been enhanced by 
the rich collection of punch-marked coins which have been exhibited 
by Babu Durga Prasad of Benares, a numismatist who does not need 
any introduction from me. The work which he has done in this line 
will always stand out as a valuable contribution in the field of 
numismatics. Even if there had heen no other collection of coins in 
this section, I could mention it with a sense of pride. 

The section devoted to modern Indian paintings is representative 
and although the number of exhibits has been deliberately fewer than 

what it could easily have been, no school of painting has been left 

unrepresented. Gaganendranath Tagore, Nandlal Bose, Shailendra De, 
Jamini Roy, Asit Kumar Haidar and many other artists of repute have 
been represented in this section in an adequate measure. 
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We had almost despaired of putting up A good show in the section 
devoted to epigraphy, but thanks to the Provincial Museum Lucknow, 
and the Mayurbhanj State and other institutions and private collectors 
who have very kindly sent copper-plates and estampages in good 
numbers, we have been enabled to set up a section which will be found 
interesting as well as instructive. 

The Government records sent by the Imperial Records Department 
Delhi and the Punjab Government are most valuable. No less important 
are the contributions made to this section by Mr. Potdar of the 

Bharat Itihas Sanshodhak Mandal, Poona, and by the Khalsa College, 
Amritsar. 

It is almost an impossible task to narrate in detail the various 
valuable exhibits which have been sent to us for exhibition and it is also 
a difficult task for me to acknowledge the help given to us by the 

various institutions and distinguished persons who have contributed 
generously to make this show a success. But I cannot refrain from 
making a special mention of Rai Bahadur Radhakrishna Jalan, of Patna, 

Rai Krishnadas, of Benares, Mr. Bijai Singh Nahar, of Calcutta, and 
Khan Bahadur Syed Abu Muhammad, of Allahabad, whose contributions 
have been spontaneous and generous. 

It was particularly very kind and thoughtful of Prof. Nicholas 
de Roerich and his son Mr. Svetoslav Roerich to have sent magnificent 
paintings for this exhibition. It is really unfortunate for us that 

owing to his illness Dr. Roerich was prevented from coming over to 
attend this exhibition. His presence would have been a source of 

great encouragement and pride to all of us, for Dr. Roerich is always 
ready to help in any cause relating to art and culture. 

Special mfention may be made of four exhibits of outstanding 

merit which can verily be called the jewels of this exhibition, so far as 
the manuscript section is concerned, and I would earnestly request all 
lovers of art to make it a point to see them. 

1. Anwarsuheli, illustrated with paintings of the Akbar School by 
M. Abdul Rahman of Lahore, sent by the Balrampur Raj. 

2. Illustrated palm-leaf manuscript of Prajna-paramita of the Pal 

period, lent to us by the Bharat Kala Bhavan, Benares. 
3. Panch-nama in the handwriting of Goswami Tulasi Das, lent 

by the Benares State. 
4. Palm-leaf illuminated manuscript, leiit by the Mayurbhanj State. 
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i very much regret that it has not been possible for us to place in 
your hands a catalogue of exhibits in this exhibition, which would have 
added to its utility and usefulness and would have facilitated reference. 

This was an impossible task as exhibits have arrived until late in the 

evening yesterday, which left us almost no time to label them, but a com¬ 

plete catalogue will be published and may be found useful as a permanent 

document indicating where the valuable exhibits could be found and seen. 

I am very sorry to have taken up your time in narrating all these 
details, because I am aware that you would be more anxious to see these 

exhibits rather than hear my speech and I shall very soon relieve you of 
this strain. 

I cannot conclude without expressing my thanks to my colleague 

and collaborator Mr. Ram Chandra Tandan who has worked days and 
nights to make this exhibition what it is today. I do not indulge in 
platitudes when I say that I do not know how I would have been able 

to work without him. Mr. O. P. Bhatnagar, who is another silent worker, 
has not spared himself in any way to arrange this exhibition. I am 

thankful to these gentlemen for their cooperation and help which both 

of them have most ungrudgingly given me. 
In the end, I thank you, ladies and gentlemen, for the trouble that 

you have taken in coming over here to see this exhibition, and I formally 

request the Hon’ble Shri Sampurnanandji to open and bless this exhibition. 

Requested by the chairman of the reception committee to declare 

the exhibition open, the Hon’ble Shri Sampurnanandji, delivered the 

following speech : 

Friends, 

While it gives me much pleasure to open this exhibition, I am 

conscious none-the-less of my own shortcomings and unsuitability for 

the work, a consciousness which is increasingly borne in upon me when 
I think of the galaxy of scholars, historians who have made a name for 

themselves in the field of historical researches, who are attending this 

conference. I take it that your invitation to me to open the exhibition is, 
besides being a token of your kind regard for me personally, a proof that 

you, at any rate, do not believe in the canard that Congress governments 
are opposed to higher education and inimical to culture and research. 

The value of exhibitions like this cannot be gainsaid. One wishes 

we had more of them, even though on a necessarily smaller scale. As 
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Sir Malcom Hailey, as he then was, observed at the meeting of the Indian 
Historical Records Commission held at Lahore in November, 1925 :— 

It certainly appears to me that there is everything to be gained in this 
country from directing the minds of students to the actual documents and 
remains, whether in stone or metal, which give the most definite data on which 
history is based. There is no fin ;r training in the analysis of evidence: and in 
India particularly does it seem to me necessary to encourage a mental attitude 
which makes for a critical discrimination between the tested fact and the readily 
assumed belief. There is, in the daily life of the community, a somewhat 
embarrassing tendency to take statem nts at second>hand, and to accept as 
verities propositions or indeed expressions of fact which often rest on a 
foundation that would dissolve on the simplest analysis. 

History for many of us is an uninteresting and uninspiring string 
of names, names of obscure towns and villages, of magic men practising 
forgotten faiths, of wily courtiers and debased courtezans, of homicidal 

maniacs and ruthless free-booters. It is a long-drawn out story of sadism, 
barbarity, and selfishness, with occasional flashes of heroism and self- 

sacrifice, beauty and spiritual greatness to relieve the perpetual gloom. 
Indian history, as taught in our schools, is particularly depressing. 

But, surely, if things had been as bad as they are painted, humanity 
would have ceased to exist long ago, and the earth would have been 
revolving to the happy drone of the insects whose hegemony is seriously 
challenged by this freak of evolution. 

But this gloomy picture would quickly evaporate, if people had 
easier access to the original records—not only the written word but 

coins, paintings, sculpture, architecture—and knew how to use them, for 

it is true here, as elsewhere, that we can find and see a thing only if we 
know how to look for it. If these original sources were made available 

in reprint and facsimile, to teachers and students as they are in other 
countries, it would be possible to hear the throb of the human heart behind 

the beat of the war-drum and discern the toiler in field and workshop, 

the humble house-wife, and the village priest-cum-schoolmaster, the 
girl drawing water at the well and the lusty shepherd singing love-songs 

as he guides his flock along field and foot-path, to discern all those who 
make up the real pageant of history and make possible the palaces and 
the intrigues and the mass-murders which fill the pages of the ordinary 
text book. 

If history were studied with the proper perspective much of the 
exclusiveness and race-prejudice, communal bitterness and false pride 

which separate man from man would automatically disappear. The 
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historian, as such, is not a political propagandist: we do not ask him to 

falsify facts and torture records to yield evidence in support of untenable 

doctrines, although, unfortunately, examples are not lacking in this 
country and elsewhere, of scholars who have prostituted their 

learning in the service of the wielder of temporal power. We do not 

want this, but surely we have the right to expect that the historian will 
so present facts that the essential factors which bind man to man and 

endow him with a common cultural heritage shall be brought promin¬ 

ently into relief. 
If properly arranged, historical exhibitions and museums, which 

are really permanent exhibitions, can be of immense value in helping 
us to study epochs of civilization. You can have a collection of coins 
in one place, of painting in another, of clothing in a third, of armours 
in a fourth, and so on. But if we could divide history into epochs—I 
know such division would be, to some extent, arbitrary and there would 
be some overlapping—and bring together all cultural manifestations 

of that epoch in one place, one would obtain a more connected picture 
and a better idea of sequence and development. It might not be 

impossible to link up with contemporary remains from other countries 

and thus visualize the growth and evolution of world culture. 
All this requires steady effort and a rich imagination, a clear view, 

a scientific mind, and a patient spirit of research. There is plenty of 
material available in the country for such research. The resourses of 

our own provinces are still comparatively untapped. There is plenty 
of material above ground and under ground, in private collections and 
matha libraries, tucked away in bethans in the houses of pandits and 

maulvis, in hastas in the houses of families with literary and service 
traditions, in Sanskrit, Persian and Arabic, on stone, copper-plate, 
tal pcUra and paper faded and moth-eaten, rich material waiting for 

the historian's touch. 
Of course, all delving into material of this kind is not research. 

A good deal of what passes for research in this country and elsewhere 

is useless raking up of old rubbish and is not of the slightest use to any 
body, I shall give you an example of how persevering and painstaking 

one can be even on what is really fruitless labour. Some of us were 
discussing the Gita some years back. Suddenly a bright young man 
asked as to how many times the letter ^ occurs in the book. We were 

non-plussed. That is also a species of research which sometimes 
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manages to win recc^nition. It might interest you to know that as a 
matter of fact the letter occurs oniy once VPTPQTO 

Properly studied, history should help us to form an idea of what 
is behind all these historical phenomena, of the forces whose interplay 

creates epochs and uses personalities as pieces on a chess-board. 

If we fail to grasp this central thread, history degenerates into a story 
of disunited events, which cannot serve as a guide for future conduct. 

As to what that thread is—whether it is an unfoldment of the spirit, a 
law of Karma, a dilectical process of development, spiritual or material— 
I shall not hazard an opinion here. But I am sure it is something that 
it is an Antidote against pessimism and defeatism. 

I congratulate the organisers of this exhibition and all those 

individuals and corporations, who have helped and cooperated to make 
it a success. They have rendered a great service to the cause of 
historical research and study and I am sure our knowledge of Indian 

history—I venture to say, the knowledge, even, of specialists like you, 

gentlemen—will be the richer for having had the opportunity to study 
this collection. 

We are today in the midst of a wonderful epoch, it is an age of 
national renaissance, political, economic and cultural. The Indian 
people is breaking the spiritual and material chains that have so long 

bound it and dwarfed its stature. We are experiencing the birth pangs 
of a new national personality, a personality rich in the cultural heritage 

it has inherited in the sacred soil of this country, which combines in 

itself the best elements from all those strains which have made India 
their home and hope. We look to this New India to save itself and 
save humanity, to usher in an epoch in which maa shall work not for 

himself but for spciety and in which exploitation and profiteering, the 
degradation of n^an by man, shall not exist. Surely, the historian has 
an important part to play on this stage, as a faithful guide and a friendly 

critic, as an impersonal student of men and minds, and as a citizen who 

is vitally interested in the well-being of the world in which we live. 

The Hon’ble Minister of Education was next escorted to the 

building in which the exhibition was arranged and he duly declared 

the exhibition open. He was shown round the various sections by 
Rai Bahadur Pandit Braj Mohan Vyas. 
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TERRACOTTA l>I,^Qt'ES 

(Sunga, Gupta, and Kusitan) 

By courtesy of the Municipal Museuu], Allahabad. 
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SECTION 1 

TERRACOTTAS 

(a) By courtesy of the Municipal Museum, Allahabad. 

Pre-Sunga Period. 
1. Crudely modelled figurine ; primitive type. 

2. Female bust with applique eyes ; primitive type. 

3. Mother-goddess with pinched face and horizontal pointed arms; 

primitive. 

4. Female bust representing mother-goddess, probably from Muttra 

(grey terracotta). 

5. Bust of mother-goddess wearing heavy ear-rings and double necklace 

with crescent symbol (late Maurya). 

6. Female head, pressed out of a mould (late Maurya), probably from 

Muttra. 

7. Male head with beard showing an Iranian (Maurya period). 

8. Bust of a female, probably mother-goddess ; primitive type ; soapstone 

(from Bhita). 

Sunga Period. 
9. Plaque showing a standing female, holding a lotus with stalk (leela^ 

kamala). 
10-15. Female busts with conspicuous head-dresses and elaborate ornaments 

holding lotuses above the right shoulder, similar to No. 9. 

16. Female torso of soapstone, showing beautiful girdle and arrangement 

of hair on the back, a miniature copy of the famous Didarganj Yakshi. 

17. Fragment showing a female holding out a mirror. 

18-20. Plaques showing beautiful female figures. 

21. Female torso, a well draped figure. 

22. Small plaque fragment of soapstone, showing a standing couple 

(dampati) 

23. Plaque showing an amorous royal couple seated on a costly throne. 

24. Plaque showing an amorous couple standing against a sofa, and 

a female attendant holding a mirror with a pair of birds. 
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25. Beautiful plaque showing a bacchanalian group consisting of a female 

holding a pot {madhu-ghata) and a male holding a cup (madhu-patra) 

26*27. Mould and its positive showing the ravishing by a male of a 
female. 

28. Fragmentary plaque showing a couple with a female bolding a rope 

entwined round two smaller figures poised in the air, 

29. Female bust. 

30. Female bust, showing elaborate head-dress. 

31. Female torso, showing the woman holding lotus buds in her 
right hand. 

32. Torso, similar to the above. 

33. Female bust with a band of rosettes, arranged round the head. 

34. Female bust with wig-like head-dress. 

35. Fragment of a torso, showing a female feeding a parrot with mangoes 

held in her hands ( shuka-krida ). 

36. Female figure holding a fan ( vyajana-dharini ). 

37. Plaque fragment showing the middle portion of a female body. 

38. Female bust with elaborate ornaments. 

39. Female bust showing fan-like head-dress. 

40. Beautiful female head. 

41. Female head with circular ear-rings. 

42. Female bust with prominent ear-rings and four necklaces. 

43. Plaque showing an amorous couple. 

44. Plaque fragment showing the torso of a male Bgure holding a lotus, 

45. Fragment showing a male person and the horns of a deer. 

46. Fragmentary plaque showing two elephant heads. 

47. Polished plaque fragment showing licm and elephant fight. 

48. Beautiful plaque fragment showing a lion attacking an elephant 

49. A fine clay tablet showing a garden scene with four figures. 

50. Soapstone^ piece representing probably a jackal hunt. 

51. Soapstone piece showing head and fore-part of a lion. 

52-55. Toy carts ( mrioh-chhakatikas ). 

56. Cart fragment showing a pair of bulls. 

57. Fragment showing a cart drawn by four horses. 

58. Fragment showing a spread-out tail of a peacock. 

59. Round piece, probably fragment of a bangle, showing a female figure 

I with folded hands ( anjaHmudra ). 

60. Water-strainer. 

61-64. Disc, probably a measure of weight 

65. Chariot with two horses. 
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66. Fragment ot a toy cart depicting a pleasure party. 
67. Fragment of a soapstone disc, carved with a double band and on the 

inner side with another band in which floral patterns are shown alternating 

with mother>goddesses of the Lauriya Nandangarh gold-leaf type. 

Kushana Period. 

68. Dancing girl ( nartahi ) in a beautiful pose. 

69. Bacchanalian scene showing an intoxicated female in a drooping 
posture supported by a male companion. 

70-71. Finely moulded male figurines. 

72. Torso showing the anatomical representation of human intestines. 

73. Crude figure of a dwarf emerging out of a tree trunk. 

74. Squatting male figure. 

75. Pot-bellied sqatting old anchorite. 

76. Crude female figure with circular base. 

77. Male bust pressed out of a mould. 

78. Male bust. 

79. Male head with head-dress of foliage pattern. 

80. Female head, crudely modelled, with big circular ear-rings. 

81. Female head, having a bicorned head-dress. 

82. Figure of a monkey with clapping hands. 

83-85. Heads. 

86. Head-dress ( ushnisha ). 

87. Fragmentary head of a bull. 

88. Elephant uprooting a tree. 

Ot^da Period. 

89-90. Big heads 
91. Female bust with Asoka foliage over head. 

92. Female bust with honeycomb hair from Bhita. 

93. Male figure having frizzled locks. 

94. Male bead with conspicuous turban. 

95. Female head with a heavy protuberant hair-knot, representing probably 

a Hun woman. 

96. Female bust with charming features, also a Hun woman (from Bhita.) 
97-98. Female busts, same type as 96 above. 

99. Female head. 

100-1. Female feet. 
102. Male head. 

103. Torso of a corpulent ithyphallic dwarf. 

104-6. Alligator-shaped sprouts {tnakara-mukha-pranalika). 
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i07. Clay seal showing the bhatma-chakra between two deers and 
mentioning the name of the Dharma-chakra<pravartana Vihara (from Nalanda). 

Mediaeval. 

• 108. Clay seal showing Gaja Lakshmi. 

109. Female bust with prominent ears. 

110. Clay seal showing goddess Lakshmi between a pair of jars worshipped 

by two elephant-headed deities. 

111. Durga with a trident {trisul) and sword in hand. 

112. Seven Mothers (Sciptamatrika), a panel from Sarnath. 
N. B.—Unless otherwise shown the finds come from Kausambi. 

(b) By courtesy of the Provincial Museum, Lucknow. 

Ghosi Group {Kushan period). 

1. Nagi 

2. Durga controlling the demon Mahishasur, the symbol of riotous energy. 

3. Head with tenon representing a vigorous but crude style of art. 

4. Head with forehead dot, large ear pendants and prominently set eyes. 

5. Head with prominent eyes. 

6. Head with tenon, having a projecting band of hair, large tai-rings, 

forehead dot, prominent eyes and nose. 

7. Bust of a female figure showing her left hand protecting the left 

ailing eye. 
8. Standing male figure with wig-like ears. Necklace and prominent 

nipples, both the hands being placed on the breast. 
9. Head modelled by hand, with a double fillet binding the hair. 

10. Head with tenon coloured red. 

Sahet Mahet Group (Gupta period). 

11. Head with diadem, long-drawn eyes and thick lips, the ears being 

concealed under two dots of curly hair. 

12. Head with large ears resembling those of an elephant, nose and 

skull damaged. ^ 

13. Head with ringlets and protruding lips. 

14. Head with curly hairs and ear-rings. 

15. Bust of a female figure with prominent breasts. 

16. Head with fiat hair and curved nose, concave at back. 
17. Head with forehead and left eye broken. 

18. Head with ringlets looking sideways. 

19. Head with ringlets and ear-rings. 

20. Head with long ringlets, and heavy ear-rings, right feye and left 

cheek damaged. 



^1. ^ead with long ringlets. 
22. Head of a monkey. 

23. Head with shaggy hair. 
24. Fragment of a head with short curly hair. 

(c) By courtesy of the Curzoa Museum of Arehseology, Muttra. 

Muttra Group. 

1. Great mother>goddess with piglike face. (pre^Mauryan). 
2. Bust of great mother-goddess similar to No. 1, wearing mrinala 

kundala in left ear. 
3-5. Three mother-goddessess mounted oh a single block. 

6. Standing great mother-goddess with prominent breast, navel and girdle. 

7. Standing great mother-goddess of ancient people, wearing a lotus 

embossed wig (Maurya period). 

8. Mother-goddess with elaborate head appendage consisting of plumes 

and lotuses. Single piece pressed out of a mould, elongated face (late Mauryan). 

9. Goddess Vasudhara with triple fish symbol. 

10. Head of an Assyrian with long pointed cap and peaked beard. 

11. Shiva’s bull, Nandi ; inscribed (Kushana period). 

12. Kamadeva, the God of Love, standing in a flowery field with bow 
and arrow in both hands (Kushana period). 

13. Mother and child (Kushana period). 

14. Four-armed gexidess Mahishasurmardini (Gupta period). 

15. Female child with beautiful coiffure (Gupta period). 

16. Clay-cart toy figurine (about 1st cent. B. C.), 

Peshawar Group. 

17. Female torso, 

18. Male bust, wearing chhanavir ornament. 

19. Female bust. 

20. Female head. 

(d) By courtesy of the Archmological Museum, Sarnath. 

1. Right hand, holding the stalk of a flower. Made of concrete, covered 

with fine lime. 

2. Fragmentary head with nose, Ups, cheeks and chin remaining. Made 
of coarse concrete, covered with plaster. 

3. Fragmentary head showing nose, lips, cheeks and chin. Made of 

coarse concrete with lime plaster. 
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4. Figurine showing a standing female holding a child in her left arm ; 
lower part and hands missing ; probably Hariti. 

5. Figurine representing a female standing, holding a stringed instrument 
(vina) perhaps Saraswati. 

6. Head with shaven hair, dilated eyes, behind a hole. 

7. Head wearing a jEap with Jong ears'and oblique nose. ' 

8. Bust of a figurine with her hands on the chest and a knot of hair, now 

partly broken, over her head. 

9. Torso of a figure as if seated on a chair; head, hands, and legs 

broken and waist tied with a thick garment; traces of left hand on the hip. 

10. Bust of a female figurine with prominent breasts, large ear>rings and 
a jewelled fillet; knot on the head; hands broken. 

11. Bust of a female figurine with large ear-rings and a fillet on the 

head ; prominent knot of hair on h^d. 

12. Torso of a flying female figure (Sunga period). 

(e) By courtesy of the Patna Museum, *Patna. 

1. Torso of a female. It is in round, exhibiting perfect modelling 

(early Maurya). It is a rival of the Patna Museum Didarganj statue, 

(f) By courtesy of the Bharat Kala Bhavan, Benares. 

1-2. Fragments of two terracotta plaques from Kausambi depicting the 

abduction of Vasavadatta (Sunga period). 

3-5. Terracotta heads from Bairant, Benares district. 

(g) By courtesy of the Hyderabad State (Deccan). 

Maski group 

1. Human hea^. ' 

2. Headless bust. 

3. Fragmentary figurine. 

4. Crowned head, 

5. Crowned'btiSf.” 

6. A dwarf., 

7. Horse (fragmentary). 

A beautiful human head (broken). 

9. Torso of a female. 
10. Andhra seal. 

11. An impression of a seal on plasticine. 
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SHALABHANJIKA 

{Gupta: Nagod) 

By courtesy of the Municipal Museum, Allahabad 



SOAPSTONE FIGURINES AND SEAUS AND TERRACOTTA 

PIECES FROM KAUSAMBl 

I, V, VI, by courtesy of the Municipal Museum, Allahabad, II, III, IV, 

I by courtesy of R. C, Tandan, Esq., Allahabad; and VI by 

courtesy of O. P. Bhatnagar, Esq., Allahabad. 



(h) By courtesy of tlie Gwolior fitate:; 

Pawaya Group. 
1. Beautiful bust of a lady. (Gupta period) i-. 
2. A torso with a gown of printed cloth. 

3. Head of a comical figure. 

(i) By courtesy of the Baroda State. 

Atnreli Group. 

1-19. Terracotta figurines. 
20-21. One terracotta mould and its plaster cast. 

(j) By courtesy of the Mayurbhanj State. 

1. Seal showing a Buddhist stupa. 

(k) By courtesy of R. C. Tandan, Esq.« Allahabad. 

1. Plaque showing a standing female, holding lotus (Jeela-kamala) 

(Sunga period). 

2. Standing female figure with conspicuous head-dress (Sunga). 
3. Plaque fragment showing a moulded nude person (Sunga). 

4-5. Fragments showing female heads pressed out of an identical mould 

(Sunga). 
6. Fragment showing the fight of an elephant and a winged lion (Sunga). 
7. Fragment of an elliptical plaque showing the head and forepaw of a 

gargo> le. 
8. Disc showing a human head inside a carved medallion, probably 

representing the Sun-god (Kushana period). 
9. Fragment of a plaque representing an amorous scene (nivi-mochan) 

(Kushana). 

10. Female head (Gupta period). 

11. Female head from Bhita, Ghosi type. 

12>14. Female heads (Gupta). 

15. Pot-bellied nude dwarf. 
16. Fragment of a lion with prominent manes. 

17-19. Hun beads. 

20. Female bust, primitive type. 

21. Male torso, from Rae Bareli district (Gupta). 

22. An interesting but unidentified object from Rai Bareli district. 

23*27. Five inscribed seals from Kausambi. 

28. Fragment of a plaque representing a Greek philosopher and a youth 
in a dancing pose (Gupta). 

ti. B.—Union otherwite shown tho find* ooqie from Kausambi. 



(l) By eoiirtety of S. C. Kol«» Eaq.* Sriiumf <Giurhw«l), 

1*2. Heads from Kausambi. 

3. Female bead from Bhita. 

(m) By courtesy of Seth Murari Lai Kedia> Benares. 

1*9. Figurines from Masone, District Gbazipur. 

(n) By courtesy of O. P. Bhatnagar* Esq.* Allahabad. 

1. Fragment of a toy cart, from Kausambi, (Sunga period). 



SECTION 11 

SCULPTURES AND OTHER ANTIQUITIES 

A. Scttlpturet. 

(•) By emirtety of the Municipol Museum, AllAhabod. 

Sunga Period, 

1. Standing Yaksbi from Bbarhut, Nagod State. 
2. Railing pillar carved with a Yaksbi figure; Bbarbut. 

3. Railing fragment depicting an unidentified Jataka story; Bbarbut. 

4. Plaster cast of railing medallion; Bbarbut. 
5. Relief carved with an elephant with two riders carrying tbe asbes of 

tbe Buddba in an urn; Bbarbut. 

Kuahana Period. 
6. Fragment carved on both sides showing a beautiful female bust, made 

of typical Muttra red sandstone. 

Oandhara Schooi. 
7. Standing Buddba with conspicuous drapery. 

8. Relief showing three scenes from tbe Boddba’S life, tbe first one being 
tbe presentation of honey by a monkey. 

9. Jamb fragment showing the forepart of a lion, and a human being 

in front of him, most probably Hercules and tbe Nemean lion. 

10. Fragment showing tbe Buddba amidst a group of followers 
(Pannalal collection). 

11. Relief showing a burning pyre^ probably tbe Buddha's cremation. 
(Pannalal collection). 

Period. 

12. Door'jamb carved with the figure of a beautiful Yaksbi standing on 
her vehicle, from Nagod. 

13. Buddha Head. 
14. Full-blown lotus. 

15. Kuvera holding a goblet {madkttpatra) and purse, from Nagod. 



16. Door*jamb carved with the figure of goddess Ganga on her vehicle 

of crocodile {makara). 
17. Swami Kartikeya carved in a niche on a portal (torana). 
18. Four-faced phallus (lingum) of Shiva. Allahabad District. 

19. Pestle from Kausambi. 

UediaewU Period. 
20. Four-armed Vishnu with the ten incarnations {avataraa) carved around. 

21. Hara-Gauri.'^ i 'i . ' . ' ^ L 
22. Fragment showing the Buddha in teaching attitude {vyakhyana 

tnudra), Gaya stone. 

23. Kali, Gaya stone. 

24. Parvati holding a discus {chakra) apd mace (gada), shown as Vaishnavk' 
25. Four-armed Vishnu, 

26. Goddess Mahishasura-mardini. 

27. Male head, probably Vishnu. (Pannalal collection). 
28. Scenes from the Buddha's life, Gaya stone. 

29. Four-armed ShiVt dhd Parvati, Gaya Stoiie. 

30. Stele Showing Jain Tirthanlcaras. ^ 
‘ 3f. Stele showing a Jain Tirthankara. 

32-33, Pillar fragments carved with standing female figures. 

34. Yaksha and Yakshi seated under a Jaina wish-granting tree 

{kfflpffdrt/mtd.. . 
35. Saptaraatrika (Seven Mothers) with Virabhadra and Ganesha. 
36. Statuette of Revanta, son of Surya, riding on horse. Gaya stone, 
37. Jaina Yaksht under a mango tree. 

(b) By courteajr of the BiarodU State. 

1-2. Twq stone images, one of Brabmani, and the other of Parvati. 
* * ^ _ j 

3-'5. Tliree specimens of wood work of mediaeyal Gujerat. 

(e) By dbirleay ci Bai-Bahaduir Ra^ha krialma Jalan, Patna. 

, h ^to|ie Shiva (Onpta period^.' 

B. Other Antiqiiitiea. 

(a) By courtesy of the Allahabad Municipal Museum. 

1. Assorted beads from Kausambi. 

2-9 Ivor^^ and terracotta seals from Kausambi. 
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b) By courtesy of the Patna Museun), Patna. 

Bronse Itnagea 

1. Balarama. Brahmanical God. Dated in the 9tb regnal year of 
King Devapala (cir. 826 A. D.). 

2*3. Tara (Vasudbara). Inscribed. The name of the artist who was 

a resident of Srimad Apanka Mabavihara is given on the images. Both 

the images were prepared in the 32nd regnal year of King Rajyapala (dr. 930 
A. D.). 

4. Sbiva>Parvati. Inscribed. Dated the 32nd regnal year of King 

Rajyapala. Cast by the same artist as mentioned in figures 2 and 3 above. ' 

5. Prajnaparamita. Inscribed. Dated the 31st year of King Mahipala 
(cir. 1000 A. D.). 

6. Steatite disc. Toy wheel, recovered from a depth of 14ft. Inscribed 

in the ddest form of Asoka letters giving the name of the owner Visbakha 
{Vi-aa-kho’sa). 

(c) By courtesy of the Hyderabad State (Deccan). 

From Maski. 

1*15. Neoliths, whet stones, polishers and pounding stones. 

16-74. Pieces of painted pottery. 

75-81. Beads of cornelian, crystal, lapis lazuli, and other stones. 

82-84. Crucibles. 

85-102. Yoni-lingas, Ganesha, and soft stone cylinders. 

103-127. Flakes. 

128-144. Axes. 

(d) By courtesy of the Baroda State 

1-3. Buddhist metal images from Mahudi in the Mihsana district, Baroda 

Raj. (cir. 3rd cent A. D). 

4. An important seal in the n^ative of Sbiladitya I of Valabhi (cir. 7th 
cent. A. D.) from Amreli. 

5-6. Necklaces containing beads from Amreli, 

7-20. Conch shells and earthen bangle pieces from Amreli. 

21-27. Plaster cast of figurines from Amreli. 

23-43. Pottery and pot-sherds from Amreli. 

44-47. Stone figurines from Amreli. 

48-49. Lead weight and lead piece, from which coins were struck. 

50-51. Two dice, one black and the other white. 



(•) By cottirtety of the MayurbhanJ St«t« 

1. Stone seal representing a conch with Brahmi inscription of the ind 

cent A. D. 
2*5. Four garlands of quartz and cornelian beads. 

(f) By courtesy of Riu Bahadur Radha Krishna Jalan* Patna. 

1. Glold plaque representing Shiva*Parvati, 3rd cent. B. C., from the 

Mauryan level at Patna. 

(g) By courtesy of Rana Parakram Jang Bahadur* Allahabad. 

1*3. Three Nepalese bronzes. 

(h) By courtesy of R. C. Tandan Esq.* Allahabad. 

1. A small roll of heavy metal sealed with plaster, with a hole passing 
through it, probably an amulet (kavacha), from Kausambi. 

2^, Necklaces of cornelian, quartz, and steatite, beads and pendants. 



SECTION 111 

NUMISMATICS 

(a) By courtesy of the Allahabad Municipal Museum. 

The Allahabad Municipal Moseum exhibited nearly 600 ancient coins, 

prcnnitient among them being the coins of Kausambi. Several of these have not 

yet been published. The collection Kausambi coins in the Allahabad Museum, 

is perhaps unrivalled. Only a few are mentioned below : 

Kausambi Coins, • 

1. Early uninscribed cast coins of the lanky bull type of Kausambi of the 

3rd century B. C. are too well known to need any detailed introduction : vide, 

John Allen’s Catalogue of the Coins 0/Ancten#/adta, 1936 edition, Plate XV, 

coin No. 14. The uniquess of the coin exhibited was that on the top of the 

head of the bull was inscribed the word “Kosambi” in Brahmi characters. 

2. Two denominations of the lanky bull type of Kausambi coin have 

so far been published: vide the above mentioned Catalogue, Plate XX, coin No. 

14; and Plate XXI, coin No. 3. The coin exhibited was a third denomination, 

almost half of coin No. 3 

3. As above, but a lion instead of a lanky bull. Three denominations of 

this coin were exhibited. 

4. P'lease refer to uninscribed cast coin No. 16, Plate No. Xl. This is a 

round coin. The coin exhibited was square with certain other symbols on the 

obverse. This coin, too, had two denominations 

5. A large number of silver Kakinis and ArdhKakims were also exhibited. 

Othw ancient coins. 

A very large collection of ancient Indian coins recovered from other parts 

of India were exhibited, prominent among them were the coins of Ujjain and 

Mathura, an unpublished coin of Vavaghosha (an unknown king) in early 

Brahmi characters deserves special mention. The coin was obtained at Mathura. 

Muhammadan Coins. 

A very large collection of Mughal copper coins including some very rare 



and un-published (Mied were exhibited, the most prominent among them were 

the following: 

1. Jahangir-cum-Shabjahan (silver). The most remarkable thing in 

the above coin is that the calligraphy on the Jahangir side is exactly the same as 

is found in Jahangir's coins, whereas the calligraphy on the Sbahjahan side is 

exactly the same as is generally found on the silver coins of Shahjahan. It was 

remarked by some historians who-visHted the exhibition that it is in the Persian 

records that Shahjahan issued such a coin in the name of his father Jahangir. 

The fact remains to be verified.. ■ ' , i 
2. Several denominations of Murad Bukbsh ; Mint Surat; Year Abad. 

3. Jahangir ; Mint Kashmir, 

Besides the coins mentioned above, abbu'f a dozen seals iiotn Kausambi 

were exhibited the important ones being as follows : 

T. A soapstone seal containing inscription of a private individual Bha-Kha- 

‘LaSa in early Brabmi characters of the time of Asoka. 
2. Brass seal containing inscription of Bat-Barih. 

3. Seal of semi-precious stone, containing inscription in Brahmi characters: 

Oath Pati Nagas. . ’ 

(b) By courtesy of the Gwalior State. 

Set I—Coins of the Nagas of Padmavati (9) and Mihirabhoja of 

Kanauj {3). 

1. Bbava Naga. Bull to right (copper). 

2. Bhim Kaga. Peacock to left (copper). 

3. Brihaspati Naga. Bull to right (copper). 

4. Deva Naga. Wheel type (copper). 
5. Ganapatindra Naga. Boll to left (copper). 

6. Pum Naga. Bull to left (copper). 

7. Skanda Naga. Bull to Right (copper). 

8. Vasu Nagfi. ’ Peacock (?) (copper). 

9. Vrisha Naga. Squatting man (?) (copper). 

10. Mihira Bboja of Kanauj. Vana Vikata (silver-washed copper).- 

11. Mibir Bhoja of Kanauj. Vikata Baladeva (silver-washed copper). 

12. Mihir Bhoja of Kanauj. Altar and attendants (silver-washed 
copper). 

Set"!!.—Soindia Coins. 

1. Mahadji. Ujjain (H. 1312: regnal/ear 36) ‘ (silver). 
2. Daulat Rao. Ujjain (r.y. 17) (silver). 

. .3.- Baija Bai. Ujjain (r.y. 23).(silver). 
t 



4. Jankoji Rao. Ujjain (r.y. 23) (silver). 

5. Jankoji Rao. Esagarh (Chowri type) (silvec)t;ti . 

6. Jankoji Rap. Baso(&t t(oopper) . ; 

7-9. Jayaji Rao (silver). 
10. Jayaji Rao. Ujjain (copper). 

11. Jayaji Rao. Sheopur (copper)., , 

12. Madhava Rao (silver). 

(c) By courtesy of the State. 

1*2. Silver punch-marked. 

3-4. Copper punch-marked. 

5-8. Tribal coins (2 potin, 1 lead, 1 copper). 

9-14. Avanti coins'(5 copper, 1 lead). 

15-18. Kshatrapa coins (1 lead, 1 copper, 2 potin). 

(d) By courtesy of the Hyderabad State 

1-10. Old coins from Maski. 

11-20. Old coins from Paithan. 

(e) By courtesy of the Mayurbhanj State. 

1-6. Real Kushana coins. 

7-13. So-called Puri Kushanas. 

(f) By courtesy of the Patna State. 

1-14. Bull and horseman type(copper). No legend, probably belong to Ohind. 

15-27. Bull and horseman type (copper). Atauddin Mas’aud Shah (A, D. 

1241-46). 
Legend : Obv: Suritana Sri Ataohina; Rev : Sri tiamira, 

28-32. Copper coins of some mediaeval dynasty of Northern India. Bull 

and horseman type. No legend. 

33-34. Cbauhan(?) Bull and horseman type (copper). Legend; Samanta. 

(g) By courtesy of the Provincial Museumi LiicluidW. 

Twelve boxes of eleotro^affdo<^,qf aoins itt the PfOviwHal Ludtnow. 

Box No. 1: (o) Bactria andjndift {230'12P C). . 
1. Euthydemos I, King of Baqtria^f cir. 220 B,';C. (sijver),.. 

2. Eukratides, King of Bt^tria and Nprth'W^st India, cir. 175 B. C. 

(silver). ^ ^ . .1 

3. Aotialkidas, King of the North-West ^<M.tiec and Taxila (silver). 



4. Archebios (sOver). 

5. Archebios (copper* sqiHire). 

6. Apollodotos, King of North-West India (copper, squat e). . 

7. Apollodotos, (silver). 
8. Menander, King of North'West India (silver). 

9. Antimacbos Nikephoros (silver). 

10. Philoxenos (silver). 

11. Hippostratos, King and goddess type (silver). 

12. Hippostratos, King and horseman type (Silves). 

(6) IndO'Scythians (J 20-110 B. C). 

13. Maues (Moa), Zeus and Nike type (silver). 

14. Azes, King and Pallas type (silver). 

15. Spalyris (Splahores) with Spalagadames (copper, square). 

Box No. 2 : Kushanas (Cir. A, D. 85-300) (Gold), 

1. Double stater of Vima Kadaphises. 

2. Vima Kadaphises, half'Iength figure of king and Siva. 

3. Vima Kadaphises, head of king in frame, small. 

4. Kanishka with goddess Nanashao on reverse. 

5. Kanishka with Ardoxo on reverse. 

6. Huvishka with Miro on reverse. 

7. Huvishka with Ardoxo on reverse. 

8. Vasudeva with Oesho on reverse. 

9. Vasudeva, Siva and bull type. 
10. Kanishka, later Kushana type, with trident in hand, 

11. Saka, later Kushana. 

12. Kidara. 

Box No. 3: Imperial Guptas (Gold). 

1. Samudragupt4, (A. D. 335-380), King and queen type. 
2: Samud^gtipta, standard. 

3. Samudragupta, Kacba. 
4. Samudragupta, Tiger. 

5. Samudragupta, Lyrist. 

6. Samudragupta, Asramedha. 

7. Chandr^pta II, (A. D. 380-414) Archer type. 

8. Chandragupta II, Lion-alayer (killing with sword). 

9. Chandragupta II, Lion-alayer (shooting with bow). 

. 10. Chandragupta II, Horseman, with aimibol on 1. 

11. Chandragupta II, Horseman, with crescent behind the head. 
12. Chandragupta IL Couch type. 



TANTKIC FKMALE DKITY 

(Mciiiicval) 

By courtesy of the Municipal Museum, Allahabad. 



I’ALM LKAF l^AINTIN(;S 

{ff)ih-t7ili centuries) 

I^v reurtesy ot the xMayurbhanj State. 



Box No. 4: {a) Imperial Ouptaa {Gold). 

1. Kumacagppta I, (A. D, 414*445) Horsemao typ& 

2. Kumaragupta I, Peacock type (Var. B.) 

3. Kumaragupta I, 'Pratapa* type 

4. Kumaragupta I,. Elephant rider type. 

5. Skandagupta, (A. D, 455-480), Ktog and Lakshmi type. 

6. Skandagupta, Archer type. 

7. Puragupta, (cir. A. D. 480'485)-, Archer ty^ 

(5) Mediaeval Hindu dynasties {Gddh 

8. Vira Sioha Rama (date?) 

9. Kumarapala Deva (cir. A. D. 1019-1049) 

10. Kirtivarma Deva of BUndtIkHand (bir. 1055-1100) 

11. Govindachandra Deva of Kanauj (cir. 1*112-60) 

Box No. 5 : Sultana of Delhi. 

1. Muhammad bin: Sam (A. D. 1193-1205) mint Ghazni (gold*)^ 

2. Shamsuddin; Altamah (<lj2IO'l(235), mint Ihelhi (ailver). 

3. Jalalatuddim Raziya. (>1236-1239); 635 H. (oilver). 

4. Nasiruddin Mahmud (1246*1'265) mint Bhdaun' (ailvep){ 

5. Ghiyasuddin Balban (1265-1287)., mint Delhi (gold). 

6. Mu’izuddin Kaiqubad (1287-1296), mint Deftti (gald')l 

7. Shamsuddin Kaiumurs (1290 Ak D.), mint Delhi (silver), 

8. Shihabaddin 'Umar (1325 A. D(), mint Dftral-teUua (hilver)i 

9. Ghiyasuddin Tughiaq 1 (1326-1325); mint Deogir Fort (gold). 

10. Muhammad II bin Tughiaq (1325*1351), mint Deogir (gold)- 

11. Muhammad II bin Tughiaq, mint Delhi (silver). 

12. Abubakr Shah (1388-1389) (gold). 

Box No, 6 : Sultans ojf Delhi {concluded). 

13. Alam Shah, son of Muhammad V (A. D. 1445), (silver). 

14. Sikander II Lodi (1488-1517), mint Delhi (copper). 

15. Sher Shah (1540-1545); mint Bhanpur (silver). 

16. Islam Shah (1545-1552), mint Shahgarh (copper): 

17; IbrahintShah &iri ( Ax D. 1554): 992 HI (copper); 

18-20. Durranis ( ? ) (gold). 

Bwt No. 7 : MUghal Emperors of India. 

1. Babur (1526-1530) (silver). 

2. Humayun (1530-1556), mint Agra (silver). 

3t AMhK (d566>1^0^, coaplet type; minh Agra (gold). 

4i Alibar Vaanhan pkee, (goM)! 

m 
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5. Akbar, mibrabi mohar (gold). 

^ Jahangir, (1605-1628), cduplet type, mint Agra (gold). 

7. Jahangir, 5-mohar piece (gold) ‘' 
8. Jahangir, Zodiacal—Taurus (gold). ■ - > * 

.9. Jahangir, fine inscription, mint Agru. -(gold). 
10. Shah Jailikn (1628-1658)', tnint Ahmadabad ‘ (gold). - 

11. Murad Baksh in Gujerat (1657-58), saint Sutat “tsllver). 
12. Shah Shuja in Bengal (1657-60)', %in^ Akbarnagar (silver). 

« 

Box No. 8: Mughal Emperors of India ^continued)- 

1*2. 200>mohar of Shah Jahan, mint Shahjahan(>ad, 1064 H (gold) 

Box No. 9 : Mughal Emperors of India {continued)... . ^^ 

13. Aurangzeb (1658-1707), mint Akbarabad (silver). 

14. Azam Shah (A! D. 1707), mint Ujjain (silver). 

15. Kam Bakhsh (1707-8), mint Gokak (silver). 

16. SbAi^ Alam E^hadur (1707*12), mint Ilahahad (niver). •’ ‘ 

17. Jahandar Sh^h (A. D. 1712),' mint Lahore (silver). 
18. Farrukhsiyae (1713-1719), mint Islamabad (silver). 

19. Farrukhsi3uir, miot..Khujistabunyad (gold). ' " 

20. Farrukhsiyar, mint'^Murshidabad (gold). •> 

21. Rafiuddarjajk (A. Dil71Q), mint iKambayat (silver). 

22. Shah-Hahan Id (A. D. 1719) mint Lahore (silver);' 

23. Muhammad Ibrahim (A. JD. 1720), mint Sbahjahadbad (silver). 
24. Abroad Shah, Bahadur (1748.-1754), mint, ^s(hjabanbad (gold): 

Box No. 10^: Mughal Emperors 6f India-fmnoluded). ' 

25. Alamgir II (I7j4-l759)i'mint Ujjain (silver). 

26. Shah Jahan III (1750-60), mint Mah Indarpur (silver). ‘ ’ 

27. Shah Aiam II (1759*1806), mint Awadh (silver). 

28. Bedar Bakht (A. ,D. 1788) mint Miihammadabad (gold). , 

|29. Muhammad Akb^r 11 (1806*1837), mint Sbahjabanbad (silver). 

|30. Bahadur Shah (1837-1858), mmt Sbahjahanbad (silver). 

Kings of Oudh > ' ; . 

1. Commemoration medal ^t(uak.by Gbaziuddin .Haiddr,'’first -King 
(1814-1827) (silver). ' • i . « 

2. Mohar of Muhammad AU Shah (183.7-1842), thjrd King (gold). 

3. Half-mohar of Wajid Ali Shah (1847-1856),,last king (gold). / ^ 

Box No, 11: . ' . tr. . 

1. Cast of Bhitari seal; of Kupviragiipta II Written in Sanskrit prdse, in 

Gtqpta characters. The upper part sh<tWit.)a irepre^entarion of •.GArudk, the 



vehicle of Vishnu. This record extends the early Gupta genealogy by two 

generation, i. e. Narsinhagupta and Kuiuaragupta 11, and supplies the names 

of three queens which were not known before, namely Anantadevi, Vatasadevi., 

and Mahaiakshmi. 

Box* No. 12: Miscellaneous. 

1. Ten-rupee piece of Shah Alam II, mint Surat (silver) 

2. Shah Alam II, mint Abdullanahar, Pihani (silver). 

3. Vima Kadphises, King seated side saddle on an elephant (gold). 

4. Huvishka, King riding an elephant to the right (gold). 

5. Sasanka, cir. A. D. 600-625 (silver^. 

6. Double rupee of Muhammad Shah Alam (silver/ 
7. Medal of Shujauddula (silver). 

(h) By courtesy of B. Durga Prasad, Benares. 
1. The coins of the Magadha Empire, 5th to 2nd century B. C. 

three types. 

2. The coins of the Kosala Kingdom, 7th or 8th Century B. C. to 6th 

century B. C.; three types. 

3. The coins of the Panchal Kingdom, 6th century B. C. 

4. The coins of the Suraseni Kingdom, 6th centur\ B. C. 

5. The coins of Kurukshetra, 5th and 7th century B. C.; two types. 

6. The coins of the Gandhara Kingdom, 5th century B. C. 

7. The coins of the Gandhara Kingdom, 5th century B. C. 

8. Some very early silver punch-marked coins of 8th or 9th century B. C. 

9. Copper punch-marked coins of early times. 

In all about 400 coins were exhibited. 

(i) By courtesy of Rai Bahadur Radha Krishna Jalan, Patna 

1. Gold coin of Akbar; three-Mohur, unique specimen. 

(j) By courtesy of H. Syed Mohammed Sa*id, Allahabad. 

1. Silver coin of Balban. 

(k) By courtesy of R. Subba Rao, Esq., Rajahmundry. 

1-2. Two gold coins of Vizianagar kings. 

3-6. Four gold coins of East Ganga kings. 

7-8. Two Kushana copper coins. 

9*14. Six Satavahana lead coins. 
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(l) By courtesy ol R. C. Toadan Esq.* AllahalMul. 

1-12. A dozen ancient copper coins from Kausambi. 

(m) By courtesy of Prof. Datto Vaman Potdar, Poona. 

1. Assortment of gold, silver, and copper coins. 



ADDENDA TO SECTION III 

Note :—In addition to coins listed in the Numismatics section, the 

following coins from the Hyderabad State were also received : 

/. Sixteen rare silver coins of the Mughal Kings. 

New Mughal mints discovered for the first time by H. E. H. the Nizam's 

Archaeological Department. 

1-2. The only two known coins from Udgir mint—a town on the Vikarabad 

Parli Railway. They were struck by Aurangzeb in 1098 A. H. and by 

Farrukh-siyar In the first year of his accession. 

3. The only known coin from Islaranagar mint. It was struck Jn the 

name of Aurangzeb. 

4. The only known coin from Parenda mint, an old fortress near Gk>a. 

It was struck by Aurangzeb in the 43rd year of his reign. 

5. The only known coin from Rarachandra Nagar mint struck in the 

name of Shah Alam I. 

6-8. The only three known coins from the mint Koilkunda ; No. 6 struck 

by Aurangzeb, while the latter two by ‘Alamgir II. 

9. The only known coin from Jetpur mint. Struck by Ahmad Shah 

in the seventh year of his reign. 

10. The only known coin from Naik Daruzzafar Bijapur mint. It was 

struck in the name of Aurangzeb in the early forties of his reign. The mint 

is different from ‘Daruzzafar Bijapur’ because coins from the latter mint 

representing every year of the 5th decade of Aurangzeb have beoi discovered. 

11*12. Mr. R. B. Whitehead says, “1 found Gulbarga Mohars of dates 1098, 

31st regnal year to 1111, 44 th regnal year". Coins 11*12 are dated A. H. 1114. 

viz., 47th regnal year. 

13*14. R. B. Whitehead says that Golconda mint was closed during the 

reign of Aurangzeb in 1099 A. H, But the coins No. 13 and 14 are the only 

known coins which prove that thj mint was active even after that because these 

coins were struck by Ahmad Shah in A. H 1166 at Golconda. 



15. Mr. R. B. Whitehead says that coins were struck at Mumbai (f. e. 

Bombay) by Farrukh-siyar. Coin No 15 is the only known one which proves 

that the Mumbai mint was started earlier by Farrukh-siyar^s predecessor Abul 

Fateh Jahandar Shah. 

16. Unique variety of Rafi-ud-Darjat from Bankapur, 

11. Four copper coins of Barid Shahi Kings of Bidar {1487-1619 A. D.) 

Discovered for the first time by H. E. H. the Nizam’s Archaeological 

Department. 

1-4. Barid Shahi Kings ruled from 1487-1619 A. D. But it is 

extremely doubtful whether they struck coins. These coins are the only known 

coins of this dynasty and their attribution is quite safe. 

HI. Seven rare gold coins of the Mughala. 

1. The only known coin of its type issued by Shah Jahan from Kabul 

mint. 

•2, The only known gold coin issued from Bombay mint. It was struck 

by Muhammad Shah. 

3-6. The only known gold coins of Aurangz.‘b from Goloonda bearing 

the regnal year 20, 21, 30 and 29 and A. H. 1086 

7, One of the ten known gold coins issued by Muhammad Shah of 

Bijapur. 

IV. Unpublished copper coins of Qutb Shahi kings of Golconda. 

1-6. Varieties of Muhammad Quii ^utb Shah (1580*1612), from 

Hyderabad mint. , 

7 8. Varieties of the same king from Golconda mint. 

9-10. These two coins are varieties of Abdullah Qutb Shah (1626-1672 

A. D.) and bear his name, followed by the epithet Padshah-i-Ghazi. 

11-12. Varieties of the same king bearing no name but the legend. These 

coins have been discussed by Mr. G. Yazdani, in one of his learned articles. 
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BRONZE IMAGE OE BALARAMA 

(9th Century). 

By courtesy of the Patna Museum, Patna. 





SECTION IV 

EPIGRAPHY 

(a) By courtesy of the Provincial Museum, Lucknow. 

Copperplates. 

1. Copperplate of King Gosaladevi recording in Sanskrit the grant by 

the latter of a village to a Brahman in Samvat 1208 (A. D. 1151), Found in 

town Bangarmau in Unao district. 

2. Plate of the reign of King Govindachandra recording in Sanskrit and 

Devanngari that Vatsaraja of the Singara family granted a village to a Thakkura 

in Samvat 1191. (A. D. 1134). Found in Kamauli near Benares. 

3. Inscription recording the grant by king Govindachandra of Kanauj 

of a village Ohusa to his family priest in the Vikrama year 1172 (A. D. 1116). 

From Kamauli near Benares. 

4. Copperplate of Maharaja Kirtipala of Uttarasamudra recording the 

grant of two villages to a Brahman in S.imvat 1167 (A. D. 1111). From Bhatpur, 

district Gorakhpur. 

5. Inscription in Sanskrit of King Govindachandra Deva of Kanauj grant¬ 

ing a village to Vilhakaya Dikshita in Samvat 1162 (A. D. 1106). Found in 

Kamauli near Benares. 

6. Inscription of King Chandradeva of Kanauj of Samvat 1148 (A. D. 

1090) recording the grant of village Bodagava to a Brahman. 

7. Record of the grant of village Bhujangika to certain religious students 

by a Mahasamanta Baiadarma Deva (cir. 7th century A. D.) 

8. Copperplate of King Harsha recording a transfer of village from an 

individual on a charge of forgery to two other Brahuums in the year 25. (A. D. 

631-2) Found near Madhuban, Azamgarh district. 

9. Inscription of King Harsha of Kanauj containing his sign manual and 

recording the grant of a village in his 22nd year (A. D. 628-29). Found in 

village Banskhera, Shahjahanpur district. 

10. Copperplate inscription in Sanskrit of Maharaja Lakshmana of Samvat 

(probably Gupta) 158 (A. D. 477J recording the gnmt of a village to a Brahman. 

From Pali noar Kosam in Allahabad district. 
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Batampages of hsoriptiotta. 

1. Chandravati plate of king Chandradeva, of Samvat 1148 (A. D. 1190) 

recording the grant of the village of Bodagava to a Brahmin. 

2. Sahet-Mahet plate of Govindchandra of Vikrama Samvat 1186 

recording the grant of six villages to the community of Buddhist friars residing 

in Jetavana of Sravasti. 

3. Fragmentary sandstone inscription from Budaim. It is inscribed on 

two adjacent sides and belongs to the year 909 A. D. It mentions the name of 

Divapaladeva, of Kanauj. 

4. Stone inscription of the reign of Sikandar Lodi dated in Vikrama 

Samvat 1549. It records the construction of a bridge by Buddha, the minister of 

Khan Gadna, apparently a vassal of Sikandar Shah, son uf Sultan Bahlol Lodi. 

5. Estampage of Bhitari Seal of Kumaragupta II. 

6. Estampage of Banskhera copperplate inscription of King Harsha. 

7. Simra copperplate of Paramardideva of Chandel dynasty of Vikrama 

Samvat 1223 (A. D 1167) inscribed on three large size plates. It is in three 

parts. 

8. Niaukhari stone inscription of Vikrama year 611 on a sand-stone 

slab consisting of twenty-two lines. It records the reconstruction of an old 

Siva temple by Suryavarmnn, son of ihe Maukhari king Isanavarman. 

9. Inscription on a stone Siva-linga. It records the gift for worship 

of Prithivisvara .Mahadeva by Prithvisena, a minister of the Gupta Emperor 

Kumaragupta I, and is dated in the 117th year of the Gupta era (A.D.436). 

tb) By courtesy of the Municipal Museum, Allahabad. 

I Estampage of inscriptions on the Asoka Pillar in Allahabad Fort. 

(c) By courtesy of the Andhra Itihasa Samsodhak Mandah Guntur. 

1. Prakrit inscription engraved on a marble slab in the Amareshwara 

temple, Amaravatj (Guntur), records gift of Buddhist nun to local Chaitya. 

2. Inscription in Tel^u verse on marble slab in the Amareshwara temple, 

Amaravati, records the gift of a lamp by Appana Peddi. Saka 1122. 

' 3, • Inscription on a pillar in the Ammavaru shrine in the celebrated Vishnu 

temple, Srikakulam (Krishna), registers gift for a lamp. Saka 1091. 

4. Famous Inscription of the Vijayanagar king, Krishnadeva Raya, on a 

stone in -the inner compound of the Amareshwara temple Amaravati, district 

Guntur. Saka 1437 Yuva. 

(d) By courtesy of the Nalw Museum, Calcutta. 

1 Rubbing of a pillar inscription oi Rajyapala, of Pala dynasty of Bengal. 
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(e) by courteiy of the Jhalawar State. 

Estampagea of Inaeriptiona. 

1. Stone inscription of Gargratpur (Gangdhar) of the time of Raja 

Narvmi, Samvat Vikram 840. 
2. Stone inscription of Chandrawati Patan, Chandramoli Mahadeo (Sbitale- 

shwar) of the time of Raja Durgan, Samvat Vikram 746. 

3. Stone inscription of Gopinathji’s temple, Patan, of the time of Raja 

Uya Ditya, Samvat Vikram 1143. 
4. Stone inscription of village Berta (Gangdhar) of the time of Jhala Dayal 

Dasji, Vikram Samvat 1687. 

5. Stone inscription from Kotah State of the time of Raja Shivagan, 
Vikram Samvat 795. 

6. Stone inscription from Merta (Jodhpur) of the time of Raja Bauk, 

Vikram Samvat 840. 

7. Stone inscription from Bundi State of the time of Raja Surya Mahach, 

Vikram Samvat 1561. 

8. Stone inscription from Banswara of Arthuna, 1136 A. D. 
9. Stone inscription (in Persian) from Dharangdhra (Kathiawar) of the 

time of Ahmad Badshah, 740 Hijri. 

10. Stone inscription from Sayla (Kathiawar) in Persian, Hijri 840. 

11. Copy of Mohammad Sahab’s document, Hijri 7. 

12. A document wiitten on ‘bhojpatra’ by Raj Rana Zalim Singhji, from 

Nathdwara. 
13. Stone inscription from Tibet of the time of Buddha which was pre< 

sented by Lt. Col. R. A. E. Benn. 

(f) By courtesy of the Majrurbhanj State. 

Copperplates. 

1. Keshari copperplate grant of Maharajahdhiraj Satru Bhanja Deva of 
the Bhanja dynasty of Orissa whose capital was at Khijjinga Kotta. (modern 

Khiching in the Mayurbhanj State), date about lOth and 11th century A. D. 

2. Talcher copperplate grant of Subhakara Deva of the Bhauma dynasty. 
3. Kumuranga copperplate grant of Dandi Mahadevi of the Bhanja 

dynasty, date Harsha era 287. 

4. Copperplate grant of Birakishore Deva of the Khurda family, date 

18th century. 

5. Copperplate grant of Joyvarma Deva, a feudatory of Unmatta Keshari 
Deva of the Bhauma dynasty of Orissa. Bilingual—Persian and Oriya. 

(f) By courtesy of the Patna State. 

). Four copperplate grants. (Three sheets each). 
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(h) By courtesy of Dr. A. S. AUekar» BeMuPoSf 

1. Three copperplates, probably in some code script. 

(i) By courtesy of B. C. Krilhna RaOf Esq., Rajahmundry. 

1. Three copperplate grants (unpublished) of the Eastern Chalukya 

dynasty. 

(j) By courtesy of Dr. M. Rama Rao, Rajahmundry. 

1. An old Telegu inscription found on the doorway to the western 

entrance of the Balbrahmesvara temple, Alarnpur (Raichur). 

2. A Canarese inscription found on a stone in the compound of the Bal¬ 

brahmesvara temple, Alarnpur (Raichur). 

3. Stone inscription roistering the gift of a lamp to god Markandeya 

by the minister Preggada. 

(k) By courtesy of R. Sttbba Rao, Esq., Rajahmundry. 

Copperplates and Bstampages. 

1. The Jirjingi C. P. Grant of Indra Varma. 

2. The Parnalavaku C. P. Grant of Vijayaditya VII. 

3. The Chicacole C. P. Grant of Raja Raja Ganga. 

4. The newly discovered Murupaka C. P. Grant of Anantavarma Choda 

Ganga. 

5. Impressions of C. P. Grant of Madhukaravarma. 

6. Impressions of C. P. Grant of Devandravarma. 

7. Impressions of C. P. Grant of An intavarma. 

8. Impressions of C. P. Grant of Vajabasta III. 

9. Impressions of C. P. Grant of Anantavarma Chodaganga. 

10. Impressions of C. P. Grant of Devendravarma Raja Raja Ganga. 

11. Impressions of C. P. Grant of Vijayaditya VIIf, 1st set. 

12. Imprelsions of C. P. Grant of Vijayaditya VIII, 2nd set. 

13. Impressions of C. P. Grant of Indravarma of 39 G. Era. 

14. Impressjons of C. P. Grant of Polomburu plate of Chalukya Jayasimbha I. 

15. Impressions of the C. P. Grant of Polomburu plates of Vishnukumdin 

Madhavavarma III. 

16. Impressicfns of C. P. Grant of Polomburu plates of Ammaraja Vijayadi- 

tya II. 
17. ' Impressions of C. P. Grant of stont inscription found at Ramireddipalli. 

18. linpressions of sculptures found at Ramireddipalli. 

12. Impressions of stone inscriptioB,k«id iff Rnjaliywodty water works 

20. Impressions of sculpture foi^nd in Rajahmundry water works, 
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(I) By courtesy of the Hyderabad State. 

Estampages of Inscriptions. 

1-10. Inscriptions of Asoka from Maski, Gavimath, Palki Gnndu (H. E. H. 

the Nizam’s Archaeological Department Series Nos. 1 lo 10). 

11. Muhammad Tughlaq’s inscriptions, Kalyani. 

12. Marathi inscription of Muhammad Tughlaq’s reign. It records the 

installation of a Saivite image with the permission of the Kazi, notwithstanding 

the objections of some Vaishnavites (Published by Mr. R. M. Joshi in the Annual 
Report of the Archaeological Department, H. E. H. the Nizam, for the year 

1935-36). 

13. Inscription from the Jami Masjid, Golconda. It establishes that 

Qutb Shah I of Golconda had not declared himself independent till 924 A. H., 

and considered Mahmud Shah Bahmani as his over-lord, while according to all 

chroniclers, he assumed the regal titles in 910 A. H. 

14. Musa Burj inscription from Golconda. This is a Qutb Shahi 

inscription which records that in 1037 A. H. the Mughal army had raised seige 

from Golconda owing to the death of iheir commande:, Mir Miran and peace 

was effected by the Mughals. But the Mughal chroniclers maintain that 

Abdullah Qutb Shah had su ;d for peace. (Published by Mr. G. Yazdani, in the 
Upigniphica Indo-Moslemica, 1923-24). 

15. Ismail Adil Shah’s inscription. Originally belonged to Raichur Fort, 

at present in the Hyderabad Museum. This inscription establishes that the 
Add Shahi rulers had not assumed the regal titles till 916. A. H. According to 

Ferishta, the Adil Shahis had assumed the regal title in 895 A. H. (1511 A. D.) 

16. Mallu Adil Shah’s inscription. Originally belonged to Raichur, at 

present in the Hyderabad Museum. This inscription establishes that the Adil 

Shahi rulers had not assumed the regal title till 941 A. H. (1535 A.D.) the year 

in which Mallu ruled for a period of six months, while according to Ferishta the 
Adil Shahis had declared their independence in 895 A. H. (1511 A. D.) 

17. Nadi Ali from Mir-ka-Daira Hyderabad. This inscription is a very 

good specimen of ThuUh script. (Published in the Bpigraphica Indo-Moslemica 

by Mr. G. Yazdani) 

18. Inscription from the Chaukhandi of Hazrat Khalilullah Shah Saheb, 

Fidar. This inscription is a unique specimen of bold script. (Published by 

Mr. G. Yazdani, in the Bpigraphioa Indo-Moslemica). 

19. Inscription from Miyan Mushk’s Masjid, Puranapul, Hyderabad. This 

inscription is a fine specimen of Riqa script. (Published by Mr. G. Yazdani, in 

the Bpigraphioa Indo-MoMeimca), 
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20. Inscription from a tomb at Golconda. This inscription is a very 

good specimen of Kufi script. (Published by Mr. G. Yazdani in the Epigraphica 

Indo-Moselemica); 

(m) By courtesy of the Gwalior State. 

1. Estampage of an inscription on the Heliodoro; Pilhr at Bc^nagir, 

district Bhiisa, Gwalior State. 

2. Estampage of an inscription of Chandragupta II from Cave 

No. 7 at Udayagiri, district Bhilsa, Gwalior State. 

3. Estampage of an inscription of Mihirabhoja of Kanauj in the 

Gwalior Archaeological Museum. 

(n) By courtesy of the Baroda State* 

1-6. Six inked impressions of stone inscriptions from Baroda. Two 

of these are described as below : 

(a) Bijalkuva Mahadeva Stone Inscription from Patan, 

This fragmentary inscription is incised on a stone slab now built into 

the well of a modern shrine called Bijalkuva Mahadeva. The prashasti of 

which it is a portion is mentioned in Prabandha-Chintamani and was incised 

on the Kirtistambha. The contents of this fragment prove that Siddharaja, 

the famous king of Gujarat, either got a canal dug out from, or directed the 

course of, the river Sarasvati to fill up the said lake for irrigation and other 

purposes. 

(b) Navlakhi Vav Inscription in the Lakshmi Vilas Palace compound at Baroda, 

It records that the Navalakhi V^av was designed and completed by 

Nasir-ud-Dunya-wad Din, the august Amir on the first Rajab, in the year 807 

A. H. (1405 A. D ). 

(o) By courtesy of Dr. M. Rama Rao» Guntur. 

1. An old Telugu inscription on the doorway to the western entrance 

to the Balabrahmesvara temple, Alampur (Raichur district). 

2. Canarese inscription found on a stone in the compound of the 

Balabrahmesvara temple, Alampur. (Raichur district) Chalukya Vikrama Era. 

Registers the gift of a i lamp ^by Mahamandalesvara Milla Maharaj a 

subordinate of the Western Chalukyan king Tribbhuvanamall Vikramaditya VI. 

3. Inscription on a stone unearthed during the excavations in the 

compoud of the former District Judge’s bungalow ; Saka 994, said to 

correspond to the 12th year of Vishnu. Registers the gift of a lamp to god 

Markandeya by the minister Bhimana Preggada. 
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SECTION V 

RECORDS AND DOCUMENTS 

(a) By courtesy of the Imperial Record Department, Delhi. 

I. Copy of a treaty with Nawab Shuja-ud'Dowlah of Oudh. (Pub; 9 Sept. 

1765; No. 1). 

2-6, Copies of farmans from the Mughal Emperor Shah Alam granting 

the Diwani of Bengal, Bihar and Orissa to the East India Company and copy 
of an agreement between the Company and the Nawab of Murshidabad, the 

previous Diwan, in connection, with the above grant. (Pub. Cons; 9 Sept. 1765; 

Nos. 2-6). 

7. Proclamation of peace concluded between the East India Company 

and Nawab Vazir Shuja-ud-Dowlah in the year 1765 and ratihed by King Shah 

Alam. (Pub. O. C.; 9 Sept. 1765; No. 12). 

8. A statement of the fifty lakhs to be paid by Shuja-ud-Dowlah. A 

statement of King Shah Alam’s debt to the Company. (These statements are 

written in the hand of Lord Clive). (Pub; 9 Sept. 1765; No, 13). 

9. Letter from Major A. Polier, reporting that the Nawab Vazir Shuja-ud- 

Dowlah is dying. (Sec.; 6 Feb. 1775 No. 3.) 

10. Letter from Major A. Polier, reporting the Nawab Vazir’s (Shuja 

•ud-Dowlah’s) death, and communicating his last request. (Sec.; 6 Feb. 1775; 

No. 4). 

II. Translation of a tetter from Nawab Shuja-ud-Dowlah written just 

before his death, requesting the English to support his son Nawab Asaf-ud- 
Dowlah. (Sec.; 6 Feb. 1775; No. 5). 

12. Copy of articles of agreement between Nawab Najm-ud-Dowlah of 

Bengal and the King of Delhi. (Pub. Cons.; 9 Sept. 1765; No. 8). 

13. Translation of an agreement on the part of the Rohilla Sardars 

with the Vazir, the terms being that the Vazir is to free the Rohilla country 
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of the Marathas either by peace or by war, and that the Sardars are to pay 

him forty lakhs of rupees for his assistance. (Sec.; 23 July 1772; No. 3). 

14. Translation of a letter from the King giving General Carnac a present 
of two lakhs of rupees. (Pub. Cons.; 25 Sept. 1765; No. 7). 

15-16. Lord Clive’s proposals for appropriating the legacy of 5 lakhs 
of rupees conferred upon him by Nawab Mir Jafar and the present of 3 lakhs 

of rupees made to his Lordship by Nawab Najm ud-Dowlah to the benefit of 

the Company’s invalid servants and widows of those who lost their lives in the 
Company's service. Among the enclosures are translations of three certificates 
concerning the legacy of lacks (attested 12 Jan., 1767) given by Nawab Najm>ud« 

Dowlah, his mother, $. e., wife of Nawab Mir Jafar and Maharajah Nund Kumar. 
(Pub. Cons.; 14 Apr. 1765, No; 2 and 20 Jan. 1767; Nos. 6-i-ii). 

17. Letter from Warren Hastings to the Council intimating the cession 

of Kora and Allahabad to the Nawab Vazir of Oudh in consideration for a sura 

of 50 lakhs of rupees and also his having settled certain other matters with the 

Nawab. (Sec.; 23 Sept. 1773; No. 3). 

18. Minute by Brigadier-General Sir Robert Barker, commander-in- 

chief, on the formation of a militia for the internal protection of the country 

and the collection of revenues. (Sec.; 28 Jan. 1773; No. 2). 

19-20. Minutes of the Board on dadnty purchases, establishing liberty 

of trade, and prohibiting any attempt to force advance upon weavers. In 

Warren Hastings’ handwriting. (Pub.; 12 Apr. 1773; Nos. 6-8). 

21. Recommendation from the Governor-General to Nawab Asaf-ud- 

Dowlah of Oudh for the grant of certain jagirs to Rajah Kullian Singh. (See.; 

17 Apr. 1775; No. 1). 

22 Governor-General’s minute regarding the introduction of a paper 

currency. (Pub.; 1st May 1780; No. 24). 

23. Regulations for Treasury notes. (Pub.: 8 May, 1780; No. 19). 

24. Minute of the Governor-General, reporting the death of Sir William 

Jones, deploring his loss, and suggesting that all materials left by him for the 

Digest of the Hindu and Muhammadan Laws may be asked for from his 

executor. (Pub.; 2 May 1794; No. 1). 

25. Letter from Muhammad Elich Khan requesting the protection of 

the English for himself and the new Nawab. (Sec.; 6 Feby. 1775, No. 6). 

26. Copy of minute of the Hon’ble T. B. Macaulay on Native Education 

dated the 2nd February 1835. (Pub.; 7 March 1835; No. 15). 
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27. Lord Auckland’s minute on the promotion of education among the 

natives of India. (B. D. G. G’s Cons.; 24 Novr. 1839; No. 10). 

28*29. Original notes and minutes on the promotion of European literature 

and science among the natives of India by Lord William Bentinck, Governor- 

General, the Hon’ble A. Ross and the Hon’ble Lt. Col. W. Morrison, C. B. 

Members of the Supreme Council, and Mr. H. T. Princep, secretary to the 

Government of India in the general department. There are notes and remarks 

in pencil on Mr. Prinsep’s Minute by the Hon. (afterwards Lord), T. B. Macaulay 
member of the Supreme Council. (Pub.; 7 Mar. 1835; No. 19 & K. W.). 

30. Trade of the Native States in India with the United Kingdom of 

Great Britain placed on the same footing with certain exceptions as that of the 
British possessions in the East Indies. (For.; 25 Novr. 1853; No. 39-41). 

31-34. Introduction of postage stamps in supersession of the system of 

money payments as postage. These papers show what attempts were made 

at the time to print the stamps in India. (Pub. Con.; 18 Mar. 1853; No. 1; 1 

July 1853, Nos. 1-3; 12 May 1854; Nos. 44-45; 19 May 1854; No. 64). 

35. Proclamation issued by Nana Sahib to incite the Indian troops during 

the Mutiny, 1857 together with translation received from Mr. Wynyard, the 
then judge at Gorakhpur. (Pub. Con.; 7 Aug. 1857; No. 137). 

36. Letter from Capt. W. Richardson submitting a report of his voyage 
from London to purchase slaves for fort Marlbro. (Pub. Con.; 22 Ai^gt. 1765; No. 1.) 

37. Letter from the Minister to the King of Rangam (Rangoon) intima¬ 

ting that the King has granted Lord Clive some ground in his city to make a 
factory and bank-shall to repair and rebuild ships. (Pub.; 1 Feby. 1768; 

No. 2 a-16). 

38. Letter from the President and Council of Fort St. George, enclosing 

a copy of the verdict of the inquest held on the death of Lord Pigot and a bill 

of indictment against the late administration and other for wilful murder, and 

reporting that their sessions have«had to be adjourned, pending the determina¬ 

tion of certain points of law, on which they desire a reference to the judge of 

the Supreme Court (Pub. 3 Novr. 1777; No. 1). 

39. Copy of the verdict of an inquest held at Fort St. George from the 

11th May, 1777 to the 7th August, 1777, on the body of Lord Pigot. (Pub.; 3 

Novr. 1777; No. 2). 

'40. Bill of indictment against Mr. George Stratton and others for the 

murder of George Lord Pigot. (Pub.-, A.; 3 Novr. 1777; No. 3). 
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41-47. Abolition ol Sati rite in the dominion of Raja of llagpur. (Pol.-, i4 
Sept. 1832; No. 43; 14 Jany. 1833; No. 45: 3 July 1837; No. 39: 14 Augt. 1837; 
Nos. 52-3; 25 Sept. 1837; Nos. 104-106: 13 Novr. 1839; Nos. 6-8: Pol. Desp. 

from Court No. 3 dated 30 Jany. 1839, para 52). 

48-49. Suppression of human sicrific in some hill tracts of Orissa, namely, 

Kalahandi, Bastar, and their dependencies, etc. (For.; 3 Jany. 1851; Nos. 114-115; 

and Pol.; 23 March 1855; Nos. 114-115). 

50. Human sacrifices in certain districts of Central Provinces. (Pub. A.; 

30 May 1868; No. 141). 

51-52. Act for the prevention of the murder of female infants. Suppre¬ 
ssion of human infanticide among the Rajputs. (Pub. A,; 7 May 1870; Nos. 1 4; 

A: 20 Augt. 1870; Nos. 96-98). 

53. Suppression of human sacrifice in the hill-tracts of Orissa. (Pol.; 19 
Octr. 1855; Nos. 84-85). 

54. Capture of Tantia Topi’s family by Sindhia Subah of Bhind. (Sec.; 
24 Sept. 1858; No. 123). 

55. A genealogical table of the Bhonsla family from which both the 
Satara and Kolapur Rajas derived their origin. (Pol. A.: 1871; Nos. 563-74). 

56. Origin, progress and present state of the Pindaris and the Mahrattas, 

1811,21. (For. Misc.; Vol. No. 124). 

57. Major-General Sir John Malcolm’s minute on the Revenue and 

Judicial administration of the Southern Maratha country and the genealogy 

of the Maratba chiefs, 1829, (For. Misc.; No. 204). 

58. Mr. H. T. Prinsep’s narrative of Alexander’s expedition to India, 

cir. 1842. (For. Misc.; No. 346). 

59. Publii despatch from the Court of Directors, No. 1 of 3 Jany. 1853, 

referring for the consideration of the Government of India a plan by Mr. Julius 
Reuter for the establishment of a direct and uninterrupted communication 

between the dectric telegraph in India and those in Europe. 

Petaian Doeumenta. 

60. From Madho Rao Sindhia. Request that the Nawab Vazir may be 

asked to restore the salary and the Jagir of Mir Mahomed Amjad who has been 

rendering good services to rich Hindu pilgrims from the Deccan. (Persian; 14 

Aug. 1790; No. 204). 

61. From Maharaja Raghuji Bhonsla, informing the Governor-(}eneraI 
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that his mother will shortly set out on a pilgrimage tb feenares, Gaya and 

Prayag and requesting him to direct the taUuqdars of those places to afford 

her every facility in the accomplishment of her object. (Persian; 27 Aug. 

1791; No. 409). 

62. From Munni Begam. Sends a letter to Sir John Shore for trans¬ 

mission to Warten Hastings congratulating the litter on the occasion of his 

acquittal from impeachment. Bears the Beam’s seal. (Persian; 5 Novr. 1795; 

No. 312). 

63. From His Majesty Shah Alam Has learnt from the Governor- 

General's letter that he is leaving for Madras with a view to punishing Tipu for 

his having invaded Travancore, the territory of an ally of the English. Bears 

the seal of His Majesty. (Persian; 8 March 1790; No. 50). 

64. P'rom Maharaja Daulat Rao Sindhia. Says that by order of the 

I’eshwa he seized and imprisoned Nana Farnavis on 12 Rajab, 31 Deer. 1797. 

Bears the Maharaja's seal. (Persian; 5 Feby. 1798; No. 88). 

65. From Maharaja Sivai Partab Singh of Jaipur. Informs the Governor- 

General that Vazir Ali has arrived in his country and is now in his custody. 

Bears the Maharaja's seal. 1799 A. D. (Persian; 17 Sept. 1799; No. 260). 

66. From Ali Ibrahim Khan, Judge at Benares, Reports that the 

Mahrattas have released Shah Alam from the room in which he was confined by 

Ghulam Quadir Khan after having been blinded by him. (Persian; 24 Oct. 1788; 

No. 501). 

67. From Tipu Sultan. Says that he has deputed his vaki/s to the 

Governor-General in order to negotiate a treaty of peace with the East India 

Company. Bears the seal of Tipu Sultan. 1792 A. D. (Persian; 12 P'eb, 1792, 
No. 114). 

68. A representation from the inhabitants of Benares saying that they 

have nothing to complain against Captain Hawkin and that they desire that the 

Captain may continue to reside in their midst. Bears the seals and signatures 

of the prominent citizens of the town. (Persian; 12 May 1785; No. 17). 

69. From Nana Farnavis, minister of the Peshwa. Received 14 Novr. 
1785. Asks the Governor-General to send military assistance to the Peshwa 

and the Nizam against Tipu. (Persian; 14 Nov. 1785; No. 24). 

70. From Nawab Asaf ud*Dowiab of Oudh. Complimentary letter 

written in characteristic shikastak style. Bears the seal of the Nawab Asaf* 

ud-Dowlah. (Persian; 3 Nov.‘l784; No. 86). 
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71. From Babu B^um, mother of Nawab Asaf>ud-Dowlab, Complaias 

against the behaviour of her son. Seeks the assistance of the Governor General 

in sending the coffin of her late husband (Nawab Sbujaud-Dowlah) to Karbala. 
(Persian; 15 Nov. 1778; No. 117). 

72. From Daulat Rao Sindhia. Says that Rao Baji Rao, the elder son 

of Raghunath Rao has been installed Peshwa in succession to Madho Rao who 
is dead. Nana Farnavis would not at first agree to the measure out ot selfish 

motives but had to acquiesce when he found that none of the chiefs would 

support him. (Persian; 9 Sep. 1796; No. 328). 

73. From Haidar Beg Khan, a minister of Nawab Asaf-ud<Dowlah. 

Expresses pleasure at the recovery of the King of England from his illness. 

Sends a nazr of 101 gold mohurs to be forwarded to the King of England and 

Rs. 10,000 to be distributed among the poor. Bears the seal of Haidar Beg 

Khan. (Persian; 11 Aug. 1789; No. 175). 

74. From the Peshwa (Narayan Rao) says that he will stick to the 

terms of the treaty and asks the Governor-General to do the same. (Persian; 
12 Dec. 1778; No. 138). 

75. From Chait Singh, Raja of Benares. Sends a Awndi for 1J lakhs of 

rupees on account of Benares revenues through his vakil Shaikh Ali Naqi. 

Says that he is in financial difficulties and requests the Governor-General's 

assistance in the adjustment of his affairs. (Persian; 13 Nov. 1778; No. 112). 

76. From Raja Kalyan. Singh. Requests the Governor-General to 
procure the release of hisat Allahabad and to obtain him the nazranah 

from the Dutch factory. Asks for an advance of Ks. 50, 000 in order to enable 

him to make a pilgrimage to Allahabad. (Persian; 15 Dec. 1778; No 141). 

77. From Maharaja Kishanraj Wodeyar of Mysore. Expresses his 
gratitude to the Governor-General on being released from his confinement and 

placed on the tnasna^ hi his 'ancestors after the victory of the English over 

Tipu at Seringapatam. Bears the Maharaja’s seal. (Persian, 12 July 1799; 

No. 198). 

78. From Nawab Saadat Ali Khan of Oudh. Intimates that Vazir Ali 

Khan, the murderer of Mr. Cherry, has been arrested in Jaipur and made over 

to Mr. Collins. Bears the Nawab's seal. (Persian; 21 Dec. 1799; No. 435). 

79. From Nawab Saadat Ali Khan of Oudh. Intimates that Vazir Ali 

Khan after having killed Mr, G. Cherry, agent of the Governor-General, and 

four other gentlemen at Benares has absconded. Bears the Nawab's seal. 

1799 A. D. (Persian: 12 Feb. 1799; No. 25). 
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80. 'treaty with King Christian VlII of Denmark for transferring the 

Dutch Settlements in India to the English, dated 22 February, 1845. 

81. Original letter from Her Majesty Queen Victoria to the King of 

Burma on his accession to the throne of Burma. Bears the original signature 

of Her Majesty Queen Victoria. 

Spcoitntns of repairing work done in the Imperial Records Department. 
J s * 

82. A book exhibited as a fine specimen of inlaying work This book 

was hopelessly damaged by larvae. 

83. Manuscripts illustrating evil effect of using white tracing paper in 

repairing important documents. (Pub. Corrcs.; 20 Jan. 1773; No. 3 : Pub. Corres.; 

16 May; No. 5). Tracing paper subsequently peded off and replaced by chiffon. 

(Pub. Corres.; 28 Jan. 1785; No. 1 : Pub Corres.; 29 Feb. 1780 ; No. 7). Other 

methods of repairing documents (Pub. Corres.; 10 Apr. 1780 ; No. 24). 

84. Repaired manuscript volumes illustrating how the isolated, worm* 

eaten and damaged sheet can be mended and made up into sections with 

guards to have a durable and flexible binding. (Index to Register of Deeds, 

Vol. L, 1781-1788). 

(b) By courtesy of the Punjab Record Office Musuem, Lahore. 

1. Holograph report by (Sir) Herbert Edwardes dated the 15th October 

1846, on his negotiation with the envoys of Sheikh imam-ud-Din, Governor 

of Kashmir. 

2* Original warrant for the confinement of the Prema conspirators in 

the Delhi Jail, dated the 1st October, 1847. 

3. Defeat of the adlierents of Dewan Mulraj, near Dera Ghazi Khan, by 

(Sir) Herbert Edwarde, April 27, 1848. 

4. Proceedings of a meeting of the Board of Administration held on the 

17th December 1849 to arrange a division of work betw^ the members. 

5. Copy of a demi-official letter written by Sir Henry Lawrence on the 

29th March 1849, announcing the annexation of the Punjab. 

6. Warning conveyed by Sir Heury Lawronce to bfahi^aja Culab Singh 

of Kashmir. > 

7. Offic^ orders drafted by Sir John Lawrepc^. defining the procedure for 

dealing with appeals to the Chief doramissioner, dated the 19th December 1858. 
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8. An interesting view of the military situation on the 21st June 1857, 

by General Nicholson. 

9. Sir John Lawrence's letter to Sardar Khan Singh Rosa, dated the 
15th June 1857. 

10. Original warrant for the execution of the Nawab of Ferozepur Jhirka 

for complicity in the murder of Mr. Fraser, dated the 19th September 1835. 

11. Lord Dalhousie’s approval of the hill-station of Dalhousie being 
called after him, dated the 2nd June 1854. 

12. Letter from Sir John Lawrence to Lord Canning, dated the I4th 
August 1858. 

13. Constitution of the Chief Court of the Punjab dated the 19th 
February 1866. 

14. Oaths of the first two judges appointed to the Chief Court of the 
Punjab, constituted February 19, 1866. 

15. Oath of allegiance of an old Lieutenant Governor (Sir D. F. Mcleod) 

dated the 10th January 1865. 

16. Proclamation dated the 29th March 1849 declaring the annexation of 
the Punjab to the British Empire. 

17. Form of permit and rules for visitors to Kashmir in 1867. 

28. “The Illustrated London News", dated the 15th March 1851, showing 

an interview between Lord Dalhousie and Maharaja Gulab Singh at Wazirabad 

in 1850. 

19. Letter from Maharaja Dalip Singh to Sir John Lawrence, dated the 

4th September 1854. 

20. Autographs of European officers in the service of Maharaja Ranjit 

Singh:— 

(а) General Avitabile; 

(б) General Court; 

(c) G. F. C. Gorman alias Gordon ; and 

(d) W. H. Campbell. 

21. Signature of Maharaja Sher $ingh in English. 

22. Persian copy of the Tripartite Treaty of 1838. 

23. A Farman of the Emperor Aurangzeb granting rent free land. 
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24. Parwanah of the Sikh times granting a jagir. 

25. Specimen of an old Jagir Sanad of 1853. 

26. Mutiny jagir signed by Sir John Lawrence. 

27. Final receipt for the purchase of Kashmir, dated the 30th March, 
1850, signed by the Board of Administration. 

28. Summons to a witness to attend at the trial of Bahadur Shah, 
ex-king of Delhi. 

29. Treaty of 1809, between the British Government and Maharajah 

Ranjit Singh. 

30. Three treaties of 1846, viz., two between the British Government 

and the Lahore Durbar and one between the British Government and Maharajah 
Gulab Singh. 

31. Office copy of the treaty of March 1855, between the British Govern¬ 

ment and Amir Dost Muhammad Khan of Kabul. 

32. Letters of condolence from Amir Sher Ali Khan of Kabul at the 

death of Lord Mayo, dated 1872. 

33. Letter dated 3rd Deceinber, 1857, from General Mansheld (Lord 

Sandhurst) to Sir John Lawrence, partly in Greek characters. 

34. Original Mutiny telegrams, dated the 11th and 12th May, 1857. 

35. Letter from H. R. H. Prince Albert to Sir Henry Lawrence, dated 

the 6th July, 1846. 

(c) By courtesy of the Provinciftl Museum, Lucknow. 

1. Farman of Jahangir, dated 1027 A. H. 

2. Farman of RaB’us-shan, son of Shah Alam Bahadur, dated 1122 A. H. 

3. Farman of Aurangzeb, dated 1081 A. H. (14th regnal year), granting 

100 highas of land for maintenance to some ladies. 

4. Farman of Wajid Ali Shah, last king of Oudh, dated in the first 

year of his reign (corresponding to 1264 A. H.), granting a piece of land near 

Iron Gate to Nazim Ali Khan Bahadur Sherjang and his descendants. 

5. Firman of Amjad Ali Shah, dated in the first y&ir of his reign 

(corresponding to 1258 A. H.) gr.mting a piece of land in Khas Bazaar to Nazim 

Ali Khan Bahadur and his descendants. 
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6. Farman of Shah Alam II, dated 1179 A. H., granting 220 villages and 

5 highas of land in Qasba Kakori, district Lucknow, to Munshi Bhawani Prasad, 

Zotawar Singh, and Kirpa Ram. 

(d) By courtesy of the Sikh History Research Department, Khalsa 

College, Amritsar. 

1. Plan of the site of the Gurdwara of Guru Nanak in Baghdad, drawn 

by Kartar Singh Kartar. 

2. Hukam Namah, dated Bhadon 2, 1753 Vikrami (1696 A.D.), granted 

by Guru Govind Singh to Bhais Tiloka and Rama, ancestors of the Phulkian 

families of Patiala, Nabha and Jind; photograph, printed, the original being 

with the Maharaja of Patiala. 

* 3. Maps of the Ludhiana District, showing political divisions of the country 

at the outbreak of the first Anglo-Sikh War, 1845-1846, and showing the 

territories of the Lahore Darbar and of the friendly state of Kapurthala, south 

of the Sutlej. 

4. Letters of Maharaja Duleep Singh, dated October 7, 1885, and March 

9, 1886, addressed to a relative in the Amritsar District. Photographs. 

5. Plans of the Sikh Ordnance captured by the Army of the Sutlej 

under the command of H. E. the Hon’ble General Sir Hugh Gough, Bart., 

and H. E. the right Hon’ble Sir Henry Hardinge, during the campaign of 

1845-46, with elevations and carriages, drawn by Ralph Smyth, London. 

(e) By courtesy of the Moyurbhanj State. 

1. Paper aanad of Maharaja Krishna Bhanja Deva, who was murdered 

by Khan*i-Dur|ani in 1660 A. D. 

2. Paper sanad of Maharaja Sarbeswar Bhanja Deva, who ruled in 

Mayurbhanj from 1688 to 1711 A. D. 

3. Paper sanad of Maharaja Birabikramaditya Bhanja Deva, who ruled 

in Mayurbhanj from 1711 to 1728 A. D. 

4. Paper sanad of Maharaja Raghunath Bhanja Deva, who ruled in 

Mayurbhanj from 1728 to 1750, and who fought with Aliverdi Khan the Nawab 

of Bengal in 1740-41 A. D. 

5. Paper sanad of Maharaja Chakradhar Bhanja Deva, who ruled in 

Mayurbhanj from 1750 to 1761 A. D. 
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6. Paper aanod of Maharaja Damodar Bhanja Deva, who ruled in 

Mayurbhanj from 1760 to 1796 A. D 

7. A document written in Kaithi and dated 1833, dealing with the 

history of the Mayurbhanj State. 

(f) By courtesy of Professor Datto Vaman Potdar, Poona. 

Original Documents, Letters, Farmans, etc. 

1. An original order of Maloji Raje; Marathi, Modi, with seal and 

maro/tib, dated Shuhur-San : Sab‘a wa tisHn wa tis'a-mi’at. {A. 997; Sh. 1518; 

A. D, 1596); Grant to a Pedgaon temple. 

2. A contemporary copy of an original order of Shahji Bhonsle; 

Marathi, old Modi, dated 10th Rabi-al*Awwal, Ihdit was Khamsin wa alf. 

(A. 1051; Sh. 1572/ A. D. 1650); about Moroba Gosavi Mabaraj of Chinchawad, 

Poona. 

3. An original Diwan order with seals. Fort Panhala, about a Kulkarni 

inam, dated 1st Rabi-al*Akhir, Shuhur-San: Tis'a wa tis'ln was tis'a-mi’at. 

(A. 999; Sh. 1520: A. D. 1598). 

4. An original property division deed, dated Sh. 1560, Shrawan 
Sudi 8, (A. D. 1638, July, first fortnight). Signatures of the Brahmins at the 

end—Miraj side. 

5. An original order of Jijabai rShivaji’s mother), with seals, dated 4th 

Jumadi'Akhir, Shuhur-San: Khamsin wa alf. (A. 1050; Sh. 1511; A. D. 1649), 

restores to Moroba Gosavi Inamdar one mango tree included by karkuns in 

Jijabai’s mango grove at Poona. 

6. Original order, with seals, of Parsoji Raje Bhonsle, regarding a 

temple at Pedgaon, dated 21st Jumada Awwal, Shuhur-San : Alf (A. 1000 ; Sh. 

1521: A. D. 1599). 

7. Original grant with seals, to a Pedgaon Brahmin by Burhan 

Ni^amshahand Ma Sahib,Shuhur-San: Khamsa-ashar tea alf,(A. 1015; Sh. 1536; 

A.D. 1606). 

8. Original grant, with seals, by Rustum 2aman, to Momins of Cheul, 

dated 5th Rabi*al'Akhir, Shuhur-San: Khamsa wa arba'in wa alf. (A. 1045; Sh. 
1566; A.D. 1614). 

9. A letter in the hand of Bhao Saheb Peshwa, the Maratha leader of 

Panipat, to Malhar Rao Holkar. 
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Id. Aootiier autograph iettar of the Bhao to Malhar Rao. 

11. An autograph letter of Nana Saheb Peshwa (Balaji Bajirao). 

12. Nana Fadnis’s letter to Gangoba Tatya Chandrachud, Holkar’s 

Diwan, the last six lines being in Nana's own hand. 

13. Raghoba Dada Peshwa’s letter to Gangoba Tatya, the last six 

lines being in the band of Raghoba. 

14. A very important letter, with a full autograph of Nana Fadnis, to 

Haripant Phadke, written from Sironj about two months after the battle of 

Panipat, and giving a pathetic account of the last moments of the encounter 

and after. 

15. Letter of Sakharam Bapu to Gangoba Tatya, the last seven lines 

being in Bapu's hand. 

16. Full letter in the hand of Vithal Shivadeo Vinchurkar to Gangoba 

Tatya. 

17. Letter of Janoji Bhonsle of Nagpur to Gangoba, the last two lines 

in Janoji's own hand. 

18. The well-known Jedhe chronology, a most important and unique 

find, recording nearly two hundred dates and giving 1630 as the birth-date of 

Sbivaji. 

19. A Nizamshabi /armaft, with seals, recording grant to Moroba Gosavi of 

Chinchawad, Shukur-San: Th'a-aahara wa alf, (A. 1019; Sh. 1540; A. D. 1618). 

20. Nizam-ul-mulk’s precepts for Nasir Jung, dated 4th Jumada Akhir, 
(A. H. 1161, Sh. 1670; A. D. 1748). 

21. A paper detailing the meaning of Vakil-4-mutlaq. 

22t An official note of Nana Fadnis recording offerings when fire broke 

out at the Satkhihi and Kothi of the Shanwar Wada palace. Bears Nana’s 
tnakhUfsi. 

23. Nana’s note to Govind Rao regarding Tipu’s affairs, Nana’s own band 
in places. 

24. Offerings to deities during lipu’s campaign, Nana’s mMiiasi. 

25. Earthquake in Mabarastra, Nana Fadnis’ official note, A. D. 1792. 

26. Precepts of wisdom. 

27. News-letter; Nana’s office; Tipu’s campaign. 



A budget lor td expenses tor 3idi tiardis ol the t’esbwa; A. D. 1796; 

Nana’s office. 

29. A letter from Balaji Janardan alias Nana Fadnis to Mahadji Scindia. 

30. Instructions to Haripant Phadke, Nana’s collector; Tipu’s last 

campaign. 

31. Nana’s official note on an expert deer player (sic) seeking service with 

the Peshwa Sawai Madhava Rao. 

32. Balaji Vishw.inath Peshwa’s official order calling the Shetye 

Mahajan of Poona, together with seals. Shuhur-San : *Ashara wa mVat tea alf 

(A. 1110; Sh. 1631; A. D. 1709). 

33. An autograph letter of the poet Moropant to Vithoba Dada 

Chaturmase. 

34. A Dixoan order with seals regarding Momins of Mamie CheuI, 

Shuhur-San: Sab‘a wa alf (A. 1007 ; Sh 1528 ; A. D. 1606). 

35. A photo copy of a Sanskrit sale-deed when Emperor Jehangir was 

in Ahmedabad, (Sh. 1539; A. D. 1617). 

36. An autograph letter of Moroba Dada Fadnis to Appa Gondhalekar. 

37-50. Nana Fadnis’s office memos about various matters, to Appa 

Gondhalekar (A. D. 1773). 

51. Persian sanad about village Gondhali. 

52. Tukoji iHolker to Gaboji Deo Maharaj, Tukoji’s handwriting at 

the end. 

53. Tukoji Holkar to Nilo Gopal (A. D. 1785), Tukoji’s handwriting with 

his seal at the end. 

54. Letter from Khanderao Gaekwar Himmat Bahadur promising annual 

allowance of one hundred rupees if Sardari continues unaffected; autograph 

endorsement at the end (Sh. 1678; A. D. 1756). 

55. Torgal Sardesai (Lingaya Jaygauda) wants Shastric guidance for 

foundation of a Siddhi Vinayak temple at Navalgunda in Carnatic; his own 

lines at the end (Sh. 1689; A. D. 1767-68). 

56. An account sheet of debt of Rs. 21, 978 to the Peshwa from Dev 

(Chinchawad Sansthan) between Sh. 1660 and 1666 (A. D. 1738 to 1744). 

57. Letter by Balvantrao Malhar Ctntnis of Satara, Chitnis’ lines at the 

end, (Sh. 1750; A. D. 1828). 



5d. Letter assuring l>ev Maharaj that Oeneirat Perron's army will not 

molest Cbinchawad Sansthan, as per instructions. 

59. Letter of goodwill from Yeshwantrao Mahadeo Khasnis to Dev 

Maharaj, Yesbwant’s autograph being at the end. 

60. Letter to Dev Maharaj from Mudhoji Bhonsle assuring his devotion 

and promising annuity etc. (Sh. 1698; A. D. 1776), ending in Mudhoji‘s 

hand. 

61. Letter by Moro Ballal, about Mosi village, for Dev Sansthan, last 
lines in Moro Ballal’s hand. 

62. An autograph letter by Moraji Nalage, a Maratha by caste, (Sh. 1685; 
A. D. 1763-64). 

63. Anandrao Raghunath assures Dev about continuance of Baner 

village to Sansthan, last lines in wHter*s hand. 

64. An autograph letter of Baswaji Patil Takpir to Dev Maharaj. 

65. Letter by Yeshwantrao Dabhade Senapati to Dev Maharaj, conclud¬ 

ing endorsement in Senapati’s own hand. 

66. Naro Shankar Sachiva communicates order about grant of rozmurra 

to Dev Maharaj, dated the 11th Jama-dil-Akhir, Shuhur San: Ihdd xna *ashafa 

toa mVat wt alf (A. 1111 : Sh. 1632 ; A. D. I7l0), with seal. 

67. Sadashiv Mankeshwar to Dev Maharaj about the Potalgi dispute 

of Chincholi (Sh. 1735; A. D. 1813), Mankeshwar’s own hand at the end. 

68. An important letter in own hand of Naro Appaji Tulsibagwalu, 

Mayor of Poona, to Dev Maharaj about a Cbinchawad dispute and an inquiry, 

(Sh. 1692 ; A. D. 1770). 

69. An autograph letter by Shivaji Vithal Vinchurkar agreeing to the 

grant of a yearly allowance of two hundred rupees to Dev Maharaj during 

Sardari period (Sh. 1689; A. D. 1767). 

70. Letter informing Dev Maharaj that Sakharam Bapu's ambari is ex¬ 

changed for a new one (Sh. 1691; A. D. 1769). 

71. Letter from Janoji Bhonsle Sena Saheb Subab to Dev Maharaj about 

yearly allowance of five hundred rupees on Mahor, Janoji's own band in the end 

(Sh. 1678; A. D. 1756). 

72. Balaji Vishwanatb's order to Hari Yadav about Dev Maharaj at 

CbincboUt with seal; ShuhttrSan: ‘Ishrtn xm mi’at vw alf, (A. 1120; A. D. 1708). 



73. Nilkanth Mahadeo Purandare requesting Dev Maharaj to pay 

rupees one thousand to Fort Purandar, Purandare’s autograph at the end. 

74. Bahiro Moreshwar Pradhan orders inatn grant out of Rajbhog to 

Dev Maharaj in continuation of Maharaj Shabaji’s grant. ShuhurSan: ‘Aahara 

wa mi’atvoa alf (A. 1110 ; A. D. 1709), with maratib and seal. 

75. Ajnapatra by Baswantrao Khaskhail, with seals, about a Bhosari 

dispute, Shuhur-San : Sittawa arba^ln v»a mi'at voa alf, (A. 1146 ; A. D. 1745). 

76. Ajnapatra by Madhav Rao Pandit Pradhan. with seals, about Bhosari 

dispute between Lande and Gavane (Sh. 1690; A. D. 1768). 

77. Ajnapatra by Madhav Rao Ballal Peshwa, with seals, settling 

family dispute about mauza Ravet, inam of Dev (A. D. 1761). 

78. Order from Darunimahal Pahitawada (Sakwarbai of Satara) about 
Bhosari dispute, not to trouble Dev Maharaj, perhaps Sakwarbai’s own 

writing at the end; Shuhur-San: arba'ln wa mVat wa alf (A. 1140; 

A. D. 1739). 

79. Ajnapatra by Raja Shahu, conferring old inams on Dev Maharaj, 

refers to older sanads (Sh. 1636; A. D. 1710) ; with seals, of Bahiro 

Moreshwar and Gadadhar Prahlad Pratinidhi. 

80. Theur, old and new, details of measurements etc. (Sh. 1701; Fasli 

1189; A. D. 1779). 

81. A daatak oi Peshwa Sawai Madhav Rao, with seal, Shuhur-San: 

Ithnd wa tis'ln wa mi'at wa alf, (A. 1192 ; Sh. 1713; A. D. 1791). 

82. Govind Pathak to Dev Maharaj; mutual accounts (Sh. 1653; A. D.I1731) 

83. Raja Shambhu Chhatrapati's Ajnapatra to restore to Bhangire his 

possessions in Poona district; refers to Balaji Pradhan (Sh. 1670; A, D. 1743),; 

with seal. 

84. Damaji Gaekwar to Baji Moreshwar about dues (Jazil) worth Rs. 

284,001 to be paid to the latter. Agreement note Conclusion in Damaji’s own 

hand (Sh. 1672; A. D. 1750). 

85. Grant to a newly built Rama temple at Tampli, Pande Pedgaon, 
(Nizam’s Dominions) ; (Fasli 1228; A. D. 1818) ; with seal. 

86. Hari Rao Holkar to Kamavisdar Wafgaon about temple worship 

there; Shuhur-San: IthnU wa arba'ln wa mfatayn wa alf (A. 1242; A. D. 1841); 

with se»ls, 
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87. or a statement o( evidence about Pandit Desh Kulkarni 
of Pavas, from date 1532 to 1726 (194 years). 

88. Satavaji Jadhava Rao grants remission, with seal. 

89. Inampatra to Joshi Rairikar (Sh. 1649; A. D. 1727) from Naro 

Pandit Sacbiv, with seals of officers. 

90. A pkarkhat, of Joshi Rairikar rSh. 1696; A. D. 1774). 

91. Mudgal Bhat Panditrao confirms inam grant to Joshi Rairikar 

(Raj Sh. 41; A. D. 1714). At the end, ashirvad in Balbodh in Panditrao’s hand, 

with Panditrao’s seals. 

92. Raja Shahu confers inam on Chaturbhuj and Vishwanath Joshi, 

(Raj Sh. 54; A. D. 1727); with seals of Raja Shiv, Bajirao Ballal Pradhan, and 

Shrinivas Parashuram Pratinidhi. 

93. Sale-deed of Vatani Wada of Joshi Rairikar to Rameshwar Dikshit, 

(Sh. 1664; A. D. 1742); hears signatures in original of witnesses, with 

some seals. 

94. Bajirao’s letter to Joshi confirming grant of mauza Nigadi; conclu¬ 

sion in Bajirao’s own hand; Shuhur-San: Tisa‘a wa ‘iahrln wa mi'at wa alf 

(A. 1129; A. D. 1728). 

95. An Abhayapatra hy Bajirao Ballal Pandit Pradhan about Nigadi as 
in 94 above (A. D. 1716); with seals. 

96. Yeshwantrao Dabhade Senadhurandhar Senapati, about Nigadi Joshi, 

(A. D. 1734) ; with his seals and maratib, probably in his own hand. 

97. A Dayabhag Patra, partly in Sanskrit, partly in Marathi, Balbodh, 

(Sh. 1660; A. D. 1728), with Joshi Rairikar as original witness. 

98. Bapuji Shripat Deshpande to Poona Deshpande etc. regarding 

Nigadi rmrm of Joshi, SAuAMr-Sa«: Tis*a-*aahara wa mVat wa alf (A. 1119; 

A. D. 1718). Original, with seals, of Bapuji Shripat. 

99. Chaknama (Sh. 1650; A. D. 1728) about Joshi’s Wada at Poona, 

with seals of officials and witnesses in original. 

100. Sarnd granting mauza Nigadi Tarf Khedabarc to Tan Mahale and 

Jiv Mahale, barbers but soldiers also. Jiv Mahale was Shivaji’s bodyguard at 

the Afaal Khan affiair. They are spoaen of as "brave soldiers’’ or mardane and 

old and devpted servants, by Raja Shahu. soon after his accession in Sh. 1626 
(A. D. 1709.) 
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101. A note on Jiv's desoendents. 

102. Abhayapatra by Ramchandra Nilkantha Kaul of Pat Panhala to 

Kasi Rangnath, Shuhur-San: ThalAtha-ashara wa mi'at wa alf (A. 1113; 

A. D. 1712) ; with seal. 

103. Sankrant Tilgul letter by Yekoij Dalvi and others, with Dalvi’s seal. 

104. Raja Sambhaji’s Ajnapatra, granting of Khaunkhoti to Purushottam 

Narayan (Raj Shake 7 A. D. 1680), with seal of Moreshwar Amatya. 

105. Kaulnoma from Diwan Vishalgad, Shuhur-San: Thamdna was 

Sab'ln wa mV at wa alf (A. 1178; A. D. 1777). 

106. Raja Shahu grants Asandoli (Raj Sh. 33; A. D. 1703); with seals 
of Nilo Moreshawar and Parashram Trimbak. 

107. Moraji Shivdeo orders about Khaunkhoti (Sh. 1685; A. D. 1763); 

witn seals. 

108. Sale of Kulkanna of Wasur, refers to Muizzudin's siege of Panhala, 
(Raj ' h. 23; A. D. 1693); with seals. 

109. Mahajan of Wasur ; Shuhur-San : Arba'a wa tis'ln voa alf (A. 1094 ; 
A. D. 1693). Hajir Mayale’s name and seals. 

110. Kaul Swari Vinayak Parashuram to Hari Purushottam Bapat, 

regarding mauza Mosor ; Shuhur-San : Tis'a 'ashara wa mVat wa alf (A. 1119 ; 
A. D. 1718), with seals of Vinayak Parashram. 

111. A letter bearing the seal of Fathesinh Bhonsle. 

112. A letter of Parashram Trimbak Pradhan with his own lines at the end. 

113. An order by Gadadhar Prahlad Pratinidhi to give to Kasi Ranganath 

Pawar land in mauza Tekoli in exchange for that in mauza Gholsavde; affected 

by ghosts, the conclusion in Gadadhar’s own hand; Shuhur-San: IhdA wa 

'ashara wa mVat wa alf (A. 1111; A. D. 1710.) 

Original Persian Documents. 

1. Adilshahi farman to Afzal Khan and Abdul Qadir (Vishalgad), refers to 
Shivaji Maslehat, {Shuhur 1061 ; A. D. 1660). 

2. Adilshahi/arman, {Shuhur 1029; A. D. 1628) by Mustafa Khan about 

Govinda Keshav Harakara. 

3. Mustafa Khan’s/aman, (Shuhur 1032; A. D. 1631) about Govinda 

Keshav and another Harkara. 
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4. Mustafa Khan*s/orrman* {Shuhur 103!^; A. D. 1631) about Navi Suvji 
of Somaji Sbivaji, Tapa Hot Khawba. 

5. Mustafa Khan’s farman, (Shuhur 1041; A. D. 1640) in favour of 
Rango Narayan fPotdar’s ancestor), Navi Sinda-e-Kothi. 

6. Mustafa Khan's farman (Shuhur 1034; A.D, 1633) in favour of Rango 
Narayan Navisinda-e-Kothi and Govind Keshav Harkari and Kito Keshav 

Navisinda. 

7. Farman by Muhammad Ibrahim Adil Shah, confirming various inams 
on Moroba Joshi of Chinchawad, Shuhur~San: Tis'a wa arba‘tn voa alf (A. 1049; 

Sh. I57l ; A. D. 1648), mentions Shahaji Bhonsle as Maharaja and Farzand 
etc,; with seals. 

8. Farman by Ali Adil Shah to Kanhoji jedhe, asking him to join Khan 

Afzal Khan against Shivaji who is to be defeated and reduced completely, 
Shuhur San : Tis'a wa Khamsin wa alf (A. 1059; A. I.). 1658); with seals. 

9. Paper about Dadaji Lotankir being punished, through Kanoji Raje, 
Kanoji Raje Prabhanvalikar’s seal in Marathi. 

(g) By courtesy of the Benares State. 

1. Panchnatna Goswami Tulasi Das, executed for acquiring a piece 

of land in Bbadaini (Benares), registered under Shah Jehan’s seal; dated 13th 
Kuar, Sambat 1669 Vikrami. 

(h) By courtesy of Sardar Ganda Singh, Amritsar. 

1. Hukam Natnah or letter issued by Banda Singh on Poh 12, Sambat 

1767 Vikrami (December, I7l0) after his escape from tlie fort of Lohgarh, 
asking the Khalsr ^o immediately collect under his banner. 

2. Mazhar Natnah or Proclamation, dated Rabi-ul-Awwal 1126 A. H. 

(1714 A. D.), issued by the residents of Kiri Pathanan, Basdi Umar Ghazi, in the 

Parganah of Kahnuwan, r^arding the raid on that village by the Sikhs under 

Jagat Singh during the time of Banda Singh. 

3. Photograph of the treaty between the East India Company and 
Maharaja Ran jit Singh of Lahore, 1809. 

4. Akhbar Ludhiana. Persian newspaper, edited and published at 

Ludhiana, under the direction of the British Political Agency, and also some 

original news-sheets. 
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5. Proclamation of Lord Auckland, Governor>General of India, dated 

August 19,1839, giving an account of the expedition to Afghanistan. 

6. Lahore News for 1841—a bundle of nine news-sheets. 

7. Photograph of an autograph letter of Lord Hardinge to Sir Frederick 

Currie, dated Camp Bhyrowal, December 12, 1846. 

8. A letter from Prince Sahdev Singh, son of Maharaja Sher Singh, dated 

November 28, 1846, to Col. Henry Lawrence, explaining his financial difficul¬ 

ties and asking for help. 

9. Roznamcha-i-Sarkar Khalsa, or Diary of the Lahore Darbar for the 

year 1847 A. D., 4 Vols. 

10. Hisab uAfwaj-i’Sirkar Khalsa dar Peshawar, An account book, a 

bahi, of the army of the Lahore Darbar posted at Peshawar under the 

superintendence, of the assistant resident, George Lawrence, for the year 1905 

Vikrarai (A. D. 1848). 

11. A letter from Mamdot, dated July 9, 1848, offering services to the 

East India Company for the expedition to be sent against Diwan Mulraj, 

Governor of Multan. 

12. Akhbar Darbar J„ahore. News from Lahore from 25th September 

1848 to 25th January 1849, dealing with the Second Anglo-Sikh War. 

13. Muraslat Mausutna, or letters addressed to Henry Lawrence, 

Resident at Lahore. 

-to John Lawrence, Commissioner, Jullu.ndar, and Officiating Resi¬ 

dent, Lahore. 

-to Major George McGregor, Personal Assistant to the Resident. 

-to Maulvi Rajab Ali, Munshi of the Residency. 

-to Rai Kishan Chand, Vakil. 

14. Rubkars, or Judgments, etc., for the year 1852-53. 

15. Photograph of an autograph letter of Lord Dalhousie to Sir Fredrick 

Currie. 

16. Ishtihar issued by the Government for the information of the people 

during the Sepoy Mutiny of 1857-58. Three sheets. 

17. A letter from Bhai Jasmer Singh, of Arnauli, dated November 4, 

1872, asking for certain papers from the Government regarding the Kaithal suit. 
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18. The Viceroy at Darbar Sahib, or particulars relating to their 

Excellencies Lord and Lady Ripon’s visit to the Golden Temple at Amritsar, 

November 13, 1884, with a group photograph. 

19. Dastur-ul-Atnal Sri Darbar Sahib, Amritsar, dated September 12, 

1859. 

(t) By courtesy of Gauri Prasad Saksena* Esq.» Lucknow. 

1. Farman of Akbar, regarding grant of land in village Gobri 

Bahraechi, district Lucknow, dated 980 A. H. 

2- Farman of Jahangir, regarding grant of land in village Mallawan, 

district Lucknow, dated 9th year of the reign. 

3. Farman of Shahjahan, regarding grant of land in pargana Kakori,, 

district Lucknow, dated 1047 A. H. 

4. Farman of Aurangzeb. The Royal Order issued to Syed Shahamat 

Khan through Prince Muazzam to check the rebellion of the Afghans through 

the Khyber pass. It bears the seal of Prince Muazzam through whom the 

order was issued. 

5. Shah Alam's letter to Prince Akbar II relating to the occasion 

described by Colonel Hugh Pearse in his book Life and Military Services of 
Viscount Lake, on page 200 as follows ; 

"Shah Alam, who professed great joy at the removal of his Maratha and 

French masters, announced his wish to confer the highest available distinction 

on his deliverer, and with this design in view it was arranged that Lake should 

be led into the imperial presence by no less a personage than Mirza Akbar Shah 
the heir«apparent.” 

6. Pages of t^e Blustrated LonJon News: 

(а) One page, 615, dated June 24, 1865, showing the illustration of arms 
etc., taken from the Bhootias at the storming of Dewanagir, Bhootan. 

(б) One page, 113, dated August 2,1873, showing the illustration of the 
statue of General Sir James Outram. 

(o) One page, 237, dated August 30, 1862, showing the illustration of the 
Outram shield exhibited by Messrs. Hunt and Roskell. 

(d) One page, 624, dated June 26, 1858, showing the illustration of a 
bronze statue of the late Viscount Hardinge. 



0) By oourtesy of R. Subba Raot Etq., Rajahmundry. 

1. Four Persian Farmans. 

2. Four English letters that passed between the Hon'ble East India 

Company, the Nizam Asaf Jah, and Kandegula Jogi Pantulu in the 18th century. 



SECTION VI 

MANUSCRIPTS AND CALUGRAPHY 

(a) By courtesy of the Hyderabad State. 

1. Diwan-i-Bekhudi. Written by Ni’amatulla, at Hyderabad, for (l)e 

library of Muhammad Qutb Shah, in 1024 A. H. 

2. Sih Nathfi Zuhuri. Written by Muhammad Sihab, in 1158 A. H. 

3. A treatise on theosophy written in Nastaliq style, by Ala-ud-din 

Muhammad Htravi, at Daulatabad, in 1046 A. H. 

4. Mathnawi Suzo-Gudaz, by Mulla Naui, with six Deccan s;hool 

illustrations. 

5. Mathnawi Nai-nama, by Mulla Jami, with seal of Burhan Nizam Shah. 

6. A treatise on astronomy, written in Nastaliq style, with illustrations 

and diagrams. 

7. Nauras-nama. A treatise on Indian music by Ibrahim Adil Shah II 

of Bijapur. The manuscript is beautifully illuminated. 

8. Mathnawi Sihrul-Bayan by Mir Hasan. Contains fifty illustrations 

of the Deccan School. 

9. Sih Nathri Zuhur, written in Shikasta style by Muham ua ] Sihab 

in 1158 A. H. ' 

10. Inah-i-Tamhis, with four illustrations. 

11. Persian Qita't in Nastaliq style, by Abdul Baqa Masawi. 

12. An Urdu poem of Muhammad Qutb Shah. Four calligraphy pieces 

on a long strip. 

(b) By courtesy of the Mayurbhaoj State. 

1, Palmdeaf manuscript giving the boundary and details of Pirs 

Parganas, dated 1132 Amlisal (1732 A. D.) 



2. PaliH'leaf manuscript dealing with the history of the Mayurbhanj 

State upto the end of the 18th century. 

(c) By courtesy of the Benares State. 

Sanskrit Manuscripts. 

1. Durgapath, in seven parts, with Kavach and Kil. A prayer for the 

goddess Durga. Manuscript in a scroll, written by Ghasi Ram. 

2. Ganesh Stotra Kavach. Manuscript in a scroll, golden letters. 

3. Panchntukhi Hanumat Kavach. Manuscript in a scroll, silver letters. 

4. Durga Kavach. Manuscript in a scroll. 

5. Falra-leaf manuscript written in Oriya, or some South Indian language. 

6. Jat Karm Paddhati. A manuscript on astrology, Sarabat 1476. 

7. Shabdalok. Nyaya Shastra written by Shri Lai in Sambat 1307. 

8. Valtniki Ramayana, Ayodhya Kand. Written by Goswami Tulasi Das. 

Persian Manuscripts. 

9. Masttavi Sabai Mulla Jami (Haft Aurang). Poems, in seven parts, 

in the handwriting of Mahmud, son of Faqih Ahmad. 954 ,A. H. 

10. Tahfatul'Hind. A history of Aurangzeb’s regime, by Mirza Jan, 

son of Fakhruddin Mohammad, in seven parts, written in 1254 A. H. 

11. Rubaiyat-i-Bedil- Contains rubayis in Persian, in the handwriting 

of Mohammad Waris, son of Baqar Sidiqqi. 227 years old. 

12. Kulliyat Shams Tahrez. Contains qasidas, ghazls, rubayis and 
other poems on different subjects, written by Abdul Fatteh in 1010 A. H. 

13. Ain-i-Akbari. Constitution of administration in Akbar’s regime by 

Abul Fazl. 138 years old. 

14. Kirshab Nama. Stories in verse from the times of Zuhag to 

those of Faridun kings of Iran. 352 years old. 

15. Mirat-ul'Alam. History of the prophets, philosphers, kings of 

Ajan, Mohammad Sahib, and several Indian kings, written by Maharaja 

Dip Narain Singh of Benares, scribed by Sheikh Niamat Ali, in 1214 Fasli 

(1795 A. D.) 

16. Ajaibul Makhluqat. Description of different sorts of animals, plants, 
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aogels, etc., in different islands of the world. By Zakaria Bin Mohammad, 

with poems on eight separate sheets. 121 years old. 

17. Fann-i-Hai'Ot Batarz BatUmua. A book on astronomy by Lai 

Mohammad. 121 years old. 

18. Diwan Mi Hazin. Contains qasidas (46), moqatiat (63), ghazals 

(1444), rubayiat (484), masnavis (7), and miscellaneous poems (773). Written 

by Desraj, in 1182 A. H. ' 

(d) By courtesy of the Balrampur State. 

1. Padmavat Bhaaha in Persian script, illustrated with costly paintings 

in gold, written in the time of King Mohammad Shah, at a cost of Rs 15,475. 

2. Anvoar Suheli, in Persian, illustrated with 27 costly paintings, 

transcribed by M. Abdul Rahim of Lahore, 1005 A. H., valued at Rs. 60,000. 

(e) By courtesy of the Bharat Kala Bhavan, Benares. 

1. Calligraphic panel by Mir AH. 16th century. 

(f) By courtesy of the Municipal Museum, Allahabad. 

1. Gulistan of Sa’adi, being the personal copy of the Emperor Shah 

Jehan, and bearing his seal and autographed note showing entry of the 

manuscript in the Emperor’s library. Beautiful specimen of Nastaliq handwriting. 

2*13. Twelve specimens of fine Persian calligraphy. 

(g) By courtesy of the Hindustani Academy, Allahabad. 

1. Yuauf-Zukkha. The manuscript is in the Persian nastaliq script. 

The work was written by Sheikh Misar of Sheikhupur, in Hijri 1200, (V. S. 

1847 ; Sh. 1712 ; A. D. 1790) as mentioned in the introductory verses and gives 

the well'known story of Yusuf and Zulekha on the model of Padmawat. It 

is a fine specimen of the Avadhi language of the 18th century. 

(h) By courtesy of the Sikh History Research Department, Khalsa 
College, Amritsar 

1. Oimt Oranth Sahib or the Holy Scripture of the Sikhs, in Persian 

script. 
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PORTRAIT OF SHATI JEHAN 

(MjigJuiI: 17ill century) 

By courtesy of Kai Bahadur Kadha Krishna Jalan, Patna. 



2. Goskti Baba Nanak, written by some loUoWer ol Meherban and 

Harji descendants of Prithia, the elder brother of Guru Arjun, the fifth guru of 

the Sikhs. Gurmukhi manuscript. 

3. Khulasat-ut-Tav>arikh by Sujan Rai. Persian manuscript. History of 

India from the time of Yudhishthir to that of Aurangzeb. The book was written 

in the 22nd year of the spiritual reign of Guru Govind Singh. 

4. Tarikh-i-Jahan-Kusha-i-Nadiri by Muhammad Mabdi-bin-Muhammad 

Nasir Astrabadi. Persian manuscript history of the reign of Nadir Shah. 

5. Aggra—Var Hakikat Rai. Gurumukhi manuscript. 

6. Tahmas-Namah or Tarikh i-Tahmas by Tahmas Khan. Persian 

manuscript, 1191 A. H. (1779 A. D.) Memoirs of Tahmas Khan with accounts 

of the invasion of Nadir Shah and of the times of Mir Mannu, Murad Begum, 

Zabita Khan, and Najjaf Khan. 

7. Haqiqat-i-Bina-o-Aruj-i-Firqah-i-Sikhan—Rotograph of the Persian 

manuscript in the library of the Royal Asiatic Society, London. A short history 

of the origin and rise of the Sikhs from the time of Baba Nanak to the conquest 

of Multan by Taimur Shah Abdali, King of Kabul. 

8. Ibrat Namah by Ali>ud<din Mufti. Persian manuscript (1834), in 

three parts. 

9. Tarikh-i-Ahmad Shahi, Persian manuscript (1167 A.H.}. A history of 

the reign of Ahmad Shah. 

10. Tarihh-i'Alamgir Sani. Rotograph of a Persian manuscript. History of 

Alamgir II (1174 A. H). 

11. Ahwal-i-NaJib ud-daula by Nuruddin Hassan Sayyad. Rotograplr of 

the copy in the British Museum. History of Nawab Najibuddaula Najib Khan 

Rohela. 

12. Ritalah Nanak Shah by Budh Singh. Rotograph of a Persian 

manuscript. History of the Sikhs written by Major James Browne, in 1784. 

13. Jang Namah Sardar Hart Singh Nalvoa by Ram Dayal. Gurmukhi 

manuscript. 

(i) By courtesy of ProfeMor Datto Vaman Poldar. Poona. 

1. Canarese palm-leaf manuscript; Bhagwata Datham Skandh translation 

by Nityatm Shuka Yogi; incolnplete. 
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2. The Kashika with Prishiha Matra, about 500 years old ; Sanskrit; 

incomplete. 

3. Shripati Das's Man Charitra ; Marathi; incomplete. 

4. Viveka Darpan by Giridhar; Marathi poetry. 

5. Viveka Sindhu and Paramartha Bodh by Mukunda Muoi disciple 

of Ramchandra, disciple of Hari. Reveals Mukund as different from Mukund 

Raj. Sanskrit manuscript. 

6. Marathi Bad or miscellany, also records historical dates and poems 

about the Peshawas {Pant Pradhanakhyanam). 

7. A Hindi miscellany, incomplete, contains Gyan Pachisi, medical 

prescriptions, bhesh-ko anga, chopais, etc. Contains references to Kabir and 

Kamal. 

8. Devi Bhagtoata-, Bengali; printed on palmdeaf; A.D. 1895; Bangabda 

1313 ; Calcutta. 

9. Sangeet Mitnansa; by Maharajadhiraj Kalsena. Sanskrit; incomplete. 

10. Kayastha Shravani, by Gaga Bhatta; Sanskrit. 

11. LUavati Prakasha Vritti, by Bhattacbarya; Sanskrit. 

12. LUavati Prakash, by Vardhaman, {Dravya Padartha Grantha)-, 

Sanskrit; complete. 

13. LUavati; Prakrit. 

14. Aahouch Prakarana, by Ramchandra, following Bhattoji. Dikshit’s 

opinion ; Marathi prose; Sh. I7l0 (A. O. 1788), 

* IS. Tithi Nirnaya, by Ramchandra, follows Bhattoji Dikshit; Marathi 

prose; Sh. 1710; complete. 

16. Jati Viveka {Kathakalpataru)-, Marathi verse; two pages. 

17. Sharangdhar, a work on medicine-, Marathi. 

18. Mukti Mandan by Raghavrank; Marathi verse; complete; Sh. 1714 

(A. D. 1682). 

19. Simhaaan Battishi; old Gujerati; Samvat 1616. (Sh. 1482; A. D. 

1559) pages 2 to 65; Priaktha Matras; Poetry. A rare manuscript. 

20. Pages of Dnyaneahvari; old Marathi. 

21. A few pages from Visbnudasbnama’s Mahabharata-, Marathi; very old. 



22. A Marathi miscellany; poetry; by Jay Ram, Gosavi Nandan, 

and others. 

23. Nama Ratna Mala; old Marathi work; incomplete. 

24. Panipat Bakhar, probably by Raghunath Yadav Modi. 

25. A collection of forms of complementary address to important persons- 

{Mayanas) 

26. A Bakhar, describing the achievements of Babaji Pant Dewan 

Angria, about Sh. 1721. 

27. One page from Lahu Ankmha Bakhar by Devraj Gosavi Nasikkar, 

written for Narayanrao Peshawa. 

28. A lavani in one page; Modi. 

29. A page of Sanskrit verse describing conversion of foreign dates 

into Shake dates. 

30. Ganeah Vijay, by Ganesh Yogi; Marathi prose ; Modi. 

31. k page of an illustrated manuscript of Bhagwata, in Sanskrit. 

32. A page from Naina Pathak’s Aahwamedha. 

33. Samayanaya ; Sanskrit; astronomical work by Gaga Bhatta ; written 

for Sambhaji ; copy dated Sh. 1668. 

34. Ramayana in Marathi verse, by Krisnadas; Mudgal Yuddha Kanda. 

35. Miscellaneous papers of accounts, sheets, from Nasirabad in 

Khandesh ; SAM/»«r 1107-1121 (A. D. 1707-1720). 

36. Miscellany ; Marathi verses by Gosavi Nandan. 

37. Manuscript covers formed from pieces of old papers. 

38. Ba-us-sadin-i-salatin ; Marathi; Modi. 

39. Unpublished and very rare manuscript of verses by Sheikh Mohammed 

of Shree Gonda (died Sh. 1565). 

40. A Mahanvbhava manuscript, in ciphers; also RuhminiSwayamxeara; 

22 Gudhas, in Sakai lipi. 

41. A Mahanubhava manuscript in Sakai Hpi of Mahabhashya 

Ptadipa, 

42. A Mahanubhav<f manuscript; Devanagari; Vaatra Haran Gadya. 
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43. Mart^tbi verse, contains Harischandrakhyan by Nama Visbnudas 

Sb. 1597 (A. D. 1675.). Rare 

44. A kaifiyat, describing a struggle between Raya Jaising of Jinji and 

Nawab of Arcot; Maratbi; Modi. 

45. Translation of Khulase-Ilm~Araj by Madhavrao Munsbi of Satara, 

A. D. 1825; Maratbi; Modi. 

46. Illustrated roll of Devi Mahatmya; Sanskrit. 

47. Maratbi manuscript calenders for Sb. 1676, 1681, 1693, 1674, 

1692, and 1725. 

48. A Persian manuscript on astronomy. 

49. Bhrigu Yamaha Mahahhya, by Sabaji Pandit Pratapraj ; Sanskrit; 

incomplete. 

0) By courtesy of Sardar Ganda Singh, Amritsar. 

1. Gur Prcmali. Geneolc^ical account of tbe Sikb Gurus. Gurraukbi 

manuscript. 1908 Vikrami (18Sl A. D.). 

2. Gur Bilas, Daawin Padshahi by Sukba Singb. Gurumukbi manuscript. 

Life-bistory of Guru Govind Singh. 

3. Shir-oShakar by Daya Ram. Persian manuscript. Memoirs of the 

author bearing on the affairs of D’Boign and Louis Bourguin. 

4. Sher Singh Namah also called Halat-i-Punjab by Mohammad Naqi 

Peshawari Persian manuscript history of the events which took place at Lahore 

from tbe death of Maharajah Ranjit Singh to the assasination'of Maharajah Sher 

Singh. 

5. Baitan Sher Singh Khan by Nihal Singh. Manuscript. An account of 

tbe assassination of Maharajah Sher Singh in Punjabi. 

6. Kaifiyat-O'Kamavo Jat-Sar- guzasht-i-Bazurgan-Sahib-i-Riasat Tiwana 
by Sher Muhammad Khan Tiwana Malik. Persian manuscript. 1864. 

7. Khulaaa Ahwal-i-Khandan-d-Rajah-i-Kiahtwar by Sita Ram. Urdu 

manuscript. 

8. Tar%kh-i-Jhang Sial by Nur Muhammad Chela. Persian manuscript. 

9. A histm'y of Rohilla Afghans. Persian manuscript. 

(k) By courtesy of Rai Bahadur Radha KrUhna Jalan, Patna. 

1. Bhofapatra (birch bark) manuscript in Sharada characters. 13 th or 

14th century 

68 



2. Illuminated Sanskrit manuscript of Kedarakalpa. 19th century. 

3. Illuminated Bostan. 16th*17tb century. 

4. Illuminated Alarngir-namah. 18th century. 

5. Illuminated Dewan-e-Hafiz. 16th century. 

6. Illuminated Yusuf Zulekha. 18th century. 

7. The Quran, in Kufi characters. A. H. 5S0. 

8. The Quran, written on gilt leaves. 16th century. 

9. The Quran, written in gold. 17th century. 

(l) By courtesy of Bijoy Singh Nahar, Esq., Calcutta. 

1. A Jain manuscript leaf from Asankh\ am, written in gold characters, 

dated Samvat 1512 (A. D. 1455), written at Patna by Kamla Sanyama Gani, 

disciple of Jinabhadra Suri. 

(m) By courtesy of Khan Bahadur Syed Abu Mohammad Sahib, Allahabad. 

1-6. Six specimens of Persian calligraphy. 

(n) By courtesy of Sir Shafaat Ahmad Khan, Allahabad. 

1. Ayin-i-Akbari of Abul FazI, transcribed in beautiful nastaliq hand 

by Sheikh Faizi Rahmatulla, 1102 A. H. 

(o) By courtesy of Principal Sita Ram Kohli. Hoshiarpur. 

1. Kitab Naqal Parwanajat Campu-i-MuaUa of Maharaja Ranjit Singh. 

(p) By courtesy of Prof N. L. Ahmad Andheri Bombay. 

1. A manuscript of mixed contents, written in beautiful nastaliq by 

Muhammad Fazil, between 1690 and 1992 A.D. The manuscript contains the 

Seh Nasr-i-Zahuri, eight pamphlets of tughra Kashmiri, and a long masnavi, 
entitled Naz-o-Niaz by Fani, composed in 1641-42 A.D. 

(q) By courtesy of Kanhaiya Lai Khattri, Esq., Benares. 

1. An illuminated Sanskrit manuscript of Bhagvad gita together with 

other smaller works. 



(r) By courtesy of Haji Syed Mohammad Said» Allahabad. 

1. Maouscript of Diwan-e-Hilali. 

(s) By courtesy of Maulvi Maqbul Ahmad Samadani, Allahabad. 

1. A Persian history of Iran and Hindustan up to the reign of Jahangir, 

(t) By courtesy of Gauri Prasad Saksena» Esq., Lucknow. 

1. Zafar Nama. A history of Timur from his birth to death (1336- 

1405 A. D.) by Sharafuddin AH Yardi (died A. D. 1454), Written in a 

beautiful nastaliq hand and dated 972 A. H. (1564 A. D,) 

2. Muntakhbut-Tawatihh. A history of the reign of Akbar, by Abdul 

Qadir Badauni, who completed it in the year 1596 A. D. The present copy 

was compared with another copy at Shahjehanabad in the year 1137 A. H. 

(A. D. 1724) and again compared with the copy in the possession of Mirza 

Muhammad, son of Motimad Khan Bahadur, in the year 1158 A. H. (A. D, 1745). 

3. Waqaya. Annals of Indian histoty in Persian, from the time of Babur 

upto 1202 A. H. (1787 A. D.). Author's name and date not given. Bears seal 

of an old library and date 1255 A. H. 

4. Gulzar-i’Kashmir. A history of Kashmir in Urdu from the time of 

Asoka to the time of Raja Ranbir Singh (1857 A. D.) by one Kirpa Ram 

written according to the wishes of Mr. Roberts, the Governor of the Punjab, 

whom he was sent to receive at Sialkot by the Raja. A great portion of this 

history is devoted to the geographical condition, natural products and 

handicrafts of Kashmir. 

Calligraphy. 

1. QU’a by ^uhi in nastaliq style. 

2. Qit’a by Yusuf-al-Rizvi in naskh. 

3. QU’a by Muhammad Ubaid in nashh, dated 1034 A. H. Bears the 

seal of Ahmad Shah. 

4. Qit'a by Mansa Ram in nastaliq. 

5. Qit'a by Hamid Ali in praise of Mohi-ud'dowlah, in nastaliq. 

6. QWa by Syed Gholam Hasan Rizvi, in nastaliq. 

7. Qit'a by Hafiz Nasrulla, written at the request of Asaf-ud-dowlah, 

Nawab of Oudh. 
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SECTION Vll 

PAINTINGS 

A. Old. 

(a) By courtesy of the Municipfd Museum, Allahabad. 

Irani. 

1. Battle scene. 16th century. Folio from a manuscript. 

2. Feast. 16th century. Folio from a manuscript. 

Moghul. 

3. Portrait of a Muslim saint, Shah Husain. 17th century. 

4. Portrait of a Mughal prince, probably Aurangzeb. 17th century. 

5-6. Portraits of Mughal grandees. 18th century. 

7. Portrait of a Mughal warrior. 18th century. 

8. Line drawing of an unknown personage. 18th century. 

9. Seduction. 18th century. 

10. Portrait of Shah Jehan. 19th century. 

11. Amourous scene. 19th century. 

Rajasthani, 

12. The lifting of Mount Govardhana. 17th century. 

13. A scene from Kukmini Svayamvara. 18th century. 

14. Another Scene from Rukmini Svayamvara. Toilet of Rukmini. 

18th century. 

15. Portrait of an unknown personage. 18th century. 

16. The Dwarf (Vamana) incarnation of Vishnu. I8th century. 

17. Profile line-drawing of a Rajput lady. 18th century. 

18. Key sketches of Ragamala series. 18th century. 
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19. Comrades. 18 th century. 

20. Goddess seated on a lotus, surrounded by eight Lords of Direction 

(dibpals). 18th century. 

21. Tori Ragini. 

22. Offering a cup of wine. T9th century. 

23. Rescue of a heroine. 19th century. 

24. The swing (jhoola) festival. 19tb century. 

25. Laila and Majnoon, 19th century. 

Jain. 

26. Penances of a Jain Tirthankara. 18th century. 

27. Heaven and hell. 18th century. 

Kangra. 

28. Raja with female attendants. 18th century. 

29. Child Krishna and the make-believe moon. 18th century. 

30. Scences from the Ramayana. 18th century. 

31. Enjoying the rains (Varsha vihara). 18th century. 

32. Portrait of a Raja going on a bunt. 18tb century. 

33. Krisbnk and Radha. 18tb century. 

34. Colour-besmeared heroine—a Holi scene. 18th century. 

35. Love scenes of Radha and Krishna. I8th century. 

36. Krishna in dishabille. 19tb century. 

37. Maharani Mandial of Guler. 19th century. 

38. Radha and Krishna. 19tb century. 

39. Krishna decorating the feet of Radha with colour {mahavar). 19th 

century. 

40. Expectation. 19th century. 

41. Milk-maid. 19th century. 

Tanjore School. 

42-51. Two panels containing 12 Hindu dieties I9tb century. 

52. Portrait of a priest. I9tb century. 



53. Ramapanchayatana with* a saint and a devotee on either side. 
19th century. 

Nepal School. 

54-62. Group of Mahakala? and Kali, on linen. 19th century, 

63-65. Dirghayu Pancha Bhagini (18tb century), and Shmashana Pati, 
and Amitayu, on linen. 19th century. 

66-68 Goddesses—Singhamukhi, Rikshamukhi, and Vyaghramukhi. 18th 

century. 

69-71. Two Taras and one Bajrapani Mabakala. 19th century. 

Tibetan. 

72'95. Twenty four Tibetan banners (tankas) representing various Buddhist 
dieties. l7th to 19th centuries. 

96 Line-drawing copy of Bagh cave mural painting by Asit Kumar 

Haidar. 

(b) By courtesy of the Bharat Kala Bhavatn, Benares, 

Jain. 

1. Three folios from illustrated palm-leaf Prajna-Paramita of Pala 
period, llth century A. D. 

Mughal. 

2. Portrait of Raja Birbal. 16th century. 

3. Portrait of Shahjehan. l7th century. 

4. Taimur holding court. 17th century. 

5. Jahangir and Prince Khurram (afterwards Shah Jehan), by Manohar. 

I7th century 

6. Prince Dara Shikoh being weighed against g(dd. Line-drawing. 

17th century. 

7. A Mughal grandee. Line-drawing. I7tb century. 

8. Prince Shujah, by Rao Chatarman. Line-drawing. 17th century. 

9. Meeting of two princes, probably Prince Murad and Nazar 

MoMinmad of Balkh. I7th century. 

10 :A Mtfgbal beauty. 17 th century. 

73 
IQ 



. 11. Aurangzeb hunting a nil'gai. * 

12. Saint Sheikh Phool; signed 'Bishandas’; Jahangir period. 

13. Emperor Jahangir. Line-drawing. I8th century. 

14. Emperor Aurangzeb- l8th century. 

15. The Flame of Beauty. 18th century. 

16. A Mughal beauty ; 18th century. 

17. Panghat. 18th century. 

18. Two Faqirs. Line-drawing. 18th century. 

19. Mian Nfir and Mulla Shah. 18th century. 

20. Nawab Roshanuddaula. 19th century. 

21. A later Mughal Emperor. 19th century. 

22. Madonna and Child by Ustad Ram Prasad. Modern. 

23. Mughal Beauty by Ustad Ram Prasad. Modern. 

24. Prince Parwez, by Ustad Ram Prasad. Modern. 

25. Emperor Farrukh-;iyar and Rajbai, by Ustad Ram Prasad. Modern. 

26. Worship of Shiva by Um >, by Ustad Ram Prasad. Modern. 

Irani Painting. 

27. An Irani beauty. 16th century. 

Rajput. 

28-30. Illustrations from Ramoharitamanasa by Tulasi Das, ctV. 1800. 

(а) Boar-hunting. 

(б) A view of' Ayodhya Nagari in aerial perspective. 

(c) By courtesy of the Provinciol Museum, Lucknow. 

1. Jami Nuruddin Abdul Rebman, a celebrated Persian poet. Mughal. 

18 th century. 

2. A personage squatting and smoking a hukka pipe. Mughal. 18th 

century. 

3. Zeb-un-nisa. Mughal. 18th century. 

4. Nanda and Kanhaiya and other family people. Rajput. 18th century. 

5. Raja Newal Rai, minister of mansur AU Khan, Safdar Jang, 2nd 



MEETING OF TWO PRINCES 

: 17th ccfitiiry) 

l^y courtesy of the Bharat Kala Bhavan, Benares. 





Nawab Vazir of Oudh. He was slain in 1750 A. D. in a battle fought against 

Ahmad Khan. Lucknow. I8th century. 

6. Laila Majnun. Mughal. 18th century. 

7. Female, said to be a betel-seller of the time of Wajid Ali Shah, last 

king of Oudh (1847-56). Lucknow. 19th century. 

8. Bahu Begam, mother of Nawab Asaf-ud-daula, who died in 1815. 

Lucknow. 19th century. 

9. Dhanya Mahri, maid-servant of Nawab Nasiruddin Haidar of Lucknow, 

whom she is said to have poisoned to death. Lucknow. 19th century. 

10. Ravan standing in worship before a goddess seated on a lotus with a 

winged lion behind. Rajput. 19th century. 

11. Vishnu with Garuda worshipping a goddess seated on a lotus with a 

winged lion behind. Rajput. 19th century. 

12. Durga fighting with a demon riding on an elephant. She is seen 

flying in the air on a winged lion. Rajput. 19th ceutury. 

13. Some ferocious deity, probably Kali, sucking the blood of demons. 

Rajput. 19th century. 

14. Kali or some other deity sucking the blood of persons destroyed by 

the goddess Durga. Rajput. 19th century. 

15. Brahma worshipping a goddess, probably Durga, seated on a lotus 

and followed by a winged lion. Rajput. 19th century. 

16 Two personages standing with folded hands before a goddess, 

probably Durga. Her vehicle, the winged lion, is placed behind. Rajput. 

19th century. 

17. Nawab Saadat Ali Khan Burhanul-Mulk, first Nawab Vazir of jOudh. 

Lucknow. 19th century. 

18. Nawab Asaf-ud-daula, Vazir of Oudh ( 1775-1797 ). Lucknow. 

19th century. 

19. Nawab Aghamir, minister of Ghazi-ud-din Haidar who built the 

Karbala near the Wingfield Park. Lucknow. 19th century. 

20. Ganga Baksh, dacoit in fetters said to have been beheaded at Abkari 

Darwaza. Lucknow. 19th century. 

21. Munshi Kundan Lai, Meet Munshi of Muhammad Ali Shah and 

Amjad Ali Shah. Lucknow. 19th century. 
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22. Mtkka Darogha, Lucknow. 10th century. 

23. Maharaja Balkrishna ; on vellum. Lucknow. 10th century. 

24. Pencil drawing of Mirza Chaubal, a celebrated actor and mimic of 

the tiuie of Ghaai-ud-djo Haidar, first king of Oudh ( A. D. 1824-1827 ). The 

Mirza is standing with a sword in the right hand ready to offer resistance. 

Lucknow. 10th century. 

(d) By courtesy of the Goverament School of Arts and Crafts, Lucknow. 

1. Baz Bahadur and Rupmati. 

2. Mughal Prince and Princess. 

3. Personification of a ragini, playing on fiute. 

4. A yogini with two disciples. 

5. A lady on a terrace overtaken by storm (Abhiaarika). 

6. A lady seated on a throne before whom a group of women are 

playing music. 

7. Prince and princess. 

8. A lady lying on a lawn, reading a letter (Vaaakashayya). 

0. Jodhbai before two female ascetics. 

10. A painting of two ladies playing pachiai, 

11. A gathering of saints probably Christian. 

12. Prince’s court. 

13. A lady worshipper. 

14. Ladies at a game of chess on Dcwali night. 

15. Satyabhama giving away Krishna to Narada. 

(e) By courtesy of the Puujftb Record Office Museum, Lahore. 

1. Maharaja Ranjit Singh in Darbar. A rare contemporary picture. 

Pencil sketch. 

2. Maharaja Ranjit Singh and Raja Hirasingh driving in a.palki. 

3. Raja Dinanath, Finance Minister to Maharaja Ranjit Singh. 

(f) By courtesy of the Gwalior State 

1. Baji Rao Peshwa. 
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2. A Maratba Sardar. 

3. A Deccani Brahman Sardar. 

4. A scene in a harem. 

5. Another harem scene. 

6^ A standing damsel. 

7. Changiz Khan. 

8. Umar Khayyam. 

• 9. Raja Birbal. 

10. Mulla-do-piyaza. 

11. Return of Rama and his brother to Ayodhya after wedding. 

12. Ladies welcoming Rama at the palace gate. 

13-15. Illustrations from Barahmasa : 

(a) Chaitra. 

(b) Margashirsha. 

ifi) Ashadha. 

(g) By courtesy of the Hyderabad State. 

Deccan Miniatures, 

1. Shiva and Parvati. I9th century. 

2. Krishna playing on flute. 19th century. 

3. Pima-mati, mistress of King Abdulla Qutub Shah. 19th century. 

4. Khursbed Begum, wife of Sbiraz-ul*mulk. 19th century. 

5. Deccan princess—Chand Bibi. Hunting scene. 19th century. 

6. Darwesb. 19th century. 

7. Raja Chandoo Lala and Raja Balaparsad. 19tb century. 

8. Bbagmati. 19th century. 

9. Ibrahim Adil Shah II. of Bijapur. I7tb century. 

10. Taramati. 19th century. 

11. Asaf Jah I. 19th century. 

12. Mir Ullum Bahadur. 19th century. 



(h) fiy courtesy ol tlie Jodhpitf State. 

1. Emperor Shah Jehan. 

2. Emperor Aurangzeb. 

3. Ragini Tori. 

4. Shahzada Khusrau and Shahzadi Shirin (on either side of a leaf) ■ 

5. Maharaja Mansingh and the Naths. 

6. Battle scene from the Mahabharata. 

(i) By courtesy of the Benares State. 

1. Rasa-grah Nakshatra. Album containing 30 paintings. 

2. Raga-Ragini Album. Two volumes; 

Volume I. Containing 50 paintings 

Volume II. Containing 36 paintings. 

(j) By courtesy of Shri Ram RatnaPustakalaya, Benares. 

1. The Taj. Ivory miniature. Modern. 

2. A Sikh chief. Ivory miniature. Modern. 

(k) By courtesy of Khan Bahadur Syed Abu Muhammad, Allahabad. 

1. Nawab Amir-ud-daula who commanded the Oudh forces. 

2. Nawab Siraj«ud>dauia of Oudh. 

3. Nawab Rosban-ud-daula Bahadur of Oudh. 

4. MaharajaVhet Singh of Benares. 

5. Maharaja of Benares. 

6. Prince Birjis Qadr. 

7. Babu Kunwar Singh of Benares. 

8. Old Persian miniature. 

9. Old Persian miniature. Majnoon in the desert. Reverse: Speci- 

men of Mir Ali’s calligraphy. 

10. An old Persian miniature. 
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11. Mughal portrait of St. Ibrahim Adham showing Angels bringing 

food from Heaven. 

12. An old Persian miniature. 

13. Emperor Aurangzeb. 

14. Emperor Akbar. Reverse; Abdul Rahim's calligraphy. 

15. Portrait of Birbal. Reverse : Mir Khalil, calligraphist, 

16. An old Persian pencil-sketch. 

17. A Mughal painting. 

18. Prince Jehangir with his tutor. 

19. Prince Jehangir with his tutor, being put to oral test by Abul Fazl 

and Faizi. 

20. Dara Shikoh on horse>back. 

21. An old Hindu painting. 

22. King Humayun. 

(l) By courtesy of Rai Bahadur Radha Krishna Jalan, Patna 

1-3. Three Indo-Persian paintings on gold. 16th or 17th century. 

4. One Indo-Persian kaleidoscopic painting. 16th or 17th century. 

5-6. Two Mughal paintings. Jahangir school. 

7. One Mughal painting on mica. 

8. Portrait of Shah Jehan. Mughal. 

9. Laila and Majnoon. Kangra. 

10. Shirin and Farhad. Kangra. 18th century. 

11. A painting of the Patna school. Late 19th century. 

12-13. Two illuminated leaves with cover paintings. 

(m) By courtesy of Bijoy Singh Nahar, Esq., Calcutta. 

1. A Jain painting from Kalpasutra. Birth of Lord Mahavira. 

2. Kurukshetra Battle scene from Persian manuscript by Khizir, son of 

Niyaz, who died about 1650 A. O. 

3. Toilet scene. Kangra School. 
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4. Portrait of Prince Mohammad Mokiraoddin, grandson of Tipo Sultan. 

1852 A. D. 

(n) By courtesy of Mr. Justice Mukandi Lai, Tehri, Garhwal). 

1. A sketch—Proshitapatika—drawn by Mola Ram (1750-1833) in 

Sambat 1869 (A. D. 1812). 

2. A sketch of Skishir Ritu, drawn by Mola Ram in Mughal style. 

3. A coloured portrait of a Garbwali courtier of the early 19th century, 

painted by Mola Ram. 

4. A coloured portrait of Jwala Ram (1788-1848 A. D) wor^ipping 

his family goddess Bhuvaneshwari painted by self. 

5. Dance of Shiva. A sketch drawn by Jwala Ram, son of Mola Ram 

in 1834, being a leaf of a sketch book containing 64 leaves, the sketches having 

been drawn for his friend Bachuwa goldsmith of Havalbagh, a place four miles 

from Almora. 

6. Balarama ploughing and Krishna flirting. A sketch. One of the 

leaves in the above manuscript. 

7. Sketches of seven Himalayan birds drawn by Jwala Ram, male 

munal drawn on 17.12.1828, female munal drawn on 28.11. 1828, and Koli 

Penchuwa on 28.12. 1828 at Haldwani and Kilpuri in the Nainital district. 

8. Panch'bakra Mahadeva. A painting by Shibram (1790-1855), another 

son of Mola Ram. 

9. A photo of a page of Mola Ram’s manuscript. A history of the kings 

of Garhwal written in 1803. This page gives the account how Mola Ram’s 

ancestors came to Srinagar (Garhwal) in 1658, with Sulaiman Shikoh, a son 

of Dara Shikoh. 
\ 

10. Another page of the same manuscript. This page shows that Mola 

Ram had his own school of paintings and bis studio. 

11. Mola Ram and his master. The master is his own father Mangat 

Ram. 

12. Hardayal Khattri and Mangat Ram. 

13. Mastani Begum. 

(o) By courtesy of Sardar Ganda Singhi Amritsar, 

1. Sardar Hari Singh Nalwa. 



2. Maharaja Hira Singh Saheb of Nabha. 

3. Maharaja Daleep Singh Bahadur, son of Maharaja Ranjit Singh. 

(p) By courtesy of Rai Rajeshwar Balif Daryabad. 

1-12 Representations of the twelve seasons {Barahtnasa); Rajput. 

(q) By courtesy of Professor Datto Vaman Potdar, Poona. 

1. A bound book of tnasvida pictures. 

2. A picture of demons riding different animals. 

3. A jungle woman and her husband removing a thorn from the shikari 

woman's foot. 

4. A woman playing on sitar, which attracts peacock. 

5. A night scene in a palace. 

6. A Padshah. 

7. A Hindu Raja. 

8. A characteristic dance. 

9. A Pauranik king. 

10. Mashir-ul-raulk. 

11. Nizam-ul-mulk Bahadur. 

12. Haripant Tatya Phadke. 

13. Govindrao Krishan Kale (Maratha Vakil at Nizam’s court) and his 

colleague Govindrao Bhagwant Pingle. 

14. Sardar Appa Balvant Mehendalc. 

15. Teg Jung Paigawale Bahadur. 

16. Mohamed Shah Padshah and in front Khan Sadullah Khan and 

£>aya Bahadur. 

17. Dattaji Scindia on one side ; on the back side an elephant and tnahavat. 

18. Ibrahim Lodi Padshah ; on the back side Dara Shikoh. 

19. Emperor Iltut-mish ; on the back side Tana Shah Padshah waits- 

Deccan. 

20. Baba Lai Das and Aurangzeb’s sons; on the back side Akbar 

worshipping hre. 



21. Abul Fazl; on the back side Akbar hunting a lion. 

22. A fighting scene ; on the back side Sultana Begum and Ahmed Shah 

Durrani. 

23. Thirty two illustration of sexual poses. 

(r) By courtesy of Y. M. Kale Esq., Buldana. 

1-2. Two albums containing Mughal and Deccani paintings. 

(s) By courtesy of Rana Parakram Jung Bahadur, Allahabad. 

1-4 Scenes from the Ramayana in oils, on large canvas. Fatna School. 

19th century. 

(t) By courtesy of S. C. Kala, Esq., Srinagar (Garhwal). 

1. Remembrance. By Mola Rarn. Garhwal School 

2. The Churning of the Ocean ( Samudra-manthan ). By Mola Ram. 

Garhwal School. 

(u) By courtesy of Syed Maqbul Ahmad Samadani, Allahabad. 

t. Rani Man Bai (Shah Begara) Jaipuri. By .\qa Raza. 18th century. 

Mughal. 

2. Sultan Khusrau by Abul Hasan Isphani. I7th Century. Mughal. 

(v) By courtesy (rf Lala Pannalal, Allahabad. 

1. Fort Allahabad. Ivory miniature. Patna School. 

2. Study of a bird. Mughal. 19th century. 

3. A portrait. Patna school ivory miniature, 

(w) By courtesy of Gauri Praiwd Saks^na, Esq.,Lucknow. 

1-6. A set of six pictures illustrating the pedigree of Amir Timur. 

7. Portrait of a Mughal grandee. 

8. Aurangzeb, reading the Quran. 

9. Ranjit Singh on a charger. 
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10. Mohammad Ali Shah, Nawab Vazir of Oudh. Ink-sketch. 

11. Amjad Ali Shah, Nawab Vazir of Oudh. Pencil-drawing. 

12. Asaf-ud-dowlah, Nawab Vazir of Oudh. Ink-sketch. 

13. Wajid Ali Shah, Nawab Vazir of Oudh. Pencil-drawing. 

14. Ali Naqi Khan, Nawab Vazir of Oudh. Pencil-drawing. 

15 Standing portrait of a Mughal noble. 

16. Shah Jehan and Dara Shikoh visiting the Prince’s tutor at Lahore. 

B. Modern. 

(a) By courtesy of H. E. Professor Nicholas de Roerich, Naggar, 

Kulu, Punjab. 

1. Compassion. 

2. Snow Maiden. 

3. Himalayas. 

(b) By courtesy of Svetoslav Roerich, Esq., Naggar, Kulu, Punjab. 

1. Autumn Trees. 

2. Gallardias. 

3. Lilies. 

4. Mira. 

(c) By courtesy of D. P. Roy*Choudhry, Esq., Madras. 

1. Vulture's Paradise. 

2. Beggars of the Barren Land. 

3. Study in Green and Gold. 

(d) By courtesy of Shrimati Amrita Sher-Gil, Simla. 

1. South Indian Villagers going to Market. 

2. The Bride’s Toilet. 

(e) By courtesy of Bireshwar Sen, Esq., Lucknow. 

1. The Message of Fire. 

83 



(s) coiirtecy Pandil Shambtiunatti Mitbraf Allahabad. 

1. Expectation. 

(b) By courtesy of tbe Municipal Museum, Allababad. 

1. Light Falls on the Ganges by Gaganendranath Tagore. 

2. Himalayas by Gaganendranath Tagore. 

3. Evening in the Village by Gaganendranath Tagore. 

4. Goldmohurs by Gaganendranath Tagore. 

5. Evening on the River bank by Gaganendranath Tagore. 

6. Near Kalimpong by Gaganendranath Tagore. 

7. Chaitanya by Nandlal Bose. 

8. A Poem by A. K. Haidar. 

9. Scene from the Meghaduta by Shailendranath De. 

10. Gajendra Moksha by Shailendranath De. 

11. Holi by Shailendranath De. 

12. Radha by Shailendranath De. 

13. Death of Haridas by Kshitendranath Majuiudar. 

14. The Maiden by Kshitendranath Majumdar. 

15. Toilet by Jamini Roy. 

16. Mural Decoration by Jamini Roy. 

17. Yashoda and Krishna (mural) by jamini Roy. 

18. A Villhge Hut by L. M. Sen. 

19. Portrait of A. K. Haidar by L. M. Sen. 

20. Mother and Child by Abdur Rahman Chughtai. 

21. A Study in oils by S. Bose. 

22. Saraswati by R. Vijaivargiya. 

23. Madan Shringar by R. Vijaivargiya. 

24. Umbrellas by Manishi De. 

25. Dotiyal by Manishi De. 

26. Dusk by Shambbunatb Mishra. 
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27. Radha and Krishna by B. N. Jijja. 

28. Dhritarashtra by B. N. Jijja. 

29. Gloaming by Shardendu. 

(i) By courtesy of R. C. T«ndan» Esq.* Mluhebad. 

1. Mother India by Amrita Sher-Gil. 

2. Pass in the Himalayas by Anagarika Govinda. 

3. The Poet’s Dream by Shambhunath Mishra. 

4. The Cowmaid of Jaipur by R. Vijaivargiya. 

(j) By courtesy of Ramchandra Vyas, Esq.» Allahabad. 

1. Dante's Inferno by Anagarika Govinda. 
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SECTION VIII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

(a) By courtesy of the Mysore State. 

Photographs of Architecture and Sculpture in Mysore. 

Belur. 

1. Chennakesava Temple—North-east view. Contains the finest 

sculptural work of the Hoysala style. 12th century A. D. 

2. Chennakesava Temple—An external shrine. The animals on the 

friezes and the dancers on the railings are in graceful attitudes. 

3. Chennakesava Temple—A pillar in the hall. Faced with the image 

of a handsome attender. 

4. Chennakesava Temple—Frontal friezes. The oblong panels near the 

top depict mythological events. 

5. Chennakesava Temple—Frontal friezes. Another view. 

6. Chennakesava Temple—Sculptured screen on front wall. Emperor 

Vishnuvardhana, the builder, in court. Bracket figures on top ; lady and parrot 

beauty and the mirror. 

7. Chennakesava . Temple—Another sculptured screen. Emperor 

Narasimba I in court. Bracket figures above : dancer ; musician. 

8. Chennakesava Temple—An image of Kesava. A fine image of 

Vishnu, the Almighty [preserver. 

9. Chennakesava Temple—Mahisbasura-mardini. Eight-armed Durga, 

the great goddess, dancing and fighting the buffalo-demon. 

10. Chennakesava Temple—Bracket figure in the ball. Dancer in an 

interesting pose. 

11. Chennakesava Temple—Bracket figure in the hall. The dance 

b^ins. 
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12. Chennakesava Temple—Ceititig. A single flat slab wkh a lotus 

showing the Mansion group. 

13. Chennakesava Temple—Bracket figures. Huntress; modesty. 

14. Chennakesava Temple—Ground plan. 

15. Chennakesava Temple—Narasimha pillar. Finely sculptured stone 

pillar. Each pillar has its own design. 

16. Chennakesava Temple—North door.way. 

17. Chennakesava Temple—Krishna with the flute. A fine image of the 

boy-god in a graceful pose. 

18. Chennakesava Temple—Bracket figure. Lady dressing her hair. 

19. Chennakesava Temple—Inner door-way. A finely carved pierced 
screen serves as a ventilator. 

20. Chennakesava Temple—Portrait statu?. Emperor Vishnuvardhana, 
the great patron of Hoysala art. 

21. Chennakesava Temple—Central dome of hall. Elaborately sculptured 

with a pendant lotus showing Vishnu as Man-Lion tearing the demon Hiranya- 

Kasipu. 

Hale-bid. 

22. Hoysalesvara Temple—North view. A two-shrined temple of Siva 
with the outer walls fully sculptured. I2ih century A. D. 

23. Hoysalesvara Temple—South door-way. Ornamental pavilions and 
door-keepers. 

24. Hoysalesvara Temple—North-east view. Sculptured friezes and 

pierced stone windows. 

25. Hoysalesvara Temple—Middle of east wall. Ornamental projection 

in the wall. 

26. Hoysalesvara Temple—Another view. Ornamental projection in the 

wall. 

27. Hoysalesvara Temple—West view. A museum of mythcJogical 

sculptures. The raised platform follows the star-shaped contour of the main 

shrines. 

28. Hoysalesvara Temple—^The frieaes. The central frieze depicts the 

Story of the divine babe Krishna, 



29. Hoysalesvara Temple—-A corner. Above ; Brahma, the creator; 

Ganesa. Below : a battle scene. 

30. Hoysalesvara Temple. Huntress : and boar-incarnation of Vishnu. 

31. Hoysalesvara Temple. .Sarasvati,the Goddess of learning; Arjuna, 

the archer-hero. 

32. Hoysalesvara Temple. Siva, the destroyer, dancing ; the divine boar 

33. Hoysalesvara Temple—The dance. 

34. Hoysalesvara Temple—Interior of hall. In the centre is a rude 

modern support. The original pillars are characteristically round and lathe- 

turned or star*shaped. 

35. Hoysalesvara Temple—East door-way. 

36. Hoysalesvara Temple—Some reliefs. Goddesses Durga and Anna¬ 

purna dancing. 

37. Hoysalesvara Temple—Reliefs. Narasimha. 

38. Hoysalesvara Temple—Reliefs. Ravana lifting mount Kailasa. 

39. Hoysalesvara Temple—Collosal Ganapati. 
t 

40. Kedaresvara Temple—East view. A fine Siva temple of the Hoysala 

style ruined by time and badly restored. 12th century. 

41. Kedaresvara Temple—West view. 

42. Kedaresvara Temple—South view. 

43. Kedaresvara Temple—North view. 

44. Kedaresvara Temple—Some friezes. In the centre : Rama and his 

monkey troops bridging the ocean. 

45. Kedaresvara Temple—Annapurna. The Hindu Demeter. 

46. Kedaresvara Temple—Kaliya>mardana. The divine boy Krishna 
dancing on the head of the great king cobra. 

47. Kedaresvara Temple. The dance of Sarasvati, the goddess of 
learning. 

48. Kedaresvara Temple—Gopala lintel. Lintel showing Krishna as the 
cowherd. 



SOMANATHAPUR. 

49. Kesava Temple—Front view. A fine three-shrined Vishnu temple. 

13th century. 

50. Kesava Tenple—North tower. Built entirely of soapstone and 

sculptured. 

51. Kesava Temple—South tower. 

52. Kesava Temple—The wall. The rows of friezes are characteristic 

of the style. 

53. Kesava Temple—The wall. Another view. 

54. Kesava Temple—Friezes and pierced windows. 

55. Kesava Temple—Vishnu. Standing image of Vishnu as Janardana. 

56. Kesava Temple—Krishna. Krishna as the cowherd boy playing on 

his flute, with the cows listening intently. 

57. Kesava Temple—Ground plan. 

58. Kesava Temple—Another view of the wall. 

59. Kesava Temple—Dome. Interlaced bands. 

60. Kesava Temple—Dome. 

61. Kesava Temple—Dome. Imitation of riveted steel frame-work. 

Arsi-kbrb. 

62. Siva Temple—South view. 13th century. 

63. Siva Temple—The tower. 

64. Siva Temple—The frontal pavilion. A star-shaped pavilion with a 

sculptured Hindu dome, entirely of stone. 

Amrita-pura. 

65. Siva Temple—The tower. Tasteful creeper designs. 

66. Siva Temple—Ornamental turrets 

Bblavadi. 

67. Vira-Narayana Temple—South-east view. A three-shrined temple of 
Vishnu. 13th century. 
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68. Vira-Narayana Temple—An image o( Vishnu. 

69. Vira*Narayana Temple—Yoga*Narasimha. Vishnu in the form of 

Man-lion seated in contemplation. 

70. Vira-Narayana Temple—Ceiling. Boy Krishna playing on the flute 

while the cows listen and his young friends dance in the grove. 

71. Vira-Naryana Temple—Front view. 

Hosa-holalu 

72. Lakshminarayana Temple—North wall. Narasiinha: Trivikrama. 
13th century. 

73. Lakshminarayana Temple—South wall, Durga dancing : seated 

Narayana, 

Sringeri 

74. Vidyasankara Temple—General view. Mixed Hoysala and Dravidian 

styles. 14th century. 

75. Shankar Mutt—Shankaracharya. Bronze image of the great philoso¬ 

pher. 

76. Vidyasankara Temple-Ground plan. 

SlVA-GANGA. 

The hill with towered gateways. Late Dravidian style. 17th century. 

Siva Temple—Siva and Parvati. 

Siva Teniple—Portrait statue. Kempe Gowda, King of Magadi and 

Siva Temple—Bronzes. Siva and Ganapati dancing.. 

Heggbre. 

81. Galagesvara Temple—A door-way. Hoysala style. 13th century. 

KOtVSIKA, 

82. Kesava Temple—Image of Vi^nu. Hoysala style. 

77. 

78. 

79. 

Bangalore. 

80. 
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Maddur. 

83. Varadaraja Temple—Image of Vishnu as Vardaraja. Bronze image. 

84. Narasimha Temple—Rama with Sita, Lakshman and Hanuman. 

JINANATHA-PURA. 

85. Santinatha Basti—North wail. Hoysala style. A Jaina temple. 12th 

century. 

86. Santinatha Basti—Ceiling. 

Hulle-kere. 

87. Kesava Temple—Top of stone tower. The group shows the hero 

Sala fighting the lion. 

Mosale. 

88. Nakeswara Temple—South view. Hoysala style. 

Nugge-halli 

89. Lakshminarasimha Temple—North view. The high tower is a 

modern brick structure. Hoysala style. 

Vighna-sante. 

90. Narasimha Temple—Top of tower. 

Nandi. 

91. Siva Temple—Portrait statue. A Chola king in meditation. 

KORA’VANGALA. 

92. Siva Temple—General view. Hoysala style. An inscription slab in 

the foreground. I2tb century. 

Sravana-belgula. 

93. Gomatesvara. A colossal image of a Jain deity, 57 feet high. The 

largest monolith in India. 10th century. 

94. Gomatesvara—Back view. 

95. Akkana Basti—Front of tower. Kirtimukha with Jina seated. 
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Saligrama. 

96. Ananthanatha Basti—Image of Jina. 

Nanjangud. 

97. Siva Temple"—Front tower. Dravidian style Modern. 

Brahma-samudra. 

98. Lakshminarayana Temple—Lintel. Vishnu seated with consort 

Seringa-patam. 

99. Hyder's Tomb. Built by Tipu Sultan. 18th century. 

lOO. Juma Masjid. Built by Tipu Sultan. 18th century. 

Photographs of inscriptions, coins, etc. 

101-2. Brahmagiri rock inscription of Asoka Maurya. 

103-4. Malavalli pillar inscription of Sivaskandavarma. ■ 

105-6. Chandravalli stone inscription of Mayursarma. 

107. Halmidi stone inscription of Kakustbavarma. 

108-9. Talagunda pillar inscription of Santivarma. 

110. Panduraogapalli plates of Avidbeya Rashtrakuta. 

111-12. Punnad plates of Skandavarma. 

113. Nittur pl^^ of Madhava Ganga. 

114. Devarahalli stone inscription of western Ganga geneology. 

115-16. Sravanabellagola stone inscription of Bhadrabahu. 

117-18. Hirekogilur plates of Chalukya king Rajaditya. 

119. Peixoto’s manuscript on Hyder Ali (English). 

120. Nallappa’s manuscript, Hyder-Nama (Kannada). 

121. Ancient coins of Tinnevelly. 

122. Puneb-marked cmns. 
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123. Chola coins. 

124. Pandya coins. 

125. Chalukya coins. 

126. Vijayanagar coins. 

127. Beads from Chandravalli excavations (four plates). • 

128. Ornaments from Chandravalli excavations (three plates). 

129. Metal implements fron Chandravalli excavations (three plates). 

130. Coins from Chandravalli excavations (three plates). 

131. Pottery from Chandravalli excavations (three plates). 

132. Pot-sherds from Chandravalli excavations (three plates). 

133. Natural objects from Chandravalli excavations (two plates). 

134. Art work from Chandravalli excavations (two plates). 

135. Art work and bricks from Chandravalli excavations (two plates). 

136. Stone implements from Chandravalli excavations (two plates). 

137. Neoliths. from Chandravalli excavations (two plates). 

138-46. Narasamangala, Ramesvara temple, various views. 

(h) By courtesy of the Baroda State. 

1. Two plans of excavations at Amreli. 

2. Thirty-four photographs of Archaeological monuments from Baroda. 

(c) By courtesy of the Jodhpur State. 

1. A photograph of Ropi plates of Parmara Devaraja of Marwar, 

dated 15th day of the bright half of Magha V. S. 1059 (1002 A. D.). 

2-3. Two photographs of a letter of Maharana Sangramsinghji II of 

Mewar praising Maharaja Ajitsinghji of Marwar for enthroning Rafiuddarjat 
in place of Emperor Farrukhsiyar and getting abolished the jazia and the 

restriction on the sacred Hindu places, dated Vaishakh Vadi 11 V. S. 1775, 
(15th April, 1718 A. D.). 

4-5. Two photographs of a letter of Maharana Arisinghji (Arsiji) of 

Mewar, in his own handwriting, humbly requesting Maharaja Bijaisinghji of 

Marwar for help, dated Vaishakh Vadi 11 V. S. 1827 (21st April, 1770 A. D.). 
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6-7 Two photographs of an imperial sanad in the nune of Maharaja 

Bijaisinghji of Marwar regarding the hereditaryof Raisina (New Delhi), 

dated 9th Jumada*us sani, l7th regnal year of Shah Alam 11 (7th August, 

1775 A. D.) 

8*9. A photograh of a broken image of a king belonging to the 5tb 

century A. D. Excavated at Mandore (Marwar). 
• 

9. A photograph of a big earthen pot along with an impression of 

its inscription belonging to the latter half of the 5th century A. D., excavated 

at Mandore (Marwar) 

10-13. Four photographs of the paintings of Bhagavcata, 10th Skattdha, 

lOtb century A. D., Sardar Museum Jodhpur. 

14. A photograph of the image of Vishnu belonging to the 12th 

century A. D. Excavated at Kiradu (Marwar). 

15-17. Three photographs of the paintings of Dhola Maru ki Bat, 18th 
century. 

18. A photograph of the image of Shiva (12th century), Ramsin 

(Marwar). 

(d) By courtesy of the Bhor State. 

Four colours, models or copies, with frame. 

1. The Jari Patka 

2. The Bbagwa Jhanda with Maula Arob. 

3. The cavalry or Paga Nishan. 

4. The Shibandi or Infantry Nishan. 

(e) By courtesy of the Patna State. 

Photographs. 

1. View of the main temple, Ranipur Jbarial. 

2. The brick temple, Ranipur Jharial. 

3. East view of the hillocks, Ranipur Jbarial, 

4. West view of the hillocks and lotus tanks, Ranipur Jharial. 

5. Central statues of the Chausatjogini, Ranipur Jbarial. 

6. North view of the hillocks, Ranipur Jharial. 
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7. Rani Mahal at Ranipur Jharial. 

8. Mahadeb temple on Kumuda Dangar, Titilagarh. 

9. South view of the hillocks, Ranipur Jharial. 

10. Distance view of the temple and lotus tank, Titilagarh. 

11. Ruins of temples, Ranipur Jharial. 

12. Brick temple at Kaisil Village, Ranipur Jharial 

13. Original Sakti and Linga of the main temple at Bangomunda, 

Ranipur Jharial. 

14*19. Statues of the Chausatjogini and group of temples, Ranipur Jharial. 

20. Inscription on a flat rock, Ranipur Jharial. 

21. Inscriptions on a standing rocK, Ranipur Jharial. 

22*23. Inscriptions inside the main temple, Ranipur Jharial. 

24. Inscriptions of the old palace at Patnagarh. 

25. Inscription on a flat rock, Ranipur Jharial. 

(f) By courtesy of Professor Datto Vaman Potdar, Poona. 

1. File—Nepal paper, handmade. 

2. File—Manuscript page of Bhagxvata. 

3. File—Sample of Bhojpatra. 

4. File—Sample of an old blank paper, decorated with gold flowers. 

5-6, Photos of Jedhe Farmans. 

7. Photo-print of Nana Fadnis’ autograph letter. 

8. Map of Shanwar Wada—printed from an' old drawing of the 
Peshwa period. 

9. Portrait of Bajirao I, in nine colours. Printed by the Bharat Itihasa 
Sansodhak Mandal, Poona. 

10. Copies of map-drawings of old forts by Bharat Itihasa Sanshodhak 
Mandal. Poona: 

(a) Gadgada; 

(h) Kasbe Nagothane; 



(o) Kille Atgad; 

(d) Mauja Karadi ; 

(e) Fort Chandan ; 

(f) Fort Ratangad ; and 

(g) Fort Vandan. 

(g) By courtesy of K. C. Sinhai Esq., Allahebad. 

1-12. Plaster-casts of seals from Harappa and Mohenjodaro. 

(h) By courtesy of Gauri Prasad Saksena, Esq.« Lucknow. 

1. Hamlat-i’Haidari—Printed book, being a history of the conqu st of 

Haidar Ali Khan, Sultan of Mysore, by Prince Ghulara Mohammad, son of 

Tipoo Sultan. 

(i) By courtesy of R. Subba RaOi Esq.> Rajahmundry. 

1. Photo-prints of Kalinga Ganga Coins. 

2. Photo-prints of Andhra lead coins. 

3. Photo-prints of typical seal of Ganga plates. 

4-15. Twelve photographs of Savaras of Ganjara Agency. 

16-23. Eight photographs of Koyas of Godavari Agency. 

24-27. Four photographs of Chenchus of Godavari Agency. 

(j) By courtesy of Singaram Pillai, Esq , Taiyore. 

1, An assortment of Queen Victoria postage stamps of India and Ceylon. 

(k) By courtesy|Of Ganpat Rao Gopal Kburdekar, Bhind (Gwalior State). 

1. The History of Java by Thomas Stamford Raffles, F. R. S., 
A. S., etc., in two volumes, with a map and plates. London, 1817 A. D. 
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INDEX TO EXHIBITORS. 
Noie—liistitutions have been listed under names of towns of rheir location. 
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-The Hindustani Academy, 64 
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Kedia, Seth Murari Lai, Benares, 24 I 

Khan, Sir Shafaat Ahmad, Allahabad, 69 / 
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Khurdekar, Ganpat Rao Gopal, Bhind (Qdior), 96 

Kohli, Principal Sita Ram, Hoshiarpur, ^ 

Lai, Mr. Justice Mukandi, Tehri (Garhw^ SO 
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Lahore, the Punjab Record Office Mus^> 47-49, 76 
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tdayurbhanj Statet Tbe, 2i, 28, 31, 39, 50, 62 
Misbra, Pandit Sbambbunath, Allahabad, 84 

Muttra, The Curzon Museum of Archaeology, 21 
Muhammad, Syed Abu, Khan Bahadur, Allahabad, 69, 78-79 

Mysore State, The, 86-93 
Nabar, Bijoy Shgb, Calcutta, 38, 69, 79-80 
Patna, the Patna Museum, 22, 27 
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